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IN CHANCERY-BREYIATE.

JOHN PEXX, THOMAS PENN.

and RICHARD PEXX. Esqrs: Plaintiftis.

CHARLES CALVERT. Esq.: LORD BALTIMORE in the

Kin^jdom of Ireland. Defendant.

FOK THE PLAINTIFFS.

Upon a Bill to compell a Specific 'k Execution of Ar-

ticles OF Agreement entered into between the Pai:-

TYS FOR SETLINCt THE BOUNDARYS OF THE PrO\TNCE OF

Pensilyania, the Three Lo\yer Countys, and the Prov-

ince OF ]\1aryland, and for perpetuating Testimony, ttc.

MR. ATTORNEY GENERAL SIR DUDLEY RY^DER.

MR. SOLLICITOR GENERAL MURRAY^
MR. KING'S COUNCIL NOELL.

Paris and Weston, Sollicitors.





INDEX,

Tlir Copy of Lord Baltimore's own Plan, annext io the Articles of

Agreement, Our Map of the Places i7i Question, proved in the

Cause hy four Surveyors : some of luliich are of other

Provinces.

Brief of our Bill begins, fo. 1

The Relief prayed, fo. 81

A State of the Interlocutory Proceedings between the Bill and An-

swer fo. 83

The Defendant's Answer begins, fo. 83

The Schedule annexed to the Derendant's Answer, containing his

Commissioners Account of the Proceedings before them, and the

Papers which were exchanged (in aregular Order of Time), from

the 6th of October, 1732, to the 24tli of November, 1733, . . . fo. 165

A State of several Proceedings in the Cause, from the Time of

putting in the Answer to the Time of passing Publication, fo. 21G

M'ritten Evidence proced in the Cause by the Plaintiffs, from Re-

cords, Ancient History, d:c., in aregular Course of Time, from
15S4 to 1743, divided into 17 Chajiters or periods, fo. 217

Chap. 1st. From tlie Discovery of North-America to the Grant,

made by the Crown of Maryland, to Lord Baltimore in the year

1632, lb. 217

Chap. 2d. From the Lord Baltimore's Grant, 1G32, to the End of

the Year 1663, during all which time the Dutch and Swedes re-

mained in the quiet Possession of what is now New-York ; and

also Delaware, which now makes the Three Lower Counties

;

free from any Claim by the Lord Baltimore, or by the English

Crown, to. 227

Chap. 3d. From the latter End of the Year 1663 (when King
Charles granted New-York, &c., to the Duke of York, and the

Dutch were, consequently, dispossessed of their great and small

Settlements) down to the Year 1673, during all which time the

Duke of York possessed and governed New-York in the Lower
Counties also, fo. 245

Chap. 4th. Of the Dutch regaining Possession (for a few Months)

of New-York and Delaware also, fo. 280

Chap. 5th. From the NewGraut, madeby KmgCharlestheSecond
to the Duke of York, in June 1674, doAATi to the Time of granting

(V)
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Peusilvauia, and the Lower Counties to Mr. Penn. and his

being in full possession of all the same, at the end ot the Year

1682 fo. 283

Chai', 6th. What past in Ameri<!a. in the Years 1683, 1684 and 1685

(exclusive of what past in Enjxland during those Years.) . . fo. 381

Chap. 7th. What past (in England) in the Years 1683, 1684 and 1685 :

being the first Contest or Suit between Lord Baltimore and Mr.

Penn, fo. 390

Chap. 8th. From tlie first Determination of the King in Council on

the 13th of November 16S5, down to the second Determination in

the Plaintitt''s favour, in the Year 170S, fo. 408

Chap. 9th. From the Second Determination in their favour, in

January 1708, to the third Determination in their favour, on 23d

June 1709, fo.428

Chap. 10th. From June 1709 to the time of the Death of Mr. Penn
the Patentee, in 1718, fo. 430

Chap. Uth. From the Death of William Penn the Proprietary in

1718, to the Death of Mrs. Hannah Penn his Widow and Execu-

trix in 1726, fo. 439

Chap. 12th. From the Death of Mrs. Hannah Penn in December

1726, down to the time of beginning the Treaty' with Lord Balti-

timore, for the Agreement now in Question, fo. 443

Chap. 13th. From the Beginning of the Treaty, to the Time of ex-

ecuting the Articles of Agreement in Question and the Commis-

sions for running the Lines pursuant to the same, fo. 444

Chap. 14th. From the Time of sealing the Articles, here in Lon-

don, in May 1732, down to the End of the Year 1733, fo. 461

Chap. 15th. From Christmas 1733, to the time of filing the present

Bill, in Jtme 1735 fo. 483

Chap. 16th. Matters which have past since the filing of our present

Bill, fo. 496

Chap. 17. Containing a Case stated to, and the Opinions of Sir

Clement Wearg, Mr. (now Lord Chief Justice) Willes, and Sir

Philip Yorke (now Lord Chancellor) thereon, relating to the

Construction of Lord Baltimore's Charter and his bounds, . . fo. 504

Depositions of Witnesses /or the Plaintiffs, with some Observations

thereon, di()ested under the following 29 Branches, viz fo. 508

1st. Branch. Of the first Discovery of the Peninsula, and the first

Maps published thereof (before the year 1632), and how many
several Editions of Captain Smith's Book had been published

before that Year, fo. 509

id Branch. To prove my Lord Baltimore's own printed Book and

Map, and Description of Maryland, and how far he then claimed ;

published in the Year 1635, within three Years after the Date of

his Charter, and soon after he had landed in, t^ken possession of,

and settled, his Province of Maryland, fo. 512

3d Branch. Containing the strongest Proof that there never was

anv real Order of Council of 4th of April 1638, about William
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Clayborne and the Isle of Kent : but that such Order was made

or invented by Lord Baltimore, in 1685, to. 51.

4tk Branch. That the Swedes, the Dutch, and the Duke of York,

successively, held the Lands now called the three Lower Counties

under the names of New Sweden, new Netherland, South River,

Delaware, Sandhook, from the Year 1630 downwards.—That the

principal seat of Government was then at New York—And Lord

Baltimore's Ancestors never possest.—Also of the Conquest from

the Dutch in 1664,
!'"• ^-'*

5th Branch. Proving where the true Susquehannah Indian Fort

formerly stood, which is mentioned in some of the Proceedings

in 1680,
fo.

6th Branch. Proving by whom the Lower Counties were possessed

when Mr. Penn first went thither in 1682 : and also the actual

Delivery of Seisin to him then, fo. o2o

7th Branch. To prove a Petition from the Inhabitants of the Lower

CouDties in 1682, to l)e united to the Province of Pensilvania

:

also an Indian Purchase then made, and a Copy of a Demand

made upon Mr. Penn, l)y Colonel Talbot, which was in 1683, . fo. 526

Sih Branch. Relating to the Names which the three Lower Coun-

ties have been called by, under the Dutch, the Duke of York,

and Mr. Penn ; the making them mto Counties in 1682 ; and their

being called the Territories of Pensilvania, fo. 527

mh Branch. To prove Colonel Talbot's running a Line in 1683,

from the mouth of Octorara Creek, by Order of Lord Baltimore,

for a Division, called Octorara Line, Colonel Talbot's Line, and

Lord Baltimore's Line ; and afterwards building a small Log-

house, of a few Logs, within and below that Line for a Fort

(which themselves afterwards deserted) ; and that that Line was

always regarded by us; and for more than 40 Years by them

also, fo. 529

10th Branch. About the Indian Purchases made by the Dutch, and

Swedes, and Mr. Penn ; and of his exercising the Government

of the Lower Counties from 1682, to 1702, fo. 538

11th Branch. Proving Mr. Penn's constant Possession, as Landlord

and Proprietor ever since 1681, and 1632 ; his granting out of the

Lands ; appointing great Numbers of Collectors and Receivers

of Quit-Rents in all the Lower Counties ; and receiving Quit^

Rents, . .

fo. 538

12th Branch. Thatconstant, Annual Assemblies have been held, for

the Lower Counties under Mr. Penn, from 1682 ; Courts of Jus-

tice always held there, under his authority ; and none of the

Inhabitants of those counties ever elected into the Maryland

Assembly, ... ^o- ^^

ISLh Branch. To prove the very Acts of Assembly (past in Lord

Baltimore's own Province of Maryland) do, from time to time,

call the Lower Counties the Territories of Pensilvania, and tax

Goods coming from thence, or carried thither, as Goods coming

to, or going from, another distinct Province, and that those

Laws are, from time to time, inforced and put in Execution, fo. 547
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mh Branch. Some general Proofs of the great Expense Mr. Penn

was at, and liow much he has impaired his English and Irish Es-

tates, to settle this country. • fo. 551

15th Branch. That the now Plaintifls have possest ever since

1726, fo- 554

16th Brandt. Of the Number of Persons settled in each of the

three Lower Counties, . .
fo. 554

17th Branch. Of the very strange way of granting out Lands by

the Maryland Officers, and the Consequences which they inflict

on, from the Persons locating such Grants, fo. 555

IStli Brandt. Of the notorious Situation of Pensilvania, and the

Lower Counties, both upon one and the same. ''Vest, Side of the

River and Bay of Delaware ; and of my Lord's going personally,

by Land, from tlie one to the other of them in 1733 ; which, never-

theless, he has been pleased to swear, in his Answer, are sepa-

arated l)y, and Lie on different Sides of, that great Bay and

River, fo. 558

19tli Branch. Of the Treaties in order to. and the drawing, perus-

ing, and settling the Draught of the Agreement, the Map, and

Mr. Senex's written (Opinion, and the Execution (by the Parties)

of the Agreement in question, and of the Commissions for run-

ning the Lines pursuant thereto, fo. 560

20tli Branch. Of the several Proceedings of the Commissioners in

.\merica. Day by Day, in order to have carried the Agreement
into Execution, fo. 577

21st Branch. That the Circle, and the Distance of it,were well known
at the time of the Agreement; That Lord Baltimore's own Map
had many particular Marks and Lines relating to that very Circle ;

That he had above 8 Years before that time, the largest Draught

of tiie Peninsula that had ever been seen, with several East and

West Lines markt for Division thereof; That the Plaintiffs had

never been in America, to gain any Knowledge on their Parts ;

and also to prove an old Map of the Town of Newcastle, . . fo. 632

J3d Branch. That the Defendant was not deceived in the Plaintiff's

Title, which he very well knew, long before the Agreement, . fo. 640

J3d Branch. Of the East and West Bounds of the Peninsula, and

where the Bay of Delaware ends, viz. at Bomba\''s Hook, about

30 Miles below the Town of Newcastle, fo. 641

j^/A Branch. Proof of our general Map.and where the true Isthmus

is ; being formed by the Tide Waters flowing very near, to with-

in 4 Miles of eacli other, in Apoquinomy River, and Bohemia
. River, fo. 643

3r>/h Branch. Proof where the before-mentioned Isthmus, formed

l)y the flowing Water is ; and also, where another Isthmus, formed

l.iy the Navigable Water is, . . . fo. 647

jijth Branch. Proof of several Springs that rise, in the Peninsula,

and run, from the same common Head, both ways, into the Bays

on each Side of the Peninsula, fo. 650

2?fh Branch. Proof where Lord Baltimore's oldest Line, which he

claimed in 163.5, lies, fo. 653-
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£8tk Branch. Proof where the Octorara Line, run by Lord Balti-
more in 1683, lies: also, where tlie Line for Temporary Jurisdic-
tion (lately run in 1739, by Order of the King in Council)
lies, fo. 654

£9th Branch. Containing Proof of many old Maps, Foreign and
English (made before the Year 1680) which lay down both Cape
Cornelius and Cape Hinlopen. and in the same manner as the
Map in question did ; also, where our Cape Hinlopen really lies ;

That the whole Country thereabouts, was formerly called Hin-
lopen, as well as that particular Spot ; That there is the appear-
ance of a Cape at our Cape Hinlopen : That the South Bounds of the
Whorekiln District, or Sussex County, extended tiiither; That
the Dutch had a Boundary Tree, in their time, there ; That Mr.
Penn granted out Lands to that Place (as soon as everhe had his
Feoflments), particularly to the Duke of York, und several oth-
ers ; and still possesess very near to it ; and that the first cursory
Claim of Maryland, a little North of that South Boundary, began
but in the Year 1696 ; also an Account, l"or what Reasons, some-
thing like tlie Name of that old Cape, has, lately been trans-
ferred up to the Mouth of Delaware Bay, fo. 656

Depositions of Witnesses for the Defendant, with some Observa-
tions thereon, divided into 46 several Branches or Paris, . . fo. 676

1. As to our Commissioners for running the Linos, which the De-
fendant cross-examined, in order to disqualify themselves as
interested Persons, f^ gyg

2. As to some other of our Witnesses, whom the Defendant also
cross-examined as to their Interest, fo. 678

•'.. Proofs upon the Defendant's Enquiry whether Observations
had not been taken at Philadelphia, and where the 40th Degree
*"®'l'

fo. 681
4. The Examination of some persons, Dependants upon the De-

fendant, as to their Construction and Opinion of the Extent
of his Charter for Maryland, fo. 682

.;"). To prove the Isle of Kent is very near the Peninsula, . . fo. 690
G. The Defendant clearly proves there was another very an-

cient Swedish and Dutch Fort in Newcastle County,
'

fo. 691
7. To prove two Points: 1. That my Lord Baltimore did, about

167.3, burn and destroy a Place, then called the Whorekills,
now called Lewes Town. 2. The Place where those Whore-
kills were : and tliat, for a two-fold Purpose, viz. in Order to
aflect our Cape Cornelius, as well as to shew what he did to
assert his Right in the three Lower Counties, fo. 691

-s. A Memorandum as to 8 of the Defendant's Witnesses, there
named, who were never at all examined by us, to any Point
whatever ; but, in the Defendant's own Examination of them,
liave proved themselves interested in the Dispute, so that we
object to them as being disqualified, and their Names have,
-iis.often as they are mentioned, this Mark * before them, fo. 699
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9. Proof of Exhibits from the .Secretary's Otfice in New York and
New Jersey ; also from the Council Books, the Land Oflfioe

Books, and from two private Books (pretended to have be-

longed to Surveyors) in Maryland ; also of the usual Manner
of Patenting Lands in Maryland, and granting Warrants for

those Lands at large, fo. 700

10. Proofs, on the Defendant's Enquiry, who were the first dis-

coverers, who were the first Settlers, and what were the first

Names of the three Lower Counties, fo. 704

] I. To prove that the New Cape Hinlopen lies opposite to Cape
May, fo. 705

12. To prove what Settlements were made, and under what Gov-
ernment, near and about Philadelphia, before the Year
1680, fo. 707

13. To prove ho\s the Whorekills had been settled, and under
whom, fo. 70S

14. To prove a Susquehannah Fort, situated a great way North up
in the Country about the River Susquehannah, fo. 709

15. To prove a Release for 500 Acres from William Penn to William
Standley, and the Frame of Government in Pensilvania,

and the usual Conditions of granting out Lands there at

first, fo. 712

16. That the Town of Newcastle lies very near 20 Miles South of

Philadelphia, fo. 713

17. That no other Line has been run from Newcastle, than one to

%mark Part of a Circle of 12 Miles Radius from the Town of

Newcastle, and separate the County of New Castle from Ches-

ter county in Pensilvania : That several Parcels of Land,
lying South of the Parallel of the most Northern Part of the

said Circle, are held under the Plaintifi's, and what Number
of Persons tliere settled, fo. 714

18. One single Witness to prove an Isthmus, somewhere or other,

at the Spring Heads, fo. 714

1:9. The Proof, upon the Defendants. Enquiry, whether the Mouth of

Christiana Creek or River lav to the South, or to the North, of

tde Line lately run by Order of the King in Council, . . . fo. 716

20. An Attempt to prove where some Places called Kingsess, Mill

Creek, Charges Creek or Vresterbock lay, fo. 716

21. To prove that a Tree called [some Lord's bounded Tree] at

Marcus Hook on Delaware was spoke of 40 Years ago, . . fo. 717

22. To prove that my Lord's Ancestor, in 1682, went up Delaware
to Chester, in Order to make an Observation, and how he was
received there by the People ; and that in going back, at

Marcus Hook, etc., he forewarned a few Inhabitants from
paying any more Quit Rent to Mr. Penn, fo. 717

23. To prove that, about 1682, Plaintiffs Father landed at Newcastle
Town, and afterwards went to Chester, and had an Observa-

tion taken, in order to found his City of Philadelphia, but was
told he was within the Maryland Boundaries, fo. 719
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24. To prove an East and West Line run b\' Lord Baltimore's An-

cestor, being the Octorara Line, fo. 721

25. To prove a Fort at Christiana. fo. 722

2a An unsuccessful Attempt, to pro\'e that Lord Baltimore had

exercised the fJovernment, and had received Quit Rents, in

the Lower Counties, lo. .2G

27. To prove, directly contrary to the Answer, That the Province

of Pensilvania is not contiguous to New Jersey, but is con-

tiguous to the Lower Counties; and that Pensilvania and

the lower Counties are on the same, West, Side of the Bay of

Delaware, and not on the East Side of the said Bay and

River, fo. 72S

28. An Attempt to prove a very few Instances of Settlements of

Lands, in the Lower Counties, under Maryland Rights, .
fo. 730

29. Proofs upon the Defendant's Enquiry where, and in what

Pro\ince, four or five particular Gentlemen lived, and who
they held their Lands under? to. (39

30. To prove the Number of Inhabitants in the three Lower

Counties, fo. 740

31. To prove the paymentof Quit Rents in the Lower Counties, . fo. 742

32. To prove the appointing a Governor, for the three Lower

Counties, always by Mr. Penn and his Family, fo. 745

33. To prove how many Ports and Harbours there are, on both

Sides in going up Delaware Bay, f"- ""^^

34. To prove the actual Payment of Duties on Goods imported into

Maryland from the Lower Counties, fo. 74S

35. An Attempt to find out two lost Colonies in Maryland, (Dur-

ham and Worcester) which no Soul ever heard the Names
of, i'o.-i9

30. An Attempt to prove a Fort on Susquehannah River lately kept

by one Cressap, fo. (49

37 To prove the Agreement, and the Treaty in order thereto, and

the Defendant's great Ignorance of his Province, fo. 749

38. To prove Avhat passed, during the Time the Commissioners met

in order to have excutecf the Articles, fo- "67

39. To prove the Copy, only, of a Question and two Surveyors An-

swer, about the Dimensions of the Circle, fo. 771

40. To prove the Extent of Newcastle Town, fo. 772

41. To prove that the first Time the Defendant had any Account

of the Proceedings of the Commissioners for settling the

Boundaries pursuant to the Agreement, was after his Arrival

in Maryland, lo. 773

42. To prove there are Ferries over Susquehannah River, fo. 774

43. To prove a short Account of the Commissioners Proceedings, fo. 774

44. To prove the Defendant's Application for a Grant of the Lower

Counties in August 1734, fo. 775

45. To prove Exhibits in England, fo. 777

46. To prove Deceit put upon the Defendant J)y his own Map, (as

most talsely pretended), fo. "78
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THE BREVIATE.

L\ Chancery. John Penn, Thomas Penn. and Richard Penn.

Esqrs; the three Hurviving Sons of William Penn Esq; de-

ceas'd, who in his Life-time was Proprietary of the Prov-

ince of Pensilvania, and of the three Lower Counties called

Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, on Delaware, adjoining to the

said Province of Pensilvania in America. Plaintiffs.

Charles Calvert Esq ; Lord Baltimore in the Kingdom of Ire-

land, Defendant. •

FOR THE PLAINTIFFS.

Bill filed 21 Jtme, 1735. amended 18 December, 1736.

That in America, there is a certain Peninsula, or Tract,

shooting out from the main Continent Southwards, into the At-

lantick Sea or Ocean, which Peninsula, or Tract, is bounded,

on tlie West side, by the Great Bay of Chesopeak, and. on the

East side, is bounded, on the lowermost, or most Southerly

part thereof, by the Atlantick Sea or Ocean, and, more North-

wards, the same Peninsula, or Tract, is bounded, on the East,

by the Estuary of Delaware, and as the same Peninsula or

Tract runs further Northwards, towards the main Continent,

it is bounded, on the East, by the (ireat River of Delaware, which

river of Delaware runs between the same Peninsula or Tract.

lying on the West side thereof, and the Territory now called

West New Jersey, but heretofore called sucessively New Belgia,

New Netherlands, and New England, lying on the East part

thereof.

That the same Peninsula, or Tract, and the Parts nearly con-

tiguous thereto, was first discovered by Captain John Smith,

an Englishman, in or about the Year of our Lord 1606; who
went on Shore, in some parts thereof, and gave or affixed Names
to several Parts of the said Peninsula, or Tract and also, to

several Places on that part of the main Continent which lay

over against the same Peninsula, on the Western side of the

said Bay of Chesoi)eak ; and the said Captain Smith, after his

Return from that Voyage, caused to be printed and published a

Book, giving an Account of his Voyages and Discoveries, which
said Book was printed in or about the Year of Our Lord 1624;

and to such Book he annexed a Map, or plan, of the said

1—Vol. XV.
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2 PENNSYLVA.MA A>'D MARYLAND

Peninsula and several adjacent Parts of what was then called

by the general Name of Virginia; which Book is intitled,

The General History of Virginia, New England, and the Suni-

luer Isles, with the Names of the Adventurers, Planters and
fxovernors, from their first beginning anno loS-l. to this pres-

ent 1G24, with the Proceedings of those several Colonies and the

Accidents that befell them inall their journies and Discoveries;

also the Maps and Descriptions of all those Countries, their

Commodities, People, Government, Custouis and Religion yet
known ; divided into six Books, by Captain John Smith, some-
times Governor in those Countries, and Admiral of NewEng-
land. London; Printed by J. D. and J. H. for Michael Sparks
1G24. And the same Book is a well known Book amongst
Historians, Geographers, and Mathematicians; and the said

Book, and the Map of Virginia therein contained, are held in

Estimation amongst learned Men, and are constantly reckoned
and esteemed as the first, and earliest Account and Description
and Map ever given of those Parts in and near to the said
Peninsula by any Englishman whatsoever. And the said Map
of Virginia contained the Degrees of Longitude and Latitude
according to the best Observations and Discoveries then made.
That on the Eastern side of the said Peninsula, or Tract, and

also above the said Peninsula or Tract, within the main Land
or Continent, and towards the Sea and the Estuary and River
of Delaware, there was, of very early and ancient times (the be-

ginning whereof is not known) a Settlement and Plantation,
made and planted, and inhabited by Christians of the Sweedish
Nation, and the same Settlement and Plantation was, after-

wards, held and inhabited in the year 1609, and for many years
then after, by Christians under the dominion of the States
General of the United Provinces.

And the said ancient Settlement of the Swedes, and afterwards
of the Dutch, has, for a great many Years past, ever since the
Year 1()63, been in the Possession of the late James Duke of
York, and of the Plaintiffs Father, and of the Plaintiffs, and
is in the Possession of the Plaintiffs at this day.
And the same Settlement has been, sometimes, called the Set-

tlement on Delaware, sometimes by the only Name of Delaware',
sometimes by the Name of the Province of Delaware, sometimes
by the Name of the three lower Counties, sometimes by the Name
of the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, and
sometimes by the Name of the Territories belonging to Pensil-
vania, all which names did and do signify and mean the self-

same Settlement and Plantation, heretofore seated and inhab-
ited by the Swedes and Dutch as aforesaid.

That, several Years after such Discovery Avas made as afore-
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said by the said Captain John Smith, and some few Years after

the said Captain Smith's said History and Map of Virginia had
been printed and published in the Year 1624 as aforesaid, and

at a time when, as the Plaintiffs expressly Charge, there was
No other Map or Plan of the same Peninsula or Tract and the

Parts adjacent thereto, done by any Englishman whatever, ex-

tant. Nor any other History or Description of the same Penin-

sula or Tract, and Parts adjacent, published, printed, known
or used, than the said Captain Smith's said Book or History

and Map only; Cecilius, then Baron of Baltimore, in the King-

dom of Ireland, did, in or about the Year of our Lord 16o2, pe-

tition his late Majesty K. Charles the First, praying Leave to

transport a Colony of the English Nation unto a certain Country

in the Pai'ts of America, which he by his said Petition expressly

and positively suggested was not then cultivated and planted,

tho' in certain Parts thereof inhabited by certain barljarous

People having no Knowledge of Almighty God; and besought

his said Majesty to give and grant All such the said Country,

M'ith certain Privileges and Jurisdictions for the Government
thereof, to him and his Heirs for ever.

And, thereupon, his said late Majesty King Charles the First,

by his Letters Patent, under the Great Seal of England, bear-

ing Date at Westminster, on or about the 20th Day of Jime,

which was in the 8th Year of his said late Majesty's Reign, and

in the Year of our Lord 1632, expressly reciting the said petition

and Prayer of the said Cecilius, for a grant of such a Country

as herein before is described in the said Petition of the said Ce-

cilius, did give and grant, unto the said Cecilius, in Fee, two

several Tracts of Land, namely, one Tract which was part of

the before-mentioned Peninsula, and one other Tract which was

part of the Main Land, lying Westward of such Part of the said

peninsula, and on the West-side of the said Bay of Chesopeak

;

and the said Tracts of Land, so granted to the said Cecilius,

were in and by the said Letters Patent severally and respectively

described, butted and bounded as herein after mentioned, that

is to say, The first of the said Tracts was described, and was
granted to the said Cecilius, as all that part of a Peninsula,

lying in the Parts of America, between the Ocean on the East,

and the Bay of Chesopeak on the West, and divided from the

other Part thereof by a right Line, drawn from the Promon-
tary or Head of Land called Watkin's Point, situate in the

aforesaid Bay, near the River of Wighco, on the West, unto

the Main Ocean on the East ; And, Between that Bound on the

South, as far Northward as that part of the Estuary of Dela-

ware, which lies under the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude

from the Equinoctial, where New-England ends; And the sec-
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ond of the suiil Tracts was described, and was grranted to the

said Cecilius. as all that Tract of Land, within the Bounds

aforesaid ; namely, passing: from the aforesaid Estuary called

Delaware Bay, in a right Line by the Degree aforesaid, as far

as to tiie tnie Meridian of the first Fountain of the River

Potowomack, and from thence trending or passing towards the

South to the farther Bank of the said River, and following the

West and South side thereof, unto a certain Place called Cin-

quack, situate near the Mouth of the said River, where it falls

into the aforesaid Bay of Chesopeak, and from thence, by the

shortest liine, unto the aforesaid Promontory or Place called

Watkin"s Point; (so that all that Tract of Land, divided by

the Line aforesaid drawn between the Main Ocean and Wat-

kin's Point, unto the Promontory called Cape Charles, and all

its Appurtenances, should remain entirely excepted to his said

Majesty, his Heirs and iSuccessors, for ever.)

And, in and by the same Letters Patent, his said late Majesty

did also (rrant unto the said Cecilius, in Fee. all Islands and

Islets, within the Limits aforesaid, and all and singular the Is-

lands and Islets which were, or should be in the Ocean, within 10

Leagues from the Eastern Shore of the sa'd Country towards

the East ; and his said Majesty did erect the said Lands, so

granted, into a Province, by the Name of Maryland, as by the

same recited Letters Patent, had the Plaintiffs the same to pro-

duce, relation being thereunto had, would more plainly appear.

That the said Letters Patent, or (xrant, so made to the said

Cecilius as aforesaid, was so describeil, and the Tracts, which

were thereby granted, were so bounded, by the help of thesaid

Captain Smith's said Book and History or Map of Virginia, and

no other ; and so all skilful Persons do own, acknowledge and be-

lieve ; and which manifestly appears for that the same Map has

all and every the Names of the several Places which are contained

and mentioned in the said Letters Patent; and No other Map
or Maps whatsoever (English, or Foreign) which was extant in

the said Year 1032, and at the time of granting the said Letters

Patent (save only the said Smith's said Map of Virginia) hath,

or have, the Names and Descriptions of the several Places men-

tioned in the said Letters Patent, agreeable to those which are

mentioned and used in the said recited Letters Patent.

That, according to the express Bounds of the said recited Let-

ters Patent, the Head, or most Northern part, of all the Lands,

thereby granted to the said Cecilius. was to extend only so far

as until it subjoined to such part of the Estuary of Delaware

as lay under the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude: thereby ex-

cluding every part of the Lands which did lie under the said 40th

Degree, namely, sxich Land as did lie from the 39th Degree com-
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pleat, to the 40th Degree compleat; all which Space, from the

89th Degree compleat, to the 40th Degree compleat. the Plaintifls

do expressly charge, was and is at least GO Geometrical Miles or

Minutes, or 69 English Statute Miles, and did fully, clearly and

plainly lie under the 40th Degree; and no part of wdiat did lie

under tlie 40th Degree was granted to the said Cecilius, but only

as far as unto such part as did lie under the said 40th Degree.

That it appears, by all and every the Land-Marks, Abuttals and

other Descriptions comtained in the said recited Letters Patent^

that no part of the Lands which lay under the 40th Degree was,

or could possibly be, intended to be granted to the said Cecilius.

for that, the same Lands, so granted to him, were to extend no

father NorthM'ards than to such part of the Estuary of Dela-

ware as lay under the 40th Degree ; whereas no part of the Es-

tuary of Delaware, or at most a very small part (of 1 or 2 Miles^

at the utmost) did lie within, or under, the said 40th Degree of

Northern Latitude.

That the part of the said Peninsula, so granted to the said Cec-

ilius, is expressly mentioned to be bounded, on the East part, by

the Main Ocean, which agrees exactly with the other Descrip-

tions in the said recited Letters Patent, and makes the 39th De-

gree compleat to be the utmost Head or Northern Bound of the

said part of a Peninsula, so granted to the said Cecilius; in re-

gard that the Main Ocean does, so far, (and so far only) bound the

said Peninsula, on the East part; and had his said late Majesty

intended to grant Lands any higher, or further Northward, the

Main Ocean alone was not a proper Description, or Abuttal, or

Boundary, of such Lands higher than the 39th Degree compleat

;

and which is yet further strengthened and confirmed, by the

other Descriptions contained in the said recited Letters Patent

;

in regard that the part of a Peninsula therein granted is to ex-

tend Northwards so far only as to that part of the Estuary of

Delaware, on the North, as lay under the 40th Degree of North-

ern Latitude from the Equinoctial, where New England ended ;

and the Plaintiffs expressly Charge that the great Tract of Land
which, at the time of making the said recited Letters Patent,

was generally called by the English, New England (and which

is now divided into the several Provinces or Colonies of West
New Jersey. East New Jersey, New York, Rhode Island, Provi-

dence Plantations, Connecticut, Massaehusets Bav, New Hamp-
shire, and Province of Main) did and doth lie and extend East-

wards of the said Peninsula before mentioned, and Eastwards

of the said River of Delaware; and the Point of the same great

Tract of Land, so called by the English, New England, at the

Place nearest unto the said Peninsula, did. according to the

Knowledge, Observation and Learning of the time when tne said
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Letters Patent were granted, reach and extend, doAvnwards or

Southwards, quite to the Line of the 39th Degree eompleat, or

very nearly so, within i> or 4 Miles thereof, at the utmont.

That the first general Description in the said recited Letters

Patent of the said first Tract of Land in the said Peninsula so

granted to the said Ceeilius, is a Grant of a part of a Peninsula:

whereas, had the Bounds and Limits of that Tract granted ex-

tended, or been meant to extend, to the 40th Degree eompleat.

no part of the said Peninsula did extend so far Northwards, as to

the 40th Degree eompleat, or that the Plaintif!'s expressly C'harge

that the Line of the 40th Degree eompleat, did and doth lie far

above, or Northwards of every Part whatever of the said Pen-

insula, and above or Northwards of the Isthmus which finishes

and concludes the said Peninsula, and within the Main Country
and Continent it self.

That, at the time of making the before recited Letters Patent

to the said Ceeilius, one part of the said Peninsula, which lay

on the Eastern side of the said Peninsula, towards the Sea and
the Estuary of Delaware and the River of Delaware, and which
said part lay (according to the knowledge of those times) more
Northward than the said 39th Degree eompleat, and also, part

of the Continent, at the Head or North part of the said Penin-

sula, and Which is now called the three lower Counties of New-
castle, Kent, and Sussex, was seated and inhabited by the Swedes
and Dutch : and his said late Majesty was not, at the time of

the said recited Letters Patent to the said Ceeilius, seized or

possest thereof, so as to grant the same; neither did his said

late Majesty intend to grant the same ; nor did the said Ct'cilius

petition, or ask, his said Majesty for the same, but only for a

Country in the said Letters Patent afterwards described, which
was not then cultivated and planted, though in certain Parts

thereof Inhabited by certain Barbarous People, having no know-
ledge of Almighty Grod.

That, after the said Letters Patent and Grant were made to

the said Ceeilius as aforesaid ; he, or some of his Descendants,
entered upon, and took possession of, the same Premises, so

granted, and has continued possest thereof.

And the said Swedes and Dutch, successively, possest and en-

joyed, for many Years after the Date of the said Letters Patent
to the said Ceeilius, their said ancient Settlement on Delaware,
above the 39th Degree eompleat, and bounding Eastwards upon
the Sea. and upon the Estuary of Delaware, and upon the River

of Delaware.

But. inasmuch as the said Swedish and Dutch Settlement,

did not extend, Westwards, quite across the whole width of the

said Peninsula to the said Bay of Chesopeak. and his said late
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Majesty King Charles the First, or his successor, not having

made any Grant of the said Country on the back of, or more

Northwards than, the Tracts granted to the said Cecilius as

aforesaid, for near 50 Years after the Date of the said recited Let-

ters Patent to the said Cecilius, unto any person or persons, who

possessed and seated the same; and the Lands (exclusive of those

which were possest by the Swedes and Dutch as aforesaid) which

lay Northwards of the Tracts granted by his said late Majesty

to' the said Cecilius as aforesaid, being possest by the Indian

Natives in those parts, tlie Plaintiffs expressly charge, that

the said Cecilius, Baron of Baltimore, and his Heirs and Dis-

cendants did, in Deceit and Disherison of his Majesty, set down

upon, and take possssion of, some Lands, on the Western side

of tiie said Peninsula, above, and more Nortiiward than, the

39th Degree of Northern Latitude compleat, and also above, and

more Northward than, the Bounds and Limits expressly con-

tained in the said recited Letters Patent ; and for which seating

down, or Possession, the PlaintifTs do expressly Charge that the

said Cecilius, or any of his Heirs, or Descendants, had not the

least shadow or pretence of legal Title, until a Title thereto

was first made to a Descendant of the said Cecilius, by the

Plaintiffs in manner as herein after mentioned.

That the Dutch held the said Lands, now called the three

Low^er Counties (which lie on the Western-side of the River of

Delaware) as appertainini.' and belonging to. and alway going

along with, a larger or greater Settlement, upon a very large

Tract of Land, part ox what i.s generally called New-England,

and particularly, on those Parts now called W^est-New-Jersey,

and East-New-Jersey and New-Y"ork, on the Eastern side of

Delaware, and that it was very convenient, and almost necess-

ary, to those who enjoyed the greater Settlement, to have like-

wise the Lands now called the three Lower Counties, in respect

that, the said, River Delaware runs up Northwards, into the

Back or Heart of the Main Continent, and is navigable for a

great many Scores of Miles from the Sea and is a dangerous

and difficult Passage, more especially in the Winter when the

Ice comes down the River: and that the Ports and Havens, in

passing up the said River Delaware, as well for Conveniency,

as for Safety in times of Danger, do all lie on the said Western-

side of the said River Delaware, which River is the only Key

and Passage up to the Inland Country thereabouts.

But in, or about the Year 1664, his late Majesty King Charles

the Second, took from the said Dutch, the said great Settlement

and Possession of the said Dutch, at New-York and New- Jersey

on the Eastern-side of the said River of Delaware, together with

the said Lands on the Western-side of the said River of Dela-
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ware and all other Lands appertaining: to the said grreat Settle-

ment ; and his said late Majesty Kinp: Charles the Second, being
then (for tlie first time) seized in Right of his Crown, and poB-
sest of the said several Settlements and ancient Possessions of the
Swedes and Dutch, did, by his Letters Patent, under the Great
Seal of England, bearing Date at Westminster on or about the
12th Day of March, in tlie IGth Year of his Reign, and in tlie

Y'ear of Our Lord 10G4, for divers good Causes and Considera-
tions tliereunto moving, of his especial Grace, certain Know-
ledge and mere Motion, give and grant unto his dearest Brother
James, tlien Duke of York, his Heirs and Assigns, all that part
of the Main Land of New-England, beginning at a certain Place
called or known hy the Name of St. Croix, next adjoining to

New-Scotland iii America, and. from thence, extending, along
the Sea Coast, unto a certain Place called Pematjuine or Pema-
quind, and so. uj) the River thereof, to the furthest Head of the
sjime. as it tendeth Northwards, and extending, from thence,

to the River of Kinebequine, and to, upwards, by the shortest

Course, to the River Canada Northward; and also all that Is-

land or Islands commonly caller! by the several Name or Names
of Mattowacks for Long Island situate, lying and being towards
the West of Cape Codd and the Narrohigansetts, abutting uDon
the Main Land between the two Rivers there, called or known
V)y the several Names of Connecticut and Hudson's River, to-

gether also with the said River, called Hudson's River, and all

the Lands, from the West-side of Connecticut River, to the East-
side of Delaware Bav', and also all those several Islands, called

or known bv the Names of Martin Vineyards, and Nantukes,
otherwise Nantuckett, togetlier with all the Lands, Islands,

Soils, Rivers, Harbours, Mines, Minerals, Quarries, Woods,
Marshes, Waters, Lakes, Fishings, Hawking, Hunting and Fowl-
ing, and all other Royalties, Profits, Connuodities, and Heredi-
taments, to the said several Islands, and Premisses, belonging
and appertaining, with their and every of their Apurtenances,
and all his said iate Majesty King Charles the Second's Right,
Title, Interest. Benefit, Advantage. Claim and Demand, of, in

or to the said Lands and Premisses, or any Part or Parcel there-

of, and the Reversion and Reversions, Remainder and Remain-
ders, together with the Yearly and other the Rents, Revenues,
and Profits, of all and singular the said Premisses, and of every
Part and Parcel thereof, to hold unto the sai 3 James, Duke
of York, his Heirs and Assigns for ever, to be held as of the
Manor of East-(ireenAvich, in the County of Kent; and his said

late Majesty, in and by the said last recited Letters Patent, Gave
•and (Jranted unto the said James. Duke of York, in Fee, divers

Powers of Government, over the said Country and Territory



BOUNDARY QUESTION'. 9

thereby j?ranted ; as in and by the said last recited Letters

Patent under the Great Seal of England, or an Exeuiplific-ation

thereof, or the Inrolhnent thereof remaining of Record in this

Honourable Court, relation being thereunto had, may fully

and at large appear.

That, by Virtue, of, and under the said last recited Grant
and Letters Patent, so made to the said Duke of York, he the

said Duke of Y'ork, by his Governors, Deputy Governors, and
other Officers became, and was, really and actually, and also

lawfully and rightfully, seized and possessed of and intitled to

the said great Settlement of the Dutch, on that Tract since di-

vided into and called West and East New .Jersey and New York,
and also of the said small and ancient Settlement of the Swedes
and Dutch in those Part?, now called the three lower Counties
of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, upon Delaware, as belonging
and appertaining to the said great Settlement. And the said

James Duke of York by his Deputy-Governors, or other Officers,

did and exercised all sorts of Acts of Ownership. Proprietorship
and Government, whatsoever, within the said Tract now called

the three lower Counties, for many Y'ears together.

And the said small Settlement, when in the Possession of the

Dutch, anfi afterwards, when in the Possession of the said Duke
of York, was always a Dependant upon and belonging and ap-

pertaining to the said great Settlement, till Granted awav by
the said Duk« of Y'ork.

That after his said late Majesty. King Charles the Second,
had made such Grant as aforesaid, to the said James Duke of

York, a certain Treaty was concluded at Breda, in, or about
the Y'ear 16G7, between his said late Majesty, King Charles the
Second, and the States General whereby the said States General,

ceded and yielded, to his said late Majesty, all Places whereof
his said late Majesty had been in Possession on the 10th day of

May, in the said Year 1667 ; as by the said Treaty, had the Plain-

filTs the same to produce, relation being thereunto had, might
and would more fully appear.

That in, or about the Y^ear 1672. War was declared, between
England and Holland, and thereafter, to wit. in, or about the
Month of July 1()73, the Dutch entered into, and upon their

said former great Settlement, upon the Lands now called West
and East New-Jersey and New-Y"ork, and likewise into and upon
their said former smaller Settlement, upon the Lands now called
the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex.

But afterwards, to wit, in, or about the Month of February
1673, a Treaty of Peace was concluded, between England and
Holland, whei'eby all Countries which had Ijeeii taken Ijy each
from the other, since the said last mentioned War which broke
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out in 1672, were agreed to be restored l)yeacli of the contracting
I'arties to tlie other, from whom the same had been taken, as
Ijy tlie said last mentioned Treaty, had the PlantifTs the same to

produce, relation thereunto liad, miglit and would more fully

appear.

That in a very short time after tlie,concluding the said last

mentioned Treaty of February IGTo, his said late Majesty, King
Charles the Second, and the said Janies Duke of York, sent over
Colonel 'Edmund Andros, afterwards Sir Edmund Andros,
Knight, or some other Person or Persons, with Authority
to receive from the Dutch their said Settlements, herein before

mentioned, and tlie Government thereof, and to continue in the
Command thereof, under the said James Duke of Y^ork, as by
such Commissions and Authorities, had the Plaintiffs the same
to produce, rehition being thereunto had, would and might
moi-e fully appear.

That, immediately after the giving such Commissions and Au-
tliority to the said Colonel Andros he went over to those Parts,

and took Possession of both the said great Settlement, and small,

for and in behalf of the said James Duke of York, and contin-
ued in Possession thereof, and under the Authority, and in the
behalf of the said James Duke of York, did. for many Years
together, Exercise all sorts of Acts of Ownership. Propriety, and
fTOvernment, whatsoever, throughout the said great and small
Settlements herein before mentioned. and particularly through-
out the said suiall Settlement, upon the said Tracts now called

the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex. As
by the several Grants. Commissions, and other Acts and In-

struments, made and executed by the said Colonel Andros, re-

lation being thereunto had, may and will most manisfestly and
notoriously appear.

That in order to make to the said Duke of York a clear Title

to the said Countries, which had been before granted to him
in 166-1, as aforesaid, and to prevent any Question touching the
Validity of the same in respect of the Entry made thereon, or
on some Part, thereof, by the Dutch in 1678, his said late Maj-
esty, King Charles the Second, by his Letters Patent under the
Great Seal of England, bearing Date at ^Vestminster, on, or
about the 29th Day of June, which was in the 26th Year of his

Reign, and in the Year of our Lord 1674, did give and grant,

unto the said James Duke of Y'ork, his Heirs, and Assigns, the
same Territories which were granted by the said former Letters
Patent, and in the same Words.
And his said late Majesty King Charles the Second, did, in

and by the said last Letters Patent, give and grant unto the
said James Duke of York, in Fee, divers Powers of Government
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over the said Country and Territory tiiereby granted
;
a« by the

said last Letters Patent, under the Gre-nt Seal of England, or

an Exemplification thereof, or the Enrollment of the same, re-

maining as of Record in this Honourable Court, relation being

thereunto had, doth and niay appear.

That the Plaintiffs late Father, on or about the 1st Day of

June, in the Year of our Lord 1680, petitioned his said late

Majestv King Charles the Second, in Consideration of Deuts due

to him' or his Father from the Crown, to grant him Letters

Patent, for a Tract of Land in America, lying North of Mary-

land on the East bounded with Delaware River, on the West

limited as Maryland, and Northward to extend as far as Plant-

That on or about the 14th of June 1680. the Plaintiffs said

late Father was called in. by the Lords of the Committee of his

said late Majesty's Most Honourable Priyy Council for the

AlTairs of Trade and the Plantations, to whose Consideration

the said Petition had been referred, and being asked what ex-

tent of Land he would be contimted with Northerly? He de-

clared himself satisfied with three Degrees, to the Northward.

That the Agents for the said then Lord Baltimore, had Copies

of the said Petition, and were heard upon any Objections they

had to offer aginst the passing such a Grant as was prayed by

the said Petition, and in relation to the Boundaries of Mary-

land ; as bv several Orders and Minutes in the Register Books

of his Majesty's Privv Council, bearing Date respectively the

14th of June." in the Year of our Lord 1680, the 25th of the said

Month, in the said Year, and the 16th of December, in the said

Year of our Lord 1680, relation being thereunto had, may more

fully and at large appear.

That pursuant to the Advice and Reports of the Lords of his

said late Majesty's Most Honourable Privy Council, by Letters

Patent, under the Great Seal of England, bearing Date at

Westminster, on or about the 4th Day of March, which was in

the 33d Year of the Reign of his late Majesty King Charles the

Second and in the Year of our Lord 1680, his said late Majesty

did, of his said Majesty's special Grace, certain Knowledge,

and'meer Motion, give and grant, unto William Penn Esq; the

PlantifTs said late Father, his Heirs and Assigns, all that Tract,

or Part of Land in America, with all the Islands therein con-

tained, as the same was bounded, on the East, by Delaware

River. "from twelve Miles distance. NorthAvards of Newcastle

Town, unto the three and fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude,

if the said River did extend so far Northwards; but if the said

River should not extend so far Northward, T4ien. by the said

River so far as it did extend, and. from the head of the said
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River, the Easstern Bounds were to be determined by a Meridian

Line, to be drawn from the head of the said River unto the three

and fortieth Degree; the said Lands to extend Westwards,

five Degrees in Longitude, to be computed from the said Eastern

Bounds ; and the said Lands to be bounded, on tlie North, by the

beginning of the forty-third Degree of Northern Latitude, and,

on the South, by a Circle, drawn at twelve Miles distance from

Newcastle, Northwards and Westwards, unto the beginning of

the fortieth degree of Northern Latitude; and, then, by a

streight Line, Westwards, to the Limit of Longitude there-

above mentioned; and also the free and undisturbed Use and

Continuance in, and Passage into and out, of, all and singular

Ports, Harbours, Bays. Waters, Rivers, Isles, and Inletts be-

longing unto, or leading to and from, the Country or Islands

aforesaid; and all the Soil, Lands, Fields, Woods, Underwoods,

Mountains, Hills, Fens, Isles, Lakes, Rivers, Waters, Rivulets,

Bays and Inletts. situate or being within, or belonging unto,

the Limits and Bounds aforesaid ; with all and singular the

Appurtenances, and divers Powers of Government : To hold

unto the said William Penn, his Heirs, and Assigns for ever.

And, by the same Letters Patent, the said Country was erected

into a Province, and called Pensilvania, as in and by the said

last recited Letters Patent, under the Cireat Seal of England,

relation being thereunto had, may more fully appear.

That although the said Province of Pensilvania did lie en-

tirely on the West side of Delaware River, yet, in respect of

the said Lands called the three Lower Counties, and in respect

of other Lands also, which were enjoyed by the said Duke of

Y'^ork, as belonging to the said great Settlement on the East

side of the said River, before the said Letters Patent to the plain-

tiffs said Father, passed the Great Seal, the Lords of his late

Majesty's Privy Council, thought the Consent of the said Duke
of York necessary: and, accordingly, the said Duke of Y'ork's

Assent to the said Grant thereof was had and given, to the Right

Honourable the Lords of the Committee of Plantations, or be-

fore a Committee of the Privy Council of his said late Majesty

King Charles the Second.

And, not only so, but, l)y Indenture, under the Hand and Seal

of the said James Duke of York bearing Date on or about the

21st Day of August, which was in the Year of our Lord 1682,

and made or mentioned to l>e made, between the said James
Duke of York of the one Part, and the said William Penn the

Plaintiffs said late Father of the other Part, reciting that the

said Duke of York had in manner aforesaid, signified his Assent

to the making of the said (xrant of Pensilvania to the Plain-

tiffs said late Father, before the same had passed the Great
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Seal and that the said Duke was willing and pleased to con-

tirni', and make anv further Assurance ot, the said Traet of

Land and Premisses, unto the said William Penn, and his Heirs,

the said Duke, out ot a special Regard to the Memory, and many

faithful and eminent Services theretofore- perfuruied !.y the said

Sir William Penn. to his said Majesty, ami To the said Duke and

for the better encouraging the said William IVnn, to proceed

in the Cultivating and Improving of the said Tract ot (rround

and Islands thereinand thereunto, belonging, and reducing the

Savage and Barbarous Natives thereof to (Uvility. and tor the

(iood will which the said Duke had and bore to the said ^\ lUiam

Penn and for other good Causes and Considerations, the said

Duke did. in and by the said last mentioned Indenture, remise,

release, and for eve'r quit Claim unto the said William Penn,

his Heirs, ami Assigns, all the Estate, Right. Title, Interest.

Rents Services, Duties, Payments, Property. Claim and De-

mand' whatsoever, of the said Duke, of into or out of the same,

to hold unto the said William Penn, his Heirs, and assigns for

ever, as by the said recited Indenture, relation being thereunto

had, may more fully appear.

That as the said Province of Pensilvania, lies North ot the

said Province of Marvland, so, by the said last recited Letters

Patent for Pensilvania, the General Bounds of the said Province

of Pensilvania, on the South I'art, are expressly said to be the be-

ginning of the fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude (with an

Exception, atone Corner, of the Circle at twelve Miles Distance

from Newcastle) so that, as by the said first recited Letters

Patent the Northern Bounds of Maryland were to extend North-

wards as far as to the fortieth Degree, this second Grant, con-

taining the Province of Pensilvania, is, by his said Majesty s

said last recited Letters Patent, made to commence from the

beginning of the said fortieth Degree, and to run. Northwards,

three Degrees (pursuant to the said Declaration of the Plaintiffs

late Father) up to the beginning of the forty-third Degree.

That very soon after the said Grant was made by the said late

Kin- Charles the Second, and by the said Duke of York, of the

said" Province of Pensilvania, unto the Plaintiffs said late

Father as aforesaid, the said James Duke of York, by his Inden-

ture of Feoffment, under his Hand and Seal (afterwards duly and

most solemnly executed with Livery and Seisin) bearing Date

on or about the 24th Day of August, in the Year of our Lord 1682,

and made between the said James Duke of York of the one Part,

and the said William Penn of the other Part, did, out of a spe-

cial regard to the Memory, and many faithful and eminent Ser-

vices thentofore performed by the Father of the said William
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Penn to the said King: Charles the Second, and to the said Duke
of York, and for other good Causes and Considerations therein
mentioned. Bargain, Sell, Enfeoff and Confirm, to the said Wil-
liam Penn, his Heirs, and Assigns, for ever, all that the Town
of Newcastle, otherwise called Delaware, and the Tract of Land
lying within the Compass or Circle of twelve Miles about the
same situate, lying, and being upon the River Delaware in

America, and all Islands in the said River Delaware, and theBaid
River and Soil thereof, lying North of the Southermost part of
the said Circle of twelve Miles about the said Town together with
all Rents, Services, Royalties, Franchises. Duties. Jurisdictions,
Liberties, and Privileges thereunto belonging, and all his Es-
tate, Right, Title, Interest, Powers, Property, Claim and De-
mand, whatsoever, therein and thereto, to hold unto the said
William Penn, liis Heirs, and Assigns for ever.

And the said James Duke of York, by his other Indenture
of feoffment, under his Hand and Seal (afterwards duly and
most solemnly executed with Livery and Seisin) also bearing
Date the same 24th day of August 1682, and made between the
said James Duke of York of the one Part, and the said William
Penn of the other Part, for the like Considerations as were men-
tioned in the said before recited Indenture of Feoffment, did
Bargain, Sell, Enfeoft' and Confirm, unto the said William Penn,
his Heirs and Assigns for ever, all that Tract of Land upon
Delaware River and Bay, beginning 12 Miles South from the
Town of Newcastlt-, otherwise called Delaware, and extending,
South, to tlie Whore-Kills, otherwise called Cape Hinlopen,
together with free and undisturbed Use and Passage into and
out of all Harbours. Bays, Waters, Rivers, Isles and Inletts, be-
longing or leading to the same, together with the Soil. Fields,
Woods, Underwoods, Mountains. Hills, Fens, Isles, Lakes,
Rivers, Rivulets, Bays and Inletts, situate in, or belonging unto,
the Limits and Bounds therein before mentioned, together Avith
all sorts of Minerals, and all the Estate, Interest, Royalties,
Franchises, Powers, Privileges, and Immunities, whatsoever,
of the said Duke of York, therein or thereto : To hold unto
the said William Penn. his Heirs and Assigns for ever.

And the said Duke of York did, in and by each of the said
several and respective Indentures of Feoffment. Covenant, for
himself, his Heirs and Assigns, to and with the said William
Penn, his Heirs and Assigns, to make, or cause, or procure to
be made, all such further Acts. C^onveyances, and Assurances
of the Premises therein respectively conveyed to the said Wil-
liam Penn and his Heirs, as by the Council of the said William
Penn and his Heirs, or Assigns should be devised, advised or
required.
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And the said Duke of York did, lurtiier, in and by each of

the same respective Indentures of Feoffment, make, and con-

stitute and appoint two Persons, namely, Jolin Moll Esq; and
Ephraim Harman, Gent., jointly and either of them, severally,

his Attorneys, to enter into the Premises by the same respective

Indentures of Feoffment conveyed, and take Possession and
Seisin thereof, and the same to deliver to, and leave in, the Pos-
session of the said William Penn. his Heirs and Attorneys, as

in and by the said several and respective Indentures of Feoff-

ment, relation being unto them severally and respectively had,
may more fully appear.

That on or about the 28th Day of October 1682, the Plaintiffs

said late Father, the said William Penn, either in his proper
Person, or by his Attorney, did demand, and the said John
Moll, one of the said Duke's Attorneys, did, with ^reat form
and solemnity, deliver, and leave the said William Penn in the

quiet and peaceable Possession and Seisin of the Premises con-

tained in l)oth the said respective Indentures of Feoffment, pur-
suant to the Power and Authority given by the same respective

Indentures of Feoffment, by delivery to the said William Penn
of the Fort at Newcastle, and of Turf and Twig, and Water and
Soil, of the River Delaware; and, not onlv so, but the few Ten-
ants, then being thereon, did attourn. and submit and promise
to obey the said William Penn, and to live quietly under his

Government.
And, moreover, in a very few days after such Possession and

Seisin delivered, to wit, some time in the Month of November
1682, the said Duke of Y'ork's Commander in Chief and Council,
established at New York by a Proclamation or Declaration, re-

citing the said Grants made by the said Duke of York, l)y the
said Feoffments to the said AVilliam Penn, and setting forth,

that the said Governor and Council were fully satisfied of the
Right of the said William Penn, they therefore made a Declara-
tion of the same, to prevent any doubt or trouble, and to give
the Justices of Peace, Magistrates and other Officers within those
Tracts, thanks for their good Services done in their several Offi-

ces and Stations during the time they had remained under his

Royal Highness his Government, (meaning the Government of

the said Tames Duke of York.) And further declaring, that
the said Governor and Council expected no further Account
than that they, the said Justices of the Peace, Magistrates and
other Officers, should readily submit and yield all due Obedi-
ence and Conformity to the powers granted to the said William
Penn.

Which said Proclamation or Declaration was addressed or
directed to the several Justices of the Peace, Magistrates and
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other ORicers at Newcastle, St. Jones Dealo. alias Whore-KiT.,

at Delaware, or within any of the Bounds and Limits mentioned

in the said recited Indentures of Feoffment to the said William

Penn: as by the said Proclamation or Declaration, or an au-

thentick Copy thereof, relation beinj; thereunto had. may more

l^lainly and fully appear.

And the Plaintifl's expressly Charge that the Lands, comprized

and in(duded witliin the said two respective Indentures of Feoflf-

nient, are those Lands which are now called by the Name of

the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex.

And that the said William Penn entered into the peaceable

Possession of the said Province of Pensilvania in the Month of

June 1681.

And into the peaceable Possession of all the three lower

Counties in the I\Ionth of October: or at furthest in the Montli

of November in the Year 1082.

And that the said William Penn, and those claiming under

him now are, and from the time of such the respective Entries

of the said William Penn as aforesaid, have constantly and con-

tinually, and without any the least Intermission, been in the

Possession of the same, respectively, from those respective times,

unto tliis Hour.

And that tlie said William Penn, at his own very great Ex-

pence, and without one Shilling Charge to, or Assistance from,

either tht' Crown of the Publick, did People and settle the said

Province of Pensilvania, and also the said three lower Counties.

And that tlie same do, at this time, together, make by far the

most flourishing and populous Province and Colony in Amer-

ica, for the At;e of the same.

And that the Number of Inhabitants, now within the said

three lower Counties only, (exclusive of a far greater Number
of Souls within the said Province of Pensilvania, properly so

called,) is at least 40,000 Souls.

That the said Duke of York having, by each of his said In-

dentures of Feoffment of the 24th of August 1682, covenanted

with the Plaintiffs Father, to make and procure further As-

surance of the Premises contained within the said recited In-

dentures of Feoffment as aforesaid, he the said Duke of York

did, in pursuance and part of Performance of his said Coven-

ants, very shortly after the Date of the said Feoffments make
his Application to the said King Charles the Second, for a more

particular and express Grant, under the Great Seal of England,

of the said three lower Counties, or of the Lands contained in

the said Feoffments and since called the three lower Counties,

and did procure and obtain the same.

And his said late Majesty King Charles the Second, by his
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Letters Patent, under the (rreat Seal of England, bearing Date

at Westminster, on or about the 22d Day of March, which was

in the iJoth Year of his Reign, and in the said Year of our Lord

1082 (which was not quite seven Calender Months after the Date

of the said Duke's said Feoffments) did give and grant unto

the said James Duke of York, his Heirs and Assigns, all that

the Town of Newcastle, otherwise called Delaware, and Fort

therein, or thereunto belonging, situate, lying, and being

between Maryland and New Jersey in America. And all that

Tract of Land lyiuLT within the Compass or Circle of 12 Miles

about the said Town, situate, lying and being upon the River

of Delaware, and all Islands in the said River of Delaware, and

the said River, and Soil thereof, lying North of the Souther-

most part of the said Circle of 12 Miles about the said Town.

And all that Tract of Land, upon Delaware River and Bay, be-

ginning 12 Miles South from the said Town of Newcastle, other-

wise called Delaware, and extending, South, to Cape Lopin,

together with all the Lands, Islands, Soil, Rivers, Harbours,

Mines, Minerals, (Quarries, Woods, Marshes, Waters, Lakes,

Fishings, Hawkings, Huntings and Fowlings, and all other

Royalties, Privileges, Profits, Commodities, and Hereditaments

to the said Town, Fort, Tracts of Lands, Islands, and Premises.

or to any or either of them belonging or appertaining, with

their and every of their Appurtenances, situate, lying and being

in America. And all his said late Majesty's Estate, Right,

Title, Interest, Benefit, Advantage, Claim and Demand, what-

soever, of, in, or to the said Town, Fort, Lands, and Premises,

or any Part or Parcel thereof, and the Reversion and Rever-

sions, Remainder and Remainders thereof, together, with the

Yearly and other Rents, Revenues, and Profits of the Premises,

and of every Part and Parcel thereof, to hold unto the .said

James Duke of York, his Heirs and Assigns for ever, to be held

as of the Manor of East Grreenwich in the County of Kent, with

full and absolute Powers and Authorities therein contained, to

the said Duke of Y'ork and his Heirs, Deputies, Agents, Com-
missioners and Assigns, Power and Authority of Government

and Command, over all such Persons as should Adventure

into any the Places aforesaid, or that should at any time

thereafter inhabit within the same.

And, immediately after the said last recited Letters Patent

had passed the Great Seal, the said Duke of York, Avho was no

other than a Trustee for the said William Penn therein, and

had obtained them in pursuance of his Covenant for further

Assurance, did deliver over the same Original last cecited Let-

ters Patent under the Great Seal to the Plaintiffs Father, and

2— V'OL. XV.
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the same is now in the Custody and Possession of the Plaintiffs

ready to be produced to this Honourable Court, as by the said

last recited Letters Patent, under the Great Seal of England,
bO in the Plaintiffs Custody, relation, being thereunto had, may
more fully appear.

That after the said last recited Letters Patent had passed the
Great Seal, and had been delivered over to the Plaintiffs Father
as aforesaid, the said Duke of York, in further pursuance of

his said Covenants with the Plaintiffs said Father did sollicite

from the said King Charles the Second, a yet further, and more
beneficial. Grant of the Lands now called the three lower
Counties, and of the Appurtenances thereto; and such further
Grant was preparing, in order to pass the Great Seal, but was
stopt, for some time, upon a Petition presented to his said late

Majesty King Charles the Second in Council by Richard Burk,
calling himself Servant to the then Lord Baltimore, (which
said then Lord Baltimore the Plaintiffs Charge was either Son,
or Grandson, of, and Heir at Law to the said Cecilius.

)

And such last mentioned Petition, in behalf of the said then
Lord Baltimore, having been presented to his said Majesty,
was referred by his said Majesty's Order in Council bearing
Date on or about the Day of May 1683, to the Consider-
ation of the then Committee of Trade and Foreign Plantations
(which Committee the Plaintiffs Charge did, then, consist of

Lords of his said Majesty's Most Hnourable Privy Council.)
And, before the said Committee the said Richard Burk, and

the said then Lord Baltimore himself, and their Council Learned
in the Law, and also the Plaintiffs Father, and his Council
Learned in the Law, were many and divers times heard, for

near two Years and an half together.

And a very long Suit and Trial Avere had thereon, between
the Plaintiffs said Father, and the said then Lord Baltimore,
touching the Right and Title to the said Land and Soil of the
said three lower Counties, as may appear by the Register Books
and Proceedings of the said Committee of Council, or Commit-
tee of Trade and Foreign Plantations.

And, in the Prosecution of the said Suit, it is. from time to

time, continually taken notice, and expressly mentioned, in the
Minutes or several Orders made by the said Committee thereon,
that the Dispute and Difference was a Dispute between the said
then Lord Baltimore and the Plaintiffs said Father, although
the Plaintiffs said Father did, some, times, make use of the said

Duke of York's Name therein, as holding under the Grants,
and Covenants for further Assurance, of the said Duke of York,
and altho' the said Duke himself, did, by his Council and other
Agents, sometimes, assist and interpose in the said Suit.
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And which the Phiintiflfs hunihly rely on as a furtlier most
express, and manifest, Declaration, on the part of the said Duke,

that the said Grant of the said three lower Counties, which he

had obtained from the Crown after his said Feoffment to the

Plaintiffs said Father, and also the further Grant which he was

then soliciting: to ol)tain, were in Trust for, and for the Benefit

of, the Plaintiffs said Father, and not for the Benefit or Ad-

vantage of the said Duke of York.

And the Plaintiffs do expressly Charge that several of the

Minutes, Orders, and Reports, made by the said Committee of

Council, upon and during the Continuance, of the said Dispute,

were of the several and respective Dates for that purpose herein

after mentioned and set forth, and so the same now appear upon
the Register Books of the said Committee for Trade and Foreign

Plantations, that is to say, the 17th and 27th of April, the 30th

of May. the 12th of June and the 12th of February, 1G83, the 2d,

IGth, and 23d of July, the 30th of September, the 9th of Decem-

ber, and the 17th of March 1684, the 18th and 26th of August,

the 2d of September, the 8th, 17th and, 31st of October, and

the 7th of November 1685.

And the final order of Council, made thereon, upon the 13ih

Day of November 1685, was in the following Words, that is to

say :

At the Court at Whitehall, the 13th Day of November 1685,

present the King's most Excellent Majesty, his Royal Highness

Prince George of Denmark, Lord Archbishop of Canterbury.

Lord Chancellor, Lord Treasurer, Lord Privy Seal, Duke of

Ormond,Duke of Beaufort. Duke of Queensberry, Lord Chamber-
lain, Earl of Huntingdon, Earl of Bridgewater, Earl of Peter-

borough, Earl of Sunderland. Earl of Craven, Earl of Berkeley,

Earl of Nottingham, Earl of Plymouth, Earl of Murray, Earl of

Middleton, Lord Viscount Fauconberge, Lord Viscount Preston,

Lord Viscount Melfort, Lord Bishop of London, Lord Dart-

mouth. Lord Gadolphin. Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer.—The
following Rpport from the Right Honourable the Lords of the

Committee for Trade and Foreign Plantations, being this Day
read at the Board. The Lords of the Committee for Trade and

Plantations having pursuant to his late Majesty's Order in

Council of the 31st of May 1683, examined the Matters in Differ-

ence, between the Lord Baltimore, and William Penn Esq; in

behalf of his present Majesty concerning a Tract of Land in

America, commonly called Delaware, Their Lordships find

that the Land intended to loe granted by the Lord Baltimore's

Patent was only Land uncultivated and inhabited by Savages;

and that this Tract of Land, now in Dispute, Avas inhabited and

planted by Christians at and before the Date of the Lord Balti-
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more 's Patent, as it hath been ever since, to this time, and con-

tinued as a Distinct Colony from that of Maryland, so that

their Lordships humbly Offer their Opinion that, for avoid-

ing further Differences, the Tract of Land, lying between the

River and the Eastern Sea on the one side, and Chesopeak

Bay on the other, be divided, into equal Parts, by a Line, from

the Latitude of Cape Hinlopen, to the 40th Degree of North-

ern Latitude, and that one half thereof, lying towards the Bay

of Delaware, and the Eastern Sea, be adjudged to belong to his

Majesty, and that the other half remain to the Lord Balti-

more, as comprized within his Charter.—Council Chamber,

7th November IGSJ. His Majesty, well approving of the said Re-

port, it was thereupon Ordered, by his Majesty in Council, that

the said Lands be forthwith divided, accordingly.—Whereof

the said Lord Baltimore, and William Penn Esq; together

with their respective Officers, and all others whom it may

concern are to take notice, and give due and ready Obedience

thereunto.

As by the said several and respective Minutes, Report and

Orders, or tiie Register Books of his Majesty's Privy Council,

and of the said Committee of Trade and Plantations, relation

being thereunto respectively had, may more fully and at large

appear.

That during the said Contest in the Years 1G8;!, 1GS4, and 1685,

the said then Lord Baltimore, ujion the 8th of October 1(585, pro-

duced to the then Committee of Trade and Plantations an un-

authentick blank Paper, nor signed or sealed at all, but drawn

up in the Form of the Draught of a Report and Order of the

Committee of Foreign Plantations, and supposed to be made on

the 4th of April lOuS, touching Differences between some Lord

Baltimore and one Mr. Chiyborne. about the Isle of Kent, in

order to shew that former Board's Opinion touching the Lord

Baltimore's Right to the Isle of Kent; and the said then Com-

mittee of Trade and Plantations, in 1G85 put off the Matter,

and gave the said Lord Baltimore time to procure an attested

Copy of such pretended Report or Order in 1638, which the said

Lord Baltimore undertook to procure.

But nine Days after, the said Lord Baltimore declared, in

Person, to the said Conmnttee of Trade and Plantations,

namely on the 17th of October 1685. that he could not find the

Original, whereby an attested Copy might be procured.

Neither, as the Plaintiffs Charge, was there ever any such

Order.

That, before the time the said last mentioned Order of Council

of November 1685. was made, the l^laintiffs Father had not made

any very large or very expensive Improvements on the said three
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lower Counties, but. after the same Order was made, the Plain-

tiils Father, conceiving that by the same Order the Matter of the

said then Lord Baltimore's ill-grounded Claim or Pretence was

tinally concluded and at an end, did. at a prodisrious Expence,

of vast Sums of Money, which were raised by Mortgage and Sale

of his Family Estate in the Kingdoms of Englanil and Ireland,

and by great Sums of Money wliich he borrowed, even upon
Mortgage of the Lands in America so granted to him as afore-

said, and by purchasing the Lands from the Lulian Natives and

Owners, and by repeated and continual presents, to, and Treaties

with, the Indians, and by great and continual Pains, Labour
and Industry, and by many repeated Toils and Hazards of his

Life, in Voyages to Pensilvania, and the three lower Counties,

and back again, and otherwise, very greatly distress and ruin

his Family and Estate, but did, as greatly, settle, cultivate and

people the said Lands, so granted to him as aforesaid, and more
particularly the said three lower Counties.

So that, at this time, most part, if not all of the Lands in

the said three loM'er Counties are taken up and cleared, and

many thousands of beautiful Plantations are made therein,

and also many Towns, Villages, Churches, Meetings, Court-

Houses, Assembly-Houses, Forts, Harbours, Piers, Dwelling

Houses and other publick and private Structures, Buildings,

Edifices and Improvements, are built and made therein.

That the Swedes and Dutch, who anciently were in those

Parts now called the three lower Counties, had. during the

time of their several and respective Possessions, made divers

considerable Purchases of great Tracts of Lands, Avithin what
are now called the said three lower Counties, from the Indian

Natives, Owners and Possessors of such Lands, for valuable

Considerations, and the right in and to such Indian Purchases

passed to and was well and legally vested in, the Plaintiffs said

Father in Fee.

And, not only so, but the Plaintiffs said Father, himself,

after the said beforementioned Grants made to and in Trust for

him as aforesaid, did. for valuable Considerations, purchase of

the Indian Natives and Owners of the Lands comprized within

the Limits of the said three lower Counties, and from their

Kings and Sachems, all those Lands from Quing Quingus,

called Duck Creek, unto Up-land, called Chester Creek, laying

all along by the side of Delaware River, and so, between the

said Creeks backwards as far as a Man can ride with a Horse in

two days; and accordingly, by deed or deeds, duly executed, the

said Indians, and their Heads and Sachems, did convey to the

Plaintiffs said Father, his Heirs and Assigns, all the same

Lands last mentioned, as by the said deeds and Conveyances,
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had the Plaintiffs the same at present in this Kingdom to pro-

duce, relation being thereunto had, might and would more
fully appear.

And the Plaintiffs expressly Charge, that the same last men-
tioned Lands, comprized in the said last mentioned Deeds or

Conveyances to their Father from the Indians, do, of them-
si'lves. make up at least three fourth Parts of all the Lands
within the said three lower Counties, besides that the other

Parts of the same three lower Counties have been, heretofore,

l)urchased by the said Swetles and Dutch, and by the Plaintiffs,

and those under whom they Claim.

That from the said Month of Nov. 1685, unto the Month of

Jan. 1708, which was above 23 Years, the said Lord Baltimore,

who had had so many Hearings in the Y'ears 1683, 1084 and 1085,

and at last such a full and final determination made against his

ill-grounded Pretensions in the Y'ear 1685 as aforesaid, suffered

the Plaintiffs Father to go on peaceablj' and quietly, without
the least Claim or Interruption whatsoever, to make such Pur-
chases, and to people, settle, clear, cultivate, improve, and
govern the said three lower Counties as aforesaid, in which
said 23 Years the greatest part of the Expenee of the Plaintiffs

Father was laid out, during the Infancy and first peopling and
clearing of the said Province or Colony.
But in the Month of Jan. 1708, the very same Charles Lord

Baltimore, who by himself, and his Agents and Council had had
so many Hearings allowed him in the Years 1083, 1084, and 1685 as

aforesaid, presented a Petition to her late Majesty Queen Anne,
and, after having mentioned the Name of the Plaintiffs Father,
he the said Lord Baltimore did expressly suggest, and pray, by
his said Petition to her said Majesty in Jan. 1708, amongst
other things, in the Words following, that is to say, "That on
"the 7th of Nov. 1685 the said Penn, falsly suggesting that
"yonr Petitioner by his Grant from your Royal Grandfather
"was to have no Land but what was cultivated by Savages
" (though the said Suggestion was directly contrary to the
"Words and Intent of your Petitioner's Grant) obtained an
"Order of Council for dividing an Isthmus of Land lying be-

"tweenthe River and Bay of Delaware and the Eastern Sea on
"the one side, and the Chesopeake Bay on the other side, and
"thereby has endeavoured without your Petitioners being
"ever heard to or having Notices of such Order, to deprive
"your Petitioner of his Inheritance granted to him by the
"Bounty of your Royal Grandfather, your Petitioner therefore
"most humbly prays that the said Order, thus surreptitiously
"gotten, may be set aside."

That the said Petition of the said Charles Lord Baltinjore in
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January 1708, being on the t»th of the same January 1708,

referred by her said late Majesty Queen Anne, to the Con-

sideration of the then Lords Commissioners for Trade and

Plantations the Plaintiffs Father the said William Penn

upon the 27th of the same January 1708 presented his Petition

to her said late Majesty representing that the Matters in differ-

ence had, upon the Lord Baltimore's own Petition and Request,

been examined before the then Lords Committee for Trade and

Plantations, at that time consisting of the whole Privy Council,

in the Years 1G84 and 168.1 : who, after several Hearings of the

Lord Baltimore and the said William Penn, and of their re-

spective Council and Advocates and long Deliberations had of

the Allegations and Proofs produced before them had reported

their Opinions thereon and how the Boundaries should be set-

tled ; which Report had in the Month of November 1G85, been

approved of and confirmed by an Order of the King in Council

;

and that the said William Penn not doubting but that the Lord

Baltimore would acquiesce under the Royal Determination

which himself had desired the said William Penn and his

Tenants, had ever since, improved the disputed Lands which

were allotted to the said William Penn, but, to his great Sur-

prize, after 23 Years quiet Possession under that Sentence the

Lord Baltimore had petitioned the Queen to set aside the King's

Order in Council, which was intended to be final; and the said

William Penn, for the Reasons in such his Petition contained,

prayed her said late Majesty not to countenance an attempt so

injurious to Property and the Rights of her Subjects, but to

order the Lord Baltimore's Petition to be dismissed.

That her said late Majesty, by her Order in Council of the

27th Day of Januarv 1708, was pleased to order, and did order,

that the said Petition of the said Lord should be and was

thereby dismissed, and that the Lords Commissioners for Trade

and Plantations, to whom that Petition was by an Order of the

9th then Instant referred, should not proceed to examine into

the Allegations thereof as by the same Order was directed.

That the said Charles Lord Baltimore, not yet resting satis-

fied. He, on the 19th of May 1709, presented another Petition

to her said late Majesty, again expressly asserting that the said

Order of Council of the 7th of November 1685, had been obtained

by false Suggestions of the said William Penn, and without the

said Charles Lord Baltimore being ever heard by himself or

Council ; and the said Charles Lord Baltimore, in his said

Petition of May 1709, took notice of the Allegation in the Peti-

tion of the said William Penn of January 1708. that the said

Order of Council had been olotained after several Hearings,

of the said Lord Baltimore and his Council, but, in Answer
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and direct Contradiction thereto, tlie said Lord Baltimore as-

serted that he could fully prove that he had no Notice of the said

Order.

That her said late Majesty by her Order in Council of the

said 19th of May 1709, was pleased to order that the matter of

the said last mentioned Petition should i>e heard before her

Majesty in Council, in June then next, whereof all Parties con-

cerned were to take Notice and come prepared to be heard with

their Council learned at that time, accordinaly.

That the said Charles Lord Baltimoi-e and the Plaintiffs

Father were accor iingly heard, before her said late Majesty in

Council, and thereupon, l)y her said late Majesty's Order in Coun-

cil, of the 23d of June 1709, reciting the said Lord Baltimore's last

mentioned Petition and Allegation that the said Order of 1(585,

had been obtained by the false Suggestions of the said William

Penn, and without the said Lord Baltiuiore's having l)een

heard thereupon, and that both Parties had, pursuant to her

said Majesty's Order, that Day attended, and been fully heard

with their Council learned, and that it had appeared, by au-

thentick Copies of Proceedings at that Boanl, that as well the

then Petitioner the said Charles Lord Baltimore, as the said

William Penn. had been divers times heard, before the making
of the said Order, her said late Majesty, with the Advice of her

Privy Council, was pleased to order that the said Lord Balti-

more's Petition should be dismissed that Board. And that the

above-mentioned Order of Council of the 13th of November 1685,

should be ratified and confirmed in all its Points, and be put

in Execution, without any further delay ; as by the said several

and respective Petitions and Orders in January 1708, and in

May and June 1709, relation being thereunto respectively had,

may more fully appear.

That the matter being again fully and finally settled and ad-

justed as aforesaid by the .said Order of June 1709, the Plain-

tiffs Father remained in quiet and peaceable possession of the

said three Lower Counties, ever after during all the remainder

of his Life.

Andthe-said William Penn. on or about the 30th Day of July

in the Year 1718, departed this Life, having first duly executed

his last Will and Testament, in writing, bearing Date some
time in or about the Year 1711 or 1712, and thereby devised to

his dear Wife Hannah l^erni, the Plaintiffs late Mother (since

deceas'd) and several other Persons and their Heirs, all his

Lands, Tenem3nts, and Hereditaments, Avhatsoever, Rents and

other Profits, situate, lying and f>eing in Pensilvania and the

Territories thereunto belonginir, or elsewhere in America, upon
Trust that they should sell and dispose of so much thereof as
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should be sufficient to pay all his just Debts, and from and after

Payment thereof convey 40,000 Acres, part thereof, in manner

therein ilireeted, and all the rest of his Lands and Heredita-

ments whatsoever, situate, lying and being in America, He

willed that his said Trustees should convey to and amongst his

Children which he had by his then Wife, in such proportions,

and for such Estates, as his said Wife should think fit; and all

his i)ersonal Estate in Pensilvania, and elsewhere, and Arrears

of Kent due there, he gave to his said Wife, wdiom he made

sole Executrix for the equal Benefit of her and her Children.

Which said last Will and Testament was duly proved, by the

said Hannah the Plaintiffs Mother, the sole Executrix thereof,

on or about the 4th Day of November 171K, in common form,

in the Prerogative Court of the Archbishop of Canterbury, and

was afterwards duly proved by Witnesses, upon, a proper Suit

for that purpose brought against the Heir at Law of the said

William Penn, and established by decree in his Majesty's Court

of Exchequer at Westminster, as in and by such last Will and

Testament, and the several and respective Proofs thereof, re-

lation being thereunto had, may more fully appear.

That the said Hannah Penn, by deed-poll under her Hand and

Seal duly executed, bearing Date on or about the 18th Day of

Novemfjer, in the said Year of our Lord 1718, reciting amongst

other Things the said last Will and Testament of the said

William Penn, the said Hannah Penn, in pursuance of all Powers

which she had or M'as invested with, did direct and appoint all

the rest and residue of the Lands, Tenements, and Heredita-

ments, and of the Rents and other Profits of them, late of the

said William Penn deceased, lying and being in Pensilvania

aforesaid and the Territories thereunto belongincr.or elsewhere

in America, that should remain after the Provisions in the said

Will (subject nevertheless to the debts of the said William

Penn deceased, according to his said Will) should be conveyed

in manner following, that is to say, three full and equal Parts

of such rest and residue (in six equal parts to be divided) of

and in all that the (Country or province in America called Pen-

silvania. and three full equal sixth parts of all Lands, Tene-

ments, and Hereditaments whatsoever. Rents and other profits

late of the said William Penn deceased, within or part of the said

Country or Province, should be conveyed by the said Trustees

for the time being and the Survivor of them, and the Heirs

and Assiirns of such Survivor, to and to the Use of the Plaintiff

John Penn, eldest Son of the said Hannah by the said William

Penn deceased, and of the Heirs and Assigns of the said John

Penn; and, as to the remaining three sixth parts of the same

that the said Trustees should convey the same to the Use
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of her three other youngrer Children by the said William
Penn deceas'd, namely, the plaintiffs Thomas Penn, and
Richard Penn, and Dennis Penn. their late Brother (since

deceased) and their Heirs and Assip:ns, as joint Tenants,

forever: And as to all the rest and residue that should re-

main of all that Tract of Land in America, late of the said

William Penn her late Husband deceased, adjoining to Pensil-

vania aforesaid, and commonly called the three Lower Counties,

and all Lands, Teneiiients. and Hereditaments, whatsoever.

Rents and other profits, late of the said William Penn her said

late Husband, in the said three Lower Counties, or in East

and West Jersey, or elsewhere in America (subject also as

aforesaid to the Debts of the said Testator) she did, in like

manner, direct, limit and appoint that three full and equal

Parts (the whole into six equal Parts to be divided) should be,

by the said Trustees, conveyed to and to the Use of her said

eldest Son the Plaintiff .John Penn, and of his Heirs and As-

signs; and, as to the remaining three sixth parts of the same,

to be conveyed to the Use of her said three younjrer Children

Thomas Penn, Richard Penn, and Dennis Penn, and their Heirs

and Assigns, as joint Tenants, for ever, as by the said Deed-

poll or Appointment, relation being thereunto had, may more
fully and at large appear.

That the said Hannah Penn departed this Life on or about

the 20th Day of December, in the Year 172G, and the said Dennis
Penn her Son, departed this Life on or about the Day of

in the Year ,an Infant of very tender Years, an'd Avithout

Issue.

And that, by Indentures of Lease and Release, bearing Date,

respectively, on or about the and Days of

which was in the Year of our Lord the then only sur-

viving Trustees, named in the said last Will and Testament of

the said William Penn, did duly convey unto the Plaintiffs

(pursuant to the Directions in the said Appointment of the

said Hannah Penn) all and singular the Lands, Hereditaments
and Premisses in the said Appointment mentioned ; to hold

unto the Plaintiffs respectively for such respective Estates as

by the said Appointment was directed, limited, appointed and
intended; as in and by the said recited Indentures of Lease and
Release had the Plaintiffs the same in this Kingdom to produce
relation being thereunto respectively had, may more fully and
at large appear.

That the said William Penn, in his Life-time, had put him-
self to so very great Expence, in improving the said Countries,

that, besides selling part of his Family Estate in England and
Ireland for that purpose, of an exceeding great yearly Value,
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he was obliged to xAIortgage, and in or about, the Year 1708 did
Mortgage, his said Lands in America, to Joshua Gee, John
Wood, and otiiers, for G,(i001. which Mortgage lay upon the said
Lands, at Interest, for above twenty Years; but, in the Year
1721i, the Mortgagees, or tlie Survivors of them, reconveyed the
said Mortgaged Premisses to the Plaintiffs for the respective
Estates mentioned in the said Deed of Appointment made by
the Plaintiffs Mother ; as by the said Mortgage, and Reeonvev-
ance, had the Plaintiffs the same now in this Kingdom to pro-
duce, relation being thereunto had, would appear.
Under which said Will, Appointment and Conveyance, Mort-

gage and Reconveyance, the Plaintiffs, entered into the Prem-
isses, and now are, and ever since the death of the said Hannah
Penn have been, in the quiet and peaceable Possession of the
said three Lower Counties, and of all the Lands, Tenements
and Hereditaments therein.

That the said Hannah Penn, immediately after the decease
of the said William Penn, did enter into, and from the time of
the death of the said William Penn, down to the time of her
own death as aforesaid, was in the quiet and peaceable Posses-
sion of the said three Lower Counties, and of all the Lands,
Tenements and Hereditaments therein.

And the said William Penn, in his Life-time, and the said
Hannah Penn, after his death, during her Life, and the Plain-
tiffs, since her death, down to this time, respectively, have, fre-
quently, and from time to time, as occasion required, appointed
Deputy or Lieutenant-Governors of the said three Lower
Counties, and begun, continued, and carried on the great Im-
provements now in being thereon, at their own sole and pro-
digious Expence.

That, during the time the said Hannah Penn was so possest
of the same three lower Counties as aforesaid, and during the
Infancy of the Plaintiffs, the Defendant Charles Calvert Esq

;

commonly called Charles Lord Baltimore in the Kingdom of
Ireland, the Grandson of the said Charles Lord Baltimore who
petitioned her said late Majesty Queen Anne, in January 1708
and May 1709 as aforesaid, and who is, or pretends to be. the Heir
at Law to the said Cecilins Baron of Baltimore, to whom the
said Grant of the Province of Maryland was made in 1()32, ap-
plied in his own Person, to the said Hannah Penn, and ad-
mitted to her that he had no Colour or pretence of Title to the
said three Lower Counties, or to any part of them, but rep-
resented that, as the Bounds of the said Provinces of Pensil-
vania and Maryland had not been, by any particular and exact
Land Marks, laid out and described, some of his, and likewist
some of her, Tenants, upon the Borders, refused to pay their
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(^uit-Rents, and other inconveniences arose, both to the said

Hannah Penn and Charles Lord Baltimore, and therefore, pro-

posed that, till the Bounds could be exactly set out and de-

scribed, no more lands sliould be g:ranted out, by either of

them near the Borders.

And, thereupon, an Agreement, in Writing, bearing Date on
or before about the ITtli Day of February, in the Year 1728, was
duly signed and executed, by and between the said Hannah
Penn and Charles Lord Baltimore, in the Words, or to the effect,

following, that is to say.

Whereas there are Dis}>utes depending between the respective

Proprietors of the Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania,

touching the Limits or Boundaries of the said Provinces where
they are contiguous to each other: And whereas botli Parties

are, at this time, sincerely inclined to enter into a Treaty, in

order to take such Methods as may be adviseal)le for the final

determining the said Controversy, l)y agreeing upon such Lines,

or other Marks of Distinction, to be settled, as may remain for

a perpetual Boundary between the two Provinces; it is there-

fore mutually agreed, between the Right Honourable Charles
Lord Baltimore, Proprietor and Governor of Maryland, and
Hannah Penn, Widow and Executrix of William Penn Esq

;

late Proprietor and r-fovernor of Pensilvania, and Joshua Gee,
of London, Merchant, and Henry Gouldney of London, Linnen-
Draper. in behalf of themselves and the Mortgagees of the Pro-
vince of Pensilvania, that, for avoiding of all manner of Con
tention or Differences between the Inhabitants of the said Prov-
inces, no Person or Persons shall be disturbed or molested in

their Possession, on either side nor any Lands be surveyed,
taken up or granted, in either of the said Provinces near the
Boundaries which have been claimed or pretended to on either
side; this Agreement to continue for the space of 18 Months
from the Date thereof; in which time, 'tis hoped, the Boundaries
will be determined and settled. And it is mutually agreed on,
by the said Parties, that Proclamations be made in the said Prov-
inces, signifying this Agreement, for the better quieting the
People; and the Lieutenant-Governors, and other proper Offi-

cers of the respective Provinces, for the time being, are directed
and enjoined to conform themselves agreeable hereunto, and to
issue our Proclamations accordingly, upon the Receipt hereof.

In Witneses whereof the Parties above-named have hereunto set
their Hands this 17th Day of February 1723. Baltimore, Hannah
Penn, Joshua Gee, Henry Gouldney. AVitness S. Clement,
Charles Lowe, James Logan.
As by the said last recited Agreement, one Original part

whereof, executed as aforesaid, the Plaintiffs Charge was de-
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livered to, and in the Possession of, the said present Charles

Lord Baltimore, had the Plaintiffs the same to produce, relation

being thereunto had, would and might fully appear.

That, in pursuance and performance, on the part of the said

Hannah Penn.of the said last mentioned Agreement, a Proclama-

tion was duly published, on or about the 15th Day of May in

the Year 1724, by Sir William Keith, Bart., then Deputy-Grov-

ernor under the said Hannah Penn in and over the said Prov-

ince of Pensilvania, and the said three Lower Counties, reciting

at full Length the same Agreement, and notifying the same to

the Inhabitants under his Government, and requiring the

Observation of the same Agreement.

And a like Proclamation, pursuant to the Tenor of the said

. Agreement, ought to have been made and published by the Gov-

ernor, or Lieutenant, or Deputy-Governor of the said present

Charles Lord Baltimore, and so the Plaintiffs Charge was done

by the express Direction of the said present Lord Baltimore

himself.

That the Matters aforesaid remanied at quiet, under the said

last mentioned Agreement, not only during the 18 Mouths

therein mentioned, but for a much longer time, in Vertue and

Consequence, and under the true intent, meaning and equity

of the said Agreement.

And, although the exact Marks and Bounds of the said Prov-

inces and Colonies were not marked out un^ler the said Agree-

ment, which was partly occasioned by the neglect of the

said Charles Lord Baltimore, and partly by the death of the

said Hannah Penn, and by the Infancy of the Plaintiffs and the

said Dennis Penn, or of some of them, yet. the Plaintiffs

said Mother, and the Plaintiffs on their part, justly and duly

observed the said Agreement ; and did not grant out any Lands

whatever near to the Borders.

That the said present Charles Lord Baltimore did not, on his

part, observe the said Agreement, but hath and did, from the

time of first entering into the said Agreement, by himself and

his Governors, Commissioners, Officers, and other Servants,

make many very large and extensive Warrants and Grants, of

great Quantities of Lands, to sundry Persons, without specify-

ing where, and in what Places, the same did, or were to lie, or

were to be taken up ; and this, as the Plaintiffs charge, with

express Intent and Design that such Grantees should, under

his the said present Charles Lord Baltimore's Grants, seat down

upon, and take up Lands, where ever they pleased, and could

find vacant Lands, thereby designing and intending to attempt

to stretch, and extend, his Grants and Settlements far beyond



30 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

the true Limits and Bounds of the (rrant made to the said Ce-
eilius, to tlie great Wrong and Injury of the Plaintiffs.

That tlie said present Charles Lord Baltimore, on or about
the first Day of July 1731, did, by Petition, which he presented,
or caused and directed to be presented, to his present Most
Gracious Majesty, pray his said Majesty to order the Proprie-
tors of Pensilvania (meaning the Plaintiffs) forthwith to join
with him in settling and ascertaining tlie Boundaries, and, in
case they refused to comply therewith, or in ease the same
should not be settled and ascertained within the space of twelve
Months, that then, his Majesty would please to hear the Matter
in dispute, and to give such Order, and to make such Deter-
mination, touching the same, as to his Majesty in his great
Wisdom should seem meet; and, to induce his Majesty to grant
such the Prayer of the said last mentioned petition, the said
Charles Lord Baltimore did, in and by the said last mentioned
petition, set forth his own Right and Title, or pretended Right
and Title, in the words following that is to say,

"That your petitioner, and his Ancestors, by Grant, under the
"great Seal, ever since the Year 1632, is and have been Proprie-
"tor and Proprietors of the Province of Maryland, and, among
"other things, entitled to all that part of a Peninsula, lying in

"the parts of America, between the Ocean on the East. and Cheso-
" peak Bay on the West, and divided from the other part thereof
" by a right Line, drawn from the Promontory or Cape of Land
"called Watkin's Point (situate in the aforesaid Bay near the
"River Wighco) on the West, unto the Main Ocean on the East,
"and, between that Bound on the South, unto that part of Dela-
"ware Bay on the North, which lyeth under the 40th Degree of
"Northern Latitude from the Equinoctial, where New England
"ends."

By which Description, as the Plaintiffs expressly Charge, the
said present Charles Lord Baltimore did, in and by his said
Petition, exclude, and did mean and intend to exclude, and not
to compiize or include, the said three Lower Counties, or any
part of the same.

That his Majesty, by his Order in Council of the said first

Day of July 1731, was pleased to refer the said last mentioned
petition to the Consideration of the Right Honourable the
Lords of the Committee of his Majesty's most Honourable
privy Council for hearing Appeals and Complaints from the
plantations.

And their Lordships of the said Committee, by their Order
of the Day of the said Month of July 1731, were pleased
to refer, again the said last mentioned Petition to the Consid-
eration of the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners for
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Trade and Plantations; as by the said last mentioned Petition,

and several Orders made thereon, relation being unto them sev-

erally and respectively had, may more fully and at large appear.

That so soon as the said present Charles Lord Baltimore had

presented such his Petition to his Maiesty. and obtained such

Orders thereon as aforesaid, he the said present Charles Lord

Baltimore, well knowing (as the Plaintiffs charge that the Truth

is) that the Plaintiffs were young Men, just come of Ace, and

wholly and utterly unacquainted with, and Strangers to. the

said old intricate Disputes in 1683, 1684. 1685. 1708, and ITU!),

and not born or in Being at the Times thereof, and also well

knowing (as the Plaintiffs charge he did) that the Plaintiffs

Father, in the great Undertaking therein beforementioned, had

worn himself out, and was, for many Years durine: the latter

Part of his Life, greatly impaired in his Mind, Body and For-

tune, and that his Papers and Writings, relating to the said

Old Transactions, had all been lost or mislaid, and that the

Plaintiffs were in a helpless Condition in respect thereto, and

intending to make to himself, by means thereof, and of the

Plaintiffs Ignorance of the Premisses, great and undue Advan-

tage against the Plaintiffs, he the said present Charles Lord

Baltimore did, entirely of his own Motion, apply by himself in

Person to the Plaintiffs then Sollicitor, and desired to have a

Meeting between the Plaintiffs and Defendant, in order to set-

tle and asree the Matters in Difference between them; the said

Defendant declaring that, if they could not agree, he would

set up his former Pretence to the said 3 lower Counties, or to

Part thereof.

Which Desire of the Defendant being made known to the

Plaintiffs, or some of them, the Plaintiffs or the said John and

Thomas Penn did, upon the 20th Day of July 1731 (after sev-

eral previous Meetings before had between the Plaintiffs and

Defendant on the same Subject) meet and treat with the said

Defendant touching an Agreement lo be made between them

for settling the Differences between them.

And, at that Meeting, on the said 20th Day of July 1731, the

said Defendant produced, out of his own Pocket, a Map or Plan

of the Peninsula herein beforementioned, and of several con-

tiguous and adjacent Parts thereto, and, with a Rule and Pencil,

did (with his own Hands) draw Lines upon the said Map or

Plan so by him produced, both a-cross, and also up in near the

middle Part of the said Peninsula, to denote in what Manner

he insisted the Bound-Lines should be really run, and particu-

larly so as to exclude from him, and to include to and for the

Plaintiffs, the said 3 Lower Counties.

And the Defendant did, then and there, insist that his North-
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ern Bounds, for Maryland in the other Parts of that Province

where the 3 Lower Counties did not adjoin to that Province

on the North Part, should extend Northward as far as to

within 15 Miles South of the City of Philadelphia in Pensilva-

nia, ; which, as the Plaintiffs charge, he himself believed and

knew, and so the same in fact is true, would carry his general

Northern Bounds much higher than every Part of the said

Peninsula, and the Lsthmus thereof, and a considerable way
within the main Land and (Continent itself.

And the Plaintififs, and particularly the said John Penn and

Thomas Penn, then desired and insisted that he should agree

that his general Bounds should extend Northwards but only

to within 20, or at most to within 18 Miles, South of the said

City of Philadelphia; but the Defendant utterly refused to

consent thereto.

And the Plaintiffs, and particularly the said John and Thomas
Penn, on their Parts also produced a Map or Plan of the said

Peninsula and Parts adjacent, and, with a Pen or Pencil, drew

Lines thereon, to denote how they proposed the Bound-Lines

to be run.

But the Defendant refused to recede, in any Point, how small

soever, from what he had proposed.

And the Plaintiffs thereupon, after a good deal of Debate

had at that Meeting of the 20th of July and the several former

Meetings, did verbally agree to let the Bounds run in the man-
ner then verbally proposed by the Defendant.

And, thereujjon, another Meetiiig was proposed between the

Plaintiffs and Defendant for the 22d of the said Month of July

1731, in order that, against such Meeting, some short Minute

or Note, in Writing, might be prepared of tht-ir Agreement.

And, accordingly, the Plaintiffs, or, the said John and Thomas
Penn, did, upon the said 22d of July 1731, again meet the De-

fendant; at which last Meeting the Defendant took out of his

Pocket, and produced, and read to the Plaintiffs a Paper, of his

own Hand-Writing, which, he said, was the Notes in short of

what had been so proposed and talk'd of as aforesaid, at the

former Meeting two Days before (which Notes were then many
times read over) and that, upon the Foot of those Notes an

Agreement in Form should be draw^n out, between him and all

the Plaintiffs; which the Plaintiffs agreed to.

And, thereupon, the Plaintiffs, and their said then Sollicitor,

desired the Defendant to give to them that Paper or Proposal

which had been so produced and read to them, in order to as-

sist in drawing up the Agreement in form therefrom ; which the

Defendant, at first, agreed to, but, after some Time, saiil that

he had no Copy of such Paper or Proposal, and, therefore, did
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not chiise to deliver over that ve?-y Paper, or to tlie like EfTect,

but promised that he would deliver the same (and accordingly
he did instantly in the Plaintiffs l^resence deliver the same) to
his the DefendanfsSollicitor. and directed his the Defendant's
Sollicitor t) give the Plaintiffs a Coi)y thereof.

And then, an Observation was made, by some Person during
such last Meeting, that it would be difficult, by any Agreement,
or Form of Words, how full soever, to describe the Bounds,
clearly and plainly , without annexing to the Agreement, or
referring therein to, some I\Iap or Plan, tt) help illustrate and
explain the same, which the said Defendant agreed or seemed
to agree, to the Reasonableness and Fitness of doing.
And, thereupon, a Question was moved, Ijetween the Plain-

tiffs and Defendant, Whose Man or Plan should l)e affixed to

the Agreement, when drawn out? And the Defendant insisted,

and the Plaintiffs agreed thereto, that not the Map or Plan pro-
duced by the Plaintiffs, but that which was produced by the
said Defendant himself should be affixed to the said Agree-
ment, when drawn out.

And then, another Question was also moved, Ijetween the
Plaintiffs and Defendant. What Person should engrave the
Defendant's Map or Plan, in order to the affixing the same to

such Agreement, when so prepared? And the Plaintiffs named
one Person for the graving the same, but the Defendant named
and insisted on another, different Person, namely, ]\Ir. Senex,
a Mathematician, for the engraving the Defendant's .said Maj)
or Plan for the Purpose aforesaid, and the Plaintiffs as they
had before agreed to every one of the Defendant's Proposals, so

they agreed to this last, likewise.

That, in 3 or 4 Days after the said last Meeting, the Defen-
dant's Sollicitor did (pursuant to such Directions given to him
as aforesaid) deliver over to the Plaintiff's, or to some Person
on their Behalf, a Paper as a true Copy but very much ablire-

viated) of the said written Paper or Proposal which had been
so produced by the Defendant at the said last Meeting.
And the material Parts of the same, being short, are in the

very Words or to the Effect following, that is to say,

"1. There shall be a Circle of 12 Miles Distance drawn from
" Newcastle.

"2. The Proprietors of Pensilvania shall be entitled to 15

"Miles .South of Philadelphia, by a West Line drawn, from the
"Point of the South and North, to the Extent of their West
"Limits comprised in the Charter of Pensilvania.

"3. There shall be a Line, South, drawn from the East and
"West Line aforesaitl, which shall intercut the Periphery of

3—Vol. XV.
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"the Circle of 12 Miles from jSewcastle. until it intercut the

'•Parallel of an East and West Line drawn from the Promon-

"tory or Cai)e. called Cape Hinlopen, at Rectangles.

"4. The Lord Baltimore to quit all Preten«ions to the 3 lower

"Counties, known to be at present comprised within the Limits

"aforesaid, that is to say within the 12 Miles Circle of Newcastle

"and the North and South Line drawn as aforesaid on the

"West, and the Bay of Delaware on the East.

"5. The Proprietors of Pensilvania to quit all Pretensions to

"any Land on the Southward of the Line of 15 Miles from Phila-

"delphia, and to the West of the North and South Line here-

"tofore described, and, for the Considerations aforesaid, convey

"to the Lord Baltimore all Right and Title they may have

"thereunto belonging." With some other Clauses, therein con-

tained, not relating to ttie Bounds, but merely to the quieting

the Possessors of the Land in Dispute; as by the Original of the

Defendant's said Paper or Proposal, which the PJaintifTs charge

is now in the Custody, Possession or Power of the said Defend-

ant, or of some Sollicitor or Agent of his, and by the said Copy

thereof delivered, by the Defendant's Sollicitor, to the Plain-

tiffs, or some Person on their Behalf, Relation being thereunto

had, may plainly appear.

That, in less than three Weeks Time after the said Copy of

the said Defendant's Paper or proposal was so delivered over

as aforesaid, the plaintiffs caused a Draught of Articles of Agree

ment, at full Length, to be prepared, in order to be, after th*.

same should be settled, engrossed and executed by the said par.

ties; and the Drauerht of such Agreement was delivered over,

by the Plaintiffs Direction, to the Defendant, or his Sollicitor,

upon or about the l(!th Day of August 1731 ; and the same

Draught of the said Agreement at length was, for very near 9

Months, namely from the said 16th of August 1731, to the 10th

Day of May 1732, under the constant and continued Exami-

nation of the Defendant himself and of Samuel Ogle Esq ; the

Defendant's Lieutenant or Deputy Grovernor of Maryland, and

of Mr. Wynne the said Defendant's Council, and of Mr. John
Sharpe the said Defendant's said Sollicitor, and of Mr. Senex

the Mathematician, so named as aforesaid by the said Defend-

ant, and of many other Council, Agents and Persons, employed

by and for the said Defendant.

And. during the Time the said Draught of the Agreement

was so under Consideration as aforesaid, the said Defendant,

or his said Sollicitor, did carry the said Defendant's own Map
or Plan to the said Mr. Senex, to be engraved ; and he did en-

grave the same, and for which the Plaintiffs and Defendant

have jointly paid the said Mr. Senex.
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And the said Mr. Seiiex was desired by the said Defendant

to give, and did give his Opinion, in Writing, upon the Pro-

priety and Fitness of the Terms and Expressions made use

of in the said Draught of the said Agreement.

And, during the long Time that the said Draught of the said

Agreement was under such Consideration, by the said Defendant

and his several Agents and Friends before mentioned, the said

Defendant proposed and insisted on many After-thoughts, of

his own or of his Agents or Advisers, which he, likewise, insisted

on, tho' never before mentioned.

And, amongst umny others, the said Defendant insisted that,

AVhereas in his own Proposals, and in the said Draught of the

Agreement, »the 12 Miles Distance from Newcastle, and the 15

Miles South of Philadelphia, were only mentioned as Miles

in general, they should be expressed particularly, in the said

Articles of Agreement, to be 12 and 15 English Statute Miles,

which the Plaintiffs agreed to, altho' they thought the same

ought rather to have been Greographical Miles, which would

have been more for their Benefit and Advantages.

And, again the said Defendant insisted that the Heir at Law
of the Plaintiffs Father (tho' the Will of the Plaintiffs Father

had been proved by Witnesses in a Court of Equity against the

Heir at Law) and also, the Persons intitled under the Will of

the Plaintiffs Father to 40,000 Acres of Land in America, should

join in the said Agreement, or, by some Indorsement, or other

Instrument, agree to and confirm the same: which the Plain-

tiffs readily agreed they should; and, accordingly, the said

Persons afterwards did.

And, after the said Draught of the Agreement had been, from

the 16th of August 1731, to the 2!»th of March 1T;J2, (which wag

above 7 whole Months) under the Consideration of himself,

and his Agents, as aforesaid, the said Defendant delivered, with

his own Hand, unto the Plaintiffs, for their Sollicitor, a Note,

of his own Hand-writing, the Purport of which he insisted

should be, likewise, inserted in the said Draught of the said

Agreement, to prohibit the People of the respective Provinces

to carry on Commerce, into the Bays of Chesopeak and Dela-

ware, by means of any Rivers leading from one of the Provinces

aforesaid to the other; which the Plaintiffs, tho' with a good

deal of Unwillingness, also agreed to.

And, again, the Defendant, at another subsequent Time, in-

sisted that a Clause should be inserted in the said Draught of

the Agreement, That, in case a suflBcient Quorum of the Com-
missioners, to be named on either Side, should not, from time

to time, according to the Appointments and Adjournments to

be made for that purpose, attend, to proceed in the marking and
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runninj; out the Lines and Bounds aforesaid for want whereof

the same could not be done within the Time limited) then, the

said A|?reenu'nt should be void, and then, and in such Case, the

Party :)r Parties whose Commissioners should make such Default

should forfeit and pay, to the other Party or Parties whose Com-

missioners should attend, upon Demand, the Sum of 5,0001. of

lawful Money of Grreat-Britain ; which the plaintiff, likewise,

agreed to, and, accordingly, a Clause or Proviso was inserted in

the said Draught for such Purpose.

And many other Alterations and Amendments were made,

and inserted, by the Defendant and his Agents and Advisers,

till they had made the said Draught of the said Agreement en-

tirely agreeable to the Defendant, and, when they had so done,

the said Draught was. in the Beginning of May 1732. re-delivered

back again to the Plaintiffs Sollicitor, to be engross'd ; and six

several Parts thereof were instantly engross'd, on Parchment ; on

the Side or Margin whereof the Defendant's said Map or plan

as stamped or printed.

And all the said 6 parts of the same Agreement were upon,

or about the 10th Day of May 1732, in presence of many Wit-

nesses, duly signed, sealed and delivered by the Defendant and

by the plaintiffs.

That the said original Articles of Agreement were indented and

bore Date on or about the said 10th Day of May 1732, ant! were

made between the said Defendant Charles Baron of Baltimore

by the Description and Addition therein contained of the one

Part, and the Plaintiffs by the Descriptions and Additions there-

in contained of the other Part, and recited the said Letters patent

or Charter of King Charles the First of Maryland to the said

Cecilius Baron of Baltimore, and tlie said Letters patent or

Charter of King Charles the Second of Pensilvania to the Plain-

tiffs said late Father, and the said two herein beforementioned

Indentures of Feoffment from the said Duke of York of the said

3 lower Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sussex to the Plain-

tiffs said Father; and also recited, in general, that several Dis-

putes and Differences had arose between the former Lord Bal-

timore and the said William Penn, touching the respective

Bounds and Limits of the said Provinces of Maryland and Pen-

silvania, and between the said Province (^f Maryland and the

said 3 lower Counties of Newcastle. Kent, and Sussex, but that,

for the putting a final and friendly End and Accommodation

to the said Disputes and Differences, the said Parties to the

said Articles had come to the there following Agreement touch-

ing the same.

And the said Articles did. therefore, witness that it was

thereby mutually and reciprocally covenanted, promised, de-
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clared and agreed, by each and every one of the said Parties
Thereto, for himself and his Heirs, Executors and Administra-
tors, to and with all and every other of the same Parties thereto,
and their several and respective Heirs, Executors, and Admin-
istrators, in manner therein after mentioned, and

1st. That the Draufjht or Plan, printed in the :\lari;iii ui»on
that Skin of Parchment whereon the said Articles were en-
y:rossed (which contained a Mni> of the Peninsula, and also of
theother Tracts of Ground thei-em mentioned) was a true Copy
of those which had been sent over from America to the then
present Parties to the said Afrreement by their respective
Ay:ents in those Parts, for the Assistance and Guidance of the
said Parties in the settling- the said Disputes, and by which
that present Agreement was to be explained and understood.

2dly, That there should be the said Circle, mentioned in the
said Charter for Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale or
FeofTment of Newcastle (or so much thereof as was requisite)
drawn and marked out. at the 12 Miles distance from the Town
of Newcastle, which 12 Miles should be 12 English Statute
Miles.

3dly, That a due Ea.st and West Line should be drawn, a-cross
the said Peninsula, (or a-cro.ss so much of it as should be re-
quisite) such East and West Line to begin, on the East Park,
at the Place in the said Draught or Map called Cape Hinlopen!
which lay South of Cai)e Cornelius, upon the Eastern Side of
the said Peninsula, toward the main Ocean, and, at the Point
of the said Cape, and to run, towards the Western Side of the
said Peninsula, which lay upon the Chesopeak Bay ; but to stop,
in the exact middle of that Part of the same Peninsula, when
so running a due East and West Course.
4thly, That, from the Westward Point or End of the said East

and West Line (which Westward Point or End should be just
half way a-cross the said Peninsula) a strait Line should run,
Northwards, up the said Peninsula (and above the said Penin-
sula if it required it) till it should so touch the Western Part
of the Periphery of the said Circle as to make a tangent thereto,
and, there the said strait Line should end.
Sthly, That at the Northern Point or End of the said strait

Line, a Line should begin, and should, from thence run, due
North, above the said Peninsula; but, so far only, until it came
into the same Latitude as 15 English Statute Miles due South
of the most Southern Part of the City of Philadelphia.

6thly, That a due East and West Line should be run in man-
ner following. It should begin at the Northern Point or End
of the said due South and North Line, and should from thence,
run due West, cross Sasquehannah River, to the utmost West-
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ern Extent of the said Province of Pensilvania (or so far in Part

thereof as should be at present requisite, in regrard, that as the

same was to be a due East and West Line the beginning Part

thereof might be sufficient to continue the same by, when fur-

ther Occasion should require, and when the Lands Westward

In the said Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania should be

better settled, and tliat it would occasion a very great Expence,

and likewise be at present needless, to run the same to the ut-

most Extent Westward of the said Province of Pensilvania, how-

ever, the same should, at present, be run across Sasquehannali

River and about 25 English Statute Miles further, on the West-

ern Side of the said River.)

Tthly, That the Part of a Circle then drawn with red Ink

upon the said Draught or plan, and the red Lines, also drawn

thereupon, were then drawn to serve as an Explanation to that

Agreement, but not with exact Certainty, in regard the said

Draughts or Plans, so sent over to the Pcirties as aforesaid, had

neither Scale or Compass to them.

8thly, That the first there abovementioned due East and West

Line, to run from Cape Hinlopen to the middle of the Penin-

sula, and the said strait Line, to run from the Westward Point

thereof. Northwards, up the said Peninsula(and above the said

Peninsula if it required it) till it touched or made a Tangent

to the AVestern Part of the said Periphery of the said 12 Miles

Circle, and the said due South and North Line, to run from such

Tangent till it met with the upper or more Northern East and

West Line, and the said upper East and West l^ine, to begin

from the Northern Point or End of the said South and North

Line, and to run due Westward (at that Time) cross Sasque-

hannali River and 25 English Statute Miles at least on the

Western Side of the said River, and to be 15 English Statute

Miles South of the Latitude of the most Southern Part of

the said City of Philadelphia, were, and should be, and should,

at all times for ever thereafter, be allowed and esteemed to be,

the true and exact Limits and Bounds between the said Prov-

ince of Maryland, and the said three lower Counties of Newcas-

tle, Kent and Sussex, and between the said Provinces of Mary-

land and Pensilvania; excepting only that, in case the said

North Line from the Tangent of the Circle of Newcastle should

break in upon the said Circle, in such case, so much of the said

Circle as should be cut oflf by the said Line should belong to

and be Part of the County of Newcastle.

Dthly, That the said Charles Lord Baltimore and his Heirs

and Assigns, on his Part, and the Plaintitts and their several

and respective Heirs and Assigns, on their Parts, should and

would, by fit and proper Powers and Instruments, within 2
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Calendar Months from the Day of the Date of the said Articles,

authorize and appoint a sufficient Number of discreet and proper

Persons, not more than 7 on each Side, to be their respective

Commissioners; with full Power, to the said 7 Persons, or any

;{ or morft of them, for the actual running, marking and laying

out the said Part of a Circle, and the said before mentioned

Lines which said Commissioners should give due and proper

Notice, to each other, and should fix and agree upon a Time or

Times to begin and proceed in the running, marking, and lay-

ing out the same; and the same should be begun, at the farth-

est, some time in the Month of October then next, and should

be proceeded in with all Fairness, Candour and Dispatch, that

might reasonably be. And the said Lines should be mark'd

out by visible Stones, Posts, Trees, Pillars, Buildings, Land-

marks or other certain Boundaries, which might remain and

continue; such Boundaries to be mark'd, on one Side, with the

Arms of the said Charles Lord Baltimore, and, on the other

side, with the Arms of the Proprietors of Pensilvania; ana

such Lines should be completely so run, mark'd and laid out

(as far as by the said Agreement was intended) oii or before the

25th Day of December 1733; and, when so done, a true and ex-

act Plan and Survey thereof, with the best and most exact and

certain Descriptions that could possibly be given of the same,

should be made up and signed and sealed, by the said Commis-

sioners on both Sides, and by their Principals, and should be

entered in all the publick Offices in the said several Provinces

and Counties.

Provided always, and it was thereby -agreed that, in Case

a sufficient Quorum of the Commissioners, to be named on

either Side, should not, from time to time, according to the Ap-

pointments and Adjournments to be made for that purpose,

attend to proceed in the marking and running out the Lines

and Bounds aforesaid for want whereof the same could not be

done within the Time before limited, then, the said Agreement,

and every Article and Thing therein contained, should cease,

determine and be void, and then, and in such Case, the Party

or Parties, whose Commissioners should make such Default,

his or their Heirs, Executors or administrators,^ should and

would forfeit and pay, to the other Party or Parties, whose

Commissioners should attend, his or their Executors or Ad-

ministrators, upon Demand, the Sum of 5,0001. of lawful Money
of Great Britain.

lOthly, The said Charles Lord Baltimore, for himself and his

Heirs, did, by the said Articles of Agreement, for ever, renounce,

release and quitclaim, unto the Plaintiffs and their Heiis, all

Rights, Titles, Interest, Powers, Prerogatives, Claims, Demands
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and Pretensions to the said Province of Pensilvania, and to

the said 3 lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, to be

so bounded as aforesaid (Part at least of the same 3 lower

Counties being therein, said to be, then known to be comprized

within the Bounds mentioned in the said Charter of Maryland)

and should also, at the Request and Cost in the Law of the

Plaintifls and their Heirs, grant, convey and assure, in the most

effectual Manner, the said Province of Pensilvania, and the

said 3 lower Counties, to be V>ounded as aforesaid, and all his

and their Right, Title, Interest, Powers, Claims and Demands

in and to tiie said Province of Pensilvania, and the said 3 lower

Counties, to be so bounded as aforesaid, and every Part of the

same, free of all Incumbrances by the said Charles Lord Balti-

more and his Ancestors, unto the Plaintiffs and their Heirs, to

hold unto the Plaintiffs and their Heirs to the only Use and

Behoof of them and their Heirs forever in such Manner as by

the Plaintiffs or their Heirs, or their Council learned in the

Law, should be reasonably devised, advised and required. And

on the other hand, the Plaintiffs made the like Renunciation,

unto the Defendant of the said Province of Maryland, to be

so bounded as aforesaid (Part whereof, when so bounded being

therein exprest to be apprehended to be comprized within the

Bounds mentioned in the saiil (Jharter tor Pensilvania) and

covenanted to grant, convey and assure, in effectual Manner)

and which the Plaintiffs hereby offer to do) the said Province

of Maryland, to be so bounded as aforementioned, in the said

Articles of Agreement (free of all Incumlirances by the Plain-

tiffs Father, Brother, Nephew, and by the Plaintiffs their Heirs

and Assigns, except as therein mentioned) unto the said De-

fendant and his Heirs.

And, by another clause in the said recited Articles of Agree-

ment, it was covenanted and agreed that all the Parties thereto,

and their Representatives, should, at all times thereafter, use

all friendly Means and Offices, to the utmost of their Powei, to

assist and support that same Agreement, and the several and

respective rights. Interests and Pretensions of the Parties by

virtue thereof.

And the said recited Articles of Agreement, to the effect here-

inbefore set forth, were, on or about the said 10th Day of May
1732, duly signed, sealed and delivered by the Defendant and

by the Plaintiffs, as by one of the original Parts of the same

in the Plaintiffs Custody, ready to be produced to this Honour-

able Court, Relation being thereunto had, may more fully and

at large appear.

That the Treaty, in order to the said last recited Articles of

Agreement, was entirely begun, and carried on, at the Instance
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and Request of the said Charles Lord Baltimore onlv, and not
of the l^laintiffs.

And there was not, in the said whole Agreement, any one
Matter, of ever so small Value of Consequence, which the Plain-
tiffs had insisted on, yielded or agreed to by the Defendant : nor,
on the other hand, was there any one Matter or Thing, what
soever, which the Defendant then insisted on, but what the
Plaintiffs on their Parts did agree to by the said Articles of
Agreement.
And, particularly, tue Plaintiffs agreed that the Defendant's

general North bounds in those Parts Avhere the said H lower
Counties did not make his North Bounds, should not Ije con-
fined (as by his Charter the Plaintiffs insist they were) to the
fJOth Degree compleat, or to the Beginning of the 40th Degree-
and should not be confined (as by liis Charter the Plaintiffs
insist they Avere) to some Part of the Peninsula, but. should
run above 40 Miles higher, or more Northward, tlian the 39tli
Degree compleat; and should run quite through the Peninsula,
and above the Peninsula, and up near 15 Miles into the main
Continent itself; all which was clearly, expresly and indispu-
tably granted by the said Cliarter for Pensilvania, and to no
Part of which the Defendant (until such Agreement, was exe-
cuted as aforesaid) had the least Shadow, or Colour, of any
legal Title whatever; so desirous were the Plaintiffs to begin
to reap some small Benefit from their Father's, and their own,
expensive Improveujents of the said lower Counties, which
have, hitherto, been a very great Load and Incumbrance to,
and of no clear Profit to. the Plaintiffs or their said Father.'
That, pursuant to the said Articles of Agreement, the Plain-

tiffs on their Parts, and the Defendant on his Part, did, on or
about the 12th Day of May 1732, execute Commissions, of exactly
the like Tenor, to 7 Commissioners of each Side, authorizing
them, or any 6, 5, 4 or 3 of them, to do every thing, relating to
such Lines, Limits or Bounds, which, by the therein and herein
recited Articles, was agreed to be done by the Commissioners
treated of in the said Articles, in order to ascertain, fix and
perpetuate the same.
And the 7 Commissioners, so authorized by the Plaintiffs

were Patrick Gordon, Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston, James
Logan, and Andrew Hamilton Esqrs ; and James Steele and
Robert Charles, Gent.
And the 7 Commmissioners, so authorized by the Defendant

Avere Samuel Ogle. Charles Calvert. Philimon Lloyd. Michael
Howard. Richard Bennet, Benjamin Tasker, and Matthew
Tighlman Ward, Esqrs.
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And a Clause was inserted, in each of the said respective Com-

mission, that, in Case of the Deatli. Sickness or Absence from

the said respective Provinces and Counties, or other unavoidable

Disability, of any of the thereby appointed Commissioners; it

should be lawful' for the respective Deputy Governors, or Com-

manders in Chief, in the said respective Provinces, for the time

being, to appoint so many new and other Commissioners in

theirstead and place: As by the said recited respective Com.

missions, had the Plaintiffs the same to produce. Relation Ijem-

thereunto had, might and would more fully appear.

That, in a very few Days after the Execution of the said re-

cited Articles of Agreement and respective Commissions, to

wit, about the 2()th Day of May 1732, the Plaintiff Thomas

Penn left this Kingdom, ami embarked for Pensilvania, where

he soon after arrived, and has continued there to this time, and

the said Thomas Penn carried over thither the said Commis-

sion executed on the Plaintiffs part, and also one part of the

said original Articles of Agreement executed as aforesaid.

And the Defendant. l)y the same Sliip in which the said

Thomas Penn went, sent over to his the Defendant "s own Dep"

uty-fTOvernor ;it Maryland, the said Commission executed on

his part, and also one part of the said original Articles of

Agreement executed as aforesaid.

And. some short time after, the said Defendant himself

sailed to, and arrived, at his said Province of Maryland.

And the Plaintiffs had all imaginable Reason to hope, and

expect, that the said Agreement, so entered into at the earnest

Request of the said Lord Baltimore, and entirely upon his own

Terms and Propositions, and so greatly for his Benefit, and

for which the Plaintiffs on their part gave so full, and valu-

able, and real a Consideration, would have been performed and

carried into Execution, with some of that Fairness, Candour

and Dispatch that was so expresly covenanted and agreed to be

used therein.

But, quite contrary, the Defendant combining and confedera-

ting to and with divers Persons, at present to the Plaintiffs un-

known, but whose Names, when discovered, the Plaintiffs pray

may be made Parties to this their Bill of Complaint, with apt

Words to charge them, to take to himself, on his ow^n part, all

the Benefit which, under the said recited Articles, could possi-

bly result to him, and, at the same time, to deprive the Plain-

tiffs of all Manner of Benefit which, under the said recited

Articles, could jjossibly result to them.

He the Delendant, and.liy his Direction, Advice, Consent,

Privity and Knowledge, every one of his said 7 Commissioners

named in his said Commission (all which said 7 Commissioners,
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or tlieir near Relations, the Plaintiffs charge were possessed

ot Grant troni the Defendants or his Ottieers under his Authority

for large Tracts of Land in general, without any Specitication

of the Place or Places where such Tracts should be situated

or taken up, and which Gfrants had not been then located

or seated, and all which said 7 Conmussioners, or their Rela-

tions, were in hopes to ha\'e laid out such their Grants upon
some improved or good Lands within the said Province of Pen-

silvania ami the said 3 Lower Counties or some or one of them,

but were prevented by the Tenor of the said Articles of Agree-

ment) have used all imaginable Arts and Methods to frust-

rate and evade the said Articles of Agreement, and prevent

the marking out the Lines and Bounds pursuant to the same

and the true Meaning thereof.

And the Plaintiffs charge, and so the Truth is, that what has

greatly contributed to induce the Defendant to fly from the

said Agreement was, the Adivct, Persuasion, Entreaty and
Desire of the Defendant's own Commissioners, and other Persons

possess'd of like Grants from the Defendant or his Officers of

irreat Quantities of Land in no certain or particular Place, who
writ, spoke, declared, promised or mentioned to the Defendant,

and to some of his Officers, Agents and Servants, who acquainted

him thereof, that, in Case he the Defendant would not perform,

but would break, that Agreement, they themselves would raise

and pay the oOOOl. Forfeit, or the greatest, or some, part thereof;

for that (as they pretended) they could not. if the Bound-Linse
should be run as by that Agreement was agreed, settle and lo-

cate their large Grants upon such valuable Lands as they hoped
to have done V)y Encroachment in Case no Bounds had been

agreed upon ; and these Sort of Declarations were frequently

and constantly made by the aforementioned Persons claiming

under such Maryland Grants, to many other Persons, as well

as to tlie Defendant and his Officers, Agents and Servants,

and were the common Discourse of great Numbers of Persons

in the Province of Maryland, and in Annapolis, the chief ToAvn

or City thereof; and did come to the Hearing and Knowledge
of the Defendant. M'ho. thereupon, grew desirous to oblige such

his Grantees, tho' at the Expence of the Plaintiffs.

And, for that purpose, the Defendant writ and si)oke to, and
advised and consulted with, many Persons in Maryland, how,
and in what manner, and by what means, to avoid the running
and marking out the Lines in the manner and within the time

which had been so solemnly and deliberately agreed on, and
yet, at the same time, to avoid also, the incurring and paying
the said 50001. Forfeiture in the said Articles provided.
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And, at length, a Method (as Avas apprehended) was found
out for that purpose, namely, that the Commissioners of the
])efendant should, by all possible means, eloi; and delay the
said Affair, and, at last, should seem and pretend to differ in

Judgment from the Pensilvania Commissioners, in some very
material Point, about the running and marking f)ut the said
Bounds, and should tenaciously and resolutely adhere to such
pretended Difl'erence in Judgment, without suffering themselves
ever to seem convinced, and, thereby, spin and wear out the
Avhole time mentioned in the said Articles for running out the
said Bound-Lines.
And, accordingly, that Resolution was taken, and adhered

to, between the Defendant and his own Commissioners and
other Persons, and carried into Execution in manner herein
after mentioned, in direct Contradiction to the Tenor and plain
Meaning of the said recited Articles of Agreement.
And the Plaintiffs charge tluit, in pursuance of an Appoint-

ment made by Letters, which past between the Plaintiffs first-

named Commissioner and the first-named Commissioner on the
part of the Defendant, the first Meeting was had, by 6 of the
said Commissioners on each Side, on the 6th Day of October
17:52, at a Place called Newtown, in the Province of Maryland,
at which first Meeting very little or no Business was done.
And. on the 7th of the same October, the same Commission-

ers on each Side met again, for the 2d time, at NewtoAvn : and
the said Agreement, and the (Commissions, on both Sides, to the
Counnissioners, were read; at which time the said Samuel Ogle,
who was and is the Lieutenant-Governor of Maryland under
the Defendant, and the first-named of the Defendant's 7 Com-
missioners, objected to the Validity of the Commission granted
by the Plaintiffs, altho" in the very same Words (save only the
Names of the Persons) with that to the Maryland Commission-
ers; because the Legatees of the 40,000 Acres, devised by the
Will of the Plaintiffs Father, who, by a meer Endorsement, had
consented to the said Articles of Agreement, without being
named as Parties to the said Agreement, had not join'd in
granting the Commissions to the Commissioners; and, altho"
the Commissioners on the Plaintiffs part shewed to the Mary-
land Commissioners that the Agreement itself, executed by the
Defendant, express'd that only the Plaintiffs should grant the
Commissions, yet, the said Maryland Commissioners would
not own themselves satisfied, but declared, and more particul.
arly the said Samuel Ogle did, that he would advise further
thereon.

And. after this Objection had been debated a considerable
time, it was, at length, agreed by the said 6 Commissioners on
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each Side, that the first Part oi the Work directed by the Coui-

missionsto l)e done was relating to the Circle about iSewcastle,

mentioned in the 2d Article both of the said Articles of Agrree-

nient and of the said Commissions: and the Plaintiflis Commis-

sioners declared themselves ready to proceed thereon, and ac-

quainted the Maryland Commissioners that they the Plaintiffs

Commissioners had brought Surveyors and Artists with them, for

that purpose; but the said Samuel Ogle, i)retending that the

principal Artist, on whom he depended, was sick, desired they

might not proceed further, at that time, but that, as the Mary,

land Commissioners should be em]iloyed in the publick Busi-

ness of their Province, there should be no fui-ther Meeting

until the 30th of that Month of October, the Plaintifl's Commi-^-

sioners agreed (tho' unwillingly) to meet on that Day, and not

before.

But the Plaintiffs said Commissioners insisted that, before

they broke up, a Minute should be made, of the then present

Meeting and Adjournment, and that Clerks should be ap.

pointed, to take Minutes of their whole Proceedings; and the

said Samuel Ogle, and some others of the Maryland Commis-

sioners, opposed these fair Proposals, on pretence that, as no Di-

rections were given in the Commissions to the said Commis-

sioners for the Employment of Clerks, he cou'd not see what

power they had to appoint any?

And. notwithstanding the Plaintiffs Commissioners strongly

urged the Usage and Practice, in executing all Commissions,

and the Necessity of such a Method, to avoid Irregularity and

Confusion, and to enable the Commissioners to give an impar-

tial Account of their Proceedings, the said Maryland Commis-

sioners persisted in their Refusal.

And then the Plaintiffs Commissioners desired that a Com-

missioner on each side might be appointed, to take the Minutes,

and to interchange them; and this also, was objected to by the

>;aid Maryland Commissioners; but the Plaintiffs Commissioners

insisting thereon, and that some Notice of the then present

Meeting, and of their Adjournment, should be taken in Writing,

the Maryland Commissioners did, at length, agree, that a short

Memorandum thereof should l>e made, and one Commissioner

on each side were directed to pre[)are it : which l)eing don<',

and 2 Coi)ies thereof made, the l^laintiffs < 'ommissioners, in.

sisted that the said ]\Iemorandum should be signed by the Com-

missioners, or. at least by one of the ( 'onnnissioners on each

side; which the said Maryland Commissioners refused to con-

sent to; and all that the Plaintiffs Commissioners could obtain

from them was, that a Copy of such Memorandum, unsigned,

should be left with the Commissioners on each side, and which
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contained, only, a Note of the Commissioners Meetin<r (anri the

Names of them) on the 6th and 7th of October 17:52, and read-

inj^the Articles of Agreement and Commissions, and adjourning

to^meet at the Town of Newcastle on the 30th of October then

Instant, without further Notice, in order to proceed to mark

out the Circle in the said Agreement mentioned.

And, pursuant to that Adjournent, a Quorum of the Plaintiffs

Commmissioners, and likewise a guorum of tlie Defendant's

Commissioners met. at Newcastle aforesaid, on Monday the 30th

of October 1732, for the third time ;and continued there to-

gether till Thursday the 2d of November then next) in order to

proceed (as the Plaintiffs well hoped) to mark out the Circle

mentioned in the said Agreement; but the said Samuel Ogle

opened the Conference, and as in the 2d Article of the said

Agreement the Circle was said to be the Circle mentioned in

the Charter for Pensilvania and the Deed of Feoffment from the

Duke of York, he insisted it Avas necessary they should see that

Charter and Deed of Foeffment; and this, as the Plaintiffs

charge, in hopes that the same had been in Great Britain, and

could not have been produced, but that the whole Winter, when

the Leaves were off the Trees and the Work might be best done,

might be spent in sending for the same; and the Plaintiffs Com-

missioners shewed that the said Agreement recited the necessary

Parts of the said Charter and Deed, but tiie Defendant's Com-

missioners insisted on what they had so desired ; whereupon

the Plaintiffs (Jommissioners yielded to send up to Philadelphia

for the Charter of Pensilvania and for an Exemplification of the

Deetl of Feoffment from the Records of New-York.

And, at a 4th Meeting of the guorums of the said respective

Connuisssioners on each side, at Newcastle, on the 31st of

October 1732, in the Morning, the Plaintiffs Commissioners

produced, to the said Maryland Commissioners, the said Deed

of Charter, and Exemplification of the said Deed of Feoffment,

which were compared with the Recitals in the said Agreement,

and found, by the Maryland Counuissioners. to agree exactly

therewith; who then insisted on Copies of the descriptive Parts

therein, which were drawn out, and delivered to them, and

certified to be true Copies under the Hands of 2 of the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners.

And, then, it was proi)osed that tlie Commissioners should

agree on a Place for beginning to run the 12 Miles distance, but,

the Maryland Commissioners alledging they must further con-

sider it, the Business was adjourned till 3 in the Afternoon.

And, accordingly, a 5th Meeting, by Quorums of the said re-

spective Coujmissioners, was ha<l, that same 31st of October

1732 in the Afternoon; when the Maryland Counuissioners de-
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olared they questioned whether, by their Clonimission, they had

power to run the described Circle? for, as there could be no

Circle without a Centre, that Centre must be first had, but

that it was no where directed, by the Articles or Commission;

and they conceived they had no power to make one.

To which the Plaintiffs Commissioners answered, that the

Commissioners being impowered and required to execute the

Agreement, they were, consequently, impowered to do all things

necessary to the performance of it; and that the former Ad-

journment, from Newtown to Newcastle, was in order to pro-

ceed to mark out the Circle: and the Articles enjoined the Busi.

ness to be begun in the Month of October, at farthest, and that

they were then in the Afternoon of the last Day of October,

and yet, nothing was done to any effect.

But the Maryland Commissioners declared they had begun,

but that they were under a difficulty how to proceed, and which

appeared such, to them, as that they must further advise on it.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners declared themselves fully

impowered to do all necessary things to the full Execution of

their Commission, and desired, if the Maryland Commission-

ers must consider, that, to save time, the Surveyors might be

sent to measure the Town.
But the Commissioners of Maryland did not consent to that,

but, instead thereof, proposed that the Commissioners shonld

walk about the Town, and view it; which was done, and an Ad-

journment made to the next morning.

And, in the morning on the 1st of November 1732, a 6th Meet-

ing was had, between Quorums of the said respective Commis-

sioners; when the said Samuel Ogle declared that the Maryland

Commissioners had advised, both with LaM-yers and Mathema-

ticians, who were satisfied that, as the Centre for the Circle

was not directed by the Articles or Commissions, they, the

said Maryland Commissioners, had no power to make one; but

that, as the Defendant was expected to arrive in Maryland, his

said Commissioners thought it proper that they should apply

to him, and if he would direct them to find a Centre, they

would oV)ey.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners observed, thereon, that the

Proprietors, on both parts, had absolutel" concluded an Agree

ment, in full and clear Terms; that they had given full Powers

to their Commissioners, on both sides, to execute that Agree-

ment ; and the better to enable them so to do, a printed Direc-

tion of the Work was annexed, in the Margin, both of the Arti-

cles and of the Commissions to the respective Commissioners,

which was to be explanative and directive in case of any Diffi-

cultv; that the Town of Newcastle was fairly mark'd out in
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that Draught, with the Central Point in the middle of it. on

which, the Circle in the Draught was drawn, and that it was

easy to find the Centre, as it was there pointed out.

But the said Samuel Ogle still continued to insist that he,

and his Fellow-Commissioners, had no power to tix any Centre;

wherefore, they must first take the further Direction of their

Lord-Proprietor; and, for that end, he desired that the Com-

missioners might adjourn, that they miglit have an Opportunity

so to do.

That, in the Afternoon of the same 1st of November, Quorums

of the same respective Commissioners had a 7th Meeting, at

which the Plaintifl's Commissioners declared that the Proposals

of an Adjournment was unexpected; and desired, that Minutes

might be taken of what had past; but the Commissioners on

the part of Maryland insisted that all Minutes were unnecessary,

further than to enter the Meetings and Adjournments; and the

Plaintiffs Commissioners persisted to have Minutes taken, but

in vain.

And the Maryland Connaissioners then proposed to adjourn

for three whole Months, from that Day, the 1st of November, to

the 1st of February following, then to meet at Newcastle; which

the Plaintiffs Commissioners took time to consider of till the

next mornning.

That, at an 8th Meeting, between Quorums of the said re.spec-

tive Commissioners, ui)on the 2nd of November, the Plaintiffs

Commissioners read over, and delivered, to those of the De-

fendant, an Answer, in Writing, to their Proposals of such an

Adjournment ; wherein the Plaintiffs Commissioners insisted

on their own full Power to execute the Articles, but declared

expressly, that, as the Reason assigned for Adjournment was the

general Expectation of the Defendant's Arrival in some short

time in Maryland, whom his own Commissioners were desirous

further to consult, the Plaintiffs Commissioners had so great

a Regard for his Lordship, and so great an Esteem of his Hon-

our, that, on that Consideration alone, they agreed to the Ad-

journment proposed, namely, the 1st of Februrary ensuing,

then to meet at the Town of Newcastle.

And, before the Counuissioners then parted, the Plaintiffs

Commissioners produced, and read, to the Defendant's Com-

missioners, the Minutes which they had taken and kept, and

ask'd the Defendant's Commissioners, after those ]\linutes had

been read, if they had any Objection to the Truth of those

Minutes"? In answer whereto the said Samuel Ogle said, he had

nothing to say to any Minutes the Plaintiffs Commissioners

should take.
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And, then, The Defendant's Commissioners read a very short

Minute they hail prepared, to the Effect following;, that, in

pursuance to tlu' former Adjournment, the Commissioners had

met at Newcastle, to run the Circle, and that. Difficulties having

arisen touching the same, they had adjourned to the 1st of

February.

Which short Minute was objected to by the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners, as neither specifying what the Difficulties were,

nor, on whose part, tliey were started.

And. then, the said Samuel Ogle produced a Paper of Notes,

as taiien by himself; which being read it was found to contain

a Note as if the Plaintiffs Commissioners had argued that the

Charter and Deed for Pensilvania and Newcastle respectively,

being recited in the Agreement, the Proprietors on both parts

were bound by the said Recitals, whether true or false ; and the

said Samuel Ogle ask'd. What the Crentlemen of Pensilvania

could say to those Notes of hi.s, containing as aforesaid?

Whereto the Plaintiffs Commissioners insisted (as the Truth

was and is) that no such Words Had ever been used by any of

them.

And the said Samuel Ogle replied that, tho" no such Words
might have been used, yet (as he apprehended) they were con-

sequential to what had been said ; and then put up his Paper,

without offering any other Minute, or any Amendment to that

which he had so jiroduced, on the Objection made by the Plain-

tiffs Comiuissioners, and allowed by himself.

That, very soon after the said 2d of November 1782. to wit,

about the of the same Month, tlie Defendant did arrive in

Maryland, and ^continued there for 5 or 6 Months together.

During which Time, the Defendant did contrive, to and with

the said Commissioners and ottiers to the Plaintiffs unknown,

how to evade, and avoid carrying the said Articles into Execu-

tion ; and many Conferences were had, by the Defendant, to

and with sundry of his said Commissioners, and others, in order

to that end ; and to consider, likewise, how to avoid forfeiting

the 50001. thereon: and many Proposals and Hints, for that

purpose, were, during the Defendant's Stay in Maryland, and

before his Arrival there, made to him, by his said Commission-

ers and several other Persons; and and Encouragements and

Advantages Avere offered or promised, or stated or pretended

to be so, to the Defendant, by every one of his said Commis-
sioners, and by many other Persons, if he would consent to

defeat the Execution of the said Articles; which he did, at last,

consent to, and ordered, advised, directed and intiiuated to his

Commissioners, or some of them, that they should do all in

thei»" power to avoid executing the said Articles.

4— Vol. XV.
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That, after the Defendant's said Arrival in Maryland, and that
his Commissioners had had Opportunities of consulting him,
and they or some of them had actually consulted him, touch-
ing the pretended Difficulties which they had started in the
Months of October and November before, Quorums of his Com-
missioners and of the Plaintiffs Commissioners did meet, for

the 9th time, pursuant to the last Adjournment, at Newcastle,
upon the 1st of February 1732, and appointed to enter on the
Business next Morning.
And Quorums of the same Commissioners met for a 10th

time, at the Court-House of Newcastle, upon the 2d of the said

Month of February ; when the said Samuel Ogle declared that

the Business before the Commissioners was t he Circle of 12 Mile

about Newcastle, and that he had, at the former Meeting, offered

home Arguments, to shew that no Centre being fixed, the Com
missioners, on either side, had no power to make one, and would
be glad to know what the Plaintiffs Commissioners would say
to that Point.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners, thereupon, put him in

mind that, at the former Meeting, they had fully answered that

Objection, and had consented to the long Adjournment he pro-

posed, for no other Reason than to give the Commissioners for

Maryland an Opportunity (they appeared very desirous of) to

consult their Proprietor; who being arrived, it jnight reasonably
be hoped that his Commissioners were come fully instructed as

to the fixing a Centre.

Whereupon, that same Samuel Ogle, who had. so often before,

insisted that the Defendant's Commissioners had not power so

to do, and, for that very Reason had desired, and had, so long
an Adjournment, during the Winter, when the Leaves were off

the Trees, and the Business best to be done, declared quite
the reverse, that the Defendant, having fully delegated his

Power to his Commissioners, had left it to them to execute the
Agreement, in such manner as they should contrive themselves
by their Commission to be duly warranted to do, and that his

Lordship Avould not interfere therein.

Which, if true, as pretended liy the said Samuel Ogle, wa.s

either a wilful Refusal on the part of the Defendant's Commis-
sioners to fix the said Centre and Circle, if they had power; or,

if they had not power so to do, Avas a wilful breach of the said

Articles on the part of the Defendant himself, who, according
to the Tenor thereof, ought to have given his Commissioners
power so to do, and ought to have interfered therein.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners, thereupon, declared to the
said Samuel Ogle. That this Declaration of his was no other
than what might have been expected, from the former Conduct
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of the Maryland Coiuiiiissioners; but that the Phiintiffs Coiii-

uiissioners were, still, of their former Opinion, that full Power
was given, to the Commissioners, to fix a Centre; and, if the
Gentlemen of Maryland thouglit otherwise, it would be proper
they should declare themselves.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners pressing them very much
to declare, explicitely, tlie, said Samuel Ogle said that, tho" thev
(meaning the Maryland Commissioners) were not yet fullv

satisfied they had any power by their Commission to fix a
Centre, yet. he wou'd wave that Point for the present, and talk
a little about the Circle; and ask'd the Plaintiffs Commission-
ers wiiat they apprehended to be the Meaning of the Circle of

12 Miles about Newcastle? anil said that, for his part, he thought
it plain, from the Words of the Feoffment to Mr. Penn, that
the said Circle could not be construed to mean a Diameter of

24 Miles; that he was pretty much a Strangers to things of

that kind, but could not believe it to mean other than a Cir-

cumference of 12 Miles, or, at most, a Diameter of 12 Miles.

Whereto the Plaintiffs Commissioners qnswered, that such
an Interpretation could never be admitted; since, as well from
the Grant of Pensilvania, and the said Deed of Feoffment, as
from tlie Construction of the Proprietors of Pensilvania and
Maryland thereof, it was abundantly evident, that tlie Circle
was to be 12 Miles distant from the Town of Newcastle.
But the Commissioners of Maryland replied, that the Words

in the Agreement and Commissions, relating to the Circle,

being either superflous or contradictory to those describing it

in the Deed of Feoffment, were in themselves void.

Whereto the Plaintiffs Commissioners answered, that, as the
Plaintiffs had appointed tliem to execute the Articles agreed on
between the Proprietor^^, which the Plaintiffs Commissioners
conceived were directed in such clear and express Terms as left

no room for Dispute, so the Plaintiffs said Commissioners were
then fully prepared to do Avhat their Commission enjoined them,
but not to find Fault with what their Principals had con(;ludei
on; that the Principals, on both sides, had prescribed the man-
ner of drawing and marking out tlie Circle, in Terms so full

and plain as removed all Occasion for Doubts, by expressly
agreeing that the Circle, mentioned in the Charter for Pensil-
vania, and Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment of Newcastle
(or so much thereof as was requisite) should be drawn and
mark'd out at the distance of 12 English Statute Miles form the
Town of Newcastle.

And the said Maryland C<jmmissioners proposed, that Artists
should give their Opinions touching the said Circle, and then
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the said (Commissioners adjourned their Conference till the

Afternoon.

And, in the Afternoon of the same :3d of February. Quorums

of the said Commissioners met aerain, for the eleventh time,

when the I'laintiffs Commissioners desired those for Maryland

to reduce into Writinj;. Avhat it was that they would have Ar-

tists consulted onV which they declined: then the Plaintifts

Commssioners found it highly necessary to insist, and did insist.

that Clerks mig^ht be appointed to take Minutes, which would

prevent Misunderstandinprs. and shew thereafter what had »)een

transacted at the several Meetings: but the Defendants Com-

missioners, again, refused the same, and alledged there was

no manner of Occasion therefore.

Hereupon the PlaintilTs Commissioners urged that the Ob-

jections to the Dimensions of the (Jircle should be stated in

Writing; but the said Samuel Ogle persisted, that it was need-

less, he declaring that the Question was plainly thus, what was

meant by the Circle mentioned in the Deed of Feoffment?

The PlaintilTs Commissioners thereupon observed, that the

Question was not truly stated; for that the Direction, in the

Commissions, was to run the Circle mentioned in the Charter

for Pensilvania, and Deed of Feoffment, but not that in the

Feoffment only; and therefore, if they were to be recurred to,

at all, the Deed and Charter should both be taken together;

but that they conceived there was not the least reason, or oc-

casion, to look further than their respective Commissions.

However, at last, the said Samuel Ogle gave in his Question,

in the following Words, What Circle is understood by these

Words, viz: Enfeoff' and Confirm, unto the said William Penn,

his Heirs and Assigns for ever, all that the Town of Newcastle,

otherwise called Delaware, and all that Tract of Land, lying

within the Compass or Circle of 12 Miles about the same? Upon
which the Commissioners parted, and agreed to meet in the

Morning of the next Day (some naming 10 others 11, of the Clock

for such Meeting) and to bring Artists on both sides, to bear

Opinions touching the Circle.

And the Paintiffs expressly charge that a Quorum of the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, particularly, the said Isaac Norris, Samuel

Preston, and James Steele by name, did, in the Morning of the

next Day, being the 3d of February 1732, about 11 of the Clock,

meet, for the 12th time, a Quorum of the Defendant's Commis-
sioners, in the said Court-house at Newcastle, pursuant to the

last Adjournment, and, as the Plaintiffs Commissioners plainly

perceived the Drift of the Defendant's Commissioners, who had

repeatedly refused to admit Clerks to take Minutes of the Pro-

ceedings, and to admit a Commissioner on each side to take
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Minutes of the Proceed ings. and had before taken private Noteswhich (either by Accident, or Design) were false and untrue
JNotes or Minutes of Avhat had past, so, the Plaintiffs Coninns-
sioners apprehended thpy could not be too careful to preventmore Mistakes; and, therefore, as the said Defendant's Connnis-
sioners seemed to insist so much on tlieir Doubt about the Di-
mensions of the said Circle, some others of the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners (besides those three who were at the Court-house)
were preparini,Mn a House nearly conti^^uous to the same CourtHouse, the answer an,l Observations, in Writing, of the Plaintiffs
Commissioners touching the said Circle, to be delivered to the
said Maryland Commissioners in Writing, so as not to be liable
to Wilful, or Accidental, Mispresentation ; and, as such Answerand Observations were long, and it was necessarv to keep aCopy of what should be so delivered, it took up some time tocopy the same.
And the Plaintiffs further charge that, during a part of thattime wherein the said Observations of the Plaintiffs Commis-

sioners were so Copying or Transcribing, the said Isaac Norris,Samuel Preston, and James Steele did meet, and were met, as
aforesaid, pur.suant to the last Adjournment, and were in Com-pany with a Quorum of the Commissioners of the said Lord
Baltimore, in the said Court-house; but the rest of the Plain
tiffs Commissioners, who were Transcribing the said Observa-
tions, wanting a Paper, which the said James Steele had. sent
to him. to the Room where the Commissioners on both sides were
uiet and in Company together as aforesaid, for such Paper; and
tiie said James Steele, thereupon, went for the said Paper to hisHouse or Lodging, not Yards distant from the said CourtHouse; and, at the same time the said James Steele went for
•the said Paper, the said Isaac Norris stept out of the Roomwhere the Commissioners on both sides were met, and desired
the said James Steele to hasten in the other Commissioners whowere to bring in the said Observations

; and the said Isaac Norris
immediately returne<l again into the Room where the saidSamuel Preston and the Commissioners for Marvland were- and

o'; thl'p,
^^7."^^^^^*^'-: *he said James Steele and two cither;

of the Plaintiffs Commissioners going up, to meet their Brethren and the said Commissioners for Maryland in the said Courthouse, met the said Lsaac Norris and Samuel Preston in re'gard to the said Samuel Ogle (for whom and his Brother Commit
sioners of Maryland the Plaintiffs Commissioners had. at manv

br^heDr ,T " ^^.-Pl-"t'ff^ Charge, and, particularh-but the Day before, waited an Hour or two, or more, after thetime o Appointment and Adjournment before a Quorum ofsuch Maryland Commissioners came, had taken the Advint



54 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

age of that short Interval of Time in which tlie said James
Steele was called out of the Room as aforesaid, and he the said

Samuel Ogle and his Brother Commissioners for Maryland
had departed from the said Meeting Place, and retired to their

Lodgings, in the said Town of Newcastle; and. at the time

the said Samuel Ogle and the other Commissioners for Mary-
land pretended to leave the said Place of Meeting, it then

wanted near half an Hour of 12 of the Clock at Noon, of the

same 3d of February 1732.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners then present with the said

Maryland Commissioners, and particularly the said Samuel
Preston, intreated the said Samuel Ogle and his Brother Com-
missioners to tarry a little, but to no Effect.

And the Plaintiffs further charge that, instantly, and imme-
diately after the said Samel Ogle and his Brother Commission-
ers of Maryland had so departed as aforesaid, one of the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, in the Presence of several Persons, waited

on the said Samuel Ogle and tln-ee others of the Defendant's

said Commissioners, and acquainted them of the Surprize their

Departure had occasioned; that if the said Lord Baltimore's
(Commissioners pretended there had been any delay, the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners were then ready to meet them, and that a

good deal of Business might, still, be transacted even before

Dinner; and that the Maryland Commissioners could not but

know that, on the then next Day before, the Plaintiffs Conuuis-

sioners had waited for the said Maryland Commissioners a full

Hour after the time adjourned to on the day before.

But the said Samuel Ogle declared he could not think of

meeting the Plaintiffs Commissioners till he should advise of

the Matter, and that if, by any Failure in meeting, the Defend-
ant had gained anj' Advantage, he should think himself to

blame in giving it up.

And the Plaintiffs Commissioners again pressed the Meeting,

but the said Maryland Commissioners refused it.

And the Plaintiffs further Charge that, upon the same 3d of

February 1733 (pursuant to an Appointment made the Night
before) the Plaintiffs Commissioners and the Defendant's Com-
missioners dined together, in the same Town of Newcastle ; and,

as soon as Dinner was over, on the same Day, a full Quorum
of the Plaintiffs Commissioners waited on a full Quorum of the

Defendant's Commissioners, namely, on the said Samuel Ogle
and Charles Calvert, and on Edward Jennings, Esq ; (who had
before been appointed by the Defendant as one of his Commis-
sioners, in the room of another of his Commissioners pretended
to be sick) at their Lodgings, at the House of William Bottel,

Inn-keeper, at Newcastle aforesaid ; and, then and there, the
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Plaintiffs Comuiissioners declared they had put their Thoughts

in writing upon the Objection started the last Night by the

Maryland Commissioners, and, at the same time, delivered a

Copy thereof into the Hands of the said Samuel Ogle, who took

and looked over some Parts of the said Writing; and,thcreby,

the Plaintiffs Commissioners (5 of whom had signed the same

Writing) had answered the Objections made by the said Mary-

land Commissioners; and the Plaintiffs Commissioners did also,

thereby, declare themselves, to be ready, and offered them-

selves, to proceed to the drawing and marking out the said

Circle; and the Plaintiffs Commissioners desired the said

Samuel Ogle and his Brother Commissioners to meet the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, in the said Court-house, or such other

Place as they pleased.

But the said Samuel Ogle declared, he did not look upon him-

self to be obliged to appoint any other Meeting; that if any Ad-

vantage had arisen to his Constituent he could not answer it

to the Defendant, or to himself, not to lay hold of it, and the

said Samuel Ogle refused to appoint any Meeting.

Whereupon the Plaintiffs Commissioners, instantly on the

same 3d of February, served the said Samuel Ogle and (Charles

Calvert with a written Notice, or Summons, under the Hands

of 4 of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, to meet, that same Even-

ing, at 6 of the Clock, in the said Court-house, and the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, likewise, gave notice of the said Summons

to three other Commissioners of Maryland, then at Newcastle;

but the said Samuel Ogle refused to take the said Notice

or Summons into his Hands; whereupon he was acquainted of

the Contents thereof, and the same Notice or Summons (after

being tendered to, and refused by, him) was, in his Presence,

laid down upon a Chair near him.

And the Plaintiffs Charge that, at 6 o'Clock that same Even-

ing, being still the 3d of February 1732. and from 6 o'Clof^k till

paTt 8 of the Clock the same Evening, the Plaintiffs Commis-

sioners did meet and wait, in the said Court-house, pursuant

to the said written Notice or Summons, but no one of the said

Maryland Commissioners did come, or send, there, during all

that Time, altho' 5 of the said Maryland Commissioners were

then in the said Town of Newcastle.

And the Plaintiffs further Charge that the Plaintiffs Commis-

sioners, being determined to leave the Defendant's Commission-

ers without Excuse, did, that same Evening of the 3d of Feb-

ruary 1732, about 9 o'Clock. personally serve a Quorum of the

said Maryland Commissioners, namely, the said Charles Calvert,

Benjamin Tasker, and Edmund Jennings, with a written Notice,

signed by 4 of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, to proceed on the
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said Commissions upon the xMonday Morning then next, being

the 5th of February 1732, at the said Court-house, at 10

of the Clock in the Forenoon ; and a Copy of the said last men-

tioned Notice was also left at the Lodgings of the said Michael

Howard, a 4th of the said Maryland Commissioners, and which

Notice afterwards came to his Hand- ; and another, or 5th Copy

of the same, was endeavoured to be served on the said Samuel

Ogle: but a Message being sent in to him, and he acquainted

thereof, he refused to be seen or to be served therewith, saying,

that it was an unseasonable Time, and he would receive no Mes-

sages; altho', as the Plaintiffs charge, it was then but a little

after 11 at Night, and he was then playing at Tables with the

said Michael Howard.
And the Plaintiffs Charge that the Plaintiffs Commissioners

met, and were, at the said Court-house, on Monday the 5th of

February 1732, pursuant to the said last Notice, and stayed

there a considerable time, and afterwards stayed in the said

Town of Newcastle that whole Day, and great part of the next;

but found (as the Truth was and is) that every one of the De-

fendant's Commissioners had, on the Sunday before, gone out

of the Town, and returned to Maryland, without any the least

Notice to the Plaintiffs Commissioners of such their Intention

so to do.

And the Plaintiffs further Charge that, when the Defendant's

said Commissioners returned to Maryland, the Defendant was

then in Maryland, and was acquainted with their Behaviour

as aforesaid, or with so much thereof as thev thought proper

to acquaint him of; whereupon, on the lath of the same Febru-

ary, he the Defendant writ and signed a Letter to the said

Patrick Gordon, pretending that, at other former Meetings, the

Commissioners had accustomed to meet at 10 of the Clock in a

Morning, and that tho' the Plaintiffs Commissioners had met,

on Saturday the 3d of the said Month of February, yet, that one

of the Plaintiffs Commissioners (meaning the said James Steele,

who was sent to for a Paper as aforesaid) had left the Company
at the very Instant his the Defendant's Commissioners desired

to proceed on Business; which the Defendant therein magnifies

to the greatest Degree, but took no manner of Notice of the

many verbal Notices and Requests, and of the two different,

and subsequent, written Notices, given by the Plaintiffs Com-

missioners to the Defendant's Commissioners, on the same 3d

of February. And the Defendant writ, in his said Letter, that,

were he inclineable to make the strict Use of that Failure, he

might not only disregard any further Notice, but intitle him-

self, immediately, to the Forfeiture, but that he thought him-

self happy in being then in his Province, that he might do,
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what perhaps his Commissioners could not, which was, to re-

cede from the Advantage lie might claim ; wherefore, he was
willing, and thereby offered, and had accordingly given Direc-

tions to his Commissioners, to meet the PlaintilTs Commis-
sioners, at the Town of Joppa in Maryland, on the first Mon-
day in May.
And the Plaintiffs Charge, that he the Defendant neither had

Power to appoint any Meeting (his whole Power being given

to his Commissioners) nor did intend that the Commissioners
should meet there, which would be a very vain thing too, as the

first Point to be fixed was the Center in Newcastle Town whereas,

upon enquirj-, Joppa was discovered to be very near 70 Miles

from Newcastle, and a Village of a very few Cottages in it,

without Houses and other reasonable and fitting Accommoda-
tions.either for CTentlemen, or their Cattle; but the Plaintiffs

charge that the said Defendant writ that Letter, and pretended

thereby to relax his Right, out of a Consciousness that his own
Commissioners had not proceeded with that fairness, candour,

and dispatch which he had covenanted bj- his Articles they

should use, and with a View to accept of Notice from the Plain"

tiffs Commissioners, and to revive the Meetings of the Commis-
sioners again, lest he himself (and not the Plaintiffs) shouhi

forfeit the said 50001.

And the Plaintiff's further Charge that, at the very time of

the said Defendant's writing the said l^etter, himself had de-

clared, to several Persons, that his Commissioners should meet

again, merely to prevent his own incurring the said Forfeiture,

or to some such or the like effect.

And the Plaintiffs further Charge that, after so many wilful

and obstinate Failures on the Part of the Commissioner of the

Defendant, all the Commissioners on the Plaintiffs part, in

order to leave the said Defendant (who was then in Maryland)
without the least Shadow of Excuse, did, on the 28th of March
17:^3, sign a Notice to his Lordship's C'ommissioners, recapitu-

lating the Proceedings of the said 3d of February, and declar-

ing, that the Plaintiffs Commissioners wouUl attend, at New-
castle (which was therein truly mentioird to have been, by the

joint Consent of the Commissioners on both sides, acknowl-
edged to be the only proper Place for l)eginning the l)usiness

then immediately before the Commissioners) on the lOth of

April then next, which Notice was personally served on six of

the Defendants (Commissioners in Maryland; in return whereto
the Defendant's Commissioners sent (by the I\Iessenerer of the

I^laintiffs Commissioners) a cross Notice, to meet at Joppa on
the 7th of Mav —

.
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And tlie PhiintilTs Charg:e that their Coiimiissioners, or a

Quorum of theni, repaired to Newcastle, and attended there

the whole Day of the 16th of April 1732, pursuant to their own
Notice, but no one of the Commissioners for Maryland appeared,

or was then there.

And the Plaintitfs Chargre that five of the Plaintiflfs f'ommis.

sioners went to Joppa, at f?reat Inconvenience, and met a

(Quorum of the said Maryland Commissioners, on the said 7th

of May 17:!:!, and the said Samuel C^le said that, what had past

at there last Meetinji', at Newcastle, was aboiit the Circle, and

that the Commissioners, Avere now met to treat on that Subject,

and learn each other's Sentiments on it ; and he ask'd the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, whether they would run any other Circle

than one at 12 Miles distance from Newcastle?

And it was Insisted on, by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and

at lentrth prranted by those for Maryland, that the (Question

should be put into Writinf;:; Avhich was done, and was delivered

(signed by one of the Commissioners for Maryland.)

To which the Plaintiffs Commissioners returned a written

Answer, sigrned by one of their Number, statins: the very Words
of the said Articles of Ajjreement, relating: to the said Circle,

and returning? for Answer to the said Question, that the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners were ready, and offered themselves, to run

out the said Circle, according to the said Articles of Aprree-

ment, and did not conceive they were directed to run any other

Circle than the said Circle mentioned in the said Articles.

Whereupon, the said Samuel O^le said he, and his Brethren,

would take time to consider, and the Commissioners adjourned

till next Mornintr.

And on the 8th of May, Quorums of the said respective Com-
missioners beinc ajjain met, at Joppa, the said Samuel Ogle

said, he did not perfectly understand the said Answer, and

that his and the Plaintiffs Commissioners Sentiments, about

the Circle, seemed to differ much.
To which the Plaintiffs ('ommissioners answered, that tho

Directions, in the Articles of Agreement, Avere so exceedingly

])la,in, that they could not be easily mistaken.

And the said Marvland Commissioners insisted, that the

Circle, in the Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment of New-
castle, was the Circle directed to be run; and that, by the said

Deed, it was evident the same was not a Circle of 24 Miles Di-

ameter, and, therefore they insisted (most surprizingly) that

the Directions, in the Articles, to run the same at the distance

of 12 Miles from Newcastle, were repugnant to that Deed, and
void in themselves.
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And they, being asked what they conceived to be the Dimen-

sions of the Circle mentioned in the said Deed'^ answered, that

it could mean no other than a Circle whose Circumference was

12 Miles.

And the PlaintifTs Commissioners answered, and shewed, that,

as well in the Charter for Pensilvania, as in the two several

Deeds from the Duke of York, the Circle was plainly described

to be a Circle of 12 Miles distance from Newcastle, and that so

King Charles the Second, and the Duke of York, understo d

it; and they, the Plaintiffs Commissioners, conceived the

comuion Acceptation of the Words in the Deed would construe

them, and that, admitting the least Doubt could be raised on

it, yet, the Proprietors. 0:1 both sides, having an absolute Right

to (letermine it. they had fully settled, that Point, by direct-

ing the same to be run at the distance of 12 Miles from Nev,

-

castle.

And the Defendant's Commissioners replied, that they could

not believe it was the intention of the Proprietors to deviate

from the Description of the Circle mentioned in the Deed of

Feoffment.

To which the Plaintiff's (Commissioners again answered, that

the Article was no deviation from it. for that Circle having been

always understood to be a Circle of 12 Miles Radius, the Pro-

prietors had accordingly declared it to be of that Dimension;

and that it was very difficult to account why the ( 'ommissioners

should take upon themselves, to find fault with what the Pro-

prietors on each side had <lone, or pretend to understand the

same better than those who, being so deeply interested in the

Affair, had undoubtedly well considered it.

To which th.e said Samuel Ogle said that, the Persons em-

ployed in drawing up the Agreement M'ere to blame, and that

many an honest Gentleman, trusting too much to others, ha'.l

been led into Mistakes; and that he must believe the Proprie-

tors never intended to have any other Circle run than that men-

tioned in the Deed of Feoffment, (whereas as the Plaintiffs ex-

pressly Charge, the Defendant himself, in his own written Pro-

posal, previous to the said Articles of Agrement had, twice

over, plainly exprest that the Circle should be 12 Miles distant

from Newcastle, and so it had always been understood by him-

self, and others, concerned in the Transaction, previous to the

settling the said Articles of Agreement.)

And, then, the said Samuel Ogle, leaving this first Matter

thus undetermined, and which was to govern the whole

Work, proposed that the Plaintiffs Conunissioners should pro-

ceed to Cape Henlopen, at the bottom or South part of all the

said three lower Counties and try if they could not better agree
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on the Execution of that Part of tlie Articles which directed a

Line to be drawn from thence a-cross the Peninsula; where-

upon on the same 8th of May 1733, five of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners drev out, and signed, and delivered to the De-

fendant's Commissioners a Request, in Writing, (dated at Joppa

the said 8th of May) to join in drawing and marking out the

said Circle, at the distance of i:^: Miles from the said Town of

Newcastle, as by the said Articles was agreed and directed, and,

then, to proceed tu the running and marking out the other

Lines in the said Articles directed and agreed to be run, as in

that Agreement was directed; and that, if the Defendant's

Commissioners rsfused so to do, that they would satisfy the

Plaintiffs said Commissioners why they would notr

And, on the same 8th of May,four of the Defendant's Commis-

sioners signed. and delivered, a Writing to the Plaintiffs Commis-

sioners, insisting that the Agreement meant no other Circle

than that mentioned in the Deed of Feoffment; which Circle,

they said, they had not refused to mark out, but desired the

Plaintiffs Commissioners to agree with them in the drawing it

out. And, then, the Commissioners adjourned till the After-

noon of the same Day.

That, on the Afternoon of the same 8th Day of the same Month

of May 1733, the Commissioners, on both sides, being met, the

Commissioners of Maryland, lest their last Paper should have

given up the Point so long and unreasonably contested by them,

delivered to the Plaintiffs Commissioners another written, or

signed Offer and Proposal to run out a Circle: and, therein,

they precisely mention it to be a Circle, whose Circumference

should be 12 Miles about Newcastle.

Which Paper the Plaintiffs Commissioners answered, the

same Day, in Writing ; insisting that that was not the Circle they

were directed to run by the said Articles, but that the Circle

they were to run was one whose Radius (not Circumference)

was 12 Miles; which Circle, only, the Plaintiffs Commissioners

declared they conceived theiuselves warranted to run, and

offered to do; and an Adjournment being then proposed, by

the said Samuel Ogle, who pretended to have Engagements to

wait on his l^roprietor on a Visit to the Governor of New-York,

the Plaintiffs Commissioners, (after Expostulating with the De-

fendant's Commissioners for dragging them to Joppa, a Place

at great distance from the Business, and destitute of Accommo-
dations, and Necessaries, and then doing nothing but repeat-

ing their former repeatedly answered Objections, and moving,

presently, to adjourn (did agree to adjourn, but the Night was

so far spent in Debate, that a Minute of Adjournment could

not, that Night, be settled.
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But, upon the next Day, being the 9th Day of the Month of May
1733. the Commissioners, on both sides, met, and a Minute of

Adjournment was agreed to, for meeting at Philadelphia on the
21st of May then Instant; under a Proviso, that if the Maryland
Commissioners could not return from Burlington, so as to meet
on that Day, then, the next meeting was to be at Philadelphia,
but upon such other Day (before the Maryland Commissioners
return into Maryland) as the Maryland Commissioners should
ai)point ; and under another Proviso, that the Maryland Com-
missioners should not be stayed, above one Day. from return-
ing home ; and that the next Adjournment should be, into ]S'ew-

castle County, for the 18th Day of June then following.
Which Adjournment was requested by, and agreed to for

the Convenience of. the said Maryland Counaissioners, and them
only. ,

But the said Maryland Connnissioners, not returning so soon
from Burlington as the 31st of the said May. sent to the Plain-
tiffs Commissioners a Notice, of the 25th of the said May. to
meet them, the then next Day, at Philadelphia.
And, accordingly, on the 2(Jth of May 1733. the Commission-

ers, on both sides, met, at Philadelphia, and, then, the Mary-
land Commissioners pretended, that their Proprietor intended
to return very soon to England, and that some of his Commis-
sioners were to attend him to Virginia, and, therefore, that the
next Adjournment, which was to have been for the 18th of June,
would be extremely Inconvenient, to them ; whereupon so candid
were the Plaintiffs Commissioners through the whole Proceed-
ing, that they agreed to adjourn to the 3d of September then
next, and a Minute of Adjournment was made, to meet then at
Newcastle.

That, in the Morning of the 3d of September 1783, Quorums
of the said Commissioners, on each side, met at Newcastle, and
the Plaintiffs Commissioners proposed to proceed, but the said
Maryland Commissioners desired that what was proposed should
be reduced into Writing,and then adjourned till the Afternt)on.
And the Commissioners, on both sides, met again in the After-

noon of the same Day. when the Plaintiffs Commissioners de-
livered to those for Maryland, a Paper, in Writing, acquaint-
iner them that they the Plaintiffs Commissioners were ready
with their Artists to proceed, immediately, to run out the Cir-
cle mentioned in the said Charter and Deed, at the distance of
12 Miles from Newcastle: and mentioned in the said Paper that,
as a great part of the time appointed for executing the said
Articles was then elapsed without any Progress made, therefore
the Plaintiffs Commissioners earnestly desired and prest the
Commissioners of Maryland to join with them in the said Work.
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that no more time mi}:clit he lost; aud, then, the said Commis-
sioners adjourned till next Day.

And, upon the 4th of September 1733, the Commissioners, on

both sides, met again, and the said Maryland Commissioners

delivered to the Plaintills Commissioners a Paper, in Writing,

again insisting that the Circle, to be run, was (as they said they

were informed and convinced by Matheuiaticiansl no other than

a Circle whose Circumference or Periphery was 12 Miles, and

whose Diameter was somewhat less than four Miles, and, that

Circle, the said Maryland Commissioners did tliereby declare

themselves ready to proceed to run and mark out.

Whereupon the Plaintiff's Commissioners desired to see that

Opinion of Mathematicians, which the said Maryland Commis-
sioners pretended to be so convinced by, and had a short Query

and Answer delivered to them, with the Names of Hugh Jones

and William Ramsey, thereunder, upon the Words of the said

Deed of Feoffment only, that they understood the Term Circle,

in the said Feoffment, to mean a Circumference or Area, and,

as there exprest, to be limited to a Circumference or Periphery,

there called Compass about, the Diameter of which Circle, or

Compass about, was (as they apprehended) somewhat less than

four Miles; which the Plaintiffs charge was not a fair Question

put to the said two Persons, neither were they indifferent Per-

sons, but Dependants on the Defendant, and the Plaintiffs

Commissioners made some verbal Remarks thereon, and, then,

the Commissioners adjourned till the Afternoon.

And, in the Afternoon of the same 4th of September 1733, the

Commissioners being again met, the Plaintiffs Commissioners

delivered, to those for Maryland, a written Paper, containing

their Reasons why this (.Question did not fall under the Cog-

nizance of Mathematicians, as such, and, then, the Commis-
sioners adjourned till next Morning.

And, upon the 5th of September 1733 in the Morning, the

('ommissioners being again met, those for Maryland returned

their Answer, in Writing that they were not satisfied with the

Reasons offered by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, but insisted

on their own former Opinion as to the Circle, and, then, the

Co7iimissioners adjourned till the Afternoon.

At which time they met, and, after further Discourse, ad-

journed to the next Morning.

And, upon the 6th of September 1733, the Commissioners on

both sides met again, at which time the Plaintiffs Commissioners

delivered a signed written Paper, insisting on the Circle as they

had before insisted, and requested the Maryland Commissioners

either to join in running such a Circle, or directly to declare

thev would not.
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And the Maryland (Jommissioners delivered a Question in

Writing, to the Plaintiffs Commissioners, desiring to know
whether they would not consent to run out any Circde, but one

whose Radius was 12 Miles?

And the Commissioners separated, for a short time, and then

met again, the Maryland Commissioners delivered to the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners a written Answer, that they would not agree

or join to run or mark out a Circle at the distance of 12 English

Statute Miles from the Town of Newcastle.

And the Plaintiffs Connnissioners, on their Parts, delivered in

their Answer in Writing, that they could not agree to run any

other than a Circle at the distance of 12 Miles from Newcastle.

And then, the Connnissioners for Maryland proposed an Ad-

journment, the Minute for which was to be brought in by each

side at their Meeting that Afternoon.

And, accordingly, the Commissioners on both sides did meet

that same Afternoon, and after much Debate, a Minute of Ad-

journment, to meet at Newcastle on the 14th of November then

next, was signed.

That the Commissioners on both sides, or sufficient Quorums
of them, did meet, at Newcastle, on the said 14th of November

1733, and on the loch and 16th of the same Month, and con-

tinued to meet, debate and adjourn during those three last men-

tioned Days and the Commissioners on each side appearing fixed

in their former Sentiments, respectively, the Commissioners for,

Maryland, thereupon, frequently declared, that, as the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners would not join with them in running the

Circle they contended for, it was to no purpose to continue any

longer together, and therefore proposed that the Commissioners

should depart, without Adjournment.

But the Plaintiffs Commissioners refused to agree thereto.

And, then, the Commissioners for Maryland delivered a Writ-

ing, whereby they proposed and offered to the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners to proceed to Capt- Hinlopen, in order to proceed in

fixing the Cape, and running the East and West Line directed

by the third Article of the Agreement to be run from thence,

and, then, adjourned to the next Day.

And, on the 17th of November 1733, the Commissioners on

l)oth sides met again, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners delivered

to those for Maryland aAvritten Paper, recapitulating many parts

of the Conduct and Behaviour of the said Maryland Commis-
sioners from the first meeting, and giving the Reasons why the

Plaintiffs Commissioners could not proceed to other Business

and Lines (which were to l)e directed and governed by the Cir-

cle) until the Circle it self was fixed as directed in the said
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Articles; and. then, tlie (Jomniissioners adjourned till the l!)th

of November.
And, on the 19th of November 1733, the Commissioners met

again on both sides, and the said Maryland Commissioners de-

livered a long Answer, in writing, tending to excuse, or palliate,

their Conduct and Behaviour, and with Remarks that no Min-

utes, taken, mentioned many Facts which had really past, and

which the Plaintiffs Connnissioners had insisted on in their last

Paper (whereas that was one of the Complaints made by the

Plaintiffs Commissioners, that those for Maryland had refused to

let any Clerk, or even two Commissioners, one on each side, take

Minutes) and concluded the same with an express Declaration

that, in their Opinion, no other Consequence could arise from

the Differences in .Judgment between them, and the Plaintiflis

Commissioners, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners refusal to pro-

ceed to Capt Hinlopen, than that, either the said Commission-

ers should continue at Newcastle until the 25th of December

1733, without running the Circle, or, depart from Newcastle

without further Adjournment; the which they left to the Con-

sideration of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and. then, the Com-

missioners adjourned till the next Day.

And, on the 20th of November 1733, the Conmiissioners on

both sides met again, and adjourned to the next Day after.

And. on the 21st of November 1733, the Connnissioners on

both sides again met. and the Plaintiffs Commissioners delivered

to those for Maryland, a written Paper of Observations and

Arguments upon many parts of the Proceedings and Papers,

and the Commissioners adjourned to the next Day.

And, on the 22d of November 1733, the Commissioners met on

both sides again,and those for Maryland delivered to the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners another long Paper, and the Commissioners

adjourned till the next Day.

And, on the 23d of November 1733, the Commissioners on both

sides met again, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners delivered to

those for Maryland the Answer, to the last Paper, and then, the

Commissioners for Maryland proposed that, since the Commis-

sioners had continued so long together in exchanging of Papers,

to no manner of purpose, being still as far from agreeing as ever,

they should then depart.

Whereupon, it was agreed that a Minute should, by mutual

consent, be prepared against the next Day, to which time the

Commissioners adjourned.

And, upon the 24th of November 1733, the Commissioners met

for the last time, and signed a Minute; which recited the said

Articles of Agreement, and the Original Commission granted

bv the Defendant to his Commissioners, and the Original Com-
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ixjission granted by the Plaintiffs to their Commissioners, and
reciting the Meeting between the Commissioners on the 6th of
October 17;J2 and other subsequent Meetings ; and reciting several
subsequent Appointments of some particular Commissioners
for Maryland, in Place of othe.-s who were sick or dead or could
not attend; and that since the Meetings at Newcastle, divers Ap-
pointments and Adjournments had been made, and sundry Pro
positions and Debates at their several Meetings had passed, and
that hve Commissioners on each side had met at Newcastle on
the 14thof November then Instant, where, resuming their former
Debates, and making divers Propositions to each other from
the said 14th to that present 24th of November, each side con-
tinued to persist in their former Opinion, that is (as is exnressed
in the said Minute, the Commissioners on the part of Pensil vania
insisted, as they always had done, in running and marking outa Circle (or so much thereof as should be requisite) at the dis-
tance of 12 English Statute Miles from the Town of Newcastle
H, in the second Article of Agreement is directed, as the only
Circle they conceived themselves impowered to run : and thatthe Commissioners for Maryland, on their part, insisted, as atformer Meetings they had done, upon running a Circle (or somuch thereof as should be requisite) whose Peripherv or (Mr
cumstances is 12 Miles only, or whose Diameter is somewhat
less than 4 Miles, as the only Circl. meant in the Deed of Bar-gain and Sale and Deed of Feoffment for Newcastle, and as theonly Circle intended by the Proprietors in the said Articles;which Circle the Commissioners of Maryland conceived them-
selves only impowered to run; and that, under that difference
of Judgment, the Commissioners of Pensilvania having refusedo proceed to Cape Hinlopen, in order to fix the Cape and runhe East and West Line, because, they said, for the Reasons bythem assigned, it could be to no manner of purpose. The Com-missioners of Maryland were of Opinion that, no other Conse-quence would arise, than, either that the Commissioners shouldcontinue at Newcastle, until the said 25th of December nextwithout runnmo: the said Circle about Newcastle; or. deparrom Newcastle without further adjournment; and, as the last

Debates that had not in the lea.st tended t.. anv nearer Agree-ment between the Commissioners, and the time limited for exe-eu ing the said Articles was then so near expiring that, evenwith the utmost Industry and Application, it would, scarc-eby any means, be found practicable to run and mark out and

be done. Therefore upon the whole, the Commissioners, on
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both sides, under those Circunistanfes, did thereby agree that

it could not answer any of the Purposes intended by the said

Articles to continue longer together, and that they, therefore,

thought it proper to depart, without further adjournment,

and leave the Conduct of the Commissioners, on both sides, and

their Endeavours, used towards the execution of the said Arti-

cles of Agreement, t the Justice and Wisdom of their Super-

iors.

As by the said parting Minute, which is dated the 24th of the

said Month of November 1733, and the said other Papers, Pro-

posals and Writings, interchanged between the said Conniiis-

sioners, had the Plaintiffs tht- same to produce, relation being

thereunto had respectively, might and would more fully and

at large appear.

And thus, as the PlaintifTs Charge, the Meetings, between

the Commissioners on both sides, were put an end to, and there-

by the Circle. Lines and Bound-marks were not run, markt, or

laid out by the 25th of December 1733, within the time cove-

nanted and agreed by the said recited Articles for the doing

thereof, nor are yet run and markt out.

But the Plaintiffs expressly charge and insist, that the not

running and marking out the said Lines, within the time afore-

said, was in no sort occasioned by the Non-attendance of the

Plaintiffs Commissioners from time to time pursuant to the Ad-

journments made, or. from any Default whatever on the part

of the Plaintiffs, or of their Commissioners, but purely and

simply from a difference in Opinion between the Commissioners

on each side (as those for Maryland pretended) namely, whether

the Commissioners were to mark out the Circle at 12 Miles dis-

tance from Newcastle (as the iVrticles and the Commissions

most plainly, positively and expressly mentioned they were)or,

at less than two Miles distant therefrom?

But, notwithstanding such difference, or pretended difference,

in Opinion, the Said Articles of the 10th of May 1732 did, and

do now, subsist in full Force and Yertue.

And the Plaintiffs further charge that the said pretended

difference of Opinion of the Maryland Commissioners, from

that of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, was nothing but a meer

Pretence and Artifice, purelv to avoid executing the Agreement

:

and which Endeavour to that end had been before proposed,

directed and consented to, l)y the Defendant himself, as a means

to spin out the time mentioned in his Agreement, and avoid

complying with his own Proposal, and solemn and deliberate

Agreement aforesaid.

And the Plaintiffs Charge that the first News which arrived

in Great Britain after Christmas 1733 of the expiration of the
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time, mentioned in the Articles for runnini^r tlie Lines, bein^'
expired witliout their having been run. having arrived in
May 1734, the Plaintiffs John and Richard Penn, both in Grreat
Britain, did receive, at the same time, many Accounts of the
great dissatisfaction, troubles and uneasiness which the expira-
tion of the said time without the Lines having been run had
given to their Tenants and Occupiers of Land there, and who re-
fused to pay to the Plaintiffs even those very small Quit-Rents
which had been reserved upon the Grants in Fee made by the
Plaintiffs and their late Father to such Tenants and Occupiers;
in so much, that for the quieting the Minds of the People in
the said three LoM'er ('ounties, as well as for preserving the
Plaintiffs Right to the Premisses, the Plaintiff John Penn. the
eldest Brother, at very great Inconvenience, was also obliged
to go from Oreat Britain to Pensilvania, and did go on Board
a Ship on such intended Voyage upon the 9th of July 1734, and,
some time after, arrived there.

And, after such the Plaintiff John Penn's departure, the onlv
one of the Plaintif!s who then was, or yet is, in Great Britain,
was the Plaintiff Richard Penn, the youngest of the three Broth-
ers, who was but lately come of age, and had no Knowledge of
these old and intricate Disputes and Transactions.
And the Defendant did know, and hear, both of the Plaintiff

John Penn's said dpparture for Pensilvania, and also that the
Plaintiff Thomas Penn was, and for about two Years before
had constantly been, in Pensilvania.
And, thereupon, he the Defendant did as the Plaintiffs have

since discovered, upon the 8th of August 1734 (which was with-
in less than a Month after the Plaintiffs John Penn's said de-
parture) present, or cause to be presented, a Petition, to his
present most Excellent Majesty in the Name of the said De-
fendant, stating the Charter for Maryland in such manner as
he thought proper, and alledging that some Matters appeared
by an Order in Council of the 4th of April 1688, relating to one
William Clabourne and the Isle of Kent (although there is no
such Order) and stating some part, and a part only, of the said
Report and Order made in the Year 168",, but, leaving out the
most essential and material Parts thereof, in the very middle and
heart of the same, and particularly those Words whereby it was
declared that the said three Lower Counties had, ever since the
r^harter for Maryland, been possessed by Christians down to
that Y'ear 1685, and had continued as a distinct Colony from
Maryland

;
and stating that if, at the time of the Charter for

Maryland, any part of the Tract of Land, mentioned in the
said Report, was inhabited by Christians, yet, that they were
not Subjects of the Crown of England, but Swedes and Dutch-
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men, or other Subjects of Foreign Nations ; and, therefore, as the

said Charles Lord Baltimore suggested, (though most untruely)

by his said Petition, that the whole of that part of the said

Peninsula was plainly described within the Limits of the said

Grant of Maryland, so that he conceived the same was intended

to pass, and did pass, by that Charter, he by his said Petition,

besought his Majesty, by a further Charter or Letters Patent,

to confirm to the Defendant his Heirs and Assigns the whole of

such part of the said Peninsula as was contained within the

Limits of the said Maryland Charter, notwithstanding the said

words of Hacteniifi inculta in the Recital thereof inserted.

And the Plaintiffs Charge that the Defendant by his said Pe-

tition omitted to name the Plaintiffs therein, or their Father,

or the said Province of Pensilvania. or the said three Lower

Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sussex, nor took any Notice

of his own solemn Agreement of the 10th of May \T-Vi, and con-

cealed the whole of his said Agreement, whereby, for such valu-

able Considerations, he had released to the Plaintiffs in Fee the

said three l>ower Counties by express name, and all his Right,

and all liis Pretences thereto, and had covenanted to make
further Assurance of the same and had covenanted, by all means
in his Power to support the Interest of the Plaintiffs in and to

the same by Vertue of and under the said Agreement, and also

concealed every Tittle of the Plaintiffs and their Mother and
Father, and the Duke of York's Title, and very long and ancient

Possession of the said tliree Lower Counties quite from the Year

1(5()4, and the very great Improvements which have, at so great

an Expence, been since made thereon, purely to obtain, from

his Majesty to himself. a Cirant or ( 'Onfirmatioii of the said thret^

Ijower Counties, and to turn the Plaintiffs out of their ancient

Possession and Improvements and undoubted Right, which the

Defendant did and doth well know and believe his Majesty,

upon a fair full and true Representation of the whole Case,

was too good and just to do, —although, from any Flaw in the

Plaintiffs Title it might legally have been done; which the

Plaintiffs humbly insist it could not; and the Crown has never

yet disturbed the Possession of any one Subject whatever, in

America, who has been at any Trouble or Expence in settling

there and cultivatintr the Country, though many of them, there,

have Titles which possibly might not bear an exact and strict

Examination.

And the Plaintiffs ('harge tliat, u})<>n presenting the said last

mentioned Petition to his Majesty, his Majesty by his Order in

Council of the 8th Day of August 17:'.4, was pleased to refer the

same to the Lords Commissioners for Trade and Plantations,

to examine and consider the Matters and Facts contained in
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tlie said Petition, and report the same together with their Opin-

ion to his Majesty in Council.

And the Defendant never gave any the least Noti^-e of such

his said Petition to his Majesty, or of his Majesty's said Refer-

ence thereof to tlie said Lords Commissioners of Trade and
Plantations, unto the Plaintitts, or unto any one of them, or

unto any Person whatever in their behalf.

But an Agent, who had formerly been concerned in some of

the Plaintiffs Aflfairs. received Notice thereof, not from the De-

fendant or any Agent of his, but from the said Lords Comiuis-

sioners of Trade and Plantations, who, accidentally, in the

Course of the Business in their Office, knew that the Plaintiffs,

and their Father, had, very long, l)een in Possession of the said

three Lower Counties, and had named Lieutenant or Deputy-
(-rovernors for the same Avithout Intermission.

And the Plaintiffs charge that, thereupon. Application was
made to the said Lords Commissioners for Trade and Planta-

tions, in the Presence of the Defendant, in the behalf of the

Plaintiffs John and Thomas Penn, then and still in America,

and of the Plaintiff' Richard Penn, then in Great Britain, but

in the Country, to know, what it was that the Defendant, under

such general Petition, pray for, and to have reasonable time t<i

apprize all the Plaintiffs thereof in order to make their Defence

;

in answer whereto, the said Defendant himself, in express Terms,

did declare, in the hearing of several Persons, to the said -Lords

Commissioners for Trade and Plantations, that he then peti-

tioned for a Grant of the said three Lower Counties, or to the

same Effect and Purpose.

And the said Defendant did [)ress and insist that time might
not be given for Notice to the Plaintiffs in America (who, only,

knew any thing, and they but little, of the before mentioned old

Transactions) but that the Matters of his said Petition might be

heard forthwith.

And the said Lords Commissioners for Trade and Plantations,

not conceiving it Decent to let his Majesty's said Reference to

them lay so long unexamined as till the Plaintiffs might have
Notice in America, and an Opportunity of being heard there-

after, did appoint a Day for hearing the same, and did hear the

same on the 20th and 31st Days of December 1734, but those

Hearings on one side only, without hearing the Plaintiffs or any
Person whatsoever on their behalf upon the Merits of the said

Petition.

At which, and other times, the Defendant, and his Agents by

and with his Knowledge, Privity, Consent and Direction, and
in his own Presence, taking Advantage of the Plaintiffs Absence,

offered to the said Lords Commissioners the said blank Paper,



70 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

not purporting to be ever authenticated any way whatever, or

to be signed by any Person, and which liad been 80 before

offered by his grandfather in 1684, as a Copy of some Report

or Order in Council of the 4th of April lGo8 of the then Com-

mittee for Trade and Foreign Plantations ; although the Plain-

tifl's charge there was no such Real Report or Order in Counci 1

of the 4th of April 10:38 to be found, and that his the said Lord

Baltimore's said Grandfather, in 1(184 and 108.J, had, in Person,

acknowledged that there was no Original thereof, even then,

to be found.

But the Plaintiffs at such Hearings on the 20th and ;)lst of

December last, not being heard to Object to the said Paper,

nor any Agent authorized by the Plaintiffs then attending the

said Lords Comuussioners of Trade and Plantations, and their

Lordships not knowing of any Objections that might l)e made

to the said Paper, took it to be a Real Paper.

And upon the IGth of January 1734, made a Report to his Maj-

esty in Council, upon tlie Petition of the Defendant, founded

chiefly, if not entirely, on the said Paper <,)f the 4th of April

1G38.

And the said Lords Commissioners, in the said Report, have

only stated so much of the Determination made in 1685 as the

Defendant had set forth in his said Petition.

By which Proceedings, herein before stated, of the Defend-

ant and his ( -ommissioners, and Agents, both in America and

Great Britain, the Plaintiifs are greatly injured.

But the Plaintiffs Charge that the said Re[)ort of the 16th of

January 1784 having been referred, by his Majesty's Order in

(Council, to the Right Honourable the Lords of the Committee of

his Majesty's Most Honourable Privy Council for Plantation

Affairs, their Lordships, on the 10th of May 1735, heard Council

for the Plaintiffs thereupon, and their Lordships, afterwards,

made a Report to his Majesty in Council.

Whereupon, by Order in Council, of the 16th Day of May
1735 (made upon reading the said last mentioned Report) his

Majesty was graciously pleased to Order that the Consideration

of the said Report of the Lords Commissioners for Trade and

Plantations of the IGth of January 1734, and of two Petitions,

presented in the behalf of the Plaintiffs, and of the Possessors

and Owners of Lands in the said three lower Counties, should

all be adjourned, unto the End of Michaelmas Term then and

now next, that the Plaintiffs might have an Opportunity to

proceed, in a Court of Equity, to obtain Relief upon the said

Articles of Agreement as they should be advised ; and that,

after the Expiration of the said Term, either Party should be

at liberty to apply to the said Committee of Council as the
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Nature of the Case iiiip:lit require; as by the said last mentioned
Petitions, Ordei-s and Reports, relation being: unto them sever-

ally and respectively had, may more fully and at large appear.
All whieh Actings. Dointrs, Misrepresentations and other Prac-

tices and Proceedings of the Defendant, and of his (Confederates,

and of his (Commissioners and Agents, both in America and
Great Britain, are contrary to Equity and good C'onscience,
and tend to the manifest, apparent, and grievous Wrong and
Injury of the PlaintilTs, who are utterly Remediless in the
Premises by the strict Rules of the (Jomuion Law, in regard
the Plaintiffs Witnesses, who could prove the truth of all and
singular the Premises to be as herein before set forth, are either

dead, or in Parts remote, beyond the Seas, and in America, and
many of them unknown to the Plaintiffs, but the Plaintiffs are
properly relievable in this Honourable Court, where they may
have the Personal Oath and Discovery of the Defendant touch-
ing the Matters aforesaid, and where Matters of Fraud, Deceit,

and specifick Performance of Covenants and Agreements, and
Matters of perpetual Injunction, are properly Examinable and
Relievable.

Therefore, that the Defendant and his Confederates, when
discovered, may, upon their several and respective Corporal
Oaths, true, full, distinct and perfect Answer make, and that,

according to the best of their several and respective Knowledges,
Beliefs, and Informations, to all and every one of the Matters,
Facts, Charges and Allegations herein before mentioned, as

fully and amply as if the same were here again particularly re-

peated and interrogated to, and, more particularly, may answer,
set forth and discover, according to the best of their several

and respective Knowledges, Beliefs and Informations.
And may set forth Verbally and Literally, a true Copy of

the Words of the said Charter for Maryland, as they are respec-

tively written at length or abbreviated in the Original Charter
under the Great Seal of England, from the beginning of the
said Charter unto the first Habendum therein.

And whether the said William Penn did not enter into the
peaceable Possession of the said Province of Pensilvania in

June 1681?

And into the peaceable Possession of every one of the said

three lower Counties either in October or November IBSa?

And who, from the last mentioned tims respectively, have
been in the chief Possession and Government of the said Prov-
ince of Pensilvania, and of the said three lower Counties?
And who it was that peopled, settled, and improved the said

Province of Pensilvania and the said three lower Counties?
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Whether the saiil William Peuii, or any Ancestors of the
said Defendant?
And, at whose Expenee, the same was so peopled, settled,

and improved, whether at the sole Expenee of the said William
Penn, and his (yrantees under him, or at the Expenee of the
Crown, or the Publiek, or the Defendant, or any of his Ances-
tors 'i

And whether he in his Conscienee believes it was a small, or

a very ^reat Expenee?
And whether he really believes it was not at more than GO,

0001. Sterling, i>r at what Sum, as he believes in his (^onscieneev

And whether the said Province of Pensilvania, and the said

three lower Counties, do not, at this time, make the most
flourishing and populous Province or (!olony, for tlie Affe

thereof, throughout, all America?
And whether the Number of Inhabitants, in the said three

lower ('ounties only, exclusive of Pensilvania, are not esteemed
to be more ttian 40,000?

And whether the Defendant, when he lately came out of the
Province of Maryland into the said three lower C!ounties, was
not surprized to see how much thicker of Inhabitants, and of

beautiful Plantations, the said three lower Counties were, than
the said Province of Maryland was?
And may set forth, at what Place, by Name, and in what De-

gree and Minute of Latitude, the most Northern Part of the said

Peninsula ends, and the most Southern Part of the Isthmus
or Neck of Land begins, and in and througli what Places,
by Name, the Line of the 40th Degree compleat does run, and
how many English Statute Miles there is in Distance, from the
most Northern Part of the said Peninsula, to the said Line of

the 40th Degree compleat, and which of those two Places lies

the most Northwards?
And whether there was not such Agreement signed and exe-

cuted, between the Defendant and the Plaintiffs late Mother in
the said Year 1728. after the Decease of the Plaintiffs Father,
as herein before mentioned, or ©f what other Purport and Effect,

and where the same, and each Original Part thereof, now is?

And that the Defendant may set forth a true 'opy of the same,
at full length, in the very Words, Figures and Abbreviations
as the same is in the Original, with the Parties and Witnesses
Names thereto, and all the Attestations thereto, and all the
Endorsements thereon, in case that before set k. th. by the
Plaintiffs be not a true Copy thereof?

And whether the same Agreement was not published, at full

length, in a Proclamation, and when, by the Lieutenant or
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Deputy Grovernor ol Pensilvania, pusuant to one of the Clause>s
contained in the same Agreement?
And whether the same Agreement was, or was not, and if it

was, then, when it was, published by Proclamation by the Gov-
ernor or Lieutenant, or Deputy Governor of Maryhind?
And why, by whose Order, the same was jmblished ^

And whether the Plaintiffs said Mother, or the Plaintiffs
have, from the time of the said Agreement of 17th of February
1723, to this time, ever, and when, liow, and at what times par-
ticularly, disturbed any, and which of the Inhabitants under
the Defendant, or molested them in their Possessions?
Or have suffered any and what particular Parcels of Lands to

be surveyed, taken up or granted, either in Pensilvania, or in
the said three lower Counties, or in any, and which of them,
near the Boundaries which had been (daimed or pretended to
on either side?

And whether the Plaintiffs said Mother and th<:^ Plaintiffs
respectively, diil not justly and honestly fulfill and i)erform the
said Agreement of 1723, on their Parts, according to the true
intent and meaning of the same, and that, not only during the
18 Months, in the same Agreement mentioned for the Continu-
ance thereof, but even after the said 18 Months, until the last
Agreement was concluded in May 1732?

Anti whether the Defendant and his Agents, Commissioners
and Officers did. or did not. fully and truly, and in all jmints,
perform and fulfil the same, or whether it has not been long,
and is not to this time, the usual, common and constant Method,
in the said Province of Maryland, to make large Grants to Per-
sons of a certain Number of Acres,at large, without specifying in
what particular Spot, Parish, Precinct, Division or County the
same do,or shall, lie or be situated; and to leave such Grantees
at liberty to find out, and set down upon, and appropriate to
themselves, under such Marylanil Grants at large, so many
Acres as therein specified, just in such Places (not before taken
up and ajjpropriated) as they can find out. and their own
Fancy and Incdination leads then) to?
And whether many such Maryland Grants are not. now, ex-

tant, of very large Quantities of Lands at large as aforesaid,
and which have not yet been seated upon or appropriated?
And whether the Defendant does not know, and verily believe,

and has not been credibly informed, that many suvh unappro-
priated Maryland Grants at large are now in the hands of all,
or some, and which, of the Commissioners authorized and ap-
pointed on the Part of the Defendant for executing the Agree-
ment of 1732, and in the hands of many, and what, other lead-
ing and considerable Men in the said Province of Maryland?
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And whether the Defendant does not know, and verily believe,

and has not been credibly informed, by many, or by some,

of such Maryland Grantees, and others, and by whom in

l)artieular, that such Maryland (Grantees, or some, and which

of them, did design and intend, by Virtue, of such Maryland

(i-rants. to set down ui)on and appropriate Land^. which would,

or which they apprehended would, by the Agreement in 1732.

fall within the Plaintiffs BoundsV

And whether as the Defendant knows, believes, and has been

credibly informed, any Disappointment or expected Disappoint,

ment. in appropriating such Lands, was, or was not, any Motive

or Inducement, and to whom, to the not compleatly executing

the said Agreement of 1732':'

And whether the Defendant did not, in the Y'ear 1731, ac-

knowledge the Plaintifls Title to the said three lower Counties,

and did not apply to them, not to give up to him the said three

lower Counties, but to settle the Limits and Bounds of the

same, and of the said Provinces of Pensilvania and Maryland?

And whether, upon the Plaintiffs not instantly complying

with such the Defendant's Request and Application, lie did not,

thereupon, in order to spur the Plaintiffs on, present, or cause

to be presented, such his Petition to his present Majesty, on

the 1st of July 1731. or any and what other Petition, and to what

Effect?

And particularly, whether such last mentioned Petition, and

the whole Tenor thereof, did not pray and desire the Bounds
might be ascertained and settled upon the foot of the said

Orders of Council of 1685 and 1708?

And whether the Defendant himself did not, thereby, mean
and intend to leave to the Plaintiffs the three lower Counties

of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex?

And whether, after the said last mentioned Petition was pre-

sented, and such Order thereon made as aforesaid, the Defend-

ant did not, in his own Person, apply to some, or one, and which

of the Plaintiffs, and to some and what Agent of theirs, or

Person concerned for them, and did not, again press and desire

that a Treaty might be set on foot for the settling and agreeing

the Bounds and ending all Disputes between the Plaintiffs and

him?
And whether, from the 11th of June 1731, to the 10th of May

1732, such Treaty and Agreement was not on foot, between

him and the Plaintiffs, and many Meetings had between the

Plaintiffs and their Agents and the Defendant and his Agents,

at many different Places, within that space of time?

And whether, at some, and which, of such Meetings, and at

what Time and place, the Defendant, on his Part, did not pro.
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duce a Map or Plan of the Parts in (Question and other adjacent

Places, which he himself said and acknowledj^ed his Agents

had sent, to him, from America, in oi-der to settle the said Dis

putes?

And whether tlie PlaintifTs, on their Part, did not also pro-

duce a Map or plan of the Parts in Question?

And whether the Map or Plan, so produced by the Defendant

was not, by him in Person, at some of the said Meetings, mark'd

with a Pencil, in what manner the dividing Lines should

run?
And whether the Plaintiffs did not insist that the Head Line

of Maryland should be not so little as 15 Miles, but 20. or at

least 18, or 17 Miles, South of Philadelphia, which he did not

agree to?

And whether the Defendant did not insist, and the Plaintiffs

agree, that, not the Plaintiffs Map or Plan, but, the said Map
or Plan of the Defendant should l)e engraved, in order to be

affixed or annexed to, and to explain the meaning of, the Agree-

ment they should come to?

And whether the Defendant did not, at the said Meetings op-

pose the Person the Plaintiffs proposed to engrave the Defend-

ant's Map or Plan, and name and insist that Mr. Senex should

do the same?
And whether the Plaintiffs did not consent thereto, and

whether the said Senex did not engrave the same, and was

Jointly paid for so doing. l)y the Plaintiffs and Defendant?

And whether the said engraved Map or Plan of the Defendant

was not printed or stamped on the Original Articles of Agree-

ment, afterwards executed on the 10th of May 1732?

And whether there is any, and what Material Difference,

between the Map or Plan so produced by the Defendant, and

that printed or stamped on the same Original Articles of agree-

ment of 1732?

And whether the Defendant, at a Meeting between him and

the three Plaintiff's, or some of the said three Plaintiffs, upon
the 22d of July 1731, or at any and what other time, did not

produce, out of his own Pocket, a written Paper, written of

his own proper Hand-Writing, and read the same to the Plain-

tiffs, as his own Note or proposal of what was to be agreed and
done between the Plaintiff's and him?
And what was and were the true Contents thereof, and may

set forth an exact, full and true Copy thereof, at full length,

in the very Words. Figures. Letters, and Abbreviations thereof?

And particularly, whether, in two several Parts thereof, the

said Charles Lord Baltimore, did not expressly mention that
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the Circle, round Newcastle, was to be 12 Miles from Newcastle,

and 12 Miles distant from Newcastle

V

And whether that was not, in the Month of July 17:31. his

own real intention and meaning?

And whether he in his Conscience does believe that running:

a Circle at the Distance of only two Miles, or less from New-

castle, is, in any sort, accordiuy: to his said own ProposalV

And whether the Plaintiffs or their Agent did not, at the said

Meeting upon the 22d of July 17?,1, desire of the Defendants to

deliver to them the said Note or l^roposal of the said Defend-

ant, or a Copy thereof, in order to prepare the written Agree-

ment at full length pursuant thereto?

And whether the Defendant did not. then, express himself that

he had not, at that time, any Copy thereof, but that he would

ileliver the same t(» his Sollicitor in order to give the Plaintiff's

;i Copy thereof?

AndWhether the Defendant did then instantly deliver the

same over to Mr. John Sharpe the Sollicitor for the Defendant,

for the very purpose of assisting to prepare the said Agreement

at full length, and of giving the Plaintiffs a Copy of the said

Note and Proposal in order thereto?

And whether the Defendant did not then, at the said Meet-

ing, consent and direct that the said Mr Sharpe should give

the Plaintiff's a Copy thereof.and whether, in some few days after-

wards, the saiil Mr. Sharpe did not give to the Plaintiffs a Copy

thereof, as tlie said Defendant has heard, believes, and been

informed?

And that the Defendant may set forth where the said Original

Note or Proposal is. and may produce the same at the hearing

of this Cause?

And whether, upon the 16th Day of August 1781, or when else,

the Plaintiffs or their Agent, did not deliver over to the De-

fendant, or his Agent, a Draught of Articles of Agreement

between the Defendant and the Plaintiffs, prepared upon the

foot of the Denfendanfs own Note and Proposal before men-

tioned, in order to be (considered and settled by the Defendant

and such other Persons as he sh<juld think fit to make use of, or

.idvise with therein?

And whether such Draught of Articles of Agreement was

not, constantly and continually, from the said 16th Day of

August 1781. to the Beginning of May 1732, or for how much

of the said time, in the (Custody, and under the Consideration

and Examination, of the Defendant, and of Mr. Wynne his

Council, Mr. Sharpe his Sollicitor. Mr. Senex his Mathemati-

cian.and Mr. Ogle his Lieutenant.or Deputy Grovernor of Mary-
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land, and divers others, and who by Name, made use of by the
Defendant to assist and help him in settling the same?
And whether the Defendant, during such tiuie taken for the

Examination, Consideration and Settlement of the said Draught
did not propose and insist on several, and what, and how many'
new and different things to be provided for and inserted in

the said Draught, which had not at that time been inserted
in the said Draught, nor in the Defendants own Note and Pro-
posal, nor had ever once been proposed, or talkd of. during
the Treaty between the Plaintiffs and Defendant?
And whether the Plaintiffs did not. at his Keijuest, con.sent

and agree to every one of such his new Proposals, or After-
thoughts.

And particularly, whether he did. or did not. insist on all

and every the Matters and Things herein f)efore for that Purpose
mentioned, or any and which of them?
And whether, in the Treaty in oriier to the said Articles of

Agreement of May 1732, any one Matter or Thing, whatsover.
proposed or insisted on by the Plaintifl's, was yielded or agreed
to by the Defendant?
And whether, on the contrary, every Matter and Thing

whatsoever, which was proposed or insisted on by the Defend-
ant, was not yielded and agreed to by the Plaintiffs?

And that the Defendant may set forth all and every the Par-
ticulars, which he had insisted on at any time during the said
Treaty, which were not agreed to by the Plaintiffs, and also,

all and every the Particulars which the Plaintiffs insisted on,

at any time during the said Treaty, which were agreefi to by
the Defendant?
And whether the said Draught of the said Agreement, after

the same was settled by the Defendant and every one of his
before-mentioned Agents, Assistants and Advisers to his own
Satisfaction, was not engrossed, and was not executed by the
Defendant and the Plaintiffs on the 10th Day of May 1732?

And whether, soon after such the Execution of the said
Articles of Agreement, namely, on or about the 12th Day of the
same May. the Plaintiffs and Defendant did not, severally and
respectively, execute such several Commissions as before men-
tioned, authorizing 7 Commissioners therein named, or any (i, 5,

4. or 3 of them, to mark, run and layout the Bounds so agreed
upon?
And whether the said Commission, so executed by the Defend-

ant, and that so executed by the Plaintiffs, were not, exactly
like and agreeable, each to the other, in Form and Substance,
and were not both engross'd from one and the same Draught or
Copy, only changing the Names and additions of the Persons
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who g^ranted the Powers and Authorities thereby given, and to

whom the Powers and Authorities were granted ?

And whether such Comuiissions were not, respectively, sent

over to America, and whether, on the Request of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners, the Meetings, between the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners and those for the Defendant, were not begun, at New-
town in Maryland, on the 6th Day of October 1732. and were
not continued, adjourned, and held again, at all and every the
Times and Places herein for that purpose mentioned, down to

and upon the 34th of November ll-V-], being near 14 Calendar
Months?
And whether, at those Meetings between the said Commis-

sioners, all and every of the Matters and Things herein before

mentioned did not pass, and were not Transacted, at the Times,
in the Manner, by the Persons, and with the Views and Designs,
herein before mentioned and set forth, or with any, and what
other Views, Intents and Designs, severally and respectively.

And particularly, that the Defendant may, upon his positive

Oath, say for how long, during the said Meetings between the
said Commissioners, he the said Defendant was in America,
and in or near to the Province of Maryland?
And whether his Commissioners did, or did not, make all and

singular the Cavils and Objections herein before mentioned,
or not?

And whether he the defendant was knowing of, or privy to,

the same, or to any and which of them, or not?
And whether he, at that time, advised, consented to, directed,

approved of, or was acquainted with, any and which of the
Doubts, Scruples and Objections, or pretended Doubts, Scruples
and Objections, made l)y his said Commissioners at such Meet-
ings, or any and which of them?
And if the Defendant does not know, and in his Conscience

believe, and has not been credibly informed, that it was the
Intention and Resolution of all the Commissioners by him ap-
pointed as aforesaid, or of some and which of them, and
who by Name, to defeat and prevent the running out the Lines
aforesaid agreed upon by the said Articles?

And whether the said Commissioners, or sctme other Person
or Persons, did not, after the Execution of the said Engros'd
Articles of the lOtli of May 17o2, endeavour to persuade the De-
fendant not to comi)leat and perform the same?
And whether he, himself, was not, by some means or other,

brought or induced to wish and desire, or intend, that the said
Agreement might, or sliould not, be carried into Execution.
And whether the Defendant evei. and when, did consult,

converse or advise with any, and what, other Person or Persons,
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and when, and where, how the Execution of the said Agreement

of May 17o2 might be avoided or evaded, but so, as not to forfeit

the Penalty or Sum or 50001. therein mentioned?

And whether the said Commissioners of the Defendant, or any

and which of them, or who else, did Object to the want of

Parties in the Commission to the Plaintiffs (Jommissioners,

and did raise such Objections and Difficulties to the making or

fixing a Center for the said Circle, and to the Distance that the

said Circle was to be from the Town of Newcastle, or not?

And whether such Objections were made, or insisted on, with

the Privity, Consent, Direction or Good-liking, of the Defend-

ant?

And whether he did, and does, approve of all the Proceedings

of his Commissioners, herein before mentioned, or Avhat and

which Parts of the same he did, and does. Dislike and Disap-

prove of?

And Avhether the Defendant does know, or in his Conscience

uelieve, that his Commissioners acted, in all things, with that

Candour, Fairness and Dispatch, which he himself intended

and agreed they should do at the time when he executed the

said Agreement on the 10th of May 1782.

And whether the Defendant is, oris not, willing and desirous

that the said Agreement of the 10th of May 17:32 should he ex-

ecuted, fulfilled and performed, according to the trut- intent

and meaning of the same, or why he is not?

And, at what Distance from the Town of Newcastle he him.self

d's insist the Circle, or part of a Circle, was agreed to be run,

and ought to be run, and whether, at the several times of his

producing and reading his said Note or Proposal, and also of

executing the said Agreement on the 10th of May 1732, he meant,

or intended that the said Circle, or part of a Circle, should be

at the Distance of two Miles only, or of somewhat less, or at

the Distance of 12 Miles from the said Town of Newcastle?

And may set forth whether Commissioners on each side, pro-

ceeding with Fairness, Candour, and Dispatch, and having no

Diflference of Judgment arising between them, might not,

within the Space of four Weeks, at a proper Season of the Year,

mark and run out so many, and so much of the Circle and

Lines, mentioned in the said Agreement of May 1732, as were

thereby agreed to be run and mark'd out; or, in what length

of time the same might, at Ji convenient Season of the Y'ear, be

done, if no Delay, or Difference of Judgment, happened therein.

And whether the Defendant did not present or cause to be

presented, to his present Majesty, in his own Name, such Pe-

tition as herein before mentioned, upon the 8th of August 1734,

or anv and what other Petition, and for what Purpose.
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And whether he did not, in Person, before the Lorils Com-

uiissioners tor Traile and Plantations, expressly declare that he

meant and intended, by his last mentioned I'etition, to i^-ay

his Majesty tor a Grant of the three lower Counties, and did

not in such Words mean the tliree lower Counties of Newcas-

tle, Kent, and Sussex.

And why, and with what Views and Designs, in his said Pe-

tition, he mentioned neither the Plaintiffs, nor their Father,

nor the said Province of Pensilvania, nor the said three lower

Counties by Name, nor set forth therein any thing at all relat

ing to the "said Agreement of May 1732, and why he asserted

therein that there was such a Report or Order in Council of

the 4th of April 1(W» relating to the said William Clabourne

and the Lsle of Kent, when his (irandfather had in Person de-

clared, about 50 Years l)efore. that there was no such Original

Order?

And why. in inserting in his last mentioned Petition the Ac-

count of what was done in the Year 1685 as aforesaid, he omitted

and concealed those very material Words, in the Heart of the

Report of the then (-ommittee for Trade and Foreign Planta-

tions, which imi)orted that the Tract of Land then in Dispute

had ever since from the Date of the said Patent for Maryland

in 1632 been inhabited and planted by Christians and had con-

tinued as a Distinct Colony from that of Maryland?

And why he concealed, in his said last mentioned Petition,

the old Possession, and great Improvements, made by and

under the Plaintiffs and their said late Father?

And whether the Defendant did not, and doth not, think,

and in his Conscience believe, that those Facts, so by him

omitted and concealed in his said Petition, were true, and pro-

per and material Facts to be laid before his Majesty and his

Ministers, or not?

And whether the Plaintiff John Penn was not gone for

America, at the time the Def3udant presented the said last men-

tioned Petition to his Majesty?

And whether the Defendant did not propose and expect some

Advantage to himself, by the Absence of the Plaintiffs John

Penn and Thomas Penn?

And whether the Defendant did present the said last men-

tioned Petition to his Majesty in order to obtain a Grant of the

said three lower Counties for himself, and for his own Use,

Benefit, and Advantage, or, for the Use and Benefit of the Plain-

tiffs and as a Trustee for them?

And in Case he meant and intended and hoped to obtain a

Grant of the same for himself, that the Defendant may set

forth why, and for what Reasons, he never gave the least Notice
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of such his last mentioned Petition to the Plaintiffs, or any ofthem, or any A-^ent of theirs, but carried on the same privatelyand wholly unknown to the Plaintiffs.
And whether there have not been such Orders, Proceedm-s

Petitions and Reports, founded on the said last mentioned Pe-tition ut the Defenciant, as are herein before mentioned and set
torth. or what others, and to what Effect and Purpose?
And M-hether the Defendant does admit that the said A^^ree-mentof the 10th of May 1732 does now exist, an.l subsist in FullForce and \irtue, or whether he does insist that the same isabsolutely void?
And, in Case he insists that the same is void, that, then hemay set, forth, minutely, exactly ami particularly, why, knd

tor what Reasons, he insists the same is void?
And that the Defendant may set forth and discover whether

It IS not as easy an.l as practicable (in a proper Season of thelear) now to run, mark and lay out the Bound-Lines, agreedupon by the said Articles of the 10th of May 1732, as it wasbetween the Month of October 1732 and Christmas 1733. of whatnew Difficulties have, since the last mentioned time, arisen tomake that Work more Difficult, or less Practicable, now, than
at that time?
And how lonp: Space of Time, as he believes, would be really

necessary for Commissioners, that would proceed with FairnessCandour and Dispatch, to run out all the several Lines andBounds pursuant to the said Af^reement of May 1732 in caseno Difference or pretended Difference, in Judgment arosebetween them?

Relief prayed.
1 And that the Plaintiffs may be at liberty to examine theirWitnesses whom they charge are very aged and infirm andlikely to die, to perpetuate their Testimony

J'.ytJ'l '^'f
the Plaintiffs may be quieted in the Possession

of the three lower Counties, which have so often as aforesaidbeen adjudged not to be comprised within the Bounds granted
as above mentioned to the said CeciliusLord Baltimore,by thatJurisdiction which, in the last resort, determines all Questionsconcerning Property in any of his Majesty's Plantations inAmerica,

3. And that the Defendant may be decreed to desist fromgiving hem any further Trouble, or Molestation bv renewing
the^said oil. and heretofore often over-ruled. Claims to the

„Ar'\''t^''*"'^r''^/''''''^
Articles of Agreement, of the 10th

and ; , Tul^ ''^""^ ^"" ^^^'^^''^^ ^^ «^^«* ^"d subsistand to be in full Force and Virtue
6—Vol. XV.
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5. And may be decreed to be forthwith specifically performed,

and to be carried into full Force and Execution, in all Points

and Respects whatever,

{). And that all necessary and proper Directions may be given,

in order thereto (the Plaintiffs hereby offering to do everything

which shall be adjudged necessary, on their Parts, in order to

the same,

)

7. And that the saitl pretended Doubts, as to the fix-

ing a Center for the said Circle around the said Town of New-

castle, ami as to the Dimensions of the said Circle, or Dis-

tance from the said Town, at which it is to lie marked out,

and any other Doubt, or pretended Difficulty, that the Defen-

tlant hath, or pretends to have, relating to the said Articles of

Agreement, or any thing therein contained, or the Execution

and Performance of the same, may be removed and cleared up,

by the Authority and Decree of this Court (the Plaintiffs hereby

Offering to fix the said Center in the Middle of the said Town
of Newcastle,

)

8. And that the Defendant may now, instantly, and may,

again, after the said Lines and Bounds shall be run, mark'd and

laid out. in a more certain and particular manner, pursuant to

his Covenants and Agreements in the said recited Articles of

Agreement contained, make further and better Assurances

and Conveyances to the Plaintiffs, their Heirs and Assigns of

the said Province of l^ensilvania. and of the said three lower

Counties of "Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, to be bounded, and

bounded, according to the true Intent and Meaning of the said

Articles of Agreement of the 10th of May 1732. and of all his

Right. Interest, Pretensions, Claim and Demand in and to the

same; such Conveyances and Assurances to be settled, in case

the Parties differ about the same, by a master of this Hon-
ourable Court (the Plaintiffs hereby offering, on their parts,

to make reciprocal Assurance and Conveyances of the said Prov-

ince of Maryland, to be so bounded as aforesaid, and of all

their right. Interest, Pretentions. Claim and Demand in and to

the same, unto the Defendant, his Heirs and Assigns,)

9. And that the Defendant may be decreed to pay to the Plain-

tiffs all the Costs and Expences, of their said Commissioners,

and otherwise, relating to the executing the said Agreement of

!»lay 1732, and likewise all the Costs which the Plaintiffs have

been, any way, put to, by reason of the Breach and Non-Per-

formance on the Part of the Defendant of the said recited

Articles of Airreement of May 1732. and by reason of the said

Petition of the Defendant presented to his Majesty on the said

8th of August 1734,

10. And that the Plaintiffs may have all such further and
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other Relief, in the Preiiiises, and in such other manner, as shal]

be consistent with Justice and Equity,

11. And may have a perpetual Injunction, to quiet the Plain,

tifls. and their Grantees, Tenants and Occupiers, claiming by

Titles under the Plaintiffs, or under those from whom the Plain-

tiflfs claim and derive Title as aforesaid, in the peaceable Pos-

session and Enjoyment of the said Province of Pensilvania, and

the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, to be

bounded, and bounded, as aforesaid,

12. And to have Writs of Injunction. u,nd Writs of Subpoena.

IS THE BILL.

1735. May IG.

The Order in Council was made, at least giving leave, if not

directing, that such a Bill should be brought.

1735. June 21.

In five Weeks time afterwards, this very long Bill was drawn

and filed.

1735. Jane 25.

The Defendant was served with an Office Copy of the Bill

and a Subpoena to Answer.

1735 . Juli 1.

The Plaintiffs obtained an Order for a Sequestration unless

Cause, for want of an Appearance.

1735. Jlily 29.

The Plaintiffs obtained another Order for a Sequestration un-

less Cause, for want of an Answer.

1735. Aug. 2.

The Defendant moved and obtained an Order to refer our Bill

for Scandal and Impertinence.

1735. Oct. 11.

The Plaintififs moved and obtained an Order that tlie Master

should proceed on that Reference de die in diem.

173G. May 25.

Master Eld reported our Bill not Scandalous nor Imperti-

nent.

1735. Dec. 18.

The Plaintififs obtained an Order to amend, and did amend,

their Bill.

1737. June 15.

The Defendant, above two Years after the Bill filed, put in

his Answer, having spun out that time by his "Reference for

Scandal and Impertinence, and by Privilege of Parliament.

DEFENDANT'S ANSWER, SWORN 15 JUNE, 1737.

Believes that there is, in Amercia, a certain Tract of Land

or Peninsula, shooting out from the main Continent, South
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ward, unto the Atlantick Sea or Ocean; and, for ou^ht this De-

fendant knows to the contrary, and as this Defendant has heard

and believes, the said Peninsula or Tract of Land and is bounded,

on the West, East, South, and North Sides thereof, as in

the Bill is for that Purpose particularly set forth and described.

Hath heard, and believes it may be true, that the great River

or Bay of Delaware, in the Plaintiffs said Bill mentioned, runs

between the same Peninsula or Tract lying on the West Side

thereof, and the Territory now called West-New-Jersey lying

on the East part thereof.

And that the said West-New-Jersey might be, heretofore,

called, successively, New-Belgia, New-Netherlands, and New
England, as in the Bill is alledged.

But saith that he doth not know, nor can he set forth, by

whom the said Peninsula, or Tract or Parts Contiguous thereto,

were first discovered, or the time when they were first discov-

ered ; nor whether Capt. John Smith, an Englishman, in the

Bill named, was the first Discoverer thereof, about the time in

the Bill for that purpose mentioned, or at any other, or what

time; never having so much as heard the same, or had any Ac-

count of the said Capt. Smith's being the first Discoverer there-

of, save from the Bill.

Nor can set 'forth whether the said Capt. Smith did, or did

not. give or affix Names to .several, or any. of the Places on that

part of the main Continent which lay over against the said

Peninsula on the Western Side of the Bay of Chesopeake, as in

the Bill is set forth ; the Defendant, if Capt. Smith so did, being

an entire Stranger thereto, not having ever heard of the same

save by the Bill.

Doth not know, nor (tan set forth, whether the said Capt.

Smith, at any time after his return from his pretended Voyage

in th'^^^ Bill mentioned, did, or did not, cause to be printed and

published a Book, giving any Account of his Voyages and Dis-

coveries, as in the Bill is alledged; nor, if the said Capt. Smith

did cause such Book, to be printed and published, whether such

Book was printed in or about the time in the Bill for that

purpose mentioned, or at any other time, or when, or whether

he annexed to such Book a Map or Plan of the said Peninsula,

or of any of the adjacent Parts of what was then called by the

general Name of Virginia, or whether lie intitled his Book as

in the Bill is for that purpose particularly mentioned and set

forth.

Though he hath heard and believes there is such a Book ex-

tant, and in print, as is described by the Bill, and therein al-

ledged to have been printed and published by the said Capt.

Smith ; but as the same purports, and appears, from the Title
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thereof, as stated and set out in tlie Bill, to have been printed
and published now upwards of 100 Years since, cannot take upon
him to say, or set fortli. whether the same was so printed and
published by tlie said Capt. Smith at the time, or in tlie manner,
in the Bill mentioned, or, whether the same was not printed
and published by any other Person, under Colour of the said
Oapt. Smith's Name, and without his Knowledge or Consent, in
order to give the better Authority to the said Book, and to pro-
mote the Sale tliereof for the Benefit of the Author or Pub-
lisher thereof.

But, whether the said Book is a well known Book among
Historians, Geographers, and Mathematicians, or of wliat Au-
thority or Esteem the same may be in amongst them, nor
whether the said Book and the Map of Virginia therein con-
ined,are held in any, or what, Estimation amongst learned Men,
nor whether the same are by them, or any one else, reckoned
and esteemed as the first and earliest Account and Description,
or Map, ever given of those Parts in and near to the said Pe-
ninsula by any Englishman whatsoever, as in the Bill is sug-
gested, this Defendant doth not know, nor can set forth; this
Defendant having but very little Knowledge of the same him-
self, and never liaving heard much concerning the same.
Nor can this Defendant set forth whether the said Map of

Virginia, thereto annexed, contained the Degrees of Longitude
and Latitude according to the best Observations and Discoveries
tiien made.
But saith he hath been credibly informed, and believes, that

the said Map hath been, many Years since, found by Experience,
to have been, in many respects, faulty and erroneous, and by no
means a true or correct Map thereof, and in no wise to be de-
pended upon.
And is advised, and apprehends, that all this Part of the Plain-

tiffs Bill, touching who was the first Dicoverer of the said Pe-
ninsula, and in relation to the said Capt. Smith, and the said
Book, and Map pretended to be published by him, are wholly
immaterial, and no ways relative to any of the Matters in Ques-
tion in this Cause.

Believes it to be true that the three lower Counties of New-
castle, Kent, and Sussex, in the Bill described and mentioned,
are situate on the Eastern Side of the said Peninsula or Tract,
and also above the Peninsula or Tract, within the main Land
or Continent, and. towards the Sea and the Estuary of Delaware,
as in the Bill is set forth.

But denies that he either knows, or beiieves,or hath ever heard
that the said three Counties have been ever called, or went under
the general Name of, the Territories belonging to Pensilvania;
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the said Counties, or any Part of them, or either of them, having

never, to the best of this Defendant's Knowledge or Belief, been

looked upon, or esteemed, to be any Part of.orto belong to, Pen-

si Ivania, or the Territories thereof, by any other Persons than

the Family of the Penns themselves. and their Dependants and

Adherents, whose Interest it was to endeavour to have them

thought or esteemed Part of Pensi Ivania.

Nor does this Defendant know or believe, nor did he ever hear,

save from the Family of the Penns and their Dependants and

Adherents, and save from the Bill, that the Territories belong-

ing to Pensilvana did, or could, or does,signify and mean, or com-

prehend, or include. the said three lower Counties, or any part

of them or either of them.

Doth not know. nor can set forth, whether the said three low-

er Counties were ever called or comprehended under the Name
of the Settlement on Delaware, or by the Name only of Dela-

ware, or at other times by the Name of the Province of Delaware,

this Defendant having never heard the same so called, or called

i)y any other Name or Names than the three lower Counties

on Delaware,or the Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex,and

if they ever were called, or comprehended, under the Names in

the Bill mentioned, this Defendant believes it must have been

a great many Years ago,and in the Infancy of their Settlement,

and before any considerable Parts thereof were inhabited or

cultivated ; nor is at all Material, in the Judgment and Belief

of the Defendant, l)y what Name or Names they may have been

called.

Denies that he either knows, or ever heard, otherwise than by

the Bill,or believes, that the said three lower Counties on Dela-

ware, of Newcastle. Kent, and Sussex, were, of very early and

ancient Times, the beginning whereof is not known (as is pre-

tended by the Bill) settled, planted and inhabited by Chris-

tians of the Swedish Nation, or that the same were afterwards

held and inhabited, for many Years, by Christians under the

Dominion of the States General of the United Provinces, in th^

manner as in the Bill is for that purpose set forth and men.

tioned.

But, on the contrary, hath always understood and believes,

the same were not settled, planted and inhabited by Christians

at any time before, or until after, the Grants thereof to this De-

fendant's Ancestor by his Majesty King Charles the First, as

herein after is more particularly set forth.

But saith he hath heard and believes that some few itinerant

Swedish and Dutch Traders did, now and then, visit, and re-

sort to, some small and inconsiderate Part of the said three

Counties, antecedent 1o the said Grant; but never heard, o
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believes, that the said Swedes or Dutcdi, or any otlier Cliristiaus
whatever, liad ever formed, or made, any abiding,- Settlement
there before the said Grant thereof to the Defendant's said An-
cestor as herein mentioned; all the Christians there being- only
a few Swedish and Dutch, stra-n.ii,j;Lr. itinerant Traders, that
iiow and then resorted to that part of the Skirts or Borders
of the said Counties, for the Benefit and Conveniencv of Trad
with the Natives.

And is advised, and conceives, it is wholly immaterial, as to
any Question that can arise between him and the PlaintifTs.
whether the said Tract of Land was, or was not, inhabited by
Christians antecedent to the said Grant.
Neitlier knows, believes or ever heard, save from the Plain-

tiffs or their A^^ents, and the present Bill, that the said Counties
have, ever since the Year 16G:J, been in the quiet Possession of
the late James Duke of Y'ork, and of the PlaintifTs Father, and
of the Plaintiffs in their own Right, as is untruly alledged in
and by the Bill, or that the Complainants have now any Right
to the Possession thereof.

On the contrary, saith, he this Defendant, ever since he came
of age. and his Ancestors. l)efore him, as he hath heard and
believes, have, all along, ever since tiie Grant of the said three
Counties to his Ancestor as aforesaid by King Charles the First.
and both before, and after, the said Year lOliS, from time to
time, asserted, sui)ported and maintained, to the utmost of
their Ability and Power, the Right and Title to the Possession
of the said three Counties; and this Defendant's said Ance.'^tors
did, and exercised. Acts of Ownership thereon, and received
Rents from several of the Tenants and Inhabitants thereof,
and were at very great Expences and Charges in Improving and
Cultivating the same, and in driving out, and defending them-
selves from, the barbarous Indians and Natives that first in-
habited there, before the same was known or found out by
any Christian Settlers, to the Knowledge or Belief of this De-
fendant.

Saith that, in or about the Year of our Lord 1632, Cecilius,
then Baron of Baltimore, did petition his late Majesty King
Charles the First, praying leave to transport a Colony of the
English Nation into America, and believes it may lie true that
the said Cecilius, then Lord Baltimore, might, in his said
Petition to King Charles the First, suggest tnat the parts of
America, he so prayed to have Liberty to transport ;ui
English Colony into, was not then cultivated and planted,
though in certain Parts thereof inhabited by certain bar-
barous People having no Knowledge of Almighty God. and.
therefore, besought his Majesty to Give and Grant to him, the
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said Cecilius, and his Heirs for ?ver, all such the said Country
in his said Petition uientioneil, Avitli certain Priviledgres and

Jurisdictions for tlie (xovernment tliereof. as in tlie Plaintiffs

said Bill is for that purpose set forth and mentioned; but this

Defendant, having' never seen such Petition, cannot, with any

certainty, answer or set forth whether the same was so or not,

thoufi:h, from the Words of the (+rant, made upon such Petition,

and lierein after particularly set forth, this Defendant believes

the Plaintiffs Alle^'ations in their said Bill, with respect to the

said Petition of the said Cecili'is then Baron of Baltimore,

may be true.

Likewise admits that, thereupon, his late Majesty King
Charles the First, by his Letters Patent, under the (rreat Sea!

of England, bearing Date at Westminster the ^Oth Day of June,

in the Year 1032, did Give and Grant, unto the said Cecilius,

in Fee. two several Tracts of Land, namely, one Tract which
was part of the before -mentioned Peninsiila, and one other

Tract of Land Avhich was part of the Main Land, lying West-

ward of the said Peninsula, and on the West side of the said

Bay of Chesopeake; the respective Buttals and Boundaries of

which said two several Tracts of Lands, so granted to the

said Cecilius, l)y the said Letters Patent of his Majesty King
Ciiarles the First, are particularly set forth and described in

the said Letters Patent under the Great Seal of England, now
in Defendant's Custody and ready to be produced as this Hon-
ourable Court shall i)!ease to dircet ; and which Letters Patent.

as the Plaintiffs by their Bill have required this Defendant to

set forth the same verbally and literally from the beginning

thereof unto the first Habendum tlaerein, this Defendant saith

he hath, accordingly, herein set forth the same; and likewise,

in regard that the Habendum or granting part of the said Grant
tends to explain the first or the reciting Part thereof, which
cannot be so clearly or so well understood, without the Haben-
dum, this Defendant hath, therefore, set forth the said Grant
or Letters Patent. Verljafin, down to theend of the Habendum;
the same, to the best of this Defendant's Knowledge, Examina-
tion and Belief, being verbally and literally, and tlie Words of

the said Original Charter respectively written at length and ab-

breviated, as follows (Viz.)

Rex, &c. Omnibus ad quos. &c. Salutem. Cum perdilectus

et perquam fidelis subditus noster, Cecil Calvert. Baro de Bal-

timore in Regno nostro Hilternia", filius & hferes Georgii Calvert

Militis, nuper Baronis de Baltimore in eodeni regno Hil)erni;e.

patris inhferens vestigiis laudal)ili quodam et pio Christiante

religionis j)ariter. i: imperii nostri territor' dilatandi studio

flagrans, lieentiaju nostram, ut copiosam Anglican* gentis
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Coloniaiu, industria <k; iiupeusa sua, ad certaui quandam regio-

iieiii. inferius deseribendam, in terra quadam, in parti bus x\uiei-

ic*. liaetenus inculta, tt barbaris nuUain ilivini Isuminis noti-

tiaiu habentibus in partil)us occupata.deduf-ere possit,totamque

illam regioueui, cum certis quibusdaui privilegiis, &: jurisdic-

tionibus, ad coloiiia? sua-, (Sc regionis prtedicta' salubre regimen
<^' statu 111 pertiiientibus, a regia nostra celsitudine, sibi tSc hiere-

tlibus suis dari, cuncedi »k contirmari. huiailiter supplicaverit

;

Sciatis igitur (piod nus, piuiii et nobile, prfet'atoruiu Baronuiii

de Baltimore, propositum & studium, regio tavoi'e prosequentes,

ex gratia speciali, certa scientia tt mero motu nostris, dedimus,

coucessimus & conftrmavimus, & per hanc pra?sentem chartam
nostram, pro nobis haredibus & suecessoribus nostris, pra?fato

Cecil' modo Baroni de Baltimore, & haredibus & Assignatis

suis, damus, concedimus & contirmamus Totam illam partem
peninsula", sive chersonesus, jacentis in partibus America^, inter

oceanum ex oriente. & Sinuiii de Chesopeake ab occidente, a

resid" ejusdem, per rectam lineaui a promontorio sive capite

terr* vocato Watkin's Point juxta sinuiii [jra^dictum prope
lluvium de Wigbco, scituaf ab occidente, usque ad magnum
oceanum, in plaga oriental' ductain, divisam; Et, inter metam
illam a meridie, usque ad partem illam sestuarii de Delaware, ab
aquilone.qufesubjacet quadragesimo gradui latitudinis, Septen-

trionalis,ab *quinoctiali, ubi teriiiinatur Nova Anglia; Totum-
que ilium terra" tractum, infra metas subscriptas; Viz. transe-

undo, a dieto a?stuario vocato Delaware Bay. recta linea. per gra-

dum pra^dictum, usque ad verum meridianum primi lontis fiumi-

nis de Pattowomack, deinde. vergendo, versus meridi?m, ad
ulterioreui dicti tiuminis ripaiu, »t, eam sequendo, qua plagam
occidentalem & meridionalem spectat, usque ad locum quendam,
appellatum Cinquak, prope ejusdem fluminis ostium scitua-

tum, ubi in pr*fatum Sinum de Chesopeake evolvitur, ac. Inde

per lineani brevissimam, usque ad pra'dictum promontorium,
sive locum, vocatum Watkin's Point, (ita quod totius terree-

tractus per lineam praidictam, inter magnum oceanum & Wat-
kin's Point divis" usque ad promontorium vocatum Cape
Charles, (t singula sua appenditia, nobis, h^redibus k suecessori-

bus nostris, integre renianeant excepta, imperpetuum) necnon
omnes insulas, et insululas, intra limites praedictos. Concedimus
etiam, & confirmamus, eidem Baroni de Baltimore. h8eredibus&
Assignatis suis, omnes <fc singulas insulas, & insululas, ab orien-

tali predict* regionis littore orientem. versus in mari, natas,

vel nascendas, infra decem leucas marinas, ab eodem littore

scituatas, cum omnibus & singulis portubus, navium stationi-

bus, pestuariis, fiuminibus, »fc iretis. ad regionem. vel insulas,

praedictas, pertinentibus; omnesque tundos, terras, campestria,
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silvas, montaua, paludes, iacus, tluiuiiia, testuaria, & freta,

inira uietas, terminos <& limiles praidictos, scituata,seu existen-

tia ; cum cujuscimque generis ijisciuui, taui balai^uaruui, Stur-

geonum & alioruui, regalium quaiii alioruiu, in mari, siuubus,

fretis vel liuiiiiuibu intra prieinissa.piscationi bus, & pisee ibidem
capt' ; Omnesque insuper auri,argenti,gemiuarum, iapidum pre-

ciosorum,<t aliorum,quascunque,sive Iapidum, si veMetallorum,
sive alteriuscujuscunque rei aut materi{e,venas, mineras, & fodi-

nas,tam apertas quaui occultas, infra regionem,insulas, seu limi-

tes prajdictos, reijertos ic reperiendos; Et hoc ami)lius omniuui
ecclesiarum, quasicresceute Christi cultu At leligione) infra dic-

tam regionem, insulas, & insululas, &; limites prai'dictos, futuris

temporibus a^dilicari contigerit, patronatus «!c advocationes;

Una cum licentia »t facultate ecclesias, capellas <t oratoria, in

locis infra prajuiissa congruis & idoneis, extruendi «&fundandi;

eaque dedicari &i saciari juxta ieges ecelesiasticas regni nostri

Anglia; faciendi; cum omnibus & singulis hujusmodi, ac adeo
aiuplis juribus, jurisdietionibus, privilegiis, prsrogativis, reg-

alitatibus, libertatibus. immunitatibus, juribusque, regalibus

& franchesiis, quibuscunque, temporalibus, tarn per mare quam
per terram, infra regioneiu, insulas, insululas, «fc limites pra*-

dic'tos, habend' exercend" utend' & gaudend" pront aliquisEpis-

copus Dunelmensis, infra Episeopatum sive Comitatum Palati-

num Dunelmensis in regno nostro Anglise, unquam antehac

babuit,tenuit.usus vel gavisus fuit, seu de jure habere, teneri, uti

vel gaudere debuitaut potuit, Ipsumque modo Baronem de Bal-

timore, & hieredes suos. regionis prfedietye,efeterorumque omin-

um prsemissorum, veros et absolutos Dominos &: Proprietarios

(exeeptis pra-exceptisjsalva semper fide, & ligeantia,ar' dominio
directo, nobis, ha-redibus & successoribus nostris, debitis, pro

nobis, haeredi bus & successoribus nostris, facimus.creamus & con-

stituimus per pra>sentes ; habend' tenend' possidend' <fc gaudend'

praedictam regionem, insulas, insululas, & caetera prsemissa,

prsefato luodo Baroni de Baltimore, & hseredibus & assignatis

suis, ad solum & proprium opus et usum ipsius modo Baronis

de Baltimore, hseredum & assignatoruia, suoruni.imperpetuum ;

tenend' de nobis, hjeredibus &: successoribus nostris, Regibus
AngliiE, ut de Castro nostro de Windsore in comitatu nostro

Berks, in libero & communi socagio, per fidelitatem tantum
pro omnibus Servitiis, & non in Capite, nee per Servitium

militare. As \)\ the said Original Letters Patent, under the

Great Seal of England, to which Defendant for his greater cer-

tainty craves Leave to refer, relation thereunto being had, may
more fully and at large appear.

Defentiant cannot but observe, that, notwithstanding the

Words Hactenus inculta are made use of in the Preamble of
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the said Charter, the Lands thereby granted being then lookt
upon and esteemed to be incultivated, yet, they are not inserted
by way of restriction in the Body, or granting part thereof;
and, therefore, Defendant is advised, and insists, tiie Lands,
therel)y described and granted, are not restrained to tlie said
Worils Haetenus inculta, but dfd,all, well pass by the said Let-
ters Patent, notwithstanding the said Words Hat-tenus inculta
so recited in the Preamble thereof.

Admits that his late Majesty, King Charles the First, by his
said Letters Patent to the said Cecilius, did grant, unto the
said Cecilius in Fee, all Islands and Islets within the Limits
described in the said Grant as aforesaitl, and all and singular
the Islands and Islets which were, or should be, in the Ocean,
within ten Leagues from the Eastern Shore of the said Country
towards the East as in the Bill is set forth, and that his said
late Majesty did thereby erect the said Lands, so granted, into
a Province, by the Name of Maryland, with certain Privi ledges
and Jurisdictions for the better governing thereof.

Doth not know, nor can set forth, whether the said Letters
Patent or Grant, so made to the said Cecilius as aforesaid, was.
or was not, so described, or whether the Tracts, which were
thereby granteti, were, or were not, so bounded, by the
help of the said pretended Captain Smith's said Book and His-
tory or Maj) of Virginia, and no other, as by the Bill is alledged

;

nor whether any skilful Persons own or acknowledge or believe
the same, for the Reasons in the Bill mentioned, or for any
other Reasons ; but this Defendant, having never compared the
said Book or Map with the Names and Descriptions of the sev-
eral Places mentioned in the said Letters Patent, hath no reason
to believe the Boundaries or Descriptions in the said Letters
Patent were taken from such Book or Map.
Defendant is advised and insists the said pretended History

of Smith cannot, in any respect, add to, or diminish from, the
Grant to the said Cecilius, or be of any Authority to explain
the same, if there was any Doubt or Obscurity as to the Limits
of the Lands that were thereby granted, and which he humbly
apprehends there is not.

Saith the said Grant fully and clearly, as he doubts not to
make appear, extends to, and includes, all and every part of the
said three Lower Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sussex.
Doth not know, nor can set forth, whether the said Captain

Smith's pretended History and Map of Virginia, had been
printed and published some few. or any. or what, number of
Years, or how long, before the presenting such Petition of the
said Cecilius, then Baron of Baltimore in 1633 to his Majesty
King Charles the First, and the issuing such Letters Patent as
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aforesaid, or whether tlie said Captain Smith's said History

and Map of Viry:inia, was then printed or published at all, as

pretended l)y the Bill; thouyli, tor ou^^it he knows to the con-

trary, such Book lui^ht be then printed and published, and

which he is inclinaljle to believe it was, from the Date it

bears, and the Year in which it purports, upon tlie Title

page, to have been printed and published.

Dotli not know% nor hath even heard, save from the Plaintiffs

and their Bill, nor hath he any Reason to believe, nor doth he

believe, that there was then no other Map or Plan of the said

Peninsula or Tract, or the Parts adjacent thereunto done by

any Englishman whatsoever extant, nor any History or De-

scription of the same Peninsula or Tracts and Parts adjacent,

published, printed, known or used, than the said pretended

Book or History and Map of Captain Smith's, as is alledged in

and by the Bill: the said Peninsula, and the several Parts ad-

jacent thereto, as he hath been informed and believes, having

been discovered, tliough not inhabited, or settled upon, by En-

glishman, as well as others of Foreign Nations, many Years

before the Grant thereof to the said Cecilius, the Defendant's

Ancestor, by his said Majesty King Charles the First as afore-

said, or the time of the pretended printing and publishing of

the said Captain Smith's said History; and the Defendant

hath now. in his Custody or Power, a Map thereof, much more

ancient, as he believes.

Denies that he either knows, or beHeves, that, according to

the express Bounds of the said recited Letters Patent, the Head,

or most Northern Parts, of the Lands, thereby granted to the

said Cecilius, was to extend only so far as until it subjoined to

such part of the Estuary of Delaware, as lay under the 40th De-

gree of the Northern Latitude, as in and by the Bill is sug-

gested, or that every, or any, part of the Lands which lay under

the said 40th Degree, or of such Lands as lay from the 39th De-

gree compleat to the 40th Degree compleat, were excluded by

the said Grant.

On the contrary, the Defendant saith he i; advised, and con-

ceives, that, according to the express Bounds of the said recited

Letters Patent, the Lands, thereby granted, were to extend,

though tiie 40tli Degree compleat. and to the end thereof, and

that no part of the Lands under the said 40th Degree were ex-

cluded out of the said Grant, or meant or intended so to be. all

the Jjands under tlie said 40th Degree being, manifestly, and in

Terms, comprehended within the said Grant.

Insists that no such Construction. t)r Restriction, can. or

ought to. l)e put upon the said Grant, as the Plaintiff's mention

and insist upon by their Bill, the same, as he is advised and
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(•onceives, beiug directly contrary not only to the express Terms,

but to the true Intent and Meaning, of the said Letters Patent.

Believes that, from the 39th Degree compleat, to the 40thDegvee

compleat, is GO Geometrical Miles oi- Minutes, or (it) English Stat-

ute Miles, as the Plaintiffs compute and state the same by their

Bill, and that there is such Quantity or Space of Land lying

under the 40th Degree as the Plaintiffs mention, Init insists that

the whole thereof, and all Lands lying under the said 40th De.

gree, of what Space or Quantity soever, were granted to the said

Cecilius, by the said Letters Patent, and not such Lands, or so

far only, as extended or adjoined to the said 40th Degree, as

the Plaintiffs unjustly pretend by their Bill.

Denies that he either knows, or believes, that it appears l)y

the Land Marks, Buttals and other Descriptions in the said re-

cited Letters Patent, or by any of them, that no part of the

Lands which lay under the 40tli Degree was, or was intended

to be, granted to the said Cecilius; on the contrary, apprehends

and is advised that it manifestly appears, from all and every

the Land Marks, Btittals and other Descriptions, contained in

the said recited Letters Patent, that all the Lands which lay

under the said 40th Degree wei'e, and were intended to be,

tliereby granted to the said Cecilius.

Denies that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard, save

from the Plaintiffs and their Agents, that, at the time of mak-
ing the before recited Letters Patent to the said C'ecilius. such

part of the said Peninsula as is for that purpose uientioned

and described by the Plaintiffs said Bill, or any part thereof,

or any part of the Continent at the Head or Nf)rth part of the

said Peninsula, and which is now called the three Lower
Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, was seated and in-

habited by the Swedes and Dutch, or either of them, in man-
ner as in the Plaintiffs Bill is for that purpose set forth and
alledged, or in such a manner as that his Majesty was not at

the time of the said recited Letters Patent to the said Cecilius

seized or possessed thereof, so as to have a good Right and
Power to grant the same, as by the Plaintiff's said Bill is most

untruly suggested.

Defendant is advised and humbly insists that his said late

Majesty had good Right and Power to grant the same, and.

that he did, by liis said Letters Patent, grant, and did intend

to grant, the same, and that the said Cecilius did, V)y his said

Petition, and according to the true Scope, Acceptation and
Meaning thereof, petition his Majesty for the same.

Defendant is advised and insists that, from the Words of the

said Cecilius"s Petition, whereby he prays Leave to transport

an English Colonv into a certain ('ountrv therein after de-
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scribed in tlie Parts of America not then cultivated and planted,
tliou^li in some Parts thereof inhabited by certain barbarous
People, having no Knowledge of Almighty God, and from the
particular and exact Bounds, and Linnts of the Counti'y therein
after set out and descrilied in the said Cecilius's Petition, and
the said Letters Patent granred thereupon, which evidently and
manifestly talies in and includes the said three Lower Counties
of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, it is undoubtedly plain that the
said three Lower Counties were not then known, looked upon,
or esteemed, to have been inhabited or planted, or settled upon
by any Christians whatever, either Englisli or Foreigners, or

by any others than the rude and barbarous Indians, and tliat

the said Cecilius, l)y his said Petition prayed for a Grant of the

said tliree Lower Counties, and that his Majesty certainly in-

tended to grant the same.

Defendant is advised and conceives that his Majesty had full

Power so to do, and was well seized and possessed of the said

three Lower Counties, so as to grant the same, and that, if

there was any itinerant Dutch or Swedish Traders upon any
part of tlie said three Lower Counties, at the time of his Ma-
jesty so granting the same to the said Cecilius, yet, that their

being there, could in no manner deprive or take from his Ma-
jesty the Power of granting the same, or lessen or diminish the

said Grant, and that a few of such Foreigners ijeing tliere, in

Case there were any such, would in no Case make the same be

considered as inhabited and cultivated, in such a manner as to

impeach or invalidate the said Grant; for, that his Majesty

could not be supposed to have any View to secure Possessions

to Foreigners, appears from the express Words of the said Grant,

it being mentioned and recited to be made for tlie Enlargement
of the English Empire and Dominion ; and, as the Limits de-

scribed in the said Grant clearly take in the said three Lower
Counties, the Defendant is ad ^ised there can be no pretence of

any Deceit on the Crown in obtaining the said Letters Patent,

though there should happen to be some few Swedish and

Dutch settled upon some small inconsiderable Parts of the said

Counties.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that, after the said

Letters Patent and Grant were made to the said Cecilius as

aforesaid, he the said Cecilius, or some of his Defendants, en-

tered upon and took possession of the same Premisses so granted,

and have ever since continued possessed thereof, save as here-

after is mentioned as to such Parts thereof as the Plaintiffs and

their Ancestors have unjustly usurped the Possession of. and

to which they now pretend a Right, but, as Defendant is ad-
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vised and insists, without the least Manner of Ri<j:ht or Title
thereto.

Denies that he either known or believes, or hath ever heard,
save from the Plaintiffs or their Dependants, that the said
Swedes and Dutch successively possessed and enjoyed for many
Years after the Date of the said Letters Patent to the said Ceci-
lius their ancient Settlement on Delaware, as described and
mentioned in the Plaintiffs said Bill of Complaint, the said
Dutch and Swedes having no such Settlement there (as this De-
fendant ever heard of, or believes) as is pretended and sug-
gested in and by the Bill, there being but a few of them there
(if any) and those but itinerant Traders. Avho had nothing that
could deserve the Name of, or be considered, as a Settlement
thereon; or if they were settled there, had no Right to the
same, or at least to such Parts only as they were actually settled
upon, and as were inhabited by them as aforesaid, which were
very small and inconsiderable.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that the said Cecilius
and his Heirs or Descendants, the Defendant's Ancestors, did
set down, and take possession of. Lands, on the Western Side
of the said Peninsula above, and more Northwards than, the
39th Degree of Northern Latitude eompleat. and even almost
to the 40th Degree eompleat, of the said Northern Latitude,
but is advised and apprehends the same was not .so done by them'
in Deceit and Disinherison of his Majesty, but all such Lands
as they so sat down upon, or took possession of. were expressly
contained within the Limits and Bounds of the said recited
Letters Patent, and for which Seating down and Possession
Defendant is advised and insists that the said Cecilius, or his
Heirs or Descendants, had a clear and indisputable Right and
Title under the said Letters Patent and Charter of Maryland
as before is mentioned.
Denies that he either knows, or ever heard or believes, that

the Plaintiffs, or either of them, or any under whom they claim,
ever could, or did, make or transfer any legal Title or Right
of the said three Lower Counties, or either of them, or of any
Part thereof, to any Descendant of the said Cecilius, as is un
truly alledged in and by the Bill, or that any Descendant of
the said Cecilius ever did or could derive or have any Right or
Tite thereto from the Paintiffs, or those under whom they de-
rive, the Plaintiffs or either of them, or those under whom they
derive, never having had any Manner of Right or Title to the
said three Lower Counties, or either of them, or any Part thereof,
to the Knowledge or Belief of this Defendant.
Doth not know, nor ever heard, save from the Bill, nor doth he

believe, that the Dutch ever held the said Lands called the three
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Lower Counties (which this Defendant hath heard and believe

lie on the Western Sideoftlie River of Delaware) as appertain-

ing and belonging to a larger or greater Settlement, upon a

large Tract of Land Part of Avhat is generally called New Eng-

land, and particularly on those Parts now called West New

Jersey and East New jersey and New York on the Eastern Side

of Delaware; or, that the said three Counties always went

along with the said larger Tract or Settlement, as by the Bill

is suggested, or any ways belonged or appertained thereto; but

a very inconsiderable Part of the said three Counties (if any)

being inhabited or settled upon, at the time the Dutch were in

possession of the said Jerseys and New York, and the said three

Counties were not, then, looked upon or esteemed, in any man-

ner, to appertain or belong to the said Jerseys or New York.

Neither doth Defendant know, or believe, that it was, or is^

absolutely necessary for those who enjoyed the said greater Set-

tlement to have, likewise, the Lands now called the three

Lower Counties, for the Reasons in the Bill mentioaed, or any

othar Reasons; nor do the Inhabitants of the said Jerseys or

New York make the least Pretence or Claim to the said three

Counties, or any Part thereof, to the Knowledge or Belief of

this Defendant tho' this Defendant believes it might be ad-

vantageous, for those who enjoyed the said greater Settlements,

to have, likewise, the said three Lower Counties, if they had

any Right to the same.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that, in or about the

Year 1664, his late Majesty King Charles the Second took from

the said Dutch the said great Settlement and Possession of the

said Dutch at New York and New Jerseys, on the Eastern Side

of the said River of Delaware, and all Lands appertaining to

the said great Settlement.

But denies that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard,

that the said three Lower Counties were then looked upon, or

esteemed, to be Part of, or appertaining to, the said Provinces

of New York and New Jerseys, or to be then the Right of, or

in the Possession of the Dutch, or that his said late Majesty

King Charles the Second, by virtue of such his Conquest from

the Dutch became, for the first time, seized and possessed, in

Right of his Crown, of the said three Lower Counties; on the

contrary, the said three Lower Counties were, as Defendant

most assuredly believes, long before that time, the Right of,

and belonged to, the Crown of England; the same having been,

before that time,granted by his said then Majesty's Royal Father

King Charles the First to the said Cecilius Defendant's Great

Grandfather, by the said Letters Patent, as aforesaid.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that his said late
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Majesty Kiny: Charles the JSeeond did, by his Letters Patent
uiK'er the Great Seal of England, bearing' Date at Westminster
on or about the 12th Day of March, in the IGth Year of his
Reign, and in the Year of onr Lord 1G64, give and grant unto
his Brother James then Duke of York, his Heirs and Assigns,
very considerable Tracts of Land in New England, with divers
Powers of (xovernment over the said County therel)y granted,
as in the Bill is mentioned; but Defendant, as to the several
Tracts of Land and Premisses therel)y granted to the said James,
then Duke of York, craves leave to refer to the said Letters
Patent under the (-freat Seal of England when produced, or the
Exemplitiation or Enrollment thereof, alledged by the Bill to
remain of Record in this Honourable Court.
But denies, that he either knows, or believes, that the said

Duke of York, by virtue of or under the said last recited Grant
and Letters Patent, by his Governors, Deputy-(Tovernors, and
other Oflficers, or otherwise, became and was actually and really,
or lawfully and rightfully, seized antl possessed of or intitled
to the said three Lower Counties of Newcastle. Kent, and Sus-
sex, as belonging or appertaining to the said Provinces of the
Jerseys and New York, or either of them, or as Part of. or ap-
pertaining to, any of the Premisses so granted to him l)y any
of the said Letters Patent of the 13th of March 1004. as is set
out and pretended in and by the Bill.

On the contrary, the Defendant hath heard, and believes, that
the said Cecilius Lord Baltimore, and others, the Defendant's
Ancestors, both before and after the said Year 10<i4. and from
time to time, from the Grant of the said ('barter in 10:52, until
as herein after is mentioned, did and exercised all Acts of
Ownership, Projjrietorship, and Government, within the said
three Lower (bounties, as absolute Lords and I'roprietors there-
of, and that they had a good Right and Title so to do.
Doth not know, or believe, or ever heard, save from the Plain-

tiffs and their Agents, that the said three Lower Counties were
ever in the Possession of the Dutch, or were Dependents upon, or
l)elonging, or appertaining to, the said (ireat Settlement of the
two Jerseys and New York, as bv the Bill is suggested.
On the contrary apprehends and believes, tlie same were

always dependent upon, and belonging to the Province of Mary-
land, and fully comi)rehended and included within the Limits
and Bounds described in the said (Charter of Maryland to the
said Cecilius the Defendant's Great Grandfather as aforesaid.
And the Defendant insists, that the said Duke of York had no

Right to grant the same away to any other Person, as is alledged
and pretended by the Bill.

7—Vol. XV.
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Hath heard, and believe.s it to 1)p true, that, after his said late

Majesty King Charles the Second had made such Grant in 16G4,

as aforesaid, to the said James Duke of York, a certain Treaty

was concluded at Breda, between his said late Majesty Kinj^

Charles the Second atid the States-General, about the time in

the Bill for that purpose set forth and mentioned; and that the

States-General, by such Treaty, ceded and yielded, to his said

late Majesty, all places Avhereof his said late Majesty had been

in Possession on the 10th of May lOGT. as in the said Bill is al-

ledged : To which Treaty the Defendant, for his greater Cer-

tainty, craves leave to refer.

Hath also heard, and believes, that War was, afterwards, de-

clared between England and Holland, in or about the Year

1072, as in the Bill is set forth.

And that afterwards, and for ought the Defendant knows to

the contrary, in or about the Month of July 1673, the Dutch

entered into and upon their former said great Settlement, upon

the Lands now called West and East New Jersey, and New York ;

but denies, that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard save

from the Plaintiffs and their Agents, that the Dutch likewise,

upon or after such Declaration of War in 1673, entered into and

upon the Lands now called the three Lower Counties of New-

castle, Kent, and Sussex, as by the Bill is alledged.

Hath heard, and believes, that to the contrary, in or about

the Month of February lG73,asby the Bill is alledged, a Treaty

of Peace was concluded, between England and Holland, and that,

by such Treaty, all Countries, which had been taken by each

from the other, since the said last-mentioned War broke out

in 1672, were agreed to be restored, by each of the contracting

Parties, to the other, from whom the same had been taken : To
which Treaty, for greater Certainty, the defendant craves leave

to refer.

Heard and believes, that in a very short time after the con-

cluding the said last-mentioned Treaty of February 1673, his

said late Majesty Kiuir (Charles the Second, and the said James
Duke of York, sent over Colonel Edmund And ross, afterwards Sir

Edmund Andross, Knight, or same other Person or Persons, with

Authority to receive from the Dutch the said Settlements of

the two Jerseys and New York, and the Government thereof, to

continue in the Command thereof under the said James Duke
of York.

But denies, that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard,

save from the Bill, that the said Colonel Andross was sent over

to receive, or did receive, from the Dutch, Possession of the

said three Lower (bounties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, or

any Part thereof, at the time he so received froui them their
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said Settlement of the Jerseys and New York, as by the Bill is

suggested; the same not having, to the Knowledge or Belief of

the Defendant, been in the Possession of the Dutch during the

War, or delivered by the Dutch to the said Colonel Andross, or

been under his Command or Government under his said late

Majesty King Charles the Second, and the said James Duke of

York, or either of them, by virtue of any Commission or Com-
missions from them, or either of them, or otherwise howsoever.

Hath heard and believes that, immediately, or soon, after the

giving such Commissions and Authority to the said Colonel

Andross, the Colonel went over to the New East and West
Jerseys and New York, and took Possession thereof, for, and

in behalf f the said James Duke of York, and continued in

Possession thereof, and under the Authority and in the Behalf

of the said James Duke of York, did. for many Years together, ex-

ercise all Sorts of Acts of Propriety and Grovernment whatsoever

throughout the said Provinces of New East and West Jerseys

and New York.

But denies, that he either knows, believes, or ever heard,

save from the Bill and from the Plaintiffs and their Agents,

that the said Colonel Andross, under the Authority and in the

Behalf of the said James Duke of York, or of his said late

Majesty King Charles the Second, by virtue of such his Commis-
sions, or otherwise, exercised all, or any, kinds of Acts of

Ownershii) or Government, within the said three Lower Counties

of Newcastle. Kent, and Sussex, or either of them, or any Part

thereof, or that he was any wise in the Possession of the same.

or had any Right thereto by virtue of his said Commission

under thf Crown, or the Duke of York, or otherwise, however,

the Right thereto, as the Defendant is advised and insists, being

in the Defendant's said Ancestors, under the said Letters Patent,

as aforesaid.

Hath heai'd, and believes it may be true, that his .said late

Majesty King Charles the Second, in order to make unto the

said Duke of York a clear Title to the said Countries which had
been before granted to him in 16(i4, as aforesaid, by his Letters

Patent, under the Great Seal of England, bearing Date at West-

minster on or about the 29th Day of June, which was in the

Year of our Lord 1674, did give and grant, unto the said James
Duke of York, his Heirs and Assigns the same Territories

which were granted by the said former Letters Patent; and did

thereby give and grant unto the said James Duke of York, in

Fee, divers Powers of Government over the said Country and
Territory thereljy granted, as in the Bill is for that purpose set

forth ; but for his greater Certainty therein craves leave to i-efer

to the .said Letters Patent, when produced by the Plaintiffs
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under the Great Seal of Enp:land, or to the Exempli fieation, or

Enrollment thereof, alledged by the Plaintiffs to remain as of

Record in this Court.

Denies that he either knows, or believes that the said three

LowerCounties of Newcastle. Kent, and Sussex, or any part there-

of, were included in the said last mentioned Letters Patent to the

Duke of York of 1G74, or that any Interest therein, or Rifxht

thereto, passed to the said Duke of York, by virtue of the said

recited Letters Patent, the same beinj?, as the Defendant ai>-

prehends, and believes, no new (Jrant of any other Lands than

what were before included in the said former Letters Patent

to the Duke of York of 1664. but only a Confirmation of the

very same Lands included in the said former Grant; which

said former Grant or Letters Patent to the Duke of Y'ork no

ways extended, as the Defendant is advised, and insists, to the

said three Lower Counties of New<!astle, Kent, and Sussex, or

either of them, or any Part thereof.

Hath heard and believes, that the Plaintiffs late Father,

about the time in the Bill for that purpose mentioned, peti-

tioned his late Majesty King Charles the Second to grant him

Letters Patent for a Tract of Land in America, as in tlie Plain-

tiffs Bill is for that purpose set forth; but having never seen

the said original Petition, and knowing nothing thereof of Ids

own Knowledge, must therefore crave Leave for his greatei'

Certainty, as to the Contents of the Plaintiffs Father's said

Petition, to refer to the said Petition itself, when producetl.

Doth not know, nor ever heard, save from the Plaintiffs Bill

and from them and their Agents, and therefore cannot set forth,

either as to his Knowledge or Belief, whether the Plaintiffs

late Father was, or was not, about the tiiue in the Bill foj-

that purpose mentioned, or at any other time, called in by the

Lords of the Committee of his said late Majesty's most Hon-
ourable Privy Council for the Affairs of Trade and Plan-

tations, to whose Consideration the said Petition (as the Plain-

tiffs al ledge by their said Bill) had been referred, as in the

Plaintiffs Bill is set forth; nor whether the Plaintiffs said late

Father was, or was not, then asked such Questions, or whether

he did, or did not, make such Answer thereto, as in the Plain-

tiffs Bill is for that purpose particularly set forth and alledged ;

nor what was done or transacted thereon, nor what Proceed-

ings were had relating thereto, the Defendant knowing thereof

himself, but must refer the Plaintiffs to the Minutes and Orders

of the said Privy Council, and Lords of Trade, for the same, the

Defendant being an entire Stranger thereto, otherwise than

may appear by such Orders and Minutes.

Hath heard and believes, that, pursuant to the Advice and
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Reports of the Lords of his said late Majestj- 's most Honourable
Privy Council, and by Letters Patent under the ^Great Seal of
England, of such Date as in the Bill is for that purpose men-
tioned, his said late Majesty did give and grant, unto William
Penn. Esq ; the Plaintiff's said late Father, his Heirs and Assigns,
a Tract of Land in America, with divers Powers of Government

;

and that, by the same Letters Patent, the said Country was
erected into a Province, and called Pensilvania; but the Defend-
ant, for his greater Certainty, as to the proper Bounds, and
Limits, and Dimensions of the said Tract of Land, so granted
by the said Letters Patent to the Plaintiffs said Father, and
called Pensilvania, begs leave to refer to the said last men-
tioned Letters Patent under the Great Seal of England, when
produced by the Plaintiffs.

[HERE HE SWEARS THE LOWER COUNTIES TO BE ON
THE OTHER SIDE OF DELAAVARE

!]

But is advised and insists that the said last-mentioned Letters
Patent no ways granted, or gave, to the Plaintiff" s late Father
the said three Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex,
or either of them, or any Part of them ; the said Province of

Pensilvania, being entirely in the West Side of Delaware River,
and the said three (Jounties being on the East Side of the said

River, and no ways included in the said last mentioned Letters
Patent.

Denies that lie either knows, or believes, or ever heard, that
the Lords of Ids said late Majesty's Privy Council thought
the f'onsent of the said Duke of York necessary before the said
(rrant of Pensilvania pa.ssed the Great Seal, for the Reasons in

the Bill for that purjiose mentioned ; or particularly in respect
of the said three Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sus-
sex, or that the said Duke of York's Assent to the said Grant
was. accordingly, for that reason, had and given to the Right
Honourable the Lords of the Committee of Plantations, or
before a Committee of the Privy Council of his said late Majesty
King Charles the Second, as by the said Bill is suggested.

[HERE HE SWEARS PENSILVANIA CONTIGUOUS TO
NEW JERSEY AND NEW YORK. THO' IN FACT THE
RIVER DELAWARE IS BETWEEN THEM!]
But hath heard, and believes it to be true, that the said

Duke of Y'ork's Assent was had to the said Grant, and that
the said Lords of the Council thought such Assent necessary
to the said Grant of Pensilvania, before they passed the same,
in regard that, as this Defendant believe.s, their Lordships
might be apprized that the Provinces of New East and West
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Jersey and New Y'ork, which were then in the Possession of tha

said Duke of York, were contiguous to the said Tract of Land
so passed by the said Grant, and intended to be erected into

the said Province of P'ensilvania, and tlierefore, their Lord
ships wei-e in some doubt whether it miglit not infringe upon
the said othei- (rrant of the other Provinces of the Duke of

^ork, called New East and Wt-st Jersey and New York, and foi'

that reason, and that reason only, as the Defendant hath heard

and believes, and not particularly, or at all, with respect to the

said three Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, their

Lordships tlujught it necessary to have the said Duke of York's

Assent to the said Grant, before it passed the Great Seal.

Hath heard, and l)elieves it luay be true, that tlie said Wil
Hani Penn the Plaintiffs late Father, after obtaining? the said

Grant of Pensilvania, and to take away all manner of Objec-

tions thereto from the said Duke of York, or any Claiming
under the Duke, did make Interest and prevail upon the said

Duke of York to confirm the same; and that the said Duke of

Y'ork, afterwanls, by Indenture dated on or about the 21st of

August 1682, and made between such Parties as in the Bill are

for that purpose mentioned, did remise, release and for ever

quit claim, unto the said William Penn. his Heirs and As-

signes, all his the said Duke of York's Right. Title and In-

terest, whatsoever, to the said Tract of Land and Premisse^
befoie granted by the said Letters Patent of the 4th of March
1680. To hold to tlie said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns,

forever; but the Defendant craves leave, for his greater Cei-

tainty, to refer to such Indenture when produced.

Doth not know, but hath heard, that, soon after the Grant
was made by the said King Charles the Second of the said Pro-
vince of Pensilvania, and confirmed by the said Duke of Y'ork

unto the Plaintiffs late Father as aforesaid, the said James
Duke of Y'ork did make and execute two several Indentures of

Feoffment, of the 24th of August 1682, to the Plaintiffs Father
William Penn, as in the Bill is for that purpose particularly

set forth and mentioned; and that there might be such Coven-
ant therein, on behalf of the said Duke of York, and such
Power for Livery and Seisin, as in the Bill are mentiond ; but
the Defendant, knowing nothing thereof of his own Knowledge,
or otherwise than by Information, for his greater Certainty as

to the Contents of the two last mentioned Indentures of Feoff-

ment, and the Premisses thereby intended to l>e enfeoffed to

the said William Penn, begs leave to refer to the said Inden-
tures of Feoffment when produced.
But denies that he either knows or believes, that any Right

to, or Interest in. the said three Lower Counties of Newcastle,
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Kent, and Sussex, or either of them, or any Part of them, passed,

or could pass, to the said William Penn the PlaintifTs late

Father, by virtue of, or under, the said pretended Indentures

of Feoffment, or either of them from the said Duke of York;

the said Duke t)f York liavinj,' no manner of Right or Title

thereto himself, under either of his Grants from the Crown

before-mentioned.

Hath heanl, and believes it to be true, that the said Duke oi

York was so sensible he had no manner of Right or Title to the

said three Lower (bounties, or either of them: and that his said

Grants and pretended Feoffments to the Plaintiff's late Father

in 1682, (if any sueh Feoffments there really and in fact were)

were of no Validity or Force, with respect to tlie said three

Lower Counties of ]N>wcastle, Kent, and Sussex, that the said

Duke of York, soon afterwards, in the Year 1G83, obtained a

Warrant from his late Majesty King Charles the Second for

passing a Patent, whereby the said three Lower Counties were

intended to have been granted to the said Duke of York; and

that a Copy of a Bill was afterwards prepared by his Majesty's

then Attorney-General for that purpose; but the same, as the

Defendant hath heard and believes, was never passed into a

Grant; for that the then Lord Baltimore, having notice thereof,

presented a Petition to his Majesty, in opposition to the passing

the said Bill under the Great Seal, and praying the same might

not pass till his Majesty should be satisfied of the said Letters

Patent formerly granted to Ceciiius Lord Baitiomre, as afore-

said, wherein the said three Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and

Sussex, were comprized ; which as this Defendant hath heard

and believes prevented the passing the said Bill into a Grant

of the said three Lower Counties to the said Duke of York.

And this Application of the said Duke to the Crown for a

Grant of the said three Counties in l'i83, is the strongest Evi-

dence, as the Defendant is advised, and insists, that it was then

apprehended the Duke had no manner of Right or Title thereto,

and the not passing the said Bill into a Grant, upon the Lord

Baltimore's Petition against the same, shews the Sense of the

Crown to be so at that time.

Knows nothing of the Plaintiffs late Father William Penn

having taken Possession in Form, of the Premisses contained

in the said respective pretended Indentures of Feoffment, or of

any Tenants of the said Premisses, attorning to him. at the

time, or in the manner, as bv the Bill is suggested, or at any

other time, or in any other manner, whatsoever; but, if the

Fact really was so, and ttiat the Plaintiffs late Father did

really take Possession of the said Premisses in the manner as

by the" Bill is pretended, which the Defendant neither knows or
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believes, yet, the Defendant is advised and insists his so doing
was a Wrong and Injury done tu the Defendant's said late An'
cestor, the then Lord Baltimore, and an Infring'eiiient upon his

Right and the Lands granted to liini by the said Charter of

Maryland, and that the Phiintiffs late Father had no manner
of Right so to do; and that the Plaintiffs ought not. now, to be

permitted in a Court of Equity, to make use of the Injustice and
Injury their late Father (Committed against the Defendant's

said Ancestor, to support their l^retensions to what they have
no manner of Right to.

Knows nothing of the pretendud Proclamation by the Plain-

tiffs Bill, set forth to have Ijeen made by the (rovernor and
Council of NewYork. in favour of the Plaintiffs late Father,

and in support of tlie said two Indentures of FeofTujent from the

Duke of York in 1(582, and must, therefore, leave the Plaintiffs

to make such i)roof thereof as they shall be able, or advised.

But is advi.sed, and insists, that such Proclamation (if any
such really was made) could noways impeach the said Charter

of Maryland, or the said Letter.s Patent to the said Ceeilius in

1G32, or take away any Right the Defendant or his said Ances-

tors had to any Lands under the same.

Believes the said three ('ounties of Newcastle, Kent, and
Sussex, may be comprized and included within the Bounds and
Descriptions of the said Indentures of Feott'ment of 1()S2. but

the Defendant is advised, ami huml)ly insists, the Plaintiffs

can have no light to the said three Counties, or any Part of

them, under the said Indentures of Feoffment, or otherAvise,

for the Reasons herein before particularly mentioned; and
particularly for that the said Duke of York, at the time of

his making the said Feoffment, if any such Feoffments were
made, had no uuinner of Right to the said Counties, or either

of them, or any Part thereof.

Hath heard, and believes it may be true, that the Plaintiffs late

Father might enter into the peaceable Possession of the said Pro.

vince of Pensilvania about the time in the Bill for that purpose
mentioned ; but denies that he either knows, or believes, or

ever heard that the said William Penn, at or about the time in

the Bill for that purpose mentioned, or at any other time,

whatsoever, entered into the peaceable Possession of the said

three lower (Jounties. as Proprietor thereof, as in the Bill is

untiuely suggested, or that he had any right so to do, or that

the said William Penn, or tho.se claiming under him. now are.

or ever were Proprietors thereof, or ever in the Possession

thereof as such, or had any Right or Title thereto, whatsoever.

Hut hath heard and believes that, there being a Dispute,

between the Crown and the Defendant's Ancestor, touching the
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Rijrht to the said three Lower Counties, and the Defendant's
Ancestors having been under some supposed legal Disabilities,

whereby they were restrained from exercising any Acts of Gov-
ernment, and these three Counties not being of Extent and
Riches enough to maintain a (rovernor of themselves, separately

and independent of any other Province, the Governors of Pen-
silvania, for the time being, for many Years past, have been

permitted to have the Government, and to exercise a Jurisdic-

tion, over the said three ('ounties; but notwithstandine: such
Permission the said Counties were never, to the Knowledge or

Belief of the Defendant, look'd upon as Part of Pensilvania,

or that tlie Plaintiffs, or any of their Ancestors, had any Right
or Title thereto : and, as an Evidence of this, the Defendant
hath been informed and believes, and doubts not but it will

appear, that the Plaintifl's and their Ancestors have, always,

from time to time, upon his Majesty's approving of a Governor
for their said Province of Pensilvania and the said three Lower
Counties, signed a Declaration in Writing, declaring that his

Majesty's Royal Approbation and Allowance of such Governor
of Pensilvania. to be at the same time Governor of the said

three Lower (Jounties upon Delaware River, should not. in any
manner, be construed to establish any Right in them to the

said three Lower ('ounties, or to diminish or set aside the

Right claimed l)y the Crown thereto.

So that tlie Defendant apprehends, and is advised that it ap-
pears from this Declaration of their late Father, and themselves,

from time to time, that he and thej' was and were sensible. he and
they had no Right to the said three Lower Counties, but that he
and they, and the Deputy-Governor of the said Province of

Pensilvania under him and them, held the Gov^ernment of the
said three Lower Counties in Trust only for the Crown, or of

such other as should make out a Title tt) the same under the

Crown.
Defendant doth not know, or believe, or ever heard, that the

PlaintifTs, or their Father, ever received Quit-Rents from the In-

habitants of the said three Counties as Proprietors thereof,

but, however that might be, the Defendant is advised and in-

sists that any illegal, or usurped, Possession of their's of the
said three Lower Counties, or any Part of them, can in no wise
support their Pretended Right or Title, thereto, as the same
are clearly comprized within the Limits and Bounds described
in the said Charter of Maryland granted to the Defendants said

Ancestor Cecilius, as aforesaid.

But the Defendant apprehends the original Right, to the said

three Counties, cannot be drawn into Question in this Suit.

and therefore the Defendant apprehends and is advised all these
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Parts ol the Bill, relating' to tlu' Uraiits troin the (-rown and

tlie Duke of York, mi^'ht have been very well omitted out of

llie PlaiutitTs Bill.

Denies that lie either knows, or believes, or ever heard, save

from the Plaintirts Bill, that the IMaintiffs late Father William

IVnn, at his own Charye. peopleil and settled the said three

Lower Counties of Meweastle. Kejit. and Sussex, or that the

Plaintiffs, or their said late Father, have been at the Expence

of (iO.OOOl. Sterling in ])eoplin!J:, settlin^'und improving,' the same,

as is pretended by the Bill, or that they have been at any Ex-

pence at all on that Ac-count, to the Knowledge or Belief of

the Defendant: for, on the contrary, the Defendant liath lieard,

and believes it to be true, that the Plaintills late Father was

not at the Charge or Expence of peopling or settling the Pro-

vince of Pensilvania, but that the settling and improving, even

of that Province, was begun and carried on to the Expence,

Hazard and Industry of divers People who purchased, at first,

a very considerable Tract of Land from the Plaintiflis late

Father, to the amount of 600,000 Acres, and were at the Trouble.

Hazard and Expence of settling, peopling and cultivating the

same, and pai J the said Wiliam Penn a considerable Consid-

eration for such Purchase; by which the PlaintifTs said Father

was an immediate Gainer by the first settling and peopling the

said Province of Pensilvania, and was not at the Hazard or Ex-

pence thereof himself: And, as this was the Method the Plain-

tifTs late Father took, in settling and peopling the said Prov-

ince of Pensilvania, to which he had, as the Defendant believes,

a Right, is very improbable to imagine he should be at any Ex-

pence in settling, peopling, or improving the said Lower Coun-

ties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, or either of them, or

any part of them, to which he must, as the Defendant appre-

hends, know he had no manner of Right or Title.

Saith that if the said three Lower Counties of Newcastle,

Kent and Sussex were part of, or appertaining to, the said Pro-

vince of Pensih-ania, which however he insists they are not, he

believes they, together, would not make one of the most con-

siderable and populous Provinces or Colonies for the Age

thereof in America.

And, for ought the Defendant knows to the contrary, the

Number of Souls, in the said three Lower Counties only, ex-

clusive of Pensilvania, may be esteemed to be 40,000, or near

that Number. But denies that when he lately came out of the

said Province of Maryland into the said three Lower Counties,

he was at all surprized, as is suggested by the Bill, to see how

much thicker of Inhabitants, or of beautiful Plantations, the

said three lower Counties were, than the said Province of Mary-
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land was; neither, in Fai-t, are there, to the best of the Defend-

ant's Judgment and Belief, more beautiful Plantations in the

said three Lower Counties than in the other Parts of the De-

fendant's said Province of Maryland; nor are the same thicker

of Inhabitants, as the Plaintiffs suggest.

Knows nothing of the subsequent Letters Patent, in the said

Bill alledged to have V)een obtained l)y the said Duke of York

from his said late Majesty King Charles the Second, dated the 22d

of March 10^2, nor ever heard of the same, or of such Letters

Patent having been obtained or granted, save from the Plaintiffs^

and doth not believe there are any such, and must, therefore,

refer to the same, if any such were granted, under the Great

Seal of England, when produced by the PlaintifTs ; but, if such

J^etters Patent, as are last mentioned, were obtained by the said

Duke of York, and granted by his said late Majesty, as the

Plaintiffs suggest, yet, the Defendant denies that he either

knows, or believes, that the same were so obtained or granted

in Trust for the Plaintiffs late Father, or in Pursuance or Per-

formance of any the Covenants in the said pretended Indentures

of Feoffment from the said Duke of York to the Plaintiffs said

Father, or that the said Duke of York delivered the said Letters

Patent under the Great Seal to the Plaintiffs Father immediately

or at anytime to the Plaintiffs Father, as is pretended by the

Bill ; but the Defendant is advised and insists that the said last

luentioned Letters Patent, if obtained by the said Duke of

York, as by the Bill is suggested (but which this Defendant doth

not believe) could not any way divest the Defendant, or any

of his Ancestors, of the Right they had to the said three Lower
Counties, or either of them, under their Original Charter of

Maryland, from the Crown in 1632, such Letters Patent being

long Subsequent in time to the said Charter.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that the said Duke of

Y'ork, about the time in theBill mentioned, was solliciting and
endeavouring to procure from the Crown a further Grant of the

three Lower Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sussex, and that,

before such Grant passed the Great Seal, it was stopt, upon a Pe.

tition presented to his late Majesty King Charles the Second, on
behalf of the said Lord Baltiuiore, the Defendant's Ancestor

and in support of his Right and Claim to the said three Lower
Counties, as in the Bill is also for that purpose mentioned, and
as herein before is mentioned and set forth.

But denies that he either knows, or believes, that the said

Duke of York so sollicited such further Grant of the said three

Counties in pursuance of any Covenants with the Plaintiffs

said late Father, as is j^retended by the Bill, or that the Duke
cf York, in ease he had procured such further Grant, intended
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it for the Benefit of the Plaintiffs late Father, but for his own

Use and Benefit.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that such last men-

tioned Petition, on behalf of the said then Lord Baltimore,

liaving been presented to his Majesty, was, by his Majesty's

Order in Council of such Date as in the Bill is set forth, re-

ferred to the Consideration of the thei« Committee of Trade

and Plantations, (and which Committee the Defendant believes

did then consist of such of the J.ordsof his said Majesty's Most

Honorable Privy Council as charj?ed by the Bill.

)

Hath likewise heard, and believes it to be true, that the said

then Lord Baltimor.- was, by himself or Council, heard thereon,

touching his Right and Title to the Land and Soil of the said

three Lower Counties.

But denies that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard,

save from the Plaintiffs, that the Plaintifls late Father was

divers, or at any time, heard before the said Committee in

his own Right, or touching any Right pretended to be in him

to the .said three Counties, or either of them, or any part of

them: nor did the Plaintiffs late Father then, as the Defend-

ant either heard of. or believes, pretend, or insi.st upon, any

Right in himself to the saiti three Lower Counties, or either or

them, before the .said Committee, but appeared, upon that oc-

casion, as Agent only for arid on the behalf of the said Duke

of York, and to support the Duke of York's Pretensions to the

said three Counties against the then Lord Baltimore, and not

uniier the Pretence of any Right in himself.

Denies that he either knows, or believes, that it appears any

otherwise, by the Register Books, or any of the Proceedings of

the said Committee of Council or Committee of Trade and

Foreign Plantations; or that, in the Prosecution of the said

Suit, it is from time to time continually taken notice of, or

expressly mentioned in the Minutes or several Orders made by

the said Committee thereon, that the then Dispute and Differ-

ence was a Dispute between the then Lord Baltimore and the

Plaintiffs sai:l Father, although the Plaintiffs Father did some

time make Use of the said Duke of York's Name therein, as

holding under the Grants and Covenants for further Assurance

of the said Duke of York, as is alledged in and by the Bill ;
but

on the contrary, the Defendant apprehends, and doubts not but

that it will appear from the said Register Books, and all the

several Proceedings throughout the Prosecution of the said Dis-

pute, from the begining to the end thereof, that the Duke of

York himself, liy his Council, and other Agents, did assist and

interpose in the said Suit agaimst the then Lord Batimore's

Claim to the said three Lower Counties, and that the Plain-



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 109

tiffs said Father was no ways coneerued, or acted, therein, otlier-

wise than as Agent to the said Duke of York, or that any ot

the said Proceedings before the said (Jouuuittee declare, or sf>

much as even Tacitely, or otherwise inipl.N . or tend to shew,

that the Grant of the three Lower Counties, wliich the Duke
of York had obtained from the Crown after tlie said pretended

Feoffment to the Phiintiffs hite Father, or sucli further (Trant

which he was then sollicting to obtain, or eiTlicr of them, were

in Trust for, or for the Benefit of, the IMaintinv late Father,

as is pretended and suggested in and l)y the Bill.

Dotli not know, nor can set forth, whethei- there were, or

were not. sucli several Minutes. Orders and Kei)orts. of such

particular and respective Dates, made l)y the said Couunittee

of Council, ui)on, and during tlie (Jontinuance of, the said Dis-

pute, as in the Bill are particularly set forth and uientioned, the

Defendant not having examined the Council Books, or com-

pared the respective Dates, in the Bill mentioned, with the

Entries thereof in such Books; nor does he apprehend it at

all Incumbent on him so to do. but begs to refer to the Council

Books themselves when produced as to the several and particular

Orders, Reports and Minutes that were so made by the said

Committee pending such Dispute as aforesaid.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, such final Order in

Council, and of such Date, was made, upon the said Dispute,

touching the Right to the said three Lower Counties, between

the then Lord Baltimore, and the Crown, as in the Bill is for

that purpose set forth, but, for his greater Certainty therein,

craves leave to refer to the said Original Order itself, or to ths

Entry or Minute thereof in the said Council Books when pro-

duced.

Saith he is advised and insists that the said last mentioned

Order in Council is so far from being an Evidence of any Right

in the Plaintiffs, or their said late Father, to the said three

Lower Counties, that it makes no manner of mention of any

Right pretended thereto by the Plaintiffs late Father, and the

Division thereby directed of the said three Lower Counties is

only between his then Majesty and the then Lord Baltimore.

And the Defendant is advi.><ed and apprehends and insi.st that

the said last mentioned Order in Council in 1(iS5. could no

ways legally deprive the Defendant, or his Ancestors, of the

Right they had to the said three Lower Counties under their

Original Charter in 1633 from the Crown, which was granted

upwards of 50 Years before the making of that Order in Council

;

and which the Defendant is likewise advised and insists was

inconsistent with two former Orders in Council, of the 3d of

July 1633, and of the ith of April 1638.
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And apprehends the said Orders in Hioi and 1(>3H ought to

have the greater regard paid to them, because it is niucli more
likely that the Intention of the (,'ro\vn should be more clearly

known in 1033 and 1038, so soon alter the granting the said

Charter of Maryland, as to the Lands conii)rized in such Charter,

than upon a Dispute, afterwards, so many Years, as in 1685.

Saith, for ought the Defendant knows to the contrary, it may
be true that, during the said Contest in the Years 1683, 1684

and 1685, the then Lord Baltimore might produce to the

then Committee of Trade and Plantations, a Copy of the said

Order of the Committee of Foreign Plantations, dated the 4th

of April 1638 herein before mentioned, in order to shew that

former Board's Opinion touching the said Lord Baltimore's

Right to the said three Counties, but the Defendant knoweth
nothing thereof of his own Knowledge; and the Defendant is

an entire Stranger to the Charge ir. the Bill, that such Copy
was not an attested Office Copy, and that, therefore, the Board
refused to admit of the same as Evidence, or that they gave the

said Lord Baltimore time to procure an authentick and attested

Copy thereof, or that he afterAvards declared to the said Board
that he could not find the Original, whereby an attested

Copy might be procured: but, in case the Fact was so. which
the Defendant neither knows or believes, it cannot, as the

Defendant apprehends, considering all the Circumstances,

throw any Imputation uj^on the Reality of the said Order made
so many Yeai's before: but the Defemiant assuredly believes

such Order was made, and the Copy thereof, produced by the

said Lord Baltimore on the aforesaid Occasion, (in Case any
such was produced) was a true and exact Copy thereof, and
that the same was not any fictitious Paper drawn up to serve

that, or any other, particular Purpose, as is most unreasonably
insiiniated in and by the Bill.

Saith such Orders are, as the Defendant verily believes, now
remaining amongst the Office Books and Papers at and belong-

ing to the Office of Trade and Plantations at Witehall, Avhere

the PlaintifTs or their Agents may, if they plea.se, peru.se and
inspect the same, and where the Defendant is informed, and
believes, the PlaintifTs Sollicitor in this Cause hath perused

and inspected the .same, and had Copies thereof.

Believes that the PlaintifTs Father had not made any very

large, or very expensive Improvements in the said three Lower
Counties, before the time of the said last mentioned Order of

Council of November 1685 was made, nor doth know or believe

that the Plaintiffs, said late Father, or the Plaintiflfs, even at

this Day, and to this Hour, h;ive made any large or expensive
Improvements in the said three Counties, or either of them,
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or that they, or either of them, have l)een at any Expenee in sett-
hng, iuiproviu- cultivating, or peopling the said three Coun-
ties, or either of them, or any part of them or that theyever
Mortgaged their Estate in England, or America, for that pur-
pose, or that they have ruined, or distressed, or anv ways im-
poverished, their Family, by that means, as is suge-ested in the
Bill.

But believes that the Plaintiffs late Father, and the Plain-
tiffs since his Decease, may have l)een at some Expeuce, but to
what auiount cannot say or set forth, either as to his Know-
ledge, or Belief, in making Presents to. and Treating with, the
Neighbouring Indians, or the Indians inhabiting near the said
three Lower Counties, and which the Defendant apprehends
It was nceessary for them to do in order to support and promote
their Trade with the Indians, and to keep up a good Corres-
pondence with them as they are Proprietors of Pensilvania; but
denies that he either knows, or believe.s that thev were at any
such Expenee on Account of the said three Lower Counties,
the same being wholly, as the Defendant believes, on Account
of their own Province of Pensilvania, which Borders upon or
Adjoins to the said Counties.
Verily believes that the PlaintiflFs, or their .said late Father,

would not have been at any such Expenee. or at anv Expenee at
all, for the Benefit or Protection of the said three lower Counties,
or the Inhabitants thereof, or for the promoting their Trade,'
and that all the Expences they were, or ever have been at, was
for the Benefit. Safety, Promotion and Improvement of the said
Province of Pensilvania only, and not of the said three lower
Counties, or either of them.
Doth not know, but believes it may be true, that the Plain-

tiflfs, or their late Father, may have Mortgaged their Lands in
America, or their said Province of Pensilvania. but not for the
Purposes or Reasons in the Bill suggested, and denies that he
either knows, or l)elieve.s, that they, or either of them. did.
or could Mortgage the Lands of the said three Lo^vnr Counties,
or either of then), or that any one would accept of a Mortgage
of the same, or lend them any Money thereon, in regard, as the
Defendant believes, they have no manner of Right thereto, and
could not make the same a proper Security, or anv .security
at all. for any Money that might be advanced them thereon.

"

Doth not know, nor can set forth, either as to his Knowledge
or Belief, whether most part of the Lands in the said three
Lower Counties are taken up and cleared, as })v the Bill is sug
erested. or what particular Part or Quantity of the said Lands
in the said three Lower Counties .-ire taken up and cleared, or
Avhat Number of Plantations there may be thereon : but believes
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that that there are maii> Towns. ViUa^es, Churches. Meetings,

Court-Houses, Assembly-Houses. Harbours. Piers. Dwelliny-

Houses, and other publick and private Structures. Buildin^j^s,

Edifices and Improvements built and made therein.

But denies that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard,

save from the Plaintiffs and their Agents, that all this has been

done, or that the said three Counties liave been thus improved,

by the great and continual Pains, J.abour and Industry, or by

the many repeated Toils and Hazards, of the Plaintiffs said

late Father, or of the Plaintiffs, or either of them: on the con-

trary, hath been credibly informed, and believes, that the .said

Counties were first settled and improved at the Expence, and

by the Care and Indixstry of, the Defendant's Ancestors, Pro-

prietors of Maryland, and Inhabitants of the said Counties

themselves, and not of the Plaintiffs late Father, or the Plain-

tiffs, who were at no Expence therein to the Knowledge, or

Belief, of the Defendant.

KnoMs nothing of any Purchases, made by the Swedes and

Dutch, of any Tracts of Land within the said three Lower

Counties, from the Indian Natives, Owners and Possessors of

such Lands, for valuable Consiilerations, or otherwise, as pre-

tended by the Bill, nor knows, or believes that any Right, to

any such Lands, within the said three Lower Counties, did, or

could, pass to, or vest in, the Plaintiff's said Father, under or by

Vertue of such pretended Purchases from the Indians by the

Swedes and Dutch.

Neither knows any thing of any Purchases, by the Bill pre-

tended to have been made by the Plaintiffs late Father, of th^

Indians, Natives and Owners of any of the Lands comprized

within the Limits of the said three Lower Counties, or of any

Conveyance to the Plaintiffs late Father of any such Lands, as

is suggested by the Bill, and, therefore, must refer to such Con-

veyances (if any such tliere were) when produced by the Plain-

tiffs and to such Proof thereof as they can make of the due Exe-

cution thereof, or paying any Consideration for the same.

But is advised and insists the Plaintiff's, or their late Father,

can. or could, have no manner of Right, to any part of the

Lands within the said three Lower Counties, under, or by

Vertue of, any such pretended Purchases or Conveyances from

the Indians, if any such there really were, and that the De-

fendant's Right or Title thereto, under the said Original Charter

of Maryland in 1(>P.2, can in no wise be affected thereby.

Doth not know, nor can set forth, whether the Lands, comprized

in the said pretended Deeds or Conveyances to the Plaintiffs

Father from the Indian.s (if any such there be) do, or do not, of

themselves, make up three fourths of all the Lauds within the
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said three LowerCounties.or whether the other parts of the same
three Counties have, or have not, been heretofore purchased by
the Swedes and Dutch, the Defendant iiuowing nothinj: of such
pretended Purchases from the Indians, or of the Conveyances by
which the same are pretended to have been assured to the Plain-
tiffs, or the said Dutcii and Swedes, or of the particular l^juids

comprized therein, or otherwise than from the Alleg^ations of

the Plaintiffs Bill, by which the Defendant apprehends it is

impossible for him, or any one else, to form any judgment, or

Belief, concerning the same, the Description, made use of in

the said pretended Purchase-Deed from the Indians, of the
Lands thereby pretended to be passed, as set out by the Kill,

being no other but, as far as a man can ride with a Horse in two
days, and which may be more, or less, according to the good-
nes.-. of the Horse or ability of the Rider, and is, as the De
fendant apprehends, so uncertain a Description as can in no
wise enable the Defendant to answer the Plaintiffs particular

Charges relating thereto; nor is it any ways material, as the
Defendant is advised and apprehends, to the Matters in Ques-
tion between the Defendant and the Plaintiffs whether the said

pretended Conveyances from the Indians contain the whole,
three Fourths, or any other particular Quantity, or part, of the
said three Lower Counties?

Denies that, to the Knowledge or Belief of this Defendant,
any of his Ancestors knew of any such pretended Purchases of

the Plaintiffs, or their late Father, from the Indians, or of their

peopling, seti^ling or improving the said three Lower (bounties

as suggested l)y the Bill, and, therefore, could not be said to

have suffered the Plaintiffs Father to go on jjeaceably and
quietly without the least Claim or Interrui)tion whatsoever, to

make such pretended Purchases. or to people, cultivate or im-
prove the said three Lower Counties, after the said order in

Council of 1685. as is alledged in and by the Bill, tlie Plaintiffs

said Father never having made any such Improvements, or
peopled or settled the said three Lower Counties, or either of

them, or any part of them, in the manner as is alledged by the
Bill, to the knowledge or belief of this Defendant.
Doth not knf)w, but believes it nuiy be true, that the De-

fendant s Ancestor, and. as the Defendant believes, the same
Lord Baltimore as in the Bill is for that purpose named, pre-

sented a petition to her late Majesty Queen Anne, in .January
1708, and that sucli Petition, foi- ought the Defendant knows to

the contrary, miirht be to the Effect in the Bill set forth; but
the Defendant, not knowing the same of his own Knowledge,
craves leave to refer to the said Petition, itself, when produced.

8— Vol. XV.
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Likewise believes that such last mentioned Petition was re-

ferred, by her late Majesty, to the Consideration of the then

Lords Comuiissioni'rs for Trade and Plantations, about the

time in the Bill for that purpose mentioned.

Doth not know, but hath heard and believes, that the Plain-

tiffs late Father, about the time in the Bill for that purpose

mentioned, presented his Petition to her said late Majesty, in

opposition to the said other Petition of the then Lord Baltimore

and praying that the same might be dismissed, and, for ought

this Defendant knows to the contrary, such Petition of the

Plaintiffs late Father might be to the Effect in the Bill, but

this Defendant, knowing nothing thereof of his own Knowl-

edge, craves Leave to refer to the said Original Petition,

when produced.

Saith. that for ought he know^s to the contrary, such Order

might be afterwards made by her Majesty in Council on the

said last mentioned two Petitions, as in the Bill is set forth

and mentioned, but.knowing nothing thereof of his own Knowl-

edge, craves Leave to refer to the said Order in Council, if any

such there be. or the Entry thereof in the Council Books, when

produced.

Saith, he doth not know of his own Knowledge, but, for

ought this Defendant knows to the contrary, it may be true,

that such further Application, and such other Petition, was

afterwards made and presented, in 1709, by the then Lord Bal-

timore, and such Orders made by her late Majesty in Council

thereon, as in and by the Bill for that purpose r-t forth and

mentioned, but, knowing nothing thereof of his own Knowl-

edge, craves Leave to refer to the said Petition and Orders, or

the Entry thereof in the Council Books, when produced.

Denies that he either knows or believes that the Plaintiffs

late Father, afterwards, or at any time during his Life, was or

remained in quiet and peaceable Possession of the said three

Lower Counties, or either of them, or any part of them, in his

own Right, as pretended by the Bill, or otherwise than as afore-

said.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that the Plaintiffs

Father departed this Life about the time in the Bill. and. for

ought this Defendant knows to the contrary, he might before

such his Decease, duly make and execute his last Will and

Testament in Writing, of such purport, and to such Effect, as

in the Bill is particularly set forth.

And that the Plaintiffs Mother might, afterwards, prove

the same, in the manner in the Bill mentioned, but this De-

fendant knowing nothing thereof of his own Knowledge, must

refer to such Will, when produced, and such other Evidence

as the Plaintiffs shall think fit to make concerning the same.
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Never heard of tlie Deed-Poll, or Appointments, by the

Plaintiffs said Bill set forth to haA^e been made and execute*! by
Hannah Penn, the Plaintiffs Mother, in pursuance of the Power
she had or was invested with by the Will of the Plaintiffs late

Father, or of the several Allotments or Divisions thereby al-

ledgred to have been made by her of the Premisses in the Bill

for that purpose mentioned, amonprst the Plaintiffs, otherwise
than by the Bill, and the same, as he believes, bein^ in the
Plaintiffs Custody or Power, he must therefore crave Leave to

refer to the said Deed-Poll. or Appointment, when produced.
Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that the Plaintiffs

said Mother Hannah Penn, departed this Life, about the time
in the Bill for that purpose mentioned, and that Dennis Penn
her Son, in the Bill named, mi^ht also dit-, an Infant, and
without Issue, about the time as therein is mentioned.
Hath heard of the Indentures of Lease and Release, alledged

by the Bill to have been made and executed by the Surviviny
Trustees of the last Will and Testament of the Plaintiffs late

Father, pursuant to the Directions in the Apointment alledged

to have been made by the said Hannah Penn, but, as to the
Contents thereof, must refer to the same, when produced by
the Plaintiffs, being ;in entire Stranger thereto.

Knows nothing of the pretended Mortgage by the Plaintiffs

Bill alledged to have been made by their said Father William
Penn, to Joshua Gee, John Woods, and others, for the Sum of

(inOOl. or any other Sum, or of the said pretended Mortgage
having lain at Interest for above 20 Years, as by tlie Bill is sug-
gested, or for any other Numljer of Y'ears or Time, or of the
Reconve>ance pretended to have been made thereof by the
Mortgages in 1729, neither did this Defendant ever hear thereof,

save from the Bill, and from their Agents, and therefore must
refer himself to the said Mortgage and Reconveyance, if any
such ever were, when produced by the Plaintiffs.

Denies that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard, save
from the Bill, that the Plaintiffs upon their said Mother's de-
cease, or at any time whatsoever, either entered into, or are
now% in Possession of the said three Lower Counties or, either of
them, or any part of them, or of all or any of the Lands, Tene-
ments or Hereditaments therein, under or by Vertue of the said
pretended Will, Appointment, Conveyance, Mortgage, and Re-
conveyance, as by the Bill is untruly suggested, nor doth know
or believe that the Plaintiffs, or either of them, have any Right
or Title thereto undersuch pretended Will, Appointment, Con-
veyance, Mortgage, or Reconveyance, or otherwise howsoever.
Denies that he either knows or believes that the said Hannah

Penn, after the Decease of the said William Penn, did enter into.
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or from the time of rlie doath of tne said "William Perm, doAvn
to the time of her ow i diith. w is in tlie qui^^t au 1 ])ea( h. hie

Possession of. tlie sai.i Three i.o\wr (Jouniie.- or ol uil Tiie l^..ij(is,

Tenements, and Heivditaiuents therein, or any part tijeieol, in

her own Rifjht, or as a Trustee, or in Riffht of, the Plaintiffs,

or either of them, as by the Bill is sujzerested, or in any other
manner whatsoever than as Intruders upon tlie Right and Pro-
perty of this Defendant and his said Ancestors, and subject
thereto, and to the Right claimed thereto by the Crown as

aforesaid.

Neither doth know or believe, or ever heard, save from the
Plaintiffs, that the said William Penn, in his Life-time, or the

said Hannah Penn, after his death during her Life, or the
Plaintiffs since her death, down to the time of the Plaintiffs

said Bill, or since, respectively, and frequently from time to time
as Occasion required, appointed Deputy or Lieutenant-Gov-
ernors of the said three Lower C^ounties, in the manner pre-

tended and suggested by the Bill, or in any other manner Avhat-

soever then as before mentioned and set forth by this Defend-
ant.

Or that they, or either of them, begun, continued, or carried

on the great Improvements now in being thereon at their own
sole and prodigious Expence, as pretended by the Bill, or that
they, or either of them, were of any Expence on that Account,
other than what they were obliged necessarily to be at for the
Benefit and Safety of their said Province of Pensilvania.

Believes that the Plaintiffs, and their said late Father and
Mother, were so well apprized and conscious of the Right of this

Defendant, and liis said Ancestors, to the .said three Lower
Counties, and of the Weakness and Injustice of their Preten-
sions thereto, that they would never have put them.selves to

anj' Expences for the improving or cultivating the said three
Lower Counties uyjon so precarious and illegal a Pretence as

they set up to the same, and which they must, as the Defendant
believes, be sensible they could never support when properly
and legally contested.

Denies that he ever made such Application to the saidHannah
Penn. for setting out and describing of the Bounds of the said

other Province of Maryland and Pensilvania. during thelnfancy
of the Plaintiffs, as is alledged and suggested in and l)y the
Bill, or at any other time or times whatsoever, or that he this

Defendant then, or at any otlier time or times whatsoever, or
upon any Occasion whatever admitted to the said Hannah Penn,
or to any other Person whatsoever, that he had no Right or
Title to the said three I^ower Counties, or to any part of tliem.

as is untruly alledged V)y the Bill: on the contrary, saith, he
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this Defendant, and all and every of his Ancestors the Lords
Baltimore, to the best of his Knowled^'e and Belief, always,
from tiiue to time, and upon every Occasion, claimed, main-
tained and supported tlieir Right and Title to the said three
i^ower Counties, and every part of them, in the best manner
they were able, and never, in any manner whatsoever, admitted
they hail no Title thereto, and have been at very great Ex-
pence from time to time in supporting their Right thereto, by
Building of Fortifications in the said three Lower Coun-
ties, to defend the Inhabitants thereof from the Indians, and
in improving and cultivating the same.
Denies that he. to the be.st of his Knowledge, Remembrance

and Belief, ever made anv such Representation or Proposals
to the said Hannah Penn, or to any such or the like Effect, as
is untruly suggested in and by the Bill, or that any such Agree-
ment was, thereupon, made, entered into or executed by and
between the said Hannah Penn and this Defendant as by the
said Bill is suggested; but believes it to be true that the said
Hannah Penn, by her Self and Agents, and others on her be-
half, did apply to this Defendant, about the Year 1723. and
made .some such or the like Representation and Proposals to
this Defendant, as the Plaintiffs by their said Bill suggest this
Defendant made to her, and desired and requested this Defendant
to enter into an Agreement in Writing, in Order to settle the
Boundaries of the said two Provinces of Maryland and Pensil-
vania, and for the Prevention of all Contention and Differences
between the Inhabitants of the said Provinces in the mean time.
And this Defendant, thereupon, and at the earnest Request and

Desire of the said Hannah and others on her behalf, consented
to enter into some Treaty of Agreement for that purpose.
And he this Defendant did, accordingly, afterward?, to that

end, and about the time in the Bill mentioned, to the best of
his Remembrance and Belief as to the time, enter into and exe-
cute an Agreement with the said Hannah Penn. to the Purport
and Effect in the Bill particularly set forth, but for his greater
certainty thereof craves Leave to refer thereto, when produced
And believes that one part of such last mentioned Agreement

was executed by the said Hannah Penn and the other Persons in
the Plaintiffs Bill for that purpose named, and delivered to this
Defendant, but, not having the same in his Custody or Power,
cannot set forth the same as is prayed by the Plaintiffs Bill,
but as to the Contents thereof refers to that Part thereof in the
Plaintiffs Custody, when produced.
Hath heard and believes that such Proclamations were, after-

wards, duly Dublished in the said Provinces of Maryland and
Pensilvania, by the Deputy-Governors thereof, in Pursuance
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an J Perfuriuance of the said Aj^reeiuent, and about the times,

in the Bill particularly set forth, and that such Proclamation
published by the Deputy-Grovernor of Maryland was mentioned
to be published by the Directions of tiiis Defendant.
Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that Matters remained

at quiet, under the said last mentioned Anrreement, not only
during the 18 Months therein mentioned, but for a much longrer

time, in Vertue and Consequences, and under the true Intent

Meaning and Equity of the said Agreement, as by the Bill is

alledged.

But denies that he either knows, or believes, that the Plain-

tiffs late Mother, or the Plaintiffs, on their Parts, justly and
truly observed the said Aerreement, by not granting out or pre-

tending to grant out any Lands near to the Borders of Pensil-

vania or Maryland, or in the manner by the Plaintiffs Bill pre-

tended ; on the contrary, saith he hatli heard and believes that
the Plaintiffs late Mother during her Lifetime, and the Plain-
tiffs after her Decease, and pending the Continuance of the
said last mentioned Agreement, frequently granted out Lands,
near the Borders of the said Provinces, and Lands within the
said three Lower Counties, Avithout any legal Right or Au-
thority for their so doing, and with a View and Design of de-
feating and depriving this Defendant of his Right and Title to

the said three Counties, and of Extending their Grants and Set-

tlements far beyond the true Limits and Bounds of their said

Grant or Charter of Pensilvania, and in direct Breach and Oii-

position of the said Agreement, to the great Wrong and Injury
of this Defendant.

Denies that the exact Marks and Bounds of the said Prov-
inces of Maryland and Pensilvania, not being markt out pur-
suant to the Design and Intention of the said last mentioned
Agreement, was any ways occasioned by any Neglect in this De-
fendant, this Defendant being then ready to have it done, on his

part and amical>ly to have adjusted all Matters then inDifference

or Dispute between this Defendant and the Plaintiffs or their

said Mother ; and the not doing the same was wholly occasioned
by the then neglect of the Plaintiffs and their said late Mother.
Saith that he, on his Part, observed and performed the said

Agreement, in every respect, as far as he was able, and was then
on his Part, ready to have carried the same into Execution, if

the Plaintiffs, or their said late Mother in her Life-time, would
have concurred with him therein.

Denies that he either knows, or believes, that the Plaintiffs

said Mother, or the Plaintiffs, or either of them, did justly

and honestly fulfil and perform the said Agreement, on their

Parts, according to the true intent and ineniiinir of the same.
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as by the Bill is su^'Kested, but saith that he did. on his Part,
fully ami truly, and in all i)oints and in everv respect perform
and fulfil the same.
Denies that he did. I>y himself, or anv of his Governors.

Commission Ofticers, and other Servants, to the best of his
Knowledge and Belief, from the time of his first entering into
the said Agreement, or at any time pending the Continuance
thereof, make many, or any large or extensive Warrants, or
Grants of great Quantities of Lands, to sundrv Persons, with-
out specifying wheiv or in what Places the same were to li.,
with intent that such Grantees should seat down upon, or take
up. any Lands belonging to the Plaintiffs, or either of them
or their said late Mother, or any of their Ancestors, as is un'
truly alledged in the Bill, or with any View, or Design of ex-
tending his Settlements beyond the true Limits and Bounds of
the Grant made to the said Cecilius. this Defendant's Ancestor.
Saith he did on or about the first Day of .July 1731, as in the

Bill is for that purpose mentioned, present, or cause to be pre-
sented, to his present Majesty, such Petition, praying his
Majesty to order the Proprietors of Pensilvania, to join with
him in settling and ascertaining the Boundaries of the said
two Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania, as in the Bill is
for that purpose mentioned and set forth, and which, he
humbly apprehends and conceives, is a clear and manifest
Evidence of this Defendant's real Intention and Desire of per-
forming the Agreement herein before mentioned, and shews the
not performing of that Agreement, or the not carrying it into
Execution. Avas not owing to any Neglect or Design in this De-
fendant.as is pretended by the Bill, but to the Neglect or De-
sign of the Plaintiffs.

Denies that he either knows, or believes, that he prajed or
desired by such his last nit^ntioned Petition to his Majesty,
presented on the first of July 1731 as aforesaid, that the Bounds
of the said Provinces might be ascertained or settled upon the
foot of the said Order in Council of 1G85, or said other Order
in Council of 1708, as suggested by the Bill; neither did this
Defendant by such Petition, to the best of his Knowledge or
Belief, exclude, or intend to exclude, the said three Lower
Counties of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, or either of them, or
any part of them, from being adjudged and determined to be
part of his said Province of Maryland, or therebv mean, or
intend, to leave to the Plaintiflfs the said three Lower Counties,
or either of them, or any part of them, as bv the PlaintifT.s
said Bill is insinuated.
Denies that he ever applied to the Plaintiffs, or either of

them, or any other Person, or Persons on their Behalf, before the
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presenting such liis Petition to his Majesty in July 1731 as afore-

said, not to give up to him tlie said three Lower Counties,
but only to settle the Limits and Bonnd;^ of the said Provinces

of Pensilvania and Maryland exclusive of the said three Lower
Counties, or either of them, or any part of them, or that he pre-

sented, or caused such his last mentioned Petition to be pre

sented, to his Majesty, as aforesaid, in Order to spur the IMain-

tilfs on, or to brint,' them to a Compliance with any such Pro-
posal or Desire, as is untruly suggested in and by the Bill.

But, on the contrary, this Defendant always look'd upon the

said three Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, and
every of them, and every part of them, to be part of, and of

Right appertaining to, his said Province of Maryland, and
always insisted upon his Right thereto as sucli, and never
acknowledged or believed the Plaintiffs, or either of them, had
any Right or Title thereto, whatsoever.

Hath heard and believes his Majesty, by his Order in Council,

of such Date as in the Bill, was pleased to refer this Defendants
said last mentioned Petition to the Consideration of the Lords of

the Committee of his Privy Council, for hearing Appeals and
Complaints from the Plantations, and that their Lordships of

the said Committee, by their Order, likewise of such Date as in

the Bill, were pleased again to refer the said last mentioned Pe-

tition to the Consideration of the Lords Commissioners for

Trade and Plantations, as by the Bill is set forth, but, for his

greater Certainty therein, begs leave to refer to such Petition,

Orders, or the Minutes thereof, in the proper Register Books,
when produced.

Saith that, soon after this Defendant's Application to his

Majesty by Petition as aforesaid, for settling the Boundaries of

the said Provinces, and the Plaintiffs perceiving that this De-

fendant was intent and resolved to proceed in such Application

in Order to obtain his Majesty's Determination thereon, the

Plaintiffs, with a View to put a stop to the same, made frequent

Applications to this Defendant, and, at last, by their earnest

Solicitations and frequent repeated Requests, prevailed upon
this Defendant to enter into a Treaty with them for settling

and determining the Bounds of the said Provinces amicably
between themselves, and to drop the Application he had made
to his Majesty by Petition in the manner before mentioned,
which he admits lie was prevailed upon by them to do, and,

therefore did not solicit or obtain any final Order from his

Majesty upon such last mentioned Petition.

Denies that such last mentioned Treaty, between the Plain-

tiffs and this Defendant, for the purpose aforesaid, was first

proposed by this Defendant, or entered into by the PlaintiflFs,
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or either of tlieiii, upon this Defendant's motion, Application, or

Request, or of any Aj^ent or Person concerned for tiiis Defendant,

or on this Defendant's Behalf, to tlie Knowled^'e or Ijelief ot

tliis Defendant, as by the Bill is untruly suggested ; but. on

the contrary, saith said last mentioned Treaty was first i)roposed

by the Plaintififs, and was agreed to, and entered into, l)y this

Defendant, at the proper Instance, Desire and Request of the

l^kiintills, and ui)on their own Motion and Solicitation entirely.

8aith tliat one of the Plaintiffs fre(pienti\ waited upon this

Defendant, at his house in Grosvenor Square.after such this De-

fendant's Application to liis Majesty by Petition as aforesaid,

in order to prevail on this Defendant to come into sucli Agree-

ment.

Denies that he either knows, remembers or believes, that he

this Defendant, in order thereto, or to bring about the last men-
tioned Treat>, did apply by himself in Person to the Plaintiff's

Sollicitor, or to tlie Plaintiffs, or either of them, or any other

Agent of tlieirs, or Persons concerned for tliem. and press and

desire to have a Meeting between the Plaintiffs and tliis Defend-

ant in order to settle and agree the Matters in Difference between

them, in tlie manner as by the Bill is untruly suggested; but,

on the contrary, the Plaintiffs pressed and desired this De-

fendant to liave a Meeting for tiiat purpose, and to treat with

them about the same.

Denies that he did, then, or at any other time, declare that

if the Plaintiffs would not agree thereto he would set up his

former Pretence to tlie said three Lower Counties, as pretended

by the Plaintiffs said Bill, in order to induce or bring the

Plaintiffs to a Compliance witii any such pretended Proposal

or Accommodation, as is most untruly suggested in and by the

Bill.

Neither did this Defendant, by his entering into the said last

mentioned Treaty, intend, or design, to make, or so much as

conceive, or imagine that he should or could make, to himself,

any great or undue Advantage thereby against the Plaintiffs

by means of their pretended Ignorance of the Premisses, as is

most untruly insinuated in and by the Bill.

Neither did this Defendant, then, know or believe, nor doth

he now know or believe, that the Plaintiffs, at the time of the

said Treaties beiner set on foot, were wholly or utterly unac-

quainted with, or Strangers to, the said old Disputes in 1683,1684,

1685, and 1709, as by the Bill is alledged, or that the Plaintiffs,

or either of them, were at all, or in any manner whatsoever.

Strangers to, or unacquainted therewith; but, on the contrary,

this Defendant verily believes the Plaintiffs were then thor.

oughly, and in every respect, as well acquainted with all and
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every ttie said former Proeeedings and Disputes touching the

Matters aforesaiil. in the said several Years of l(Jb3, 16b-i. 1685,

and 1709, as they now are.

Neither did this Defendant treat with them, or enter into

the said last mentioned Treaty, with any View or Design, or

even so much as an Imagination, that he could or should im-

pose upon the Plaintiffs, or either of them, or take, or have

any Advantaue of them, ui>on any of the Accounts in the

Bill contained, or any other Account whatsoever.

Nor doth he now know or believe that the Plaintiffs, or either

of them, were under any of the pretended Disadvantages in the

Bill mentioned at the time of such last mention'd Treaty, as

is suggested in and by the Bill.

On the contrary, this Defendant saith he most assuredly

believes the Plaintiffs were not only as well, but much better

apprized. than this Defendant, of all and every the several Orders

and Proceedings, and others Transactions, that had l)een before

had and made touching the Boundaries of the said Provinces,

and the several and respective Claims that had from time to time

been made thereto, and that he this Defendant was under much

greater Disadvantages, and much more liable to be imposed on,

Fn such last mentioned Treaty, than the Plaintiffs.

And verily believes that the Plaintiffs, and their Agents, had

in View the gaining great Advantages from this Defendant by

such Treaty, or. otherwise, they would not have so earnestly

applied to this Defendant, and taken such Pains, anil used

such Endeavours, as they really did, to prevail on this Defend-

ant to come into such Treaty.

Saith that, pending such Treaty, and before they came to

any Conclusion or Agreement thereon, this Defendant gave the

Plaintiffs John and Thomas, and Mr. Paris their Sollieitor,

and other their Agents, several Meetings, and at different Places,

to receive their Proposals, and treat with them concerning the

same ; l)ut. whether such Meetings were had at the particular and

respective times in the Bill for that purpose mentioned, this De-

fendant doth not know, or remember, or can set forth, having

made no Memorandum, or kept any Account thereof, and there-

fore, this DefBudant cannot set forth, either as to his Know-

ledge, Remembrance, or Belief, the particular or respective

Davs on which such several Meetings or Treaties were had.

though this Defendant believes that several Meetings were had

between the 11th of June 17B1 and 10th of May 1T32.

Believes he might, at some or one of the said Meetings, upon

the sail last mentioned Treaty, produce, out of his Pocket, a

Map or Plan of Pensilvania, which had been, many Years before,

transmitted by one of liis Agents in Maryland, and had been,
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by such Agent, as this Defendant verily Ijelieves, received from
Pensilvania, and, Avith a Rule and Pencil, draw Lines thereon,

but, in what particular Parts, this Defendant doth not remem-
ber, to denote in what manner he thought the bound Lines
ought to run.

But saith that he did not intend, at the time, or by the man.
ner, of drawing the said Lines, to exclude from blm this De-
fendant, and to include to and for the Plaintiff's, any thing
but what he tlien apprehended the Plaintiffs had good Right to

either in Law or Equity: wliereas, this Defendant is since fully

convinced, the Plaintiffs had no such Right to the said three

Lower Counties.

Saith he was guided by the said Map or Plan in such Treaty,
this Defendant, of his own Knowledge, being then an entire

Stranger to the said Peninsula, and every Part and Place
therein, and knowiiig very little thereof but from Information,

and the several Representations that were made to him thereof

by the PlaintifTs and their Agents, and from tlie said Map
and Plan, which this Defendant saith he hath since found, and
been convinced, was greatly faulty, incorrect and untrue.

Which said Map or Plan this Defendant saith was neither

made by his Order, or Directions, but was made, as he verily

believes, by the PlaintifTs, or their Ancestors, or their Agents,
and sent by them to this Defendant's Agents in Maryland, and
was made use of by this Defendant as the first that came to

hand, this Defendant not then imagining that there was, or

could have been, so great a falsity therein as he hath since dis-

covered there really was.

And the reason that this Defendant believes, that the said

Map or Plan was made or framed by the Plaintiffs, or their

Agents, is, for that, when this Defendant was treating with
the Plaintiff Penn about the Bounds of the said Province, and
the manner in which the Limits should be run, and when this

Defendant produced the said Map or Plan out of his Pocket,
and drew Lines thereon, as herein before is mentioned, the
Plaintiff Penn himself, at the same time, produced a little Map
or Plan, drawn with a Black-Lead Pencil, which was, as this

Defendant observed and verily believes, in all things, alike to

that which this Defendant so produced, and which the said

Penn told this Defendant bad been sent over, to him, from Pen-
silvania, by Logan his Deputy-Governor, in order to treat with
this Defendant about the Bounds of the said Provinces, and
which said Plan or Map the said Plaintiff Penn made the same
use of, by drawing Lines and otherwise, as this Defendant did
of that he this Defendant produced.

Saith that, for the reason before mentioned, he cannot set
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fortli oi- say on what particular Day such Meetiiif? was had,

when he so produced anti mark'd the said Plan or Map as

before mentioned, nor wliether the same was or was not on the

20th Day of July 17:!1, as by the Plaintiffs said Bill is alledged :

neithei' iloth appveiiend it any ways material on what particular

Day suchPlan or Map was so produced or mark'd l)y this Defend-

ant as aforesaid, in rej^ard this Defendant admits it was done at

stjiiie or one of the said Meetings, pending: the said last men-

tioned Treaty, and before they came to any Conclusion or Agree-

ment thereon.

Believes he might at the said, or some other of the said,

Meetings, but at what particular time or times he doth not re-

member, nor can set forth, otherwise than that it was before

the said 10th of May 173.3. insist that his Northern Bounds for

Maryland should extenil Northwards as far as to within 15 Miles

South of the TMty of Philadelphia in Pensilvania. which this De-

fendant saith he humbly apprehends was, instead of being

further, not neai- so far as what the just Bounds of Maryland

ought to e.xtend, agreeable to the Limits and Bounds de-

scribed by the said Original Charter of Maryland.

And denies that he then believed, or knew, or that he now
believes or knows, or that the same in Fact is true. to the Knowl-

edge or Belief of this Defendant, that the so extending the

Northern Bounds ot Maryland, to within 15 Miles Sotith of

Philatlelphia. in the manner aforesaid, was much, or at all

higher, or further, than the Northern Bounds of Maryland

ought to extend.

And saith that, for ought he knows to the contrary, the

Plaintiffs. or their Agents on their behalf, upon this Defendant's

insisting that his Northern Bounds of Maryland ought to ex-

tend in the manner before mentioned, might desire that the

same might not be agreed upon to extend so far Northwards, but

only to within 20 or at most to within 18 Miles, of the said City

of Philadelphia, as l)y the Bill is suggested : but this Defendant

doth not particularly remember the same and if the Plaintiffs,

or their said Agents, did make any such Objection to the Ex-

tent of the said Northern Bounds of Maryland, as the Plain-

tiffs set out by their Bill, this Defendant believes he did re-

fuse to Consent thereto, he then, and still, looking upon, and

esteeming, the said Northern Bounds of his said Province of

Maryland, as he then insisted ui)f>n them to extend, to be fully

comprized and included within the Limits and Bounds described

by the said Original Charter of Maryland, and that all the

Lands comprized within such Bounds and Limits are properly

Part of, and of Right a])pertain to. his this Defendant's said

Province of Maryland and are not Part of, or belong or apper-
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tain to, the said Province of Pensilvania. as by the Bill is sug-

gested ; nor were the Northern Bounds of the said Province
of Maryland, as this Defendant is advised and humbly insists,

confined by his Charter, as the Plaintiffs pretend, to the 39th

Degree coiupleat, or to the beginning of the 40th Degree, but on
the contrary, by the Original Charter do and ought to extend
to the 40tli Degree com pleat.

And is advised and conceives that the. PlaintilTs agreeiner to

the Boundaries to be settled, as mentioned in the said Agree-

ment, cannot be look'd upon as giving them any such Merit

as they would willingly ascribe to themselves by their Bill,

or any Merit at all, but, on the contrary, it now plainly aj)-

pears, as this Defendant apprehends and believes, that the

said Plaintiffs had, by the said Agreemt-nt. endeavoured to

impose upon, and deceive, this Defendant in the settling the

said Boundaries in manner after mentioned, and by pretending
to give unto him that which was not theirs to give, and which
they had no Right or Title to, l)eing comj^rized within the

Charter of Maryland, and no ways comprized within the Charter
of Pensilvania, but whicli did not then appear to this Defend
ant, who was, then, not thoroughly acquainted with the Sit-

uation of the said Country, otlierwise than as aforesaid.

Saith, that wliatever Objections may have been made by the

Plaintiffs to the Proposals, were pretended, and colourable only,

and made the better to conceal and gloss over their Designs
upon this Defendant, and founded on an untrue Suggestion
that the 4uth Degi-ee was compleat and ended where this De-
fendant hath since found and discovered it is not; and were,

as this Defendant verily believes, only barely mentionetl, and
that not with any Design or View of having any Weight or

being agreed to by this Defendant, the same, as stated upon
the face of the Plaintiffs f)wn Bill, being most unreasonable
and unjust, ami what they could never expect this Defendant
would agree to: in regard this Defendant most assuredly be-

lieves they themselves must know, that the utmost of the said

Northern Limits of the sii\(] Province of Maryland, as .set out
by their Bill to have been agreed to by them, are (dearlv and
expressly comprized and included within the said original

Charter of Maryland, and wer<' no Part of the Province of Pen-
silvania, and were what the Plaintiffs had not the least Shadow
or Colour of any legal Title to.

Denies that he either knows, or believes that all, or anv Parts,

of the said Northern Limits of the .said Province of Pensilvania,
as set out by the Plaintiffs said Bill to have been agreed between
them and this Defendant in the manner therein mentioned, were
any Part of Pensilvania, or anv wavs included within the Char-
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ter of Pensilvania.or could legally pass to the Plaintiffs by their

(Uiarter, or otherwise; but. on the contrary, were this Defend-

ant's Right and Property long- before such Treaty or Agree-

ment with the said Plaintiffs, under, and liy virtue, of, the

said original Charter ot Maryland to the said Cecilius in 1G32,

as before is set forth.

Saith, he believes the PlaintitTs .John and Thomas I'enn did.

at the said last-mentioned Meeting and Treaty, as before set

forth, produce a Map or Plan, or pretended Map or Plan, of

the Parts in question : and for ought he knows, or remembers to

the contrary, they, or one of them, or some one of their Agents

there, might draw Lines on their said Map or Plan they then

produced, to denote in what manner the then proposed Bound

Lines should run, as by the Bill is set forth.

Believes, that the manner in which it was then proposed the

said Bound-Lines should run, being, as he has since discovered,

so greatly for the Advantage and Benefit of the Plaintiffs, and

so much to the Disadvantage and Injury of the Defendant,

(and which the Defendant believes the Plaintiffs were then very

sensible of, they being very well acquainted with the Situation

of the several Parts of the said Peninsula) and the Defendant

being not thoroughly therewith, and relying solely upon

the Truth and Exactness of the said Map or Plan, by which he

was greatly misled ami deceived, as herein after is mentioned,

the Plaintiffs were glad to close with the said Proposals, and to

comply with the manner in which it was proposed the said

Bound-Lines should run; the Plaintiffs, as the Defendant

verily believes, then well-knowing that the same would ex-

clude great part of the said three Lower Counties, which were

included with the Defendants Bounds of Maryland, from being

part of Maryland, without including any Part, or anv Tract

of Land whatever, that the Plaintiffs had any Right or Pre-

tensions to; so that the Agreement, upon that footing, was, in

effect, a giving up, from the Defendant to the Plaintiffs, of

great Parts of the said three Lower Counties, which the De-

fendant insists were his Property, without any the least Con-

sideration moving from the Plaintiffs to the Defendant, as a

Satisfaction or Equivalent for the same.

Denies that the said Treaty was carried on, by the Defendant,

on his Part, in the over-bearing manner as is untruly sug-

gested in the Bill, or that this Defendant refused to recede from

any thing he at first insisted on; but, on the contrary, the De-

fendant, pending the said Treaty, was prevjiiled upon to make

*The Defendant's Agents had lost themselves, and he swears to the

Answer they drew, and so here insists upon his Right by his Charter

to the 43d Degree : for that's the Northern Limit of Pensilvania.
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great Concessions to the Plaintiffs, and which tlie Detendant
never would have done, if he had had a thorouprh Knowledge and
Insight into the true Situation of the several Parts of the said

Peninsula; and if the said Map or Plan, from which the said

Agreement was founded, had been a true and exact Map or Plan
thereof.

Saith, that the Plaintiffs, and for the Reasons before-mention-

ed, as the Defendant verily believes, did agree that the said Map
or Plan, .so produced by the Defendant, should be engraved by

Mr. Senex, in order to be affixed or annexed to, and to explain,

the Meaning of the Agreement tliey should come to, as by the

Bill is suggested; and that the said Mr. Senex, might be pro-

posed or named by this Defendant, or some other on his behalf,

and agreed upon as a more proi)er Person to engrave the said

Map or Plan than the Person at first proposed and named by
the Plaintiffs, if any other was named by them, which the

Defendant doth not remember that there was.

Believes, that the said Map or Plan was printed, or stamped,
on the original Agreement afterwards executed on the 10th of

May 1732.

Believes there is No material Difference, between the Map or

Plan so produced by the Defendant, and that printed or stamped
on the said original Articles of Agreement of 17o2.

Believes he did, at some one of the Meetings pending the said

Treaty, but whether particularly on the 2d of July 1731, as in

the Bill, cannot remember or set forth, produce a Paper, con-

taining Notes of some few things he proposed should be in-

serted as Part of the said intended Agreement, and that such
Notes were of the Defendant's own Hand-writing; but absolu-

tely denies that the same were, or purported to be, compleat
Notes of every thing, or to contain the Substance of all the

several Matters proposed as Part of the said intended Agree-
ment; or that he proposed, desired or insisted, or that the
Plaintiffs agreed, that such Agreement should be drawn upon
the foot of those Notes only, as is insinuated in the Bill; but
the same were only some few Notes concerning the Matters in

dispute, which this Defendant had committed to "Writing as

they occurred to his Mind, lest they might afterwards escape
his Memory.
Believes he read the same to the Plaintiffs, as his own Notes,

and Part of his own Proposals; but not as entire or compleat
Notes, or to contain all this Defendant's Proposals.

Saith, that he cannot now, at this distance of time, upon his

Memory, or otherwise, not having kept the said Notes by him,
nor having any Copy thereof, set forth the particular Contents
thereof, tho' whatever the Contents were, believes the same
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may be conTaiued in the Agreement that was afterwards ex-e-

cuted between the Defendant and the said Phdntiffs.

Saith, that he cannot set forth a full, true, and exact Copy

thereof, at full Length, in the very Words, Figures. Letters,

and Abbreviations thereof, as the Plaintiff's have required him

to do by their Bill, the same being now lost, mislaid, or de-

stroyed, as the Defendant believes; such Notes, after executing

the said Agreement, being disregarded and looked upon no

otherwise than as waste Paper.

Doth not know, or believe, that running a Circle at the dis

tance of two Miles from Newcastle is. in any sort, contrary or

repugnant to the Words of the pretended Agreement, which

describes the Circle to l>e a Circle of 12 Miles, whose Semi-

diameter must l)e 2 Miles, and of consequence its whole Diame-

ter 4 Miles, which will make a Circle, or what would l)e com-

monly called the Periphery of the Circle, 12 Miles or there-

abouts, as tlie Plaintiffs ailedge l)y their Bill.

Believes, the Plaintiffs, or one of them, or some other Person

on their behalf, did desire the Defendant to deliver to them his

said last mentioned Note, or Proposal, in order to Insert the

same in the said intended Agreement ; l)ut denies, that he at

first agreed thereto, and afterwards said he had no ( 'oi)y thereof,

and therefore delivered it to his .said Sollicitor. in the man-

ner as by the Plaintiffs Bill is suggested, tlio' the Defentlant

believes, that, upon the Plaintiffs desiring to have his said

Notes, he might and did say, that he had no copy thereof, but

would deliver the .same to his Sollicitor. in order to give the

Plaintiffs a Copy thereof: And that he the Defendant did then,

accordingly, deliver the same over to his said Sollicitor, for

the purpose before-mentioned ; and that He might make and

give the Plaintiff's a Copy thereof, in order that the same might

be inserted, and made part of the said intended Agreement

:

and that he the Defendant, did consent and direct his said

Sollicitor, to give to the Plaintiffs a Copy thereof.

Hath heard, and been informed by his said Sollicitor, and

therefore believes it to be true, that he did, in some few Days

afterwards, give the Plaintiffs, or their Agent, a Copy of the

Defendant's said Notes, as in the Bill; but denies, that he

either knows, t)elieves, or hath ever heard or been informed, by

his said Sollicitor. or otherwise, that the Copy, so delivered by

the Defendant's said Sollicitor. to the said Plaintiffs or their

Agents, was very much, or at all, abbreviated from theorignal

Notes so produced by this Defendant at the said Meetinsr, as

aforesaid ; but. on the contrary, the Defendant hath been in-

formed, by his said Sollicitor, and therefore believes, that the

same was a true Copy thereof, and no ways altered or jib-
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breviated from what it wii.s when tl;e Defendant ^^o produced
the same, as aforesaid.

Saith, that he cannot answer, or set forth. Avhether the mate-
rial Parts of the said Copy of such Notes, so delivered by the
Defendant's said Sollicitor to the Plaintiffs or their said Agent
as aforesaid, are, or are not, in the Words, or to the Effect,

in the Bill, he having never seen such Copies, or known any
thing thereof, save from the Information of his said Sollicitor,

and therefore begs leave to refer, for certainty, to the said Copy,
when pi-oduced l)y the Plaintiffs.

Neither can the Defendant answer, or set forth, for the
Reasons before-mentioned, at this distance of time, whether
the material Parts of such Notes, so produced by the Defend-
ant as aforesaid, were, or were not, in the Words, or to the
Effect, in the Plaintiffs said Bill suggested, the Defendant not
having the same in his Custody or Power, as before is mentioned.
Nor can the Defendant, now, set forth where the said origi-

nal Note, or Proposal, now is. and therefore the Defendant
cannot undertake to produce the same at the Hearing of this
Cause, as the Plaintiffs pray by their Bill, which, otherwise,
he would readily have done.

But saith, that, if he should hereafter find the said Notes,
he will be ready to produce the same at the Hearing of this
Cause.

Saith, he hath been informed by his said Sollicitor,and believes
it to be true, that the Plaintiffs Sollicitor did, some time after
such Treaty as aforesaid, and for ought the Defendant knows
to the contrary, it migiit be on the 16th of August 1781, as in

the Bill is set forth, deliver over to Mr. Sharpe, the Defend-
ant's Sollicitor, a Draught of the intended Articles of Agree-
ment, between the Defendant and the Plaintiffs, which had
been prepared by the Plaintiffs Agents and Sollicitor, in order
to be considered and settled by the Defendant.
Hath heard, and believes it to-be true, that the said intended

Articles of Agreement might lay before the Defendant, and his
Agents, for his and their Perusal, from the time they were so de-
livered out by the Plaintiffs said Sollicitor, to about the be-
ginning of May following; but the more exact time they so
lay before this Defendant, as aforesaid, the Defendant cannot
set forth.

Admits, that he was assisted, in the settling the said in-
tended Articles of Agreement, by Mr. Wynne his Council, and
Mr. Sharpe his Sollicitor. as in the Bill is alledged; but
denies, that he was assisted therein by Mr. Senex or that Mr.
Senex perused the same, otherwise than in regard to the Pro-

9—Vol. XV.
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priety of soirieof the Terms and Kxpressions n.-ade use of in the

said Af^reenient ; no>- was this Defendant so much as once with

the said Mr. Senex thereon, nor his Sollicitor, but once, as the

Defendant is informed and believes, tho' the Defendant is in-

formed he was often applied to by the Plaintiffs Agent as his

Mathematician.
But believes the said Mr. Senex was no otherwise concerned,

than being consulted in relation to the Propriety of some of

the Terms used in the said Agreement, and in engraving the

Plate annexed to the said Articles; in doing of which the De-

fendant believes, he acted a very indifferent Part, and was looked

upon to be, and was, as the Defendant verily believes, as much
in the Service and Interest of the Plaintiffs, as of the Defendant.

Neither was the Defendant assisted, in the perusing and sett-

ling the said intended Articles of Agreement, by his Lieuten-

ant-Deputy-(Toyernor of Maryland, Mr. Ogle, as the Plaintiffs

alledge by their Bill; nor was the Defendant helped or assisted

therein by any other Persons than as before mei:tioned.

Saith, that, whilst the said Draught of the intended Articles of

Agreement, lay before the Defendant for his Perusal an iCon-
sideration, as aforesaid, several Alterations were made therein

by the Plaintiffs and their Agents, as well as by the Defendant
and his Agents; and particularly that the Clause mentioned by

the Plaintiffs Bill to have been inserted in the said Articles,

pending the time the said Draught lay before the Defendant for

his Consideration, as aforesaid, whereby it was provided, that in

case a sufficient Quorum of the Commissioners to be named on
either side, should not, from time to time, according to the

Appointments and Adjournments to be made for that purpose,

attend to proceed in the marking and running out the Lines and
Bounds aforesaid (for want thereof same could not be done with-

in the time limited) then the said Agreement should be void

:

and. in such case, the Party or Parties whose Commissioners
should make such Default should forfeit and pay unto the other
Party or Parties, whose Commissioners should attend, upon
Demand, the Sum of 50001. of law-fui Money of Great Britain, as

in the Bill is set forth, was looked upon as much for the Benefit

and Advantage of the Plaintiffs, as of the Defendant ; nor can
the Defendant certainly say, whether the same was first pro-

posed by the Defendant or his Agents, or by the Plaintiffs, or

some of their Agents, but, to the best of the Defendant's
memory and Belief, it was proposed by the Plaintiffs, or Mr.
Paris, on their behalf.

Nor doth this Defendant believe the Plaintiffs would have
complied with any Alterations proposed by the Defendant, or

any of his Agents, if the same had not been apparently for their



BOUNDARY gUP^STIOX. 131

own Advantaf?e; and whatt^ver Alterations were made, they
were such as the Plaintiffs, and their Agents themselves, thought
as reasonable and necessary, upon their being mentioned and
proposed, as the Defendant, or his Agents.
Believes it to be true, that the several Alterations in the

Plaintiff's Bill set forth to have been made in the Draught of

the said intended Articles of Agreement, after the same had
been delivered over to the Defendant and his Agents, as afore-

said, were agreed upon between the Plaintiffs and this Defend-
ant, and made part of the Agreement that was afterwards ex-

ecuted.

Defendant doth not recollect any other Alterations that were
made therein, while the said Draught laid before the Defend-
ant and his Agents, than as in the said Bill are set forth.

Saith all the Alterations that were proposed to be made by
the Defendant, or on his Behalf, in the said intended Agree-
ment, being so very reasonable, were readily complied Avith, and
agreed to. by the Plaintiffs and which the Defendant is not at

all surprized at, since he hath discovered the great Advantage
they had a design and view of gaining over the Defendant by
the said Agreement, and the great Disadvantage that was likely

to accrue therefrom to the Defendant, thro' the Error and
Misrepresentation that was inserted in the said Map or Plan,
upon the fof>t of which the said Agreement was founded; and
which the Plaintiffs, as the Defendant believes, knowingly and
designedly, took atlvantage of, from the Defendant's Ignor-
ance and Want of Knowledge of the several Places mentioned,
in the said Map or Plan, and of the due and proper Situation
and Distances thereof, without discovering the same to the De-
fendant.

For the Defendants saith, that, in the said Map or Plan, which
was so made use of as a Guide to the Parties in making the
said Agreement, there is a Place described and said to be Cape
Hinlopen, in which Place there is no such Cape: and that the
Place described or said by the said Map to be Cape Cornelius,
is the true Cape Hinlopen. originally so called by the Dutch,
and so described in their Maps ; the Signification of which Word
Hinlopen, in the Dutch Language, is, going in, from the Dutch
Word Hinlopen and the same, in the Plaintiffs pretended Deeds
of Feoffment, is called Cape Hinlopen, alias, the Whore-Kilns,
which formerly were there, or thereabouts, and are so described
in the said pretended Agreement ; which was a great Imposition
upon the Defendant and his Agents, and gr?atly misled them
therein, in regard the due East and West Line that was agreed
upon to be drawn a-cross the Peninsula, was to begin, on the
East Part of the Place, in the said Plan, or Map, called Cape
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Hinlopen. but ought to have ueen from that Place only which

in the said Map is called Cape Cornelius.

Believes, that the said Draught of the said Articles of Agree-

ment, was afterwards, about the Month of May 17^3, as in the

Bill, delivered over by the Defendant's Sollicitor, to the Plain-

tiffs, in order to be prepared and made ready for Execution,

and to be engrossed in the manner the Defendant and the Plain-

tiffs, and their several Agents, had agreed upon, as before set

forth : and that six Parts thereof, were accordingly, soon after-

wards engrossed, and duly executed by the Defendant and the

Plaintiffs Thomas and Richard Penn. on the lUth of May 1732,

in the manner as set forth in the Bill.

And belie\'es, that the said Articles of Agreement, so exe-

cuted as aforesaid, bore Date, and contained such Recitals and

particular Covenants, and were of such Purport and Effect, as

in the Bill are particularly mentioned and set forth ; but, for

his greater (Certainty, as to the Substance and Contents of the

said original Articles, begs leave to refer thereto, when pro-

duced.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that, during the time

the said Draught of the said Agreement was so under Consid-

eration, as aforesaid, and before the same was executed, the

said Map or Plan was carried to the said Senex to be engraved,

and was engraved by him. and that the Plaintiffs and the De-

fendant jointly paid the said Mr. Senex for the same, as in the

Bill is mentioned : and that the said Mr. Senex was desired,

and did give his Opinion, in Writing, upon the Propriety and

Fitness of the Terms and Expressions made use of in the said

Draught of the said Agreement ; but denies, that the same was

so done by the said Mr. Senex at the Desire andRequestof the

Defendant only, but as well as at the Desire and Request of the

Plaintiffs and their Agents, as of tlie Defendant.

Saith, that the said Senex was then, and still is, an entire

Stranger to the Defendant, in so much that the Defend-

ant doth not believe he should know him if he was to see

him; and he was named oidy upon that occasion as the most

known and properest Person for that purpose, and not as any

Acquaintance, Friend, or Servant of the Defendant's.

Believes, that, soon after the Execution of the said Agree-

ment, and as the Defendant believes, on the 12th Day of May
1732, the Plaintiffs and the Defendant did, severally and re-

spectively, execute such several Commissions, as in the Bill are

for that purpose mentioned, authorizing Commissioners therein

named, or any six. five, four, or three of them, to mark, run,

and lay out the Bounds so agreed upon.

Doth not certainly know, nor can set forth, whether the said
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several Commissions (that is to say) that executed bj' the De-
fendant, and that so executed by the Plaintifis, were or were not
exactly alike, and agreeable each to the other, in Form and Sub-
stance, the' he hath been informed and believes, they were alike

and agreeable, each to the other, only changing the Name and
Additions of the Persons who granted the I'owers and Authori-
ties thereby given, and to whom the Powers and Authorities
were granted, as in the said Bill are mentioned.
But, for his greater Certainty therein, and as to the Substance

and Contents of the said several Commissions, craves le.^ve to

refer to the same when produced.

Hath hard, and believes it to be true, that, some short time
after the Execution of the said Articles of Agreement, and re-

spective Commissions, and, for ought he knows to the contrary,

on the 20th Day of May 1733, as in the Bill, the Plaintiff Thomas
Penn left this Kingdom and embarked for Pensilvania, where,
he soon afterwards, as the Defendant hath likewise heard and
believes, arrived, and has continued there, to this time.

Believes, and hath heard that the said Thomas Penn carried

over with him thither the said Commission, executed on the
Plaintiffs Part, and also one Part of the said original Articles
of Agreement, executed as aforesaid.

And the Defendant, by the same Ship in which the said

Thomas Penn went, sent over to his Deputy-Grovernor at Mary-
land the said Commission, executed on the Defendant's Part,

and also, one Part of the said original Articles of Agreement,
executed as aforesaid, and, some short time after, sailed hiiji-

self to, and arrived at, his said Province of Maryland, as in

the Bill is mentioned.

Denies, that he endeavoured, or contrived, to take to himself
on his own Part all, or any, the Benefit which under the said
Articles might possibly result to him, and, at the same time,
to deprive the Plaintiffs of all or any manner of Benefit which
under the said Articles could possibly result to them, as by the
Bill is most untruly alledged.

Neither hath the Defendant, nor all, or any one, of his said
four Comnussioners, by his Direction, Advice, Consent, Privity,
or Knowledge used all imaginable, or any, Arts and Methods,
to frustrate and evade the naid Articles of Agreement, or to
prevent the making out the Lines and Bounds pursuant to the
same and the true meaning thereof, for the Reasons, or in the
manner, as is pretended by the Bill.

Denies that he either knows, or ever heard, save from the
Plaintiffs or their Agents, nor doth believe, that all of his said
Commissioners, or any of them, or their near Relations, as the
Plaintiffs charge by their said Bill, were possessed of Grants from
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the Defendant or his Officers under his Authority for large Tracts

of Land in general, without any Specification of the Place or

Places where such Tracts should be situated or taken up, which

Grants had not been located or seated, or that they, any, or

either of them, were in hopes to have laid out such their Grants

upon some improved or good Lands within the said Province

of Pensilvaniaand the said thre^ Lower Counties, any, or either

of them, but were prevented by the Ten^ of the said Articles

of Agreement, as in and by the said Bill is alledged.

Denies, that he was any ways prevailed upon or induced to

fly from his said Agreement, by the Advice, Persuasion, En-

treaty or Desire of the Defendant's said Commissioners, any,

or either of them, or any other Persons pretended to be pos-

sessed of like Grants, as pretended by the Bill, from the De-

fendant, or his Officers, of great, or any, Quantities of Land in

no certain or particular Place as by the Bill is suggested.

Denies, that his said Commissioners, any, or either of them,

ever Avrit, spoke, declared or mentioned to the Defendant, or to

any of the Defendant's Officers, Agents or Servants who ac-

quainted the Defendant thereof, that, in Case the Defendant

would not perform, but would break, that Agreement, they

themselves would raise and pay the 50001. Forfeit, or the

greatest, or some, or any Part thereof, or to any such or the

like Effect.

Denies, that he ever heard, save by the Bill, or that he be-

lieves, his said Commissioners, any, or either of them, ever de-

clared or gave out that they could not, if the Bound Lines

should be run as by the said Agreement was agreed, settle and

locate their large Grants upon such valuable Lands as they

hoped to have done by Encroachment, in case no Bounds had

been agreed upon, or to any such or the like Effect, as by the

Bill is suggested.

Denies, that he, in order to oblige such his Grantees, as by

the Bill is alledged, or for any other Purpose to the Preju-

dice of the Plaintiffs, writ, spoke to, advised or consulted

with many, or any, Persons in Maryland, or else-where. how,

or in what manner, or by what means, to avoid the running

and marking out the Lines in the manner and within the time

agreed on, and yet. at the same time, to avoid incurring and

paying the said 50001. Forfeiture in the said Articles provided,

ill any such Manner as set out and pretended in and by

the Bill, nor was any such Means or Method found out,

or agreed upon, for that Purpose as is suggested by the

Bill, nor was any such pretended Method or Resolution ad-

hered to by the Defendant and his said Commissiouers, or any,

or either of them, or any others, as is pretended by the Bill,
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to prevent the said Agreement being carried into Execution,

nor any such previous Measures concerted for that purpose in

the manner as by the Bill is alledged.

Has heard, and believes it to be true, that it is, to this Time,

and has long been, the usual, commoii and constant Method

in the said Province of Maryland, as it has been in other Pro-

vinces as he is informed and believes, to issue out Warrants

to Persons, of a certain xsumber of Acres of Land, uncultivated

and not taken up, within the said Province of Maryland at

Large, without specifying in what particular Spot, Parish, Pre-

cinct, Division or County, the same do or shall lie or be situated,

and to leave such Grantees at liberty to find out, and set down
upon, and appropriate to' themselves, under such Maryland

Grants at large, so many Acres as therein specified, in such

Places within the said Province of Maryland, not before taken

up and appropriated, as they like best, as in the Bill is alledged.

Likewise believes, that many of such Maryland Warrants may
be, now, extant, for large C^uantities of Land at large, within

the said Province of Maryland, which have not been yet seated

upon or appropriated.

Saith he believes most, if not all, of said Warrants that have

been issued, and under which no Lands liave been taken up or ap-

propriated, are now of no manner of Force, nor can any Lands
be now, as the Defendant believes, taken up or appropriated

under such Warrant, for that, for these fifteen Years past

or upwards, it hath been the usual Custom and Practice of the

Defendant, and of his Deputies and Officers in his said Province

of Maryland, to annihilate and make void all Warrants forLands,

where Lands are not taken up under the same wuthin a limited

Time, and Proclamations have, from Time to Time, been issued

from the Land-Office in Maryand, declaring all such W^arrants

void under which the Lands were not taken up within the

Time limited in such Proclamation for that purpose, and, after

the Expiration of Time limited by such Proclamations, the

said Warrants under which Lands were not taken up as afore-

said, were not allowed to take place.

And the Reason for the Defendant and his said Officers not

suffering such Warrants to stand out and be unappropriated

is, for that it hath been, and still is, the usual Method and
Practice for the Persons en!:itled to such Warrants, upon their

locating and taking up Lands under the same to have a Grant
issue to them of such Lands, and thereupon to pay a Fine or

Sum of Money to the Defendant as Lord Proprietor.

Saith that, for ought he knows to the contrary it may be

true, tho' he never heard it any otherwise than from the Plain-

tifls, and therefore hath no Reason to believe, nor doth he be-
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lieve, that several of such unappropriated Maryland Warrants

or Grants at large are now in the Hands of any of the Gentle-

men who were the Defendant's Commissioners for executing

the said Agreement of 1732, and several other eonsideraljle Men

in the said Province of Maryland, as by the Bill is alledged.

neither doth the Defendant know, nor can set forth, nor can

form any Belief, Avhat particular Grants, or of what particular

Quantity of Land, or Number of Acres, within Maryland, if any

such there are, are in the Hands or Possession of his said Com-

missioners respectively, or either of them, or of any Person in

Maryland, in regard such Grants, when made, are assignable

from one to another, and, therefore, it is impossible the De-

fendant should know, or can set forth, the particular Properties

in such Grants; but denies that he either knows, or believes,

or lias been any ways informed, by any of such Maryland

Grantees, or others, that such Maryland Grantees, or any, or

either of them, did design or intend, by virtue of such pre-

tended Maryland Grants, to set down upon and appropriate

Lands which would, or which they apprehended would, by the

Agreement in 1732 fall within the Plaintiffs pret.ended Bounds.

Neither doth this Defendant know or believe, or has ever

been' informed, that any Disappointment, or expected Disap-

pointment, in approjjriating such Lands, was any Motive or

Inducement to any of his said Commissioners to the not com-

pleating and executing the said Agreement of 1732, as in the

Bill is siiggested; but the Reason of the said Agreement not

being carried comj^leatly into Execution by the said Commis-

sioners, so far as related to them, was, as the Defendant hath

heard and verily believes, entirely owing to the Conduct of

the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and to the Difference in Opinion,

that had happened between them and the Defendant's Com-

missioners, with respect to the Method of running the Circle

round Newcastle, and the Dimensions of such Circle, as herein

afterwards is mentioned.

Hath heard, and believes it to be true, that the Meetings

Ijetween the Plaintiffs Commissioners and the Defendant's said

Co;nmissioners, for running the Lines pursuant to the said

Agreement, were begun at Newtown, in Maryland, on the Gth Day

of October 1732, and were continued to the 24th of November

1733. at the several Times and Places in the Bill for that pur-

pose set forth and mentioned, and, for ought the Defendant

knows to the contrary, and as the Defendant believes, such

Meetings were continued, adjourned, and held again, at the

several Times and Places in the Bill for that purpose men-

tioned, but the Defendant, not being present at anv of the said

Meetings himself, cannot certainly set forth the several and
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particular Times and Places of the Meetin-s of the said Com-
missioners oi his own Knowledge, or in any other Manner than
as he has herein before set forth the same.
Denies that he either knows, or believes, or hath ever been in-

formed, that all and every the Matters and Things in the Bill
set forth, and mentioned to have been transacted and passed
by and between the said Commissioners on both Sides, at their
several Meetincrs as aforesaid, or any of them, were so trans-
acted and passed by and between the Defendant's said Com-
missioners, or any or either of them, in the Manner, or with
the Views or Designs, as represented and alledged in and by
the Bill, or with any other fraudulent Views or Intent or De-
signs whatever, nor can the Defendant, either to his Know-
ledge, Information or Belief, set forth the several Matters that
passed between his said Commissioners and the PlaintifTs at
their several Meetings aforesaid, in any other Manner than as
he hath herein after set forth the same, the Defendant not
being present at such Meetings, nor iinowing anything thereof,
otherwise than from what he hath heard and been informed
from his said Commissioners.
Saith that the Account he hath received from his said Com-

missioners, of the several Matters and Transactions that were
had between them and the Plaintiflis said Commissioners at
their several Meetings aforesaid, is as follows, that is to say.

The Defendant hath been informed, by his said Commis-
sioners, and which Information the Defendant believes to be
true, that on the fith and 7th Days of October 1732 a Quorum
of the Commissioners on each Side appointed for running the
Bounds pursuant to the said Agreement, met, and adjourned
to Newcastle Town, in Delaware, on 30th of same October.
At which Time and Place the Defendant hath been, in like

manner, informed, and believes, a Quorum of the Commission-
ers met, on each Side, and the Defendant's Commissioners in-
sisting to have the Charter of Pensilvania, and the Deed of
Feoffment for Newcastle produced, the second Article of the
Agreement, directing the Commissioners to run out the Circle
mentioned in die said Charter and Deed of Feoffment at 12
Miles Distance from Newcastle, the Plaintiffs Commissioners
produced Copies or Exemplifications thereof, and a Dispute aris-
ing where tht-y should fix the Centre of the Circle? the said
Commissioners adjourned to the 1st of February then next.
And the Defendant hath been, in like manner, informed and

believes, that on the 1st Day of February the said Commission
ers met according to their last Adjournment, and adjourned
to the next Day. and that on the next Day being the 2d of
February, the said Commissioners met again on both Sides,
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when a Dispute arising concerning the Dimensions of the

Circle intended to be run about Newcastle, they adjourned to

live in the Afternoon, at which time, at the Request and De-

ire of the Defendant's Commissioners, in order to prevent

any further Doubts or Disputes, and that they might agree in

Opinion touching the Dimensions of the said intended Circle,

the PhiintilTs Commissioners were prevailed upon to agree to

consult and hear Mathematicians on each Side.

And the Defendant hath, in like manner, been informed and

believes, that the Commissioners accordingly met again in the

Afternoon of the 2d of February, according to their said last-

mentioned Adjournment, but the Plaintiffs Commissioners ac-

quainting the Defendant's Commissioners that their principal

Mathematician was so ill of the Gout that he could not attend,

and desiring the Matter in dispute, and Question thereon, might

be reduced into Writing, and that, if their said Mathematician

could not attend the next Day, they would produce his Answer

in Writing, the Defendant's Commissioners, to prevent any

Delay or Loss of Time, offered to go themselves to the Plain-

tiffs said Mathematician, and to carry their Mathematicians

with them, but which the Plaintiffs Commissioners, as the

Defendant hath been informed and believes, would not comply

with and refused, upon which the Defendant's said Commis-
sioners reduced the Matter and Dispute in question into Writ-

ing, and the same was delivered to the Plaintiffs Commissioners

and then, the Commissioners on each Side agreed to adjourn

till next Morning at ten at the same Place.

According to which last Adjournment the Defendant hath

likewise been informed and believes, the Defendant's Commis-
sioners attended, being on the 3d of February following, and
noneof the Plaintiffs Commissioners attending, the Defendant's
Commissioners, after having stayed a long time, ordered the Offi-

cer of the Court-house to go and acquaint the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners that they the Defendant's saidCommissioners were there,

and readj' to go on Business, and to desire the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners to come immediately and join with them, it being

long after the Hour appointed.

Some time after which, as the Defendant hath been informed

and believes, two of the Plaintiffs Commissioners came, and,

some time afterwards, a third of the Plaintiffs said Commis-
sioners came, upon which the Defendant's Commissioners, after

taking notice of their Delay and of the Time they had stayed,

desired, as there was then a (Quorum on each Side, they might
then proceed to Business without further Delay, and, as a

Reason and Inducement for the Plaintiff's Commissioners to

comply therewith, the Defendant's said Commissioners ae-
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quainted them, as the Truth really was as the Defendant hath
heard and believes, that the Defendant's said Mathematicians
were obliged to return to Maryland that Day, and the Defend-

ant's Commissioners then produced and read the Answer of

their Mathematicians, in Writing, to the Matter in Dispute and
Question thereon as settled and reduced into Writing at their

last Meeting, -whereupon, and immediately after reading there-

of, as the Defendant hath been informed and believes, one of

the Plaintiffs Commissioners withdrew himself, by reason

whereof there was not a sufficient Quorum of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners left to proceed on Business; upon which the De-

fendant's Commissioners, after staying a considerable time in

hopes either that the Commissioner of the Plaintiffs would
return who had withdrawn himself, or that some other would
have come, there being then, as the Defendant hath been in-

formed and believes, five of the Plaintiffs Commissioners there

then in that Town, but none of them coming, as the Defendant's

said Commissioners were in Hopes and Expectation they would
have done, the Defendant's Commissioners took notice thereof

to the Plaintiffs Commissioners then present, and observed that

it seemed very strange and surprizing to them that they did not

meet to proceed according to the said Adjournment, and that,

if they delayed in coming any longer, the Defendant's said Com-
missioners would think themselves obliged to quit the Place

and jjrotest against their Non-attendance; upon which the

Plaintiffs Commissioners said Mr. Hamilton, one of their Com-
missioners was ill of the Gout, and not able to attend ; where-

upon the Defendant's Commissioners agreed to go to Mr. Hamil-
ton, if the Plaintiffs Commissioners desired it, but which as

the Defendant hath been informed and believes, the Plaintiffs

Commissioners did not agree to do; and the Defendant's Com-
missioners having waited some time longer with their Mathe-
maticians, and none of the Plaintiffs Commissioners coming.
or sending any Message, the Defendant's Commissioners again
repeated to the said two of the Plaintiffs Commissioners then
present, the Necessity they the Defendant's said Commission-
ers should be under of leaving the Place, and protesting against

the Plaintiffs Commissioners for Non-attendance, if a sufficient

Number did not, in a short time, come.
And the Defendant's said Commissioners having stayed some

time longer, to no manner of purpose, and it being then 35 Min-
utes after 12 o'Clock, and consequently the Appointment for

that Morning at an end, and the Defendant's said Commission-
ers having heard that one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners had
at the last Meeting declared the Affair to be transacted by them
would not end there, but must be carried to England, from
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whence, and Iroiii their wilfully neglecting to attend at the said

Meeting, the Defendant's said Commissioners were fully satisfied

and convinced, as they have since informed the Defendant, that

the Plaintiffs Connnissioners had v.u other Intent than to break

ofif any further I'roceedings towards executing the said Agree-

ment. and, therefore, the Defendant's said Commissioners. before

and in the Presence of one of the PlaintifTs said Commissioners

(one of the two who were before i)resent hav^ing. some time be-

fore, withdrawn himself) protested against the Non-attendance

of the said Plaintiffs said Commissioners, reserving all Benefit

and Advantage which did or might accrue to the Defendant by

reason thereof, and then left the Place and returned to Mary-

land.

Admits that he the Defendant was then in Maryland, and

that, on the Return of his said Commissioners to Maryland,

and on the loth of the same February, he the Defendant wrote

a Letter, to the Governoi- of Pensilvania and one of the Plain-

tifTs Commissioners, setting forth the Attendance of the Defend-

ant's own Commissioners, and the Non-attendance of the Plain-

tiffs, and that, were he the Defendant inclinable to make a

strict Use of this voluntary Failure on the Side and Part of the

Plaintiffs Commissioners, he the Defendant might disregard any

further Notice or Execution of the said Agreement, and entitle

himself, iunnediately. to the Forfeiture thereby mentioned by

the Plaintiffs, but that, being fortunately in Person there, he

the Defendant could recede in some measure from the Advantage

he might claim from the Non-attendance of the Plaintiffs said

Commissioners, which the Defendant's own (Commissioners

could not have done if the Defendant had not been there present

himself, and signifiying that the Defendant was willing, and

did therel)y offer, and had given Directions to his own Couimis-

sioners, to meet the Plaintiffs Commissioners on the first Mon-
day in May then next, at Joppa in Maryland, but with this

Salvo of all Right. Benefit and Advantage he the Defendant

might claim from theNon-attendance or Failure of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners on the 8d of February, as herein before is men-
tioned and set forth.

Saith he hath been informed by his said Commissioners. and be-

lieves it to be true, that after the Defendant had sent such Letter

to the Governor of Pensilvania and one of the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners as herein before is mentioned, that is to say, on the

28th Day of March 1T8;1 the Plaintiffs Commissioners wrote a

Letter to the Defendant's Commissioners, telling the Defend-

ant's Counnissioners that though they the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners did not i>unctually attend the said 3d of February, ac-

cording to their Adjournment, that yet, that Afternoon, they
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were ready to attend and bad given the DefendanfsCommission-
ers Notice thereof, and also served the Defenchmt's said Com-
missioners with a Notice to meet the 5th of that February, but
that the Defendant's Commissioners had refused to attend, in-
sisting on the said Failure in the Plaintiffs Commissioners;
and by such Letter the Plaintiffs Connnissioners gave the De-
fendant's Commissioners Notice that they would be ready to
meet at Newcastle, on the l(Jth Day ot April theii next;- in
Answer to which Letter of the Plaintiffs said Commissioners,
the Defendant saith he hath been informed by liis said Com-
missioners, and believes it to be true, that his Commissioners
sent to the Plaintiffs Commissioners a Notice, in Writing, re-
citing their former Default, and the Defendants said former
Letter offering to renew their Meeting (under a Reservation of
his Benefit to the Forfeiture) and giving the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners Notice that they the Defendant's Commissioners would
attend and meet them, at Joppa, the first Monday in May,
agreeable to the Defendant's said Offer to tliem in his said
Letter.

Hath l)een informed, and believes it to be true, that on the
said 7th, and also on the 8th and 9th of May 1733, the Commis-
sioners, on both Sides, accordingly met, at Joppa, when the
Defendant's Commi.ssioners asked the Plaintiffs Commissioners
if they had procured the Opinion of any skilful Matliematicians
on the Question in Dispute between them at their former Meet-
ing? Upon which the Plaintiffs Commissioners insisted there
was no manner of Occasion, either to consult with Mathemati-
cians, or to regard the Charter of Pensilvania, or Deed of Feoff-
ment of Newcastle, in relation thereto, but only to pursue the
Directions of the second Article of the Agreement : but tire De.
fendant's Commissioners then insisted, as they had before at
their former Meetings, that tlie said second Article of the Agree-
ment had plain Reference to the said Charter and De.^d of
Feoffment, and that tliey must insist on explaining the Nature
of the Circle to be drawn agreeable to such Reference, and the
Opinion of their Mathematicians, unless the Plaintiff's Commis.
sioners would satisfy them of theError of suehOpinion with that
of other Mathematicians, which the Plaintiffs Commissioners iv-

fused to do. and after a very long Debate, as the Defendant hath
been informed and believes, it was agreed between the Commis-
sioners, on both sides, to meet at Mr. Norris's,in Philadelphia, on
the 21st Day of May; with this Proviso that, if the Defendant's
Commissioners could not, with Conveniency, return from Bur-
lington, where they were going, so as to meet on that Day, then
the Plaintiffs Commissioners agreed, on Notice given them by
the Defendant's Commissioners of a Day t meet, at the same
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Place before their return to Maryland, they would meet them,

at such Time and Place, accordingly, and that if, after such

Meeting and Stay of the Defendant's Commissioners in Phila-

delphia with the" Plaintiffs Commissioners one Day, they could

not readily agree upon an Adjournment, that then, the Defend-

ant's Commissioners should not be longer detained from re-

turning to their respective Homes, they the Defendant's Com-

missioners accepting a Notice, in Writing, to be delivered to

any of one them, to meet the Plaintiffs, at Mr. Paterson's, in

Newcastle County, the 18th Day of June then next.

Hath, in like manner, been informed and believes it to be

true, that the Defendant's Commissioners not returning from

Burlington so as to meet on the 2 1st of May, they the Defend-

ant's Commissioners did, according to their said last mentioned

Agreement, on the 25th of May send a Notice in Writing, to

the Plaintiffs Commissioners, to meet them, at Mr. Norris's,

on the next Day, being the 26th of May, at 10 of the Clock in

the Forenoon.

Hath likewise heard, and believes, that, on the said 2fith of

May, the said Commissioners, on both sides, accordingly met,

and, in regard the Defendant's speedy Departure for England

rendered it very inconvenient for the Defendant's Commission-

ers to meet in June, as was before agreed on, and the Heats of

the Months of June and July being such as would render the

attending running the Lines very unsafe, the Commissioners,

on each Side, agreed To meet, at the Town of Newcastle, on the

3d of September then next, in order to the running, and marking

out the Lines according to the said Articles of Agreement.

Hath been informed, and believes it to be true, that, on the

said 3d of September 1733. the said Commissioners, on both

Sides, 'accordingly met. at Newcastle, and continued together

that Day and also the three next Days following ; all which Days,

as the Defendant hath been informed and believes, were spent

in debating what were the Dimensions of the Circle intended

to be run? the Defendant's Commissioners insisting, agreeable

to the Opinion of their Mathematicians, that the Circle to be run

and marked out was the Circle mentioned and described in the

Deed of Bargain and Feoffment of Newcastle and no other, and

which they were informed and convinced, (as they have in-

formed the Defendant and as the Defendant believes) by their

Mathematician was such a Circle whose Circumference or Peri-

phery is 12 Miles, and whose Diameter is somewhat less than

four Miles, whereas the Plaintiffs Commissioners insisted the

Circle to be run must be a Circle to be drawn at the Distance

- of 12 Miles from Newcastle, and that such a Circle whose Radius

was 12 Miles was the only Circle they could run, and the Plain-
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tiffs CoiimiitJsioners insisted to reject all Assistance troui Mathe-
maticians, as needless and unnecessary, and the Defendant's
(Commissioners, and the Plaintiffs thus differing, in their Sen-
timents, about the Dimensions of the Circle directed to be
run by the second Article of the said Agreement, the Commis-
sioners, on both Sides, agreed to and did adjourn for further

Consideration of the Premisses in Question, to the 14th Day
of the then next November.
Hath in like manner been informed by his said Commission-

ers, and believes it to be true, that, on the 14th Day of Novem-
ber 1738, the said Commissioners, on each Side, met according
to their said last Adjournment, and the same Differances in

Opinion still containing between them, that and the two next
Days, and they not being al)le to agree in the Dimensions of

the Circle to be run, the Defendant's said Commissioners, on
the 16th Day of the same No member, finding that nothing could
be done, with any effect, with respect to the running the said

intended Circle, proposed to the Plaintiffs Commisssioners to go
to Cape Hinlopen, in order to proceed as far as they could
towards the Execution of the said Agreement, and in running
tiie East and West Line directed by the said third Article

to be run from thence: but which, the Defendant hath been
informed by his said Coumiissioners and believes, the Plaintiffs

Commissioners refused to agree to, till the running the Circle
directred by the said Articles of Agreement was first done and
compleated.

Hath been informed, and believes, the said Commissioners,
on each Side, continued sitting till the 24th Day of the same
November, and neither receding, but each persisting, in their
Opinions, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners refusing to take
the Advice and Assistance of the Mathematicians for their
Guide and better Information as the Defendant's Commisssion-
ers frequently offered them and were desirous of doing, the De-
fendant's Commissioners were oblidg.d, seeing nothing could
effectually be done, at last to consent with the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners to break up their Meeting without any further Ad-
journment, and accordingly, as the Defendant hath been in-

formed and believes, on the said 24th Day of the said November,
an Instrument was drawn up, which was in the following Words
(viz.)

Whereas by Articles of Agreement, made the 10th Day of May
1732, between the Right Honourable Charles Lord Baltimore,
Proprietor Df the Province of Maryland, on the one Part, and
the Honourable John Penn, Thomas Penn, and Richard Penn,
Esqrs. Proprietors of the Province of Pensilvania and Counties
of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex upon Delaware, on the other
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Part, it was agreed and concluded that a certain Circle, in

the said Articles mentioned, or so much thereof as should be

requisite, and also that a due East and West Line, should be

drawn, across the Peninsula mentioned in the said Articles or

so much thereof as should be requisite; such East and West

Line to begin, at Cape Hinlopen in the said Articles mentioned,

and that, from the Western Point or End of the said East and

West Line, which Western Point or End shall be just half way

a-cross the said Peninsula, a strait Line shall run Northward

up the said Peninsula (and above the said Peninsula, if it re-

quires it) till it shall so touch the Western Part or Periphery

of the said Circle as to make a Tangent thereto, &c., and divers

other Lines, in the said Articles also mentioned, should be run,

marked and laid out before the 25th Day of December, in the

Year 1733, by certain Commissioners, to be respectively ap-

pointed for the said purpose. And whereas the said Lord Pro-

prietor of Maryland, on his Part, by his Commission, datedithe

12th Day of the said Month of May, made in pursuance of the

said Articles of Agreement, and duly executed, did appoint the

Honourable Samuel Ogle Esq., Lieutenant-trovernor, the Hon-

ourable Charles Calvert Esq; Philemon Lloyd, Michael Howard,

Richard Bennet, Benjamin Tasker, and Matthew Tylghman

Lloyd Esqs; or any six, five, four or three of them, to be hi

Commissioners, for the Purposes in the said Articles mentioned.

And whereas the said Proprietors of Pensiivania and said

(Jounties, by their Commission, dated the same 12th Day of

May, made in pursuance of the said Articles of Agreement, and

duly executed, did, in like manner, appoint the Honourable

Patrick Gordon Esq., (iDvernor, Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston,

James Logan and Andrew Hamilton Esqrs. and James Steele

and Robert Charles C+ent. or any six, five, four or three of them,

to be their Counuissioners, for the Purpose in the said Articles

mentioned.

And whereas six of the said (jommissioners on the Part of

Maryland, viz. the (iovernor of Maryland, Charles Calvert,

Philemon Lloyd, Michael Howard, Richard Hennet and Mat-

thew Tylghman Lloyds Eqs. and six on the Part of Pensiivania

viz. the Governor of Pensiivania. Isaac Norris. Samuel Preston

and Andrew Hamilton Esqs: an.l James Steele and Robert

Charles Gent, did, on the (ith Day of October 17:32, meet, at

Newtown in the County of Kent, in Maryland, and from thence

adjourned to the 30th Day of the same Month, to meet at New-

castle, in order then to proceed to mark out the Circle in the

said Agreement mentioned, and accordingly six of the saiil Com.

missioners on the Part of Maryland, and all the Commissioners

on the Part oi Pensiivania, met at Newcastle, on the said 3()th
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of October, and have there had divers Conferences, for some
Days, about the Execution of tlie said Articles adjourned to
a further Day.
And whereas, because of the Indisposition of the said Richard

Bennet, one of the Commissioners for Maryland, the Lord Pro
prietor of the said Province and chief Governor thereof tlien
executing in Person the Powers of Government in Maryland
found it necessary to appoint Edmund Jennings Esq; to be on,-
of his Commissioners in the Place of the said Richard Bennet
for the Purpose in the said Articles mentioned, pursuant t<',

Powers reserved to each Governor for such Purposes- also bv
reason of the Death of the said Philemon Llovd Esq- and' uV
the indisposition of said Charles Calvert Esq ; the Honour-
able Samuel Ogle Esq

; Lieutenant-Governor of the said Pro
vinee of Maryland, after the Departure of the Lord Baltimore
out of his said Province, in pursuance of the Powers aforesaid
in the said Articles or Commission made for that Purpose
found it necessary to appoint others, and accordingly bv his
Commission, duly executed, dated the "did ap-
point John Ross Esq ; in the Place and Stead of the said Charles
Calvert, and by his Commission, dated the duly
executed, did, in like manner, appoint James Harris Esq • in
the Place and Stead of the said Philemon Lloyd, to be Com-
missioners for the Purposes aforesaid.
And whereas, after tlie aforesaid Meeting at Newcastle, divers

Appointments and Adjournments having been made.and sundrv
Propositions and Debates, at their several Meeting.s. past, five
of the said Commissioners on the Part of Maryland viz the
Honourable Samuel Ogle Esq; Benjamin Tasker, 'fidmund
Jennings Esqs; John Ross and James Harris Esqs- and five
Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania. viz. Isaac Norris
Samuel Preston, James Logan and Andrew Hamilton Esqs- and
James Steele Gent, pursuant to their last preceding Adjourn-
ments, met, at the Town of Neweastk-, on the 14th Day of
this Instant November 17;«, were, resuming their former
Debates, and making divers Propositions to each other om
both sides, from the said 14tli to this 24th Dav of the said No-
vember, each Side continued to persist in their former Opinions
that is, the Commissioners on the part of Pensilvania insisted'
as they always had done, on running and marking out a Circle
or so much thereof as should be requisite, at the Distance
of 12 English Statute Miles from the town of Newcastle is in
the second Article of the Agreement is directed, as the onlv
Circle they conceived themselves impowered to run - and the
Commissioners for Maryland, <.n their Part, insisted as at

10— Vol. XV. ' '
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former Meetings they had done, upon running a Circle, or so

much thereof as should be requisite, whose Periphery or Cir-

cumference is 12 Miles, as the only Circle meant in the Deed of

Bargain and Sale and Deed of Feoffment for Newcastle, and as

the only Circle, intended by the Proprietors in the said Articles,

which Circle the Commissioners of Maryland conceived them-
f>flves only impowered to run.

And that, under this Difference of judgment (the Commis-
sioners of Pensilvania having refused to proceed to Cape Hin-
Icpen, in order to fix the Cape, and run the East and West Line,

l)e('ause they say, for the Reasons by them assigned, it could be

to no manner of purpose) the Commissioners of Maryland were
of Opinion that no other Consequence can arise than, either,

the Commissioners should continue at Newcastle until the said

25th of December next, without running the said Circle about
Newcastle, or, depart from Newcastle M'ithout further Ad-
journment; and as the last 11 Days, since the 14th of this In-

stant inclusive, have passed in Debates that have not, in the
least, tended to any nearer Agreement between the Commis-
sioners, and the Time, limited for executing the said Articles,

is now so near expiring that, even, with the utmost Industry
and Application, it would, scarce, by any means, be found
practicable to run and mark out and fix all the several Lines
in the Articles agreed and required to be done.

Wherefore, upon the whole, tiie Commissioners, on botn
Sides, under these Circumstances, agree that it cannot Answer
any of the Purpose intended by the said Articles to continue
longer together, and, therefore, think it proper to depart
without further Adjournment, and leave the Conduct of the
Commissioners, on both Sides and their Endeavours used
towards the Execution of the aforesaid Articles of Agreement
to the justice and Wisdom of their Superiors. Samuel Ogle,
Edmund Jennings, Benjamin Tasker, John Ross. Isaac
Norris, James Logan, Samuel Preston, A. Hamilton.
Done at Newcastle. Nov. 24. Ainio Domini 1733. In Presence
of David French. J^os^Wood. S. Bourn.
Which Instrument, as the Defendant hath been informed and

believes, was jointly signed by the Commissioners on both
Sides, and accordingly, the 2oth of December 1733 came without
any thing first being done towards running the said Line or
('ircles or Yjerforniing the said Agreement.
Saith that he cannot, either as to his Knowledge, Information

or Belief, in any other manner, set forth the several Matters
and Transactions tliat passed and were had between liis Com-
missioners and the Plaintiffs (Commissioners, than as herein
before is particularly iiiciitioned and set forth, save and ex('ei)t
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that he hath rceeived, from his own Commissioners, several

Papers, purporting: to contain an Account of what passed

between the Defendant's Coumiissioners and the Plaintiff's

Commissioners at several of their said Meetings, being Copies

;;s the Defendant is informed and believes, of several Papers

Cnat were delivered by the said Commissioners on each side

lo each other at several of their Meetings, Coijies of all which

Papers the Defendant, for the Plaintiffs further Satisfaction,

hath set forth by way of Schedule to this his Answer, and prays

that the same may be taken as part thereof.

Saith he arrived in New-England on the 3d Day of September

1732, from whence he proceeded directly to Maryland, and got

there on the 14th Day of November following.

Denies he knows, or believes, or ever heard, that his Com-

missioners made all or any of the Cavils or Objections in the

manner as by the Bill is set forth, or that they acted in any

other manner than as herein before is mentioned, and denies

that he was knowing of, or privy to, all, or any, pretended De-

signs of his said Commissioners, or to what they had done, or

intended to do, till such time as they gave or sent this Defend-

ant an Account of what had passed at their said Meeting.

Denies that he previously advised, consented to, directed, ap-

proveds or was acquanted with, any of his said Commissioners

Doubts, Scruples, and Objections, made by his said Conniiission-

ers at their Meetings as before set forth, or knew any thing, or

was any ways apprized thereof, till after the same had really

and in fact happened, until he received an Account thereof

from his said Commissioners, and of what had passed at their

said Meetings in the manner before set forth.

Denies that he knows, or in his Conscience believes, or has

ever been informed, that it was the Intention and Resolution

of all, or any, or either of his said Commissioners, to defeat

and prevent the running out the Lines aforesaid, agreed upon

by the said Articles, in the manner as by the Bill is set forth.

And denies that his said Commissioners, or any or either of

them, after the Execution of the said engross'd Articles of the

10th of May 1732, in any manner endeavoured to persuade the

Defendant not to compleat and perform the same, or to his

Knowledge or Belief acted in any other manner than as' herein

before is particularly mentioned and set forth.

Denies that he was, bv any means whatsoever, brought, or

induced to wish, or desire, or intend, that the said Agreement

micrht, or should not, be carried into Execution, till such times

j;s he was clearly convinced he had been greatly imposed U])on

therein by the Plaintiffs.

Denies that he ever, until after he had discovered the Impo-
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sition put upon him, and which he discovered during his so

being in Maryland, consulted, conversed, or advised with, any

Person whatsoever, how the Execution of tlie said Agreement

of May 17:52 might be avoided or evaded, as pretended and set

forth in and by the Bill; but after such Imposition discovered,

and after his Arrival in England from Maryland, he admits he

took tlip Opinion of several Counsel thereon.

Neither knows, not hath heard, of any other Objections or

Difficulties that were started by his Commissioners, with respect

to the several Matters under their Consideration, than as herein

before is set forth; and denies that such Objections were

made, or insisted on, with or by his Privity or Direction; nor

had he any Knowledge or Information thereof, till he received

an Account thereof from his Commissioners in the manner

before-mentioned.

Saith he does approve of the said several Proceedings of his

said Commissioners, in the manner as herein before set forth;

the same being consistent with, and agreeable to his own real

Opinion, and the Justice of the Case, as he verily believes.

Saith that, from the Information he hath received, and the Re-

presentation that hath been made to him of his Commissioners

Behaviour and Proceeding, he in his Conscience believes that his

said Commissioners acted, in all things, with that Candour,

Fairness, and Dispatch, which he himself intended and agreed

they should do at the time when he executed the said Agree-

ment on the loth of May 1732.

Saith that in regard he was over-reached by the Plaintiffs in

the said Agreement, and greatly deceived and misled therein by

the ^lap or Plan upon which tlie said Agreement was fouiided.

he is not desirous that the saiil Agreement of the 10th of May

1732 should be executed and fulfilled, but, on the contrary,

hopes, for the Reasons before-mentioned, the same shall not be

carried into Execution. And in case this Court should be of

Opinion, that the said Agreement ought to be carried into Exe-

cution, in that Case, is advised and insists that the Circle,

thereby agreed to be run about the Town of Newcastle, ought

to Vje a Circle whose Periphery only is 12 Miles, and whose

Semi-diameter is two Miles; and not a Circle whose Semi-diame-

ter is 12 Miles, as the Plaintiffs insist upon.

Denies that, at any of the several times of his producing and

reading his said Notes or Proposals, pending the .said Treaty

with the Plaintiffs, and before the said Agreement with them,

or at the time of executing the said Agreement with them, on

the 10th of May 1732, he meant, or intended, that the said

Circle, agreed upon, should be a Circle whose Semi-diameter-

was to be 12 Miles, as by the Bill is pretended.
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Believes the Commissioners, on each Side, in ease no sucli

Difference in Judgment had arose between them as is before set

forth, miglit. witliin tlie Space of four Weeks, at a proper Sea-

son of tlie Year, liave mark'd and run out the Circle, and Lines,

mentioned in the said Agreement of the 10th of May 1732.

Admits he did cause to be presented, to his present Majesty, a
Petition in his own Name, on the 8th of August 1734, as in the
Bill, praying a Confirmatory Grant of such Parts of the said

Peninsula as are contained within the Limits of his said Charter,
notwithstanding the words Uactemits inculta inserted in the
recital of the said Charter.

But denies that he either knows, or believes, that any falsi-

ties were alledged or set forth in such his Petition to his

Majesty, or that any Matters or Things that were necessary, on
his part, to be laid before his Majesty were omitted, as is

pretended by the Bill.

Saith that the Reason why he did not mention in his said

Petition neither the Plaintiffs, nor their Father, nor the said

Province of Pensilvania, nor the said three Lower Counties
by Name, nor set forth any thing relating to the said Agree-
ment of May 1733, was, because, as he was advised, such Mat-
ters were no ways material or pertinent to be set forth in such
his Petition to his Majesty as aforesaid.

And the Reason why he inserted in his said Petition that

there was such a Report or Order in Council of the 4th of April
1638, relating to William Clayborne and the Isle of Kent, was,
because such Order appears entered in the Books as of Record
at the Board of Trade, and because he, and his Agents con-
cerned for him, thought it was necessary to be stated in his

Petition, and pertinent to the Prayer thereof.

And denies that he eitlier knows, or believes, that any thing
was purposely omitted, or concealed, in his said Petition, either

with respect to the Report of the Committee for Trade and
Foreign Plantations in 1(580, as by the Bill is pretended, or in any
other respect whatsoever.

Saith tint, for ought he knows to the eontrarv, the Plaintiff

•John Penn might be gone tor America, at the Time the Defend-
ant presented his said last mentioned Petition to his Majesty,
but the Defendant did not know the same, his going from
England being in a secret and private Manner; besides, one of

the Plaintiffs was then, and still is. in England; but denies
that he purposed, or expected, any advantatre whatsoever to'

himself, by the Absence of the Plaintiffs John and Thomas
Penn.

Admits he did present the said last mentioned Petition to his

Majesty in order to obtain a Confirmatory Grant of the said
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three Lower (Joiintie« for himself, and for his own Use, Benefit

and Advantage, ana not as a Trustee for tlie Plaintiffs, the J)e-

fendant apprehending; tlie Plaintiffs had no manner of Right

or Title thereto, and that the same were clearly compri/ed

within the Limits of his said Orginal Charter of Maryland.

Denies that lie either knows, or believes, or knew, or did

Ijelieve, at the Time of his presenting his said Petition to his

Majesty, that his Majesty, ui)on a fair and full Representation

of the whole (Jase, as is pretended l)y the Bill, would not grant

it; or that he the Defendant, for that, or any other Reason, con-

cealed or omitted any Matter or Thing whatsoever in his said

Petition, or which the Defendant thought necessary or material

o be set forth.

Saith the Reason why he did not take any Notice, in his said

Petition to his Majesty, of any Improvements pretended by the

Plaintiffs to have been made in the said Three Lower Counties,

or the Plaintiffs pi-etended Possession of them, was, because

he did not know, nor was privy, nor does he now know, of any

Improvements that had been made by the Plaintiffs thereon;

and for that such a limited Possession as the Plaintiffs have

had in the said three Lower Counties was, in the Defendant';.;

Apprehension, no manner of Evidence at all of their Right or

Title thereto, or their Property therein, and therefore the De-

fendant did not think it any ways material or nceessary to be

stated ; nor doth he know or believe that it was any ways neces-

sary, material or proi)er, to have stated in his said Petition any
of the Facts, or Matters, in the Bill, pretended, and untruly al-

ledged, to have been designedly or otherwise omitted or con-

cealed therein; nor was the same, to the Knowledge or Belief

of the Defendant, draM'n or framed with any such Design or

View as is suggested by the Bill ; on the contrary saith, he as-

suredly believes, if his Agents, or the Persons concerned for him
in solliciting the same, had thought any of the Facts or Matters,

by the Plaintiffs pretended to have been omitted therein, were

necessary or i)roper Facts to have been stated therein, or that

their not stating the same could with any colour of Reason

have been imputed as a Design or Intention in them, or in the

Defendant, of imposing upon their Lordships by that means,

or misguiding their Lordships Judgment, as the Plaintiffs

ridiculously insinuate, they would certainly, and of their own
accord, have stated and represented the same fully to tlieir

Lordships.

Denies that he took, or intended to take, any Advantage of

the Absence of the Plaintiff John Penn, at the Time of his pre.

senting such his last mentioned Petition to his Majesty : nor did

the Defendant, with any such View, or desiornediy,take that Op-
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portunity of presenting it rather than before, as is insinuated by
the Bill

:
but saith he caused the same to be presented as eoon as

possibly he could after his return to England from Maryland,
without any regard to the Absence or Presentee of the said'piain-
tiff John Penn. And saith that the said Plaintiff John Penn's
Departure was unknown, and unheard of, bv the Defendant, till
long after he was gone

: and the Defendant was so far from being
privy or aetpiainted with his Departure, that the Defendant
hath been credibly informed it was very sudden and private,
even in the CMty of London, where he resided.
Defendant saith that sucli his Application to his Majesty, by

Petition as aforesaid, was far from being unknown, unforeseen,
or a Surprize upon the Plaintiffs, as by their Bill is suggested',
for that the Defendant himself personally acuuainted Mr. Paris,'
the Plaintiffs Agent and Sollicitor. with his Intention of ap-
plying to his Majesty, as he afterwards did bv iiis Petition in
the manner before-mentioned, before the same'was presented.
Saith that the Reason Avhy he ajiprehends it was necessary and

material in his said Petition to his Majesty, as herein before is
mentioned, to set forth and take Notice of the Report or Order
in Council, of the 4th of April 1638, relating to the Isle of Kent,
was, for that the said Isle of Kent, which was the Subject-Mat-
ter and Occasion of that Order, lies on the Western Side of the
said Peninsula, and is only divided therefrom in one Part, by
a narrow Run of Water, and in regard that Order directs no
<Trant should Ije made of any Lands Avithin the Limits of the
said Maryland Charter, although it was then suggested that
the Isle of Kent was inhabited, the Defendant was. therefore,
advised it was pertinent to his said Petition to his Majesty.
and proper to be inserted therein, which only praved for a Con-
firmation, from the Crown, of the Lands within "the Lindts of
the said Maryland Charter

; their Lordships Opinion appearing,
upon the Face of the said Order, to have been that the saki
Isle of Kent was comprized within those Limits.
Saith he did not apprehend, nor was he advised that it was

any ways necessary,or pertinent to the Subject-Matter or Prayer
of his said Petition to his Majesty, to set forth, or take any
notice of, the Plaintiffs pretended Possession of the said three
Lower Counties, in regard such a Possession as the Plaintiffs
have had and enjoyed therein would be no manner of Evidence.
nor is any Evidence, as he humbly insists and is advLsed. of
any such Right or Pio|)prty in the said three Lower Counties
as the Plaintiffs set up or pretend : Nor could it any wars shew
that the Plaintiffs had any manner of Right or Title thereto
whatsoever

: Xor have the Plaintiffs, as they state it themselves
by their Bill, received any guit-Rents from any of the Inhabi-



152 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

tants of the said three Lower Counties under such their pre-

tended Possession ; which, as the Defendant is advised and in-

sists shews that the Inhabitants of the said three Lower Counties

never looiced upon, or acknowledged, the Plaintiffs, as the De-

fendant humbly conceives and is advised, as their Proprietor,

nor esteemed the said three Lower Counties, or any Part of

them, as a Part of, or belonging to, the Plaintiffs said Prov-

ince of Pensilvania, or to be comprized within the Limits of

their Pensilvania Charter; but. on the contrary, to be distinct

therefrom, and to belong to. and be Part of, the Defendants

said Province of Maryland, or, otherwise, to be the Right of

the Crown, and no ways to be the Right of, or belong to, the

Plaintiffs.

Saith he did not, in his said Petition to his Majesty, state

the Agreement of 1782 between the Defendant and the Plaintiffs;

and the Reason he did not was, because, he was advised and

apprehended, and still humbly apprehends, the same was no

ways necessary or material to be stated : Tha said Agreement,

as he is advised and insists, being lapsed in point of Time, and

void, by a particular Clause in the said Agreement, and not

being carried into Execution within the Time prescribed by the

said Articles for that purpose.

Saith that his said last Petition to his Majesty being, by his

Majesty's Order in Council of the said 8tli of August 1784, re-

ferred to the Lords Commissioners for Trade and Plantations,

to consider the same, and to Report their Opinion thereon, the

same was, afterwards, on the 28th of the same Month, laid be-

fore that Honourable Board ; and th3 said Lords Commissioners

of Trade and Plantations, on the very next Day, being the 29th

of the same August, were pleased, as the Defendant hath heard

and believes, to give Notice of the Defendant's said Petition

being so laid before them for their Consideration, to Mr. Paris,

the Plaintiff's Agent and Sollicitor, by a Letter, from their

Secretary, of that Date; and likewise acquainted the said Mr.

Paris, at the same Time, that they had appointed the 18th of

the next Month, being September 1784, to take the Defendant's

said Petition into their Consideration.

And saith that their Lordships were, afterwards, pleased to

prolong the Day for taking the Defendant's said Petition into

their Consideration, to the 16th Day of the Month of October

1784, and of which Mr. Paris the Plaintiffs Agent had due

Notice.

And saith that, on the said 16th of October 1734, the Day ap-

pointed by the Board of Trade for taking his said Petition into

their f^onsideration, the said Mr. P.iris appeared before the said

Lords of Trade and Plantations, as Agent for the Plaintiffs
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in Opposition to the Defendants said Petition, and, as the De-
fendant has heard and believes, prayed further Time of their
Lordships, alledging that he had not an Opportunity of pre-
paring his Briefs for Council, or perusing the necessary Papers
for that purpose; and, at the same Time, acquainted their
Lordsliips that he had. long before, and immediately upon re-

ceiving their Lordships Notice by their Secretary, sent the
Plaintiffs, his Clients, an Account of the Defendant's said Ap-
plication to his Majesty, and which had been referred to their
Lordships for their Consideration; but that, as the said Mr.
Paris was thoroughly acquainted with the whole Attair. he
should not wait any Answer from Philadelphia, but only de-
sired a Fortnight's time for the Purpose before-mentioned ; upon
which their Lordships, in the Presence of the said Mr. Paris,
and at his Request as aforesaid, were pleased to appoint the
Monday following, for another Attendance on the said Petition,
in order only that a Beginning might be made, ana acquainted
Mr. Paris that they would, then,.adjourn to a further Time, to
hear any Arguments he, or his Council, might offer on the
Case depending before their Lordships on the Defendant's said
Petition ; and the .said Mr. Paris, upon such last mentioned At-
tendance before the Lords of Trade on the 16th of October 1734,

informing their Lordships that he intended to present a Countei-
Petition to his Majesty t)n Behalf of the PlaintifTs, and in Op-
postion to the Defendant's said Petition; their Lordships were
pleased to acquaint Mr. Paris, that their Lordships were ready,
and would hear any thing he the said Mr. Paris, or his Council,
thought fit to object or offer, either in Opposition to the De-
fendant's said Petition then under their Consideration, or in
Support of the PlaintifTs Title to the said three Lower Counties

;

to which Mr. Paris then replied, that, as he knew that to l>e the
Sense of the Board, he would desist from presenting any sucli
(Counter Petition to his Majesty as he had before purposed to
do, and promised to take notice of their Lordships further Ap-
])ointment for the Monday following.

And accordingly the Defendant saUh, on the said Monday
following, lieingthe 21.st of the same October, the said Mr. Paris
attended the said Board with Counsel, and the Plaintiff Richard
Penn was present, likewise, and prayed further time of their
Lordships to be heard till the 20th of December following,
when, they assured their Lordships, they would then, certainly,
proceed, without asking any further time, and without any
further delay, and with which time their Lordships were further
pleased to indulge them.
Saith that, on the said 20th of December following, the De-

fendant again attended the said Lords of Trade and Plantations,
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and was heard, by himself and Counsel, in Support of his said

Petition; and the same not being gone through upon that At-

tendance, wuf., afterwards, heard again by their Lordships, in

tlie same manner, upon the 31st of the same December; but the

saitl Mr. Paris, who had kept their Lordships in suspense all

that time, in expectation of laying the Plaintiffs Pretensions and

Title to the said Counties before their Lordships, and had, upon

that Account, delayed their Lordships taking this Defendant's

said petition into their Consideration from Time to Time, de-

(dined laying the same before their Lordships,or appearing in

Support of their pretended Right, and only stootl by to take

notice of what passed and what was offered by the Defendant and

his Counsel ; upon which their Lordships, after having heard the

Defendant and his Counsel, in Support of liis said Petition, that

is to say, on the IGth of January 1734,made their Report to his

Majesty among other Things, setting forth the Substance of the

Defendants said Petition, and humbly acquainting his Majt-sty,

that the Lands in question, connuonly called the three Counties

on Delaware River, supposed to be excepted by the Words Hacte-

nusinculta, appeared to their Lordships to be included in the

Limits of this Defendant's Charter, but they having been in the

Possession of the Plaintiffs Family, for several Y'ears, their

Lordships thought it proper to communicate the Defendant'*;

said Petition to the Plaintiffs Agent, that they might have an

opportunity to lay before their Lordships what they thought

proper in relation to the said Petition, and to the Plaintiffs

Title to the said Lands; and their Lordships were likewise

pleased, in their said Report, to set forth, that they had been

frequently attended by the Plaintiffs Agent, and by the Plain-

tiff Richard Penn, who had promised to lay an Account of the

Plaintiffs Title before the Board, bui that, after having kept

their Lordships in expections thereof for several Months, they,

at last, refused to proceed therein, whereby their Lordships

were disabled from offering any Thing to his Majesty relating

to their Claim, except that they found, by their Books, that,

for some time past, Avhenever the Plaintiffs, the Proprietors of

Pensilvania. had nominated a Person for the Approbation of

the Crown to be Deputy Governor of that Province, and of the

said three Lower Counties, they have given Declarations, under

their Hands and Seals, which are extant in their Office from

1702 to the last Nomination in 1T33. whereby they acknowledge

and agree that the said Approbation shall not l)e construed,

in any manner, to diminish or set aside the Claim made by the

Crown to the said three Lower Counties; and their Lordships

were, likewise, pleased further to set forth, by their said Report,

that, upon the Plaintiffs refusal to proceed therein, their Lord-
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ships thought it their Duty to examine the several Facts set
forth in the Defendant's said Petition, and thereby alledged by
the Defendant as a Ground for his Hopes of his Majesty's favour

;

and begged leave to acquaint his Majesty that they, thereupon,
found that there was no room to doubt the Lands in question
were comprized within the Limits described by the said original
Charter of Maryland dated the 20th of June 1632; and their
Lordships, likewise in their said Report, further set forth that
they had examined the ancient Records of their Office, and found
the Order of Council of the 4th of April 1638 herein before-men-
tioned, and set forth (which recites the Purport of a former Order
dated the 3d of July 1663, [Note, he means 1633] upon Clayborne's
Petition) and wherel)y their Lordships found the Sense of the
CcjunciLthen, was, that the Right and Title to the said Isle of
Kent,and the other Places therein, then in question, absolutely
belonged to the Lord. Baltimore; and their Lordships, by theiV
said Report, further stated to his Majesty, the said Original
Order in Council of 1685 herein likewise before-mentioned and
set forth) for dividing the said Counties, and declaring one half
thereof to belong to his Majesty, and the other half to the Lord
Baltimore, as comprized within his Charter; and that the said
last mentioned Order of 1685, Avas ordered to be carried into Ex-
ecution, soon after the late King James's Accession to the
Crown, and was confirmed by the late Queen.
Whereupon, their Lordships observed to his Majesty that the

Sense of the Crown, and the Lords of the Council, in those
several Decisions, seemed to have been governed bv the Purport
of the Words Hactemis inmilta. but, notwithstanding these
Words were in the Preamble, yet, they were not inserted l)y

way of Restriction in the body or granting Part of the Defend-
ant's said Charter; and. as the Authorities seemed, to their
Lordships, to be equal, with regard to the Interpretation
hitherto given them, so their Lordships submitted it to his
Majesty, whether the Sense in which they were understood by
the Privy Council in 1683, [Note, Here lie again means 1633]
and 1638, being so soon after the Date of the Original Grants
of Maryland, when the real Intention of the Crown in that
Grant ought to have been more clearly known to the Lords of
the Council, or, the latter Decision therein, and on which this
Matter was again made the Subje.-t of an Enquiry in Council
so long afterwards as in 1683 and 1685, should have the Prefer-
ence 'i

And, if it should be determined that the Right to the Lands
in Question still remained in the Crown, their Lordships humbly
beg leave to offer it, as their Opinion, that the Defendant had
very just Pretensions to his Majesty's Favour. in Consideration
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of the great Sums of Money that have been expended by his An-
cestors in settling the Province of Maryland, and in bringing

the' Cultivation of Tobacco to perfection there, whereby the

Trade and Revenue of this Kingdom have gained, and do daily

receive. Very great Augmentations, as by the said Report of the

said Lords of Trade, to which the Defendant for his greater Cer-

tainty begs leave to refer, will more fully and at large appear.

Saith that, on the above Report of the said Lords of Trade
being laid before his Majestv in Council, his Majesty was pleased

to refer the same, together with the Defendant's said Petition-

to the Right Honourable the Lords of his Majesty's most Hon-
ourable Privy Council.

And saith that, pending such Reference before the said Lords

of Trade as herein before is mentioned and set forth, and not,

withstanding their Lordships had declared, to Mr. Paris the

Plaintiffs Agent, that their Lordships would hear any thing

they had to offer, either in Opposition to the Defendants said

Petition, or in Support of their Title' to the said three Lower
Counties, and notwithstanding, upon such Declaration of their

Lordships, Mr. Paris the Plaintiffs Agent assured their Lord,

ships he would desist from presenting any Petition to his Ma-
jesty, yet, he, as the Defendant believes, preferred a very long

Petition to his Majesty in Council, on behalf of the Plaintiffs-

setting up a Title to the said three Counties, but praying that

they might not be obliged to set forth the same, and that the

Defendant's said Petition might be dismissed, and that the

said Petitioners Possession and Title might be confirmed,

and that they might be indulged with a reasonable time

to be heard thereon: which Petition being referred by fiis

Majesty to a Committee of Council, the Plaintiffs on the

19th of December 1734 moved their Lordships that the said Pe-

tition might he referred to the Board of Trade, but the Defend-

ant saith that their Lordships, being acquainted with what
had passed in this Affair at that Board, and being satisfied, as

the Defendant verily believes, that the same was prayed by the

Plaintiffs with no other View than to delay and retard the said

Report of the Board of Trade, their Lordships did not see Cause
to refer the Plaintiffs said Petition to the Board of Trade, de-

claring they would take the Plantiffs said Petition into Consid-

eration at the same time with the said Report of the Board
of Trade, when that should be laid before their Lordships.

And saith on the 4th of March 1734 the Defendant's Sollici-

tor moved the Lords of the Committee, as tlie Defendant be-

lieves, to appoint a Day for taking.^the above Report of the

Board of Trade and the Plaintiffs said Petition into their Con-
sideration, and likewise another Petition, that had been pre-
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sented to his Majesty l)y the Plaintiffs Sollicitor, in the Names
of several guakers. Inhabitants of the said three Lower Counties,
into their Consideration, which the Sollicitor for the Plaintiffs,

as the Defendant hath been informed by his Sollicitor and verily
believes, stronj^My opposed, praying that the Consideration
thereof might be postponed, till they could have an Oppor-
tunity of hearing from Pensilvania: but which, on consider-
ing the length of time that had passed since the presenting tlie

Defendant's said Petition and the Plaintiff's Sollicitor first

having notice of it, and on the Defendant's making out
to their Lordships that Ships had arrived at Pensilvania from
London, and Answers to Letters, sent by such Ships, been re-

turned within that time, their Lordships, as the Defendant
believes, refused to comply with, and ordered the said Report
of the Board of Trade, together with the said two Petitions,
to be heard the first Committee after Easter then next.
And saith that, on the 2d of May 1735, being the tirst Com-

mittee after the said Easter appointed by their Lordships for
hearing the said Report and Petition, the Defendant's Sollici-
tor again applied to their Lordships, to appoint a certain Day
pursuant to their Lordships last Order for hearing this Matter,
which the Defendant saith, he hath been informed and believes,
was opposed by the Plaintiffs Sollicitor, but which Opposition
was rejected by their Lordships, and Friday then next was ap-
pointed for taking the said whole Matter into their Lordships
Consideration.

And saith that, he hath been informed and believes, the Lord
President, at this last Motion, acquainted the Sollicitors that
he had received a Letter, himself, from one of the Plaintiffs,

acquainting his Lordship that the Defendant was by Articles
bound to convey to them the Lands in Controversy, and there-
fore humbly hoping and insisting that their Lordships would
not come to any Resolution till it was determined, in a Court
of Equity, on a Bill he intended to File for a specifick Per-
formance of those Articles, whether the Defendant was bound
to perform them, or not, or to that Effect.

Saith that their Lordships of the Committee, afterwards, on
the 10th of the same May, heard Council, on both Sides upon
the Report of the said Lords of Trade and Plantations and the
said two Petitions of the Defendant and the Plaintiffs; and
their Lordships, afterwards, make a Report to his Majesty in
Council, whereupon the Defendant believes his Majesty* by
Order in Council of the 16th Day of MaylT.T) (made upon read-
ing the last mentioned Report) was graciously {leased to order
that the Consideration of the said Report of the Lords Com-
missioners for Trade and Plantations of the 16th of Januarv
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1734, and of tlie said two Petitions presented in Behalf of the
Plaintiffs, or of some of the Possessors and Owners of Lauds
in the said three Lower Counties, should all be adjourned, unto
the End of Michaelmas Term then next, that either Party might
have an Opportunity to proceed, in a Court of Equity, to ob-
tain Relief upon the said Articles of Agreement, as they
should be advised ; and that, after the Expiriition of the
said Term, either Party should be at liberty to apply to the
said Committee of Council, as the Nature of the Case might
require; but the Defendant, for his greater Certainty herein,
begs leave to refer to the said last mentioned Order and Report.
Saith that the PiaintifTs had full and due Notice, by their

Agent, in the manner herein before mentioned, both from the
Defendant himself, and the Secretary to the Lords Commission-
ers for Trade and Plantations, of the Defendant's Application.
Denies that he either knows, or believes, that such Notice

thereof to the Plaintiffs said Agent from the Lords of Trade was
accidental, as is pretended by the Bill, but was purposely sent,

and with the Defendant's Knowledge and Privity, and the De-
fendant believes it to be true that Mr. Paris the Plaintiffs sail
Agent, did, soon after his being so sent to by the Secretary
of the Lords of Trade as aforesaid, attend their Lordships, and
that he might, then, on the behalf of the Plaintiffs, and in the
Presence of the Defendant, desire to know what it was that
the Defendant prayed for by his said Petition? And that the
Defendant might, then declare, in his Answer thereto, that he
then petitioned for a confirmatory Grant of the said three Lower
Counties, or to that Effect; and that, upon the Plaintiffs de-
siring time of their Lordships as is before mentioned, the De-
fendant, plainly foreseeing it Avas intended for delay, as it after-

wards evidently appeared as the Defendant humbly apprehends,
he the Defendant did oppose the same, in the manner herein
before mentioned, but in no other manner whatsoever.

[NOTWITHSTANDING ALL THIS DENIAL THE BILL IS
MOST PRECISELY TRUE.]

Denies that he either knows, or believes, or ever heard, save
from the Bill, that any such pretended blank Paper unauthen-
ticated, or not signed, was offered to the said Lords Commis-
sioners on the Defendant's Behalf, at their Hearing the Defend-
ant's said Petition, as an authenticated Office Copy of the said
Order in Council of the 4th of xipril 1638. as is scandalously sug-
gested and insinuated in and by the Bill ; or were their Lord-
ships, any ways, imposed upon, or deceived, therein, or took
any Papers whatsoever that was or were offered to their Lord-
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ships as a real Copy of any Order in Council, or other Proceed-

ings whatsoever, which really and in Fact was not so.

Saith he apprehends, and is advised, that it appears from the

Reoort of the said Lords of Trade of the IGth of January 1734,

and from the Records in the Office, that there was such an

Order in Council of the 4th of April 1(538 as is before mentioned,

tiiough the Plaintiffs are pleased to alledge there was not.

[AND YET, IT IS MOST UNDOUBTEDLY TRUE THAT
THEY HAVE OMITTED THE VERY HEART OF THAT
DETERMINATION.]

Denies that he either knows, or believes, that the said Report

of the said Lords of Trade of the 16th of January 1734 was

founded chiefly on the said Order in Council of the 4th of April

1638, or that their Lordships, in their said Report, omitted to

state any part of his Majesty's Determination in 1685, as is sug-

gested by the Plaintiffs said Bill; the said Report being to

the Effect herein before set forth, and to no other Purport or

Effect to the Knowledge or Belief of this Defendant.

Saith that he hath heard and believes after the expiration of

the time mentioned in the said Articles of Agreement for run-

ning the Lines was expired, the Plaintiffs might receive an Ac-

count of the Uneasiness and Dissatisfaction of the Inhabitants

of the said three Lower Counties were under, at the said Lines

not being run.

And believes it is very likely the Plaintiffs Affairs would have

been in a much better Condition if the Plaintiffs could have in-

titled themselves to the Advantages of that Agreement.

And also believes that the Tenants and Occupiers of Lands
in the said three Lower Counties have, and do refuse, to pay

any Quit-Rents to the Plaintiffs; but not for the Reasons in

the Bill mentioned; for he hath heard and believes they always

refused to pay the same, as well before, as since the said Arti-

cles of Agreement, and that they never have paid Quit-Rents

to the Plaintiffs or their Ancestors.

Denies that he had several, or any, Conferences with his said

Commissioners, or any of them, as is pretended by the Bill, in

order to contrive jjiow to evade the said Agreement, or that

many, or any Proposals or Hints were given him by his said

Commissioners, or any of them, for that purpose, or that any
encouragements or Advantages were offered or stated to him by

his said Commissioners, or any of them, or any other Person,

if he would defeat the said Articles, or that he was, at last, by

that means, prevailed upon to consent thereto, in the manner
as is pretended and suggested by the Bill, nor did he give any
Of.lers to his said Commissioners, or any of tiiem, to do all that
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they could to avoid the said Agreement, as is likewise sug-

gested by the Bill.

Denies that the Letter, wrote by him to the Plaintiffs said

Commissioners from Maryland upon his receiving an account

from his own Commissioners of their having discontinued

their Meetings, and appointing another Meeting at Joppa, in

the manner herein before mentioned, was writ or sent by the

Defendant as being Conscious his own Commissioners had not

proceeded with Candour, or with a View to accept of Notice

to revive the Meetings of the Commissioners lest he himself,

and not the Plaintiffs, should incur the Forfeiture in the said

Articles, or that, at the time of his writing such Letter, he had

ever declared that his Commissioners should meet again, only

to prevent such Forfeiture, as is untruly allegded in the Bill ; on

the contrary, salth he wrote such Letter to the Plaintiffs merely

out of a Condescension and favour to the Plaintiffs, and not out

of any pretended Sense or Belief of his having incurred the

said Forfeiture by the Conduct of his said Commissioners, but

at the time of Writing such Letter, in strictness, look'd upon
himself intitled to the Forfeiture from the Plaintiffs by the

Non-Attendance of their Commissioners in the manner herein

before mentioned and set forth.

Saith that he believes it as easy, and practicable, in a proper

Season of the leaj", now, to run, mark and lay out. the Bountl-

Lines, agreed upon by the said Articles of the 10th of May 1732,

as it was between the Month of October 1732 and Christmas 17153,

if the said Agreement was still subsisting and in force, but

which he insists and is advised. It is not, for the Reasons herein

before, and hereafter, mentioned and set forth.

Believes it might take up two or three Months time to run

out all the several Lines and Bounds, pursuant to the said

Agreement in May 1732, in case no Difference in Judgment had

arose between the Commissioners.

Saith that, soon after the Defendant's Arrival in Maryland

as before mentioned, and upon his being informed of the Doubts
and Difference in Opinion touching the Circle to be drawn, he

declared, as he really thought, that he believed his interfering,

or giving any Directions to his Commissioners, concerning the

Execution of the Trust reposed in them, might thereafter be so

ill interpreted as that, if he should do it in one Case, in order

to reconcile such Doubt or Difference, it might be made use of

to insinuate that he did it. in another Case, and upon other

Occasions, to create Doubts and Differences to obstruct the

Execution of the said Articles: and therefore, for that reason,

he declined giving any Directions to his Commissioners, upon
their Communicating such their Doubts and Difference in
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(Opinion to the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and left it entirely to

liis Commissioners, to act according? to their own Judgments,
without giving any Opinion or Directions, one way or other,

and the Defendant, at that time, acquainted tlie Plaintiffs Com-
missioners to the same purpose, and with such hi.s Reasons for

declining to given any Directions to liis (Jommissioners upon
that Occasion.

Denies that such Difference in Opinion between the ('onnnis-

sioners was only pretended, or a meer Pretence, to avoid the

said Agreement, as by the Bill is suggested, or that the same
had been before directed by the Defendant to be made use of

by his said Commissioners, as a means to spin out tlie time by

the said Articles provided and appointed for running out the

said Lines, and to avoid the said Agreement, as is likewise

suggested by the PlaintifTs said Bill.

Is advised and apprehends that it appears, from the Pro-

ceedings of the said Commissioners, as herein set forth, that

not running the Lines, within the time limited for that pur-

pose, was no ways occasioned through the Default or Desiern

of the Defendant, or his Commissioners, but through the De-
fault and Obstinacy of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, for that,

when such Difference in Judgment between the said Commis.
sioners with respect to the Circle to be run. as herein before

mentioned, happened, and the defendant's Commissioners did

not Obstinately rely on their own Judgn)ents. but offered to

take tile Advice and Information of Matiiematicians, and such

Persons who were thought capable of convincing them, ani
reconciling such Differences in Judgment that had happened
with Respect thereto, which the Plaintiffs Commissioners re-

fused, although the Defendant's Commissioners, as the De-

fendant hath been informed and verily believes, told them
that they did not intend such Advice should be so binding as

to oblige the Plaintiffs said Commissioners to follow and pur-

sue it at all Events, but only proposed it for their better Under-
standing the Point in Doubt, and in order to reconcile their

Opinions, and put the Matter in such a light as to enable them
to perform and compleat the said Agreement pursuant to the

said Articles within the time allowed them by the said Articles

or that purpose; and although the Plaintiffs said Commission-
ers thought fit to refuse and avoid the Satisfaction desired by

the Defendant's Commissioners in the manner before set forth,

yet, as the Defendant hath likewise been informed and verily

believes, liis Commissioners not only had tlie opinion of such
Persons there, who Avere reputed to have a Knowledge in Mathe-
maticks, but actually laid that Opinion upon the Point in Dis-

11—Vol. XV.
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pute, subscribed l)y such Persons, belorc such of the J'hiintifTs

Commissioners as were present on the Day such Default was
made as aforesaid : And it liivewise further appears, as the De-

fendant insists, that the Defendant's Commissioners, notwith-

standing tlie said Default of the Plaintifls Commissioners, re-

newed their Meetintrs, and when the Defendant's Commission-
ers perceived the Plaintiffs Commissioners so obstinate in their

own Sense of the Circle, as not to agree with them the Defend-

ant's Commissioners in receiving Information from the Mathe-

maticians, the Defendant's said Commissioners, thereupon,

sevei-al times, offered to proceed to Cape Hinlopen. in order to

endeavour to agree upon and execute as much of the Articles

as they could, within the limited Time for that purpose, but

which the Plaintiffs Commissioners also absolutely refused.

Defendant is advised and insists that from this, and the several

Papers exchanged by the Commissioners, as herein set forth,

it plainly appears his Commissioners were not in any wilful

Default to occasion any Delay.

And conceives that his said Commissioners were right, in their

Opinion, as to the Dimensions and Nature of the Circle intended

to be run by the said Agreement, the Defendant being advised

and apprehending that it ai>pears by the whole Tenor of the

Agreement, as welL as by the second Article thereof, that the

Intention of the Parties thereto was to have no other Circle

run than what was pretended to be granted and described by

the Plaintiffs said Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment of

Newcastle, and therefore, although the Words only (of) 13

Miles were inserted in the said Articles, yet, as they were a

Contradiction to the other part of the Article, and also to

the whole Agreement, the Defendant's Commissioners did

right, as the Defendant is advised and insists, in desiring and
insisting upon the Plaintiffs Commissioners running the Circle

mentioned in the Deed of Feoffment of Newcastle, rather than
to insist on the Words (only of) 12 Miles, which would, by the

Construction contended for by the Plaintiffs Commissioners,
by a manifest Contradiction as before mentioned, destroy the

whole Articles.

Is advised and conceives that the running the Circle was not
necessary, the first thing in Course to be done, pursuant to the

said Articles, or any other wise than that the second Article of

the Agreement mentions the Circle to be run about Newcastle;
lor that and East and West Line, from Cape Hinlopen. mighty
with regard to the Execution of the Agreement, have been as

well run first, as the Circle about Newcastle; but saith he hath
been informed and believes that, as the running the Circle about
Newcastle was placed in the first Article of the Agreement, the
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(Commissioners at their tirst Meetings consi(iered the Execution
of tliat ; and as it was necessary to tix and determine a Center,

before such Circle could be run, and as there was no Place fixed,

either about, or in, the Town of Newcastle, by the said Articles,

for such Center, a (Question, very naturally, (as this Defendant
conceives) arose, at the Meetinars of the Commissioners before

tliis Defendant's Arrival in Amercia, as before set forth, about
the Place where such Center ought to be fixed.

Is advised and conceives that the greater Caution was neces-

sary, in this Matter, in regard the Town of Newcastle (altliough

he admits there are not many Houses in it) stands upon a large

Space of Ground, and is near two Miles in length from North
to South; so that there was room enough for the Commis-
sioners to place, and vary, the Centre of such Circle from the

Places where it ouglit to be, aud as that would be a great Ad-
vantage, or Disadvantage, to the Parties, in running the Radius
of such Circle more to North or South, which would materially

intrench on either Party, so the Defendant is advised and ap-

prehends it plainly appears that this was a Question which
arose amongst the Commissioners before the Defendant's Arrival

in Amercia, and was not any ways concerted or pre-advised by
the Defendant or any of his Commissioners in order to avoid or

evade the said Agreement, as is untruly suggested in and by

the Bill.

Is advised and insists that the not running the said Lines by
the 25th of December 1733, as provided for by the said Agree-

ment, was not occasioned, or any ways owing to, any Default

or Misbehaviour in tlie Defendant's Commissioners, or any of

them, but to the Default and Misbehaviour of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners, and from the Difference in Opinion that hap-
pended between the said Commissioners, in tlie manner before

set forth.

Doth not admit that the said Articles of Ajrreement of the

10th of May 1733 do now exist, or subsist in full Force and
Virtue, but, on the contrary, insists that the same are now
absolutely void; and the Reason he insists the same are void

are, as herein before particularly mentioned and set forth, and
lor that, there was a manifest Falsity introduced, as part of the

Agreement, and imposed upon the Defendant by the Plaintiffs

in manner before mentioned, though he is very well assured

the Plaintiffs must have been apprized and knew thereof at the

time of executing the said Articles of Agreement, for he saith,

he hatli since discovered, and it is observable, that on the Map
upon which the said Agreement was founded, and which is

made part of the said Agreement as is before set forth. Cape
Cornelius is described to be over-against Cape May, and Cape



164 PENNSYLVA>'IA AND MARYLAND

Hinlopen is represented to beat a considerable Distance, which

is {generally as the Defendant hath been informed and believes,

computed to be about 20 Miles to the Southward of Cape Cor-

nelius; whereas it is manifestly Evident from all other Maps,

and is notoriously known, that the Place called the Whore-Kill

was near, or at, the Place called Cape Cornelius, and th3

general, and received, Opinion and Understanding of People in

those Parts is, and has been, for many Years past, that Cape Hin-

lopen was at the Point whereabouts Cape Cornelius is placed,

and near where the Town or Village called the Whore-Kill is

situated; and the very Deeds from the Duke of York, under

which the Plaintiffs set up their pretended Title to the said

Counties in Dispute,and which are recited also in the Preamble

of the said Articles of Agreement, to the best of the Defendant's

Remembrance, described Cape Hinlopen alias the Whore-Kill

to be the same; and in regard to this manifest Falsity, and the

Imposition upon the Defendant by the Plaintiffs, and for the

Reasons herein before mentioned, and as the Plaintiffs, incase

the said Agreement was to be carried into Execution could not

make the Defendant any manner of Title, whatsoever, to such

Part of the said three Lower Counties as, according to such

Division, might fall to the Defendant's Share, or be deemed

Part of his said Province of Maryland, the Plaintiffs themselves

having, as the Defendant apprehends, no manner of Right or

Title whatsoever to the said three Lower Counties, or any part

thereof, and as the said Agreement the Plaintiffs so desire to

be carried into Execution was a voluntary Agreement on the

part of the Defendant, and without any manner of Consideration

whatsoever given or allowed him for his entering into the same,

and as there was no possibility of any Benefit or Advantage ac-

cruing therefroui to the Defendant, but, on the other hand, a

manifest Prejudice and Disadvantage; and as the Defendant

was imposed on therein, in the manner before mentioned, both

with regard to the Situation of Cape Hinlopen as is before set

forth, as likewise with regard to the Plaintiffs pretended Title

to the said Counties, the Defendant, at the time of his entering

into the said Agreement, being induced to believe that the

Plaintiffs could have made the Defendant a good Title to such

Parts of the said three Lower Counties as might have fallen to

his Share, but which he hath, since, by Papers which have been

transmitted him from America, and otherways, been plainly

convinced they cannot, therefore hopes, the Plaintiffs shall not

have any such Relief as is prayed by their Bill against the De-

fendant, and that the said Articles shall not l)e carried into

Execution, by the Aid, Assistance or Direction of this ('ourt.

in any respect whatsoever, but shall be delivered up to the
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Defendant to be cancelled, and likewise hopes that the Plain-
tiffs shall be decreed to pay the Defendant all the Costs and
Expences. both himself and his Commissioners Mere at, relatini?
to their Endeavor in executing the said Agreement of the 10th
of May 17;j2. as likewise all other Costs the Defendant mav have
i>een any way put to by the reason of the several Matters "before
set forth.

And this Defendant submits whether Mr. Attorney-General,
on behalf of the Crown, should not be made a Partv to the
Plaintiffs Bill.

Denies Combination, and concludes with the general Traverse.

THE SCHEDULE IN THE ANSWER MENTIONED AND
THEREBY REFERRED UNTO.

Proceedings by the iJommisisioners appointed by the Right Hon-
ourable the Lord Proprietary of Maryland and the Proprie-
taries of Pensilmnia for i^unuing the lAnes and Bounds of
their Provinces.

1732. Oct. 6-7.

An Agreement having been concluded, between the Right
Honourable Charles Lord Baltimore, Proprietor of the Prov-
ince of Maryland, and John, Thomas, and Richard Penns Esqs-
Proprietors of the Province of Pensilvania, «fcc., touching the
Boundaries of their respective Governments, and Commissioners
being named on both Sides for executing the said Agreement,
a Meeting of them was appointed, at Newtown, in the County
of Kent, in Maryland, on the Gth Day of October 1732, where
the said Commissioners being accordingly come, a Meeting wa^
held, the Day following, where were present the Lieutenant-
Governor of Maryland, the Honourable Charles Calvert Esq
Philip Lloyd Esq; Michael Howard Esq; Richard Bennet
Esq

;
Matthew Tylghman Ward Esq ; the Lieutenant-Governor

of Pensilvania, Isaac Norris Esq ; Samuel Preston Esq ; Andrew
Hamilton Esq; James Steele Gent. ; Robert Charles Esq •

A Commission, from the Right Honourable the Lord Balti-
more, bearing Date the 12th Day of May 1732, nominating and ap-
pointing the said Lieutenant-Governor of Maryland Charles
Calvert, Philemon Lloyd, Michael Howard, Richard Bennet
Matthew Tylghman Ward and Benjamin Tasker Esqs; or any
SIX, five, four, or three of them, to be his Lordship's Commis-
sioners, and a Commission from the said John, Thomas and
Richard Penns Esqs

; bearing Date the 12th Dav of May'1730
nominating and appointing the said Lieutenant-Governor of
Pensilvania, Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston. Andrew Hamilton
Esqs; John Steele, Robert Charles Gent, with James Logan Esq •



1(;(; PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND .

or any six four or three of them, to be their Commissioners,

for running, marking, and laying out the Circle and the several

Lines and Boundaries in the Agreement between the said Pro-

prietaries specifiea. Avere produced, and read, as were likewise

the Original Agreements, bearing Date the 10th Day of said

May.
And the said Counuissioners present did, unanimously, agree

that they, or a sufficient guorum of them, without further

Notice, should meet, at the Town of Newcastle, on Delaware,

on Monday the 30th Day of October Instant, in order then to

proceed to mark out the Circle in the said Agreement mentioned.

Then, to wit, October the 30th 1732, his Excellency the (Gov-

ernor of Maryland, and Philemon Lloyd, Michael Howard.

Richard Bennet, and Benjamin Tasker, Esqs; and the Governor

of Pensilvania, Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston, James Logan,

Andrew Hamilton, James Steele and Robert Charles Esqs; met.

at Newcastle, according to the last Appointment, to run out

the Circle about Newcastle, in pursuance of the second Article

of the Agreement; and that Article obliging the Commissioners

to run out the Circle mentioned in the Charter of Pensilvania

and Deed of Feoffment for Newcastle, the Commissioners for

Maryland desired the Charter, and Deed of Feoffment, might

be produced, for their Direction in running out the said Circle:

The Comuiissioners for Pensilvania, on the other hand, that,

asthev were recited, they were obliged to stand to that Recital,

whether true or false; but, as the Commissioners of Maryland

insisted that the Intention of both Proprietaries was to run

out the Circle according to the Deed of Feoftment and no other,

the Commissioners for Pensilvania produced their Charter, and

an Exemplification of the Deed of Feoffment: The Commission,

ers for Pensilvania having laid it down, as a settled Point in

Law, that the least Variation in their Proceedings from the

Powers and Autliorities contained in their Commissions would

render them wholly ineffectual and void, a Difficulty arose.upon

perusing the Articles of Agreement, there being no Spot ap-

pointed therein for the Centre to tlie said Circle, which, should

the Commissioners take upon them to determine, would cause

such a material Alteration, to the Advantage of one or other of

the Proprietaries, as they were not impowered to make
:
Here-

upon, for the further and better Consideration of the affair, the

C!ommissioners mutually agreed to adjourn to the 1st Day of

February then next ensuing.

The following Commissioners (viz.) his Excellency Samuel

Ogle, Charles Calvert, Matthew Tylghman Ward, Michael How-

ar'cl, Benjamin Tasker and Edmund Jennings Esqs; appointed,

on the behalf of Maryland, by the Right Honourable the Lord



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 167

Baltimore, and the following Commissioners (viz.) Isaac Norris,

Samuel Preston, Andrew Hamilton, James Steele and Robert

Charles Esqs; appointed, on the Part of Pensilvania, by the

Honourable the Proprietaries of tliat Province, being met, at

the Town of Newcastle, the 1st Day of February 1732, pursuant

to an adjournment made by a sufiicient Quorum of the Com-
missioners at the said Town of Newcastle tlie 30th Day of

October 1732, to proceed in the running, «&c., the Circle and Lines

agreed by the Articles to be run, his Excellency Samuel Ogle

Esq; acquainted the Commissioners of Pensilvania that, not-

withstanding the Rigour of the Season, and Extremity of the

Weather (the like not known these many Years) and the Dis-

tance of 100 Miles, and the Difliculty of passing the Bay of

Chesopeak and tlie Rivers, they, on the I^art of Maryland, to

shew their Readiness for the Execution of the Agreement, had

surmounted all Obstacles of their Journey, in order to meet

them on that Day and Place appointed ; and further, that the

Lord Baltimore, who, then in Maryland, desiring that there

might not be want of a sufficient Number of his Commissioners

for the above Purposes, and considering the ill State of Health

of Richard Bennet Esq; one of his Commissioners, formerly

appointed, and the disappointments which might happen to

the others, in their intended Journey to Newcastle, had ap-

pointed Edmund Jennings to be his commissioner, in the place

and stead of Richard Bennet. Then, his Excellency observing

that the Commissioners, on the part of Pensilvania, might
probably be fatigued with their Journey of about 40 miles from

Philadelphia, proposed, if they thought fit, for their conveniency

to adjourn until the next day, which was readily consented to,

and, thereupon, they adjourned to Friday the 2d Day of Feb-

ruary at ten of the Clock in the Forenoon, in the Assembly

Room, in the Court-House, which place the Commissioners of

Pensilvania desired might be the place of meeting.

At which time the Commissioners, above named being met,

his Excellency thought proper to produce the Commission from

the Lord Baltimore appointing Edmund Jennings one of his

Commissioners, which, being perused by some of the Commis.
sioners on the Part of Pensilvania, was returned to the said

Edmund Jennings, his Excellency then desiring to see the Com-
mission from the Proprietaries of Pensilvania, appointing their

Commissioners, a Copy was produced, which differed from the

Manner of Appointment mentioned in the Minutes taken at

Newtown ; for that, by those Minutes, James Logan seems to

be made a Person always necessary to attend, and tterefore his

Excellency desired the Original might be produced, which was

promised: His Excellency acquainted the Commissioners on the
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Part of Pensilvania to this effect (viz.) That the Necessity of

strictly contorminy tliemselves to the Powers and Authoriti s

contained in their Couiuiission, and that the least Variation

therefrom would render their Proceeding's ineffectual and void,

beint? delivered at their last Meeting for settled Law, and con-

sequently, a Rule to their Behaviour, by the Commissioners

on the Part of Pensilvania, when they the Commissioners had

prcoeeded so far as to come to the Consideration of the Place

where the Centre of the Compass or Circle about Newcastle

should be fixed, it was found that no particular Spot, Place or

indivisible Point, was appointed, either by the Articles of

Agreement, or Commission; and, it being certain, that the

J)ifference of Place tor such Centre, in tiie several Parts of the

Town of Newcastle (which was large) and would make a great

Alteration in the Favour, or Disfavour, of one or other of the

Proprietaries, they thought themselves, by the above Doctrine,

not at liberty either to exceed their Powers, by placing a Centre

in what Part of the Town of Newcastle thev pleased, since no

Power was given to them for that purpose, and that, by fixing

such Centre, they must, necessarily, vary from their Powers,

in a Matter very material and essential, for the Interest, or

Disadvantage, of one or other of their Principals; That these

Reasons put them, the Commissioners of Maryland, under a

Necessity of desiring some Satisfaction, of them the Commis-

sioners of Pensilvania, before they made any further Steps,

which they, the (Jommissioners of Pensilvania, having not

triveu, in the Apprehensions of the Commissioners of Maryland,

at their last Meeting, the Commissioners of Maryland hoped

that, in this Distance of Time, the Commissioners of Pensil-

vania had so well considered that Point as to remove the Im-

pediment. The Commissioners of Pensilvania answer that they

thought the Reason of the last adjournment to be, that the

Commissioners of Maryland might receive further authori-

ties or directions from the Lord Baltimore, who was then

shortly expected in Maryland : That the Nomination of a

Centre was not necessary for the running the Circle, and that

only a Segment of the Circle was necessary to be run ;
That

they were informed and advised, by Mathematicians, that a

Circle might be run, without fixing a Centre; and that, therefore,

this Circle, or a Segment thereof, may be run, without a Cen-

tre, as directed by the second Article, which only directs a Cir-

cle, or so much as is necessary to be run, without taking notice

of a Centre: That tho' the Point or Spot in the Ma^) was not

exact, so as to fix a positive Centre, yet, it was directory; That

the Rule, of not varying from their Power, was right and true,

but that they thought this fixing a Centre was no Variation
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trom tlieir Powers, since no Centre was mentioned or specified to

be in any particular Place; and that they had all the Power ot

fixing a Centre which either the Kinj^, Duke of York, Lord Balti-

more, or Mr. Penn, ever had. To this, the Commissioners of

Maryland replied, that they could not conceive how this Circle,

or a Segment thereof, could be run, without a Centre in some
Part of the Town of Newcastle, which was large, and capable

of many Centres, to the Advantage, or Disadvantage, of one or

other of the Proprietaries; That it was true the second Article

does not mention a Centre, and therefore, the Doul»t was
raised, since no Power was given to fix a Centre: That they

were glad to find the Commissioners then receded from the

Map, or Spot in the Map, which, at their former Meeting, had
been urged as a Point for the Centre of the Circle, which the

Commissioners of Maryland then conceived, and still imagine,

impossible to apply to any Spot or Place in the Town df New-
castle, with any Probability of Truth : That they thought
assuming a Power, not given by the Articles and Commission,

as unwarrantable and fatal to their Proceedings, as what the

Commissioners of Pensil vania called varying from their Powers

;

That even, supposing for Argument's sake, that the Duke of

York, Lord Baltimore, or Mess. Penns, had sufficient Power to

fix a Centre, yet the Commissioners of Maryland did not ap-

prehend such Powers had been transferred to them the Com-
missioners; That the Lord Baltimore, or Mess. Penns, could

not give any Power or Directions, further than, or contrary to,

the Commissions and Articles: and, therefore, there was no
Necessity of the last Adjournment for that purpose; that altho'

the Commissioners of Pensilvania had not given any satisfactory

Answer to the Doubt, relating to the Centre, yet, to convince

them that the Commissionrrs of Maryland had no other than

an Intention to execute th^ Agreement, the Commissioners of

Maryland were willing, for the present, to postpone a further

Consideration of the Centre, and to proceed to the Nature of

th3 Circle, that there might be as few Obstacles as possible

to the Agreement; To which the Commissioners of Pensilvania

consenting, the second Article was read, and his Excellency de-

livered the Sense of the Commissioners of Maryland, to the Effect

following, (viz.) That the Coiuniissioners, on both Sides, hav-

ing, at their last Meeting, agreed to have the Deed of Feoffment

for Newcastle produced, for their Direction in running out the

Circle about the same, and that Deed having been produced
accordingly, and a Copy of the same taken, so far as was judged
necessary for that purpose, nothing, remained for the Commis-
sioners to do then, but, to run out the Circle according to that

Direction: That the Words in the Feoffment are, "All that
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"the Town of JNewcaslle, otherwise called Delaware, and all

"that Tract of Land, lying within the Compass or Circle of 10

"Miles about the same:" That these Words plainly intend a

Circumference, or circular Bound, of 12 Jliles, about, accord,

inj^ to the vulgar and most common Use of the Word Circle;

which Signification is, here, particularly determined, by this

additional Term, Compass of 12 Miles about, and indeed, no-

thing can be more common than to call the Compass, or Bounds

about, the Circle, instead of the fMrcumference. Thus a Ring

or a Hoop, abstracted from the Area contained within, is called

a Circle, and even Mathematicians often use Circle, and Cir-

cumference, as synonymous Terms ; as when, from a Point given,

they propose to describe a Circle; as also when, they say two

Circles, can only in+ersect each other in two Points, they mean

two Circumferences, and not two Circles, in which last Case

the Proposition would be false : That thus, the usual accepta-

tion of the Word Circle, both with the Vulgar and Mathemati-

cians, is to denote a Ring, or a Hoop, or Circumference. To

which Sense the very Words of the Feoffment strictly confine it,

by the Term Compass, with the additional expletive Particle,

about. That yet, to shew more clearly how impossible it is to

put that Construction upon the Words of the Feoflfment which

the Commissioners of Pensilvania insist upon, it may be sup.

posed, for Argument's sake (tho' the Tract is otherwise) that a

Cirele,or Compass of 12 Miles about, has the same Signification

with a 12 Miles Circle, which last Phrase is liked much better by

the Gentlemen of Pensilvania than the other, as thought more for

their Advantage, yet, even in that Case, it would only denote

a Circle whose Diameter is 12 Miles; for Circumferences, Circles

and Spheres, are always denominated and proportioned by their

Diameters, Squares of their Diameters, and Cubes of their Di-

ameters; but, never, by their Radii, unless such particular Sig-

nification is specified : That a four foot Wheel is understood,

by all Mankind, to mean a Wheel, which has four Feet for

its Diameter: If the Commissioners for Pensilvania know any

four-foot Circle, whatsoever, that has a Diameter of eight Feet,

the Commissioners for Maryland hope they would do them the

Favour to produce it for their Satisfaction, otherMise, they

cannot allow them that, a twelve Mile Circle about NeMcastle

must mean a Circle where Diameter (by a new Way of Reckon-

ing hitherto unheard of) is 24 Miles, even tho' the Commission-

ers for Maryland should be so very complying as to allow a

Circle or Compass of 12 Miles about to mean the same thing

with a 12 Miles Circle. That the Commissioners for Pensil-

vania may well allow the Connnissioners for Maryland to call

this Meaning of the Commissioners for Pensilvania a new Way
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of denominating; and pioi)ortioning: Ci ivies, since Mr. Penn, as

well as the Lords of the Council in 1G85. seem wholly unac-

quainted with it, which could not well have happened if it

had been then invented; Those Lords, however willing they

were to give the full Extents to that Circle in favour of the

King, never thought of its having a Radius of 12 Miles from

Newcastle, quite cross the Peninsula to the Bay of Chesopeak,

but contented themselves (and it appears that Mr. Penn was

likewise greatly contented) with an Order to the following Effect

(viz.) That, for avoiding further Differences, the Tract of Land,

lying between the River and Bay of Delaware and the Eastern

Sea on the one Side, and Chesopeak Bay on the other Side,

be divided into equal Parts, by a Line from the Latitude of

Cape Hinlopen to the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, and

that one Half thereof, lying towards the Bay of Delaware and

the Eastern Sea, be adjudged to belong to his Majesty, and

that the other Half remain to the Lord Baltimore.as comprized

within his Charter: That no body ever thought this Order of

Council had the least Degree of Partiality in favour of Lord

Baltimore; on the contrary, it is well known how much he

thought himself aggrieved by it, and how desirous Mr. Penn
was to rely upon it, avoiding, by all manner of ways, to have

his Cause heard by any other Council; and it is to be presumed

the present Mes.s. Penns, likewise, know their Interest too well

to desire the Affair to come into Council, even at this time,

when the most fair and equitable Decision might be so justly

expected that it can be no Objection that at the End of the

Article which directs the running out of the Circle men-

tioned in the Deed of Feoffment, it is added at 12 Miles Distance

from Newcastle; for the Intention of both Proprietaries l^eing

plainly, without any Manner of Doubt, to run out the above

mentioned Circle and no other, besides tlie very Article it self

obliging both Parties to do the same, those Words cannot,

possibly, have any Operation, unless they should set the Arti-

cles wholly aside for their flat Contradiction to the other Part

of the Article and the whole Tenor of the Agreement; that this

being the true State of the Case, the Commissioners for Mary-

land desired to have a plain, and direct, Answer, from the

Commissioners for Pensilvania, whether they will run out the

Circle about Newcastle as directed by the Deed of Feoffment,

or, if they positively insist to run out no other but one with a

Diameter of 24 Miles? To this, the Commissioners of Pensil-

vania answered. That the Commissioners were not left to their

Discretions in the Execution of this Article, with regard to

the Nature of the Circle, for they were obliged to run it at 12

Miles Distance from Newcastle, and could not run anv other:
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Tliat the Circle ought to be understood by the Commissioners in

tlie Sense tlie Kinj? by his Deed to the Duke of York, and Charter

of Pensilvaiiia, and the Duke of York by liis Deed to Mr. Penn
and Mess. Penns. and the Lord Baltimore, understood it, and

that they understood as a Circle with a 12 Miles Radius from

tlie Town of Newcastle: To which the Commissioners of Mary-

land replied that, by the Tenor and Purport of the Afjreement,

it appeared, that the Lord Baltimore and Mess. Penns did not

intend any Circle to l)e run, different from that mentioned and

described in the Deed of Feoffment, and that, if any Words
were inserted in the second Article, which contradicted the

Description of the Circle in the Deed of Feoffment, such Words
must either be rejected, or create a Contradiction which would

destroy the whole Article ; That the Intention of the Parties

would not reconcile Contradictions, or make a Circle of four

Miles or twelve Miles Diameter, by any Expressions, a Circle of

twenty-four Miles Diameter, or twelve Miles Radius; That as

the Parties did intend only the Circle in the Deed of Feoffment

they the Commissioners of Maryland were ready and willing to

determine it to be such a Circle, and proceed accordingly;

And that the Charter of Pensilvania could not be said to ex-

plain the Circle in the Deed of Feoffment, since such Charter

was made before that Deed, and no Relation or Reference had

to the Charter, by that Deed, which might rather prove they

were two distinct Circles, than the same: And the Commis-
sioners of Maryland further offered, to the Commissioners of

Pensilvania. that, as this Point was a Matter properly within

the Learning of Mathematicians, in order by any means to

satisfy each other, and remove all Doubts, to consult and hear

what the Mathematicians thought in relation to such Circle

and that the Mathematicians should deliver their Opinions, in

the Presence of each other, before the Commissioners, and argue

thereupon, at Five of the Clock in the Afternoon; To which

Time and Place aforesaid the Commissioners adjourned. At

which time, Commissioners being met, the Commissioners for

PensiK^ania acquainted the Commissioners for Maryland that

one of their principal Mathematicians, with whom they in-

tended to consult, was so ill of the Gout as he could not,

that Afternoon, attend, and desired the Matter, and Question

thereupon, might be reduced into Writing, and that, if he could

not attend the next Day, yet, the Commissioners for Pensilva-

nia would procure his Answer in Writing; the Commissioners

of Maryland, that no Time might be lost in forwarding the

Execution of the Agreement, offered to the Commissioners

of Pensilvania to go with them, that Afternoon, to the Place

where their Mathematician was, and to carry their own Mathe-
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maticians to the same Place; which the Comtnissioriprs of Pen-

silvania (for Reasons only known to themselves) refused.

Whereupon the Commmissioners of Maryland delivered, to

the Commissioners of Pensilvania, a Writing, to the Effect fol-

lowing, viz.

[This is left blank in the Copy sent this Defendant.]

After which, both the Commissioners agreed to adjourn until

10 O'clock on Saturday morning, being the 3d Day of February,

1782, at the same Place.

Feb 3.

According to which Adjournment the Commissioners for

Maryland attended, at the ^lace aforesaid where they being,

and no Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania coming, the

Commissioners for Maryland ordered an Officer (as they believed)

belonging to the Court-House, and there then waiting, to go

and acquaint the Commissioners of Pensilvania, that they the

Commissioners of Maryland were there, ready to proceed on

Business, and expected the Commissioners of Pensilvania would

immediately come and join with them, and that it was long

after the Hour appointed, or to that effect; which Officer, as

the Commissioners for Maryland have good Reason to believe,

immediately went and informed the Commissioners for Pensil-

vania accordingly; That, some time after that Message, Mes-

seurs Norris and Preston came, on the Part of Pensilvania, and,

some time after them, Mr. Steel, another Commissioner for

Pensilvania, came; whereupon his Excellency acquainted the

Commissioners for Pensilvania that they, the Commissioners

of Maryland, had waited, a consideral)le Time past the Hour
appointed, for the Commissioners of Pensilvania; but that, as

there was then a (.Quorum sufficient to proceed to Business,

he desired there might be no further Delay, for that they, the

Commissioners of Maryland, had come a great way from home
on that Affair, and that the Mathematicians, who had been

consulted with by the Commissioners of Maryland, and were

then attending the Room, were oV>liged to re»^urn into Mary-

land (being 30 Miles at least) that Day, especially the Reverend

Mr. Hugh Jones, to attend his Cure on the Sunday, being the

next Day; and thereupon his Excellency produced a Paper,

signed by the said Mr. Hugh Jones, formely Mathematical Pro-

fessor in the College of Virginia, and William Rumsey. with the

following Contents (viz.)

Quere. What Circle is understood by these Words (viz.) En-

feoff and confirm, unto the said William Penn, his Heirs and

Assigns for ever, all that the Town of Newcastle, otherwise

called Delaware, and all that Tract of Land, lying within the

Compass or Circle, of 12 Miles about the same.—Answer.

—
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By the Term. Circle, is understood either a Circumference, or

else, an Area; and. as the Word is here expressed, it is limited

to a Circumference or Periphery, here called Compass about;

the Diameter of which Circle, or Compass about, is somewhat

less than Four Miles.

Which Paper some of the Commissioners for Pensilvania

read, but, immediately, Mr. Steele went away out of the Room,

so that there was not a Number of Commissioners on the Behalf

of Pensilvania, sufficient to authorise an Proceedings. The

Commissioners of Maryland waited, some time, for the Return

of Mr. Steele, or coming of some other of the Commissioners of

Pensilvania, there being then, in the Town of Newcastle, Mr.

Norris, Preston. Hamilton, Steele and Charles; but none other

coming to make a sufficient Number on the Part of Pensilvania,

his Excellency informed Mr. Norris. that it was strange the

Commissioners for Pensilvania did not meet, to proceed accord-

ing to the Adjourment; and that, if they delayed coming any

longer, the Commissioners of Maryland should think them-

selves obliged to leave the Place, and protest against the Non-

Attendance of the Commissioners of Pensilvania: Mr. Norris

acquainted the Commissioners of Maryland, that Mr. Hamilton

was so ill, with the (iout, that it was unlikely he could be able

to attend: To this his Excellency ofTered to go down to Mr.

Hamilton, if the Commissioners for Pensilvania desired: which

not being done, the Commissioners for Maryland, waited some

time longer, with their Mathematicians, in the above mentioned

place appointed, in hopes of the coming of some other of the Pen-

si Ivania Commissioners; but none coming, nor any Message

brought to the Commissioners of Maryland of their coming,his

Excellency again repeated to Mr. Norris the Necessity the Com-
missioners of Maryland should think themselves under of leav-

ing the Place, and protesting against the Non-Attendance of the

Commissioners of Pensilvania, if a sufficient Number did not,

in a short Time, come. That after the Commissioners of Mary-

land had stayed some time longer, and that, at least, an Hour
had expired since the Commissioners of Maryland gave notice

to the Pensilvania Commissioners of their being ready to

proceed to Business, and their Expectation and Desires of

the Attendance of the Pensilvania Commissioners for that

Purpose; and that upon comparing the Watches of Mary-

lanrl Commissioners with those of the Pensilvania Commis-
sioners, it appeared that it was between and 35 Minutes past

12, and that, consequently, the Appointment, or Adjourn-

ment, for that Morning, was at end : His Excellency, with the

other Commissioners of Maryland then present, (viz.) Charles

Calvert, Matthew Tyghluian Ward. Benjamin Tasker, Michael
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Howard ;uul Edmund Jennings declared that they had been
there attending, according to the Adjournment and Appoint-
ment aforesaid, to proceed on Business, but that a sufficient
Number of Commissioners for Pensilvania had wilfully neg-
lected to be and continue there, according to the Adjournment
aforesaid, to proceed according to the Commission and Articles
of Agreement: and that, as the Commissioners of Maryland,
not only from tlie aforesaid Behaviour of the Commissioners
for Pensilvania, but also from the Declaration at their Meetin<'
in the Afternoon of the former Day by one uf the Pensilvania
Commissioners, (viz.) That the Affair to be transacted by the
Commissoners would not end here, but be carried into England,
or to that Effect, were persuaded the Commissioners for Pensil-
vania had no other Intent than to break off anv further Proceed-
ings towards the Execution of the Agreement ; "for these Reasons
the Commissioners of Maryland protested, in the Place aforel
said, before Mr. Preston (Mr. Norris having, for some time
before, left the Room) and Mr. Jones and Rumsev, against the
Non-Attendanee aforesaid of the Commissioners of Pensilvania
reserving all Benefit and Advantage which might or could ac-
crue to the Lord Baltimore, by Reason of the Default and Non-
Attendance aforesaid of the Pensilvania Commissioners- after
which tlie Commissioners departed from the Place appointed
and their Mathematicians went forthwith to Maryland
Upon the Return of the Maryland Commissioners and Re

presentation of the Matters aforesaid to the Lord Proprietary
of Maryland, his Lordship by Letter dated the Day of

'

acquainted the Governor of Pensilvania, one of the Commis
Bioners of Pensilvania, to the Effect following (viz.) that his
Arrival in the Province of Maryland afforded him an Opportu-
nity of taking more than ordinary Care that his Commis
sioners, in Compliance with the Methods proposed between
Messieurs Penns and himself, should be very punctual in
meeting the Commissioners of Pensilvania at 'Newcastle the
First of that Instant, pursuant to the Adjournment jointlymade by the Commissioners on both Sides the 3d of last November; for this purpose he thought fit to nominate a new
Commissioner, to supply the Place of an infirm one; and for thesame Reason his Commissioners, notwithtanding the unusual
Extremity of the present Season, and the Distance of the Place
were so assiduous in the Journeys as for some of them to arrive
at Newcastle, many Days, and all of them, before the Dav an
pointed

: That this Behaviour, on one Part, might justly chal
lenge the same strict Observance from the Commissioners ofPensilvania, and he should still have depended on their unwil-
lingness of being guilty of any Infraction if, on the sudden Re-
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turn of his Commissioners, lie had not been inforiiied that the

(Jommissioners of Pensilvania so little obsyrved the Adjourn-
ment made by the Connaissioners on both Sides, of their Meet
ing at Ten o'Cloek on Saturday the 3d Instant in the Morning,
pursuant to their accustomed way of Proceeding, as that not

only one of them left the Place of Meeting, abruptly, at the very

Instant his Connnissoners desired to proceed on Business, where-

by there was not a sufficient Number present: But also, that

the others (though sent for. and repeated Declarations made))y
his Commissioners of breaking up the Meeting for their Non
Attendance) seemed wilfully, and obstinately, to neglect attend,

ing that Morning, which ended the Appointment made by the

joint Commissioners on Friday the 2d Instant in the Afternoon ;

that he forbore to mention many other Circumstance.-, reported

to him by his Commissioners, and which too plainly shewed

a Design in the Commissioners of Pensilvania to violate the

Measures entered into in that particular; that, was he inclin-

able to make a strict Use of this failure, nay voluntary one,

on the Side of the Pensilvania Commis&ioners, he might not

only disregard any further Notice, but intitle himself imme-
diately to the Forfeiture incurred by the Failure of the Com-
missioners of Pensilvania; but he thought himself not a little

fortunate by his being in his Province at that Juncture, that

he might have an Opportunity of doing, in that Affair, what
his Commissioners, perhaps, could not reconcile to themselve5

the Liberty of. which was to recede, in some measure, from the

Advantage he might claim from the Proceedings of the Com-
missioners of Pensilvania: Upon this Account he was willing,

and did then offer, and had accordingly given Directions to

his Commissioners, that they should meet the Commissioners

of Pensilvania, on the First Monday in May then next, at the

Town of Joppa, in Baltimore County, in the Province of Mary-
land; but, with this Salvo, of all the Right. Benefit and Ad-
vantage, he might claim from the Non-Attendance or Failure

of th9 Pensilvania Commissioners on the 3d Instant in the

Morning, according to the then last Adjournment : That he
thought himself obliged to name the Place at Joppa, not only

because Commissioners had attended, twice, at Newcastle, but

also, by Reason of a Behaviour of the Pensilvania Commission-
ers, to some of his at Newcastle, which, possibly, without hav-

ing the Command over the Inhabitants, would never have been

attempted; and. to prevent any Apprehension of the like ('on-

duct from his Commissioners, he assured him he should give

a strict Charge to the contrary.

1733, Mar. 28.

After which, the C'ommissioners of Pensilvania sent to the
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Commissioners of Maryland the following Letter (viz.) (-Jentle-
men. Five of us, the under-written Commissioners, appointed
by virtue of a Commission from the Honourable the Proprie-
taries of Pensilvania, for executing certain Articles of Agree-
ment concluded betweeen them and the Right Honourable
Charles Lord Baltimore, Proprietor of the Province of Mary-
land, touching the Limits of the said Provinces and (bounties
of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, on Delaware, having met.the
like Number of you, the (Commissioners appointed l)v the said
Lord Baltimore, at Newcastle, on the 1st Day of February last
pursuant to our former joint Adjournment, and continued to-
gether till the M Day of the same Month, when, from a pretended
Failure, by reason of a Quorum of us not appearing at the pre-
cise Hour in the Forenoon of that Day to which we stood ad-
.lurned, you thought fit to withdraw yourselves from the Court-
House of the said Town of Newcastle, the Place of our Meet-
ing; and, notwithstanding you and we met together, several
times afterwards, in the same Day, yet, insisting upon that
supposed Failure, you refused, as Commissioners, to join with
us in the Execution of our respective Couunissioners, bv which
Refusal we were obliged to serve you with notice to meet us
the same Evening at Six o'clock, at the Court-House of
Newcastle aforesaid, which you neglecting to do, we, the same
Evening, served a Quorum of you, access being desired us to
others of your Number, with notice to meet us, at the Place
aforesaid, on Monday the 5th Day of the said Month • which
likewise, you thought fit so little to regard, that, leaving New-
castle the Day before, you, again, neglected to meet us at the
Time and Place by the said Notices appointed; but we,, the
underwritten Commissioners, notwithstanding the Disregard
sliewn to our former Notices, being still willing to proceed on
the Business which now lies before the Commissioners jointlv
(VIZ.) the Execution of the second Article of the said Agree-
ment, which follow in these Words, that there shall be the
said Circle, mentioned in the said Charter for Pensilvania
and Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment of Newcastle (or somuch thereof as is requisite) drawn and marked out at the 12
Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle (which 12 Miles
shall be 12 English Statute Miles) do hereby give vou, and each
of you, notice, that we, or a sufficient Quorum of us will attend
at the said Town of Newcastle, on Delaware, which, bv the joint
Consent of the Commissioners on both Sides, hath been acknow-
ledged to be the only Place proper for Beginning the Business
immediately before us, on the 16th Day of April next ensuing

12— Vol. XV.
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thereto meet and join with you agreeable to the Directions of

our respective Commissions, in proceeding to d^aw and mark out

the said Circle accordingly : Given under our Hands, at Phila-

delphia, the 28th Day of March 1733.

By the Return of the Messenger, who brought the above Let-

ter, Maryland Commissioners sent to the Pensilvania Commis-
sioners the following Notice (viz.)

April 3.

(jentlemen, we the under written Commissioners, appointed

by virtue of a Commission from the Right Honourable the

Lord Proprietary of Maryland, for executing certain Articles

of Agreement between his Lordship and the Proprietaries of

Pensilvania, met Five of you the Commissioners, appointed by

the said Proprietaries of Pensilvania. at Newcastle, on the 1st

Day of February last, pursuant to a former joint Adjournment
of the Coramssioners on both Sides, and continued together till

the 3d Day of the same Month ; when, contrary to that Readiness

andDispatch which might reasonably be expected from the Com-
missioners -of Pensilvania, you the said Five Commissioners,

then in the Town of Newcastle, not only neglected, but even,

after repeated Instances made by us to two of you to procure a

Number or Quorura of you the Commissioners sufficient to pro-

ceed in the Matter then before us. persevered in not meeting us

according to the aforesaid Adjournment, in order to proceed

to Business, although we were in the Room of the Court House
until almost One of the Clock, which was between two or three

Hours after the Hour appointed; this Failure, which seemed to

be designedly made, justly gave us reason to be assured his

Lordship the Lord Proprietary of Maryland might claim the

Forfeiture: Upon Report to his Lordship of our Transaction,

and Behaviour of the Pensilvania Commissioners towards us,

although his Lordship was well satisfied with his Right to the

Forfeiture, yet, to give you. Gentlemen, once more, an Oppor-
tunity of complying with the Execution of the Agreement, his

Lordship was pleased (under a Reservation of his Benefit to

the Penalty) to ofTer, by a Letter dated February the 15th, to

his Honour the Governor of Pensilvania, a Meeting between

his Commissioners and you, Gentlemen, Commissioners of Pen-

silvania, to be had, on the First Monday of May next, at the

Town of Joppa, in Baltimore County, which we have Direction

from his Lordship still to observe, and we. or a Quorum of us,

shall punctually attend at that Time and Place. We presume
his Lordship had good Reasons for the Appointment of that

Place, besides that which we now observe of no necessity of

meeting at Newcastle, rather than any other Place, before the

Differences in our Opinions and Judgments were adjusted.
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Given under our Hands at Annanolis. this ;Jd Day of April 17:3;].

1733, May 7.

On Monday the 7th Day of May 1733 tlie following (Joniuiis-

sioners, on the Behalf of the Lord Proprietary of Marylaiul
(viz.)the Honourable Samuel Ogle, Esq; Benjamin Tasker and
Edmund Jennings, Esqs; pursuant to their Appointment, met
at the Town of Joppa.in Baltimore County, in <\\e Provinr.-e of

Maryland, the following Commissioners, on the Behalf of the
Proprietaries of Pensilvania (viz.) Isaac Norris. Andrew Haiuil-
ton, Samuel Preston, Robert Charles and James Steele. Esqs;
At which Meeting the Commissioners of Maryland observed,

that a Gentleman, who was not appointed a Commissioner,
was present; but the Commissioners of Pensilvania informing
the Commissioners of Maryland that that Gentleman was a Pen-
vanian. tlie Commissioners of Maryland thought it reasonable
that another Gentleman of Maryland might also be present

;

which being agreed to by the Commissioners of Pensilvania,
Mr. John Beal, of the City of Aniiapolis, was called in. who,
together with the J'ensilvania Gentleman, named Jeremiah
Langhorn, were present at the Debates of the aforesaid Com-
missioners at that Meeting.

Then the Commissioners of Maryland proceeded to take
notice of the last Default of the Commissioners of Pensilvania
attending at the Town of Newcastle on the Day of Febru-
ary 1732, persuant to the joint Adjournment ; which the C'om-
missioners of Pensilvania endeavoured to excuse. The (Com-
missioners of Maryland then mentioned the Difference and
Doubts, which had arose, in the Judgments of the Commis-
sioners on both sides, relating to the Intention of the Pro-
prietaries, and Interpretation of the second Article, and de-
sired to know if they, the Commissioners of Pensilvania, had in-

formed themselves with any Arguments, or provided any Opin-
ions of Mathematicions. to satisfy the Commissioners of Mary-
land they had put a wrong Interpretation on that Article?
To which the Commissioners of Pensilvania answered, they
had no Occasion for any Opinion of Mathematicians, but they
were to proceed, as they were directed by the Words of the Ar-
ticle; The Commissioners of Maryland urged, that the Article
principally regarded the Circle mentioned in the Deed of Feoff-
ment, and that the Words order that Circle to be run out ; that
another part of the Article directs the Circle to be run out to

be at 12 miles Distance from Newcastle ; and. therefore, the Coiii-

missioners of Maryland conceived, and so inforiiied the Com
missioners of Pensilvana, that, if the Circle in the Deed of
Feoffment should prove a Circle of different Dimensions or Di-
ameter than those of a Circle drawn at 12 Miles Distance from
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Newcastle, one of these Consequences must follow; either that

the Part of the second Article which directs the Circle in the

Deed of Feoffment to be run must be rejected, or, that the Part

of that second Article which directs the Circle of 12 Miles Dis-

tance from Newcastle must be rejected, or, that the whole Ar-

ticle must be set aside, as not capable of beings executed by

reason of the f-ontradiction : The Maryland Commissioners

further represented to the Commissioners of Pensilvania. that

it was not reasonalde to reject the Words which directs the

Circle mentioned in the Deed of Feoffment to be run, because

that Dee(\ was the only Foundation (if any) of Mess. Penns

Rifjht to Newcastle, and consequently, the principal intention

of the Proprietaries in the Agreement was conlined to that Cir-

cle or Right, and not to any other whatever. To this the Com-
missioners of Pensilvania answered, that they thought the Di-

rection of a Circle of 12 Miles Distance from Newcastle obliged

them to run that Circle, and no other, and that the Proprie-

taries so understood it.

Therefore the Maryland Commissioners, in order to know cer-

tainly whether the Pensilvania Commissioners would agree

to any reasonable and feazible Construction of the second Ar-

ticle, and by that Means enable the Commissioners to proceed

to an Execution, proposed the following Question (viz. ) Whether
the Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania will run out any
other Circle about the Town of Newcastle, than a Circle of 12

Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle?

To which the Commissioners of Pensilvania returned, in

Writing, the following Answer (viz.) By the Articles of Agree-

ment, between the Proprietaries of Pensilvania and C'ounties

of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, on Delaware, on the one part,

and the Lord Baltimore, Proprietary of Maryland, on the other

Part, it is injoined that there shall be the said Circle mentioned
in the Charter of Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale,

or Feoffment, of Newcastle (for so much thereof as is requisite)

drawn and marked out at the 12 Miles Distance from the town
of Newcastle, which 12 Miles shall be 12 English Statute Miles:

Therefore, in Answer to the above Question, we, the Commis-
sioners of Pensilvania. do say, that we are ready, and offer our-

selves, to run out the said Circle, mentioned in the said Charter

of Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment, of

the ToVvn of Newcastle, at the Distance of 12 Miles from the

said Town of Newcastle, according to the said Arliclesof Agree-

ment, and we do not conceive we are directed to run any other

Circle than the said Circle mentioned in the Articles aforesaid.

This Answer the Maryland Commissioners looked upon as

evasive, and designed to avoid any Agreement with the Commis-
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sioners of Maryland, (<iiic-e the (Jommissioners of Maryland, by
that Answer, wore not cai)able of judging what sort of a Circle
the Commissioners of Pensilvania would have run about New-
castle, in case any Difference should be between the Circle in
the Deed of Feottment, and the Circle of 13 Miles from New-
castle.

After which the Commissioners of Pensilvania proposed to
tlie Commissioner-of Maryland the following Question (viz.)
By the Articles of Agreement made and concluded between the
Proprietaries of Pensilvania and the Counties of Newcasitle,
Kent and Sussex, on Delaware, on the one Part, and the Lord
Proprietary of Maryland on the other Part, it is agreed that
there shall be the said Circle, mentioned in the Charter for
Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoflfment, of
Newcastle, or so much thereof as is requisite, drawn and
marked out at the Distance of 12 Miles from the Town of New-
castle, which 12 Miles shall be 12 English Statute Miles : Where-
upon we, tiie Commissioners of Pensilvania, do require you,
the Commissioners of Maryland, as we have long and frequently
done, to join with us in drawing and marking out the said
Circle, at the Distance of 12 Miles from the Town of Newcastle
as by the said Articles is agreed and directed, and then to pro-
ceed to the running, marking and laying out the other Lines
in the said Articles directed and agreed to be run, marked and
laid out, as in that Agreement is directed to be done, and, if
you refuse to do, we desire you will satisfy us why you will not?
To which the Commissioners of Maryland returned, in Writ-

ing, the following Answer (viz.) In Answer to the above Ques-
cition. We, the Commissioners of Maryland, say, that the prin-
pal Intentions and Directions of the Proprietaries in the second
Article appear, by the whole Tenor of the Agreement, and Com-
mission to us directed, to l)e, that no other Circle than the Circle
mentioned, described in the Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoff-
ment, of Newcastle, or so much thereof as is requisite, shall be
drawn and marked out • This Circle, so mentioned and de-
scribed in the said Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoflfment, we,
the said Commissioners of Maryland, have never refused to
draw and mark out, but do desire you, the Commissioners of
Pensilvania, to agree with us in drawing out the said Circle,
so mentioned and described, or so much thereof as is requisite':
And we, the aforesaid Commissioners of Maryland, further say,
that we are ready, and willing to proceed to Cape Hinlopen,
in Order to draw a due East and West Line a-cross the Penin-
sula, as directed by the third Article.
After which, the Commissioners of Maryland delivered, to

the Commissioners of Pensilvania, a Proposal in the following



1S2 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

"Words, (viz.) We the Coiumissioners of Maryland, offer and
propose, to the Coinuiissioners of Pensilvania, to run out a

Circle whos • Circumference is 12 Miles about Newcastle, for

that the Comuiissioners of Marj-land are informed, and con-

vinced, by the Mathematicians (with whom they have advised)

that the Circle described and mentioned in the Deeds of Bargain
and Sale, or Feoffment, about Newcastle, can denote or

mean no other than such a Circle whose Circumference is 12

Miles, and the Commissioners of Maryland further offer, to

the Commissioners of Pensilvania, to hear any Arguments,
or receive any Information, from other ^Mathematicians, in

case the Commissioners of Pensilvania differ from the Com-
missioners of Maryland in Judgment aoout the said Circle.

To which the Commissioners of Pensilvania returned the

following Answer, (viz.) In Answer to the above Proposition

We, the Commissioners of Pensilvania, do say, that the Duty
required of the Commissioners of either Side is to run, mark
and lay out the said Part of a Circle, and the said Lines, pur-
suant to the Articles of Agreement, and when so run and marked,
to return such a Plan and Survey as by the said Articles is

directed, and that we are tully convinced a Circle, whose Cir-

cuniference is only 12 Miles about the Town of Newcastle, is

not the Circle we are directed to run by the said Articles, and
we are also fully satisfied that the Circle mentioned in the
Charter for Pensilvania and Deed of Bai-gain and Sale, or
Feoffment of Newastle, directed to be run l)y the Articles afore-

said, is a Circle whose Radius is 12 Miles, and this is so plainly

expressed by the Proprietaries, on both Sides, in the said Ar-
ticles, to be a Circle to be drawn at the Distance of 12 Miles from
the said Town of Newcastle, that we, the Commissioners of

I'ensllvania, do conceive ourselves Warranted by the said

Articles so run such a Circle only, which we are now ready and
willing to do; And we further conceive that, as we have no
need, so we have no Authority, to refer tlie Construction of

the Circle, mentioned in the said Charter, Deed of Feoffment,
and Articles of Agreement, to any Persons whatsoever.
Mat/ J).

Then the Commissioners, on both Sides, entered into this
following Agreement, (viz.) .Toppa, May the 9th 173B. This
Day it is agreed, by the Commissioners on both Sides, that
they, or a Quorum of each, shall meet, at the House of Isaac
Norris jun., in Philadelphia, the 21st Day of this Instant May,
with this Proviso that, if the Commissioners on the Part of

Maryland cannot with Conveniency, return from Burlington,
so as to meet on that Day, then and in such Case, the Commis-
sioners of Pensilvania agree that, upon Notice given them, bv
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the Commissioner of Maryland, ol a Dav to meet, at the Place
aforesaid, before their return to Maryland, the Commissioners
on the Part of Pensilvania,or a Quorum of them, will meet those
of Maryland, or a Quorum of them, at the Place aforesaid, on
the Day that shall be so appointed. And it is further agreed
that, if it shall so happen that, after tlie Meeting and Stay
of the Commissioners of Maryland in Philadelphia, with tlie
Commissioners of Pensilvania, or a Quorum of them, will
meet those of Maryland, or a Quorum of them, at the Place
aforesaid, on the Day that shall be so appointed; And it is
further agreed that, if it shall so happen that, after the Meeting
and Stay of the Commissioners of Maryland in Philadelphia
with the Commissioners of Pensilvania one Dav, thev cannot
readily agree upon an Adjournment, that then," the Commis
sionersof Maryland shall not be longer detained from returning
to their respective Homes, they accenting of a Notice in Writ'^
ing. to be delivered to any one of their Commissioners, to meet
those of Pensilvania at the House of Andrew Peterson in the
County of Newcastle, on Delaware, the 18th Day of June next
ensuing, in order to the running and marking out the Lines
according to the Articles of Agreement.
May 25.

The Commissioners of Maryland not returning from Burling-
ton, so as to meet on the 21st Day of May according to the said
Agreement, did, on or about the 25th of May, send the follow-
ing Notice to the (Jonnni,ssioners of Pensilvania, viz.
Gentlemen, We, the Subscribers, Commissioners appointed

by the Right Honourable the Lord Proprietary, having not
been able, with Conveniency. to return from Burlington, so as
to meet you, the Cominissioners appointed by the Honourable
the Proprietaries of Pensilvania, on the 21st Day of this Instant
May, do, pursuant to an Agreement made at Jopi)a the {)th of
this Instant May, hereV)y give you Notice that We, or a Quorum
of Us, will meet you, or a Quorum of you, at the House of Mr.
Isaac Norris, jun.,in this City of Philadelphia, on To-morrow,
being Saturday the 26th Instant May, about 10 o'Clock ii'i

the Morning.
At which Time and Place a Quorum of the Commissioners,

on both Sides, being met, the following Agreement for a further
Adjournment was made, (viz.

)

Man 26.

A Quorum of the Commissioners, on both Sides, being this
26th Day of May 17B3 met, at the House of Isaac Norris, jun., in
Philadelphia, upon a Notice from the Commissioners on the
Part of Maryland, to those on the Part of Pensilvania, in pur-
suance of an Agreement mado tiie inh Day of this Instant at
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Joppu in the Province of Maryland, and it bein^j represented,

by the Commissioners on the Part of Maryland, that the Lord

Baltimore, being in some short time about to depart this Pro.

vince of Maryland and to return to Great Britain, it will bo

a great Inconveniency for them to meet in the Month of June,

according to the former Agreement, for the Purposes mentioned

in their respective Commissions, and it being further considered

that the Months of July and August are very hot, and for that

Reason render the running of Lines very troublesome and un-

safe at this Season of the Year, the Commissioners, on the Part

of Pensilvania, on the ( Considerations aforesaid, do, therefore,

agree with those of Maryland to meet, at the Town of New-
castle, on Delaware, on the od Day of September next, in order

to the running and marking out the Lines according to the Ar
tides of Agreement. Dated at Philadelphia the 26th Day of

May 1733.

Sept. 3.

Newcastle, September the 3d 1733. Whereas the Commission-
ers appointed, as well on the Part of the Proprietors of Pen.

silvania, as on the Part of the Lord Proprietor of Maryland,

for running, marking, laying out the Lines, Limits, and Bounds
of the said Provinces. «Sic. . in pursuance of Articles of Agreement
mutually concluded between the said Proprietors, having, for

the Conveniency of the Grentlemen, Commissioners of Maryland,

then attending the Lord Baltimore, met at Philadelphia the

26th of May last, did, then, adjourn to this Instant the 3d of

S?.ptember, at Newcastle, in Order to the running and marking
out the Lines according to the Articles aforesaid, and a (Quorum
of the said Commissioners, on both Parts, being now met at

Newcastle, in pursuance of the said Adjournment, the Commis-
sioners on the Part of Pensilvania do now acquaint those of

Maryland that they are ready, with their Artists, to proceed

immediately to the ruiniing and marking out the Circle men-
tioned in the Charter for Pensilvania, and Deed of Bargain,

and Sale, or Feoflfment, of Newcastle, at the Distance of 12 Miles

from the said Town of Newcastle, as the first thing di.rected to

be done by the Articles aforesaid, concluded between the Pro-

prietaries of the said respective Provinces; and, as a great Part

of the Term, appointed for executing the said Articles pursuant
to our respective (Commissions, is now elapsed, without any
Progress made therein, the ¥-i\.\d C'ommissioners of Pensilvania

do earnestly desire and press the Commissioners of Maryland
to join with them in the said Work, that no more time may be

lost. Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston, J. IjOgan, A. Hamilton,

James Steele, Robert Charles.

Sept. 4.
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>"ewc'astle tlie 4th of S.'pteuiber 17;;;!. Whereas the Coiumis-
&ionei> appoiutetl, as well on the Part of the said Lord Pro-
prietary of Maryland, as on the Part ;)f the Proprietors of Pen-
silvania. for runninjj. markinj,'. and laying out the Lines. Limits
and Bounds of the said Provinces, <Si;c. , in pursuance of Articles
of Agreement mutually concluded between the said Proprie-
taries, having, for the mutual and joint Conveniency of both the
.said Commissioners, met at Philadelphia the 26th Day cf May
last, did then adjourn to the 3d of this Instant September, at
Newcastle, in order to the running and marking out the Lines
according to the Articles aforesaid, at which Time and Place,
in pursuance of the said Adjournment, a Quorum of the said
Commissioners on the Part of Maryland, and a Quorum of the
Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania, being met, and the
Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania having then delivered
to the Commissioners on the Part of Maryland a Paper, in
Writing, signed by the said Commissioners on the Part of Pensil-
vania, they the said Commissioners of Maryland, in Answer to
the same Paper, do say, that the Commissioners of Maryland
have frequently acquainted the Commissioners on the Part
of Pensilvania, and do now repeat the same, that they the said
Commissioners on the Part of Maryland do conceive the prin-
cipal intentions and Directions of the proprietaries in the second
Article appear, by the whole Tenor of the Agreement and Com-
mission, to be, that no other Circle than the Circle mentioned
and described 'n the Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment of
Newcastle, or so much thereof as is requisite, should be drawn
and marked out, and that they are informed and convinced,
by Mathematicians, that such Circle described and mentioned
in the said Deeds of Bargain and Sale, or FeofTment about
Newcastle, can denote or mean no other than such a Circle
whose Circumference or Periphery is 12 Miles, and whose Di-
ameter is somewhat less then four Miles, and which Circle, of
the said Dimensions, whose Circumference or Periphery is 12
Miles, the said Commissioners on the Part of Maryland do ac-
quaint the Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania that they
are ready to proceed to the running and marking out, in any
manner the Commissioners on the Part of Maryland think
themselves authorized to proceed, if the Commissioners on the
Part of Pensilvania will agree with the Commissioners on the
Part of Maryland to run and mark out such Circle whose Cir-
cumference or Periphery is 12 Miles; and the Commissioners
on the Part of Maryland, by Reason so great part of the time
for executing the said Articles is elapsed, do earnestly desire
and press the Commissioners of Pensilvania to agree with them
to run the Circle whose Circumference or Periphery is 13 Miles



186 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

in such manner as their Auttiority directs, that no more time

may be lost. The Original, whereof this is a Copy, was received

by us, Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston, J. Logan, A. Hamilton

James Steele, Robert Charles. M. Howard, M. T. Ward, Edm
Jennings, James Harris, J. Ross.

ISept. 4.

Newcastle, September the 4th, 1733. The Commissioners on

the Part of Pensilvania having, this Day, received the Answer

of those of Maryland, to the Paper delivered l)y the former, at

a Meeting of the Commissioners Yesterday, in which Answer

the Commissioners of Maryland do al ledge that they have fre-

quently acquainted the Commissioners on the Part of Pensil-

vania; and do now repeat the same, that they, the Commis-
sioners on the Part of Maryland, do conceive the principal In-

tentions and Directions of the Proprietaries in the second Ar-

ticle appear, by the whole Tenor of the Agreement and Com-
mission, to be that no other Circle than the Circle mentioned

and described in the Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment of

Newcastle, or so much thereof as is requisite, should be drawn
and marked out, and that they are informed and convinced by

Mathematicians that such Circle, described and mentioned in

the said Deeds of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment, about New-
castle, can denote or mean no other than such a Circle whose
Circumference or Periphery is 12 Miles, and whose Diameter is

somewhat less than four Miles, the Commissioners on the Part

of Pensilvania conceive they cannot give a more proper or

effectual Answer, than to the said Allegation of the Commis-
sioners of Maryland, of their having frequently acquainted those

of Pensilvania with their Sentiments as aforesaid, than by ex-

hibiting a Copy of the Paper or Answer which they had pre-

pared on the 3d of February last, at this Town of Newcastle,

and delivered the same into the Hands of Governor Ogle, who
then thought not fit to accept of it, a Copy whereof is now
again delivered. Now the Commissioners on the Part of Pen-

silvania are firmly of Opinion that, when the Arguments, ad-

vanced in the said Paper are only considered, together with the

express Words of our respective Commissions, it will be next to

an impossibility to conceive that the principal Intentions and
Directions of the Proprietaries in the second Article of the

Agreement can be other than a Circle to be drawn at the Dist-

ance of 12 Miles from Newcastle : and whereas the Commissioners

of Maryland seem to depend on the Opinion of Mathematicians,

by whom (they say)they are convinced that the Circle described

and mentioned in the Deeds of Feoffment about Newcastle can

denote or mean no other than such a Circle whose Circumfer-

ence or Periphery is 13 Miles, and whose Diameter is somewhat
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less than four Miles, the Commissioners of Pensilvania, in the
first Place, say that the Circle mentioned in the Letters Patent,
Deeds, Articles, and Commissions, is so clearly and fully describ-

ed and explained that they cannot conceive there can be the least

room left to consult Mathematicians thereupon, yet, to prive

their Sentiments, un the Opinion of some Mathematicians offered

them, they say they cannot tind, on any Enquiry they are

capable of making, that the Matter in Controversy can, by any
means, fall under the Cognizance of Mathematicians, as such,
for that they had been assured a Circle comes no otherwise
under the Notice of a Geometer, or a Mathematician, than
as he considers the Property of it, but no Property of a

Circle, otherwise than as it is barely a round Figure, is in the
present Case to be considered, and therefore, it appears to the
said Commissioners entirely out of the way of such Artists to

determine anything, or give any Opinion concerning the Cir-

cle now under Dispute: It appears indeed that in Euclid's Ele-

ments (a Book of such Authority as, it is said, no Mathema-
tician will, or can Dispute) the Definition of a Circle is given
in the Sense it is used in Geometry, viz.

That it is a plain Figure, termined or comprehended by one
Line which is called the Circumference, to which Circumference
all strait Lines drawn from one Point within the same are equal
to each other, and that this Point is called the Center, which
so very plainly shews the Difference between a Circle and its Cir-

cumference, that it appears strange to us. the Commissioners of

Maryland would insist upon Reasons so ill grounded, but. from
whence, it is plain from (to) the Commissioners of Pensilvania,
that the Point in hand is entirely foreign to all Mathematical
Enquiries, and it is equally evident, that the Sense of the Words
under Dispute is to be taken only from the common Sense of
Mankind, who understand the English Tongue, what is intended
by the Words, within 12 Miles of a Place, or within the Compass
of 12 Miles about a Place, is clearly understood by all English-
men : Nor does the Addition of the Word.Circle,after the Word.
Compass, make any manner of Alteration, for they manifestly
mean the same Thing, and the Addition was most proper in
this Place, because a Circle, drawn at the Distance of 12 Miles
from Newcastle, the same with the Circle granted in the Deed,
is made, in Part, the Southern Boundary of the Province of
Pensilvania. by the King's Letters Patents, which were prior in
Date to the Deed of Feoffment : The Commissioners for Pensil-
vania further say, that were it possible for them, contrary to
plain and common Sense, to be prevailed on to agree in running a'
Circle of about Four Miles Diameter only, the Commissioners
for Maryland cannot but be sensible their Work would be in
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itself entirely void, a.s it would be directly contrary to the ex-

press Words and Direction of their Commission, from which,

alone, they can derive any Power or Authority to run any Circle

at all. Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston, J. Logan, A. Hamilton,

J. Steele, Rob. Charles.

A Copy of the Pensilmnin Paper tendred 3 Feb. 1732, and non

again delivered 4 8ept. 1733.

The Commissioners on the Part of Maryland having made
two Objections against running tlie Circle, or Part of a Circle,

about the Town of Newcastle, as directed by the Agreement

made between the I^roprietors of Pensilvania and Maryland.—

First, For that there being no Center, fixed or agreed upon by

the said Proprietors, from whence the said Circle shall be drawn,

they conceive they have no Power to make a Center, and, there-

fore, are not warranted by their Commissioners to run the said

Circle. Secondly, For that the Deed of Bargain and Sale or

Feoffment from the late Duke of York to the late William Penn

Esq ; the Elder, for the Town of Newcastle, and the Lands about

the same, being expressed in these Words, to wit, "All that the

"Town of Newcastle, otherwise called Delaware, and all that

"Tract of Land, lying within the Compass or Circle of 12 Miles

"about the same.situate, lying, and being, upon the River Dela-

" ware, in America," the said Commissioners for Maryland do ob-

ject that the Circumference, or Periphery, of that Circle is to be

but 12 Miles, which, they say, will make a Diameter scarce four

Miles,or,at most, it will but make a Diameter of 12 Miles, so that

the Radius of the Circle, to be run by the present Agreement

about the Town of Newcastle, will be but six Miles at most,and

that, the Words in the Article of Agreement and Commissions,

which direct that the Circle shall be at the Distance of 12 Eng-

lish Statute Miles from the Town of Newcastle, are either super-

fluous, or are contradictory to the Description in the Deed of

Feoffment, and therefore void in themselves : To which Objec-

tion the Commissioners, on the Part of Pensilvania, answer.

That they conceive the Commissioners on both Sides be impow-

ered or directed by their Commissions, in pursuance and in

Part Performance of the said Articles of Agreement, to draw

and mark out the said Circle mentioned in the Charter of Pen-

silvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment, of New-
castle, or so much thereof as should be requisite, at 12 Miles

Distance from the Town of Newcastle, which 12 Miles shall be

12 English Statute Miles,and to do every thing necessary for the

running the same accordingly; and that the Words in the said

Deed, as well as the Words in the said Articles of Agreement,

and the several Commissions from tlie respective Proprietors to
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tilt' Commissioners, contain such a certuiiity ;is will well war-

rant the Commissioners to proceed in drawing and marking
out the said (Urcle, or so much thereof as siiall be thought re-

quisite: As to the second Objection, the Commissioners of

Pensilvania are of Opinion, that it is not from the Words of

the before-mentioned Deeds only, that the Radius of the said

Circle is to be judged of, or measured, but, likewise, from the

Charter of Pensilvania, and the Cxrant of the late Duke of York
to William Penn Es(j ; the Elder, for that Tract of Land upon
Delaware River and Bay. now called by the Names of Sussex,

Kent, and Part of Newcastle County; and, if any doubt could

arise upon the Words of the before Deed of Bargain and Sale

for the Town of Newcastle, concerning the Radius of the Circle

of 12 Miles about the said Town, we conceive it is fully ex-

plained, cleared up, and reduced to a certainty, by the afore-

said Charter and Deetls; for, it is to l)e observed, that as the

Town of Newcastle and the 12 Miles around the same, was
originally appropriated, by the said late Duke of York, for

certain purposes, before he granted the same to the said Wil-
liam I^enn ; so King Charles the Second, when he granted the

Province of Pensilvania, took care not to encroach upon that

Circle, but begins the Bounds of the said Province from 12

Miles Distance Northward of Newcastle Town: Thus, by the

Kinsr's Grant of tlie Province of Pensilvania, we see, that he
understood the Periphery or Circumference of the Circle about
the Town of Newcastle to be 12 Miles distant from the same:
It is further observable that, by the Grant of the said late Duke
of York to the said late William Penn, the Elder, of that Tract

of Land now containing Sussex, Kent, and Part of Newcastle
County, the said Duke, who was, at the Time of making the

said Grant, Owner of both the said Town of Newcastle, and the

12 Miles round the same, and also of the said Tract of Land
lying on the River and Bay of Delaware, understood the Cir-

cumference of the said Circle to be at the Distance of 12 Miles

from the Town of Newcastle, and accordingly describes the

Bounds of the said Tract of Land, as lying on Delaware River

and Bay, and Beginning 12 Miles South from the Town
of Newcastle, and extending South to Cape Hinlopen, &c.

From all which, we conceive it most evident, that the

Circumference of the Circle about the Town of Newcastle
is 12 Miles distant from the same; so it appears King
Charles the Second, who was the original Grantor, under-

stood it when he bounded the Province of Pensilvania at

the Distance of 12 Miles North of the Town of Newcastle, and
the said late Duke of Y'ork, who was Owner of all the Lands
to the Southward of Pensilvania as far as Cape Hinlopen, and
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had the unquestionable Right to declare the meaning of his own
Grant, he has declared how he understood the Extent of that

Circle,by beginning his Grant of the Lands lying on Delaware,

and to the Southward of the said Town of Newcastle, at 12

Miles distant from the same; but, were it possible, after Con-

sideration had of said Charter and Deeds, for any Person to

be in doubt about the Extent of the said Circle, or Part of the

Circle, now to be marked out by the Commissioners, we, on the

Part of Pensilvania, are clearly of Opinion, that the Projjrietors

of both Provinces, who are the sole Owners of all the Lands

lying between the Bay of Chesopeak and the River Sassquahan-

nah to the Westward, and the Bay and River of DelaAvare to

the Eastward, have, as they had an undoubted Right to do,

in most full and express Terms, removed that Doubt, by the

second Article of their Agreement; where they say that there

shall be the said Circle mentioned in the said Charter for Pen-

silvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment of New-

castle, or so much thereof as is requisite, drawn and marked

out at the 12 Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle, which

12 Miles shall be 12 English Statute Miles; and as to the Oljjec-

tion that so much of this Article as directs the Circle to be at

12 Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle is superfluous,

or contradictory, to the Deeds of Feoffment aforesaid, and,

therefore, void in itself, we do not conceive it deserves any

other Answer than to say that the Article is neither superfluous,

or contradictory, but a plain Declaration of what has always

been understood to be meant by 12 Miles about the Town
of Newcastle, and that the Proprietors of Maryland and Pensil-

vania had undoubtedly a good Right to divide their own Lands

in such manner as they thought fit. and they have accordingly

agreed, that the Circle about the Town of Newcastle shall

be drawn and marked out at the Substance (Distance) of 12

English Statute Miles from the said Town, and the Commis-

sioners on the Part of Pensilvania are now ready, and offer

themselves, to proceed to the drawing and marking out the

same accordingly. Newcastle, Feb. 3. 1732. A Copy, delivered

this 4th Sept. 1733, to the Commissioners of Maryland, by us

Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston, J. Logan, A. Hamilton. James

Steele, Robert Charles. Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston, A.

Hamilton, James Steele, Robert Charles.

*S'e/?. 5.

Newcastle 5th Sept. 1733. The Commissioners on the Part of

Maryland, upon considering the Paper dated the 4th of this

Instant, and also another Paper therein referred to, and both

delivered the same Day to them by the Commissioners of Pen-

silvania. do return the following Answers: First. That the

Reasons, alledged by the Commissioners of Pensilvania, ear
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very far from being sufficient to satisfy the Commissioners o
Maryland, that the principal Intentions and Directions of the
Proprietaries in the second Article ai)pear, by the whole Tenor
of the Agreement, to be any otherwise than that no other Circle
than the Circle mentioned and described in the Deed o Bargain
and Sale, or Feofllment, of Newcastle, or so much thereof as
should be requisite, should be drawn and marked out. but, on
the contrary, the Commissioners of Maryland conceive, that the
Construction on the Intention of the Royal Grantors, and <jf

the Parties (to) the Agreement, as well as to the References to
such Grants which the Commissioners of Pensilvania think
themselves obliged on this Occasion to use, in order to shew
Avhat was intended by such Deed of Feoffment, fully convince
the Commissioners of Maryland, that no other Circle than the
Circle described and mentioned in the Deed of Bargain and Sale
of Feofifment of Newcastle, or so much thereof as may be re-
quisite, can, or ought to be run and marked out by the Com-
missioners of Pensilvania, as well as by the Commissioners of
Maryland. Secondly, The Commissioners of Maryland say,
that (without attacking the Authority of Euclid) they cannot
but retain the former Opinion they delivered to the Commis-
sioners of Pensilvania, viz. That the Circle, mentioned and
described in the said Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment,
can denote or mean no other than such a Circle whose Circum-
ference, or Periphery, is 12 Miles, and whose Diameter is some-
what less than four Miles, and the Commissioners of Maryland
cannot but with the Mathematicians, with whom they had ad-
vised, had been now in Newcastle, but whose Presence was not
thought necessary after the Answer of the Commissioners of
Pensilvania of the 8th of May last, to a Proposal of the Com-
missioners of Maryland of the same Day, for the Commissioners
of Maryland think that they could very easily jnake appear, that
the Definition of a Circle in general, as quoted from Euclid, can
have little Relation to the Description and Dimensions of the
particular Circle mentioned in the ^eed of Feoffment. The
Commissioners of Maryland further add, that thev are not ap-
prized of the Paper, referred to, being offered, or refused by
the Governor of Maryland. Upon the whole, for Reasons often
repeated, the Commissioners of Maryland are Avilling to run
and mark out a Circle whose Circumference is 12 Miles, as they
have formerly proposed, if the Commissioners of Pennsylvania
will agree and consent thereto. M. Howard. M. T. Ward
Edm. Jennings, Ja. Harris, John Ross. The Original, whereof
this is a Copy, was delivered to us Isaac Norris, Samuel Pres-
ton, J. Logan, A. Hamilton, James Steele. Robert Charles.
Sept. 6.

Newcastle, Sept. 6th, 173:;. The Commissioners on the Part



I(t2 PE>'NSYLVAN1A A>D MARYLAND

of Pensilrania take leave to observe, that the (ouiinissioners

oil the Part of Maryland have, at their late Meetings, con-

stantly insisted, that the Circle mentioned in the Deed of Bar-

gain and Sale,or Feoffment, of I^ewctistle, is only a Circle whose
Circumference is 13 Miles, and whose Diameter is somewhat less

than 4 Miles, and that they are willing to run such a Circle,

hut. as tho Circle under our Consideration, i-ecited in the second

Article of Agreement, is expressly directed to l)e run at the Dis-

tance of 12 English Statute Miles from the Town of Newcastle,

the Comiuissioners of Pensilvania conceive, that the Circle

whose Radius is 12 Miles, is the only Circle the Commissioners
of either Side are directed to run by their Commissions, from
which alone they have any Power or Authority to run any
Circle at all, and, therefore, they expect the Commissioners of

Maryland will either join with them in running such a Circle,

or directly declare they will not. Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston^

J. Logan, A. Hamilton. James Steele, Robert Charles.

Newcastle, Sept. Gth, 173:3. The Commissioners of Maryland,
in Answer to the Paper this Day delivered by the Commissioners
of Pensilvania, do say, that as they are fully satisfied and con-

vinced, that no other Circle than the Circle mentioned and de
scribed in the Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment, of New-
castle was intended, by the Articles of Agreement, to be run and
marked out. and. as the Commissioners of Maryland are also

of Opinion, tiiat such Circle is not a Circle of 12 Miles Radius,

or ought to be run at the Distance of 12 English Statute Miles

from the Town of Newcastle, the Commissioners of Marvland
cannot agree, or join with the Commissioners of Pensilvania,

to run and mark out a Circle at the Distance of 12 English Stat-

ute Miles from the Town of Newcastle, or whose Radius shall

be 12 English Statue Miles. M. Howard, M. T. Ward,Edm. Jen-
nings, Ja. Harris, John Ross. The Original, whereof this is a

Copy, was received by the Commissioners of Pensilvania, Isaac

Norris, Samuel Preston, J. Logan, A. Hamilton, James Steele,

Robert Charles.

Newcastle, Sept. 6th, 1733. The Commissioners on the Part of

Maryland desire to know, from the Commissioners of Pensilva-

nia, whether they will not consent and agree with the Commis-
sioners of Maryland to run and mark out any other Circle round
the Town of Newcastle, than such whose Radius shall be 12

Miles? M. Howard, M. T. Ward, Edm. Jennings, J. Harris,

John Ross. The Original whereof this is a Copy, was received

by us the Commi^sioners of Pensilvania. Isaac Norris, Sam.
Preston, J. Logan, A. Hamilton. James Steele. Robert Charles.

Newcastle. Sept. 6th, 173.3. To the Question of the Commis-
sioners of Maryland, proposed to us after the Delivery of our
paper this Forenoon, we Answer, that the Proprietors of the
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two Provinces, &r., and Maryland, by the seeond Artir-le of the
Agreement coneluded between them, having upreeci and directed,
that there shall be the ('ircle mentioned in the Charter for
Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale, or FeofTinent. of

Newcastle, or so much thereof as is requisite, drawn and marked
out, at the 12 Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle, which
12 Miles shall be 12 English Statute Miles, and by the Commis-
sion granted us for executing the said Agreement, the said Circles

mentioned in the second Article is that only we are directetl

and impowered to run, therefore, we cannot agree to run any
other than a Circle at the Distance of 12 Miles from Newcastle,
as in the said Article is directed. Isaac Norris. Sam. Preston, J.

Logan. A. Hamilton, James Steee, Robert Charles.

Newcastle, September the 6th, 1733. The Commi.'^sioners of the
Proprietaries of Maryand and Pensilvania differing in their Sen-
timents, about the Dimensions of the Circle directed to be run
by the Articles of Agreement now subsisting between the said

Proprietaries, as appears by the several Papers exchanged
between the Commissioners on both Sides this Day, the Com-
missioners on the Part of Maryland insisting that the Circle

mention<^d in the Deed of Bargain and Sale, or Feoffment, of
Newcastle, which they say is a Circle whose Circumference or
Periphery is 12 Miles, and whose Diameter is somewhat less

than four Miles, is the only Circle they can run, and having de-

sired the Commissioners of Pensilvania to join with them in

running the same, the said last mentioned Commissioners have
refused so to do, as not Jjeingthe Circle directed in the Articles

of Agreement, and the Commissioners on tlie Part of Pensilva-
nia insisting upon running a Circle at the Distance of 12 Miles
from the Town of New(!astle,as they say they are directed by tlie

said Articles of Agreement and their Commission, and having
desired the Commissioners of Maryland to join in running such
a Circle, they have refused to do the same, and say further that,

forasmuch as the Commissioners on the Part of Maryland and
Pensilvania cannot agree about the Dimensions of the Circle to
be run in pursuance of the said Articles of Agreement, and that
they cannot comi)ei the Commissioners of Pensilvania to join

with them in running a Circle whose Circumference or Periphery
is 12 Miles, and whose Diameter is somewhat less than four
Miles, it is to no purpose to continue here, but that we ought
to adjourn for further Consideration of the Premises: To
which, the Commissioners of Pensilvania say. that they are

fully satisfied that the Circle of 12 Miles Di.stanee from the
Town of Newcastle, is the only Circle they can agree to run,

yet. forasmuch as the Commissioners of Pensilvania cannot
compel the Commissioners of Maryland to join with them in

13—Vol. XV.
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runninp: such a Circle, they must, at present, \ iekl to the Ail-

journinent proposed by the (Joiiiiuissioners of Maryland ; which

Adjournment is hereby fixed for the 14th of November next

;

at which time the Commissioners agree that they, or a Quorum

of each Side, will then attend, at Newcastle, in Discharfre of

their respective Trusts. Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston, J. Logan-

A. Hamilton, James Steele, Robert Charles.

Auc. 10.

Newcastle, November the 16th 1733. The Commissioners ai)-

pointed by the Right Honourable the Lord Proprietor of Mary-

land, and the Couniiissioners appointed by the Honourable

the Proprietors of Pensilvania, for runni^ig the Lines, &c., hav-

ing, pursuant to their Adjournment on the Oth of September last,

met, at tne Town of Newcastle, of this Instant November, and

continued together by several Adjournments to this Kith Instant

of the same Novendjcr, at the sai(' Town of Newcastle, the ('om-

missioners on the Part of Maryland having acquainted the (Jom-

missioners on the Part of Pensilvania that they are willing to

run the Circle mentioned in the Deed of Bargain and Sale and

Deed of Feoffment of Newcastle in the manner they have fre-

quently before offered to the Commissioner^ of Pensilvania,

and the same Commissioners of Pensilvania insisting they can

only run a (Mrcle of 12 Miles Radius, by reason whereof the

said Commissioners on both Sides not being able to agree in

the Dimensions of the (Circle so to be run about Newcastle, the

Commissioners on the Part of Maryland, in order that they may

endeavour to do and execute so much of the said Articles and

Commission as may be found practicable by a joint Agreement,

propose and offer to the Commissioners of Pensilvania to pro-

ceed to Cape Hinlopen, in order to proceed in fixing the Cape,

and running the East and West Line directed by the third Ar-

ticle to run from thence. The Original, whereof this is a Copy,

was delivered by the Commissioners of Maryland to us the

Commissioners of Pensilvania. Isaac Norris, Sam. Preston, J.

Logan, A. Hamilton, James Steele.

Nov. 17.

To the Commissioners appointed on the Part of Maryland

for running, marking, and laying out the Lines, Limits or

Bounds between the Province of Maryland and the Province of

Pensilvania and the Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sussex

on Delaware; Gentlemen. In order to answer the Proposals of

the 16th Instant, to us the Commissioners on the Part of Pen-

silvania, setting forth that you the Commissioners on the Part

of Maryland having acquainted those on the Part of Pensilvania

that you are willing to run the Circle mentioned in the Deed
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of Bargain and Sale and Deed of Feoffment of Newcastle in the

manner you have frequently before offered (which by your
Papers appears to be a Circle of somewhat less than four Miles

Diameter, or less than two Miles Radius) and we, the Commis-
sioners on the Part of Pensilv^ania, insisting that we can only
run a Circle of 13 Miles Radius, l)y reason whereof the Commis-
sioners on both Sides not being able to agree in the Dimensions
of the Circle so to be run about Newcastle, you therefore, in

order that you may endeavour to do and execute so much of

the Articles and Commissions as may be found Practicable by
a joint Agreement, propose and offer to us the Commissioners
of Pensilvania to proceed to Cape Hinlopen, in order to proceed
in fixing the Cape and running the East and West Line directed

by the said Article to be run from thence, we the Commis-
sioners on the Part of Pensilvania, that our Sense of the whole
Afl'air now depending between us and the Nature of this last

Proposal may more clearly and fully be understood, we believe it

incumbent upon us briefly to state the Case, which will the

better enable us lo give you a proper Answer. AVe must then
crave leave to take Notice that the Province of Maryland and
the Province of Pensilvania, with the Tract now called the
Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, bounding
on each other, their Limits, for above these 50 Years past, have
lain undetermined, by means whereof many Disputes, and much
Cause of Uneasiness must necessarily from time to time have
arose between his Majesty's Subjects, Inhabitants of the respec-

tive Borders, to the Disturbance of the Quiet and Peace of both
Governments; for the effectual Removal of which the Proprie-

tors, on both Sides, in the Year 1724. but, afterwards much more
fully, entered into the most amicable Measures, and, by Articles,

solemnly concluded the 10th' Day of May 17.32, agreed on their

respective Boundaries to be fixed without delay, by Lines in

the said Articles particularly expressed, and for the moving all

Doubts and Mistakes more plainly directed by a Plan or Map
printed thereon, and Commissioners, on both Sides, in pursu-
ance of the said Articles, were appointed and authorized for ex-

ecuting the same, and as the whole Tenor of those Articles ex-

press the most tender regard in the Proprietors, on both Sides,

for the Security, Quiet and Ease of all his Majesty's Subjects
concerned therein, so, they declare that their Commissioners
should proceed, on their Part, with all the Fairness, Candour
and Dispatch that reasonably may be in the Business enjoined
them. With how sincere a Satisfaction the Account of such
an Agreement was received, not only by all those w^hose Posses-
sions near the Borders had been liable to Dispute, but all others
who had long wished to see that Subject of Discord removed,
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we need not mention. We the Connnissioners for Pensilvania,

though Age and Infirmities had rendered divers of us less fit

for the Fatigue, yet, on a reasonable Expectation of seeing Peace

and Tranquillity between these neighbouring Governments
fully and effectually Established, chearfully undertook the

Charge; but, however sincere the whole Tenor of those Articles

shews the Intention of tlie Proprietors, themselves, to have

been, in agreeing on and executing them, it is, with a very deeji

Concern, we are obliged to take ^'otice that the (Conduct of the

(Commissioners of Maryland has hitherto appeared to be di-

rected to a different View, which we collect froiii these well-

known Instances; the first Meeting being appointed by our re-

spective Governors to l)e on the 6th of October 1732, at New-
town in Maryland, when six of the Commissioners of Pensilva-

nia thpre met a competent Number of yours, the Validity of

our Commission from our Proprietors, so exactly agreeable to

the Directions of all the contracting Parties to the Articles,

was scrupled by you, because not sierned by certain other Per-

sons who were no Parties at all. As this beginning gave us some
Apprehensions, we immediately proposed what is usual and

necessary in all such Cases, that, for the better preventing all

Disputes and Misapprehensions, a Clerk or Clerks should be

appointed for taking Minutes of our Proceedings, yet, this

could, by no means, be obtained; It was, however, then agreed

that the said Article for running the Circle about Newcastle

being the first in order, and about which great Part of the Work
depended, we should first meet there to proceed on that Circle

as the first Thing necessary to be done by us, and thereupon

adjourned to meet at Newcastle the 30th of the said October:

At our Meeting at Newcastle the 30th of October, pursuant to

the preceding Appointment, having reason, from the Tenor of

our Commissions, to expect we were then immediately to pro-

ceed in the Business of the Circle, for which we had fully pro-

vided Surveyors and all necessary Instruments on our Part,

instead of this, it was demanded of us on our Part that we
should produce the Charter for our Provirrce, and the Deed of

Feoffment for Newcastle; with which, though we were fully

satisfied (since they are all largely recited in the Articles) we
had then nothing at all to do, yet, to shew our Inclination to

oblige you, one of our own Number condescended to take a

Journey to Philadelphia for them, and being brought, the

next Step on your Part, was to start a Difficulty about finding

the Center of the Circle; but this, we shewed, from the Words
of the Articles and the Draught, might easily been found and

agreed on; yet. you positively insisted on the Difficulties of it,

as a Matter out of your Power ; and, therefore, proposed a long
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Adjournment, that yoii might, in the mean time, have an Op-
portunity of consulting your Lord Projjrietor (wliose Arrival
in Maryland, you said, was daily expected.) At that Meeting
we again strenuously insisted on the Admission of a Clerk, or

that Minutes of our Proceeding should be taken by joint Con-
sent, that what should pass between us in our (Jonferences

might Ije reduced to some Certainty ; but this was as obstinately

opposed, and nothing, but an Adjournment, insisted on: to

whicli we, at length, condescended for about three Months,
because of the Winter Season, viz. to the 1st of February then
next ensuing. Being again met, at Newcastle, on the said

3d of February, when our Commissioners might reasonably ex-

pect you had then received from your Lord Proprietor (who-
had arrived many Weeks oefore) full Instructions for the re-

moving the Difficulties started about the Center, all the Answer
given on your Part was, that his Lordship had left it to his

Commissioners; so that the same Objections still remained,
and, then, a new Doubt was raised about the Diameter of the
Circle; this, indeed, appeared by the Articles and our Commis-
sions, to be put beyond all possibility of Dispute, by the plain
and express Words of the 2d Article viz. that there shall be
the said Circle, mentioned in the said Charter for Pensilvania
and Deed of Bargain and Sale of Feoffment of Newcastle (or

so much thereof as is requisite) drawn and marked out at 12

Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle, which 12 Miles shall

be 12 English Statute Miles; yet, notwithstanding the Plainness

of these English Words, you thought fit to declare you were
not satisfied in that Point, and, then it was, that, on a Ques-
tion proposed to us, which required to be fully and particularly

answered on our Part, and therefore demanded Time and Ap-
plication, though some of our Number attended, yet, because,

through the Indisposition of some others, we delayed Meeting
an H jur or two longer than one of the times mentioned the pre-

ceeding Night for our Adjournment, you were pleased intirely to

withdraw; and, though our Commissioners attended you, about
Noon, of the same Day, and both yours, and ours, met a full

Hour after that time, and dined together, yet, you absolutely

refused to join with us any more, and, notwithstanding you
had two seveial Notices from us, agreeable to the Tenor of the

Articles, to meet us again. First, the same Evening after, the

3d of February, and, on your Neglect of that Notice, again,

on the Second, or Monday of next Week, being the 5th of the

Month, you left Newcastle on the 4th, and returned to Mary-
land. Again, by an Express from Philadelphia to Annapolis,

we sent you another Notice to meet us at Newcastle the 16tli

of April, but, rejecting this, by the same Messenger, you sent
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us another Notice, to meet you at Joppa, a small Village in

Maryland, on the other Side of the Bay, and at 50 Miles dit;-

tauce at least from where any part of our Business could lie;

yet. this Notice of yours, liowever unreasonable, that we might

not be wanting in any thing within our Power that might con-

tribute to carry on the Work, five of our Number com

plied with, and attended your Commissioners there. At

.loppa we found what you had there to propose was, that we

should adjourn to Cape Hinlopen; but this being shewn to be

irregular, and inconsistent with the Tenor of the Articles, till

the Circle about Newcastle was fixed, as divers of your Number
(as you said) were obliged to wait on your Lord Proprietor to

Burlington, it was mutually agreed that we should adjourn to

Philadelphia. Where, being met, without agreeing on any thing

further, another Adjournment was proposed ; which Adjourn-

ment, because (as it was alledged on your Part that you must

necessarily attend his Lordship at his embarking for Britain,

and because of the unfitness of the Season in the Month of Au-

gust for the Business of Surveying in the Woods) was agreed

to be at Newcastle the 3d of September last. At that Day,

we accordingly met, -and, th. n, it was proposed to us

that we should join with you in running a Circle, or part

thereof, whose Diameter is somewhat less than four Miles,

which we absolutely refused, for the plain Reason then given,

but, on the other hand, we desired you to join with us in run-

ning a Circle, or part thereof, of 12 Miles Radius, as expressly

directed in the Articles and our Commission ; but this, you

equally refused to comply with; and, seeing we appeared then

to be at a stand, you proposed an Adjournment for further

Consideration; which was yielded to on our Part, to be here at

Newcastle the 14th of this Instant November ; here accordingly,

we met, but finding no result from the further Consideration

proposed at the last Adjournment, but that you remain fixed in

agreeing to no other Circle than one of somewhat less than two

Miles Radius, to which, you well knows we never can submit,

as you also know that, if we should so far forget our Self, and

our Charge to comply therewith, the work, when done, would

be entirely void, as being contrary to the express Words of the

Articles and our Commission, you have, now, thought fit to

propose that we should go to Cape Hinlopen. in order to i)ro-

.•eed to fixing the Cape, and running the East and West Line

directed by the third Articlt- to be run from thence. Now. to

come to a full and particular Answer to this Proposal, we, the

(Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania, say, that we have

thought it encumbent on us. at all times, to attend the W'ork

enioined by our Commission, according to the true Tenor and
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plain Meaning thereot ; tliat by the Articles, cJid our said Coiu-

uiissious, the first Business required to be done by us is the run-

ning of a Circle about ]S'ewcastle, or so much thereof as is re-

quisite, at the Distance, or by a Radius, of 12 English Statute

Miles, directed in such express Terms that, we conceive it im-

possible to Mistake the meaning of them, that so much of the

other Work depends upon this Circle (as the South and North

tlividing Line, particularly, is to be divided by it) that, with-

out some certain Assurance that this Circle could be fixed with

in tlie time limited, it would be Labour and Expence entirely

lost to set about it: You cannot, therefore, but allow us to be

clearly of the Opinion that, notwithstanding you have, hitherto,

as well to your own Fatigue, as ours, kept up the Adjournment,

that have been made, yet, for some Reasons, best known to

your selves, it has not, from your first Meeting with us (as we
conceive) appeared that you really intended to carry on and

finish this important Work, so much wanting for quieting

the Minds of the People and establishing the Tranquility of

both Governments; but, on our Parts, we are. and shall be,

ready to proceed in the Business according to the true Tenor

a,nd Directions of our Commissions; and, as we conceive all

other Measures wholly useless, so, we must insist on saying

that, for the Reasons herein given, we cannot depart from New-
castle in order to proceed on any other part of the AVork, before

the necessary one of running the Circle as directed in the Articles

be first done. Newcastle. 17th of November 173:1 Isaac Norris,

Samuel Preston, James Logan, A. Hamilton, James Steele.

Novemh. 19.

To the Commissioners appointed on the Part of Pensilvania for

running, marking and laying out the Lines. Limits or Bounds
between the Province of Maryland and the Province of Pensil-

vania, &c. Gent. Your Answer of 17thJnstant,to our Proposal

of Ifith Instant, to proceed to Cape Hinlopen, lays us under

a Necessity of truely, and briefly, stating the Proceedings and
Behaviour of the Commissioners, on each side, which will fully

justify such Proposal. For which purpose we must admit that

the Province of Maryland and the Province of Pensilvania are

bounded on each other, but we must observe that, altho' the

Bounds designed for the Province of Maryland by the Royal

Charter are sufficiently described, yet, for want of a proper

Observance of such Bounds, many Encroachments have been

made into the Province of Maryland, which necessarily created

Disputes and Uneasiness between his Majesty's Subjects of the

two Provinces. It is true Articles were concluded the 10th Day
of May 1732, between the Proprietaries of the said Provinces
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for lixing the true Boundary of the Circle about the Town of

Newcastle, and for determining what should be the Limits,

when run and marked, of the Provinces of Maryland and Pen-

.silvania, and the two Counties now called Kent and Sussex on

Delaware; and, altho" our earnest Endeavours, in discharge of

our Dutv enjoined by the Articles and Commission, have not

hitherto had the desired Effect, yet, we can, with much Reason,

please ourselves in thinking that we shall not deserve (even

from you) that severe and uncharitable Imputation of our Con-

duct tending to a different than the Execution of the Articles

and Commission, when we shall have fairly represented, and

brought to your Recollection, all the several Instances which,

we will suppose, you have rather mistaken or forgot, than wil-

fully misrepresented. The first Meeting being at Newtown,

in Maryland, the 6th of October 1732, the Commissions im-

powering the Commissioners on each side to act in the Execu-

tion of the Articles were inspected; and, surely, it behoved the

Persons authorized, to consider their Powers, in such manner

as they might be satisfied whether they were sufficiently ample

for the Purposes designed; nor can we conceive how that

first step of prudent caution, could give the Commissioners of

Pensilvania any Apprehensions, unless the Commissioners of

Pensilvania were themselves determined before-hand, and

thought the Commissioners of Maryland obliged to proceed in

tlie execution of the Articles whether the Commissioners of

Maryland were convinced, or not, of their Power, or of their being

in the right or wrong in their Behaviour. Your mention, of a

Proposal being made to you at that meeting. and repeated at the

Meeting on the 30th of October at Newcastle, of the Admission

of a Clerk, or that Minutes should be taken by a joint Consent,

must, upon recollection, seem very strange, even to yourselves,

for an Insinuation is endeavored to be raised that no Minutes

of what passed, at either of those Conferences, was reduced to

a Certainty : Be pleased, Gent, to review your Papers, and, we

presume, you will find a Minute, taken of the Proceedings of

the Commissioners at the Meeting of the 6th of October at

Newtown, for we affirm that we have such Minutes, in the Hand-

writing of one of the Commissioners of Pensilvania. and, sup-

pose, a Duplicate of the same is in your Possession. We must

not impute this Misrepresentation to any want of Candour, but

meer Forgetfulness, and, as a Minute was so taken, at the first

Meeting, how coiild it be supposed such a Method would be

discontinued, in the After-meetings, or make your Repetition

necessary? And we apprehend, neither one. or more. Clerks

coukl. with so much Satisfaction and Certainty, reduce any of

the Proceedings into Writing, as the Commissioners themselve-s.
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eirher jointly or separately uii^'ht du in tlie manner observed
at the lirst Meeting.—You are pleased to say it was agreed, at
the ttrst Meeting, that the 2d Article for running the Circle
about Newcastle, being tlie first in Order, and upon which
great part of tlie rest of the work depended, the said Coniuiis-
sioners should first meet there, to proceed on the Circle as the
first thing necessary to be done by the said Commissioners;
Would not anyone imagine that these were the Words, or Pur-
port, of the Minute, taken at the first Meeting, of the Proceed-
ing and Adjournment ; but, to our great Astonishment, we
cannot find, in that Minute, the least Mention of the Commis-
sioners Sense being tliat the running out the Circle about New-
castle was the first thing necessary to be done; nor, indeed, is

there any Notice taken of what passed at that Meeting in the
said Minute, save that the Connuissious and Articles were read,
and that the Commissioners did unanimously (agree) that they,
or a sufficient Quorum of them, without further Notice, should
meet at the Town of Newcastle, on Delaware, on Monday the
aoth of that Instant October, in order to proceed and mark out
the Circle in the said Agreement mentioned. We forbear
guessing at, or at least animadverting on, what might be the
Occasion of your asserting, in your Answer, that to be, which
does not appear by the Minute taken. The Commissioners of
Maryland attended, on the 30th of Octob. at Newcastle, pur-
suant to their then last Adjournment, with their Surveyors
and all necessary Instruments on their parts, for their Proceed-
ing on the Business of the Circle, but, for their more fully un-
derstanding the Nature of what they were enjoined to execute,
they did require, from the Commissioners of Pensilvania, a
Perusal of the Charter of Pensilvania, and Deed of Feoffment,
and for which, we think, they had good right, those Deeds[
being referred to in the Articles: and that, altho' the Com
missioners of Pensilvania, by having such Deeds in their Pos-
session, had satisfied themselves that they were all largely and
truely recited in the Articles, yet, the Commissioners of Mary-
land could not arrive at the same Satisfaction, before those
Deeds were produced to them by the Commissioners of Pensil
vania: You say, very truely, in taking Notice that a Diflficulty
was started, at that Meeting, about finding the Center of the
Circle, and, with as much Truth, we can say, that we appre-
hend the Commissioners of Pensilvania, as well as the Commis-
sioners of Maryland, thought it of so much Weight that an
Adjournment was readily agreed on. and perhaps the Hopes of
some Endeavours to obviate that Difficulty, between one of the
Pensilvania Proprietors then in Philadelphia and the Lord
Baltimore (who was then shortly expected; might conduce to
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a ready Disposition in the Commissioners tor au Adjournment

;

but, we beg leave to take Notice, tliat the same Difficulty has

not, as yet, been removed; nor have we been ^able to compre-

hend how any Words of the Articles, or the Maps, can denote

the Place, or the (Centre, of that Circle; N<jr can we omit ol>-

serving, on tlie Expression of tlic Commissioners of Maryland

proposiuf,' a long Adjournment, when some of the Commission-

ers of Pensilvania, at a Meeting on the first Day of February,

expressed their Thousrhts, that, considering the Season of the

Year, the meeting together was rather too early, we are at a

Loss to know, why, at the Meeting, on the first, the Com-
missioners of Pensilvania should have greater Reason to expect

the Commissioners of Maryland had received from the Lord
Proprietary full Instructions for removing the Difficulty, than

the Connnissioners of Maryland might have, to expect the Com-
missioners of Pensilvania had received Instructions from one

of their ProprietariesV it was a Difficulty which affected the

Execution of the Articles, and thereby incuudjent on the Com-
missioners, on both Hides, to endeavour the Reiuoval of it. but

his Lordship was unwilling to interpose in this Matter, being

apprehensive that if. at once, the Direction of the Proprietaries,

who were Principals in the Agreement, was admitted to in-

fluence the Couniiissioners in the Explanation of the Trust com-

mitted to them, it might have a Tendancy rather to create, than

reconcile. Differences, and. for that Reason, we think, his Lord-

ship, with great Candour, answered, that he had left it to his

Commissioners. We desire to remind you, (jrentlemen, that,

alto' th? Obieetion of the Center still remained, yet, the Com-
missioners of Maryland, in order to shew their Candour and
Willingness to proceed in the Execution of such Part of the

Articles as could be agreed upon, proposed the Consideration

of the Circle directed to l)e run about Newcastle. We confess

that, notwithstanding the extreme Plainness of English Words,
which you are pleased to assure us is in the second Article, yet,

we cannot help thinking, and saying, that, as we have formerly

conceived, and often declared to you. so we repeat the same
Opinion, that, either, they imply a Contradiction. or the Dimen
sions intended and directed by that Article, are different from
what you have insisted upon. We omit, at this time, the sev-

eral Reasons urged by the Commissioners of Maryand in Main-
tainance of their Opinions, but, in discussing the Doubt, raised

about the Dimensions of the Circle, the Commissioners of Mary-
land did declare that they thought Mathematicians, if advised

and consulted with. might give the Commissioners. on both sides

some Satisfaction for the Understanding the Circle contained

in the Deed of Feoffment, or Bargain and Sale, of Newcastle,



BOUNDARY question;. 20:!

and, tlieret'ore, in the Morning of the 2d Feb. it was proposed,

and agreed, to consult with Matheiuatieians, and tliat the

Mathematicians should deliver their Opinions in the Presence

of each other, before the Commissioners, and argue thereupon
at five a Clock in the Afternoon, of the same Day. It must
be remembered that the Commissioners, being met, on that

Afternoon, the Commissioners of Pensilvania acquainted the

Commissioners of Maryland that one of their Mathematicians,
witli whom they intended to consult, was so ill of the (iout that

he could not, that Afternoon, attend, and desired the Matter

and (Question might be reduced into Writing, and that, if

he could not attend the next Day, the Commissioners of Pen-

silvania would procure his Answer in Writing. The Commis-
sioners of Maryland, that no Time might be lost iia forwarding
the Execution of the Agreement offered to the Connuissionersof

Pensilvania to go with them, that Afternoon, to the Place

where their Mathematicians Avere,and carry their own Mathema-
ticians tc» the same Place, which, the Commissioners of Pensil-

vania (for Reasons only known to themselves) refused ; after

which, a (Question was reduced into Writing, for the Considera-

tion and Opinion of the said Mathematicians, and the Commis-
sioners of Pensilvania had a Paper, containing the same, in order

to consult with their Mathematicians thereupon, as had been be-

fore mentioned, and resolved upon, against the next Morning,

but. to the Surprize of the Commissioners of Maryland, they, tlie

Commissioners of Pensilvania. tho' sent to, and often called

upon, neglected their Attendance pursuant to their former Day's
Adjournment, in a Manner too well known and supported to

need any particular mention, at this time, of the Circumstances
thereof. We must own, you were so obliging and civil as to

give us an Invitation to a very handsome Entertainment, on the

same Day this Non-attendance happened. But we must take

the Liberty of making a Distinction between a Meeting of the

said Gentlemen, as Commissioners, pursuant to a regular

Adjournment and Appointment, and a Meeting in a common
Conversation or Company. The last, but not the first, kind

of Meeting Avas had, on tliat Day. after the Default of the Com.
missioners of Pensilvania in the Morning; and this Behavioui'

of the Commissioners of Pensilvania, we think, justified the

Commissioners of Marvland in their Departure from Newcastle
to Maryland, since there appears a Design, in the Commis.-ioners
of Pensilvania, by such Non-Attendance to frustrate the Design
of the Articles, by which means the Commissioners of Maryland
lia"d the greatest Reason of an Advantage accruing to the Lord
Proprietor of Maryland, in his Claim of the Penalty mentioned
in the Articles; notwithstanding whicli, his Lordship, under a
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reserve of tliat Advantage, tliou^ht tit to permit the Coiiuiiis-

sioners still to endeavour the Execution of the Articles, and, foi-

that reason, by Letter, dated the lotlxof Feb. 17:32. directed to and

acciuainted the Governor of Pensilvania,one of the Commission-

ers, that his Commissioners had. notwithstandin<,' that Default,

liberty from him to meet the Connnissioners of Pensilvania the

first Monday in May then next. at .Toppa. in Baltimore County, in

Maryland. The (Commissioners of Pensilvania, after this Letter,

thought fit. by a Letter dated 28th March 1733, to offer a Meet-

ing: at Newcastle on Kith of April then next, but. by the same

Messenger, the Commissioners of Maryland, by a Letter, with

their particulai- Reasons, repeated the offer of a Meeting, on the

before-mentioned first Monday in May, at Joppa, and the Com-
missioners of Maryland then mentioned that they could not see

the necessity of Meeting at Newcastle, rather than any other

Place, before the Differences in their Opinions and Judgments
were adjusted. At a Meeting of a Quorum of the Commission-

ers, at Joppa, the Nature and Dimensions of the Circle were,

again, debated, and that Debate was carried on by an Exchange

of Papers. We are really sorry. Gentlemen, to be obliged

to remind you, again, of what seems to have slipt the Memory,

or which you have overlooked, in the Perusal of those Papers.

You say that what the Commissioners of Maryland had ther€

to propose was, that the Commissioners should adjourn to Cape

Hinlopen; if you mean, as yDu seem to intimate, that that was

the only Proposal, pray examine the Papers there exchanged

and you will find, by one dated 8th May 1733, the Commission-

ers of Maryland proposed to the Commissioners of Pensilvania

to run out a Circle whose Circumference should be 12 Miles about

Newcastle, and also proj^osed to hear any Arguments, or receive

any Information, from other Mathematicians than their own, in

case the Commissioners of Pensilvania differed from the Com-
missioners of Maryland in Judgment about the said Circle;

what did the Commissioners of Pensilvania answer to those

Proposals? To the first, they declared their Opinion, that a

Circle whose Circumference was 12 Miles was not the Circle, but

a Circle whose Radius was 12 Miles, was the only Circle directed

by the Articles; and, to the second Proposal they conceived they

had no Need or Authority to refer the Construction of the Circle,

&c. , to any Person whatsoever. Had the Commissioners of Mary-

land desired the Clonnnissioners of Pensilvania to refer the Con-

. struction of the (Mrole to any Person, in such manner.as l)y such

Reference, and the Opinion of the Referee, thert-on, the

Commissioners would have Hound themselves in the Exeou

tion of the Articles, the Commissioners of Pensilvania's

Answer would have been very just ; but, to leject a Proposal to
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procure some better Infonnatioi. and Understanding, in a Point
of .the Articles wliere Doubts liad arose, we must submit how
reasonable it was; for such your Denial tended to force us
against our own Conviction, to what vou. and not ourselves
should think just and right. Thus, the Commissioners of Mary-
land were so unhappy as not to have either their }>roposal of
Proceeding to Cape Hinl<n)en.or that of receiving Information
from Mathematicians, concurred with by the Commissioners of
Pensilvania; whereupon, since nothing could be there a-reed
upon, the Commissioners, by Papers exchanged between them
9th of that May. made an Adjournment to Phi hide! phia and.
as we apprehend, for the mutual Convenience of both C^oiiimis-
sioners; and this we have the greater Reason t.. sav since the
Motive, mentioned by you, of the Commissioners of Maryland
desiring to attend his Lordship, is not taken Notice of in the-
Paper containing the Adjournment. The Commissioners did
meet in May. at Philadelphia, and. from thence, an Adjourn-
ment was made to the M of Sept. last, for the Reasons men-
tioned in the Paper containing that Adjournment; and, what
was offered, or refused, by tlie Commissioners of either side
will appear by the several Papers exchanged at that Meeting'
and It was, from the Commissioners being at a stand (as vou
are pleased to express it) that the Commissioners of Maryland
always ready to make Proposals, or offer Expedients, for the
Furtherance of the Execution of the Articles, so far declined an
obstinate Perseverance in their Opinions, that thev proposed an
Adjournment, for a further Consideration. -We find that not
withstanding our Hopes, the same Sentiments as appears as
formerly, with relation to the Circle; but whv must we know
that you can never submit to our Opinion of that Circle' We
think our selves right, and therefore have reason to evpect you'l 1

in time be convinced of it
; besides, such Arguments as these in

your Answer mav.with as much .Propriety, be used bv us again«^t
you, which we shall avoid, being sensible to carry no ConvictionWe have offered, under the Disagreement we now labour to
proceed to Cape Hinlopen, in order to fix the Cape, and run
the East and West Line from thence, and we are well convinced
that such Proposal (tho' you have thought proper to reject it) i^

'

rational and expedient, for the following Rea.sons. viz. That
that part of the Work must be done, as well as any other before
25th of December 17:«; That the Winter-Season i's so much en-
tered into, that no Probability of running the Lines, in that
low and desart Country, later than this time. can be hoped for-
and That the Tangent to the Circle of Newcastle depends .-is

much, upon running the East and We.st Line fro>.. Ca{.e Hin-
lopen, as the same Tangent does upon the Circle. -Before we
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It'ave tliis Matter, we must, ia Answer to your mention oi A^c
and Intirmities and Fatigues, take notice tiiat the Commission-
ers of Maryland have constantly attended the several Meetings,

at Newcastlt^, notwithstanding the most severe Season that has
been for many Years known, notwithstanding the very great

Distance from the Habitations of the Commissioners of Mary-
land, and notwithstanding the Debates and Disagreement
amongst the (Jommissioners might, as well have been held

at any other Place, as at Newcastle. Thus, we doubt, not

of our having removed every surmise of our entertaining

any other than a laudable Vit-w in the Execution of the Ar-

ticles.and. upon the whole, with the same Frankness as we have
hitherto used, we cannot help saying that, in our Opinion, no
other Consequence can arise, from our Differences in Judgment,
and your Refusal to proceed to Cape Hinlopen, than that,

either, the Commissioners should continue at Newcastle till the

25th of December 173:5, without running the Circle, or, depart

from Newcastle, without further Adjournment; which we leave

to your Consideration, 19th November li:]'-]. The Original,

whereof this is a Copy, was delivei-ed by the (Jommissioners of

Maryland, to us, the Commissioners of Pensilvania, contained

in 16 Papers in Folio. Isaac Norris, Sam. P*reston, Jame^ Logan,
A. Hamilton, James Steele.

Novemb. 20.

To the Commissioners appointed on the part of Maryland for

running, marking and laying out the Limits and Bounds
between the Province of Maryland and the Province of Pensil-

vania, &c. Gentlemen, Were the Matter of your Reply, of Y'es-

terday. to our Paper of the 17th Instant, as Avell supported, as

the Manner of it is ingenious and civil, we own we should find

our selves at a loss in answering it, but we must beg leave to say

the Method you have taken in that reply is somewhat singular,

for it is observable you admit what you think will not preju-

dice the Point you aim at, you pass over in Silence what can-

not be denied, and avoid or distinguish away such Facts as

(tho' true in themselves) are not to be found in wliat you are

))leased to call Minutes, and, at the same time, with a masterly
Freedom, advance, on your part, without the Aid of any Min-
utes at all, whatever you conceive may tend to your justification.

Thus, you have endeavoured to justify the Objection made by
the Commissioners of Maryland at our first Meeting at New
town, against the Validity of our Connnission, by terming it

a prudent Caution, and alledging tliat it behoved you to con-
sider our Powers, whether they were sufficiently ample for the
Purposes so designed. But our Complaint was not that our
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( oimnissiou wa.s consiciered. which you had ret^ularly done in

coinparing your own and ours tojz:etlier. and tindiufr them to

aj^ree in all things with each other, and with the Articles

themselves (the Names and Titles of the Proprietors and Com.
missioners excepted) but you'll i)e pleased to remember this

was not sufficient to satisfy you, for. after all your In>pection.

you thought fit to object that certain Persons, who were no
Parties to the Agreement, had not joined in granting our Com-
mission; nor was this Objection, however groundless, given up'

but only for that time waved ; now this Fact,tho' not to be found
in the pretended Minutes we are referred to, is yet most un-
questionably true, in the same manner it is. to keep up your
own Words, you say an Insinuation is endeavoured to be raised,

tliat no Minutes of what passed at either of the Conferences

(at Newtown, or the first at Newcastle in October 17:52) were
reduced to a certainty, and then, recommending us to tlie Re-
vi.sal of our Papers, you let us know tliere is such a Minute in

l)eing of wliat passed at Newtown. Anil, lastly, Avith a very
civil Insinuation, are so kind as to charge tliis Misrepresenta-

tion, as you have called it, to the Account of our bad Memories.
An<l liere, we must confess ourselves at a Loss to understand
what can l)e intended by an Insinuation raised, that no Minutes
were reduced to a certainty, but, as to the Hardsliips tlie Com-
missioners of Pensilvania al ledge that they liave been laid under
Ity those of Maryland, in denying to admit of Clerks, «fcc. the
Case is briefly thus. The Commissioners on the Part of Pensil-

vania, when at Newtown, strenuously insisted on having a

Clerk, or Clerks, to take Minutes of our Prcoeedings, and,
when this was refused us, we then further insisted tliat one of

our own Number, of each side, miglit be mutually appointed
for that purpose, and to sign and exchange the Minutes between
us; but this was, also, denied; nor can the Variety o* Argu-
ments that were used, on your Part, against taking any Minutes,
in the just sense of the Words, be forgotten. By one, it was
alledged to he altogether unnecessary ; by another, that it would
occasion much Writing and loss of Time; and one,' in a par-
ticular Manner, expressed his Resolution not to sign any Papers,
lest it miglit occasion his going into England ; but not only
Minutes, but even tlie word Adjournment was objected to, till

it was proved, from the Articles them.selves, to be truly neces
sary : and then, at last, all we could possibly obtain was that
a Memorandum should be taken, in Writing. The full Con-
tents of which are very well noted in your own fourth Para-
graph to be confined to these Particulars, That the Commis-
sioners met, the Commissions were produced, and it was agreed
the Commissioners should, without further Notice, meet acain
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tlio :'>Oth of that October, at Newcastle, to proceed on the ('ircl(\

But, to our surpri/e, when these Meniorandunis came to l)e de-

livered, it was absolutely refused, on your part, to have them

signed in any manner at all. You. however, had one of them

(you say) in the Hand-writin<^ of one of our Connuissioners.

which was a Condescension, on our part, beyond what you

thought fit to gratify us in, on vours; for the Duplicate we

have is in the Writing of some Stranger, unknown to us, signed

by no-body, and without the least Mark of its being a Minute

that can have any Weight, or be of any Force whatever: Yet

this Paper, sucli as it is, must, we i)resume, be the sole Founda-

tion on which you really appear to divert your selves in con-

cluding it must seem strange, even to us, that being possessed

of it, we should complain of the want of Minutes, or, that hav-

ing obtained that at Newtown, we should not be satisfied at

Newcastle with the Expectation of the like Indulgence for the

future. This we take truly to be the Sense of what you have

said; yet, unhappily for your way of arguing, it fell out,

at our then next Meeting at Newcastle, that tho' we had been,

for four successive Days together, we do not find the least Mem-

orandum of that kind, save in our own Minutes only. These

extraordinary Methods of Obviating our just Complaints natur-

ally afford Matter for a good deal of Observation, but we

shall waive it, and only add, on this Suljject, that, as we

have always hitherto, so we must continTie to differ from

you in our Opinion of the best Method of taking Minutes,

tho' we are not displeased with what you were, at length,

prevailed on to fall into, for the first time, at Joppa. The

Commissioners of Pensilvania have, most truly, said it was

agreed at the first Meeting that the second Article for running

a'^Circle about the Town of Newcastle, being the first in Order,

and upon which a great Part of the Work depended, the said

Commissioners should first meet there to proceed on that Circle,

as the first thing necessary to be done by them, but say further,

it no way appears they ever alledged that these Words were

reduced to a Minute, and yet. that this was so agreed, is equally

true in Fact, as if it had ; therefore, of what Service it could

be, to the Commissioners of Maryland, to make the Remark

they have done, on that Fact, more than on many others, that

most certainly passed, of which none at all were noted, save what

has been mentioned, we cannot really discover? The Matter in

it self is indisputably true, and. that it was so agreed, amongst

the Commissioners, at Newtown, is equally true, which most

certainly is sufficient. But to apply one of your own Words,

we cannot forbear saying it is indeed astonishing, to us, to find

that, in speaking of the Difficulty started about fixing the Cen-
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tre, &('., you declare tha"^ you can iu trutli say you apprehend
the Commissioners of Pensilvauia. as well as those of Maryland,
thought the Objection about it of so much Weight that an
Adjournment was readily agreed on. when, on the contrary, we
think it cannot but be still fresh in the memory of every Com-
missioner then present, that those for Pensilvania would never

allow that there was any difficulty at all in it. but always de-

clared they were well .satistied it was not easy to fix the Centre,

and were tully impowered for it, without any Application for

further Direction, in that, or any other. Point of the Articles;

but, when the Commissioners of llaryland appeared so extremely

scrupulous, and declared themselves under Difficulties, which
by the arrival of the Lord Baltimore their Proprietor, who was
then shortly expected, might possibly be removed, none of you.

Gentlemen, who were then present, we presume, can forget

the great Regard we of Pensilvania expressed for the Lord Bal-

timore on that Ocasion, our hearty Wishes for his safe Arrival,

and our Confidence in his Honour, that he would always see

his own Agreement fulfilled ; but his Lordship, it seems, thought
not fit to interpose, and. from thence, alone, it arose, as "we

then, again and again, repeated it to you, that we gave way to

that Adjournment which, in our Paper, we truly a long one

;

but, you say. some of our Commissioners at the meeting in Feb-

ruary, expressed their own Thoughts that the Meeting was too

early, which, in the last page of yours, vou have fully exj)lained

for them, in owning it the most severe Season that ever has

been known. Your next Paragraph (the 7th) again forces us

on that most disagreeable Task of repeating our surprise, but.

after what we have very trulv a.sserted to have been our sole

Inducement to join in an Adjournment in November last to Feb-

ruary ; and that being under no doubts in our selves, we never

had the Thoughts of applying to any of our Proprietors for

further Direction, we hope you cannot possibly be any longer

at a loss to know, from which Proprietor's Commissioners a

Solution of the started Difficulty was to be expected ''. We agree

with the Commissioners for Maryland, tliat in February, they

very much insisted on taking the Opinion of Mathematicians,
as a Direction, or at laast as a Help, for understanding the

Dimensions of the Circle mentioned in the Articles of Agree-

ment. We also acknowledge, that the Commissioners for Mary-
land proposed a Question, which with great Solicitation, you
were prevailed upon to put into Avriting. but, at the same time,

you were so cautious that none of your Number should sign

it; and we further own. that we not only agreed, but proposed,

to hear the ^lathematicians. on both sides, speak to the Di-

14— Vol. XV.
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uiensions of the Circle in the Presence of the Commissioners
on the 3d of February in the Forenoon; but we likewise say,

what we have repeatedly said before, that the true Reason for

our proposing to hear Mathematicians was, because the Com-
missioners for Maryland having refused, as we have often noted,

to admit Clerks for taking Minutes, and as the Commissioners
for Pensilvania had no Evidence of any thing that passed

between us, those on our Part were forced on this Thought of

getting the Mathematicians before the Commissioners, as the

best Expedient to have Witnesses to the Delivery of the Answer
we were then to make to the Question of the Commissioners
for Maryland ; but we must beg you to excuse us, for not re-

mend>ering that we ever intended, or proposed, to have the

Answer of our Mathematicians in writing to the Question i)ro-

pounded to us liy the Commissioners for Maryland ; and this

Answer, being somewhat large, and the Weather very severe, a

longer Time than we expected was spent in the Copying; whence
it was, that some of the Commissioners for Pensilvania Mere
delayed, as we have said in our Answer, about an Hour or two
after the time of the Adjournment; and then it was the fCom-

missioners of Maryland thought fit to Avithdraw, and tho', im-

mediately after their leaving the Room appointed for our Meet-

ing, some of our (Commissioners, in the most respectful man-
ner, waited upon those of Maryland, and endeavoured to excuse

the small Delay given them, requesting them at the same time
to return to the Place of Meeting, which was not above 200

Yards from their Lodging, yet, all those Endeavours were in

vain, and, though you stayed in Town from 12 o' Clock in the

Foi'enoon of the 3d of Februarv, the Time when you thought fit

to withdraw, till the next Term,yet,no Importunities could pre-

vail on you to meet us again ; no Notice, by Word or Writing,

was regarded ; and, notwithstanding some of you were told by us

that the small Delay of an Hour or two was, neither in Law or

Equity, any Breach of the Articles, and that we were sure you
would not venture to depend on it, but would find your selves

under a necessity of meeting us again, yet, so pleased were some
of theCommissioners for Maryland, with the imaginary Advant-
age, that you left Newcastle, and returned home, unkindly en-

deavouring (at least, some of you) to bring theCommissioners
of Pensilvania iinder severe Censure for their neglect of their

Duty. We hope to be excused if we cannot be so very courteous

as to believe the Lord Baltimore's only View, when he Avrote

the Letter referred to in your Paper, was to permit his Com-
missioners to endeavour the Execution of the Articles; for we
have much more reason to V)elieve that his Lordshiji, from the

Result of his own good Judgment, knew well that your De-
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parture from jS'ewcastle, in the manner before-mentioned, woukl
be construed a direct Breach of the Articles on his Part, if the

same could not be remedied by your meeting us again; but, as

it seems agreed tliat his Lordships Letter to our Governour
was not a Notice within the meaning of the Articles, we cannot
but observe the great Regard you paid to our Notice given you
to meet us at Newcastle the 10th of April last: but, as in many
other Instances, so, in this neglect of our Notice, you plainly

shew at the same time your Opinion of our Authority and your
own readiness (as you call it) to do every thing in your Power
to forward the Execution of the Articles of Agreement. It is in-

deed very kind, in the Commissioners of Maryland, so frequently

to put us in mind of what you modestly call our Forgetfulness.

and, to be as civil as we can the same way, we desire you to

remember, that what is contained in the Papers exchanged at

Joijpa, more than a small Part of Avhat had been frequently

and more largely talked to and treated of before that Time and
the Adjournment, is only your Proposal of our going from
thence to Cape Hinlopen. the Meaning of which we perfectly

well understood; and. when you found we were not so easily

to be imposed on, by such a Feint, you were pleased frankly to

own that you. or some of you, were, at that Time, obliged to

attend the Lord Baltimore to Burlington, and then proposed
to meet at Philadelphia about the Time you expected his Lord-
ship might be there ; to which, for your Conveniency, we agreed,

though you thought it worth your while to oppose having that
inserted in the Minute of Adjournment; and. for the Truth of

this, we need not rely on the Memory of the Commissioners
on either Side : As we have been always ready to acknowl-
edge every Truth alledged by the Commissioners for Mary-
land, so we now own what you say, that you have been very
ready to make Proposals, and offer Expedients. &c. .butwe beg
leave to say they must appear in another Light to us, than they
have hitherto done, before we can agree these Proposals and
Expedients had any tendency to the Execution of the Articles

in the Terms in which they are expressed, or as they are gen-
erally understood. As to the Proposal of going to Cape Hin-
lopen, at this time you will excuse, for saying we well know
it to be nothing but Amusement, and had we assigned no other
Reason than this, for what we have said on that Head, you
have now furnished us with a sufficient one, when you insist

that no other Consequence can arise from our DilTerence in

.Judgment. but that, either, we must stay at Newcastle till the
25th of December, without running the Circle, or depart, with-
out Adjournment; now. after this plain Declaration, that the
Circle must not be run, is it not as plain a Consequence that
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the running of the Line can be to no purpose? We are sorry

we have occasion to repeat, what we have so often said, but as.

in our Opinion, it is beyond all exception, Just, we must ever

abide by it, and say that it is, by running' a Circle at the Dis-

tance of 12 Miles from the Town of Newcastle, only, that th(^

Work enjoined us can be done according to the Tenor and Di-

rections of our ('ommissions. for. other Authority, you. or we.

have none. And. notwithstanding- you seem to be determined,

which perhaps Avith too good Reasons you believe must con-

clude us, yet. the just Views which appear throughoxit our

whole Conduct in this Affair, we hope at least will be approved

of by Superiors. Newcastle, Nov. 20th, 173:]. Isaac Norris.

Sam. Preston, James Logan, A. Hamilton, James Steele

Nor. 22.

To the Commissioners appointed on the Part of Pensilvanin,

for running, marking, and laying out the Lines, Limits, or

Bounds, between the Province of Maryland and the Province

of Pensilvania, &c., Gentlemen, It is with so much Reluctance

we give you, or ourselves, any further trouble at this Time, in

Vindication of our Conduct, truly represented, and justly sup-

ported, in the Paper of the 19th Instant, that we shall content

ourselves with some few Remarks in Answer to your Paper of

the 20th Instant. First, In our Detail of the Transactions

between the Commissioners at such Meetings where any Minute
was taken, we rely on such Minute for the Truth of what passed.

In order to avoid the Force of this, you are i)leased to endeavour,

at one time, to distinguish away the Writing we called a Min-

ute into something you name Memorandum ; what essential

Difference this Distinction makes, your own good Judgment
will suggest. At another time you urge, that there were other

Proceedings than what were contained in such Minutes, as in

the Instance of the Minutes (for so we think we may call it)

taken at Newtown, and the Minute taken at Joi)pa on account

of the Adjournment; although we will not presume to question

your Candour, in declaring what you positively remember,
yet, we hope, a Truth, or Mistake of a material Fact, is much
better proved from what was reduced into Writing, at the Time
in which such Fact was supposed to have happened, than from
the Uncertainty of Opinions. Memories, or Apprehensions.

And what alledge to have been agreed on at Newtown, viz.

that it was first necessary to run the Circle about Newcastle,

proves the little Dependance to be had on Memory, for it seems
improbable that that should l)c agreed to l)e the first necessary

Work, since the Tangent does no more depend on the Circle,

than on the Line from (Jajx' Hinlopen. Secondly, At such

Meetings, where no Minute or Memorandum happened to be
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taken, we have been so tortunate as to advance nothing that
can be denied. And we must confess, Gentlemen, you have
shewn, in your Admissions, a strict Regard to Truth ; but, at
the same Time, you have attempted, with wonderful Dexterity,
to vanish over, and give the Fact a different Hue, from whiJli
It ought to appear in. As, for Instance, you think fit to own,
tlKit the Commissioners of Maryland insisted upon having the
Opinion of Mathematicians as a Direction, or at least a Help,
for understanding the Dimensions of the Circle; and that the
Commissioners of Pensilvania not only agreed, but proposed,
to hear the Mathematicians speak to the Dimensions of the
Circle in the Presence of the Couunissioners of Marvland on
the 3d of February in the Forenoon; but. indeed, voualso say,
that the true Reason for tht^ Commissioners of' Pensilvania
proijosing to hear Mathematicians was, because the Commis
sioners of Maryland had refused to admit Clerks for taking
Minutes, and as the Commissioners of Pensilvania had no Evi-
dence of any thing that passed, those of the Pensilvania Com-
missioners thought of getting the Mathematicians before the
Commissioners, as the best expedient to have Witnesses to the
Delivery of the Answer the Commissioners of Pensilvania were
then to make to the Question of the Commissioners of Marylan 3.
It is not said, nor can it be pretended (for we doubt not you
would have spoke the Truth) that that true Reason was ever
mentioned to the Commissioners of Maryland, and the Com-
missiont-rs of Maryland, who have been always free, candid
and sincere, in this Transaction, never could suppose any re-
serve, or private meaning, in the Commissioners of Pensilvania
nor can the Commissioners of Maryland conceive the essential
Parts of the Facts to be less true and sufficient for their Justi-
fication, because the Commissioners of Pensilvania had private
Reasons for agreeing to such Proposals or Facts. You give us
an undeniable Instance of yielding to the Force of Truth when
in your Paper of the 20th Instant, you desire us to remember'
that what is contained in the Papers exchanged at Joppa more
than a small Part of what had been frequently and more largely
talked to and treated of before that Time and the Adjournment^
was only the Commissioners of Maryland's Proposal of going
to Cape Hinlopen; so that a small Part of what had been more
frequently and more largely talked to, &c..is plainlv admitted
or have been proposed at Joppa; and that small Part as vou
are pleased to term it, was to run out the Circle in the manner
the Commissioners of Maryland conceived, and also to receive In-
formation from Mathematicians about the Dimensions of the
Circle; from whence it appears the Commissioners of Marvland
had somethng else to propose to the Commissioners of Pensil
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vauia than the proing: to Cape Hinlopen, mentioned in your

Paper of the 17th Instant. Nothing: can more fully evince the

exactly honourable Part his Lordship took, in what happened
between the Commissioners, than the Dii-ection he Avas pleased

to give his Commissioners to renew the Meeting after tlie De-

fault of the Commissioners of Pensilvania, and his Refusal to

interpose in the Explanation of the Articles; by the First, he

shewed his gjenerous Willingness that the Articles sjiould be

executed, and, by the last, he declared he would not influence

the Judgment of the Commissioners in the manner of Execution.

What we have further to observe is, the Misapprehension you

have entertained, either of our Declaration, or Determination,

that the Circle must not be run. We do not insist, but declare

our Opinion, that no other Consequences can arise, from our

Differences in Judgment, and your Refusal to proceed to Cape
Hinlopen, than, that either the Commissioners should continue

in Newcastle, until the 25th of December 178o, without running
the Circle, or depart from Newcastle, without further Adjourn-

ment, which Opinion, we apprehend, is very different from a

Determination that a Circle must not be run. We have never

assumed, or even pretended to, a masterly Freedom, but, by a

Liberty becoming Truth, we hope we have done Justice to our

own Behaviour in the Opinion of our Superiors. Newcastle,

22d of November, 17;!;!. The Original, whereof this is a Copy
was delivered to us. the Commissioners of Pensilvania. —Isaac

Norris, Sam. Preston, James Logan, A. Ha.milton, James Steele.

Nov. 3:3.

To the Connnissioners appointed on the Part of Maryland
for running, marking, and laying out the Lines, Limits and
Bounds between the Province of Maryland and the Province

of Pensilvania, &:c. , Gentlemen, At our first Meeting here, on
the 14th of this Instant, pursuant to our Adjournment in Sep-

tember, you were pleased to say, as you have often before told

us, that you could not agree in running a Circle at the Dis-

tance of 12 Miles from the Town of Newcastle, and on the 16th

proposed to us, in Writing, to go to Cape Hinlopen, in order

to proceed in fixing the Cape as you were pleased to express it

We, in answer to that Proposal, found it necessary to shew
that, in our Opinion, our Proceeding on that Part of the Work
could be to no Purpose, if the other must be left undone. At
the same time observing how, upon all Occasions, you .^eemed

fond of expressing your great Readiness and Willingness to do
every thing that in your Opinion might contribute to the Exe-

cution of the Articles. Those Professions let us naturally into

an Examination of the Conduct of the Commissioners of Mary-
land, under the all Changes that have been in your Commis-



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 215

sions since the first Appointment, even Irom our first Meeting
at Newtown, a Place so often mentioned, and to set the wliole

in a true Light, from whence, it luight easily be seen, how far

your Professions, anil the manner of your Proceed infj:s, agree.

This Attempt of ours as naturally drew on a Recollection of

the Proceedings of the Commissioners on your Part, and then,

your Representation, we found, made it, again, necessary, in

ours, to state the Proceedings of the Commissioners on both
sides, in a manner as we presume could be liable to no Objec-

tion. You, iii return to this, in your Paper of yesterday profess-

ing a Reluctance to give us, or your selves, any further Trouble
in the Vindication of your Conduct, duly represented, and
justly supported (as you are pleased to say) in yours of the 19th,

you declare you shall content your self with a few Remarks on
our Paper of the 20th ; but we must beg you to excuse us, if, from
all you have saiil in either of your Papers, we cannot discover

any thing which has weakened the force of what we have, with
great plainness, advanced in support of our Opinion, but will

rather confirm us with every indifTerent Person in the same ; for,

to observe on your first Remark, while you insist on a Difference

between a Memorandum and Minute, as there may truly be

a great one, if you will be pleased to take not only ours, but

the Notion that all Men as we conceive must form, of what
with any Justice can l)e called Minutes, viz. that they are plain

and clear Notes of the Substance of what materially passes at

the Conferences of Persons intrusted with the transacting an
AfTair of Importance, and such as derive an Authority from the

Trust reposed in the Clerk or Clerks who take them, we say,

if you will consider this, it will be evident', from all that has

passed between us, the Subjects that you have fully justi-

fied our Complaints for the want of such Minutes, and could

the Commissioners for Maryland have been prevailed on to

agree with us, that such Minutes should betaken, and rendered

Authentick by proper Signers, and exchanged, which we must
believe was necessary in our Case, they should have been at

full Liberty, as to us, to call them by what Name they pleased

;

yet, though they persisted in refusing to allow such Minutes,

we were not so much wanting to our selves as to have no other

Recourse for ascertaining what passed between us than to our

Memories onlv; for we duly took, and kept Minutes, for our

own use, some of which we once read at the Hoard, and though
their Authority could not be admitted, by the Commissioners
of Maryland, their Truth Avi 11 stand above all Objection. The
Methods we were obliegd to take, at Joppa, for procuring some
certain Eviden((^ (if our Proceedings, we need not mention, nor
can there be an\ »><'(asi()u To speak further to the Affair of the
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Mathematicians, the Papers tliat passed between us at Joppa,

or the Lord Baltimore's Letter to our (iovernor, lor all these,

•we conceive, sufficient Notice has already been taken, and there-

fore we shall only say, upon the Distinction you have endeav-

oured towards the Close of your Paper to make, between de-

claring your Opinion, and your being determined, that, if we

misapprehended your Meaning, we assure you it was far from

being a wilful Mistake: on the contrary, it will give us a great

Pleasure to find you Change your Sentiments, and agree to run

the Circle at the Distance of 12 Miles from the Town of ^'ew-

castle, as enjoined by the Articles; a Point from which we

never can recede, and. without your Concurrence in this, we

must be contented to submit to any Consequence that may arise

from this Difference of Judgment, as you are pleased to call it.

Newcastle, November the 23d 1733. Isaac Norris.Sam. Preston.

James Logan, A. Hamilton.

Nov. 24.

There is one Paper more contained in the Schedule to the

Defendant's Answer: whicli is the Commissioners parting

Minute of the 24th of November 1733; but as that is fully stated

in Folio ?A1 of our Bill, and is set forth verbatim at Folio 3;W,

in the Body of the Defendant's Answer, it need not be here

again inserted.

1737. Jxuit 15.

The foregoing Answer was put in.

1738. April 13.

The Defendant signed a Waiver of his Privi ledge.

April 20.

The Plaintiffs replied to the Defendants Answer.

Nov. 27.

They served the Defendant with a Subpoena to rejoin.

Jan. 27.

The Plaintiffs gave a Rule to produce Witness.

Feb. 8.

The Plaintiffs obtained an Order for a Commission to be exe-

cuted in the City of Philadelphia, and adjourned to the Town
of Newcastle, &e. And at the same time it was ordered that

the Defendant might take out a Commission to Maryland.

Mar. 13.

By another Order of this date the Defendant's Commission

was to be executed at Annapolis, and adjourned to any other

part of Maryland and the three Lower Counties.

174U. Ap. 9. to ISbpt. 18.

The Defendant's Commission was first executed.
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Oct. 20. to Noc. 2<J.

The Plaintiffs Coiuinission was executed.

Jan. 16.

The Defendant's Coniuiission was returned.

1741. July 80.

The Plaintiffs Coiinnission was returned.

Feb. '.].

The Defendant gave a Rule to publish.

Feb. 4.

The Plaintiffs, who had many Witnesses to examine in Lon-
don, got an Order to enlarge Publication till the first Day of

Easter Term then next.

1742. April 28.

The Plaintiffs obtained a further Order to enlarge Publication
till the first Day of Trinity Term.

June 17.

The Defendant, who had but three Witnesses to examine here,

and had himself given the Rule to i)ublish in February before,

obtained an Order to enlarge Publication, for a Month.

Jiily 13.

The Defendant, again, obtained another Order to enlarge
Publication, for three Weeks more.

Aug. 11.

Publication passed.

WRITTEN EVIDENCE WHICH IS PROVED IN THE
CAUSE, AND WHICH THE PLAINTIFFS HAVE TO
PRODUCE; TOGETHER WITH SOME OCCASIONAL
OBSERVATIONS THEREON.

Chap. I. From the Discovery of North America to the Grant
made by the Crown of Maryland to Lord Baltimore in tfie

Year 1632.

1584.

As Captain Smith's History, (hereafter mentioned) and many
others, inform us, Queen Elizabeth granted Letters Patent to Sir
Walter Raleigh, for the discovering New Lands and Countries,
not actually possessed by any Christians. Captain Smith's
Folio Voyages, Fol. 2.

1606.

As we are informed by Captain John Smith's History, (here-
after mentioned) he the said Captain Smith discovered several
Parts of Virginia, particularly the Bay of Chesopeak, and the
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Peninsula, mentioned in this Cause, and went on Shore, and

gave Names to several Places. Captain Smith's Folio Voya-

ges, Fol. 21, and the following Pages.

4 Jac. I. 1606. Apr. 10.

From the Chappie of the Rolls, a Copy of Letters Patent,

under the Great Seal. Reciting that the King's Subiects, Sir

Tnomas Gates and divers others, had desired Licence to make
Habitation, Plantation, and to deduce a Colony, of sundry of

the King's People, into that Part of America commonly called

Virginia, and other Parts and Territories in America, either

appertaining .to the King, or which were not then actually

possessed by any Christian Prince or People,scituate, lying and

being, all along the Sea Coast, between 34 Degrees of Northerly

Latitude from the Equinoctial Line, and 45 Degrees of the same

Latitude, and, in the main Land, between the same 34 and 45

Degrees, and the Islands thereunto adjacent, or within 100 Miles

of the Coast thereof; and, to that End, and for the more speedy

Accomplishment of their said intended Plantation and Habita-

tion there, were desirous to divide themselves into two several

Colonies and Companies. The one, consisting of certain

Knights, Gentlemen, Merchants, and other Adventurers of the

City of London and elswhere, which desire to begin their Plan-

tations and Habitations in some fit and convenient Place

between 34 and 41 Degrees of the said Latitude, all along the

Coast of Virginia and Coasts of America aforesaid. And the

other, consisting of sundry Knights. Gentlemen, Merchants,

and other Adventurers of the Cities of Bristol and Exeter, and

Town of Plymouth, which desire to begin their Plantations

and Habitations in some fit and convenient Places, between 38

and 45 Degrees of the same Latitude, all along the said Coast of

Virginia and America, as the Coast lyeth. The King grants

that the said Adventurers of the City of London shall be called

the First Colony, and shall begin their said first Plantation

and Seat at any Place, upon the said Coast of Virginia or

America, between ;>4 and 41 Degrees of the said Latitude; and

that they shall have all the Lands, Woods, Soils, Havens, Ports,

Rivers, &c. , from the said first Seat of their Plantation and
Habitation, by the Space of 50 Miles all along the said Coast

of Virginia and America, towards the West and South West,

as the Coast lyeth; and also, for the Space of like .50 Miles, all

along the said Coast of Virginia and America, towards the East

and North East, as the Coast lyeth. with all the Islands within

100 Miles directly over against the same Sea Coast; and all the

Lands. &c.. from the Sea directly into the main Land by the

Space of 100 Miles, and that none shall plant behind them,

towards the main Land, without the express Leave of the Coun-
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sell of that Colony. And his Majesty likewise grants, that
the said Persons of the Town of Plimouth, in the County ot
Devon, shall be called the Second Colony, and shall begin their
first Plantation and Seat between 88 and 45 Degrees of the saiil
Northerly Latitude, and shall have all Lands, iic.in like man
ner, 50 Miles each way on the Sea Coast, and all the Islands
against the Sea Coast 100 Miles into the Sea, and all the Lands
into the main Land 100 Miles; and that none shall plant behind
them, without the Leave of the Council of that Colony And
the King ordains, that each of the said Colonvs shall have a
Counsell, which shall govern and order all Matters and Causes
which shall arise within the same several Colonvs, according
to such Laws. Ordinances, and Instructions, as shall be given
and signed with the King's Hand, or Sign Manual, and pass
under the Privy Seal. And the King grants and agrees with
the Persons of the said first Colony, that he, upon Petition,
wil grant to them, by Letters Patent, all the Lands which
shall be within the said Precincts limited for that Colony to
be held of the King,as of the Manor of East Greenwich, in free
and common Soccage only, and not in Capite. And in like
manner agrees witli the said Persons of the second Colony
I his IS proved by Paris to be a true Copy from the Roll and
is exhibit Rocha, No 1.

7 Jac. I. 1609. May 2;!.

From the Chappie of the Rolls. A Copy of Letters Patent
under the Great Seal, Reciting the said former Letters Patent
granted to the First and Second Colony joint ly ; and that the
said first Colony, (which had already engaged themselves in
the Business of the said Plantation) had requested a further
Enlargement and Explanation of their said Grant, Prvile-es
and Liberties, and that Councellors and other Oflicers might
he appointed to direct and manage their Affairs, as were not so
remote from London, but might be ready at hand to give Ad-
vice and Assistance on all requisite Occasions. The King
granted unto Robert Earl of Salisbury, and unto 627 other
Lords, Knights, Gentlemen, Merchants, Captains, and Traders
by Name, and unto 55 of the Company of the City of London'
and,unto 28 other Persons, by Name, that they, and those who
they should admit, should be a Body and Cominalty perpetual
and should have perpetual Succession, and a Common Seal and
should be incorporated by the Name of the Treasurer and Com-
pany of Adventurers and Planters of the City of London for
the first Colony in Virginia. And the said King granted
unto the said Treasurer and Company, and their Successors
all those Lands. Countrys and Territories in that Place of
America called Virginia, from the Point of Land called Cape
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• )i- l^oint ComloiT, ull aloiij; the Sea ('oast, to the Northward,

200 Mile.s; and from the said Point of Cape Comfort, all along

the Sea Coast, to the Southward 200 Miles; and all that Si)ace

and Circuit of Land, lying from the Sea Coast of the Precinct

aforesaid, up, into the Land, throughout, from Sea to Sea,

West and JSorth West : And all the Islands, lying within 100

Miles ak>ng the Coast of both Seas of the Precinct aforesaid.

To hold the Premisses to the said Treasurer and Company,

their Successors and Assigns, for ever, to their own Use.

To be held of the King, as of the Manor of East (ireenwich, in

free and common Soccage, and not in Capite. —This is proved

by Buhner to be a true Copy from the Roll, and is Exhibit

Rocha, No 2.

1(512.

A guaito Book, this Year printed at Oxford, (borrowed out

of the American Library belonging to the Society for the Pro-

pagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts)—intitled, A Map of

Virginia, with a Description of the Country, &c. written by

Captain Smith, sometimes (iovernor of the Country. At

Fol. 1, and the following Pages, he gives an Account of the

planting in America by the English in 1606, under the Degrees

37, 38, and 39. And describes the Bay of Chesopeak, and sev-

eral other Rivers and Places in that Bay. And, at Fol. 110,

he gives Captain Smith's Map of that Part of the Country,

drawn by him in 1600, of which we shall say more hereafter.

This Book is marked by White Kennett, Bishop of Peter-

borough, deceased, who gave it, and a great Collection of other

Books, to the Society, with his Name, and is proved by Paris to

be borrowed out of the said Society's American Library, and

is Exhibit, Quarto Book, West-Indies, B.

18 Jac. I. 1620. Nov. 3.

From the Chappie of the Rolls, a Copy of Letters Patent,

Reciting the former Joynt Letters Patent, of the fourth Year of

the Kin,g, to the first and second Colonys both : Reciting also,

the subsequent Letters Patent, granted to the first Colony, to

make them a distinct and entire Body by themselves, giving

unto them their distinct Limits, and Bounds ; Reciting liKewise,

that the King had been, in like manner, petitioned, by the

Adventurers of the second Colony,and their Associates, to avoid

all Questions between them and the first Colony, to make the

Adventurers of the said several Colony one distinct and entire

Body, and to grant them such Estate, Liberties and Privileges

as after mentioned. Now, for as much as the King has been

certainly given to understand, by divers good Subjects, that

have for these many Years past frequented those Coasts and
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Territorys between the Degrees of 40 and 48. that there is no

other Subjects of any Christian Kinir or State, or by any Au-

thority from their Sovereigns, Lords, or Princes, actually in

Possession of any the said Lands, or Precincts, whereby any

Right, Claim, Interest, or Title, may or ought, bv that means,

to accrue or belong to them, &c. His Majesty grants, that all

that Circuit, Continent. Precincts, and Limits in America, ly-

ing and being, in Breadth, from 40 Degrees of Northerly Lati-

tude from the Equinoctial Line, to 48 Degrees of the said IS'orth-

erly Latitude, and, in Length, by all the Breadth aforesaid,

throughout the main Land from Sea to Sea, shall be the Limits

and Bounds, and Precincts oi the said second Colony ; and, to

the End the said Territories may, for ever, be more certainly

known and distinguished, the King: wills that the same shall

be called New England in America. And, for the better Plan-

tation, Ruling, and Governing of the said New England in

America,his Majesty ordains, that there shall be. for ever here-

after, in the Town of Plymouth, in the County of Devon, one

Body Politick and Corporate which shall have perpetual Suc-

cession, which shall consist of the Number of 40 Persons, and

no more, and which shall be called. The Council established

at Plymouth, in the County of Devon, for the planting, ruling,

ordering, and governing of New England in America. And ac-

cordingly his Majesty appoints the first 40 Persons (consisting

of Privy Counsellors and others) for that Council, and incorpo-

rates them and their Successors, by the Name aforesaid, with

sundry Powers and Privileges, and amongst others to elect a

President of the said Council. And his Majesty gives and grants

to the said Council established at Plymouth, and their Succes-

sors, "All the aforesaid Lands and Grounds. Continent, Pre-

"cincts, Place, Places, and Territories, viz. That aforesaid

"Part of America, lying and being, in Breadth, from 40 Degrees

"of Northerly Latitude from the Equinoctial Line, to 48 Degrees

"of the said Northerly Latitude, inclusively, and, in Length, of

"and within all the Breadth aforesaid, throughout the main

"Lands from Sea to Sea. Together with all Lands, Soils,

"Grounds, Havens, Ports, Rivers, &c. Provided always that the

"said Islands, or any the Premisses herein before-mentioned,

"and by these presents intended and meant to be granted.be not

"actually possessed or inhabited by any other ('hristian Prince

"or State, nor be within the Bounds, Limits, or Territories of

"that Southern Colony, heretofore by us granted." To hold to

the said Council, their Successors and Assigns, forever, to their

own sole use, to be held of the King, as of the Manor of East

Greenwich, in Soccage, and not in Capite. This is proved by
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Bulmer to be a true Copy from the Roll. And is Exhibit, Rocha,

No. 3.

Note.

Supposing that no State had been possessed of any Part of

these Lands, (tho" it is certain the Dutch and Swedes were) yet,

so long as the foregoing Grant to the Council of Plymouth sub-

sisted, (which it did, until long after the Grant of Maryland

was made to Lord Baltimore) the 40th Degree inclusively, was

granted for Part of New England ; and, consequently, no Part

of that 40th Degree, while that Grant subsisted, could be re-

granted by the Crown, either to Lord Baltimore, or to any other

Person.

1624.

A Folio Book, this Year printed in London, intitled. The
General History of Virginia, New England, &c., from their

first Beginning, Anno 1584, to this present 1624. With, the

Proceedings of the several Colonies, &c., also the Maps and De-

scriptions of all those Countries, <tc., divided into six Books.

By Captain John Smith, sometimes Governor in those (coun-

tries, and Admiral of New England. This is the Book, men-

tioned in the Bill and Answer. At Fol. 41, he gives his Map
of Virginia, again, as done in 1606, being a Copy of that which

had been printed in the former Edition of his Work l)e-

fore, in 1612. And at Fol. 21, he gives the same Account,

again, of the Discovery, and going a-shore, and giving names

to Places, in tho Bay of Chesopeak, and upon the Penin-

sula, mentioned in the Pleadings in this Cause. Two several

Copies of this Folio Edition are spoken to by James Logan,

Benjamin Eastburne, and F. J. Paris, as well as occasionally

mentioned by other Witnesses. And these exhibits are Smith's

Folio History, and Smith's Folio History J. S.

1625.

Another very large Folio Work, this Year printed in London,

intitled, Purchas his Pilgrims, in 5 large Volumes. This Work
is a well known Collection of vast Numbers of different Voy-

ages and Discoveries. And, amongst others, the 4th Volume
thereof contains, at Fol. 1691, the Description of Virginia by

Captain John Smith, enlarged out of his written notes. This

contains exactly, the like matter as the two former printed

Editions of his Works, of the Years 1612, and 1624. And it also

contains another Copy, exactly like the former, of Captain

Smith's Map made of Virginia in 1606.—This Book is spoke to

by Paris (and some other Witnesses) and is the Exhibit, Pur-

chas' s Pilgrims, Vol. 4.
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Note.

The great Use of these several Editions of Captain 8mith"s

History and Map is. to shew tiiat his Map was tlirice printed

and pul)lished in England, in l(il2, 1024, and lG2o. and so. unist

have been well know in 1632.

Note also.

By all the three early Editions of Captain Smith's Map, the

Line of the 40th Degree of Northerly Latitutle, eompleat, was

laid down to be no more than 7 Miles more Morth, than the

Head of Chesopeak Bay.

Note likewise.

Every one of these thre3 Editions of Captain Smith's Map,
contains the following Names and Descriptions of Places, which
we shall by and by lind to be mentioned in the Grant of Mary-

land, viz. It shews that there is a Peninsnla; it contains the

Names of the Bay of Chesopeak. Watkins Point, the River of

Wighco, the River Patowomeck, the Place called Ciuquak,

and Cape Charles.

1630. July 15.

An Exemplifieation, or Inspeximus, under his Maje.sty's great

Seal of the I'rovince of New York, of the following Record, re-

maining in the Secretary's Office of that Province, (being proved

additionally by two Witnesses in the Cause, viz. Thomas Nox-
on and William Vandespiegel, to contain a true Copy, and also

a true Translation, of a Book of Dutch Patents, in th e fol-

lowing Words, viz. We, the Director and Counci 1 of New
Netherland, residing on the Island Manhatans. and Fort Am-
sterdam, under the Government of their High and Mighty-
nessesthe Lords States General of the United Netherlands, and
the incorporated West-India Company at the Chamber of Am-
sterdam, testify and declare by these presents, that on the Day
of the Date hereunder written, before us. in their own Persons,

came and appeared Queskakotts. Ellsongues, Sironchusou, and
Inhabitants of their Town, scituate on the South Corner of tVie

Bay of the South River, and declare, voluntarily, and by the

especial Direction of the Rulers, with the Consent of the Com-
mon People thereof, that they had since the 1st Day of .Tune

1629, for and by reason of certain Parcel of Merchandizes which
they acknowledgp, before the passing of these Presents, to their

good Liking and Satisfaction, to have received in their Power
and Hands, and delivered to them, in a risrht. just and free

Prop3rty to have transported, released, given over and assigned,

as they do by these Presents transport, release, give over and
assign, for and to the behoof of the Honourable Mr. Samuel
Godyn now absent, on whose Words we, on due Stipulation,

do accept thereof, to wit.
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The Lands, to theni belonging, situate on the South-side

of the said Bay. called by us the Bay of the South Kiver^

streteliing in length from (Jape Hinloop to the Mouth of

the said South River, about 8 large Miles, and up in-

to the Country, in the breadth of half a Mile, stretching

to a certain Cowplace or Meadow; by which said Meadow
these Limits may V)e, evidently, on Sight distinguished.

And that, with all the Action, Rights, and Jurisdiction, to

them, and their aforesaid (.Quality, belonging: constituting

the said Godyn in their stead. Estate, real and actual Pos-

session of the same; and giving him and his Assigns full Power

and Authority to enter on, possess, use and retain the said

Land; and thereof to transact and dispose, as with his own
lawful acquired Lands; without the Releasors any Right in

the least thereto, having, reserving or keeping, but warranting

the same against all persons. All on good Faith, without

Fraud or Deceit, &c. In witness whereof we have confirmed

these presents with our usual Signature and our Seal hereto

appending. Done on the Lsland of Manhatans 15 July 1630.

This is Exhibit Dutch Records, New York No. 2, Fol. 3.

Note.

This not only shews that the Dutch were possessed of Man
hatans (which is now New-Y'ork) in 1630, but had a Director

and Council there, so early. And that this Purchase, by a

Dutchman, so early as 1629. of Lands from the Indian Natives,

from Cape Hinloop in the Bay of the South River, (now Dela.

ware Bay) -was past and recorded before the Dutch Director

and Council of New-Netherlands (now New-York.) Of all

which, there will be no sort of doubt, presently.

8 Car. I. 1632. June 20.

We have an Order that the Defendant shall produce his Ori-

ginal Charter, under the Great Seal, for Maryland, which he

says, in his Answer, runs in these Words, viz.

REX &e. Omnibus ad quos &:c. Salutem. Cum perdilectus

& perquam fidelis sudditus noster, Cecil Calvert, Barode Balti-

more in Regno nostro Hiberniie. filius & hseres Georgii Calvert

Militis, nuper Baronis de Baltimore in eodem regno Hiberni;e

patris in hserens vestigiis laudabili quodam & pio Christiana^

religionis pariter. & imperii nostri territori dilatandi Studio

flagrans, licentiam nostram, ut copiosam Anglicans; gentis

Coloniam, industria & impensa sua. ad certam quandam re-

gionem, inferius describendam, in terra quadam, in partibus

America, hactenus inculta, «fc barbaris nullam divini Numinis

notitiam habentibus in partibus occupati. deducere possit,

totamque illani regionem. cum certis qnibusdam privileges. «t

iurisdictionibus, ad colonia; suae, & regionis prjedictae salubre
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regimen & statuin pertinent ibus, a regia nostra celsitmline, sibi

<t haredibus suis dari, coneedi &i confirniari, humiliter sup-

plicaverit; Seiatis igitur quod nos, Hum & nobile. prtpfatorum

Baronum de Baltimore, propositum & studium, regio favore

l)rosequentetf, ex gratia special!, eerta .Scientia & mero niotu

nostris, dedimus, eoncessimus & confirmavimns, & per hanc

prtesentam chartam nostram, pro nobis, ha-redibus <t sueces-

soribus nostris, pra^fato Ceeill' modo Baroni de Baltimore, i:

haeredibus & assignatis suis, damns, coneedimus & confirmamus.

Totam illain partem peninsuLie, sive chersonesus, jacentis in

partibus America', inter oceanum ex oriente. & finum de Ches-

sopeake ab occidente; a resid' ejusdem, per rectam lineam a

promontorio sive capite terra-, vocato Watkins Point, juxta

sinum pr*dictum pr<)i)e fluvium de Wighco scituate. ab occi-

dente, usque ad magnum Oceanum, in plaga oriental' ductam,

divisam ; Et, inter metam illam a meridie.usque ad partem illaiii

sestuarii de Delaware, ab aquilone, qu<e snl)jacet quadratre^imo

gradui latitudinis Septentrioualis, ab a-quiuoctiali, ubi termi-

natur Nova Anglia.

Totumque ilium terrje tractum, infra metas subscriptas;

viz: transeundo, a dicto sestuario vocato Delaware Bay. recta

linea. per gradum pra^dictum, usque ad verum meridianum
prinii fontis fluminis de Pattowomack, deinde. vergendo. versus

meridiem, ad ulteriorem dicti fluminis ripam, <t, earn sequendo,

qua plagam occidentalem & meridionalem si)ectat, usque ad

locum quendam, appellatum Cinquak, nrope ejusdem fluminis

ostium scituatum, ubi in praefatum Sinum de C'hessopeak evol-

vitur. ac, inde, per lineam brevissimam. usque ad pra'dictum

promontorium, sive locum, voeatum Watkins Point, (ita quod
totiusi terrse tractus per lineam pra'dictam, inter magnum
oceanum & Watkins Point divis' usque ad promontorium vo-

eatum Cai)e Charles. & singula sua append itia, nobis, haere-

dibus & successoribus nostris, integre remaneant excepta

imperpetuum.

)

Necnon omnes insulas, & insululas, infra limites pr?edietos.

Coneedimus etiam. & confirmamus, eidem Baroni de Balti-

more, hferedibus & assignatis suis. omnes & singulas insulas, &
insululas. ab orientali pra?dicta> Regionis littore orientem, versus

in mari, natas, vel nascendas, infra decem leucas marinas, ab

eodem littore scituatas; Cum omnibus & singulis portubus.navi-

um stationibus. jestuariis. fluminibus, &fretis, ad regionem, vel

insulas praedictas.pertinenti bus; Omnesque sundos. terras, cam-

pestria, silvas, montana, paludes, lacus, flumina. jestuaria. &
freta, infra metas. terminos & limites pra-dictos. scituata, seu

existentia, &c.—habend' tenend' possidend' & gaudend' prae-

15—Vol, XV.
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dictam regionein, iiisulas, insululas, & cfetera pi-Hpinissa. prfpfato

inodo Baroni de Haltiiiiore, & hieredibus & assigrnatis suis. ad

solum & proprium opus «fc usuiu ipsius niodo Baronisde Balti-

more, hsredum & assijjrnatorum suorum, imperpetuum ;—

Teneiid' de nobis, haredibus & successoribus nostris, Regribus

Anglite, ut de Castro nostro ue Windsore, in comitatu nostro

Berks.in libero & communi Socagio,per fidelitatem tantum pro

omnibus Servitiis.& non in Capite, nee per Servitium militare.

Nott.

We say no other English Map, of those Parts, was then

extant, but (Japtain Smith's only.

This last Charter has such names of Places in it, that it is be-

yond presumption, that it was described from Captain Smith's

Map.
We defy the Defendant to shew any Map, English or foreign,

of that Time, but Captain Smith's only, that has all those Names
of Places in it which are mentioned in his Charter.

And the Defendant will be under some Diflficulty. to make a

Part of a Peninsula, (which is the first Description in his Char-

ter) mean to extend above the whole Peninsula into the main
Continent, up to the 40th Degree compleat.

He will be under the greater DiflHculty, to make such a Part

of the Peninsula, as is bounded Eastward by the Sea only, ex-

tend vi\) in to the main Continent, above all the Bay and above

^reat Part of the River of Delaware; neither of which are men-
tioned for his Eastern Boundaries.

He will be under a third Difficulty, as his Bounds are taken

from the South, and extend Northwards, only usqut ad such

Part of the Bay of Delaware on the Nortli as lay under the

40th Degree, to extend it all through the w^hole 70 Miles of that

40th Degree, quite up to the 40th Degree compleat, especially

as no Part of Delaware Bay runs so high as to the 40th Degree,

but the very Head of that Bay is proved to be 30 Miles below
Newcastle.

And he will be under a 4th Difficulty, as by the express Words
of his Charter, his Bounds are to extend Nortwards only usque

ad such Part of Delaware Bay as lays under the 40th Degree,

where New-England ends, to extend tiiose Bounds to the Head
and further Part of that Degree, when, we see, that New-Eng-
land had, before, the whole 40th Degree inclusively, granted to it.

So that every Description whatever, contained in his Patent,

(and, by the way, every subsqeuent Description, at any Time
afterwards made by the Crown) all confine him to the 39th De-

gree compleat.

And, when so confined, then, his Ancestor asked, and the

Crown granted, nothing. l)ut what was hactenus inculta.
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Under the last ('hapter in this Brief, hefore we come to the

Depositions, will be contained the Opinions of three s^reat Law-
yers, relating to the Construction of Lord Baltimore's Charter;

which, tho' not Evidence, nor yet proved in the Cause, are

yet extremely well worth the perusal, and much to our purpose.

Chap. 1L From the Lord Baltimcre'a Grant in 1632, to the End
of the Year 1608; dnri)ig all which Tinie the Dutch and
Swedes remained in the quiet Possession of ivhat is notr

Nezv York, and also of Delaware, inhich now makes the three

Lower Counties, free from any Claim by Lord Baltimore, or

by the English Crown, (and in one single Instance, down-

lower than 1003, ciz. to 3 July 1064.)

1633. June 28.

An Order of Council in the following Words. At the Star-

Chamber, present Lord Keeper, Lord Privy Seal, and eleven

3ther Lords. Whereas a Petition, heretofore presented to the

Board by the Adventurers and Planters of Virginia, shewing,

that, by reason of some Grants lately obtained of a great Pro-
portion of Lands, and Territories, within the Limits of their

Colony and Places of their TraflRck, they were much prejudiced

and discouraged in the Proceeding with the said Plantations,

was, by his Majesty, referred to the Consideration of the Board,
to the end their Lordships might examine and report the true

State thereof, together with their Opinions concerning the same.

This Day, the Lord Baltimore, who hath a Grant from his

Majesty of a Proportion of the said Lands, and divers of the
Principal Adventurers and Planters, being called before the
Board, and their Lordships having heard the Allegations then
made, on both Sides, did. for the better preparing of the Busi-

ness against their next Sitting (appointed to be on Wedne.sday
next) Order and direct,that the Lord Baltimore, and two or three

of the said principal Adventurers, should forthwith meet, and
confer together, and endeavour, amongst themselves, to accom-
modate the Points in difference, arising between them, or so

many of them as they could, and to set down the same so agreed
on in Writing; as likewise, such points, wherein they shall

differ, together with their Exceptions and Reasons; and
to present the same to the Board, at their said next Sit-

ting; at which Time they are. likewise, to bring with them
a Map of the said Plantation. u))on View whereof their Lord-
ships may better discern how the Proportion granted to the
Lord Baltimore is limited and bounded. This is proved to be
a Copy from the Council-Register by Dickenson, and is the Ex-
hibit, Co-Off. No 1.

July 3.

Another Order of Council in the following Words. At the
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Stiir-Chaiiiber. Present, Lord Keeper, Lord Privy Seal, and 8

other Lords;. Whereas an humble Petition of the Planters in

Virginia, was presented to his Majesty, in which they remon-

strate, that some Grrants have lately been obtained of a great

Proportion of Lands, and Territories within the Limits of the

Colony there, being the Places of their Trattiek, and so near to

their Habitation, as will give a general Disheartening to the

Planters. if they be divided into several (-iovernments, and a Bar
to that Trade which they have long since exercised towards their

Siipportation and Relief, under the Confidence of his Majesty's

Royal and Gracious Intentions towards them, as by the said

Petition more largely appeareth ; Forasmuch as his Majesty was
])leased. on the 12th of IMay last, to refer to the Board the Con-
sideration of this Petition, that, upon the Advice and Report

of their Lordships, such Order might be taken as to his Majesty's

Wisflom should seem best. It was thereupon ordered, on the4tli

<if June last, that the Business should lieheard the second Friday

in this Term, which was the 28tli of the last Month; and that

all P;ifrties interested should then attend, which was accordingly

performed ; And their Lordships, having heard the Cause, did

then order that the Lord Baltimore, being one of the Parties,

and the Adventurers and Planters of Virginia aforesaid, should

meet together, between that Time and this Day, and accommo-
date their Controversy, in a friendly manner, if it might be;

and likeAvise set down in Writing, the Propositions, made bj-

either Party, with their several Answers, and Reasons, to be

presented to the Hoard this Day. which was likewise accord-

ingly done. Now. their Lordships having heard and maturely
considered the said Propositions, Answers, and Reasons, and
whatsoever else was alledged on either part, did think fit to

leave the IjO?-d Baltimore to his Patent, and the other Parties

to the Course of Law. according to their Desire. But. for the

preventing of further Questions and Differences, their Lord-

ships did also think fit and Order that. Things standing as

they do. the Planters, on either sid^, shall have free Traflfick

and Commerce, each with other: and that neither part shall

receive any fugitive Persons belonging to the other, nor do any
Act which may draw a War from the Natives upon either of

them. And lastly, that they shall sincerely entertain all good
Correspondence, and assist each other on all Occasions, in such

manner as becometh Fellow-Subjects and Members of the

same State. This is j)roved to be a Copy from the Council-

RegLster, by Dickenson, and is the Exhibit Co-OflF. No. 2.

Note.

The two last foregoing are real Orders of Council, and, because

mentioned by Lord Baltimore, are here inserted ; but they de-
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Termiiie nothing, either one way or other, nor are of any Con-

sequence in the present Matter.

IGoj. April 2o.

A Copy from the Papers remaininp: in the Office of the Lords

Commissioners for Trade and Plantations, of a Minute made
and recorded at a very solemn Meeting? of the President (Lord

Gorges) and Council of New England, which is intitled. A de-

claration of the Council of New Eneland for the Resignation

of the great Charter, and the Reasons moving them thereto.

This Paper pathetically enumerates the Troubles, Charges and
Loss of their Friends abroad, which the Adventurers hail suf-

fered, from the Time of their Grant till then ; the many litigious

Questions moved against them by the Virginia (U)mpany, both

before the King in Council, and in Parliament at home, where-

by the Adventurers grew disheartened, and that many of their

ablest Supporters had died; that the French Ambassador had
made a Claim; that, at length, other People got Patents, and
intruded upon these Adventurers, and rent in Pieces his

Majesty's original Grant, and these Adventurers designed Un-
dertaking; and that Complaints coming over, to this President

and Council, that had not sufficient Means to redress them,

or to give Satisfaction to the Persons aggrieved, they were

forced to Petition his Majesty, who referred it to the J^ords to

consider of the Means of Reformation ; which Lords, finding

fault with this President and Council, and calling for them
from their Homes, far remote in the Country, at unseasonable

times, to their graat Charge and Trouble, whereupon the Presi-

dent and Council, after clearing themselves, referred it to the

Lords, to do wliat they thought fit ; who found Matters so de-

sperate, as that they saw a Necessity for his Majestv to take

the whole Business into his own Hands, if tiiis President and
Council could not rectify what was brought to ruin; who,
finding it a Task too great for them to perform, rather chuse

to resign all into his Majesty's Hands, to do as he pleased.

After all these Troubles, and upon these Considerations, it is

now Resolved, that the Patent shall be surrendered to his Ma-
jesty, with Reservation of all such Rights as any have been

seized with, that it may please his Majesty to pass particulai-

Grants to the President and Council, of such Proportions as

they have mutually agreed upon, and as are before recorded

in that Book : And so much they have thought fit to l)e re-

corded, that Posterity may know the Reasons and Necessities

moving them to quit themselves of those Inconveniencys and
Dangers, &c. This is proved to be a true Copy by Mr. Gal-

librand, and is the Exhibit Botra No 1.
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May 1.

A Copy from the Original Papers remaining in the Board of

Trade, of a Petition to tlie King, from Edward Lord Gorges,

President of the Council of New England, in the Name of him-
self, and divers Lords and others of the said Council, setting

forth that, forasmuch as they were, presently, to join in a vol-

untary Surrender of the Grand Patent of their Corporation, to

his Majesty, they pray his Majesty to order his Attorney Gen-

eral to draw Patsnts, for Confirmation of such Parcels of Land,

as by mutual Consent in their Court had formerly been al-

lotted to them, with such Privileges and Immunity's as here-

tofore they might have enjojed with their Lands, by Virtue

of the said Grand Patent. This is proved to be a true Copy
by Mr. Gallibrand, and is the Exhibit Botra No 2.

June 7.

A Copy from the Books remaining in the Plantation Office

of the Act of Surrender of the great Charter of New England
to his Majesty. Whereby the President and Council, reciting

their said Charter of the 3d of November, in the 18th of King
James the 1st, do give, grant, assign, yield up and surrender

to his Majesty, the said Charter, and the Libertys, Licences.

Powers, Privileges and Authoritys thereby granted, and all

their Right, Estate, Title, Interest. Claim and Demands, of, in

and to the same. In Witness whereof (it is there said) the said

President and Council had caused their Common Seal to be

thereto put; and the Entry in the book has a Mark to it thus.

L. S. This is proved to be a true Copy from the Book, by

Mr. Gallibrand, and is the Exhibit Botra No 3.

Note.

This Original Surrender no where appears, neither is it en-

rolled in Chancery; for which Reason we took in some other

Papers leading to it. But, of it self, it is a Matter sufficiently

notorious, since Seven or Eight of our present Colonys sprung
up. and were created, out of the old great New England Charter

since the Surrender thereof.

Note also.

That when the New England Charter was surrendered, the

Crown might (then) grant the 40th Degree, if it could gain the

Possession thereof.

Sept. 8.

A thin Quarto Book, printed this Day, Month and Year, in-

titled, A Relation of Maryland, together with a Map of the

Country, the Conditions of Plantation, his Majesty's Charter

to the Lord Baltimore translated into English, &c. .which gives
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an Account of the Adventurers under Lord Baltimore's Patent

Koing to and first landing in the Country, on the 24th of Feb.

1683. At Fol. i:'. there is Chap. 2, a Description of the Country,

wherein it's said "that it is seated between the Degrees of 88

"and 40 of ^"orth Latitude, Virginia bounds it on the (South,

"New England on the North and the Ocean on the East." At

Fol. 31 it is said thus, "You shall find, in the tiouthern J^arts of

"Maryland, all that Virginia hath naturally; and. in the North-

"ern Parts, what iSew England produceth; and he that reads

"Capt. John Smith shall see, at large, discoursed what is in

"Virginia, and in Mr. William Wood (who, this Year hath

"written a Treatise of New England) he may know what is

"there to be expected." Again, at Fol. 88 and 89 (tho' mis-

" mark'd Fol. 22 and 28) there is Chap. 6, Conditions propounded,

"by the Lord Baltimore, to such as shall go or adventure into

"Maryland." Again in Fol. 41. "There isconveniency of Pas-

"sage thith?r in most Months of the Year, and any one that

"will send unto Mr. Peasley or Mr. Morgan's House," (Note,

in the Title Page it is said, that these Books were to be had

of those two Persons) "may, there, be informed of the certain

"Time, when any of his Lordships's Company is to go away,

"and so save the Charge of unnecessary Attendance herein

"London." The whole Book, indeed, is an Invitation to Per-

sons to go over and settle there. But, what we prize it most

for, it has a fair Map of Chesopeak Bay, and the Peninsula,

with my Lord Baltimore's Arms upon it. In which Map the

Lines of Northerly Latitude are laid doivn. and he plainly

makes his Bounds in the Map, agreeable to what had been

said in the Body of that printed Book, to begin at the 88th

Degree compleat; and to end at the 40th Degree compleat. So

far, it is a very early Claim to have to the 40th Degree compleat

;

but then he makes that 40th Degree compleat. to cut the Head

of Chesopeak Bay, and not be any thing at all above the Head

of Chesopeak Bay : (Whereas we have now granted to him many

Miles up into the main Continent, as a valuable Consideration

for his Agreement.) This Book is proved, in the Cause, by Dr.

Stack, to have been 40 or 50 Years in the Custody of Sir Hans

Sloane, a great Collector of old Tracts, and will be produced

at the Hearing by Dr. Stack.

We have also an incompleat printed Copy of it, and a manu-

script Copy of the Map, proved to be Copys thereof, (so far as

they go,) by the same Dr. Stack; and is the Quarto Book Mary-

land 1635 .

We have also another Copy of my Lord Baltimore's Map,

contained therein, spoken to by Mr. Eastburne, and is in a

large marbled Cover.
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l(i;W. Apr. 4.

Is the Copy of a pretended fictitious Order of the Lords of

the Council, insisted on by the Defendant now; first produced

and made an ill use of, before the Board of Trade, by his Grand-

father, in 1085, and afterwards by the Defendant himmU,ex park,

aj,'aiu, in 1784; tho' there was not then, neither is there now,

any Thing like an original, or an authentick Copy of it; not-

withstanding that the (Jouncil Registers of that very Day,are ex-

tant, and many other Orders are found therein of that very Date.

This blank Paper is in the following Wonls, viz. At White-

hall the 4th of April 1638. Present Lord Archbishop of Can-

terbury, Lord K.eeper,Lord Treasurer, Loid Privy Seal, Earl Mar-

shal, Earl of Dorset, Lord Cottington, Mr. Treasurer, Mr. Conip-

troUer. Mr. Secretary Cook, Mr. Secretary Windebank. Whereas

a Petition was presentetl, to his Majesty, by Capt. William Clay-

borne, on the Behalf of himself aud Partners, showing that, by

Virtue of a Commission, under his Majesty's Hand and Signet,

they, divers Years past, discovered and planted upon an Island,

in tiie great Bay of Chesopeak, in Virginia, named by them

the Isle of Kent, whereupon (they pretended) they had bestowed

great Charges; and that the Lord Baltimore (as they alledged)

taking Notice of the great Benefit that was likely to arise to

them thereby, obtained a Patent from his Majesty, cojiiprehend-

ing the said Islantl within the Limits thereof ; and that they

had likewise settled another Plantation, upon the Mouth of a

Kiver, in the Bottom of the said Bay, in the Sasquesahanoughs

( Country which the said Lord Baltimore's Agents there (as they

allec'.ge) sought to dispossess them of; pretending, likewise,

great Injuries and Violence offered to them, in their Trade and

Possessions in those Parts, by the said Agents, in killing some

of the .said Capt. Clayborne's Men, and taking their Boats,

contrary to the said Commission and the express Words of a

Letter from his Majesty, under his Hand and Signet; and

therefore, besought his Majesty to grant, unto the Petitioner, a

Confirmation, under the Oreat Seal, of his Majesty's said Com-
mission and Letter, for the quiet keeping, enjoying, and gov-

erning of the said Island, Plantations and People, with other

Additamentsof Lands and Immunitysintho.se Parts: and like-

wise, that his Majesty would refer the Examination of the said

Wrongs and Injurys, to such as his Majesty should think fit,

as by the said Petition more at large appea ret h ; Forasmuch as

his Majesty was pleased, at Newmarket, on the i3<)th of February,

1(i.")7. torefer the consideration of the I'etitioner's Request,

unto the Lord Archbishop of Canterbury, the J^ord Keeper, the

l>onl Privy Seal, and any other the Commissioners for Pl.-mta-

tions, who should be near at Hand, and whom they pleased to
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call, and withal] to advise with Mr. Attorney Generator the
prepariuir and settling the Grant desired, for his Majesty's Signa-
ture, and to examine the Wrongs complained of, and certify
his Majesty what they thought fit to be done for Redress thereof,
whereupon all Partys attending their Lordships this Day, with
their Counsel learned, and being fully iieard, the said Com-
mission and Letter being likewise read, it appeared clearly, to
their Lordships, and was confessed by the said Clavborne him-
self, then present, that the said Isle of Kent is" within the
Bounds and Limits of the said Lord Baltimore's Patent, and
the said Capt. Clayborne's Commission (as it likewise appeared)
was only a Licence, under the Signet of Scotland, to Trade with
the Indians of America, in such Places where the said Trade
had not been formerly granted by his Majesty to any other;
which Commission, their Lordships declared, did not'extend,
nor give any Warrant to the said Clayborne, or any other nor
had they any Right or Title, thereby, to the said Island of
Kent, or to Plant or Trade there, or in any other Parts or
Places, with the Indians or Savages, within the Precincts of the
Lord Baltimore's Patent: and their Lordships did likewise de-
clare, that the aforesaid Letter, under his Majesty's Signature,
which had reference to the said Commission under the Signet
of Scotland, was grounded upon Misinformation, bv supposing
that the said Commission warranted the Plantation' in the Isle
of Kent, which (as now appears) it did not: Whereupon, as
also upon Consideration of a former Order of this Board,
of the 3d of July 1G33, wherein it appeared that the Differ'
ence, now in Question, being then controverted, the Lord Bal-
timore was left TO the Right of his Patent, and the Petitioner,
to the Course of Law; their Lordships having resolved and de-
clared, as abovesaid, the Right and Title to the said Isle of
Kent, and other Places in Question, to be absolutely belon-ing
to the Lord Baltimore, and that no Plantation, or Trade with
the Indians, ought to be within the Precincts of his Patent
without Licence from him, did. therefore, likewise think fit
and declare, that no Grant from his Majesty should pass to the
said Clayborne, or any others, of the said Isle of Kent, or other
Parts or Places within the said Patent, whereof his Majesty's
Attorney and Sollieitor General are hereby prayed to take
Notice: and, concerning the Violences and Wrongs, by the
said Clayborne and the rest complained of in the said Petition
to his Majesty, their Lordships did now, also, declare that
they found no Cause at all to relieve them, but do leave both
Sides therein to the ordinary Course of Justice. Thi« is spoke
to by Mr. Gain brand and Mr. Paris, also by Dickenson, and
IS the Exhibit Botra No 4.
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Ndvv lolluwisa yreat Number of Dutch Records, remaining in

tlie kiecretarys Office of New- York, authenticated from tlience,

under the King's Crreat Seal of that Province; and also their

being true Copies, and the Translation of them, proved by two
Witnesses in tlie Cause, viz. Messrs. Noxon and Vanderspiegel.

These sort of Records now reach down (without any otlier sort

being intermixed with tliemj to the 28th of October 1658, which
is for 20 Years together.

1638. 3Iay 6.

A Copy, from a large Dutch Book of Record, being a Protest,

whereby William Kieft, Director (General of New-Netherland,
residing on the Island Manhatans. and in Fort Amsterdam,
under the Government of the States General of the United
Netherlands, and the West-India Company at the Chamber of

Amsterdam, makes known to one Peter Minuit. Commander
in the Service of the Queen of Sweden, that the whole South
River of New River, has been, many Years, in the Dutch Pos-

session ; and above and below settled by Dutch Forts; and also

.sealed with the Dutchmen's Blood; tiie which had happened,
even during the said Minuifs Direction in the New Nether
lands, and was well known to him. Now, because the said

Minuit comes between the Dutch Forts, and begins to build a

Fort there, to the Damage and Prejudice of the Dutch, which,
nevertheless, we the Dutch will never suffer; and we being
assured the Queen of Sweden has given you no Orders to build

in our Rivers, or alontr our Coasts : Therefore, in case you
proceed in the building Fortifications, manuring of Lands, and
trading for Peltry, or attempt any thing to our prejudice, we
protest for all damages. Miseries, Bloodsheds and Troubles;
and that we will maintain our right, in such a manner, as we
shall find most suitable. This is Dutch Records, New-York.
No 2, Fol. 4.

1638-n. Feb. 3.

A copy from the same Book of Resords, of a Judgment given
against one Coinclisse, for wounding a Soldier in the Fort, con-

demning him to serve the Company, along with the Blacks,
to be sent by the first Ship to the South River, to serve the
Company there, and to pay a Fine to the Fiscal, and Damages
to the wounded Soldier. This is Dutch Records, New-Y"ork,
No. 2, Fol. 5.

1639. March 31.

Another Copy, from the same Book, being an Ordinance which
recites that many Persons, Companies, and Servants as Setlers,

do dare, against the Orders of the States-General and the West
India Company, to sell to the Indians, Guns, Powder, andLead

;
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therefore every Inhabitant of New Netlierhunl is torbidd^"!! the

same, on Pain of Ijeiujj: punished with Deatli : Also every one is

warned, not to ^'o. with B()at> or Vessels, to Fort-Oran;,^e,

South-River, or Fort-Hope, withcjut a Writin;j: from the Di-

rector-General, and on their Return, a Note from the Factors

of the said Places, residing there for the (Jompany. ou Pain of

Forfeiture of the Ships, Vessels, and Cargoes to the Profit of

the Company, and of further Forfeitures. Publish'd in Fort-

Amsterdam. This is Dutch Records. New-York, No. 2, Fol. 5.

1643. i/a.y 15.

Another Copy from the same Dutch Booli of Records, being

an Urder or Resolution; taking notice that some Engiisli had

dared to come into their South River, across over against their

F^'ort Nassau, where they had seated themselves in the Schuilkill,

without having Commission from any Potentate, being a

Matter of ill Consequence, and Disregard of tlieir High Mighti-

nesses, and the Interest of the West-India Company, whereby

their Trade, wliich they have in the South River, is made use-

less; therefore it's resolved, in the Assembly, to fetch away the

English, from the Schuilkill, in the properest manner possible.

This is Dutch Records, New-York. No. 3, Fo. ti.

Mat/ 22.

Another Order from the same Book, for .Jan Jansen van Hpen-

dam. Factor of the West-India Company, how to conform him-

self, in the South River of New Netherland : namely, to go, with

two Sloops, and as many Men as he can procure in the Schuilkill,

where the English have now lately taken Possession, and de-

mand of the English their Commission, and by what Authority

they have dared to take from us our Jurisdiction, Goods, and

Commerce, and having no Royal Commission to seat themselves

in our Limits, he shall constrain them peaceably to depart,

that no Blood be spilt : If they refuse, to secure and bring them
on board the Sloops, hither; taking care that He remains Mas
ter, and maintains the Reputation of their High Mightinesses

and the West-India Company; and after the Departure, or

Seising, of the English, to ruin the said Place to the Ground.

Done in Our Assembly at Fort Amsterdam, in New Netherland.

This is Dutch Records, New-York, No 3, Fo. 6.

1644, March.

From the same Book, a Notification, from the Fiscal General

of New Netherland, to one Govert Cookermans, that he should

not undertake, in the Company's usual Trading place, where

the Factor Jan Jansen van Ilpendam uses to trade, in the South

River of New Netherland, to trade with the Indians; and, in

case he shall do, or has done, to the contrary, then the Fiscal
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(iene^-al protests against hiiii lor all Damages the honourable

Company shall sufier. This is Dutch Records, New-York, No.

2, Fol. 4.

1()4(), July 2.

B>oui the same Book, a very formal Patent, from William

Kieft, Director-General, and the Council, under the Prince of

Oran^'e, and the West-India Company residing in New Nether-

land, granting to Aijraham Plack. 8imon Root. Jan Andrieson.

and Peter Harmens. that they may settle themselves in th^

South River, and take Possession of the Lands lying therein,

almost over-against the little Island called Vogels Sant; of

which Land is granted to them 100 Morgen of Land to settle :!

or -t Plantations: under Condition to acknowledge the Mana-

gers before-named for their Lords and Patrons, under the Sov-

ereignty of their High .Mightinesses; and to be subject to all

such Rates and Duties as are already, or shall be establish'd

:

and the said Land is further described to be lying on the West-

side of the South River. Dated at Fort New Amsterdam, with

Promise of further Land, provided they build. Signed by Order

of the Director-fteneral and Council of New Netherland, and

their Secretary, and sealed with red Wax. This is Dutch

Records. New-York. No. 2. Fol. 2G.

1047. ^Sept. 20.

From another Dutch Book of Orders and Resolutions, Pro-

position made l)y the General, Peter Stuyvesant, to tlie Board

of the Honourable Council. (1. Whether Andries Huddle shall

continue in the South River, or who to send thither; because

it is highly necessary that a fit Person be continued there? By

the Director General and Council it is resolved to continue the

said Andries Buddie, for the Service of the West India Company,

as Factor in Fort Nassaw, in the South River of New Nether-

land, and he to have Appointment and Wages, as allowed to

other Factors abroad. This is Dutch Records, New York, No 2,

Fol. 26.

We have seen what Officer Andries Huddie was, under the

Dutch.

1048, Nov. 17.

Now follows, from the Dutch Records, a Report, or Repre-

sentation, made l)y A. Hilddie dated at Fort Nassaw in New

Netherland. 17 Nov. 164H. with this Title: A short, yet true.

Declaration of the Proceedings of .lohan Prints. Governor over

the Swedish Troops in the South River of New Netherlaiid. as

also the Swedish Settlement in the .said River, found in the

first of November, 1645. This Piece is long, wherefore we shall
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give a short Extract of it. He says, At the coming in of the

River, three ]\Iiles from the Mouth, upwards, on the Eastern

Shore, lyes a Fort, callec] Eisingburgh, garrisoned with 12, and
a Lieutenant, four Cannon of 12 Pounders, and a Potshead,

and that that Fort was erected by Johan Prints, and, by that

Fort, keeps the River close to himself, and stops all Vessels

there, even those of the Honourable Compan>. going from the

Manhatans to their designed Place, even by tiring .it them,

so that they must go ui) the River, about six .Miles, to the said

Prints.for Leave to couie up higher. Further up. on the We.»itern

Shore, in the Mingas Creek, lyes a Fort called (Christina, no setled

Garison, but is reasonably provided, and is the Chief Place of

the Trade, where the Factor keeps his Residence, and there is

the Magazines of all Merchandizes; an(l this is tlie tirst Fort

that is built by the Swedes, under the Command of Peter Min-

uit, in the Year lGo8, altho" the Company had sufficient Settle-

ments, in the River, of Fortifications, Men, and Stores of War,
and that, above 14 Years before the Swedes had; which Peter

Minuit has served the Honourable Company as Director in this

Country. Further, on the same Siile. about two Miles up, they

begin to settle some Plantations, which they continue for ai)out

a Mile, but the Houses few and scatter'd. and stretch as far as

about the island Tinnekonk; Where the Governor Prints re-

sides, lyes a pretty strong Fort of Pine Beams, l>ut it was i)urnt

down, 5 December 1G45. What relates to the Schuilkili. Avhieh

are the Honourable Company's purchased and possessed Lands,

He has ruin'd the (Company's Buildings; and, instead thereof,

erected a Fort, about Musket Shot from the Creek : which
Creek is the only Place left for Trade with the Mingaes. and,

without that Trade, this River is of small IiuDortancf. Further,

a little l)eyond this Fort, near Kinsessinge. which has been a

(Continual Place of Trade for us with the Mingaes; but is now
possessed by the Swedes, with a Strong House. Further, about

half a Mile, through the Woods, Governor Prints, has erected

a Mill, on a Creek that runs into the Sea. a little to the South-

ward of Matinneconck. And. over the Creek, a Strong House,

right upon the Path of the Mingaes. So there is no Place open,

to draw in the Mingaes. as he has. in his Hands, the greatest

Power of the Trade with the River Indians, who go a hunting,

and can't come through, without passing i)y this Place. The
Strength of his People consists in about 80 or KG Men. at most

Freemen, and Servants; wherewith he must garrison all his

Places. The Fortifications and Garrisons of the Honourable
Company, because they are sufficiently known, (says Andrew
Huddie)is here left out. Then, he goes on to report what hap-

pened, between himself and the Swedish Governor Prints, on
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the 2:'><1 of June. 164(). who stopt then h Vessel. Julian Blanrk

Master, and Cargo, sent to ilie said Huddie for Trade to the

Schuilkill. and of the several Debates and Conferences, and

Papers, that pass'd thereon ; Huddie insistinj? on the Right of

the Dutch, and their West India Company, and (xovernor Prints

insisting on the Right of the yueen of Sweden, and stopping

that Ship. Then Huddie proceeds to give an Account that, on

7 Sept. 164G, he having received strict Orders to buy Land of

the Indians, on the Western Shore, about a Mile North from

Fort Nassaw.he did so and put up the Company's Arms thereon,

and took Possession thereof, and several Freemen made ready

to build there: But. the Swedish Factor. Huygen, came
down, from above, took down the Anus, and committed a great

Riot and Disorder there, on the 30th of the same September,

and brought down Grovernor Prints's Protest, declaring it was;

the Queen of Sweden's own Ground, and Lands, and taking

Notice that these secret underhand new Purchases, by the

Dutch, shewed how little was to l>e relyed on of their pretended

ancient Right, thentofore talkt of by them. And that Protest

was dated at New Gottenburg. The said Huddie also relates

his firing at, and endeavoring to stop, a Swedish Vessel, going

by Fort Nassaw up the River on the second of April. 1648, and

gives a Copy of the Protest which he sent, upon that Occasion,

to Governor Prints. He also reports that, as the Swedes had
carryed many Pine Beams to the Schuilkill. so he, apprehend-

ing they meant to build at the Places where the Vessels lye

and trade, sent an Account thereof to the Dutch Goverenor,

who sent him Orders that, if the Swedes should come to build,

and a new Settle any unsettled Places, he, the said Huddie,

should, in the Name of the Companv. with all Civility, settle

next to him : and having received Accounts that the Swedes

had anticipated, and already made some Buildings there, he

went thither, and, by the Consent of the Sachems, attempted

to build, and Sachems did the Swedes go off. for that they the

Swedes had possessed against the Sachems Mind, who had
given it to Huddie: and Huddie planted the Prince's Flag, &c.,

in Token of Possession, and erected the House; but. in the

Evening, the Swedish Factor, and seven or eijrht Men. came
and enquired into it: The Indians sayd they had sold it us,

and that we should dwell there, and that the Swedes had
nothing to do to build there, for that they possessed enough
already, in Matinnekonk. the Schuilkill. Kinsessingh. Kakari-

com, Upland, and other Places, which had been altogether stole

from them; Minuit. about 11 Years past, having bought no

more than a small Piece at Paghahackinge. to plant some To-

bacco, whereof the Natives were to have one half for an .Ac-
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kno\vlp(lp:iiieiit. and Tli;tt The Swedes were now lately first come
into tiie Kiver; but we, the Dutcli. had conversed here above 30

Years: so Huddie proceeded in the Work, and set Pallisadoes

about the House; but the (Swedish) Lieutenant of the Fort in

the Schuylkill come, with 24 Men, with Fire-Armsand Matches,
and with Axes destroyed the whole Work. That on the 10th

of June tlie principal, and true Owners publickly conveyed the
Schuilkiihand renewed the Sale whicli w-as formely made to Ar-

ent ("orse, (former Factor there)of the Schuilkill.and the Lands
adjoyninj^, whereof two of the Dutch Council took publick
and lawful Possession. After that, one Hans Jacobse be^an to

seat himself in the Schuilkill. l)ut was obstructed by the Swedes,
commanded by Governor Prints, who Ijurnt what Jacobse was
building. So also, one Thomas Broen went to seat himself at

Newhooven ; but. after three Hours, the Swedish Adjutant came
and pulled that down. Afterwards, on 8 September, News came
that the Swedes had set up a House before the Fort Beevers
Reede. whereby tlie Aj^proach to that Fort is shut up. And
came in the Nig:ht,and pulled down the Palisadoes of that Fort,

and l)roke through it, whereuj)on the said Huddie sent a Pro-
test to the Swedish Governor Printb. And thus ends this Report.
And this Exhibit is Dutch Records, New York, No 2, and
l)egins at Fol. 7.

1649. Apr. lo.

The Copy of an Original Indian Deed of Sale to the Dutch,
of Lands in the South River, whereby Bycheske and Hysiackan
declare, in the Presence of several Indian Witnesses, being the
Chief of those Quarters, and of tlie Commonalty there, to sell,

in Consideration of a Parcel of Merchandize received in Hand.
A certain Parcel of Land, in the South River of New Nether-
land, on the East Side of the said River, stretching from
the Land called Roophakesky, being over against the
Creek of Nejeck Northerly, up, along the River, to the
South Corner of an Island called Pincoe Rockanningh,
which Place is called by the Natives Mechopinachan,
further up the Wyquanaonge, Wysoktchouck,Nepatchtea,
Pepiscrikas, are over the Southerly End of the said Is-

land, and further beyond the said Island, unto Necheckei-
ouw, further up the River, and is called Passanoonoe,
Andemoerara, and herein is comprehended the said Island
Pincoe Rockaningh, within these Limits and Bounds
being, and up in the Country four Miles, or so much
more or less as the Possessors shall think fit.

To hold to Andries Huddie, Alexander Boyer. Simon Root,
Peter Harmans. and others. This is Dutch Records. New York,
No 2, Pol 27.
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i(;r)4. octoi). 17.

From the same Book of Records, a Protest signed by Hen
driek vuii Deswick, Factor of the (ireneral (Jouncil of Trade,

and Southern Company in Sweden, directed to the p:eneral

Director and Council of the New Netherland. Compiaininy
that having come into the Fort Amsterdam, with tlie Sliip the

(rolden Hay. on the 12tli of September last, and sent on Shore

there for a Pilot, to convey liim to the South River, his Ship
had i)een seised and appraised, and he liimseM' and his Men
imprisoned, on pretence that the new Swedisli (Tovernor. Jan
Rising, had ciused the Fort (Jasimir io be taken from them;
which was a groundless Pretension, l^ecause tl)e Dutch had
l)uilt that Fort in Kir)], on the Queen of Sweden's Ground, by

Violence and Force, and against wliich the Jate Swedish Gov-
ernour Jolum Prints liad then protested ; so that the new
Swedish Governour Rysing has taken nothing fronj the Dutch>

but only recovered that which l)elongsto her Swedish Majesty.

This is Dutch Record, New-York, No. 3, Fol. 3f).

Octob. 27.

A Counter-Protest, from Peter Stuyvesant, the Director Gen.
eral, and the Council of New-Netherlands; offering to restore

the Swedish Ship, if their Fort Casimir and the Annnunition,

&c., were restored; Complaining of the Swedes treacherously

having seized that Fort (Jasimir. As to Fort Casinnr having
been built on the Queen of Swedtr-ns Ground, tliey declare, that

that is not. nor cannot be proved ; but. ont he contrary, the said

Director and Council otter to show, and prove, here in this

Country, and not at the Hague or Stockholm, by authentick

Writings, and living inditt'erent Witnesses, Cliristians and In-

dians, the States General, and West-India Company's un-

doubted Right and Property on the Lands in the South River;

and that, by Virtue of First Discovery, ancient and first Pos-

session, sealed with their Blood, the erecting of divers Forts

heretofore, both on the Eastern and Western Shore, below,

above, and in the Centre of the River, as also by legal Pur-

chase, and Conveyance of sundry Tracts, acquired uf the true

Lords of the J^oil, even of that Land on which Fort Cazimir is

built; whereon they do not only and aljsolutely ground their

undoubted Right to the whole South River, but on their ancient

and first discovery many Y'ears before any other Christian Na-
tion, even the Swedes themselves, who, in 1G38, began to anti-

cipate on this South River, &c. Dated at New Amsterdam ii

New Netherlands. This is Dutch Records, New Y'ork, No. 2.

Fol. 31.

1655, Auii- 31.

From the Dutch Book of Records. A Copy of a Receipt
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wherel)y some Person acknowjedijes to have received, nf Thomas
Willetli, 1,500 Guilders in black and white Wainpuiu. With an
Entry (under the same) signed by the Director and (Jouncil,

that the General takes that Wamfmni with him. on the Expe-

dition to the South River, to make use of the Moneys for the

Service of the Company, for paying: of Soldiers, or victual lin<.f,

or making presents to the Natives. Wherefore if any Accident

happens, the Company must pay that Money to Willeth. Also

another Entry, that the General and Mr. Sille ijeing going to

the South River, whereby the Nund)er of the Council will be

reduced, two other Persons are to be assumed and added to the

remaining Councillors. This is Dutch Records, »w York. No.
'2, Fol. 28.

1G55.

From another Book of Dutch Records, A Commission, from
the Dutch Governour Peter Stuyvesant, and the Council at New
Amsterdani in tlie New Netherlands, appointing John Paul
Jacques, Vice Director and Chief of the said South River of

New Netherland, as also over the Fortresses, Lands, and other

Places lying on the said River, and for the Securitv of the Fort

Casimir, and other Places, to keep and establish good Orders,

and cause the same to be observed in all matters relating to

Trade, Policy, .Justice, and Militia, as also over the sol-

diers, sailors, free Persons, high and subaltern Officers, &c. To
command all, for the West-India Company's Service, to ad-

minister Right and .Justice, as well in Civil as in Military, kc.

This is Dutch Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 41.

165(3, Apr. 12.

From the like Book, A Grant, from the Director General and
Council of the New Netherlands, past at New Amsterdam,
granting, unto Thomas Broen, a Plantation lying in the South
River, below Fort Casimir. Dutch Records, New-Y'ork, No. 2,

Fol. 38.

Aug. 25.

Another like Grant unto Jacob Dehinse. of two (Town) Jjots,

near Fort ('asimir, being the 18th and G7th Lots. Dutch Records,
New York, No. 2. Fol. 38.

Sept. 1.

Another like Grant, unto Jan Picolet, of Land, in tlie South
River, to the Southward of Fort Cjasimir. bounded on several

other Persons Plantations. Dutch Records, New York, No. 2,

Fol. 39.

Sept. 12.

Another like (irant. to Philip .Jaiisen Kinu'o. <>f ;t Lot tor a
IG— Vol. XV.
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House and Ofarden. below Fort Casiiuir, bounded on another

Plantation in the South River. Dutch Records, New York, No.

2. Fol. 3'J.

tiepl. 13.

Another like (Jrant to Constantine Groenenburgh, of a Lot

lor a House and Garden, in the South River, below Fort Casi-

iuir. being Lot No. 20. and bounded by other Persons Lots.

Dutch Records. New York, No. 2, Fol. 3i).

Sei)t. 13.

Another like (rrant to Hans Alberts, of a Lot for a House
and Garden in the South River, by Fort Casirair, in the second

Row. bounded by several other Neighbours. Dutch Records,

New York, No. 2. Fol. 40.

Sept. 22.

Another like Grant to Jan Hendrickse, of a Lot for a House
and Garden in the South River, by Fort Casimir, being the 35th

Lot in the second Row, bounded on several Neighbours. Dutch
Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 40.

Nov. 30.

Another like Grant to Andries Huddle, of a Lot for a House
and Garden in the South River, nigh Fort Casimir, being the

loth Lot. Dutch Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 37.

Nuc. 30.

Another like Grant, to Alexander Bowyer, of a Plantation

in the South River, to the North of Fort Casimir, bounded by

one Neighbour. Dutch Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 37.

1057. Ajir. 12.

A Conveyance from the Director and Council of New Nether-

lands, (in Virtue of Orders rceeived from the West-India Com-
pany, bearing Date 19 Dec. 1656,) unto Jacob Alricks, Director

and Commissary (under the City of Amsterdam) over their

Colony in the South River, the Fortress Casimir, now called

New Amstel, with all the Lands thereunto, according to the

first Sale of the Natives dated 10 .July 1651. beginning on the

West-Side of Christina Kill, to the Mouth of the Bay or River

called Boomties Hooke, and as far up into the Country, as the

Limits of the Minquaes; to hold, to the said Jacob Alricks,

to the use of the Burgomasters and Governours of the City of

Amsterdam. Dutch Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 34.

1058. Apr. 20.

Peter Stuyvesant. the Governour. lays, before the Council at

New Netherlands, several Matters for redress of the Company's
Affairs in the South River, that necessary Orders might be set-
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tied there, and the Ritrhts^ of the West-India Cointtany niif^ht be

taken eare of; particularly, in collecting: the Customs, lor goods

inwards and outwards, liecause there are great Frauds, much
Peltry being shipped of, without Entry; and several of the In-

habitants of the Colony of New Amstel petition to settle about

the Fortress Altena, within the Districrt of the Company, and

to begin Plantations; also, some necessary Orders are wanting,

concerning the Swedes. On all which Matters the Council

advise Governor Stuyvesant to go thither, himsef speedily.

Dutch Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 33.

Octoh. 28.

A Commission, from the Director General and Council of the

New Netherlands, appointe<l William Beckman, Factor and

Vice Director over the Lands, Forts, standing Forces and Free

People on the South River, to keep and make good Orders,

Right and Justice amongst them, in Civil and Military, to

administer, &c. Dutch Records, New York, No. 2, Fol. 80.

1664. July 3.

From the Records in Newcastle County. A Grant from
Alexander Hyniossa, Governor of New Amstel, under the

Burgomasters of the City of Amsterdam, unto Gerret van
Sweeringen. of a Piece of Land, on the South-side of the Fort.

in breadth IGOO Rod, and in length 2000 Rod; on Condition lo

acknowledge the Burgomasters of Amsterdam and the States

General for his Lords and Masters, and to obej' their Governors
and Council there, &c. This is proved to be a true Copy from
Newcastle Records, by Messrs. Shaw^ and Lardner, and is in

Newcastle Records, No. 11, Fol. 3.

It's hoped, that all these antient Records from one of the

King's own Provinces (New York), will most abundantly prove

that the Dutch were possessed from 1629 to 1G64, of New Y'ork,

as their head and chief Settlement, and also of the South River,

(which is now Delaware River) as dependant on their great Set-

tlement.

Likewise, that the Swedes, also, had a Possession on the South
River and Forts there.

It only remains, (on this Head) to fix the several Places men-
tioned.

To which purpose, we have an ancient Map, which is a Dutch
Map, and has the Dutcli Arms upon it, and must have been

published Avhilst they had Possession of the Country, (which

Possession they are now going to lose immediately) for it was
to no purpose to make Maps of any Country after they had
lost it. This Map has no Date to it, nor have Maps usually

any Dates to them. But it's intitled Novi Belgii, Nova-que
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Anglise, Necnon partis Virginite Tabula, iiiultis in locis enien-

data a Nicolao Joannis Visschero. And this Map is spoke to

by Mr. Grreeme, and is marked Uut, and siiews abundance of

Matters to our Advantage, viz.

1. It stiews tliat Cape Hinloop, Fort Casiniir, Fort Ciiristina,

Mattinnakonk, and Sciiuilkill. are all on the West side of

Delaware Bay and River (being tlaat Side wliere the three Lower
Countrys now are.)

2. By calling it, still, Fort Casimir, and not New Auistel, it

should seem to have been publislied before 1657; for we see

above, that in April 1G57, that Place had got its new Name of

New Amstel, amongst the Dutch.

Nutt.

Fort Casimir, New Amstel, and now Newcastle, are all of

them the successive Names of the self same Place.

o. This Dutch Map lays down the Line of the 40th Degree
(compleat) not more than 3 Miles above the Head of Chesopeak
Bay. But, above all other Matters,

4. This old Dutch Map, acquits the PlaintifTs of one Imposition
which the Defendant would fain charge them Avith, viz. of put-

ting Cape Hinlopen in his Map too low; lie pretending it ought
to have been put more Northerly, at the Place where Cape
Cornelius was put; for, this old Map (as well as another, whicli

we shall come to in 1G71,) lays down both Cape Hinlopen and
Cape Cornelius, seperately and distinctly, as two several Capes;
and it lays down Cape Hinlopen about 19 Miles more Southerly
than Cape Cornelius; and exactly in the self same manner as

my Lord Baltimore's own Map of 1732 placed them. So that,

indeed, the PlaintifTs did not (in 1732) invent this matter, or

impose upon Lord Baltimore therein, as he lias most unhand-
somly charged upon them, contrary to his own certain Know-
ledge, nor did the Dutch orginally, and in their Maps, call the

Place Cape Hinlopen, which in my Lord's Map is called Cav')e

Cronelius. (which is the very Matter put in Issue by my
Lord's Answer) but their Maps were, inthis respect, most exactly

like my Lord's own Map.
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Chap. III. From the latter End of the Year 1663, rvhen King

Charlt.^ (/raided Nero York, dbc, to Hit Dake of York, and

the DntrJi /rtit aoitntc/ueiUly dispossen.sed of their great and

.smalt Htttleineids, douui. to the Year 107:^.; during all whidi

time the Duke of York possessed and governed New Yrrk,

and thelower t'ovntijs also.

16 Car. II. l<iG3. Mar. V2.

From the Chai)ple of tlie Rolls. Copy of the Grant made to

the Duke of York by Letters Patent, of all that Part of the

Main Land of ISew England, beginning at St. Croix, next ad-

joining to New Scotland in America, and extending, along the

Coast, to Pemaquid, and so, up the River thereof, to the furthest

Head of the same, as it extended Northwards; and extending,

from thence to the River of Kinebequie, and so, upwards, by

the shortest Course, to the River Canada, Northwards; and

also, all that Lsland called Mattowacks, or Long Island, lying

towards the West of Cape Codd and the Narrohigansetts. abutt-

ing upon the Main Land between two Rivers there, severally cal-

led Connecticut's and Hudson's River; and the said River called

Hudson's River: and all the Land, from the West side of Con-

necticut River, to the East side of Delaware Bay: and also all

those several Islands called Martin Vinyards and Nantukett;

Together with all the Lands, Islands, Soils, Rivers, Harbours,

Mines, Minerals. Quarries, Woods, Marshes, Waters. Lakes,

Fishing, Hunting and Fowling, and all other Royalties, Profits,

Commodities and Hereditaments, to the said several Islands.

Lands and Premisses belonging and appertaining, with their

and every of their Appurts; and all the King's Estate, Right,

fitle, Interest, Benefit, Advantage. Claim and Demand, of. in

or to the same, or any part thereof; To hold to the Duke of

York in Fee, to be held of the King, as of the Manor of East

Greenwich, in free and common Soccage, and not by Knights

Service; rendering 40 Beaver Skins Y'early; with Powers of

Government, &c., granted to the Duke of York ; and to appoint

Governours, Officers and Ministers under him: And an express

Power (Fol. 4.) to the Duke of York, his Governours and Ofiicers,

for their Defence and Safety, to encounter and expulse, by

Force of Arms, as well by Sea as by Land, all such Persons as,

without their Licence, should attempt to inhabit, within the

several Precincts and Limits of his Majesty's said Territories

and Islands, &c. This Exhibit is prov'd by Bulmer, and is

Rocha No. 4.
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It's pretended that, as this Grant to the Duke of York, wli mi

coming Ironi the Eastward, extends only to the East side ol

Delaware Bay. so, that it did not, by express Words, include

the three lower Counties, which are on the West side of that

Bay: But, it was a very large and extensive Grant, of several

very large Tracts and Territories in America, and past (as we

say) all Lands appertaining to those extensive Tracts. And this

is the single weak Point in our whole Case.

This Grant was made, in order to drive out the Dutch, and

so they immediately did.

1(504. Api: 2.

From the Records, in his Majesty's Secretary's Office in New

York, an Exemplification and Inspeximus under the Great Seal

there, of a Commission from the Duke of York, of this Date,

reciting the said Grant to him. and constituting and appoint-

ing. Richard Nicholls Esq; his Deputy Governour, Avithin the

Lands, Islands and Places aforesaid, and to follow all such

Orders and Instructions as he should from time to time receive

from the Duke. This Exhibit is also proved to be a true Copy,

by two Persons, Noxon and Vandespiegel, and is in New York

Records, No. 1, Fol. 3.

Apr. 23.

Copy from the Books at the Board of Trade of Publiek

Instructions from King Charles the 2d. to Colonel Rich-

ard Nichols, Sir Robert Carr, George Cartwright. and Samuel

Mavericke Esqrs. his Commissioners, to visit the Colony

of the Massachusets Bay in New Engalnd ; the second of

tho.se Instructions is (Fol. 5.) to this Effect, viz. You shall,

at large, discourse with them, all that we our self have

discoursed with you, of reducing the Dutch in or near Long

Island, or any where within the Limits of our own Domin;

ion, to an entire Obedience to our Government; and to put

them out of Capacity of doing the same Mischief as at Am-

boyna; and to reduce them to the same Rules and Obedience

with our own Subjects there; which you are to let them know

is all we aim at, without any purpose of using any other Vio-

lence, than is necessary to those Ends ; and that no Man shall be

disturbed or removed from what he possesses, who will yield Obe-

dience to us. and live in the same Subjection with our other

Sulijects; and you shall desire Concurrence hereto, from the

Massachu'^ts. and such a Number of Men. and all other things as

are necessary thereto ; and shall thereupon proceed, in such

manner as you shall think fit, either by building of Forts

about them, or, by using, such Force as cannot be avoided for
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their Reduction, they having; iiu kind ul' Ri<;ht to hold wliat

they are in Possession of, in our unquestionable Territories,

than, that they are possessed of it, by an invasion of us. And,
by another tSet of Private Instructions, also given to the said

Commissioners, at the same time, they were directed by his

Majesty, in his first private Instruction, to acquaint all Men,
that a great End of their Design was, the possessing Long
Island and reducing that People to an entire Submission and
Obtdienceto the King and his Government, now vested, by his

Grant and Connuission, in the Duke of York, and by raising

Forts, or any other way, to secure that whole Trade to our Sub-
jects, that the Dutch nmy no longer engross or exercise it, Avhich

they have wrongfully possessed themselves of; that whole Ter-

ritory being in our Possession, before they, as private Persons
and without any Authority from their Superiours, and against

the Law of Nations, and the Alliance between us and their

Superiours, invaded, and have since wrongfully detained the
same, to the Prejudice of our Crown and Dignity, and therefore

ought in justice, to be resumed by us, unless they entirely

submit to our Government; and live as our Subjects, and, in

that Case we will take them into our Protection, and they shall

enjoy all their Possessions, (Forts only excei)ted) and the same
Freedom in Trade, as our good Subjects. These Copies are

proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and are in the Exhibit Botra >'o. 5.

Apr. 26.

(Jopy, from the Records in New York, of King Charles' Com-
mission to those 4 Commissioners to visit the several Colonies
in New England, and to hear, receive, examine and determine
all Complaints and Appeals in all Causes and Matters as well
Military, as Criminal and Civil, and proceed, in all things, for

the providing for and settling the Security of the said Country,
according to the Instructions given, or to be given, to them.
This is New Y'ork Records, No. 1, Fol. 4.

Now we shall find the Commissioners got to America.

Aug. 15.

A Proclaication. that his Majesty having sent the Commis-
sioners, to expel, or reduce to his Obedience all Foreigners, as

have seated them amongst any his Majesty's Dominions in

America; all such, of what Nation soever, as will submit to

his Majesty's Government shall enjoy their Possessions and
'Privileges as his Subjects; which the Commissioners publish,
to clear themselves from the Charge of those Miseries that may
befall such others, as live there and will not acknowledge the
King for their Sovereign. New Y'ork Records, No. 1, Fol. 5.
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Aug. 19.

Peter Stuyvesant, Governor and ("ommander in chief of the

Council of the 2s'ew Netlierlandss, writes a Letter from Fort

Anill, in ><ew ^;etherland^s (to tlie Conmiissioners) sent by sev-

eral Members of the (Council antl otliers, to desire To know the

Aieanin^ of an English Alan of War arrivin-^ in the Hay of the

North River of the New Netherlands, about tliivi^ Days since,

and three more arriving there since':* New York Records, ^'o.

1, Fol. 6.

Aitf/. 20

Colonel Richard Nicholls writes an Answer, dated from on
Boardh is Majesty's Ship the (iuinea riding before Mai jcktel ling

the Dutch Governour. that the Kings Right and Title to those

Parts is unquestionable, and therefore, requires the Surrender of

all Forts, Towns and Places of Strength then possessed by the

Dutch, and demands the Town upon the Island Manhatoes,

with all its Forts to t)e rendered to him; promising to secure

Life and Liberty to those who submit, and those who oppose

must expect the miseries of War. And this he sends by Mr.

Cartwright, one of the Commissioners, and 3 others. New
York Records, No. 1, Fol. 0.

Aug. 22.

Governour Stuyvesant, by a Note, owns the Receit of the said

Demand, and will answer it to Morrow. New York Records,

No. 1, Fol. 7.

A^ig. 28.

The Dutch Governour Stuyvesant writes a long Answ^er, dated

at Fort Amsterdam : Says, he won't at present Debate the

Rights of the King, amongst other things, to Virginia, Mary-
land, or others in New England; but, that he has a Right to

all the Lands in the North Parts of America, is what the Kings
of France and Spain will disalfow. As also, lie the said Gover-

nour does, liy Virtue of a Commission given to him by the

States General, to be Governour General over New Holland,

&c., dated 2()July 1640, as also by Vertue of a Grant and Com-
mission from the States (ieneral to the West-India Company
in the Year 1621, under their Great Seal, now produced to Col-

onel Nicholls's Deputies. Moreover, it's acknowledged by
all the World, that bv Vertue of the said Commission and
Patent of the States (xeneral. the Dutch have peaceably, and
without controul, enjoyed Fort Orange, about 48 or 50 Years,

the Manhatans aliout 41 or 42 years, the South River 40

Years, and the fresh Water River about 36 Years. As to de
livering up of the Places, the King has so much Equity
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that, it he knew the Truth, wliich i.>, that liic l/Utch oaiiie nut

into these Provinces by any Violence, l)ut \>\ ( Onimission from

the States General, tirst of all in the Year Kil 1. KilO, and UilO,

up tlie North River near Fort Oranye, ami in the Year 162:2,

thei-e was a (Jonimission ami (jrant to the Dutch West-India

Company, and moreover, in Itioli a (xrant to tlie Burji^omasters of

Amsterdam, of the South River, li.\ which (irants they havt-

been held, as also in ri',dit of their lirst Discovers, uninter-

rupted Possession, and Purchase of the native ]*rinces. and

otljer Peisons, the Kiny;. (on such Knowledge) would not j^rant

any such Order, to demand tlieir Places; and protesting against

this Demand, as an unjust Violence and Breach of the Articles

of Peace. -New York Records, 2so. 1, Fol. 7.

Aug.M.
Colonel Nicholls's Warrant to Captain Hyde, the Com-

mander of the Eng^lish Squadron, to prosecute. l)y all ways

and means, the speedy reducing the Dutch under his Majesty's

Obedience. Jsew York Records, 'So. 1. Fol. 10.

Aug. 25.

G.'ivernour Stuyvesanfs Letter from the Manhatoes, in the

Fort of Amsterdam, in New Holland, to Colonel Nicholls. that,

following the Orders of the States (Teneral, he is obliged to

defend the Place; but. to prevent spilling Blood, sends Depu-
ties to treat for an Accommodation, and desires, in the mean
Time, all Hostilities may cease. New York Records, No. 1,

Fol. 10.

Aiig. 25.

Colonel Nicholls writes that he insists on his first summons
for a speedy Surrender of the Towns and Forts; and will not

treat, save upon Articles for a Surrender. New York Records,

No. 1, Fol. 11.

Aug. 26.

Governour Stuyvesant and his Council's Commission dated

in Fort Amsterdam in New Netherland, in order to prevent the

effusion of Blood, plunderings, murders, inc., appointing Dep-
uties to treat. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 11.

1664. Aug. 26.

Colonel Nicholls. Commander in Chief of his Majesty's

Forces now beleaguering the Town on the Manliatons, by his

written Answer, dated at the Camp before the Manhatans, ac-

cepts of the Proposal made by the Governour and Council there,

to treat by Articles of Surrender, and appoints Deputies on liis

part, to treat and conclude upon Articles of Surrender of the

aforenamed Place. New York Reconis, No. 1, Fol. 12.
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Any. 27.

The Articles of the Surrender, whereby the Persons, Proper-

ties, Liberties and Customs were to be preserved; and tlie Sol-

diers to iiian-h out, with their Arms, Drums beating, Colours

flying, «fec. , and Copies of the King's Grant to the Duke of York,

and the Duke of York's Commission to Colonel Nicholls. to be

delivered to Governor Stuyvesant on Monday next, signed by

Colonel NiehoUs, Deputy Governour to the Duke of Y'ork

;

and within two Hours after that, the Fort and Town called

New Amsterdam, upon the Isle of Manhatoes shall be delivered

into the Hands of Colonel Nicholls. New York Records, No.

]. Fol. 12.

Aug. 29.

Governour Stuyvesant's Ratification of the said Treaty. New
York Records, No L Fol. 16.

Thus the Dutch great Settlement was reduced .at what is

now New York. And after that was done, the English pro-

ceeded next, to the small Settlement, viz.

Hept. 3.

Colonel Nicholls and Mr. Cartwright, and Mr. Mavericke's

Con) mission, dated at the Fort in New York, upon the Isle of

Manhatans, reciting, that the Dutch have seated themselves at

Delaware Bay, and drawn a great Trade thither; which, if

they be permitted to go on, the gaining of this Place Avill be

of small Advantage to his Majesty; wherefore having deter-

mined to bring that Place, and all Strangers thereabout, to his

Majesty's Obedience; the Commissioners appoint two of his

Majesty's Frigat^es, and all the Soldiers which are not in the

Fort, to go thither, under the Command of Sir Robert Carr,

to reduce the same. And all Officers at Sea and Land are to

obey Sir Robert Carr during this Expedition. New York Re-

cords, No. 1, Fol. 12.

Instructions to Sir Robert Carr for reducing of Delaware Baj-,

and settling the People there under his Majesty's Obedience;

When you come near the Fort, which is posses.sed by the Dutch,

send your Boat ashore, to summon the Governor and Inhabi-

tants; and let them know they shall enjoy their Houses, Goods
and Privileges, only, they must change their Masters, whether
they be the West India Company, or the City of Amsterdam.
To the Swedes, remonstrate their happy Return, under a Mon-
archical Government. The Cannon and Ammunition, which be-

longs to the Government, shall remain to his Majesty. The Acts

of Parliament shall be the Rule of future Trading in Liberty

of Conscience to the People. If you can't reduce the Place by
Force, send a Messenger to the Governor of Maryland, with
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this Letter to him, and request his Assistance, an<l „f all otherbn-hsh, who live near the Butch Plantation.^ "To mv Lord
•• Batiniore-s Son, You shall -> Jare, and to all the English
•concerned in Maryland, that his Majestv hath, at his <.reat
-Expence, sent his Ships and Soldiers to reduce ail Foreigners
' in those Parts to his Majesty's Obedience : and, to that Purpose
•only, \ou are employed; But, the Reduction „t the Place
-beni- at his Majesty-> Expence, you have Commands to keep
-Possession thereol, lor his Majesty's own Behoof and Right
•and that you a.-e ready to join, with the Governor of Maryland
upon his Majesty's Interest, in all Occasions; anc" that 'if my"Lord Baltimore doth pretend right thereunto, by his Patent"

•• (Which IS a doubtful Case) you are to say that you only keep
Possession, till his Majesty is informed and satisfved other-

wise. This Piece is not dated, nor signed by any oiie, but is
111 New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 15.

Oct. 1.

Articles of Agreement between Sir Robert Carr. on the Behalf
of his Majesty, and the Burgomasters, on the Behalf of them-
selves, and all the Dutch, and Swedes, inhabiting in DelawareBay and Delaware River. The Burghers and Planters to sub-
mit to his Majesty's Authority, without making any Resistance
to be protected in their Estates, the Magistrates to U^ continued
any Dutchman or other may depart, the Magistrates and all
the Inhabitants to take the Oaths of Alegiance to h-'s Majesty
and of Fidelity to the present Government, the People to en-
joy Liberty of Conscience, and whoever takes the Oaths to be
from that Time a free Denisen. New York Records, No l"
Fol. 16. . • .

Now the English having gained from the Dutch, both their
great Settlement at New York, and their small Settlement at
Delaware Bay and River, we shall have abundant Proof of the
small Settlement being governed, granted out, ruled and or-
dered, by the Duke of York's Governors at New York, in num
berless Instances, as a Part and Appurtenance of that great
Settlement at New York.

Oct. 24.

The King's Commissioners sign a Warrant, dated at New
York, on Manhatans Island, appointing Colonel Nicholls to
repair to Delaware Bay, and there to take special Care for thegood Government of the said Place, and to depute such Officers
therein, as he shall think fit, for the Management of his
Majesty's Affairs, Civil and Military. New York Records, No
1, Fol. 17.
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Oct. -m

(iovernoi* Nioholls signed four Papers, at Fort James in New
Yorlv, on Manhatuns Lslaud, this Day. By tlie tirst he jifave

a Licence to Elizal)etli Cousturier, to transport iierseh and
Goods to Delaware Ba\ , and tliere to trade or trafficli witli the

same. By tlie second, lie certilied that Captain Hyde, of his

Majesty's Ship the (ininea.had delivered a Fhij^tor his Majestys
Service in the Fort of New Yorlv, and another Flag, and Sea

('ompass, to Sir Rol)ert ( arr at Delaware Bay. By the third,

he certified that r'ai)tain Hyde having worn a Jack Flag, at

his Main Toi) Mast head, in those Parts, was, l)y the Advice

and Allowance of the King's Comniissioners. And, Ity the

lourtii, he certified that the said Captain Hyde had spared

two Barrels of Power, and 20 Iron Sliot, which were spent at

the reducing of the Fort at Delaware aforesaid under his

Majesty's ()l»eilience. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 17, IH.

The sa)ue Dap.

The said Commissioners signed an Order, dated at James
Fort in New York, on Manhatans Island, to Captain Hyde.
Commander of his Majesty's Ship the Guinea, to sail directly

for Portsmouth, giving liis Royal Highness Notice of his Ar-

rival. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 18.

1(565. June 12.

Governor Nicholls issues out an Order, dated at Fort James
in New York, wherebj, in Virtue of the King's Grant to the

Duke of York, he revokes the Form and Ceremony of Govern-

ment of that his Majesty's Town of New York, under the Name
of Scout. Burgomasters, and Chepens; and for tlie future Ad-
ministration of Justice l)y tlie Laws established in these the

Territories of his Royal Highness liy Persons to be appointed

Mayor, Aldermen and Sheriffs, according to the Custom of Eng-
land in other his Majesty's Corporations. New York Records,

No. 1, Fol. 19.

Jul]/ 5.

Governor Nicholls, at Fort James in New York, grants a

Licence of Alienation to Jacob Vis, to sell his real Estate, con-

sisting of a House and Garden, at, or near Newcastle in Dela-

ware Bay, to any Person living within this Government. New
York Records, No. 1, Fol. 20.

Nov. 11.

Governor Nicholls, by his Licence, dated at Fort James in

New York, grants Leave to Peter Alricks to trade, or traffick

with the Indians, in and about Hoarekills. in Delaware Bay, for

Skins, Peltry, (;r other Commodities ; the said Alricks making



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 25;]

due Entry with the Officers at Delaware, of the Quantity or

Quality of such Coiuiiiodities as he shall trade for. New York

Records, No. 1, Fol. 20.

The same Day.

Governor Nicholls, by his Pass, dated at Fort James in New-

York, permits the said Alrick, with his Servant and six Horses,

to pass from New York to Delaware, and, from thence, into

Maryland, and so to return about his Occasions. New York

Records, No. 1, Fol. 20.

166G. Mar. 20.

Governor Nicholls, by an Order, under his Hand and Seal,

dated in Fort James at New York, and directed to the Collector

and Receiver General of the Customs at New York, (and it is

there said, that another was sent to Delaware) takes notice of

the Necessity of granting some temporary Privileges for En-

couragement of Trade between the Port of New York and Dela

ware River; and that, the Tenths of all Sorts of Goods. Liquors,

Peltry, &c. , by former Practice and Order, had been collected

and paid, in or at the aforesaid Port and River; now, he orders,

that (until contrary Order shall be published) no Sort of

Goods, Liquors, or Peltry, shall be liable to pay any Custom,

either in this Port, or in Delaware River, provided that due

Entry and Certificate be made and given of all such Goods,

Liquors, or Peltry, which shall be transported to or from this

Port, and Delaware River. New York Records, No 1. Fol. 21.

1607. Jnlfj 21.

A Copy which was reprinted by the King's Printer, and by

his Majesty's special Command, so long ago as 1685, of the

Articles of Peace and Alliance between King Charles the

Second, and the States General, at Breda. By the third Article

whereof. (Fol. 50.) It was agreed. "That both the Parties, and

"either of them, shall keep and possess hereafter, with plenary

"Right of Sovereignty. Propriety, and Possession, all such

"Lands, Islands, Cities Forts. Places and Colonies, (how many
"soever) as, during this War, or in any former Times before

"this War, they have, by Force of Arms, or any other way
"whatsoever, gotten and detained from the other Party: and

"that, altogether after the same manner ns they had gotten, and

"did possess them the 10-20 Day of May lasr past; none of the

"same Places being exempted." Printed Book of Treaties, Fol.

55. 56.

Certificate from the King's Prothonotary in Chancery, that

he cannot find any InroUment of that Treaty, or any Original,

or other Transcript, or Memorial, of it. Paper Certificate.

Note, It is indeed lost, and was never inolled, great En-
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deavours having: been used to find it, at every publick Office,

but in vain, as is proved by Paris.

In lGfi4, the Crown had conquered from the Dutch both their

Settlements, and had, since, possessed the same; but now the

Dutch, as we see, added a Cession of the samr. After which,

we shall find the Instances, of what we are proving, much
stronger, and luore frequent, than before.

Jan. 8.

From the Records in New York. Governor Nicholls's Grant

of Confirmation unto Johan Hendricks, Niels Nielson Sen.

Hendrick Nielson, Mattys Nielson, and Niels Nielson Jun.

their Heirs and Assigns for ever, for a Plantation, to each of

them, at Newcastle, viz. scituate on the Verdrietige Hook, or

Corner of Land, so extending to the Stone Hook, which had

been before granted to them the fifth of March, 16()3, and the

15th of June, 1«64. Five Bushels of Wheat Acknowledgment.

New York Records, No 3, Fol. 3.

77} e same Day.

From the Records in New Y'ork. Governor Nicholls's Grant

of Confirmation unto Captain John Carr, of a Piece of Land
with a Plantation thereon, containing 50 Acres, and another

contiguous Piece of Land and Bowery thereon, containing 100

Acres both scituated at Newcastle upon Delaware, upon the

first Hook or Corner of Land, above the Fort, on the North

East Side thereof, andmentioned to be bounded by three other

Persons Lands, which Lands, &c., had been purchased from the

Owners by Anthony Bryant, and by him since sold for a valuable

Consideration to the said Captain John Carr; and. for a Con-

firmation to him of his Possession and Enjoyment, this Patent

is granted. Two Bushels of Wheat Acknowledgment. New
York Records, No 3, Fol. 3.

1668. Mar. 25.

Now Francis Lovelace Esq; appears to be Governor; but

his Commission does not appear. From the Records in New
York. Francis Lovelace's Gra,nt of Confirmation to Hans
Block, for a piece of Land at Delaware, upon the second Hook,

or Neck, above the Town of Newcastle, and some Meadow Land,

containing together, 120 Acres, bounded by four Neighbours

Lands. The Quit Rent two Bushels. New York Records, No.

3, Fol. 4.

April 21.

From the Records in New York. Regulations and Directions

for the Settlement of the Government in Delaware, dated at

Fort James in New York. It is necessary to hold up the
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name and Countenance of a Grarrison in Delaware, with 20 Men,

and a Commission Officer. Tliat the Soldiers be lodged in the

Fort, and keep the Stockadoes up in Defence. That the Civil

Grovernment lie continued, till further Order, ll any Com-
plaints shall be made of the Civil Magistrates, the Commission

Officer, Captain Carr, is to call to him five I'ersons, therein

named, as a Councill,to determine the same. They also are to

advise him, in all Difficulties with the Indians, and for the

arming the several Plantations and Planters, who must ol)ey

their Orders. Two Thirds of the Soldiers to remain, constantly,

in and about Newcastle. Fines for light Offences to be moderate.

The Commission Officer, Captain Carr, in the Determination

of the chief Civil Affairs, whereunto the fore mentioned Coun-

sellors are ordained, to have Casting Voice. The new appointed

Counsellors; to take the Oath to his Royal Highness. The
Laws of the Government, established by his Royal Highness,

to be frequently curamunicated to the Counsellors and others.

No offensive War to be made, against any Indians, before you

receive Directions from the Governor for so doing. In all Mat-

ters of Difficulty and Importance, You must have Recourse, by

way of Appeal, to the Governor and Council at New York.

New York Records, No 17. Fol. 22.

June 8.

From the Records at New York. A Letter, writ from Gov-

ernor NichoUs and Colonel Lovelace jointly, and dated at Fort

James, directed to Captain Carr. Since our last, relating to

the Indians, who murdered the Servants of Mr. Tom and Peter

Alricks, one Rambo informs us that the Indians, in those Parts,

desire there should be an absolute Prohibition, upon the whole

River, of selling strong Liquors to the Indians: Therefore, you

are to convene those Persons, who are Joined with you in Com-
mission, for the Management of the Civil Affairs; and. with

their Advice, give all necessary Orders for the good Government
of Christians and Indians, and, what you conclude, must be

remitted hither, and shall be confirmed, as if we had been pres-

ent. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 23.

July 7.

From the Records at New York, dated at Fort James in New
York, on Manhatans Island, A Certificate, that, at the taking

of the Fort and Town at Delaware, from the Dutch and reduc-

ing of those Parts under his Majesty's Obedience, all the Goods
and Servants, taken or seized upon in the said Fort or Town,
belonging to the City of Amsterdam, or their Officers, were

confiscated, and made free Plunder, and so disposed of accord-

ingly; and there being several Negroes taken away from Peter
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Alricks, who fell into the Hands of Ensign Arthur Sti ck, he,

afterwarcb. freely restored and bestowed 11 Negroes upon the

said Alricks, as a Gift, which was allowed, and approved of by

nie the Certifier. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 33.

Aug 27.

From the Records at New York. A Certificate, dated at Fort

James in New Y'ork, that Mr. William Tom came over, with
tlie Certifyer, in his Majesty's Service and had ever since been

in Office, and for two Years last past Commissary at Delaware,

and having behaved well, and desired his Discharge, it is hereby

granted to him. New York Records, No 1, Fol. 24.

Nov. 17.

From the Records at New York. An Order, under Hand and
Seal, dated at Fort James in New Y'ork, directed to Captain

John Carr, at Newcastle upon Delaware. Reciting, that Sir

Robert Carr had received a Mare, at Delaware, which he pro-

mised to pay Samuel Edsal for here ; but not having paid the

same, as was also represented to the late Governor, Colonel

NichoUs; therefore, authorising Captain Carr, with the Mag-
istrates in Commission at Delaware, to make Enquiry of the

Value of tlie said Mare, and to cause the same to be paid to

Edsal. out of the Estate in those Parts belonging to the said

Robert Carr. And for so doing this shall he a sufficient War-
rant. New York Records, No 1, Fol. 34.

Bee. 15.

From the Records at New York. An Order, dated in Fort

James there, reciting, that an Agreement had been made, with

Peter Alricks, about Mattinicom, alias Carr's Island, in Dela-

ware River, and all the Stock, Goods, and other Materials

thereon, heretofore, in your Care and Custody ; Therefore, re-

quiring immediately to make a Surrender of the said Island,

and Stock, and Goods, to Alricks, or his Assigns, and return me
a true Inventory, and Account of all the Stock and Goods,

which was delivered you there by Sir Robert Carr. New Y'ork

Records, No 1, Fol. 24.

Mar. 23.

From the Records at New Y'ork. a Confirmatory Licence of

Alienation, there dated, (by Governor Lo 'elace) to confirm a

Licence, granted by the late Governor, Colonel Richard Nich-

oUs, his Predecessor, unto William Beckman. to sell a House,

and Lot of Ground at Delaware. New York Records. No. 3,

Fol. r>.

Mar. 24.

From the Records at New York, a Confirmatorv (rrant, made
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by Governor Lovelace, unto Jurien Jans, for a piece of Lruul at

Delaware, upon Hook, or Neck, above the Town of New-
castle, bounded by one Neif^hbour, and containinj? 46 Acres.

The Quit Rent, one Bushel of Winter Wheat. New York
Records, No. 3, Fol. 5.

16(59. Mar. 25.

From the Records at New York. Governor Lovelace"? Con-
firmatory Grant, to Jacob Vander Weer, of a small Island, at

Delaware, lyin^ beyond Christeen Kill, bounded upon the Main
by two other Neighbours. Quit Rent, two Bushels of Wheat.
New-Y'oik Records, No 8. Fol. 5.

ISame Day.

Governor Lovelace's like Confirmatory Grant, to Gerrit San-
derson of two Pieces of Land at Delaware, bounded by four
Neighbours, named. New-York Records, No 3. Fol. 5.

Mar. 26.

Three more Confirmatory Grants, from Governor Lovelace.

1. To John Sibrantse, of a Piece of Land, at Delaware, near
the Horse Neck, called the Paerd Hook, bounded on one Neigh-
bour. Quit Rent, one Bushel. 2. To Evert Gertson. of a Piece

of Land, at Delaware, viz. in Newcastle, between Otter Street,

and Calves Street, bounded on each Side l)y one Neighbour.
Quit Rent, one Bushel. '). To Paul .Jaques, of 200 Acres of un-
maiiured Land, along Christeen Kill, bounded by two Neigh-
bours. Quit Rent, two Bushels. New-York Records, No 3.

Fol. 6.

April 8.

Two more Confirmatory Grants, from Governor Lo%'elace.

1. To Harman Reyners. of a Lot of Ground, at Newcastle in

Delaware, with a House and Garden thereon. l)ounded by one
Neighbour. Quit Rent, one Bushel. 2. To Neils Lawes, of a
Piece of Land, at Delaware, near Upland, containing 150 Acres,

bounded by one Neighbour. Quit Rent, one Bushel and a-half.

New-York Records, No 3. Fol. 7.

May 28.

(-rovernor Lovelace's Confirmatory Grant, to Olla Towson. of

a Parcel of Land at Delaware, bounded by two Neighbours.

Quit Rent, one Bushel. New-York Records, No 3. Fol. 7.

Same Day.

Two more Confirmatory Grants, from Governor Lovelace. 1.

To Bernard Eken,of a House and Garden, in the Town of New-
castle, bounded ^Vest with the Church Y'ard, and North with
the Mart, (^uit Rent, one Bushel. 2. To Bernard Eken, of a

17— Vol. XV.
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Plantation, at Delaware, near Horse Neck, or Paerd Hook, and

called Laymakers Hook, Quit Rent, one Bushel. New-York

Records, No. 1. Fol. 25.

Jahj 1.

Anotiier Confirmatory Grant, from Governor Lovelace, to

Simon Jansen and Mattys Berkelse, tor .a Parcel of Land, at

Delaware, upon the Craue Hook, bounded by one Neighbour.

New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 25.

July 1.

A General Order, dated at Fort James in New-York, Reciting,

that there was an Order, made at the General Court of Assizes

in 16GG. that all Persons, who had old Patents, should bring

them to be renewed, and those who had none should be sup-

plied therewith by a certain Time; Avhich Order extended itself

to Albany, Esopus. and all other Places of the Government, as

well as this City, and. more particularly, to all those, who
had been under the Dutch, and are now reduced to his Majesty's

Obedience: these Presents declare, that the Inhabitants in and

about Delaware, being under this Government, are likewise

concerned, as well as the rest, so that all Persons there, who

hold their Lands by Patents, or Ground Briefs, of the Dutch

Tenures, are to have their Patents renewed, and those who

have none, are. with all Speed, to be supplyed therewith, other-

wise they are liable to incur, the Penalty of the Law. New
Y'ork Records. No 1. Fol. 25.

July 29.

Two Confirmatory Grants, from Governor Lovelace 1. To

William Tom. of a Piece of Land, below the Town (of Newcastle)

heretofore belonging to Peter Alrick, and another Piece of land

and Meadow. Quit Rent, two Bushels. 2. To William Tom.

of a House and Lot, at Newcastle. Quit Rent, one Bushel.

New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 26.

Aug. 2.

An Order, dated at New York, permitting William Tom to

take up, kill, or mark wild Hogs, in the Woods, at Delaware,

near his Lands. New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 26.

Sa7)ie Day.

Another Order, dated at Fort James in New York, directed

to the Officers at Delaware, reciting, that there is a Swede, at

Delaware, pretending to be Son to Conismark, one of the King

of Sweden's Generals, who raises Sedition, and disturbs the

Peace and Laws of the Government ; and Henry Coleman, one

of the Fins. (Finlanders) leaves his Habitation. Cattle. Jind

Corn, and runs after the other Person; and they converse with
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the Indians; and Mischief being ai)prehended from them you

have, already, according to your Duty, set forth your Warrant
to apprehend hiui, but he caii't be met withal. I therefore

impower you to set forth a Prochimation, in my Name, that

if Coleman does not surrender himself in If) Days, you cause all

his Estate, within this Grovernment, to be seised upon, and
secured to his Majesty's Use; of which you are to render me
an Account, by the first Opportunity. Is'ew-York Records, ^o.

1. Fol. 27.

Same Day.

The f-fovernor's Order, dated at New York, upon William
Tom's Request, that the Finnes, or others, ressiding at. or about
Delaware, may have an Enlargement of their Bounds; they

desiring to take up some Lands at Apoquimini. within the

Government, as an Encouragement to them, the Governor grants

their Request, on Condition a Draught of the Land be taken,

and returned to him, whereupon, those who settle there shall

have Patents. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 27.

Same Day.

The Governor's other Order, dated at New York, upon Wil-

liam Tom's Request, that some Familys from Maryland luay

have liberty to come and settle, upon the Kill, below Apoqui-
mini, within the Government ; to the end the said Place may be

inhabited and manured, it tending likewise to increase the

Inhabitants within these Territories, I grant the said Request,

on condition a Draught be taken of the Land in the said Kill,

and a Return thereof made to me, whereupon those who settle

there shall have Patents for their further Assurance, New
York Records, No 1. Fol. 27.

Same Day.

The Governor's Order, dated at New York, impowering Wil-
liam Tom to collect the Quit Rent, upon all Persons relating

to Delaware, or Delaware River, who have taken out Patents

and hold their Lands under his Majesty's Obedience, and also,

to collect from those who have no Patents, and hold Lands,

there at least proportionable with the rest. For the taking
out of whose Patents there is Notice of another Order. New
York Records. No 1. Fol. 28.

Aiiff. 3 and 6.

Two several Orders, from the Governor, directed to Captain
Carr, and the rest of the Court at Newcastle, one Outhouse's
Goods having been attacht. at the Suit of Teller, in the City of

New Y'^ork. but permitted to be transported to Delaware, on con-

dition to be deposited, till the Debt was paid; but the Court
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having, contrary to the (Tovernor'p Orders, released the Goods,

and given longer time for Payment, the Governour requires

the Court to secure all Charges and Interest out of the Debter's

Estate. Avhich, if they cannot do, the Court themselves are to

make good. New York Records, No 1. Fol. 29.

Sept. 1.

A Grant from Governor Lovelace, unto Charles Floyd and

John Henry, two Soldiers who went over in his Majesty's Ser-

vice, of 20 Acres of Land, behind th3Townof Newcastle. Avhich

had belonged to one Webber under the Dutch Government,

and had been seized upon and confiscated by Order of the late

Governor. (^uit-Rent, 1 Bushel. New York Records, No. 1.

Fol. 30.

Sept. 14.

From the Records of New-York. Minutes of the (Tovernor and

Council, on Receipt of Letters from Captain Carr. that an In-

surrection was very much feared there, the chief Actor being

in hold, and the Depositions of several Persons taken; Ordered

a Letter of Thanks to the Offijers there, for their great ('are.

and that the long Finne. in hold and in Irons, be still kept in

safe Custody, till the Governor, or some other commissioned

from him, shall go over to examine into and try the Matter of

Fact, which is of so heinous and high a Nature: and that all

Persons who have had a hand in the Plot, be boiind over and

enjoyned to give Security to answer their Misdemeanour, and

an Account to be taken of their Estates, in the mean time.

New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 30.

Sept. 15.

Being the next Day, the Governor writes a Letter, from Fort

James in New-York, to Captain (Jarr and the Scout and Com-
missaries at Delaware, thanks "em for their good Service herein

to his Royal Hisrhness, in .'Securing those Men, and promises to

represent that Matter to the Duke. Orders him t<» keep the

long Swede in Irons, till he can have his Trial, which shall be

as speedy, as the (Tovernors Affairs can permit, either by the

Governour's own Presence, or by some of the Council suffi-

ciently authorised to hear and detenuine that Affair. I think

it would not be amiss if. to the simpler Sort of tho.se concerned,

you injoin them to labour sometimes in the Reparation of tlie

works about the Fort. New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 31.

Ort. 18.

Minutes of the Governor and Council of New-York, on con-

sideration of the long Finne's Insurrection at Delaware, it is

ajudged, that he deserves to die for the same; yet in regard
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many others were concerned with him, and, amon^-st them.some
simple I'eople, wlio might be involved in the same, if the Rigor
should be extended, ifs thouglit fit and orderd, that the said
long Finne shall be publickly and severly whipt. and branded
in the Face with R. for attempting Rebellion : After whicli,
that he be secured, till he can l)e sent and sold to the Barba-
dos; That the Chief of his Accomplices do forfeit to the King
half their Cioods and Chattels, and a smaller Fine be set on the
rest

;
which shall be left to the Discretion of the Commissioners

who sliall be appointed to make Enquiry into the same. As
to the Indian, who committed a Rape on a Woman there, that
he be put to Death, according to the Sentence past on him
there. .New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 32.

Next Dull.

Governor Lovelace's Letter to Captain Carr. Approves of the
Sentence of Death which the .said Captain Carr and the Com-
missioners had con.lemned the Indian to ; and. he being escaped
orders them to send to the Sachem, that he may be delivered
up, and Justice executed on him. As to the long Finne, keep
him a little longer, till T send some Commissioners from'hence
to examine into the whole Matter; but I would not have tlie
ordinary People be too much frighted, I have thought fit to ex-
cuse tJiem. l)y a pecuniary Mulct, as they shall appear more
or less guilty. New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 32.

Nov. 22.

The Form of a Commisions, from the Governor of New-York
to several Persons (for whose Names there is a Blank) whereof
Matthias Niccols to be President, to put in Execution the
Regulations, and .\ct of (^ouncil made relating to the long
Finne: Also to call any other Persons that were in hold, before
them, and pronounce sentence against them, according to the
Directions therewith given to the Commissioners; and to ex-
amine all others, suspected to J)e guilty, and impose Fines ac-
cording to their Demerits. New- York Records, No. 1. Fol. 3-3.

Jan. 25.

Minutes of the Governor and Council. The Sentence against
the long Finne being taken into Consideration, ordered, that
two Warrants l)e prepared, the one to Mr. Cousseau to receive
the other to Captain Manning the Sheriff, to deliver the said
Finne, according to the Sentence. Also the Matter about Wil-
liam Douglas taken into Consideration. The Letter from the
\yhorekill read, ordered that, according to their desire, and an
Order of the special Court held at Newcastle, there be an Officer
appointe.l amongst them, to keep the Peace, &c. and a Com-
mission sent to that purpose; And, as Douglas has behaved
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.so ill, at the Whorekill, he shuU be continued in Prison till

further Order, but his Irons to betaken off; but if he can give

Security not to return to the Whorekill, &c. he may be dis-

charged. New- York Records No 1. Fol. 33.

Ja7i. 20 and 2S.

An Entry that the long Finne was, that Day, put on Board
Mr. Cosseau's Ship, to be transported and sold at Barbados,

according to the Sentence of the Court at Delaware: And a

Warrant (to the Captain of the Ship) dated at Fort-James in

New-York, to carry him to Barbados, and sell him there, as

Servants were sold, anil to return the Produce to that Port of

New York. New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 34.

Feb. 25 and 20.

An Entry that William Douglas was, that Day, released from
Prison in the State-house, where he had been committed for

a Misdemeanor at the Hoarkill, and was sent into the North,

having given Bond not to return into this Government; And
the Governor's Letter (to the Magistrates) approving of their

having sent him Prisoner to Delaware, from whence he had
been remitted to New-York, approving what they had done,

and acquainting how he was now sent away. And, to prevent

future Disturbances, the Governor sends a Commission, Im-

powering some of them to suppress them. New-Y"ork Records,

No 1. Fol. 34.

Feb. 28.

A short Entry (which is sworn to be a true Copy of the Re-

cord) that, this Day, there was a Commission, under the Gov-
ernour's Hand and Seal, sent to the Hoarekil!, for certain

Persons, there named, to be Scout and Commissaries, to keep
good Orders there for his Royal Highness, to try all Matters of

Difference under 101. amongst themselves; for what shall be

above, they are to apply themselves to New-York : and so, for

all Criminals. New-York Records No. 1. Fol. 35.

Mar. 15.

An Order of the Governor, renews the former Custom and
Duty of 10 i)er Cent, on all European Goods imported at the

Hoarekill, and 10 per Cent, on all Furrs and Peltry exported

from thence: and appoints Martin Crieger to be Receiver and
(Collector of the Customs at the Hoarekill, to receive those

Duties, according to former Custom and Usage; and all Persons
are to obey this Commission under Penalty of Confiscation of

their Goods. And the said Crieger is to render the Governor a

due and exact Account of the said Duties. New-York Records
No 1. Fol. 35.
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1670, April 13.

The Governor's Letter from IN'ew-York, to Captain Carr, that

he has ^iven Jacobus. Fabritius and his Wife, liis Pass to go

to Newcastle, or any Place in Delaware River, . And recom-

mends to him a Suit that Fabritius's Wife has there, the Gov-

eruour thinking it just that an old Execution, in that Suit,

should be of Force, or renewed. New-York Records, No 1.

Fol. 35.

Mai) 16.

The Governor's Order made at New-York, on the Petition of

Niels Nielson, and the others, concerned in the Patent granted

by Colonel Nicolls, for each of them to have a Plantation, on

Verdrietiges, or Trinity-Hook, at Delaware: they complain

that William Tom, having, by Misreprentation, obtained a

Patent for the said Land, has, by Order of the Court at Dela-

ware, forbid them to cut Hay. or feed the Marsh; which, with-

out Relief, will be much to their Prejudice. Now, the Governour

orders, that the said Petitioners shall enjoy what is granted

in their Patent, any Patent, Grant, or Order of Court, in favour

of William Tom, to the contrary notwithstanding. New-York
Records, No 1. Fol. 36.

Aufj 24.

The Governor's Letter, dated from Fort James, directed to

Captain Carr, on account of a new Murder committed by the

Indians, blaming the Magistrates at Newcastle for their too

much Remissness, in not avenging the last Murder; ordering a

narrow Enquiry into this late Action; to strengthen theujselves

in their Garison; recruit their Men: muster the Burghers: dis-

pose them to their Watches: summon the Commissioners; with

them consult the oest way to discover the Assassins: demand
them, or force the Indians to deliver them up, that they may
be brought to Punishment; and on all occasions, to give the

Governour Advisements of their Proceedings, that He may
apply a timely Assistence, if need require. New York Records,

No 1. Fol. 36.

Ocd. 22.

Minutes of the Governor and Coucil, that the Customs at the

Whorekill should be abolished. New-York Records, No 1.

Fol. 37.

Hame Day.

The Governor's Abolition, under the Seal of New-York, dene

with the Advice of his Council, of the Customs lately laid at

the Whorekills, and this, on the Request of the Inhabitants

there, provided they don't sell too great Quantities of Liquors
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to the Indians, nor prejudice their Neighbours of Newcastle,

upon which Place they are to have their Dependance. New

York Records, No 1. Fol. 37.

Same Day.

A Licence granted to Peter Gronendike. to trade with the

Indians at the Whorekill. New-York Records, No 1. Fol. B7.

Nov. 7.

The Governor's Licence to Peter Alricks, to take up a Pair

of Mill-stones at the Whorjekill, belonging to no Per.son there.

New-York Rcords, No 1. Fol. 37.

Nui\ IC.

The Governor's Letter from New-York to Captain Carr, now

it's Winter, and safe against the Indians Attempts, to disband

some of his Men, contract his Expence.and take them on again

in the Spring, and to let the Governour know if shall want

any Force from New York. New-YorK Records, No 1. Fol. 38.

I'i70. Jan. 9.

The said Governor Colonel Lovelace's Commission, dated at

New- York, appointing James Mills Surveyor of Land at the

Whorekill and Parts adjacent, he behaving according to the

fUistoui and Practice of Surveyors in these his Royal Highness's

Territorys. New York Records, No 1. Fol. 38.

Jan. 12.

The Governor's Licence, dated at New-York, to William Mills,

to purchase a Piece of Land for a Plantation, to the South-

ward of the Town at the Whorekill, but the Extent and guality

thereof is to be certifyed tome, whereupon he shall have further

Assurance by Patent. New-York Records.No 1. Fol. 38.

Feb. 24.

Minutes of the Governor and Council at Fort James, on the

Result of the AfTair with the Indians, which Affair is respited

till Capt. ('arr"s Arrival; and a Letter, to that effect, writ by

(iovernor Lovelace to the Inhabitants of Delaware. New-York

Records, No 1. Fol. 39.

Mar. 17.

li! tactions given, by Governor Lovelace, to Capt. Crieger.

who was bound to the Whorekills, viz. To bring the Governor

an Account of the Encrease or Decrease of the Inhabitants

there, whether any new Families are resolved to settle here under

the Protection of his Royal Highness, and to give the Governor

an Account what the Civil Officers are. whether the scout is

to be altered this year, the Person to succeed him is to l)e i-ec-

commeuded to the Governor, who will authorize him for two
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Years, to enquire about the Indians who murdered John de

("aper's People, and let the (iovernor know under whose
Jurisdiction they live, to brinf? the Milstones with him, to re-

move the Customs, and restore them to their ancient Liberty.

New-York Records No 1. Fol. 39.

IHTl. Apr. 15.

Minutes of the Ciovernour and Council of New York. Dela-

ware Business taken into Consideration (Cai)t. fJarr beinji-

present) about the Murder coiumitted by the Indians, about

selling strong Drink to the Indians. About the Murderers,

tliey are known, but, for the present, not thought convenient

to prosceute to the utmost. Capt. Carr relates of the Desiiv

of many Familys to come and settle below Newcastle, at Apo-
quimini and Bombey's Hook, to be considered of; a Letter is

ordered to be written to treat with some of them about their

Settlement. New- York Records, No 1. Fol. 39.

Apr. 25.

A special Writ, dated at Fort James in New York, in an
Action of Debt, brought by Peter Jego against Cornelius Joris

now residing at Newcastle in Delaware, commanding the said

Joris to appear at the General Court of Assize to be held in the

City of New-Y'ork the Oth of October next to answer the Com-
plaint of the said PlaintifT in an Action of Debt. This Writ
is directed to any of the Officers at Delaware, or in Delaware
River, who are to see this special Warrant served, and to make
Return thereof to the Court above luentioned, and also to cause

any Attachment, laid upon the Goods of the Plaintiff by the

Defendant, to be rebact, until the Trial at the Assizes. New-

York Records, No 1. Fol. 40.

JUay 1.

From the Records in Newcastle County, Governor Lovelace's

Grant, at full Length, which he makes, as Governor (ieneral

under the Duke of York, unto Herman Rayner.-^ in Fee, of a

Lott of Land at Newcastle in Delaware River, bounded by the

Mart, and by Beaver Street, and by two Tenants. Newcastle
Records, No 11. Fol. 4.

Mai/ 18.

From the New-York Records, Minutes of the Governor and
Council. Capt. Crieger's Business about the Whorekill. The
Purchase of the AVhorekill, by the Dutch, to be recorded. An
Exmination made at the Whorekill by Capt Crieger, and the

Answer upon it, together with three Papers brought V)y Capt.

Carr concerning it. The other Matters from the Whorekill well

approved of. New-York Records, No 1. Fol. 40.
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.//me 14

Minutes of the Grovernor and Council at New-York. The

Business under Consideration are the Matters at Newcastle and

the Whorekiil. About Newcastle it was ordered that no Per-

son in Delaware be i)ernntted to distill there, but such as give

in their Names to the Ofticers at Newcastle, and from them to

receive Licences, and that they pay one Guilder i)er Cann for

all they shall distill,- which shall go towards the Reparation

of the New Block-house and Fort. About the Whorekiil it is

ordered, that what is past, and granted there, shall be con-

firmed, upon the same Conditions as the rest of the Land; with

this Proviso, that each Planter be obliged to settle upon the

Land, and that each Person be injoyned to settle a House in a

Town to be appointed near them. New-York Records, No 1.

Fol. 40.

{June 14.)

The next Paper is some written Proposals, tendered to the

Consideration of the Governor and Council, touching the Town
of Newcastle and Plantations in Delaware River, now under his

Royal Highness's Protection and Government. (Note, this is the

Paper which the Governour and Council had, that Day, under

their Consideration (The Town of Newcastle, Vjeing the Strength

of the River, it's left to Consideration whether they should

not have more than ordinary Encouragment. 1. That a Block

house may be erected, and a constant watch may be kept now

the Fort is fallen to ruin. 2. That no vessel from this, or any

other Place to trade, be permitted to go up the River above

the town, for it will ruin the Place, all Trade deserting them. 4.

That the distilling of strong Liquors, which consumes Grain

and debauches the Inhabitants, be prohibited. 5. That the

Number of Victuallers be restrained, to such as the Officers

shall approve of, and may be licensed. 0. That Constables may
be appointed who shall have Staves with the King's Arms,

as is practised in the rest of his Royal Highness's Dounnions.

7. To have the King'^ Arms in their Courts of Justice. 8. That

what Lands the Officers there have granted, (which they had

Encouragement to do l)y the Governor's Predecessor, and never

had Order to the contrary) may be confirmed. 9. That several

Orders, past about the Time of the Trial of long Finn as

well about public Charges, as the Whorekiil having Officiers

subordinate to those of Newcastle, as for clearing Highways,

maintaining Fences, and other Matters, relating to the Well-

Government of that Place, be reinforced, by the Governor's

Approbation. 10. That whereas their Neighbours of Maryland

have made offer to clear one Half of the Way. between Auerustine
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Harman's Plantation and tlie Town of Newcastle, an Order

may be issued that those of Delaware should clear the other

Half next to them. 11. That a Person be appointeti and sworn
at Newcastle, Corn-nieeter, to see tliat it be sent abroad clean,

and to view their Beef and Pork, that it be well packt and mer-

chantable. 12. That a Mill, up Delawai-e River, at the Car-

coons Hook, heretofore belonging to the Publick, but now en-

deavour'd to be engross'd by private Persons, may be taken

into his Highness's Hands, for the publick Good to the In-

habitants. Tills is New York Rceords, No 1. Fol. 41.

Ju/ie 14.

Minutes of the Governor and Council of New- York, in Answer
to the Proposals, delivered in by Capt.John Carr, theGovernoi-

and Council do give their Resolutions upon each one of them,

in general, agreeing to what was proposed for the most part

;

and some former Grants of Lands made by the Officers at New-
castle, were confirmed ; but, for the future, it's expected, before

any Grant be absolutely made there by the Officers, that the

Desires of Persons to have Lands, and the Quantity thereof, bo

first transmitted to the Governor at New-York, who, as hi'

shall see Cause, will order the Surveyor to make a Survey,

which being certified, they may have Patents of Confirmation

for the same; and the Officers are to acquaint Persons, who
apply to them for Lands, with this Order. Lastly, As to the

Tenure of the Land at Delaware, it's to be held in free and com-
mon Soccage, as his Royal Highness by his Majesty's Patent

liolds all his Territorvs in America, that is to say, according

to the Custom of the Manor of East-Greenwich, only, with
this Proviso, that they likewise pay the Quit-Rents, reserved

in their Several Patents, as an Acknowledgment to his Royal
Highness. New-Y'ork Records, No 1. Fol. 42.

June 17.

Governor Lovelace's Commission, dated at New-Y'ork, ap-

pointing Walter Wharton to be Surveyor-General of Lands on
the Western Side of Delaware River, now under his Royal

Highness's Government and Protection. He observing such

Orders as he shall receive from the Governour. New-Y'ork

Records, No 1. Fol. 43.

June 21.

Minutes of the Governor and Council of New-York. The first

Matter and Consideration is the Business of Delaware about
granting Patents there. Capt. Carr declares, that Governor
Nicolls gave the Officers Order to make Grants of Land to those

that would plant there, which being remitted to the Governor,

lie was pleased to give Patents for them. The signing' of Patent.>-
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for those Parts concluded on. An Order, also, relating the

(irant to Mr. Mills, the which is to extend only to the Whore-

kill Lands, tho' mentioned Parts adjacent, on the South side

of the Whorekills. New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 4:3.

^ept.25.

Minutes of the Governor and Council of New York, upon a

Letter sent from Mr. Toms, and upon the Examination of

Peter Alricks. about a new murder of two Dutchmen, killed by

some Indians at Mattiniconk in Delaware River. New York

Records, No. 1, Fol. 44.

Note.

For the better understanding of what follows, it is neces-

sary to inform you, (tho' it is not in Proof on our side)

that, before this Time, the Duke of York had conveyed

away New Jersey (a Tract lying between New York and

what is now Pensilvania) unto the Lords Proprietors of

New Jersey.

Sept. 25.

Resolves, at a (Council held at New York by the (Tovernor of

these his Royal Highnass's Territories, and the Governor of

New Jersey, upon Consideration about the said Murther, not

to prosecute this Affair about the Indians without mutual Con-

sent ; and that the Governor of New Jersey call an Assembly

in his Province, to know how far that Province will assist in

case of a War. New York Records, No. 1 Fol. 45.

Sept. 26.

Governor Lovelace's Letter, directed to Mr. Tom at Delaware;

Blames him that his, the (Governor's, Directions had not been

vigorously followed on the last sad Accident, which might

have prevented this. Think, immediately, how a War may be

prosecuted on these Villanies. In the mean Time I think it

requisite that all the Frontier scattering Plantations, be order'd

immediately to thrash out, or remove, all their Corn, as like-

wise their Cattle, that they may receive less Damage by the

Effects of the War which will ensue. Next, that none, on pain

of Death, presume to sell any powder, Shot, or strong Waters

to the Indians. In the mean time carry it fair to the Indians

that they may have the less Mistrust of our Designs. Tells

him also that the Governor of New Jersey is acquainted with

the Affair, and is very zealous therein, and we may depend on

Supply and Assistance from him. If a good Work were thrown

about Mattiniconk House, and that strengthened with a Con-

siderable Guard, it would be an admirable Frontier. New
York Records, No 1. Fol. 46.
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Sept. 28.

Grovernor Lovelace's Letter from New York to Captain Carr;

You being ill, I directed my Letter to Mr. Tom, but sends Cap-

tain Carr a Duplicate of it, that he may eruide himself by

those Rules which the Governor then prescribed. As the Gov-

ernour and Council, at this Distance, cannot give punctual

Directions, we must therefore reserve that to your prudent

Managerv, wherein 1 would have you, always, take delibenite

Advice, from the Commissaries, before you put any thing in

practice, and be sure, on all Occasions to advertise me of your

Motions. New York Records, No 1. Fol. 47.

Sept. 29.

Governour Lovelace's Pass dated in New York, to permit the

Sloop Royal Oak, Thomas Lewis Master, to pass out of the

Port of New York to Newcastle in Delaware Bay, and, at this

particular Juncture of time, from thence, to go up the River,

to trade and traflBck as the Masters occasion shall require.

New York Records, No 1. Fol. 47.

Noi;. 7.

Minutes of a Joint Meeting .of Governors and Councils (in

East New Jersey) by the Governor of his Royal Highness's

Territories, and the Governor under the Lords Proprietors of

East New Jersey, deferring the Warr, at that Time, and con-

taining several other Directions. New York Records, No 1.

Fol. 48.

Nov. 9.

Governor Lovelace's Commission, dated at New York, and

under the Seal of that Province, issued by the Advice of his

Council, appointing the present Officers and Magistrates in

Newcastle and Delaware River, or any 4 of them, to l)e a special

(^ourt of Oyer and Terminer, to try and pass Sentence and exe-

cute it on the Murtherers, if taken. New York Records, No 1.

Fol. 49.

Same Day.

Governor Lovelace's Order, reciting the pass which he had

granted to Thomas Lewis (the 29th of September) to trade, at

this particular Time, notwithstanding any (General Order here-

tofore made t'j the contrary; but the said Lewis being now in

the said River with his Sloop, where he is stopt by Order from

the OflBcers there; 1 order the said Stop to be taken ofT. New
York Record.s, No 1. Fol. 49.

Nov. 10.

A severe Letter from Governor Lovelace's at New York, to

Capt. Carr at Delaware, Complains of the Backwardness of the
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Inhabitants of Delaware, to l.rint; the Murtherers to condign

Punishment. Then as to Captain Curr, says the Governor, for

you to receive the Duke's pay constantly, and the Appearance

of Soldiers, and to let the Fort run so to decay, and not em-

ploy them in the Reparations, is but just a perfect Rent charge

to the Duke; for it is not reasonable he should l)e at that Ex-

pence, only to allow you a Sallary and Soldiers; besides the

Inhabitants are not so much digested into any military Form,

nor half of them armed, tho' you have had, annually, a Moni-

tors by the Murthers committed by the Indians, &c. New York

Record 5, No 1. Fol. 51.

Noc. 2A.

Governor Lovelace's Warrant, or Order to all Persons in this

Government, to assist a publick Messenger going down to New-

castle, or back again to New York. New York Records, No 1.

Fol. 52.

Decemb. 15.

Mr. William Tom of Delaware, his Letter to the Governor,

acquainting him, that the Indians have killed and brought in

one of the two Murtherers. and we design to hang him in Chains

and the Indians promise to bring in the other.. New Y'ork

Records, No 1. Fol. 52.

Dec. 22.

Governor Lovelace's Answer to Mr. Tom, approves of their

hanging the Indian's Body in Chains; and if the Indians bring

ill the other Murtherer alive, let him suffer in the most exem-

plary way that may be, leaving the Manner and Place to your

self. Bids him now, while the thing is fresh, enquire after

the former Murtherers. New York Records, No 1. Fol. 58.

Jan. 13.

Governor Lovelace's Order dated at New York, Recites that

there had been, lately,. an Order of Prohibition made, that no

Corn should be exported out of Newcastle or any Part of Dela-

ware River ; since which, the occasion thereof,, which was the ex-

pected War with the Indians being removed, and the Inhabi-

tants there having Grain sutiicient for themselves, and also

to supply their Neighbors, therefore, requires all Persons to

permit Captain Crieger to pass out of the Port of New Y'ork

with his Ship, to Newcastle, there to take in Corn, or any

other Produce of the Country. New York Records, No 1.

Fol. 53.

iSame I)a(j.

The Governor's Licence to Susanna Garland to Trade to Dela-

ware. New York Records, No 1. Fol. 53,
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Jan. 1*^.

Governor Lovelace's Order or Brief, dated at New York, and
{^ranted to Martin Hoofiuan. a Lutheran Minister: requiring
the Officers in Delaware not to hinder or molest him in collect-

ing the Benevolence of the Lutherans in the South River at

Delaware and those Parts, towards Ijuilding a House in New-

York, for their Church or People to meet in. New York Re-
cords, No. 1. Fol. 54.

Ju}i. 1'"..

The (rovernor's Release to Matthias Nicolls, the Secretary,

dated at New York, of any Damage for not having, in due
time, made any Settlement upon a distant Parcel of Land which
had been patented to him in Delaware, on the West side of

the River near the Falls, known by the Indian Name of Chiep-
iessing. Provided that some Settlement be now made within
3 Years to come. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 54.

Feb. (i.

The Governor's Pass to permit Helletla, Wife of Laurence
Hoist, to go in Captain Crieger's Sloop, to Newcastle in Dela-

ware, from thence, to go, up the River, to the Swedes Planta-

tions, with Shoes, &c. of her Husband's Trade. New York
Records, No. 1. Fol. 55.

Feb. 20.

From the Records of Newcastle County, Governor Love-

lace's Grant, at full length, dated at New, York, and granted

by him as he was Governor General under the Duke of York,
of all the Duke's Territories in America. Reciting a Grant
which had been made by the Officers at Delaware unto RelofT

Anderson, of 200 Acres of Land, on the West side of Delaware
River, and on the North West side of Apoquiminick Creek,

bounded by Drawer^ Creek, and by sundry Neighbours there

named; Now the .said Governor, by Vertue of the Duke's Com-
mission to him, ratifies, confirms and grants the Premisses to

the said Anderson in Fee, reserving to the Duke the Rent of

2 Bushels of Wheat. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 5.

1«71. Feb. 26.

Governor Lovelace's five several like Grants, entered at full

length, all dated in New York, and granted by Virtue of the

Duke's Commission to him, of several Parcells of Land, before

granted by the Officers at Delaware. 1. To Jacol) Plana. 18B

Acres, on the West side of Delaware River, and on the North

-

West side of Apoquinimick Creek, reserving a Quit-Rent to

the Duke of a Bushel and I of Wheat. 2. To Garrett Otto, 180

Acres, at the like Place, reserving Quit- Rent 1 Bushel. 3. To
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Hans Hanson. 100 Acres at the like Place reserving Quit-Rents

2 Bushels. 4. To John Aronson and Jacob Anderson, 157 Acres,

reserving Quit-Rents to 1 Bushel and L And r,. To Abraham

Coffin 400 Acres. Reserving Quit-Rent 4 Bushels. Newcastle Re-

cords. No. 11. Fol. i\ 7, 8, 9, 10.

Mar. 12.
^^ ^. ,

G-overnor Lovelace signs Instructions, at New-York, to one

Mr. Garland, to make Preparation for the Governor's Voyage

to Delaware; namely, to go before, with a Party of Horse, near

to Mattiniconk Island in Delaware River, &c. and then to

Captain Carr, and the Commissarys, to get Provisions, Boats.

&c. and to meet the Governor at such a Place. New \ork

Records, No. 1. Fol. 50.

Mar. IH. _, ^ ,

Governor Lovelace's Instructions, directed to Thomas Dela-

wall and Cornelius Steynwick, two of my Council, to the Duke

of York in these his Territories of America. They are to the

following Purport; Tells them (amongst other things) that

they are "not unacquainted with the Design of this his Resolu-

tion, of visiting those more remote Parts of the Duke's Terri-

tories at Delaware, where he hopes to settle all publick Affairs

there, as may free him from the further Trouble of a sudden re-

visit of them'. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 55.

in this Year a very large Folio Work (of several Tomes) was

printed in London, being done and printed by John Ogilby

E.sq; his Majesty" s Cosmographer. Geographick Printer, &c.

called Ogilbv's Atlas, adorn'd with Maps and Sculptures:

In the sc^eond Tome of which, being Ogilby's America, at

Fol. 168. he gives an Account (very shortly) of the New Nether-

lands, then"^ called New York, which comes iii) very nearly

to the Account which the foregoing Records give. But what

we principallv relv on in that Book is, several Maps, wliich

he therein published in 1G71, viz. at Fol. n»2. he gives a

Map of Virginia, which is (tho' with other Names additionally

inserted th'en) an exact Copy of Captain Smith's Map. At

Fol. 182. he gives a Map of Maryland, with the Arms of the

Lord Baltimore, being agreeable to that which had been printed

bv the Lord Baltimore in 16;?5, save, that he makes the dotted

partition,and the 40th Degree compleat. to be, then. about 7 Miles

above the Head of Chesopeak Bay, whereas in l(i:?5. Lord Bal-

timore had made that dotted Line and 40th Degree to touch the

Head of Ches<>i)pak Bay. And at Fol. 108. he gives a third Map,

with this Title. Nov! Belu'ii quod nunc Nov! Jorck vocatur,
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Novaeque, Anglise,& partis Virginia', accuratissiiiia & novissima

Delineatio; in which last mentioned Map lie, again, nine Years

before ever the PlaintifT's Father had any tiling in the World
to do with America, lays down, separately ami distinctly, Cape
Cornelius and Cape Hinlopen, as two sei)arate and distinct

Capes and Cape Hinlopen at a large Distance tSouth of Cape
Cornelius, (exactly as it was laid down in the Maps made use

of by all the Parties of this Cause in concluding the Articles of

Agreement which are now in Question.) And this is so well

a known Work, that it tlie Defendant had ever looked into it

(us he must have done) he could not have fiincied any thing of

the pretended imposition, as he would now complain of, having
been committed in 1732: whereas the old Dutch Map of lG6;i,

(at the latest, but most likely many Years older) ami thi.>^ Eng-
lish Map printed in this great Work in London, in I'iTl, both

contain the two several Capes as before mentioned. This Book
of Ogilby's is spoke- to by Paris and other Witnesses, and the

Reference to it is, Ogilby's Atlas. To, 2. in large Folio; and
at Fol. 192, 182, and 168 therein.

Mar. 17.

An Order of the King and Council, that the Secretary of

State should publish his Majesty s Declaration against the

States General, and the said Declaration (which is a Declaration

of War against them both bv Sea and Land, i These are proved
from the Council Register by Dickenson, and make the Exhibit

Co. Off. No. 3.

1672. Apr. 8.

Grovernor Lovelace's Grant, by Vertue of the Duke's Commis-
sion to him, dated at Newcastle in Delaware River, Reciting

that the Dutch Governor, Peter Stuyvesant, did on 27 Sept.

1655, grant to Isaac Tyne, a Lot and House, at Newcastle, and
Tyne having on 17 and 20 Octob. 1662, purchased two other

Lots, all contiguous to each other, the said Governor ratifies,

confirms and grants the same unto the said Tyne, in Fee. Re-

serving the Quit-Rent of a Bushel of Wheat to the Duke.
Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 11.

May 6.

The Governor's Order, dated at New-York ; Whereas the

Time is expired for the Officers holding their Places of Scout
and Commissarys at the Whorekill; the Inhabitants there are

hereby inipowered to make a New Election, upon the return

of whose Names to me, they shall have such further Con-
firmation as shall be requisite. New York, No. 1. Fol. 35.

18— Vol. XV.
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May 17.

Minutes of tbe G-overnor and Council at New-York. 1. About

the Town of Newcastle's being a Corporation, it's allowed of,

and that it be a Bayliwick, and governed by a Bayly and 6

Assistants; after the first Year, 4 old ones to go out, and 4

other to be chosen in their Places. The Bayly to be President,

and have a double Vote. A Constable, to be chosen by the

Bench. To try Causes, as far as 10/. without Appeal. 2. As to

the English Laws, according to their Desire, to be established

in that Town and River. The Office of Scout to be converted

into a Sheriff, for the Corporation and River, and that he be

annually chosen. 3. As to the 3d, to have free Trade, without

being obliged to luake entry here, that the Determination

thereof be suspended, until advice be sent about it out of Eng-

land, or other Consideration had thereof. New-York Records.

No. 1. Fol. 56.

June 10.

Minutes of the Governor and Council at Fort James; As to

the Matter about Captain Carr, and Delaware, the Orders made,

last Council, about the Town and River, to be alloAved and

sent. The Continuance of the Garrison in pay, taken into

Consideration, whether there is any Occasion for them any

longer or no? That they continue, as they are. till further

Order. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 57.

J%ily 1.

Minutes of the Governor and Council of Fort James; The
Busine^s of the Whorekill, about ,a Disturbance there from

Maryland. Mr. Fletcher makes good what he writ against

Daniel Browne, for his abusive Language against the Duke's

Interest, and it is attested by the Commissarys and others

from thence; Ordered, that Daniel Browne shall enter into a

Recognizance of 20/. for good Behaviour, &c. which Order re

cites, that Daniel Browne, a Planter at the Whorekill in Dela-

ware Bay. was eommitte<l and sent a Prisoner hither (New
York) by the Magistrates there, for contemning the Authority

of their Court held V)y Approbation of the Governor, under the

Protection of his Royal Highness, together with several other

abuses; but he having acknowledged his Fault, and begging

Pardon, and that Confinement Avould ruin his Affairs; ordered

a Letter of Thanks be sent, to the Magistrates at the AVhore-

kill, and that Browne be released, he entering into a Recog-

nizance, before his Departure, in 20/. to keep the Peace, which
if he break, he is to be again seized- upon, and sent Prisoner to

this Place, there to receive Punishment; and he is likewise, at

his Return to jicknowledire his Faiilt. and ask oardon of the
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Magistrates at the Whorekill. As to the Request from tlie

Whorekill, that they may lay an Imposition on strong Liquors
sold there, it is allowed of and consented to; and the Magis-

trates there, have, hereby. Power to lery and receive the Value
of four Guilders, in Wampum, upon each Anchor; this to

continue for one Year only, till the Conveniency or Inconven-

iency shall better appear. New York Rceords, No. 1. Fol. 57.

Aug. 1.

The Grovernor's Order at Fort James in New York. Upon
the Return of a double Number, from the Inhabitants at the

Whorekill in Delaware Bay, for Scout and (Jommissarys, I ap
prove of such and such for Scout and Commissarys. for one
Years, after which they are to make a new Return. New York
Records, No. 1. Fol. 5.

Aug. 2.

The Grovernor's Commission dated at Fort .James in New
Y'ork, appointing Peter Alricks, one of the two Persons re-

turn'd to him, to be BaylifT and principal Civil Magistrate of

the Corporation of Newcastle in Delaware for the ensuing Year,

And he is, in all things, to be regulated by the Laws of this

Government, and such Instructions as have been given him by
me and my Council. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. .jS.

iS'ame Day.

The said Governor Lovelace's Commission dated at Fort James
in New York, appointing Captain Edmund Cantwell, one of

the two Persons return'd to him, to be High Sheriff in New-
castle and Delaware River, for the Year ensuing. New York
Records, No. 1. Fol. 5.

Avg. 7.

Governor Lovelace's Commission to Captain Edmund Cant-
well, dated in New York, appointing him to enquire after, and
make seisure at Newcastle, and on the West side of Delaware,
of all stray Horses, neat Cattle, or Swine, unmarked, and hav-
ing no certain Owner; and to dispose of them for his Royal
Highness's use, and render to the Governor an Account thereof.

New Y'ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 59.

Same Day.

Governor Lovelace's Commission, to the said Captain Cant-
well, dated in New Y'ork, authorising him to demand, levy

and receive all Arrears of Quit-Rent, due from any the Inhabi-
tants of New-Castle and Delaware River, according to the Re-
servation in their particular Patents, of which he is to have an
authentick List out of the Records. New York Records, No. 1.

Fol. 59.



276 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

Aug. 8.

From the Records in New Y'ork ; An Order reciting that

Complaint has been made to me (the Governor) by J;in Corne-

lius and two others. Inhabitants at Amsland in Delaware River,

that after liaving quietly possessed a Meadow, upon the Island

over against Calcoone Hook, Israel Helme, by Misrepresenta-

tion, obtained a Patent for the same, having nt^ver Possession

or Pretence thereto before: so that the said Inhabitants are

dispossessed, to the Ruin of their Plantatioiis without Relief;

I authorize and impower the Court at Ujiland, with the As-

sistance of one or two of the high Court, to examine into the

Matter, and make Report of the Truth thereof to me. that 1

may make some Order tliereupon, according to Equity and good
Conscience. New York Records. No. ]. Fol. 59.

Aug. 12.

Letter from Governor Lovelace, dated in New York, directed

to Philip Calvert Esq; Governour of Maryland, complaining
of some horrid Outrages, committed upon his Majesty's Sub-

jects under the Protection of the Duke's Authority, as were
exercised by one Jones, who with u dissolute Party, took the

Pains to ride to the Whorekill. where, in Derision and Con-
tempt of the Duke's Authority, l)ound the Magistrates and
Itihabitants. rifled and j)lundered them of their Goods; and
when his i\uthority was demanded, answered only by a coek'd

Pistol to the Person's Breast; telling him, that his Highness
will not be satisfied with these violent Proceedings, the Indig-

nity whereof rebounds on him; and it would be as easy for

Governor Lovelace to retaliate the same Aft'ront on Jones, and
his Accomplices, but that he fir.st chuses a moi-e calm Redress

from Mr. Calvert, to whom he noAv appeals, expecting the Cas-

tigation of Jones, cum Sociis; otherwise, he must take other

Remedies as the Exigence of this Indignity shall perswade him
to. New York Records, No. Fol. GO.

It seems by wha+ follows by and by, that no Reparation was
made by Governor Calvert, but a farther injury afterwards

committed.

Same Day.

The Governor's Order to Captain Edmund Cantwell, High
Sheriff of Newcastle and Delaware, to cause some Land to be
seated and cleared, by a Tenent or otherwise, on the West side

of Delaware River, which had been formely granted unto Rich-
ard (-rorsuch. and since by him assigned to the Governor. New
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 60.

Aug 13.

The Governor's Order at New York, made at the Request of
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Jeuffro Armegart Prince, living in Delaware River, excusing

her Man Servant Irom ordinary Trainings in the Company in

which he was inlisted ; and also giving her Licence to still some

Liquors lor her own Use, and her Servants and Labourers in

Husbandry. The Last to continue one Year. New York

Records, No. 1. Fol. 60.

ISept. 5

From New York Records, Order to Captain Carr, upon the

(,'omplaint of Robert Williams, that John Ogle, one of the

Soldiers at Newcastle, is indebted to him about 10/. requiring

the Officers there to examine into the Matter, and if it be as

alledged, to give Orders for the Payment, or securing the Debt

from Ogle for the Creditor. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 60.

Ttie same Day.

The Governor's Order to one Bedloo, to pay some Persons

their Boat Hire, for carrying, and bringing Ijack the Troopers

Horses, in the Expedition to Delaware. New York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 61.

Se-pt. 28.

New^ York Records, a Permit to Christopher Hoogland, to

go to Newcastle at Delaware, and from thence up the River, to

receive or secure his Debts; any Order to the contrary not-

withstanding. New Y'ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 61.

Oct. 1.

Grant from Governor Lovelace, dated in New York, unto
Hubert Hendrickson, in Fee, of three Lots of Land in Newcastle,

reserving two Bushels Quit Rent to the Duke. Newcastle Re-

cords, No. 11. Fol. 12.

Oct. 7.

Governor Lovelace's Letter, dated from New York, to Cap-
tain Carr, owning the Receipt of his Relation and Papers about
the Whorekill, and the Marylanders forcibly possessing them-
selves of the Place, as also of the Goods and Estates of some of

the Inhabitants. I heard, but did not give Credit to it before,

supposing it the rash Action of some private Person; not
thinking the Authority of Maryland would invade the Duke's
Territories, which he hath been possessed of for near eight

Years: Their former violent Action, and Force, unon those

l)Oor, unarm'd People, together with the Particulars of their

Plunder. I immediately sent to the Duke, and may expect Di-

rections in a short Time, till then, it is best, for the present

to leave Matters as they are. As to the Cloud, which likewise

hangs over your Heads at Delaware, which, it is .said, they are

making Preparations to-invade, my Orders are, put yourselves
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in the best Posture of Defence, fit up the Fort, keep your Com
panies in Arms, both there and up the River, in the Town, es-

pecially, make your Guard as strong as you can, and keep a

strict Watch. If any Enemy comes to demand the Place, first

desire to know their AutJiority and Commission, and how
those of Maryland should, now, make such an Invasion, after

so Ions, quiet Possession of those Parts, by the Duke's Depu-

ties, under his Majesty's Obedience, and by other Nations before

that, several Years, before the Date of Lord Baltimore's Patent,

whom they never disturbed by Arms, and whose Right is now
devolved upon the Duke. Stand well on your Guard, and don't

begin; but if they fire, or commit any hostile Action, then, use all

possible Means of Defence. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. GL

So that it appears hereby, that this was the Time when the

Marylanders, by Force, posses.sed themselves of the Whorekills,

but they not keep Possession of it, as you'll presently find.

Dtc. lU.

From New York Records, A Warrant directed to the Sheriff

of that City, to take into his Custody the Body of W^illiam

Douglas, brought thither a Prisoner from Newcastle in Dela-

ware, he having been formely banished out of this Government

for great Misdemeanors, and to keep him without Bail or main
prize, till further Order. New York Records. No. 1. Fol. 62.

Jan. 27.

Minutes of the Governor and Council at New York, upon re-

presenting to them the Inconvenience of debarring Vessels of

this Place from going up the River above Newcastle, as also

the Distaste taken, that some have had Licences so to do, while

others are restrained. It is ordered, that the Prohibition thereof

be taken away, and all Sloops may go up that River, taking a

Certificate from the Governor of his going from hence ; but no
other Vessel shall have that Liberty, but such as sail from this

Place thither directly. Upon a Letter from Mr. Wharton, and

Captain Cantwell, and a Proposal for the Reducement of the

Whorekill. by the Officers from Delaware, the Consideration

thereof suspended for a short Time. On the Letter with which

William Douglas was sent from Delaware, it is ordered, in

regard of the Trouble he has given the Country, that he be

sent, by WMlliam Shackerly, to Barbadoes, there to be sold,

to make Satisfaction towards the Cliarges he has occasioned.

New York Records, No. 1. F..1. fi2.

1072. Feb. 20.

The Governor's Order, dated at New York, Recites, that

Jeuffro Armegart Prince obtained a Judgment on Verdict of a

Jury, at the last General Court of Assize, against Andrew Carr,
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and his Wife, for ciOOO Guilders, or ;iUO/. sterling, the Deteruiina-
lion whereof being referred to the majorPart of tlie Bench, they
made a Report, that 501. should be allowed for Interest, leaving
the other Charges and Costs to the Determination of the Law.
Upon due Consideration had thereupon, the (jovernor comlirms
and approves of the Judgment for the 3U01. and 501. for In-
terest, together with 51. more, towards the PlaintilT's Charges,
and the usual Costs of Court, all which is to be levied upon
the Estates and Goods of the Defendants in Delaware River, or
elsewhere, within the Government : To which End the Gov-
ernor appoints four Persons to be Commissiont^rs to iippraise,
and set a Value upon the Island of Titticum in Delaware' liiver,
not long since in the Tenure of the Defendants, as also all other
Goods or Estate belonging to them, to make Payment to the
Plaintiff. New York Rl'-ohIs, No. 1. Fol. U2.

Tlie same Day.
The Governor at New York signs an Execution, directed to

the Sheriff of Newcastle, in Delaware River, against the said
defendants, for the aforesaid debt, &c. New York Records, No
1. Fol. 63.

March 10.

A Pass for John Schouten, to go, with his Sloop, to Newcastle
in Delaware River, or Parts adjacent, and to return again with
his Loading hither. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. (>3.

The same Bay.
A Licence to John Garland, to trade or traffick with the In-

dians, or others, at the Whorekill, or any other Parts at Dela-
ware, in any Goods not prohibited, and likewise to go up the
River above Newcastle, in any Vessel belonging to this Place, ac-
cording to the Toleration granted by me in Council. 27 January
last. And all Officers and Magistrates at Delaware are required
not to hinder him, any former Orders to the contrary notwith-
standing. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. G3.

1673. Apr. 7.

Two several Grants at full Length, from Governor Lovelace,
as the Duke's Governor, both dated in New York. 1. To
Mathias de Ring and Emilius de Ring of a House and Lot of
Ground at Newcastle, reserving to the Duke the Quit Rent
of one Bushel. 2. To Captain Edmund Cantwell, and Johannes
de Haes, of 100 Acres of Land between Dog Creek and Namon's
Creek, reserving to the Duke the Quit Rent of one Bushel of
Wheat. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 13, 14.

April 14.

From the New York Records, Minutes of the Governor and
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Council. The Affair of the Whoreivill talten into Consideration ;

Letters read from Captain Carr, Captain Wharton, and Captain
Cantwell; with their Proposals for Reducenient of tlie Place, it

is ordere<l, that a (Joinmission Up sent, to tlie Officers and Mag-
istrates at Delaware, to go to the Whorekill, ttiere to keep a

Court in ttie King's Name, and enquire of all irregular Pro-

ceedings, and settle the Government and Oflicers tiiere, as for-

merly, under his Majesty's Obedience, and the Protection of

his Royal Highness; for which tliere shall likewise be sent par-

ticular Instructions. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 64.

So tliat tliis shews that tiie Marylanders did not keep Pos-

session of the Whorekills.

June 24.

Minutes of the Governor and Council, and a Proclamation,
reciting the great Scarcity of Wampum, througliout the Duke's
Territories, which was paid and received as Current Payment
there, in all Transactions between Man and Man : Therefore,

in order to bring in Wamiium, encreasing, and raising the Value
of it to one Third more than it was of before; and this Procla-

mation shall be .sent, and promulgated in Albany, Esopus, and
Delaware, &c. there to be in Force. New York Records, No. 1.

Fol. 64.

It is hoped the foregoing Records, under this Chapter, af-

ford super-abundant Proof of tlie Fact, that tlie Duke of

York (also) from 16(58 to 1678, did actually possess both
New York, and Delaware; and that he, by his successive

Governors. Colonel NichoUs, and Colonel Lovelace, held

and accounted Delaware, as Part of, and appurtenant, in

his Time to New York; and that lie did, in the Terms of

our Allegations in our Bill, all Sorts of Acts of Owner-
ship, Government, and Propriety in Delaware, equally,

and as well as in New York.

But. it beine now Time of War with the Dutch, they, by

the Numbers of Dutch left there at the former Conquest,

did, about this Time, for a few Months only, dispossess

the Duke, as shall be shewn in the next Place.

CyAP. IV. Of the Diitch regainina Possession (or a few Months)

of Neir York and Delaware also.

1678. Ang. 12.

Out of the Dutch Record Book, (remaining in the Secretary's

Office of New York) containing Orders of the Council of War, fly

the Commanders of the Dutch Squadron— is extracted the fol-

lowing Dutch Commission, viz. The noble and strict Council of



?{OUNDARY QTESTIOX. 281

W:ir, under the States (Teneral and Prince of Oranfre. of a

Squadron of Ships now riding at Anchor in Hudson's River, in

?se\v rsetherland. To all, &c. Greeting. Whereas it is neces-

sary TO appoint a fit Person, who, as (jovernor General, is to

have tlie chief Command over this Conquest of Jsew Netherland,

with all its Appendencies and Dependencies, beginning from
Cape Hinlopen, or ISouth Side, of the South, or Delaware Bay,

and 15 Miles more Southerly, (with the said Bay, and South
River, included) as the same, in former Times, by the Directors

of the City of Amsterdam, and, afterwards, by the English

Government, in the Name, and under the Duke of York, was
possessed; and further, from said Cape Hinlopen, alongst the

main Ocean, to the East End of Long Island, and froiu thence

Westward, &c.
,
provided it come not within ten Miles of the

North River, in pursuance of some Provisional Limits made in

the Year IGoO, and afterwards by the States General, on 20 Feb.

1656, and on 23 Jan. 1664, ratified ; so we by Virtue of our Com-
mission granted to us by the States General and Prince of

Orange do apijoint Anthony Colve, the Captain of a Company of

Foot in the Service of the States General, and the said Prince, as

Governor General, those Lands, and Forts thereto belonging,

with all its Appendencies and Dependencies, to govern, rule,

and against all Invasions of Enemies to defend ; ordering all

Officers. Judges, Magistrates. Commanders, Soldiers, Free-

men, and all Inhabitants of those Countries to obey him as Gov-
ernor, Dated in Fort William Hendricks; and signed Cor-

nelius Everse Jun. and Jacob Biukes, Dutch Records from New
York, No. 2. Fol. 43.

Hept. 19.

At the Meeting of the Gentlemen, Commanders, and Council
of War, held 19 Sept. 1G73, the foregoing Commission, for

Governor General Anthony Colve, was registered this Day, by
Order of the Commanders. Dutch Records, No. 2. Fol. 43.

&ept. 19.

The same Day Governor Anthony Colve, by the Title of

Governor General, under the States General, and Prince of

Orange, by his Commission, reciting the Necessity to appoint a

Person to be Commander and Sheriff, in the South River of

New Netherland, last called Delaware, beginning from Cape
Hinlopen, and as much more Southerly as the same, heretofore,

in the Time of the former Dutch Government, was possessed

and enjoyed, to the Head of the said River; and reciting the
good Character of Peter Alricks. late Ensign and Factor there,

at the Time of the said former Dutch Government, does ap-

point the said Peter Alricks Commander, and Sheriff of the
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said River, and the Inhabitants thereof, to govern and rule,

under tlae chief Command and Direction as above said, the said

River and luiiabitants, as well on the East as Western Shore,

and to defend them from all Enemies Invasions. Dated at Fort

William Hendrick in New Netherlands; signed A Colve.

Dutch Records, New York, No. 2. Fol. 45.

Feb. HJ.

An Entry in the Dutch Book of Records, that a Patent and

Ground Brief was granted to two Brothers, Ephraim and Cas-

par Harmans, for a Neck, or Piece of Land, in the South River,

below New Amstel, on the South Side of Apoquinimini Creek,

by Dieck Creek, and St. Augustine's or Ariens Creek, con-

taining, besides the Meadows, 250 Morgan, (500 Acres) which

Ground Brief is signed by the Governor Colve, and the Secre-

tary N. Bayard. Dutch Records, New York, No. 3. Fol. 45.

The same Day.

The same Grant entered at full Length in the old Records of

Newcastle. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 15.

Feb. 9-19.

Articles of Peace between King Charles the Second, and the

States General, concluded at Westminster, the 0th Articles

whereof is in these Words. "That whatever Country, Island.

"Town, Haven, Castle, or Fortress hath been, or shall betaken,
" by either Party, from the other, since the Beginning of the

"late unhappy War, whether in Europe, or eleswhere, and

"before the Expiration of the Times above limited for Hos-

"tility, shall be restored to the former Owner, in the same Con-

"dition it shall be in at the Time of publishing this Peace."

This is printed by the King's Printer, and by the King's Spe-

cial Command, so long ago as 1085, and is the printed Book of

Treaties, Fol. 180.

Certificate from the King's Prothonotary in Chancery, that

He cannot find any InroUment of this Treaty neither, nor any

Original, or other Transcript, or Memorial of it. Paper Cer-

tificate.

Note—This Treaty also has been diligently enquired after by

Paris, but is lost.

So that by this Treaty we see the Dutch gained but a short

Possession of New York and Delaware, of a very few

Months only, before they restored it again to this Crown,

by Treaty.
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Chap. V. From the New Grant made hy King Charles the Second

to the Duke ofYork, in June, 1G74, down to the Time ofgrant-

ing Pensilvania, and the Loicer Counties, tc Mr. Fenn, and
his being in full Possession of all the same, at the End of

the Year 1682.

26 Car. II. 1674, June 29.

From the Chappie of the Rolls, Copy of the Grant made
(without any Recital) to the Duke of York, by Letters Patent,

of All tlijit Part of the main Land of New En^'land. beginning;

at St. Croix, next adjoyning to New Scotland in America, and
extending, along the Coast to Pemaquid, and so, up the River

thereof, to the furthest Head of tne same, as it extended North-
wards; and extending, from thence, to the River of Kineb?quie,

and so, upwards. i)y the shortest Course, to the River Canada,
Northwards; and also all that Island called Mattowaeks, or

Long Island, lying towards the West of Cape Codd, and the

Narrohigansetts. abutting upon the main Land, between two
Rivers there, severally 'ailed Connecticut's and Hudson's
River; and the said River, called Hudson's River; and all the

Land, from the West Side of Connecticut River, to the East

Side of Delaware Bay: and also all those several Islands, called

Martin Vinyards, and Nantuckett; together with all the Lands,

Islands, Soils, Rivers, Harbours, Mines, Minerals, Quarries,

Woods, Marshes, Waters, Lakes, Fishings. Hawkings. Hunting,
and Fowling; and all other Royalties, Profits, Commodities,
and Hereditaments, to the said several Islands. Lands, and
Premises belonging and appertaining, with their, and every

of their Appurtenancies ; and all the King's Estate, Right,

Title, Interest, Benefit, Advantage, Claim, and Demand, of,

in, or to the same, or any Parr thereof.

To hold to the Duke of York in Fee, to be held of the King,
as of the Manor of East Greenwich, in free, and common Soc-

cage, and not by Knights Service, rendering 40 Beaver Skins

yearl J'

:

With Powers of Government, &c., granted to the Duke of

Y'ork, and to appoint Governors, Officers, and Ministers under
hiui; and an express Power (Fol. 4) to the Duke of York, his

Governors and Officers, for their Defence and Safety, to en

counter and expulse, bj- Force of Arms, as well by Sea as by
Land, all such Persons as, without their Licence, should at-

tempt to inhabit within the .several Precincts and Limits of

his Majesty's said Territories, and Islands, kv. Being in the

like Words with the former Grant, made To the Duke in 1663.

This Exhibit is proved by Bulmer. and is Kucha, No. 5.
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Please to observe, that this second Grant to the Duke of York,

i>f all Lands belonging to his great Settlements, when, in Fact,

Delaware, had really belonged to tliose great Settlements for

ten Years together before, in the Hands of the Duke of York
himself, as well as that it had also, before that, belonged to

the Dutch, whilst they had the Possession of New Netherlands,

(from 1()29 to 1G74, in the whole) seems to make those general

Words more significant and effectual to the Duke of York, in

this second Grant, than they were in the first Grant, made to

him 11 Years before.

JiUy 1.

In two Days after the Grant to the Duke of Y'ork he granted

a Connuission, reciting the Letters Patent to himself, and ap-

pointing Major Edmund Andros to be his Lieutenant and Gover-

nor within the Lands, Islands, and Places atoresaid, to execute

all Powers, which by the said Patent were granted to the Duke;
requiring all the Inhabitants to j^ield Obedience to the said

Edmund Andros Esq ; and the said Edmund Andros to observe

all such Orders as he should receive from the Duke. This Com-
mission is enrolled at New-York, and our Copy from thence is

New-York Records. No. 1. Fol. 65.

Oct. '^i.

A Record of Matters past in Council since the Governor's re-

ceiving the Province of New- York from the Dutch, Oct. ol. 1674.

Saturday, Oct. 31. 1671. The Fort being, this Day. surrendered

to the Governor. Mr. Matthias Nicolls was, at the City-Hall,

sworn one of the Council. Three Constables for the City of

New-York were there likewise appointed and sworn. New-
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 66.

Nov. 2.

By the Governor, It is resolved and ordered that the Magis-

trates at Albany, &c., who were in place at the time of the Dutch
coming here, in July 167o, be re-established ; the same for Dela-

ware River (except Peter Alricks the Bayliff.he having profer'd

him.self to the Dutch, at their first coming, of his own Motion,

and acted very violently, as their chief Officer, ever since)

New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 66.

jYov. o.

Governor Andros's Letter, dated at New-York, to the Gov-
ernor of Maryland, acquainting him that he had, on Saturday

last, received that Place, and Dependencies, from the Dutch, in

behalf of his Majesty, to continue, as formerly, under the Com-
mand of his Royal Highness He takes this first Opportunity

to acquaint him thereof, and that he has given Orders that
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all Officers and Magistrates of that Governiuent and Delaware
do take Care, on this Change, to prevent, or redress, any kind
of Injury to tlie neighbouring Colonys, and will not doubt tlie

like on the Governor of Maryland's Part. New-York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 7.

j\'oc. 4.

Several OflRcers are appointed for several Places in New-York
itself; after which it goes on thus, viz. (apt. Edward CJant-

well formerly Sheritl', to be Scout or Sheriff of Delaware, Mr.

William Ton) to be Secretary or Clerk there; Ordered that

Capt. Cantwell and Mr. Tom l)e authorized to take possession

of the Fort, (Jannon, and all other Stores of War of Newcastle,

or any Part of Delaware River, for his Majesty, pursuant to

the AfticlfS of Peace, and to remain in the Command thereof

until further Order; That (Japt. Cantwell and Mr. Tom have
an Order to receive the Quit Rents, and all other Dutys.

whether Customs or Excise, as formerly was established before

the Dutch coming to the Place; and, for Customsj it is, since,

established by his Royal Highness; anil to return to me a due
Account of the State of all other Matters relating to the Revenue
by the first Convenience. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 0(1.

1G74. Nov. 4.

Governor Andros's Commission, dated in New-York, appoint-

ing certain Persons whose Names are left in blank, but the

Commission is directed. "'To the Commi.ssarys of Newcastle
"in Delaware, who were in Office at the time of the Dutch com-
"ing into these Parts in July ]6To;" The (Jommission reciter,

that the Governor had received that Place and Goverinnent in

the behalf of his Majesty, from the Dutch,and being invested in

the Command thereof under the Duke, he, in his Majestys
Name, appoints them to be Commissarys in the Town of New-
castle upon Delaware River and Dependances, authorising

them to act according to the Laws and Customs as had been used

amongst them during his Royal Highness's Governor Nicolls

and Governor Lovelace's time. Impowers them also, to give

Order for electing a Constable, in each of the other Towns ad-

jacent, and to administer the Oath to him, as directed in the

Laws establish'd by his Royal Highness. New-York Records.

No. 1. Fol. 68.

Same Day.

A short Letter from Governor Andros along with that Com-
mission. New -York Records, No. 1. Fol. 68.

JVof. 4.

Two several Commissions from Governor Andros, both datetl
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ill New-York, 1. Appointing: Capt. Edmund Cant well and

Johannes de Haas to receive the Quit- Rents at Delaware, and

Arrears thereof, together with all other Dutys, whether Custom

or Excise, as were due and formerly establisht before the Dutch

coming into the Place in July 10T:J. as also for the Customs

now, as they have been since ordered by his Royal Highness,

a Copy wheVeof is herewith sent; and ordering these Persons to

send to Governor Andros a due Account of these, as well as of all

other Matters, relating to the Revenue and (Toveriiuient. 2. The

Second Commission appoints AVilliam Tom Secretary for the

Town of Newcastle on Delaware. New-York Records. No. 1.

Fol. 69.

Nov. 6.

Governor Andros's further Commission dated in New York,

recites that Delaware is a Dependant on New York, and au-

thorizes Captain Cantwell and Mr. Tom to receive the Fort at

Newcastle, as also the cannon, and Stores of War there, or any

other Part of the River, for the King's Use, pursuant to the

Articles of Peace; and also to send to any other Part of the

Country for repossession and settling any of His Majesty's

Subjects in their just Rights, and particularly at the Whore-

kill. New-York Records, No. 1, Fol. G9.

Same Da}/.

An Entry of the Names of five Persons as Justices for New-

castle, and" five more for the River. New-York Records, No. 1.

Fol. 70.

Nov. 9.

Governor Andros's Proclamation, dated in New-York, recites

that the King and the DuKe had sent him over to receive that

Place and Government from the Dutch, and to continue in the

Command thereof under the Duke, he confirms all former

Grants, Privileges, and Estates legally possest under the Duke

before the late Dutch Government ; and declare that the known

Book of Laws. formerly establisht and in Force under the Duke's

Government, is now again confirmed by the Duke, and Courts

are to be held, and Magistrates and Civil Officers belonging

' thereto, are to be chosen, and establisht accordingly. New-

York Records, No. 1. Fol. 70.

Noc. 11.

Govenor Andros's Commission, dated in New-York, impow-

ering Capt. Cantwell and Mr. Tom. to administer the Oath, to

the Commissarys at Newcastle, to those of the Court un the

River, and to those at the Whorekill in the Bay. New-Y'ork

Records, No. 1. Fol. 71.

So that the Duke of York has clearly nov the Possession

of the Whorekills again.
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Nor. 12.

Cxovernor Andros's Order, dated in New-York, to Cai)t. Cant-
well, to enquire tor the King's Colours, which Capt. Carr, late

Deputy-(Tovernor at Delaware had, and to use the same in the

Fort, and for the Company whereof Capt. Cant well was Captain
in Newcastle. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. TO.

Jan. !t.

Governor Andros's Letter, to Cai)t. (Jantwell at Delaware,
expreHsinfr his satisfaction that Cantwell had taken possession

crt' the Fort, and also settled the Magistrates in Newcastle, and
up the River, and at the Whorekill; gives him Orders about
the Fort; orders him to give New-comers any reasonable

(Quantity of Lands; appoints him Surveyor for the whole River
and Bay; as to the execution airainst Carr's Estate, my Pro-
clamation sufTiciently confirms all .Judicial Proceedings: gives

him Directions about the Militia; as to the AVhorekill, the
Number is, as yet, too little for a Company; but, if it's neces-

sary, you may appoint a Lieutenant, who maychuse Serjeants,

and command there; you have done well in summoning the

Indians to demand Justice for the Murtherof Dr. Roads, which
pray prosecute, that it may be eflfeeted without War ; but if not,

let me hear from you, that 1 may take Order in it and supply
you accordingly. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 72.

Feb. 23.

Governor Andros's Letter from New-York to Capt. Cantwell.

I shall come into your Parts in April, in the mean time you
are not to suffer Capt. Carr to make away his Estate, upon which
you may lay an Attachment in the King's Behalf. Y'ou are

also to prepare an Account and State of the customs to Lady-
day next, to l)e remitted to his Royal Highness's Chief C'^l-

lector here. New-Y'ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 73.

1675, Mar. 27.

Governor Andros's Letter from New-Y'ork, directed to Capt.
Edmund Cantwell Scout of Newcastle in Delaware. About an
Indian found dead and supposed to have been murdered, about
the Indians having formerly murder'd Dr. Roads. About an-

other Indian killed by an Inhabitant in the River, and Orders
that the Magistrates enquire into that last Murder and do Jus-
tice immediately in it. altho' it should not }>e demanded by the
Indians. He adds. I hope you have prohibited all manner of

distilling of Corn, as well as its Transportation; if not, I pray
that it be done presently. New-Y'ork Records, No. 1. -Fol. 74.

Apr. 23.

Governor Andros's Letter to Capt. Canrwell. on receiving an
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Account from him of the Murder of two Christians ou the 8th

instant about Milstone River. Tells him the Nevisans t;ache-

makers; and about oO of their People had been just now with
him, and concluded a Peace. I have sent to Governor Carteret,

to enquire into this Murther, and to give Order for Horses for

our Journey to Delaware, to be ready the last instant. I shall

come by the way of the Falls, where you may meet me Tuesday
the 4th, or may come on further, towards Millstone River

:

In the mean time look to yourselves, and j^ive no Offence or

Suspicion to the Indians. As to James Sandyland you ought
to have a Court and legal Trial to detaiii, punish or release

him, therefore, let that be done, for that was my Meaning;
as to his being out upon Bail, if he be not criminal it cannot
be denied him. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 75.

'Sa//it iJai/.

Minutes of the Governor and Council agreeing to the Matters

mentioned in the Governor's above Letter. New-York Re-

cords, No. 1. Fol. T.-j.

Apr. ;5U.

Governor Andross Letter from NeM-York, to Capt. Cantwell,

on receiving from him an Express with the Alarm in his Parts,

and Fear thereof the Indians Intention to do ^Mischief; telling

hiai his Information is wrong, for Reasons which he gives him:
shall set out the ;5d of May. and be at the Falls next Day. and

hope for the Quiet and Settlement of all those Parts. Thank>
him for his Care for the Preservation of the Inhabitants of the

River, and giving Notice to prevent Surprizes, and providing

against all Events; and. if there shall be Occasion, I shall not

be wanting in supplying you with all Things necessary. New-
Y'ork Records. No. 1. Fol. T(i.

May i;J & 14.

An Order made, at a special Court, held by the Governor at

Newcastle in Delaware, in the Case of the Inhabitants at Ver-

drietys Hook, in this River, complaining that William Tom
molests them in the Enjoyment of the Meadow-Ground next

their Plantations, and Tom claiming the same by virtue of a

Patent from Colonel Nicolls, a Compromise relating to th;-

Enjoyment of the same was proposed, and ordered. Records

from Newcastle, No. 11. Fol. 10.

May 15.

An Order made and signed by Governor Andros at Newcastle,

and recorded at the last-nientioned special Court, ordering that

all new Lands be surveyed and patented, and recorded in the

Court-Books, of the several Jurisdictions or Precincts; also,
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that all Lands, fonnely taken up and settled, hut not surveyed,
and the Owners have not Patents, that such Owners, forthwith,
before the next general Court, give Notice to the Surveyor-
(leneral that it be done, and they take out Patents to assure
them their Lands, and prevent future Disputes, and that it

be recorded. In order to which, you are tojrive Notice at your
next Monthly, or Quarterly Courts, in the several Precincts.
And this Order is directed thus, "To the'Three several Courts
"of Delaware River or Bay." Records from Newcastle, No. 11.

Fol. 17.

Jime 23.

From the New- York Records, Minutes of the (iovernor and
Council, upon the receiving Letters from Delaware about a
Disturbance of the People there, and their Disobedience to the
Magistrates, It is order'd that some Person be sent thither-
about it, and that, with the Person to be sent to Delaware,
two Files of Soldiers, or some Force, be sent likewise. New-
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 76.

July 24.

Minutes at another Meeting of the Governor and Council,
That the former Order of Council of 2:! June, about the Dis-
turbance at Delaware, be respited : and that an Order, or special
Warrant, be sent thither, for Jacobus Fabriciusand John Ogle,
as Ringleaders, to make their Appearance here to answer the
Misdemeanors objected against them touching the late Distur-
bance; also, the Business about Cajjt. Carr's Meadow-Ground
at Newcastle being taken into Consideration, it is order'd that
the Order made at Delaware, be observed, for the valuing of
the said Land, and the Town to have the Refusal. New-Y'ork
Records, N(^. 1. Fol. 77.

July 2(3.

Then innuediately follows the two special Warrants, signed
and sealed by Governor Andros in New-York, against Fabricius
and Ogle at Delaware, reciting that the Governor had received
Information from the Magistrates at Delaware, that they were
principal Ringleaders in the tumultuous Disturbance upon 4th
June last at the Town of Delaware, and had disobeyed the
Order set forth by the Magistrates in a riotous manner; com-
manding them, therefore, in the King's Name, forthwith to
make their personal Appeareance before the Governor in New
York, to answer what shall be Dhjecteu against them on tha*
account, as they'll answer the contrary at their utmost Peril.
New- York Records, No. 1. Fol. 77.

10—Vol. XV.



mo PE>'NSYLVAXIA AND MARYLAND

A Grant from (Tovernor Andros. dated in, and sealed with
the Seal of the Province of New-York, recorded at full length

there, reciting a Patent heretofore granted l)y the late (Governor

Lovelace, unto Robert Tallant. on 2'J Feb. 1071, for 400 Acres

of Land on the West side of Delaware River, and on the South-

east side of Apoquimini Creek, and reciting divers mesne As-

signments thereof down to Bezaliel Osborne; now Governor
Andros, l)y virtue of his Commission and Authority from the

Duke of lork, ratifys, confirms and grants the said Premisse;-,

unto the said Bezaliel Osborne in Fee. reserving as a Quit-

Rent to the Duke, four Bushels of Wheat. This is the first

Grant of Lands which Ave have, that was made by Governor
Andros, and it happens to be entered at full length, and so

shews the Form of his Grants; we have some Hundreds more
of his Grants hereafter, but they are (as to many of them) very

shortly recorded. This is New-Y'ork Records, No. 3. Fol. 9.

July 28.

A Letter dated in New-York, signed by M. Nicolls, and there

said to be sent by the Governor's Order to Capt. Cantwell ; as to

Capt. Carr's Meadow and Land near the Town, now upon Sale,

and in Dispute betwixt the Town and particular Persons, the

Court is to make a Return thereof to the Governor, whether
it was ev^r enclosed or improved, particularly since Capt. Carr

had it; in the mean time it to remain as it was the last seven

Years of the English Government, fiefore the Dutch took

the Place in Julyl67o: Upon which Return the Governor will

give further Directions. Encloses the two special Warrants
for Fabricius and Ogle ; the other chief Ringleaders are to be

bound over to the next General Court there. New-York
Records. No. 1. Fol. 77.

Sept. 15.

From New-York Records, Minutes of the Governor and
Council, Fabritius being ordered, by special Warrant, to make
his Appearance before the Governor here, to answer a Complaint
made against him by the High-Sheriff and Court at Newcastle,

Ogle falling sick appeared not, it's ordered that Fabritius, in

respect of his being guilty, and his former irregular Life, be

suspended from exercising his Function as a Minister, or preach-

ing any more within this Government, either in publick or

privates. The Orders of the Court at Newcastle, for making
the Dykes, to V)e confirmed; The Out-People to have like Com-
monage of the Meadow-, adjoining to the Dykes they helped to

make, as those of the Town. Captain Carr's Meadow having
never been enclosed, nor purchased from the Indians. It is
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ordered that the saul Lands shall be purchased of the IdnianProprietors in the Duke's Name, ; in the mean time to remainCommon, as it is. Ordered that the Block-house at Newcastle
be removed, and built on the Back-side of the Town, aboutthe middle of it, at or near the Old Block-house, wherein there

n7 1 PolT*"^'''''"
""""^ ^ ^"'°'' ^^'°- ^^^^^-York Records,

Sept. 23.

An Indenture between Edmund Andros Esq: Governor andLieutenant under the Duke of York, of all his Territories inAmerica tor and on behalf of the Duke of the one Part, andMamarakickan, Auricktan, Sackoquewan, and Nanneckos, onbehalf of themselves, as the true Sachems and lawful Indian
Proprietors of the Lands after-mentioned, on the other Part
^\hevehy, in consideration of a certain sum of Wampum, andother Goods, mentioned in the Schedule, to them in hand paid,they grant, bargain and sell to Governor Andros, for and on
behalf of the Duke of York,
All that Tract of Land, on the West side of Delaware River

begining at a Creek ne^t to Cold Spring?, somewhat above Mat-
tin.com Island, about 8 or 9 Miles below the Falls, and as farabove the said Falls as the other is below them, or further thatway, as may be agreed on. to some remarkable Place for themore certain Bounds; As also, all the Islands in Delaware
River, within the above mentioned Limits, both below and
above the Falls (except only one Island called Peter Alrick's
Island) together with all Lands, Soils. Meadows, Woods
Marshes, Rivers. Waters. &c.. without any Reservation of theHerbage or Trees, or any thing growing or being thereon.
To hold to Governor Andros and his Successors, for and on be-

half and to the Use and Behoof of the Duke of York his Heirsand Assigns for ever. Which Deed is executed before 12 Christian
Witnesses, of which Edmund Cantwell is one; and the Schedule
enumerates a great Quantity of Goods paid for said PurchaseNew- York Records. No. 1. Fol. 79.

Oct. 21.

Governor Andros's Letter from New- York to the Governor of
Maryland, merely about some expected Quarrels with the In
dians. and offering him his friendlv Assistance. New York
Records. No. 1. Fol. 81.

Nov. 5.

An Entry in the New-York Records, that the above-mentioned
Indian Purchase Deed was then recorded, as it is at full lengthNew-\ork Records. No. 1. Fol. 79.
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Nov. 5.

Three several Grants from Governor Andros. 1. To Thomas
Spry of a Parcel of Land called Doctor's Commons, on the West
Side of Delaware River, and on the South Side of St. George's
Creek, containing ICO Acres, together with the Marshes there-

unto, as by the Return of the Survey by Captain Edmund Cant-
well, Quit-Rent 1 Bushel and half 2. To James Crawford of a

Parcel of Land called Barwick, on the West Side of Delaware
BaV: on the South Side of St. George's Creek, and laid out for

210 Acres together with the Marshes thereunto, as by the san)e

Surveyor's Survey, Quit-Rent 2 Bushels. 3. To Bernard Egberts

of a Parcel of Land, called Smith's Hall, on the West Side of

Delaware River, on the South Side of St. George's Creek, con-

taining 300 Acres, as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit-Rents 3

Bushels. New-York Records, No. 3. Fol. 10.

Havie Day.

Two more Grants from Governor Andros. 1. To Jacob Young
for a Parcel of Land on the West Side of Delaware River, on
the North Side of St. George's Creek, containing 1280 Acres,

with the Marshes thereto, as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit-Rent

12 Bushels and 3 Pecks. 2. To Hermanns Wiltbank, of Land
near to the Whorekill in Delaware Bay, lying upon Fish-Creek,

containing 800 Acres, as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit-Rent 8

Bushels. New-York Records, No. 3. Fol. 11.

Same Day.

Two more Grants from Governor Andros. 1. To Henry Ward
of a Neck of Land on West Side of Delaware River, between the

Beaver Dam and Dragon Swamp, near to St. George's Creek,

containing 440 Acres and I, with the Marshes thereto, as by

Cantwell's Survey, Quit-Rent 4 Bushels and I. 2. To William
Roods, of a Tract of Land at the Whorekill on the West Side

of Delaware Bay, called Rehobah, lying upon Rehobah Bay,

bounded on one Side by John Avery's Land, containing 600

Acres, as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit-Rent 6 Bushels. New-
Y'ork Records, No. 3. Fol 12.

NoTK—The first of those Grants is also at full Length recorded

in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 18.

This last Grant, amongst many other Proof-s, shews, the

Whorekills was the Name of a District; for Rehobath Bay is

at least 7 Miles from the Town of Whorekills or Lewis, and
yet is said to be at the Whorekills.

167.5, Nov. 5.

Three more Grants from Governor Andros. 1. To Hans Peter-

son, of Land on the West Side of Delaware River, in Skillpades-

Kill or Creek extending out of Christiana Creek, containing

157 Acre« and ], with the Marshes thereto, as by Cantwell's
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Survey, Quit- Rent 1 Busliel and ^ 2. To Charles Peterson,

of Land, on the West Side of Delaware River, on the North
Side of Verdrityes Hook, containing; 2C6 Acres, with the

Meadow or Marsh thereto, as by Cant well's Survey, Quit-

Rent 2 Bushels and ,. ',. To (ieorge Moor, of Land called

Winsor, on the West Side of Delaware River, on the South
Side, of St. (jeorf?e"s (Jreek, containing 280 Acres, with the

Marshes thereto, Quit-Rent 2 Bushels and .. New-York Re-

cords, No. ;j. Fol. 18.

Two more Grants from Governor Andros. 1. To Anne Wale
of Land, called Chel.sey, on the West Side of Delaware River,

and on the South Side of St. George's Creek, containing 300

Acres, with the Marshes thereto, as by Cantwells Survey, Quit-

Rent ;] Bushels. 2. To John Ogle of Land, uu the West Side

of Delaware River, called Hampton, on the North Side of St.

George's Creek, containing 300 Acres, as by (JantwelTs Survey.

Quit-Rent 3 Bushels. New-York Records. No 3. Fol. 14.

Note—The last of these Grants is also recorded at full Length
in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 19.

Same Bay.

Two more Grants from Governor Andros. 1. To Morris Listen,

of Land on the West Side of Delaware Bay, lying on a Fork of

Cedar Creek, containing \r,0 Acres, as by Cantwell's Survey,

Quit Rent 1 Bushel and .^. 2. To Peter Bawcom and Richard

Blinks, of Land on the West Side of Delaware Bay, called

Stening, or Bawcom Briges Creek, containing 600 Acres, together

with all Marshes thereto, as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit-Rent 6

Bushels. New-York Records, No. 3. Fol. 15.

Dec. 1.

Another Grant from Governor Andros, to Ephraim and

Caspar Harman, of Land, called St. Augustine, on the West
Side of Delaware River, being on the North Side of Apoquemini
Creek, and on tlie South Side of St. Augustine's Creek, con-

taining 400 Acres, as by Cantwell's Survey. Quit-Rent4 Bushels.

New-York Records, No. 3. Fol. 16.

Note—The same Grant recorded, at full Length, in New-
castle Records, No. 11. Fol. 20.

Dec. 5.

Minutes of the Governor and Council taken from New-Y"ork

Records. The Letter from Captain Edmund Cantwell being

taken into Consideration, concerning the Arrival of Mr. Fen-

wick and others at Delaware, with their Pretences. Resolved.

that Mr. Fenwick having no Order, (which if he had. ouglit

to have been brought first and recorded here) he is not to be

received as Owner of anv Land in Delaware, but to be used
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civilly, payintjall Duties, as other the King's Subjects in those

Parts: and it he, or any that come with hiui, desire Land to

the Westward, that there beassignetl them fitting Proportions,
as to others, and due Return made of the Surveys: As to any
Privilege, or Freedom of (Justoms. or Trading on the Eastern
Shore, none to be allowed, in any case, to the snmllest Vessel,

Boat, or Person. The Magistrates and Chief Officers are to be

very cai'eful that there be no Abuse committed on the Eastern
Sliore, under any Pretence whatsoever, contrary to the above

:

As to Customs, Newcastle to |)ay but as New-York, two per Cent.

&c. But, above the Town, or any other Place on the Bay or

River, except Whorekill, to pay tht Addition of H per Cent, as

per Regulation. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 82.

Note—A Copy thereof, but signed Mat. NicoH's Secretary, and
expressly called Minutes of a Council held in New-York, is also

entered in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 21.

Dec. 10.

Governor Andros's Letter from New-York to the Governor of

Maryland, touching a War with the Indians which the Gov-
ernor of Maryland was engaged in, and wherein the Susque-

hannah Indians were concern'd. New-York Records, No. 1.

Fol. 88.

Dec. 10,

Governor Andros's Letter from New-York to Captain Cant-
well. You are punctually to observe the Order 1 here send you,

concerning Mr. Fenwick, and the Customs, as practised here,

which I hope will satisfy all Persons; Mr. Dyre will send you
the Rules you desire, for Entrys, &c. I am sorry you find the

Indians in your Parts wavering, be just to them, I'll supply
you with what is fit for a Garison in your Town, at this Junc-
ture, for Security of your Parts; and would have you take Or-

der for removing the Blockhouse, about the middle of your
Town, above it, into the Place I shewed you when there, so to

command both Ends. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 83.

Decemh. 14.

Governor Andros's Commission dated at New York, author-

ising Casper Harman to fetch and bring in, from out of the

Woods, in and about Delaware Bay, adjacent to Apoquemini
and Landwerdin, within this Government, all wild and un-

marked Cattle, Hogs and Horses, not having a known Owner;
he bringing the same to the Chief Officer or Magistrate at Apo-
quemini. and paying one third Part or Value to his Roj'al

Highness's Use, the other two thirds to be his for his Pain,

and Trouble. This Commission to be in Force for one Year.

New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 84.
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Dec. 15.

Governor Andros's Grant dated in. and under the Seal ot the
Province of Mew York, whereby lie fjrants in Fee to Peter Bay-
ard, a parcel of Land called Bum bey's Hook, on the West
side of Delaware Bay, on the Mouth of Duck Creek, contain-
ing (iOO Acres, as by CantwelTs 8urve\, (^uit-Rent reserved to

the Duke G Bushels. This is recorded at full Length in New-
castle Records. No. 11. Fol. 22.

./(///. 12.

A renewed Execution, under the Hand and Seal of Governor
Andros, dated at New York, recites that Jeuffro Armegart
Prince, of Upland in Delaware River, obtained a Judgment at

the Assisses held in the City of New York in 1672, in the time
of Governor Lovelace, against Andrew Carr and Persilla his

Wife, Inhabitants in the said River, for a Sum. for which a
special Warrant of Execution was also granted, but the same
was not fully effected; at her Request that the former Execu-
tion may be renewed, the Governor in the King's Name, re-

quires Captain Cantwell. Sheriff of Delaware, or his Deputy,
to proceed according to the said Judgment, in what remains
unexecuted. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 85.

Jan. 15.

In the New York Records, a short Entry of a Grant from
Governor Andros (but without a Date there) unto Percifell

AVodersell and 4 others of Land on the Westward side of Del-
aware River, and on the North-West side of Black Bird Creek,
containing 1200 Acres, as by Cantwell 's Survey, yuit-Rent 12

Bushels. New Y'ork Records, No. 8, Fol. 47.

Jan 15.

The same Grant recorded at full length, in . New castle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 23.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros in New Y'ork, and
under the Seal of that Province, to James AVallem, of a Lot of
Ground below the Fort in the Town of Newcastle, Quit-Rent
1 Bushel. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 24.

Note—Another Entry of the last Grant in the New York
Records, No 3. Fol. 4fJ.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros in New York, and
under the Seal of that Provin.-e. to Henry Vanderburch of
another Town-Lot, below the Fort, in the Town of Newcastle,
Quit-Rent 1 Bushel. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 25.
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Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros in New Y'ork, and
under the Seal of that Province, to John Scott, of a Tract of

Land on the West side of Delaware River, at tlie first dividing:

of St. (ieorj^e's Creek, called Maidstone, containing; 40U Acres,

as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit- Rent 4 Bushels. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 20.

NoTK—Another Entry of the last Grant, in New York Re-

cords, No. ;!. Fol. 51.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros, dated at New Y'ork,

and untier the Seal of that Province, to John Eflmondson.

of Land, which had been f irmerly granted by Colonel NichoUs.

the Duke's Governor, upon 1 Aug. 1(568, to Thomas Woolaston
and others, being in White Clay Kill, near unto Christiana

Kill, in Delaware River, containing bOO Acres of Wood-Land,
besides V'alley, on which former Grant, a Quit-Rent of 8

Bushels was reserved, which being now by mesne Assignment
come to John Edmonson, Governor Andros grants it to him in

Fee, reserving the 8 Bushels Quit-Rent. Newcastle Records,

No. 11. Fol. 27.

Note—This last is quite a new distinct, parcel of Land, the

former Grant tif it had never before been mentioned in our

Evidence.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros, dated at New Y'ork,

and under the Seal of that Province, unto Olie Franson and
two others, of a Tract of Land on the Westward side of Dela-

ware River, about two Miles above Verdrietigys Hook, con-

taining 700 Acres as by Cantwell's Survey, 300 Acres of which
were before granted to them bj- Patent of 7 April 1673, but the

other 400 Acres are new Land, Quit-Rent 7 Bushels. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 28.

Note—An Entry of this last Grant is also in . New
Y'ork Records, No. 3. Fol. 54.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros. dated in New-York,
and under the Seal of that Province, to Francis Wittwell of a

Parcel of Land on the West side of Delaware River, called

Brooshey, on the West side of the South West Branch of Duck
Creek, containing 400 Acres as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit Rent
4 Bushels. Kent County Records, No. 14. Fol. 3.

NoTis—Another Eiitrv of the last Grant is also in . New
York Recoriis, No. 3. Fol. 52.
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Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros dated in New-York,
and under the Seal of that Province, to William Tom in Fee,

of a Tract of Land upon the Whorekill in Delaware Bay, being

formely the Land of Peter Airicks, near Pagan Creek, contain-

ing 132, Acres ,as by Cantwell's Survey, (^uit-Rent 1 Bushel.

Sussex County Records. No. 17. Fol. 3.

Note—Another Entry of the last Grant is also in .New
Y^ork Records, No. 3. Fol. 54.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros, dated in New Y'ork,

and under the Seal of that Province, unto Simon Patten, of a

Tract of Land at the Whorekill, upon the West side of Dela-

ware Bay, by Pagans Creek, containing 50 Acres, as by Cant-

well's Survey, Quit Rent half a Bushel. Sussex County Records,

No. 17. Fol. 4.

Jan. 15.

Another Grant from Governor Andros, dated in New York,

and under the Seal of that Province, to George Young, of a

Tract of Land, near unto the Whorekill, in Delaware Bay,

called Y'^oung's Hope, containing 300 Acres, as by Cantwell's
Survey, Quit-Rent 3 Bushels of Wheat. Sussex County Records,

No. 17. Fol. 5.

Note—Another Entry of the last Grant is in .New York
Records, No. 3. Fol. 53.

Feb. 21.

Governor Andros's Commission dated in, and under the Seal

of, New Y'ork, appointing 5 of the Justices of the Court at

Newcastle, and 5 of the Justices of Upland Court, and Delaware
River, a Court of Oyer and Terminer, for Trial of Sybrant
Johnson and his Accomplices, for a Rape which had been com-
mitted, on Ann Jurians, within the Jurisdiction of the Court
at Newcastle. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 86.

Same Dap or Month.

An Entry in the New York Records of a Grant by Governor
Andros, to William Davids, of Land on the Westward side of

Delaware Bay, called Roaseberry, a little below the Indian
Bridge, containing 300 Acres, as by Survey, Quit-Rent 3 Bushels.

New York Records, No. 3. Fol. 8.

1676. Mar. 25.
From New-Y'ork Records, Three several Grants from Gov-

ernor Andros. 1. To Hendrick Coleman and Peter Patcon, of

Land, on West-side of Delaware River, and on North-west side

of Millcreek, containing 100 Acres as by Survey, Quit-Rent 1
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l-5ushel : ,!. To Juriiui Hartstielder, ul Lund im the West side

1)1 Delavvart* River, on the Southwest side of Cohocktincks Creek,

contuininj^ :j.">0 Acres, (^uit-Kent three Bushels and a Halt. 3.

To Heni-y Allison, of Land called Tiluiouth Haven, on the

West side of Delaware Bay. and on the South-side of Fisli ( ;reek,

containing 400 Acres as by .Survey, t^uit-Rent four Bushels.

New-York Records. No. :'.. Fol. IT.

Sa/ii,t Da I).

From New-York Records, Three more Cxrants from riovernor

Andros, 1. To Thonuis Williams, (jf Land on the West side of

Delaware Bay, and on North-M'est side of Baucum Brigpjs

r'reek, contairiinj; 200 Acres as by Survey, (^uit-Rent 2 Bushels.

2. To Robert Tallent, of Land called Poplar-Hill, on the West
side of Delaware Bay. and on North side of Hant;man's Creek,

containing 200 Acres as by Survey, Quit-Rent 2 Bushels. 3.

To John Street, of Land called the Chops, on the West side of

Delaware.and at the Head of Hangman's Creek, containing 200

Acres as by Survey, Quit-Rent 2 Bushels. New-York Records,

No. 3. Fol. 18,

Same Day.

From the Records in Newcastle County. Twelve several

Grants, from Governor Andros, dated in, and under the Seal

of New-York, recorded at full Length, all granted by virtue of

the Duke's Commission to him, and reserving the Quit- Rents

to the Duke, viz. 1. To Peter Thomasson in Fee, of lands on
the West side of Delaware River, and on White-clay Creek,

being a Branch of Christianna Creek, above the Falls thereof,

containing 220 Acres, Quit-Rent 2 Bushels. 2. To William
Sharpe in Fee, of Land called Canaan, on the West side of

Delaware Bay, and on the North side of Duck Creek, contain-

ing 500 Acres as by Cantwell's Survey, Quit- Rent 5 Bushels.

3. To Walraven Johnson de Fox, and another in Fee, of Land
on the West side of Delaware River, near the upper End of

Bread and Cheese Island, and on the North side of White-clay
Creek, containing 570 Acres as by Survey, Quit-Rent 5 Bushels.

4. To John Nomers in Fee. of Land, on the West-side of Dela-

ware River, on both sides of White clay Creek, being a

Branch of Christiana Creek, containing 340 Acres as by

Survey. Quit Rent 3 Bushels and a Peck. 5. To Edmund
Cantwell in Fee, of Land on the West side of Delaware River,

nigh the Head of Apoquiminick Creek, containing 800 Acres,

400 of which was granted to William Smiler. and by him for-

feited to his Majesty, by the late Governor Lovelace granted to

the said Cantwell, and the other 400 laid out for the said Cant-

well, Quit-Rent reserved to the Duke 8 Bushels. 6. To Cas-
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pariis Haruiuii iii Fee ol Land, called (iooil Nei|^libourliood,

bn^tlTe West side of Delaware River, and on the North-east

side of 8t. Augustine's Creek, containing 330 Acres, as by Sur-

vey, guit-Rent 3 Bushels. 7. To Ediuund Cantwell in Fee, of

Land on West side of Delaware Bay in Apoquiniminick ("reek,

beginning from the Green Hook to feassafrax-Kill, containing

900 Acres, wliich had on 17 June 1()71, been granted l)y Gov-

ernor Lovelace to Lucas Abell and others, and since purcliased

by (Jantwell. guit-Rent 9 Bushels. 8. To John Mall in Fee, of

a Lot in Newcastle Town, guit-Rent 1 Bushel. 9. To Robert

Tallent in Fee of Land called Poplar-Hill, on the West side

of Delaware Bay, and on North side of Hangman's Creek, con-

taining 200 Acres as l)y Purvey, guit-Rent 2 Bushels. 10. To

John Street in Fee, of Land called the Clio[)s, on the W'est side

of Delaware Bay, on the Head of Hangman's Creek, contain-

ing 200 Acres ashy Survey, guit-Rent 2 Bushels. 11. To John

Barker in Fee. of Land called Calton, on the West side of Dela-

ware River, and on the North side of Blackbirds Creek, con-

taining 220 Acres as by Survey. guit-Rent 2 Bushels. And 12.

To Samuel Land in Fee, of a Lot in the Town of Newcastle in

Delaware River, in Warmoes Street, bounded upon the Min-

quaes Street. guit-Rent 1 Bushel. Records from Newcastle

County. No. 11. Foliis 29, HO, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38. 39, 40.

Note—As the 12 foregoing Grants are taken only from New-

castle Records (tho" long before Mr. Penn had any thing

to do with that Country) so it may be necessary to men-

tion, that "we have short Entries of seven of these Grants

from New lork Records also, viz. The first of the last-

mentioned 12 Grants is in New-York Records, No 8. Fol.

27; and the second, in the same Book ,Fol. 22; the third

is in the same Book, Fol. 31; the fourth is in the same

Book, Fol. 30; the sixth is in the same Book, Fol, 60;

the eleventh is in the same Book, Fol. 61 ; and the

twelfth is in the_same New York Book of Records, No. 3.

Fol .31.

Same Day.

From the Records in Kent County, Two more Grants, from

Governor Andros, dated in, and under the Seal, of New York,

recorded at full Length, and both granted by Virtue of the

Duke's Commission to him, and reserving the giiit Rents to

the Duke, viz. 1. To Thomas Williams in Fee of Land on the

West Side of Delaware Bay. and on North-west side of Beaucom
Briggs Creek, containing 200 Acres as by Survey, guit Rent 2

Bushels. 2. To Williaiu Simson, of Land on the West side of

Delaware Bay, and on the North side of Little -Creek, contain-
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infi: 400 Acres, as by Cuutwells Survey, C^uit-Rent 4 Bushels.

Records from "Kent (Jounty, No. 14. Fol. 4 & 5.

Note—The hist of these (irants is also entered in . New-
York Recorils, No. ;3. Fol. 2:i

1076. Mnrrh 2").

From tlie Records in Sussex County, one more Grant, from
•Governor Andros, dated in. and under the Seal of New York,

recorded at full Len^tli, granted by Virtue of the Duke's Com-
mission to him. unto Abraham Clement, and another in Fee.

of Land, upon the Whorekill, near Delaware Bay, by Pot-

ters Creek, and Papuans Creek, containing 600 Acres, as by

CantwelTs Survey. Quit Rent, six Bushels reserved to the

Duke. Records from Sussex County, No. 17. Fol. 6.

May 25.

Governor Andros' Order, dated in New York, being an In-

junction granted by hiiii, upon a Petition in Equity presented

to him; to stay Execution, upon a Judgment obtained at Law,

in the Courts at Newcastle, by William Tom against Hendriek

Janson. The Governor orders, that, on Janson's giving Se-

curity to make good his Complaint, Execution be suspended,

and that all the Proceedings, Writings, and Proofs, be trans-

mitted to New York, for a final Determination in Equity.

New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 87.

June 2;i.

Grant from Governor Andros in New York, to William
Stevens, of Land called York, on the West Side of Delaware

Bay. above Little Creek, containing 600 Acres, as by Cantwell's

Survey. Quit Rent, six Bushels. New York Records, No. 3.

Fol. 19.

June 24.

Two more Grants from Governor Andros, 1. To Edward
Southeran, of Land called St. Giles's, on the West Side of

Delaware Bay, West from the Whorekill, about a Mile from
Pagans Creek, containing 196 Acres, as by Survey. Quit Rent,

two Bushels. 2. To William Arundel, of Land on the West
Side of Delaware Bay, about three Mil^s South West from the

Whorekills, in the Woods, containing 304 Acres, as by Sur
vey. Quit Rent, three Bushels. New York Records, No. 3.

Fol. 29.

Note—The first of those two last Grants is entered, at full

Length, in the Records from Sussex County, No. 17. Fol. 7.

June 30.

Governor Andros's Grant to Edward Bodell, of Land on the

West Sitle of Delaware Bay, in the Woods, South South East
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from the Whorekill, about three Miles, near to (ireen Bram-h,

containing? 800 Acres of Land, as by Survey. Quit Rent, three

Bushels. New York Records, No. 3. Fol. 29.

Ju/y 15.

C-rovernor Andros's Grant to John Moll, for Land called the

Exchange, on the West Side of Delaware River, between it,

and the jrreat Dragon Swamp, laid out for 1000 Acres, 600

whereof were formerly granted by Patent to William Currer.

and another, whose Right Moll is invested with, and the other

400 are new Land. Quit Rent, lu Bushels. New York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 88.

Juli/ 20.

From New York Records, Minutes of the Governor and

Council, signed l\v Governor Andros. on the Petitions of Lau-

rence Caroli of Delaware, to the Governor, one concerning a

Mare, the other concerning selling strong Liquors to the In-

dians, in both which Matters Caroli was cast at the Court of

Newcastle, and appealed hither for Relief; Ordered, that the

Petitions, Proceedings, Judgment of Court, and several Attesta-

tions, delivered in here, be all transmitted to the Court at

Newcastle, who are to return them back, with their Answer,

to the Governor, and in the mean time, that Execution be stopt.

Upon the Petition o fPeter Gronendyke of the Whorekill, com-

plaining of wrong done him by the Court at the Whorekill,

in a Suit between him and Smith for some Tobacco, where the

Petitioner was cast, and the President of the Court, and six of

seven of the Jury, acknowledged their Proceedings erroneous,

and desired their Verdict might be annulled, and yet the Presi-

dent gave out afterwards Execution against the Petitioner; it

is ordered, on the Petitioner's giving Security, that the Presi-

dent of the Court, some of the Jury, and the Prosecutor, shall

all make their personal Appearance at the next General Court

of Assize, to be held in this City, in October next, to answer

in this Behalf. Another Petition of Helmanus Wiltbank, re-

ferred to the Court at Whorekill to take Order in, with all

just Favour to the Petitioner according to Law, and make

Report to the Governor. New Y'ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 88.

* July 28.

Minutes of the Governor and Council. froHi New Y'ork Records,

Resolution to write to Captain Cantwell at Delaware, to en-

deavour to make up a Contest which the Susquehanno Indians

liad with Maryland, and to acquaint the Governor of Maryland

thereof. Also, upon a Petition of the Widow of Hans Block

of Newcastle, that of late the Commons or Woods have been
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enclosed by a Fence towards her Land, so that she is debarred

of the Liberty she many Years lieretofore had. of coinnioning

her Cattle, ordered, that there shall be a convenient Out-drift

for her Cattle. New York Records. No. 1. Ful. m.

Auy. 10.

The (rovernor's Pass, dated in New York, for John Turcoat,

a Frenchman belonging to this (-rovernment, with four or five

of his Countrymen, to pass towards Delaware Ri^ver, or Bay,

and the South Parts thereabouts, being intended to hunt that

way, and to return again. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 89.

Atig. 11.

From the New York Records, Minutes of Council to check

Captain Cantwell for raising so rash an Alarm there, but

nevertheless to enquire the Meaning of the Susquehannos com-

ing in. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 89.

Sept. 15.

From the New York Records, Minutes of Council, on a Com-

plaint made by Captain Hans Jurienson, that Captain Edmund

Cantwell abused and struck him in his own House; upon Ex-

amination and Hearing of both Parties, ordered, that Captain

Cantwell shall pay 200 Guilders Fine to the King, and both

Parties to lay by ail Animosities for the future, but it does not

clearly express where this Assault was. New York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 90.

Saine Day.

A Grant from Governor AndroP to Walter Dickinson, of two

Parcels of Land, each of 400 Acres, on the West Side of Dela-

ware Bay, and on the North East Side of St. Jones Creek,

being about a Mile from Murder Creek, or above Murder Creek.

Quit Rent, eight Bushels. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 90.

Sept. 23.

Three several Commissions, granted by Governor Andros, all

dated in New York. 1. To Captain John Collier, to ba Sub-

collector of all his Majesty's Customs of Newcastle in Delaware,

and Receiver of the Quit Rents, or other his Royal Highness's

Revenue there, together with the River and Bay, wherein he

is to act pursuant to Law, and his Royal Highness's Orders

for this Government, and to observe such Directions as shall

be received from Governor Andros. 2. In his Majesty's Name
appointing six Persons to be Justices of the Peace in the Juris-

diction of Delaware River, and Dejiendencies, any three of

them to be a Court of Judicature, for one Year. 8. And in his

Majesty's Name appointing six Persons to he Justices of Peace

in the Jurisdiction of Newcastle, .iml Dependencies, any three
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of them to 1»' a Court ot Judicature, for one Year. New York
Reeordh, >'o. 1. Fol. 'Jl.

^ame Dai/.

Two more Commissions from (Tovernor Andros, dated in New
\orl<.

1. Whereby he. in Virtue of tJie Duke's Authority, ap-
_.points Ephraim Heriiians to be Clerk of the Court of NewcastTT
in Delaware, and also of the Court of Upland in the River '>

He also, in Virtue of the Duke's Authority, appoints Captahi
John Collier to be Commander in Delaware River and Bay, to
take Care that the Militia, in the several Places, be well armed,
duly exercised, and kept in ^ood Discipline, and the Officers
and Soldiers are required to obey you as their Commander and
you are to observe sui-h Orders as you shall receive from' me
according- to the Rules and Discipline of War. New York
Records, No. 1. Fol. 92.

NoTE-This last Commission to CciiJtain Coliier is recordedm Records from Newcastle County, Nu. 11. Fol. 41. And the
former to Hermaas is recorded in Newcastle Records No 11
Fol. 42.

Same Day.

Governor Andros's Instructions to Captain JoluLCollier
<lated in New York, to go to Maryland, either from the WhofF-
kill, or from Delaware, about making up a Difference which
Maryland had with the Susquehannah Indians; then to return
to Newcastle. Instruction 4. To prevent all Interlopers or ir-.
regular Traders, cohtrary to Law, and the Privileges, and In-
habitants of this City and Newcastle. Instruction 5 To keep
due Accounts of all Things belonging to the Customs, as also
of all other publick Revenues in the River and Bay, and return
an Account thereof every three Months. New York Records No
1. Fol. 92.

Sept. 25.

Governor Andros's Letter to the Deputv Governor of Mary-
land, advising him to a Friendship with the Susquehanno In-
dians. New Y^ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 93.

Same Day.

Governor Andros's special Warrant against Major Fenwick
dated in New York, but directed to Captain Edmund Cantwell'
Sheriff of Delaware, to execute; recites, that Major John Fen-
wick. now living at the East Side of Delaware River, pretends
to be Proprietor of that Side, [viz. in New Jersev] and has
acted accordingly, granting Lands, dispo.«sessing Persons
selling their Lands, arrogating Power of Judicature, and
givingont Licences for distillin-z. contrary to the Order .settled
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in the River, whereby he has inveigled some Persons from other

Parts, and distracts the Minds of the Inhabitants throughout
the whole River and Bay. not liaving any lawful I'ower or

Authority; you are therefore to rejiair over the River to the

said Fen wick, and all other Places on that Side, to inform

yourself of the Truth of the said Particulars, and to forewarn

any such of the Danger and Premunire tliey incur; and, if

Fenwick has so acted, you are to summon him, in his Majesty's

Name, to appear, without Delay, to answer the same l)efore

me, and my (Jouncil, in this Place, at his utmost Peril; and,

in case of Opposition all his Majesty's Subjects are required to

aid and assist you. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 9;3.

tiept. 25.

Governor Andres's Instructions given to the Justices at New-
castle, dated in New-York ; They recite that, last Year, upon
his being at Delaware, the Inhabitants represented that his

Predecessor Governor Lovelace began to make a Regulation for

the due Administration of Justice, according to the Laws of

this Government; pursuant whereto the present Governor ap-

pointed some Magistrates, and made some Rules for their Pro-

ceedings the Year ensuing, or till further Order; now, by the

Advice of his Council, he makes some Alteration, and they are

to remain and be in Force in Form following. \. That the

Book of Laws, established by the Duke, and practised in New-
York, and Dependencys, be in Force and Practice in this River

and Precincts; except the Militia, now ordered to remain in

the King, and except such as don't relate to that River, &c.

2. That there be three Courts held, in the several Parts of the

River, as formerly, viz. One in Newcastle.one above. at Uplands,

and another below at the Whorekills. 3. The Courts to consist

of the Justice, three to be a Quorum, and to have Power of a

Court of Sessions, and decide all Matters under 20/. without Ap-
peal ; above 20/. and for Crime, extending to Life, Limb or Ban-
ishment, to admit Appeal to the Court of Assize. 4. All small

Matters, under 5/. may be determined by the Court, without a

Jury, as also all Matters of Equity. 5. The Court for Newcastle

to be held Monthly, those for Uplands and the Whorekill quar-

terly, and he names the fix^d Days they are to be held on. 6. The
('ourts may make By-Laws, not repugnant to the Laws of the

Government, to be good for a Year, they giving an Account
thereof to the Governor by first Opportunity. 7. The Courts to

regulate the Court and Officers Fee.s. but not to exceed the Rates

in the Book of Laws. 8. To be a High-Sheriff for the Town of

Newcastle, River and Bay, and he to make an Undersheriff. to be

approved by the Court, and the Sheriff is to act in the Execution
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of the Laws, but not as a Justice of Peace or Majjjistrate. 1). That
there be fitting: Books provided for tlie Records, all judicial

Proceedings to be fairly entered therein, as also publick Orders

from tlie (rovernors. 10. That each Court recounuend to the

Governor, for his Approbation, a fit Person for Clerk, in whose
hands the Records are to be kept. 11. That all Writs, War-
rants, and Proceeding's at Law, shall be in the King's Name,
it having been practised in the (iovernment ev.'i- since the first

Writing of the Law-Book, and it being the Duke's special

Pleasure and Order. 12. No Rates to be imposed, or Levies

made, within the Town of Newcastle, River or Bay, Avithout

the Governor's Approbation, and all Accounts of Receipts and
Disbursements on Rates, to be sent to the Governor for his

Allowance, until which, not to be a sufficient Discharge; Any
Person desiring Land may ai)ply to the Court, in vhose Bounds
it is, who are to sit Monthly, or oftner, which Certificate shall

be a sufficient Warrant to the Surveyor to survey it and the

Certificate and Surveyor's Return to be bent to New-York, for

the Governor's Approbation. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol.

42.

Note—The above is called Instructions, but is, iuelTect, some-

thing like a Charter.

Hept. 27.

The Governor's Dedimus. dated in New-York, authorising

Captain John Collier and Captain Edmund (Jantwell, to give

the Oaths to the new Magistrates at Newcastle, and up the

River at Delaware, and also at the Whorekill. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 42.

Oct. 10.

An Entry in Newcastle Records that this Day the i>ew Jus-

tices, and Clerk, were sworn and establish'd in their Places by

Captains Collier and Cantwell, and the several new Commis-
sions granted by the Governor to ('aptain ('oilier, as also to

the Justices, with their Instructions, and the Connnission to

the Clerk being openly read, it was ordered that the same should

be recorded; and accordingly they all immediately follow that

Entry. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 42.

Oct. 26.

Two several Commissions, under Governor Andros's Hantl

and Seal, dated in New-York. 1. In his ^lajesty's Name ap
pointing five Persons, viz. Helmanus Wiltbank. Edward South-

erne. Alexander Molestien, John King, and Paul Mash. .Justices

of the Peace at the AVhorekill and Dependencys. and any three

to be a Court of Judicature. To continue one Year, or till

20—Vol. XV.
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further Order. 2. By vertiie of the King's Letters Pateut, and

the Commission to the Governor given by the Duke, The Gov-

ernor appoints John Avery to be Captain of the Foot Company

of tlie Militia at the Whorekill ; with a sliort Entry tliat the like

[Commissions] were given to a Lieutenant,

and to John Roads Ensign. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 94.

iVor. 8.

Tlie whole Bencli of Justices at Newcastle wrote a Letter to

the Governor, praying him to send them (as he had promised)

the Duke's Law-Book, corrected of all such Laws and Orders

as did not concern that River; complaining that some of those

who belonged to the Company of Militia of that Town lived

three or four Miles distant, and it was inconvenient to them to

do Watch in the Fort; and as this is a Frontier Place, it will be

to the Ease of the People, and Reputation of the Province, to

have a small Number of Soldiers kept, as in the time of the

Governor's Predecessors, or several would rather incline to pay

them than watch themselves : They pray the Governor to give

them a lesser Seal for the Office : They have no Prison, desire

the Governor's Order to erect one, and to appoint what Allow-

ance Prisoners shall have, and by whom to be paid; The last

Court made an Order to allow 40 Guilders for every Wolf's-

Head, to be levied from the Publick, they desire the Governor's

Approbation thereof. They desire the Governor's Order to im-

power them to a raise a Levy for defraying of small publick

Charges; They desire the Governor's Order, that Fines imposed

by the Court may henceforth, be converted for the publick

Charges, in repairing the Fort, building a Prison, &;c. Chiefly,

they tell the Gov?rnor. that in case Sloops and Vessels be,

henceforth, permitted to go up and down the River, trading

with the Peoule, and getting all the ready and best Pay, as

they now do, this Place will, in short time, be deserted and

come to nothing, which, then, will make this River as bad as

Maryland; wherefore, they entreat the Governor to prohibit

the going up of all Vessels, as it was in his Predecessors time;

and that this may be the only Place of Lading, Unloading,

and keeping of Stores for all Merchants; and pray the Governor

to order a publick Weigh-house and Store-house to be erected.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 44.

Nov. 20.

From the New-York Records, Minutes of the Governor and

Council: several Letters about Major John Fenwick s Actings

in New-Jersey, on the East-side of Delaware River, by his

granting Patents, refusing to obey the Gcvernoi-'s special War
rant, «fec. . being read; and it importing the King's Service and
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the Good and Quiet of the Inhabitants of those Parts. Resolved

that he be sent for, and, if there be occasion, that tlie Com-
mander and Magistrates at Dehiware do use Force for seizing

and sendin<; him liitlier; and as to one Jaquet, who has been

dispossest of Land on tlie East-side of Delaware River by Major

Fenwiek, that the Court do repossess him thereof and if neeu

be the Commander to assist them. New-York Records, No. 1.

Fol. 95.

jVov. 23.

Governor Andros's Letter dated from New-Y'ork, and directed

for the Commander and Court at Newcastle, in answer to tlieirs

of the 8th Instant before stated, wherein he, having taken the Ad-
vice of his Councils, sends tliem Orders to seize Major Fenwiek,

and to repossess Jaquet as above, and then answers their own De-

sires, by telling them lie will send them one of the Duke's Law-
Books, that the Inhabitants of the Town of Newcastle, and
within a Mile thereof, are to keep Watch, but none to be obliged

to come to it further : The Proposal about Soldiers to be

further considered ; Care Avi 11 be taken for a publick Seal against

next Year; You may cause a Prison to be built in the Fort;

For Allowance to Prisoners, you are to be directed by the

Law-Book; I confirm the Order about killing Wolves, for the

present Year; I grant the Fines to the Court, for this Year, and
the two past Years, for publick Uses, and the Sheriflf and Re-

ceivers to pay the same, and the Court is to send the Governor
an Account how they are disposed of: The Sheriff is to have 5s.

in the Pound for collecting the same and other Charges;
towards the further defraying of publick Charges, in the Town
of Newcastle, as also up the River, and in the Bay, a Levy al-

lowed to be made of a Penny in the Pound upon every Man's
Estate, to be taxed by indifferent Persons to be appointed by
the Court, but an Account to be given hither to the Governor

;

The former Orders to be duely observed, as heretofore, and
care to be taken that no Vessels go up the River above New-
castle to trade; a Weigh-house is allowed in the Town of New-
castle, for the which you are, then, to appoint an Officer, to

be sworn thereto. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 46.

1676. Dec. 8.

From Newcastle Records. The Orders of the Court at New-
castle, consisting of the Commander and Justices; The Com-
mander informing them that he had sent to and been with
Major Fenwiek, over at his own House, who refused to

obey the Governor's special Warrant, and stood upon his De-
fence, saying, the Governor of New Y'ork had nothing to do
with him, and he would obey nothing, but Avhat should come
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from the King, or the Duke, and threatened any one to take

him; the Court comes to a Resolution that Force be used, and
that Fenwick be taken, and sent to York to the Grovernor.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 48.

Same Day.

And accordingly by a Warrant of the same Day, dated at

Newcastle in Delaware, and signed by Captain Collier and the

Justices, as the Commander, and Court at Newcastle in Dela-

ware, they appoint '?> Persons, of which one was the Under-

Sheriflf, to levy 12 Soldiers out of any the Militia of this River,

and repair to Fenwick's House, and to bring him by Force

before us to this Town of Newcastle, and to pull down, break,

burn or destroy the House for the apprehending of him ; and
in case of Resistance to tire upon him, or his, and if Fenwick
or others resisting shall be killed, you are hereby discharged

and held innocent, as being done in pursuance of the Duke's

Lieutenant's Orders, and of us, by the (jovernor's Order re-

commended. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 49.

Decenih. 16.

From the New Y'ork Records. Grovernor Andros's Warrant,

signed in New Y'ork, directed to the Sheriff of New Y'ork, com-
manding to take into his Custody, and safely keep, in order to

a legal Trial, John Fenwick, sent a Prisoner hither from Dela-

ware, for presuming to act as a Proprietor and Supreme Magis-

trate, without any, and even refractory to, lawful Authority.

New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 9.3.

Jan. 2.

At a Court held at Newcastle before the Couimander and
Justices, Four several Families petitioned for Warrants, to

take up 250 Acres of Land for each Family, their Petitions are

granted, provided they settle according to the Governor's

Orders, and the there following Warrants were given to each

of the said Persons, directed to Captain Cantwell the Surveyor,

to survey, for each Family 250 Acres on the West side of Dela-

ware River or Bay, within the Limits of that Court, and to

make returns of the said Surveys to the Court, for to be sent

to New York, in order that Patents may be had. Newcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 50.

Feb. 8.

The Court at Newcastle write a letter to rxovernor Andros
at New York, making request of many further Powers; They
tell him. Order is given for erecting a Weigh house and Prison;

as to the Watching, by those who live within a mile of the

Town, they say that some of those at Swanwick will fall
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within the Mile, and must come, when their next door neigh-
bors, witliout the Mile, will be excused, which will breed Dis-
content, therefore desire the Governor's further Order therein;
As to the Levy of the Penny per Pound which your Honour al-
allovved, the People live so distant, and their estates so inconsid-
erable, that we can fhid no way to discover the V^alue or if discov-
ered, to make it valuable to receive; but if your Honour would
allow of a Poll-Levy, as in Virginia and Maryland, it will be
easier made and received. Pray remember our former Petitions
about Soldiers, the Law Book and Seal; we send you a copy of
the Fines; we desire your Order and Approbation about "the
following Particular.^. 1. That you will impower the Com-
mander Captain Collier, or the Court, to prove Wills, and
grant Letters of Administration, with the Fees, for the Estates
of most People in these Parts are so inconsiderable, that the
Charge and Expence of going to your Honour at New York to
obtain the same, is much to their Hindrance. Prav the Gov-
ernor either to appoint a Vendue-Master in the River, or else
to impower the Court to do it; and that the Valley above the
Town, which was late Captain John Carr's, and was given by
the Governor to the Town for a Common, may be a stinted
Common; that an Order may beset forth in the River and Hay.
forbidding all Persons to lend Vessels to any Stranger to go
over to the East side of this River, or Servants, without a Tick'et
from the Magistrates, under a Penalty ; for if this Order be not
made, you'll plea.se to consider that when the Alteration of
Government Cometh on the other side, [Note, the Duke of York
had, before this time, granted New Jersey, which was on the
other side, to the Lords Proprietors] we shall not be able to
keep any servants on this side; and lastly to admit of a Gen-
eral Court, or Meeting, of all the Justices, as heretofore, if

but for making up the Levies, collecting of General Revenues,
and other publick and general Affairs; we are ready to obey
your Honour's Orders, and to use all Endeavours for the Ad-
vancement of the People over whom your Honour has put us,
and are your most humble Subjects and Servants. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 51.

1670. ^^ame Day or Month.
From the New York Records. Two Grants from Governor

Andros, 1. To John Woodhus, of Land called Would have
more, on West side of Delaware Bay, and on North side of
Duck Creek in the middle Branch of the said Creek, contain-
ing 400 Acres as by Survey, Quit-Rent 4 Bushels. 2. To Morris
Lester of Land on West side of Delaware Bay, and on the
North side of Duck Creek in the middle Branch of .said Creek,
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next to Woodhus's, containing 400 Acres, Quit-Rent, four

Bushels. New York Records, No. 3. Fol. 47.

1677. Apr. 6.

From the New York Records. Minutes of Council in these

sliort Words only, Three Months Liberty given to any Sloop

or Vessel to go up the River above Newcastle, to fetch old

Debts. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. flfi.

.Vame Dai/.

Governor Andros's Letter or Orders, signed by him at New
Y'ork, and countersigned by Matthias Nicolls Secretary, in

Answer to the Proposals from the Court at Newcastle of the

8th of February last; None to watch or ward in the Town or

Fort but such as live in or near the Town, unless on Alarms or

extraordinary Occasions; Levys to be laid by the Poll as usu-

ally; a Law-book shall be sent; the past and next Years Fines

granted for publick Charges, so to lessen the Rate; the several

Courts may, at a Sessions, take Proofs and Security, and grant

Administration of Wills, but, if above 20Z. to remit the same

here to the Secretary's Office to be recorded : The Court to re-

commend one for Vendu Master. The Fees to be 6 per Cent,

besides the Cryer, and no other Charges; the Commons to be

regulated by the Court, till further Order; all Persons in Dela-

ware River, or Bay, leaving the Government, to set up their

Names, where they live, and in Newcastle, and in this City,

according to Custom, in Default thereof, any assisting their

Departure, to be liable to the Penalty; Liberty is granted for

the Sloops, &c. , going up the River, as formerly, for this

Year's Effects, or former Debts; five Guns. 80 Hoes, and one

Anchor of Rum, the Remainder of the Pay for the Land at the

Falls, to be forthwith paid the Indians; the Remaining Part

of the Land, betwixt the old and new Purchase, as also the

Island called Peter Alricks, or so much as is not already pur-

chased, and the Indians will part with, to be bought of them;

for which Captain Israel Helm is to enquire for the Owners,

and if they'll be reasonable to bring them to the Commander
and Court at Newcastle for concluding a Bargain thereof.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 53.

May 1.

From New Y'ork Records, Minutes of Council, on a Letter

from Newcastle about Mrs. Block's being debarred of her Out-

drift for Cattle. Resolved a convenient Out-drift to be allowed

according to Law, as by former Order of Council. New York
Records, No. 1. Fol. 9G.

June 8.

From Newcastle Records, at a Meeting of theCommander and
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Justices there, they read in Court the (Jovernor's Answer dated
the Gth of April, and entered the same, and having deliberated
thereon, writ an Answer thereto to the (iovernor; As to
Watch and Ward, they say none live near the Town but at
Swanwike. and if they are exempted, mt)st Part of the Town
will tiy thither; therefore intreat the (Governor to furnish them
with a small Number of Soldiers to wa:ch the Fort; As the
Governor has admitted of a Levy by the Poll, we find that
cannot be laid without a General Meeting, or High Court, of
all the Justices once a Year, we desire therefore, as we did
before, that the Governor will take it into Consideration, and
that such Meeting cr General Court may begin in September
next: For Treasurer we appoint John Moll, and desire the Gov-
ernor to nominate the Treasurer's Fees: Pray don't forget
the Lawbook, there is great Occasion for the same; we thank
the Governor for the gracious Act of granting the Fines for
lessening the Levy, but it will be difficult to collect, unless the
Governor sends Soldiers to assist the Sheriff in the execution
thereof: As to Letters of Administration we'll follow the Gov-
ernor's Instructions. We nominate Ephraim Herman for A'endu
Master, but it would be convenient to raise the Sallary to above
6 per Cent. As to Persons departing without a Pass! we shall
endeavour to observe the Governor's Order; as to the Liberty
for Sloops to go up the River, to receive former Debts, we
suppose they will never be without that Pretence. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 54.

June 23.

From New York Records, An Order signed by the Governor
at New-York, that Weights, &c. should be according tu former
Custom and Practice, unless otherwise determined by Law
published. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 9G.

July 6.

An Entry in the New York Records, that, upon an Order of
Court at the Whorekill. in the Case of William Hamilton,
eoncerning Weights, referred to the Governor, the there follow-
ing, (but here foregoing) Order was made. New York Records
No. 1. Fol. 96.

July 27.

From New York Records, several Judicial Acts of the Council,
Mrs. Block claims a Way for Out-drift of her Cattle, through
a Piece of Ground near Newcastle in Delaware, now in Tenul-e
of Cantwell and de Haes. for which he al ledges Custom for
above 10 Years; Hayes answers, whilst it lay r.nimproved an
Out-drift was suffered, Init it now l)eini,'- in Fence, desires to
enjoy the Benefit of his Grant; and Mrs. Block having nothing
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to produce to sliew her Right, Ordered that the Case be referred

to be heard and determined at the next Court at Newcastle,

reserving: Liberty tjf Appeal according to Law ; Also in the Case

between Walter Wharton and Edmund Cantwell, Ordered that

Wharton give Security to make good his Allegation, and Cant-

well to answer his l^roceedings and produce his Authority.

New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 90.

Jnljl 28.

The (rovernor's Order signed in New York, upon Request of

Hans Peterson, concerning several Judgments of the Courts of

Newcastle and Upland in Delaware, in a Case between Peterson

and Carolus about a Mare, the .Turys brought in several Ver-

dicts, and the Court gave different Judgments, and it not ap-

pearing by any Testimony wliat Mare was in Difference, 1 order

that the Executions in the said Matter b? suspended, and a full

Account of all said Proceeding, in both Couits, be sent to me:
and this Order is accordingly directed to the Courts of Newcastle
and Upland, and all Oflflcers in Delaware whom it may concern.

New York Records, No. 1. Fol 96.

July 28.

Governor Andros from New York, writes a Letter to Captain

John ('oilier (Jommander at Delaware, that he finds the Com-
mander goes to, and sits as Judge in Courts; orders him to

forbear doing so, to act according to his known Authority, and
in no Ca.se to go to Court. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 9G.

Aug. 13.

From New York Records, four several Warrants signed by the

Governor there, l)y Vertue ot Authority derived to him under

the Duke, appointing 1. Captain Christopher Billop to be

Sub-Collector of the Customs of Delaware River, to observe the

Acts of Trade, make Seisures, &c. and to observe such Orders

as he shall receive from the Chief Collector, or principal Officers

of the Customs here, and Superiors. Newcastle to be the only

Port for all Entries and Clearing.';. 2. Ephraim Herman to be

Clerk of the Permits, Entrys. and Clearings for all Duties of

Customs in Delaware River, and to receive the King's or Duke's
thirds of any Forfeitures. 3. Requiring all Persons that have,

or claim any Land in Delaware River and Baj', without Delay

to make a due Return to the Clerk of the Court in whose Juris-

diction it lies, and the said Courts to make a Return of the

whole to the Governor, that those wanting Grants or Patents,

may have them dispatched and sent: this to be published in

the several Courts, which are to take care therein, and the Sur-

veyor al.so to take Notice and see it be observed. 4. Appoint-
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ing. Ephraim Heniian Keceiver of the guit-Rents in Delaware
River? in fhe Jurisdiction of Newcastle, and Upland Courts,and
to keep exact Accounts, to he sent here by the 1st of May, made
up to 25 March before. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 97.

Aug. 13.

Three of the above Warrants and Orders, viz. for Herman to
be Clerk of the Permits, for Herman to be Receiver of the Quit-
Rents, and for Persons to come in for Patents for their Lands,
are also entered in. Records trom Newcastle, No. 11. Fol. SfJ.

Aug. 13-14.

Two more Warrants for Commissions from the Governor of
New York, by the first he appoints a new Commander, viz. Cap-
tain Christopher Billop to be Commander in Delaware River
and Bay, to take care that the Militia, in the several Places,
be well armed, duely exercised and kept in good Discipline.
By the 2d he appoints Walter Wharton to be Surveyor of Lands
in Delaware Bay and River, and apjioints what Fees he shall
take. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 98.

Aug. 14.

The Commission to Captain Billop to be Commander is also
in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 55.

Aug. 14.

And the Commission to Wharton to be Surveyor is in New-
castle Records, No. 11. Fol. GO. and—Kent Records, No. 14.

Fol. G.

Aug. 14.

Another Order from the Governor dated in New Y'ork, upon
a Complaint which had been made to him, not to hinder the
Owners of a Mill, standing on a Creek, in Christiana Kill, in
Delaware River, but that they shall have free Liberty, to cut
Wood for Reparation of said Kill, upon any Land, not in Fence,
according to Law. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 98.

Same Day.
Governor Andros writes a Letter to the Justices of the Court

at Newcastle, acquainting them of the Change of the Comman-
der, and the other Officers which hethe Governor had appointed,
and will fill up their Court at the usual Time next Month,
and then send them the Law-Book. As to penal Bonds, or
such like Cases of Equity, you may judge thereof according to
Equity

; finds no need of a General or High Court in the River;
directs them to take Care and fitting Orders for Ordinarys, that
they be fit Persons, and duely licensed, and that none else be
admitted to retail. New Y^ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 98.
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Scune Dai/.

That Letter, as entered also in New(;astle Records, No. 11.

Fol. 57.

Sept. 4.

A Court lield. before the Justices in the Court of Newcastle,

when they read the several Couunissions and Orders from the

Grovernor of the 13th and 14th past, and entered then; and as

to his Order, that Persons should come in f<jr theii- Patents,

they call it a Standing; Order, and make an Entry that it was

published in Court, and that a true Copy thereof, in English

and Dutch, was fixed up at the Fort Gate in Newcastle.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 55, 56.

Sept. 5.

From the Newcastle Records, an Order made upon the Peti-

tion of John Edmunds to have a Patent for 800 Acres of Land,

formely granted him in 1673, but not settled in time, by Reason

of the Dutch coming in, but he afterwards set down upi>n them

again, with Captain Cantwell's Leave, and has ever since been

in Possession, but some other Persons afterwards surreptitiously

got a Grant of it, who are since dead, without Heirs, and

therefore prays a Re-survey. The Court orders a Re-survey,

and that the Petitioner do apply to the Governor to obtain a

Patent, and to desire that the former Patent may be disannulled

upon Record. Also the Court, according to the Governor's

Order, appoint Ephraim Herman Vendu Master, and to receive

the Fees by the Governor allowed. Also the Court appointed

Walter Rowels Constable for one Year; his Limits or Bounds

to be from the South side of St. George's Creek, to Boompties

Hook, including Apoquemenen. Blackbird Creek, and all

Ijetween the said St. George's and Boompties Hook aforesaid.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 58.

1677. Sept. 6.

John Moll (Avho appears at Fol. 55 to be the first named of

the Justices ) signs a Warrant to Walter Rowles, Constable of

Apoquenemen. to take a List of all the Tytables within his

Bounds, and to bring it to the next Court to be held in New-

castle. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 58.

Sept. 23.

Two more Commissions from Governor Andros dated in New-

York ; the first appointing seven Persons Jnstices of the Peace

for the Jurisdiction of Newcastle and Dependencys, and three

or more of "em to be a Court of Judicature, for one Year, or

till further Order; and the second authorising Captain Billop

the Commander, to administer the Oaths to those Justices.

New Y^ork Records, No. 1. Fol. S9.
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The same (Jouiiuissions entered iia Newcastle Records, iSo. 11.

Fol. 61.

Sept. 29.

From New York Records, A short Entry of a Grant from the

Governor to John Stevens for 1200 Acres of Land, which had been

certified by tlie Court at tlie Whorekill, in a Creek called Little

Creek, near nnto St. John's Creek, lyin^; on the West side of

Delaware Bay, and on the North side of the said Creek, near

Duck Creek, and bounded partly upon Land formerly laid ou|

to him. New York Records, No. '6. Fol. Go.

Same Day.
From Newcastle Records, another Grant, at full length, from

Governor Andros, dated at New York, unto Justa Andries, of

a House and Lot of Ground at Newcastle in Delaware, near

the Old Fort, late belonjrins to Captain John Carr, as l)y Pat-

ent from the late Governor Lovelace of 1 May 1G71, being con-

demned by the Court at Newcastle and sold for Carr's Debts,

reserving Quit-Rent to the Duke one Bushel. Newcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 59.

Oct. 2.

A Court held before the Justices at the Court of Newcastle,

where the Governor's Connnission to Mr. Wharton to be Sur-

veyor, dated 14 Aug. last was read and (ordered to be recorded.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 60.

Oct. 6.

That Court seems to be continued, and the Dedimus to swear

the new Justices, and the new Justices Commission, are entered,

and the new Justices were sworn. Newcastle Records, No. 11.

Fol. 61.

Oct. 9.

A Bill of Sale from Captain Christopher Billop, to his Brother

Joseph Billop, in Fee, of an Estate in England, wherein Cap-

tain Billop takes on himself this Title, viz. Commander in

Delaware, belonging to the Colony of New York in America
under his Royal Highness the Duke of York. With Governor

Andros' s Certificate of the 25th of the same October, that the

Persons Names who were set down as Witnesses to that Deed,

were Magistrates or Officers in Newcastle in Delaware, Mr.

John Moll being a Justice of the Peace, and Mr. Edmund
Cantwell Sheriff there; And, a Note that that Deed, and some
other Writings, were entred at the Request of Mrs. Mary
Billop, on 26 Octob. 1677. Also Christopher Billop's Bond
(wherein he takes the same Title) of 9 Oct. 1677, to his Brother
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Joseph Billo[) in GOO/, penalty, to perform the Covenants in

the said Deed of (Tift. Newcastle Records, No. 1. Fol. 101.

Oct. 10.

A Letter from Governor Andres at New York, to the Gov-
ernor of Maryland, acquainting him that having? received the

Duke's leave to go home this Winter, so as to return in the

Spring, he shall sail this Month, and hopes, and doubts not of

the Continuance of his good Neighbourhood. New York Re-

cords, No. 1. Fol. 99.

Oct. i:i

The Governor's three Letters, of the like Tenor, to the Judges
or Magistrates of the Court at Newcastle on Delaware, to the

Justices or Magistrates of the Court at Upland, and to those

of the Whorekills, acquainting them of his going tiome; and
he adds, any Appeals to be, to the Court of Assizes, which, or

Extraordinaries, may be sent to the Secretary Captain Nicholls

here, and, if occasion, to be communicated to the Council.

New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 100.

This Letter is also in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 62.

Tfie same Day.

The Governor wriies another Letter to Captain Billop, the

Commander at Delaware, acquainting him also of his going

home, to return next Spring, and recommends Care to him in

his Stations, both as to the Militia and Customs, and sends

him by the Sloop, a Supply of Musket Bullets. New York
Records, No. 1. Fol. 100.

Oct. 19.

Governor Andros's Letter to Ephraim Herman, Clerk of the

Customs at Delaware, wishes he could have had an exact Ac-

count of the Quit Rents of the River and Bay, before his going
to England; Draw out and deliver to the Commander, for the

chief Collector, an Account of all Permits and Fees paid by
two Ships, there named. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 102.

Nov. 10.

Governor Andros's Commission, dated in, and under the Seal,

of the Province of New York, wherein, by Virtue of the King's
Letters Patent, and the Commission and Authority given to the

Governor by the Duke, he the said Governor, in his Majesty's

Name, appoints seven persons to be Justices of the Peace at the

"Whorekill. and the Dependency?, viz. Helmanus Wilhank,
Henry Smith. Alexander Molesteyn. Edward Soutlieran. Paul
Mash, John Barkstead, and John Roads, and any four, or more.
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to be a Court of Judicature, To be in Force for one Year, or

until further Order. New Y'ork Records, No. 1. Fol. 102.

Now we have no more Acts of Grovernor Edmund Andros Esq. ;

till he gets back to America next Year; and then he comes

back Sir Edmund Andros, Knight. We see he received the

Government from the Dutch, but ttie last Day of Octoljer, 1674.

and we have Entries, (in the New York Records) of many more

Grants of Lands made by the Governor Ednnind Andros, Esq;

but without any Dates to them : they must of Necessity, there-

fore, have been dated between October, 1G74, and Nov. 1677,

and so here they follow, in this Place, it not being our Fault

that the Records, in the King's Province of New York, are no

better entered up.

j^-^OTE— All these Lands that follow are expressly said to be

on the West Side of Delaware River, or Bay, and are all con-

tained in New York Records, No. 3. but the particular Folios

of that Book are marked, against each single Grant.

To Peter Dalboe. 300 Acres on the East Side of Schuilkill,

Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 32.

To Laurentius Carolus, 350 Acres near Crum Kill, Quit Rent,

three Bushels and an half. Fol. 25.

To Charles Jansen and others. 1,000 Acres in Naaman's Creek,

Quit Rent, 10 Bushels. Fol. 58.

To Henry Barker, a Town Lot below the Fort at Newcastle.

Fol. 54.

To William Currer and another, 600 Acres in St. (George's

Neck, North Side of Dragons Swamp, Quit Rent, six Bushels.

Fol. 51.

To John Pitt, 500 Acres in St. George's Neck. Quit Rent, five

Bushels, Fol. 52.

To Evan Salisbury. 300 Acres in St. George's Neck, Quit Rent,

three Bushels. Fol 49.

To George Axton, 200 Acres South Side of St. George's Creek,

Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 24.

To William Grant, 400 Acres on South Side of main branch

of St. George's Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 24.

To William Marriot, 100 Acres, on South Side of St. George's

Creek, Quit Rent, one Bushel. Fol. 34.

To Richard Scaggs, 300 Acres, on South East Side of South

West Branch of St. George's Creek, Quit Rent, three Bushels.

Fol. 31.

To Abraham Enloes, 170 Acres on North Side of St. Augus-

tine's Creek, Quit Rent, one Bushel and half. Fol. 59.

To Peter Alricks, 560 Acres, on South East Side of St. Augus-

tine's Creek, Quit Rent, five Bushels and half. Fol. 5!i.

To Brian Omella. 200 Acres, on North Side of Drawyers Creek,

Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 48.
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To Ditto, 200 Acres, on 8outli Side of Drawyers (Jreek, Quit

Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 37.

To Maurice Daniel, 190 Acres, on North West Side of Apo-
quiniminick Creek, (^uit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. GO.

To Edward Swandall. 200 Acres, on North West Side of Black-

bird Creek, Quit Rent, tw<j Bushels. Fol. 50.

To Robert Tallent, 200 Acres, on South East of Blackbird

Creek, Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 51.

To Thomas Bromall, 300 Acres, on South East of Blackbird

Creek, Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 58.

To Thomas Coks, ^OO Acres, on South East of Blackbird

Creek, Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 50.

To John Woodas, 400 Acres, on South East of Blackbird

Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 57.

To William Ford, 800 Acres, on North Side of Duck Creek.

Quit Rent, eight Bushels. Fol. 22.

To John Denn, 200 Acres, on North Side of Duck Creek, Quit

Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 27.

To John Morgan, 300 Acres, on North Side of Duck Creek,

Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 22.

To Francis Whitwell, 400 Acres, on North East Side of Duck
Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 48.

To Stephen Durdene, 400 Acres, on North East Side of a

Branch of Duck Creek, called Middle Branch, Quit Rent, four

Bushels. Fol. 50.

To Nicholas Bartlett, 400 Acres, on North East Side of Duck
Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 52.

To Henry Bowen, 400 Acres, on South Side of Duck Creek.

Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 56.

To Herbert Craft, 300 Acres, on South Side of Duck Creek.

Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 20.

To Edward Man, 500 Acres, on South Side of Duck Creek,

Quit Rent, five Bushels. Fol. 34.

To Oliver Melington and another, 400 Acres, on South Side

of Duck Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 57.

To Henry Palmer, 400 Acres, on South Side of Duck Creek.

Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 48.

To Robert Dickes, 200 Acres, on North Side of a Branch above

Little Creek, Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 21.

To Peter Perry, 200 Acres, on North Side of a Branch of Little

Creek, Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 21.

To William Willoughby. 200 Acres above Little Creek, Quit

Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 23.

To John Webb, 300 Acres, on South Side of Little Creek,

Quit Rent, thr^^e Bushels. Fol. 23.

To John Autrey, 300 Acres, in St. John's Creek. Fol. 68.
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To Daniel Whitley, 300 Acres, at the Head of St. Johifs ( 'reek.

Fol. 68.

To Thoma.s Philips, 600 Acres, on North Side of St. Jones

Creek, Quit Rent, six Bushels. Fol. 21.

To Peter Bawcoiii, 200 Acres, on Soutli ^'^ide of St. Jones

Creek, near Murder Creek, Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 28.

To Robert Frances, 400 Acres, on South West Side of St. Jones

Creek, Quit Rent, four Busliels. Fol. 21.

To Frances Neales, 400 Acres, on South West Side of St. Jones

Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 8.

To Henry Stevenson and another, 600 Acres, on North Side

of Murder Creek, Quit Rent, six Bushels. Fol. 28.

To James Peddy, 600 Acres, in Maspillin Creek, and on North

Side of it. Fol. 41.

To Thomas Davis Taylor. 500 Acres, East Side of Maspillin

Creek. Fol. 42.

To John Field, 300 Acres, in Maspillin Creek. Fol. 44.

To Richard Hill, 1.000 Acres, on Mispillin Creek. Fol. 39.

To Josias Cowdery, 700 Acres, on North Side of Cedar Creek.

Fol. 65.

To Robert Hart, 600 Acres, on North-Side of Cedar Creek.

Quit Rent, six Bushels. Fol. 33.

To Robert Hart Jun., 500 Acres, on Cedar Creek. Fol. 38.

To Thomas Davis, 300 Acres, in Cedar Creek. Fol. 39.

To Edward Forloun?, 400 Acres, in Cedar Creek. Fol. 40.

To John Otten, 300 Acres, in Cedar Creek. Fol. 40.

To John Ashman and another, 300 Acres, on Soutli Side of

Cedar Creek, Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 49.

To Dittos, 400 Acres, on South Side of Cedar Creek. Quit Rent,

four Bushels. Fol. 50.

To Alexander Draper and another, 996 Acres, on South Side

of Cedar Creek, Quit Rent, ten Bushels. Fol. 64.

To John Deprey, 1,000 Acres, near Slaughter Creek. Fol 37.

To James Lillie, 300 Acres, on a Branch of Slaughter Creek.

Fol. 43.

To Randal Revel, 900 Acres, on Slaughter Creek, near to the

Whorekili, Quit Rent, five Bushels. Fol. 20.

To William Prentis, 400 Acres, in the Woods, five Miles South
West from the Whorekili Town. Fol. 42.

To William True. 300 Acres, in the Woods, five Miles Distance.

South West from the Whorekili. Fol. 45.

Jacob Seth, 500 Acres. South West from the Whorekili Town.
Distance about four Miles. Fol. 44.

To Henry Smith. 3,000 Acres, called Prime Hook, near

Slaughters Creek, by Prime Creek, Quit Rent, 30 Bushels.

Fol. 20.
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To John Cornelis, 300 Acres, in Marches Creek, to tlie North
of the Whorekill Town. Fol. 30.

To John Kirk, 800 Acres, in the Woods, South West from the

Whorekill Town, about Ave Miles, and to a Branch prcoeed-

ing from Rehobuth Bay. Fol. 42.

To Daniel Brown, 400 Acres, upon Pagans Creek, near the

Whorekill, Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 4G.

To Hermanns Wool bank, 134 Acres, upon the Whorekill and
Pagans Creek, Quit Rent, one Bushel and a Quarter. Fol. 55.

To Edward Southeran, 400 Acres, on Pagans Creek, Quit Rent,

four Bushels. Fol. 53.

To John Kephaven, 69 Acres, near Pagans Creek, upon the

Whorekill. Quit Rent, Half a Bushel. Fol. 55.

To Alexander Molestedy. 611 Acres, upon the Whorekill, near

Pagans Creek, Quit Rent, six Bushels. Fol. 46.

To William Tom, 132 Acres, l)y Pagans Creek and the Whore-
kill, Quit Rent, one Bushel and a Quarter. Fol. 54.

To Ditto, 80 Acres, upon the Whorekill, near Pagans Creek,

Quit Rent, three Pecks. Fol. 55.

To Cornelius Verhoofe, 112 Acres, at Mouth of the Whore-
kill Creek. Fol. 37.

To Henry Stretcher, 600 Acres, upon the Whorekill. by Kick-

out, Quit Rent, six BusheLs. Fol. 32.

To John Lining, 300 Acres, in the Woods, to the Eastwartl

of the Whorekill Town. Fol. 40.

To William Warren. 300 Acres, at Potoks Creek, on East Side

of Whorekill Town. Fol. 38.

To Abraham Clement. 400 Acres, on Cimbals Neck, in Mill

Creek. Fol. 35.

To Walter Lewis, 300 Acres in Cimbals Neck, on North Side

of a Small Creek. Fol. 35.

To Henry Stretcher, 400 Acres, in Cimbals Neck, joining to

Mill Creek. Fol. 41.

To John AUward, 400 Acres, on Cambals Neck, joining to

Mill Creek. Fol. 41.

To James Welles. 400 Acres, at Loues Creek. Fol. 43.

To John Johnson, 400 Acres, on Rehobuth Bay upon Loues

Creek. Fol. 45.

To Robert Brasey. 800 Acres, in the Woods, near Rehobuth
Bay. Fol. 39.

To Robert Brasey jun., 300 Acres upon Rehoboth Bay. Dis-

tance from the Whorekill about ten Miles, bounded l)y Richard

Brasey. Fol. 05.

To Richard Brasey, 300 Acres, on Middle Creek. Fol. 35.

To William Buston. 1.000 Acres, on South Side of Rehoboth
Bay. and on North Side of the (ireat River, and by Middle

Creek. Fol. 38.
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To Hen:"y Peddiugton 400 Acres, on Rehoboth (reek, Quit
Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 53.

To Hubert Francis. Land, in St. Johnsons Creek. Fol. 44.

To John CoUison, 300 Acres, on North Side of Grreat ('reek,

Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 03.

To Thomas Gil ley and another, 450 Acres, on North Side of

Great Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels and Half. Fol. 04.

To Charles Barnard. 300 Acres, on the Great ('reek. Quit
Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 03.

To John Brings, 400 Acres on South Side f)f Bawcoin Brijj^gs

Creek. Quit Rent, four Bushels. Fol. 24.

To William Froth, 200 Acres, on South West of Bawcom
Briggs Creek, Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 50.

To Samuel Barbary. 200 Acres, on South Side of Bawcom
Briggs Creek. Quit Rent, two Bushels. Fol. 4G.

To (Jornlius Verhoofe, 1218 Acres, on North Side of Mispann
Creek, by Indian Bridge (Jreek. Fol. 3(i.

To Samuel Stills, 400 Acres, on North Side of Maspim (Jreek.

Fol. 30.

To Christopher Jackson. 300 Acres, on North Side of Mispann
Creek. Fol. 45.

To Thomas (iadd, 300 Acres, on a (Jreek proceeding out of

Mispann Creek, Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. 04.

To Samuel Styles and another. 744 Acres, on North Side of

Mispann Creek. Fol. 37.

To Peter Cock. G50 Acres, on Quessinawominck ('reek. Quit

Rent, six Bushels and Half. Fol. 25.

To Laurence Cock and others. 1000 Acres, at Cohocksinks
Creek. Quit Rent, 16 Bushels. Fol. 20.

To Michael Fredericks, 300 Acres, at Sissowokisink Oeek,
Quit Rent, three Bushels. Fol. (il.

To Errick Mullock and others. fl50 Acres, at Si.ssowokisink

Creek, Quit Rent, nine Bushels and Half. Fol. 27.

To Sanders Molestin, 50 Acres, on Back of his own Land.

Fol. 43.

To Francis Walker and another, 450 Acres, on the lower Side

of Nishambanack Creek, Quit Rent, four Bushels and a Half.

Fol. 62.

To Peter Peterson and another, 500 Acres, on lower Side of

Pimmecpihkahs Creek, Quit Rent, five Bushels. Fol. 26.

All the 108 foregoing Grants are shortly entered in the New
York Records No. 3. at the Folif)s before respectively mentioned.

1677, Jan.. 1.

From the Newcastle Records, A (Jourt being held at New-
castle. Captain Billop. the new Commander there, delivers

21—VuL. XV.
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them a Letter at the Fort belonging to that Town, being tor

the publiek Service, ought to be repaired by the Inhabitants

within that Jurisdiftion. and not out of his Royal Highness's

Revenues, and desires they'll take care to raise Moneys to re-

pair it. and that this his I^etter and their Answer to it may
be recorded. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 62.

Jan. 2.

The Court read that Letter, and gave for Answer, that when
the Sheriff brought in liis Account of Reeaits at Lady-Dav,
and the Debts already due on the publiek Account should be

first })aid, the Court is willing what should be left should be

so employed. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. (52.

Jan. li.

Five Petitions presented to the Court, who grant Liberty to

four of the Petitioners to take up 200 Acres a-piece, and to the

fifth to take up a Town Lot, they ssating, improving, and
liuilding, according to the Governor's Orders. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 6:i.

March 7.

An Indenture between Samuel Styles, and Robert Tray ley.

of the Whorekills. Planters of the Province of New York, of

the one Part; and John Shackerley, and Raynier Williams of

New York, Merchants, of the other Part. Reciting, that the

Duke of York, by his Grant under the Great Seal of the Province

of New York, dated 20 Sept. 1677, did grant unto the said Styles

and Trayley, a Parcel of Land on the West Side of Delaware
Bay, called Styles's Delight, on the North Side of a Creek,

called Muspalling Creek, containing 744 Acres; now they, for

valuable Consideration, convey the same to Shackerley and
Williams, in Fee, To hold, under his Royal Highness, for the

Rents and Services in the orierinal Deed receited mentioned
to be sealed and delivered in the Presence ot the open Court,

and acknowledged at the Court held for the Whorekills, on the

12th of the same: this Deed is said to have been recorded at the

Request of Johannes Kypp; and that the original Deed was
brought to St. Jones's Court, being a called Court, held for

.Johannes Kypp and Raynier Williams, PlaintifTs,and Cornelius

Verhoofe, Defendant, on 28 April, 16H1, confirming [I suppose

they meant concerning] said Land. Kent County Records, No.

14. Fol. 1,5, 16.

1678, Map 22.

From the Newcastle Records. A copy of Minutes of a Council

held in New York, ordering an Express to be sent to the Com-
mander and Justices of Newcastle in Delaware to notify to
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Major Fenwiek, not o assume the Powers he did, on the East

Side of the River, he having therein broke his Parole, and if

lie refuses, the said Commander and Justices are to order him

to go to New York, and if he denies that, then the said Com-
mander and Magistrates, together with the Sheriff, are to use

Force to seize his Person, and send him to New York. New-

castle Records, No. 11. Fol. 04.

June o.

An Entry in the Newcastle Records, that in pursuance of the

said Order of Council, the Justices from Newcastle writ tlie

there following Letter to Major Fenwiek, at New Salem, ac-

quainting him what order they had received from the (Jouncil

of New York, and that he should forbear assuming any power on

the East Side of Delaware, and to send them his Answer. New-

castle Records, No. 11. Fol. 64.

Same Day.

An Entry in the Newcastle Records, of Major Fenwick's Let-

ter sent back by Thomas Woolston, Under Sheriff, wherein he

insists he has Authority to act, by Virtue of the King's Letters

Patent, and of the Duke'o Grant to John Loi-d Berkley, and

Sir George Carteret, and the Lord Berkley's Deed to the said

Major Fenwiek, all which had been before produced to the Gov-

ernor and Council, at New York; and that he is not obliged to

go to New York, tfec Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 04.

Jxme 5.

Another Entry in the Newcastle Records, of a Letter signed l)y

the Justices there, and directed to Captain Matthias Nicholls,

and the rest of the Council in New York, acquainting them
with, and sending them the Letters between them and Fenwiek

informing, that Fenwiek still acts : and granted, but on the Sat-

urday last, a special Warrant for the apprehending one Eldridge

and tleclares, that no Man shall take him alive; no. not if the

Governor himself came; therefore, what you further resolve, if

directed to us, we desire may be absolute and sufficient, for he

won't betaken without Bloodshed. As to Mr. Toms, deceased,

there was an Execution against his Body, but not against the

Estate: But, if vour Honours think fit that the whole Estate,

real and personal, be sold, we then desire a more positive and
absolute Order, and it shall be readily performed by us. New-
castle Records, No. 11. Fol. 65.

June 21.

Another Entry of a Meeting (afterwards) of the Commander
and .Justices at Newcastle, at which Meeting they read and en-

tered, an Answer, of this Date to the Justices from the Council
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of New York, complaining; that their letter of the 5th was very

little satisfactory to the Council ; they say the Council's former

Order about Fenwick was absolute and full, in case of his Re-

fusal, so they shall not alter any thing therein, but leave the

Justices to answer their Neirlect to the Governor, who is dayly

expected. Also a great deal about selling Captain Tom's Estate,

to pay Debts; and that it's unreasonable Captain Delavall's

.Judgment should be excluded, because Mr. Tom had in his Will

excluded it; The execution against the Debtor's Body not being

thought sufficient to debar the creditor where there was Effects.

The Council admires at the court's so sudden giving Judg-
u)ent against the Deceased's Estate for a Stranger, of Maryland,

which may defeat others within the (Tovernment : Upon your

Desire of more particular Orders, the Council think it conveni-

ent that one of the Creditors should administer upon Tom's
Estate, and that Captain CantAvell (who resitrned any Interest

for his Son, who was named Tom's Executor) is the fittest Per-

son to have it ; who, upon giving Security to administer accord-

ing toLaw.and returning a Certificate hereof, may have Letters

of Adiuinistration from hence. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol.

fiG.

Jill If 17.

An Entry in Newcastle Records, that the Commander and
.Justices this Day met at Newcastle, and read the forementioned

Letter, and then fJaptain Billop acquainted them that he had
been last Week at Salem, and that then FeuAvick was willing

to answer the Councils Order at New-York, and that he will

surrender himself at New-York; whereupon, it was resolved

that, if Fenwick will give under his Hand, by a Letter to the

('ouncil, that he will not assume any Cxovernment on that side

of the River, and that he will, within 20 Days, appear at New-
York, then, he be left there: but. in r^ase of Refusal, then, that

the Commander and Higii Sheriff press and take with them .so

many of the Militia as they think fit, and witli them seize Fen-
wick, and send him to New-York, without Delay, according
to the Order of the Council. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol.

67.

Satne Dai/.

A Letter from the (Jommander anil Justices at Newcastle,

to Major Fenwick at Salem, of the Purport oi the foregoing

Order. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 07.

July 24.

Another Entry in Newcastle Records of a Letter from the Court
at Newcastle, directed to Captain Matthias Nicolles, and the
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rest of the Council, at jS'ew-York, acquainting them what they

had done as above, against Fenwick, and that, since, the Com-
mander and Sheriff have fetched Fenwick to jN'ewcastle, and

the Commander intends to send him by Land. As to TomV
Estate, Captain C'antweU offers Security, and intends to go to

New-York himself to take out Letters of Administration. As to

tlie .Tudgment so suddenly given, those of Maryland make no

difference, in the like cases, with us, but suppose there will be

little left after Captain Delavall's Debt is paid. JN'ewcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 67.

Ai(g. 4.

From the Records in Kent County, A Grant at full Length from

Sir Edmund Andros Knight, Lieutenant-Governor under the

Duke of York, dated in, and sealed wnth the Seal of New-York,
granting to ,Tohn Briggs Land laid out bv Warrant from

the Court of Whorekills on West side of Delaware Bay, about

two Miles al)Ove St. Jones Creek, l)ounded partly by Robert

Jones, and Walter Wharton, containing 260 Acres as by the Sur-

vey. C^uit-Rent reserved to the Duke 3 Bushels and :. Kent
County Records, No. 14. Fol. 7.

Au<i. 14.

From NewYork Records, the Entries of Three Grants from

Sir Edmund Andros of Lands laid out by Warrant from the

Court at the Whorekill. 1. To Francis Whitwell on West side

of Delaware Bay, and on North side of the Souther most Branch
of Duck-Creek, containing 1000 Acres. Quit Rent 10 Bushels.

2. The just-iuentioned (-frant to .John Briggs, of Land on the

West side of Delaware Bay, al)out, two Miles above St.

John's Creek, bounded partly by Kol>ert Jones and Walter
Wharton, containing 260 Acres, Quit Rent two Bushels and a

Half, o. To John Briggs and Mary Phillips joyntly, on North
side of St. .Jones's Creek, containing 450 acres of Land and 40

Acres of Marsh, Quit Rent 5 Bushels. New-Y'ork Records, No.
?,. Fol. 66.

Ana- 22.

l^rom the New-Y'ork Records, Minutes of the Council, Major
Fenwick having been sent from West-Jersey, in the Governor's
Aljsence about his late Disturbance there, and having had Copys
of what was laid to his Charge, in the several Depositions
t.^ken at Newcastle in Delaware against him, and now appear-
ing before the Governor in Council, desiring Time to answer
and to prepare Witnesses on his Part, alledging his Interest

to be distinct from this Government, so not to be judged or con-

cluded by it, therefore, prays an Appeal from the Judgment
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of the Court of Assizes to the King, in order whereto presses to

have leave to go home about his Occasions, the same was not

allowed, nor here dismist, but referr'd to the Judgment of the

Court of Assizes given against him. New -York Records, No.

1. Fol. 95.

>Sept. 6.

From Newcastle Records, at a court which was afterwards held

at Newcastle before all the Justices there is an Entry made, of a

Receipt, of this Date, signed by John Moll and Peter Alricks,

for 8 Iron Guns, 24 Musquets, Bandileers, Iron and Shott,

Musquet Bullets, Powder, &c. received from Capt. Billop as

l)elonging to the Fort (I suppose he had been then removed.)

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 68.

(fct. 8.

From New-York Records, Governor Andros's Commission,

dated in, and sealed with the Seal of New-York, appointing

7 Persons, Justices of the Peace at the Whorekill and Depen-

(lencys in Delaware Bay, viz. John Avery, Francis Whitwell,

Alexander Molesteyn, John Kipshaven, Luke Watson, John
Roads, and James Wells, and any four of them to be a Court of

Judicature, to be in Force for one Year. New-York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 103.

(ht. 11.

A Letter from Capt. Matthias Nicolls, dated from New-Y'ork,

and said to be written by the Governor's Order. There was
G80 Acres laid out for Nathaniel Walker on 11 May 1G77. situate

upon the South-westermost (Jreek of Rehoboth Bay, it is the

Governor's Order that he shall have the Land, after it has been

certified by your Court that it's not already granted or possest;

tipon the Return whereof he may have a Patent for the same.

There is a Piece of Land at the Whorekill possest between

Nathaniel Walker and John Winder, for which there is a Pat-

ent in the Name of Robert instead of John Winder, the which
is to be rectifyed, the Land lyes by a Broad Creek, between the

Kill and Prime Hook, containing in the Patent 1,000 Acres, and
an Island lying, at the Bottom of the Lanil, of ai)out 100 Acres,

which was surveyed for Part of it: but Henry Stretcher having

a Grant from the Court, for about 600 Acres, in no certain

Place, has pitched upon this 100 Acres Island as Part, the same
not being particularized in Winder's Patent; which, if enjoyed

by Stretcher, will liurt Walker and Winder; it is the Gov-
ernor's Pleasure that the said Island shall- belong to Winder's
Patent, and Stretcher is to take up his Land in some other

Place, altogether, as near as may be, and not by Parcel or

Piece-meal. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 8.
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1G78. Oct. 12.

From the New-York Records, Governor Andros signs a Writ-
ing at New- York, certifying that Capt. Avery, who was one of

tlie seven Justices of the Peace of the Court at Whorekill, liad

taken his Oath as such, and authorising hiui to administer ttie

Oatli to tlie others joyned with him. New-York Records, No.
1. Fol. io;i

Oct. 14.

A very short Entry in the New-York Records, that there was
a Commission for seven Persons tiiere named as Justices of

Newcastle in Delaware. New- York Records, No. 1. Fol. 1U3.

(tct. 26.

From the New-York Records, the following Order, signed by

Governor Andros at New-York, viz. Whereas in 1675 1 did,

amongst other Regulations, remit the (^uit Rents for the first

three Years, of all New Lands to be taken up in Delaware Pre-

cincts, which has p' oved inconvenient, by many taking up and
not seating; I therefore repeal and recall the same, except for

such as have seated and improved; but all such as have taken
up Land, and not seated and returned and made due Returns
thereof, as by Law and Orders, sent last Year to be recorded, to

forfeit the same, and the Land to be disposed of as vacant Land ;

and all such as have improved and seated, but not made Re-

turns, are required, within six Months, to return it to the

Clerk of the Court within whose Jurisdiction it is, to be there

recorded, and by the Court certified to the Secretary's Office

here; and such as have not paid their (^uit-Rents due, may
come, within six Months as above, and account and pay the

Arrears, to the now Receiver, from my first coming into the

Country in 1674; and, for the future, all such as have or shall

take up Land, are to pay their Quit-Rents from the taking up
such Land, and yearly, at the Towns of Upland, Newcastle,

and Whorekill, for the several Precincts, to their Perils: and
such as shall take up and not improve Land, to forfeit the same
according to Law. This Order to be forthwith publisht and
set up at the Court-houses of Upland, Newcastle and Whore-
kill. in Delaware. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 104.

The same Order also entered in the Newcastle Records, No. 11.

Fol. 70. and in Sussex Records. No. 17. Fol. 9.

Oct. 26.

From the New-York Records. Governor Andros's Letter dated
in New-York, and sent to the Justices of Newcastle. Your De-
sire of a Minister is allowed by the Law; a new Commission
for Magistrates is herewith sent; and also a Law-Book; Capt.
C3arr"s Land is allowed to be sold for the Creditors, and the
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Purchaser may have anew Patent for his Title; the Court have

power to order Matters relating to the Surveyor, in every re-

spect, according to Regulation and Law; the Book of Laws
gives Directions for Weights and Measures, but ancient Custom
may be lookt upon as Law; the publick Weigb-house is to be

gross Weights only; Payment for Wolves and otlijer necessary

Charges are to continue, on the East side, as formerly ; when
the Accounts of publick Debts are stated, and allowed. Order

shall be taken for Payment as desired; Houses and improved

Lands are liable to pay Debts, as well as Moveables; where

none administer the Court may appoint fit Persons, having

due Regard to Widows; all Favour may i)e expected to Trade
(so as the Acts of Parliament and Orders thereon be not in-

fringed) with due Regard to the fJustom-house here; the late

('ommander [Billop] is here, and to give an Account of his

acting in your Parts; if any have been wronged by him, they

shall have Right; also any publick Matter, which may further

accrue, rectified, as soon as may be. New York Records, No. 11.

Fol. 108.

The same Letter entered in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 68.

Same Day.

There is a very material Entry, in the New-Y"ork Records,

of a Commission granted by (iovernor Andros at New-York,
appointing six Persons to be Overseers, select Men, or Commis-
sioners, on the West-side of New-Jersey, on Delaware River, at

Elsingburgh and Parts adjacent, for one Y'ear, amongst the

New-comers: and, if any Dispute arise amongst them and old

Inhabitants of those Parts, then, Mr. Outhout, who has been

an ancient Inhabitant there, and is now one of the Justices of

Newcastle, to have notice, who is authorized, upon such Occa-

sion, to be one of the Court, and, being there, is to preside;

and you, or any four, to keep a Court as a Town or Corpora-

tion, quarterly or oftener, to appoint Constables, and to allow

fit Proportions of Land for present Lnprovement, the same
being duly purchased, and to hear and determine all Matters,

not extending t(j Life, Limb, or Member, or exceeding 5/.

Above which, to admit an Appeal to the Court of Justices at

Newcastle. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 104.

Oct. 28.

From the New York Records, Governor Andros' s Order, dated

in New-York ; directed to the Justices of the Court of Newcastle,

reciting that he had received several Complaints and Petitions,

from divers Inhabitants of the East side of Delaware River, that

they have been disturbed in the Possession of their Lands and
Tenements by Major John Fenwiek and others.. I desire and
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authorize you the Justices of the Court of Newcastle to take care

that the said Inhabitants be not disturbed in their Possession,

upon any Pretence whatsoever, by the said Fenwick or any
others, and, if Occasion, to make nie forthwitli ac()uainTed witli

tile same. New- York Records, No. 1. Fol. 10.").

This same Order is also entered in Newcastle Records, No.

11. Fol. 69.

Nov. 1.

From the Newcastle Records, Entry of the Court's Proceed-

ing:? held this Day at Newcastle, wherein the (Tovernor's Let-

ter to them, before stated, of the 2()th of October, is entered:

then they so on and say, that Mr. Michael Baron, for himself

and in behalf of the other old Inhabitants of the Eastern Shore,

this Day brought and produced in Coart a Warrant from Sir

Edmund Andros (governor, directed to this Court, being the

last Ordf^r herein before stated, which Warrant they also record ;

Then they goon and say, that the (xovernor's Order al>out

Lands, herein before stated, was also this Day read in Court
and fixed up at the Court-house, ami. then, that Order is also

entered; and then they proceeded to make several Orders of

their own; the Petition of Hans Peterson, desiring to take ui)

Lands in Schilpatts Creek, formerly improved, is referred to

next Court day; another Petition of Do. to take up some Marsh
before Joulsen"s Island referred till next Court-day ; a Petition

of Peter Alricks to take u)) 200 Acres in Apoquenemen, granted,

he seating and improving according to the (xovernoi-'s Regula-
tions; a Petition of John Walker, to take up 200 Acres granted
on the same Conditions; a Petition of Moses de (iannfora Lott

in the Town of Newcastle granted ; and the like to John Boyer.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. TO.

Nov. 18.

From the New-York Records, Governor Andros's Warrant,
dated in New-York, and directed to Capt. Edmund Cantwell,

Sheriff of Delaware, authorizing him to put Robert Stacey in

Possession of Mattiniconk Island, in Delaware River, which
the (Tovernor had leased to Stacey for seven Years from the 1st

of January then next, to enjoy the Benefit of his Lease. New-
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 105.

Same Day.
Governor Andros's Order, signed and dated at New Y^ork, re-

citing that some of the Land on the West side of Delaware
River, below the late Purchase at the Falls, is as yet. unpur-
chased of the Indian Proprietors, therefore, ne authorizes and ap-
points Capt. Edmund Cantwell and Ephraim Harman, to agree



•6m PENNSYLVA.MA AND MARYLAND

for and buy of tlie Iiuliun Proprietors, all that Tract, yet unpur-
chased, on the Western Shore of Delaware Rii-er, between the

late Purchase at the Falls and the former below, tot,'ether with

any Islands in the River, and to adjust Time, Place, Sum, and
Species, for P.iyment, of which to give me present Notice, for

my Approbation, whereupon Order shall be taken for the In-

dians Satisfaction. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 105.

•Same Day.
Cxovernor Andros's further Order, dated at New York, requir-

ing Capt. Cantwelland Ephraim HerJiian to send theOrovernor

a particular Account of the Rate or Levy laid in Delaware the

last Year towards defraying publick Charges in those parts what
it was, how raisetl, what it amounted to, and how disposed of?

And also the Copies of all Orders relating thereto, and a par-

ticular Account of what Debts there are, yet remaining unpaid,

since the late Change of Government, that due Care may be

taken for their Satisfaction. New-Y'ork Records, No. 1. Fol.

105.

Nov. 30.

An Order of the Governor and Coitncil in New York, reciting

that Henry Smith, of the Whorekill in Delaware Bay, had
raised several Reports aerainst some of the Magistrates and
Officers belonging to the Court there, and having declared the

same before the Governor, did afterwards, on the 8th of October

past, deliver in a Paper, charging two of the said Justices

and the Clerk of the said Court with several Crimes in general

Terms, whereupon, he was committed to the Sheriff of the City

of New York, till he should give 500/. Security to prosecute

or make good his Charge against them according to Law.
which he refusing, but pretending an Inquest in the County
for it, the whole Matter having beeni debated in Council, the

raid Smith is adjudged to pay. as a Fine, to the Church or

Poor here, lOZ. together with all incidental Charges; and that

he be, likewise, bound in a Bond of 20/. at the Whorekills, to

be of the good Behaviour, till the next general Court of Assizes:

and all Persons left to due Course of Law. New York Records.

No. 1. Fol. 106.

Note well—That we have, from the Records of New-York,
the Commissions and special Warrants hereafter mentioned,

which were granted by Governor Andros, in the selfsame Form
and Manner, for Magistrates, Officers, and upon other Occasions,

to the City of New-York, and other Places, which were meerly

within the Body of the Province of New-York, viz.

1G7-1. Nov. 10. His Commission to the Mayor and Aldermen
of the Citv of New-York. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol. 128.
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1674. Feb. 25. His Coiuiiiission to the Clerk ot the Court in
Long-Ishmd. Fol. 120.

IGTo. Sept. 0. His Commission to Justices of the Peace for
Kingston. Fol. 129.

1G75. Feb. 9. His special Commission to try a Murther in
Long-Island. Fol. 129.

1676. May 13. His special Summons for the Constable of Hemp-
sted to appear at New-York. Fol. 130.

1676. July 1. His Commission to a Sheriff in Long Island.
Fol. 130.

1670. Oct. 14. His Commission appointing Mayor, Aldermen
and Sheriff of the City of New- York. Fol. 131.

1676. Dec. 1. His Warrant to take up stray Cattle in Long-
Island. Fol. 132.

1678. Sept. 6. His Commission to the Magistrates at Schanec-
tady. Fol. 132.

All which shew that he exercised exactly the same Authority
in the Duke's Name, in no other manner, in the Body of the
Province of New-York, than what he did, in so many Hundreds
of Instances, in that Dependency, Delaware.

Mar. 5.

At a Court in Newcastle, held before the Justices and Sheriff,
upon William Pierce's Petition to have a Re-survey, and Grant
in his own Name, of two Tracts of Land containing 500 Acres
on the West side of Delaware River and on North side of Duck
Creek, heretofore granted by Patent from Cxovernor Andros to
Persons who have since deserted, his Petition is granted, he
paying the former Quit-Rents and all other charges ; and upon
John Cox's Petition of the Like Kind, for 200 Acres on the
South side of St. George's Creek, the like Order made by the
f'Ourt. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 72.

1679. .)/(//-. 29.

From the New York Records, Governor Andros's Order upon
a Petition of Cornelius Jansen of the Whorekill, That Kilmanus
Wooltbank put the Petitioner upon a Picee of Land in those
Parts, for three Years, pretending that it was his; and at the
End of the Term warned the Petitioner off, altho', as the Pe-
titioner is informed, he has no Right thereto or Patent for the
same; and therefore the Petitioner prays, since it is at his
Royal Highness's Disposal, and having wrought so long upon
it. that he shall enjoy it; the Magistrates at the Whorekill are
to examine and make Report of the Matter, and if it be as al-
ledge:]. the Petitioner to continue in Possession till further
Order. New-York Records, Np. 1. Fol. 107.
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Apr. 23.

From the Newcastle Records, an Entry made of a Letter sent

by the Justices of the ('ourt to the Cxovernor at New-York, ac-

quaintini,' him tiiat one Wallis left a Chest of Goods well lockt,

and put into the House of Hutchinson, and, coming to fetch

it away, found it had been broke oj^en and lockt up again, and

many Goods taken out ot it; after three strict Examinations

Hutchinson has confest, before us, that he stole the said Things,

and Search being madt', there is found in Hutchinson's House
most of the Things; Hutchinson has been five Days kept

Prisoner in our Fort: we uesire the Governor's Orders and Di-

rections, after wliat manner we are further to proceed, which
shall be strictly observed by us. Newcastle Records, No. 11.

Fol. 7:1

May 4.

From Newcastle Records, an Indian Deed of Sale, whereby

Mechaecksitt. chief Sachem of ( Vjhansink and sole Indian Owner
and Proprietor of all that Tract of Land called by the (chris-

tians Bompies Hoeck,and bv tlie Indians Newsink, in considera-

tion of a Gun and some other Matters, grants to Peter Bayard

of New-York, all that Tract of Land called Bompies Hoeck. lying

on the West side of Delaware River, and at the Mouth thereof,

beginning at a great Pond and a little Creek issuing out of the

said Pond, being the uppermost Hounds of the said Land, and

stretching down along the said River to Duck Creek, includ-

ing all the Land. Woods, Marshes. <i:c. , between the said upper-

most Pond and (Jreek. and Duck Creek, to hold to Peter Bay-

ard in Fee, to his own sole Use. Note. This Deed is witnessed

by Ephraim Herman, Clerk, who was one of the two Perspns

that the (.overnor had ordered to purchase the Lands of the

Natives, so that (by that Circumstance jit should seem to have

been purchased by Governor Andros's Order. Newcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 75.

3Iay 19.

From the New-Y'ork Records, the Entry of a Letter to the

Magistrates of Newcastle, which is signed in New-York by

Matthias Nicolls, and is there said to have been by the Gov-
ei-nor's Order; says the Governor has received theirs of 23 April,

about Hutchinson's Theft, By the Governor's Command I am
to acquaint you this Fact could not reach Hutchinson's Life,

by the Strictness of Law. if it were in England, and the Duke's
Laws are much more favourable,as you 11 see if you turn to the

Cajjital Laws: he reasons about the Nature of this Crime, and
its T'unishment, l)ut the <TOvernor leaves the whole to your

Court to judge and determine, and to put your Sentence in Exe-
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cution. In the Case between Harwood and Vanderveere, con-

cerning the Stone put in the Bag of Feathers, it's the Gov-

ernor's Pleasure that there be no further Proceedings in your

Court, his Honour has remitted the Fine, and a Stop is to be

put to the levying the Charges, the whole Case being order'd

to be heard, in this Place, before tlie Governor and Council in

October next, when botli Plaintiff and Defendant are to give

their Attendance here. As to the Difference, before your Court,

about the Pretence of Land between Vanderveere and Tenenian,

the same is, also, to l)e remitted here, with all Papers or Pro-

ceedings relating thereto, for a final Determination. Lauren-

tius Carolis complains that an Execution against him has, for

the greatest part, been levied by the Sheriff, and the Remainder
called for, tho' he has Judgment for a greater Sum against the

same Person Hans Paterson ; it's an old Difference about a Mare :

The same is, also, to be respited, and his Excellencv desires

an Account how that Matter sttnds between them, whereupon
a definitive Order will be given to determine the Matter in Dif-

ference between them. Thus far I have in Charge from his

Excellency the Governor to transfer to you. New-York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 107.

A Copy of the foregoing Letter is also in Newcastle Records,

No. 11. Fol. 73.

May 24.

From the Newcastle Records, a Return, this Day made, by

Edmund Cantwell, of his having, by virtue of a Warrant from

the Court of Newcastle, which was dated the 8th of November
last, laid out for Englebert Lott, two Lots of Ground at the

North-east End of Newcastle Town, where the old Fort stood.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 71.

May 31.

An Order signed by Governor Andros, for Peter Gronendike
at the Whorekill; according to tiie Order and Judgment of

the Court of Assizes, Cost of Suit, or Court-charges only,

to be paid ; which being satisfied here, the Party is not to be

molested by Henry Smith or any other, an account of any other

Charges of said Suit. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 108.

1679, June 4.

At a Court held in the Town of Newcastle before the Justices,

they granted Liberty to seven Petitioners, Fabian Orme. Chris-

topher Ellitt. John Daston. Elias Brown, Thomas Snellin;,^

and Thomas Broscum. to take up 200 Acres each, and to Beii-

ainin Gumley 300 Acres, in all 1500 Acres of Land, within that

Court's Jurisdiction, not l)efore granted, taken up or improved
by any other; they seating and impr3ving according to the
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(iovernor's Orders and Regulations. Newcastle Records, No.

11. Fol. 70.

June 6.

A Letter from New-York, signed by Matthias Nicolls, [who

was Secretary] and writ, by the (Tovernor's Order to the Magis-

trates of the Whorekill, giving them an Account of the Answers

given, upon several Requests which had been made to him bj'

particular Persons of their Parts, and his Approbation of sev-

eral Matters recommended to him by their Court, which had

been (also) inserted or indorsed upon the Requests, or upon
the Orders of their Court sent back to the Parties concerned.

In the Matter between Woolbank and Johnson, concerning

which the Court had certified their Report, the same was to

l)e allowed l)y Order of the (Tovernor. and to be confirmed to

Woolbank. On Verhoofs Petition to your (]ourt to be allowed

Clerk, and about Fees, which is certified to be granted by said

Court, upon their Recommendation the Governor allows it,

and Fees of extraordinary Courts to be ascertained. All Fees

to be collected, as by Execution. Upon the Court's Choice and

Recommendation of Verhoof to be Surveyor at the Whorekill,

the Governor orders him to be confirmed. Upon Kipshaven's

Petition to the Governor for a Piece of waste Land, the Governor

has granted the same (if as alledged) and to be surveyed in

order to a Patent. Upon Vine's Petition to the Governor to

officiate as Sherifl' at the Whorekill and Precincts, the Governor

returned the following Answer. Upon Security and Court's

Choice, allowed and confirmed. Upon Clark's Petition to the

Governor, of the Uncertainty of Surveyors Fees, he orders the

Price of Surveys be. at the Whorekill. &c. as in Virginia or

Maryland. A Magistrate of the City of New York unadvisedly

took an Oath of one Taylor, concerning Fees which he claimed

I'or surveying at the Whorekill. the Magistrates of this City

ha-'ing nothing to do in any other Parts'of the Government

out of their Precincts, and the said Oath being taken contrary

to Law, you are to take no Cognizance thereof, and by no means

to admit it as a Proof or Evidence for Taylor. New York

Records, No. 1. Fol. 109.

June 10.

From the New-York Records, the Governor's Letter, signed

by him, and dated in New-York, directed for the Magistrates

or Court of Newcastle, owning the Receit of theirs of the 4th

Instant, which had exclaimed against him, as having im-

properly remitted Vanderveere's Fine, in the Case between

Harwood and him, which had been determined by their Court.

And he orders, that their Clerk, or some other in their behalf.
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and Harwood and Vanderveer, repair and attend at New-York
for a Hearinj^ of the Cases they mention, to satisfy themselves

and others, and that, tho' it has not been lately, it is no wrong,
if Re-hearinsrs be from them, as well as other subordinata Courts,

tho' for the meanest Subject. New-York Records, No. 1. Fol.

110.

July 2.

From Newcastle Records. The Court there make and sign a

Writing, imi)owering Mr. John Moll, Capt. Edmund Cant-
well and the Clerk Ephraim Herman, to appear in behalf of

the Court, before the fitivernor at New-York, as well in Defence
of the Court, and the Orders and Sentences l)y them past, as

also in all Humility to request Privileges, and to represent

Grievances and desire that they may be removed, <Sfc. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 77.

July 8.

(rovernor Andros's Commission, dated in New-York, appoint-

ing Philip Pocock Surveyor to survey and lay out Tracts of

Land below the Falls of J^dlaware River, on the West side, for

several Persons lately come out of England and destitute of

Land, to take such Pees as in Maryland, and to make due Re-

turns of such Surveys for the Confirmation. New-York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 110.
'

Aug. 20.

From New-York Records, the Entries of three Grants from
Sir Edmund Andros, viz. 1. For Land laid out for Josiah
Barkstead. by the Approbation of the ('ourt at the Whorekills
on the West-side of Delaware Bay. and on the South-east side

of St. Jones Creek, containing 800 Acres as by Survey, Quit-

Rent 8 Bushels. 2. For Lands in Delaware Bay, in tlie Woods,
near unto Rehobah Bay, distant from the Whorekills about ten

Miles, unto Francis Meggs and John Colley, containing 600

Acres, as by Survey. Quit Rent 6 Bushels. 3. For Land in Dela-

ware Bay, and being upon Rehobah Bay, distant about eight

Miles South from the Whorekills, which had been laid out by
Approbation of the Court at the Whorekills for John Okey,
and bounded, partly by Timothy Love, containing 400 Acres,

Quit Rent 4 Bushels. New York Records, No. 3. Fol. 67.

Same Day.

Another Grant from him, to Andrew Deprie. for Land in

Delaware Bay, near unto Rehobath Bay, on the Northside
thereof, bounded, partly, by John Avery, containing 400 Acres,

Quit-Rent 4 Bushels. New-York Records, No. ?.. Fol. 68.

Same Day.
Also two more Grants from him, 1- To Robert Hign.it and
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Jolin <Jrue, of Land already seateii in Delaware Bay, near unto

Kehobah Bay, about four Miles to the South of it, called West-

fihester, containin>r !»00 Acres, Quit-Rent D Bushels. 2. To
Robert Bed well, of Land on the West-side of Delaw.ire Bay,

and on South-East-side of St. Jones Creek, bounded by the

Cypress Branch, and Chaptank Road, &c. containing HOG Acres,

Quit Rent, 8 Bushels. New-York Records, No. 3. Fol. (59.

Nov. 20.

Four more (irants from (-rovernor Andros, dated in New Y'ork.

1. To Peter Tescheruiaker. for a Town Lot in the Wet^t End of

Newcastle Town, Quit Rent, one Bushel. 2. To Matthias and

Aniilius de Ring, for another Town Lot at the West End of

Newcastle Town. :{. To Hendrick Vanderburgh, for another

Town Lot in Land Street in Newcastle Town, (^uit Rent, one

Bushel. 4. To Thomas Jacobson, and two others, of Land on

the West Side of Delaware River, callsd Red Clay Point, on the

North, and North West Side of Bread and Cheese Island, and

more than half compassed with a Branch of Christiana Creek.-

called Red Clay Creek, (H)ntaining 24H Acres, (^uit Rent, two

Bushels and an Half. New York Records, No. 3. Fol. 70.

.S'ame I)ai/.

Three more C+rants from (xovernor Andros. 1. To Bryan

Omella. tor some imi)roved Land. f)n West Side of Delaware

River, on North Side of Apoquimine (Jreek, in the Drawers

Creek, containing 400 Acres. Quit Rent, four Bushels. 2. To
Maurice Daniel, of Land on West Side of Delaware Bay, on

North West Side of Apoquemini Creek, containing 190 Acres,

Quit Rent, two Bushels. 3. To .John Moll, of three Town Lots

in Newcastle Town, late Captain John Carr's, and since sold

at publiek Outcry, in Warmore Street, Harte Street, Land

Street and Minquaes Street, Quit Rent, two Bushels. New York

Records, No. 3. Fol. 71.

Der. :•,.

An Entry in the Newcastle Records, that Hendrick Williams

petitioned the Court, shewing, that, according to this f'ourt's

Answer to his former Petition the third of April last, concerning

his two Judgments, and Executions against the Estate of

Walter Wharton, deceased, he had i)etitioned the Governor at

New Y'ork, who gave for Answer, he thought it but Reason the

Petitioner should be paid his Debt out of the Estate of Whar-

ton ; wherefore the Petitioner prays an Order, with Preference,

against Wharton's Estate, ordered, since the (xovernor is of

O])inion he ought to be paid, that he l)e paid, ac^cordingly.

out of Wharton's Estate; but no Preference to be allowed.
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unless the Governor shall think fit so to order it. New-
castle Records, No. 11. Fol. 78.

Feb. 4.

An Entry of .i Letter, Ironi the Justices at Newcastle to tlie

(Tovernor with the Request of several Planters, Inliabi-

tants of that County, who owed Quit Rents in Wheat, and
were threatened l)y the Receiver, but had no Wheat to pay,

only Tobacco; praying;, that that might be taken at a reason-

able Price, to be set by the Governor, it being taken in the

neighbouring Colonies at 2d. a Pound, otherwise, several must
forfeit their Lands. They, likewise, desire to have a Rule,

whether Arrears of Quit Rents, due for forfeited Lamls. must
be paid by the new Possessor, when new granted. Desiie Di-

rections about an old Man who had been eiuployed to look after

the Fort. Also, whether the Fort should be re[)aired, and how
the Means for it should be found. A new Connnission being
coming from the Governor, and one of their Magistrates being

going to England, they present the Names of two Persons, as

fittest to be put in the Commission in his stead, if the Gov-
ernor thinks fit. They desire the County nmy l)e enlarged up
and downwards, as far as St. Jones's. Newcastle Records, No.

11. Fol. 70.

Mar. 2.

An Entry, that one Randal i)resented a Petition to the Court,
.suggesting, that he bought 800 Acres of one Test in 8t. Get)rge"s

('reek, for which he paid the Quit Rent last Year, anil is Avill

ing to pay it this, but is informed the Court had escheated

it for want of Settlement; and, as lie had been a Prisoner in

Turkey, desired to have the Land again ; upon examining the

Case, the Court find the Land was thrice sold, but never any
Improvement made, which is contrarv to Law, and therefore

escheated: and. since the Court cannot lawfull>- recall their

former Grant and Order therein, to Rolf AndreAvs and another,

they, therefore, refer the Petitioner to the Governor at New
York, for his Order and Determination therein. Newcastle
Records, No. 11. Fol. 81.

1680, May 24.

From New York Records, the Duke of York's Commission,
dated at Windsor, authorising and appointing John Lewin,
(Tent, to be his Agent and Servant, in New Y'ork and Albany,
and other the Duke's Lanils and Territories in America: to

proceed thither, and to enquire and find out all the Estate,

Rent, Revenues, Profits, and Perquisites. Avhicli in any Sort did
of Right belong, and appertain to the Duke, and arise in mw

22- Vol. XV.
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of those Places, and to examine all Books. Papers., Records,

and other Matters relating thereto; with Power to demand,
from all the Duke's Officers and Servants, or any others em-
ployed in any Place of Trust belonging to the Duke, all Books,

Papers, Writings, Records, Registers, Accounts, and all other

Things tending to the Discoveiy thereof ; and, in a more especial

manner, to enquire and find out, whether the free Trade of any

the Inhabitants of those Places, or any Merchants trading

thither, now is, or has been, oljstructed or hindered, and by

what means, and how such Obstructions luay be removed, and
hv what Methods the Trade and Traders in those Places may
be encouraged and encreased ; if being the Duke's real Inten-

tions and Desire to encourage and advance the Ease, Benefit,

and Advantage of Trade, and the Merchants anil Inhal)itants

there; and for the better executing of this Trust, which the

Duke reposes in him, he is to observe and follow such directions

and Instrutions as lie received with that Commission. New-
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 112.

Note—This Commission is likewise entered in the Records

of every one of the Three Lower Counties, viz. in Newcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 82. In Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 8.

And in Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 10.

May 28.

Entries in the New York Records, of four Commissions granted

by Grovernor Andros, dated in, and sealed with the Seal of Nev>'

Yprk. 1. To five Persons to be Justices of the Peace, in the

Jurisdiction of Newcastle, and the Dependencies, and three, or

more of them, to be a Court of Judicature for one Y'ear. 2.

To five more Persons to be Justices of the Peace in the Juris-

diction of Upland Court or County, in Delaware River and De-

pendencies, (which is the first instance that we have of a Com-
mission in this New County of Upland.) 3. To four more
Persons to be Justices of the Peace, in the Jurisdiction of the

County of St. Jones, in Delaware Bay and Dependencies; the

same to begin from the South Side of Duck Creek, so to extend

to the North Side of Cedar Creek. 4. To five more Persons

viz. Luke Watson, John Roads, John Kipshaven, Otto Woolast,

and William Clarke, to be Justices of the Peace, at the Whore-

kill and Dependencies; the said Court to begin at the South

Side of Cedar Creek, and so to go downwards. New Y'ork

Records, No. 1. Fol. 113.

June 1.

The Governor's Certificate and Dedimus, dated in New York,

importing, that John Roads, one of the Justices of the Whore-

kill Court, having taken his oath for the saiue, the Governor
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HUtliori.st'd him to udiainister th<' Uutlis To tlic otlier Ma,!J:i^-

trates. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 11.

S(It/If D(ii/.

The (xowrnof's Order, (hited in New York, l•ef'iti^^^ that

Tliere was, lieretofore, granted unto John Morgan, and John
Denny. HOO Acres eacli, on tlie West Side of Delaware River,

towards the Mouth tliereot. near Duck Creek, wliicli have
never been iniproveil, and the Persons are dead; now, upon
Application of Ephraini Herman, that he maj- have the said

two Pieces, I her:*!))' grant tiiesame, to be confirmed to him by
Patent, when the old Patents shall be delivered in. New York
Records. No. 1. Fol. 11:1

'Same D(i(j.

The CTOvernt)r"s otlier Order, aliiie to the former in all Re-

spects, being in Favour of Lausa Cock, for GOO Acres on the

West Side of Delaware River, and on the North Side of Duck
Creek. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 118.

June 12.

The Governor' s Warrant, dated in New York, directed to

(Japtain Edmund Cantwell, Sheriff of Newcastle on Delaware,
requiring him to summon Jacob Young, to appear personally
before the (iovernor, and his Council, to answer for presuming
to treat with the Indians, within tliis (Tovernment, without
any Authority, to the Disturbance thereof. New York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 114.

Same Day.

Governor Andros's Commission, dated in New Jersey, au-

thorising Ephraiiu Herman to be Surveyor for Newcastle, and
Precincts, as also for St. Jones, and Dependencies, to lay out
Land, as a Surveyor ought to do, in Places not taken up, ac-

cording to such Warrants as you shall receive from myself, or,

upon extraordinary Occasions, to fit Persons as shall apply
for the same; of which, to make due Returns to the Secretary's

Office at New York, according to Law. New York Records,

No. 1. Fol. 114.

This Commission is also entered, being there recorded by
Order of Court, of 3 November following, in Newcastle Re-
cords, No. 11. Fol. 85.

Jane 17.

A Special Court was held for the Whorekill, for the Estab-
lishment of the new Justices, and they were there sworn by Mr.

John Roads. Avhoui the Governor had before qualified and au-

thorised thereto. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 11.
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July 10.

An Origriiical Indian Deed of Sale, (upon Half a Sheet of

Paper) whereby K^nockere, Alom, Eliggeno, Nogcotto, Towis,

Wippaj'can and Winappanegge, for themselves, and their Heirs,

alienate, bargain, and sell, unto Mr. John Moll, of the Town of

Newcastle upon Delaware River, in the Behalf of all the Inhabit-

ants dwelling at Case and Broett Island, Red Clay Creek, and
White Clay Creek, quite unto the Falls thei-eof, Avhich are al-

ready settled, and shall settle hereafter, upon any of the said

Lands about Christianna Creek, as far as the Precincts of Mary-
land, the Lantl called Musser Cripple, therein included ; to holil.

free of the Claims of all Indians, and their Heirs: and that, for

a valuable Consideration, in real Satisfaction, paid to the In-

dians by the said John Moll, as well for his own i)roper account,

as also for the proper Account of all the present, and all future

Settlements, and Inhabitants, in all ^hose Parts. Given under
our customary Mark in ]Newcastle. 10 July, 1680. Pensilvania

Exhibits, F. F.

Note—John Moll, the firantee, appears to have been one
of the Justices of Newcastle, as long as they had had any Com-
missions fron) the Duke of York ; and generally, at the Head, or

first, of the Connnission ; and the above Deed appears to be

witnessed by J. de Haes. who also appears to have been, very

long, one of the Justices of Newcastle.

Aug. 21.

A Meeting of the Justices was held in Newcastle, when they
writ a Letter to the Governor at New York, and sent it by Eph-
raim Herman their Clerk, in relation to Captain Collier's Ac-
count, (who seems to have had a Demand upon the Publick.)

They tell the fxovernor there was never any other Tax, or publick
Levy laid at Newcastle, than in 1077, which was with his own
Approbation, and on Account of the Wolves Heads; and at

the same time were collected the Fines, whereof an Account
was then also sent him. We have perused Cai)tain Collier's

Accounts, the Article therein for Wolves Heads the Sheriff will

pay; as also for repairing the Dyke, the several Persons will

pay; and for the rest i^f Captain Collier's Account, we know
not which way it may be paid, having now, nor l)efore,any Cash,
or publick Store to pay the same. The 25 per Cent, charged
l)y Captain Collier, for collecting the Wolf, the Dyke, and Fine
Money, we desire the Governor to regulate, as he shall think
jiist and equitable. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. "i'f,.

1080, Aug. 26.

From Kent Records, a Warrant signed by their Clerk, and
directed to Cornelius Verhoof the Surveyor, that it was granted
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to lay out for—Raynier Williams, and Johannes Kypp, the
Quantity of 800 Acres of Land, in any Part of that County, or

Pr.cincts, not already granted, and to make return of the Cer-
tificate of the Survey of the said Land into the Office in six

Months, it being formerly granted from tiie (Jourt. Kent
Records. No. U. Fol. 10.

Hept. 22.

At a Court held l)efore the Justices for the County of St.

Jones's it being proved in Court, that Robert Willing had
abused his Royal Highness's Justices of the Peace. l)y saying
he wondered the Duke of York was such a Fool, as to make
such inconsiderable Sons of Whores Justices, the Court con-
demn him to pay .500 Pound of Tobacco to the Use of the Pub-
lick, and to be bound over to the Peace fo»- a Year and a Day,
and pay the Costs. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 9.

Oct. 4.

Two Warrants, or Orders, signed by Governor Andros, the
one directed to the Magistrates of the Court of Newcastle, the
other to the Magistrates of the Court of Upland in Dela-
ware River; he says, that being infonued of some Differences,
in passing Captain Cantwell, the SherifT of Delaware's Ac-
counts, for collecting the Asessments, Amerciaments, and
Fines, there is allowed to the petty Constable 12d to tlie high
Constable (id. and to the SherifT Gd. in all, 2s. per Pound, ac-
cording to the Directions in the Law, which he is to have ac-
cordingly, and no more, notwithstanding any greater Latitude
formerly given, upon Misinformation, contrary to Law. New
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 118.

Note—This last Order is also entered in Newcastle Records,
No. 11. Fol. 84.

Oct. 4.

Another Order sign'd by Governor Andros at New York, re-

citing, that by the Accounts of Captain Cantwell, Sheriff of
Delaware, there remains due to him for Disbursement, TjiJ/. I6s.

7d. \. the Governor orders Ephraim Herjuan. Collector of the
Quit Rents at Delaware, to pay Cantwell that Sum, out of
Arrears due for Quit Rents from Cantwell, and others in said
River, particularly for two Parcels of Land of 800, and 900 Acres
in Apoquinemen. formerly taken up, and patented, by C'ant-
well in the Year 1676. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. lis.

Oct. o.

From New York Records, the Entry of a most Solemn Court
of General Assize, held in that Citv. which being opened, ic,
they prcoeeded to try the following Cause. John Stevens, Ai^-
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pellant; John Richardson, Defendant. An Appeal from a Ver-

dict and Judprinent given at the Court of the Whorekill, in

Feb. 1G79, for the Defendant, for Title of Land, called Willinj;-

brook, first surveyed for, seated, and improved by the Defend-

ant ; upon full Hearinp:of Proceedings of said Court, and what
could be alleged by both Parties, their Evidences and Proofs,

the Court confirms the said Judgment, and that the Defendant

have and enjoy all the Land he hath seated and improved,

with the buildings thereon; the Appellant to pay Costs. New
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 115.

Oct. G.

Also, at the same Court of Assizes, the next Day. Peter

Gronendike, Appellant; John Vines, Defendant. An Appeal,

from a Verdict and Judgment obtained by the Defendant

against the Appellant at a Court held at Deale, [this was
formerly Whorekill, but now named Deale—as you'll see when
you come to the loth of December,] for the Town and County
of Deale, the loth of June last, on an action commenced by the

Appellant against the Defendant, as Sheriff, for Refusal to give

him Satisfaction for an Execution, by him levied on the Estate

of John Avery, according to an Order of the Governor and Coun-
cil, and neglecting to perform his Office and Dutj' therein, which
the Defendant pleaded he had d^ne according to Law ; Proceed-

ings of said Court, with several Depositions read, and Parties

fully heard, and Matter debated. The Court give their Juda-
ment, that the Defendant, as Sheriff, has fully performed his

Office and Duty therein ; therefore, confirm the said Judgment
given at Deale Court. The Appellant to pay all Costs. New
York Records, No. 1. Fol. 110.

Also Mr. John Moll, Justice of the Peace, and President of

the Court at Newcastle, being called to answer an Indictment
exhibited against him. by one Abraham Mann, for Words
spoken in Court, and at other Times, to which Moll pleaded

not guilty; and a Jury being impanelled and sworn, with sev-

eral Evidences, they brought in their Verdict, and found him
guilty of speaking the Words, in the first and second Articles,

and of denying Execution, when demanded, mentioned in the

4th Article, and for the rest, not guilty. Which the (Jouit

taking into Consideration, do adjudge the said Indictment to

be illegal and vexatious, and that Moll, by what found against

him, is not guilty of anv Crime, or Breach of any known Law.
therefore, acquit Moll from tiie same, and order Mann to pay
the Costs of Court. Mann moved ft)r an Appeal for England.
Avhich is granted, he giving sufficient Security to the Value of

1.000/. to prosecute the same, and pay Damage to the Party, if

cast. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 117.
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Oct. 11.

The Governor's Warrant, to lay out Lands at Delaware,

dated at Isew York, recitijig, that John Richardson having
obtained, at the Court ol Assizes, a Judgment for the Land
he had seated and ini[)roved,and having a considerable 2s umber
of Hands, therefore to lay him out 1200 Acres thereto adjoining.

Also to lay out to John Stevens 1200 Acres of Land adjoining,

and to make Returns of the Surveys, in order to Confirmation,

according to Law. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 118.

Nov. 13.

Copy of Minutes of the Governor and Council at New York
of this Date, entered in the Sussex Recoi-ds, purporting to have
been made upon an Application of the Magistrates and Court
of the Whorekill, signifying the Necessity and Want of a Court
house. Prison, Stocks and Whipping-post, for the Publick Ser-

vice, and desiring to be impowered to rate the Inhabitants there

to pay for the same. Granted for the Prison and Stocks, for

which they are to make an equal Rate according to Law.
Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 10.

Nov. 15.

From the New York Records, a Letter from Governor Andros
in New York to the Magistrates and Court at the Whorekill,

and St. Jones, with an Entry that the like Letter was sent to

the several Magistrates and Courts in their respective Precincts

throughout the Government Telling them that he had
received Orders, and was going for England; upon which he
had sent, and ordered a General Court or IMeeting of the Justi-

ces, to be at New York the 17th Instant, excusing them by

reason of the Distance and Season of the Year; also that he
designed to leave Captain Hrockholes his Lieutenant, as last

time; likewise that Mr. John Lewin, a Gentleman sent by the

Duke, was arrived, authorised to inspect the Revenue, as by
his Commission, of which the Governor sends them a Copy.
New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 119.

Note—a Copy of this Letter is also entered in Sussex
Records, No. 17. Fol. 13. and another Copy of the like Letter,

only dated the 23d of December, is entered in Newcastle Records,

No. 11. Fol. 86.

Nov. 17.

From the Records in Kent County, Entry of the Acts of

Court held before the Justices for St. Jones's County, upon
the several Petitions of the after-named Persons, the Court
grants to theiu, separfltelv. Liberty to take up, within the Limits
and Precincts of their (Jourt : Tlien thev name 16 Persons, and
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the (.Quantity of IjUIkI, for tlieiii all, amounted to 9500 Acres;
And tlie Court luake.s an Order, that all Persons taking up
Lands, in Default of Settlement and Improvement within one
Year after the Date of the Survey, shall forfeit their Interest

in the same. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 10.

Dec. If).

An Act of the Court, entered in the Sussex Records, for that
the Governor of New-York has made an Alteration of the Name
of this Town and County, and instead of theWhorekill to be

from henceforth called ])y the Name of Deal; The Court orders

and decrees that it be s" called from this Day. Sussex Records,
No. 17. Fol. 14.

Dec. 21.

From the Records in Kent County, Entry of the Acts of

Court held before the Connuissioners for St. Jones's County

;

whereby, on the Petitions of sundry Persons, the Court grants
to each of them Liberty to take up, within the Limits and
Precincts of that Couit, the Quantities of Land there specified,

naming 83 Persons, and the whole (c^uantity amounts to 18,663

Acres. And on the Petition of Verhoof, that l)y an Order of

the Whorekill Court of the 11th of February last, he was to

have his Land surveyed again; but since that the Governor
was pleased to divide St. Jones from Whorekill County, and
the Survey not being accomplished before the Division, he pravs

this Court to order a Confirmation of the Order of the Whore-
kill Court; and accordingly the Court does confirm it, and
the Petitioner is to have his Lands sui-veyed. Likewise a Let-

ter of Attorney from Nicholas Bartlet of St. Jones's County
in the Province of New York, to his Wife, was this Day ac

knowledged in open Court and entered. Kent Records, No. 14.

Fol. 11, 12.

Dec. 30.

A Grant from Governor Andros. to Peter Gronendike. for

Land on West Side of Delaware Bay. and on North Side of

Murder- Creek, containing 413 Acres, Quit-Rent 4 Bushels.

NcAv York Records, No. 1. Fol. 114.

Jan. 1.

From Sussex Records Entry of Acts of Court held before the

Commissioners relating to the (Courthouse, Stocks. Prison,

&c. which the (Tovernor of New York ordered to be built for

the Service of the said Country. And, upon the ('omplaint of

Parret the Indian Schackamaker, alledging. that Henry Bow-
man and others takes his Land, and gives him no Satisfaction

for it, tlie Court orders that every Person that seats any Land,
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shall pay the Indian Proprietor: (or (iOU Acres or under one
Match-coat; and, if above GOU Acres, two Match-coats; and, at
the tnue of the Indians's receiving the Coats, he is to convev
the Land to the Person he receives the Coats of ; and if anV
Person refuses to pay the Indians for the Land as aforesaid. Exe'-
eution to be«:ivenout for the same, directed to the «herifT
to execute and pay to the Indian. After which (at Fol Ki)'
iollow several other Acts or Orders, that several Certificates
which Cornelius Verhoofe this Day presente.l to the Court
to be signed and allowed by the Court, be certified, except two
that have taken in other IVrsons Lands. And two Entries
that Parret the Indian Shaekaniaker acknowledged in open
Court, that he had sold, unto Henry Bowman, the Indian
night of 1000 Acres and 700 Acres between Slaughter-Branch
and Cedar- Creek. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. U. and Pol. 1(1.

Jan. 8L
Upon the Kent Records, a Letter from Ephraim Herman to

(some) (ientlemen. complaining that several of the People refuse
to pass their Bills for the Payment of the Survevors Fees estab-
lished by the Governor; and more, he admires that, as he hears.
Clerks Fees are to paid in Tobacco at 12/, 6d. per. Hundred- It
seems (says he)Hs if his Royal Highness's Laws were slighted or
contradicted: and, for any to make Laws, or By-laws, without
the Governor, or Court of Assizes Law and Approbation, is
a Contempt of Authority, and I suppose it will be found so
Sirs, The Law expressly says that all Fees shall be paid in Silver
Beaver, Wampum, or Wheat; one of which I mav, not onlv by
Law. but also by the Governor's distinct Order, insist 'on-
but, because the Country does not plentifully afford the same'
I am willing to take the Produce of the Country, which is Pork
at a reasonable Rate, and should be ready to take Tobacco if
It was like to be worth any thing. If I am denied what theLaw and Reasons allows, I shall desist for a while, and make
tlie Case known to the Governor or his Deputy; I pray Sirsyou would right me, where I am wronged, it being your' Places
so to do

;
I hope to be with you and attend at March Court

next.

Mar. 4.

Matters having passed in America as herein before stated itwas upon this Day that King Charles the Second granted 'by
Charter, the Province of Pensilvania to Mr. Penn • That was
not a sudden unadvised Act, but went through, for nine Months
before, a very serious Examination on 'the Part of the Crown-
and not only so, but the Duke of York, and the Lord Balti-more s Agents, were, from time to time, consulted thereon I
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would not so servilely adhere to the Regularity of giving every

Paper according to its Date, as to intermix the Papers which,

on this Occasion, past in England, for nine Months now past,

along with those Papers of the ordinary Occurrences in America,

in that Period of Time; but, as these Papers, preparatory to

Mr. Penn's Charter for Pensilvania, are exceedingly material,

almost every single Word of them, I, therefore, chose to throw

them all together, under this (marginal) Date, at the same

time giving you the real Dates of all the same, and the Con-

tents as follows, viz.

For the

The Humble Ad
Son to Sir W

Sheweth,

That having

in Ireland by the Oppression of the Lord

decease (though most of it remitted by

to borrow every Penny of it, by reason

England was under the Stop of the Ex

with the growing Interest of it, and 9 ye

for the Relief of his own. and his Mother's

Ruine.

He Humbly prays that

that Princely Respect he of

his Compassion to the AfHicte

America, lying North of M
River, on the West, limmit

extend as far as plantable,

he doubts not l>y his Intere

profitable Plantation to the

to raise that speedy and sufficient

Incumbrances, that he may
Debt of. at least 11,000/. and be

and Time as shall be most
And

The foregoing imperfect Paper (one half of it being worn
away) remains in the Books at the Board of Trade, is spoke to

by Mr. Gallibrand, as Mr. Penn's original Petition for a Grant

of Pensilvania, and is the Exhibit, Botra No. 26.

1680, Jmie 14.

In the Council-Chamber, Monday the 14th of June 1680.

Present Lord President, Duke of Albemarle. Bishop of London,

Mr. Secretary .lenkins. Sir T. Chichley: The Petition of Wil-

liam Penn, referred by an Order from the Earl of Sunderland

of the first Instant, is read, praying, in Consideration of Debts
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due to him, or his Father, from the Crown, to grant him
Letters Patent, for a Tract of Land in America, lying North
of Maryland, on the East bounded with Delaware River, on

th3 West limited as Maryland, and Northward to extend as

far as plantable; Whereupon, Mr. Penn is called in, and, being

asked, what Extent of Land he will be contented with Northerly?

declares himself satisfied with three Degrees to the Northwards

;

and that he is willing, in lieu of such a Grant, to remit his

Debt, due to him irom his Majesty, or some Part of it, and to

stay for the Remainder till his Majesty shall be in a better

Condition to satisfy it: Upon the whole Matter, it is ordered

that Copies of his Petition be sent unto Sir John Werden, in

behalf of his Royal Highness, and unto the Agents of the Lord
Baltimore, to the end they may report how far the Pretensions

of Mr. Penn may consist witti the Boundaries fof Maryland, or

the Dukes Propriety of New York and his Possessions in those

parts. This Exhibit is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra,

No. 6.

1680, JuTib 14.

To Sir J. W^erden about William Penn. Council-Chamber,
14th June 1680. Sir, the Right Honourable the Lords of the

Committee for Trade and Plantations having received a Peti-

tion of William Penn, referred unto them by an Order from
his Majesty, concerning a Tract of Land in the North Part of

America, which he would undertake to settle, and render it a

profitable Plantation to the Crown; But their Lordships have

not thought to take any Resolution thereon, before they had
first consulted you in relation to the Propriety of his Royal

Highness in those Parts; and do therefore command me to send

you a Copy of his Petition, here inclosed, with their Desire,

that you would report unto them, whether such a Plantation or

Settlement would, any ways, intrench upon the Patent of his

Royal Highness, or otherwise prejudice the same. 1 am—Mary-
land. Whereupon, their Lordships, taking notice of the Neigh-

bourhood of Maryland to the Country he desires to plant, have

thought fit to order a Copy of the Petition to be sent you, or

such others as are employed here in behalf of the Baltimore,

to the end you may acquaint them. This Copy is proved by

Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra, No. 7.

1680, June 23.

For William Blaythwaite Esq; Secretary to the Right Hon-
ourable the Lords Commissioners for Trade and Plantations

at Whitehall. St. James's 23d June 1080. Sir. I had answered

your Letter, of tlie 14th Instant, soonei-, but that my going to

Windsor just when 1 received it, hindred me then, and also
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luiule me think it proper to acquaint tlK- Duke with the Con-

tents of it first; What 1 have now to saj is this, that, by all

which 1 can observe of the Boundaries mentioned in Mr. Penn's

Petition, they aijree well enough with that Colony or Plantation

which hath been hitherto (ever since the Conquest of New York

by Colonel Nicholls) held as an Appendix and Part of the

Government of New York. l>y the name of Delaware Colony,

or more pnrticularlv Newcastle Colony, that being the Name of

a principal Place in it (the whole being i)lanted, promiscuously^

by Swedes, Finlanders, Dutch and English) all which hatli

been actually under the (iovernment of his Royal Highness's

Lieutenant at New-York hitherto: but what are its proper

Boundaries (tliose of Latitude and Longtitude being so very

little known, or so ill observed, as Experience tells us, in

all the Wet-Indies) 1 am not able to say. If this be what Mr.

Penn would have, I presume the Right Honourable the Lords

of the Committee for Trade and Plantations will not encourage

his Pretensions to it, because of what is above-mentioned,

which shew plainly the Duke"s Right preferable to all others

(under his Majesty's Cxood-liking) though it should not prove

to be strictly with the Limits of the Duke's Patent; but, if it

be any other Parcel of Land unimproved, in those Parts, which

is without all other Patents, and not interfering with the Pos-

sessions of his Majesty's Subjects already settled there, I hum-

bly submit to their Lordships how far they may think conve-

nient (under fitting Restrictions and gualifications, whereby

to tie u]) the Government of such new Colony, as near as may
be to the Laws of England) to recommend the Petitioner's Re-

quest to his Majesty: Thus, I think I have, as far as I am
able at nresent, fully answered your Letter upon this Subject

;

and so I remain, Sir, your most affectionate Friend and Ser.

vant, Jo. Werden. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is

Botra, No. 8.

1680, June 23.

To Mr. Blaythwaiteat his Office in Whitehall, present. Sir.,

In answer to your's, in reference to Mr. Penn's Petition, some

things are thought proper to be offered, in respect to the

particular Concern of my Lord Baltimore, something in reference

to the Public on his Lordship's behalf. It is desired, that, if

the Grant pass unto Mr. Penn. of the Land petitioned for by

him in America, that it may be expressed to be of Land that

shall lie North of Sasquahanna Fort, and North of all Lands in

a direct Line between the said Fort and Delaware River, and

also North of all Lands upon a direct Line Westward from the

said Fort, for that Fort is the Boundary of :Maryland North-

ward; It is further desired, that there may be contained general
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Words of Restriction, as to any Interest fjranted to tlic Lord

Baltimore, and savinji: to liim all Rip:hts granted; It is also

prayed, that my Lord's Council may have a Sight of the C-frant

l)efore it pass. On the Puhlick Account, it is offered that

some due Caution he provided, that no Arms, Powder, Shot or

other Ammunition, be sold by any that shall settle in this

new Plantation, to the Indians or Natives ;«for thereby a com-

mon Mischief inay happen unto all his Majesty's neighbouring

Plantations. This, with our Thanks on my J^ord Baltimore's

l)ehalf, for your Care on him, is all at present from. Sir, your

humble Servants, Barnaby Dunch, Richard Burk. This is

proved by Mr. Gellil)rand, and is Botra, No 9.

IG80, June 20.

Whitehall, Friday 35th of June. 16«0. Present, Lord Presi-

dent, Marquis of Worcester, Earl of (Clarendon, Mr. Sceretary

Jenkins. The Petition of Mr. Penn is again read, concerning a

Tract of Land to be granted him in America, together with

a Letter from Sir John Werden, and another from the Lord

Baltimore's Agents, touching the same. And Mr. Penn being

afterwards called in, is told, that it appearing by Sir .John

Werden 's Letter, the Part of the Territory desired l)y him is

already possessed by the Duke of York, he must apply himself

to his Royal Highness for adjusting their respective Pre

tensions. And Mr. Penn being also acquainted with the

Mattel- of the Letter from the Loid Baltimore's Agent's

he does agree that Susquahannough Fort shall be the Bounds,

of the Lord Baltimore's Province. And. as to the furnish-

ing of Arms and Ammunition to the Indians Mr. Penn,

declares himself ready to submit to any Restraint their Lord-

ships shall propose. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and
is Botra, No. 6.

1680, Oct. 16.

For my Honoured Friend William Blaythwaite Esq ; Secretary

to the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners for Trade

and foreign Plantations at ^\hitehall. AVhitehall, 16th Oct.

(80.) Sir, Y'ou heretofore wrote to me. touching IMr. William

Penn's Petition, then before the Right Honourable the Lords

Commissioners for Trade and foreign Plantations; to which

I answered you. as at that time I was obliged to do. Since

then, Mr. Penn hath represented to the Duke, his Case and

v^ircumstances (in relation to the Reasons he hath to expect

Favour from his Majesty. Touching that Request of his) to be

such, as that his Royal Highness commands me to let you know
<in order to your informing their Lordships of it) That he is

very willing Mr. Penn's Request may meet with Success: that
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is. That he may have a Grant of that Tract of Land which lies

on the North of Newcastle Colony (Part of Delaware; and on

the West Side of Delaware River, beginning about the Latitude

of 40 Degrees, and extending Northwards and Westwards as

far as his Majesty ):)leaseth, under such Regulation as their

Lordships shall think fit. I am, Sir, your very humble Servant,

Jo. Warden. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra,

No. 10.

1680, Nov. 1.

Whitehall. Thursday the 1st of Nov. 1680. Present, Prince

Rupert, Lord l^rivy Seal, Earl of Bridgewater. Earl of Sunder-

land, Earl of Halifax, Earl of Clarendon, Earl of Essex. Mr.

Hyde, Mr. Godolphin, Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer. The
Petition of Mr. Penn is read, desiring that a Day may be ap-

pointed for preparing a Grant unto him of Propriety in a

Tract of Land in America upon Delaware River, and their

Lordships appoint this Business for Thursday next. This is

proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra, No. 6.

1680, Nov. 8.

Copy of a Letter to Mr. Attorney General about Mr. Penn.

Council Chamber, the 8th November KiSO. Sir, His Majesty

having referred the Petition of Mr. William Penn, unto the

Lords of the C^ommittee of Plantations, wherein he prays his

Majesty to grant him a Tract of Land in Amercia, for the set-

thing a Colony and Plantation there; and their Lordshii)s

having received, from him, the Inclosed Draught of a Grant,

which he desires may pass to him for the Government of that

Colony, have commanded to signify their Desire unto you,

that, upon Consideration of the Powers therein proposed, you

report unto them, w^hether you have any thing to object

against the same; their Lordships having appointed to meet

again upon this Business on Thursday next at Four in the Af-

ternoon. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra,

No. 11.

1680, November 11.

Whitehall, Thursdav November the 11th. 1680. Present,

Lord Privy Seal, Earl of Clarendon, Earl of Halifax. Earl of

Bridgewater, Earl of Sunderland, Mr. Secetary Jenkins. Mr.

Attorney General presents the Committee with his Observations

upon the Draught of Mr. Penn's Patent. This is proved by

Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra, No. 6.

1680, Nov. 18.

To Sir J. Werden about Mr. Penn's Patent. Council-Cham-

ber the 18th Nov. 1680. Sir, I formerly sent you the Petition
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of Mr. Penn, touching a Tract of Land adjoining to New-York,
and received your Answer thereupon, which 1 presented to the

Lords of the Counnittee of Plantations, and now send you, by

tlieir Lordsliips Order, an Extract of so much of the Patent,

whicli he is soliciting, as concerns the Boundaries, to the end

you may make your Objections to it in behalf of his Royal

Higliness, if you see Cause. The Committee having appointed

TO take this Business into their further Consideration on

Tuesday next at Four in the Afternoon. This is proved 1)\

Mr. Gel li brand, and is Botra, No. 12.

1(580, Non. 18.

To the Agents of the Loni Baltimore, about Mr. Penn's

Grrant. Council-Chamber, the 18th Nov. 1680. Gentlemen,

On the 14th of June last, I sent you, by Order of the Lords of

the Committee for Plantations, the Petition of Mr. Penn, who
prays a Charter for making a Settlement Northerly of Mary-
land ; and I received your Answer, in behalf of my Lord Bal-

timore, on the 2;5d following, which 1 accordingly laid before

the Committee; since which time their Lordships have perused

the Draught of Letters Patent which Mr. Penn desires to have

passed unto him, and which, he alledges, was put into your

Hands, according to their Directions, in order to receive your

Objections, if you had any to make; wherefore, their Lord-

ships command me to give you notice of the Meeting of a Com-
mittee on Tuesday next at Four in the Afternoon, for the further

Consideration of this Business, and that, in case you have

nothing more to offer to their Lordships at that time, they will,

thereupon, take their final Resolution concerning the said

Patent. I am This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is

Botra, No. 13.

1680 J^ov. 20.

For my honoured Friend William Blaythwaite Esq ; Secretary

to the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners for Trade
and foreign Plantations, at Whitehall, St. James's 20th Nov.
(80.) Sir. At two of the Clock this Day. I met with your Letter

to me, of the 18th Instant, and a Copy in it (which I here re.

turn you) of some Part of Mr. Penn's Patent for Land in

America. I am. first, to premise to you, that, in cases of this

Nature, it were most proper to have the Advice of Council
learned in the Laws, for settling the Boundaries of any new
Patent, which may be liable to encroach on those of another's

Possession. But in regard I remember well the Duke's Direc-

tions, (expressed in a former Letter from me to you, bj' his

Royal Highness's Order, dated IHth October (80.) I shall frankly

tell you my Thoughts thereupon, viz. That I believe the De-
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scription by Lines, of Longitude (especially) and of Latitude,

are very uncertain, and so also is it under what Meridian the

Head of Delaware River lies, which, 1 do believe, hath never

yet been observed, l)y any careful Artist; But it bein«? the

Duke's Intentions, that Mr. Penn's Grant be bounded on the

East-side Ijy Delaware River, and that his South Limit be 20

or 80 Miles beyond Newcastle vwhich Colony of Newcastle is

Northwards, and distinct from Maryland, that being under

the Jurisdiction of Lord Baltimore) which Extent Northwards

of Newcastle Colony, we guess, may reach as far as the Begin-

ning of the -lOth Degree of Latitude; therefore, if Mr. Penn's

Patent be so worded, as to leave Newcastle 20 or 30 Miles beyond

it free, and to be boundt-d on the East by Delaware River; I

think this is all the ('ant ion that needs, as to the Duke, who
will not concern himself how far North or West Mr. Penn's

Patent takes in. 1 am. Sir, your very affectionate Friend and

humble Servant, Jo. Werden. This is proved by Mr. Geili-

brand, and is Botra 14.

1680, iV'^r. 2:!.

To my Honoured Friend William Blaythwaite Esq; Secretary

to the Right Honourable the Lords Commissioners for Trade

and foreign Plantations, Whitehall. St. James's 23d Nov.

(80.) Sir, Mr. Penn having fallen into Discourse with me of his

Concerns in America, since I wrote to you on Saturday. 1 have

told him the Substance of what I wrote, and he seems to fear

that if his South Limits be strictly set at 20 or ;^0 Miles North

from Newcastle Town, he shall have so little of the River left,

as very much to prevent the Hopes he hath of improving the

rest within his Patent, but. on the other Sule, he is willing that

12 Ensrlish Miles North of Newcastle be his Boundary, and

believes that that Distance will fall under the Beginning of

the 40th Degree of Latitude; I have already signified to you

all I know of the Duke's Mind herein which is. in general, to

keep some convenient Distance from Newcastle, northwards, for

a Boundary to that Colony, but I confess. I do not understand

why'tis precisely necessary to insist on just such a Number of

Miles, more or less, in a Country of which we know so little,

and when all the Benefits are intended to this Patentee that

others enjoy; so as I submit this point to their Lordships Con-

sideration, and do not think it material for me to add more at

present from. Sir, your very affectionate Friend and Servant,

Jo. Werden. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra
15.

1680. Decemb. 1().

Whitehall, Thursday the 16th Day of Dec. 1680. present.
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PriiK-e Rupert, Lord Privy Seal. Marquis of Worct-ster, Earl of
Clarendon, Earl of Halifax, Lord Chamberlain, Earl of Bridge-
water, Lord Chief Justice :\orth, Mr. Secretary Jenkins, Mr.
Hyde. i\Ir. Penn is called in, concerning the Patent desired by
him, and upon reading the Letters from Sir John Werden touch-
ing the Boundaries wherein his Royal Highness may be con-
cerned, their Lordships think it best, for the Settlement thereof,
that Sir John Werden be desired to attend, on Saturday next in
the Afternoon: at which time the Agent of the Lord Baltimore
is likewise ordered to give his Attendance, as to what con-
cerns his Lordship's Propriety of Maryland. This is proved
by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Botra No. 6.

1680, Dec. 10.

Copy of a Summons to the Lord Baltimore's Agent Mr. Burk,
and to Sir John Werden, about Mr. Penns Patent. Council-
Chamber, IGth De-ember, KiSO, Sir, The Right Honourable the
Lords of the Committee for Trade and foreign Plantations have
appointed to hear the E.xceptions of my Lord Baltimore,
against the Draught of Mr. Penn's Patent, formerly sent to
you, upon Saturday the 18th of this Listant at Four in the
Afternoon; and you are desired not to fail in your Attendance
at that time, their Lordships Ijeing then resolved to proceed
to a Resolution in that Matter. 1 am. Mr. Burk Sir. The
Lords of the C^ommittee of Trade and Plantations find it neces-
sary, in order to the Settlement of Mr. Penn's Patent, to dis-
course with you concerning it, and have therefore commanded
to desire you to attend on Saturday the isth Instant at Four
in the Afternoon. This is proved by Mr. Cxellibrand, and is

Botra No. 16.

(1680, Dec. 16.)

Mr. Penn's Boundaries, settled by my Lord Chief Justice
North. As the same is bounded on the East by Delaware River
from the Beginning of the 12 Miles Distance
NorthM-ards of Newcastle Town
fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude unto the three and
fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude, if-the said River doth ex-
tend so far Northward

; But, if the said River shall not extend .so

far Northward, then, by the said River, so far as it doth extend,
and from the Head of the .said River, the Eastern Bounds are
to be determined by a Meridian Line, to be drawn from the
Head of the said River unto the said three and fortieth Degree.
The said Lands do extend Westward five Degree in Longitude
to be computed a circle drawn

at 12 Miles Distance from Newcastle North-
20—Vol. XV.
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\vai-(l> and Westward uiiTo from the said Eastern Bounds, and

the said Lands are bounded, on the North, by tlie Beji:inning of

the three and fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude, and, on

the South by by a straiglit

Line the Beginning of the fortieth

Degree of Northern Latitude, and then, on, Westwards, to the

Limit of Longitude above mentioned. This is proved by Mr.

Gellibrand, and is Botra No. 17.

(1(J80, De<: Ki.

)

About Mr. Peini's Boundaries. May it please your Lordshi{)s,

I have considered the Petition of Mr. William Penn, praying

his Majesty to grant unto him a Tract of Land in America,

lying North of Maryland, bounded on the East by Delaware

Bay, to the Westward by the Indian Countries, as Maryland;

and do not find that such Boundaries ilo intrench upon the Lord
Baltimore's Province of M;iryland, whicli is l)ounded »South-

ward by a Part of Virginia, Eastward by the main Ocean and
Delaware River, and Northward l)y that Part of Delaware
River that lieth in tiie 40th Degree of Latitude, and so, bv a

ilirect Line, Westward, through the Continent. And the Patent

granted to his Royal Highness of New York, being bounded
Westward l)vthe East Side of Delaware Bay, is sufficiently dis-

tinguislied fi-om theGrant desired by Mr. Penn which is bounded
Eastward by Delaware Bay. or River ; so that that Tract of Land
desired by Mr. Penn, .seems to t)e undisposed of by his Majesty,

except the imaginary Lines of New-England Patents, which
are bounded, Westwai-dly, by the main Ocean, should give them
a real, though impracticable Right, to all those vast Terri-

tories. But, I am further to offer unto your Lord-ships, that

there are several Dutch and Swedish Plantations, which have

been long under the English Oovernment, that lie .scattered on
the Westward of Delaware River, and some of them perhaps

within the Bounds of Mr. Penn's Petition, and have, for a

long time, either acknowledged the Protection of his Royal

Highness, who took them from the Dutch upon the Conquest

of New-York, or of the Lord Baltimore, near whose* Borders

they are settled : And how far Mr. Penn's Grant may, in this

Consideration, concern his Neighbours, is most humbly sub-

mitted to your Lord.ships. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand.

and is Botra No. 18.

1()80, January 15.

Whitehall, Saturday the loth of January 1680-1. Present,

Prince Rupert, Lord Privy Seal, Marquis of Worcester, Lord
Chamberlain, Earl of Bridirewater, Earl of Clarendon, Vis-

count Fauconberg, Mr. Finch. Lord Chief .Justice North, Mr.
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Chancellor of the Excl)equer. Thf Boundaries of Mr. Penns
Patent, settled by my Lord Chief Justice North, with the
Alterations of Sir John Werden are read and approved. And
their Lordshii)s appoint Wedne.'^day next, at yiine in the Morn-
ing, to review the whole Patent. This is proved by Mr. Gelli-
brand, and is Botra No.G.

KiSO, Jail. i;2.

Whiteliall, Saturday the 22d of January 1680-1. Present, Lord
Privy Seal, Earl of Clarendon, Mr. Hyde, Lord Chief Justice
North, Mr. Seymour, Mr. Secretary Jenkins. Upon readinjj
the Draught of a Patent for Mr. Penn, constituting him abso-
lute Proprietary of a Tract of Land in America, Northerly of
Maryland, The Lords of the Counnittee desire my Lord c'liief

Justice North to take the said Patent into his (Consideration,
and to provide, by fitClauses therein, that all Acts of Sovereignty
as to Peace and War, be reserved unto the King; and that all
Acts of Parliament, concerning Trade and Navigation and his
Majesty's Customs, be duly observed ; and, in general, that the
Patent be so drawn, that it may consist with tlie King's In-
terest and Service, and give sufficient Encouragement to Plant-
ers to settle under it. A Paper being also read, wherein my
Lord Bishop of London desiies that Mr. Penn be ol)liged by
his Patent to admit a Chaplain of his Lordship's Appoint-
ment upon the Request of any Number of Planters; the same
is also referred to my Lord Chief Justice North. This is proved
l)y Mr. Gelli brand, and is Botra No. 6.

168'>, Feb. 2Wi.

Whitehall. Thursday the 24th of February lfi80-l. Present,
Lord President, Earl of Conway. Earl of Clarendon, Earl of
Chesterfield, Mr. Secretary Jenkins. A Draught of a Patent for
Mr. Penn is read, and there being a Blank left for the Name,
th3ir Lordships agree to leave to Nomination of it to the K-ng.
The Lord Bishop of London is desired to prepare the Draught
of a Law, to be passed in this Country, for the settling of the
Protestant Religion. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is

Botra No. 6.

1(580, Feb. 24.

May it please your Majesty, In obedience to your Majesty's
Order, signified unto us by the Earl of Sunderland on the first
of June last. We have prepared the Draught of a Charter, con-
stituting William Penn Esq; absolute Proprietary of a Tract
of Land in America therein mentioned, which we hun)bly pre-
sent to your Majesty for your Royal Approbation, leaving al.so

the naming of the said Province unto your Majesty, which is
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ujost humbly submitted. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand.

iintl is Botru IS'o. ID.

3:i Cur. 11. 1680.

Charles the Second, by the Grace of God King of Enf?Iand,

Scotland, France antl Ireland, Defender of the Faith, «Sic.

To all whom these Presents shall come Greeting.

Mar. 4.

Whereas Our Trusty and Well-beloved Subject William Penn

Esq: Son and Heir of Sir William Penn deceased, out of <i com-

mendable Desire to enlarge our English Empire, and promote

such useful Connnodities, as may be of Benefit to us and our

Dominions, as also to reduce the savage Natives, by gentle and

just Manners, to the Love of Civil Society and Christian Reli-

gion, hath humbly besought Leave of us to transport an ample

(Colony unto a certain Country, herein after described, in the

Parts of America, not yet cultivated and planted; And hath

likewise hund)ly besought our Royal Majesty to give, grant

and confirm all the said Country, with certain Privileges and

Jurisdictions requisite for the good Government and Safety of

the said Country and (Colony, to him and his Heirs for ever:

Know ye therefore, that we. favouring the I'etition and good

Purpose of the said William Penn and having Regard to the

Memory and Merits of his late Father in diverse Services, and

particularly to his Conduct, Courage and Discretion, under

our dearest Brother .James Dukecf Y'ork. in that signal Battle

and Victory fought and obtained against the Dutch Fleet com-

manded l)y the Heer Van (^bdam in the Year l(i(J.j.

In Consideration thereof, of our special Grace, certain

Knowledge and meer Motion, have given and granted, and, by

this our present Charter, for us. our Heirs and Successors, do

give and grant, unto the said William Penn, his Heirs and

Assigns.

All that Tract or part of Land in America, with all the Islands

therein contained, as the same is bounded, on the East, by

Delaware River, from 12 Mile^ Distance Northwards, ot New-

castle Town unto the three and fortieth Degree of Northern

Latitude, if the said River doth extend .so fai- Northwards: but

if the said River shall not extend so far Northward, then. 1)\-

the said River, so far as it doth extend, and. from the Head of

the said River, the Eastern Bounds are to l)e determined bv a

Meridian Line to l)e drawn from the Head of the said River

unto the said three and fortieth Degree: The said Lands to

extend Westward five Degrees in [jongitude, to be conqiuted

from the said Eastern Bounds; and the said Lands to be

bounded, on the North, by the Beginning of tlie three and
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fortieth Decree oi JN'ortliern Latitude, and, on tlie South by a

Circde, drawn. at 12 Miles Distance from ^Newcastle, ]S'orthwards.

and Westwards, unto the Beginning of the fortieth Degree of

N'ortliern Latitude,and. then, by a straight Line. Westward, to

the Limit of Longitude above mentioned.

We do also give anil grant, unto the said William Penn, his

Heirs and Assigns, the free and undisturbed Use and Continu-

ance in, and Passage into, and out of, all and singular Ports,

Harbours, Hays, Waters. Rivers, Isles, and Inletts, belonging

unto, or leading to and from the ('ountry ur Islands aforesaid;

and all the Soyl. Lanil.s. Fields, Woods, Underwoods. Mountains.

Hills, Fenns. Isles, Lakes, Kivers, Waters, Rivulets, Bays and

Inletts, situate or being within, or belonging unto, the Limits

and Bounds aforesaid ; together with the Fishing of all Sorts of

Fish. Whales, Sturgeons, and all Royal and other Fishes in

the Sea, Bays, inletts, W^aters or Rivers within tlie Premises,

and the Fish therein taken, and also all Veins. Mines and

Quarries, as well discovered as not discovered, of (xold. Silver.

Gfems and Precious Stones, and all other wliatsoever, be it

Stones, Metals, or of any other Thing or Matter whatsoever,

found or to l)e found, within the Country, Isles, antl Limits

aforesaid.

And him the said William IVnn. his Heirs and Assigns, we

do, by this our Royal Charter, for us, our Heirs and Successors,

make, create and constitute the true and absolute Proprietaries

of the Country aforesaid, and of all other the Premisses. Sav-

ing always to us, our Heirs and Successors, the Faith and

Allegiance of the said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns,

and of all other the Proprietaries, Tenants jind Inhabitants,

that are, or shall be, within the Territories and Precincts afore-

said ; And saving also, unto us, our Heirs and Successors, the

Sovereignty of the aforesaid Country.

To have, hold, possess and enjoy tlie said Tract of Land, Coun-

try. Isles, liiletts,and other the Premisses, unto the said William

Penn, iiis Heirs and Assigns, to the only proper Use and behoof

of the said William Penn. his Heirs and Assigns, for ever. To
be holden of us, our Heirs and Successors, Kings of England,

as of our Castle of Windsor in our County of Berks, in free

and common Soccage, by Fealty onVy for all Services, and not

in Capite or by Knight's Service.

Yielding and paying, therefore, to us, our Heirs and Succes-

sors, two Beaver Skins, to be delivered at our said Castle of

Windsor, on the first Day of January in every Year: And also,

the fifth Part of all Gold and Silver Ore which shall from time

to time happen to be found within the Limits aforesaid, clear

of all Charges.
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And, of our further Grace, certain Knowledtre and meei-

]\'otion, we have thought fit to erect, and we do hereby erect,

the aforesaid Country and Islands into a Province and Seig-

niory, and do call it Pensilvania . And so, from henceforth, we
will have it called, (i^c. Original Charter under the (ireaT

Seal.

It uiay be proper to observe here, that there is, at the Board
of Trade, a very beautiful Map of Maryland, but very ill drawn,

of which we have pj'oved a Copy : it must have been, at least,

as ancient at this Time, i)ecause it takes no notice at all of

Pensilvania; By it, the Eastern Side of the Peninsula is plainly

left as void and unsettled, whereas all the other Parts are ex-

tremely full of Names of Places. This Map lays down neither

Cape Cornelius, not Cape Hinlopen, and it makes the Line of the

40th Degree compleat to be a little above Newcastle Town, but

a great deal aVjove the Heads of botli Bays, and it makes the

apparent Isthmus or Neck, which joins the Peninsula to the

main Continent, to be about 18 Miles below Newcastle: but,

although a beautiful Map to look at, it's done with no sort of

Truth. We have proved a Copy of this Map, by Mr. Mathias,

and it is Exhibit, Botra No. 25.

1681. Mar. 30.

From the New York Records, the Entry of a Letter, dated

at New York, and directed to the Justices and Court at the

Whorekill : It's signed only shortly A. B. (which we shall see

by and by was Anthony Brockholts the Connnander. left there

by Sir Edmund Andros) He tells them he has received theirs

of the 21st, with a Comolaint of several Misdemeanours against

the Clerk of the Court, for which they sayd they had been
obliged to turn him out; But you had done well (says he) had
you sent the Cause hither, before you suspended him. it being
a Matter rather becoming the Power of some higher Judica-
ture, and not so fitting for yourselves, who were the Accusers,

to judge of; however, I am inclinable to believe you did not do
it without full Examination into the Truth; and, in hopes of

Amendment for the future, am willing to pass it by; to which
you have made a good Step in the Choice of William Clark,

a Person I judge capable enough, and could well approve of

for a Continuance, were he not one of your Bench, which is not
practicable in any Part ot this rfovernment ; however, he may
oflficiate till further Order. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 119.

Apr. 8.

At a Court held in Newcastle, Present Captain John Lewin,
his Royal Highness's Agent, the Justices and Captain Cantwell
the Sheriff, Captain Lewin produced his Commission from the
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Duke, and. understanding it had been publickly read here in

Court, demanded whether any body questioned the same, but

none appearing it was ordered that it should be recorded. New-
castle Rei-ords. No. 11. Fol. 87.

Ap): 2:!.

From the Kent Records, a Bill of Sale, acknowledged in open

Court, and recorded, whereljy John Briggs. of St. Jones'

County in the Province of Nev\ York, assigns some Patent and
the Benefit of it, unto Henry Stevenson. Kent Records, No.

14. Fol. 14.

Apr. 2:1

From the Kent Records, an Entry of a Bond of this Date,

whereby, according to that Court's Order, the Appellant Corne-

lius Verhoof, with two Securities, entered into Bond to the

Court of St. Jones's CountV, of 200/. New York Money, for

answering the Appeal granted in the Action of Johannis Kypp
and Raynier Williams, at the next High Court of Assizes at

New Y'ork, and abiding the final End and Determination of

that Court. And on the other liand, another Bond from
•Tohannis Kypp and Partners to the said Court of St. Jones's

County, in 200/. New York Money, conditioned to appear and
answer the said Appeal at the next Court of Assizes at New
York, and to abide by the final Determination of that Court.

Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 17.

JUay. G.

A Re-survey, made by Ephraim Herman. Surveyor, for John
Barentson, according to a Patent from Governor Lovelace, of

Land granted to Geritt Sanderson, and by him sold to the

said John Barentson, lying on the West side of Delaware River
above Newcastle, at a Place called Swanwick. Newcastle Re-

cords, No. 11. Fol. 88.

July 19.

At a Meeting of the Justices of St. Jones's County, Ephraim
Herman, the Surveyor, made Returns of the following Surveys,

made for divers Persons there named, according to the several

Warrants from this Court directed to him; Then they enumer-
ate the Names of 2:3 Persons, and their respective Quantities of

Land, which altogether amount to 14,247 Acres. Those 23

Certificates, Plotts. and Surveys, were overlooked and perused
by the Magistrates, and were by them allowed, and the Clerk
John Brinckloe ordered to cause the same to be recorded upon
the Records, and, after that, to certify to the Governor, on
every of the said Certificates, that they were approved of by
the Court ; and then to be sent to New Y'ork, for further Con-
firmation thereof by Patent. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. IS.
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Aug. IT).

From the New York Records an Order, dated in New York,

signed sliortly A., B. but there said to be made by the Coui-

luander in Chief, directed to the Magistrates, (Jourt and Sheriff

at Deal alias Whorekill, Delaware; recites, that Complaint
had been made to the (Jommander, that Cornelius Verhooi,

though dismist from being (Merk of the Court, and another

appointed in his stead, detains and refuses to deliver the Records

and Papers belonging to the said Court; Therefore, in the

King's Name authorising and requiring the Magistrates, Court,

and Sheriff, to demand them, to search for them in ;ill Places,

and, if found, to deliver them to William (Mark, the present

Cli^rk; but if not found, to l)in(i V'erhoof ovvM-, to the general

(!ourt of Assizes, to answer the same. New York Records, No.

1. Fol. 115).

IC.Hl. A/i</. 21.

From New York Records the following EntJ-y. These follow-

ing Accounts recorded for Mr. Philip Wells in behalf of Sir

Edmund Andros. New York, Anno 1081. Aug 21. Account of

Debtors standing out, iSic. for Account of his Royal Highness

James Duke of York, kv. Among other Articles in said Ac-

count of outstanding Debts to his Royal Highness is the fol-

lowing one. For C^uit-Rents at Delaware Ej)hraim Herman is

to give account of. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 120.

Ai(f/. 27.

From the New York Records, the Duke of York's Order,

dated at Edinburg, directed to Lieutenant Brockholls. Being

informed that most, if not all the Commissions of the Peace

and Magistrates, in the City and Province of New York, and
Dependencies, do expire, ere long; I signify to you, that the

present Justices and Magistrates are to continue in the Exercise

of their respective Functions until further Order; and in case

of any Want of them, by Death or otherwise, their Places to

be supplied, from time to time, by you and the Council. New
YorK Records, No. 1. Fol. 120.

(fctob. 5.

In the Kent Records, an Entry of an Act of the General Court

of Assizes held at New-York this Day, attested by the Clerk of

the Assizes, that in the Cause Cornelius Verhoofe Appellant

Johannes Kypp and Raynier Williams Defendants, the Appel
lant not appearing to prosecute his Appeal according to Law,
the Court ordered him to be nonsuited, and to pay Costs.

And, underneath that Entry, another Entry or Minute; Exe-

cution taken out upon the Order of April Court 1081. Kent
Records, No. 14. Fol. liJ.
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From the JNewcastle Records, a Letter, writ by the Justices,

directed to tlie Kiglit Honourable Captain Aiitliouy BrocKholts,

Deputy (Tovernor in 2se\v Yoriv, aequaiutiufj: liini, tliat at their

ordinary ('ourt Day, on tlie 1st Instant, Francis Jackson, iServant

to Abraham Alan, appeared in Court, and there delivered a

I'aper sifjjned by his Master, whom we resolved to send lor and
proceed against; to which purpose we issued a Warrant, but

tlie said Man made liis Escape from the Under-Sheritl', and
keeps at present in Pensilvaniaand Burlin^'ton ; We send your
Honour, enclosed, the Copies of all the Papers and otlier l*ro-

ceedinf^s, ami desire your Honour's further Order and In-

structions for our further Rule in this and the like Occasions.

The Proclamation which Mr. Moll broutiht alonj^ with liim, is

published. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 89.

J^oi-. 21.

Fronj New York Records, an Entry of Deputy-fTOvernor An-
thony BrockhoU's answer, sijjned l)y him. and directed to the

Magistrates and (Jourt at Newcastle Delaware. Says he has re-

ceived theirs of the 11th, with the enclosed Writing about Abra-
liani Man, whom you did well to prosecute, but your Officers were
not so careful as they ought, in the Service of the Warrant.
His Offence being great. 1 have wrote to the (Governor of Pen-
silvania, that, if he abscond in that (iovernment, Enquiry may
be made, and lie delivered to you. if he be submissive, you
may bind him over, on good Sureties, to the next General Court
<jf Assizes, to answer the same; but, if he be stubborn, send
him hither, that he may not longer di.sturb the Peace and (^uiet

of your Parts, which shall always endeavour to preserve; hope
you'll do your Parts, that all Offenders in the like Nature may
have their due Punishment, and the Authority of the Grovern-

luent maintained and supported. New Y^ork Records, No. 1.

Fol. 120.

Note—The same Letter is also entered in Newcastle Rec-
ords, No. 11. Fol. 91.

Dec. C.

At a Court held before the Justices in the Town of Newcastle,
upon several Petitions presented to them, the Court granted
to Benjamin Gumly to take up 200 Acres, Ephraim Herman 400

Acres, Casparus Herman 400 Acres, and to Joseph Burnham
a Lot within the Town of Newcastle. Newcastle Records, No.
11. Fol. 90.

Jan. 2(5.

From the New York Records a Letter from Captain Brock-
holls, dated in New lork, and directed to Mr. Ephraim Her-
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]Uiin, owns tilt' Receipt ot his of the lOth ami 27th of Deceiiiber,

unci tells him tluit lie has sent him enclosed an Order for col-

lecting^ and receiving' the Quit-Rents, and Arrears, due in Dela-

ware River and Dependencies, as formerly, as well of what was
in Arrear for that Part of the River now called Pensilvania;

Of which have wrote to fTOvernor Markham, desiring him to

assist you therein. As to the Desire of the Magistrates, to join,

to lay out the tweiv Miles above Newcastle, it is not within

their Cognizance, hut, if necessai'v, and desired here, shall ap-

point as may be most proper. New York Records, No. 1. Fol.

121.

Same Day.

Captain BroekhoU's Commission or Warrant, dated in New
York, and directed to Ephi-aim Herman, Collector and Receiver

of the (c^uit-Kents in Delaware River, recites that he had been

formerly appointed Collector and Receiver of tlie QuiT-Rents

due in Delaware River and Dei)endencies ; and several Sums
being due and in Arrear for the same, as well in that Part of

tlie River now called Pensilvania, as the other Parts tliereof

;

he therefore authorises Herman to continue to collect and re-

ceive the same, till further Order; remitting it to Captain

Brockholts, together with an Account thereof, as often as Op-
portunity, New York Records, No. 1, Fol. 121.

Ha)ne Day.

Captain BroekhoU's Letter, dated at New York, to the Gov-

ernor of Pensilvania, acquainting him what Authority he had
continued to Hermans; and being informed that several Per-

sons, now under your Government, are in Arrear for the same,

do desire your Favour and Assistance to the said Collector in

the Receipt thereof; assuring you I shall be ready, on ail Oc-

casions, to serve you, &c. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 121.

Feh. 1.

From Sussex Records, the Entry there, of a Bill of Sale, from

John Oakey of Deal County in the Province of New York, to

John Kiphaven and Alexander Moulston of a Lot of Land.

Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 15.

March 12.

From Kent Records, A Deed of Conveyance of Lands, ac-

knowledged in open Court, and recorded from John Burton to

Daniel Jones, wherein the said John Burton describes himself

of St. Jones's in the Province of New Y'ork. Kent Records,

No. 14. Fol. 20.

1682. June 21.

From Kent Records, A Contract, acknowledged in open
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Court, and recorded, being tor Sale ot Lands on tlie North
Branch ol Buck Creek, from Joini Milliard to Simon Hirons;
wherein Milliard writes himself of St. Jones's (Jounty in tlie

Province of New York, and, when Milliard obtains a Patent for

the same, out of the Offic?. at New York, lie shall make further

Assurance. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 21.

An;/. 11.

From Kent Records, and Assignment, acknowledged in open
Court, and ordered to be recorded, from Thomas Meathard of

the (Jounty of St. Jones in the Province of New York, to Samuel
Mott. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 22.

Aug. 14.

From Kent Records, A General Release, ordered to be recorded
made from William Buorn of St. Jones's County in the Prov-
ince of New Y'ork, to Nicholas Greenberry. Kent Records No.
14. Fol. 2:;.

Aug. 15.

From Kent Records, a Letter of Attorney, ordered to be re-

corded, from John Beaman and Nicholas Greenberry, both of

Maryland, unto Captain John Briggs of St. Jones's County, in

the Province of New York, to demand and recover a Bond Debt
due from William Buorn, of the County of St. Jones, in the
Province of New Y'ork. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 24.

Aug. 21.

An Original Indenture of Release, under the Hand and Seal

of the Duke of York, being made between the said Duke of

York, of the one Part, and William Penn Esq; Son and Heir
of Sir William Penn Knight, deceased, of the otlier Part. It

recites, that the Duke, being willing and desirous, tliat the
Tract, or Part of Land called Pensilvania, therein after men-
tioned, should be granted and assured unto the said W^illiam
Penn, and his Heirs, and, for that Purpose, having signified

and declared his Assent thereunto, to the Right Honourable
the Lords of Committee of Plantations; His Majesty, by his

Letters Patent under the Great Seal, bearing Date the 4th of

March, in the 33d Y'ear of liis Reign, had granted unto the said

W^illiam Penn. and his Heirs, all that Tract, or Part of Land
in America, witli the Islands, therein contained, and thereunto
belonging, as the same is bounded and described in, and by ths
said Patent, and therein called Pensilvania, together with sev-

eral Royalties, Franchi-ses, Jurisdictions and Privileges therein
contained. It further recites, that, in Consideration of ijs. and
for the Considerations therein after mentioned, the said

Duke was willing and pleased to confirm, and make any
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further Assurances of tlje said Tract of Land and Premi-

ses, unto tlie said William Penn, and his Heirs. Now, his

said Royal Highness, out of a special regard to the Memory,
and many faithful and eminent Services, lieretofore performed

by the said Sir William Penn to his Majesty, and his Royal
Highness, and for the better encouraging the said William
Peun to proceed in the cultivating and improving the said

Tract of (iround and Isianils therein, and there unto be

longing, and reducing the savage and barbarous Natives

thereof to Civility, and for the Grood-will which is said Royal

Highness hath, and beareth unto the said William Penn, and
for other good Causes and Considerations, doth, for hiuj and
his Heirs, remise, release, and for ever quit Claim, unto the

said William Penn, (in his ueaceable Possession now being) his

Heirs and Assigns, all the Estate, Right, Title, Interest, Rents,

Services, Duties, l^ayments. Property, Claim and Demand what-

soever, of his said Royal Highness, of, into, or out of the said

Tract of Land, and all and singular other the Lands, Islands,

Tenements, Hereditaments, and other things comprised in the

said Letters Patent, and within the Bounds and Limits therein

mentioned; to hold to the said William PenU; and His Heirs,

to the only Use and Benefit of the said William Penn, his Heirs

and Assigns forever. The original Indenture under the Duke's

Seal, (above GO Years old, ) witnessed by Jo, Werdeu and Geo.

Mann.

Aug. 24.

Another original Indenture of FeofTment, under the Hand
and Seal of the Duke of York, between the Duke of the one

Part, and the said William Penn of the other Part, whereby

(without any Recitals) the said Duke, out of a special Regard

to the Memory, and many faithful and eunnent Services then-

tofore performed by Sir William Penn to his Majesty and the

Duke, and for the Grood-will which the Duke had and bore to

the said William Penn, and in consideration of 10s. and for

other good Causes and ( -onsiderations, did bargain, sell, enfeoff

and confirm, unto the said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns

for ever.

All that the Town of Newcastle, otherwise called Delaware,

and all that Tract of Land, lying within the Compass or

Circle of 12 Miles about the same, scituate, lying, and

being iipon the River Delaware^in America, and all Islands

in the said River Delaware, and the said River and soil

thereof, lying North of the Southermost Part of the said

Circle of 12 Miles about the said Town.
Together with all Rents, Services, Royalties, Franchises,
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Duties, Jurisdictions, Liberties ami Privilejres, thereunto he-

longing, and all the Estate, Right, Title, Interest. Powers,

Property, Claim and Demand wlaatsoever, of the Duke, of, in.

or to tlie same, or to any Part or Parcel thereof.

Saving always to the Duive, his Agent and Servants, free Use

of all Ports, Ways and Passages, into, through, and out of the

bargained Premises, and every Part and Parcel thereof.

To have and to hold the said Town and Circle of 12 Miles of

Laiid about the same, Islands and Premises, with their Appur-

tenances, unto the said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns.

to the only Use and Behoof of the said William Penn, his

Heirs and Assigns, for ever.

Yielding, and paying yearly unto the Duke, his Heirs and

Assigns, the Sum of .")s. at the Feast of St. Michael only.

And the said William Penn, for himself, his Heirs and As-

signs, covenants and grants to the Duke, to pay the said yearly

Rent of 5s. at the Days whereon reserved.

And the Duke, for himself, his Heirs and Assigns, covenants

and grants with the .said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns,

that the Duke,his Heirs and Assigns, will, at any time hereafter

during the Space of 7 Years next ensuing the Date hereof, upon

the Request, and at the Costs and Charges in the Law of the

said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns, do make and execute,

or cause or procure to be made, done and executed, all and

every such further Act and Acts, Conveyances and Assurances

in the Law, whatsoever, for the further conveying and assur-

ing the said Town, and Circle of 13 Miles of Land about the

same, and Islands, and all otlier the Premises, with the Appur-

tenances, unto the .said WMlliam Penn, his Heirs and Assigns

forever, as by the Council learned in the Law, of the said

William Penn, his Heirs or Assigns, shall be devised, advised,

or required.

And the Duke thereby made, constituted, and appointed

John Moll of Newca.stle aforesaid Esq ; and Ephraim Herman
of Newcastle aforesaid Gent, jointly, and either of them sever-

ally his Attorneys; and gives and grants unto them, or either

of them, full Power and Authority for him, and in his Name
and Stead, into all and singular the Premises, and into every,

or any Part <)r Parcel thereof, in the Name of the whole. To

enter and quiet and peaceable Possession and Seisin thereof, or

of any Part or Parcel thereof in the Name, of the whole to enter

and receive; and. after peaceable Possession thereof had and

taken, as aforesaid, to deliver quiet and peaceable Possession.

and Seisin thereof, or of any Part or Parcel thereof, in the Name
of the whole. t(j the said William Penn. his Heirs or Assigns.

or to his or their lawful Attorney or Attorneys, sufficiently au-
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thorised to receive ami take the same; and him or them to

leave in the quiet and |)eaceal)le Possession thereof, according;

to the true Intent and Meaning,' of these Presents.

And the Duke allows of. ratifies and confirms, whatsoever

his said Attorneys sliall lawfully do, or cause to be done, in

and about the Premises, by Virtue of these Presents, to be as

good and effectual in the Law, to all Intents and Purposes, as

if tlie Duke had done the same in his own Person, or had been

present at the doing thereof.

Signed and sealed by the Duke of York, and witnesseti by

Jo. Werden and Geo. Mann.
This original Indenture is mjirkt to be inrolltd in sundry

Places, and at sundry Times, viz. in the Office of Records for

the Province ot New York, on 21 Nov. 1682, . in the Court of

Exchequer in Trinity Term 1084, (tlie 86th of King Charles

II.) in the Office of the Auditor of tlie Exchequer sans Date
thereto, and in the Office of the Clerk of the Pells, on 10 Oct.

1688, in tlie fourtli of King James the Second.

As by tlie Original Indenture of Feoffment.

We have also a Copy thereof from the Records in New York,

in New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 122.

Aug. 24.

Another Original Indenttire of Feoffment, under the Hand
and Seal of the Duke of York, between tlie Duke of the one

Part, and the said William Penn of the other Part, whereby,

(Avithout any Recitals, ) the said Duke, out of a special Regard

to the Memory and many faithful and eminent Services then-

tofore performed by the said Sir William Penn to his Majesty

and his Royal Highness, and for the Good-will which the said

Duke had and bore to the said William Penn, and for the Con-

sideration of 10.y. and of the Rent and Covenants herein after

reserved and contained, does bai'gin, sell, enfeoff and confirni.

unto the said William Penn. his Heirs and Assigns for ever,

All that Tract of Land, upon Delaware River and^Bay, be-

ginning 12 Miles South from the Town of Newcastle, other

wise called Delaware, and extending South to the Whore-
kills, otherwise called Capin Lopen, together with free

and undisturbed Use and Passage into, and out of all Har-

bours, P?ays, Waters, Rivers, Isles and Inlets, belonging

to, or leading to the same; Together with the Soil, Fields,

Woods, Underwoods, Mountains, Hills. Fenns. Isles,

Lakes. Rivers, Rivulets, Bays and Inlets, scituate in, or

belonging unto the Limits and Bounds aforesaid.

Together with all Sorts of Minerals, and all the Estate. In-

terest, Royalties, Franchises, Powers. Privileges and Immuni-
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ties whatsoovcr, of the Duke therein, or in or to any Part or

Parcel thereof.

Saving and reserving to the Duke, his Agents and Servants,

free Use of all Ports, "Ways and Passages into, through, and
out of the Premises.

To hold to the said William Penn, his Heirs and Assigns,

to the only Use of the said William Penn, his Heirs and As-

signs for ever.

To be held of his Royal Highness and his Heirs, as of their

Castle of New York, in free and common Soccage,

Yielding yearly to the said Duke, his Heirs and Assigns one
Rose at Michaelmas, if demanded.
And the said William Penn. for himself, his Heirs and As-

signs, covenants and agrees with the Duke, his Heirs and As-

signs, that he the said William Penn, his Heirs or Assigns, shall

and will, within one Year next, erect a publick Office of Reg-
istry upon the Premises, wherein he oi' they shall and will,

amongst other Things, truly account, set down, and register,

all Rents and other Profits, which he or they shall make, raise

get. or procure, of, in, or out of the said Premises, and shall,

at Michaelmas, yearly, pay and deliver to the Duke, his Heirs
and Assigns, a Moyety of all Rents, Issues and Profits, as well

extraordinary as ordinary, as shall be made or raised by reason
of the Premises.

And, if the same shall be behind by the Space of 20 Days
after the same ought to be paid, then, and so often, it shall be

lawful for the Duke, his Heirs and Assigns, to enter into, and
upon the said Premises, and there to distrain, and the Dis-

tresses to take and detain, until the said Moyety and Arrears
thereof shall be paid, together with all Costs and Damages
for the same.

The follow the Duke's Covenants for further Assurance, and
his Appointment of Attorneys to deliver Seisin, in the very
same Words as in the last Feoffment which was made of New-
castle.

Signed and sealed by the Duke, and witnessed by Jo. Werden
and Geo.' Mann. This original Indenture is markt to be re.

corded in the Office of Records for the Province of New York,
on 21 Nov. 1682.

As by this original Indenture of Feoffment also.

We have likewise a Copy thereof from the Records in New
York, in NewYork Records, No. 1. Fol. 124.

1682, Oct. 10.

From the Records in Kent County, the Entry of a Bond from
r-feo. Cullin, of the County of St. .lones's in the Provincn ot
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Now York, to Geo. Martin of the same County and Province,

conditioned for niakiiiir over to the said Martin, within a Year,

in open Court for the County of St. Jones's. 500 Acres of Land

on the South Side of Mispillion Creek. Kent Records, No. 14.

Fol. ao.

Note.

You are pleased to observe the Feoffments from the Duke

were dated (here) but 24 Aug. 1682, and some Time it must

have taken for Mr. Penn to prepare and go over with them.

Oct. 27, 28.

An Entry taken from the Newcastle Records in the following

Words; "On the 27th Day of October. 1682, arrived before the

••Town of Newcastle in Delaware, from England, William

"Penn Esq; Proprietor of I'ensilvania, who produced two

"certain Deeiis of Feoffment, from the illustrious Prince James,

"Duke of York and Albany, &c., for this Town of Newcastle,

"and 12 Miles about it, and also for the two lower Counties,

"the Whorekills and St. Jones's which said Deeds bore Date

"24th August 1682, and, pursuant to the true Intent, Purpose,

"and Meaning of his Royal Highness in the same Deeds, he

"the said William Penn received Possession of the Town of

'•Newcastle, the 28th of October, 1682. Newcastle Records, No.

"11. Fol. 92."

net. 28.

Another Entry, taken from the Newcastle Records, viz. "New-

" castle, the 28th October, 1682. Memorandum, That the Day

••and Year first al>ove written, William Penn Esq; by Virtue

"of an Instrument of Indenture, signed and sealed by his Royal

"Highness James Duke of York, &c. did, then and there, de-

"mand Possession and Seisin, of John Moll Esq; and Ephraim

"Herman Gent. (Attorneys constituted by his said Royal Higb-

"ness) of the Town of Newcastle, otherwise called Delaware,

-with 12 Miles Circle or Compass of the said Town; That the

"Possession and. Seisin was accordingly given, by the said At-

"torneys, to the said William Penn, according to the usual

"Form, by Delivery of the Fort of the said Towmi, and leaving

"the said William Penn in quiet and peaceable Possession

"thereof, and also, by the Delivery of Turf and Twig, and

"Water and Soil of the River Delaware; and that the said Wil-

"liam Penn remained in the peaceable Possession of the Pre-

"mises. as Witness our Hands the Day abovesaid. Thomas

"Holme, William Markham, Arnoldus de la Grange, Geo.

"Ferman, Ja. Graham. Samuel Land, Richard Tugelo, Joseph

"Curtis, John Smith." Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 9:5.
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Note.

We have, in this present Cause, (58 Years aft?r tliis Transac-

tion) examined old Witnesses, wlio were present at Mr. Penn's
tailing Possession, and at the Delivery of Seisin to him.

Cci. 28.

Anotlier Entry from the Newcastle Records, viz. "We under
"written, being Inhabitants of the Town of Newcastle upon
"Delaware River, haviug heard the Indentures read, made be-

"tween his Royal Highness James Duke of York and Albany,
"«&c. and William Penn Esq; (xovernor and Proprietor of the

"Province of Pensilvania, &;c. wherein the said DuKe trans-

"ferreth his Right and Title to Newcastle, and 12 Miles (_Mrcle

"about the same, with all Powers, and Jurisdictions, and Ser-

" vices thereunto belonging, &c. unto the said William Penn;
"and having seen, by the said Duke's Appointed Attorneys,

"John Moll and Ephraim Herman, both of Newcastle, Posses-

"sion given, and l)y our (Governor, William Penn Esq; Posses-

"sion taken, whereby we are made subjects, under the King,

"to the said William Penn Esq; we do hereby, in the Presence

"of God, solemnly promise to yield to him all just Obedience,

"and to live quietly and peaceably under his (Tovernment.

"Witness our hands this 28th Day of October, Anno 1682.

"Arnoldusde la Grange, Joh. D'haes, R. D. Burch, Will.

"Sempill, John Homez, Hendrick Leunnens, .Joseph Moore,

"Jean Bavins, Jonas Arskin, Gyles Barret, Peter Clason, Sam-
"uel Land." Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. JKl

We have a written Map or Plans of the Town of Newcastle,

apparently very ancient; It appears to have been writ liy

some Foreigner, and Mr. Hamilton gives some Account of its

having been of the Hand Writing of this Arnoldus de la Grange,

before named, and of its having been found, by a dead Sur-

veyor of Newcastle County, long ago, in the Surveyor General's

OflBce in Newcastle. The Date is most uncertain, but it shews
that the Town anciently was laid out regularly in Streets, and
many of the Town Lots then taken up, at the Time of this Map

;

and indeed, it is observable, on many ot the Grants of Town
Lots in Newcastle, herein before stated, that those Lots are said

to be lying in such and such Streets, as we find mentioned in

this old Map. The Exhibit is Newcastle Map.

Oct. 29.

From the Records in Sussex County. The Entry of a Notifi-

cation, signed William Penn, dated at Upland, and directed

to William Clarke, Luke Watson, John Roads, John Avery,

Halmanus Wiltbank, and Alexander Molistone: he notifies to

24—Vol. XV.
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them, that the Duke of York had, by Feoffment, dated 34 Aug.

1682, past and conveyed to hiui, from 13 Miles Southward of

Newcastle upon Delaware Kiver, to Cape Henlopen, together

with the Powers and Jurisdictions thereunto belonging, reserv-

ing unto himself one Moyety of the Rent thereof, whereby the

said William Penn l)ecomes, also. Proprietary and C-rovernor

of the before-mentioned Tract of Land ; He desires them to

meet him, next Thursday, at the Town of Newcastle, being

the 2d of Noveml)er, where he intends to hold a General Court

for the settling the Jurisdiction of these, and your Parts, in

which they will oblige him. If there be any Persons of Note,

or others, that desire to be present, they may come freely. A\hich

you are desired to communicate. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol.

16.

uVov. 7.

From the Records in Sussex County, Commission from Wil-

liam Penn Esq ; dated in Newcaotle, whereby he, as Proprietary,

and Governor of Pensilvania, Newcastle, St. Jones, Whorekill
alias New Deal, with their proper Liberties, does, in the King's

Name, constitute Luke Watson, William Clark, John Roads,

John Avery, and Halmanus Wiltbank,. or any three of them,

to be Justices of the Peace, and Court of Judicature for the

County of Whorekill alias New Deal; this Commission to be

in Force for one Year, or till further Order. Sussex Record^,

No. 17. Fol. 17.

Sa7ne Bay.

From the Records in Kent County, another like Commission
from the said William Penn. under the like Titles, and dated

at NeAVcastle, appointing Frank Whitwell. William Durvall,

John Hillyard, John Briggs, and Robert Hart, or any three of

them, to be Justices of the Peace, and Court of Judicature for

the County of St. Jones, and an Act of Entry, that it was pub-
lisht in Court, and ordered to be recorded. Kent Records,

No. 14. Fol. 26.

Nov. 8.

From the Records in Kent County, A Writ, under Mr. Penn's

Hand and Seal, directed to Peter Baucomb, High Sheriff of St.

Jones's County, requiring him to summon all the Freeholders,

within the Precinct of his Office, to meet on the 20th Instant,

and to elect and chuse, out of themselves, seven Person, of

most Note for Wisdom. Sobriety and Integrity, to serve as their

Deputies and Representatives, in General Assembly, to be held

at Upland, in the Province of Pensilvania. the 6th of December
next, and then and there to consult with him, for the common
Good of the Inhabitants of that Province, and the adjacent
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Counties of Newcastle. 8t. Jones's, Whorekill alias New Deal,
under his Charge and Jurisdiction, and to make a true and
just Return to Mr. Penn. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 26.

Same Day.

From the Records in Sussex County, A Commission from Mr.
Penn, appointing John Vynes to be Sheriff of the County of

Whorekill alias New Deal. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 18.

Same Day.

Also Mr. Penn's like Writ, to him dir?cted, to summon all

the Freeholders of that County, to elect seven Persons as their

Representatives, lor the General Assembly. Sussex Records
No. 17. Fol. 18.

Nov. 14.

From the Sussex Records, an Entrv of a Paper signed and
sealed by several of the Justices by Mr. Penn appointed for

that County, whereby, in pursuance of their Commission, they
do, in the Presence of God, declare and promise to act justly,

and faithfully discharge their Trust. Sussex Records, No. 17.

Fol. 19.

Nov. 20.

From the Records in Kent County. Peter Bawcomb signs

and .seals, before the open Court, that he being appointed
Sheriff of the County of St. Jones's, by Mr. Penn, he declares,

and solemnly promises, in the Presence of God, justly to exe-

cute his Office, and discharge his Trust. Kent Records, No.
14. Fol. 27.

Same Day.

From the Records in Kent County, five of the Justices for

St. Jones's County being appointed by Mr. Penn, sign and seal

the like solemn Declaration, on their Parts. Kent Records,

No. 14. Fol. 27.

Nov. 21.

From the New York Records, it appears that the two FeoflF-

ments from the Duke of York to Mr. Penn, were on this Day,
entered in their Records. New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 123,

and Fol. 120.

Same Day.

From the New York Records, A Declaration, by the Com-
mander in Chief and Council, dated in New Y'ork, recites both
the Duke's said Feoffments to Mr. Penn, and the Duke's Ap
pointments, therein contained, of Persons to deliver Posses-
sion of the said Pemises to Mr. Penn, as by the said Indentures
here produced and shewn to us, and by us well approved of
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and entered in the publiek Records of this Province, does ap-

pear. And we, beinj? thereby fnlly satisfied of tlie said William
Penn's Right to the Possession and Enjoyment of the Premises,

have, therefore, thought lit and necessary to signify and
declare the same to you, to prevent any Doubt or Trouble that

might arise or accrue, and to give you our Thanks for your
good Services, done in your several Oflfices and Stations, dur-

ing the Time that you remained under his Royal Highness's

Government; expecting no further Account, than that you
readily submit and yield all due Obedience and Conformity

to the Powers granted to the said William Penn in and by the

said Lidentures; in the Performance and Enjoyment of which
we wish you all Happiness. Tliis Declaration is directed. To
the several Justices of the Peace, Magistrates, and other Officers,

at Newcastle, St. Jones, Deal, alias the AVhorekill, at Delaware,

or, within any of the Bounds and Limits above-mentioned.

New York Records, No. 1. Fol. 127.

We have another Entry of this Declaration, whicli is there

signed by the Commander Anthony Brockholls, and counter-

signed, by Order in Council, John West Clerk of the Council;

which is entered in Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 92.

From the Newcastle Records, we have an Entry of a Certifi-

cate, or Declaration, signed John Moll, (but without Date)

wherein he relates that Mr. Penn, at his first Arrival from
England by the Town of Newcastle, in the Month of October

l'i82, sent a IVIessenger ashore, to give Notice to the Commis-
sioners of his Desire to speak with them aboard; that Mr.

Moll (being then left the first in Commission by Sir Edmund
Andros, Governor under the Duke of York of all his Territories

in America) did go aboard, with some more of the Commis-
sioners; when Mr. Penn shew'd him the two Feoffments, the

one for the County of Newcastle, with 12 Miles Distance North
.and South thereunto Ijelonging [please to observe Mr. Moll's

understanding of the Terms of that Feoffment] The other for,

&c. with Powers of Attorney to me, and Ephraim Herman de-

ceased, to deliver Possession to Mr. Penn; but the said Herman,
being gone from home, was not aboard, at that Time; I there-

fore, desired, from Mr. Penn, 24 Hours to consider with Herman
and the rest of the Commissioners about it; In which Time we
unanimously agreed to coraplj^ with the Duke's Orders. Where-
upon, by Virtue of the Powers given to us by the said Letters

of Attorney, we did give and surrender, in the Duke's Name,
to Mr. Penn, actual and peaceable Possession of the Fort at

Newcastle, b^' giving him the Key thereof to lock upon himself

alone the Door: which being open'd by him again, we did

deliver, also, to him, one Turf, with a Twig upon it, a Por-
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ringer with River Water and Soil, in Part of all that was spe-
cilied in the said Indenture, and according to the true Inten.t and
Meanint? thereof; And, a few Days after that, we went to the
House of Captain Edmund Cantwell, at the south Side of Apo-
queinining Creek, by Computation, above 12 Miles Distance
from the Town of Newcastle, as being Part of the Two lower
Counties mentioned in tiie Duke's other Feoffment; and, after
we had shewn to the Commissioners of those Counties, the
Power and Orders given to us as aforesaid, we askt them if
they could shew any Cause why we should not proceed to act
and do there, as we had done at Newcastle? And, finding no
manner of Obstruction, we made, then and there, in the Duke's
Name, the same Manner and Form of Delivery, as we had done
at Newcastle; Which acting of us, was fully accepted and well
approved of, by Anthony Brockholl, then Commander in chief,
and his Council, at New York, as appears by their Declaration
dated 21 November 1G82. From which Jurisdiction we had our
Dependance. all along, ever since the Conquest, until w^e had
made the above related Delivery to Mr. Penn, by Virtue of the
Duke's Orders and Commands. Newcastle Records No 11
Fol. 94.

Nov. 21.

From the Sussex Records, the Return made by John Vines
Sheriff, to Mr. Penn, that, in obedience to his Warrant of the
8th Instant, he did summon all the Freeholders, and that they,
with a general Vote, did elect and choose Edward Southriii^
William Clark, Alexander Draper, John Roades, Luke Wat-
son, Nanthaniel Walker, and Cornelius Verhoof. Sussex Re-
cords, No. 17. Fol. 19.

Dec. G.

An original Paper, or Petition, signed by those particular
seven Persons for New Deal alias Whorekill, by six more for
St. Jones, and by five more for Newcastle, directed to the Hon-
ourable Proprietor and Governor of Pensilvania, intitled, The
humble Request of the Freeholders of the Three Countys of
Newcastle, Jones, and New Deal alias Whorekill, humbly de
siring that they may be favoured M-ith an Act of Union, by the
Governor and Assembly, for their Incorporation in and with
the Province of Pensilvania, in order to their Enjoyment of all
the RiL'hts and Privileges of the aforesaid Province; and that
they might, for ever after, be esteemed and accounted as Free-
men of the before-named Province; This being our Desires and
humble Request in the Assembly, we have desired the Presi-
dent and two other Members of the U pper (bounties. Part of this
Province, to present it to your Honour; and if we are so happy
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to obtain our Request, we will, for ever, acknowledge it, and
in all Faithfulness subscribe ourselves your in all lawful Obe-

dience. This Orif^inal Paper is proved by Patrick Baird, and
is Pensilvauia Exhibit D D.

1683, Dec. G.

From the Records of Pensilvania—An Act of Assembly with

this Title, The Laws of Pensilvania and Territories thereunto

belonging, made l)y the Groverjior and Freemen of the Province,

in a General Assembly held at Chester alias LJ inland, the 6th

of December 16«3. An Act of Union for annexing and uniting

of the Counties of Newcastle, Jones's, and the Whorekills alias

New Deal, to the Province of Pensilvania. It recites the Let-

ters Patent for Pensilvania, granted by King Charles to Mr.

Penn, and that the Duke of York had released his Right and

Claim to every Part of that Province to Mr. Penn, wherel)y he

was be(H)me the undoubted and rightful Proprietary and Gov-

ernor of that Province, and was thereby so recognized and ac-

knowledged. It also recites that, as a beneficial and requisite

Addition to the said Territory, it had pleased the Duke of York

to grant to Mr. Penn all that Tract from 12 Miles Nothward

of Newcastle on the River Delaware, down to the South Cape

commonly called Cape Henlopen, and by the Proprietary and
Governor now called Cape James, lying on the West side of

the said River and Bay, formerly possest by the Dutch, and

bought by them of the Natives, and first surrendered uj), on

Articles of Peace, to the Lieutenant-Governor Colonel Nicholls,

and a second time, to Sir Edmund Andros, Lieutenant-Gov-

ernor to the said Duke, and had been by him quietly possest

and enjoyed; and also the said River of Delaware, and Soil

thereof, and all Islands therein, lately cast into three Counties,

called Newcastle, Jones's and Whorekill alias New Deal,

together with all Royalties, Powers and Jurisdictions thereunto

belonging, as by two Deeds of Feoffment, dated 24th August

1682, may appear. And for that, there must always be a People,

before there can be a Government, and that People must be

united and free, in order to settle and encourage them for the

Prosperity of the Government; and since the Inhabitants of

that Tract, lately pas.sed from the Duke, are not yet under the

same Capacity with those in Pensilvania; and, reciting the said

Request of the Freemen of the said County, and as the Union
of two distinct People, that are under one Government, is

most desirable in itself, and beneficial to the Publick, and that

it cannot be so durably maintained, to the mutual benefit of

each other, as by making them equally Sharers in Benefits and
Privileges. It is enacted by the Proprietary and Governor, by
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and with the Advice and Consent of the Deputies of the Free-
men of the said Province and Counties, in Assembly met, that
the Counties of Newcastle, Jones's, and Wharekill alias New
Dale, shall be, and are, annexed unto the Province of Pensil-
vania, as of the proper Territory thereof; and the People therein
shall be governed by the same Laws, and enjov the same Privi-
leges, in all Respects, as the Inhabitants of Pensilvania do or
shall enjoy from time to time therein. This is proved by
Charles Brockden Deputy-Master of the Rolls, to be a true
Copy, and is in Pensilvania Records, No. 7. Fol. 2.

Dec. 18.

From the New York Records, the Entrv of a Letter from Cap-
tain Brockholls to Sir John Werden. Sir. I received vour's of
the twenty fourth of August past the 4th of December : but.
too late to assist or serve Mr. Penn in giving Possession of
what his Royal Highness has been pleased to grant him; being
before possest thereof by the Persons impowered in the Body of
the Deeds, which Mr. Penn, having since been here, hath shewn
and recorded. Am ready to obey all his Royal Highnesss Com-
mands, and serve his Interest, but fear what left of his Province
notable to defray the Charge. I am, &c. New York Records
No. 11. Fol. 126.

Dec. 21.

From Kent County Records, Proprietarv Penn's Commission
or Authority, under his Hand and Seal, dated at Chester, and
directed to the Justices of the Peace for the County of Kent;
wherein he orders and appoints them, in open Court" to i-eceive
all Petitions from Persons wanting to take up Land amongst
them, to grant Warrants to the Surveyor to measure the same,
not to exceed 300 Acres to a Master of a Family, nor 100 to a
single Person at one single Penny per Acre, or Value thereof in
the Produce of the Countv; which done the Survevor to make
his Return to the Court, and the Court make their Return into
my Secretary's Office: all Lands formerly granted, and not taken
up and settled within the Time limited by the Methods of your
own Court, shall be accounted vacant Land ; all Persons, for the
future, that shall have Grants, shall be limited to seat in a Year,
else the Gfrants to be void ; Endeavour to seat the Lands by way!
of Townships, as 3,000 Acres amongst 10 Families; if 'single
Persons 1,000 among 10 of them, laid out in a long Squan.
5 or 10 of a side, and a Way, of 200 Feet broad, left betweeii
them, for a Highway in the Township, for the future Good
and great Benefit of the County. Newcastle Records, No 11
Fol. 28.
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Dee. 25.

From Kent County Records, Proprietary Penn's Commission,

under his Hand and 8eal, dated at Chester, in the second Year

of his Government, appointing seven Persons to be Justices

of the Peace in tlie Jurisdiction of tlie County of Jones's, which

my Will and Pleasure is shall, from henceforth, be called by

The Name of Kent; the Extent whereof shall be from the South-

side of the most Northerly main Branch of Duck-Creek North-

wards, and Southward to the North-side of the main Branch of

Mispillion Creek called the Three Runs; and they, or any four

of them, to be a Court of Judicature; This Commission to be

of Force for one Year, or till further Order. Newcastle Records,

No. 11. Fol. 29.

Same Bap.

Governor Penn's Letter to those Justices, exhorting them

most pathetically, to do Justice by virtue of their Commission,

and also telling *em that he thinks fit that an exact Catalogue

be returned to him, of the Names of all the People of their

County, Masters, Mistresses, Servants, Parents, Children, also

the Number of Acres each Freeholder has, and by whom, and

when, granted, &c. Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 80.

Same Day.

Proprietary Penn's Commission under his Hand and Seal

dated at Chester, in the 2d Y'ear of his Govenment, in like

manner appointing seven Persons, viz. William Darvall, Luke
Watson, Norton Claypole, John Roades, Edward Southrin.

Robert Hart, and John Kyphaven. to be Justices of the Peace

in the Jurisdiction of the County of the Whorekills, which he

wills, from henceforth, shall be called by the Name of Sussex;

the Extent whereof shall be from the main Branch of Mispillion

Creek, called the Three Runs, Northwards, and Southwards

to Assawament Inlett, reputed and accounted Cape Henlopen,

which said Cape Henlopen, I will, from henceforward, have

called by the Name of Cape James; And you or any four of

you to be a Court of Judicature. This Commission to be in

Force for a Y>ar or till further Order. Sussex Records, No.

17. Fol. 20.

Note well.

Mr. Penn had not been two Months in the Country, and he

scarce foresaw the present Dispute, yet. then, nay three Weeks
before, in the Act of Union, he called Cape Henlopt-n, just

where the ancient Maps called it, and where Lord Baltimore's

map, and our Map, (used 50 Years afterwards in 1781, and 1732)

called it.
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Satne Day.

Another Entry of Proprietary Penn's Letter, sent to the Jus-

tices of Sussex County in lotidem verbis as the former. Sus-

sex Records, JN'o. 17. Fol. 21.

Same Bay.
Another Entry of Proprietary Penn's Orders and Limitations

about taking up Land in totidem verbis, as, tlje former sent

to Kent County. Sussex Recortls, No. 17. Fol. 22.

iiame Day.

Anotlier Commission from Proprietary Penn, constituting

William Clark to be Clerk of the Court of Sessions for the

County of Sussex, and Register of the said County. Sussex

Records, No. 17. Fol. 23.

Dec. 26.

From the Sussex Records, an Order, underProprietary Penn's

Hand and Seal, to the Justices of the Peace of the County of

Sussex, that, before any Land be surveyed, for any other Person,

they issue a Warrant, to the Surveyor, to lay out, for the Duke
of York, in their County or Precincts, 10,000 Acres of Land for

a Manor, and 10,000 Acres for a Manor for Grovernor Penn: and
he would have the Duke's Manor lie on the North side of

Assawarmet Inlett, as near to Cape James as may be, and
his own Manor to be between the Bounds of Cedar-Creek and
Mispil lion-Creek, or in the most convenient Place towards the

North side of the County. Sussex Records, JNo. 17. Fol. 23.

Dec. 26.

From the Kent Records, another like Order under Proprie-

tary Penn's Hand and Seal, to issue a Warrant to the Surveyor
to lay out in their County or Precincts, 10,000 Acres for a Manor
for the Duke of York, and 10,000 Acres for a Manor for himself,

in the best Places for sound and good Land and Water. Kent
Records, No. 14. Fol 31.

Jan. 9.

From the Sussex Records, an Entry of a Declaration, signed

and sealed by the Justices which had been ajjpointed by Pro-

prietary Penn, whereby they acknowledge him to be their right-

ful Proprietor, and make a solemn Promise to discharge their

Commission faithfully, and if they should do otherwise, then to

suffer and undergo the same Fine or Punishment as if they

had taken an Oath. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 20.

Jan. 10.

At a Court held for the County of Kent under Proprietary

Penn, the Court orders the Clerk to give out a Warrant, di-
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rected to the Surveyor, to lay out 10,000 Acres of Land for

the Duke of York, on the Rich Rigge, in the Road to Chop-

lanct, and to the Heads of the Branches of the Murther-Creek

or where they will in any other clear Land; it being for a

Manor for the Duke of York, granted by a special Order from

the Proprietary and Court for the same. And they make

another like Order, for a Warrant to lay out 10,000 Acres for

Proprietary Penn, at the South-side of the main Branch of

Duck-Creek, and so towards Jones's Creek. Kent Records

No. 14, Fol. 31.

Same Day.

All the Justices of Kent County, sign and seal a like Declara-

tion of Acknowledgment of Mr. Penn's being their Proprietary,

and a solemn Promise faithfully to execute his Commission,

under Pain of the same Fine and Punishment as if they had

taken an Oath. Kent Records, No. 14. Fol. 32.

Feb. 13.

A Deed recorded in Sussex County whereby Luke Watson of

Sussex County, in consideration of 30Z. Sterling, conveys to Sam-

uel Gray also of Sussex County formerly called the Whorekill,

a Parcel of Land of 190 Acres called St. Giles's on the West-side

of Delaware Bav. West from the Whorekills about a Mile from

Pagan-Creek, which Piece of Land had been heretofore granted

on '24th June 1G7G, by the Duke of Y^ork by his Grant under

the Great Seal of New Y'ork, used for granting of Land; free

of all Incumbrances, the Rent and Services reserved to the Duke

of York and his Assigns only excepted. Sussex Records. No.

17. Fol. 24.

Feb. 21.

An Original Assignment, made by way of Endorsement upon

the Indian Purchase which was made the 10th of July 1080,

whereby that Purchaser. John Moll, assigns all his Right,

Title and Interest to the therewithin mentioned, unto Proprie-

tary Penn ; Moll's own Plantation of 200 and odd Acres of Land

in White-Clay Creek only excepted. This is proved by Patrick

Baird and is the Pensilvania Exhibit. F F.

350 Car. II, 1682.

From the Chappel of the Rolls, a Copy of Letters Patent

granted to James Duke of York his Heirs and Assigns (without

any Recital) of.

Mar. 22.

All that the Town of Newcastle, otherwise called Delaware,

and Fort therein or thereunto belonging, situate, lying and

being between Maryland and New Jersey in America; and all
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that Tract of Land, lying within tlie Compass or Circle of 12
Miles about the said Town, situate, lying and being upon the
River of Delaware; and all Islands in the said River of Dela-
ware; and the said River and Soyl thereof, lying North of the
Southermost Part of the said Circle of 12 Miles about the said
Town; and all that Tract of Laud, upon Delaware River and
Bay, beginning 12 Miles South from the said Town of Newcastle
otherwise called Delaware, and extending South to Cape Lopin

;

together with all the Lands. Islands. Soil, Rivers, Harbours,
Mines, Minerals, guarrieb. Woods, Marshes, Waters. Lakes, Fish-
ings, Hawkings. Huntings. Fowlings, and all other Royalties,
Privileges, Profits. Commodities and Hereditaments to the said
Tow^n, Fort, Tracts of Land, Islands and Premises, or to any or
either of them, belonging or appertaining, with their and
every of their Appurtenances, scituate, lying and being in
America.
And all the King's Estate. Right. Title, Interest. Benefit.

Advantage, Claim and Demand whatsoever of in or .to the said
Town. Fort, Lands or Premises, or any Part or Parcel thereof:
and the Reversion and Reversions, Remainder and Remainders
thereof

;
together with the yearly and all other Rents, Revenues

and Profits of the Premises, and of every Part and Parcel
thereof.

To hold to the said Duke of York his Heirs and Assigns for
ever, to be held of the King his Heirs and Successors, as of the
Manor of East Greenwich in free and common Soccage. and not
in Capite or by Knight 's-Service.

Yielding and rendering, and the Duke of York for himself his
Heirs and Assigns covenants and promises to yield and render,
to his Majesty his Heirs and xVssigns, yearly, four Beaver Skins,
when demanded.
And the Crown thereby grants to the Duke of York, his Heirs

and Assigns, Power to govern, punish, make Laws. &c. (and
reserves appeals to the Crown) and to appoint and revoke
Governors, Officers, Ministers, &c. This Copy is proved from
the Rolls by Paris, and is Rocha No. 6.

Note.

The Defendant cannot bring himself in his Answer to be-
lieve that ever these lower Counties were expressly granted by
the Crown to the Duke of York, but it is plain from the
above that they were. But then he says, that this Grant
was made to the Duke after his Feoflfments were executed to
Mr. Penn, and it is certain that it was,almost. not quite, seven
Months after the Date of the Duke's Feoffments to Mr. Penn;
and the Defendant supposes that the Duke obtained this Grant
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for himself, and not for Mr. Penn, and never made any subse-

quent Conveyance to Mr. Penn after this Patent : But that is

not to be supuos'd, nor can legally be suppo.s"d; the legal ana
the fair Presumption is, that the Duke, who, not 7 Months be-

fore, had covenanted to procure further Assurance, did obtain

this new express Grant of the o lower Counties in Perform-

ance of his Covenants, and for the Benefit of Mr. Penn: and,

as this new Grant must either have been intended for the Bene-

fit of tfie Duke liimself, (as the Defendant insists) or of Mr.

Penn, (as we insist) we liave a Fact that will determine that

Question :

33° Car. II. 1683, Mar. 22.

For, we have the very Original Charter itself, under the

Great Seal, in our Custody, ready to produce, which, if the

Duke had intended for himself, and to defeat our Title by, he

would have kept, and not Mr. Penn, who was, at this Time
of passing it. and for a considerable Time longer, over in

America.

As to Mr. Penn's obtaining further Assurance from the Duke,
after this express Grant to the Duke, within the 7 Years, the

Duke, soon after Mr. Penn's Return to England, became King,

and afterwards abdicated, before the 7 Y'ears expired. Besides,

as will be observed by and by, the particular Bounds of the

lower Counties were not settled, much less the Lines, to divide

them from Maryland, run.

And, had the Duke of York continued a Subject, Mr. Penn
might have compelled him to have made further Assurance
which being the Case The Crown, (which was never advised to

take Advantage of defective Titles in America if Possession and
Improvement had foilowed) will never, we trust, be advised to

it, in this Case, after near 80 Years Possession, and such an Im-
provement, and fine Colony as this settled, by one private Gen-
tlemen, to the Ruin of his own private Fortune and Family,
and without a Shilling Expence (in any Shape whatever) ever

contributed by the Crown, or the Publick; by which Improve
ment, and the great Privileges Mr. Penn granted to the Settlers,

he has, in Effect, purchased to the King, many Thousands of new
Subjects, being Foreigners, who have fled from Tyranny and
Oppresson in their own native Countries, thither for an Asylum
and Place of Refuge. And this Colony is now so finely settled,

that it is not 2 Years ago since they furnisht the King with 895

Men, for the Expedition again.st the Spanish West Indies; afar
greater Number than was furnisht by any other Colony in

America. This is. doubtless, not in the present Cause, but is a
Diirression from it, however hoi)p tliis short Digression may be
excused, on so great a Part of the Plaintitts Case.
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And thus have we trjivelled thro" tliis very long 5th Chap-
ter, from the new Charter jjranted to the Duke of York
in 1G74 down to the Time of Mr. Penn's being in full

Possession of Pensilvania and tlie lower Counties, in 1G82.

Chap. VI. Au. Ac-count of ivluit past (in America) in the Years

168;*). 1()84, and 1685. (exclusive of u^hat past in England
durinff those Years.)

168;J. Apr. 23.

From the Records in Kent County at a C^^ourt held for the

County of Kent by Commission from William Peiin. Proprietary

and Grovernor of Pensilvania and Territories thereunto belong-

ing, Captain William Markham Deputy Governor, present the

Commissioners. The Proprietary made his Speech to the People
and afterwards, the Deeds of these lower Parts was read, before

the People, in open Court; then the Laws of the Government
read, in open Court. Kent Records No. 14. Fol. 33.

July 26.

From the Original Returns in the Surveyor General's Office

in Pensilvania, a Return, signed by J. Barkstead by Order of

William Clark, that, by Virtue of a W'arrant from William
Penn, Proprietary and Governor of the Province of Pensilvania,

and the Territories thereunto belonging, bearing Date the 4th

Day of May last to him directed, by William Clark, Chief Sur-

veyor of the Counties of Sussex and Kent, Layd out, for James
Duke of York, a Tract of Land, lying and being on the North
Side of Assawormenett River and Inlett, in the Territories of

the Province of Pensilvania, in the County of Sussex, beginning
at a Corner markt White Oak, standing in a Hommack, near
the Mouth of the Inlett of Assawormenett, and running, from
thence, up the River, bounded therewith, on several Courses, 1620

Perches, &c. Layd out for 10,000 Acres of Land. Surveyed the
26th of July 1683, by me J. Barkstead by Order of William
Clark. This is proved to be a Copy by Benjamin Eastburn
Esq; Surveyor General, and is in the Exhibits from the Sur-
veyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 1.

Note.

Proprietor Penn had ordered the laying out this Tract for

the Duke in this very Place, so long ago as 26 December 1682.

as has appeared in his Order to the Justices of Sussex County
of that Date. And this very Spot comes to the Cape Henlopen
which we insist on, and is very material to be observed.

Sept. 17.

An old worn out Copy of a Commission supposed to have
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b?en signed and sealed hy Lord Baltimore, wherein the said

Lord Baltimore took the Title of Proprietor of Maryland, and

directed that Commission to his dear Cousin and Councillor

Geo. Talbot Esq ; and appointed the said Talbot to repair, forth-

with, to the Skoolkill at Delaware, and in Lord Baltimore's

Name to demand of William Penn Esq; or his Deputy, all that

Part of Land, on the West Side of the said River, that lyeth to

the Southward of the 40th Degree Northerly Latitude, according

to an East Line run out. from two Observations, the one taken

on 10 June 168'2, and the other the 27th of September 1G82, in

Obedience to hi-^ Majesty's Commands, exprest in a Letter of

the 2d of April 1681; which Commands were, at that time, re-

jected by the Agents of the said Penn, notwithstanding that

(by several Letters and Writings under their Hand it may ap-

pear) theypromist a Compliance with his Majesty's Commands
aforesaid; and, for what you shall do herein, this shall be to

you a sufficient Power. Pensilvania Exhibit B. B. spoke to by

Patrick Baird.

Sept. 24.

Upon the same Paper, an old worn out Copy of a Demand, sup-

posed to be signed and sealed by Greo. Talbot, wherein He, by Vir-

tue of his Lordship's Commission, whereof he said that, which

was there above writttjn, was a true Copy. He the said Talbot

did, in the Name of Lord Baltimore, demand, of Nicholas

Moore, Deputy to William Penn Esq; all the Land, lying on

the West Side of Delaware River, and to the Southward of the

40th Degree of Northerly Latitude, according to a Line run East,

from two Observations. &c. ut supra; The Land, so claimed

by me for Lord Baltimore's use, being Part of the Province of

Maryland, granted to his Lordship's Father by King Charles

the 1st of sacred Memory, and now wrongfully detained by the

said William Penn from his Lordship; And in Witness that I

make this Demand I have hereunto set my Hand and Seal.

This is also spoke to by Patrick Baird, and is t]ie Pensilvania

Exhibit B. B.

Octoh. 28.

From the Orisrinal Returns in the Survevor-General's Office

in Pennsilvania, another Return signed by J. Barkstead by

Order of William Clark, that, by virtue of a Warrant from Pro-

prietary Penn, dated the of May last to him directed by Wil-

liam Clark. Chief Surveyor of the Counties of Sussex and Kent,

laid out for the said Proprietor Penn a Tract of Land, being

on the South Side of Rehoboth Bay, in the Territories of the

Province of Pensilvania. and in the County of Sussex, bound-

ing, on one side, along the Line of the Duke of York's Manor,
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containinir and laid out for 4.790 Acres of Land, survev'd the
28th October 1683, by me J. Barkstead, bv Order of William
Clark. This is proved to be a Copy bv Ben. Eastburn Esq •

Surveyor- General, and is in the Exhibits from the Surveyor
General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 1.

Octob. 31.

Upon the same Paper with the Copy of Lord Baltimore's Com-
mission to Colonel Talbot, and with Colonel Taibofs Demand
made by Virtue of such Commission, is an Original Paper
signed by Proprietor Penn. of this Date, being his Answer to
that Demand. In which Answer Proprietor Penn, First, takes
notice that,a long with that Demand, Lord Baltimore should
have sent some Letter or Memorial to state his Demand
Secondly he objects to the Stile and Language of the Commis-
sion. Thirdly he says that he, nor any Deputy of his, do live
on the West side of Skuilkill. Fourthly he says he was absent
at New York, when this Commissioner came, and never did,
nor will, commissionate his Deputy to treat and conclude his
Inheritance, without his particular Directions and Command
Fifthly he says that Colonel Talbot is directed in the Com-
mission to make his Demand according to a Line, which is said
to be run in Obedience to his Majesty's Commands; and the
King's Letter of 2 April 1681, expresly said that the Lord Bal-
timore or his Agent should, together with Mr. Penn's Agent,
agree the Latitude and then run the Line and bound the Pro-
vinces; which (says Mr. Penn) is not yet done; for, those Ob-
servations, and the Line run by them, are performed by Lord
Baltimore and his Agents only, and therefore, not according
either to the King's Commands, or to common Equity, for Mr.
P-nn said He knew nothing of them. Sixthly, To pretend (as
the Commission does) that Mr. Penn's Commissioners refused to
comply with the said Letter is hard for him to do, for Lord Balti-
more would have had them agreed to have taken an Observation
upon the River Delaware, whereas the King's Letter (stating
Mr. Penn's Bounds as they are exprest in his Patent) begins 12
Miles above Newcastle, upon the West side of Delaware River,
so to run to the three and fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude
upon the said River; which makes it impossible that Lord
Baltimore should come within those Limits to take an Obser-
vation, or to run a Line, in persuance of the King's Commands
in the said Letter; since, taking an Observation on Delaware
River, (which, say they, he exprest) is a plain Violation of it.
They further say, that they never refused, but prest. taking
an Observation according to the King's Letter, which was
grounded on the Bounds of Mr. Penn's Patent: and when
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Lord Haltiniore, and Mr. Perm's Ajrent. had agreed to meet at

Newcastle, and to proceed according to the King's Letter, its

true that Mr. Penn's Agent came not, and as true, that tlie

Reason was, that Lord Baltimore called immediately, at Clii-

chester alias Marcus Hook, as he went to Newcastle, and for-

bade the Inhabitants to pay me Quit Rent, and named the

Place by a new Name, before any Line was run, or any Obser-

vation agreed ; which, being a declared Breach, both of the

King's Commands, and of their Treaty, in the Opinion of Mr.

Penn's Agent, the said Agent refused to meet next Day, about

a Matter the Lord Baltimore had, in such a manner, already

determined. Seventhly, But what fault soever they were in,

Mr. Penn says tliat he is sure, that. l)efore an Observation

was agreed, or any Line was run, he came in himself, and sud-

denly after waiting upon the Lord Baltimore, presented him
with another Letter from the King, which he was so far from

complying with, that he lookt upon the King as mistaken, and

set his Patent in direct Opposition, and, to this day, would

never hear of complying with it. Now, in Mr. Penn's Opinion, it

was not proper to ground Lord Baltimore's Proceedings, upon a

former Letter, in Neglect of a later Advice and Command from

his Majesty. Nor does it look very just to make the Caution or

Neglect of an Agent, in the Absence of his Principal, a Reason to

[)roceed against his Principal when present with other Instruct-

ions, without due Regard had to him or his Allegations. And
Mr. Penn goes on thus. 1 must say, that, at Newcastle, when I

prestthe Lord Baltimore to set in one House with his Council,

and 1 would set witli mine in another, that we might treat by

written Memorials under our Hands, to prevent Mistakes, Ill-

memory, or Ill-will, he refused, alledging he was not well. I

then told him I would wave the Advantage, I thought I had, by

the second Letter, and proceed to meet liim at tlie place he de-

sired, which wa^ at the Head of Chesapeak Bay. and there try

to find the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, provided he wouW
first please to set me a Gentleman's Price, so much per Mile, in

case I should have no Part of the Bay by Latitude, that so 1

might have a Back-Port to this Province ; [Note By our present

Agreement we have no Back-Port now into Chesapeak Bay

;

many Miles, above that Bay. being, by the Agreement, yielded to

Lord Baltimore, in Consideration or the three lower Counties.]

This I writ according, to his Desire, and sent it after him. To
sell he refused, but, started An Exchange of that Part of the

Bay for the Lower Counties on the Bav of Delaware: This, I

presume, he know I could not do. For his Royal Highness,

had the One Half, and I did not prize the thing I desired

at Such a rate : Soon after this meeting I understood he had
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publisht a Proclamation, some time before, to invite Peo
pie to plant those Parts in my Possession under the Duke;
and that also, before any Demand had been made, or our
Friendly Treaty ended, kc. There I left him, expecting his

News when he came to the Head f)f the Bay in Septenil>er, as

I thought he promised me; but instead of that, An Observation
is taken, a Line run, and Trees markt, without my Notice, ;uid

a Demand made thereupon, and all grounded on the King's
Letter of 2 April 81. in which I find no such Direction. And
as to the Demand itself, of all the Land on Delaware Rivei'

to the South of the 40th Degree, He has no Warrant to run hi.s

Line to the River, neither by the King's Letters, noi- his own
Patent, if he peruses it well, where he will find the Bay, but no
River of Delaware. The Land demanded, is not a Part of the
Province of Maryland, as exprest in the Demand, for. it is of

the Jurisdiction of Delaware alias Newcastle: which is. l)y sev-

eral Acts of the As.sembiy of Maryland, distinguisht and dis-

owned from being any Part of that Province. [Those old Acts
have been all in a Lumj) repealed in Maryland, on 15Sei)tember
1704, as by Maryland Statute Book. Fol. 44; but they have made
new Acts exactly to thesamc^ Purpose, there, since, as we shall

shew in their Order of Time.] The Lord Baltimore lias no
Land given him by Patent, but what wasunplanted of nuy but
Savage Natives; and this West Side of the River Delaware,
before, and at. the passing of his Patent, was actu-illy bought,
and possest, by a Civil and Christian State in Amity with the
(Jrown of England; and by the Treaty of Peace in .j3, between
the English and Dutch, was Part of one Article of the Tieaty
that the Dutch should enjoy those Territories in America, of

which this was a Member: and we know Foreign Acquisitions, of

that Time and Kind, continued firm, after his Majesty's Res-
toration ; for Jamak'a still remains to us, and Dunkirk itself

was not rendered, but sold. But, if Lord Baltimore had a just

Pretence to this Rirer, and former Pos.session too. which he
never had, yet, being by the Dutch taken, and by the King
taken froTu the Dutch, it becomes the Conqueror's; a Ship
taken by the Enemy, and possest but 24 Hours if retaken by
the Crown is Prize, and this Place was more than 24 Years in

the Hands of the Dutch, not demanded of them; This made the
Duke (upon the Opinion of Councill) take out fresh Patents,
since the last Conquest, for his Territories in America; nor is

Lord Baltimore in the Conditon of an ordinary Subject, (in

whose Favour something might be alledged)for he has Regalia,
Principality, as his Style shews, and I conceive he is bound to
keep his own Dominions, or else lose them, and if lost to a For

25— V^OL. XV.
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eigner, and taken by the Sovereign, the Sovereit,'n has the Right
another Conqueror could plead. This is the present Jus Gen-
tium, and Law of Nations, which, in Foreign Acquasts, pre-

vaileth; and the King, accordingly, has granted it under his

(Treat Seal to the Duke, and if there was no Truth in this, it

was actually another's before; and Connecticut Colony might
put in for New York, as reasonably, as Lord Baltimore can

for Delaware; their Patent having that Part of the Dutch Ter-

ritory within its Bounds, on the same Mistake; which is yet

out of Dispute, from Lord Baltimore's own Patent, that says

New England begins where he leaves, which, being at 40 Lati-

tude, it follows, that New York, and Part of East and West
Jersey and Pensilvania will fall to New England; Libera luis,

Domiii.e\ He concludes, that the King, by Articles of Peace

between him and Holland, is the allowed Owner of all that Terri

tory once called New Nethereland,of which this is a Part ; he has

granted it by two Patents; and this in Controversy by one.

under the Great Seal, to the Duke of York; and the Duke, out

of his Regard to the Services and Losses of my deceased Father,

has interested me in Part of the same; so that he is Lord, and
T am Tenant; of him I hold, and to him I pay my Rent (which

his Governor of New York has now sent for) and for him 1 im-

prove, as well as myself; and, therefore, I must take leave to

refer Lord Baltimore to the Duke, who is. doubtless, of too

much Honour to keep any Man's Right, and of too great Resolu-

tion to deliver \\\) his own; whose Example I am resolved to

follow. W. Penn, Philadelphia, 31 October 1683. This Paper
is spoke to by Patrick Baird, and is Pensilvania Exhibit B B.

Feb. 13.

At a Court held by Commission from William Penn, Proprie-

tor and Governor of the Province of Pensilvania and Territories

thereunto belonging, at Lewis for the County of Sussex, the In-

dian AssawawMnack, Harmattamale, acknowledged, in open
Court, the Sale of 1.000 Acres of Land to Mr. Alexander Moli-

.stone; which Land is on the South-side of the Indian River.

Sussex Records. No. 17. Fol. 26.

1684, Mar. 2G.

Prom Sussex Records the Inrollment of a Patent granted by

William Penn Esq: as Proprietary and Governor of the Pro-

vince of Pensilvania and Territories thereunto belonging (which

Titles he constantly takes in his Acts, tho'. being long, it is not
always recited in this Abstract) whereby he grants in Fee, to

William Emmitt, 400 Acres of Land in the County of Sussex, on
the West side of Delaware Bay, and on the South side of Herring
Creek, proceedinsr out of the ^fiddle Creek from Rehoboth Bay,
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To be held of the said UilHa.n Penn and his Heirs, Proprietarvas aforesaid as 3f his Manor of Wonninghurst in Xe ^^ ,County; yielding and paying 4 Bushels of Wheat vea vWtness whereof I have caused these my Letters to be madepatent, witness myself at Philadelphia in^he ItT leai'fl'Government. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 27.
'

Same Day.
Another like Patent from him to Richard Stevens in Fee forooO Acres in the said County of Sussex, on the West side ofDelaware Bay and on the North side of the Rive • called theSouth River, formerly called the Indian Riv.r ^ende'^,'Bushel and

.] of Wheat yearly. Sussex Records! .". H. Fol

Apr. 18.

wtllf"^"n"; "" ^
f"'"^"-'"

'"^^" ^y ^- B^'-kstead, bv Order ofWilliam Clarke, by vertue of a Warrant from Susvsex ( ourtdirected to the said William Clarke Chief Survevor, for AndrewDepree and John Barker, of a Tract of T nnrl ...n
!?'^^^^'"''^''

on the South sideof the Indian R^er in twntfo7s^''^

Acres. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 2.

Same Day.
Another like Return of a Survey, made bv Do, bv order of Doby vertue of a Warrant from said Court ' for TohnO^;Land called Mullatto Hall, on the Ch'.M oftdianTiv:in the County of Su.ssexand Territories of the Provin e of PenSI vania beginning, &c. &c. containing and laid ou for 80,Acres. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol. ;i

Apr. 19.

Another like Return of a Survey, made bv Do, bv Order ofDo, by vertue of a Warrant from said Court' for ToL r
of Land called the Lady's Delight, onTlle'soitl ide oT'ttIndian River, in the County of Sussex and in the Terr'torfe'of the Province of Pensilvania, adjoining to the L.niro JohnOkey and John Barker, beginnin- &c contnni,.,. "

,

.^^'^^^

for 1,000 Acres. Surveyor Gener^i'to^^::! F^l T '"'

1684, May 12.

Another like Return of a Survey, made bv Do. bv Order ofDo, by vertue of a Warrant from said Court! for John V.^lfo a Tract of Land called Barkin, on the South silo? th In-dian River in the County of Sus.sex in the TerritoHes of thlProvince of Pensilvania, on the South-East side o he fi,-Fork of the said River called South-West Branch, begit^fn"



388 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

&;c. containing and laid out for 500 Acres. Surveyor General's

Office, No. 8. Fol. 4.

Same Day.

Another like Return of a Survey, made by Do, by order of

Do, by order of a Warrant of said (Jourt, for John Kipshaven

of a Tract of Land called Nonsuch, on the South side of the

Indian River, in the County of Susj^ex and in the Territories of

the Province of Pensilvania, adjoining to the Land of John
Okey, beginning, «&c. containing and laid out for 500 Acres.

Surveyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 3.

3Iaij 13.

Another like Return of a Survey, made by Do, bv Order of

Do, by vertue of a Warrant from said Court, for Alexander

Maulstone, of a Tract called Cattle's Delight, on the South

side of the Indian River, in the County of Sussex in the Ter-

ritories of the Province of Pensilvania, adjoining to the Land
of John Kipshaven, beginning, &c. containing and laid out for

1,000 Acres. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 49.

Note ivell.

These 8 very early Surveys, for the Duke of York, Mr. Penn
himself, Andrew Denree and John Barker, for John Okey,

for John Croper, for John Vines, for John Kipshaven, and

for Alexander Maulstone, all on the South side of Indian River,

and even down to Assawarmett, are very material to fix our

Cape Hinlopen.

June 1.

Besides the foregoing Return made by Barkstead the Deputy
Surveyor, there is, at the Foot of the Return for the Duke of

York's Manor, the following additional Return, from William
Clarke the Chief Surveyor, viz. I herel)y certify into the Pro-

prietary's Secretary's Office, that I have caused to be surveyed

and laid out, unto James Duke of York, the Land above men-
tioned, and is accordingly entered and recorded in my Office.

Given under my Hand at Lewis 1 June 1684. William Clarke

Chief Surveyor of the Counties of Sussex and Kent. Surveyor

General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 1.

Same T>ay.

The like additional Return from the Surveyor General for

Mr. Penn's own Tract. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol.

1.

July 10.

The like additional Return for Andrew Depree and John
Barker s Tract. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8. Fol. 2.
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Same Day.
The like for John Okay's. Surveyor General's Office, No.

8. Fol. 3.

Hame Day.

The like lor John Croper. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8.

Fbl. 2.

Same Day.

The like for John Vines. Surveyor General's Office, No. 8.

Fol. 4.

Same Day.

The like for Alexander Maulstone. Surveyor General's Office,

No. 8. Fol. 4.

Nov. 2.

From Sussex County, the Enrollment of a Patent granted by
Thomas Loyd, James Claypole, and Robert Turner, Commis-
sioners appointed under the Great Seal by William Perm Pro-

prietary and Governor, inc. to grant and sign Warrants and
Patents for Land ;

granting in Fee unto John Croper his said

particular Parcel of Land, containing 1000 Acres called Lady's

Delight, so surveyed and returned as aforesaid, rendering

-Rent to the said Proprietary and his Heirs one Bushel of

Wheat for each hundred Acres. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 2ii.

Feb. 1.

The like additional Return from the Chief Surveyor for John
Kipshaven's above mentioned 500 Acres. Surveyor General's

Office, No. 8. Fol. 3.

Along with the 8 Surveys below Indian River, mentioned in

this Chapter, are returned Maps or Plans how those several Per-

sons Lands lay : But they are, more sensibly, denoted and marked
in the General Map of Pensilvania herein after mentioned,

which is (as well as these particular Maps) proved in the Cause,

and shew the material Scituation of these Tracts, so early

granted out by Mr. Penn. But these particular Maps or Plans

are in Records from the Surveyor General's Office, No. 8.

1685, Octo. 2.

From the Records in the Master of the Rolls Office in Pensil-

vania, the Copy of the following Indian Deed; whereby Lare,

Packenah, Jareckham. Sickais, Pettquessit, TdwIs, Esse-

penaick, Petkhoy, Kekelapan, Ecomus, Machaloha, Methconga,
Wissa, Powey, Indian Kings, Sachemakers, right Owner.s of

all the Lands from Quing Quingus Creek, called Duck Creek,

unto Upland, called Chester Creek, all along by the West-side

of Delaware River, and so, between the said Creeks, backward.
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as far as a Man can ride in two Days with a Horse, for and in

Consideration of the there following Goods, to them in hand

paid and secured to be paid by William Penn Proprietary and

Governor of the Province of Pensilvania and Territories thereof,

do bargain and sell to the said William Penn his Heirs and

Assigns for ever, the aforesaid Tract of Land with all the Woods,

Runs, Creeks and Appurtenances to the same belonging. To

be held, used, possest and enjoyed by the said William Penn

his Heirs and Assigns for ever, without any Molestation

by them or any other Indians. Witness their Hands and Seals,

with i:i Labels and Seals and Mark thereto, and witnessed by

9 Christian Witnes.ses and 5 Indian Witnesses. This Copy from

the Records is proved by Mr. Brokden. Deputy Master of the

Rolls in Pensilvania, and is in Pensilvania Records, No. 7.

Fol. 3.

And now we shall go back again to see what was transacted

in England during these three Years, which would have been

very obscure if intermixt with the America Proceedings.

Chap. VII. An Account of what past {in England) in the

Years 1683, 1684, and 1685, bei7ig the first Contest or Suit

between Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn, viz.

Note.

In April 1683, the Duke of York was obtaining a further

Grant, from the King to himself, of the three lower Counties,

in a more ample manner than that which he had before; and

IT was very near passing, if it did not actually pass, the Great

Seal; but we can't find an Enrollment of it, to shew thereby

that it did actually pass the Great Seal.

And indeed the Defendant has proved a Copy of this intended

Patent, from the Bill remaining at the Signet Oflice, and an

Entry made relating to it at the Privy Seal Office; and has also

examined Mr. Sharp's Clerk. Hamersley, to prove that lie cannot

find that Patent enrolled, at the Chappel of the Rolls, as it

ought to have been, had it passed the Great Seal.

As the Defendant has proved it, we design to move for Leave

to examine a Witness viva voce to prove Copies, on our part,

at the Hearing, because, altho' it might not pass, yet, it con-

tains such a Description of the South Bounds of the lower

Counties as is extremely material for us.

1683, Apr. 13.

A Bill signed by Sir R. Sawyer and now remaining at the

Signet Office, containing the King's Grant to the Duke of York,

in Fee; which recites that the Duke of York had surrendered
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to the King the Letters Patent dated 22(1 March la.^t, which
Surrender his Majesty had accepted and thereby did accept.
Iheretore the Kin- of his especial Grace. &c. Grants unto the
-Duke of York, in Fee.

All that the Town of Newcastle, otiierwise called Delaware,
and Fort therein, or thereunto belonging', scituate, lyini,^ and
being betwt-en Maryland and New Jersey in America, "And all
that River called Delaware, and Soil thereof, and all Islands in
the said River.

And all that Tract of land, upon the West side and Kiver of
Delaware which lieth from Skoolkil Creek, upon the said River
unto Bombeys-hook, and. backwards, into the Woods, so far
as the Minqua's Country.
And, from Bombeys-hook, on the said River and Bav. unto

Cape Henlopen, now called Cape James, being the South Point
of A Sea Warmett Inlett ; and backwards, into the Woods
three Indian Days Journies : Being formerly the Claim or
Possession of the Dutch, or purchased by them" of the Natives,
or which was by them first surrendered unto our Lieuten^^nt
Governor Colonel NichoUs, and which hath since, been sur-
rendered unto Sir Edmund Andros. Lieutenant Governor to
our said dearest Brother James Duke of York, and hatli for
several Y'ears been in his Possession.
With the general Words following, and Powers of Govern-

ment, &c. This is Exhibit Signet Office.

Api: IG.

An Endorsement upon the Bill thus, viz. Expediture apud
Westmonaster. 16 die Aprilis anno regni Regis Caroli Secundi
tricesimo quinto. Per Morice.

Apr. 16.

An Entry or Docket in the Books at the Signet Office, and
at the Privy Seal Office of the said Bill. These are also Exhi-
bits markt Signet Office, and Privy Seal Office.

Apr. 16.

Another Entry in the books at the Hanaper Office, viz. AGrant to James Duke of York of the Town of Newcastle alias
Delaware scituate between Maryland and New Jersey in
America, to him and his Heirs. At the Foot of which Entry
the Clerk of the Hanaper certifies that that Grant did pass the
Great Seal. (-For they are not entered there unless they pass)-
tiB^n. Oil.

Note.

Three things arise upon this intended Patent, even if it didnet pass 1. If this Patent did not pass, neither did the Duke
of \ork s Surrender of his former Patent pass. 2. Piea^^ to re-
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mark well where the South Bounds of the three Lower Counties

were then expressly described to be. And 3. Tho" the Suit and

Contest, then beginning, lasted three Years, and my Lord Bal-

timore insisted that the whole Counties were within the Extent

and Limits of his Grant of Maryland; yet, when that was flatly

adjudged against him. and when the Proposal was made, for

ending the Difterent-e, and he had time allowed him to consider

of, and make any Objections to, the Terms, he never pretended

then that those South Bounds went at all too low, or ever ob-

jected to them then; which is the more material as the South

Bounds of the lower Counties, taken by the present Agreement,

are most precisely and exactly, whiit was then designed for the

South Bounds thereof, if that Patent had passed in 1683.

A]))'. IT.

Tuesday, April 17th 1683. Present Lord Keeper, Lord Presi-

dent, Lord Privy Seal, Earl of Craven, Lord Viscount Faucon-

berg. Earl of Rochester, Bishop of London, Mr. Secretary Jen-

kins. My Lord Privy Seal produces a Letter, to himself, from

the Lord Baltimore, dated the 8th of February 1682, with two

other Papers inclosed, the one l>eing an Account of the Confer-

ence held in Maryland, between the Lord Baltimore and Wil-

liam Penn, and the other containing a Narrative of the whole

Proceedings betwixt them; whereby it appears, that great

Contests have arisen between them, concerning the Bounds

of their Provinces: it being also alledged tlierein, that Mr. Penn

las written a Letter, dated the 16th of September 1681, which

vas directed to James Frisby and others, at their Plantations

n Pensilvania, which the Lord Baltimore does assert to be

A-ithin the Bounds of his Propriety, wherein Mr. Penn does,

nevertheless, advise them, that, as he was confident and ready

to believe, they were within his Bounds, they should not pay

any more Taxes or Sessments, by any Order or Law of Maryland ;

Whereupon the Inhabitants of Baltimore and Cecil County,

having refused to pay their Levys, the Lord Baltimore and his

Council had immediately issued out Orders to the Military

Officers of those Counties, to assist their respective Sheriffs in

the due Execution of their Office, which had been, with great

Difficulty, effected; Whereupon, it is ordered, that my Lord

Keeper have a View of the several Boundaries of the Patents

granted to the Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn, as also to his

Royal Highness, of Newcastle, which his Lordship is desired

to consider of, and to report his Opinion to the next Commit-

T<^e; when the Agents of the Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn are

to attend; and in the mean time, that Application bf made to

his Royal Highness, that he would please not to pass any Con-

vevance to Mr. Penn of those Parts, until the Bounds between
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the Lord Baltimore and him be settled. Memorandum. Sir

John Werden was accordingly attended, from the Committee,
and promised to repre.sent tiieir Desires to his Royal Hij^hness.

It is also agreed, by the Committee, that Letters be written to

the Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn, advising them to come to

a fair and speedy Composure of the Matters in Difference

betwixt them. This is proved by Mr. Gellibraud, and is Exhi-

bit Botra JS"o. 22. Fol. 1.

Note.

This shews the Reason why the then passing Grant, to the

Duke, was stont. It also shews why the Duke did not make a

formal Conveyance to Mr. Penn. For Lord Baltimore's Com-
plaint and Claim of Right, which came over hither first of all

by his Letters, and was, afterwards, turned into a Petition,

wherein he claimed the whole three lower Counties, put a stop

to any further Grant from the King to the Duke, and also from
the Duke to Mr. Penn, until such time as that the Lord Balti-

more's Claim should be examined into.

Apr. 27.

Friday, April the 27th 1683. Present Lord Keeper, Lord Presi-

dent, Duke of Ormond, Earl of Clarendon, Lord Chamberlain,
Earl of Rochester, Earl of Sunderland, Earl of Chesterfield,

Earl of Craven, Mr. Secretray Jenkins, Mr. Chancellor of the

Exchequer. Their Lordships being acquainted that an Agent
from the Lord Baltimore attended without, concerning the

Boundaries in Difference between Mr. Penn and his Lordship,

it is ordered, that the said Agent he told, that if he has any
Matter of Complaint, he may represent the same, by Petition,

to his Majesty in Council. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand,

and is Exhibit Botra No. 22. Fol. 4.

May 30.

Thursday, May the 30th 1683. Present Lord Keeper. Lord
President. Lord Privy Seal, Earl of Peterborough, Earl of

Craven, Earl of Clarendon, Earl of Rochester, Lord Dartmouth
Mr. Secretary Jenkins. A Reference, dated the 31st May, upon
the Petition of Richard Burke, Servant to my Lord Baltimore,

being read, praying that a Grant, which \h passing to his Royal
Highness, of the Parts adjacent to Delaware Bay, may not pass

the Great Seal, until his Majesty shall be satisfied concerning

the extent of Lands granted to the Lord Baltimore, Council
learned in behalf of his Royal Highness, together with an
Agent from Mr. Penn. who solicits the passing of this Grant,

as also the Petitioner ]\Ir. Burke, and his Council learned, are

called in; Whereupon the Council for my Lord Baltimore

aflBrming, that the Tract of Land in Question lies within
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the Limits of the Cliarter granted tu tlie Lord Baltimore, and
tliat his Lordshii) lias, always, continued iiis Claim tliereunto,

Mr. Penn's Agent, and tlie Council in behalf of his Royal

Highness, endeavoured to make out. that this Territory was
never possessed by my Lord Baltimore, but originally inhabited

l)y Dutch and Swedes, and that the Ciraut to my Lord Balti-

more was only of Lands not inhabited by Christians; .so that,

a Surrender iiaving been nmde of the Country to his Majesty

in 1GG4, the Lord Baltimore can have no rightful Claim there-

unto; and that it having been, ever since, in the Possession of

his Royal Highness, the Lord Baltimore can receive no Injury

by the Grant tliat is desired. Upon the whole Matter, Mr.

Penn's Agent undertaking to prove, within a short time, that

this Country was possessed by the Dutch and Swedes in the

Year 1609, or at least, before the Date of the Lord Baltimore's

Patent, their Lordships agreed to meet again, as soon as the

Proofs shall be ready for making out the same. This is proved

by Mr. Grellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra, No. 22. Fol. 5.

May 31.

At the Court at Hampton-Court the 31st of May 1683. By
the King's Most Excellent Majesty, and the Lords of his Majesty 's

most Honourable Privy Council. Upon reading this Day at

the Board the Humble Petition of Richard Burke Gent. Ser-

\'^nt to the Right Honourable Charles Lord Baltimore, pray-

ing, in behalf of his Lordship, that a Grant (which is passing)

from his Majesty to his Royal Highness the Duke of York, of

the Town of Newcastle, and the adjacent (Jountry, on the

Confines of Maryland may not pass the Great Seal, until his

Majesty shall be satisfied of the Extent of Letters Patent for-

merly granted to Cecill Lord Baltimore, wherein the said Town
and adjacent Country is alledged to be comprized. His Majesty

in Council was pleased to order, that the Examination of that

whole Matter be, and it is hereby, referred to the Right Hon-
ourable the Lords Committees of this Bttard, for Trade and

Foreign Plantations, and, upon their Lordships Report of tlie

State thereof, with their Opinion thereupon, his Majesty will

declare his further Pleasure. Sign'd Phil. Loyd. This is p.roved

by Mr. Gellibrand and is Exhibit Botra, No. 21. Fol. 1.

1683. June 12.

Tuesday the 12th of June 1683. Present Lord Archbishop of

Canterbury, Lord Keeper, Lord President. Lord Privy Seal, Earl

of Roche.ster. Earl of Craven, Lord Bishop of London, Lord

Dartmouth, Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer, Mr. Godolphin.

The Agents on behalf of the Lord Baltimorp and Mr. Penn are

called in, and Council learned being heard on both sides, the



BOUNDARY gUESTION'. 395

Question is stated between them, viz. Whether, in the Year
1632, the Dutch were possessed of tlie Lands claimed by Mr.
Penn; which Mr. Penns Agent undertakes to prove, in a short
time, and their Lordsiiips will then take this Matter into fur-
ther Consideration. This is Exhibit Botra, No. 33. Fol. 7.

Aug. 14.

A Letter from Mr. Penn to the Right Honourable the Lords
of the Committee for Kis Majesty's Plantations at Whitehall.
Philadelphia the 14th of the 6 month, Aug. 1683. Tho' it be
a Duty I humbly own, to inform the Lords of the Committee
of Plantations of what concerns his Maiesty's interest in the
Success of this Province, I thought myself equally obliged to be
discreet and cautious in doing it : To write when there was need,
and not trouble Persons, of their Honour and Business, with
Things trivial, at least raw and unfinisht for their View. This,
hitherto, put me by, giving any Account of the State of our Af-
fairs

; To say nothing of the mighty Difficulties I have laboured
under, in the Settlement of six and twenty Sail of People, to
Content, within the Space of one Year, Avhich makes my Case
singular, and excusable above any other of the King's Planta-
tions. But, because my Agent has informed me, that the Pro-
prietor of Maryland, has been early in his account of our
Conference, about the fixing of our Bounds, and made a Nar-
rative of luy Affairs, as well before, as at that Time, a little

to my Disadvantage, and the rather, because my Silence might
be interpreted Neglect, 1 am necessitated to make some De-
fence for myself, which, as it will not be hard to make, so I

hope it will be received as just. I humbly say then first,

that it seemed to me improper to trouble the Lords with my
Transactions with this Proprietor, till we were come to some
Result; which we were not, for we parted till Spring, and
even then, were but to meet about the Methods of our Proceed-
ing. Next, this Narrative was taken, by this Lord's Order, with-
out my Consent or Knowledge, in a Corner of a Room, by one
of his own Attendants. And lastly when, upon Notice given
of this Usage, I complained to him, he promised, upon his
Word and Honour it should go no further, and that it was for
his own Satisfaction he did it. I told him, that mitigated the
Thing a little; but. if he should divulge it, before I saw and
agreed the Copy, he must pardon me if 1 lookt upon it as a
most unfair Practice: what that Lord has done, and what to
call it, 1 leave to my Betters, but the Surprize and Indigestion
of the whole, will 1 hope excuse me of Neglect or Disrespect:
for tho' 1 am inceremonious. 1 would by no means act the rude
or uudutiful. This said, I humbly beg that I may give a brief
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Narrative of the Matter, as it then past, since lias been, and
now stands, without tiie Weakness and Tautology his Rela-

tion makes me guilty of.

So soon as 1 arrived, which was on the 24th of October last, 1

immediately dispatcht two Persons to the Lord Baltimore,

Proprietary of Maryland, with my Respect, to ask of his Health,

offer kind Neighljourhood, and agree a Time of meeting, the

better to estal)lish it. While they were gone in this Errand,

I went to New-York, that 1 might pay my Duty to the Duke,

in the Visit of his Government axid Colony; at my Return,

which was towards the End of November, I found the Mes-

sengers I had sent to Maryland newly arrived, and the Time
fixed being the IDth of December, I prepared myself, in a few

Days, for that Province; the 11th of that Month, I came to

West River, where I met the Proprietor, attended, suitable to

his Character; who took that Occasion, by his Civilities, to

shew me the greatness of his Power; the next Day, we had a

Conference, about our Business of the Bounds, both at the

same Table, with our respective Members of Council. The first,

Thing I did, was, to present the King's Letter, which consisted

of two Parts, one, that the Lord Baltimore had but two De-

grees, and the other, that, beginning at Watkins's Point, he

should admeasure his said Degrees, at GO Miles to a Degree.

This, being read by him. first privately, then publicklj% he told

me that the King was greatly mistaken, and that he would not

leave his Patent to follow the King's Letter, nor could a Letter

void his Patent, and by that he would stand. This was the

Substance of what he said from first to last, during the whole

Conference. To this I answered, that the King might be mis-

informed, rather than mistaken, and that I was afraid the Mis-

take would fall of his Side; for, though his Patent begins at

Watkins's Point, and goes to the 40th Degree of North Latitude,

yet, iti)resumed that to lie in thirty-eight, else Virginia would

be Avronged, that should extend to that Degree; however, this

I assured him, that when I i)etitioned the King for five Degrees

North Latitude, and that Petition was referred to the Lords

of the Committee of Plantations, at that time, it was urged

by some pi-esent, that the Lord Baltimore had but two Degrees,

upon which the Lord President turning his Head to me, at

whose Chair I stood, said, Mr. Penn, will not three Degrees

serve your turn? I answered, I submit both the what, and how,

to the Honoural)le Board. To this, his Uncle and Chancellor

returned, that, to convince me. his Father's Grant was not by

Degrees, he had more of Virginia given him, l)ut, lieing planted,

and the Grant intending only Land not planted or possest but

of Savages, Natives, he left it out, that it might not forfeit
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the rest, of which the Lord Baltimore takes no notice in his
Isarrative, tiiat I remember; but, by that Answer, he can pre-
tend nothing to Delaware, that was, at and before, the passing
of tlaat Patent, bought and planted by the Dutch, and so could
not be given; but, if it were, it was forfeited, for not reducing
It during twenty Years, under the Engl isli Sovereignty, of which
he held it; but was at last reduced by the King, and tlierefore,
his to give as he please it. Perceiving that my pressing the
King's Letter, was uneasy, and that I had determined myself
to dispose him, with utmost Softness, to a good Compliance.
I waved that of the two Degrees, and prest tlie measurement
only, the next Part of the Letter; for, tho' it were two Degree^
and half fron. Watlcins's Point to Forty, yet let it be meas"ured
at GO Miles to a Degree, and I would begin at Fortv, fall as it
would, my Design was, tliat every Degree, being seventy Miles.
I should get all tliat was over sixty, the Proportion intended
the Lord Baltimore by the Grant, and the Computation of a
Degree at that time of the day. Thus, he had enjoved the full
Favour intended him. and I had gained a Door, of great Im-
portance to the i)eopling and improving of this his Majesty's
Province: But this, he also rejected; I told him. it was not
tlie Love, or Need, of the Land, but the Water; that he
abounded in what I wanted, and had Access and Harbourage
even to Excess; that I would not be thu^ importunate, but for
the Importance of the Thing, to save a Province ; and, because
tiiere was no Proportion in the Concern, if 1 were hundred
times more urgent and tenacious, the Case would excuse it;
because the Thing is insisted on, were more than ninety-nine
times valuable to me, than to him : To me the Head, to him
the Tail. I added, that if it were his, and he gave it me,
planting it would recompence the Favour, not onlv bv laying
his Country between two thriving Provinces, but the Ships that
come yearly tu Maryland for Tobacco, would have the bringing
of both our People and Merchandize, because thev can afiford it
cheaper, whereby Maryland would, for one Age or two. be the
Mart of Trade: but this, also, had no other Entertainment, but
hopes that I would not insist on these Things at our next Meet-
ing. After three Days time we parted, and I returned to thi«
Province. When the Spring came, I sent an Express, to pxay
the time and Place when and where 1 should meet him, to effect
the Busine.vs we adjourned t^ that Time. I followed close upon
the Messenger, that no Time might be lost: but the Expecta-
tion he twice had, of the Lord Culpepper's Visit, disappointed
any Meeting in our Affair, till the Month called May. He
then, sent three Gentlemen, to let me know he would meet me
at the Head of the Bay of Qliesopeake. 1 was tlien in Treaty
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with the King of the Natives, for Land, but. three Days after,

we met, ten Miles from Newcastle, which is thirty from the

Bay; 1 invited him to the Town, wliere, having entertained

him as well as the Town could aftord on so little Notice, and

finding him only desirous of speaking with me privately, I

prest that we might, at our distinct Lodgings, sett severally,

with our Councils, and treat by M-ay of written Memorials, which

would prevent the Mistakes or Abuses that may follow from

ill Designs, or ill Memory; but he avoided it, saying he was not

well, the Weather sultry and would return with \vli..T r^peed he

could ; reserving any other Treaty to another Season. Thus we

parted, at that time. I had been, before, told by divers, that

the Lord Baltimore had issued forth a Proclamation, to invite

People, by lower Prices, and greater Quantities of Land, to

plant in the Lower Dounties, in which the Duke's Goodness

had interested me as an inseparable Benefit to this whole Pro-

vini-e; I was not willing to believe it; and he, being in haste,

I omitted to ask him; but I had not been long returned, before

two Letters comes from two Judges of the two County Courts,

that such a Proclamation was abroad, that the People adhorr'd

to hearken to it, but yet, prayed my Directions. I bid them

keep their ground, and not fear, for the King would be Judge.

Upon this, I dispatcht. to the Lord Baltimore, three of my
Council, with the Clerk of it: as they went, they got an Au^

thentick Copy, under the Hand of one of his Sheriffs, to whom
an Original had been directed ; but, as the last Civility 1 could

yield him, I forbid them to seem to lielieve any thing, but what

they had from his own Mouth: Thus, they delivered my Letter;

at first, he denied any such Proclamation, turning to two Gen-

tlemen of his Council that stood by, asked them, if they remem-

bered any such thing? They also denied it; upon which, the

Persons I sent, produced the attested Copy, which, refreshing

their Memories, they confessed there was such a Proclamation,

but the Lord Baltimore told them, that it was his ancient form,

and he only did it to renew his Claim, not that he would en-

courage any to plant there. They then prayed him to call it

in, lest any trouble should ensue, but he refused it. This was,

during a Civil Treaty, without any Demand made, and after

the Place had been, for many years, in the quiet Possession of

the Duke. What to call this, I still humbly refer to my su-

periors; for his Preten-tions to those Parts, I have thoroughly

instructed my Agent, who I hope will be able to detect them

of Weakness and Inconsistency. This is a true, tho' brief. Nar-

rative of the Entertainment 1 have had from that Lord, in the-

Business between us. And l^ecau.'ie I have, as in Duty l)ound.

sent an Agent Extraordinary, to wait upon the King and his
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Ministers, in the Affair.s ot ttiis Province, (so soon as I Could
malve any Settlement in it) I shall only humbly pray leave to

hint at two or three Things, relating: to the Business depending
between this Lord and myself, about finding the Fortieth Degree
of North Latitude, f st. That 1 have common Fame on my side,

grounded upon an ancient and constant Judgment, that the
fortieth Degree of North Latitude lieth about Pool's Isle; this

the Lord Baltimore himsef hath not denied, the Country con-
fesseth, and I shall, when required, prove Ijy some able Masters
of Ships. 2d. if this were an Error, it is grounded upon such
Skill and Instruments as gave measures to the Times in which
his Patent was granted; and if he hath got upon Virginia,
by that Error, he should not get upon me, by an exacter Know-
ledge; considering that Carolina, which endeth by Degrees,
would as much advance upon Virginia, if the reputed Latitude
of unprejudiced Times should take no place; for, by advancing
her Bounds twenty Miles, by a new Instrument, beyond the
Place which hath generally been taken tor 80^; and Virginia
not being equally able to advance, upon Maryland, (because
of it's beginning at a Place certain) she will be greatly narrowed
between both. 3dly. I, therefore, most humbly pray, that
the Judgment of Ancient Times, by which Persons, at the Dis-
tance of England from America, have governed themselves,
may conclude that Lord's Bounds; or, that he may measure
his two Degrees according to the Scale and Computation of

those Times, which was sixty Miles to a Degreee; or, if it be
allowed that he had not his Grant by Degrees, that, at least,

I might not lose the Benefit of Adu)easurement, as before men-
tioned, from Watkin's Point (in whatsoever Degree of Latitude
that shall be found) to Ihe fortieth Degree of North Latitude;
which I humbly take the more courage to press, because a Pro-
vince lieth at stake in the Success of it. I have only humbly to
add that the Province hath a Prospect of an extraordinary I

m

provement. as well by divers Sorts of Strangers, as English Sub-
jects; that, in all Acts of Justice, we name and venerate the
King's Authority; I have exactly followed the Bishoo of Lon-
don's Council, by buying, and not taking away, the Natives
Land, with Avhom I have settled a verv kind Correspondence. I

return my most humble Thanks for your former favours in the
passing of my Patent, and pray God reward you. I am most
ready to obey all your Commands, according to the Obligations
of it, and beseech you to take this Province into your Protection
under his Majesty, and him, whom his Goodness hath made
Governor of it, into yovxr Favour; for that lam, with most
sincere Devotion. Noble Lords, your thankful faithful Friend
and Servant to my Power (sign'd) William Penn. This is

proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra, No. 20.
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Feb. 12.

Memorandum concerning Pensilvania. received and read 12th

February 1C81. A certain Tract of Land, in America, having

been surrendered, long since, by the Dutch to the Kiutr. and, ever

since, in the Possession of his Royal Highness; His Royal High-

ness having demised it to William Penn Esq ; (lying contigouus

to Pensilavnia)ataRent; the Lord Baltimore now disturbs Wil-

liam Penn, and his Agents there, and opposes tne passing of a

Patent of it to his Royal Highness here. And, upon a Hearing

before the Lords of the Committee of Plantations, it being al

leged in the behalf of his Royal Highness, that this Tract of

Land was inhabited by Christians, before the Lord Baltimore's

Patent, which extended only to Land uninhabited by Christians,

it was ordered that they should be ready with Proofs to that

Point. It is now desired, in the behalf of his Royal Highness a

Day may be appointed to be heard to it. This is proved by Mr.

Gellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra, No. 21. Fol. 2.

Feb. 12.

Tuesday 12th February 168|. Present Lord Keeper, Earl of

Bridgewater, Earl of Clarendon, Mr. Secretary Jenkins. Upon
reading a Paper, delivered by the Agent of Mr. Penn, Proprie-

tor of Pensilvania, wherein it is desired, that a Day may be ap-

pointed to hear the Difference between the Lord Baltimore and

the sa^d William Penn, touching a certain Tract of Land in

America, now in the Possession of his Royal Highness. Their

Lordships take notice of a Letter, lately received from the Lord

Baltimore, wherein his Lordship desires that the Hearing of this

Matter may be deferred till April next, when he intends to come

into England. Whereupon it is agreed that this Business be

postponed until the Month of April next, unless the Agent of the

Lord Baltimore be ready to bring the Matter in difference to a

Hearing before that time. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand,

and is Exhibit Botra, No. 22, Fol. 8.

1684. July 2.

Wednesday July 2d, 1684. Present Lord Keeper, Lord Presi-

dent, Lord Privy Seal, Duke of Beaufort, Earl of Rochester, Lord

Viscount Fouconberg, Lord Dartmouth, Sir Leoliu Jenkins.

A Letter from Sir Edward Herbert, Solicitor to his Royal

Highness, read, representing the Prejudice that his Royal High-

ness may suffer by a further Delay of the Business now depend-

ing before their Lordships, between Mr. Penn Lessee to his Royal

Highness, and the Lord Baltimore, for the Lands in Delaware.

Whereupon, their Lordships order that the Lord Baltimore's

Agent have notice to attend on Wednesday the 16th Instant.

This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra, No. 22.

Fol. 9.
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July 16.

Wednesday July Kith 1084. Present Lord Archbishop of Can-terbury Lord Keeper, Lord Privy 8eal. Earl of Craven, Earl of
J^ottingham Earl of Rochester, Lord Bishop of London, LordDartmouth. Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer. The Ajrents ofmvLonl Baltimore and Mr. Penn attending, their Lordships ap-point o tak3 the matter in dilierence between them into further
Consideration, on Wednesday next, at four in the Afternoon, atwhich Time all Parties are to attend. This is proved bv Mr
(jellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra, No. 22. Fol. 10.

July 28.

Wednesday July 23d 1084. Present Lord Keeper, Lord Presi-
dent. Lord Privy Seal, Earl of Craven, Earl of Rochester, Mr
Secretary Godolphin. Sir Leolin Jenkins. Mr. Chancellor of the
Exchequer. My Lord Baltimore attending, upon the Di flerence
between his Lordship and Mr. William Penn, touching theBoundaries of Maryland and Pensilvania, his Lordship and MrFord, Agent for Mr. Penn, are called in. and Mr. Ford declaring
tha he could not be leady for Hearing, because Sir Edward
Herbert. Solictor to his Royal Highness, whose Lessee MrPenn is. was gone upon his Circuit, and that he could not getother learned Council: Their Lordships appoint this Matter tobe heard the first Tuesday after Michaelmas, at which Time all
Parties are to be ready with their Proofs and Evi.lences of the
Right. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand. and is Exhibit Botra
^o. 22. Pol. 11.

'

i<ept. 80.

Tuesday Sept. 80th K,84. Present Lord Keeper, Earl of Roches-

x.^"', ? o
P'"^'"i^^"f of his Majesty's Council. Lord Privv SealEarl of Sunderland, Earl of Clarendon, Earl of Craven, Earl ofMidd eton^ My Lord Baltimore, and the Connnissioners of hisRoyal Highness, under whom Mr. Penn claims a Tract of Landabout Newcastle in the Province of Delaware, together with

Sir Edward Herbert, his Royal Highness's Solicitor, that theProofs in this case depend chiefly upon Mr. Penn's coming intoEngland, where he was soon expected, their Lordships appointthe Business to be heard on the 9th Day of Decend.er next atwhich Time Mr. Penn is expected here. This is proved by ilr.
trellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra, No. 22. Fol 12.

1684, Bee. 9.

Tuesday December 9th 1684. Present Lord Keeper, Earl ofHutingdon, Earl of Bridgewater, Earl of Sunderlancl, Earl ofCraven, Earl of Middleton, Lord Viscount Faucorb-;-^ The26— Vol. XV. ,-• ine
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Difference depeudiiig between my Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn,

being appointed to be beard this Day; was put off to anotlier

Time. Tills is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra,

No 22. Fol.13.

March 17.

Tuesday March 17th 168*. Present Lord Keeper, Lord Presi-

dent. Lord Privy Seal, Duke of Beaufort, Earl of Sunder-

land, Earl of Craven, Earl of Ailsbury, Lord Viscount Fau-

conberg. Lord Godolphin, Mr Chancellor of the Dutchy. A Let-

ter from Mr. Penn. dated this Day, is read, praying that he may

have an Order for quieting the Possession of the Lands in Dela-

ware, as his Majesty had placed it, till the Difference between

Mr. Penn and the Lord Baltimore be heard, but their Lordships

do not think fit to do any thing therein. This is proved by

Mr. Gellibrand, and is the Exhibit Botra, No. 22. Fol. 14.

1685, Aug. 18.

Received from the Earl of Middletcn 18th August 1685.

Read the same Day. To the King's Majesty. The Petition or

William Penn, with all Humility sheweth, That his Petitioner

has long waited, to his great Detriment, the Decision of the

Matter in Differen3e between the Lord Baltimore and himself,

under the King's Name and gracious Protection, about the

Bounds of the Lands which he received from the King when

Duke ; and, tho' he has been referred to the Issue of the Quo War-

ranto upon the Lord Baltimore's Patent, yet, since this Stay is of

the greatest Prejudice to his Majesty's Province, and a Ruin to

his Petitioner and his Family, as he is ready to evince, and that

it is about a Title of Land, and not of Power, and so, not the

Question the Quo Warranto goes upon ; for that Dispute would

remain, tho' the King's Suit about Power were issued ; His Peti-

tioner most humbly prays his Case may be recommended to the

Lords of Plantations, and a short Day set to hear and deter-

mine this Business; and his Petitioner shall everneartily pray.

Signed William Penn. This is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and

is Exhibit Botra, No. 21. Fol. 3.

Aug. 18.

Tuesday 18th August 1685. Present, Lord Treasurer, Lord Pres-

ident, Earl of Bridgewatcr, Earl of Sunderland, Earl of Craven

Earl of Middleton, Lord Godolphin, Mr. Chancellor of the.

Dutchy. Upon the Petition of William Penn Esq ; referredto the

Committee, setting forth that the Difference between my Lord

Baltimore and the Petitioner, is about a Title of Land, and not

of Power, and so not, the Question of the Quo Warranto issued

against my Lord Baltimore, and therefore, praying that a short
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Day may be set lor hearing and determining the same, tlieirLordships appoint to hear the Diiierence betwaen the Lord Balt-imore and the Petitioner, concerning the Boun.laries and Title
ot feoil in America on Wednesday the 2(ith of this Month, at 4 inthe Afternoon, and order Notice thereof to be given to both

tlTZ TT'i^ ?^ 'v
^'''' '' ^^^"^^^ ^^- '^'- <^ellibrand, and isthe Exhibit Botra, No. 22. Fol. 15.

Aug. 20.

Thursday the 2Gth of August I680. Present. Lord Treasurer,Lou President, Earl of Bridgewater. Earl of Craven. Earl oNottingham Lord Viscount Fauconberg. Lord Bishop of Lon-don Earl of Middleton, Mr. Chancellor of the Dutchv. TheLord Ba imore and Mr. Penn attending, upon the Diflerencesbetween them, touching Boundaries, and Title of Soil in Amer
ica. are callexi in, and their Lordships appoint to h..; thisBusiness on Wednesday the 2d of the next Month, when bothParties agreed to attend without Council. This is proved bvMr. Gellibrand, and is the Exhibit Botra, No. 22. Fol. 10

Sept. 2.

Tuesday the 2d of September 108.x Present. Lord PresidentLord Privy Seal Earl of Bridgowater, Earl of Craven, E- rl ofM ddleton, Lord 1 iseount Fauconberg. The Lord Baltimore and
;
in-m Penn Esq

; attending, this Day. according to Order, uponthe Difference between them, and the Boundarils of Lan i nTitle of Sou m America: And Mr. Penn having produceddivers Proof, t^ make out that the Country of D^laLre wa"inhabited by the Swedes and Dutch before the Date of my LordBaltimore's Patent: It is thought fit that Copies be given othe Lord Baltimore, of the said Evidences and Proofs "hithis Lordship may be prepared to make his further D;fencebefore^the 30th of this Instant September; on which Day heLordships resolve to take this Matter again into Considera on

2^ Fol n" ' '"' ^^"^^^-d' -<^ - E-l^ibit Botra r
Octob. 8.

T ^^Z'^7r!^u^
^*^ ""^ ^"*^^^^" ^^S5. Present, Lord Jeffervs

d^n? f^^ Chancellor of England, Lord Treasurer, Lord Pre"

t

dent, Lord Privy Seal, Earl of Mul-rave Lord rhJZu ,

M^st^' 'f";f^^r''
"^^^ «^C-en,ird Bilhop'oTLo^rZ'Master of the Ordnance. My Lord Baltimore and Mr Pennattending are called in, and both Parties being heard mvLord Batimore gives their Lordships an Account'that ^ heYear 1642, one Ployden sailed up Delaware River, and did notsee any House there at that time, as is affirmed b -a Depo'tfonproduced by Mr. Penn; and the Copy of a Repo;t of the Com-
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missioners of Foreign Phintation.s, on the 4th of April 1638,

touching;: the Dirtereuces between the Lord Baltimore and Mr.

Clayborn, about tlie Isle of Kent, is offered by my Lord, shew-

ing their Opinion touching tlie Lord Baltimore'.s Riglit to the

Isle of Kent: After which, tlie Deposition of Mr. (iurret Van
Sweeringen concerning the seating Delaware Bay and River to

the iSouthward of the 4(Jtli Degree Northern Latitude, by the

Dutch and (Swedes, read. Whereupon their Lordships think

fit that my Lord Baltimore procure an attested Copy of the fore-

mentioned Reports, against Thursday next, when their Lord-

ships will take this Matter into further Consideration. This

is proved by Mr. Gellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra No. 22.

Fol. 18.

Octoh. 17.

Saturday Octol)er 17th 1685. Present, Lord Chancellor. Lord
Treasurer, Lord Privy Seal, Duke of Beaufort, Lord Chamber-
lain, Earl of Sunderland. Earl of ("raven. Earl of INfiddleton,

Lord Dartmouth, Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer. My Lord

Baltimore and Mr. Perm are called in, and my Lord Baltimoi-e

having undertaken to procure an authentick Coj)y of a Report,

made by the Commissioners for Foreign Plantations on the 4th

April 1638, touching the Differences between my Lord Balti-

more's Predecessors and William Clayborne, al)ont the Isle of

Kent, my Lord Baltimore declares that he cannot find the Ori-

ginal, whereby an attested Copy may be procured; Their

Lordships agree to report their Opinions, that the Tract of

Land, now in Dispute, does not belong to my Lord Baltimore;

but, in as much as it yet remains doubtful, what are the true

Boundaries of the Land called Delaware, which their Lord-

ships now adjudge to belong to his Majesty, their Lordships

will meet again for the Settlement of those Boundaries between

his Majesty, and the Lord Baltimore; at which time bis Lord-

ship and Mr. Penn are to give their Attendance, and to come
prepared for a final Decision therein. This is proved by Mr.

Gellibrand, and is Exhibit Botra No. 22. Fol. 20.

Octoh. 31.

Saturday October 31st 1685. Present, Lord Chancellor, Lord

Privy Seal, Lord Chamberlain, Earl of Sunderland, Earl of

Craven, Earl of Berkeley, Earl of Plimouth, Earl of Middle-

ton, Lord Viscount Preston, Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer.

My Lord Baltimore and ]Mr. Penn attending, are called in,

and their Lordships taking into Consideration what might

be the proper Boundaries of the Country of Delaware, now in

Question, it is proposed that the whole Peninsula, or Tract

of Land, called Delaware, from East to West, as far as Cape
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Hinlopen Southward, may be divided into two equal Parts,between his Majesty and my Lord Baltimore. Whereupon, hi;Lordship, desiring further time, to consider of this Proposal,the Committee allow him a Week louL-er, to oflfer his Ohjec

RntT Jo. ^P'ovea by Mr. Geliibrand, and is the Exhibit
rJotra No. 22. Fol. 21.

JVov. 7.

Saturday November 7th 1685. Present Lord Privv Seal, Earlof Bridgewater Earl of Sunderland, Earl of Craven. Earl ofMiddleton, Lord Viscount Pauconberg, Mr. Chancellor 01 theExchequer, Lord Chief Justice Herbert. My Lord Baltiiuoreand Mr. Peim attending, concerning the Boundaries of theCountry of Delaware, are called in; and being heard, theirLordships resolve to report their Opinion, to his Majesty Thattor avoiding further Differences, the Tract of Land lyingbetween the River and Bay of Delaware, and the Eastern Sea, onthe West side, and Cheasepeak Bay on the other, be dividedinto two equal Parts, by a Line, from the Latitude of CapeHinlopen, to the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude; and,that one^ half thereof, lying towards the Bay of Delawar^and the Eastern Sea, be adjusted to belong to lii's Maiestv andthat the other half remain to the Lord Baltimore,tfompr.^^dwihin his Charter. Thi. is proved by Mr. (iellibrand, and isExhibit Botra No. 22. Fol. 22.

Hote well.

This Determination was made by Agreement of Parties as
It were, it having been before proposed to the Parties andlime given them to consider thereof.
And this Report abundantly- fixes the North Bounds of Mary-land to be at the Head of Chesopeak Bay; for the Peninsui;which was so to be divided, although it had three Boundarieson the one side, namely, the River and Bay of Delaware, andthe Eastern Sea, yet it had no Boundary on the other side butChe-sopeak Bay only.

Again, this Report fixes, very materally for us, that the SouthBounds of the lower Counties were to be from Cai.e .HinlopenAnd the first Dutch Record, of the Year 1030, shews that was 8large Miles, (viz. 8 Leagues) South of Delaware Bay. Besides
which. Cape Hinlopen mentioned in this Report, could not be
(as my Lord Baltimore now pretends) at the Mouth or Entrance
of Delaware Bay; for, if so, there was no occasion to describe
the Eastern Sea as Part of the Boundary of the Peninsulawhich in fact it was not, in such (;a.se. but, on the contrary'
the River and Bay of Delaware would have been theonlv East-ern Bmindaries. had Cape Cornelius been the true and ancientCape Hinlopen.
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Nov. 13.

At the Court at Whitehall the 13th Day of November 1685.

Present, The King:'s Most Excellent Majesty, His Royal High-

ness Prince George of Denmark, Lorrl Archbishop of Canterbury,

Lord Chancellor, Lord Treasurer, Lord Privy Seal, Duke of Or-

mond, Duke of Beaufort, Duke of Queensberry, Lord Chamber-

lain, Earl of Huntingdon, Earl of Bridgewater,Earl of Peterbor-

ough, Earl of Sunderland, Earl of Craven, Earl of Berkeley, Earl

of Nottingham, Earl of Plymouth, Earl of Morray. Earl of Mid-

dleton. Lord Viscount Fauconberge, Lord Viscount Preston,

Lord Viscount Melfort, Lord Bishop of London, Lord Dart-

mouth,Lord Godolphin, Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer. The

following Report, from the Right Honourable the Lords of the

Committee for Trade and Foreign Plantations, being this Day

read at the Board : The Lords of the Committee for Trade and

Plantations having, pursuant to his late Majesty's Order in

Councilof the 31st of May 1683, Examined the Matters in differ-

ence between the Lord Baltimore and William Penn Esq ; in be-

half of nis present Majesty, concerning a Tract of Land, in

America, called De la Ware, Their Lordships find that the Land,

intended to be granted to the Lord Baltimore's Patent, was only

Land uncultivated and inhabited by Savages. And that this

Tract of Land, now in Dispute, was inhabited and planted by

Christians, at and before the Date of the Lord Baltimore's

Patent, as it hath been, ever since, to this Time, and contained

as a district Colony from that of Maryland : so that their Lord-

ships humbly offer their Opinion, that, for avoiding fur-

ther Differences, The Tract of Land, lying between the River

and the Eastern Sea. on the one Side, and Chesapeake Bay,

on the other, be divided, into equal Parts, by a Line, from the

Latitude of Cape Hinlopen, to the 40th Degree of Northern

Latitude; and that one Half thereof, lying towards the Bay of

Delaware and the Eastern Sea be adjudged to belong to his

Majesty, and that the other Half remain to the Lord Baltimore,

as comprised within his Charter. Council Chamber 7th of

November 168.i. His Majesty, well approving of the said Report.

It was, thereupon. Ordered, by his Majesty in Council. That

the said Lands be forthwith Divided accordingly. Whereot

the said Lord Baltimore and William Penn Esq; together with

their respective Officers, and all others whom it may concern,

are to take Notice, and give due and ready Obedience thereunto.

This is proved by Dickinson, and is Exhibit Co-off. No. 4.

Note.

And thus ended this first Contest wherein many Things clearly

appear. 1. That Lord Baltimore and his Council were fully

heard. Great Numbers of Times, and had such Indulgence that
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they ordered him Copies of Mr. Penns Proof?. 2. That,
throughout the whole Process, it is, from time to time, taken
notice of as a Dispute between Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn,
and is expressly called so in the Minutes and Acts of Council,
although at the same time Mr. Penn did hold under the Duke's
Deeds and Covenants, and under Rent to the Duke, and, there-

fore, additionally, took into his aid the Duke's Name and Right.

3. That it was. in this Contest, that the then Lord Baltimore
first trumpt up the pretended Order of Council about Clayborne
of 4 April 1638, and then gave it up again. 4. That there was
a flat Judgment against Lord Baltiuiore, that Delaware, (the

Tract of Land then in Dispute) did not belong to him, and the
only Doubt was, What were the true Boundaries of Delaware?
5. That a Proposition was made then, for Peace sake, and to

prevent further DilTerences,how it sbould be bounded, and Time
given to Lord Baltimore to offer any Objections to that Pro-
posal, (j. That the Order, then made, for a Division, was to

extend Southwards, down to Cape Hinlopen, and Northwards,
not a Hair further than to the Head of Chesapeak Bay, (whereas,
now, we have granted him a great many Miles higher than
that) For, The Land, which was to be divided, was such as lay

between Delaware River and Bay. and the 8eu. on one Hand,
and Chesopeak Bay. on the other. 7. Another Matter which
confined the Northern End to that dividing Line is very express
and remarkable, and falls in exactly with our Construction of

Lord Baltimore's Patent and with the express Words of the
Pensilvania Patent : for, that Dividing Line was, by this Order,
to run from the Latitude of Cape Hinlopen to the 40th Degree
of Northern Latitude: but not, through all that Degree, up to

the 41st Degree. 8. All the World understood this as a Judg-
ment in the Favour of Mr. Penn, who was all along said to

have been a Party in the Contest; Indeed, nominally, it was
said one Half should belong to his Majesty, the Duke of York
being then become King. But, the very Order, it.'^elf, is di-

rected to my Lord Baltimore and William Penn Esq; and their
respective Officers, to take notice of it. and give due Obedience
to it; and, had the King and Council intended to have tript

up the Tenant Mr. Penn's Title, it had been a little hard and
unnatural to have ordered him to run a Line, in order to g-et

Land meerly for the King, but not for himself.

If it be askt why. after this Determination was made. Mr.
Penn did not get further Assurance from the King? The
Answer is. that tho" it was agreed and ordered how the Lower
Counties should be divided, yet. the Line of Division was not
run. but was still to bedotn'. And fveii vet remains to be done.
We hoped to liave done it l)y means of the Agreement of 1732,
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but that Agreement the Defendant will not execute. And, till

the Division Line sliould be run, no regular Conveyance could

be made. And that Division Line not being run in that King's

Time, (who abdicated before the T Years which were mentioned

in his Covenant expired) Mr. Penn tlierefore could not, at any

Time hitherto, apply lor further Assurance.

Chap. VIIL Fro7n the first Determination of the King in Coun-

cil of the 13th of Nooeinher 1685, down to the aeconcl Deter-

mination in the Plaintiffs Favour in the Year 1708.

1685, Dec. lU.

From the Records in Sussex County. At a Court held in the

Name of William Penn Proprietary and Governor of Pensilva-

nia, and the Territories, at Lewes for the County of Sussex, the

8, 9, and 10th Days of December 1685. Iwottama Samam, the In-

dian Shackamacker of Assawawmat, signed, sealed and delivered

an Indenture of Sale for 1000 Acres of Land to Norton Claypoole,

called the Indian Grove, scituate on the South side of the In-

dian River, and acknowledge the Sale thereof to the said Clay-

poole, according to the Indenture of Sale signed in the Docket

by Justice Watson, one of the Members of the Court. Also the

same Shackamacker signed, sealed and delivered an Indenture

of Sale for ."iOO Acres of Land, scituate on the North side of the

Indian River, to Matthew Taylor Merchant of New York, and
acknowledged the Sale thereof according to the Indenture of

Sale. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 26.

Note.

Neither of these Indentures appear': neither are they said to

be recorded. This shews, however, that Courts were held in

Mr. Penn's Name, that those Courts exercised Jurisdiction on

both sides of Indian River, and that the Lands, about Indian

River, were not then settled, but were, piece by piece, bought,

from time to time, from the Indians then. And you remember
there was an Order of Sussex Court made on 1 January 1680,

that none should seat down on Lands, till they brought the

Indians to Court to acknowledge they had sold those Lands.

1680. Sept. 14-10.

From the Sussex Records, an Indenture made in the 7th Y'ear

of the Proprietary Government, between John Oakie of the

County of Sussex in the Territories of the Province of Pensil-

vania of the one Part, and John Biirker of the other Part. It

recites the forementioned Grant, from Proprietary Penn"s Com-
missioners, to John Uakie. dated the 27th of January 1684, of

Mulatto Hall, on the South side of Indian River, containing
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800 Acres, now the said Oakie, in Consideration of 30Z. alienatesunto John Barker 400 Acres, being one Movetv thereof; withWarranty against all Persons, the Rents from henceforth togrow due to the Proprietary only excepted. And there is an Act
of the Court held at Lewis for the Countv of Sussex the 14, 15and 16th of September lG80,endorsed on the said Deed,and signedby the Clerk of the Court, that Oakie acknowledged that Saleand Conveyance according to the Contents there within written
feusses Records, No. IT. Fol. 30. 31.

4° Will. & Maria:, IGUl. (Jct. 25.
From the Chappel of the Rolls, a Commission under theGreat feea^, from King William and Queen Mary, to Benjamin

Fletcher Esq; It recites that Colonel Fletcher had, by LettersPatent under the Great Seal of the 18th of March then lastbeen appointed Governor of xNew York. It also recites, Fol.
4'

That, by reason of great Neglects and Miscarriages in the Gov-

r.r'"' "J*;^"^
P^^vinceof Pensilvania in America. an<] theAbsence of the Proprietor, the same was fallen into Disorderand Confusion; by means whereof not only the Publiek Peaceand Administration of Justice (whereby the Crown's Subjectsshould be preserved in those Parts) was broken and violated,bu there was also great Want of Provision for the Guard andDefence ot the said Province against the Enemies of the Crownwhereby the said Province, and the adjacent Colonies, weremuch exposed, and in Danger of being lost from the Crown ofringland.

JX .T^T^""^"''"'""^^^'^''^'''^
"^"^^^^^^ i^"« lies, and forUie bet er Defence and Security of our Subjects inhabiting thoseParts during this Time of War. we find it absolutely necessary

to take tlie Government of our Province of Pensilvania into ourown Hands, and under our immediate Care and Protection
Therefore constituted and appointed Colonel Fletcher to beCaptain General and Governor in Chief in and over our Pro-

TrTtsofT 1 r''\.^"^
Country of Newcastle and all the

him o t^k^;;
^^•?';"^'^'''^"" inAmenca; and commanded

ment
''"'' ^''^^''""^ ^"^^ Country under his Govern-

And. for the better governing and ruling the said Provinceand Countrj;, and the Tracts and Territories depending ther'ntheir Ma,esties gave and granted unto the said ColonelFIetcher'
all and every the like Powers and Authorities, as by the forme;Commission was given an.l granted to him for the ruling and

Colonel F etcher, m and over our said Province of Pensilvaniaand Country of Newcastle, and the Territories and TractTo^Land depending thereon in America.
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And to appoint, and suspend, a Lieutenant Governor, and a

Council there.

To hold, exercise and enjoy the said Office and Place of Cap-

tain General and Governor in Chief in and over our Province

of Pensilvania and Country of Newcastle, and the Territories

and Tracts of Land depending thereon in America, during our

Will and Pleasure. This Copy is proved by Mr. Bulmer and

is Exhibit Rocha, No. 7.

Note.

This Commission was proved not so much with any design

to make utse of it in our favour, as to obviate any Objection

that might be made against us, that the Crown, once, took the

Government from Mr. Penn ; which, you are pleased to observe,

was not of the lower Counties only, or upon account of any

Defect of Title in Mr. Penn, but, for Reasons of State; and the

Crown took the Government of Pensilvania itself from Mr.

Penn, as well a^; that of the Lower Counties. Indeed. King
William did not greatly confide in Mr. Penn, nor in the then

Lord Baltimore (who was a Roman Catholiek) and his Majesty

wanted both their Governments into his own hands. Sundry

Lawyers Opinions were taken thereon, at length, the Crown
was advised that, for Reasons of State, it might be done; and

thereupon, for Reasons of State it was done, both as to Mr. Penn

and Lord Baltimore also. But Mr. Penn so very well cleared

himself to the Satisfaction of the Crown that his Government
was restored to him in less than 22 Months from the Date of

this Commission, even during that AVar : Whereas the Crown
kept the Government of Maryland in their own Hands, above

25 Years, from 1691 to 171G, before they restored that to the

Lord Baltimore.

1692, Nov. 10.

From the Records in Sussex County an Indenture of this

Date between John Barker of the County of Sussex annext unto

the Province of Pensilvania and Peter Waples late of the County
of Somerset in the Province of Maryland, but now of the fore-

said County of Sussex Planter; reciting Patent gi anted by Pro-

prietary Penn's Commissioners on 2.") September 1091, unto one

Richard Patte deceased, of a Tract of Lraul on the South side of

the Indian River at the Head of a Neck of Land called Pine-

Neck in the said County of Sussex, containing 300 Av-res of Land,

and that John Patte, Son ami Heir of Richard Patte, had con-

veyed the same to the .said .John Barker: now the said Barker,

for 4.500 Pound of Tobacco, conveys the same to the said Peter

Waples, warranted against all Incumbrances, the Rents from

henceforth to grow due to the Proprietor only excepted.
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With an Endorsement thereon attested by the Clerk of the
Court that at a Court held at Lewis for tlie said County of
Sussex on 5th September 1694, Barker acknowledged that Deed"
in open Court. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 32. 33.

6° Will. & 3Iarice, 1C93, Aug. 20.

From the Chapell of the Rolls, a Commssion under the Great
Seal to William Penn Esq; recites that, upon Information that
by reason of great Miscarriages in the Government of our Pro-
vince of Pensilvania in America, and the Absence of the Pro-
prietor, the same was fallen into Disorder and Confusion, by
means whereof not only the Publick Peace and Administration
of Justice was broken and violated, but there was also great
want t.f Provision for the Guard and Defence of our said Pro-
vince against our Enemies, whereby it was apprehended that
our said Province and the adjacent Colonies were much in
danger of being lost, from the Crown of England ; For Pre-
vention whereof, as much as in us lay, and for the better De
fence and Security of our Subjects inhabiting those Parts dur-
ing this time of War. we found it absolutely necessary to take
the Government thereof into our Hands, and into our imme-
diate Care and Protection, and did, thereupon, by Letters
Patent of 21st October in the 4th Year of our Reign constitute
and appoint Benjamin Fletcher Esq ; our Captain General and
Governor in Chief in and over our said Province of Pensilvania
and Country of Newcastle and all the Territories and Tracts of
Land depending thereon in America, &c. And whereas humbie
Application has beeu made unto us, by our trusty and well
beloved William Penn Esq; Proprietor of our said Province of
Pensilvania, that he may be restored to the Administration of
the Government thereof, as formerly, And whereas the said Pro-
prietor has given us srood Assurance that he will take care of
the Government of our said Province and Territories, and
provide for the Safety and Security thereof all that in him' lies.
We have theraupon thought fit to restore liim to the Adminis-
tration of the Government of our said Province and Territories

;

And accordingly our Will and Pleasure is that so much of our
said Commission, bearing Date 21 October in the 4th Year of
our Reign, as appointed Colonel Fletcher Governor of our said
Province of Pensilvania. Country of Newcastle, and the Terri-
tories and Tracts of Land depending thereon in America, to-
gether with all the Powers, &;c. thereby granted for the ruling
and governing of our said Province and Country, do. from the
Publication of these our Letters Patent, cease, determine and
become void ; And accordingy. the same are hereby declared void ;

Of which all Persons whom it may concern are to take notice
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and govern themselves accordingly under Pain of our hijrhei t

Displeasure. This is proved by Mr. Buhner, and is Exhibit

Rocha No. 8.

Note.

So that here the Crown layd no Claim to the Government of

the Lower Counties, but restored the Government of the Terri-

tories to Mr. Penn, as formerly.

Sept. 5.

From the Sussex Records, an Indenture between William

Clark of the County of Sussex annext unto the Province of Pen-

silvania, Merchant, of the one Part, and Peter Waples of the

aforesaid County of the other, reciting that Proprietary Penn's

Commissioners did by their Patent of 7 September 1691, grant

to the said William Clark a Tract of Land, on the South side

of Indian River, in the said County of Sussex containing 400

Acres. Now for the C^onsideration of 4300 Pound of Tobacco

Clark conveys the same to Waples, free of all Demands, the Rents

and Services from henceforth to grow due to the Proprietor and

Government only excepted. With an Endorsement signed by

the Clerk of the Court that Clark acknowledged that Deed in

open Court held at Lewis for the said County of Sussex upon

5 Septeuiber 1694. Sussex Records, No. 17. Fol. 34.

1694, March 0.

At a County Court or Court of Common Pleas held in their

Majesties Names at Lewis for the County of Sussex on the 6th

and 7th Days of March 1694, before the Justices of the said Court,

after several Proceedings there stands recorded thus, The Court

caused a Letter to be written, to the Justices in Maryland, re-

lating to some Difference between the two Governments; and

ordered the Clerk to record the Letter, which follows there,

and is to this Effect; We their Majesties Justices of the Peace,

in Court sitting, are given to iindarstand that John Barker and

Charles Tindall. Inhabitants on the South side of Indian River,

within this County and Government, stand bound over to your

Quarter Sessions, for not owning the Authority of your Govern-

ment, thought fit to signify to you that most of the Lands, on

the said South side of the said Indian River, and particularly

the Lands that they live upon, were taken up, and surveyed by

Grant, when this Place was under the Government of New York,

and since patented under William Penn Esci : absolute Proprie-

tary; and that the said above-named Persons possess their said

Lands by the said Ritrht; and have, all along, paid Rents and

Duties unto the said Proprietor and Government; And whereas

some of your County have pretended something of an Order of

King and Council, that the Tract of Land, lyinu' between the
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River and Bay of Delaware on the one side, and Chesopeak
Bay on the other side, be divided in two equal Parts, by a Line,

from the Latitude of Cape Inlopen, to the 40th Degree of

Northern Latitude, and that one half thereof lying towards
Chesapeak Bay remain to the Lord Baltimore, and that half

Part lying towards the River and Bay of Delaware unto Wil-
liam Penn Esq; But, if any apprehend so. they are under a

great Mistake, for, the Order of King and 0)un('il is, That, for

avoiding further Differences, the Tract of Land lyinir lietween

the River and Bay of Delaware and the Eastern Sea on the

one part, and Chesapeak Bay on the other, be divided into

equal Parts, by a line Irom the Latitude of (Jape Henlopen to

the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, and that one half thereof,

lying towards the River and Bay of Delaware and the Eastern

Bea be adjudged to belong unto his Majesty, and that the other

half remain to the Lord Baltiuipre as comprised within his

Charter. Now, some of your Grovernment have, also, alledged

that Cape Henlopen, and Cape Inlopen, are one and the same
Cape, which, likewise must be a great Error; for. if so. there

had been no need for the King and Council to have mentioned
the Eastern Sea in the said Order. All which, being duly de-

liberated, Quere, Whether it be not most fit to abstain all Acts

of Violence, and Breach of good Neighbourhood, on either part,

till such time as the Division be made and completed according

thereto; which we believe will not be long. These things we
have agreed to offer to your Consideration, and may conduce
to the Relief of the said Barker and Tindall. Sussex Records,

No. 17. Fol. 35. 36.

7 d- 8° Will. Uii, 1696.

An Act of Parliament was past, for preventing FVauds and
regulating Abuses in the Plantation Trade, which contained

many new Regulations for the Plantations in divers Respects.

By the 4th Clause, all Governors in the Plantations were to

take an Oath to observe the Acts of Trade. By the 9th (Clause,

all Laws of the Plantations contrary to the Acts of Trade
therein mentioned then in Being, or lepngiiant to the then
present Act, or to any future Act which vliould relate to the

Plantations, were declared null and void By the 1.?tIi Clause

Places of Trust in the Colonies were to be in the hands of native-

born Subjects. By the 16th Clause Persons claiming a Right or

Propriety in any Islands or Tracts «f Land on the Continent of

America by Charter or Letters Patent should not alien or sell

the same other than to the natural born Subjects of England.

Ireland, Wales, or Berwick upon Tweed, without Licence from
the Crown by Order in Council And by the latter T^art of the

same Clause. "All Governors nominated and appointed by
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'any such Persons or Proprietors who shall be intitled to make

-such aS'ominatioii, shall be allowed and approved of by his

"Majesty, his Heirs and Successors as aforesaid, and shall take

"the Oaths appointed by this or any other Act to be taken by

"the Governors or Connuanders in Chief in other his Majesty's

" Colonies and Plantations, before their entering upon their re-

"speetive Grovernments, under the like Penalties as his Majesty's

"Governors and Couinianders in Chief are by the said Acts

"liable to."' Printetl Act of Parliament 1 & S W. 3.

8^// & mh Wi/l. M, \m\.

An Act of Parliament was past intitled. An Act for making

good the Deficiency of several Funds, &c. and for enlarging

the Capital Stock of the Bank of England, &c. By a Clause

wherein, the foregoing Clause in the last Act of Parliament is

recited, and that thereby all the then present Governors and

Commanders in Chief of any English Colonies and Plantations

were, before the 25th of March 1607. and all who should be made

Governors, before their entring into their Government should

take an Oath to observe the Acts of Trade therein mentioned.

Now, further Time is given for administring that Oath, to

the then present Governors, and such Oath was to be taken

before such Persons as his Majesty should appoint. Printed

Act of Parliament 8. & !». W. 3.

9° Will. 3(ii, 1697. Apr. 30.

A Commission under the Great Seal of England entred upon

the Records of Pensilvania directed to Edward Randolph,

Robert guarry'. Richard HolIiweU, Edward Chilton. .Tohn

Moor and Jasper Yeates. Esquires or any 5 of the Members of

the Council, and the Collector of our Customs for the time

being, within our Province of Pensilvania, reciting the said

Clause in the Act of the 8th and 9th of King WiUiam. And

reciting that the Persons appointed to administer the said Oath

were by some Accidents prevented from performing the same

within the Time limited by the said Act; To the end the good

Intent of the said Act might not be disappointed for want of

time to put the same in Execution, it had been enacted that

further Time should be allowed for administring the said Oath,

the King therefore appoints and authorizes the said Persons,

or any 3 or more of them, to administer the Oath thereunto

annext, unto the Governor or Commander in Chief of the said

Province of Pensilvania. Pensilvania Records, No. 7. Fol. 4.

March 17.

From the Pensilvania Records Copy of an Entry of an En-

dorsement on the said Connuission, that by vertue of those Let-

ters Patent, William Markham Esq; Governor under William
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Penn Esq; absolute Proprietor of the said Province and Terri-
tory thereunto belonging:, made Oath as was therein directed
signed by 4 of the Commissioner.. Pensilvaniu Records, No'
*• Fol. (j.

IfiO.s, 3Iaij 27.

From the Pensilvania Records, Copy of an Entry of another
Endorsement on the said Commission, that William M.arkham
Lieutenant Governor of the said Province (bv vertue of a late
(^ommission, granted to him by William Penn, absolute Pro-
prietor and Governor of the said Province and Territories
thereunto belonging) took the Oath there Avithin directed, in
full Council, held at Philadephia; because a Quorum of the
Commissioners (expresly) named in that Commission could not
be got together at that time. Pensilvania Records, No. 7. Fol.

Note.

In such Case the Commission was directed to the Members
of the Council.

1700, Sept. 13.

From the Pensilvania Records an Indian Deed, wherebv Wida-agh alms Orytaah, and Andaggy-junkquogh, Kings or Sach-emas of the Susquehannagh Indian8,and of the River under thatAame, and Lands lying on both sides thereof, do declare thatm Consideration of a Parcel of Indian Goods, to them givenbythe.r Fnend and Brother William Penn, Proprietary andGovernor of Pensilvania. and also in Consideration of the formermuch greater Costs and Charges the said William Penn hadbeen at in treating about and purchasing the same, did give,grant and confirm unto the said William Penn
All the said River Susquehannagh, and all the 'islands thereinand all the Lands scituate lying and being upon both sides ofhe said River and next adjoining to the same, extending tothe utmost Conhnes of the Lands which are, or formerlv were,he Right of the People or Nation called the Susquehannagh

Indians, or by what Name soever they were called or known-and also all Lakes. Rivers, Rivulets. Fountains. Streams. Trees'Woods, Underwoods. Mines Royal and other Mines. Minerals'
Quarries, &c. and other Royalties, Privileges and Powers'

WdTr*,/"'T ^^^"•' ^' *^^"^ belonging, or by them en:joyed, as fully and amply in all respects as they, oranvof theirAncestors had or could have held and enjoyed. And al the

orlh!' ^-T^.
:^'""""'^ Possession, Claim ind Demand of them,or the said Nation, or any in Right of the same

And do hereby ratify and confirm unto the said William Pennthe Bargain and Sale of the said Land, made unto Colonel
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Thomas Dongun. now Earl of J^iuierick. and formerly Governor

of New York, whose Deed of Sale to the said Ciovernor Penn,

we have seen. To hold the said Kiver. Lands and Premises to

Mr. Penn in Pee. Pensilvania Records, No. 7. Fol. G.

1701, Apr. 23.

From the Pensilvania Records, Copy of Articles of Agreement

between William Penn, Proprietor aiul Governor of the Pro-

vince of Ponsilvaniii and Territoiies thereunto belonging, on

the one Part, and Connoodaghtoh. King of the Indians inhab-

iting upon and about the River Susquehannah in the said Pro-

vince, and Widaagh alias Orettyali, Koqueeash. and Andaggy

Junkquagh, Chiefs of the said Nations of Indians,and Wopath-

tha. King. Lemoycungh and Pemoyajooagh, Chiefs of the

Nations of the Shawonnagh Indians, and Al)ookassoough,

Brother to the Emperor, for and in behalf of the Emperor, and

Wewhinjouh, Cheequittah, .Takyewsan.and Wooi)ackoa, Chiefs

of the Nations of the Indians inhabiting in and about the North-

ern Part of the River Pottomock in the said Province, for and

in behalf of themselves and Successors, and their several Nations

and People, on the other Part. That as there always had been

a good Understanding and Neighbourhood, between Mr. Penn

and his Lieutenants, ever since his first Arrival in that Pro-

vince, and the several Nations of Indians inhabiting in and

abouT the same, so it agrees that there should be.for ever, a firm

and lasting Peace continued between them, and they should live

as one Head and one Heart, in true Friendship and Amity, as

one People. And many particular Clauses there are therein,

for doing Justice to each other, and that the Indians, whilst

they lived near or among the Christian Inhabitants, should

observe the Laws of the Government, and have the Privileges

thereof, as any other Inhabitants. They acknowledging the

Authority of the Crown of England, and Government of that

Province; and several Clauses about Trade. And the Indians

of Conestogo ratify the Indian Sale made to Mr. Penn the 13th

of September last. Pensilvania Records, No. 7. Fol. 7.

Now Mr. Penn came over from Pensilvania and appointed a

new Lieutenant Governor, fur the first time, after the Act of

Parliament of the 7th and 8th of King William had been made.

But from 1682, to this Time Mr. Penn had governed the Lower

Counties by himself and his Deputies withdut signing any De-

claration to the Crown.

1702, Nov. 11.

The Board of Trade made a Representation to the Queen in

Council, that they had. in Obedience to the Queen's Commands,

signified to them by Secretary Hedges, upon the Petition of Mr.
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Penn, that Colonel Andrew Hauiilton, appointed by him to be

Deputy or Lieutenant Governor of Pensiivania, ini^ht have
her Majesty's Approbation for the executing of that Trust, for

one Year only, lately represented to her Majesty, before, that,

having beenlinforined the said Hamilton had been a Favourer

of illegal Trade with Scotland and other Parts, they did not

think it for the Queen's Service that he should receive the

Queen's Royal Approbation as Lieutenant GDvernor of that

Province. But the Queen having, now, signified to them her

gracious Inclination to gratify Mr. Penn in his present Request,

and considering the absolute Necessity which he alledges for a

temporary Approbation of the said Hamilton, their Lordships

humbly offer that Security be given to her Majesty in 2000Z. at

least, by Mr. Penn. or other Persons, for Hamilton's dul\' ob-

serving the Acts of Trade, &c. as is usually done for the Pro-

prietary Governments; "provided always that your Majesty's

"Favour herein be not construed or extended in any manner to

diminish or .set aside your Majesty's Right and Title to the three

lower Counties upon Delaware River adjoining to Pensiivania

[Note these last Words are more softened upon future Appro-
bation] ; And their Lordships take this occasion to pray the

Queen's Order to Mr. Penn that he be obliged to return a speedy

Answer in Writing to four Queries which they had delivered

to him in May last, which much imported the Good of the Trade
and Settlement of those and the neighbouring Parts. Co. Off.

No. 5.

Sa??ie Day.

The Queen's Order in Council, stating that Representation

verbatim, and approving the same, and declaring her Majesty's

Allowance of the said Andrew Hamilton to be Deputy Governor
for the said William Penn, of her Majesty's Province of Pensil

vania, and Territories thereunto annext, for one Year only; pro-

vided that the usual Security be first given *as aforesaid that

Hamilton shall duly observe the Acts for better regulating the
Plantation Trade, and obey such Instructions, relating there-

unto, as he shall receive from her Majesty, or any acting under
her Authority ; And provided also that the said William Penn
do forthwith return to the Lords of Trade an Answer to the said

four Queries; And do further declare, under his Hand, that her

Majesty's said Allowance shall not l:)e construed in any manner
to diminish or set aside her Majesty's Right and Title to t'ne

three Lower Counties upon Delaware River; And the Lords of

Trade are to take care that good and sufficient Security be

given to her Majesty as aforesaid. Co. Off. No. 5.

27—Vol. XV.
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Jan. 21.

Another Representation from the Lords of Trade to the Queen

in Council, That pursuant to the last Order they had required

from Mr. Penn the several previous Conditions which were

therein esprest. and havinir received from him a Certificate of

Security, given in her Majesty'.s Remembrancer's Office, for

2000Z. for Hamilton's observing the Acts of Trade, in the same

Form as had been done for other Proprietary Governments. As

likewise a Declaration and Promise under Mr.Penn's Hand, that

the Queen's Royal Approbation and Allowance of the said

Hamilton to be Deputy Governor of the said Province and Ter

ritories should not be construed in any manner, to diminish or

set aside her Majesty's Claim of Right to the said three lower

Counties upon Delaware; and also his Answer to the four

Queries; and that their Lordships were. then, considering,

(upon the said Queries and Answer) the ascertaining of one

current Rate or Value of Coin in the Plantations on the Con-

tinent of America, also, tlie Pretentions and Claim of Mr. Penn

to the Power of Government in the thr.ee lower Counties ; and. in

the mean time, they conceived it absolutely necessary for her Ma-

jesty's Service in those Parts, and agreeable to the Charter

granted to Mr. Penn, that all Persons in Judicial, or any other

Offices in Pensilvania and the said Lower Counties, should be

obliged to take the Oath or Affirmation directed by the Law of

England ; and that no Judge should be allowed to sit on the

Bencli. who should not first take the Oath or Affirmation of a

Judge, as directed by the Law of Ei:gland, and that all Persons

who in England are obliged, and are willing, to take an Oath in

any publiclt or judicial Proceeding, be admitted so to do by the

proper Officers and Judges in Pensilvania and the said Counties,

and in default thereof, or in case the said Judges refuse to ad-

minister the same, that their Proceedings be declared void and

null; and that the Queen's Pleasure herein should be signified

to Mr, Penn, and to the several Judges of her Majesty's Courts

within those Territories; and, considering the Uncertainty of

the Voyage to Pensilvania, they further proposed that the

Queen's Approbation of the said Hamilton to be Deputy Gov-

ernor of that Province should be extended to the 1st of May 1704,

and no 1 m.-er. Co. Off. No. 6.

Same D(ui.

The Queen's Order in Council stating the said Representation

verbatim, approving of what was proposed thereby, and, accord-

ingly ordering, that all Persons, in .Judicial, or any other. Office,

in Pensilvania and the said Lower Counties, before their en-

tering on the same, should take the Oath directed V)y the Law
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of England, or the Affirmation
: uui that no Judge should bea lowed tos.ton the Bench, who.should not first talfthe OathofaJud,^e or the Affirmation in lieu thereof; and that all Persons should be aduntted to take an Oath bv he proper Officer;and Judges in Pensilvania and the said lower Count^s-^n d"fault of which their Proceeding's ar. herebv declared n'uH and

^M:;:^t:^C:l'^'l^''
J'''''^ "-^^^ th-eseverafjudlrof

nn^!n !!• .

''^'^^'" ^^^^"^^^^ Province and Territories

:" ::rr^.: r.^'::- -:^- ^- - -- n^ice he,::f

tunes adjacent, to the said 1st of May 1704, and no lonl Her

probation and Allowance of the said Andrew Hamilton to beDeputy Governor accordingly. Co. Off. No. G But Ham konpresently afterwards died.
Hamilton

Note.

Several of our Witnesses vchr, Vio,r« k . ,

Cause R«v fl,«f fi ,

^^'' "^^o ha^'^ been examined in theCause, sav that the> have not only seen manv Dutch, but someSwedish Maps also, wherein both Capes, viz.' Cape Corne iu

Lord BH "'^^'""; "'"" '"'' ''•'^^•" --^'>' - th V werein "n-

frrmed And" 1 r"' I'V^''*"
^^^ ^^'^'^^ ^gi-eemenr

^"•

llTi . r'^'
'''^^''^ '•'" ^^^'^^' ^^^- in Possession

n /^ "r '^'^'^' Pensilvania and the lower Counties w";called New Sweedland:
v^uuniies, %\as

Now ^ve have a Swedi.sh Book, printed in this Year 170owhich treats of New Sweden, now called Pensilvania and wa'^

Ta^ F;^i^tT"^?rr^:r"^
"^^"•' -^--^- thererruch a ;:;

But it is submitted to your Consideration whether we canor should produce it. on the two following Considerltions'(and especially as we are strong enough without i^;'^'^"^^"^^'

Exhit't Iho't'h'r"'""'''
this identical Map, as a particular

Maps • '^'' '" ^'""'^'- '^^* they have seen Swedish

2 This Book was printed but in 1702, since the Grant of Pen-.Ivania; and it we produce modern Maps, it mav let The Defendant in to do so also.

Whereas, if we confine ourselves to such Maps as are r,n,ved

Tear ,6H0. nothing can hurt us. but. if we let in .-.11 Sorts ofMaps, we shall have mo<iern Maps trumpt upon u. by thl d:.
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fendant, such as liave lieeu made since tlie Names of the Capes
have been altered, and we shall not be able to shew (as Maps
commonly have no Dates) whether they are ancient Maps or

modern ones.

Only thus, all the Maps which name Pensilvania must have
been made since 1G80.

However, if new Maps, tho" not proved in the Cause, should

be let in against us. in that Case, this foreign Map is the

strongest Evidence for us; especially as our Proofs say the

Witnesses have seen Swedish Maps, which by their Account of

them must be either this, or some such as this.

1703, JtUy 11.

The Queen's Order in Council, made upon reading a Repre-

sentation from the Lords of Trade, dated the 9th Instant, upon
the Petirion of Mr. Penn, that John Evans may have her

Majesty's Approbation to be Deputy Governor of Pensilvania,

and annext Territories, in the place ot Andrew Hamilton de-

ceased, and their Lordships having received a good Character

of the said Evans, they ha'e no Olijection against her Majesty's

Approbation of him accordingly; Her Majesty in Council ap-

proving the same, Declares her Royal Allowance and Approba
tion of the said John Evans to be Deputy Governor, for the

said Mr. Penn, of the said Province of Pensilvania, and the

annext Territories, as soon as Security shall be given for his

ob.serving the Acts of Trade and otherwise, as in the like

Cases; and that Mr. Penn do renew the Declaration made by

him, relating to her Majesty's Right to the three Lower
Counties; an<l the Lords of Trade ar3 to take care that the said

Security be forthwith given, and the Declaration made, accord-

ingly. Co. Off. No. 7.

July 22.

A Representation from the Lords of Trade to the Queen in

Council, That they had required from Mr. Penn the Perform-

ance of the Conditions exprest in the last Order; and had ac-

cordingly received from him a Certificate of Security given in

the Exchequer for 2000/. that the said Evans should duly observe

the Acts of Trade, in the same Form as had been done for other

Proprietary Governments; as likewise a Declaration and Prom-
ise, under Mr. Penn's Hand, that her Majesty's Approbation
and Allowance of the said Evans to i)e Deputy Governor of

the said Province and Territories should not be construed in any
manner to diminish or set aside her Majesty's Claim of Right
to the 8 lower Counties on Delaware River; whereupon, their

Lordships are of Opinion that her Majesty do grant her Royal

Approbation of the said Evans to be Deputy Governor of Pen-
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silvania, without Limitation of Time, and of the 3 lower
Counties during her Majesty's Pleasure only; and their Lord-
ships lay before the Queen a Draught of Instructions^ for Mr.

Penn, relating to the Acts of Trade, to the like Efifeit as have
been given to him, and ail other Proprietors of Plantations,

upon the like Occasion. Co. Off. No. 8.

July 30.

The Queen's Order in Council, stating that last Representa-
tion verbatim, and declaring her Royal Approbation, of the
said Evans to be D2puty Governor of Pensilvania without
Limitation of Time, and of the three lower Counties on Dela-
ware River during her Majesty's Pleasure only. Co. Off. No. 8.

We see that, not only the Proprietor and People of Pensil-

vana, in their publick Acts, but also private Persons (and

some of Maryland also) in their private Deeds and Trans-
actions, call'dthe Three Lower Counties, the Territories

annexed to the Province of Pensilvania; we also have
seen the publick and general Acts of Assembly, so annex
ing and uniting the said Province and Counties. We see

the Crown, itself, in many of its Commissions, under the
Great Seal, and other publick Acts, Orders of Council
and Instruments, calls them the Territories annext to that
Province, yet, the Defendant in his present Answer, Fol.

13. 14. 15. has the Hardiness to deny that they were ever

so called by any but Mr. Penn and his Dependants only;
whereas in his own Province he and his Ancestors past
many old publick Acts of Assembly expressly calling them
so, and tho' those old Maryland Acts are now repealed and
gone, yet we shall find in 1704, in 170T, in 1715, and in 1724.

Sundry Maryland Acts of Assembly, declaring them to be
annext to Pensilvania, and also considering, and taxing
them, as a distinct Government from Maryland, some cf

which Maryland Acts (viz. those in 1704. ) we now come
to, and the residue of them will be stated afterwards, ac-

cording to their order of time.

1704, Sept. 30.

A Maryland Act of Assembly, Repealing all former Acts of
Assembly, made or enacted at any Time before the 26 April 1704,

except two particular Acts therein specified, and except such
as shall in this present Sessions be revived. Maryland Stat.

Book. Fol. 44.

Same Dap.

Another Maryland Act of Assembly for laying an Imposition
on several Commodities exported out of this Province. It lays
a Duty on several Sorts of Skins exported out of that Province
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by Persons inhabiting or residing within the Province of Mary-
land, and laying, on the Exportation thereof by Non-Residents,

double the Duties appointed to be paid by Persons inhabiting

or residing within the Province. It also lays a Duty on Pork.

Beef or Bacon exported out of that Province i^y Persons not

being Inhabitants of that Province, and the Non-Residents ex-

porting the same without Certificate of the Duty paid, to for-

feit the same. And, for the better understanding what Persons

shall be adjudged Non-Residents, it enacts that all Persons,

trading to and from that Province, shall be adjudged Non-
Residents, not having a seated Plantation of 50 Acres in which
they shall have resided for a whole Y'ear, and that within 12

Months before they claim any Benefit by this Act, or that have

a House, of such a Dimension, in some Port or Town, as his

Freehold, wherein he shall have resided for a whole Year as

aforesaid. And that no such Person, trading to and from this

Province, having Houses in any Town or Port within the same,

whereby they may claim any Benefit or Freedom in this Act

given to the Inhabitants thereof, shall enjoy any such Benefit

or Privilege longer than they, in such Port or Town, shall

actually inhabit and reside. Maryland Stat. Book. Fol. 2(t.

Now if the lower Counties were Part of Maryland, the InhaVji-

tants there would i)etree by this Act, but we shall, in evidence,

find that the Inhabitants, in the lower Counties, are considered

as liable to pay these double Duties, (when they trade out of

Maryland) as being Non-Residents in Maryland. And we have

yet much clearer Instances than this.

1704, Sept. 30.

Another Maryland Act of Assemby confirming to the Grovernor

of this Province the Duty of 3d. per Ton upon the Burthen
of Ships and Vessels. Lays that Duty upon all Ships and Vessels

trading and coming into that Province, except such Ships and
Vessels as are bona fide built in, or belong to the People of this

Province. Maryland Stat. Book, Fol. 44.

This Duty we shall find in Evidence, demanded of Ships

belonging to the Lower Counties ; ergo, they are not in the Pro-

vince of Maryland.

1707, Apr. 15.

Another Maryland Act of Assemby for preventing the Exporta-

tion of Tobacco out of this Province by Land, before the Duties

be paid or secured. Recites that it has been a Practice, by

Merchants and other Inhabitants, as Avell of this Province, as of

the Province of Pensilvania, and the Territories thereunto be-

longing, to export by Land, from the upper Parts of this Prov-

ince, into Pensilvania and the Territories thereof. Tobacco,
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without paying or securing tlie I)ut\ , lo the Prejudice of the

Trade of tliis Province. It enacts tliat all Persons who have

Tobaccos in the upper Part.** of this Province, and who shall

permit tlie same to be carried out of their Houses in order to

be rolled or carried over Land, into the Province of Pensilvania,

or Territories tliereunto belonging, without a Certificate of the

Duties paid, shall forfeit 10^. Sterling per Hogshead. Maryland

Stat. Book, Fol. 49.

This answers m botli Points. 1. It shews that there are Ter-

ritories belonging to Pensilvania; and :.*. That they are out of

the Province of Maryland, and we sliall find, iu Evidence, this

Act enforced against People of the loMer Counties.

1703, June 2.

A Report from the Lords of Trade to tlie Queen in Council,

made in Obedience to an Order of Reference of tlie 20tli of May
upon the Petition of William Penn Esq; praying that Captain

Charles Gookin may have the Queen's Approbation to be

Deputy Governor of Pensilvania in tlie place of John Evans

Esq; whereby their Lordsliips represent to the Queen that hav-

ing received a good Character of tiie said Gookin from Lieu-

tenant General Erie, in whose Regiment he iiad served many
Years, they had no Objection against lier Majesty's Approbation

of him accordingly. Security being first given for his observing

tlie Acts of Trade and Navigation as in like Cases, and tliat

Mr. Penn do renew the Declaration made by him relating to

her Majesty's Right to the three Lower Counties. Co. Off. No.

&.

June 26.

Tlie Queen's Order in Council, stating that Report verbatim.

Her Majesty in her Privy Council approving tlie same, is pleased

to declare her Royal Allowance and Approbation of tlie said

Charles Gookin to be Deputy Governor of the said Province of

Pensilvania, in the place of the said John Evans, as soon as Se-

curity sliall be given for the said Gookin's observing the Acts of

Trade and otherwise, as in the like Cases has been usual; and

tliat Mr. Penn do renew the Declaration made by him relating to

her Majesty's Right to the :5 Lower Counties; and the Lords

of Trade are to take Care that the said Security be forthwith

given, and the Declaration made accordingly. Co. Off. No. 0.

July 8.

A Representation from the Lords of Trade to the Queen in

Council, that, in obedience to the last Order relating to the

Queen's Royal Approbation of Gookin to be Deputy Governor

of Pensilvania, and annext Territorys, they have required, from

Mr. Penn, the Performance of the conditions therein exprest,
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and having received irom him a Certiticate of Security given

in the Exchequer for 2000Z. that the said Gookin shall observe

the Acts of Trade, in the same Form as has been done for other

Proprietary-Governments; as likewise, a Declaration and Pro

mise, under Mr. Penn's Hand, that the Queen's Approbation

and Allowance of the said Gookin to be Deputy-Governor of

the said Province and Territorys, shall not be construed in any

manner to diminish or set aside her Majesty's Claim of Right

to the 3 Lower Counties on Delaware River, they are of opinion

that her Majesty do grant her Royal Approbation of the said

Gookin to be Deputy-Governor of Pensilvania. without Limita-

tion of Time, and of the 3 Lower Counties during your Majesty's

Pleasure only; and we lay before your Majesty a Draught of

Instructions, for Mr. Penn, relating to the Acts of Trade, to

the like Effect as have been given to him and all other Proprie-

tors of Plantations upon the like Occasion. Co. Off. No. 10.

July 18.

The Queen's Order in Council, upon reading that Representa

tion, which is inserted verbatim therein, declaring her Royal

Approbation of the said Gookin to be Deputy-Governor of

Pensilvania, without Limitation of Time, and of the three

lower Counties on Delaware River during her Majesty's Pleasure

only. Co. Off. No. 10.

Note—This last Report and Order are also entred in New-

castle Records, No. 11. Fol. {)G.

8ept. 3.

From Newcastle Records, the Inrollment of the Commission

granted by Mr. Penn, as true and absolute Proprietary and

Governor in Chisf of the Province of Pensilvania and Counties

of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, lying on Delaware and the East-

ern Sea, which shortly recites the Patent for Pensilvania, and

the Duke of York's Possession and Deeds to Mr. Penn for the

three lower Counties, and appoints Colonel Charles Gookin to

be Deputy or Lieutenant-Governor of the said Province and

Counties. Dated in the 20th Year of Mr. Penn's Government.

Newcastle Records, No. 11. Fol. 95.

Oct. 6, 7.

Original Indentures of Lease and Release, whereby, in con-

sideration of 3100/. paid by Henry Gouldney, Joshua Gee, Sil-

vanus Grove and John Woods, lOOOZ. by Thomas Callowhill,

l.")00/. by Thomas Callowhill, Thomas Oade and Jeffery Pennell,

and 1000/. by John Field and Thomas Cuppage (making in all

GdOO/. ) The said William Penn the Patentee, and William Penn

Esq; then his Son and Heir apparent, mortgaged unto the said

Henrv Gouldney, Joshua Gee, ami others, the Province of Pen-
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silvania, and all Franchises, Powers, and Territories thereunto
beion-iu- and all Rents Issues and Profits, and the said Town
ot Newcastle, and the Tract of Land within the Compass or
Circle of 12 Miles about the same; and all Islands in the River
Delaware, and the said River and Soil thereof, with all Rents.
Franchises aud Jurisdictions thereto belonging; and all that
Tract of Land upon Delaware River and Bav, beginning 12
Miles South of the Town of Newcastle, and extending South
to the WhorekiUs, otherwise called Capin Lopen ; and all Royal-
ties. Franchises and Rents thereto belonging; to hold unto'the
said Henry Gouldney, Joshua Gee, and others the said Mort-
gagees in Fee, Provise for Redemption on Repavment of the
6600/. and Interest, at <j per Cent, on the 8th of October 1710.
Original Indentures of Mortgage proved in the Cause bv Mr
Page.

Note—It will appear in Evidence how great Distress Mr. Penn
was under at this time, wherefore, this was thought a proper
Season for that very Lord Baltimore, with whom he had had
the former Contest, and so very many Hearings in the Years 83,
84, and 85, to make a second Attempt against Mr. Penn.
Jan. Si.

The Lord Baltimore by his Petition to the Queen in Council
suggested, that King Charles the Second, bv a Letter dated the
second of April 1681. taking notice of a Grant made to Mr
Penn of Pensilvania, did command the Petitioner and the said
Penn to join in making a true Division and Separation of the
Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania, according to the De-
gree of Northern Latitude: which Letter was sent to the Peti-
tioner, by Captain Markham, together with a Letter from the
said William Penn, pressing the Petitioner to a speedv Com-
pliance with his Majesty's Commands; To which the Petitioner
was then, and had been ever, ready to submit, as by the said
Letter thereto annext might appear. That the said Penn hav-
ing, by his Agents, taken private Observations of the De-rees
and being informed that the 40th Degree Northerly would not
give him a Port at the Head of the Bay Chesopeak. surrepti-
tiously procured a second Letter, dated 19 August 1682, which
having no relation to the Bounds of either Province, being
obtained by Misrepresentation, was by the said Penn laid aside
And thereon the said Penn make an oflfer to the Petitioner
that if the Petitioner would allow him a convenient Port at theHead of the said Bay of Chesopeak at reasonable and gentle
Rates, he then would, in obedience to the King's first Letter
join with the Petitioner to take an Observation at the Head
of the said Bay. in order to fix the 40 Degrees of Northerly
Latitude, being the Northern Bounds of Maryland, and South-
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em Bounds of Peusilvuniii ; autl thai, on ncj other Terms, he
would comply with, or obej', tlie Kiriir's Letter of 2 April 1081

That on 7 November IGSo, the said Penn, falsely suji>:estinL'-

that the Petitioner by his Grant from the Queen's (irandfather,

was to have no land but what was cultivated by Savaj^es, (tho"

the said ISugixestion was directly contrary to the ^\"ords and
Intent of the Petitioner's Grant) obtain'd an Order of tJouncii,

for dividing^ an Isthmus of Land, iyinu' between the River and
Bay of Delaware and the Eastern Sea, on the one Side, and
Chesopeak Bay on the other; and thereby has endeavoured
without your Petitioner's beinf? ever lieard to, or having- notice

of such Order, to deprive your Petitioner of his Inheritance

granted to him by the Bounty of the (Queen's Grandfather.
Therefore, prays that the said order thus surreptitiously gotten,

may be set aside, and that the Boundaries of the said two Prov-

inces may be ascertained pursuant to the King's Letter of 2 April

1081. Co. Ofif. No 11.

King Charles the 2d's Letter to Lord Baltimore of 2 April 1681,

(according to the Copy annext to the foregoing Petition) recited

the Grant of Pensilvania, just then made to Mr. Penn. and
recommended him. and his Deputies and Officers, to the friendly

Aid and Assistance of the Lord Baltimore, willintr and requir-

ing Lord Baltimore, to do him all the Offices of good Neigh-
bourhood which might tend to the mutual Benefit of the King's
Subjects within thelProvinces under their respective Proprie-

ties; and moreover the King thought tit that, in order thereto.

Lord Baltimore should ajjpoint, with all convenient spee;d. some
Persons, who might, in (Conjunction with the said William
Penn, make a true Division and Separation of the said Provinces

of Mai-yland and Pensilvania, according to the Bounds and
Degrees of Northern Latitude exprest in the said Letters Patent,

by settling and fixing certain Land-marks, where they should
appear to border upon eacli, other, for the preventing and avoid-

ing all Doubts and Controversies that might otherwise liappen

concerning the same. Co. Off. No 11.

The Letter, supposed to have been writ by Mr. Penn to Lord
Baltimore, according to the Copy annext to that Petition, was
dated 10 April 1682. and was a very civil, btit general Letter,

containing nothing in particular or material. Co. Off. No 11.

.Jan. 9.

The Queen's Order in Council, made upon reading the Lord
Baltimore's Petition, whereby it was ordered that the said

Petition should be referred to the Lords of Trade, to examine the

Allegations thereof, and report what they conceived her Majestv
might fitly do therein. Co. Off. No 12.
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Jan. 27.

Hereupon, in a very few days, Mr. Penn petitioned the Queen
in Council, setting forth that, in 1683, Lord Baltimore com.
plained to Ivinj; Charles the 2d in Council that Mr. Penn liad

invaded that Lord's Boundary in Maryland; and, prayiuir Re-

dress therein, obtained a Summons for the now Petitioner, who
was then in Pensilvania laying the Foundation of that now
growing Colony. That the now Petitioner, in Obedience to

sucli Summons, upon the first Notice of it, returned into En<,'-

land, to the vast Prejudice of his Interest in America; and in

regard both the Lord Baltimore and himself were Grantee?

under the Crown, the now Petitioner joined with the said Lord

in submitting their Boundaries to the Decision of the King
as their Supreu)e Landlord. That the King referred the same
to the Lords Committee for Trade and Plantations (then con-

sisting of the whole Privy Council) who, after several Hearings

of the Lord Baltimore and the Petitioner, and of their respective

Council and Advocates, in the Years 84 and 85, and long Delib-

eration had of the Allegations and Proofs produced before them,

reported their Opinions thereon, and how the said Boundaries

should be settletl ; which Report was in November lG8o, ap-

proved of and confirmed, by an Order of the King in Council.

That the Petitioner, not doubting but that the Lord Balti-

more would acquiesce under the Royal Determination, which

himself had desired, the Petitioner and his Tenants have, ever

since, improved the disputed Lands which were allotted to the

Petitioner. But, to his great Surprize, after 23 Years quiet

Possession under that Sentence, the Lord Baltimore has lately

petitioned the Queen to set aside the King's Order in Council,

which Avas intended to be final, which Petition the Queen has

referred to the present Lords Commissioners for Trade and

Plantations. The said V)oundaries havine: been solemnly settled,

by a Judge of Lord Baltimore's own chusing, after the most

deliberate and nice Enquiry into the Merits of his Complaint,

and having been accordingly enjoyed so many Y'ears—Mr. Perm
prayed that the Queen would not countenance an Attemi)t .m)

injurious to Property and the Rights of her subjects, but would
order the Lord Baltimore's Petition to be dismist. Co. OIT. No Ki.

Jan. 27.

By the Queen's Order in Council made upon reading Mr. Penn's

Petition, and taking it into her Consideration, Ordered that

the Lord Baltimore's said Petition should be dismist : and tluit

the Lords of Trade, to whom that Petition had been by Order

of the 9th Instant referred, should not proceed to examine into

the Allegations thereof, as by that Order had been directed.

Co. Off. No 14.

And so Lord Baltimore's second Application was dismist.
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Chap. IX. From the second Determination in the Plaintiffs

Favour, iu. Janaanj 1708, to the third Determination in their

Favour, uu 2o June 1709.

1709, Apr. 10.

Mr. Perm petitioned Queen Anne in Council that, since both

Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania had long desired the

Settlement of their respective Boundaries, and that this Peti-

tioner had done his Endeavour to perform \A\e same, and that,

in pursuance of divers Orders from the Lords of Trade thereunto

annext, sent, both to the Lord Baltimore and the Petitioner;

which meeting with a Disappointment on Lord Baltimore's

side, his Agents refusing the Petitioner when upon the Spot, al-

ledging they had no Instructions from their Lord for that pur-

pose, The Petitioner prays the Queen to direct the respective Of-

ficers of both Proprietaries to pursue the said Orders and former

Instructions thereupon granted after many deliberate Hearings

in the Years 83, 84, and 85. Co. Off. No. 15.

Surely Mr. Penn thought the Order in 85. related to him,

and was in his favour, (though said to remain to his

Majesty) otherwise, he would not have tried to enforce

it thus.

Apr. 16.

The Queen, by Order in Council, upon reading this Petition,

referred the Consideration thereof to the Lords of Trade to

state the Matter of Fact according to former Proceedings, and

to report to her Majesty what fit to be done thereupon. Co.

on. No. 15.

But Lord Baltimore, then, was afraid of this Order of 1685,

and tried every way to get rid of it.

Ma If 19.

Lord Baltimore presented another Petition to the Queen in

Council. Says he petitioned her Majesty 9. January last to be

relieved against the Order of Council of 7. November 1685,

obtained on false Suggestions by Mr. Penn Proprietor of Pen-

silvania, whereVjy an Isthmus of Land in Maryland was ordered

to be divided, and one Moyety was adjudged to belong to the

Crown and the other Moyety to the Petitioner. That the

Order, so obtained, depriving the Petitioner of his Inheritance,

without being ever heard by himself o:- Council, he did by his

said former Petition, pray her Majesty to set it aside, and that

the Boundaries might be settled pursuant to King Charles's

Letter of 2. April KiSl. That the Petitioner hoped her majesty

would have heard that Matter, before herself in Council, that
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thereby he miprht have made out hi« Ri-ht to the said Isthmus,
and have proved the Artifices Mr. Penii liad u.seil to deprive him
of Ins Property; but tlie Queen iKivinj,- referred liissaid former
Petition to tlie Lords of Trade, he chearfullv submitted thereto
and prepared to verify his Petition and malve out his Right
before them. That Mr. Penn, knowin- liis Pretentions would
not bear a Scrutiny before any Judicature, liad lately petitioned
the Queen, suggestina: that the said Order of :. No"veml)er lG8a
was obtained after several Hearings of the now l\4itioner hi.
Council and Advocates; whereas the Petition. -r can fully ijrovt
that he had no notice of ttie said Order, jiiul tliat the saiue was
not insisted on or notified to the Petitioner, bv the said William
Penn till about two Months past; and by these and other Sug-
gestions, which the Petitioner hopes to prove groundless and
false, the said Penn has obtained an Order of Council of 27 Jan-
uary last, for dismissing the Petitioner's Order of Reference to
the Lords of Trade, and his Petition al.so-wherel^y the Peti-
tioner is wholly destitute of Means to assert his Property and
prove his Right to the said Isthmus. He therefore prays'to be
heard by his Council against the said Order of 7 November 1685.
and that the Differences between the said Penn and the Peti-
tioner, touching the Boundaries between the said Provinces of
Maryland and Pensilvania.might be adjusted according to Kin-
Charles the 2d's Letter of 2 August 1681. Co. OiT. No. 16.
So very bold an Assertion, so strongly affirmed and repeated

did obtain a Hearing.

170n, May 19.

By Order in Council made upon reading this last Petition
her Majesty ordered that the Matter thereof should be heard
before herself in Council,upon 9th June next,^7hereof all Parties
concerned were to take notice, and come prepared to be heard
with their Council learned at that time, accordingly. Co OfT
No. 17.

June 9.

Her Majesty in Council ordered that the Hearing of the Matter
in Difference between Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn, appointed
for this Day, be put off to the 23d Instant, whereof the Parties
concerned are to take notice, and come prepared to bf heard, bv
their Council learned at that time. Co. Off. No. 18.

June 23.

An Order. Present the Queen in Council and also (amongst
divers other Lords) the Lord Chancellor, the Lord Chief Justice
Holt, the Master of the Rolls, and the Lord Chief Justice
Trevor (every Law Lord of the Council). It recites the Lord
Baltimore's Petition, and that it had been appointed to be
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heard in Couucil. And accordingly, both Parties this Day,

attending, and being fully heard, with their Council learned,

'•And it appearing, by authentick Copies of Proceedings at

"this Board, that, as well the Petitioner, as the said Mr. Penn.

••had been divers times heard, before the making of the said

"Order, her Majesty, with the Advice of her Privy Council, is

"pleased to order, that the Lord Baltimore's Petition be dismist

"this Board ; and that the above mentioned Order of Council of

13 November 16b.'), be ratified and confirmed in all its Parts, and

be put in Execution without any further Delay; whereot the

Parties concerned are to take notice, and yield Obedience ac-

cordingly. Co. OfT. No. 19.

So ended Lord Baltimore's third Application.

Chap. X. From June 1709. to the Time of the Death of Mr.

Penn the Patentee in 1718.

1715, Apr. 26.

An Act of Assembly past in Maryland, prohibiting the Im-

portation of Bread, Beer, Flower, Malt, Wheat or other Indian

or English Grain or Meal, Horses, Mares, Colts or Fillies, from

Pensilvania and the Territories thereto belonging. It enacts

that no Person shall import from the Province of Pensilvania,

or the Territories thereto belonging, or from any other Planta-

tion. Province or Colony in the Continent of America, into any

Port of this Province, any Quantity of those goods, on pain of

forfeiture. Maryland Stat. Book, Fol. 73.

Apr. 26.

Another Maryland Act of Assembly, laying an Imposition on

Negroes and on several sorts of Liquors imported, &c.—Enacts

that the Importers of Rum, Spirits, Wine and Brandy from

Pensilvania and the Territories thereto belonging, by Land,

shall pay a duty of 9d. per Gallon, to be collected by the Naval

Officer of Cecil C^ounty, and shall bring the said Liquors into

This Province to the Place called Bohemia Landing, and to no

other Place, until the Duties be paid, on pain of Forfeiture.

And, before such Liquors shall be water born in Chesapeak

Bay, the Importer shall enter the same upon oath, with the

Naval Officer of Cecil County District; and if any Importer

after he has brought the same to Bohemia Landing shall put

the said Liquors on board any Vessel in Chesapeak Bay before

the Duty paid, the same shall be forfeited. Proviso that any

Person importing the Liquors aforesaid from Pensilvania in

Sloops, by Sea. through the Capes of Chesapeak into this

Province, shall only pay the Duty of 3d. per Gallon, as others do.
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It also lays a Duty of 20s. Sterling per Poll on all Irish Servants
miported mto Maryland by Land or Water, and the like uponNegroes But no Ship built in this Province, whereof all theOwner« shall be actual Residents of this Province, nor any Shipbughsh or Plantation built, purchased and held by OAvnerswhich are all Residents within this Province, shall be liable
to pay any the Duty before mentioned. Maryland Statute
rJook, Fol. li)7.

We shall see in Evidence by and by, that all these Dutieswere constantly exacted from Persons of the lower Counties-
i^rgo they are of a distinct Colony, and not imagined inMaryland itself, to be a Part of that Province, but, as the vervActs call them. Territories belonging to Pensilvania.

171'i, Not. 12.

An Order of the Prince (Regent) in Council, made upon a Re-port froui the Lords of Trade, upon a Representation iron.Wilham Penn, praying the Approbation of William Keith Esq •

nominated by the said Proprietor to be Lieutenant Governor ofthat Province, And the Lords of Trade having no Objections tohis being Deputy Governor, His Royal Highness declares hisAllowance and Approbation of the said William Keith to beDeputy Governor of the said Province of Pensilvania, provided
that the said Keith qualify himself for that Trust, in such man-
ner as the Law req.iires, and that Security be given for his ob-
serving the Acts of Trade, and obeying such Instructions as
shall be sent him from his Majesty ; and provided that Mr Pennrenew the Declaration made by him relating to his Majesty's
Riffht to the three lower Counties; and the Lords of Trade
are to take care that such Security be given and such De-
claration be renewed accordingly. Co. Off. No. 20.

Dec. IG.

A Representation from the Lords of Trade that they have required from Mr. Penn the Performance of the Conditions re-quired by that Order, that they have had a Certificate of Secur
ity being given in the Exchequer for 2000/. to observe the Acts of
trade, in the same Form as for other Proprietarv Governments-
as likewise a Declaration and Promise under Mr. Penn's Hand
that the Approbation and Allowance of the said Keith to beDeputy Governor of the said Province-and Territories shall notbe construed in any manner to diminish or set aside his Ma
jesty's Claim of Right to the three lower Counties on Delaware River. And therefore are of opinion his Highness should
grant Ins Approbation of the said Keith to be Deputv Governor of Pensilvania without Limitation of Time. and"of th..
three lower Counties during his Majesty's pleasure onlv \n.l
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they lay before his Royal Highness a Draught of Instructions
for Mr. Penn relating to the Acts of Trade, to the like Effect

as has been given to him and all other Proprietors of Planta-
tions on the like Occasion. Co. Off. No. 21.

Dec. 17.

By Order in Council, made on reading the said Report, the

Royal Approbation of the said Keith to be De{)uty Governor of

Pensilvania without Limitation of Time, and of the three lower
Counties on Delaware River during his Majesty's Pleasure only,

is given. Co. Off. No. 21.

Dec. 29.

A Petition, presented to the King at Hanover, by the late

Earl of Sutherland ; Suggesting that there were considerable

arrears due to him since the Revolution, amounting to above
20,000/. and he had shewn great Zeal and Activity for the Pro-

testant Succession, both before and sincfe his Majesty's Acces-

sion, and given singular Proofs of his Fidelity and Affection to

his Majesty, by his Services in Scotland during the Rebellion

there; wherefore, prays the King to grant him a Charter of cer-

tain Lands lying upon Delaware Bay in America, commonly
called the Three lower Counties, which he is ready to prove do
belong to the Crown. Botra No. 23.

Dec. 29.

A Reference thereon, dated at Hanover, and sign'd by Mr.

Secretary Stanhope, whereby his Majesty referred the same to

the Lords of Trade to consider thereof, and report their Opin-
ion what was fit for his Majesty to do therein, whereupon the

King would declare his further Pleasure. Botra, No. 23.

Dec. & Feb.

This Memorial was also referred to the Attorney General and
to the Sollicitor General by the Secretary of State. Sec. Off.

1717, Octoh. 21.

Mr. Attorney and Sollicitor General (Northey and Thomp-
son) made a Report to the King, stating the beforementioned
Petition. And that they had given notice of the same to the
Persons concerned for AVilliam Penn Esq ; and several Mort-
gagees and Purchasors under him, and also to the Lord Balti-

more, who, severally, claim Title to the said lower Counties,

being called Newcastle, Kent and Sussex. That they had heard
them, and their Agents, thereupon. And they certify his

Majesty that Mr. Penn is intitled to the Plantation of Pensil-

vania: but that these Counties are not included in such Grants,

and his Title to Pensilvania was not then contested.
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And as to the Kin<r's Title, which the Earl of Sutherland
had undertaken to make out. to the said three lower (bounties,

he insisted that the same were grained by ('oiujiiest, by the

Subjects of the Kin;^''s Preilecessors, or granted to tlie King's
Predecessors bv the Possessors thereof; and that, thereby, the
King's Predecessors became intitled to the same; for that a

Subject of the Crown could not make foreign Acquisitions by
Conquest, but lor the Benefit of the Crown and that the Length
of Possession will be no Bar to the Crown. That, for several

Years past, Mr. l^enn had had the Possession of the said lower
Counties, under a Pretence of a, Grant thereof, to him made
in 1682, by the Duke of Y'ork who then had the Possession of

New York and of the said three lower Counties, but had no
Right to the said lower Counties, and therefore could not
transfer any Right in the same to Mr. Penn ; which appears,

for that the Duke of Y'ork. in 168.3, obtained a Warrant, from
King Charles the Second, to pass a Patent, whereby the said

three lower Counties should have been granted to the Duke of

Y'ork, and a Copy of a Bill, to pass into a Grant, in April 1683,

to the said Duke of York, of the said three lower Counties,
was produced by the Earl of Sutherland; who alledged the
same was never past into a Grant; and that, if the same had
past into a Grant, it would not have made Mr. Penn's Title

to the said three lower Counties good, the Title of Mr. Penn
under the Duke of York being precedent to the Title of the
Duke of York; but that the same remained in the Duke of

York, and is, consequently, now in the King: And that the
King's Title further appears, for that after, in May 1683, when
the Lord Baltimore by Petition opposed the passing the said

Bill under the Great Seal, ]\Ir. Penn, then, appeared against

the Lord Baltimore as Agent for the Crown, and not on behalf

of himself; and Mr. Penn. under his Hand, has declared that
the King's Approbation and Allowance of the Deputy Gov-
ernor of Pensilvania and the three lower Counties, named by
him, shall not be construed to diminish or set aside the Right
Claimed by the Crown to the said three lower Countie.s. Be-
sides the Earl of Sutherland insists that, in the Grant of the
Duke of York in 1682, to Mr. Penn, of the said three lower
Counties, there is a Reservation of an Account to be made, of

one Moyety of the Profits of the Lands thereby granted , touch-
ing which no Account has j'et been rendered by Mr. Penn, and
that, therefore, if the said Grants of 1682, were effectual, Mr.
Penn is yet accountable to the King for the Moyety of all the
Profits of the Lands, so granted, from the Y'ear 1682 according
to the said Reservation; and if the Earl cannot, by the King s

28—Vol. XV.
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Favour, be intitled to the said three lower Counties, he prays

he may have the Benefit of the said Account.

Tliat. in Answer hei-eto, on behalf of Mr. Penn's Mortgaj,'eeh

and other Purc'hasor.s under him, it is alledged, that King

Jame.s, when Duke of York, was seised in Fee of the said three

lower Counties; and as one Argument, to prove sucla Seizing,

thev produced the Letters Patent dated 29 June, 26 Car. 2di.

whereljy King (Jharles granted to the Duke of York such and

such Lands (whicli the Re{)ort enumerates verbatim) ; within

tilt" Desciiptions of which Grant, it has been agreed by both

Parties, that the said three lower Counties are not contained

;

but, on the belialf of Mr. Penn, &;c. it has been insisted that,

i)v the (ieneral Words, "Together with all the Lands, Islands.

'Soyles, Rivers, Harbours, &c. and all other Royalties, Profits.

•Commodities and Hereditaments to the said several Islands,

•• Lands and Premises belonging and appertaining, with their

"and every of their Appurtenances," the said three lower

Counties did i)ass,as l)elonging to the Premises expressly granted

by the said Letters Patent : for that the three lower Counties

were enjoyed by the Duke of York, together with New York,

which was granted by the said Letters Patent to the said Duke
of York, till he granted the same to the said Penn in 1682, by

the Grants herein after mentioned : which seems difficult to us

to be maintained, since the Abuttal in the said Letters Patent

exclude the three lower Counties; but they presume the late

Duke of York might have some other Grants thereof, [so we

find he had, of the three lower Counties expresly] which Mr.

Penn might give an account, but cannot, being under a Lunacy.

We further certify that, by indenture dated 24th August 1682,

the Duke of York bargained, sold and enfeoffed, to the said

William Penn and his Heirs, the Town of Newcastle and Tract

of Land about the same, &c. under the yearly Rent of 5s. with

a Covenant for further Assurance, and appointed Attornies to

deliver Seizin; and by another Indenture, dated the said 24th

August 1682, bargained, sold and enfeoffed, to the said William

Penn and his Heirs, the other Tract South from Newcastle,

and extending South to the Whorekills alias Capin Lopen, &c.

In which last Indenture there is Mr. Penn's Covenant to account

and pay one Moyety of the Profits, with Power of Distress in

case of Non-payment, and the Duke appointed Attorneys to

deliver Seizin of the last Premises also. That those Deeds were

entred in the Office of Records for New Y'ork on 21 November

1682, within which said Grants the three lower Counties were

contained ; but the Covenant to account extends only to what

is included in the last Grant.

The Report states, also, the Order, made by the Commander
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in Chief and Council at New York on 21 November 1G82, recit-in- the said two Indentures, and direetin- the severii Ma-is-
trates to yield Obedience to the Powers thereby -ranted to Air
Penn. '

"

The Report, likewise, states an Affidavit, made l.v Thomas
<Trev. that he lived in Pensilvania from JC9i» to 1707. and uuide
out, and saw many Patents, or Grants and Warrants, wherebv
considerable Quantities of Lands, lyin- in the said three loweV
Counties, which as he deposes, are esteemed to belon- to Pen-
silvania, were granted to divers Persons in Fee: some of which
Grants or Warrants were sigrned by Mr. Penn. and the rest bv
his Agents or Commissioners, and all sealed with the Seal oV
the said Province; and that he has seen great Imr>roven,ents,in
Building and Planting, by Persons claiming under such GrantsIhat many of the said Inhabitants, who were reputed to have
settled Lands in th? lower (bounties by Grants from theSweies
or Dutch, when the said Counties were in their hands respec-
tively, or from the Governors of New York, under the lateDuke of York, when the same was in his hands, did. uponmaking up their Accounts of Quit-Rents, due from them t.. tlie
said ^^;l lam Penn for their Lands, except new Patents from
the said William Penn or his Agents, and have since much en-'
creased their Improvments thereof, both in Building and Plant-
ing That he has seen Patents, or Instruments, for convevin-
Land,, in the said Lower Counties, to divers of the anc'ient
Inhabitants, as well from the Swedes or Dutch as the Governors
of xNew York under the late Duke of York ; as also Commissions
under the Hands of some one of the said Governors of New
York, constituting Magistrates and Officers in the said Lower
Counties. That he believes the Patents of Lands in the saidlower Counties, granted by the Governors of New York were
registered ^t New York: and that, if Search were made 'in the
Secretary s Office there, the same would appear so to be Thathe believes much the greatest Part of the Inhabitants of theLower Counties who have Land there, hold the same oy Title

"h i :,^?''' ^''^ *^^^ '^^•^^^'' ^ho hold Land there byother Title, have delivered the same up. and accepted new
Grants from Mr. Penn.
That it appears, by other Affidavits, that the Naval StoreCompany at Bristol have ourchased of Mr. Penn 31^0 Acres inKent County, and have already, in the Purchase, and bv Im-

provements, expended 2000/. and are by Articles to lay out 8000/
more.

And as 10 the 01>jections that the Duke of York, in 168'> hadno Title to the Lower Countie.s. and that therefore those
Grants, then made to Mr. Penn. were void, which appears by
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the Copy of the Bill dated i;i Ai)ril 1683, in onier f be past

into a Grant to the Duke of York, and which is. after the Grant

by the Duke to Mr. Penn, and which Bill recites n Surrender

of certain Letters Patent dated 22d March then last (which

Grant could not be, then, found) *C)n the behalt of Mr. Penn

it was alledyeil. that it was probable thesiiid Bill in 1(383 mi^ht

have past into ji Grant, for they produced, from the Hanaper

Office, Avhere entries are made of Grants, that pass the Great

Seal, an Entry of 10 April 1083, of a Grant to the Duke of York

of the Town of Newcastle, such Entries not l)ein^ made there

but where Letters Patent do pass; which Patent niiy:ht happen

not to be inroUed (as it is not) by the Neglect of the Ridinj;

Clerk.

And as to the Objection that, if it were inrolled, the same is

subsequent to the Grant to Mr. Penn, and that Mr. Penn ap-

peareti as Af?ent for the Crown agrainst the Lord Baltimore,

they insist that Mr. Penn, having a Grant then, so lately, from

the Duke, might make use of the Duke's name, with his Leave,

in Trust for Mr. Penn; which they rather aiiprehended, for

that the Possession was always suffered to remain with Mr.

Penn: and that, if the Grant was past, and was in Trust for

Mr. Penn. it extinguisht the Covenant from Mr. Penn for ac-

counting.

Besides, in the said last (xrant to the Duke of Y'ork, it is re-

cited that the Lands were formerly the Claim and Possession

of the Dutch, and had been surrendered unto the Lieutenant

Governor of the said Duke of York, and had, for .several Years,

been in his Possession, which might enable him to make the

Grants in 1682, to the said Mr. Penn.

And, on behalf of the Purchasors, it has been insisted, that

it would be very hard to put them to any Trouble, who have

bought under the Title and Enjoyment of Mr. Penn, and have

laid out great Sums of Money in iujproving their l^urchases.

And as to the Title claimed by the Lord Baltimoie, we are hum-
bly ot opinion that the same has already received a full and
final Deter)niiuition; for that. 31 May 1683, Richard Burk. Gent.

Servant to Charles then Lord Baltimore, praying that the said

Bill of 1683 might not pass the Great Seal, until his then

Majesty should be satisfied of the Extent of the Letters Patent,

formerly granted to Cecil Lord Baltimore, wherein the said

Town and adjacent Country is alledged to be comprized; which
said Petition being referred to the then Lords Commissioners

for Trade and Plantations, on the 13th of November 108."». their

Lordships made their Report, Avherein they report, that having

*(but that Grant is now found)
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examined the Matters, in Diflferenoe between the Lord Baltimore

and William Penn Esq; on behalf of his then Majesty, concern-

inj^' a Tract of Land called Delaware, they found the Land in-

tended to be g:ranted to Lord Baltimore, was only Lands un
cultivated and inhabited by Savages, and that the Tract of

Land tlien in Dispute, was inhabited and planted by Christians,

at and before the Date of the Lord Baltinior<:"s Patent, as it

had ever since, to that Time, and continued as a distinct Colony
from Maryland; so that their Lordsliips humbly offered their

Opinion, that, for avoiding further Differences, the Tract of

Land, lying between the River and the Eastern Sea on theone
side, and Cheasapeak Bay on the other, be divided into equal

Parts, by a Line from the Latitude of Cape Hinlopen to the

40th Degree of ^Northern Latitude, and that one half thereof,

lying towards the Bay of Delaware and the Eastern Sea, be ad-

ludged to belong to his Majesty, and the other half to Lord
Baltimore; which Report his then Majesty was pleased to ap-

prove of, and to order the said Lands to be divided accordingly,

and the Lord Baltimore and William Penn required to yield

due Obedience thereunto: Which Report was also confirmed
23d June 1709, by her late Majesty C^ueen Anne in Council.

However, this Petition, on behalf of the Lord Baltin)ore,

is a very great Argument that the Bill of lG8o to the late Duke
of York, never passed the Great Seal, as on Mr. Penn's behalf

is supposed, for that it being stopped, as must be presumed on
that Petition or Grant, after that Matter settled, which was in

1683, in the Reign of the said Duke, when King of England,
could not pass the Great Seal, in the l^fame of King Charles, to

the Duke of York, then being King of England, but the Entry
in the Hanaper OflHce might have been made when the Privy
Seal was brought to the Great Seal, to be nassed into a Grant.
On the whole matter, we humbly submit it to your Majesty's

Consideration, whether it will not be reasoable that your Majes-
ty's Title should be established by the Court '^f Chancery before

any Grant should be made of the Premises; and if any Grant
should be made, we most humbly submit it to your Majesty,

whether the Claims of Purchasers or Grantees under Mr. Penn,
who have improved that Part of the said three lower Counties,

should not be established ; But if Mr. Penn should have a Title
to the three lower Counties by vertue of the two Grants made
to him by the late King James in 1682, when Duke of York,
we have not received any Answer why he should not account,
according to his Covenant in the last of the said Deeds, for

the Moiety of the Rents, Issues and Profits raised l)y vertue of

that Grant.

All which is humbly submitted to your Majesty's Royal
Wisdom.
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Note.

The foregoing Report on Lord Sutherland's Petition in 1716.

was so little in his favour that he took nothing by it . It is

very long, as here stated, and contains many Matters wliereof

you have had an Account before. But there is a Use in stating

it so fully, for you observe the Contents of it, and how fully

and plainly the Objections to Mr. Penn's Title to the three

lower Counties are therein stated; you also observe that Lord

Baltimore was a Party to that Report (and the Opinion of the

then Attorney and Sollicitor General that he had no Title)

Now, the Lord Baltimore, who was a Party thereto, is the very

present Defendant, who, notwithstanding that, in one Part of

his Answer to our Bill at Fol. 322, would have it be believed

that the PlaintifTs imposed upon him in respe'^t to their Title

to the three lower Counties, which is impossible to have been

true considering he was a Party to the foregoing Report,

and so, contrary to Truth, and his own knowledge of the Truth ;

nay. indeed, he contradicts himself in his own long AnsAver,

for it is but 14 Sheets before, viz: at Fol. 208, he swears ha

always knew and believed they had not a Title to the three

Lower Counties, consequently they could not deceive him
therein; Besides which, it will appear most manifestly, by and

by, that it is of no manner of Consequence in the whole World,
as to him, whether they really had, or had not. a Title to those

Counties; since it is he that conveys those Counties to them,
ami not they to him.

171S.

Mr. Penn made a Will (about 1712) sans Date, and a Confir-

mation of it, dated 27 May 1712. By his Will taking notice,

that his eldest Son was well provided for, by a settlement of

his Mother's, and the Testator's Father's Estate: he devises

The rest of his Estate in manner following: The Government
of his Province of Pensilvania and Territories thereunto be-

longing he devised to the Earls of O.xford and Poulett, on Trust

to dispose thereof to the Queen, or any other Person, to the

best advantage they could, to be applied in such manner as he
should therein after direct; and he gave to his wife Hannah
Penn, and sundry others (to the Number of 12 Persons) all his

'Lands, Tenements and Hereditaments in Pensilvania and the

Territories thereunto belonging, or elsewhere in America, upon
Trust to sell sufficient to pay his debts, and after Payment to

convey to each of his Son William's three Children, Springett,

William, and Gulielma-Maria in Fee 10.000 Acres each. And
(afterwards) 10,000 Acres more to the Testator's Daughter
Letitia ; And all the rest of his Lands, Tenements and Heredita-
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ments in America to be conveycHl by his said Trustees to and

amontrst liis Children whicli lie had by his then Wile, in such

Proportions and for such Estates, as liis said Wile should think

fit, and u)ade his said Wile sole Executrix. Original Will, to

be produced from Doctors Commons, and to which \ve have

examined one of the Witnesses, Thomas Pyle, iu this present

Cause.

July 30.

Mr. Penn. the Patentee, died; leaving a son William Penn

Junior, and a Daughter Letitia by his tii-st Wile; and leaving

his second Wife Hannah Penn and lour sons, the Plaintiffs

John, Thomas and Richard Penn. and Dennis Penn (who is

since deceased) and also a Daughter, Margaret Penn, by her.

Chap. XI. From the Death of William Feiin E.sq ; the Proprit-

iary, in 1718, to the Death of Mrs. Haimah Penn his Widoio

and Executrix, in 172G.

1718, Noc. 14. 18.

Probate granted at Doctors Commons to Mrs. Hannah Penn
the '.Vidow and Executrix of the Will of her late Husband
William Penn Esq; Original Probate under Seal. Original

Deed Poll of Appointment, executed by Mrs. Hannah ^^^enn,

whereby she, in pursuance of the Powers vested in her by her

late Husband's WMll, directs and appoints all the rest and re-

sidue of the Testator's Lands, Tenements and Hereditaments

in Pensilvania and the Territories thereunto belonging, oi-

elsewhere in America, that should remain after the I^ovisions

in the W^ill in manner following, viz. Three undivi(!<^d sixth

Parts of the Province of Pensilvania, and of all Lands and
ProfRts. (fee. thi^rein, to be conveyed, by the Trustees, to and to the

Use of, her eldest Son, the now Plaintiff John Penn in Fee, and
the other three Gth Parts thereof, to and to the Use of her three

other younger Children, Thomas and Richard Penn mow plain-

tiffs) and Dennis Penn (since dead) in Fee, as Joynt tenants.

And as to the Lower Counties, and all. Lands therein, or

elsewhere in America, she in like manner directed and ap-

pointed the Trustees to convey three sixth Parts thereof to the

said John Penn in Fee. and tlie other three sixth Parts To The

said Thomas, Ricliard and Dennis Penn, and Tlieir Heirs, as

Joynt tenants for ever. Proviso that if the said John Penn
should not pay to his Sister Margaret Penn 1500/. at her Mar-
riage or age ol 21. which should first ha])pen. In such Case

she appointed for her Daughter Margaret in Fee one third Part
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of all that had been before appointed for the Use of her Son
John. Deed of Appointment proved by Mr. Page.

1720.

William Penn junior, eldest Son and Heir of Proprietary

Penn died, leaving two Sons, Springett and William, and a

Daugliter (Tulielma Maria.

1721, Octob. 23.

The said Hannah Penn the Widow and her then Children,

John, Thomas, Richard, Dennis and Margaret Penn, all Infants,

brought their Bill in tlie Court of Exchequer, against the Earl

of Oxford and Earl Poulett (to whom the Government had
been devised, upon Trust to sell and apply the Produce in such

manner as was intended to have been, but was not, afterwards

directed) against the said Springett Penn the Grandson and
Heir at Law of the Testator to establish the Will; against the

said Henry Gouldney, Joshua Gee and others, the Suivivors of

the Mortgagees, to redeem, and also against Richard Hill,

Isaac Norris and others the surviving Trustees in the Will, to

whom the Lands had been devised in Trust, for to execute

their Trust; and also against William Penn the Grandson,

Gulielmd Maria the Grand-daughter (and her Husband Aubrey
Thomas) Letitia the Daughter (and her Husband) of the Tes-

tator, by his first Wife, who had Devises of 10,000 Acres each

under the Testator's Will, and against his Majesty's Attorney

General, to know whether the Crown would, or would not, go

on with a Treaty that had been set on foot by the Earl of (ox-

ford in 1711 and 1712, to purchase the Government from Mr.

Penn for 12,000^.

1722, Feb. 6.

Dennis Penn the Son of the Testator died an Infant and
Without Issue.

1722, 1723, 1724.

And many answers of the Defendants were put in thereto.

Copy of Bill and answers proved by Mr. Weston, Exc. No. 1, 2,

3, 4, 5, G, 7, 8.

1723, Feb. 17.

There was such an Agreement in Writing between the said

Hannah Penn and the Lord Baltimore, not to grant out Lands
upon the Borders which had been contested, for 18 Months; in

which Time 'twas hoped the Boundaries might have been set-

tled : and also such Proclamations afterwards pnblisht l)y the

Lieutenant Governors in both Provinces, notifying that tempo-

rary Agreement, us the Plaintiffs have charged at Fol. 154. m
their Bill, and which the Defendant has fully admitted at Fol.
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lUS. of his Answer; but such Agreeuieiit, having been mislaid,

is not proved in the Cause.

1724, Octo. G.

A Maryland Act of Assembly for repealinp: Part of the last

mentioned Act made in Maryland in 1713; enacting that such
Part of that former Act as imposed 9tl. a Gallon on Rum,
Spirits, Wine and Brandy to be imported from Pensilvaniaand
the Territories thereto belonjiiny by Land, should be repealed;
but this not to exempt Persons brin-iinir the said Liquors from
Pensilvania by Land from paying the other Duty of 3d. per
Gallon, which is declared to be still due and payable. Mary-
land Statute Book, Fol. 2G:3.

Mr. Gouldney, one of the principal Mortgagees died.

1725, Octoh. 23.

The said Hannah Penn, John, Thomas, Richard and Mar-
garet Penn, tiled their Bill of Reviver in the Exchequer, against
the Executor of the said Gouldney, Exc. No. 9.

Nov.

Petition from Lord Sutherland again, to have a Grant of the
three lower Counties; and Reference of the same by the Duke
of Newcastle to the Attorney and Sollicitor General. These are
to be proved viva voce on the Hearing, there ^s nothing ma-
terial in them, only to shew that Lord Sutherland had such a
second Petition depending, and thereby to warrant Paris's
Deposition, who speaks of several Hearings that there were
before the Attorney and Sollicitor General on that Petition.
Exhibit Sec. Off.

During that Suit in the Exchequer, though carried on very
adversarily between Mrs. Penn and her Children on the one
side, and the Heir at Law of the Proprietor on the other, they
both agreed, thus far, to turn out the Deputy Governor Mr.
Keith (then become Sir William Keith) and to appoint another,
viz. Patrick Gordon.

Jail. 7.

From the Records in Newcastle County, The Commission
which was this Day granted by Sprintrett Penn Esq; Grandson
and Heir at LaAv of William Penn Esq; by and with the Ad-
vice and Consent of Hannah Penn, widow and Executrix of the
said William Penn, testified by her signing and sealing the
same, appointing Patrick Gordon to be Lieutenant Governor
of the said Province of Pensilvaniaand Counties of Newcastle,
Kent and Sussex. Newcastle Recordb. No. 11. Fol. 97. 98.

Mar. 4.

A Report from the Committee of Council made upon the Re-
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presentation (which iiad been referred to them the 12th of Feb-

ruary last) of Springet Peun Grandson and Heir at Law of

William Penn Esq: deceased, and Hannah Penn the Executrix

of the said William Penn, humbly recommending Major Patrick

Gordon to be Deputy or Lieutenant Governor of Pensilvania

and of the Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware

in America, in the room of Sir William Keith; and praying

his Majesty's Approbation of him accordingly; and which Re-

port wasi also made upon a Petition presented by Colonel Spots-

wood on behalf of Sir William Keith, and upon another Peti-

tion presented by the Creditors of Sir William Keith, praying

that Sir William might not be removed ; their Lordships re-

ported that they had received a good Character of Major Gordon,

and offered their Opinion that his Majesty should be pleased

to declare his Allowance and Approbation of Major Gordon to

be Deputy Governor of the Province of Pensilvania without

Limitation of Time, and of the three Counties of Newcastle,

Kent and Sussex, during his Majesty's pleasure only, provided

the said Gordon qualified himself, and gave the Security; and

provided that the said Springet and Hannah Penn made a

Declaration, in such manner as had been formerly made by the

said William Penn. relating to his Majesty's Right to the said

three Counties. Co. Oflf. No. 23.

1725. March 11.

The King by Order in Council, made upon reading that Re-

port, ordered just in the same Words as [proposed; and directed

the Lords of Trade to take care that the said Security was given,

and Declaration made accordingly. Co. Off. No. 22.

1720, Apr. 18.

By another Order in Council reciting the last Order and that

the Lords of Trade had this Day reported that they had re-

ceived a Declaration and Promise under the Hand and Seal of

the said Springett Penn. and the like under the Hand and Seal

of the sai<l Hannah Penn. that his Majesty's Approbation of

the said Gordon to be Deputy (Tovernor of the said Province

and of the three Lower Counties^ should not be construed in

any manner to diminish or set aside his Majesty's Claim of

Right to the said lower Counties; and that they had also re-

ceived a Certificate of Security given in the Exchequer, of 2000/.

for Gordon's observing the Acts of Trade, His Majesty in Council

declared his Royal Approbation of tlie said Gordon to be Deputy
Governor of Pensilvania without Limitation of Time, and of

the said three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex,

during only his Royal Will and Pleasure. Co. Off. No. 23.

This last foregoing Order is also entred in Newcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 99.
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Dea. 13.

A Decree was made in the said Cause in the Exchequer, but

that was, unless Cause, for the Heir at Law, and all the Rela-

tions of the Family, by Mr. Penn's first Wife, made Default

at the Hearing. Exc. No. IC.

Dec. 20.

Mrs. Hannah Penn died.

Chap. XII. From the Death of Mrs. Hannah Penn in December
1726, doivn to the time of Beginning the Treaty with Lord
Baltimore for the AgreeiJient now in Question.

1727, Apr. 20.

The said Jonn Penn, Thomas Penn, Richard Penn, and Mar-

garet Penn (after their Mother's Death) brought their Bill of

Revivor of the Suit in the Exchequer. Exc, iNo. 11.

May 15.

Order to revive the said Cause. Exc. No. 12.

July -1.

The Cause in the Exchequer came on again, and all Parties

appeared, and the Court declared that Mr. Penn's Will and
Declaration or Confirmation dated 27 May- 1712, were duly

proved. But, as concerniiig all other the Matters and Thing-

in the Cause, ordered it should stand to be heard the tlien next

Michaelmas Term. Paper Copy of the Decree, Exc. No. la.

And Exemplification of that Decree under the Seal of the Court

of Exchequer.

Jtily 5.

A Family Deed of Indenture Sextipartite between the Plain-

tiffs John, Thomas and Ri3hard Penn, and their Sister Mar-

garet Penn, together with Thomas Freame (whom she was then

going to marry with) and two Trustees Joseph Wyeth and Sil-

vanus Beavan. Reciting Mr. Penn's Will, and Mrs. Hannah
Penn's Appointment_,whereby 1500/. was secured for the Daughter
Margaret, (And reciting a subsequent Appointment of Mrs.

Hannah Penn"s, after the Death of her Son Dennis, which it's

now thought she had no Power to make, having befo?-e executed

her Power, neither, if the second Appointment we.e good,

would it all vary the Plaintiffs Title,) And reciting the said

Decree, and Mrs. Hannah Penn's Will, and sundry Diffi-

culties arising thereon, and many other Matters; For settling

all Difference it's agreed, inter alia, that the said John Penn
his Heirs and Assigns shall hold and enjoy one Moyety of all

the Testator's Estate in America (subject to a Provision herein
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after made tor the said Marj,'aret) And that the said Thomas
and Richard Penn their Heirs and Assigns shall hold and enjoy

th« other half Part thereof as Tenants in common, and not as

Joynt tenants; Proviso that JohnPenn's Moyety shall be subject

to pay to the said Margaret 500/. and also an annuity of 50/.

during her Life, to be paid to her separate Hands, and also with

Payment of 1000/. in three Months after her Death, to the said

Wyeth and Beavan in Trust for her Children, in such manner

as she shall appoint. And all the Parties thereto agree that

the Trustees, named in their Fathers' Will, shall convey the

Lands accordingly. Deed proved by Mr. Page.

1729, Jan. 13, 14.

Indentures of Lease and Release being a Reconveyance from

Joshua Gee and John Woods (who were the two only surviving

Mortgagees) of all the mortgaged Premises unto John Penn and

Thomas Penn their Heirs and Assigns; as to one Moyety to the

Use of the said John Penn in Fee; as to one Quarter Part to

the Use and behoof of the said Thomas Penn in Fee; and as

to the other Quarter Part to the Use of the said John Penn and

Thomas Penn in Fee, but in Trust for the said Richard Penn

his Heirs and Assigns. Note, Mr. Richard Penn being then

married was the Reason why the legal Estate was not vested

in him, only the Trust thereof. Original Deeds of Conveyance

proved by Mr. Page.

1730, Dec. 30.

Springett Penn, who was the Grandson and Heir of Proprie-

tary Penn, died unmarried, and his younger Brother, WMUiam
Penn, the Grandson, became Heir at Law of Proprietary Penn.

Chap. XIII. From the Beginning of the Treaty, to the Time of

executing the Articles of Agreement in Qiies^tion, and the

Commissions for running the Lines pursuant to the same.

1731. June 3.

Was the Day (as will appear in Evidence) when the Parties

to this Cause had the first Meeting, in order to the Agreement.

June 3.

The written Map then produced and markt and made use of

by the Plaintiffs on their Parts, in order to the Agreement,

which has some other Words writ upon it, but all the Lines and

Outmarks are exactly agreeable to my Lord Baltimore's Map
which was afterwards graved and stampt. or printed, on the

Origi::al Articles of Agreement. This Map is proved by Paris,

and is the Exhibit Par. No 1. in a marbled Cover.
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The Treaty not proceeding at that time, but breakirifT ofT

then, because at first, the Plaintiffs refused to agree to the De-
fendants Proposals, the Lord Baltimore petitioned the King
as follows

:

July 1.

The Defendant the Lord Baltimore petition'd the King, and
set forth the Grant of Maryland, made to his Ancestor in 1G32,

and the Description of the Tracts of Land, as they are therein

exi)rest ; and. That the late William I'enn. l)y (rrant under the

Great Seal, in the lear lOSU. became Proiu'ietor of the Province
of Pensilvania. and his Descendants (as tiie Petitioner believed)

still were Proprietors of thesaiuf. That there hatl been diverse

Disputes, between the Petitioner's An(•estor^. and the said

William Penn, about the rsorthern Boundaries of the said

Pi-ovince of Maryland, and frequent Ai)plication having been

made to His Majestys Royal Ancestors in Council, in order to

settle and ascertain the same, not only in the Year 108"), 1708,

but so lately as in the Year 1720, by the Widow of the said Wil-
liam Penn, and divers Letters and Orders haii b«-en sent by His
Majesty's RoyalAncestors for that pur[)ose; l)iit theyiiad hither-

to had no effect. That, by reason of the said Disputes, very great

Numbers of the Petitioner's Tenants refused to pay any Rents,

or to submit themselves to the Petitioner's Government, or

really to any. which occasioned frequent Disputes, notwith-
standing the Petitioner's great Care to prevent the same. He
therefore prayed the King to order the Proprietors of the Prov-
ince of Pensilvania forthwith to join with him in settling and
ascertaining the said Boundaries: and. in case they refused to

comply therewith, or in case the same should not be settled

and ascertained within the Space of twelve ]\Ionths from that

time, that then, and in that case, the King would hear the

Matter in dispute, and give such Order, and make such Deter-

mination, touching the the same, as to His Majesty should seem
meet. Co. OfT. No. 24.

If that Petition had any Meaning at all, surely it must be

to carry into execution the Order of 168") which is mentioned
in that Petition: and which Order of 1685, expresly adjudged
the Right to the three lower Counties, against him and had
contained Directions for settling the Bounds of those lower

Counties; but which Bounds had not, indeed then, nor yet

neither, been ever run out.

Jnhi 1.

It was ordered that the said Petition should be referred to a

Committee of the Lords of His Majesty's most Honourable
Privy Council, to consider the same, and report their Opinion
thereupon to His Majesty. Co. OfT. No. 25.
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July 22.

The written Heads tor an Agreement, then produced by Lord

Baltimore, and whereol a Copy, full of Ablireviutions, was soon

afterwards delivered by the Defendants tSollictur to the Plain-

tiff's Sollicitor, is in the following Words, viz.

L There shall be a Circ. of 12 M. dist. drawn from Newcastle.

2. The Proprs. of Pensil. shall be entituled to 15 Miles Soth

of Phi la. by a West Line drawn from the Point of the Soth

and North to the extent of their West Limits comprised in the

Charter of Pensa.

o. There shall be a Line South drawn from the East and We>t

Line aforesaid, which shall intercutt the Periphery of the

Circ. of 12 Miles from Newcastle, untill it intercutt the Parallel

of an East and West Line drawn, the Prouiontory or Cape called

Cape Hinlopen at rect Angles.

4. The Lord Baltimore, to quit all Pretensions to the three

lower Counties (known to be at present comprised within the

Limits aforesaid, that is to say. within the 12 Miles Circle of

Newcastle and the North and South Line drawn as aforesaid

on the West, and the Bay of Delaware on the East.

5. The Proprtrs. of Pensa. to quit all Pretensions to any

Land to the Southward of the Line of 15 Miles from Phil., and

to the West of the North and South Line heretofore described,

and for the Considerations aforesaid convey to the Lord Balti-

more, all Right and Title they may have thereunto belonging.

0. For the quieting the present Possessors of the Lands in

dispute, and the better informing the respective Proprietors of

the Provinces aforesaid, it is agreed In- the Parties contracting

that it shall and may be lawful for each Proiirietor to have

Copys at their respective Costs and CJharges of the Grants,

Patents, and Leases, &c. by which any of the present Claimants

held their Land.

And moreover it is mutually agreed that fresh Patents, Leases,

and Grants, shall be made out to all the Possessors of Land.

Houses, «&c. within the present disputed, and by this de-

termined. Boundary without any Fines or Arrearages of Rent

whatsoever, provided they become Tenants to the respec-

tive Provinces, subject to the Rents and Reserves common

to the Landholders of the respective Provinces, subject never-

theless to usual Fees to the proper Officers of the said Provinces

for the taking out of any new Patents for the Lands or Tene-

ments they at present are possessed of.

This is proved by Paris, and is a very material Exhibit markt

Par. No. 2.

We have, most particularlv, charged this Paper to be of the

Defendant's own Hand- writing, at Fo. 179. of our Bill, and
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at Fo. 1415. we have demanded that he may produce it. He
in his Answer, Fo. 257. admits tliere was such a Paper, but says

it's mislay'd, but if he finds it, lie will produce it.

If he does not, the Reason is most obvious, for this puts an
end to his Commissioners Doubt (which yet he says he approves
of) wliether the Circle should be 2 Miles or 12 Miles, from New-
castle? For here, in two several Places, in his own Notes for

drawing up the Agreement in Form, he says twi^e over, that

the Circle shall be 12 Miles distant from Newcastle, and again
12 Miles from Newcastle.

Note—The Defendant has proved, by his own Sollicitor Mr.

Sharpe, that the foregoing Notes are lately found, and
he sets forth an exact Copy of the same verbatim, in his

Deposition. For which Ave are bound to thank him. And
it's intended to move, that the Original may be produced
at the Hearing by tlie Defendant, according to his Offer,

now that it is found.

Aug. 16.

The Draught of the Articles of Agreement this Day delivered

over to Mr. Sharpe, with his own Directions thereon, to Coun-
sellor Wynne, and his own Marks and Notes thereon, that the

Miles M'ere to be mentioned English Statute Miles, &c. This
Paper is proved by Serjeant Wynne, and by Paris, and is Ex-

hibit, Par. No. 3.

Aug. 19.

Mr. Sharpe's Letter to Mr. Paris, that he had perused the

Draught of the Agreement between Lord Baltimore and Mes-
sieurs Penns. and thought the same perfectly right, and had
sent it that Night to Lord Baltimore for his Perusal, with a
Desire to return it to him as soon as he had done with it, and
the Moment it came back to Mr. Sharpe he would let Mr. Paris

know it. This Exhibit is proved by Mr. Paris, and is Par. No.
4.

This serves to prove the Length of Time taken to consider the
Draught, from August 1731, to 10 May 1732.

&epi. 22, 23.

Indentures of Lease and Release, whereby William Penn,
Grandson and Heir at Law of Proprietary William Penn, in

Consideration of 5500?. Releases and Quits Claim to the said

Province and Counties, unto the said John and Thomas Penn in

Fee; As to one Moiety to the use of John Penn in Fee; as to

one quarter Part to the Use of Thomas Penn in Fee; and as to

the other quarter Part, to the Use of John and Thomas Penn
in Fee, but in Trust for Richard Penn, his Heirs and Assigns.

Deeds proved by Paris.
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Sept. 29.

Bargrain and Sale enrolled, by way of Mortgage, from John,

Thomas iin.l Richard Penn. of the Province of Pensilvania only,

excepting thereout the (TO%'ernmenT and Powers of (Tovernment.

to William Penn in Fee, for securinir 5000/. and Interest, proviso

for Redemption. Deed proved l)y Paris.

Feb. 12.

By an Indorsement made on the Back of the Family Deed of

5 July 1727, Marj^ar^t (Penn)and her Husband Thomas Freame,

release to the said John Penn the 50u/. which had been there-

within secured to her out of Mr. Penns Moiety. Endorsement

proved by Mr. Page.

1732, March 29.

The new Clause, that Day delivered by Lord Baltimore, above

7 Months after the Draught of the Agreement had been delivered

over, viz. "There must be a Clause to prohibit any of the

"People of the respective Provinces to carry on any Commerce

•into the Bay? of Chesopeak and Delaware, by the means of

"anv River or Rivers, leading from one of the Provinces afore-

"said to the other, without the Leave of the Proprietor of the

"Province to whom the said Bay doth belong." Proved by

Paris, and is the Exhibit, Par. No. 6.

Apiil.

That Copy of Mr. Senex's written Opinion of the Articles

which he delivered to the Plaintiffs, viz.

The Division, as described in the Articles. That there shall

be drawn, so much of a Circle as is necessary, round Newcastle

as a Center, at the Distance of 12 English Statute Miles. That

there shall be a true East and West Line drawn, 'twixt Cape

HinlopenanJ the Chesopeak Bay: And that, from the middle

of that Line, there shall be drawn a Right Line, Northwards,

so as to become a Tangent Line, on the Western Side, to the

above Circle, described at 12 Miles Distance from Newcastle.

That, at the Distance of 15 English Miles from the most South-

ern Part of Philadelphia, there shall be drawn W^estwards a

Parallel, or due East and West Line, whose Distance, Westwards,

is to be determined afterwards. That, from the Point of Con-

tact of the afore described Tangent Line with the Circle, there

shall be drawn a Meridian, or due North and South Line, so

far as till it touches the said Parallel. That those Lines, so

drawn, shall be the Boundaries 'twixt Pensilvania and Mary-

land. All to the Northward and Eastwards Pensilvania. All to

the Southward and Westward Maryland. This Division of the

Countries in dispute, betwixt the Lord Baltimore. &c. as de-

scribed in the Articles of Agreement, &c. Seems to be much
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more convenient and practicable, than any Division that can
be made, by affixing the Longitude and Latitude of such
Bounds— Because, the Longitudes and Latitudes of Places are
with great Difficulty made sufficiently exact, to determine the
true Place of such Boundaries, within less than a Mile or two
Miles: Whereas, this Method is easily practicable, and deter-

mines it to what Exactness is required. Moreover, in case any
Dispute at any time arises, it may soon be adjusted, l)y any
skilful Surveyor, to the Satisfaction of each Party. John Senex.

This Exhibit is spoke to by Paris, and is proved to be Mr.
Senex's Hand (who is dead) by Mary Senex his Widow, and by
Thomas Hutchinson and Thomas Smith, who were his Servants.

And is the Exhibit, Par. No. 5.

This Man, of my Lord Baltimore's own chusing, read and
explained the Draught of the Articles, that the Circle was to

be at 12 Miles Distance from Newcastle, and also shews that

he understood Newcastle itself, as a Center.

1732, April.

The Copy of Lord Baltimore's Map, as engraved by Mr. Senex
(who he chose to do it) or his Servants. Printed Map proved
by Hutchinson and Smith, being the Exhibit Sen. No. 1.

May 10.

Copy at full length of the Articles of Agreement executed
between the Parties, viz.

ARTICLES of Agreement indented, had, made, and con-
cluded upon, this tenth Day of May, in the Fifth Year of the
Reign of our Soverign Lord George the Second, l)v the (rracf^

of (jod of Great Britain. France and Ireland. King. Defender
of the Faith. &e. Annoque Domini 17iJ2, between the Right
Honourable Charles Lord-Baron of Baltimore in the Kingdom
of Ireland, true and absolute Lord and Proprietary of the Pro-
vinces of Maryland and Avalon, &c. of the one Part, and John
Penn, Thomas Penn, and Richard Penn Esqrs. Sons and De-
visees under the Will of William Penn Esq; the Elder, their

late Father, true and absolute Proprietaries of the Province
of Pensilvania, &c. of the other Part, in Manner and Form fol-

lowing; that is to say.

Whereas, his late Majesty King Charles the First, by his

Royal Charter or Letters Patent under the Great Seal of Eng-
land, bearing Date at Westminster the twentieth Day of June,
in the eighth Year of his Reign, did give, grant, and confirm
unto Cecilius, then Baron of Baltimore, (the Great Grandfather
of the said Charles Lord Baltimore) and to his Heirs and As-
signs, all that Part of a Peninsula lying in the Parts of America,

29- Vol. XV
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between the Ocean on the East, and the Bay of Chesopeake

on the West, and divided from the other Part thereof by a Right

Line from the Promontory or Cape of Land called Watkin's

Point, (scituate in the aforesaid Bay near the River of Wighco)

on the West, unto the main Ocean on the East ; and, between

that Bound on the South, unto that Part of Delaware Bay on

the North, which lieth under the fortieth Degree of Northerly

Latitude from the Equinoctial, where New England ends; And
All that Tract of Land, between the Bounds aforesaid; that is

to say, passing from the aforesaid Bay called Delaware Bay, in

a Right Line, by the Degree aforesaid, unto the true Meridian

of the first Fountain of the River Pattowmeck, and from thence

trending toward the South unto the farther Bank of the afore-

said River, and, following the West and South Side thereof,

unto a certain Place called Cinquack, scituate near the Mouth
of the said River, where it falls into the Bay of Chesopeake,

and from thence, by a straight Line, unto the aforesaid Prom-
ontory and Place called Watkin's Point (except, as therein is

excepted :) And his said late Majesty did thereby also grant

and confirm unto the said then Lord Baltimore, his Heirs and
Assigns, all Islands and Islets within the Limits aforesaid,

and all and singular the Islands and Islets, which were or

should be in the Ocean, within ten Leagues from the Eastern

Shore of the said Country towards the East, with all and singu-

lar Ports, Harbours. Bays, Rivers and Inlets belonging unto

the Country or Islands aforesaid : And all the Soil, Lands,

Fields, Woods, Mountains, Fenns, Lakes, Rivers, Bays and
Inlets scituate or being within the Bounds and Limits afore-

said : And moreover, all Veins, Mines and Quarries, as well

discovered as not discovered, of Gold, Silver, Gemms and
precious Stones, and all other Mines whatsoever of Stones,

Metals, or of any other Thing or Matter whatsoever, found, or

to be found, within the Country, Isles, and Limits aforesaid,

reserving as therein is reserved ; together with divers ample
Rights, Jurisdictions, Privileges, Prerogatives, Royalties, Lib-

erties, Immunities, Royal Rights and Franchises, of what kind
soever, more at large set forth in the said Letters Patent. And
the said then Lord Baltimore, his Heirs and Assigns, his said

late Majesty did thereby for himself, his Heirs and Successors,

make, create, and constitute the true and absolute Lords and
Proprietaries of the Country aforesaid, and of all other th3

Premisses (except as before excepted) to have, hold, possess

a,nd enjoy the said Country. Isles, Islets, and other the Premisses,

unto the said then Lord Baltimore, his Heirs and Assigns, to

the sole and proper Use and Behoof of him the said then Lord
Baltimore, his Heirs and Assigns for ever: as by the said Char-
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ter, relation being thereunto had, may more fully and at iarge
appear.

And whereas his late Majesty King Charles the Second, by
his Royal Charter or Letters Patent umier the Great Seal of
England, bearing Date at Westminster the fourth Day of
March, in the thirty-third Year of his Reign, for the Coui^idera-
tion therein mentioned, did give and grant unto the said Wil-
liam Penn the Elder, his Heirs and Assigns, ALL that Tract or
Part of Land in America, with all the Islands therein contained,
as the same was bounded, on the East, by Delaware River, from
twelve Miles distance Northwards of New-Castie Town, unto
the forty third Degree of nothern Latitude, if the said River
did extend so far Northward; but, if the said River should not
extend so far Northward, then, by the said River so far as it

did extend; and, from the Head of the said River, the Eastern
Bounds were to be determined by a ^leridian Line, to be
drawn from the Head of the said River unto the said forty-third
Degree: The said Lands to extend Westward five Degrees in

Longitude, to be computed from the said Eastern Bounds:
And the said Land to be bounded, on the North, by the be-

ginning of the forty-third Degree of northern Latitude, and,
on the South, bv ii Circle drawn at twelve Miles distance from
New-Castle, Northwards and Westwards, unto tlie beginning
of the fortieth Degree of northern Latitude, and then, by a strait

Line, Westward, to the Limit of Longitude abovementioned.
And his said late Majesty King Charles the Second did thereby
also give and grant unto the said William Penn the Elder, his
Heirs and Assigns, the free and undisturbed Use and Continu-
ance in,and Passage into and out of all and singular Ports, Har-
bours,Bays. Waters. Rivers, Isles, and Inlets. l)elonging unto or
leading to or from the Country or Islands aforesaid ; and all the
Soil, Lands, Fields, Woods, Underwoods. Mountains. Hills,

Fenns, Isles, Lakes, Rivers. Waters, Rivulets. Bays and Inlets,

scituate or being within, or belonging unto the Limits and
Bounds aforesaid; and also all Veins, Mines, and Quarries, as
well discovered as not discovered, of Gold, Silver. Gemms and
precious Stones, and all other whatsoever, of Stones. Metals, or
any other Thing or Matter whatsoever, found or t« be found
within the Country, Isles, and Limits aforesaid ; and him the
said William Penn the Elder. his Heirs and Assigns, his said late
Majesty King Charles the Second did. by the said Royal Char
ter. for himself, his Heirs and Successors, make, create, and
constitute, the true and absolute Proprietaries of the Country
aforesaid, and of all other the Premisses, TO HAVE, hold,
possess, and enjoy the said Tract of Land, Country. Isles, In-

lets, and other the Premisses, unto the said William Penn the
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Elder, his Heirs and Assigns, to the only proper Use and Be.

hoof ot the said William Penn the Elder, his Heirs and Assigns

for ever ; as by the said last recited Charter or Letters Patent

(amongst divers other Matters and Things therein contained)

relation being thereunto had, may more fully and at large ap-

pear.

And whereas by Indenture of Bargain and Sale enrolled,

bearing Date on or about the four and twentieth Day of August,

in the Year of our Lord One Thousand Six Hundred Eighty

and Two, and made or mentioned to be made, between his

Royal Highness James, then Duke of York, (afterwards James
the Second, King of England) of the one Part, and the said

William Fenn the Elder of the other Part, his said Royal High-

ness (for the Considerations in the said Indenture mentioned)

did bargain, sell, enfeoff, and confirm unto the said William

Penn the Elder, his Heirs and Assigns for ever, ALL that the

Town of New-fTastle. otherwise called Delaware, and all that

Tract of Land lying within the Compass or Circle of twelve

Miles about the same, scituate, lying, and being upon the River

Delaware in America, and all Islands in the said River Dela-

ware, and the said River and Soil thereof, lying North of the

Southermost Part of the said Circle of twelve Miles about the

said Town, together with all Rents, Services, Royalties, Fran-

chies. Duties, Jurisdictions, Liberties and Privileges thereunto

belonging; and all the Estate, Right, Title. Interest, Powers.

Property, Claim and Demand whatsoever, of his said Royal

Highness, in or to the same, To hold to the said William Penn
tlie Elder, his Heirs and Assigns, to the only Use of the said

William Penn the Elder, his Heirs and Assigns for ever.

And whereas l)y another Indenture of Bargain and Sale, or

Feoffment, l)earing Date on or about the said four and twentieth

Day of August in the said Year One Thousand Six Hundred
Eighty and Two, and made, or mentioned to be made between

his said R(\val Highness of the one Part, and the said William

Penn the Elder of the other Part, his said Royal Highness for

the Considerations in the said last Indenture mentioned, did

bargain, soil, enfeoff, and confirm unto the said William Penn
the Elder, his Heirs and Assigns, all that Tract of Land upon
Delaware River and Bay, beginning twelve Miles South from

the Town of New-Castle, otherwise called Delaware, and ex-

tending South to the Whore Kilns, otherwise called Capin
Lo])pn, iwliich said last mentioned Tract of Land hath been

divided into two Counties, and called by the Names of Kent

and Sussex : and these two Tracts, together with the Town ol

New-Castle, are, and have been, commonly called by the Name
of the three lower Counties of New-Castle, Kent and Sussex)
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together with the Soil.Fields, Woods. Underwoods, Mountains,H Is Fenns Isle«, Lakes. Rivers, Rivulets, Bays and Inlets
sc.tuate inor be ongingunto the Limits and Bounds alDresaid

;togetlier with all sorts of Minerals, and all the Estate, Interest
Royalties, Franchises. Powers, Privileges and Innnunities
whatsoever of h,s said Royal Highness thereunto, To holdunto the said William Penn the Elder, his Heirs and Assi^-ns
to he only Lseand Behoof of the said Williau, Penn. liis Heii4and Assigns for ever; as by the said two seven.) Indentures ofBargain and Sale or Feoffment, relation being unto them re-
spectively had, may more lullv appear
And whereas, soon after tli; granting rl.e said (Jharter andJ)eeds of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment unto the said WilliamPenn the Eider, several Disputes an<i Differeneesaro.se between

thetlien Loni Baltimore, (Grandfather of tlie said Oharles Lord
Baltimore) ami the said William Penn the Elder, touching the
respective Boun.ls and Limits of tlie said Provinces of Marv-and and Pensilvania, and between the said Province of Mary-land and the said three lower Counties of ^ew-Castle, Kent
and.Sussex,in regard that the Observations made by Mathemati-
cians and other skilful Persons from time to time, in order tohe hxing the Place of the fortieth Degree of northerlv Latitude
(mentioned and referred to by both the said Charter; of Marv-land and Pensilvania, greatly varied and differed from each
°

n^'.'.r .u ;
'° "^^""'^ ^^^* **^^ '^'^ Tracts of Land, since

called the three lower Counties of New-Castle, Kent and Sussexwhich were granted to the said William Penn the Elder, bv the
said Deeds of Bargain and Sale or Feoffment (or at least some
Parts thereof) were comprized within the Bounds and Limitswhich had been mentioned in the said Charter of MarvlandAnd whereas, notwithstanding several Treaties and Endeavours
for settling the said Disputes and Differences, divers Difficultieshave arisen, and many Persons have seated themselves upon
great Parcels of the Lands in dispute, without Authoritv from
either ot the Proprietors, and without paying the usual' Finesor C^uit-rents, or conforming themselves to the Governmentand Establishment settled in any of the said Provinces or
(.ounties: But. for the putting a final and friendlv End andAccommodation to the said Disputes and Differences, the Partieshereunto have come to the following Agreement touching thesame
Now therefore these present Articles witness. That it is herebvmutually and reciprocally covenanted, promised, declared andagreed by each and every one of the said Parties to these Pre

sents, for himself, and his Heirs, Executors and Adminstrators,
to and with all and every other of the same Parties to these
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Presents, and their several and respective Heirs, executors and

Administrators, in Manner and Form following; that is to say,

I. That the Draught or Plan printed in the Margin upon this

Skin of Parchment, which contains a Map of the Peninsula

herein before mentioned, and also of the Tracts of Ground

wherein the said Province of Maryland, (or Part tiiereof) the

said Three Lower Counties, Part of the said Province of Pensil-

vania, and Part of Virginia do lie, is a true Copy of those

which had been sent over from America, to the present Parties

hereto, by their respective Agents in those Parts, for the As-

sistance and Guidance of the said Parties, in the settling the

said Disputes, and by which this present Agreement is to be

explained and understood.

II. That there shall be the said Circle, mentioned in the said

Charter for Pensilvania, and Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoff-

ment of New-Castle, (or so much thereof as is requisite) (h-awn

and marked out at the twelve Miles distance from tlie Town of

New-Castle; which twelve Miles shall be twelve English Statute

Miles.

III. That a due East and West Line shall be drawn across

the said Peninsula, (or across so much of it as shall be requi.site)

such East and West Line to begin, on the East Part, at the

Place in the said Draught or Map called Cape Hinlopen, which

lies South of Cape Cornelius, upon the eastern Side of the skid

Peninsula, towards the main Ocean, and, at the Point of the

said Cape; and to run toward the western Side of the said

Peninsula, which lies upon the Chesopeake Bay; but to stop,

ill the exact middle of that Part of the same Peninsula, when
so running a due East and West Course.

IV. That, from the Western Point or End of the said East

and West Line (which Western Point or End shall be just half

way across the said Peninsula) a strait Line shall run. North

ward, up the said Peninsula(and above the said Peninsula if it

require it) till it shall so touch the Western Part of the Peri-

phery of the said Circle, as to make a Tangent thereto : The
said strait Line, as at present apprehended will run pretty near

South and North, but (however it may bear on the Compass)

such strait Line shall be run Northward up the said Peninsula

(and above the said Peninsula if it require it) and shall begin

at and from the Western Point or End of the atoresaid East and

West Line, and shall run until it touches, and makes a Tangent

to, the Western Part of the .said Periphery of the said Circle,

and, there, the said strait Line shall end.

V. That, at the Northern Point or End of the said strait

Line, a Line shall begin, and shall, from thence, run due North

above the said Peninsula, but so far only until it comes into
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the same Latitude, as fifteeu English Statute Miles due Southof the most southern Part of the City of Philadelphia.

follow,?"' ;" i"^„^r'.^^^
^^'^'' ^"^^ •^''^^" '- '•"" "• "-"n-lollowinf^; It shall begin at the northern Point or Eml of the.aid due South and North Line, and shall, fron. thenee, rundue West cruss Sasquehannah River, to the utn.ost WesternExtent of the «aid Province of Pensilvania. or so far in Par"

thereof as shall be at present requisite, in reganl that, as thesame is to be a due East and West Line, the beginning Partthereof may be sufficient to continue thesa.ne by. when tln-therOccasion shall require, and when the Lands Westward in thesaid Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania shall be bettersettled, and that it would occasion a very great Expence Indlikewise be at present needless, to run the same to he u n'ostExtent Westward of the said Province of Pensilvania: howeverthe same shall (at present) be run cross Sasquehannah River'
arid about live and twenty English Statute Miles further on theWestern Side of the said River.
yiL That the Part of a Circle, at present drawn with RedInk upon the said Draught or Plan, and the red Lines alsodrawn thereupon, are now drawn to serve as an Explanation

to this present Agreement, but not with exact Certainty inregard the said Draughts or Plans, so sent over to the Parties
aforesaid, have neither Scale or Compass to them.
VIII. That the first above-mentioned due East and WestLine to run from Cape Kinlopen to the Middle of the Penin-

sula, and the said strait Line to run from the Westward Pointthereof Northwards up the said Peninsula (and above the said
Peninsula, if it require it) till it touches or makes a Tangent
to the Western Part of the Periphery of the said twelve MilesCircle: and the said due South and North Line to run fromsuch Tangent till it meet with the Upper or more NorthernEast and West Line

:
And the said upper East and West Lineto begin from the Northern Point or End of the said South andr^orthLine, and to run due Westward at present cross Sasquehannah River, and Five and Twenty English Statute Milesat least on he Western Side of the said River, and to be fifteenEnglish Statute Miles South of the Latitude of the most South^ern Partof t^e said City of Philadelphia, are and shall beand shall at all Times for ever hereafter be allowed and esteemedto be the true and exact Limits and Bounds between the saidProvince of Maryland, and the said Three Lower Counti-es ofNew-Castle, Kent, and Sussex, and between the said Provinces

f.i^%iTu r^
Pensilvania: excepting only, that in case th^said North Line from the Tangent of the Circle of New-Castle shall break in upon the said Circle, in such Case so
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much ot the said Circle as shall be cut off by the said Line,

shall belong to and be Part of the County of New-Castle.

Provided always, and it is hereby mutually covenanted, con-

cluded, and agreed, by and between the Parties to these Presents,

that in case it should happen in the Runninjj or Settinf; out

the Lines or Boundaries hereby agreed upon, that the Head or

Heads of any River or Rivers leading either into the Bay of

Chesopealie,or into the Bay of Delaware, or unto the Sea, shall

remain on one Side the Lines and Boundaries hereb}- agreed to

be run or set out, and that the lower Part of such River or

Rivers shall remain within or run thro' the other Province or

Counties, and on the other Side of such Lines and Boundaries;

then, and in such Case, this present Agreement, or any Mat-

ter or Thing herein contained, is not intended, and shall not

in any Wise be construed or extended to give or yield to the

People or Inhabitants of the Province or Counties Avithin

whose Limits the Heads of any such River or Rivers sliall ac-

cording to this present Agreement fall or remain, any Sort of

Right or Title to carry on any Commerce into the said Bays

of Delaware or Chesopeake. or either of them, or into the Sea

thro' the lower Parts of such River or Rivers, which may run

thro' the Territory or Limits of any other Province or Counties,

witliout the Leave or Licence of the respective Proprietor or

Proprietors of the Province or Counties tliio' whose Territories

such lower Parts of the said River or Rivers shall run, first

duly had and obtained; this Agreement, or any thing herein

contained, to the contrary thereof in anywise notwithstanding.

This Clause is translated verbatim into the very Commissions,

nevertheless, ihe first Objection made bi/ the Maryland Com-
missioners mas, for that some other different Persons had
not also joined in granting our Commission.

IX. That the said Charles Lord Baltimore, and his Heirs and
Assigns on his part, and the said John Penn, Thomas Penn, and
Richard Penn, and their several and respective Heirs and As-

signs on their parts, shall and will, by fit and proper Powers
aud Instruments, within two Calendar Months from the Day
of the Date of these Presents, authorize and appoint a sufficient

Number of discreet and proper Persons, not more than seven

on each side, to be their respective Commissioners, with full

Power to the said seven Persons, or any three or more of them,
for the actual running, marking, and laying out, the said Part of

a Gircle,and the said before-mentioned Lines : which said Com-
missioners shall give due and proper Notice to each other, and
shall fix and agree ui)on a Time or Times to begin and proceed in

the running, marking, and laying out the same; and the same
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shall be begun, at the farthest, some time in the Month of Octo-
ber next, and shall be proceeded in with all Fairness, Candour,
and Dispatch that may reasonably be. And the said Lines
shall be marked out by visible Stones, Posts, Trees, Pillars,
Buildings, Land-marks, or other certain Boundaries which
may remain and continue; such Boundaries to be marked, on
oneside.with the Arms of the said Charles Lord Baltimore, and,
on the other side, with the Arms of the Proprietors of Pensil-
vania. And such Lines shall be compleatly so run.mark'd. and
laid out, (as far as by this Agreement is intended on or before
the twenty-fifth Day of December, One thousand seven hundred
and thirty-three: and, when so done, a true and exact Plan
and Survey thereof, with the best and most exact and certain
Descriptions that can possibly be given of the same, shall be
made up, and sign'd, and seal'd, by the said Commissioners on
both sides, and by their Principals, and shall be entred in all
the publick Offices, in the said several Provinces and Counties:
And moreover it shall be recommended by the respective Pro-
prietors to the Assemblies of the said several Provinces and
Counties, forthwith to pass Acts of Legislature for the Visita-
tion upon certain lix"d Days, to be agreed on on both sides (at
least once in every three Years) and for the continual Repara-
tion of the said Boundaries and Bound-marks, that no Disputes
may arise hereafter concerning the same.
Provided always, and it is hereby agreed, that in Case a

sufficient Quorum of the Commissioners to be named on either
side, shall not. from time to time, according to the Appoint-
ments and Adjournments to be made for that purpose, attend
to proceed in the marking and running out the Lines and
Bounds aforesaid, for want whereof the.same cannot be done
within the Time before limited, then, this present Agreement,
and every Article and Thing herein contained, shall cease, de-
termine, and be void; and. then, and in such Case, the Party or
Parties, whose Commissioners shall make such Default, his
or their Heirs, Executors, or Administrators, shall and will
forfeit and pay, to the other Party or Parties, whose Commis-
sioners shall attend, his or their Heirs. Executors or Adminis-
trators, upon Demand, the Sum of Five Thousand Pounds of
lawful Money of Grreat-Britain.
X. That the said Charles Lord Baltimore, for himself and his

Heirs, doth by these Presents forever renounce, release, md quit
claim unto the said John Penn, Thomas Penn, and Richard
Penn, and their Heirs, all Rights, Titles, Interest, Powers,
Prerogatives, Claims, Demands, and Pretentions, to the said
Province of Pensilvania.and to the .said Three lower Counties
of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex. To be so bounded as aforesaid.
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(Part at least of the same Three lower Counties being now

known to be comprized within the Bounds mentioned in the said

Charter of Maryland) and shall also, at the Request and Cost

in the Law of the said John Penn, Thomas Penn, and Richard

Penn, and their Heirs, grant, convey, and assure, in the most

ellectual Manner, the said Pj-ovince of Pensilvania, and the

said Three Lower Counties to be botinded as aforesaid, and all

his and their Right. Title, Literest, Powers, Claims, and De-

mands, in and to the said Province of Pensiivania. and the

said Three Lower (bounties to be so L)ounded as aforesaid, and

every Part of the same, free of all Incumbrances by the said

Cecilius Baron of Baltimore, Great (irandfatlier of the said

Charles Lord Baltimore, Charles (rrandfather of the said Charles

Lord Baltimore, Benedict Father of the said Charles Lord Bal-

timore, or by him the said Charles Lord Balti)nore Party hereto,

his Heirs or Assigns, excepting such Grants and Agreements to

Planters as herein after mentioned, unto the said John Penn,

Thomas Penn, and Richard Penn, and their Heirs; TO HAVE
AND TO HOLD unto the said John Penn, Thomas Penn. and

Richard Penn, and their Heirs, to the only Use and Behoof of

them and their Heirs tor ever, in such Manner as by them the

said John Penn, Thomas PennJ and Richard Penn, or their

Heirs, or their Council learned in the Law, shall be reasonably

devised, advised, and required. AND on the other Hand, the

said John Penn, Thomas Penn. and Richard Penn, for them-

selves and their Heirs, do by these Presents for ever renounce

and quit claim unto the said Charles Lord Baltimore and his

Heirs, all Rights. Titles-, Interest, Powers. Prerogatives, Claims,

Demands, and Pretensions to the said Province of Maryland,

to be so bounded as aforesaid, (Part whereof when so bounded

being apprehended to be comprized within the Bounds men-

tioned in the said Charter for Pensilvania;) and shall also at

the Request and Cost in the Law of the said Charles Lord Bal-

timore and his Heirs, grant, convey, and assure, in the most

effectual Manner the said Province of Maryland, to be so bounded

as aforesaid, and all their and every of their Right, Title, in-

terest, Powers, Claims, and Demands, in and to the said

Province of Mary land, to be so bounded as aforesaid, and every

Part of the same, (free of all Incumbrances by the said William

Penn the Grandfather, William Penn the Father, Springett

Penn Esq; deceased. William Penn the Son. John Penn, Thomas

Penn, and Richard Penn, their Heirs or Assigns) excepting

such (irants or Agreements to Planters as herein after men-

tioned, unto the said Charles Lord Baltimore and his Heirs,

to have and to hold unto the said Charles Lord Baltimore and

his Heirs, to the only Use and Behoof of him and his Heirs
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/or ever, in such Manner as by him or tiieni, or liis or tlieir

Council learned in the Law. shall be reasonably devised, ad-

vised, and required.

XI. And wliereas during the Disputes wliicli have hitherto

subsisted, and now are accommodated between the Parties to

these Presents, divers Persons under Grants. Patents, Leases,

Warrants, Licences and Agreements, made and granted from
and agreed with the said Charles Lord Baltimore and his An-
cestors, before the tifteenth Day of May, One thousand seven

hundred twenty and four, may have cleared, occupied and pos-

sessed, several Parcels of Lands within the Limits and Bounds
hereby yielded and agreed upon for the said Province of Pen-
silvania, and for the said Three Lower Counties : And in like

manner other Persons under Grants, Patents, Leases, Warrants,
Licences and Agreements made and granted from, and agreed
with the said John Penn, Thomas Penn, and Richard Penn,
or their Ancestors, before the said fifteenth Day of May, One
thousand seven hundred twenty and four, may have cleared,

occupied and possessed several Parcels of Lands within the
Limits and Bounds hereby yielded and agreed upon for the said

Province of Maryland, and it may be proi)er to quiet such
Occupiers and Possessors in their respective Possessions (which
might otherwise be disturbed by this present Agreement of the
Proprietors, under some Restrictions;) It is therefore mutually
agreed, that in order to the Information of the Parties to these

Presents, touching tlie Premisses, each of the said Proprietors
shall have full and free Liberty to take Copies at their lespect-

ive Costs and Charges, of all Grants, Patents. Leases, Warrants,
Licences and Agreements, which at any time before the said

fifteenth Day of May, One thousand seven hundred twenty and
four, have been made or granted by the respective Proprietors
or their Ancestors, and under which any of the said Occupiers
do hold or claim any such Parcels of Land : And in order to

quiet and settle such Occupiers, every of them shall and may,
iipon Request and Payment of the accustomed Fees, in such
Cases only, have new Grants or Patents from the respective

Propriet<irs within whose Territory or Limits iheir Lands, by
virtue of. or according to this present Agreement, shall lie, for

the like Estate. Term, and Interest, as mentioned in their ori-

ginal Grants, Warrants, Leases, Licences or Agreements, upon
condition that the said Occupiers respectively do first attorn,

and become Tenants to their respective Proprietors within
whose Territory or Limits their Lands now lie, by virtue of,

or according to this present Agreement, and do submit them-
selves in all Things to the Government thereof, and do pay to
their new Proprietor or Proprietors (unless it shall be dispensed
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with by him or them) all such Fines, Rents and Arrearages Of

Rents and Dutie?, as by their original Grants, Licences or Agree,

inents, were to Imve been payed to th:^ir foi-mer Gfrantor or Pro-

prieTor. und which liave not been really and bona tide payed
to or to the I >e ot such their former Proprietor; and for the

Time H) come, such Occupiers shall be put upon the like Foot

and ( "ondition with the rest of the Occupiers and Tenants wlio

hold Lands in such Parts of tlie said respective Provinces and

Counties as have never been in f'ontest; and such Occupiers

and Tenants claiming originally under another Proprietor, as

aforesaid, shall hold their Lands and have Patents thereof

granted them by their new Proprietor, subject to the like

Fines. Rents. t^uit-Rents. Duties, Services and Reservations,

as the other Landholders are. and have been generally subject

to in the respective Provinces and Counties to which they shall

belong. Provided always, that in Cases where any Persons dur-

ing th(^ Disputes which have subsisted between the said Pro-

prietors have taken double Title; that is to sav, from both

the said Proprietors or their Commissioners or Officers, under

which they have sheltered themselves by turns against each of

the said Proprietors, and also in Oases where any Persons dur-

ing the said disputes, have of their own authority seated them-

selves down ujion any Parcels of Lands, without Licence or

Authority in Writing from either of the said Proprietors, such

Persons in resjiect of such Lands, are by no means to be in-

cluded in this present Article, but are (however) to be treated

with Moderation, and with some Regard ; and the more so, in

case they have heretofore actually paid the usual Quit-Rents

and Services to either of the said Proprietors, and provided

they bring in, surrender or yield up their former Grant, Li.

cence. Warrant. Lease or Agreement, and submit to hold only

under the r)roper Lord or Proprietor as the Case may be.

Xn. That in case the Parties hereto can conclude upon anj'

further Clauses in favourof the Occupiers of any Lands within

the Hounds heretofore disputed, but by these Presents fixed

and determined: the same shall be contained in a subsequent

Agreement between them.

Lastly, That all the Parties hereto, and their Representatives,

>hall at all times hereafter use all friendly Means and Offices

to the utmost of their power, to assist and support this present

Agreement, and the several and respective Rights, Interests

and Pretensions of the Parties, by virtue hereof.

In W^itness. (ic

The foregoing Articles are proved to be executed by all Parties,

by Mr. Taylor and by Paris. And are Exhibits Art. And Par.

No. 7.
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NOTE-Upon soiue of the six several parts of those Articles
there was an Endorsement executed (of the same Date with the
Articles) by William Penn, Letitia Aubrev and Charles Fell
and Guhelma Maria his Wife; whereby all those Persons as-
sented to those Articles, and promised not to hinder or obstruct
thpsaid Agreement, or tlie due Execution thereof, in anv man-
ner or wise. Endorsement on the said Articles, Par. No. 7
and proved by Paris.

1732, May VZ.

The Draught of the Commission prepared for the Plaintiffs
to authorise their Commissioners to carrv the Articles into Exe-
cution, which the Defendant and his Sollicitor approved : with
Mr. Sharpe's Endorsement thereon of the Namts which he
would have inserted for the Defendant's Commissioners. This
IS proved by Paris, and is Exhibit Par. No. 8.

Same Day.
The Original Commission executed by the Plaintiflfs, author-

ising their Commissioners to carry the Agreement into Ex-
ecution, which recites the Agreement most minutely. The
Execution of this Commission by the Plaintiflfs is proved by
Mr. Taylor, and this Exhibit is in Parchment markt Com.
And thus the written Articles of Agreement were executed.

Chap. XIV. From the Time of sealing the Articles here in Lon-
don in May 1732, down to the End of the Year 1733.

Aug. 26.

An Order of Council, which does not directly make any
Proof in the Matter in question, otherwise than as a very
strong Precedent, (founded upon the present Lord Chancellor's
Opinion) that the Crown will not disturb ancient Possessions
or take Advantage of defective Titles in America. The Order
altogether is long, but the Case was. the Crown had ordered
Mr. Dunbar, the Surveyor General, to endeavour to form a
Colony or Settlement in a Part of New England, which seemed
to be unimproved, adjacent to Nova Scotia. Hereupon. Samuei
Waldo, Elisha Cook afid Sir Biby Lake,and others, petitioned
the King, and set up a Title thereto, and some Endeavour that
had been used to settle the same, and some Expences lavd out
therein, but that frequent Indian Wars had disturbed'them
and It came out, that the French had conquered that Territorym 1696. and that in the Year 1710, it was reconquered under
General Nicholson; and was afterwards ceded bv France to
Great Britain, by the Treaty of Utrecht : and the Matter be'in-
referred to the then Attorney and Sollicitor General (Yorke
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and Talbot), They reported, that some of the Petitioners had

Titles under'the Council of Plymouth, and others from Indians,

pretending to be Owners of the Land, under which large Sums

had been laid out, in endeavouring to settle and improve, and

tho" interrupted and defeated by frequent Wars and Incursions

of the Indians, yet. some of their Tenants appeared to be still

in Possession of some Parts of the said Land. The Attorney

and Sollicitor also reported. "That some Objections were made,

•• before them, to the Nature of the Grants andConveyances under

• which the Petitioners claimed, and to the Manner of deducing

•down their Titles, but they conceive that, in Questions of

•this kind, concerning Rights to Lands in the West Indies,

-and upon Enquiries of this Nature, the same Regularity and

•• Exactness is not be expected, as in private Suits, concerning

•Titles to Lands in England; but that, in these Cases, the

••princi})al Regard ought to be had to the Possession, and the

Expences the Parties have been at in endeavouring to settle and

•cultivate such Lands; Therefore, upon the whole Matter, they

•are of Opinion that the Petitioners, their Tenants or Agents,

•ought not to be disturbed in their Possession, or interrupted

in carrying on their Settlements, in the Lands granted to

•them, within the District in question.'" Thereupon the Lords

•of the Committee of Council also reported. "That they agreed

•in Opinion with his Majesty's Attorney and Sollicitor (jeneral

"(Inter alia) That the Petitioners, their Tenants or Agents,

•ought not to be disturbed in their Possession, or interrupted

• in carrying on their Settlements, in the Lands granted to them

within the District in question." And therefore advised the

King to revoke, and he accordingly, by his Order in Council

of this Date, did revoke, the Instructions which he had before

given on 27 April 1730, to the Governor of Nova Scotia, and the

Surveyor General, relating to the settling the .said Lands, and

ordered the Surveyor General to quit the Possssion of all the

said Lands. Original Order of Council under Privy Council

Seal, Co. Off. No. 26.

1732. Oct. 7.

Bargain and Sale enrolled, whereby William Penn the Grand-

son, conveyed his 5000/. Mortgage upon Pensilvania, unto Alex-

ander Forbes, for securing a Sum of 25007. which he borrowed

of him. The Deed proved by Paris.

Oct. 6, 7.

The Minutes of this Day's First Meeting of the Commission-

ers on both Sides at New-Town in Maryland, (as they were taken

and kept by the Pensilvania Commissioners.) In which, after

naming the Commissioners who were present, on both Sides,
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they go on in the like Words as that Minute set forth bv theDefendant in Fol. 456. in the Schedule to his Answer; wh ch
.s contamed in Fol. 2,5 .nd 26. of this Brief. This M nutetadditionally proved by Samuel Preston and James Steel, tl',of^ou^- Coixiuussioners. And is in the Pensilvania Exhibits.

Oct. 30. 31. Noo. 1. 2.

The Defendant in the Schedule to his Answer, at Fol 460 hasgiven us a very short imperfect xAlinute, return'd to him by his

onl'^'^'w,"''"'''
^"''.^' '' '' ^''''' ''''''''^ "P^^ "^« 30th of October

S^ r'D^I TTk "
l^'

following full Minutes of all thosefour Days, kept by our Commissioners, and proved by them,

Oct. 30.

and'IntL^^p'^''''^"'''''''"'''
appointed by Lord Baltimore,and all tl e

. Commissioners appointed by the Plaintiffs beiuL-met. on the 30th of October, at Newcastle, in order to proceedto mark out the Circle mentioned in the Agreement betweethe said Proprietors. The Lieutenant-Governor of Maryllndopening the Conference, declared, They were now me^^ to nr':

trt1ceo7;b a''^"'^'"'""*
Newcastle, mentioned in the"

I

Article of the Agreement, which he read ; and as, in that Articlethe Circle IS said to be the Circle mentioned in the Charter forPensilvania. and the Deed of Feoffment from the Duke of Yo ktwas necessary they should see that Charter and the Deed olFeofTment. The Commissioners of Pensilvania answere^l thathe Agreement fully recited the necessary Parts of the sa'dCharter and Deed, That the respective Commissions from tieProprietors enjoyn'd the Commissioners to execute the severalArticles agreed on, and that, as the Proprietors were mutuallvsatisfyed with the Recitals made in the Agreement! The CWm,s.sioners could want no further Satisfaction than was contamed „. these Recitals. But the Commissioners o? Ma" landinsisting upon their Demand, those of Pensilvania condescendedo send to Philadelphia for the Charter of Pensilvania andfor an Exemplifioaton of the Deed of FeofTment from theRecords of New York, where it was first entered, tL Originabeing in England. original

Oft. 31.

Present the same Commissioner... The Charter of Pensilvaniaunder the Great Seak with the Exemplification of the Duke 0'Wks Deed of Feoffment to Mr. Penn for the Circle atutNewcas le being brought from Philadelphia, th3 Commi" oner.s of Maryland desired Copies of the descriptive Pa t" oT "l"said Charter an.l Deed, wherein the said Circle was ment ne
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It was answered by those of Pensilvauia. That the said Charter

and Deed, with the Agreement between the Proprietors, being

All on the Board, the Recitals, in the Agreement, miglit be

now compared witli the others, by the Commissioners present,

and, if found to agree, they could not want any other Satisfac.

tion; and, being compared, they were found exactly to agree

verbatim, allowing for the Change of Words necessary in mak-

ing Recitals. The Commissioners of Maryland continued to

insist on Copies of the descriptive Parts, which, tho' repre-

.sented to be altogether unnecessary after tlie Satisfaction

already given them, were, notwithstanding, drawn out and

delivered to tliem, certifyed to be true copies of the said de-

scriptive parts under the hands of two of the Pensilvania Com-

missioners. It was then proposed that we should agree on a

Place of beginning for running tlie 12 Miles distance; upon

whicli much was sayd. And the Commissioners of Maryland

alledging They must further consider it, the Business was ad-

journed till 3 in the Afternoon.

The same Commissioners meeting in the Afternoon. Those

of Maryland questioned whether, by their Commission from

their Proprietor They had full Power to run the described

Circle? For, as there could be no Circle without a Center,

that Center must be first had ; but, it was no where directed

by the Articles or Commission ; and they conceived they had

no Power to make one. It was answer'd, that the Commis-

sioners, being impower'd and required to execute the Agree-

ment in that Part, they were impowered to do all Things neces-

sary to the Performance of it : For that it is a known Maxim

in Law that where a Thing is prescribed to be done, the Means

are, at the same time, prescribed. That, from NewtoAvn, the

Commissioners had adjourned to meet at Newcastle the 30th of

October in order to proceed to mark out the Circle; That the

Articles enjoyn'd the Business to be begun in the Month of

October, at furthest ; That this was the Afternoon of the last

Day of October, and yet, nothing was done to any Effect. Those

of Maryland answer'd, that every body must allow they had en-

ter'd on tlie Business : They were now upon it, and tliey should

all acknowledge, before any number of Witnesses, that they

had begun the Business; But, how to proceed is the Difficulty,

which appears such to them, as that they must further advise

on it. The Commissioners of Pensilvania declared themselves

fully impower'd, as they conceived, to do every thing necessary

to the full Execution of their Commission : and. to save time,

the Surveyors might be sent to measure the Town. The Com-
missioners of Maryland then proposed that the Company should

walk about the Town and view it; and accordingly the Com-
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To'v/r'th; Tor"
""''' -''''"''"' "" "-""- ™'^' -*

JVov. 1.

in Behalt ot the (gentlemen of that Pro-ince. declared thathavxuK advused both with Lawyers and MathematToh n on

as tlt^cCt': f "'trV^'^"^^^'
''''^' ^-^'-^ ^""-^ -^-*>-' that!as the Center for the Circle is not directed bv the Articles o^then- ConnnKssxon, They have no Power to make one; I., 'thatas his Lordship's Arrival in Maryland is every Day expectedthey thought It proper for them to applv to his Lord h pa;his eommg: and if he would direct them to find a f^e . e i^eywould readily ooey; To which it was answere<i that the Pro^pnetors.on both Parts, had absolutely concluded ai. A-.-eemeitn ful and clear Terms; That they had given full Powers totheir Commissioners on both Sides, to execute that Agre m ntAnd, the better to enable them, a printed Draft of ^he Workwas annexed m the Margin, both of the Articles and Comnds^

D ffiLuv^ThlTtr T
^^P'%-*^- -^ ^^^-tive in case :; anl

i^^ha Draf It n""
"' ^^^^^^^le was fairly marked out,

Julu ^ '

"^'^^^ ^'^"*''^' point in th^ Middle of it onwhich the Circle in the Draft was drawn: That it was ea; to

at h-Tt h!:;;?
^' ''

1 ''T
^'"^"^^^^ -''• Anothe; Ob e^Ln

ma i ; h t r-"" '

''"" ''" «n^'^->^tion of some Mathe-mahcan. that It ,s impracticable to draw anv true Cirde ofuch an Extent, in the Woods or Fields, being largely spokeo. the .overnor of Maryland continued to insist on t, ^htjthey had no Power to find any Center, for that if they fix onany, it may as probably, be wrong as right, and, i wron' itmay injure Men in their Property, which thev would avoidTherefore, they must first take the further Directions orthel;Lord Proprietor, and, for that End. desire we may ad ion rn forsame time, that they may have the Opportunity The Commiss.oners.of Maryland appearing fixed in this. ' the Cons^dTr'ation of It was referred to the Afternoon
"nsider-

The Commissioners meeting in the Aftenoon, those of iVnsilvania said that as they met here, fully prepared and resolvedto proceed to Business, the Proposal of an Adiournment was un'expected; and first they desired to know, to what Thiirthos;of Maryland desired the Adjournment should be made? Whichwhe, considered, might the better enable them to judge whethei-they could agree to it
;
the Gentlemen of Maryland ^lil that

'

unless It were hrst agreed to adjourn, it would be to no Purposeto propose a Time
;
and insisted, that those of Pensilvania shoufd30—Vol. XV.
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first agree to an Ajournment; which they declining, and rouch

bein<'' spoken to it, It was insisted, on the Part of Pensilvania,

that Minutes should be taken of what has past; which being

also largely spoke to, and those of Maryland persisting in it,

that all Minutes are unnecessary, further than to enter the

Meetings and Adjournment; that each Side might keep what

Minutes they pleased : The Commissioners of Pensilvania in-

sisted, that it was absolutely necessary, in the Execution of

all Commissions, to keep some Minutes, as a Register of the

Commissioners Proceedings, otherwise, how shall it appear,

what has l)een done in them? That they take this to be abso-

lutely necessary in the present Case, and must appear so, in

the Eyes of all Men of Understanding, acquainted with such

Affairs ; but those of Maryland declined to join in such Minutes,

and then, tliey proposed the first of February, for the Day of

Adjournment to meet at Newcastle. The Commissioners of

Pensilvania took till Morning to give their Answer, which is

in these Words; Gentlemen, You cannot but be sensible, that

after the Preparations made to proceed on the execution of our

Commissions, it cannot but be a Disappointment tons, to have

an Adjournment proposed to us; for, as the whole Articles,

clearly shewed the Proprietors on both Sides were fully re-

solved, in the most amicable manner, to have their mutual

Boundaries fixed, for which End, they had appointed us their

Commissioners to run the Lines they had agreed on, and it is

evident to us, and we are fully satisfied, that we have full

Power to execute them, which it is required should be done

with all the Fairness, Candour and Dispatch, that may be

reasonable; but as the Reason assigned for the Adjournment

is, the general Expectation of th3 Arrival of the Lord Balti-

more in some short Time in Maryland, whom you are desirous

further to consult, we have so very great Regard for that worthy

Nobleman, and so great an esteem of his Honour, that, on that

Consideration, alone, we agree to the Adjournment proposed;

viz. the first Day of February ensuing, then to meet at the

Town of Newcastle.

Nov. 2.

The Commissioners being met, those of Pensilvania said,

that, having considered the Adjournment proposed by the Gen-

tlemen of Maryland, they had come to a Conclusion thereupon ;

but as, at a former Meeting, they had strenuously insisted, that

Minutes of what had now past should be kept, they thought it

incumbent on them, to read at the Board the Minutes they had

taken, at the Close of which their Answer to the Adjournment

would appear; the Gentlemen of Maryland answering, that
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.thot-<*of Pensilvania. undoubtedly liad the Liberty to read what
Pai)er they pleased : the foregoing Minuter were read : The
Adjournment being thus agreed to, the Cxentleiiien of Maryland
were asked, whether they could object to the Trutli of these
Minutes? Their Governor answered, he had nothing to say to
any Minutes we should take: but the same Question iieing re-

l)eated. and an Answer pressed for, he said, the Arguments used
on their Part were not. in these Minutes, set in so strong a

Light, as he believed he could place them in. if he were to draw
the Minutes, and particularly observed that the Reasons he
had given, for insisting on a Sight of the Charter for Pensil-
vania, and Deed of Feoffment for Newcastle, were not taken
notice of: To which it was answered, that all Arguments were
designedly omitted : He then desired one of the Commissioners,
on the Part of Maryland, to read a Minute they had prepared,
which mentioning only that, in pursuance of their former Ad-
journment, the Commissioners had met at Newcastle, to run the
Circle, specified in the Agreement, and that, Diflficultes having
arisen touching the same, they had adjourned to the first Day
of February, was objected to by the Commissioners on the Part
of Pensilvania. as imperfect and unsatisfactory. The Governor
of M.iryland then producing a Paper, of some Notes he had
takeai. asked what the Gentlemen Df Pensilvania could say to
that? Which being read by him, was to this Effect, that five

of the Commissioners for Maryland, and all those for Pensil-
vania, being met. in pursuance of their Adjourrtment at New-
town, He, upon reading the second Article of Agreement, de-
sired a Sight of the Charter tor Pensilvania. and Deed o^ Feoff-
ment for Newcastle; that it had been argued by the Commis-
sioner*; on the Part of Pensilvania. that the Charter and Deed,
being recited in the Agreement, the Proprietors on both Parts
were bound l)y the said Recitals, whether true or false. This
being read, the Commissibners for Pensilvania immediately
objected thereto, and insisted that no such Words had ever
been used, by any of them, for it could not be supposed that
the Recitals drawn by Council, and mutually signed by the
Proprietors, could be false ; the Governor of Maryland said,
that, tho' these Words might not have been used, yet they
were consequential to what was said; and then, putting up the
Paper, without offering any other Minute, or an Amendment
to that, on the Objection made, and observing that, an Adjourn-
ment being agreed to, there was no occasion for further Disputes,
at this time; the Commissioners taking leave of each other'
parted.

The foregoing four Days Minutes are all upon one Paper, and
are proved by ISIessieurs Preston and Logan, and are the Pen.
silvania Exhibit marked Letter C.
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Jan. 26.

A Commission from John. Thomas and Richard Penii of thi?

Date, appointinj? (in their own Names) Major Gordon the

former Governor, to be Governor of the said Province of Pen-

silvania and Lower Counties. Newcastle Records, No. 11, Fol.

100.

Note,

They had before jjurchased a Release from their Father's

Heir at Law.

Feb. 1, 2, ?,.

Lord Baltimore in the Schedule to his Answer at Fol. 46n.

and the following Sheets (which are in Fol. 26. and 27. of thi.>^

Brief) has priven the Account of these Days Proceedings of the

( -ommissioners, in such manner as he says his Commissioners

returned the same to him ; But as they are very short and de-

fective, especially of all that past on the 3d of February (after

The pretended Disappointment for about an Hour on our Parts)

so we have Proof that one John Georges is dead, and we have

Proof that he swore to an Aflfidavit (made upon the 2Gth Day
of the same f>l)ruary) of what past on those Days; and our

present Witness also says, he believes that that Affidavit was

writ by the said John Georges: On which account, as a Paper

writ l)y a man since dead (though not as an affidavit) we hope

we may read it : And we have, the Copies of the Notices, duly

proved, whicli were served upon the Maryland Commissioners

upon the said 3(1 of February; which written Paper, and which

Notices, are as follows, viz:

John Georges of Philadelphia in the Province of Pensilvania

Gent, being solemnly sworn on the Holy Evangelists maketh
Oath, Tliat he was at Newcastle on Delaware the first Day of Feb-

ruary Instant, where he saw Samuel Ogle, Charles Calvert, Mat-

thew Tilghman Ward, Michael Howard, Benjamin Tasker and

Edmund Jennings of Maryland Esquires, and likewise Isaac

Norris, Samuel Preston, Andrew Hamilton, James Steel, and

Robert Charles of the Province of Pensilvania; That he un-

derstood these Gentlemen to be Commissioners appointed for the

Execution of certain Articles agreed upon by the Propretaries

of Pensilvania and Maryland, and had met together in the After-

noon of that Day. and likewise in the Forenoon and Afternoon

of the Day following, which was the 2d Current; That this

Deponent, in the Evening of that Day, being in Company with

the above named Gentlemen of Pensilvania, heard them make
great Complaints, of the Usage they received at the Hands of

the Commissioners of Maryland, in giving needless Delavs.

and raising unaccountable Objections to the Work then before
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them; That they particularly complained that, notwithstand-

ing they had repeatedly pressed the Commissioners of Maryland
to suffer a Clerk or Clerks to be present at their Meetings, and
take Minutes of what should pass between them, and had sup-

ported the Proposal by the very best and most solid Arguments
in their Power, yet those of Maryland persisted in a Hat Denial,

would allow no other Persons but the Commit^tsioners to be

present at the Meetings, nor would consent that the Proceedings

should be carried on in Writing; That the Connnissioners of

Maryland amused them, the Commissioners of Pensilvania, all

Day long, with a very strange Interpretation of the Cii'cle to

be described round Newcastle, as if the same was to contain
only twelve Miles in Circumference, instead of being described

with a Radius of twelve Miles; That it had been proposed, on
this Point, to consult the Mathematicians and Artists attend-

ing on both sides; and that a Question, stated by the Commis-
sioners of Maryland, though unfairly as was apprehended by

those of Pensilvania, had been offered ; That besides, as no Center
was directed by the Agreement, they questioned whether they

had any power to fix one And this Deponent saith, that next

day, being the 3d of this Instant February, he went, in the Morn-
ing, to the Lodgings of some of the Pensilvania Commissioners,
when he found they were all met together with their Artists,

and were reducing into Writing their Thoughts on the Dispute
then in Agitation touching the Circle, which they told this

Deponent they intended to deliver to the Commissioners of

Maryland, at their Meeting in the Forenoon: That this De-
ponent observed the Commissioners of Pensilvania to be in a

great hurry for finishing the same ; That three of the said

Commissioners, viz. Messieurs Norris, Preston and Steel, went
to the Court House of Newcastle, to meet the Commissioners of

Maryland, leaving Messieurs Hamilton and Charles with the

Artists; That this Deponent was sent to Mr. Steel, for a Paper
in his Custody ; That no sooner was the Paper, intended for

the Commissioners of Maryland, drawn up, and the sanje, Avith

a Copy thereof, duly compared by this Deponent, and the said

Commissioners setting out for the Court-House, but Mr. Norris,

returning, said, that Governor Ogle had taken it ill to have
Avaited so long, and had broke up the Meeting; Whereupon Mr.
Charles, with this Deponent in Company, went to Governor
Ogle's Lodgings,and there this Deponent heard Mr. Charles tell

the said Governor that it could not but surprize the Commis-
sioners of Pensilvania to find that they were gone from the Court
House; That probably it might. now-, be an Hour, or an hour and
half after the precise Time to which they stood .-uljourned ; but
could not believe that so s^mall a Delav could be internreted
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a Failure in Meeting?; since that, Yesterdaj-, the Commissioners

of Pensilvaiiiahad waited a lull Hour after the adjourned Time
for those of Maryland; and that they were now ready to wait

of them, and a good deal of Business might be transacted before

Dinner; To which Governor Ogle replied, that he could not

think of meeting the Commissioners of Pensilvania, till he had

consulted the Matter; for that, if any Advantage had arisen to

Lord Baltimore his Constituent by the said Failure, he the

said Mr. Ogle should think it imprudent to give it up; upon

which, Mr. Charles again pressed the Meeting, but the other

refused. This passed some time after 12 o'Cloekat Noon, and,

about an Hour thereafter, several of the Commissioners of Pen-

silvania, with this Deponent, went to the Lodgings of Gov-

ernor Ogle, to wait upon him and the rest of the Commissioners

for Maryland to Dinner, according to an Invitation given by

the Gentlemen of Pensilvania the Day before; That the Com-
missioners on both sides, and this Deponent, dined together,

at one Henry Newton's in the said Town of Newcastle; That,

about an Hour after Dinner, Mr. Ogle, with the rest of Lord

Baltimore's Commissioners, departed; That soon after, the

Commissioners on the side of Pensilvania, with this Deponent,

waited upon Mr. Ogle at his Lodgings, where were present two

otliers of the Maryland Commissioners, viz. the Honourable

Charles Calvert Esq; and Mr. Edmund Jennings; That Mr.

Norris began to make some Apologies for the Commissioners of

Pensilvania not meeting those of Maryland at the precise Hour
agreed upon; That the said Mr. Jennings retired from the Com-
pany, with a View, as this Deponent supposes, that there should

not be a Quorum of their side; The Reasons of the Failure of

Meeting, at the precise Time appointed, were told; and that

one chief Cause thereof was, that as the Conniiissioners of Mary-

land having, the Day before, objected something so very extra-

ordinary, concerning the Circle about Newcastle, that those on

the side of Pensilvania thought it proper to srive their Answer
thereto in AVriting, the drawing up of which occasioned their

not being precisely punctual tu Time; That this Deponent
having the Paper, containing those Answers, about him, signed

by five of the Commissioners for Pensilvania, with a Copy there-

of, he delivered it to Mr. Hamilton, who gave it into Mr. Ogle's

Hands, That Mr. Ogle looked at the Beginning and the End
of it. and offered it back again to Mr. Hamilton: but he refus-

ing to take it, Mr. Ogle threw it carelesjy down upon c\ Chair

near hiui, and said that they were not then a (Quorum, and

therefore, could not enter upon any Biisiness; That Mr. Ham-
ilton said the Commissioners of Pensilvania were now ready

and would meet those of Mavland, either in the Court-House,
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or at any other place, where they wouKi appoint: That MrOgle insisted, that as they had failed in Point of Time in theMornmo;, lie shouhl not thi.ik himself obliged to appoint any
other Meeting; and.as the Aflair between the two Proprietors ofMaryland and Pensilvania was of very great consequence, that
It any Benefit should accrue to his Constituent bv such Failure
thiit he could not answer it, either to Lord Baltimore or him-
self, If he did not take the Advantage of it. That, thereupon
Mr. Hamilton observed that, if he imagined the Failure of an
llour,or an Hour and a half.eould be understood as a v,ilful De-
sign to break up their Meeting, that he would most certainly find
himself greatly mistaken: for that, in all Cases. where Commis-
sioners are appointed to transact any AfTairs, the Dehiy of an

-
Hour, or two, or three, or more, is of littleor no Signification •

lor that, though anyone particular Hour might be appointed'
yet. If they met at anytime in that Day it would be sufficient'
and that it was an adjudged Rule, in the Books of Law that
Commissioners on one side were obliged to wait for tho«e of
the other from Nine o'Clock in the Morning till Six in the
Evening. Mr. Hamilton, likewise, observed that it was verv
extraordinary they should .so rigidly insist upon the Failure o>
so small a Space of Time, when they very well knew that at
their former Meetings at Newtown, and the said Town of New-
castle, sometime in October last,many Delavs w^ere occasioned
on their side; at Newtown especially, that the Articles of
Agreement Avere objected to, because some of Mr. Penn's Family
did not sign them

;
That it was made appear, thev were signed

l>y all the necessary Persons concerned : and that the rest of the
Commissioners were satisfied in that Point, when, at last Mr
Ogle gave it up, but with a Reserve, for that time only ; and that
upon their meeting afterwards at Newcastle, pursuant to their
Adjournment at Newtown, other Difficulties were started ; For
notwithstanding that, in the Articles of Agreement, Recitals
of all the Grants and Deeds necessary were made, vet', they in-
sisted upon seeing the originals, in Compliance to ^vhich the
Commissioners of Pensilvania sent up one of their Number to
Philadelphia, to bring down the same, which occasioned a
Delay of one Day, at least ; That, when those Originals were
produced, and found to "be agreeable to the respective Recite-
ments. they further insisted to have Copies thereof, or such
Parts thereof as tliey thought necessary, which was likewi.se
comjilied with; Mr. Hamilton further mentioned that Mr. O^^le
might very well remember, that it was the Opinion of the Gen-
tlemen of Pensilvania that a Clerk or Clerks should be ap-
pointed to take Minutes of the Proceedines of the Commission
ers on both side.s, that their Transactions uiight appear, which
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the Gentlemen of Maryland would not agree to; That it was

then proposed by the Coniiuissioners of Pensilvania that each

Side should take their own Minutes, and exchange them signed,

but that was also refused on the side of Maryland ; That, from

such Proceedings:, Mr. Hamilton said, he could not help ob-

serving that it appeared to him that the Gentlemen of Mary-

land were not inclined to execute the Articles with such Fair-

ness, Candour and Dispatch as is therein reconnnended. Mr.

Ogle replied that as he knew little or nothing of the Law, he

desired to be excused from entring into an Argument with

one of that Profession : A Meeting of the Cojnmissioners being

again pressed by those of Pensilvania, and refused on the side

of Maryland, Mr. Charles read a Notice of Meeting at the Court-

House of the said Town of Newcastle at Six of the Clock that

Evening, which Mr. Ogle refused to take notice of, but it was

left with him, and the Commissioners of Pensilvania attended

at the said Court-House from Six of the Clock till some time

after Eight, this Deponent being with them all the while;

but as the Commissioners of Maryland did not come there, it was

thought proper to give them fresh Notice of meeting on the

Monday following, at Ten o'Clock in the Forenoon; and that

the Deponent waited upon Mr. Ogle at his Lodgings, between

the Hours of Nine and Ten in the Evening, and acquainted him

that one of the Commissioners on the side of Pensilvania was

there, with a Message to deliver him from the rest; That Mr.

Ogle answered, it was an unseasonaijle Time, and would receive

no Messages, that he did not choose to say an uncivil thing to

any Gentleman, and therefore desired to be excused from ad-

mitting him; That thougli Mr. Ogle would not suffer that Com-
missioner to wait upon him, yet the Notice of Meeting, at Ten

o'clock, on the Monday following, as above mentioned, was

(as this Deponent was informed) served upon four of the Com-
missioners for Maryland, that same Night, but, instead of pay-

ing any regard thereto, all the Commissioners for Maryland set

out from Newcastle the next Day, being Sunday. This De-

ponent thinks proper to observe, that though what he has above

deposed may not be delivered in the same Words, nor in the

same Order, in which they passed ; yet, that the several Deposi-

tions are strictly true, and as nearly in tlie same Words and

Order as his Memory can furnish him with, and further this

Deponant saith not. Sworn before the Mayor of Philadelphia

the 26th of the same February 1732.

Mr. Hasell the Mayor of Philadelphia not only proves that

Mr. Georges swore to the foregoing Affidavit before him, but

he also adds, he believes the said Affidavit was writ by the

said Georges, and it makes the Pensilvania Exhibit markt Q. q.
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1732, Feb. 3.

The following is a very sensible and material Paper, which

our Commissioners delivered to Mr. Ogle upon this Day, in

Writing, in answer to the pretended Doubts about the Center

and Dimensions of the Circle, viz.

The Commissioners on the Part of Maryland having made
two Objections against running the Circle, or Part of a Circle,

about the Town of Newcastle, as directed by the Agreement
made between the Proprietaries of Pensilvania and Maryland.

1. For that there being no Center fixed, or agreed upon by the

said Proprietors, from whence the said Circle shall be drawn,

they conceive they have no Power to make a Center, and

therefore are not warranted by their Commissions to run the

said Circle. 2dly, For that the Deed of Bargain and Sale,

or Feoffment, from the late Duke of York, to the late William
Penn Esq : the elder, for the Town of Newcastle, and the Lands
about the same, being expressed in these Words, to wit, All

that the Town of Newcastle otherwise called Delaware, and all

that Tract of Land lying within the Compass or Circle of twelve

Miles about the same, scituate lying and being upon the River

Delaware in America, the said Commissioners for Maryland do
object. That the Circumference or Periphery of that Circle is

to be twelve Miles, which they say will make a Diameter scarce

four Miles, or at most, it will but make a Diameter of twelve
Miles; so that the Radius of the Circle to be run by the present

Agreement about the Town of Newcastle will be but six Miles at

most, and that the Words in the Articles of Agreement and Com-
missions, which direct that the Circle shall be at tlie Distance
of twelve English Statute Miles from the Town of Newcastle, are
either superfluous, or are contradictory to the Description in the
Deed of Feoffment, and therefore, void in themselves. To
which Objections, the Commissioners on the Part of Pensilva-
nia, answer, that they conceive the Connnissioners on both
sides, being empowered and directed by their Commissions, in

pursuance and in part performance of the said Articles of Agree-
ment, to draw and mark out the said Circle mentioned in the
Charter of Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoff-

ment of Newcastle, or so much thereof as shall be requisite, at
twelve Miles Distance from the Town of Newcastle, which
twelve Miles shall be twelve English Statute Miles, and, to do
every thing necessary for running the same accordingly, and
that the Words in the said Deed, as well as the Words in the
said Articles of Agreement and the several f^ommissions from
the respective Proprietors to their Commissioners, contains
such a Certainty, as will well warrant the Commissioners to
proceed in drawing and marking out the said Circle, or so
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much thereof as shail be thought requisite. As to the second
Objection, The Commissioners of Pensilvania are of opinion,

that it is not from the Words of the before mentioned Deed,
only, that the Radius of the said Circle is to be judged of or

measured, but, likewise, from the Charter of Pensilvania, and
the Grant of the late Duke of York to William Penn Esq; the

Elder, for that Tract of Land upon Delaware River and Bay,
now called by the Names of Sussex, Kent, and Part of New-
castle County. And, if any Doubt could arise, upon the

Words of the Deed of Bargain and Sale for the Town of New-
castle, &c. concerning the Radius of the Circle of twelve Miles

about the said Town, we conceive it is fully explained, cleared

up, and reduced to a Certainty, by the aforesaid Charter and
Deeds; for, it is to be observed, that, as the Town of Newcastle
and the twelve Miles round the same, was originally appro-
[)riated by the said late Duke of Y'ork for certain Purposes,

before he granted the same to the said William Penn, so. King
Charles the Second, when he granted the Province of Pensilva-

nia, took care not to encroach upon that Circle, but begins the

Bounds of the said Province from twelve Miles distant North-
ward of Newcastle Town. Thus, by the King's Grant of the

Province of Pensilvania, we see, that he understood the Peri-

phery or Circumference of the Circle about the Town of New-
castle to be twelve Miles distant from the same. It is further

observable that, by the Grant of the said late Duke of York to

the said late William Penn the Elder, of that Tract of Land
now containing Sussex. Kent and Part of Newcastle County, the

said Duke, who was at the Time of making the said Grant. Owner
of both the said Town of Newcastle and the twelve Miles round
the same, and also of the said Tract of Land lying on the River

and Bay of Delaware, understood the Circumference of the said

Circle to be at the Distance of twelve Miles from the Town of

Newcastle, and, accordingly, describes the Bounds of the said

Tract of Land as lying on Delaware River and Bay, and begin-

ning twelve Miles South from theTown of Newcastle and extend-

ing South to Cape Henlopen,&c. From all which, we conceive,

it is most evident that the Circumference of the Circle about
the Town of Newcastle is twelve Miles distance from the same,

for so it appears King Charles the Second, who was the ori-

ginal Granter, understood it, when he bounded the Province of

Pensilvania at the Distance of twelve ]\riles North of the Town
of Newcastle : And the said late Duke of Y^^rk, who was Owner
of all the Land to the Southward of Pensilvania as far .as Cape
Henlopen. and had the unquestionable Right to declare the

Meaning of his own Grant, he has declared how he understood

the Extent of that Circle, by beginning his Grant of the Lands
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lying on Delaware and to the Southward of the said Town of
Newcastle at twelve Miles Distance from the same. But, were
It possible, after Consideration had of the said Charter and
Deeds, tor any Person to be in doubt, about the Extent of the
said Circle, or Part of the Circle, now to be markt out by the
Commissioners, we, on the Part of Pensilvania, are clearly of
opinion that the Proprietors of both Provinces, who are the
sole Owners of all the Lands lying between the Bay of Chesa-
peak and the River Susquehanna to the Westward, and the Bay
and River of Delaware to the Eastward, have, as they had an
undoubted Right to do. in most full and express Terms, removed
that Doubt, by the second Article of their Agreement, where they
say. that there shall be the said Circle mentioned in the said
Charier tor Pensilvania and Deed of Bargain and Sale or Feoff-
ment of ISewcastle (or so much thereof as is requisite) drawn
and marked out at the twelve Miles Distance from the Town of
Newcastle, which twelve Miles shall be twelve English Statute
Mile.. And as to the Objection, that so much of this Article
as directs the Circle to be at twelve Miles distance from the
1 own of Newcastle is superflous, or contradictory to the Deeds
of Feoffment aforesaid, and, therefore, void in itself, we do
not conceive it deserves any other Answer than to say, that
this Article is neither superfluous nor contradictory, but a plain
Declaration of what has been always understood" to be meant
by twelve Miles about the Town of- Newcastle; And that the
Proprietors of Maryland and Pensilvania had, undoubtly -i

good Right to divide their own Lands in such manner as thev
thought fit

.
And they have, accordingly, agreed that the Circle

about the Town of Newcastle shall be drawn and markt out at
tlie Distance of twelve English Statute Miles from the said
Town, and the (Jommissioners on the Part of Pensilvania arenow ready, and offer themselves to proceed to the drawing and
marking out the same accordingly.

Note.

_^My Lord Baltimore in the Schedule to his Answer, at Fol
073, admits that the foregoing Paper was delivered to his Com-
missioners, at another time, viz. upon 4 September 1733.
The foregoing Paper is proved by Messieurs Logan. Preston

Steel and Taylor, and is the Pensilvania Exhibit markt E
Note.

It comes out in Evidence, that there was one verbal Request
this Day, to meet before Dinner, and another verbal Request
to meet, after Dinner, but. those being refused.

1732, Feb. 3.

A signed Notice, by four of our Commissioners, directed to
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the Lord Baltimore's Comnjissionero; That the Commissioners

having agreed to meet at Newcastle, at Ten, or Eleven, o'clock

in the Forenoon of the 3d Instant, but, by reason of Indisposi-

tion, a quorum of our Number not appearing at the precise

Hour; We do now give you the Commissioners on the part of

Maryland Notice, that we will meet you at the Court-house, in

this Town of Newcastle, at Six o'Clock this Afternoon. This

is proved by Messrs. Logan ancj Preston, and is the Pensilva-

nia Exhibit B. No. 1.

This produced no Meeting, neither.

Feb. 3.

Another signed Notice, by four of our Commissioners, di-

rected to Mr. Ogle, and which was served (tho' he refused to

be seen) upon four others of the Maryland Commissioners, That

since you have declined meeting us this Afternoon at the Court-

house, pursuant to the Notice given you, we judge it necessary

to give you further Notice, that we will continue here till

Monday the 5th Currant, in order to meet you at Ten of the

Clock in the Forenoon of that Day, at the said Court-house,

there jointly to proceed to the Execution of our respective Com-

missions, which we on our parts have declared ourselves ready

to do, as from the Paper signed by us, and this Day delivered

by one of our Number into your Hands, may fully and clearly

appear. This Paper is spoke to by Messrs. Logan and Prest'^n,

and is the Pensilva.nia Exhibit markt B. No 2.

Instead of meeting on the Monday, the Maryland Commis-

sioners left the Town, and went back to Maryland, on the

Sunday.

Feb. 15.

Is the Date of Lord Baltimore's Letter to the Governor of

Pensilvania, reviving the Meetings, and appointing one at Jop-

pa; which we have particularly charged at Fol. 304, in our

Bill: and the Defendant has expressly admitted it in Fol. 316.

of his Answer, which we must refer to; for we have it not tu

produce, nor are we bound to produce it, it being my Lord's

Letter to Major Gordon, who is proved to be dead.

Notwithstanding that Notice from my Lord Baltimore him-

self that the Commissioners should meet at Joppa on the 7th

of May, we shall see what my Lord himself and his Commis

sioners did, in Maryland, in the meantime; he himself being

then there.

For we have proved by the Reverend Mr. Hugh Jones of

Maryland, a Copy of the following Letter which Governor Ogle

wrote to him, and which he sent to another Person.
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1732, Mar. 8.

To the Rev. Mr. Jones in Cecil County, These. Annapolis

Mar. 8, 1732. Sir. 1 send you this, on purpose to desire you

not to fail l>eing here at the Meetinjj of our Assembly, having

several Thintrs to communicate to you in relation to his Lord-

ships' Intere.st. which cannot well be brought into the Com-
pass of a Letter; However, I can't, in the mean time help

giving myself the Pleasure of acquainting you that we are not

at all sorry at the unreasonable Behaviour of tlie (lommission-

ers for Pensilvania, in refusing to run out the Circle about New-
castle, as mentioned in their jiretended Deed of Feoflfraent;

For, altho' that would he only at about two Miles Distance

from Newcastle, yet, it is what I believe, they would be glad

to get hereafter; m\' Lord having, now, the most reasonable

Hopes that can be of getting every Inch of the three lower

Clounties, which are so indisputably his Right. This, to tell

you my thoughts freely, will be the greatest Happiness that

can be to the present Tenants, however they juay have been

deceived by artful People; His Lordship being determined to

let such of them, as behave well to his Lordshio, enjoy the

Land they hold, without exacting any thing of them, either

for arrears of Rent, or any other Cause whatsoever besides the

ordinary Conditions of Plantations, which you know comes
but to a Trifle. lam Sir Your assured Friend and humble Ser-

vant Sam. Ogle.

This Letter has the following Underwriting " I attest that

this is a true Copy of a Letter lately sent, by Express, from
his Excellency the Governor to me. H. Jones.

This Letter has an Endorsement thereon thus "To Mr. Lloydi

"Mar. 17, 1732. Sir, 'Tis a great Satisfaction to me, that ray

"Lord Baltimore will condescend to the Particulars of this

"Letter; I communicate it to you, to shew anj' of your Friends

"that may have any Interest therein, and am. Sir, Y'our's. H.

"Jones.

THf^ foregoing Copy of a Letter is proved by Hugh Jones
Clerk of Maryland, and is the Pensilvania Exhibit in a marbled
Cover, No. 2.

Note.

This was todrawoflfour Tenants, while my Lord himself had
writ to appoint a new Meeting at Joppa, and the Original

hereof was writ by his Governor and first Commissioner Mr.

Ogle.

But, lest this should not be quite plain enough, nor quite

publick enough, we have also proved the following printed
Advertisement.
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Mar. 21.

"Annapolis. Mar. 21, 1732. By Order of the Right Honour-

•able die Lord Proprietor. To all Persons whom it may con-

"cern, All Takers-up of Land within the Province of Maryland,

"who may pretend to hold them by virtue of any (irants or Pat-

"ents, not deriving the same from the present Proprietor or his

"Ancestors, will be intitled to no Benefit thereby, unless they

"make speedy Applieatioti to Matthew Tilghman Ward Esq;

"Agent for the Proprietor. Sign'd by Order, John Ross Dep.

" Agent.

This also is proved by Hugh Jones of Maryhuid Clerk, and

is the Pensilvania Exhibit in a marbled Cover, markt No 1.

and was, by my Lord's own Order, posted up on the Borders

of the Three lower Counties.

So that, while my Lord, himself, had appointed the new-

Meetings of the Commissioners at Joppa, an»i was himself in

Maryland, here were written, and printed. Invitations and

Threats, to draw of our Tenants, and they were to apply to Mr.

Ward, another of my Lord's Commissioners. And these last

printed Papers are proved to have been stuck up on the Borders

of the Three Lower Counties by my Lord Baltimore's own

Orders.

1733, Mar. 28.

The Notice signed by all the Pensilvania Commissioners, and

served personally upon six of JLord Baltimore's Commissioners

in Maryland, viz.

Gentlemen. Five of us. the underwritten Commissioners ap-

pointed by virtue of a Commission from the Honourable the

Proprietaries of Pensilvania. for executing certain Articles of

Agreement concluded between them and the Right Honourable

Charles Lord Baltimore, Proprietor of the Province of Mary-

land, touching the Limits of the said Provinces and Counties

of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, having met the like

Number of you, the Commissioners appointed by the .said Lord

Baltimore, at Newcastle, on the first Day of February last, pur-

suant to our former joint Adjournment, and continued together

till the 3d Day of the same Month, when, from a pretended Fail-

ure by reason of a Quorum of us not appearing at the precise

Hour in the Forenoon of that Day. to which we stood adjourned,

you thought fit to withdraw yourselves from the Court-house of

the said Town of Newcastle, the Place of our Meeting, and, not-

withstanding you. and we, met together, several times, after-

wards, in the same Day, yet, insisting on that supposed Fail-

ure, you refused, as Commissioners, to join Avith us. in the

Execution of our respectiv? Commissions, by which Refusal.
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we were obliged to serve you with Notice to meet us the same
Evening, at six o'Ciock, at the Court-house of .Newcastle afore-
said, which you neglecting to do, we, the same Evening, again
served a Quorum of you (Access being denied us, to others of
your .Number) with x\otices to meet us at the Place aioresaid
on Monday the oth Day of the said Month ; which, likewise
you thought tit so little to regard, that, leaving .Xewcastle the
I)ay betore you again neglected to meet us at the Tiuie and
Place, by the said .Notices appointed But we tl»e underwritten
Commissioners, notwithstanding the Disregard shewed to ourformer Notices, being still willing to proceed on the Business-
which now lies before the Commissioners jointly, (viz ) the
Execution of the second Article of the said Agreement, whichfollows m these Words. "That there shall be the said Circle
••mentioned in the said Charter for Pensilvania, and Deed ofBargain and Sale or Feoffment of Newcastle (or so much there-
'of as IS requisite) drawn and markt out at the 12 Miles Dis

r?""?- u™""
^^^ '^'''''" ''*' ^'^^^^stle, which 12 Miles shalfbe 12English statute Miles") Do hereby give you. and each of vou

Notice, That we or a sufficient Quorum of us, will attend aithe said Town of Newcastle on Delaware (which bv the jointConsent of the Commissioners on both Sides, hath been acknow-
ledged to be the only Place proper for beginning the Business

.
immediately before us, on the 16th Day of April next ensuing
there to meet and join with you, agreeable to the Directions
of our respective Commissions, in proceeding to draw and markout the said Circle accordingly. Wven under our Hands atPhiladephia the 2«th Day of March 1733.
The foregoing Paper is proved by Messrs. Logan and Prestonwho signed, and by William Biddle who serv'd it; and is th^

Pensilvania Exhibit markt B. No. 5.

May 7.

The written Question from the Maryland Commissioners,
whether the Pensilvania Commissioners, would run out any
Circle, other t^an at 12 Miles Distance"^ And the Pensilvania
Answer, that they conceived themselves directed to run no otherthan that in the Articles, which they mention s erbatim This
is proved by Messrs. Preston. Logan and Steel, and is exactlv
asset forth by the Schedule to the Defendant's Answer at Fof
532. 533. The Original is Pensilvania Exhibit markt Letter h"
May 8.

The Pensilvania Commissioners written Proposal, and theMaryland Answer of this Date, are set forth in Fol 536 ofthe Defendant's Answer. The Orginals are proved bv MessrsLogan, Preston and Steele, and are the Pensilvania Exhibitmarkt 1.
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May 8.

The Maryland (/Oininissioners written proposal and the Pen-

si Ivania Answer, of this Date, are set forth in 540. of the De-

fendants answer. The Originals are proved by Messrs. Logan,

Preston and Steele, and are the Pensilvania Exhibit markt J.

May y.

The written Minute of Adjournment from Joppa is set forth

in the Defendant's Answer, Fol. 543. The Original is jjroved

by Messrs. Logan, Preston and Steel, and is markt K.

May 2(i.

The written Minute of this Day is set forth in Fol. 550. of the

Defendant's Answer. The Original is proved by Messrs. Logan,

Preston and Steel, and is markt L.

Aug. 2.
'

An Order of the King in Council, made upon the Petition of

the now Plaintiffs, John. Thomas and Richard Penn, and upon

a Report from the Counnittee of (Council dated the 1st of Au-

gust; taking Notice that they had delivered to the Lords of

Trade a Declaration under their Hands and Seals, in the usual

Form, for saving the Right claimed by the ('rown to the three

Lower Counties; whereby his Majesty apT)roved of the said

Patrick Gordon to be Deputy Governor of Pensilvania without

Limitation of Time, and of the said Counties during his Pleas-

ure only; provided he qualified himself according to Law. and

gave 2000/. Security before the Lieutenant-Governor of Virginia

for oV)serving the Acts of Trade. This Exhibit is Co. Off. No
27.

]SfOTK—This Order of Council is also entred in Newcastle

Records, No. 11. Fol. 102.

Hept. 3.

The Pensilvania Demand, of this Date, is set forth in the

Defendant's Answer Fol. 553. The Original is proved by Messrs.

Logan, Preston and Steel, and is Pensilvania Exhibit. Letter M.

^ept. 4.

The Maryland Answer thereto of thi-. Date, is set forth in the

Defendant's Answer Fol. 556. The Original is proved by Messrs.

Logan, Preston and Steel, and is in Pensilvania Exhibits, Letter*

N.

fiept. 4.

The Pensilvania Paper of this Date, is set forth in the De-

fendant's Answer Fol. 563. The Original is proved by the same

three, and is in the Pensilvania Exhibits. Letter O.

^ept. 5.

The Marvland Answer of this Date, is set forth in the Defend-
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ant's Answer Fol. 58S Tho n-,-, • 1 •

three, and i. .„ ^U.'kJlZr^I'^I^Z ZZt^ ^^
''' ^™'

Sept. 6.

not. The cop,, i. se/'S^fr^r'Sre^Vr.ftr^PoraM
E'hiSrLet;:^^'^'' "^ "=-- "-- -^ '^ '- P-nv-'a

-Sejo^. 6.

The Marviand Answer thprut/-. fu

-Sep^. 6.

The Maryland Demand whethpr ih^ -Or.^ -i • ^
sioners will run no other CiTcleVThln.'Ti^ ^°"^°^^'-

fendanfs Answer Fol 598 Th' o ?-^-' '' '"^ ^"'^^ ^" ^^-
+V, -r,

^"''^'^'^ ^oi- 0J8-
-^ he Original is proved bv the sflTTiPthree Persons, and is in the Pensilvania Exhibits; Letter R

Sept. 6.

The Pensilvania Answer that t^u^r, ^ i^.

-^ Ti
"^^ -^""^ '^ -• '°* -^ t^BSe-nk^^t-rArswrpT

Sept. 6.

roT,v'tf
"""'/^^ Adjournment to the 14th of November TheCopy thereof is set forth in the Defendant's Answer Fol 601and the Original is proved by the same three Persons inHin the Pensilvania Exhibits, Letter U.

'
^"'^ ''

Nov. 14.

From the Newcastle Records, an Entry ^ecorded there of aTestimonial given by Mr. Gooch the Lieutenant-Governor o^Virginia, under the Great Seal of that Colony tW pT ,Gordon had taken the Oaths, subscribed the Test t lTOath Of Omce and given .000. Bond 'L' oltrJe" h Tcts'ofTrade, before him. Newcastle Records, No 11. Fol. 103

Nov. 16.

The Maryland Paper of Proposals at Newcastle, to go awavto Cape Hin open to run the East and West Line there TheCopy IS set forth in the Defendant's Answer. Fol. 606 and TheOriginal is proved by Messrs. Logan, Preston and Steel and

t

lu the Pensilvania Exhibits, Letter W.
31— Vol. XV.
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Nov. 17.

The Pensilvania long Answer theretu. recapitulating the

several Instances of Chicanery which had been used by the

Maryland Commissioners. The Copy is set forth in the De-

fendant's Answer Fol. 609. and the Original is proved by the

same three Persons, and is in the Pensilvania Exhibits, Letter

X.

Not. 19.

The Maryland long Answer thereto, pretending that there

were no Minutes taken to justify what was therein contained,

(which was one of the Objections all along that they refused

to let Minutes be taken) and telling them plainly they must

either continue at Newcastle without running the Circle, or

else depart without Adjournment. The Copy is set forth in

the Defendant's Answer, only with some Mistakes in the Copy-

ing made by the Clerk, Fol. 635. and the Original is proved by

the same three Persons, and is in the Pensilvania Exhibits

markt Letter Y.

Nov. 20.

The Pensilvania long Reply thereto is set forth in the De-

fendant's Answer Fol. 671. The Original thereof is proved by

the same three Persons, and is in the Pensilvania Exhibits

markt Letter Z.

N<v. 22.

The Maryland Paper then delivered. It is set forth in the

Defendant's Answer Fol. 703. And the Original thereof is

proved by the same three Persons, and is in the Pensilvania

Exhibits markt Letter Z a.

Nov. 33.

The Pensilvania Answer thereto is set forth in the Defend-

ant's Answer Fol. 716. and the Original is proved by the same

three Persons, and is in the Pensilvania Exhibits markt Letters

Z h.

Nor. 24.

The Parting Minute, signed by the Commissioners on both

sides, declaring their Difference in Judgment to be, whether

tlie Circle was to be 2. or 12 Miles distant from Newcastle,

and then breaking up without further Adjournment. The full

Pnri)()rt of this is set out in our own Bill Fol. 347. It is again

set out, verbatim, at Fol. 3.38. in the Body of the Defendant's

Answer, and also at Fol. 726. in the Schedule to his Answer.

The Oriirinnl is proved by Messrs. Logan and Preston, and is

in the Pensilvania Exhibits markt Letters Z c.
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Jan. 10.

A Report then made by all the seven Pensilvania Commis-
sioners to their Proprietors, and then signed, and afterwards

sworn and affirmed to by them, mi Pensilvania. containing; in

it a Minute Relation of all that had nast from day to day.

between the Commissioners on both sides, and also containing:

Copys, at full length of all tlie foregoing Papers which past,

between them; and which Paper (as some of those Commis-
sioners are since dead) we have i^roved to have been sierned and

sworn to l)y all the seven Commissioners, by Messrs. Logan,

Preston; Hamilton and (-frjeme. It is, of itself, a large Book,

under the Great Seal of Pensilvania, niarkt A.

But as others of the Commissioners are still living, and have,

in this (^anse, given P^vidence to the same Facts, and proved

the Coi)ies of the same Papers exchanged between the Commis-
sioner on each side, I would not again incumber you with that

Heap of Matter.

Only this. That in Fol. 2(). and 27. of this Report, they have

inserted the Body of my Lord Baltimore's Letter of 15 Feb. to

revive the Meetings of the Commissioners, and appointing the

Meeting at Joppa for the 7th of May, of which at present we
have no other Copv.

Chap. XV. From Christmas 1733. to the Time offiling the present

Bill in Jnne 1735.

1734, Aug. 8.

The now Defendant's Petition to the King in Council, wherein

he states the Charter for Maryland, and that liis Ancestors,

pursuant to tlie Design of the said Charter, with great Charge

and Difficulty proceeded to cultivate and settle such Part of

the Country so granted, as the Nature thereof would admit,

intending, by Degrees, to make a compleat Settlement of the

whole. '"That it appears by an Order of Council of the 4th of

'•April 1638, that Captain William Clayi)orne, on the Behalf of

"himself and Partners, having presented a Petition to his late

"Majesty, King Charles the First, shewing that, by a Commis-
"sion from his Majesty, they had planted upon an Island in

"the Great Bay of Chesepeak in Virginia, named the Isle of

"Kent, and others Places therein mentioned, and bestowed

"great Charges thereon, and that tlie Lord Baltimore had ol)-

"tained a Patent from his said Majesty, comprehending the

"said Island and Places, within the Limits thereof, they thereby

"prayed a Grant of Confirmation of the said Island and
"Places to the said Petitioners; and the Matter of the said
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'• Petition being referred to the then Lord Archbishop of Canter-

'•bury, the Lord Keeper, Lord Privy Seal, and others, and it

"appearing that the said Isle of Kent was within the said Lord

"Baltimore's Patent, and it appearing also, by an Order of

"Council of the M of July 1033, that the Right and Title to

"the said Isle of Kent, and other Places in (Question, had been

"resolved and declared absolutely tu belong to the Lord Bal-

"timore, their Lordships declared, that no Grant should pass

"to the said Clayborne or any others of the said Isle of Kent,

"or other Places within the said Patent." That the Petitioner

conceives, from the said Order of Council, and from the Body
of the Patent, (which hath no restrictive Words of hactenus

inenlta) that all Lands, within the Limits of the said Patent,

did pass to the Lord Baltimore; but finds that, pursuant to an

Order of (^louncil dated the 31st May 1G83. the Lords of the Com-
mittee for Trade and Plantations, auiongst other Things, re-

ported that the Liind intended to be granted by the Lord Balti-

more's Patent, was only Land uncultivated and inhabited by

Savages, and that Part of the said Land called Delaware was in-

habited by Christians, at and before the Date of the Patent,

[Here, in pretending to set out thih Order, he only leaves out

these essential Words, viz. As it hath been ever since to this

Time, and continued as a distinct Colony from that of Maryland]

and were, therefore, of Opinion that the Tract of Land lying be-

tween the River and the Eastern Sea on the one Side, and Cheso-

peake Hay on the other, sliould l>e divide into equal Parts. by a

Line from the Latitude of Cape Hinlopen to the 4()th Degree of

Northern Latitude, and that one Half thereof, lying towards

the Bay of Delaware and the Eastern Sea, should be adjudged

to belong to his then Majesty, and that the other Half should re-

main to the Lord Baltimore, as comprized within his Charter,

which was accordingly ordered by his said Majesty King James

the Second by Order of Council of 7th November 168.1 But the

Petitioner shews, that if any Part of the said Tiact of Land
mentioned in the said Report was inhabited at the Time of the

said Patent, by any Christians, yet, they were not Subjects of

the Crown of England, but Swedes and Dutchmen, or the Sub-

jects of Foreign Nations. That, as the whole of that Part of

the said Peninsula is plainly described within the Limits of

the said Orant to the Petitioners's said Ancestors under whom
he claims, so he conceives the same was intended to pass, and

did pass, by the said Charter: in regard the chief Design thereof

was to enlarire and extend the English Empire and Domin-
ion, and, therefore, in the Body of the said Charter all that

Part of the said Peninsula, comprized within the Limits therein

delineated, is granted, without any Qualification or Restric-
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tion, of the paid Words hactenus rnfyiilta mentioned in the

Recital of the said Charter. That, alt ho' the said Order of

Kin^r James cannot lejjally infringe the Rights of the said

Charter, yet, the same may hereafter create Doubts, and occa-

sion the Petitioner's Right, to the Lands therein njentioned
to be drawn in question, and thereby create great Expence to

the Petitioner ; but the Petitioner prays the King not to inter-

pret the said Words hactemis inculta, in a Sense exclusive of

any Part of the said Peninsula lying within the Limits of the
said Charter, altho' some very small Parts thereof should, at

the Date tliereof. happen to have been inhabited by the SuIj-

jeets of Foreign Powers; and that, in regard the Petitioner's

Ancestors had bfen at great Expence and Hazard, to settle and
plant that Part of the said Peninsula, described within the

Limits of the said Charter, and to extend the Empire and Do-
minion of the Crown of England, agreeable to the Royal In-

tention, as expressed in the said Charter. He prays that the

King would, by a further Charter or Letters Patent, confirm
unto him and his Heirs and Assigns the whole of such Part of

the said Peninsula as is contained within the Limits of the said

Charter, notwithstanding the said Words of Jiactenus inculta,

in the Recital of the said former Charter or Letters Patent in-

serted. Co. Off. No. 28.

Note.

You'll observe there is not a Syllable of Mention made in this

Petition of the Province of Pensilvania. or of the Proprie-

tors of it, or of the three lower Counties, (whicli are not once
named) or of the long Possession and Improvement made there-

on, or of the Articles of Agreement whiclx he had entred into

;

but he, b> this Petition, presented in a few Days after a Second
of the Plaintiffs was gone abroad, falsely sets up the pretended

forged Order of 4 April 1638, drops every material word in the

Final Order made in 1*^85. and petitions, behind the Plaintiffs

Backs, upon these Falsehoods and crross Concealments, for a

Grant to himself of those three lower Counties which he had
already conveyed and covenanted to make further Assurance of

to the Plaintiffs; and, their Interest whereto, he had covenanted
to support and as^;ist, by all the Means in his Power. But this

is like every other Part of his Proceedings.

1734, Aug. 8.

By Order in Council the foregoing Petition was referred to

the Lords of Trade to examine the Matters and Facts contained

therein, and report the same, together with their Opinion, there-

upon, to his Majesty. Co. Off. No. 20

When this Petition was preseuted Air. John Penn was. a few
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Days before only, gone to Pensilvania; Mr. Thomas Penn the

second Brother, had been there constantly for two Years before,

immediately after executing the Agreement; and there was
none of tliem in Europe but Mr. Richard Penn, the youngest
Brother, who was but just come of Age, and knew nothing of

the Matter.

There was no Notice of this Petition given, even to hiui. but

the Lords of Trade by their Secretary, sent a Sort of Notice ot

this Petition to Mr. Paris, who on the 17th of October brought

him down to the Lords of Trade.

Dec. 1!).

Th3 now PlaiiitifT Richard Penn presented a Petition to the

King in Council in behalf of himself and his two elder Brothers,

then in Pensilvania setting forth what the former Lord Balti.

more had petitioned for, and the Crown had granted to him, in

1G32; That that Province of Maryland was evidently known to

produce to the Lord Baltimore a very great yearly Profit, and
was, by much, the most beneficial Grant in any Subject's Hands
in America; That at, and long before, the Grant to Lord Balti-

more, the Eastern Side ot the Peninsula had been possest, and
was held, by the Swedes and Dutch, as had been manifested

and determined by many Orders, made after the fullest Hear-

ings and Examinations in Council; and those Lands were, long
after that Grant, taken, and afterwards confirmed by Treaties,

from the Dutch ; That on 4 March 1680, King Charles made the

Grant of Pensilvania: and in 1682. the Duke of York conveyed
tlie three lower Counties, which lay contiguous to Pensilvania,

and on the Eastern Side of the said Peninsula, to the Petition

er's Father, with Covenants for further Assurance: and the

Duke had, for a Ions time, been in full Possession of the same
under Grants from the Crown ; and had exercised, by his Officers,

all Sorts of Acts of Ownership, Proprietorsliip and Government
therein ; That there had been, soon after those last Grants, such

a Contest in 1683, 84 and 85. and such Determination made;
which Order of 1685 the LDrd Baltimore had. several Times
since, petitioned against; suggesting that it had been made ex

parte, or that he had not been heard thereto; but, upon Ex-

aminations into such Suggestions, they likewise have been de-

clared to be untrue, and the said Order has thereupon been

repeatedly confirmed by subsequent Orders in Council in 1708

and 1709. That the Lord Baltimore hath greatly extended his

true Bounds, Northwards, beyond the Beginning of the lOtli

Degree, as known and understood at the Time of his Grant,

but nevertheless, the same do not extend to include the Slower

Counties, nor do include above a very small Part of one of th^

said Counties. That, after the said Order in Council was made,



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 487

the Petitioner's Father, fairly ami for valuable Considerationh,

purchased the Lauds, which had been so j^ranted to him as

aforesaid, from the Indian Natives in those Parts, and sold

great Parts of his Family Inheritance, in England and Ireland,

(which is ot above inuO/. a Yi'ar) and has constantly possest

and cleared, settletl, peopleii and cultivated these Tracts, so

granted him ; insomuch, and to so great a Degree, that the same,

altogether, make, without Exception, the most flourishing

Colony in America for its Age; the Number of Inhabitants in

the 3 lower Counties only, being at least 70.000 Souls. That the

Petitioner's Father had done this, in tlie 8pace of about 50

Years, 'without one Penny Charge to the (Jrown or Publick,

and at his own sole, but very great, Expence; having been

forced, in order to accomplish the same, to mortgage the very

Lands granted to him, besides selling his Family Estate, and
to contract other great Debts, many of which are to this Hour
unpaid, and for some of which he lay in Prison a considerable

Time; and the Petitioner's Father, or his Family, have never

received any Sort of Benefit to themselves, from this Grant,

nor from his Father's great Labours, Toil, Hazard, and Ex-

pence, but are, as yet, many Thousands of Pounds the worse

for the same. That as the Bounds between Maryland and the

3 lower Counties had not been exactly delineated and marked
out, neither the Petitioners Father, nor themselves, have been

able to raise or receive the Quit Rents out of the lower Counties,

the Lord Baltimore still making some Pretensions to Land
there, whereby the Petitioners have been hintlered from mak-
ing even further Improvements, and al.so from receiving some
small Fruit and Benefit from this great Undertaking. That in

1731. the present Lord Baltimore drew out, with his own Hand,
and offered to the Petitioners his own Proposals for an Agree-

ment, in order to accomodate all Differences, and to settle the

Bounds between Maryland and Pensilvania, and the three lower
Counties; the first Clause whereof was in the Words following,

"There shall be a Circle of 13 Miles Distance drawn from, New-
" castle. ' That the said Lord Baltimore, l)y those Projjosals,

insisted to extend and stretch his Country, on the North Part,

towards and into the Province of Pensilvania; and, on the

East Part, towards the 3 lower Counties also, in a manner to

which the Petitioners conceived he was no way intitled ; but,

to put an end to all manner of Differences and Disputes, and
that the Petitioners might begin to reap some small benefit,

they agreed to every one of Lord Baltimore's own Proposals

in the manner he himself had offered them. And his own Plan
o. the Country in Question Avas engraved by his own Mathe-
matician, and was printed on the side of the Articles of Agree-
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meni; which Articles were, during 10 Month's Time, under tlie

Consideration of his own Counsel, Mathematician, Solicitor,

and other Agents, and were at last executed by the Lord, Bal-

timore and the Petitioners on the 10th of May 1732. That those

Articles contained the fullest, plainest and clearest Directions

for the actual running and marking out the dividing Lines,

and also contained Renunciations and Releases, in Fee, from

each of the Parties, to the other, of the Lands on the respec-

tive sides of the dividing Lines (which Lines Avere markt out

on the Map in the very Margin of the Articles) and of all their

Claims and Interests therein and thereto, and more particii-

larly the Lord Baltimore himself conveyed thereby, to the Pe-

titioners, the said three lower Counties; and one particular

Clause was conii>rised in the said Instruments, in the following

express Terms "That there shall be the said Circle, mentioned

"in the said Charter for Pensilvania, and Deed of Bargain and

"Sale or Feoffment of Newcastle, or so much thereof as is re-

"quisite, drawn and markt out at tlie 12 Miles Distance from

"the Town of Newcastle, which 12 Miles shall be 12 English

"Statute Miles." And the Lord Baltimore covenanted for

further Assurance and that he would use all friendly Means
and Offices, to the utiuost of his Power, to assist and support

that Agreement, and the Rights, Interests and Pretentions of

the Petitioners by virtue thereof. That the Petitioners had
good reason to hope, when they had concluded that Agreement
with the Lord Baltimore, at his own Request, and upon his

own Terms also, that they should have enjoyed the Benefit of

so much Labour and Expence, And the Lord Baltimore and the

Petitioners executed Commissions, to 7 Commissioners of each

side, to mark and run out the Lines, described and mentioned

in the Articles. And the Petitioner Thomas Penn went to

Pensilvania, and, some time after, the Lord Baltimore went to

the Province of Maryland. That, before his Lordship's Arrival

there, the Commissioners, on both sides, had had several Meet-

ings to run out the Lines, and the first thing in course to be

done, and the first thing directed by the Articles to be Performed,

being to mark out the Circle round the Town of New.astle, the

Lord Baltimore's Commissioners, most surprisingly, insisted to

run a Circle not 12 Miles distant from Newcastle,as was agreed in

express Terms, but something less than 2 Miles distant there-

from, declaring that they understood the Articles to mean a

Circle whose l^eriphery was only 12 Miles, the Diameter of

which would be less than 4, and consequently it could not be

12 Miles distant, but something less than two Miles distant,

from Newcahtle: nor would they seem to understand The Words
of the Articles in any other isense, unless the Lord Baltimore
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himself should certify them to the contrary. That, ashi.s Lord-ship was expected in Maryland in some few Month.s, the Peti-

ing till he should arrive tliat he might explain to his own
Commissioners whether the Words of the Articles [of V^ MilesDistance from the Town] meant only two Miles Distance, ornot; not in the least doui^ting: but his Lordship, who had so
earnestly pressed and obtained that Agreement from the Peti-
loners, would have instantlv set his Commissioners right in

their pretended Misapprehension. But.after his Lordship's Ar-
rival his Commissioners still refused to mark out anv other Cir-
cle than that they had so contended for,although his Lordshipwas several Months in Maryland during their Meetings, andthereupon the Lines were not actually markt out, which wasoccasioned purely and simply by the Misapprehension. or pre'-tended MKsapprehension, of the Lord Baltimore's Commission-
ers, of tho.se plain words, and not from any other Cause what-
ever. -That the Lord Baltimore returned to England, and the
Petitioner John Penn had occasion to go to Pensilvania. (the
Petitioners Affairs there being in a very indifferent Scituation
for want of the said Lines being run out. That, in a vervshort time after that the said .John Penn (who is the eldest
brother.and had all the Papers relating to this aflfair in his Cus-
tody, and had been most conversant therein) was gone for Pen-
silvania, the Lor.l Baltimore presented a Petition to hisMajesty on the sth of August last, without so much as namin<."
or taking the least notice of the Petitioners, or of his own sol-emn Agreement and Conveyance, but settinfj forth the T+rant
in 1632, and setting forth some other Matters relatin- to anIsland called Kent (which no manner of wav relate to the mat
ter 111 Que.stion)and partially reciting the Order of Council ofNovember 1685, and containing an Allegation, that, if any Part
of the Tract mentioned in that Order was inhabited at the time
of the Grant to the Lord Baltimore, by any Christians (which
the Petitioner seems to doubt, tho' so clearlv and fullv estab
lished)yet, that they were not Subjects of England, l)ut'of For-
eign Nation.and therefore. as the whole De.scription of that Part
of the Peninsula, in the granting Part of the Patent did not asecond time, contain the Qualification or Restriction of Bar-
teiius i7iculta mentioned in the Recital of the Patent he bv
his Petition, behind the Petitioners Backs, praved that'his M-.'
jesty would, by a further Charter, confirm to him the said Lord
Baltimore his Heirs and Assiirns. the whole of such Part of the
Penin.sula as was contained within the Limits of the said Char
ter. notwith.st.-mding the Restriction in the Recital: Therebv
as the Lord Baltimore expects, and has in explicit Terms ac'
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knowledyfed, to make a subsequent (jnmt to Lonl Baltimore

of these very Lauds whieli he had so lately, and alter so ujuch

Advisement, conveyed to the Petitioners, which is what tlie

Petitioners could not have expected. That, throughout the

Lonl Baltimore's whole Petition, theres nothinj^ which intornis

Jiis Majesty of the Leny:th of the Petitioners Possession, of the

very great Improvements made hy their Father (to his own and

Family's Ruin) of the Agreement so solemnly and so lately

entred into between the Lord Baltimoi-e and the Petitioners,

or of the Conveyance which himself had so lately made to the

Petitioners of the three lower Counties (and which Matter^ the

Petitioners conceive might have been very proper for his

Majesty 's Information) but, on the contrary, every thing tend-

ing thereto is dropt and concealed, and upon the Face of that Pe-

tition it might seem as if the Lord Baltimore was petitioning

his Majesty only for some small trifling Tract of Land, which
was neither claimed, possest or improved by any Person in the

World. That his Majesty having been pleased to refer the said

Petition to the (Jonsideration of the Lords for Trade, their

Lordships, in the Course of their Office knew of the Petitioners

Possession and Clai'u, and from their great Justice it was, that

the Petitioner Richard Penn received (about tne 17th of Octo-

ber 1784) the first notice that any such Petition was depending.

That the said Petitioner, without the u)ost material Pai>ers,

or any Instructions, having lost the Assistance of his former

Counsel, did get a new Counsel, who had never been acquainted

with thi^i very intricate Affair, to attend the Lords for Trade
and Plantations upon the 21st of October last, when a first

Hearing was had, and another appointed for the 20th Day of

Deceml)er now next, at which former Hearing it was insisted

by the Lord Baltimore's Counsel, that if your Petitioners

should not shew a dear legal Title to the Lands prayed for,

that your Majesty might be advised to make a Grant now, as

prayed, to the Lonl Baltimore, which (as w.is pretended) could

not invalidate the Right of your Petitioners, if any they had;

but the Petitioners humbly apprehend, that such a Grant

might create very great Disorders and Inconvenieneies, and
would raise the greatest Trouble and Disputes imaginal)le, and
the rather from the Difficulty of settling a proper .Jurisdiction

in that Country to try the Rights of the Parties. That the

Petitioner Richard Penn is interested but a small matter, in

proportion to his two elder Brothers, in tlic Lands in question,

and they, alone, have always had the ('ustodyof the Deeds and
Papers relating to this Dispute (which has depended now above
50 Years, but which it was hoped was ended by the Agreement
in 1732) and have had the Management of the Affair; and the
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present Petitioner has not interuieddlpd. or been- acquainted
tiierewitii, and is tlierefore in a most deieneeless State, now in

their Absence. Tliat the Petitioners Interests, and also those

of all the Inhabitants in the tliree lower Counties, who hold

by Titles derived troiu the Petitioners Father, and wlio have
laid out their wliole Substance in improving particular Parcels

there, would be affected, by {^ranting the Prayer of the Lord
Baltimore's Petition, and the Petitioner prays Leave to inform
his Majesty, that many Thousands of the Inhabitants in the

said lower Counties are of the People called Quakers, who have
ever behaved as loyal and faithful Subjects, and who, or their

Ancestors, retired thither to settle in a Place where they have
ever enjoyed Freedom of Conscience, and who might be deeoly
affected, in their Temporal and Religious Rights, both, if now
to be put under another Government. That, from the first

Notice the Petitioner Richard Penn hath had of the Lord Bal-

timore's Petition, no Opportunity (in regard of the Season of

the Year) hath offered, of informing the two other Brothers in

Pensilvania thereof. That his Majesty has not hitherto been

strict upon his Subjects Titles in America, where a long Pos-

session and real Improvement has been made, and the Peti-

tioners hoped, that their very Ions: Possession, and very great

Improvement, added to the good Title they have will induce

his Majesty to quiet them in tlieir Possession. Therefore pray,

that they may not, upon tlie Petition of the Lord Baltimore,

be drawn (especially at so great a Surprize, and in such au un-

commoa Case) to set forth their Right to their antient Posses-

sion, and that his Majesty would not be pleased, at the Lord
Baltimore's Request, who has so lately conveyed tlaese Lands to

the Petitioners, to strip the Petitioners (who have not hitherto

received any Benefit from the said Grant) to give the Fruit

of their great Labour. Hazard and Expence, to the Lord Bati-

more(who has already so very beneficial a Grant) and that his

Majesty will not be pleased to grant the Prayer of the said Lord
Baltimore's Petition, but to dismiss the same, and to confirm

the Petitioners Pos.session and Title, agreeable to the Limits in

the said Deeds of May 1732, between the Lord Baltimore and
tlie Petitioners.and to indulge the Petitioners witli a reasonable

Time to be heard hereon, and to grant the Petitioners all other

Relief in the Premises. Co. Off. No. 30.

1734, Dec. 19.

By Order ill ('ouncil. made upon reading this Petition, it was
referred to the Lords of the Committee of Council to consider

the same, and report their Opinion thereupon to his Majesty.

Co. Off. No 31.
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It is verj- true, that we did try to fret our foregoing Petition

also referred down to the Lords of Trade; but, as it came in so

hite, the Lords of tlie Council would not refer it thither; Where-
fore, and as the younger Brother, in truth, knew nothing of

this old Aflfair, we resohed to let the Board of Trade (whose

Inclinations we could very well guess at) make their Report ex

parte, upon uiy Lord Baltimore's Petition : And accordingly,

they made just such a Report thereon as was expected.

Jan.. IC.

Report from the Lords of Trade to the King, That they had con-

sidered Lord Baltimore's Petition, and acquaint his Majesty,

that the Lands in (Question, commonly called the three lower

Counties on Delaware River, supposed to be excepted by the

Words Hacteniis hiculUu appear to them to be included in the

Limits granted l)y King Charles the First to the Lord Balti-

more's Ani-estors. l)ut they have been in the Possession of the

Penn Family for several Years, which made it proper for us to

communicate the Purport of Lord Baltimore's Petition, and of

his Majesty's Order thereupon, to the Agent for Messieurs John,

Thomas and Richard Penn the present Proprietors of Pensil-

vania. that they might have an Opportunity of laying before

us what they should think proper in relation to this Petition,

and to their Title to the said Lands.* And we have been fre-

quently attended by the said Agent, and by Mr. Richard Penn,

one of the said Proprietors, upon this Subject, who promised,

from time to time, to lay an Account of their Title before us;

but, after having kept us in Expectation thereof, for several

Months, they, at last, refused to proceed therein, whereby we
are disabled from offering anything to your Majesty, relating

to their Claim, except what we find by our Books, namely,

that, for sometimes past, when any of their Family, Pro-

prietors of Pensilvania. have nominated a Person for the Ap-
probation of the Crown to be Deputy Governor of that Prov-

ince, and of the said three lower Counties, they have given

Declarations, under their Hands and Seals, which are extant

in our Office from the Y'ear 1702, to the last Nomination in 1733,

wherel)y they acknowledge and agree that the said Approbation

and Allowance shall not be construed in any manner to diminsh

or set aside the Right claimed by the Crown to the said three

lower Counties. Upon their Refusal to proceed herein, we
thought it our Duty to examine the Facts set forth in the Lord

*Mr. Paris, in lact, was not Agent for Mr. Penns, nor Sollicitor for

tliem, neither; tliough the Lords of Trade called him so. to warrant

their ov.'n Proceeding without sending any Copy of the Petition to the

Persons it reallv concerned.
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Baltimore's Petition, and the Equity alledged by him as a

Grround for his Hopes of your Majei>ty's favour in this Case.

Whereupon we bej; leave to acquaint your Majesty, that we find

the Lord Baltimore's Orijrinal Patent bears Date the 20th of

June 1()32 and there is no room to doubt, that the Lands in

Question are comprised within the Limits described in that

(irant. And, with regard to the Interpretation of the Words
Hactenus iitauUa, we have examined the antient Records of our
Office, t and find by an Order of Council dated the 4th of April

1638, whi^h recites the Purport of a former Order dated the 3d

of July 1G33, that one Captain William (Maybourne haviufj:, in

behalf of himself and Partners, set forth in a Petition to the

Kin<r, that divers Years past they had discovered and planted

upon an Island in the <rreat Bay of Chesapeak in Virp:inia,

which they had named the Isle of Kent, and that they had
likewise settled another Plantation, upon the Mouth of a River,

at the bottom of the said Bay in the Sasquehannaugrh Country,
and that the Lord Baltimore, taking notice of the great Benefit

that was likely to arise to them thereby, had obtained a Patent
from his Majesty, comprehending the said Island within the

Limits thereof; upon which he besought his Majesty to grant

him a Patent, under the Great Seal, for the quiet keeping, en-

joying and governing of the said Island, Plantations, and Peo-

l)le, &c. Whereupon all the Parties having been fully heard,

we find the Sense of the Council expressed in the following
Words, "That, upon what then appeared to them, and also

•'upon Consideration of a former Order of that Board, dated
"July 3d 1633, wherein it appeared that the Diflference now in

"Question, being then controverted, the Lord Baltimore was
"left to the Right of his Patent, and the Petitioners to the

"Course of Law. their Lordships, having resolved and declared

"asabovesaid, the Right and Title to the said Isle of Kent and
"other Places in Question to be absolutely belonging to the

"Lord Baltimore, and that no Plantation or Tjade with the

"Indians ought to be, within the Precincts of his Patent, with-

"out Licence from him, did, therefore, likewise think fit and
"declare, that no Grant from his Majesty should pass to the
"said Cleyborn. or any others, of the said Isle of Kent, or other
"Parts or Places within the said Patent, whereof his Majesty's

"Attorney and Sollicitor General are hereby prayed to take
"notice." But we find that, upon a Dispute. betAvi?;t the Lord
Baltimore and the Duke of York (for whom Mr. William Penri

was then Agent) concerning a Tract of Land in America, eoni-

fThey have no Record, nothing but an unauthentick Copy, of this

pretended Order.
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monly called Delaware, wherein we conceive the said three

lower Counties to be comprized, the Lords of the Committee
for Trade and Plantations reported their Opinion, in May ICbo,

that the Land intended to be granted by the Loi-d Baltimore's

Patent, was only Land uncultivated and inhabited by Savages,

and that the Land, then in Dispute, was inhabited and planted
by (christians, at and before the Date of Lord Baltimore's
Patent,* whereupon they proposed that the Land, lying between
Tlie River and Bay of Delaware, and the Eastern Sea, on the
one side, and the Chesapeak, on the other, should be divided
into two equal Parts, by a Line from the Latitude of Cape
Hiulopen. to the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, and that
one half thereof, lying towards the Bay of Delaware and the
Eastern Sea, be adjudged to belong to his Majesty, and the
other half to the Lord Baltimore, as comprized within his

f'harter. Soon after King James the [Second's Accession to the
thrown, that is to say, in 1685, this Report was ordered to be

carried into Execution, and was confirmed by the late Queen
in 1709. Whereupon, as the Sense of the Crown and the Lords
of the Council, in these several Decisions, seems to have been
governed by the Acceptation of the Purport of the Words Hac-
teniis inculta, we beg leave to observe to your Majesty, that not-

withstanding these Words are in the Preamble, yet they are not
inserted by way of Restriction in the Body or Granting Part
of Lord Baltimore's Charter, and as the Authorities seem to

us to be equal with regard to the Interpretation hitherto given
them, we must humbly submit it to your Majesty, whether the

Sense in which they were understood by the Privy Council in

1633 and 1638, being so soon after the Date of Lord Baltimore's
Patent, when the real Intention of the Crown in that Grant
might have been more clearly known to the Lords of the
Council, or the later Decision thereupon, when this Matter was
again made the Subject of an Enquiry in Council, so long after-

wards as 1683, and 1685, should have the Preference?+ Thus
much hath occured to us upon the Subject of Lord Baltimore's
Pretentions to the Lands petitioned for, and we cannot enter

into any Examination of the Claim of the Penn Family, because
thev have declined to proceed therein before us. But, if it should
be determined that the Right to the Lands in Question still

remains in the Crown, we humbly beg leave to offer our Opinion,
that the Lord Baltimore hath very just Pretensions to your
]Majesty's Favour, in Consideration of the great Sums of Money
that have been expended by his Ancestors, in settling the Prov-

*Here they drop the very Heart and Essence of the real Order.

tBaliancing a Fiction in 1638, against a most solemn Realitv in 16S.i.
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ince of Maryland, aud in biiiigiug the (Cultivation of Tobacco
to Perfection there, whereljy the Trade and Revenue of this

Kingdom have gained, and do daily receive very great Aug-
mentations. But to whomsoever your Majesty shall be pleased

to grant the said Lands, if still remaining in the Crovi'n, in our
humble Opinion proper Care should be taken to preserve the

Inhabitants settled there, in the full Possession of all their Re-

ligious and Civil Rights. All which is most humbly submitted.
Co. Oflf. No. 32.

1735, 31ay 10.

A Report from the Committee of Council, made upon consid

ering the Report made by the Lords of Trade, upon the Peti-

tion of Charles Lord Baltimore, praying for a Grant of Con-
firmation of such Part of a Peninsula in America, as is con-

tained within the Limits of the Charter, granted to his Ances-

tor, in the Reign of King Charles the First, notwithstanding
the Words Hactenus inculta, which are inserted in the Recital of

the said Charter; and also made, upon two Petitions, the one in

the Name of Richard Penn Esq; the youngest surviving Son ot

William Penn Esq; deceased, in Behalf of himself and his two
elder Brothers John and Thomas Penn Esqs; now in Pensilva-

nia, setting forth their Right to the three Lower Counties of

Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, lying within, and contiguous to.

the said Peninsula, and therefore praying to be heard against

the confirming the said Peninsula, to the Lord Baltimore; And
the other, in the Name of the People called Quakers, in behalf

of several Thousand Families of Quakers, Inhabitants of the

said three Lower Counties, praying also to be heard against the

confirming tiie said Lands to the Lord Baltimore: The Lords
of the Committee, this Day, took the said Report and Petitions

into their Consideration, and were attended by Council, as

well for the Lord Baltimore, as the other Petitioners, and it

appearing that on the lOth of May 1732, Articles of Agreement
had been entred into, between the Lord Baltimore and the said

John, Thomas and Richard Penn, for adjusting the Boundaries
of the Lands granted to them, by their respective Charters,

which Articles had not been carried into execution, within the

Time thereijy limited, But, notwithstanding such Lapse of

Time, the Valididy of the said Articles being insisted on.

by and on behalf of the said John, Thomas and Richard
Penn. The Lords of the Committee do agree humbly to report

to your Majesty, as their Opinion, that the Consideration of

the said Report and Petitions should be adjourned, until the

End of Michaelmas Term next, in order to give an Opportunity
to the said John, Thomas, and Richard Penn. to proceed in a
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Court of Equity, to obtain Relief upon the said Articles of

Agreement, so insisted upon by theui, according as they shall be
advised; and that after the expiration of the said Time, either

Party sliould be at liberty to apply to the Committee of Council
for Plantation Affairs, as the Nature of the Case may require.

Co. Off. No. 33.

May IC.

An Order of the King in Council approving the said Report
and ordering that the Consideration of the said Report and
Petitions, be adjourned, until the End of Michaelmas Term
next, that the said John, Thomas and Richard Penn may have
an Opportunity to proceed in a Court of Equity, to obtain
Relief upon the said Articles so insisted upon by them, accord
ing as they shall be advised; And his Majesty doth hereby
further order, that after the Expiration of the said Time, either

Party be at liberty to apply, to the Committee of Council fur

Plantation Affairs, as the Nature of the Case may require.

Whereof all Persons whom it may concern are to take notice,

and govern themselves accordingly. Co. Off. No. 33.

June 21.

The now Plaintiffs did, in pursuance of the last Order, file

their present Bill against the Defendant.

Chap. XVL Of Matters which have past since the Filing our
present Bill.

June 24.

By Indenture of Release Samuel Preston and James Logan,
the two Survivors of the Twelve Trustees to whom Proprietary
Penn had by his Will devised all his Lands in America upon
Trust, conveyed unto John Penn and Thomas Penn and their

Heirs, all the Lands, &c. in Pensilvania and in the three lower
Counties, &c. To hold one Moyety thereof to the Use of John
Penn in Fee, To hold one Quarter part to the Use of Thomas
Penn in Fee. and to hold the other Quarter part to the Use
of Richard Penn in Fee. Parchment Deed proved by Daniel
Flexney.

1737. March 26.

By Indenture of Release enrolled in Chancery, Alexander
Forbes and William Penn the Grandson, conveyed the Mort-
gage which had been made to the said William Penn of Pen-
silvania, for securing the 5000i?. and Interest, unto Thomas
Jackson in Fee. Parchment Deed proved by Paris.

March 26.

By a Declaration of Trust enrolled in Chancery dated the
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same Day Thomas Jackson declared that one Moyety of the

Penn^'a^rfhl: u' "^'f,^
'^^"^'^^^'^' '"^' ^'^ Mo/ey'of Joh:

• T;t f ''' •^^^'" ^'^'"' "^^ interested one Moyety

Lave 1 Corr"".:;"" f'•'—^

^^-^H-- l^-n. and shouldhave a Conveyance thereof. Parchment Deed proved by Paris,
March 28.

Rithaffpenn Jlj^'T'^.^f""
^'•""'^^

"^^^ •^^^-' Thon.as andKichan Penn to Colonel George Thomas to be Deputy Gov-

cl7Lt ^":f'^"^"*^ -^ ^»- ^hr- Lower Counties 'n' New-castle Records, jNo. 11. Fol. 104.

^/»7-i7 21.

Tlie now Defendant presented a Petition to the Kinjr incouncil settmg forth his Charter, and that he was ndilputably mt.tled to tJ^e Tract called Maryland, and Ikewise toanother Tract called the three Lower Counties, whi. I .^nt guous to Maryland on one side.and to Pensilvania on thV o herbut are really (as he said) within the Bounds of his Chai-terand tijerelore he apprehends they are Part of Ins Provin e Indas such belonging to him. That in King James the Se'^nd'sTime, Advantage was taken of the Expression JJacfe^J Zuaand, under that Suggestion, the Crown took tlie tlnee owerCountK. into their own Possession; That the said th.-ee Lower

ai" tl P ^l'"
theii incapable to support a, .epai-ate Gover,iorand he Petitioners Ancestoi-s being sooii after u.i.ler so.iie legaDisabilities [Roiiiazi Catholicks] the Ci-own permitted the antePerson wiio w-as Governor of Pensilvania to act as Governorkewise over the three Lower Counties; but, to evidence thathis was not done as considering then, as Part of Pensilvaiiia thePi-oprietors have, always, sigrzed a Declai-ation that it shouldnot prejudice the Right claiiued by the Crpwn to the said threeLower Counties; [He foi-gets thar we held the Government thefirst twenty 1 ears Without any such Dechu-ation.] ThMt thePeople of Pensilvania in settling, have n.ade greal Incroa bments on Maryland; To pi-event which he, in 1723, n.ade such

ail Agreement; but they still made Encroachments; to preventwliich, he, in 1732, on the Application and Request of the Proprietors of Pensilvania, entred into another Agreement withthem
;
but that Agreement was to be void if the Lines were notrun .>y 25 December 1733; which Time being expii-ed, and theLines not run. he's advised the said Agreement is null andvoid

;
That he has since found he was most grosslv decei-ved ar"dimposed npon, l,y the Pi-oprietors of Pensilvania. in makin.^ ttiaAgreement: inson.uch that, if it had not been void bv Lpseof Time, he^s advised he shonld have been relieved against the

•'*— V OL. A V .
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same, on the Head of Fraud and Imposition; That he presented

a former Petition, to have a confirmatory Grant of the three

Lower Counties, and that Petition having: been referred to the

Lords of Trade, and they having reported thereon, and that

Report coming on to be lieard, together with another Petition

on the part of the Pensilvania Proprietors, and tliey insisting

on tlie said Agreement, as subsisting and in full force, the Lords
suspended proceeding on his Petition, till the Validity ot the

xVrticles should be deteriuined, on such Bill to be brought by
the Proprietors of Pensilvania, and a Bill has been accordingly

filed, for a specifick Performance of the Articles, and isnowde-
I>ending. 1. That, during this Dispute, the Sheriff of Pensil-

vania with 40 Men in Arms entred the Province of Maryland,

and attackt and took Prisoner Captain Thomas Cressap, one

of his Tenants, in Cressap's own House, and carried him Pris-

oner to Pensilvania. [Note this Fellow had murdered several

Persons, was got up very far North in the Country, and, to

screen himself, said he was there in Maryland, and he was under
Lord Baltimore's .Jurisdiction, and my Lord thought proper

to jiatronize and support the Fellow.] 2. That the Proprietors

of Pensilvania had lately petitioned his Majesty to approve of

Colonel Thomas to be Deputy Governor of Pensilvania and
the said three Counties; That he had no Objections to Colonel

Thomas's Person, but as the Proprietors of Pensilvania had
acted so, in regard to Captain Cressap, and had no legal Right
or Title to the said three lower Counties, He prayed two sev-

eral things, (which were, at several and distinct times, con-

sidered) viz. That no Person should be appointed Deputy Gov
ernor of the lower Counties upon the Recommendation of the

Proprietors of Pensilvania, but that, until the Dispute between

thein and him touching the Validity of the Articles should be

determined, isome indiflferiit Person might be appointed to have

the Command over the said three lower Counties, by Commis-
sion from the King, or, at least, that Colonel Thomas, if to be

appointed Governor of the three loAver Counties, should be so

appointed by Commission directly from his Majesty, and not

by Commission from the Pensilvania Proprietors. And he like-

wise prayed that Directions might be given for quieting the

Possessions, on either side, near the Boundaries, till the Mat-

ters in Dispute should be adjusted here at home. Co. OfT.

No. 34.

1737, April 21.

By Order in Council that Petition was referred to the Lords

of the Committee of Council, to consider the same, and report

their Opinion thereupon to his Majesty. Co. OfT. No. 35.
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May 5.

By an Order, made by the Lords of the Committee, upon
reading: a Report from the Lords of Trade, which was made
upon a Petition of the now Plaintiffs, praying the King's Ap-
probation of Colonel Thomas to be Deputy Governor of Pen-
silvania and the three lower Counties, and, upon considering
Lord Baltimore's Petition referred to the Committee the 21st

of Af)ril last, the Lords ordered that the said Report should
be referred back to the Board of Trade, together with Lord
Baltimore's said Petition, who were to examine into the whole
Matter, and report their Opinion thereupon to the Committee.
And whereas there was also laid before the Committee a Refer-
ence of the 17th of IMarch last, of another Petition from the
President, Council and Assembly of Pensilvania, complaining
of several Acts of Violence done, by Persons acting under Lord
Baltimore, against the People of Pensilvania, together with
my Lord Baltimore's Answer thereto, and several Pai)ers ac-

companying the same, their Lordships likewise ordered that
all those Papers should be transmitted to the Lords of Trade,
that thev might examine into the same, at the same time as

they should consider of the other Matters above referred to

them, if they thought fit; in which ease they were likewise to

report their Opinion thereupon, to the ('ommittee, otherwise,
To re-transmit the said Papers. Co. Off. No. 36.

.hive '?,.

\ Report from the Lords of Trade that they had read all The
Papers referred to them, and had heard my Lord Baltimore
and Mr. Penns. by their T'ouncil, what they had to offer, with
regard to the Appointment of Colonel Thomas by the Proprie-
tors of Pensilvania. for the Cxovernment of Pensilvania, and
The three lower Counties; upon which they report, "That
from the Time that the Province of Pensilvania, and the 3

"lower (;ounties were possest by the late William Penn, they
"have been governed either by the Proprietor, or by Depxities

•'appointed by him and his Successors with the Approbation
"of the Crown ; and upon every Appointment of a Deputy Gov-
•ernor the Proprietors have constantly signed an Instrument
"declaring under their Hands and Seals that hi?- Majesty's An-
•l)robation and Allowance of the Deputies so appointed by
"them for The Government of the 3 lower Counties shall not be

"construed in any manner to diminish or set aside the Right
•claimed by the Crown to the said 3 lower Counties*: what this

"Right claimed by the Crown is, as also the Claim made by

*This IS true from 1702 to this time; but 'twas otherwise from 1682

to.1702.
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"my Lord Baltimore, appears very distinctly set forth in a Re-

"port to his Majesty of 21 October 1717. from Sir Edward
"Nortliey and Sir William Thompson, then Attorney and Sol-

" licitor General, and of whicli we take leave to annex a Copy."

The Lords of Trade furthe.i- report, that there liaving been

Disputes, Ijetween Lord Baltimore and the Proprietors of Pen-

silvania, toufhinj? Boundaries, an Agreement was made, between

them, 10 May 17:)2. relative thereto, and not being carried into

Execution, the Proprietors of Pensilvania had filed their Bill in

Chancery against Lord Baltimore for a specific Performance

thereof ;
" "Which Dispute being yet depending in the said Court,

"wedon't think it {)roper to advise any Altei'ation in the usual

"manner of ai)pointing the Deputy Orovernor of the said Three
'Lower Counties." And the Lords of Trade re-transmitti'd the

Petition from the President, Council and Assembly of IVnsil-

vania, relating to Boundaries, and other Pai)ers on that Suljject,

but proposed, in order to prevent Disturbances for the future,

that the King should enjoin the respective Governors to pre-

serve Peace and good Neighbourhood. Co. Off. No. 37.

June 15.

The Defendant put in his Answer to our Bill, wherein, by

the way. he noAv swears that the Lower ('ounties are ny no
means contiguous to Pensilvania, for that one is of the one

Side, and the others on the other Side of Delaware. A wonder-
ful Change since his Petition of the 21st of April last, not two
Months before I

July 21.

Lord Baltimore did not at all like the Report of the Board of

Trade in Favour of our Nomination, M'herefore he petitioned

the King in Council against it ; and insisted that by Sir EdAvard

Northey's and Sir William Thompson's Report of 1717, it

clearly appeared Mr. Penns had no legal Right or Title to the

lower Counties; and that on 10 Jan. 1734. the Lords of Trade
had made such an {ex parte'\ Report in his Favour; so tliat the

Petitioner may very safely aflRrm that there lias never yet been

any one Determination in Favour of the Right claimed by Mr.

Penns to the said 3 lower Counties, and he apprehends it is

impossible for them to make out any legal Right or Title

thereto ; whereas it appears oy the said [ex parte] Report, that

the same are included within the Limits of the Maryland
Charter; that tho' the said Counties have been, for many Y'ears

past, under the Government of the same Person as was ap-

pointed Governor of Pensilvania, yet all those Governors (save

the last) were so appointed while his Ancestors were under
legal Disal)ilities. being Roman Catholicks. and when the
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Government of Maryland was in the Hands of the Crown orduring the Petitioner's Infancy, therefore hopes those instances
Bliali not be used as an Argument now, when those Disabilities
arere.noved; and the rather, because snch Appointments have,
in the Progress of the Disputes with Mr. Penn. been constantlymade use of, and insisted on, as Evidence of their Right in
Opposition to that claimed and insisted on bv the Petitioner-
and, as such Approbation, at this Juncture, 'and pendin- the
Dispute now carrying on in Chancery, would, in all Probability
be insisted on by them, as a further Evidence of their Ri^-ht'
not only against the Petitioner, but against the King too'which might be of great Disadvantage to the Petitioner* That
tne Petitioner does not desire the Government of the said
Counties to be put into the Hands of any of his Nomination-
all that he desires being, that they mav be under the CTOvern-
ment of an indifferent Person, till the Disputes between Mr
Penns and him, in relation thereto, are finaliv settled and ad-
justed; and that, whoever the Person is, he mav be appointed
by Commission directly from his Majestv. Therefore pravs
the King to reject Mr. Penns Nomination of Colonel Thomas
to be Governor of the said lower Counties, and that the Kin-
will please to appoint Colonel Thomas, or such other as He
shall think fit, to be Governor of the said Counties, bv Com-
mission from his Majesty, till the said disputes shall be"finallv
determined between him and Mr. Penns; and that this Peti'-
tion may come on to be heard at the same time with his former
Petition, and the Report of the Lords of Trade made 1 hereon
Co. Off. No. 38.

July 21.

This Petition was by Order in Council referred to the Lords
of the Committee of Council to consider the same and report
their Opinion thereon. Co. Off. No. 39.

Feb. 4.

A Report from the Committee of Council, That they had ap-
pointed a Day to consider the two Petitions of Lord Baltimore
referred the 21st of April and 21st of July, relating to the Ap'
pointment of the Deputy Governor, but, in the mean time
and before the Consideration thereof, the A<rent for Lord Bal'
timore attended the Committee, and signified to them that
there was a Suit now depending in Chancery between tlie Pe
tUioner and the Proprietors of Pensilvania, for determining
*After all these Apprehen.sions, wben this Petition was i^^iiT^i

to be heard, Lord Baltimore would not stand a Hearing; hut prayedand bad Leave, to withdraw this Petition, that is. in effect not toproceed on it. for the Petition still remains in the Office
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the Right to the said 3 lower Counties, and that the Petitioner,

upon further Consideration, was willing to wait, till the same

should be determined, and did not intend to make any Opposi-

tion to the Nomination of Colonel Thomas, and therefore

prayed to be permitted to withdraw his said Petitions. The
Lords of the Commitee thereupon report that his Majesty may
be pleased to permit and allow the Petitioner to withdraw his

said two Petitions accordingly. Co. Off. No. 40.

Feb. G.

By Order in Council made upon reading that Report, his

Majesty in Council approved that Report, and ordered that

the Lord Baltimore be allowed to withdraw his said two Peti-

tions accordingly. Co. Off. No. 40.

Feb. 7.

Being the very next Day, the Lords of the Committee made
a further Report, upon Mr. Penns Nomination of Colonel

Thomas, that his Majesty might be pleased to approve of Colonel

Thomas to be iJeputy Governor of Pensilvania. and the 3 lower

Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex in the Manner, and

upon the Conditions proposed by the Lords of Trade, [which

were in the same Words as the other former instances] and

Colonel Thomas, being then in the Leeward Islands, they pro-

posed he might qualify himself, and give the Security, before

the Governor or Commander in chief in one of the Leeward

Island. Co. Off. No. 41.

Feb. 15.

By Order in Council his Majesty approved that Report, and

order'd according to what was thereby proposed. Co. Off. No.

42.

Note. An Entry of this last Order in the Newcastle Records,

No. 11. Fol. 106.

1738, May 4.

The Lords of the Committee of Council made a Report to the

King in Council, upon the Petition of the President. Council

and Assembly of Pensilvania, and likewise some cross Petitions

from Marylaml, which had been referred to their LDrdships

on 17 March 1736, and 21 July 1737. complaining, on both Sides,

of Disorders and Outrages, committed on the Borders of Mary-

land and Pensilvania ; and stating that they had made a former

Report on the 2i» of .luly 1737, and that his Majesty had there-

upon made a (temporary) Order on 18 Aug. 1737; That, since

that Time, several fresh Petitions had come in, from Maryland
and from Pensilvania. complaining of fresh Disorders, and that

Mr. Penns had petitioned for the King's further Pleasure to be
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declared relating to the said Order of 18 Aug. 1737; That the

Lords of the Committee had on the 2od Feb. last proceeded to

take all the Papers relating to the said Complaints made In-

each of the Provinces into Consideration, and were attended

by Council on both Sides, and lik.e\vi>e by the Proprietors of

both Provinces, and the Counsel desiring that Time might be

allowed the Proprietors, to confer together, in order to come to

some agreement amongst themselves, that so the Peace of both

Provinces might be preserved, till such lime as tin- Boundaries

could be finally settled, the Lords of the Commiliee had com-

plyed with their Request, and being, this Day, atteu'led by all

Parties, the Counsel acquainted the Committee that the Pro-

prietors, of each Province, had accordingly met ani.1 agreed to

the there following Propositions; to which Proi)ositions the

Proprietors of each Province had signitied their Consent,

before the Counuittee, and declared their Readiness to carry

the same into Execution, if his Majesty should be pleased to

approve thereof: and the Committee, considering that this

Agreement might be a proper Expedient for restoring Peace

and TraiKpiillity between the said Provinces, and for prevent-

ing any the like Disturbances for the future, did therefore agree

to lay the same before his Majesty for his Roval Approbation.

Co. Off. No. 43.

Note. So much of that Agreement as any way relates to the

present Point was. fixing between the (meer) Province of Pen-

sil'-.-mi.M and Mryiand a Line for Temporary Jurisdiction, to be

exercised in those respective Provinces. And as the Articles of

10 May 1732, had made the North Bounds of Maryland, and the

South Bounds of Pensilvania. to l)e just 1.5 Miles South of

Philadelphia, so, to come as near to it as might be. (but not

to confirm it) it was agreed that the provisional and temporary

Limits, till the Boundaries should l)e finally .settled, sliould be,

on the East Side of Susquehannali River, l.l ]\Iiles and one

Quarter South of Philadelphia, and on the West Side of Sus-

quehannahRiver, 14 Miles and 3 Quartci-s South of Pliiladelphia
;

but this, to be without Prejudii-c to either Party; and it was

also agreed that the respective I'roprietors should receive the

Quit-Rents due on their own Sides of that temporary Line

;

and the Order of Council of 18 .\ug. 1737. (which had laid Re-

strictions upon I\Ir. l^enns as to their granting out of Lands in

the lower (Jountiesi was agreed to be discharged.

May 2.").

Bv his Majesty's Order in (Council made upon reading the

said Report, in order to preserve Peace ami Tranquillity between

the said Provinces, and to prevent any the like Disturbances



604 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

for the future, his Majesty in Council approved of the said

Agreement, entered into between the Proprietors of the said

respective Provinces, and ordered that the Pi-oprietors of the

said respective Provinces of Maryland and Pensiivania, should

cause the said Agreement to be carried into Execution : whereof

the said Proprietors, and all others whom it might concern,

were to take notice, and govern themselves accordingly. Co.

Off. No. 43.

1740. Jan. 29.

By Bargain and Sale enrolled Thomas Jackson re-conveys

the Premises which had been mortgaged originally to William
Penn for .5000/. unto John and Thomas Penn and their Heirs.

As to one Moiety to the Use of John Penn and his Heirs in Fee,

as to one Quarter Part to the Use of Thomas Penn and his

Heirs in Fee, and as to the other Quarter Part to the Use of John
and Thomas Penn in Fee, but in Trust for Richard Penn, his

Heirs and Assigns for ever. Parchment Deed proved by Paris.

1740.

A written Map made of Part of Pensiivania, and of the three

Lower Counties, (tc. extremely material for the understanding

of this Case, which Map divers Witnesses, Surveyors in other

Provinces as well as in Pensiivania, have been examined and
have spoken to, viz. Jacob Hewling. Thomas Miles, Thomas
Noxon and Benjamin Eastburn. Map in a large marbled Paper
Cover—Of which there is a printed Copy at the Beginning of

this Brief (say Book.)

1742, May 28.

A Release from Letitia Aubrey (the Daughter of Proprietary

William Penn) to the said John, Thomas and Richard Penn of

the 10,000 Acres left her by her Father, and of all Claims by Vir-

tue of his Will. This was executed in order to make her an
unexceptionable Witness, she being examined 3 or 4 Days after.

Parchment Deed proved by Paris.

Chap. XVIL Containing No Pi-oof, bnt a Case stated to, av !

the Opinions of, Sir Clement Wearg. 3Ir. (now Lord Chief

Justice) Willes, and Sir Philip Yorke, (noto Lord Chancellor)

thereon, relating to the Constriiction of Lord BnUimore's
Charter, and his Bounds.

MARYLAND, in the Grant from Kinir Charles the 1st to tiie

Lord Baltimore, dated the 20tli of June 1032, is thus described,

viz. "That Part of a Peninsula, lying in the Parts of America.

"between the Ocean on the East, and the Bay of Chesopeake on

"the West, and divided from the other Part thereol by a Right
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"Line, drawn from the Promontory or Cape of Land called

"Watkins's Point (scituate in the aforesaid Bay near the River
" Wighto) on tlie West, unto the main Ocean on the Eabt, and,
"between thac Bound on the South, unto that Part of Dela-
"ware Bay on tlie iS'orth, wiiich lyeth under the 40th Degree of

"Northern Latitude from the Equinoctial, wlierc New England
"ends;. And all that Tract of Land, between the 1! )undsafore-

"said, that is to say, passing from the aforesaitl Bay called

"Delaware Bay, in a Right Line, by the Degree aforesaid, unto
"the true Meridian of the first Fountain of the River Potow-
"meek, and, from thenc3, trending towards the South, unto
"the farther Bank of the aforesaid River, and following the
"West and South side thereof, unto a certain Place called

"Cinquake. situated near the Mouth of the said River, where
"it falls into the Bay of Chesopeake, and from thence, by a

"straight Line, unto the aforesaid Promontory or Place called
" Watkins Point."

Pensilvania, in the Grant from King Charles the Second to

William Penn Esq; dated the 4th of March 1680, is thus de-

scribed, viz. "All that Tract or Part of Land in America,
"with all the 1-^laiids therein contained, as the same is bounded
"on the East by Delaware River, from twelve Miles Distance
"Northward of Newcastle Town, unto the 43th Degree of North-
"ern Latitude, if the said River doth extend so far Northward,
"but if the said River doth not extend so far Northwards, then,

"by the said River so far as it both extend, and from the Head
"of the said River, the Eastern Bounds are to ba determined by
"a Meridian Line, to be drawn from the said River unto the
"43th Degree; The s^iiid Lands to extend Westward five Degrees
"of Longitude, to be computed from the said Eastern Bounds,
"and the said Lands to be bounded to the North by the Be-
" ginning of the three and fortieth Degree of Northern Latitude,
"and on the South by a Circle drawn at 12 Miles Distance from
"Newcastle. Northwards and Westwards, unto the Beginning
"of the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, then, by a straight
"Line, Westward, to the Limits of Longitude above-mentioned."
The Grant of Maryland begins witli that Part of a Peninsula

lying between the Ocean on the East (by Avhich most of it is

bounded) and Chesopeake Bay on the West: The Extent of

the Provin"e Northward is to that Part of Delaware Bay, which
lyeth under the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, and the
Northern Boundary of it is a Right Line passing from Dela-
ware Bay by the Degree aforesaid. In this Description, Dela-
ware Bay is twice mentioned as the Limits of Maryland; but
neither Delaware River, which falls into the Bay of that Nanje,
nor Sasquahannali, the great River which falls into the Head
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of Chesopeake Bay, are mentioned on any account; but the

Peninsula is confined to the Ocean and Bay of Delaware on the

East, and Chesopeake Bay on the West, which two Bays,

bending in, ;it their Heads, towards each other, truely from a

narrow Isthmus or Neck of Land terminating the Peninsula

there.

The Geographical Maps of those Parts, extant at the Time of

the Grant for Maryland, from whence there are very strong

Arguments to prove the Description of that Province was taken,

placed 40 Degrees very near to the Head of Chesopeake Ba\

and tiie aforesaid Isthmua there.

From all which it appears where the Northern Boundary of

Maryland was, by the Grant, understood to be placed, viz: at

that Isthmus or Northern Part of the Peninsula, near the

Heads of the Chesopeake and Delaware Bays, and not far from

the Town built on Delaware by the Dutch, since called New-
castle.

Pensilvania, by the Grant for it, is bounded on the South by

a Circle drawn at 12 Miles distant from Newcastle, Northward

and Westward, that is, by the Northward and Westw'ard Parts

of that Circle, unto the Beginning of the 40th Degree of North-

ern Latitude, then by a straight Line, &c. which seems per

fectly to agree with the above-mentioned Bounds of Maryland.

In the Years KiSl and 82, great Numbers of sober and indus-

trious People, with their Families and Estates, by Favour of

that Grant, went over to Pensilvania, and there laid out their

Substance in settling themselves, and making large Improve-

ments, beginning at the Southern Bounds of the Province on

Delaware River, as those Bounds are above described.

And about the Year 1683, the Lord Baltimore, then in Mary-

land, caused a Line to be run and marked out, or 8 Miles

more Northerly than the above-mentioned Bounds, as his North-

ern Boundary at that time; Upon which he demanded of the

Proprietor of Pensilvania, all the Lands to the Southward of

it, as by the Copy of his Commission annexed, appears: and

Pensilvania, to avoid Contention, has never, hitherto, made
any Grant or Settlement to the Southward of that Line.

But in the Year 1714, by a large Astronomical Instrument

sent over on purpose, and by another since that time, the Lord

Baltimore caused Observations of the Latitude to be made, by

which they extend the Claim of Maryland not only beyond the

Peniii.^iila and Isthmus, the Bays of Delaware and Chesopeake.

and the Line run l)y the present Lord Baltimore's Ancestor,

but, passing the Isthmus, they carry it up the Rivers Delaware

and Sasquahannah (which exceedingly diverge in their Courses)

so far as to take m the most valuable Improvements of all Pen-
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hilvania. alledging that the true Position of the 40th Degree
will fall somewhat above the Town of Philadelphia, and that
they are not to be confined to the Description of the Peninsula
and Bay of Delaware, tho' these are visible Places on the Earth
which may always be certainly known, while Astronomical
Observations are always subject to be controverted ; but that
their Grant will extend as far as the said Latitude of 40
where ever that shall be found to fall, by Observations skilfulh'
taken.

Now, allowing that what is most commonlv understood bv
the 40th Degree, should, by more accurate Observations at ihi"'.
time, be found to reach more Northerly than was supposed bv
the respective Grants.

(^ucBre. Whether the Lord Baltimore has, or can claim a
Right to any Lands lying to the Northward of the Peninsula
and of the Bavs of Delaware and Chesopeake, and bevond the
Bounds, as understood at the time of his Grant, within the
Grant of Pensilvania, now settled above 40 Years?
This Question depends upon the Intent of the King, with re-

gard to the Boundaries of Maryland, and it seems to me bv the
Boundaries described in the Charter, that the King intended
Maryland should not extend North beyond Delaware Bay which
was then thought to reach to the 40th Degree of Northern Lati-
tude, and so described by the Charts of those Times; and tho'
ur)on a more exact Observation, it shall be discovered that the
Bay .lon't reach so far North, yet. I apprehend, the North Part
of th? Bay was intended to l)e the North Boundarv of Maryland •

This IS confirmed by the subsequent Grant of Pensilvania and
by the Line drawn by the Ancestors of the Lord Baltimore' C
Wearg, 11 April. 1724.

I am of opinion, that Lord Baltimore has no Right to any
Lands lying Northwards of the Isthmus of the Peninsula bevond
the Bays of Delaware and Chesopeake: The Limits of Marv-
land are, by the Grant of King Charles the First, plainlv fixed
there; And by the subsequent Grant to Mr. Penn by Kin-
Charles the Second. 'Tis likewise manifest.that Pensilvania was
to extend as far Southward as the Beginning of the said Isthmus
and Bays, except only that little Compass of Ground round
about Newcastle. The Alteration of the Latitude, which gave
occasion for this Dispute, seems to n)e to be of no consequence
at all. since the Latitude was mentioned in Lord Baltimore's
Grant for no other purpose but to describe that Tract of Land
Avhich was then esteemed to lie under the 40th Degree of Lati-
tude. To ascertain the Bounds, therefore, it must be con
sidered where the 40th Degree of Latitude was fixed at the
time of the .said Grant, and tho' that appears to be mistaken
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by some latter Calculation, the Case will not be altered there-

by, !^in(e that Tract of Land which, at the time of the said

Grant, was esteemed to be in that De^rree of Latitude and not

any Point in the Heavens, was to be the Mark of the Boundary

betwixt Pensllvania and Maiyland; besides, as neither of the

Rivers of Delaware or Sasquehannah are mentioned in Lord

Baltimore's Grant, and as it expressly appears by that Grant,

that Maryland was not to extend Northwards beyond the Isth-

mus of tlie Peninsula, for those Reasons, likewise, 'tis plain to

a Demonstration that there is no colour for extending: the

Bounds of Maryland Northwards, as Lord Baltimore endeavours

to do. J. Willes, 28 Feb. 1733.

I am of opinion, that the Boundaries described in the Lord

Baltimore's Grant, must now be understood in the same man-

ner as they were at the time of the making thereof, and con-

sequently, that in case the Extent of Maryland to the North

should be taken to be to the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude,

yet, that 40th Degree must be taken to be according to the

Calculation allowed at that time, and as it was then laid down

in Maps and Charts, even tho' that Ca^.culation was really

erroneous. And what the rather convinceo me that Lord Bal-

timore can claim nothing to the Northward of the Peninsula

is, that the Description is not, to the 40th Degree of the North-

ern Latitude, but to that Part of Delaware Bay which lies

under the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude. Now. if Delaware

Bay be rightly laid down in the Plans laid before me, no Part

of it comes near to that Line, where, by their late Observations

they would fix the 40th Degree of Northern Latitude, and

therefore that could not be the Northern Boundary intended

by the Grant. P. Yorke. 23 May. 1724.

We shall find some trifling Surveyors Dependents on the Lord

Baltimore taking upon them to expound the King's Charter,

very badly as Lawyers. and if possible worse as Mathematicians,

by and by. Against whose Opinions the foregoing will abund-

antly serve.

And now we come to the Depositions of Witnesses on both

sides.

DEPOSITIONS FOR THE PLAINTIFFS, WITH SOME OB-
SERVATIONS THEREON.

NOTE. The Proofs being abundantly long, the common Proof

of the Execution of Deeds, or of Copys of Papers from the

Chapel of the Rolls. Council Office, or Board of Trade, &c.

which are not attendetl with some special (Circumstances, are
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oinitte.l Jiere; havin- a Scheme in my Hand, readv to turn at
the Hearing, instantly to the Proof of any such Papers as those,
II demanded.
^'OTE, As often as we quote the Depositions of
Mohn Anderson,
*John Garetson,

Mames Steel, who was one of our Commissioners to execute
the Articles, and our Receiver General of ^>uit-Reuts.
*Wooman Stuckiey,

*William Till,

*William Waples, there is this Mark* set before their Names
whicli is, to denote that the Defendant has cross examined
them as tn their being interested only, which they have so far
acknowledged, as to say they hold Lands in the 'three Lower
Counties, under the Plaintiffs; altho' some of them say theyJon t believe themselves concerned in tlie Event of the Cause
notwithstanding that; their cross Examinations are at the vJry
Beginning of the Brief of the Defendant's Depositions where
you 11 spe how far their Concern leaves them good Witnesses
or not. If you think them all exceptionable, we have other
Witnesses, to tlie Point they speak to; and. rather than fail,
the Defendant, himself, has proved every Fact for us ThePerson we would least choose to lose is James Steel, who is oneof our Witnesses that prove our receiving of Quit-Rents, tho'
that also the Defendant has likewise proved tor us.

1ST BRANCH, relating to the first Discovery of the Peninsula
and the first Maps publish'd before che Year 1632 andhow many several Editions of Captain Smith's Book had
been publish'd before that Year.

Bevjamin Bastburn, (Surveyor General of PensiUania, aqed
44. {Lib. C. fa. 678. I7it. 2. fo. 769

]
Ls acquainted with some Parts of the Peninsula, which

shoots out. Southerly from the Main Land or Continent ofAmerica into the Ocean, and which lies between West New
Jersey and Chesopeak Bay. Became acquainted with the
Eastern Parts thereof, lying on Delaware Bay and River
and Part of the Ocean, from Certificates and Drafts of Sur'veys of Lands made therein under the Pensilvania Proprie-
tors; which Certificates and Drafts were returned into theSurveyor General's Office in Pensilvania, which Office he has
enjoved for seven Years past: Became acquainted with theNorthern Parts of the said Peninsula by travelling and mak-
ing Personal Observations there. Has .irquired his I^nowledge
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of the other Parts of said Peninsula, by reading and studying
Books and ^iaps oi (reoirraphy, and Accounts of Voyages and
Discovers of J^ands and Territories in America. Such Maps,
Boolis and Accounts have been his Study for about twenty Years.

That in 1624, Captain John Smith published a Book, contain-

ing an Account of said Peninsula, and several adjacent parts,

with a Map describing the same. Which Book and Map he
believes, was tbe first particular Account and Description of

those Parts, publisheii by any Englisnman. Has look'd on
that printed Book, exhibited to him, the same is the Book by
him before mentioned, and which he believes, is well known
amongst Historians, Geographers and Mathematicians. Like-

wise believes that tlie Map between Fol. 40. and 41. of that
Book, in which Map tliere are these Words, (Discovered and
described by Captain John Smith 160G. ) is well known to His-

torians, Gfeographers and Mathematicians. And the said Book
and Map are generally reputed and esteemed to be published
by said Smith in or about 1024. Says he neither knows nor has
heard, that any other Book or Map, describing the Parts afore-

said, were printed or published, by any Englishman, before the

Month of June 1632.

James Logan, aged GO. [Lib. B. fol. 70. Int. 2. fol. 78.]

Is well acquainted with the Peninsula, lying between West New
Jersey and Chesopeak Bay ; became acquainted with it, by ocular

Views, by Maps, and i)y reading Books of (jeography and His-

tory. Has consulted and considered Maps, Books of Geography
and Hi.story, and Accounts of Voyages, at times for 30 Years
past. From his Reading and Observation believes Captain
John Slnith. the Author of Smith's History of Virginia, printed

in London 1624, was the first Englishman that printed any Map
and Account of the .said Peninsuhi.aud the Territories adjacent

thereto. That he has look'd on the said Book, now produced,
and believes it is well known amongst Historians, Geographers
and Mathematicians, and was the Foundation of Beverly's His-

tory of Virginia. Has viewed the Map of Virginia, between
Fol. 40. and 41.of the said Book, in which Map it's said that Vir-

ginia was discovered and described \)y the said Captain Smith
in 160C. And believes the said Map is likewise well known
amongst Historians, Geographers and i\hithematicians; and
which Book and Map lie believes, are generally esteemed to be

publish'd by Captain Smith, about the Time in the Title-Page

mentioned; and are, as he believes, o! iniquestionai)le Credit

amongst all learned Men; has neither known, seen, or been

acquainted with, any other printed History, Map, or Descrip-

tion of the .said Peninsula, done, or reputed to be done, by any
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Englishman or Foreigner, that were extant so early as June
1632. And believes there is not any other, because, on diligent
Search of Mercator's, Jansen's, and Bleau's Atlas, he could
never discover any.

Ferd. John Paris, [Lib. A. fol. 195. Int. 2(\. fol. 312.]
Has diligently enquired after the most ancient printed Map

of Virginia, or the Places in Question, that had been made,
or was reputed to have been made, by any Englishman; and
the Account he obtained was, that Captain Smith's Account
of Virginia, and his Map thereof, were the first and best
Accounts of the Discovery, and his Map the earliest printed
Map, of those Parts, that were ever printed by any English-
man; whereupon, made very diligent Search, "to find out as
many ancient Editions thereof, as he could ; and found the
said Map, in some printed Accounts, said to be of (\aptain
Smith's and bearing Date severally in the Years 1G12, 1624,
and 1625. Saith, the Quarto bound Book i)roduced and let-
tered (West-Indies B.) he found in a Collection of Books,
which he is informed and believes, was heretofore given by
Dr. White Kennet, Bishop of Peterborough deceHsed, to the
Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in foreign Parts, for
an American Library for the said Society; and out of which
Collection or Library he borrowed that Quarto Book, which
contains sundry printed Tracts, relating to several Parts of the
Continent of America, bound up together; the first whereof is

entitled, A Map of Virginia, with a Description of the (Jountry,
&c. written by Captain Smith, some time Governor of the
Country, and mentions to have been printed at Oxford by
Joseph Barnes 1612; at the End of which Tract, in the said
Quarto bound Book, theie is a printed Map of Virginia, which
is therein said to be discovered and described by Captain John
Smith: saith that in his Searches, he, at several Booksellers,
met with a thin Folio Edition of a Work, Avhich appeared to
this Deponent to be an ancient Book, and which was entitled.
The General History of Virginia. New England, 6ic. also the
Maps and Descriptions of all those Countries, &c. divided into
(i Books, by Captain John Smith, sometijues Governour in those
Countries. &c. and Admiral of New England. London printed
for Michael Sparkes 1624; before the Page (41) of which thin
Folio, there is the like printed Map of Virginia (to this De-
ponent's belief) with that in the said before mentioned Quarto
Book of 1612; and easily finding many printed Copies of the
said thin folio Book and Map, did, therefore buy two (if not
three) of the same, one of which is now produced, having the
Letters J. S. stampM into tlie Cove*-. And also found out
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another very large CoUeetion of Discoveries and Voyages, con-

tained in a Work said to be printed in 1G25; which consists of

several thick Volumes in Folio, and iscouimonly called Purchas

Pilgrims: in one Volume of which last mentioned Work now
produced and lettered (Purchas Pilgrims Vol. IV. ' between Pages

1690 and 1691, another liKe printed Copy of the said Captain

Smith's Map, appears to this Deponent to be fixed; and Avhich

Map in Purchas's, and iii Captain Smith's thin Folio History,

this Deponent believes are both printed off from one Plate

which believes not only from the great Similitude of the two

Copys, but also from an Observation upon both the said Maps
which he particularly mentions, besides which three Editions

of 1612, 1()24, and 1G25. the Deponent upon his best Observation,

believes that the Book in Ogylby's of 1G71, (before mentioned

by and producec> to the Deponent) does about Fol. 192, contain

a Map of New Virginia, likewise drawn from, and nearly cor-

respondent to, the said Smitli's Maps, in the Out- Lines of the

Country, and Places therein contained.

2D BRANCH to prove my Lord Baltimore's now- printed Buok
and Map. and Description of JMarvland, and how far he then

claimed; published in the Year 16o5, within tliree Years

after the Date of his Charter, and soon after he had landed

in, taken Possession of, and settled his Province of Mary-

land.

Dr. Thomas Stack. [Lib. A. Fol. 41. Int. 45. Fol. 42.]

That he has looked upon the Book or Collection of Tracts,

bound up all together, noAv produced, which is a Volume of

about 19 various Tracts, on different Subjects, several of which

regard our Foreign Plantations; and it ismark'd, at the Top of

the first Leaf within the Cover C. 199, which is a Mark of Sir

Hans Sloane's Library, to Avhich tlie said produced Volume
answers in his Catalogue; the same Page also contains these

Words (Hans Sloane) written by liimself, as he acknowledged

to this Deponent : and this Deponent is well assured. Saith

that Sir Hans Sloane is the present Owner or Proprietor of the

said Volume, and wliich he can depose, because tliat on Tues-

day last, he intrusted the Deponent with the said Volume, out

of his Library, in order to be examin'd to in this Cause, on the

I)eponent's giving him a Receipt for tlie return thereof to him
again, and also, because, that, some Years ago, he intrusted

this Deponent therewith, in order to be produced at the Board

of Trade. And further for that, in examining Sir Hans Sloane's

Libraxy, in the Year 1733, soon after he appointed the Deponent
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his Librariaxi the Deponent then took Notice of the said pro-
duced Volume. And verily believes 8ir Hans Sloane has been
in Possession of the said Volume between 40 and 50 Years, for

that very particular Tract contained therein is entered in the
first Volume of his Catalogue, in his own Hand Writing, which
first Volume of his Catalogue, as far as is written by himself,

does not to the best of the Deponent's Remembrance, contain
any oue Book or Tract publish' d since the Year 1690 ; and there-

fore believed that he was in Possession of all the Books, entered
by himself in the said first Volume in or before the said Year
10!»1); and saith that Sir Hans Sloane has been collecting ancient

and curious Books and Tracts ever since 1682, at least, as he has
often told the Deponent and the Deponent is well assured to be

true : for the Deponent has often taken Notice of several Books
in his Library, in which he mark'd the Date of buying and pur
casing them to be 1682, written with his own Hand, in the said

respective Books; and saith that Sir Hans Sloane has a very

large Library, and in particular, a vast Collection of small

Tracts, commonly called Pamphlets ; and the Deponent observed

whilst he took Care of Sir Hans Sloane's Library, that he had
been from the said Year 1682, and then was extremely curious

in collecting every thing, especially Old Tracts published, or

even in Manuscript, ralating to our Plantations and Settle-

ments abroad, Voyages and Travels, and many ovher things;

on which said particular Subject does not remember that Sir

Hans ever omitted to purchase, or endeavoured to purchase,

any Book or Tract, especially Old ones, that a most dilligent

enquiry and examination, or perusal of Catalogues of Books to

be sold could intimate to him; saith the precise Time when
the said Sir Hans Sloane became first possessed of the said pro

duced Volume does not appear by any List, Catalogue or Ac-

count kept in his Library, but firmly believes Sir Hans has

been in Possession thereof between 40 and 50 Years tor the

Reasons above mentioned. Saith that he hath look'd upon that

particular Trai-t, bound up in the said produced Volume,
which purports to contain (a Relation of Maryland, together

with a Map of tlie Country, the fJonditions of Plantation, his

Majesty's Charter to Lord Baltimore translated into English)

and bearing for its Date September the 8th, Anno Dom. 1635.

And takes himself to be pretty well acquainted with Books,

having had Academical Education, and always loved Books,

and liaving taken Care of Sir Hans Sloane's Librarj' about 7

Years; which Library contains near 40.000 Volumes, among
which are an immense Number of siii.-tll Tracts, collected and
bound together in Volumes, for their Preservation: and he

33— Vol. XV.
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also, having at present, and for some time past, the Care of

Dr. Mead's Library, and having about 2500 Volumes in his own
Study or Library. And saith it is no difficult matter for a

Person conv^ersant with Books, to distinguish an Old Book,

or a Book printed above a IOC Years since, from a New Book ;

the Letter or Type, the Paper , often tlie Paper-Mark, and in

short the whole Face or x\.ppearance of the Book or Tract, are

very good Grounds to make such a Distinction. And saith that

he saw and considered the particular Tract of the said produced

Book herein above-mentioned, upon the Oscasion here after

mentioned, (to wit) about 7 or 8 Years ago, a Gentleman un-

known to this Deponent, wlio called himself Mr. Penn, came
to Sir Hans Sloane, and desired a Sight of the said particular

Tract: whereupon the Deponent, by the said Sir Hans Sloane's

Direction (to whom the Deponent was then Librarian) look'd

for the Entry of the said Tract in his Catalogue, (the usual

way of finding Books in great Libraries) and having found it,

the Deponent brought the said produced Volume which con-

tains it, to the said Sir Hans, who in this Deponent's Presence

shewed the said particular Tract, and the Map contained

therein, to Mr. Penn; and the said Mr. Penn desired the Loan
of it, for a Day on any Security, which Sir Hans did not agree

to; but the said Mr. Penn urging that it would be a great

Detriment to him, in a Cause depending between him and the

Lord Baltimore, if the said produced Book could not be pro-

duced that same Day at the Board of Trade, the said Sir Hans
said, he would intrust the Deponent with it, for that purpose,

on Condition that the Deponent would not part with it out of

his Sight or Possession, but barely produce it at the said Board
of Trade, if required; and therefore he desired the Dejjonent

to take the said produced Book, and carry it directly to the

said Board of Trade and bring it back again ; which the De-

ponent accordingly did; and after the Deponent's return home
to the said Sir Hans, this Deponent carefully examined and

considered the said Tract in particular, and really believes that

the said Tract is a genuine one, printed and published at the

Time of its Date, (to wit) September the 8th 1635, and not a

new or modern Tract; and that the Motive of the said Sir Hans
Sloane, in procuring the said particular Tract was, his extreme

Curiosity in purchasing every thing published or even in

Manuscript, relating to our Plantations abroad; and really

believes Sir Hans had no private View in procuring the said

Tract, nor any View therein than that of making his Col-

lection of Books and Tracts on the Subjects before-mentioned

as compleate as he possibly could, and consequently, no View

of deceiving or imposing on any Person whatsoever. And
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saith that the said Tract has an Engraved and Printed Map
inserted, between Pages 12 and 1:3. and bound up with it,

which Map it had at the Time this Deponent examined it, as
above-mentioned. And saitli the said Map hath these Words
(Hans Sloane) written on the Back of it, which the said Sir
Hans told the Deponent he formerly wrote on it, to tlie best
of his Remembrance upon occasion of lending the said pro-
duced Volume out of his Library. And saith that ui)on a strict

Examination, and impartial Observation, on the said Map, he
does verily believe it to be a genuine and ancient Map, coteni-
porary with the .said Tract, to be intended for the said Tract,
and to be the very identical Map expressed in the Title-Page of
the said Tract. And saith he hath looked upon a small printed
Tract, now likewise produced, which is not complete or per-
fect at the latter end thereof; and which is marked on the Out-
side (Maryland 1G35. ) and he hath also looked upon the written
Map of Maryland, contained between tlie 12th and 18th Pages
thereof; and saith that he hath very carefully and diligently
examined and compared the said last mentioned single Tract
(so far as it goes) with the above-mentioned particular Tract
in the aforesaid produced Volume of Tracts, and finds they
very exactly and minutely agree together, except that the Title-
Page in the said single Tract having been partly wore or tore
off, and the Defect thereof supplied by Writing, this Deponent
observes that the Word (London) which is printed underueatli
the Word (Dolphin ) in the said produced Volume, is omitted
to be copied in the said single Tract; and really believes that
the said two Tracts are equally genuine, so far as they are per-
fect; and that they are two Cojjies of the same orginal Impres-
sion, of the same Tract: for this Deponent finds an exact Agree-
ment or Sameness, in the Frame of the Letter-Press, the Letter
or Type, the Lines of each Page, the Orthography, thf? Punctua-
tion, the Errors, some Vjad Types, and the Mark or Alphal)et of

the Sheets at the Bottom of the Pages And saith he hath com-
pared and examined the written Map, contained in the said
single Tract, with the printed Mip contained in the said pro-
duced Collection of Tracts, and believes the said written Map
to be a good Copy of the said printed one. And this Deponent
has observed that there is, in both the said Maps, a Place called

Chesopeak Bay, and each of the said Maps contain a prick'd
or dotted strait Line, running quite thro" the said I\Iaps, from
East to West, at the Figure (40) which Figure (40) is at the East-
side or Border of the .said Majjs; and the said prickt or dotted
streight Line, in both the said printed and written Maps, runs
in the same place, or extremely near, in each of the .said re-

spective Maps; and the said prickt or dotted streiglit Line runs
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close in one part thereof, to the Head of Chesopeak Bay, in

both the said printed and written Maps.

Note—The Utseof establishing this Book and Map printed

by Lord Baltimore himself, so early as in 1635, to invite

Persons to settle his Country, in three Years after it was
granted to him, is to shew that then he laid down the

40th Degree compleat to touch or make a Tangent to the

Head of Chesapeak Bay; whereas he has sinc9 from time

to time encroacht, and we have now granted to him,

beyond every of his Encroachments.

Ferd. John Paris [Lib. A. fol. 195. Int. 27. fol. 322.]

That he hath diligently enquired after the most ancient

printed Maps and Accounts of the particular Province of Mary-

land, but hath not been able to discover more than two such an-

tient printed Maps and Accounts which particularly and profes-

sedly treat of Maryland, as a particular Province: The one of

which was, and is a small Quarto Book called or said to be a Re-

lation of Maryland, together with a Map of the Country, the Con-

ditions of Plantation, his Majesty's Charter to the Lord Balti-

more translated into English, &c. and bearing for the Date of

such Book the 8th of September, Anno Domini 1635, in which

was a Map of Maryland and . the other was the said Book of

Ogilby's of 1671 before spoken of by, and produced to this De-

ponent; In Avhich last mentioned Book. at about Folio 183, there

appeared to this Deponent to be a new Description of Maryland,

together with a Map of that Province very nearly agreeing

in the Out Lines (according to the Deponent's best Judgment
and Belief) with that in the said small Book of 1635; out con-

taining: more and other Names, and different Names, of Places

from those contained in the said other Book and Map of 1635;

Biit, besides such printed Maps and Accounts, the Deponent
found out, at the Board of Trade, a written Map of Maryland,

which the Deponent believes and apprehends, to have been a

Map of some Antiquity, and before any G-rant was made from

the Crown of the Province of Pensilvania because, that the De-

ponent does not, to his apprehension, perceive any Notice taken

therein of any such Province as Pensilvania.
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3D BRANCH, containinir the strongest Proof uncontradicted,
that the Nature of the Case can admit of, that there never

was any real Order of Council of 4th April 1638, about
Williani Clayborn and the Isle of Kent ; but that such Order
was made or invented, by Lord Baltimore in the Year 1685.

'Ferd. John Paris [Lib. A. ful. lito. Int. 3:1. fol. 392.

J

That he hatli perused the Paper produced. markt Botra No 4,

and the same bears Date the 4th Day ot April 16o8, and, according
To the Terms and Expressions tlierein, the same appears to be ot

tile Purport of a Report or Order, of the Privy Council, or of

some Lords or Committee thereof, upon some Petition of one
William Clayborne relating to the Isle of Kent; and the De-

ponent got the said produced Copy from the Office of the Lords
Commissioners for Trade, and the Reason and Occasion of look-

ing after, and getting out, such produced Copy were, that

the Deponent found that Mention was made of some such Paper,

in a Petition presented to his Majesty, in the Name of the De-
fendant on 8th of August 1734, and also in a Report made by

the Lords for Trade upon such Petition, on ICth January 1734;

wherefore the Deponent was desirous to see what such Paper
was? And saith that the Original Paper at the Board of Trade,

(from which such now produced Paper was copied) and with
which the Deponent examined the same, appeared to be bound
up in a Book, not by way of regular Entry of any Papers of

the Year 1638, or about that time, but along with a miscella.

neous Collection of many other Papers of many difl'erent Kinds,

Sizes and Dates relating to many dill'erent Matters; and such

Original Paper did not appear to this Deponent to have then,

or to have ever had any Sign, Seal t>r Mark of Attestation,

whatsoever to the same, nor to carry with it any Degree of

Authority or Authenticity, to the Deponent's Belief; and
as the Deponent conceived that great stress was laid (in the

said Petition in 1734) upon such Paper, and as the Deponent
discovered some Entries (in or about 1685) that seemed (to

this Deponent's Belief) very much to question the Authority of

such Paper, the Deponent therefore made Enquiry at the Privy

Council Office, whether the Privy Council Registers or .Journals

of the Year 1638 were in Being or not? Upon which Enquiry
Vjeing informed that the Council Registers of that Year were

in Being, the Deponent did .search, and look into the same,

and did there find many Acts, Proceedings or Orders of the

Privy Council in the said Year 1638. and several of Dates very

near the Day. (if not upon the very Day) that the produced

Copy bears Date, but after diligent Search made by him could

find no Entry there, of any Order, of any such Date as the said
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produced Copy, or of any other Date, which related to the said

William Clayborn and the said Isle of Kent, of any like Pur-
port with the said Copy now produced.

Sa7)iue/ Gellibrand [Lib. A. fol. 91. Int. 5. fol. 102.]

Has lookt upon the Exhibit Botra No 4. which purports to be

a Copy of Report of the Commissioners for Foreign Plantations
upon Clayborne's Petition against Lord Baltimore dated 4th

April 1638. Says he never, at any time, saw an Original of the'

said Paper under any Seal ; nor any Copy of it which purported
to be signed or attested as an authentick Copy, by any Clerk of

the Council. Nor is the Paper, from which the produced Copv
was copied, entred up in any Original Journal or Register Book
of the Acts and Order'< of the Committee of Council for Trade
and Plantations, of the Year 1G38. or about that time, as he
most assuredly believes; For he has made diligent Search, in

the said Journals and Registers, of and about that Year, and
can find no Entry thereof. Says the Paper, from which the

produced Copy was made, remains bound up in one of the old

Books in the Plantation Office, with many other Papers, such
as Petitions. Orders, Letters, and the like, some whereof are

Originals, and others only Copies, which were, as he assuredly

believes, at various times, during the Space of several Y^ears.

before the Affairs of Trade and Plantations were put into

Commission as aforesaid, presented to, laid before, or left with
the said Committee for Trade, or their Secretary or other Offi-

cers. Says the said Boo.k is not a Book of regular Entries, in

any regular Series, but contains miscellaneously, many different

Papers relating to many different Matters and Persons, and of

many different Dates; and the Papers bound up therein are not
all of a size, but some are small Papers, others large, some of

them contain Part of a Sheet only, others several Sheets. The
3 Papers contained therein, next preceeding that from whence
this Copy was made are dated 18th August 1685, 13th October
1683, and 3 July 1663; and the three Papers, next following it,

are dated 4th April 1638. 12th May 1684. and 20th April 1685.

Says it has been the Custom and Usage in the said Office, to

bind up, in Books, such Papers, and Copies of Papers, as Persons
have presented to. or laid before, or left with the Committee, or

Lords Commissioners for Trade, or their Secretary; And, in

case any Person having Business depending before the said Lords
Commissioners should at this time, present to them any Paper
as a Copy of an Order of Council of some old Date, and should
leave it before them, such Copy would, according to the Course
and Usage of the said Office, be bound up into a Book, when
there should be Papers enough to make a Volume of, digested
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under their respective and distinct Heads and Titles in Orderof Time as received and delivered, which vvas not as lie observed
«^ regularly done before the Aflairs of Tra le were pur under_om.aission as aforesaid. «ay.s he has lately perused and r adhe Minutes and Records of 8th and 17th October 1685 of the-oiuinittee or Trade and Plantations, relating to a Matter then.a Contest l^etween Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn. wherel^ippears that they attended the Board on both tho e D n anthat on the 17th of October the Lord Baltimore had undenaketo procure an authentick Copy of a Report made bv the Commissioners for Foreign Plantations on ith April 1738. touching

W Ih^ fne^r r "^""^ ^-Itimore's Predecessors aniW illiam Cleyburne about the Isle of Kent; Prom whence it

waTLTof ^V'f /^
'''''''' ^^^'" -^^^^ '"^^^ '^^^y^^

October irs-' AH " '"'^ Committee by Lord Baltimore in

pfperTn ttsafd^ BoT ^'^ ''''''''''
'' ' '^^ ^^^>' ^' ^^^^

Charles Dickenson [Lib. A. fol 19. Int. 38. fol. 27 ]

of hir\fr'^°^'?>'^''P''^''^ ®""'^"^ ^« the Council Chamberof his Majesty's Privy Council, and has been so ten Years orupwards; and saith that the Council Registers of the letsOrders Reports, and Procee<lings of the Privy Council, and' ithe Lords or Committee of Privy Council, of the Year IG;^ areI" Being in the said Office. And .saith that he hath carlt

h

exa,nined the Council Registers, in order to find out the Ent t

Petition ot Wilham Clayborne relating to the Isle of Kentand saith that he did find several Entril in the Council Re":
ter.s wherein the Orders and other Acts of the said Year r638

o'JheTdiff
• '^*^VT7

''^^^ ^^ '''' '''' ^' ^'^--^' 168.; relaUng toother different Matters, but this Deponent could not nor did

ll\ *^-V'^
•' *^^"'^" ^^ '^'' ^^'*' -^^l' ^^P'-il 1638 of anv Re-port or Order of the Lords or Committee of Privv CouncUwh,eh related to William Clayborne and the Isle^of Ken !

though he carefully searcht in the said Council Registers for tt;

What adds to this Proof i.s, that the pretemled Order of4th April mentions a suppo.sed prior Reference of Clay-borne s Petitiot> to that Committee. But there is no sud,Reference neither to be found, so that it's manifest thewhole IS an Invention.
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4TH BRANCH, sliewing that the Swedes, the Dutch, and the

Duke of York, successively, held the Lands now called the

three Lower Counties, under the Names of New Sweden, New
Netherland, South River, Delaware, Sandhook from the

Y'ear 1G30 downwards. That the principal Seat of Govern-

ment was then at New Y'ork. And Lord Baltimore's An-

cestors never possest—also of the Conquest from the Dutch

in 1664.

John Ramho ofNew Jersey aged "l^iLib. B.fol.Z^. Int. 27.foI. 37.]

Knows the Province of Pensilvania, is acquainted with New-

castle, and has oeen at the Place commonly called the Whore-

kills, Init is not otherwise acquainted with the three Lower

Counties. Knew the Province before it was called Pensilvania,

being upwards of 70 Years ago [before 1670] Has heard from his

Father and otlier old People, that the said Countries wer? origi-

nally settled by the Dutch and Swedes, but by which of them

first does not remember to have heard. But knows that the

same (Jountyies have been since under the Ofovernment of the

English. Has heard that the said Countries were first called

New Swedeland by the Swedes, And knows that the same

Countries were, afterwards called South River by the Dutch,

and sometimes were called Delaware River. And that the Pro-

vince of Pensilvania has been called by that Name, ever since

William Penn's being Proprietor thereof; but by what Names
the said three Lower Counties were since severally called knows

not. Knows the Bay and River of Delaware, which as he has

heard was formerly called South River, but, after the coming

of the English wer;- (ailed Delaware River and Bay. Has been

informed l>y the Sailors, that, when they come in from Sea and

arrive at Bombay Hook, anciently called Boml)keys hook, they

suppose and take themselves to be at the Head or End of the

Bay, at the Beginning or Entrance of the River. That New-

castle was formerly called Sandhook by the Dutch, and, vince the

same has been in the Hands of the English.has been called New-

castle, and does not know or remember to have heard the same

called by any other Names. Does not know nor has heard, that

the said three lower Counties were anciently divided into

Counties, but has heard that the Creek at Lewis town, near the

Capes, was called the Whorekills. Does not know, nor ever

heard, that the said Province of Pensilvania. and the three lower

Counties or any part thereof, were ever under the <TOvernraent

of Lord Baltiiuore.

William Peterson, of Neir Jersey aged 92. [Lib. B. fol. 24. Int.

27. fol. 25. ]

Has known the Province of Pensilvania and the Land between
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Newcastle and Whorekill. foniaerly mlled Sandhook. a Ion-
time, and before AVilliani Peiin muie into the Country; but
can't ascertain the exact Time of his first Knowledge, n()r does
he know that any part of the Land between Newcastle and
^Vhorekill was ever called Kent; when he came into the Coun-
try the said Province, and the Land there called Sandhook
were in Possession of tlic Dutch, under the Government of the
Province now called New York, at that time called Manhadas.
And has heard from the Swedes, that the said Province anil
Land were possest, l)y People of their Nation, before the Pos-
session of the Dutch. That the said Province and Land were
formerly called New-Netherland by the Dutch, but after the
Arrival of William Penn here they were called Pensilvaniaand
Newcastle. He knows the Bay or River of Delaware, and never
heard it called from the Mouth between Cape May and the
Whorekill, where it enters into the Sea, upwards, by anv other
Name than the Bay or River. Has never heard, or known that
the Province of Pensilvania or the Counties of Newcastle, Kent
and Sussex, or any of them, have been under the Government of
Lord Balumore Proprietor of Maryland.

i^amuel Presto)! [L/h. B. fol. .'512. Int. 21. fol. 336.]
Has heard and believes that the Bay and River were formerly

under the (Toveniment of the Dutch, and were then called
South River by the Dutch, and also in some old Dutch Maps
which he has seen. Has also heard that the Swedes had form-
erly some Pretensions in those Parts.

Thomas Noxon. an,.! 40. [TAh. C. fol. 488. Int. 27. fat. 502.]
Has heard from many old Dutch People, Inhabitants of the

City of New York, and of ancient Dutch. Swedes, and other anci-
ent Inhal)itants of the County of Newcastle, and believes, that
all the Lands on the West side of Delaware River and' Bay
from thtj Ocean up to about the Falls of Delaware, were under
the Dutch Government, whose principal Seat was at the said
City of New York formerly called Manhatans; their whole Pos-
.sessions in those Parts being at that time called New Nether-
lands. Says he is the more confirmed in this Belief became it ap-
F)earsfrom the Dutch Records at the City of New York, that the
.said Lanos on the West side of Delaw-are were under theGovern-
ment of the Dutch from 1030 t«. lGf.4. By which Records it also
appears that about 1G37 the Swedes made Encroachments upon
the Dutcli Settlements, on the West side of Delaware River afore-
said, M'hich produced many Quarrels and Differences between
the Dutch and Swedes that continued till near or about 1047
or 1648. About whicli time, it also appears by the .said Records,
that the Swedes, who then continued within the Claim of the
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Dutch, Ixcame subjec^t to the Dutch (jroveniuieiit. And that,

by the aaid Records, it further appears that the Dutch Posses-

sion and (jovernment continued till 16G4; at which time the

said Lands on Delaware were reduced to the Subjection of the

Kin<; of Great Britain. Has never heard or l)elieves that Pen-
silvaniaand the three lower Counties were ever under tht- (iov-

ernuient of the Proprietor of Maryland, but has heard, by
ancient Inhabitants of the said Counties, that some People of

Maryland burnt and destroyed the Town of Lewes, formerly

(tailed Whorekill, the Truth whereof appears more plainly to

this Deponent from a Letter, upon Record in the (;!ity of New
Y'ork, which appears to be sent from Francis Lovelace. Gov-
ernor of New York, to the Governor of Maryland, comulaining
that one Jones, with some others, as dissolute as himself, came
to the Whorekills, rifled the Houses of the Inhabitants, and
used them very ill; and likewise demanding satisfaction for

said Injuries.

5TH BRANCH, proving where the true Susquehannah Indian
Fort formerly stood, which is mentioned in some of the

Proceedings in 1680.

Jaiiits Hendn'dks luied !'). [Lib. C. fol. 74:!. Tat. VM ful. 744.

and 132. fol. 748]

Knows Part of Cecil County in Maryland, and Lancaster, Ches-

ter, and Philndelphia Counties in Pensilvania. Does not know
the Bay of Chesapeak. but knows the River of rSusquehannah,

Part of which lies in Maryland, and Part in Pensilvania. Has
seen Indian Forts and Indian Towns; apprehends the Difference

between an Indian Fort and Town is, that the first is an House
or Number of Houses surrounded by Stakes of Wood and a
Bank of Earth east up, and the other is only a Number of

Cabbins, built near each other, without being so surrounded.

Says that he, near fifty Y'ears ago, saw about 40 Indian Cabbins
or Houses upon the upper Point of Land which forms the .Mouth

of Octorara Creek that runs into Susquehannah River aforesaid,

within about Half a Mile of the .said Creek and River; which
Town had Stakes t)f Wood, and a Bank cast up round it. That
the Affirmant was then told, by some of the Indians there re-

siding, that they called the same Place ]\Ieanock. which thej*

said, in English, signified a Fortification or Fortified Town.
Has also seen the Ruins of another such Fortified Town, on the

East side of Susquehannah River aforesaid, opposite to a Place

where one Thomas Cresap lately dwelt. That the Land there,

on i)oth sides of the said River, was formerly Conajocula.
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Further says that the Indians, who live,] in the said last men-
tioned Town before he saw the same, were moved from thence
lower down (to) the said River to Cone^toga. [Int. 132. fol.
748] Has known the said River iSusquehanuah. near fifty Years,
and first became acquainted with it. by searching thereabout for
Mines. That he knows the Place on the said River called Con •

estoga, and that near Susquehannah, near fiftv Years, and first
became acquainted with it, by searching thereabout for Mines.
That he knows the Place on the said River called Conestoga,
and that near -50 Years ago [that must be 1690 or after] he a'iid
another Person travelled to Conestoga, and this Affirmant un-
derstanding the Indian Language, enquired of .several of the
Indians there, whether any Christian People had ever travelled
so high up the said River as Conestoga aforesaid? and was in-
formed by them that there had not, but that this Affirmant
and his said Companion were the fir.st; for which reason this
Affirmant does believe no Christian People had ever, before
that time, travelled so high up the said River.
Two Reasons why the Upper Fort could not })e the Susque-

hannah Fort, mentioned as agreed upon before the Lords of
the Council in 1680.

1st, No Christain had ever been up so high in ten or twelve
Years after that time, to know that there was any Fort
there.

2d, The Land there was not Susquehannah Land, it was
Conajocula, which is the Name of another Nation of
Indians.

Ergo the lower Fort, at the Mouth of Octorara Creek was
the Fort mentioned, before the Lords of the Council in 1680.
And that precisely falls in, and coincides, with my Lord Bal-

timore's running his Line presently after, viz. in 1683. from the
Place where that Fort was, viz. the Mouth of Octorara Creek.
As to which Fort our Evidence continues very strong and

clear.

Johv Hans Steel innii [Lib. C. fol. 749. Int. 131, /o/. 750.]
Indian Trader, aged 8.'). Is acquainted with the greatest Part

of Maryland and Pensilvania, and is well acquainted with the
Bay of Chesopeak and Susquehannah River, and some part of
the said River lies in :\[a,ryland, and some part of it in Pensil-
vania. Has frequently seen both Indian Towns and In-
dian Forts, and says the Difference between an Indian
Town and an Indian Fort i.s. that an Indian Town is a Num-
ber of Indian Houses or Cabbins built or .set near together
and an Indian Fort is such a Town, fortifie.i or surrounded
with a Breast-work of Poles or Stakes of Wood set up, and a
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Bank of Eiirtli thrown up about them. Says that about forty

or tifry Years ago, lie saw an Indian Town wherein were Indians

tluMi residing, at the Point of Laud at the upper side of, and
ahoiir Halt a Mile from, the Mouth of Octorara Creek, which
runs into Susquehannah River aforesaid; And at the side of,

or near To. the said Town this Deponent then also saw an In-

dian Fort, consisting of a great Nundier of Poles or Stakes of

Wood set up. and a Bank of Earth thrown up about the same,

as herein l)efore described, which the said Indians then told

this Deponent had been the Indian Fort. Says he also remem-
bers that one Jacob Y'oung, did, before or about the same time,

shew this Deponent the Ruins of another Indian Fort "which

stood at about three (Quarters of a Mile from the said first men-
tioned Fort, and where the said Jacob Young then also shewed
this Deponent several dead Mens Bones, and told him that a

great Battle had been fought there by the Indians.

Elizabtth Murphy aged 43 [Lib. C. fol. 754. Int. 131. /o/. 755.]

Knows some Parts of Cecil and Baltimore Counties in Mary-
land, and some Parts of Lancaster, Chester, and Philadelphia

Count iesin Pensilvania, knows the River Susquehannah, but

does not know the Bay of Chesapeak. Says Part of the River

Susquehannah lies in Maryland and Part in Pensilvania. Has
seen Indian Forts and Indian Towns, and that the Difference

between an Indian Town and an Indian Fort is, that the first is

inclosed with Wood,l)y some called Pallisadoes, and Banks of

Earth, and that the latter is a Place where their Houses or Cab-
bins art- built, and they plant their Corn without such Inclosure.

Savs that upwards of 30 Years ago. she saw a Place on a Point of

Land.l)etween tlie Mouth of Octorara Creek that runs into Sus-

quehaiuiah River aforesaid and the said River. near to the Mouth
of the said Creek, wht-re, her Father Jonas Erskine, since de-

ceased, informed there had formerly been an Indian Fort.

That, when she saw the same, there appeared a large Bank
castuj) round it, and the Tops of the Pallisadoes that had been

there appeared to be rotted off, and the Stumps of them re-

)nained in the Ground. And says that her Father, who lived

at the same Place many Years, by the Licence of the Indians,

inforiufd her there had been a great Battle fought there, and
shewed her the Bones of several Persons buried in the Cliffs of

the Rocks, which he s.aid were the Bones of Indians slain in

that Battle. Tiiiit the Indians who had formerly resided at

the Place, were removed from thence when she saw it : and then
lived at a small Distance from it. Says that her Father, like-

wise, at the same time, said to her this Aflfirniant, "That you
may remember it, there, over the Creek (pointing to a Place
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IZ^y^-^T"'""''
^'^'^ aforesaid.)

1 «aw the Lord Baltimore
bet Ills Compass to run the Line."

Margaret Allen aged m. [Lib. C. fol. 750. Int. 131. foL 760 1
fehe knows Susquehannah River, and very well distin^^uishes

between an Indian Fort and Town ; And says that, near 30 Years
ago, she lived with her Father Jonas Erskine now deceased,at aPlace near the Mouth of Uetorara Creek which runs into Susque-hannah River, where the Remains of an ancient Indian Fort, aHank and some part of the Loggs with which it had been sur-
rounded appeared. That she often lieard her said Father, and
several Indians, who resided very near the same Place, s:iv that
at the same Place. there had formerly been an Indian Fort'. \n.i
says that she saw there, great Numbers of human Kones. which
her Father informed her, had been sl.-.in in many Battles fought
there. And that she often, pickt up great Numbers of StoneArrow Points, and Stone Hatchets there.

6TH BRANCH, Proving by .-horn the Lower Counties were
possest, when Mr. Penn first went thither in 1682, and also
the actual Delivery of Seizin to him tlien.

tiamuel Holliuysworth aged 07. [Lib. B. fol. 57. Int. 2S fol 59 1

Has known the Province of Pensilvania and Countv of New-
castle since 1682, but has not been well acquainted with the two
I ower Counties of Kent and Sussex. Resided in Newcastle
(.ounty from 1682 to 1701, and then removed to Chester Countywhere he has resided ever since. First arrived at Newcastle in
68„ and them understood from his Father and others, thatthe Plaintiffs Father was gone down to Maryland to meet LordBaltimore: and, in a few Days after, saw him return, fromthenee as 'twas said, in a Riding Habit. At that time there were

several Families of Swedes and Dutch, settled upon each side
of Christiana Creek as high as the Tide Water flows, and onthf lower side of Brandy -Wine Creek; But there were few' orno Settlements back in the Woods, that he knew of. that beingthe \ear when the Back Woods first began to be settled.

John JfHsgrove aged 7;i [Lib. B. fol. 67. Int. 28. fol 68 1Came into the Country in 1682, and lived in Newcastle Countytour lears. Well remembers he first saw William Penn in theYear 1682 at^ Robert Wade's House in the Town now called
Chester ,n Pensilvania. where the .said William Penn then
generally lodged, and Affirmant al.^o.

Jo.seph Wood, Carpenter, aged m. \]Jh. j{. f,,] 4 Int ^8 fol 51Knew the Country now called Pensilvania before it was called
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by that Name. Came from England and arrived in the Bay of

Delaware about 1G78, and the (Jounties Newcastle. Kent and
Sussex. Jit that time, were governed by Sir Edmund Andres, who
was tiien also Governor of New York under the Duke of York.

Has resided in Pens! Ivania ever since. That William Penn ar-

rived at Newcastle about 1682, where the Deponent then was at

Work as a Carpenter, where he, then, saw Ephraim Herman
and John Moll, make Livery of Seizin, of Newcastle aforesaid,

in the Name of all the adjacent Lands that belonged to the

Duke of York, to the said William Penn, by delivering a TurfT

and Twig from the Land, and Water and Mud from the River,

by vertue of a Power from the Duke, as the Deponent under-

stood, and which be heard read.

William Peterson of Nero Jersey, aged 92. [Lib. B. fol. 24. InL
28. fol. 28.]

Came into the Country about 1658, and lived for 20 Years after

on Christiana C'reek about three or four Miles from the Mouth
of it, and has ever since resided in NeAv Jersey. Saw William
Penn, at his first Arrival in the Country, which he well remem-
bers, having seen some Persons, then make Livery of New-
castle, then called Sandhook, and the River, by delivering to

him some Water and Earth.

Note, The Defendant has cross examined both the last Wit-
nesses to manv other Matters.

7TH BRANCH, to prove the Petition from the Inhabitants of

the Lower Counties in 1682. to be united to the Province of

Pensilvania.also an Indian Purchase then made, and a Copy
of a Demand made upon Mr. Penn by Colonel Talbot, which
was in 1683.

Patrick Baird, aged il. [Lib. C. fol. 763. Int. 117. fol 764.]

Has lookt on the Paper Writing B. B. which purports to be

A Copy of a Commission given by Charles Lord Baltimore to

Colonel George Talbot, to demand of the Plaintiffs Father all

the Land on the West side of the River Skuylkill that lay to

the Southward of the 40th Degree Northerly Latitude, accord-

ing to an East Line run as is therein mentioned, with the Copy
of the said Demand, and also a Copy of the Answer, given by the

said William Penn, to the said Demand; which Copy of the

Answer he believes is subscribed with the proper Name and
Hand-writing of the said William Penn. And the Reason of

his Belief is trom the great Similitude of the said written Name<
to the Name of William Penn, Avhich he has seen subscribed

to many other Papers, and which he was informed by divers
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Persons, were the proper Hand-writing of the said William
Penn. Says he was appointed Secretary of Pensilvania in July
last, and by vertue of the same Appointment, did receive sundry
Boolvs and Papers which were lodged in tlie same Office, and.
amongst those Papers, did receive the said Paper B. B. Has
seen another Paper J). D. which he takes to be an Original Paper
containing a Petition from sundry Persons formerly Inhabit-
ants of the Counties now Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, to the
Proprietor of IVnsilvauia, praying for a Union and Incorpora-
tion of the said Counties with the said Province, and he re-

ceived the same at tlie same time, and in the same manner as
the other. Has seen another Paper Writing F. F. and believes
the same to be an Original Paper, purporting to be a sale nf

Lands from divers Indians to John Moll. And believes the
Endorsement thereon, whereby, Moll released the same to the
Plaintiffs Father, is an Original Writing also, and he received
that Paper likewise, at the same time, and in the same man-
ner, as the other.

8TH BRANCH, relating to the Names which the lower Counties
have been called by, under the Dutch, the Duke of York
and Mr. Penn, the making them into Counties in 1682, and
their being called the Territories of Pensilvania.

Samuel Preston aged 75 [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 8. Fol. 315.]

Has been acquainted with tlie County of Kent on Delaware
about CO Years. And witli the Province of Pensilvania and the
Counties of Newcastle and Sussex about 53 or 54 Years. The
said County of Kent when he first knew it was generally called
St. Jones's. Has heard that the said County (now Sussex) before
he knew it, had been generally called the Whorekill. And that
the said three Counties have frequently been called by the
Names of the three lower Counties, and. The Territories of
Pensilvania, both by William Penn and his Adherents, and
also bv other Persons in general.

Abraham Allmaii, ac/ed 50 [Lib. B. Fol. 236. Int 8, Fol. 236.]

Was born in, and is pretty well acquainted with Newcastle
(Jounty, has been at Philadelphia, and has been in Kent County,
but knows nothing of Sussex Co'unty; and he never heard ihe
said three Counties called by any other Name than as aforesaid.

James- Logan aged C^a [Lib. B. Fol. 70. Int. 8. Fol. 92.]

That Delaware Bay and River, whilst they were under the
Dutch, as he has collected from his Reading, were called South
River; and the upi)er Part of the three Lower Counties was
called Sandhook. and the lower. Whorekill: That, when the
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Country called ]^ew Netherlands (of which the Lands on both
Sides of the South River were Part) were taken from the Dutch,

by the English, about 16G4, according to the best Information

he could ever obtain, the said Lands on both Sides of the said

River, were generally called Delaware; And that, upon takin;^

the said Country called New Netherland, the upper Part of the

said three Counties, formerly called Sandhook, was called the

County of Newcastle, by which Name the Town there built by

the Dutch was and is known to this Day. And the lower Part,

towards the Capes, still retained the Name of Whorekill ; by

which Name the small Town, also built by the Dutch, near
the Cape was distinguished. That afterwards the said Two
Districts, of Newcastle and the Whorekill, were divided into

three Counties, by erecting one in the middle of them called

St. Jones's. And that, sometime after, the Governor of New
York changed the Name of the lowest Part of the said Land
called the Whorekills, into that of Deal County. And after the
Arrival of William Fenn, Proprietor of Pensilvania, he, hav-
ing obtained from the Duke of York a Grant of the said Coun-
ties situated on all the Western Side of Delaware from the

Province of Pensilvania Southward, changed the Name of thf

County of Whorekill or Deal, to that of Sussex; and the Name
of the said Town of Whorekill, to that of Lewes; and also

changed the Name of the County called St. Jones's to that of

Kent; and erected a Town therein, which he called Dover : but

the Town and County of Newcastle still retain their former
Appellation. And says that by an Act of Union made l)v the

Representatives of the Province of Pensilvania and the said

three Counties, the whole Government of the said Province and
Counties was united, under one Legislative Assembly and so

continued, under the Name of the Province of Pensilvania, and
the Territories thereto belonging, from the Year 1683 to the

Y'ear 1704, from Avhich time, hitherto, they have had separate

Assemblies, He has not heard the said Counties called by any
other Name than he has mentioned, unless to the Name of

Delaware, some Persons might have added the Word Settlement.

Thomas Noxon aged 40 [Lib. V. Fol. 488. Int. 8. Fnl. 49G.]

Has been acquainted with Pensilvania and the three lower
Counties about twenty Years. Has frequently heard the lower

Counties called the Territories of Pensilvania, in Maryland, in

Pensilvania, and in other neighbouring Governments, and has
heard them called the three lower Counties. Ever since he has
l)een well acquainted with them, they have been generally

called the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Stissex.

Has former^- heard the said Counties, by some ancient Dutch
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people residino: in New York, called by the Name of South and
South River. And from the Dutch Records at New York has
learnt that, from um to l(iG4 that Part, now called the three
Lower Counties was generally called Soutli River, particularly
that Part where Lewes now stands was called Whorekill ; where
Newcastle now stands, was first called Sandhook, afterwards
Fort Casimier, and after that New Amstel. Has also learned
from the English Records at New York, that, from the Conquest
of New Y'ork and the said three Counties by the English in 1(364,

to near or about IGHO. the said Counties were sometimes called
South River, afterwards Delaware, Delaware River, and Dela-
ware Bay, sometimes one, and sometimes the other, respecting
the several Places in those Records severally meant, but. more
particularly by the Names of Newcastle and Dependances. and
Whorekill and Dependances. That, in or about 1680 the said
Counties were distinguished into three Districts; and that
Part now called Sussex County, still retained the Name of
the Whorekill and Dependances; the Part now called Kent
County, was, about that time called St. Jones's, and after-

wards Deal ; and the Part, now Newcastle County, was then
called Newcastle and Dependances, (but does not remember
that it appears from those Records that the said Counties
were then called by the Name of Counties) which last men-
tioned Names they continued to bear till 1682, when it ap-
pears by the same Records that Mr. Penn purchased the Land
composing the said Counties from the Duke of York. Has also
learned from the Records, within the said three Counties, that,

soon after the said Purchase, Mr. Penn erected the said Lands
into Counties, by the Nanjes of Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex,
which Names they now bear.

9TH BRAN.CH, To prove Colonel Talbot's running a Line in

1683 from the Mouth of Octorara Creek by Order of Lord Bal
timore, for a Division, called Octorara Line, Colonel Tal.
bot's Line, and Lord Baltimore's Line; and afterwards
building a small Loghouse of a few Logs, within and below
that Line, for a Fort, (which themselves afterwards de
serted) and that that Line was always regarded by Us: and
tor more than 40 Y'ears by them also.

Samuel Preston aged 75 [Lib. B. Fol. 312. /?//. 2"). Fol. 335.]

Heard of one Colonel George Talbot who lived in ^Maryland,
and had considerable Interest with, and was a trreat Favourite
of. the late Lord Baltimore, and bore a grefiT Sway in Mar\

-

land; but whether he held any Post or Place there knows not.
34—Vol. XV.
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John. Masgram aged 73 [Lib. B. Fol. 67. Int. 25. Fol. 74.]

Knew Colonel George Talbot, and has heard that he lived

ill Maryland.

Hanmtl Holli'tig.swortli aged G7 [Lib. B. Fol. 57. Int. 2'}. Ji'ol. 66. J

Knew Colonel (jeorge TalljoT, and has seen a House, on the

West Side of the Head of Elk River, which he was informed,

was the House he lived in.

The same [Int. 23. Fol. 61. J

That one Evening, in or about 1683, Colonel George Talbot

of Maryland, with 4 or 5 others, came to the House of the

Affirmant's Father, and requested Lodging for that Night, and

being welcomed into the House, upon Conversation between

his Father and Talbot, concerning the Business Talbot was
then about, the Affirmant heard Talbot acquaint his Father,

that he was then, by Lord Baltimore's Orders, running a Line

ro divide the Province of Maryland from the Province of Pen-

si Ivania, which was to be the North Boundary of Maryland;
that he had begun the said Line, at the Mouth of Octorara,

and had, and was, to run it, from thence due East to Delaware.

That they returned to his Father's House the next Night, and
then the said Talbot informed his Father that they had finished

the said Line. That the Affirmant the next Day saw a Line of

marked Trees, which he then, and many Times afterwards un-

derstood, was the Line run by the said Talbot, and which he

saw frequently after, aiul so well remembers that he believes he

could shew its Course at this Time; and understood that it

ended a little below the Mouth of Naaman's Creek : That the

said Line was sometimes called Talbot's Line, sometimes Mary-
land Line, but, generally. Lord Baltimore's Line. Has heard

there was a Fort built, (soon after running the said Line) by the

Order of I^ord Baltimore, some Miles to the Southward of the

said Line, near f'hri.stiana Bridjre, in order to keej) Possession.

That he never saw the said Fort, but umlerstood it was a little

Loghouse, that hardly deserved the Name of a Fort.

John Mu-sgraw, aged 73 {LH>. B. fol. 67. Int. 23. fol. 7U.

J

That about 16s;!, Colonel George Talbot, with some others,

came to the House of Valentine Hollingsworth, the Affirmant's

Master, an<l requested Lodging for a Night which being granted,

upon Discourse between Talbot and the Affirmant's ^Master,

the said Talbot, in this Affirmant's Hearing, told him he wms
running a Line from the Mouth of Octorara to Delaware River,

by Order of the Lord Baltimore, for a Division Line l)etweeii

Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn. That the said Talbot and his

Company departed next Morning, and returned to the Affirm -



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 531

ant's Master the next ^'if^'lit; and tlien, said lie had finisht tlie

said Line. That very soon afterwards he saw a Line of markt
Trees, which, he was informed, stood in the Line run by the
said Talbot, and were markt by liim, which he knew a lon^
time afterwards. Does not know Avhere the said Line ran into
Delaware River, but has heard, 'twas a little below ^'aanlan's
Creek. Does iu>t know, or has heard, that the said Line was
run by any Authority or Direction from "William Penn.

iiamnel GelUbratid [Lib. A. fol. Ul. Int. !). ful. 120.]

Proves an Exhibit Botra >.'o 20. to be a true Copy of an Ori-
^'inal Letter from William Penn. to the Committee for Trade
and Plantations remaining now in their Office, dated 14th
August l()y:5. wherein Mr. Penn relates some Interviews and Dis-
putes he had already had with Lord Baltimore in America.
And now came on the very busy Contest at the Council -Board,

when there were so many Hearings in the Years 1683, 1684, and
1685, between Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penn.

Hamuel UeUibrand [Lib. A, fol. \)\. Int. 10. fol. 122.]

Proves an Exhibit, being Copies of Petitions and Orders, (fcc.

in May and February 1683, and August 1685, remaining now at
the Board of Trade. That Exhibit being markt Botra, jS'o 21.

T/ie .same [Int. \\. fol. 125.]

He proves the Minutes of the Proceedings, and Acts of the
Committee, during those three Years, from 17th April 1683. to

7 November 1685. It is Exhibit Botra No 22.

Note— During that long Contest, Pensilvania being in its

Infancy, and the Proprietor attending those Hearings, Lord
Baltimore took the opportunity, to build, in that Wilderness,
unsettled Country, what is now called a little Fort; of which
we shall make good use, after Ave have shewn that Pensilvania,
and indeed both Sides, paid a great regard to that ex parte
Octoraro Line, so run by Lord Baltimore's Order in 1683.

Samuel IIolling.'> worth, aged 67. [Lib. B. fol. 57. Int. 24. fol.

65.]

Has heard that the Part of the Line which he has before
mentioned, which was markt (towards Octorara) was regarded
by the People inhabiting on both Sides of it. as the Division
l)etween the Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania. but that
Part thereof which run thro' Newcastle County (towards Dela-
ware) he never understood, was, in any sort, regarded as such
a Division Line.

John Mti.^prni^e, aped 73 [Lib. B. fol. 67. Int 24. fol. 72.]

That the Inliabitants of the Province of Pensilvania and
Maryland, for a long time alter running the said Line, had so
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great a rejijanl to the same, that no Incroachiuents were made
beyond it, on either srde i But, of late, he has heard, ^ome En-

croachments have been made hy the Maryland Oflicers, but does

not know it. living; far from thence. Does not know that the

Proprietors ot Pensilvania, tlieir Agents, (.'ommissioners. Magis-

trates, purveyors or Officers, have transgrest the said Line, or

that any Lands iiave been granted, by or under their Authority,

or any Jurisdiction exercised, to the Soutliward of that Line.

John. BulL (Kjed (ii). [Lib. B. fol. 15. Int. 22. /o/. IC.
]

Knew the Town called Newcastle, about 1077. or 1G78. which

was then settled by Dutch T-'eoi)le, and called 8andhook, which,

with the County of Newcastle, was then governed by (-iovernor

Andros, the Governour of New-Y'ork under the Duke of York.

That about 54 Years ago (1686) his Father shewed him a small

Log-house standing near Christiana Bridge, on the West Side

of Christiana Creek, about 5 Miles from Newcastle, and told

him that was Talljot's Fort, and that it was kept by Talbot's

Men. That the said Fort was built amongst the Inhabitants

of the County of Newcastle, who owned Mr. Penn for their

Pro[)rietor and Landlord, several of whom lived between the

said Fort and the Province ot Maryland. That this Dei)onent

was informetl the Land whereon the Fort stood, was taken

up, before the Fort was erected, by a Company under the York
(Tovernment ; and heard one Thomas Ogle and his Brother

John, say it was their Lanii, and that they claimed untler their

Father who was one of the Patentees: init knows not, nor ever

heard, that it was taken up under the (joverrunent of Maryland,

That the said Fort was about tiiirteen or fourteen Feet long,

and about 10 Feet wide, covered with Slip-Wood, and could

not cost, in the Deponent's Judgment, above three or four

Pounds. That the Design of the Lord Baltimore, as he has

been informed, in building and keeping Men in the said Fort

was, to keep Possession of the Place, which he claimed. That

about six or seven Irish Men, esteemed Roman Catholicks, kept

the Fort, who l)ehaved peaceably towards the Inhabitants,

amongst whom they frequently went. That he knew of no In-

habitants near the said Fort, or within the County of New-
castle, whoowneil the Lord Baltimore's Authority at that time:

But has heard there was a Tract of Land surveyed under the

Lord Baltimore, within three Miles to the Westward of the said

Fort, which was unsettled. Believes the Inhabitant> of New-
castle County could easily have disjjossest those who kept the

said Fort; but they neglected to do it, because the Men behaved

themselves quietly and civilly to them. That the said Men had

sometimes Plenty of Provisions, but were generally in Want,
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which he knows, by their frequent going down to Maryland,
and there pressing Provisions. That they lived in the Fort, to
Ins Knowledge about two Years, and has heard thev lived, in
all about three or four Years, and left it upon some of their
being Frost-bitten, since whi:?h time no Per.-on, pretending
Authority from, or owing the Jurisdiction of, Maryland wa«
ever in possession of the said Fort, or the Land thereabout, to
the Knowledge of the Deponent.

*Jofm UanetsuH; aged 77. [Lib. B. fol. 7. Int. 22. fol. 8.]
Has known the County of Newcastle, as long as he can re-

member. Says it was at first, under the Government of the
Governour of New-York, and when his Power expired, has been
under the Government of Mr. Penn, the Father of the Plain-
tiffs, and his Descendants. That upwards of 50 Years ag(,[and
he was examined, and so were all the American Witnesses in
the lear 1740] there was a Fort built, and kept, by Lord Bal-
timoreon the North Side of Christiana Creek, about five Miles
distant fiom Newcastle. That there were but few Families
settled thereabouts; at that time. Four of which, besides his
own, lived between the said Fort and the Province of Maryland
but more that lived between the Fort and Marvland he can't
certainly remember, which Families own'd Mr. Penn for their
Proprietor and Landlord. That the Land, whereon the said
Fort was built, was taken up, before that time, for the Use of
one Ogle, either under the Government of New York or the said
AVilliam Penn, but is uncertain which That the said Fort
was about 14 or l.-j Foot long, and built of Logs, and covered
with Clap-boards. and could not cost above two or three Pounds
and was fronted with a few Palisadoes about the Hei-ht of a
Man. Believes the Design of Lord Baltimore in building tlie
Fort, was to take Possession of the Place. That the Fort was
kept, sometimes by one or tAvo, but never above 7 lusty Irish
Men to the best of his Remembrance, who lived very peaceably
with the Inhabitants. That they were sometimes in the Fort
at other times abroad, but one or more always remained in the
Fort. Does not remember any Per.sons who lived near the Fort
or in the (bounty of Newcastle at that time, owned the Lord
Baltimore's Authority. Believes the Inhabitants of the same
County, who owned Mr. Penn's Government, could easily have
dispo.ssest the People in the Fort of the same, if they had re-
solved so to do; but that they declined so doing. l)ecause thev
lived peaceably amongst them. That the People in the Fort
were chiefly supplied with Provisions from Marv-land. and some-
times lived plentifully, at other times in Scarcity, and stayed
there between 4 and 5 Years. That the leaving tlie Fort was
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occasioned by the Men's g:etting fuddled, and lyinof out in the
Cold, whereby some Avere froze to Death, and others lost their

Limbs. Since which time, to the Knowled<je of the Deponent,
no Person pretendinj? Authority from, or owning the Jurisdic

tion of, Maryland, has been in the Possession of the said Fort,

or any Lands thereabouts. And the Reason of this Deponent's
Knowledge of what he has declared on this Interrogatory is,

th.at he lived very near to the said Fort at the time of its

Building and Settlement, and was frequently in it.

Note, Both these last Witnesses about the Fort, the Defend-
ant has cross-examined to their being interested in the Event
of the Cause only. But the Defendant himself has e.\amined a

great many Witnesses (in Number) many of which speak onlv

to this Port, and to another Action, about burning the Whor*--
kills; which, if he had had Shame or Humanity in him. he
should rather have concealed. And his own Witnesses, prove
every Fact, above spoke to about the Fort.

John Taylor, aged 48, the DefendanV s oivu. Witness; but cross-

examined by ns [Lib. C. FoL 648. Int. 3:1 Fol. 649. J

Says, that near 20 Years ago, his Father, was Surveyor of

Cliester County, shewed this Witness a Line of markt Trees,

running Eastward from the Mouth of Octoraro Creek, on Sus-

quehanna River, and said it was called Lord Baltimores or
< 'f)l<)nel Talbot's Line, and that it divided M.iryland from Pen

-

silvania. This Witness's Fatlier then said, lie had been in-

formed by an ancient Man. an Inhabitant of Maryland, that

the said Line was run by Colonel Talbot, by the Order of Lord
Baltimore, for a Division-Line as aforesaid ; and that he tliis

Attirmant's Father had written Orders or Directions from the

Commissioners of Property in Pensilvania, not to survey Lands
to the Southward of that Line. The Affirmant's Father th, n

also said that he had run the said Line Eastward, from the

Mouth of the saitl Creek upwards of 30 Miles. Says that the

said Line, for the length of six or seven Miles was afterwards
.shewn to him by several ancient People, who informed him
that they attended Colonel Talbot in 1683, for several Miles,

when he run and markt the said Line. About 15 Y'ears ago
the Affirmant having occasion to enquire, concerning the Divi-

sion between the said Provinces, the said Line, near the Mouth
of Octorara Creek aforesaid, was shewn to the Affirmant by one
.Tospph Askew. [Note, two other Witnesses jirove Askew to be

dead] who resided thereabout and informed this Affirmant

eitht-r that he saw the said Line run. or, had been informed
that the same was run, by Colonel Talbot, and 5 or (J Gentle-

men from Maryland, by Lord Baltimore's Order, and was gen-
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erally called by the Inhabitants there Lord Baltimore's Line.

And that, afterwards the said Jonas Askew rid many Miles

alonp: tlie Line witli tliis Affirmant, when the Marks on the

aid Trees were very clear and apparent. Says also that, about

15 Years ago. he was Sheriff of Chester County, part of which,

to the Southward, joins to the Northern Part of Cecil County
in Maryland, and about that time being in Company with John
Hack, who was then Sheriff of Cecil County, they togetliersaw

the said Line which as it was said was run and markt by Colo-

nel Talbot, and they both called, and esteemed it their Divi-

sion-Line.

James Logan, ag'^d G6. ]Lib. B. Ful. 76. Int. 23. Fol. 133.]

That in the Summer of 1700, the Proprietor William Penn
took a Journey into Maryland, and, in his Return, was at"

tended by divers Gentlemen of Maryland in his Journey from

thence, up the River Susquehannah, which Gentlemen having
accompanied him as far as Oetorara Creek, or River, stopt there,

in the Ford as this Affirmant was soon after credibly informed

by some of the Pensilvania Gentlemen, and there took leave of

him, with Expressions to this purport, viz. Now we have waited

on your Honour, into your own Province, and must desire

leave to return ; To which the said Proj)rietor answered, 1 hope
I have been in it some time ago; which Information led the

Affirmant to enquire into the Reason, and he Avas assured,

thereupon, that the Lord Baltimore had in 1683, come up to

the Mtjuth of the said Creek or River of Oetorara, and having

made some Observations there, had directed Colonel George

Talbot to proceed from thence. Eastward to Delaware River,

and to mark on the Trees a Line of Division; and that the

Affirmant hath been assured, i)y divers Persons, that they saw
the said Colonel Talbot and his Company in their said Journey
to the side of Delaware River, and had frequently seen divers

of the said markt Trees, and traced the Line from thence, West-
ward tor some Miles. That, upon the Truth of this Informa-

tion the Affirmant so intirelv depended, that being Secretary

and Commissioner of Property, upon the Application of Corne-

lius Empson, William Brown. Andrew Job, and divers others,

who petitioned for a Grant of that Tract of rich Land now
called Nottingham, at the Affirmant's Instance it was wholly

declined, till such time as the Applicants had produced un-

questionable Evidence, that the most Southern Part of the said

Tract lay at least the Distance of one Mile to the Northward of

the said Line, run from the Mouth of Oetorara as aforesaid

;

upon which the said Tract was granted to them. Tliat the

Affirmant never heard the said Line disputed for a Boundary,



586 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

till by a Letter from Charles Carrol then Agent for Maryland,

the Affirmant found the said Agent did not own the said Lin?

as a peremptory Division which induced the Affirmant to en-

quire further into the certainty of the said Boundary; and in

order thereunto he found a Copy of a Writing left by the said

Colonel Talbot at Philadelphia, with Nicholas More President,

in the Absence of the Proprietor William Penn, who was then

at New Y'ork, containing a Commission from the Lord Balti-

more to the said Colonel Talbot, dated the ITth of September

1683, requiring him to repair to Schuykill, and there demand,

from the said William Penn, {possession of all the Lands on

Delaware, to the ^uthward of the said markt Line, as also a

Demand in writing dated the 24th of the same Month, made by

the said Colonel Talbot, in pursuance of the said Commission;

as also a Writing signed by the said Wiliam Penn, dated the

31st Day of October then next following; which being upon the

same Paper with the aforesaid Copies, being, as the Affirmant is

well assured, signed by the said Proprietor's own Hand, iuj-

mediately induced him to believe, and the Affirmant does firmly

believe that the said Copies of the Lord Baltimore's Commis-

sion, and of the said Colonel Talbot's Demand, are true,

genuine, and Authentick; and the Affirmant also procured

sundry other Vouchers for the Truth of the said Lino; but,

as the Affirmant is not immediately furnish'd with any of

them, refers to them when produced. And further saith, that

he heard divers times from Henry Hollingsworth, who formerly

was Clerk, and Surveyor in Chester County and is long since

dead. That one of those who were employ'd to run the said

Line.' and afterwards lived in the Town of Chester, had fre-

quently affirmed in his hearing, that after the first day's Jour-

ney, the said Colonel Talbot made a Sett off to the Northward,

before he resumed the said Line on an Eastern Course.

James Logan, [Lib. 76. Lnt. 24. fol. 142.]

Saith there never was, to his Knowledge, and he has all the

moral Certainty that can be had, in such case, that there never

was any Grant or Survey, made by the Proprietors of Pensil-

vania, or undev their Authority, of any Lamls, more or less,

neither have they themselves, or any Person by their Authority,

exercised any Acts of Grovernment to the Southward of the

Bounds, Limits or Line of Division aforesaid, and to the West-

ward of the Limits of the three Lower Counties aforesaid. And

saith. that after the said Settlement of Nottingham and the Set-

tlers thereof, by their large Improvements, had rendered them-

selves considerable, the Lord Baltimort^'s Agents for Maryland,

(as the Affirmant conceives) beginning to think these Parts

worth their Notice, ceased not to claim them; in so much, that
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in the Year 1722, not only Isaac Taylor the Surveyor of Chester

County aforesaid, was taken, by a Warrant from the Justiceot

Maryland, for surveying some Land situate to the Northward
of the said Line, but also Elisha Gatchell, going to visit the

said Surveyor, and to inquire into tlie Cause of his being so

apprehended, was likewise seized, and both the said Taylor

and Getchell were committed to the Custody of tlie SherifT of

Cecil County, and sometimes to the Prison it self, and were

much harrassed for near one whole Year, being removed thence

to the supreme Court of Annapolis, and there, at length ac-

quitted; but the Affirmant having taken a Voyage to London,

in the Fall of the Y'ear 1723, and making a Complaint thereof

to Charles Lowe, then the Lord Baltimore's Agent in London,

the said Lord and Hannah Penn, Executrix of the late Pro-

prietor William Penn's W^ill, entred into an Agreement dated

the 17th of February 1723, that the Possessors of Lands in both

Provinces should remain quiet and unmolested, during the

Space of 18 Months, in which time it was hoped, the Bound-
aries would be effectually settled; of which Agreement signed

by the Lord Baltimore himself, and the said Hannah Penn,

jointly with Henry (xoldney and Joshua Gee two of the Trustees

for the said Province of Pensilvania, and witnessed by Simon
Clement, the said Charles Lowe, and the Affirmant, three Ori-

ginals of the said Agreement were executed, on each side; which
Agreeuieiit being transmitted to the respective Governors of

both the said Provinces, with Orders on each side, that the

same should in puruanee of the said Agreement, be proclaimed

in each Province; the said Orders were accordingly obeyed in

the Province of Pensilvania, and were in general observed in

both Provinces, till, after the Arrival of Governor Ogle in

Maryland, in the latter End of 1731, notwithstanding he well

knew that the Lord Baltimore had entered into an Agreement
with the Proprietors of Pensilvania, for putting a final Period

to all their Disputes, of which he, by his Letter, accordingly

advised Colonel Gordon, tlien Governor of Pensilvania, yet he
renewed the former Disturbances.

John Taylor, af/ed 43. [Lib. C. Fol. 648. Int. 24. Fol. 653.]

Ever since he knew the said Line, as far as he knoAvs, or has

heard and believes, the Pensilvania Inhabitants in general, and
the Proprietors of that Province, their Agents, Commissioners,
Magistrates, Surveyors and Officers, have always esteemed, re-

garded and observed the said Line as a Division between the

Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania, and neither the Pen-
silvania Proprietors, nor any under their Authority, did survey

anv Lands, or exf>rcise any Acts of Government, to the South-
ward of that Line, to the Kiiowleiige or Belief of this Affirmant.
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That by coversins with several of the Inhabitants of Maryland
before 1726, or 1727, always heard and believes that the People

of Maryland, till about those Years, thought the said Line was
the Division of the same Provinces. But has heard and believes

that sinee Those Y'ears. i>ands have l)een surveyed under the

Proprietor of Maryland, and Acts of Groverninent have Ijeen

exercised by iiis MaijistraTes and OfTicers, to the Northward of

the said Line

lOTH BRANCH, about the Indian Purchases made by the Dutch
and Swedes, and Mr. Penn, and of his exerciiring the (lov-

ernmenT of the Lower Counties from 1082, To 1702.

James Jjuguv, ayed 'iG. [Lib. Ji. Fol. 7il. Int. 12. Fol. 121.]

That the Dutch, as he is well assured, and, as he belie* es, the

Swedes, having ])urchased from the Indi.ans. the greater Part of

The Lands below Duck Creek in the said three Lower Counties,

the said William Penn's Conniiissioners in IfiH.'j. for a large

(Jonsideration, made a very extensive Purchase of Land from
The Indians, from the said Duck Creek, as far NorTh as Chester

or Upland Creek, which is reputed by Travellers, no less than
(iO Miles, which last mentioned Place, in common Estimation,

lies not above five Miles To the Northward of the Northern
Boundaries of The said Counties. And .saith, that only the said

William Penn. and his Deputfes, exercised tlie Crovernment in

and over the said Province of Pensilvania, and three Lower
Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, from l(i82, to 1702.

(excepting for some time in the Years 1(59;^ and IGW, to the be-

ginning of l(li)5, when King William and C^ueen Mary, by Com-
mission To Benjamin Flelchei- E^q•. then Governor of NeAv

York, authorized him to take the said Government under his

Care, alledging for a Reason the Proprietor's absence from the

same; but by other Letters Patent, dated in August lfi94, re-

stored the Goveriuuent of the said Province and Counties to

the said William Penn and his Heirs as before and saith Wil-
liam Penn, only made Two Voyages from England to America
between the Years 1680 and 1703.

llTH BRANCH, I'roving ]\Ir. Penn's constant Possession as

Landlord ami Proprietor ever since 1681 and 1682; his

granting out <>f the Lands: appointing great Numbers of

Collectors and Receivers of Quit-Rents in all the Lower
Counties, and receiving QuiT-Rents.

Samuel Preston, ar/ed ir^. [Lib. B. FoJ. 312. Int. 0. Fol. 317.]

Has lived in the Three Lower ('ounTies and Pensilvania abouT
.')2 Y^ears, was Sheriff of Sussex about 1690, and . in some little
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time before or after, a Justice of Peace for that Countv. In

PeooTe"
" ^"""^^''"r, '-' '''-' County by the Election of thePeople. Has been a Member of the Governor's Council for theProvnjce^of Pensilvania above 20 Years last. Has been Trea !

urer of that Province about as long. Has been an Aklermtn

Citv ;: Z "
i:!"'';'^'^''''!'

^^-^ ^«
^'--, was Mayor of tT^City in 1711. That ever .sinco he has known the said threeLower Counties and the Province of Pensilvania. thev havebeen in the Possession of the Duke of York and Wi lian. Penn

o" thlr
""""

''T'
'""• ^''^ l^-Prietors and Land lor :

^ w r P ^"r''*'"'- •

^^''''^" ^^^ ""''' knew Kent Countvwas the Practice of the County Courts in the said Low^

and hurve> Lands, and thereupon Patents were granted for

i^^ ^; Im ;|^^^-r---^«f ^-- York; but ^.^^ ahvl 1aftei William Penn obtained the Government of the- sameCounties and Province of Pensilvania, hitherto, he the "aWilliam Penn, and those claiming under him. have suc^ts^vely. appointed the Officers, Commissioners, and Managers ofProperty, ,n the said Province and Counties. And never knewha the Deiendant. or his Ancestors, ever were in P^ Lt „of the saul Province of Pensilvania, or the said Counties -sProprietor or Landlord of them. Or that the Officers Com"nnssioners or Managers of Property for the Lord Baltimore evergranted out any Lands or Plantations within the same Provinceor ^-"'ties. He has kriown that William Penn deceased amithe Widow Hannah Penn. Mother of the Plaintiffs (lik;wledeceased
,
by Virtue of the .said AVilliam Penn's Will, and thepresent Plaint ffs, have been severally and successiveh in thePossession of the same Province and Counties, as LandlordsLandladies, and Proprietors of the same Province and Count e.:'-and has l;eard and I>elieves that William Penn was in the Pos:session of the Province of Pensilvania from 1681. till this Wit--ness first knew thesan.e Province. That he knew the said threeLowei Counties before 1682. And since that Year, he saidWilliam Ponn, and those claiming under hin., luu'e alwaybeen .n Possession of the same. This Witness never held an^-Office which gave him an opportunity of inspecting Recordsanc there.vbeconnnga,.,niainted with Grants and Titlesol-Lan.ls m the sanl Province and Counties, but has occasionallys.en several (.rants, .f Lands in the said Province and Coun el,"which, since the lear 1682 were all made by the said WilliamPenn and those claming under him; and hath never seen anGrants f^r Lands in the san.e Province or Counties from orunder the Lord Baltimore, or anv of his Ancestors

^^Y~^^^^
Befendant has cross-examined Mr. Prevton to .

whole Sett of Interrogatories.
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Jamts Logan, aged GO. [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 9. Fol. 97.]

From 1701 has held the several Offices of Secretary Com-
missioner of Property, Greneral Receiver of the Proprietors

Dues, and one of the Governor's Council, and continued in

them many Years. On Governor Gordon's Death in 1736, he

was, for near two Years, till tlie Arrival of the present Gov-

ernor, President of the Council, and as sueli, had the Admin-
istration of tlie Government in Pensilvania, and then, divested

himself of all Offices in the said Government. That for seven

Years from the Year 1710, he was President of the Court of

Common Pleas for Pliiladelphia County ; and from the Y'ear

1731, for 5 Years, he was Chief Justice of the supreme Court of

that Province, which he was obliged to lay down, upon his

coming to the Administration of the Government. That ever

since lie knew the said Province and three Lower Counties,

the said William Penn and his Descendants, have always been

in Possession of the same Province and Counties as Proprietors

and Landlords thereof, except when the said William Penn was
obliged to vest the same in Trustees for the Payment of a con

siderable Debt contracted by him; during which time the said

William Penn, hris Trustees and Descendants, have successively

appointed the Officers, Commissioners, and Managers of Prop-

erty, for granting out Lands in the said Province and Counties-

he has—neither heard, nor does believe, that Lord Baltimore, or

his Ancestors, ever had any Possession or Management, in or of

th^ said Province, or the said Counties, or any part of them,

except by an Intrusion and forcible Entry made, in or about

1685, by some of Lord Baltimore s Officers, upon the Land of

one John Ogle, near Christiana Creek, of which the said Ogle

had been long in Possession, and building a small inconsid-

erable Fortress there. Says he is very sure the said William

Penn only, was always in Possession of the Province of Pensil-

vania from 1681, till this Witness first knew that Province, and

also of the said Counties from the Year 1682, till this Witness's

first Knowledge of them. He has seen several of the Records

of the said Province but it was never his Business to inspect

any of them. That as Secretary as aforesaid, he liad occasion,

ever since the Beginning of the Year 1700. to inspect great

Numbers of the most ancient Grants as well as others, and

Titles of the Tenants and Occupiers of Lands in the Province

of Pensilvania and the said Counties, made before the Year

1700; and never saw one Grant, during that time, of any Lands

in tlie said Province or Counties, from Lord Baltimore, or any

of his Ancestors, or from any other under his or their Authority.

Tiie most ancient of all whir-h Grants that lie lias set-n, were

from Mvnlieer Stuvvesaiit, who was (Governor for the Dutch at
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the time when the Lands were under their Government; and
after the Year 1604, from Richard Nichols, Francis Lovelace,

or Sir Edmund Andros, the several Governors at New-York;
anil, from the Year 1082, from the said William Penn or his

Commissioners. That during; the Year 1700, and to November
1701, the said William Penn signed all the Grants of Lands in

the said Province and Counties ; and that from November 1701,

this Witness, as one of the Commissioners of Property for

WMlllam Penn and the Trustees aforesaid, signed almost every
Grant for Lands in the said Province and Counties, until the
Death of the said William Penn; and from his Decease this

Witness, being duly authorised for that i)urpose, continued to

sign all the Grants that were made of any Lands in the said

Province or Counties, until tlie time the Plaintiff Thomas
Penn arrived in the Province in 1782; the other Commissioners
of Property surceasing to act during the Witness' Absence on
a Voyage to England. That the Number of those Grants and
Titles was great, but he never kept any Account of them.

Note—The Defendant cross-examined this Witne&s, oniyas
to his being interested in the Event of the Cause, or hold-

ing any disputed Lands, which he, in the most precise,

full and absolute Terms utterly denied.

These two Persons, having long known the Country, and
gone thro' all these publick Offices, were the properest

Persons to know these Matters, but what they say in

General, and at once, is no more than w-hat is confirmed,

peacemeal, by a Cloud of other Witnesses, (even the De-
fendant's own Witnesses,) and by the Records themselves.

*James Stee/, [Lib. C. Fol. 559. Int. 127. Fol. 625.]

Has known Pensilvaniaand the three lower Counties above 32

Years. He was and acted, for many Years, as a Justice of Peace
in Kent County. And was, afterwards one of the Justices of the
Supreme Court for the said three Counties. About that time was
also appointed and continued for many Years, Receiver of the

Quit Rents and other Revenues accrewing to the Proprietors of

Pensilvania in the said Province, and also in the said three

Counties. For about seven Years past has acted as Receiver

General under the Pensilvania Proprietors for that Province
and the said three lower Cotinties. Ever since his first Know-
ledge of the said Province and Three Counties, Mr. Penn and
his Family and Descendants, or Persons under their Authority,
have all along, to this present Time, been in Possession of the
said Province and three Lower Counties as Landlords and Pro-
prietors thereof,and have all along appointed the Magistrates,

OflBcers and Commissioners of Property for the granting of
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Landf" within the said Province and Counties. And never

linew Lord Baltimore, or any of his Ancestors, in Possession of

the said Province and Counties as Proprietor or Landlord

thereof, since this Afltirniant iinew tlie same: nor did he ever

know the said Defendant, or any of his OiBcers, (Jouiuiissioners

or Agents, to grant out the several Lands within the said Prov-

ince and three lower Counties, or any of theuj. And luis heard

and believes the said Mr. Penn was always in Possession of the

said Province and three lower Counties, from 1081, as Proprie-

tor or Landlord thereof, unto the time he first knew the same.

Benjamin Eastbnrn aged 44. [Lib. C. fol. 678. Int. 128. Fol.

1714.]

Has seen in the Office of Surveyor General of Pensilvania,

and the three Lower Counties, (which he now holds) Great

Numbers of Original Warrants and Surveys for the granting

Lands in the said Province and Counties; which all appear to

be made either under the Government of the Province of New
Y'ork, or by Courts who acted under the same Government, or

under the Authority of Mr. Penn deceased, formerly Proprietor

of Pensilvania, or those who have claimed under him ; but

never did see any (irants or Titles for or to Lands in the same

Province or Counties, which were made or derived under the

Defendant or his Ancestors. or his or their Commissioners or Of-

ficers. That by Warrants now lodged in the said Office, it appears

that Mr. Penn and those claiming under him. l)efore June 17or).

have granted near and about 880,000 Acres of Land, lying in

the said Counties of NeAvcastle, Kent and Sussex. And that

the Dutch and English Governments, at N^av York aforesaid,

had granted very large Quantities of Land there, before Mr.

Penn's Right to the said Counties, to the amount of near 100.-

000 Acres as he t)elieves. under which same Grants divers Per-

sons, there residing, claim and enjoy those Lands to this Day.

* Jainef,- .Steel [Lib. C. Fol. 559. Int. 128. Fol. 629.]

Has seen several Grants for Lands within Pensilvania and the

Lower Counties, not only amongst the Records kept at New-

York, but aiso in the Hands of several of the Occupiers of such

Lands, bearing Date before 1681. and made by the Governor of

New York. And that under some of those Grants some of such

Oceupyers as he believes still continue to hold their Ijands.

under the Plaintiflls. but the greater Number of the Oceupyers

and Claimants of the Lands under such old Grants, have since

renewed their Grants for such Lands with and under Mr. Penn

and his Descendants, and those claiming under him. He has

also seen great Numbers of Grants and Titles of Lands within

the said Province and three lower Counties, bearing Date since
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1681, as well upon and amongst, the several Records kept in and
for the said Province and Counties, as in the Hands of several of
the Owners and Occupyers of such Lands. And says that all
the same Grants appeared to him to have been made bv and
under the Authority of Mr. Penn, his Familvand Descendants
and does not remember ever to have seen anv Grants fur Lands
withm the said Province and three lower Counties, which were
ma,le by or under the Defendant, or any of his Aneestor.s, or
his or their Commissioners, Agents or Officers for Property
Says that by and from liis inspecting and examining the sev-
eral Memorials. Minutes and Entries of Lands granted within
the said three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex
which are kept in the Oflfice of the Survevor General for the said
Province and three lower Counties, he computes and believes
there were near or about 100,000 Acres of Land within the said
three lower Counties granted before 1682, bv or under the Au-
thority of those under whom William Penn claimed ; and that
since that Time, and before June 1735. there have been near or
about 328,000 Acres of Land, within the said three lower Coun-
ties,granted by Mr. Penn,his Family and Descendants, and those
claiming Authority under him and them. Savs that by and
from several ancient Books, Papers and Memorials, now in his
Custody as Receiver General under the Plaintiffs as aforesaid
he finds and believes, that, soon after the Grants of the said
three lower Counties to William Penn. John Hill Samuel
Preston, William Clarke, an:l Thomas Fisher were appointed
by or under William Penn to be his Receivers and Collectors
of Rents and Quit Rents, from the Tenants and Occupyers of
Land in the said County of Sussex; and that George Martin
Wiiham Berry, Samuel King, and William Rodenev, and some'-
times the said William Clarke, were also appointed' by or under
the said William Penn to be his Collectors and Receivers of
such Rents in the said County of Kent. And also that Edward
(iibbes, George Dakeyne, Cornelius Empson, and John French
were also appointed by or under the said William Penn to be
such his Collectors and Receivers in and for the said Countv
of Newcastle, And that James Atkinson, was in like Manner
appointed to receive such Rents in all the said three Counties
All and every of which said several Collectors and Receivers
this Affirmant finds by the same ancient Books and Papers
and believes, did actually receive, divers and considerable
Quit Rents from the then several Tenants and Occupyers of
Lands in each of the .said three Counties, for the Use of the
said William Penn. And says that, since his being appointed
Receiver and General Receiver hs afore set forth he has also
received, from time to time, from the Tenants and Occupyers
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of Lands in each of the said three Counties divers and consider-

able Quit Rents for the Use of William Penn, liis Family and

Descendants. And says he believes and is Avell satisfyed, that

all and every of the said Tenants or Uccupyers of Lands, within

the said three ( 'ounties, which are herein before mentioned to

be held under tlie said ancient Grants from the Governor of

New York as aforesaid, have at one Time or other, paid some

Part of their Quit Rents, for such Lands, to. or to the Use of

the said William Penn. his Family or Descendants, or some of

them.

James Logan, aged 60. [Lib. B. fol. 76. Int. 10. foL 106]

That William Penn did, from time to time, appoint the

several Officers for collecting the Quit Rents from the Tenants

and Occupiers of Lands in the said three lower Counties ; and

that no other Officers or Collectors were ever appointed for

that purpose by or under any other Person but the said William

Penn and Persons under his Authority, froui the time of the

said William Penn's first becoming Proprietor of Pensilvania

and the said three Counties, as this Witness ever heard or un-

derstood. And says there has been considerable Quit Rents

received from the Tenants in the said three Counties, by the

said Officers and ('ollectors so appointed by the said William

Penn and under his Authority as aforesaid. Says the Names
of some of the said Collectors of Quit Rents so appointed by

the said William Penn and under his Authority, were Samuel

Land, Edward Gibbs and George Dakeyne, with several others,

for the County of Newcastle; and William Clarke, principally,

for the Counties of Kent and Sussex; But there M'ere divers

others whose Names do not at present occur to his Memory.

12TH BRANCH, That constant Annual Assemblies, have been

held, for the Lower Counties, under Mr. Penn from 1682:

Courts of Justice always held there, under his Authority;

And none of the Inhabitants of those Counties ever elected

into the Maryland Assembly.

Sarmiel Preston, aged 75 \Lih. B. fol 313. Int. 30. fol. 337.]

Says that upon Proprietor Penn's first coming to Pensilvania

and settling the Constitution thereof, and of the three Lower

Counties, the Members or Representatives, who weiv elected by

the People in and for the Province, and in and for the said

Counties, sate in and made but, one united House of Assembly

under the Government of the said William Penn; And that the

said three lower Counties were thereupon called the Territories

of Pensilvania; But, some time after Mr. Penn's second D<^-
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parture from Pensilvania. the Representatives of the People
divided, and sate in, or made two separate Houses of Assembly,
one for the Province of Pensilvania, and the other for the three
lower Counties; which were, from that time, called the three
lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware.
Doth not know how many Assemblies have been held in the
said Province and Counties, but says the same have been,

always, held under William Penn his Family and Descendants.
Says there have been Courts of Judicature held in the said three

lower Counties ever since his being acquainted therewith, which
have always been, and still are, held under the said William
Penn his Family and Descendants, and not under the Defend-
ant or his Ancestors, or any other Person or Persons whatso-
ever.

James Logan, aged 60. [Lib. B. fol. 76. Int. 30. fol. 154.]

Says that from 1683 there have been, to the best of his Know-
ledge, constant Annual Assemblies, and also Courts of Justice,

held, down to this time, in Pensilvania and the said Lowei-
Counties, under the Authority of William Penn and his De-
scendant.s. And never knew or heard of any Assemblies or

Courts of Judicature whatsoever, held in the said Province or

the said three lower Counties, Oi either of them, under the
Authority of the Defendant or any of his Ancestors.

John Ball, aged m. {Lib. B. fol. 15. Int. 30. fol. 22.]

Has known the Lands now called Pensilvania 64 Years, and
the County now called Newcastle sixty two Years, in which
County he has lived 54 or 5o Years. That formerly the Repre-
sentatives of the said three Counties, and of the said Province,
composed one joint Assembly, but, for near 30 Years past, the
Representatives of the said Counties have made a distinct As-
sembly. All which Assemblies have been always held under
the Proprietors of Pensilvania, and never under the Proprie
tors of Maryland. That there have been Courts of Judicature
held in the said Counties, which as long as he remembers,
wer3 always held under the Proprietors of Pensilvani;!. and
not under the Proprietors of Maryland ; but has heard there
were Courts held at the Town, now called Newcastle, formerly
Sandhook, and at the Town now called Chester in Pensilvania,

formerly called Upland, by the Dutch.

*John Garretson, aged 77. [Lib. B. fol. 7. Int. 30. fol. 13.]

Has known the Province of Pensilvania and the County of

Newcastle, which was formerly called Sandhook, as long as

he can remember, but was nf>t well acquainted with the lower
Counties, but heard the lowest County was called Whorekill,

35— Vol. XV.
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and the next above it Jones" s. That, for about BO Years past

the Province of Pensilvania and the three lowe»* Counties have
been represented by different Assemblies, but, before that time

the Representatives were joined, and composed but one Asseu)-

bly for the whole. That the said Assembly for the said

Counties, during these SO Y^ears, have been elected annually,

and were always held under Mr. Penn and his Descendants,

and never under Lord Baltimore; That Courts of Judicature
have been always held in the said Counties as long as he can

remember, under Mr. Penn and his Descendants only.

Jeremiah Langhonie, aped 66. [Lib. C. ful. 719. Jnt. oO. fol. 721.]

Has known Pensilvania and the three lower Counties above
fifty four Years. Ever since he can remember till 1701 the Rej)-

resentatives chosen by the People of the said Province and
Counties did compose one joint Assembly to make Laws for

(-fovernment of said Province and Counties. And in 1699 or

1700 this Affirmant was chosen a Representative for Bucks
(bounty, and met the other Representatives for the Province of

Pensilvania and the Representatives chosen for the said

Coiinties, at Philadelphia; where they made one joint Assem-
bly. And that from 1701 or 1702 (to the best of his Memory)
to this Time, the Representatives of the said Province and
(Jouuties have composed two distinct Assemblies. Believes

there have been Annual Assemblies held for the said Counties

(either in Conjunction with that for Pensilvania, or separately

as aforesaid) ever since he knew the same. Never heard, or

knew that any such Assemblies were held by or under any other

Authority than that of Mr. Penn. Has heard and believes that

Courts of Judicature have been held, from time to time in the

said Counties, ever since he knew them, which as he has heard

and believes were always held under the Authority of Mr. Penn.

John Webster of Maryland aqed 72, DefendanVs Witness cross-

examined [Lib. E. fol. 22. Int. 5. fol. 23. ]

Says there is an Assembly of the Representatives of Maryland,
which is a. Part of the Legislature of that Province, but knows
not, that any Persons were ever elected, in any of the three

lower Counties, to serve in that Assembly.

Benjamin Tasker of 3Iaryland aged 50, Defendant' s Witness,

but (.ros,s-examined [Lib. E. fol. 49. Int. 5. fol. 52.]

Speaks in the self-same Words with Webster.
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13TH BRANCH, To prove that the very Acts of Assembly past

in Lord Baltimore's own Province of Maryland do from time
to time call the Lower Counties, the Territories of Pen-
silvania, and tax Goods coming: from thence, or carried

thither, as Goods coming to or going from another distinct

Province, And that those Laws are from time to time en-

forced and put in Execution.

Edward Chambres of Maryland aged 51. [Lib. C. fol. 456. Int.

111. fol. 459.]

Has lookt upon the produced printed book, intitled, A
Collection of the Laws of Maryland, collected and printed by
Authority at Annapolis in 1727. Says that book is well known
in Mailyand, and received and allowed as Authority in the

Courts of that Province as the LaAVs thereof. As to Page 45)

in the Act to prevent exporting of Tobacco by land, says that

by the Words (Territories thereunto) immediately following the

Words Province of Pensilvania in the third Line, and again
in the fifth Line, are meant the three lower Counties of New-
castle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, as he understands and
believes. As to Page 157 in the Act laying an Imposition on
Negroes and other Things, says that the like Words there, have
the like Meaning as he understands and believes.

Edward Chambres [lid. 122. fol. 462. J

Has lived in Maryland 11 or 12 Years, and has held the Office

of Collecterof his Majesty's Customs Jor the Port of Pocomoke
in that Province during all that time. Is acquainted with the

Trade and Navigation of that Province, and with the Duties
arisjntr upon Shippiug, and Customs or Duties upon Goods
imported or exported into oi- i>ut of that Province. Says that

Ships and Vessels trading into and out of the said Province pay
Tonnage of 17 d. Sterling per Ton, which is paid to the several

Naval Officers out of that Province—Says that Ships and Vessels

trading into and out of the said Province pay Tonnage of 17 d.

sterling per Ton. which is paid to the several Naval Officers of

tliat Province, and that 14 d. of the said Tonnage is received for

the use of the Defendant. and the remaining 3d. for the use of the

Governor of that Province. But by what Authority the 14 d. a

Ton is demanded, or received, he knows not. Has lookt on the

44th Page of the said Bf)ok of the Laws of Maryland, into the

Act there for confirming to the Governor 3d. a Ton upon Ships
and Vessels, And says that Ships or Vessels built in or belonging
to the People of the Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex:

and trading into Maryland, do and have paid the said Duty
ever since became into his Office of Collector, but for how long
before knows not. And has lookt on the 30th Page, and says
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the People of the said Counties who have such a seated Planta-

tion as there mentioned, where they have with their Families,

resided for a whole Year, within the said three Counties, or any

of them, are not intitled to the Privilej?e of Residents in the

Province of Maryland within the Meaning of that Act. And
the Reason of his Belief is because such People of the said

Counties live in another Government.

William Euviaet/ of Maryland, aged 42, the DefendanV.s Witness

beiny vjoss-examined [Lib. E. fol. 23. Int. Additional 5.

and 0. fol. 20. and 28.]

8ays he holds the Naval Office of Cecil District under the

(Governor of Maryland, the Deputy Commissary's Office of Cecil

County under Mr. Dulany Commissary General, the Deputy

Surveyor's Office of the said County under Mr. Harris. Surveyor

General of the Eastern Shore, is Receiver of the Rents of two

Mannors for Lord Baltimore, under Authority from the Gov-

ernor, is a Justice of Peace in Cecil County, and a Representa-

tive for that County in the Assembly. And says he has lookt

on the Book produced markt :!. And ifswell known in Mary-

land, and is generally received and allowed as of Authority in

all Courts within that Province, as the Laws of that Province,

and has lookt upon the 4<J. 78, and 157 Pages, and that by the

Words (Territories thereunto belonging)in those several Place>

immediately after the Words (as of the Province of Pensil-

vania) he understands and believe the three lower Counties of

Newcastle. Kent and Sussex on Delaware are meant.

Note—T\\\i^ Man with all these Offices is one of those who
gave the Opinion as a Surveyor that the Circle should be

only two Miles distant, and he is one that swearis to an

Opinion about the Extent of Lord Baltimore's Charter.

Bfiija/niii Ta.sker of Maiiand aged 50, the I)eftr}dant'k\witness,

hut cross-examined [Lib. E. fol. 49. Int. 5. Additional, fol.

57. Inf. H. Original, fill. 51. and Int. H. Additional, fok bS.]

Says fol. 57. That he holds the seyeral following Offices of

Trust and Profit in Maryland, viz. One of the Defendant's

Council of State, Agent, and General Receiver, and Naval

Officer of the Port ot Annapolis, by Appoiiitment of the Gov-

ernor of Maryland, also Surveyor of the Customs by Commis-

sion from the Commissioners of the Customs at London, and

Mayor of Annapolis by Election pursuant to the Charter of

that City. Fol. 51. That he never knew or heard the three

lower Counties called by any other Names than Newcastle,

Kent and Sussex, and the three lower Counties, and (as he

thinks) by the Name of the Territories of Pensilvania; but

whether they were called so by the Government or Legislature
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t°o ask hf,n^V^Tr!
"'/•

.

^""^ ''''' "°* ^""^^ ^h^* ^« --'•e going

uaS NoV ^^H
-1!^. he has lookt upon the printed Bookmarkt No 3. and says if s a Book well known in Marlvand

TotTsTSf'V'^^' .l^^'^'
^"°^^^ ^« Authority i'talVth;

of tlaat Prov
' /' "'*''"^ '*^"' Province as Part of the Lavvsof that Province (except such of tlie Laws therein contained

the slXdT'"' T."'^^'
or expired Since the pubH.:,"::!

hereunto f
'^••' '''^' "^-^ '''' ^^'"^ ^^«'-^l^- Territorietthereunto belonging, m the Laws, fol. 49, 73. and 157 thethree lower Counties of Newcastle Kent and\n^..v A

and intended.
bus^ex, are meant

/./.. ire6.^er ,f Maryland the Defendant's Witness cross e,-umned, aged 72. [Lib. E. fol. 22. Int. 4. fol. 23 ]

Counn cT, TTJ "' ,*'' '""™°" ^^^^'^ ^^^''^"^ - «—

x

silvania.
'' "''" ^°""*'"'^' '^^ Territories of Pen-

^6m/,a,;i Allman of Maryland, aged 50. [Lib. B. fol 23G /«^
112. fol. 237.

JDoes^not know of any Bread, Beer or Flour bein^. seized bvany Officer of Maryland, for being in,ported from eTtherot thethree lower Counties, all which he names. But says he himsHasonce paid Duties, to William Rumsey Naval Officer in Cec

ZTunrifrT''^
^''^''"" ^"^P°^*^^ *^>- the Deponent intoMar>land from Apoquinmiink in Newcastle County Andwhich Duties the said Rumsey claimed as due and 'pav^'le

undrrsZd."^'"
'' *'' ^^°^""^^^ ^^^-^>^"^' - '^^ ^^P-em

John Carnon of Marylaiid Merchant, aged io. [Lib B fol 24~
Int. U2. fol. 275.]

He never heard of any Bread, Beer or Flour being seizedBut has hin^elt paid, and has known several other Personspay. at sundry times, since 1727. several considerable Sun" torDuties of Negroes and Rum imported by him and them from

n.idT «^: r^'l'
'"'" ^i-ryl.n± And which Dutie we epaid to Stephen Knight and William Rumsey. as Naval Office sof Cecl County, and due and payable or claimed bv them b'-vertue of an Act of Assembly of Maryland, as the Deponen uderstood and believes.

A^t-ponent un-

John MarArthvr of Maryland, aged 35. [Lib. B. fol 292 a Int
112. fol. 292. 6.]

He knows of no Commodities imported from the Lower

But'th?T '''''^"°'' '''^' ^^^^ '^^^" --^d - that Provhle

Barrelof RnnT"' 'ST'''^'
'''""^^^^ ^^^« Hogsheads and aBarrel of Rum, from Barbadoes, and landed the same at Phila-
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delphia, and carried them into Christiana Creek in Newcastle

County, and, from thence, by Land into Cecil County. That
the Deponent was there inrormed by William Rumsey (who

he believes was Naval Officer there under Maryland (rovernment)

that if the Deponent did not pay the Duty of the said Rum,
he would seize the same. Whereupon the Deponent paid him
the Sum he demanded ; and understood and believes it was

received from him under the Authority of the Government of

Maryland.

(jteoviie Lawsov of Maryland, a^ed 30. [Lib. B.fol. 302. Int. 112.

fol. 303.]

Heard some Rum was seized about two Years ago, as carrying

from Newcastle County to the Iron Works in Cecil County,

but that the affair was afterwards made up and agreed. He
has at several times paid Duty for Rum which he imported into

Maryland from the County of Newcastle, unto William Rumsey,
as Naval Officer for Cecil County, who claimed and received

the sauie, as the Deponent understood and believes by vertue

of and under some Law of the Province of Maryland.

John Scott aged 34. [Lib. B. fol. 30-4. Int. 112. fol. 305.]

In 1735 he carried Rum from Apoquinimy Landing in New-
castle County, by Land to the Head of Hohemia River in Cecil

(Jounty in Maryland, and there paid a Duty of 3d. per Gallon

for it to William Rumsey, Naval Officer of Cecil District under

the Government of Maryland.

Andrew Porter of Maryland, aged 35. [Lib. B. fol. 30G. Int. 112.

fol. 306.]

Has heard that Duties have been several times paid for Rum
imported into Maryland, from Newcastle County to William

Rumsey Naval Officer of Cecil County. And this Deponent is

now sued by the said Rumsey, for the Duty of Rum, he imported

from Christiana Bridge in the County of Newcastle into Mary-

land ; which Suit is now depending in the County Court for

Cecil Countv. And the said Rumsey claims and re<?eives the

said Duties, by vertue of or under some Maryland Law, as the

Dei)onent understands and believes.

William Rumsey JSIaval Officer in Maryland, aged 42, flie De-

fendanfs Witness, hut cross-examined [Lib. E. fol. 25. Int.

I. Additional fol. 30.]

Has heard and believes that Bread. Beer, Flour, Malt, Wheat.

and other English Grain and Tobacco have been imported and

brought from the three lower Counties since the making the

Act contained in Page 73 of the Law Book, but never heard that

any of them were seized by any Officer of Maryland. But has



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 551

been informed that some Wheat brought from Nottingham
under the Government of Pensilvania, was seized by John Ward
of Ceeil County. That as Naval Oilicer. by vertue of divers

Acts of Assembly of Maryland, he has received from several

Persons sundry Duties for Rum, Wine and Negroes, imported
into Maryland from Newcastle County. That he brought an
Action against one John Carnan in Cecil County, for trans-

sporting Hides from Bohemia Landing in Cecil County in Mary-

land, to Apoquinomy in Newcastle County, with Intention to

transport them to Philadelphia, as he apprehended from some
Words spoke by Carnon, and recovered Judgment against

Carnon in Cecil County Court; but he brought a Writ of Error

in the Provincial Court of Maryland, where the Judgment
was reverst. The Cause of which, as he has generally heard,

was that Apoquinomy was within the Province of Maryland,
but has been informed, by one of the Justices of the same Court,

it was upon a Fault in the Declaration.

Benjamin Tasker of Marylaiid, aged 50, Defendant' s Witnesa

but cross-examined [Lib. E. fol. 49. Int. 7. Additional

fol. 61.]

Remembers that Sir William Keith late Governor of Pensil-

vania imported into Maryland in a Sloop from Newcastle, a

Loading of Bread, Flour, aiid Beer, since the making the Act,

Page 73 of the Law Book, and that Horses haw been since

commonly imported into Maryland from the said three lower

Counties. And remembers that some Horses were seized, during
the Continuance of that Act, and that they were acquitted,

but for what Reasons can't set forth. Has heard that Duties,

for Rum and Wines imported from the three lower Counties
into Maryland, have been paid to the Naval Officers of Cecil

County in Maryland, l)y vertue of the Act Page 157 in the Law
Book. And has heard that some Hidps were seized by William
Rumsey, as being exported out of Maryland contrary to a Mary-
land Act, and were afterwards acquitted, but for what Reasons
knows not.

14TH BRANCH, Containing some General Account of the

great Expence Mr. Penn was at, and how much he has im-

paired his English and Irish Estates to settle this Country.
You'll please to remember, under this Head, that though Mr.

Penn's Petition for a Grant of Lands in America is worn out,

and rendered imperfect, yet there remains enough of it, as it

appears more authentically in the Acts of Council thereupon
in 1680, to shew that he petitioned for it in Recompenee for

great debts then due to him from the Crown.



502 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

James j^ogaii, aged (Hi. [Lib. B. f< l. 70. Int. 11. fol. 109. The

latte?- Part of his Answer to that Interrogator i/. fol. 118.]

After speaking of the Grants of Pensilvania and the Lower
('ounties made by King Charles and the Duke of York to Mr.

Penn, he says, Mr. Penn in 1682 arrived himself in the Prov-

ince and transported thither from Eugland, a vast Colony, in

thirty two Ships, at sundry times before he himself left the

Country in 1084. In which Expedition, during the said William
Penn's Continuance in the Country, which did not amount to

the lull Term of two Years, the said William Penn, as the Afltir-

mant is well assured from the intimate Acquaintance he had
afterwards with the said William Penn"s Afiairs, expended not

less than a Sum betwixt Six and Ten thousand Pounds Sterling.

Letitia Anbrti/, aged 00. [Lib. A. fol. V^A. Int. -ii). fol. 145.

J

That William Penn, the Plaintiffs Father, was in his Life-

time possest and intitled to a large and considerable Real Estate

in England and Ireland, but did not die possest of or intitied

to all the same real Estates. For she remembers his selling.

Hl)out 1712 as she believes) an Estate at Worminghurst in Sus-

sex of the yearly Value of 200Z. or u[)wards, and heard he, many
Years before, sold another Estate in England, and also an Es-

tate in Ireland of several Thousand Pound Value ; and has heard
and believes he likewise mortgaged one or more of his Estates.

The Reason of selling and mortgaging the same was, as she

believes, to raise Money the better to enable him to settle and
defend his Colony in America.

John Page, aged 60. [Lib. A. fol. 174. Int. 40. fol. 191.]

Was well acquainted with the said William Penn from 1705

till his Death, and had Opportunities of being well acquainted
with his Cirucmstances and Affairs, which were in a bad Con-
dition. And this Deponent can depose the same, because he
was employed as his Attorney or Sollicitor from 1707 till his

Death. Knows the said William Penn was a Prisoner in the

Fleet from Hillary 1707 to October 1708, at the Suit of Ford and
others, for a Debt of above 12,000/. owing from the said William
Penn upon a Mortgage of Pensilvania, and it was with a great

deal of Difficulty that he raised Money for discharging the same.
When the Deponent first knew him, he was intitied to a con-
siderable real Estate both in England and Ireland, but did not
die possest of and. intitied to all the said real Estates, for in

1707 he sold Part of the said real Estate in England of a consid-

erable yearly Value, at Worminghurst in Sussex, to Mr. Butler
since deceased, and afterwards sold a considerable Part of his

real Estate in Ireland to Mr. Ber,nard then Sollicitor (Tenerai

there, and this Deponent was concerned for the said William
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hv hi,
,'^^"^^^".^.^^'^^; -i''^-^» the Deponent believes were madeb> hnn »or raising Money to pay his Debts. The Deponenthath heard jn the Fan.ilv, and believes, that before the D^ ^n-ent s Knowledge of the said William Penn, he had sold or u ort-

f^t%^'"rr'''r'^'''^''^'''''' ^-^-l--^' -hleh were his

farrv n t)'

^^ '^^itance, for raising Money to enable him tocarry on the Plantation of his said Province of Pensilvania.

Ferd. John Paris [Lib. A. fol. 195. /;//. 40. fol 330 1

or wIT; his r"'' "^'''T
Acc^uaintance with tl,; said Willian. Penn

^0^%; ,^^''""^''^"^^«°^ ^ff^i-^^- ^"''i"^' bis Life time; butfrom 1.22, became acquainted with and transacted Businessm agrea many AlTairs for Springett Penn, Grandson and thenHeir at Law to the said William Penn, down to the Tin e o

T'^nn:. V
'" ''''' ^"' --e^iately after was employedtor A\ill,an. Penn junior, who upon his Brother Springett«Death, became Heir at Law to the said William Penn, andhas been concerned in a great Number of Affairs for thethe said William Penn Junior, till 1739, that he went to reside

It tTw "h" ^"hV'"'' '"^'"^'A^'
''"'^^ ^^ employed for the Heirsat L^w, has had frequent Opportunities and Occasions to looknto he Deeds and Titles of the Estates in England and Irelandwhich appeareu to have been enjoyed by Proprietary Pennthereby the Deponent plainly perceived that after 1680, h^made cons.derable Mortgages and Sales of his Estates in Eng-land and Ireland, but to what Value can't sav, nor how or in

Zf "^r^Z ^P^'"''^ *^" ^^"^^^>' ^her.by raised, but was

oIdTff bv'tb '""fw-n'"" ^" ^^^^ ^'^^ *""^ ''^'^ ^he Estates,
sol oflf by the said William Penn amounted to a great vearl^-Value, and as near as Deponent remembers, he mentioned thatsuch Estates so sold off in Ireland only wer'e then o5 the vllof 1200/. per Annum, or thereabouts.

John Jpjfn-ys aged 60 {Lib. A. fol. 63. Int. 40. foJ 66 1

\V as acquainted with the said William Penn. and Served himas Secretary for two Years, from 1705 to 1707. whereby he hadsome Opportunities of being acquainted at that time, with hTsCircumstances and Affairs. -which, as the Affirmant believe.'were pretty much perplext. Says the said William Penn wa;then possest of, or intitled to, a considerable real Estate inEngland .n Kent and Sus.sex, and also in Ireland; But, while

ufd wir;"' p" ^T-f"'"'"'^'-
"^ ^""^ *^"^^ afterwards, the

Heve s "''h
' '/' '^'' Affirmant under.stood and be-l.exe.

.

sell or dispo.se of his Estate at Worminghurst in Sussexwhich as he remembers, was computed at about 300/. a Year'and also part of his Estate in Ireland.
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John Jeffeii/x aged (JU. [Lib. A. fol. ;i. Lit. 41. fol. 68]

Whilst he served the said Williaiu Perm as liis Secretary, he

was pi'ivy to several of his Accounts; and in or al)Out 170G, the

said William Penn employed and directed the Affirmant to

write out and state au'Account, from Particulars he gave the

x\ffirmant for that Purpose, of the Costs and Charges of his

Affairs in Pensilvauia and the Profits arising therefrom ; Avhere-

t)y it appeared and was stated, that tlie Province of Pensilva-

uia and the three Lower Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sus-

sex, stood indebted to the said William Penn in the Sum of

64,000/ and upwards, over and above the Profits he had received

tlierefrom.

15TH BRANCH, That the now Plaintiffs have possest ever

since 172G.

>iamutl Freston aged Ih [Lib. B. Ful. 312. Jnt. 10. Fol 324.]

Says he has lived in Philadelphia ever since 172G, and there-

fore knows that the present Plaintiffs have been in Possession

of the three lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex ever

since that Time, as Proprietors and Landlords of the same.

IfiTH BRANCH, Of the Number of Persons settled in each of

the three Lower Counties.

Thomas .Yo.7-o//, aged 40, [Lib. C. Fol. 488. Jnt. 124. Fol. 525.

Further on Fol. 527. J

Says he lives in the County of Newcastle, and is well ac-

quainted therewith, and also with the Counties of Newcastle,

Kent and Sus.sex. That the (Jounty of Newcastle is very thick

settled, the County of Kent well settled, but not so thick as

Newcastle, and the County of Sussex not quite so thick as Kent,

there being great (Quantities of poor Land in Sussex County.

Says there is at least, 1400 Taxables in the (bounty of Newcastle,

which he computes and believes make about an Eighth Part

of the Inhabitants in that County, [8 times 1400 make 11,200]

And that there are two Churches and two Chapels, and also H

Dissenting fleeting Houses, in the County of Newcastle; and

a pul)lick Court-house, and a Prison, and a Market-house, in

the Town of Newcastle. And two Market Houses in Wilming-
ton in the said T'ounty of Newcastle.

Beujamiii Cherr aged 18 [Lib. C Fol. 772. Int. 120. Fol. 773.]

Knows Part of Newcastle County, and lives in Kent County,

but does not knoAv Sussex Countv. That Newcastle County is
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pretty thiek settled, but Kent County not so thi(!k settled.

That be acted last Year as Deputy Clerk of Kent County, and,

from a Calculation be made upon a particular Occasion, from
the Levy Lists, it appeared there were 1025 Taxables in the

same County. That he does not know what Proportion the

Number of Taxables bears to the Number of all the Inhabitants

of that County, but has beard People, that be esteemed of better

Judgment than himself, say tbey judged they were about 8 or

10 to one [only 8 times 1025 make 8,200]. Does not know what
Number of Churches or Meetings there are in that County, and
knows of no other publick Buildings therein but a Court-

bouse and a Prison.

* William Till aged 4S [Lib. C. Fol. 740. Int. 12G. Fol. 741.]

Knows the Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, and
formerly lived many Years in Sussex County, but now lives in

Philadelphia. Says the said Counties are very well settled. And
believes there are about 600 taxable Persons in the ('ouuty of

Sus.sex. which he believes is about one seventh Part of all the

Inhabitants in Sussex County, [7 times 600 make 4200] And
that there are in that County, one Church and two Chapels,

all under tbe Care of one Minister of the Church of England,
two Presbyterian Meeting Houses, and two Quakers Meeting
Houses, and the other publick Buildings are a Court-house and
Prison in that Countv.

17TH BRANCH, Of the very strange Way of granting Out
Lands by the Maryland Officers; and the Consequences
which they insist arise from the Persons locating such
Grants.

Benjamin Tasker DefendanV h Witness, but cross examined, ar/ed

50 [Lib. E. Fol. 49. 20th Int. Fol. 53.]

That he is at present Agent for tbe Defendant, and rxeneral

Receiver of all his the Defendant's Rents, Rights and Dues in

the Province of Maryland.

The same [%\st additional Interrogatory, Fol. 54.]

That the Method for authorising the Defendant's Surveyors

for laying out Lands is first, to obtain a Certificate to the Judge
of the Land Office, from the Defendant's Agent, that bis Dues
are paid for tbe Quantity of Land desired, and upon that, a

Warrant is granted, in the Land Office, directed to a Surveyor

to lay out the Land applied for, and after such Surveyor has

made his Return upon such Warrant to the Land Office, and
the same is examined and approved, a Patent from the Land
Office is thereupon granted : believes that such Surveyors,
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Koiuetimes do, and sometimes do not actuiilly run out the Lines

of such Surveys, but always do mark or certainly describe, one,

or more of the Boundaries of such Lands so by them surveyed

;

and the said Surveyors always make tlieir Returns upon such

Warrants, as if they had actually run out the several Lines.

Griffith Beddoe, the Defendant's Witness, cross examined, aged

39 [Lib. E. Fol. 18. Irit. 45. Fol. 19.]

That there are Grants of Lands recorded in the Land Office

of the Province of Maryland, which Lands are expressed by those

Grants to lie on the West Side of Delaware Bay, and as he is

informed lie in the three lower Counties on Delaware; and

other Grants of Lands expressed to lie on Christiana Creek

recorded in the said Office, which he is also informed, lie with-

in the same Counties; the Names of all which Lands, and of

the Persons to whom the Grants were made, do appear in the

Exhibits on the Part of the Defendant, numbered (4) purport-

ing to be Extracts or Copies of several Grants or Patents of Land

recorded in the said Land Record Books of the Provinc« of

Maryland.

'Die same [Int. 47. Fol. 21.]

That he knows not, nor has he seen, in the Entries of the

Land Office of the Province of Maryland, that the Proprietors

of Maryland, or their Ag:ents. denied to ;;rant Warrants or Pat-

ents for Lands, because such Lands lay, as were supposed to

lie, within the Province of Pensilvania, or the three lower

Counties on Delaware.

]^OTK—They may according to this Method of Granting,

grant out even Phihuielphia it self, or all Pensilvania, if

they set at home and invent imaginary Surveys in a Chim-

mey Corner; and then, the Entries of these Grants are to

be topt upon us, as real Grants made by the Defendant,

when there is not a single Instance of his having fairly

settled any one spot in the Lower Counties.

.Jafnes Logan aged GG [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 18. Fol. 125.]

Has conversed divers Ti)nes with Philemon Lloyd, who was

Agent to the Lord Baltimore. Proprietor of Maryland, on the

Subject of granting Warrants at large for Lands to be located at

the Pleasure of the Purchaser; and on his blaming the Conduct

of some of that Province for their pretending to take up lands

far within what had always been reputed the Province of Pensil-

vania.and.at one particular Time,ui)on this Witness's mention-

ing that Matthias Vanl)ebber.and one of Henry Hollingsworth's

Family about 171(1. had presumed to survey Lands towards the

River Susquehannah, as far Northwards, as the City of Phila-
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delphia, which had always been accounted by the People of Pen-

silvania not less than 20 Miles within their well grounded
Claims, which Practice divers others likewise afterwards at-

tempted, the said Philemon Lloyd alled^ed in Excuse that those

Thinprs were done without the Knowiedfjce. much less the Direc-

tion of any concerned in the Jjand Ollieeof Maryland; for that,

their Warrants were at large, for any Lands whatsoever, th;«t

were vacant and unappropriated before, within the Bounds of

that Province; and it was entirely at Choice of the Purchasers

of such Warrants to locate them where the>N' thought fit, at

their owri Risque; but the present (iovernor of ^Maryland, Sam-
uel Ogle, at a Meeting of the Commissioners (of which this Wit-
ness was one) appointed by the Proprietors both of Marylan<i

and Pensilvania, for settling the Boundaries pursuant to the

Articles of May 1732. which was held at Newcastle (ui 30th

October in the said Year and the three following Days, upon
discoursing the aforementioned Subject of Warrants at large,

strenuously insisted that the Division Lines, tho" agreed on,

not being yet run, such Warrants issuing from the Office of

Maryland, wherever they were located, make the Land. on which
they were laid, a Part of the Province of Maryland.

Sam lit/ Frestcn ayed l^'[Lih. B. fol. 312. Int. 18. foi 324.]

That at a Meeting of the said Commissioners in February

1732. upon some Conversation concerning Encroachments made
by the Inhabitants of Maryland and Pensilvania, Samuel Ogle,

then Lieutenant Governor of Maryland, said. That the Land
Office in that Province was open, and any Person applying to

the said Office, and complying with the Conditions obtained a

Warrant for taking up Lands in the Province of Maryland,
which he might locate where he pleased, the Boundaries between

the two Provinces not being known; whereupon Andrew Ham-
ilton, one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, asked the said Ogle

if the Person obtaining such Warrant. should execute it, by an
Officer of Maryland, three or four Miles above,or to the North-
ward of Philadelphia, Whether the Person obtaining the same
Warrant would thereby, become a Marylander? The said

Samuel Ogle answered, that s\ich Person must be looked upon
as his Lordship's Tenant, or )Vords to that Effect.

*James Steel [Lib. C. fol. 559. Int. 18. fol. 638.

1

That at a Meeting of the Commissioners appointed to run

the Lines on the first or second of February 1732, on some Con-
versation between the Commissioners for Maryland and Pensil-

vania touching some Settlenjents made on the West Side of

Susquehannah Kiver under Maryland Warrants, Mr. Ogle, one

of the Maryland Commissioners [and Cxovernor] then said that
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Warrants for surveying Lamls in Maryland were granted at

large, and that the Persons who toolt out, or were possest of

such Warrants, had it in their Option, and might locate such

Warrants where they pleased: The Pensilvania Commissioners

answered that, according to such Position, such Warrants might

be located in the Neighbourhood of Philadelphia, or to the

Northward ot it : The said Ogle replied, that in case such

Warrants should be so located, the Persons locating the same

ought to be tsteemed Lord Baltimore's Tenants, until the Divi-

sion Lines between the Provinces were actually run and settled.

A most mischievous, and unheard of. Doctrine in America,

purely to beget eternal Contests, first invented and closely

observed by this (Tovernor Ogle, who has really been the

Incendiary, that has defeated the salutary Agreement

made between the Parties, as we shall see, even from his

own Evidence, by and by.

18TH BRANCH, Of the notorious Scituation of Pensilvania

and the lower Counties, both upon one and the same West

Side of the River and Bay of Delaware, and of my Lord's

going personally, by Land, from the one to the other of them

in 173:1 which, neverthless, he has been pleased to swear,

in his Answer, are separated by, and lie on different Sides

of, that great Bay and River.

James Logait., aged m [Lib. B. fol. 70. Int. 7. fol. 91.]

Has been acquainted with Pensilvania, Three Lower Counties,

iind the Province of New Jersey, above 30 \ears; and it is

notorious that Pensilvania and the said Counties lie on the

West Side of Delaware Bay and River, and the Province of New
.Jersey on the East Side thereof.

Samuel Prefston aged 75 [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 121. fol. 450.1

Has frequently travelled, by the Common Road, from New-

castle Town to the City of Philadelphia, which is esteemed

about 36 Miles, and there is not any Bay or River that divides

the Province of Pensilvania from the County of Newcastle:

and verily believes no considerate Man, who travels that Road,

can so far mistake, or he ignorant of the Scituation of tlie said

(Jounty of Newcastle, as to believe it to be on a different Side

of Delaware Bay or River from the Province of Pensilvania,

because they are apparently on one and the same Side thereof.

Edinard Chambres of Mai yland aged 51. [Lib. C. fol. 456. Int.

121. fol. 467. ]

]n tntidem verbia.
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William Beckett aged 43 [Lib. B. fol. 277. Int. 121. fol. 277.]
The Defendant's own Witness, cross examined, says the same

thing exactly, but in stronger Terms; for he thinks no Man in
his senses, that rides that Journey by the Common Road, can
be ignorant of the Scituation, or believe them to be of differ-
ent Sides.

Gideon Griffith aged 45. [Lib. B. fol. 279. Int. 121. fol 279.1
In the same Words as Mr. Beckett.

George Ko.^,^, Clerk, aged 59. [Lib. B. fol. 308. Jnt. 221. fol. 308. ]

Another of the Defendant's own Witnesses, cross examined,
says the same thing as Beckett and Griffith, in fotidem verbis.

Abraham Taylor aged 37 [Lib. C. fol. 477. I7it. 121. fol. 467.]
In totidem verb in.

Edward (Jhambres aged m [Lib. C. fol. 456. Int. 1. fol. 457.]
Has been acquainted with Pensilvania. and the lower Coun-

ties, ab(»ve20 Years, and has seen the Province of New Jersey;
and says the Province of Pensilvania is not contiguous to the
Province of New. Jersey, being separated therefrom by the River
and Bay of Delaware which run betwixt them; and that Pen-
silvania lies on the West, and New Jersey on the East Side of
the said Bay and River. And Pensilvania and the lower Coun-
ties lie on one and the same Side, viz. the West Side of the said
Bay and River.

William Rumsey of Maryland aged 42. the Defendant' a Wit/ness,
c.ro.<iS examined, [Lib. E. fol. 25. Int. 1. additional fol. 25.]

Says the River Delaware lies between Pensilvania and New
Jersev. And that the lower Counties and the Province of Pen-
silvania lie on the West Side of the Bay or River of Delaware.

Benjamin. Tasker of Maryland aged 50, BefendanVs Witness,
cross examined, [Lib. E. fol 49. Int. 1. Additional fol. 49.]
Says with great Difficulty, at last, that the Bay and River

of Delaware separate Pensilvania, from that Part of New Jersey
which he is acquainted with; and that the Province of Pen-
silvania, and the three lower Counties, as he understands,
lie on the West Side of the Bay and River Delaware.
Geo?-ge Boss. Clerk, [Lib. B. fol. 308. Int. 120. fol. 310. ]

The I)efendant'.s own Witness, cross examined, swears that
Lord Baltimore came to the Town of Newcastle by Land, in
Day-time, in 1733. when the Deponent saw him, That he then
walked about that Towii, stayed there one Night and Part of
the next Day. That the Defendant then rode from thence up
to Chester Town in the Province of Pensilvania. where this
Deponent waited upon him. .and from thence went as the Df»-
ponent was informed and believes to the City of Philadelphii.
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Gideon Griffith [Lib. B. fol. 279. Int. 120. Jol. 290.]

Confirms the same.

Abraham Taylor [Lib. C. fol. 477. Int. 120. fol. 487.]

Has heard and believes that Lord Baltimore was at the

Town of Newcastle on Delaware in the beginning of the Year
1733. and that he came from thence by Land into the City of

Philadelphia, where the Deponent saw him, and he continued
some Days.

19TH BRANCH, Of the Treatys in Order to, and the drawing,
perusing and settling the Draught of, the Agreement, the

Map, and Mr. 8enex's written Opinion, ***** and
the Execution, by the Partys, of the Agreement in Question,

and of the Commissions for running the Lines pursuant
thereto.

Ferd. John Paris [Lib. A. fol. 195. Int. IG. fol. 199.]

Says, that he became well acquainted with, and known to,

the Defendant, at the time, and in the manner following; In

1725, the Earl of Sutherland having made Application to the

Crown, relating to the three Lower Counties, there were several

Attendances, or Hearings thereon, before his Majesty's then

Attorney General ; at which Hearings such Application of the

E;irl of Sutherland was opposed, not only by the Mother of the

Plaintiffs, and also liy Springett Penn as Heir at Law, then, of

Proprietary "William Penn, but also by the now Defendant; on
which occasion the Deponent acted and api)eared,not as Sollici-

tor for the Plaintiffs, or their Mother, but as Solicitor for another

Branch of that Family, namely for the said Springett Penn;
and in or about 1729 and 1730, this Deponent became further

known to the Defendant, by having often attended him on sev-

eral Acts of Assembly past in his own Province of Marvland.

and on Complaints from thence, of the Clergy there, or other

Persons relating to Matters arising in his said Province of

Maryland ; and that in 1730, this Deponent was appointed by

the Assembly of Pensilvania to be their Agent here, and, as

such, publickly acted, in London and AVestminster, in the

publick Affairs of Pensilvania. And saith that about the be-

ginning of 1731, the Deponent accidentally met the Defendant,

and falling into Discourse, the Defendent took occasion to

mention to the Deponent, that both himself and the Proprie-

tors of Pensilvania greatly suffered, from some Disi)utes which

had for a longtime subsisted between them, and their Families,

and that he wished they were accommodated, or to the like

Effect, as near as the Deponent can recollect ; whereto the De-
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ponent answered, he had heard a ^ood deal of these old Dis-
putes, and that it did seem to be high time they should be
composed, or to such Effect; and acquainted his i.ordship that
it he would give leave, he the Deponent woukl acquaint Mr.
Penns (who the Deponent believed would be very willing to
accommodate that Matter) with what his Lordship had said,

or to such Effect; and his Lordship, to the Deponent's Appre-
hension, then expressed his Desire, that the Deponent would
mention to' them, what had so passed between his Lordship
and this Deponent. Saith that ne the Deponent was, about
that time, and lor a considerable time before, had been endeav-
ouring to compose a great Difference between William Penn
the Younger, (who was then upon his elder Brother Springett
Penn's Death, become Heir at Law of Proprietary ^Villianl

Penn) and the now Plaintiffs John, Thomas, and Richard
Penn, about Proprietary William Penn's Will, and about his
American Estate; and the Deponent apprehending then, that
an Agreement, between the Lord Baltimore and Mr. Penns
might facilitate the Conclusion of an Agreement between the
different Branches of Proprietary W'illiam Penn's Family, and
might procure better Terms from the Plaintiffs to the said W^il-

liam Penn junior, (who was then this Deponent's Client) for con-
firming Proprietary William I^enn's Will and Disposition of his
American Estate, the Deponent was vt-ry glad therefore of an
Opportunity to promote that other Agreement with Lord Bal-
timore; and thereupon the Deponent did, very soon after such
Discourse had past between the Defendant and the Deponent,
take an Opportunity to acquaint the Plaintiffs John and
Thomas Penn, and also the Deponent's then Client the said
William Penn junior thereof; who declared on their Parts,
that they were satisfied how much it was the connnon interest
ot all Parties to settle those old Disputes with the Lortl Balti-
more; In a short time after which, there was a Meeting had,
between the Defendant, and some, if not all, of the now Plain-
tiffs, at the !Ship Tavern near Temple-Bar. on or about 3d June
1731. at which Meeting the Deponent was present; and after the
Occasion of that Meeting had been opened, and some Discourse
liad between them, one of the now Plaintiffs (and to the De-
ponent's best Remembrance it was the Plaintiff Thoma^ Penn)
produced a small written Map of part of Pensilvaniaand Mary-
land, and of some adjacent Parts; and the Defendant, on his
part, produced another written Map of the like Places, upon
comparing of which two Maps together, they seemed to have
in the descriptive Parts of the Places no material Difference
that the Deponent could perceive, which Map produced by the

3G—Vol. XV.
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Plaintiffs as aforesaid, is the the Map raarkt Par. (No 1.) now
l)rodueecl, and each of the said Maps had, then, a Circle or part

of a Circle, drawn round the Town of Newcastle. And after a

yrood deal of Conference and Discourse, of the Lord Baltimore's

Claim to the three Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sus-

sex, and also, how high, or how far North, his Head-Line of

his Province of Maryland should extend, the Lord Baltimore

with a Pencil and Rule. drcAv, upon his said Map, a strait Line

from a part at the Edge of the Land, which was there called

(;ape Hinlopen, to the Westward a-cross a good Part of the

Peninsula, into the Middle, or thereabouts, of the Peninsula,

and then, drew another strait Line, Northwards, up to the Top
of the Peninsula, and above every Part of the Peninsula,

and into the main Land or Continent, (as there described)

and until it went, by and above, some part of the Circle:

and then he drew another strait Line, Westwards, across the

River at the Head of Chesapeak Bay, (at the upper Point uf

the said second Line) as and for what he then insisted should

be his Boundary: and it was then declared by the said Lord

Baltimore, that those two first mentioned Lines would leave

the three lower Counties to Mr. Penns; and that the third Line

above-mentioned should be the Head Line, or North Boundary of

Maryland, and the Foot Line or South Boundary of Pensilvania,

or to some such Effect : Saith that one of the now Plaintiffs

(and to the Deponent's best Remembrance, it was the Plaintiff

.John Penn) then, with a Pen, drew Lines, upon his Map, how
he desired the said Lines should run ; which Lines so drawn

roughly by the Plaintiff', were much like those drawn by the

Defendant, save that the Plaintiff made the general Foot-Line,

or South Boundary of Pensilvania, (and consequently the gen-

eral Head Line, or North Boundary of Maryland) to be lower,

or more Southerly, than the Lord Baltimore had done; where-

upon a very long Debate and Argument arose, between the De-

fendant and the Plaintiffs, at what Distance South from the

City of Philadelphia, the Foot Line of Pensilvania, or the Head
Line of Maryland should run? And the Lord Baltimore at first,

(and always so far as the Deponent knows) persisted that such

last mentioned Line should be only at 15 Miles Distance below

the Parallel, or South of Philadelphia. And the Plaintiffs, or

such of them as were at that Meeting, then insisted that that

would be too much, or too far, above the Peninsula, and that

the North Bounds of Maryland should beat 20 Miles Distance,

below the Parallel, or South of Philadelphia: And the Depon-

ent well remembers that the Terms and Proposals for an Agree-

ment did. then, proceed from the Lord Baltimore himself, but

no Agreement, was, at that time, concluded between the Parties;
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but both sides took time to consider of it. And saith that
after such first Meetin-, the Deponent was present at a second
Meeting, between the Defendant, and some, if not all, of the
Plaintiffs, upon or about the 11th June ITIH, when a very lon^
Conference was had, between them, whether the Head or North
Line of Maryland should be so high, as to be within 15 Miles
of Philadelphia, or should be at some greater Distance South
of Philadelphia? And the Lord Baltimore then insisted that
it should be within 15 Miles of Philadelphia, otherwi.se, he
would not agree, but would take some adversary Measures, or
to that Effect; and such of the Plaintiffs as were then there
not at all agreeing to the Lord Baltimore's said Propo.sal and
Demand, at that time, the Treaty broke off. And saitb that,
some time afterwards, the Treaty was again resumed in the
following manner, for that the Deponent on or about 0th July
1731, did meet the Plaintiffs John Penn and Thomas Penn, anil
the said William Penn junior, to consider of a Letter which
the said William Penn junior then produced and shewed this
Deponent, and said he had received from Lord Baltimore, which
Letter intimated that his Lordship had preferred some Petition
to his Majesty: whereupon, on or about 9th July 1731, th.'

Deponent did meet the Plaintiffs John Penn, and Thomas Penn,
and the .said William Penn junior, or some of them, again,
together with one Mr. Simon Clements a Relation of theirs!
since deceased, in order to prepare an Answer, on the Part of
Mr. Penns to that Letter, and to be sent to Lord Baltimore;
and he then saw such Letter said to be received by the said
William Penn junior, from the said Lord Baltimore, and hath
since made very dilierent Enquiry after the same, but that the
said William Penn junior, having since released to the Plain-
tiffs, and havinc: lived for several Years last, past as the Deponent
assuredly believes, in Ireland, the Deponent cannot obtain the
same, or any Account thereof, but is very apt to believe the
same is lost or mislaid, and not now in being; and verily
believes that a written Answer to such Letter was sent to, and
received by the Defendant the Lord Baltimore. For that, on
or about 20th of the same July 1731. the Deponent was pre.sent
at a third Meeting:, at the Bedford-Head Tavern, near Covent-
Garden, witli the Defendant the Lord Baltimore, ana (accord-
ing to the Deponent's best remembrance) every one of the now
Plaintiffs, and also with the said William Penn junior, then
Heir at Law of Proprietary William Penn, at which time verv
great Debates and Arguments were used, between them, at what
Distance, South of Philadelphia, the Head or North Line of
Maryland, or the Foot or South Line of Pensilvania, should
run? Whether so near as within 15 Miles of the Parallel of
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Phila(leli)hia, (as the Lord Halrimore had before insisted) or.

at some, and what greatei- Distance; and the now Plaintifl

John Penn did then insist it should run lower, namely at is

Miles, South of Philadelphia, afterwards at IT Miles, and then

contended, to tlie Deponent s now best Remembrance for half

;i Mile, but the Lord Baltimore appeared to be fixed and deter-

mined anil dechuvd he would al)solutely have it run within l."i

Miles of Philatlelpliia. or else would not agree, or to that Efifect :

insomuch that the Deponent ;»pprehended. the Treaty would

then again have broken of! : whereupon the Deponent went

aside, with the PlaintiiT John Penn, out of the Room where

the Couipany was met, and rei)resented to him that, as his own

Family Diflference with his Father's Heir at Law, was then, in

a manner agreed upon, and as there had been continual Disputes

and Contests l^etween his own Family, and Lord Baltimore's

Family, for about 50 Years then past, about Boundaries, and

aijout the said three Lower Counties, the Deponent really

thought, it was for the IMaintiffs Benefit, to heal all those old

Disputes together, and to accei)t Lord Baltimore's Proposal,

and put all their AfTairs at Peace, or to some such Effect : and the

Deponent used such Arguments as seemed proper on that Occa-

sion. Whereupon the PlaintifT John Penn and the Deponent

returned into the Room again, where the Company and the said

Lord Baltimore was. and, after some further Endeavours then

used, on the Part of :\Ir. Penns, to induce Lord Baltimore to

agree to run his Head Line, at more than 15 Miles South of

Philadelphia, (but which his Lordship absolutely refused) it

was at length, finally. but verbally, agreed between them. at that

Meeting, that the said Head Line of Maryland, should be an

East and West Line, to run 15 Miles below, or South of the

Pirallel of Philadelphia, and the Parties congratulated each

other thereon ; and another Meeting was agreed to be had on

or about the 32d of the same July, to consider how to carr}

such Agreement into Execution. And saith that, accordingly,

on or about 22d of the same July 1731, the Deponent was present,

at a fourth Meeting, between the Defendant, the Lord Balti-

more, and some if not all of the PlaintifTs. (but believes all

the Plaintiffs were present thereat) at which time the Lord

Baltimore produced a Paper, which he said he had written or

drawn up, to express the Parties Agreement: and which he

also said, must be drawn at length, or to that or the like Effect,

and such Paper was then read over twi<-e or thrice (as the De-

ponent remembers, i And the Deponent on the behalf of Mr.

Penns desired to have the same, or some Copy thereof, but the

Lord Baltimore declared, that he had no Copy thereof, but

gave it to Mr. John Sharjje his .Sollicitor. who was then present,
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and directed him to give this Deponent a Copy of the same;
Accordingly ^ few Days afterwards the Deponent received, from
the said Mr. Sharpe, tlie Paper now produced, markt (Par. No
2.) as and for a true Copy thereof ; and the said Mr. Sharpe and
the Deponent then examined the same therewitli, and Mr.

Sharpe kept the Original, and delivered to this Deponent the

said now produced Copy. And saith that he afterward.s went
to the said Mr. Sharpe s House, and attended on him several

times, in Order to draw up in Form, and settle the Agreement,

to be afterwards executed between the Parties, and particularly

upon or about 16th August 1731, the Deponent delivered over

to the said Mr. Sharpe, the Defendant's then, and present Sol-

licitor, the Original Paper Draft of Articles of Agreement
(but not including the Additional Clauses which are now
thereto) now produced, markt (Par. No 3.) of -which time, as

well as of several other times spoken to in his Deposition to

this Interrogatory, the Deponent is the better able to depose,

after this length of Time, from some Notes which lie kept thereof

in order to draw out his Bill for his Time and Attendances.

And the Deponent is the rather certain nearly as to th^ Time
now last mentioned, from an original Letter to the Deponent
(of the said Mr. Sharpe's Hand-writing which Deponent is well

acquainted with, for that the Deponent hath often seen him
write) now produced and markt Par. No 4. and dated 19th

August 1731, wherein, he writ to this Deponent that he had
perused the Draft of the Agreement between Lord Baltimore

and Messrs Perms, and thought the same perfectly right, and
that he had sent it that Night to Lord Baltimore for his perusal,

or to such Effect, as by the said produced Letter to which the

Deponent refers. Saith, that he, on several Days, after the

said 19th of August, went, and sent to, the said Mr. Sharpe'.s

House, in order to forward the settling the said Draft, until on
or about the 23d of September 1731. Avhen the said Mr. Sharpe
informed tliis Deponent, that Councellor Wynne then had the

said Draft laid before him. which said Councellor Wynne (now
Mr. Serjeant Wynne) the Deponent had before seen, acting for

the Defendant, relating to his Aflairs in Maryland, and accord-

ing to the Deponent's best Remembrance, the said Mr. Wynne
had been present, on the Part of the Lord Baltimore, at one

at least of the Meetings before spoken of ; and after some farther

Attendances on the said Mr. Sharpe he acquainted this Depo-
nent on or about the 28th of October 1731. that he had got back

the said Draft. But tlie Deponent did not obtain the .<ame. so

as to see what Alterations were made, or proposed to l)e made
therein, until on or about 8th November 1731. And, upon the

Deponent's ol)taining the said I>i-aft back again, this Deponent
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found the same endorsed on the Outside, with a Direction or

Desire to Mr. Wynne to peruse and settle that Draft, on behalf

of niy Lord Baltimore, and with a Note or Memorandum, that

my Lord desired those Articles might be as short and general

as possible, in regard the same must be made publiek in both the

Provinces.and signed Sharpe Sollicitor pro Lord Baltimore, in

such manner as now appears thereon. And which said Indorse-

ment, Direction, Note and Signing, this Deponent assuredly be-

lieves was and is of the said Mr. Sharpe's own proper Hand-
writing (which this Deponent was and is well acquainted with

as aforesaid. ) And the Deponent saith that the said Draft when
it was so returned back, had in the Margin of the 9th Sheet or

Folio thereof, these Words written, viz. (The Miles throughout
to be expressed English Statute Miles) which said Words so writ-

ten there, the Deponent assuredly believes were, and are, -of the

said Mr. Sharpe's Hand-writing; and also several other Notes

and Words had been then added and written (by the said Mr.

Sharpe, as the Deponent believes) upon several other of the

Sheets; and the said Draft had likewise the several other Altera-

tion and Additions then made thereto by writing, seeming to

be writ with a Pencil, and which the Deponent did then and
still doth ajjprehend and believes had Ijeen nmde by the said

(Jouncellor Wynne. Of which Alterations (more especially that

for expressing the Miles to be English Statute Miles) this Depo-
nent acquainted the Plaintiffs, or some of them, and had divers

Meetings with them thereon, and they appeared to be greatly

dissatisfied there witii, declaring that the Miles mentioned
in the said Draft, ought to have been (geographical Miles or

Minutes, and not English Statute Miles ; and that an Alteration,

so as to make them English Statute Miles, was entirely to their

Prejudice, and in Lord Baltimore's Favour, and would extend

his Bounds, in those Places where Miles had been mentioned,

near about a sixth Part more than he himself had ever demanded
or to some such Effect, and they shewed apparent Unwill-

ingness to agree thereto ; And saith that he afterwards attende<l

the said Mr. Sharpe thereon and objected to that proposed

Alteration, in particular, and on or about 5 January 1731, a

Meeting was had, between the Defendant, and two, if not all

three, of the Plaintiffs, at the Lord Baltimore's House in Gros-

venor Square, when after much Debate, the now Plaintiffs, oi-

so many of them as M'ere there at time, were prevailed on to

consent to such Expression of English Statute Miles; and the

said Draft of Agreement, or great part thereof, was then read

over, and many Debates thereon had. and the said Lord Balti-

more did then propose that -some Mathematician should be con-

sulted, upon the Draft of the said Articles; and it having been
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mentioned, in tlie said Diatt tiiat i-ouie Map or Plan of the Place
in Question, was, or was to be, in some manner or other, annexed
to or referred to, in the Articles of Afrreement, Debates arose,

between such of the Plaintiffs, as were then there (which the De-
ponent believes were all three of the Plaintiffs,) and the De-
fendant tlie Lord Baltimore, which of their two Maps or Plans
should be engraved, so as to be referred to in the Articles ot

Agreement ? and also who should be the Person that should
engrave the same? And the Deponent well remembers, that

some one of the Plaintiffs proposed that their Map or Plan
should be engraved for that Purpose, and that a Person (whose
Name this Deponent doth not now recollect, and who lived

somewhere in the Strand) siiouhi engrave the same, l)ut tlie

Lord Baltimore insisted that his own Map or Plan should be
engraved, for such purpose, and he named and desired that

another different Person, one Mr. Senex of Fleet street (who is

now lately deceased, as the Deponent believes) should engrave
his the said Lord Baltimore's Map or Plan, and also, should
examine the said Draft of the Articles; and accordingly, it Avas,

in the Deponent's presence and hearing, agreed between the
Lord Baltimore and such of the Plaintiffs as were there, that
the Lord Baltimore's Map or Plan should be the Map or Plan,

that should be engraved, and that the said Mr. Senex (who
had been named by the said J^ord Baltimore) should engrave
the same; and that Mr. Senex should also consider, and give

his Opinion upon, the said Draught of the said Articles of Agree-
ment or to that Effect; and, accordingly, the Deponent was
present, with the said Mr Shari)e the Lord Baltimore's Sollicitor,

when tiie said Draught of the said Articles of Agreement, was
delivered to the said 'Mr. Senex. And the said Mr. Sliarpe de-

livered to the said Mr. Senex the Map or Plan which this De-
ponent did then, and doth still believe, Avas tlie very Plan
which had been markt by the J^ord Baltimore as aforesaid, and
the said Mr. Sharpe and this Deponent concurred in desiring

the said Mr. Senex to consider the said Articles, and to give
his Opinion for the Satisfaction of their respective Clients,

upon the same, and ujion the Propriety of the Terms and Ex-
pressions which were made use of therein, and also that the
said Mr. Senex would engrave tlie Map or Plan so delivered to

him by the said Mr. Sharpe. And the Deponent saitli that, after

some few Days time, the said Mr. Senex did verbally declare

his Approbation of tlie Terms made use of in the Draft of the
said Agreement, but the Deponent and the said Mr. Sharpe. or
one of them, seemed rather desirous that he should give his

Opinion thereon in Writing, or to sonir snch effect, and which
heaiterAvards did to the said ^Ir. Sharpe. and to this Deponent

;
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and that Copy of his Opinion which he delivered to this De-
ponent, this Deponent hath kept in his own Custody ever since,

(until lately, that it was left with the Clerk, who examines
this Deponent, as an Exhibit in the Cause) And it is the Paper
luarkt Par. (No 5) now pi-oduced. And this Deponent did and
doth apprehend, such Paper to have l)een of the said Mr. Senex's

Hand-Avriting, but doth not know the same to be so. And
that the said Mr. Senex declared he would go about engraving
a Plate oi" the Map or Plan which had been so left with him bv

the said Mr. Sharpe; and after some time, the said Mr. Senex

produced a Copper-plate, and also a Proof-sheet, as printed

off from the same, the Lines of which the Deponent did

examine as carefully as his Capacity would allow him, with
the said written Map or Plan then in the said Mr. Senex
his Custody, and found the same to agree together; And
after such time the Deponent knows that Mr. Sharpe had in

his own Custody again the said written Map or Plan, which
had been so left with the said Mr. Senex. for engraving such

Plan; And Mr. Senex did, at the Deponent's Request, some
considerable time afterwards, stamp ofT some of the Prints from
the Copper-plate, on the Margin of the Parchment, whereon
the Articles of the Agreement were to be (and afterwards were)

engrost for Execution Saith that, at the time the said Draft

of the Articles was first delivered over, although the now Plain-

tiffs and their Nephew William Penn junior, had very oear

agreed upon Terms to purchase u Release from him to them,

yet. sucli Release from him, was not actually obtained from
him, in Form (to the Knowledge or Belief of this Deponent.)
And therefore in August 17ol. when the said Draft of the before

mentioned Articles was so delivered over to the said Mr. Sharpe,

the said William Penn junior was named therein as and for a
Party to the said Articles, but after that time, and while the

• forementioned Matters were passing, the said William Penn
junior did (to this Deponent's certain Knowledge) release to

his Uncles, the now Plaintiffs, or to some of thejii generally

the said Province of Pensilvania and Counties of Newcastle,

Kent and Sussex, on which Account as that Matter had inter-

vened while the said Draft of the Articles of Agreement was
under Consideration as aforesaid, some of the now Plaintiffs,

or the Deponent on their behalf desired, that then the said
'

William Penn's Name might be struck out, and he not longer

continued as a Party to such Articles of Agreement, which was
agreed toon the part of the Lord Baltimore, and his Council,

but the Lord Bahiinore, or his Council. Mr. Wynne, afterwards
insisted that the said William Penn junior, and also some other
Persons Devisees of certain Quantities of 10,000 Acres of Land,
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under Proprietary William Penn's Will, should by an Inptru-

meut, to be endorst on the Back of tlje said Articles of Agree-

ment, deelaye their Consent to sucli Agreement between Lord

Baltimore and the now PlaintiU's, and accordingly a JJraft of

a Deed-Poll (for an Endorsement) to some such ellect, was pre

pared by the Deponent, and Avas settled by the said Counsellor

Wynne, to some such effect, and makes one of the Papers now
annexed or pinned to the saitl produced Draught of the Articles

of Agreement. Saith that, upon or about 29th March 1732 (above

seven Months after the said Draught had been delivered over

as aforesaid) tlie Defendant did deliver to this Deponent a

Memorandum, or Note in Writing, now produced and markt

(Par. No 0) which tlie Deponent believes to be of the said Lord

Baltimore's own Hand, containing a new Demand, that there

should be a Clause to prohibit any of tlie People of the respect-

ive Provinces, to carry on Commerce into the Bays of Chesapeak

and Delaware, by the means of any of tlie Rivers leading from

one of the Provinces to the other, without the Leave of the

Proprietor of the Province to whom the said Bay did belong

,

Upon the Delivery Avhereof to the Deponent by the said Lord
Baltimore, his Lordship did signify to this Deponent, that his

People in Maryland insisted on some such Clause, and that,

therefore, he must have it, or to some such like effect. And
this Deponent acquainted the Plaintifl's, or some of them, of

such new Demand, and shewed to them the said last mentioned

Memorandum or Note, and after some Consideration they agreed

to have some Clause for such Purpose, and, accordingly a Draft

of a Clause was drawn, which was afterwards settled by the said

Counsellor Wynne, and makes one other of the Papers now
annexed or pinned to the said produced Draft of the Articles

of Agreement, and, at length, after many othtr Attendances, on

the Lord Baltimore, Counsellor Wynne,and the said Mr. Sliarpe,

this Deponent and the said Mr. Sharpe compared the said now
produced Draft of the Articles of Agreement, with Mr. Sharpe's

Copy of the same Draft, on or about the 26th of April 1T32, and

this Deponent was to get and did get the said Map stamped or

printed by the said Mr. Senex, on the Margin of some large Skins

of Parchment, and the said Draft engrost. for six several Parts

of the said Articles of Agreement, thret- to be kept by the said

Lord Baltimore, and three to be kept by the Plaintiffs which
being done, this Deponent was personally present on or about

the 10th of May 1732. and did then see the Defendant and Plain-

tiffs respectively sign, seal, and as their several Acts and Deeds,

deliver the Parchment Articles of Agreement, of that Date, now
produced and markt Par. (No 7) and the Title Baltimore, and the

Names John Penn, Thomas Penii and Richard Penn, thereunto
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severally set and subscribed, were and are of the proper Hand-

writiug ot the Defendant, the Lord Baltimore, and of the Plain-

tiffs, severally and respectively; and thereupon yie said Mr.

Sharpe,and this Deponent, and several other Witnesses then pre-

sent, did sijj:n an Endorsement or Attestation, as Witnesses, on

the Back of the saiil Articles, of the Execution of the same, in

such manner as now appears thereon ; and the Name Ferdinando

.John Paris, in such manner as now appears subscribed to such

Endorsement or Attestation, was and is of this Deponent's own
proper Hand-writinir; and at the same time this Deponent did

also see the said William Penn the Grandson, and Letitia Au-

brey, Charles Fell, and (iulielma Maria Fell (all of whom the De-

ponent then very well knew) respectively sign, seal and deliver as

their several and respective Acts and Deeds, the Deed-Poll or

Endorsement, written on the Back of the said eugrost Articles,

which Deed-Poll or Endorsement also bears Date the same lUth

of May 1732, and the several and respective Names, William

Penn, Letitia Aubrey, Charles Fell and Gulielma Maria Fell,

thereunto severally set and. subscribed, were and are of the

proper Hand-writings of them severally and respectively; And
thereupon, the said Mr. Sharpeand this Deponent, and the like

several other Witnesses (then present) who had witnessed the

Execution of the said Articles of Agreement, did also subscribe

their Names as Witnesses to the Execution of the said Deeil-

PoU or indorsement, in such manner as now appears at the

foot of the same, and the Name Ferdinando John Paris there-

unto also set and subscribed, was and is of the Deponent's own
proper Hand-writing; and saith, that the said Articles being

so executed, the Parties Plaintiffs and Defendant in this Cause,

congratulated each other on the concluding such Agreement,

and appeared to be, and exprest themselves extremely pleased

at the settling the Disputes which had for so many Years before

subsisted between the two Families, and dined together that

day.

The sa\ne [Itit. 17. fol. 2G0.]

Saith that, so far as he knows or believes, the first Meetings

in order to the said Agreement. l)egan entirely upon the Motion

and Desire of the Defendant the Lord Baltimore, and not upon
the Motion or Request of the Plaintiffs, but the DeiJonent per-

ceived the Plaintiffs to be very willing to meet his Lordship,

in order to treat for an Agreement between them; and the De-

])onent Avell knows that the Terms proi)Osed for their Agree-

ment, at sucii Meetings .-is before mentioned, were irenerally

proposed by, and were afterwards insisted upon by the Lord
Baltimore himself, and several of which were couiplied with,
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and agreed to. by tiie Plaiutitts witii great Reluctancy and
Unwillingness on their Part, so lar as ever this Deponent could
judge, and as this Deponent verily believes ; And tiiis Deponent
saw and heard the Defendant from time to time insist upon his

general Demands, as before-mentioned, and express himself to

the Purport that, if the Plaiatiffs would not agree thereto, he
must renew his Claim against them, as to the three lower Coun-
ties, or to the like, or some such Effect. Doth not remember
any forcible or menacing Methods, made use of by any of the
Parties, in order to procure any particular Terms, save that at

one of the early Meetings in order to the said Agreement one
of the Plaintiffs exprest a great deal of Regret and Concern at

the very great Expenee, which, he said, they had been put to,

on the former Disputes and Contests; which Matter the Depon-
ent did, and doth apprehend and believe the Defendant took
some advantage of: for that afterwards the Deponent observed
the Defendant seemed the more tenaciously to insist upon hi^;

Demands; and several times when the Plaintiffs appeared un-
willing to agree to his Terms, he intimated that then he must
renew his former Claims, or to some such Effect; which the
Deponent then lookt upon as menacing a further Expenee to

the Plaintiffs, which one of them had exprest some Fear or

Dread of; saith that the said Agreement was not hastily or
suddenly, or by any Surprise whatever (to the Knowledge or

Belief or this Deponent) concluded and settled, but, on the
contrary, the said Agreement and the Terms of it, were, to the
Deponent's Knowledge, under Deliberation, from on or about
3d June 1731, until very near the time of executing the said

Articles, on or about 10th May 1732, which was about eleven
Months; and saith that great Part of the said Time was taken
up in apparent Delays and IVocrastinations (as the Deponent
then believed, and stiil believ3s the same to be) used on the
Part of the Lord Baltimore and his Agents, which the Depon-
ent then wondered at, and could not then discover what should
be the meaning of, as his Lordship seemed very fond and de-

sirous of the said Agreement; but the Meaning of which were
afterwards explained (to the Deponent's Apprehension) by what
the Lord Baltimore himself, at several times towards the latter

Part of the said Time, declared in this Deijonent's Hearing,
when he delivered over the said new Demand, on, or about 29th

March 1732, And again, when h,^ executed the said Articles, on.

or about 10th May 1732, from whence this Deponent did then
collect and believe, and doth still really believe, that such Delays
were taken, in order that the Lord Baltimore might have time
to receive the Sense and Opinion of his Officers or Agents in

Maryland upon such Agreement, before he would compleat o'-
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execute the same. And saith. that he doth not remember any

other Instance, of an Agreement between two private Parties,

having proceeded with such great Caution and Ceremony, or

such long Deliberations, as were used in order to thecompleat-

ing the said Articles of Agreement between the Parties to this

Cause, nor doth this Deponent know or believe that any Im-

position or Deceit was used or endeavoured to be used by the

PlaintilTs, or any of them, towards the Defendant, in order to

the obtaining the said Articles of Agreement.

Abraham Tayloi\ aged 37. [Lib. C. fol. 477. Int. \V6. tol. 478.]

Says he was a subscril)ing Witness to, and proves the Execu-

tion of the Articles of Agreement of 10th May 1732, by all the

Parties thereto, and was also a subscribing Witness, and proves

the Execution by the Plaintiffs of their Commission to their

Commissioners dated 12th May 1732.

Th€ same. [Int. 114. /o/. 481. J

Says, that he being called in order to be a Witness to the

Articles, did go to the Place where it was executed, that the

Plaintiffs and the re^t of the Company met, before my Lord

Baltimore came, and in some time afterwards he came; and ex-

cusing himself for so long Stay, desired they might proceed to

the Business they had met about. That the said Deed was

then reati over, and had several Blanks in it. which Avere all filled

up till the Reader came to a Blank, which had been left for the

Penalty. That thereupon it Avas asked by Mr. Paris, as the

Deponent remembers, what Sum should be inserted? To which

after some time, Lord Baltimore said 'twas a Matter of Indiffer-

ence to him whether it was 5000/. or 50,000/. Upon which the

Parties agreed to have it 5000/. and it was accordingly so filled

up. Farther says, that, after the Execution of the said Deed,

the Lord Baltimore in Conversation then said. That there had

been long Disputes between the said Parties, and he was very

glad there was now an End of them: that he had received Let-

ters from his Friends in Maryland, advising him that he might

have had better Terms [why then, surely, they knew there,

what these Terms were] but th\t he Avas perfectly satisfied with

them. And then named one Mr. I loyd, in Maryland, and,, at

the same time, James Logan of Pensilvania, and said, that, if

they had had the Management of it he belieA'ed they Avould have

protracted the Affair much longer; but he thought it much

better to end it. as they had noAV done, and hoped to see M\:

Penn in America to make an end of the Affair, or to that Effect.

And l)oth Parties declared they were well satisfied with, and

Avould execute the said Agreement. And further savs. That he

tiieu collected from the said Lord Baltimore s discourse at that
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time, that hi the said Lord Baltimore liad transmitted the

Substance of the Agreement l)etween him and the Plaintiffs to

some of his Friends in Maryland, and had the Letters aforesaid

in Answer tliereto . hut, notwithstanding; those Letters, he was
perfectly well satisfied witli the said Agreement.

.Serjeant Williain Wi/ii.ii>. aged 49. [L/h. A. fol. 104. Inl. 20.

ful. 166.]

Saith tliat he hath lookt upon the Paper Draft of Articles of

Agreement, now produced and markt Par. (No :). ) and that

the said [iroduced Draft Avas left at tlie Deponents late Cham-
bers in the Middle-Temple. London, by Mr. Sharpe. or one of his

Clerks, (as this Deponent believes) on the Behalf, and by the

Order (as he believes) of the Defendant tJie Lord Baltimore for

tiie Deponents Perusal, which said Mr. Sharpe is, or was (as

the Deponent believes) Agent or Sollieitor for the said Defend-

ant. And saith. tliat he does not remember, that lie the De-

[)onent was ever attended or consulted with, about the said

proiluced Draft, either by the Plaintiffs in Person, or any of

them, or bv the said Defendant in Person, oi- by any Sollicitors

or Agents for the said Parties, or any, or either of them, and is

inclined to believe that he was not; cannot remember how long

the said produced Draft lay before this Deponent, but believes

it might lie before him about 10 Days, or a Fortnight, and
believes he did strike out several Parts of the said produced

Draft. ;ind make other Alterations therein with a Lead Pencil;

some of which the Deponent observes have Ijeen since wrote

over with ink; and after he had made such Alterations there-

in, lie did approve of the said produced Draft on the Behalf of

the Defendant, so far as the Deponent could, without speaking

to the Defendant or his Sollieitor, touching the .same. And the

Deponent saith, that he had never been applied to, or consulted

by the Plaintiffs, or any of them, relating to any of their Affairs

whatsoever before ttie said oroduced Draught was laid before

this Deponent, as aforesaid, or since, but. this Deponent had
several times before that time, i)een applied to, and consulted,

by and on the Behalf of the said Defendant, in the Way of this

Deponent's Profession, as a Council relating to the Defendant's

Estate and Concerns in Maryland, and elsewhere; and in par-

ticular, the Deponent well remembers that he had been ac-

quainted by the said Defendant of the long Disputes that had
subsisted between the Defendant and his Ancestors as Proprie-

tors of the Province of Maryland aforesaid, and the Plaintiffs

and tlieir Ancestors as Proprietors of the Province of Pensil-

vania relating to the Boundaries of their respective Provinces.

And saith, that he was requested by the Defendant, in or about



574 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

May 1731, or 1732. (as near as tliis Deponent can recollect, the

time) to meet the Plaintifls and their Agents, to try if they

could come to any amicable Agreement, touching the said

Boundaries; and the Deponent was accordingly i)resent at sev-

eral Meetings between the said Defendant and the said Mr.

Sharpe, his Agent or Sollicitor, and some of the Penns, whom
the Deponent believes to be the Plaintiffs in this Cause, and
Mr. Paris their Agent or Sollicitor; and remembers that the

said Parties did, at lengtii, come to some Agreements, which
was ordered to be reduced into Writing, l)ut the Particulars

thereof, the Deponent cannot, at this distance of time, recollect,

any otherwise, than from the said produced Draft, which the

Deponent believes was drawn, or prepared in consequence of

such Meetings and Agreement, and soon afterwards laid before

this Deponent to peruse and settle on the Behalf of the said

Defendant as aforesaid; but who drew, or prepared the said

produced Draught, he knows not.

Mary Senex, a<jtd b2. [Lib. A. fol. 154. Int. 30. fol. 156. J

Well knew John Senex, late of Fleet-street, London, Mathe-

matician, who was her late husband, and he died the latter End
of December 1740, and knew him for about 18 or 20 Years before

his Death, and was his Wife about 18 or 19 Y^ears, of that time,

and did frequently see him write, and is well acquainted with

his Character or Manner of Hand-writing, and hath lookt upon
the Paper-Writing contained in one Sheet now produced, and

markt Par. (No 5.) and does verily believe that the two Pages

of the Body of the said proiuced Paper-Writing, and the Name
John Senex, set at the End thereof, is and are of the said John
Senex's Hand-Writing.
This Exhibit is Mr. Senex"s written Opinion upon the Article.s.

Thomas Smith, aged 29 [Lib. A. fol. 158. Int. 30. fol. 159.]

Well knew John Senex, who is dead, and died latter End of

December 1740, and knew him between 13 and 14 Years before

his Death, and first knew him by being put Apprentice to him,

and served him as such seven Years, and lived afterwards with

him as his Journeyman, to the time of his Death, saith, he

often saw the said John Senex write, and is well acquainted

with his Character or Manner of Hand-writing, and hath lookt

upon the Paper-writing contained in one Sheet, now produced

and markt Par. (No 5.) and really believes the two Pages of

the Body of the said produced Paper-AVriting, and the Name
John Senex set at the End thereof is and are of the said .John

Senex'sown Hand-writing: He has also lookt upon the printed

Map or Plan, upon Paper, now produced and markt Sen. (No.

1. ) and rememb?rs the engraving the Plate for the said pro-
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duced Map or Plan, and irwas ^rraved by one Thomas Hutchin-
son, who was at that time Servant or Journeyman (but ha.l
been Apprentice) to the said John Senex, and who left the sai.lJohn Senex's Service and Family 8 or 10 Years ago. or upwards
and saith, the said produced written Paper, and the sai<i pro-
duced Map or Plan, have relation to each other, an.l both relate
to one and the same Subject. (••.« he reallv believes) for the De-
ponent hath compared them together, and finds thev relate t..
the same Lands, and that the dotted lines contained in the said
produced printed Map or Plan, agree or correspond with tl,.
boundaries described in the said jn-oduced written Paper \n.l
the Deponent saith, that he hath likewise lookt upon the
larchment Deed now produced, markt Par. (No 7.) and upon
the Map or Plan, stampt or printed on the Margin of tliat Deed
and has compared the said produced Paper printed Map or Plan'
with the said printed Map or Plan uj.on tlie said produced Deed'and he does not find any Variation or Difference between them'
but IS well satisfied and assured they were both stampt or
printed from one and the same Plate.

Thomas Hutchinson, aped ^ri. [Lib. A. fol. 147. Tnt. 80 fol 148 1

Did well know Mr. John Senex. and the said John Senex i.
dead, and died about a Year and a half since, as this Deponent
beheves. and knew him for many Years: for the Deponentabout the Year 17:^0, was put Apprentice to the said John Sene>'and lived with him as such for the Space of seven Years an.'l
afterwards lived with him and workt for him as a Journeyman
for about three Years more, and during the Time this Depon"
ent so lived with the said John Senex as aforesaid, this Depon
ent did frqeuently see him write, and thereby became well acquainted witli his Character and Manner of Hand-writin-- and
saith, he hath lookt upon the Paper-AVritin^ contained In one
Sheet, now produced and markt Par. (No. 5. ) and does verilv be-
lieve, that tlie two Pages of the Body of the said produced Paper-
Writing, and the Name John Senex set at the End thereof isand are of the said John Senex's own Hand-writing; and sai'th'he hath also lookt upon the printed Map or Plan upon Paoernow produced and markt Sen. (No 1.) and well remembers theengraving of the Plate for the said produced Map or Plan forthe same was graved by this Deponent, during the time he livedwith the said Mr. Senex as aforesaid, but whether before or afterthe Expiration of his Apprenticeship, he does not at this Di.-
tcince of Time remember: and saith, the said produced writtenPaper, and the said produced Map or Plan, have relation to eachother and both relate to one and the .same Subject, as he most as-
suredly believes

;
for that the said produced written Paper seems
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to tilt' Deponent to contain Directions for drawing the said

Map or Plan, and l)y coiuparinj^ the same tof,'ether, this De-

ponent tinds tliey correspond with each other; And saith, that

he hath likewise looked upon the Parchment Deed now pro-

duced, niarkt Par. (No 7.) and upon the Map or Plan stamped

or printed on the Margin of that Deed, and has cuii! pared the

aforesaid Paper printed Map or Plan with the said printed Map
t)r Plan upon the said produced Deed, and most assuredly

l)elieves rhey were both stampt or printed oil from one and the

same Plate, for they are exact Copies of each other, and he does

not find the least Variation or Difference between the one and

the other.

Ferd. John- Paris. [Lib. A. fol. 195. Int. 2-2. fol. 288.

J

That upon or about the said 10th May 17:52, when the said

engrost Articles of Agreement were executed, the Deponent

had before prepared, and did then produce to the said Lord

Baltimore, and to his .said Sollicitor, the Copy or Draft of a

Commission to be executed by the now Plaintiffs, for authoris-

ing seven Persons or some lesser Number to l>e therein named

to carry the said Agreement into Execution in America, and

which Draft of a Commission this Deponent verily believes was

and is the Paper markt Par. (No 8.) now produced, and the

.said Lord Baltimore, and his Sollicitor so well approved of

the same, that they, or one of them, desired that this Depon-

ent would get engrost like Commissions from the Lord Balti-

more to be granted to a like Number of Commissioners on his

Part, for the liKe purpose: and to enable this Deponent so

to do. the said Mr. Sharpe on the Backside of the said

Draft wrote down the Names of seven Persons or Commis-

sioners for Maryland and accordingly this Deponent had

both Setts of Commissions engrost i)y this Deponent's

Clerk (with the before-mentioned Map or Plan stampt on the

Margin of each of theni also) one Sett of Commissions for the

Plaintiffs to execute, to authorize their Commissioners and

another Sett for the Defendant to execute to autiiorize his Com-

missioners to carry the said Articles into Execution in America,

and doth verily believe there was no difference betwefn the

Commissions prepared for, and executed by the Plaintiffs for

such a purpose as aforesaid, and those prepared for and exe-

cuted by the Defendant for such purpose, save only in the

Names, Titles, additions, and Descriptions of the Persons grant-

ing such Authority, and of the Persons to whom sucli Author-

ity was granted, and in the Names of the respective Provinces

and Counties.
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20TH BRANCH. Of the several Proceedinfrs of the Commis-
sioners in America, Daj- by Day. in order to have carried
the Agreement into Execution.

*James Stttl [Lib. C. Fol. 509. Int. G7. Fol. 579.
|

Savs that (iovernor (iordon and Messeurs Preston, Ham-
ilton, Charles and the Affirmant, the Plaintiffs' Commissioners,
and (rovernor 0<^le and Messeurs Calvert, Loyd, Howard, Ben-
nett and Ward, the Defendant's Commissioners, met, at New
Town in Maryland, on 6th October 1732, which was the first

(Quorum of the said Commissioners, and adjourned to the next
Morning.

*T}ie same [Int 68. Fol. 580.]

Says that the same Commissioners met, at Newtown, on 7th
October 1732, when the Articles of Agreement batween the
Plaintiffs and Defendant, and their several Commissions to the
Commissioners were first read. Whereupon the said Ogle ob-
jected, that he did not think the Pensilvania Counnissioners
had sufficient Power to proceed in the Execution of the said
Articles, because some Branches of the Plaintiffs Family had
not signed the Commission of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, To
which it was replied, l)y some of the Plaintiffs Commissioners,
that that was supplied, by an Indorsement, made on the Com-
missions or Articles, in the Hands of the Defendant's T'onimis.

sioners, (but as well as the Affirmant rememl)ers. it was in the
Articles) whereby, some Persons. Branches of the said Family,
had covenanted not to obstruct the Execution of the said Arti-

cles, or to that Effect; upon which, the said Samuel Ogle .said,

he waved it for the present : That the (Commissioners on the
Part of Pensilvania. then did desire and insist upon it, that
Clerks might be appointed, to take Minutes of the Proceedings
of all the said Commissioners, that what they had done might
appear; To which it was answered, by the said Samuel Ogle,
on the Behalf of the Defendant's Commissioners, that there
was no Necessity for the same. That when the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners found they could not prcoure the Consent of the
Defendant's Commissioners to admit Clerks for the Purpose
aforesaid, the said Plaintiffs Commissioners then proposed to

the Defendant's Commissioners, to appoint .some of the Com-
missioners to take Minutes of their said Proceedings; where-
upon, it was agreed that Robert Charles and Michael Howard
aforesaid, should draw up two Minutes thereof, to be exchanged
by the Commissioners on ench Side: and then, the said Com-
missioners dei)arted from the House where they sat. and went
to the House of ^Ir. James Harris in Newtown aforesaid ; That,

37— Vol. XV.
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when the said Commissioners met, at the House of the said

Harris, the Plaintiffs Commissioners brought David Frencli

one of the present Commissioners [for Examination of tlie Wit-

nesses] into the Room, to be a Witness to the exchanging the

said Minutes. That, soon after the said Connuissioners came

into the Room, the said Samuel Ogle, observing that the said

David French was in the Room, asked whether he was a Com-

missionerV To which it was said he was not, but was a Gen-

tleman the Plaintiffs Commissioners had brought with them,

and then the said Samuel Ogle intimated, that if he was not a

Commissioner, he had no Business there; whereupon the said

David French withdrew. And further saith that, to the best

of his Memory, Mr. James Hamilton was also present with the

said David French ; and the same Objection was made to him,

at the same Time, which occasioned his withdrawing in like

manner. That, afterwards the said Robert Charles and Michael

Howard, did each produce a Minute, which were Copies of each

other, taken in pursuance of the said Appointment; and there-

upon, the Plaintiffs Commissioners did require and insist, that

one or more of the Commissioners on each Side, should sign

the same Minutes, and exchange them. That the Defendant's

('ommissioners did then refuse to sign the same; and the said

Michael Howard, on refusing to sign the same, said he would

not do it. for that he did not know, if he did, but he might

be called over to England to answer for it. And further saith

that he hath looked on the Paper Writing now shewn to him,

marked No. A. 1. and believes the same is one of the Minutes

aforesaid, which the Defendant's Commissioners refused to

sign, as aforesaid. That he knows not of whose Hand Writing

the .same Paper is, but was informed it was wrote by a young Man
belonging to the said Michael Howard; That afterwards upon

an Adjournment being proposed the Plaintiffs Commissioners

desired, that it might be to a short Day, in regard the Year

was far spent, and the proper Time for the Business, the Com-
missioners had to do, would soon be over; To which the De-

fendants' Commissioners answered, that by Reason of the pub-

lick Affairs of the Province of Maryland, »they could not at-

tentl before the 80th Day of the same Month of October; where-

upon the Commissioners, on both Sides, agreed to adjourn, to

that Day, at Newcastle Town on Delaware, as the most proper

Plact- to betriii the said Business.

Samuel Prest'jii [Lib. B. Fol 312. Iut.'G7. Fol. 347.]

Wives the very same Account, as is just now given by Mr.

Steel.

Samuel Preston [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 68. Fnl. 355.
]

Adds materiall\ That at the said Meeting on 7th October it
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was a^eed by the Commissioners on both Sides, that the first
thing necessary to be dune was, to meet at Newcastle to mark
out the Circle mentioned in the Agreement. That the Plain
tiffs Commissioners were read.v on 7th October, and desirous,
to proceed to Newcastle, to run tlie said Circle; but believes
the Defendant's Commissioners were not then jjrepared for the
same

;
not apprehending it was design'd to proceed immediately

to running any Lines; but then, shewed no Unwillingness to
run the said Circle, and therefore all the Commissioners agreed
to adjourn and meet at Newcastle aforesaid, on the aoth Oc-
tober, for the Purpose aforesaid. Says he has looked on the
Paper A. No 1. which he takes to be the Minute drawn by
Howard and ChaiU's, mentioned in his An-^wer to 67 Int. Does
not know of whose Writing it is, but believes it was writ by
a young Man of Michael Howard s.

Note loell.

The Articles of Agreement between the Parties themselves,
stipulated expressly that those very Parties should give the
Commissions to their Commissioners, and that Clause was
translated verbatim into the Body of the Commission itself:

yet, Mr. Ogle fancied ours was not a good Commission unless
some other Persons had joined in our Commission ; more tJian
his own Master had stipulated for.

Benjamin Tasker the Defendant 's Witness, cross exammed\LHj.
E. Fol. 49. Int. 22. FoL 56. 28. Fol. 56, and 20. Fol. 63.]

Says there were Articles of Agreement between the Plaint ifls

and Defendant, of — May 1732. and that Commissions did issue
from the Plaintiffs and Defendant, and r^ommissioners were
thereby appointed for marking and laying out the Limits and
Bounds, and that he was present at divers of the Meetings
between the Commissioners, in the Capacity of one of the De-
fendant's Comuiissioners; and to his best Remembrance there
was no Proposal made, at any the Meetings he was pre.sent at.

for appointing Clerks to take Minutes of the Commissioners
Proceedings. But has heard, that at the first Meetiug of the
said Commissioners, which he was not at. such a Proposal was
made for appointing .such Clerks, but by whom it was made
knows not, but lielieves it was not agreed to. And has heard
it was then also proposed, (but by whom knows not) that a
Commissioner on each Side should be appointed to take such
Minutes, which was also not agreed to.

Samuel Preston [Lib. B. Fol 312. Tnt. 60. FoL .358.]

Says that Messieurs Ogle, Loyd, Howard. Bennett and Tasker,
Commissioners for the Defendant, and all the seven Plaintiffs
Commissioners met at Newcastle, on 30th October 1732. to pro-
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ceed according to their former Aerreemerit, to run the Circle

about Newcastle, uientioned in the Agreement; but the Com-
missioners did not proceed therein, being stopt by tlie Defend-

ant's Commissioners requiring to see the Grant of Pensilvania,

and the Deeds of Feottment, in the Articles mentioned, to see

whether the said Circle, in them mentioned, agreed with the

Circle mentioned in the Articles? The Plaintiffs Commissioners
informed them they had met to execute the Articles of Agree-

ment, and not to examine the Rights of the PlaintifTs and De-
fendant. Yet, as it was in their Power, they would comply
with their Desire; and, accordingly, one of the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners went to Philadelphia for them, and the Commis-
sioners adjourned to next Day.^

James Logan [Lib. B. Fol. 76. I)d. 00. Fol. 171.]

Says much the same, and that the Commissioners were stopt

from proceeding, i>y Governor Ogle's insisting that that Grant
and those Deeds should be produced, which, says he, tho* mani-
festly needless, in mere Condescension to him was complied
with.

*Jamt titetl [Lib. B. Fol. 55!). Int. 69. Fol. 588.]

Says nearly the same Thing.

Andrem Hamilton.
Proves this also, but he does it by enumerating this and many

other Passages, as Evidences, that the Defendant's Commis-
sioners did never intend to proceed.

Note well.

It will come out presently that Lord Baltimore was then

hourly expected to arrive in Maryland : This Charter, and
these Deeds of Feoffment, might, very probably, have been

in England : if so, this Artifice of Governor Ogle's had stopt

the Affair a fine Time, l)ut unfortunately, for him, they hap-
pen'd to be but 36 Miles off. at Philadelphia, and so might
be, and were sent for. and that Attempt to spin out the Time
defeated.

Benjamin Tasker the DefendanVs Witii.e.'is and Comnii.s.sioner,

beimi r-yo.s-.v examined , [Lib. E. Fol. 49. Int. 15. Fol^. 65.]

Says there was a Meeting of the Commissioners on 3()th Oc-

tober on both Sides, at Newcastle, and that they adjourned,

but does not remember at whose Instance that Adjournment
was proposed.

Samuel Preston- [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 70. Fol. 360.]

That the said Commissioners met at Newcastle 31st October

in the Morning, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners produc^ed the

Grant of Pensilvania, and an Exemplification of th^ Deeds of
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Feoffment, and upon comparing: the said Articles with the said

C-frant and Deeds, it appeared tlie Description of tlie Circle in

the said Grant and Deeds was truly recited in the Articles.

Notwithstanding which, the Defendant's Connnissioners in-

sisted upon having Copies of the said descriptive Parts. And,
altho' the Plaintiff's Commissioners thought that Demand un-

reasonable— Yet—to remove all Objections, they gave the De-
fendanr's Commissioners those Copies. Then the Plaintiff's

(Jommissioners proposed to begin to mark out the said Circle.

To which the Defendant's Commissioners replied. They must
take some time to consider thereof, and the Commissioners ad-

journed to the Afternoon.

Jameii Logmi [Lib. B. Fol. 76, Int. 70. Fol. 173.]

Confirms the same with this Addition, that the Defendant's
('ommissionevs desired to have the Copies of the descriptive

Parts signed by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, which was done.

*James Stte/ [Lib. C. Fol. 5.59. /;//. 70. Ful. 590. J

Was the Commissioner who went to fetch the Grrant and
Feoffments, and says the Exemplification of the Feoffments
were under the<rreat 8eal of New York. He akso says that the

Defendant's Commissioners demanded Copies of the descriptive

Parts to be signed by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and that

it was objected to as entirely unnecessary, seeing the Defendant's
Commissioners themselves had compared, and found the same
exactly agreeable to the Articles; but that the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners gave them the required Copies signed.

Andrew Hamilton.

In his general Account says they at first demanded Copies of

the whole deeds, which were very long.

Samuel Preston [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 71. Fol. 364.]

That the Commissioners met again, at Newcastle, on said 31.st

October in the Afternooii. And the Plaintiffs Commissioners
then proposing that the Commissioners should proceed to the

marking and running out the Circle, as directed by the Agree-

ment, the Defendant's f'ommissioners thereupon started a Difli-

culty about running the Circle, alledging that as the Articles

had directed a Circle to be run, but had not fixed or ascertained

where the Center should be, they apprehended it was not in

their Power to fix such Center. The Plaintiffs Commissioners
replied that, as both the Plaintiffs and Defendant had agreed,

and had vested a Power in the Commissioners to mark and run
out the Circle, they had likewise granted them the Means and
full Power to find and fix a Center for such Circle, and to do
everything necessary to the effectual running and compleating
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such Circle. And, amongst their Debates, the Plaintiffs Com-

missioners said they apprehended that the said Articles of

Agreement, and the Commissions thereupon, directed a Circle

to be run at the Distance of 12 English Statute Miles from the

said Town, without including the said Town, but they the

Plaintiffs Commission9rs were so desirous of, and intent upon,

the carrying the said Articles into Execution, that, the Affirm-

ant believes, they would have consented to fix a Center, almost in

any Part of the Town, that would please the Defendant's Com-

missioners, to induce them to come into the running the said

Circle. And, after some farther Debate, the Commissioners on

each Side agreed to go out and walk about the Town, to see if

they could find and agree upon a proper Place ior such Centre;

and accordingly, did Avalk about and view the Town with sev-

eral of the principal inhabitants thereof, but not agreeing upon

a Place for fixing such Center, they adjourned till next Morning.

James Logan [Lib. B. Fol. 7G. Int. 71. Fol. 175.]

Cxives much the like Account.

*James Steel [Lib. C. Fol. 559. Int. 71. Fol. 593.]

(jives the like Account, only adds that the Defendant's Com-
missioners refused to proceed to run the Circle, for the Reasons

above-mentioned. That the Plaintiffs ( 'ommissioners earnestly

desired then to proceed, and told them it was then the After-

noon of the last Day which the Articles had limited for begin-

ning the Work. That the Defendant's Commissioners answered

that the same was begun. That the Plaintiffs Commissioners

insisted that Surveyors should survey the ToAvn, in order to

find the Center of the Town. To which Mr. Ogle answered

there was no Occasion thereof, and proposed that the Commis-
sioners should Avalk about the Town, which they did.

Andreni Hamilton..

Confirms the same in another Place, very strongly, and says

that it was proposed to fix the Court-house for the Center,

which was not one third of the Breadth of the Town from the

River Side, but all rejected.

Note well.

This new Instance of affected Chicanery. The Feoffment

granted, first the Town, and then all the Lands within the

Compass or Circle of 13 Miles about the Town ; the Agreement

was, that the Circle should be drawn at 12 Miles Distance from

the Town. My Lord's own ]\ratheniatician, Mr. Senex. told

him, in his written Opinion \\\)on the Draft of that Agreement,

that Newcastle was to be as a Center, and the Circle was to be

drawn 12 ]\Iiles from the Town. Notwithstanding all this.
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Mr Ogle can't fiud a Center in the Town. To prevent a Dis-pute we offer hiui a Center in the Town, and, bv the waytake le«« than one Third of the Town to us, and give myLord more than two Thirds of the Town itself, No! Thatwont do. Nay, what says Mr. Preston'/ Why that we were
so desirous to proceed,^ that we would have agreed to fi.x aCenter almost in any Part of the Town. But that would not
ao. For if they had agreed on a Center, then, thev must have
proceeded. But, it's plain. Ogle had resolved "they nevershould pro-eed one single Step. There cannot possiblv be anvstronger Proot of it, than this. When we had agreed to out LCenter in the Town, and desired that Surveyors mighsurve:
It, in order to find the Center of it. He answer.; No ! there itno Occasion.

nioe J^5

Hamutl Prtston, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int 72. Fol. 308 ]That the said Commissioners met again at Newcastle on 1stNovember 1732, in the Morning. And then Governor Ogle declared, he having advised both with Mathematicians and Law-yers, was not satisfied that the Commissioners had anv Power tofind or fix a (Jenter for the Circle directed to be run bv tlCou„n,ssions and the said Agreement. And said furthe'r, thatthe Defendant himself, being expected to arrive in Marylandma very short Tin.e, he. therefore desired that thev mi^htadjourn, in order that he and the rest of the Defendant's Com-niissioners, might have an Opportunity, to consult his Lord-ship thereon
;
and declared He did not doubt but mv Lordwould give some Directions to remove the Difficultv about theCenter, or to that Effect. To which the Plaintiffs Comiiis!Moners answered. They were much averse to such adjourn-ment, but, s.nce the Defendant's Commissioners seen ed sopressing for it. they therefore .lesire.l to know what Time thel^efendant s Commissioners proposed to adjourn to? And thatthey might have Time to consider of it: and then thev adjourned to the Afternoon. •

James Logan [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 72. Fol 177
]

Lo^d'^sV'' "T" ^"T"''
°"^-' '^^^ *h^^ ^^^'^ ^^P^-ted mvIjord s Arrival every Day.

Note tvell.

The only twr> of the Defendant's original Commissioners
^^ho are examined. swear positively they never contrived,alonM.with my Lord, to defeat the Articles before such Time as the
commissioners differed with each other. How should theV^ine Articles and Commi.ssion executed 10 and 12 Mav 1730did not get to America till Middle of August. Then, or withina few Days after my Lord must h.veset out from hence on hisVoyage, lor he was expecte.l. and actually arrived in Mary-
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land on 14 November 1732. A very pretty way they have
taken to deny the Charge in our Bill, that they did, gen-

erally, contrive together, to defeat the Articles, namely, that
they did not so contrive, before such a particular Time.

Samuel Freslon., [Lib. B. Fol. ;512. Int. 73. FoJ. 371.]
'

That the said CJonnnissioners met in the Afternoon, and the

Plaintiffs Commissioners then proposed and insisted that full

Minutes might be taken of the (Jommissioners Proceedings; but

the Defendant's Commissioners objected thereto, and Insisted

they were entirely needless. And says the Defendant's Com-
missioners then proposed to have a long Adiournment, but he
does nut remember the precise Time, but remembers it was for

a longer Time than the Plaintiffs Commissioners then cared to

comply to, and then they adjourned to next Morning.

Jaints Logan. [Lib. B. Fol. 7fi. Jut. 7:i. Fol. 180.]

Confirms the foregoing, aiui says, the Maryland <"ommission-
ers absolutely refused to have full Minutes, anil proposed
only short Minutes, to enter the Meetings and Adjournments.
He remembers-'the Time proposed for Adjournment, and says

(Tovernor Ogle proposed to adjourn for tliree Months. That
the I'ensilvania Commissioners did not agree thej-eto. but de-

sired Time to consider of it. and then tlie Commissioners ad-

journed to next Dav.

Samntl Frtstoii, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. ///,/. 74. fol. 373.]

That the said Connnissioners met the .second of November
1732. at Newcastle, and the Plaintiffs Commissioner^ then de-

clared that altho' they had come there with a full Intent and
Expectation to enter upon the Business of executing their Com-
mission, pursuant to the Agreement, and were prepared with
their Artists, and in full Readiness to go ui)on it, yet as the
Defendant's Commissioners, were so pressing to have an Adjourn-
ment, and they the Plaintiffs Commissioners had so great an
Opinion of the Defendant's Honour, that they did not doubt
but he would give proper Directions to his Commissioners to

remove the Difficulty that obstructed tlieii- proceedings in the
.said Business ; They, therefore would comply to gratify the De-
fendant's Commissioners in such x\djournmenT. And to the
best of his Remembrance there was a Paper or Minute prepared
by the Plaintiffs Commissioners of the Purport above said, and
which was then publickly read at this Meeting by the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, or son'e of them.

James Logan, [Lib. B. Fol. 70. Int. 74. Fol. 182.]

' Confirms the foregoing Account.

Andreiv Hamilton.
In his Account, given in another Form, confirms it also.
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James Hamilton were present. 4th, Refused to let a Commis-
sioner on each side sign a Minute. 5th, In the proper .Time
for runniny the Jjines, and that Season was expiring, proposed
and insisted on an Adjournment from 7 to 30 October. Gtli,

Stopt the Work, and insisted to see the Charter and Feoff-

ments. 7th, 'Wanted Copies of those Deeds after he ha'.i

himself examined them. 8th, Would have those Copies signed

by our Commissioners. 9th, Would not proceed then, they

must take Time to consider. 10th, He had no Power to find

the Center. 11th, Refused to let the Town be survey 'd, to

find the Center of it, there was no Occasion he said. 12th,

Refused our Offer to give him a Center in the Town, tho"

w^e took less than one third, and gave him more than two
thirds of the Benefit of the Town, and would have given him
almost any Place. 13th, Proposes and insists on a three

Months Adjournment, because my Lord was daily expected

in Maryland. 14th, Again refused that full Minutes should
be taken, loth When his false Minutes were objected to

and in effect own'd by himself to be false, never amended
them.

All this during, indeed, only four Days' meetings, for the

first Day. they did nothing at all, and the sixth Day. they

only adjourned.

Samuel Prehton, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 77. Fol. 382.]

Has heard and believes that Lord Baltimore arrived in Mary-
land in November 1732, and continued in America till June oi-

July following.

James Logan, [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. T>.,Fol. 191.]

He was informed and believes Lord Baltimore arrived in

Maryland in a short Time after the said 2d of November 1732.

and as he thinks before the End of that Month; and for a

Reason of his belief, says that Governor (-rordon about latter

end of November, or Ijeginning of December, received a Letter

from the Defendant dated in Maryland, which Letter the Affinii-

ant saw, and it appeared to be M'rote by. or by Order of the

Defendant, and to be sigend l)y him. And the Defendant as lie

was informed and believes, sailed from Maryland, on his Return
from Maryland, some time in or about July following.

My Lord in his own Answer, Admits he arrived in New-
England in September, and in Maryland 14 November 1732.

l!iavmel Preston,[Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 78. Fol. 382.]

Says that Samuel Ogle and Calvert, Howard, Ward, Tasker
and Jennings (who appeared l>y Vertue of a new Commission)
the Defendant's Commissioners, and Mr. Norris, this Affirmant,

and Messrs Hannlton, Steel and Charles; as tiie Plaintiffs (Com-

missioners, met. at Newcastle, on 1 February 1732, on which Day
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no Business was done by the Commissioners, but they adjourned

to next Day, at the Court-Ho use in said Town.

*James Steel, [Lib. C. Foi. 559. Int. 78. Ful. 597.]

(Jonfirms the same.

iSamnel Pie.stoii.,[Lib. B. Ful. 312. Int. 79. Fol. 383.]

Say;s tliat the said Commissioners met, at the Court-House

at Newcastle, uii 2d February : when the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners asked tlie Defendant's Commissioners, whetlier Lord

Baltimore had >;iveii tliem any Directions concerning finding a

Center for the Circle? They answered that he had not: for

that he having entered into an Agree'iient. and delegated his

Power to his Commissioners, he left the same entirely To them,

and would not interfere. And the Affirmant believes the De-

fendant's (Commissioners did then -.ay. they had not sufficient

Power to fix the said ('enter, as they had formerly said, and

that it was waved. ThereuDon the Defendant's Commission-

ers said, Let us see whether we can agree upon the Circle? And
then insisted that, by the Circle in the Articles mentioned, was

intended a Circle of 12 Miles Circumference only. To which the

Plaintiffs (Commissioners replied, that they had nothing to tlo

but to follow the Directions of the said Articles and their

Commissions: By which it appeared that the said Circle was

to be drawn at 12 English Statute Miles distance from the Town
of Newcastle, and which they understood, was a Circle of 12

Miles Radius. And the Plaintiffs Commissioners did insist

that the Defendant's Commissioners should declare, whether

they thought they had full Power to execute the said Agree-

ment, or not? But does not remember what particular An
swer they gave to it. But the Defendant's Connuissioners did

shew a Readiness to run out such a Circle as they had said was,

intended by the said Articles, but did not think they had suffi-

cient Power, by their (Commission and the said Articles, to

run the said Circle at 12 Miles Distance from the Town.

Andrew Hamilton,
In his Deposition speaks largely hereto,

Samuel Pre.stoii. [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. SO. Fol. 387.]

That the said (Commissioners met, again, that Afternoon,

and as well as he remembers it was proposed by the Defendant's

(Commissioners, seeing the Commissioners on each side could

not agree concerning the Dimensions of the Circle, that they

should consult Mathematicians thereon. Whereupon the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, altho' they thought they had not Power

to depart from the Words of the Articles, upon the Opinions

of any Mathematicians whatsoever, yet. considering they could

not procure joint Minutes of their Proceedings to be taken, in
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James Hamilton were present. 4th, Refused to let a Commis-
sioner on each side sign a Minute. 5th, In the proper .Time
for running the Lines, and that Season was expiring, proposed
and insisted on an Adjournment from 7 to 30 October. Gth,
Stopt tlie Work, and insisted to see the Charter and FeotT-
ments. 7th, ~ Wanted Copies of those Deeds after he had
himself examined them. 8th, Would have those Copies signed
by our Commissioners, yth. Would not procet-d then, they
must take Time to consider. 10th, He had no Power to find
the Center. Uth, Refused to let the Town be survey "d, to
find the Center of it, there was no Occasion he said. 12th,
Refused our Offer to give him a Center in the Town, tho"
we took less than one third, and gave him more than two
thirds of the Benefit of the Town, and would have given him
almost any Place. 13th, Proposes and insists on a three
Months Adjournment, because my Lord was daily expected
in Maryland. 11th. Again refused that full Minutes should
Ije taken. 15th When his false Minutes were objected to.

and in effect own'd by himself to be false, never amended
them.

All this during, indeed, only four Days" meetings, for the
first Day. they did nothing at all, and the sixth Day. they
only adjourned.

iSamuel Frtston, [Lib. B. Fol. 812. hit. 77. Fol. 382.]
Has heard and believes that Lord Baltimore arrived in Mary-

land in November 1732, and continued in America till June or
July following.

James Ijoqan, [Lib. B. Fol. 70. Int. 77. Fol. 191.]

He was informed and believes Lord Baltimore arrived in
Maryland in a short Time after the said 2d of November 1732.
and as he thinks l)etore the End of that Month; and for a
Reason of his belief, says that Oovernor Gordon about latter
end of November, oi- l)eginning of December, received a Letter
from the Defendant dated in Maryland, which Letter the Affirm-
ant saw. and it appeared to be wrote by^ or by Order of tl)e
Defendant, and to be sigend by him. And the Defendant as he
was informed and believes, sailed from Maryland, on his Return
from Maryland, some time in or about July following.
My Lord in his own Answer, Admits he arrived in New-

England in September, and in Maryland 14 November 1732.

Samuel Preston,[Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 78. Fol. 382.]

Says that Samuel Ogle and Calvert, Howard, Ward, Tasker
and Jennings (who appeared by Vertue of a new Commission)
the Defendant's Commissioners, and Mr. Norris, this Affirmant,
and Messrs Hamilton, Steel and Charles; as the Plaintiffs f:om-
missioners, met. at NeAvcastle, on 1 February 1732, on which Day
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ijo Business was done by the Commissioners, but they adjourned
to next Day, at the Court-House in said Town.

*Ja»tes /SteeL [Lib. C. Fol. 55!). Int. 78. Fol. 597.]

(Joutiruis the same.

iiainnci Prt.stoii,[Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 79. Fol. B83.]

8ay.s that the said Commissioners met, at the Court-House
at Newcastle, on 2(1 February; wlien the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners asked tlie Defendant's Commissioners, whetlier Lord
Baltimore had "jiven them any Directions eoncernin;^- tindinj; a

(Jenter for the (Mrcie';' Tliey answei'ed that lie had not: for

that he havinj; entered into an Ajjrree'xent. and deie^rated his

Power to his Commissioners, he left the same entirely to them,

and would not interfere. And the Affirmant believes the De-

fendant's ('ommissioners did then -.ay, they had not suftieient

PoAver to fix the said (Center, as they had formerly said, and
that it was waved. Thereuiiou the Defendant's Commission-
ers said, Let us see whether we can ajjree uijon the Circle? And
then insisted that, by the Circle in the Articles mentioned, was
intended a Circle of 12 Miles Circumference onlj . To which the

Plaintiffs Commissioners replied, that they had nothint;: to tio

but to follow the Directions of the haid Articles and their

Commissions : Hy which it appeared that the said Circle was
to be drawn at 12 En^clish Statute Miles distance from the Town
of Newcastle, and which they understood, was a Circle of 12

Miles Radiu.s. And the Plaintiffs Connnissioners did insist

that the Defendant's Commissioners should declare, whether
they thou<i:ht they had full Power to execute the said Agree-

ment, or not? But does not remember what particular An
swer they gave to it. But the Defendant's Commissioners did

shew a Readiness to run out such a Circle as they had said was,

intended by the said Articles, but did not think they had suffi-

cient Power, by their Commission and the said Articles, to

run the said Circle at 12 Miles Distance from the Town.

Andrew Hamilton,
In his Deposition speaks largely hereto.

Hamuel Pre.ston, [Lib. li. Fol. 312. Int. SO.- Fol. 387.]

That the said Commissioners met, again, that Afternoon,

and as well as he remembers it was proposed by the Defendant's

(Jommissioners, seeinc: the Commissioners on each side could

not agree concerning the Dimensions of the Circle, that they

should (consult Matheiuaticians thereon. Whereupon the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners, althn" they thought they had not Power
to depart from the Words of the Articles, upon the ()])inions

of any Mathematicians whatsoever, yet. considerins; they could

not procure joint Minutes of their Proceedings to be taken, in
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order to ^et some Evident-e coiK-erniii-r those Proceeding's, they
consented to consult Mathematicians, as tlie Defendant's Com-
missioners required. That then, tlie IMaintilTs Commissioners
insiste*! tliat tlie (Question, to be proposed to the Mathemati-
cians, should be reduced to Writin-r; which after some Hesita-
tion, was consented t(,, and a short (Question was accordingly
wrotebyoueof the Defendants Commissioners. That then the
Commissioners aj,'reed to adjourn till next Morniuu'. aud seme
of the Commissioners tlien desired the Adjcjurniiicnt uii-lit be
till eleven, and others desired it mijjrht l)e till ten (("clock, but
tlie Aflirmant cannot tell which of the Hours was agreed to.

But says, tlie usual Hour of adjourning to before that time.
had been generally, ten of the Clock; altho' upon an Adjourn-
ment to that Hour, the Day before, the Defendants Commis-
sioners had not attended till 11 o'(;iock. Ami says, that the
Plaintitts Commissioners at those ^Meetings jit Newcastle, had
many times required of the Defendant's Commi.ssioners to admit
Clerks, to take Minutes of all their Proceedings, but the said
Defendant's (Jommissioners always refused to consent thereto,
and therefore, no Clerks were appointed to attend the said
Commissioners, or to take down the said Minutes.

* James Sttel, [Lib. C. Fol. 55J). Int. 80. Fol. o'JK]

Says positively that, at this Meeting the Defendant's Com-
missioners again ailed ged that.as the Articles did not sufficiently

fix the Center, tliey had not sufficient Power, by their Commis-
sion to fix the said Center. Then he gives the like Account as
Mr. Preston. And adds that at this Meeting, as well as at many
others before, it was insisted upon and required, by the Plain-
tiffs (Commissioners, that Clerks should l)e admitted, to take
joint .Minutes, of the whole Proceedings and Actings, which
was always, hitherto, and at this Time also, denied and refused
by the Defendant's Commissioners. They always alledging
tliat the same was needless and unneces.sary. He remembers
nothing more that past at this Meeting, but that the Commis-
sioners adjourn'd till next Morning, some of them saying till

ten, others eleven o'Ciock.

Aiifireir Hdinilton.

Spejiks largely to the foregoing.

Samuel Preston, [Lit). B. Fnl. :!12. Int. 81. Fol. 392.]

Saith that Isaac Norris. this Affirmant Preston and James
Steel. (Jommissioners for the PlaintifTs. and also, a Quorum of

the Defendant's^ Commissioners, met at the Court-House, about
eleven o'Cloek in the Porenoon of 3 February 1732, pursuant
to their last Adjournment; but Messrs Hamilton and Charles
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two otliers ot the Plaintiffs CominibsioiiLTS then at Newcastle,

were not then come into the Room. And Grovernor Ogle, im-

luediately. proposing that, as there was then a Quorum of tlii-

Commissioners on each side present, they should proceed to

Business: to whicli the Plaintiffs Commissioners then present

answer'd. that there were some others of the Plaintiff's Com-

missioners that they expected would be there instantly, and

Just then, the said James Steel, happening to be called out of

the Room, and (Tovernor Ogle observing it, said to the Pensil-

vania (lommissioners, <Tentlen)en. I observed just now you were

a guorum.but now here are not enough to go upon Business.

Whereupon, the said Isaac Norris stept out of the Room to send

away the said James Steel (as the said Lsaac Norris at his Return,

told this Affirmant) to hasten the said Andrew Hamilton and

Robert Charles; which the said Governor Ogle, likewise observ-

ing, said, to the Affirmant, Now. here is another of your Cou)-

missioners gone, and seemed to be much displeased at the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners for making him wait so long, and Governor

Ogle, some short time after, looking upon his Watch, said, it

was past twelve o" Clock, and that as there was not then a

(Quorum of the Plaintiffs Commissioners there to proceed upon

the Business, he would stay no longer, ami went away out of

the Room, and the rest of the Maryland Commissioners soon

after followed him : and saith that, when Governor Ogle looked

at his Watch, and said it Avas past twelve o'Clock, as above

mentioned, the Affirmant, at the same time, look'd- upon his

Watch, and very well remembers, that it then wanted near an

Half an Hour of 12 o'clock, and that he told the said Governor

Ogle so: but the said Governor Ogle then told this Affirmant,

that his Watch was too slow, tho' this Affirmant is satisfied his

Watch was pretty right, he having, that Morning, set it by a

good Clock. And saith. that, just as the said Governor Ogle

went out of the Room, the said Isaac Norris (having staid out but

a few Minutes) returned. And saith that those of the Plaintiffs

( 'ommissioners who were at Newcastle on the said 3d of

February, and did not attend the Meeting of the Commission-

ers that Forenoon, did not, (as he is well assured) wilfully

absent themselves, with intention not to meet; for that they

were, all that Forenoon, and likewise some part of the Night

before, imployed. in j)i-eparing a Writing which they thought

,,ecessary to be read and delivered to the Maryland Commis-

sioners at that Meeting. And saith, that immediately after the

Maryland Commissioners had so left the Room, and the said

Isaac Norris and the Affirmant were also going away from thence

(to the best of the AflfirmanCs Remembrance) they met the said

James Steel and some other of the said Pensilvania Commis-
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sioners. M-ho had been absent as aforesaid, coming up to the
said Room, in order to attend the said Meeting of the Commis-
sioners

:
which the Affirmant believes was not above a quarter ofan Hour after the said James Steel, had so left the said Room to

fetch the said Pensilvania Commissioners as afore set forthAnd further saith that, upon thi said James Steel and IsaacNorns going out of the Room, and Governor Ogles ofTerin-
thereupon r.. break up the Meeting aforesaid, the Affirmant
desired the said Governor Ogle not to be uneasy, for that he
the Affirmant believed the said James Steel and Isaac Norris
were only gone out to hasten the said other Pensilvania Com-
missioners, or to that Effect, and saith, that at the Meeting
of the Commissioners on the day before this Meetin- the Pen
silvania Commissioners had waited for the Maryland Commis-

, sinners as long after the Hour of Adjournment, as thev had
waited for them the said Pensilvania Commissioners at this
Meeting. And verily believes, that the genuine true Reasonwhy the said Maryland Commissioners did so depart and breakup the said Meeting, was, that they were not desirous, nor did
intend, to proceed upon putting into Execution, the Business
they were directed to do by their Commissions, and the said
Articles ot Agreement; for that in the Afternoon of the said
3d ol February, when this Affirmant and the said Isaac Norris

' went to the said Maryland Commissioners to desire them tomeet again. Governor Ogle then complained that the said Pen
silvania Commissioners had been negligent in Meeting and said
he apprehended it was done with Design; that, if the Case was
his own, he would be very ready to oblige any Gentlemen, but

Tk Z"^ 'T. ^Jl'"""'''^
"'" ^""^ Baltimore's and he conceived

the Plaintiffs Commissioners had given him an Advantage heshould not look upon it to be just to his Constituent, if he'didnot make use of it, or to that Effect.

*James Steel, [Lib. C. Fol. 559. Int. 81, Fol 601.]
That a Quorum of the Commissioners for the Plaintiffs viz

Isaac >orris, Samuel Preston, and this Affirmant and also aQuorum of the Commissioners for the Defendant met at the

f^",'''?r?\''r'''''" ^^ ^"^ ^' °*' "^*^ ^'^^^ i° the Forenoon
of the .^.1 of February 1732, but remembers that Andrew Ham
ilton and Robert Charles, two other of the Plaintiffs Commis
sioners, the' then in the said Town, were not present when the
rest of the said Commissioners first met as aforesaid, that Forenoon And saith that the said Andrew Hamilton and Robert
Charles, did not wilfully stay away, or absent themselves, fromthat Meeting, with Intention not to meet, thev being all thatMorning, and the Forenoon, busy and employed in drawing up
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and copying, a Paper, in answer to a Query the Defendant's

Commissioners had given in to the Plaintiffs Commissioners at

their Meeting the Day before, and for other Purposes therein

comprised, which was thought necessary by the Plaii.tilfs Com-

missioners to be laid before the Defendant's (commissioners at

that Meeting. Tiiat soon after the said guorums of the Com-

missioners met as aforesaid, and before they sat down to Busi-

ness, a Messenger came into the Room from the ssaid Andrew

Hamilton and Robert Charles to this Affirmant, desiring him

to bring them the Articles of Agreement between the Plaintiffs

and the Defendant ot the 10th of May 1732, which was then, and

had for some time, before, been, in this Affirmant's Custody,

the same being then wanted by the said Andrew Hamilton and

Robert Charles, to supply and fill up some Blanks in the said

papers, which they were preparing as aforesaid. And thereupon

the Affirmant (having first acquainted the rest of the said Com-

missioners then present with the said Message, and the Reason,

of his going) went out of the Room where the said Commis-

sioners were met. And the said Isaac Horris followed him to

the Door, to desire him to hasten the said Andrew Hamilton

and Robert Charles to the said Meeting: and then the said

Isaac Norris immediately returned into the Room to the rest of

the said Commissioners. And this Affirmant proceeded, with

what speed he could, to the said Andrew Hamilton and Robert

Charles, and after staying about an Hour with tliem, to fill up

the Blanks and compleat the said Paper. this Affirmant returned,

with the said Andrew Hamilton and Robert Charles, in order

to attend and go upon Business with the rest of the said Com-

missioners at that Meeting: and being got upas far as the

Green, near the said CourtHouse. they there met the said Isaac

Norris and Samuel Preston, coming out of the .said Court House

who, telling them, the Maryland Commissioners wer? gone

away from the Court-House, they were obliged to turn back,

tho' it was then but beitween 11 and 12 o'oclock. And the Affirm-

ant saith, that the Reason alledged oy the Defendant's Com-

missioners for their breaking up the said Meeting was, (as the

Affirmant is informed) because there was not a sufficient Quorum

of the Plaintiffs Commissioners to go upon Business, occasioned

by tliis Affirmant's going out of the Room upon the said Mes-

sage, to the said Andrew Hamilton and Robert Charles as afore-

said. That the Affirmant very well remembers that the Plain

-

tifif's Commissioners had, the day before, waited on the Defend-

ant's Commissioners after the Hour of Adjournment, full as long

a Time.as this Affirmant was absent from the sa^d Meeting m the

Forenoon of the said 3d of February, on the said Message To the

said Hamilton and Charles as before set forth. And saith that,
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as he this Affirmant conceives and believes, the true and genuine
Reason why the said Maryland Commissioners had so broke up
and departed from the said Meeting as aforesaid was, because
they imagined, that thro" this Affirmants Absence on the said

Message, and there not being a Quorum of the IMaintifis Com-
missioners left, tliey had got such an Advantage, as they could
thereby avoid proceeding any farther in the Execution of their

Commission and the said Articles. And further saith that,

after the said Defendant's Commissioners so breaking u[) the

said Meeting, lie this Affirmant was told, by the said Isaac

Norris and Samuel Preston, that th<\v had continued with the

said Maryand Commissioners during the Affirmant's Absence on
the Message, aforesaid, and had entreated and very much presseii

the said Maryland Commissioners to stay, and not depart from
the said Meeting, for that he the said Affirmant, and the rest of

the Plaintiffs said Commissioners would soon be there, or to

that Effect.

Andrew Hamilton,
In his Account, speaks largely to some of the foregoing

Matters.

8anuiel Preston, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 119. Fol. 448. J

That in his Opinion the Spring and Fall are the properest

Seasons for running out Lines in the Woods, when such Run-
ning is to be continued for Weeks or Months at a Time. Has
not been conversant with surveying in the Woods and there

fore can't say how long Tim^ it would require to run and mark
out the Circle and Lines mentioned in the Articles; but verily

believes there was sufficient Time to do tlie same, between the

first Meeting of the Commissioners, and the 25 of December 1733.

That, when the Commissioners on l>oth sides met on 1st, 2d.

3d February 1732, at Newcastle, in order to cairy the said Arti-

cles into Execution, it was very cold and severe Weather. And
in this Affirmant's Opinion, the Ahsenceof the Commissioners,

on eith3r side, for an Hour or two on said 3d of February, could

not be such a Hindrance, as to prevent the Execution of the

Articles, within the Time limited by the same.

*James Steel, [Lib. C. Fol. 559. hit. 119. Fol. 576.]

He also says the Spring and Fall are the properest Seasons,

when the Work is to continue for a length of Time, and lielieves

that, to run and mark out the Circle, and the several Lines

agreed on by the Articles, would at least require three Months.
He says that on 1st, 2d, and 3d February 1732. it was extreme
cold and severe Weather, and the Creeks being frozen over,

38—Vol. XV.
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and tlie (iround covered with Snow, and that the Absence, or

Non-Attendance, of the Connnissioners, on either side, for an
Hour or two beyond the Hour of the Adjournment, on anj' of

those Days, could not, in his Judgment, be such a Prejudice

or Hin(irance to the Execution of the Articles, as that the said

Circle and Lines could not, by reason of such Absence of Non-
attendance, be run, markt or laid out, within the Time limited

by the Articles.

Beiijamin Tasker, the DefendanV s. Commissioner and Witness,

but cross examined [Lib. JS. fol. 49. Int. 19. fol. 70.]

Is but little acquainted with, and can't well judge, what are

the fittest Seasons to run and mark Lines in the Woods, but
l>elieves the Month of October is the properest Season for that

Work. That the running and marking the Circle and Lines,

pursuant to the Articles, would, in his Judgment, have taken

near '^ Months. That at the Meetings of the Commissioners at

Newcastle on 1st, 2d, 3d February, the Weather was very un-

pleasant, there being then a great Snow upon the Ground, and
M Thaw upon that. That the Non-attendance, or Absence of

the Commissioners on either side, for an Hour or two beyond
the Time of Adjournment, could not make any Difference, or

prevent the running the Lines within the Time for that pur-

pose limited in the Agreement.
Note—Why then, did they, so often, refuse our repeatetl

Requests to proceed?

*James Steel, [Lib. ('. fol. 559. Int. 82. fol. 610.]

That very soon after breaking up of the Defendant's Com-
missioners as aforesaid, the Plaintiffs Commissioners sent a

verbal Message by Robert Charles one of the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners, who was accompained by John Georges deceased,

to the Defendant's (Commissioners, acquainting them, that

some Business might be done before Dinner was ready, and
therefore thev desired them to meet the Plaintiffs Commission-
ers, immediately, in the said Court House, to proceed in the

said Business; That in a short time after, the said Robert
Charles and Georges returned, and the said Charles said he had
acquainted Mr. Ogle and some others of the Defendant's Com-
missioners, with the said Message, and that Mr. Ogle had refused

to meet the Plaintiffs Commissioners, alledging for Reason,

That if any Advantage had accrued to Lord Baltimore, by the

Failure of the Plaintiffs Commissioners that Morning, he could

not answer it to his Lordship to give it up,

Andrew Hamilton,

Speaks to this first verbal Message.
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John deorgts'

s

Deposition sif,'iu'il by him, lit- bein^' jn-oved dead, you have
among the Written Evidence.

Saiautl Prtntoii [Jjib. B. fol. 312. Int b'd. Jul. 4()S. j ""James >Stee/

[Lib. (J. fol. o.")^. Int. 8;J. fol. G12.]

8ay that, after tlie Return of Robert Charles, all the Plain-
tifis Commissioners, except Mr. Hamilton who was indisposed,
and all the Defendant's (Jommissioners, dined together, at
Newcastle, in a friendly manner, that 3il of Feljruary.

Hamatl Frtstuu, [Lib. B. f<,L 312. Lat. 82. fol. 403. j and [Itit. 84.

fol. 40y.J
Says that on the same Day, in the Afternoon, about 4 o'Cloclv,

Mr. Norris and the Aflbrmant waited on three of the Defend
ant s Commissioners, of which Uerle and Jennings were two, at
tlieir Lodgings in tlie Town, and infonned tliem, that what
had happened in the Morning, was occasioned by the Indisposi-
tion of one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners witli the Gout, and
other Accidents, and not with any design to avoid the Execu-
tion of the Commission, and therefore requested them to meet
the Plaintiffs Commissioners, immediately, or that Afternoon,
to proceed in the Execution of the Commission : To which Ogle
answered, that the Plaintiffs Commissionei's had been negligent
in not meeting, and he apprehended it was done with Design ;

Tliat. if the Case was his own. he should be very glad tooljlige

any (ientleman, but as it was an Affair of Lord Baltimore's,
and he conceived the Plaintiffs Commissioners had gi 'en him
an Advantage, he should not look upon it to be just to his
Constituent, if he did not make the Use of it, or to that effect.

Upon this some of the Pensilvania Commissioners, of which
Mr. Hamilton was one, came into the Room, and then Jennings
took up his Hat and walkt out of the Room. [Very artfully

done! For, otherwise, there would then have been a Quorum
on each Side] Then Mr. Hamilton said, Gentlemen, We have
done no Business, this Morning. I have been at the Place of
Meeting, and expected to see you there, shall we go now about
the Business? To which Mr. Ogle replied, the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners had been negligent, and therefore the Defendant's
Commissioners did not intend to meet them again. To this

Mr. Hamilton said, that the Plaintiffs Commissioners had
waited for the Defendant's Commissioners, the Day before, as
long a time as they had waited for them on that, and yet, had
not offered to take any Advantage, and therefore did not think
it was fair for the Maryland Commissioners to attempt to take
this Advantage now. And there upon Mr. Hamilton delivered

a Paper-Writing to Mr. Ogle, which hud bee.n prepared to be
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delivered to the Delendaiit'^s Comuii.ssionei> iu the Morning;

upon wliich l*aper, when Ogle had slightly lookt, he said here

take your Paper, I have nothing to do with it. To wiiieh Mr.

Hamilton replied, 8ir, its yours, you have it; and thereui>oii.

Qo-le Hung the said Paper down in a Chair or Window, and the

Plaintiff Commissioners departed. xYntl says that that Paper

contained Reasons, given by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, why
the Circle should be exteniled to the Distance of 13 Miles from

the Town, and a Declaration of the Willingness of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners to proceed in doing the same, and a peremptory

Demand of the Defendant's Commissioners, whether they would

join therein? And that Paper was signed by Messieurs Norris.

Hamilton, Steel, Charles, and this Affirmant Preston.

*James ^Yee/, [Lib. C. Jul. 559. litt. S4. fol. G12.]

Confirms the last foregoing Account, and adds, that when

Ogle would have returned the Paper, he said they could do

nothing, there not being a (Quorum of the Defendant's Com-
missioners present. And says that when Hamilton offered the

Paper to Ogle. .Jennings took up his Hat, and walkt out of tlie

Room, which this Witness verily believes was done to avoid a

t^uorum of the Deiendanfs Commissioners being present, lest

this should be con.strued ;i Meeting of the (Jommissioners. He

also contirms Mr. l^reston throughout. And adds, moreover,

that Mr. Hamilton requested Ogle ami Calveit to appoint any

Place for the immediate ^Meeting of the Commissioners on l)oth

sides.and the Plaintiffs ( 'ommissioners would meet them accord-

ing to such Appoiiitmeni ; but that Ogle replied, he could not

consent to any other Meeting, because it would wave the Advant-

age he conceived Lord Baltimore had gained. That. thereu])on,

Mr. Hamilton ottered to Ogle and Calvert a Written Notice

signed i)y the Plaintitts Commissioners, and directed to all the

Defendant's (]onnuissioners, requiring them to meet the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners at 6 o'Clock that Evening, at the said Court

House; which' Notice Ogle and Calvert refusing to receive.

Hamilton laid it down, on the Table or Chair, before them, and

then the Plaintiffs Commissioners departed. And says, that

very soon afterwards he Mas informed and believes, that the

rest of the Defendant's Commissioners were acquainted with

the said Service of the said Notice, and were required to attend

according to the Purport of the same Notice.

Andrew Ham/lto)/,

Confirms all this, after Dinner, on the M of February.

Benjamin Tasker, the DefendanV f Witness and Commissioner

cross-examined [Lib. B. fol. 49. Inf. ?,0. fol 68.]

That after the Commissioners of ^Maryland parted 'from two
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^1 the Pensilvania Commissioners, between the Hours of T^velveand One, on 3d February 1732, at the Court-House in Newcastle
this Deponent, and as he heard, the rest of the Maryland Con.-miss.oners then at Newcastle, were in the Evening of that sameDay requested by the Pensilvania Commissioners, to meet againm order to proceed on the Business of running the Line, ac-cording to the Articles of Agreement.

Benjamin Eastbnrn, [Lib. C. Fol. 678. Int. 84 Fol 711 1

Says that on 3d February 1732, about Three in the Afternoonhe heard Robert Charles, one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners
read a written Paper to Ogle and Calvert, two of the Defend-ant s Commissioners, purporting to be a Notice from the Plain

th?PirnT-?'°r"'''
'" ''' l^efendant's Commissioners, to meetthe Plaintiffs Commissioners, that Evening, at 6 o'Clock, atthe Court House. That after reading the said Paper the saidCharles offered to deliver the same to the said Ogle which thesaid Ogle refusing to receive, the said Charles laid the samedown on a Chair. This Deponent does not know bv whom th'

cUT" ""^"
'L^'v

.^"^ '^''' '^^" ""''''' ^his witness heardCharles give verbal Notice to Ward. Howard. Tasker and Jen-nings four of the Defendant's Commissioners, to meet thePlain iffs Commissioners that Evening at Six o'clock in thesaid(ourt-House: To which some of them replied, It's vervwell, (.entlemen. or to that effect. That the Plaintiffs Com-missioners afterwards did meet, in the said Court-Hou.se. atthe appointed Hour, and there continued two or three Hour,but the Defendant's C:ommissioners or any of them did not ap-pear there. *

Hamuel Preston, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 85. Fol 411 1

Says that four of the Plaintiffs Commissioners on the said 3dof February signed Notices to Ogle. Caivert, Howard. WardTasker and to the l>est of his Memory. Jenning.s. the Defend:ant s_Commissioners then in Newcastle, requiring them to meetThe Plaintiffs Commissioners at the Court House at G thatEvening: winch Notices he believes were delivered to three omore of the Detendanfs Commissioners. He also savs that the
1 laintiffs Commissioners met at the Court Hou.se, at the saidappointed Hour, and there attended till about 8; but the Deendant s Commissioners, or any of them, did not appear orto his Know edge, send any Mes.sage. He is not certain at whaHour the Notices^ were said to .redelivered, but savs t wsome time before Si.x. And adds, that the Defendant's Com'-m.ssioners continued in Newcastle from the time of serving thesaid Notices until the 4th Day of the said Month
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*James Steel, [Lib. C. fol. 559. Int. 85. fol. ^^20.]

Says that the Plaintiflfs Coiuiuissioners met at Six as afore-

said and attended till 8, and the Defendant's Commissioners,

though then in the Town, neither came or sent. That the said

3d of February happened on a Saturday. And he adds That,

after the Plaintiffs Connnissioners returned from the said Court-

House at Eight o'Clock the said Evening, they tliinking it

proper and necessary to sign and serve the Defendant's Com-
missioners, who were then still in the Town with fresh Notices,

to meet them on the Monday following, at 10 in the Forenoon,

at the said Court-House, sent Robert Charles and Mr. Georges,

in order to serve such Notices upon all the Defendant's said

Commissioners; but Ogle refusing to be seen by Charles (as he

upon his Return to the Plaintiffs Commissioners informed

them) they, thereupon, sent a Person again, that same Evening,

to serve the said new Notices upon the rest of the said Mary-

land Commissioners; and whicli were accordingly that same

Evening personally served upon the said Charles, Calvert, Jen-

nings and Tasker (as the said Person upon his Return acquainted

this Affirmant and the rest of the Plaintiffs Commissioners)

and that the said Howard had also a Copy of the same Notice

left for him, at his Lodgings, and whch afterwards came to his

Hand that same Evening, as this Affirmant believes, and was

informed.

Samuel Preston, [L/b. B. Fol. 812. hit. 8(1. Fol. 413.]

He confirms what is said by Mr. Steel, rather more positively,

as to the signing and serving that new Notice, for Monday the

oth of February.

JoJiii George.

Signed Deposition (he being dead) amongst the written Evi-

dence, speaks to this Notice.

Andrem Hamilton.

In his Account also speaks largely hereof.

Benjamin Tasker, the DefendanV s Witness and CommiHsioner
rross-examined [Lib. E. fol. 49. Int. 31. fol. 69.]

Says that this Deponent, and as he believes, the rest of the

Maryland Commissioners, were on the said 3d Day of February,

served with a Notice in Writing to meet the Pensilvania Com-
missioners for the Purposes aforesaid, on the then Monday fol-

lowing. And says that he did not avoid being served witli such

Notice, nor did any of the rest of the Maryland Commissioner.'^,

to his Knowledge, endeavour to avoid being served with such

Notice.

Did they attend according to the Notice?.

That onr Depositions will iniiiiediatejy answer.
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Gideon GriJJith [Lih. Ji. ful 279. lid. 118. /<>/. 280. j

Has heard that there were Articles of Agreement between the

Parties, and has seen and read a printed Paper, which he was
informed was a Copy thereof, and has heard that such and such
Persons were appointed (Jommissioners on each side respect-

ively, for executint^ the said Agreement. And Sciys that Mes-
sieurs Norris, Hamilton, Charles, Steel, and another Person,

whose Name he does not remember, as Commissioners on the

Part of the Plaintiffs, met the said Ward, Taskei-, and some
others, M'hose Names he can't remember, at the Court House
in Newcastle on 1st or 2d of February 1732, in order to carry

the said Agreement into execution, as he heard; but knows not

whether they proceeded in the Execution of the same, or not,

And says he has neither heard or believes that the Pensilvania
Commissioners when at Newcastle in the said Month of Feb-

ruary, ever did refuse to meet the Defendant's Commissioners
at the usual Place of Meeting in the said Town, to proceed in

the Execution of the said Agreement, but has heard that the

Defendant's Commissioners did then and there refuse to meet
the Plaintiffs Commissioners, because the said Steel one of the

Plaintiffs Commissioners had neglected to meet at the Time or

Hour appointed for Meetina-, as he had heard. [Fol. 285.] That
afterwards, on ;kl February 1732, this Deponent offered to de-

liver three several Notices in Writing, signed by the said Plain-

tiff's Commissioners, to Jennings, Tasker and one other (who
he thinks was Michael H(jward) Commissioners on the Defend-
ant's Part, purporting, that as the Maryland Commissioners
had refused meeting the Pensilvania Counnissioners according
to a former Notice given, the Plaintiffs Commissioners wen-

willing to meet them on Monday the 5th of that Instant Nov-
ember, at 10 in the Forenoon, to proceetl to the Execution of

their respective Commissions, which Notices the said Jennings,
Tasker, and the said other Person refused to receive, saying
they would not receive any Papers from the Pensilvania Com-
missioners. That the Deponent then acquainted the said Jen-

nings, &c. that the Pensilvania Commissioners had desired him
to acquaint them, that they would meet them at another time,

in order to proceed to Business, or to that effect, and thereuj)oii

left the said three written Notices, on a Table, in the same Room
with the said Jennings, Tasker, and the said otlier Commis
sioner. whereon the said Jennings was then writing. And says

that, next Morning, being Sunday 4th February aforesaid, the

Defendant's Commissioners went out of Newcastle, and did not

meet the Plaintiffs Commissioners on the said 5th of Februar\

but the Pensilvania Commissioners did attend at the same Town
on that dav. according to th" Notice aforesaid.
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Satjiuel Preston [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 87. fol. 415.]

Says that 4 ur 5 of the Plaintiffs Commissioners met at the
Court-House on the said 5th of February pursuant to the said

Appointment, bui none of the Defendant's Commissioners at-

tended, they having left the Town the day before, as tiie Affirm-

ant understood and believes.

*James Sttel. [Lib. C. fol. 559. Int. 87. fol. 6Ji3.]

Confirms Mr. Preston, with this Addition, tliat the Plaintiff's

Commissioners when they so met, staid till 12 at Noon.
You will please to remember, that we in our Bill fol. 304.

particularly charge, that upon 15th February 1732, after

the Maryland Commissioners had run away from New-
castle and refused to meet our Commissioners, though
so many times r'^quired, both by verbal and by written

Notices, my Lord himself writ a Letter to Governor Gor-

don, one of our Commissioners (who is proved to be since

dead) reviving the Meetings, and appointing, by his own
Act and Deed, that we should run away to Joppa) in order

to fix a Center somewhere in Newcastle Town, and ap-

pointing that new^ Meeting for the 7th of May. Mr. Gor-

don being iiroved to be dead, we could not get that Letter

to prove, but my Lord himself in his Answer fol. 316.

precisely and sufficiently admits fiis writing and sending

that Letter.

We were then to suppose that he really intended the Com-
missioners should meet again to execute the Articles.

But you'll please to remember the Copy of the written

Letter from Governor Ogle of the 8th of March markt
No. 2. and the Cojjy of the printed Advertisement of the

2l8t of March 1732, markt No. 1. (both pending that Ap-
pointment of my Lord's) which are mentioneu, according

to their Dates, in the state of our written Evidence.

Now we come to applv our Proofs to them, and to bring

them home to my Lord Baltimore himself, and to shew
what a Part he acted while he himself had revived the.

Meetings.

Hugh Jones, of Mari/land. Clerk, my Jjord'.s onni Witnes.s, croas-

examined [Lib. E. fol. 5. Int. 12. fol. 7.]

Is uncertain whether he has seen any written Advertisement

of the same tenor or Date of the printed Exliibit markt No. 1.

but has seen a printed Adverti^^ement of the sanie Tenor and

Date therewith. That he saw it in the Year 1732. when mv Lord

Baltimore wa> in Maryland: That he received ii from Lord

Baltimore, or from William Parks, then a Printer at Anuapoli-s,

but is uncertain from which of them.
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The name [Int. 13. fol 8. j

To the best of his Remembrance, he did send one or more
Advertisements of the Tenor and Date of that produced, to be

set up upon tiie Borders of the tliree lower Counties; and that

lie sent them, at the Request of Lord Baltimore, with Intent

to notify to any People who held Lands within the Province

of Maryland [He tells us by and by, that he thinks the lower

Counties, and-even Philadelphia itself, is in Maryand] under
any other than the Proprietor of Maryland, that they should
apply in Time to Matthew Tilghman Ward, the Agent of the

same Proprietor.

The Same [Int. 14. fol. 9.]

That by the Words (the Right Honourable the Lord Proprie-

tor) in the said Exhibit No 1. The Lord Baltimore was meant.

And apprehends that the Persons described in the said Exhibit

by the Words (pretending to hold Lands by vertue of any Pat-

ents or Grants not deriving the same froiii the present Proprie-

tor or his Ancestors) were meant such as held Lands bj- Grants
from the Duke of York, or the Proprietors of Pensilvania, or

bv Purchases from the Indians, which had been taken up under
Maryland Rights before.

Note, Benjamin Ta.sker [Lib. E. fol. 49 Int. 14. fol. 53. j

Says that by the Words Lord Proprietor in the said Exhibit,

was intended the Defendant in this Cause.

The Same [Int. IT,, jot. 10.
|

That he knows there is an Officer in Maryland, called and
known by the Name of the Lord Proprietor's Agent, whose
Business he is not acquainted with, either in respect to Lord
Baltimore, or others.

The Samf [Int. K>. fol. 11.]

That he apprehends that Matthew Tilghman Ward, was
Agent to Lord Baltimore on 8th March 17.32, and supposes that

.John Ross was at that tiine Deputy to the t^aid Acrent.

77(e Same [Int. 32. fol. 11. J

That Lord Baltimore did arrive in Maryland, from Great

Britain, as he believes in the latter End of the Year 1732, and
resided chietly at Annapolis while he staid in the same Prov
ince. but does not remember when he depaiTcd from the said

Province on his Voyage to Great Britain.

The Same [Int. 33. fol. 12.
]

That Samuel Ogle is generally reputed to be Governor of Mary-

land under Lord Baltimore, and was esteemed as Governor
.ihout 7 ^Months before Lord Baltimore's Arrival in Maryland.

and from the Time of Lord Baltmiore'.v Departure from the

Province To till- Tiine. And that the saifl Samuel Ogle resided
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principally at Annapolis in the Years 1731. 1732 and 1733, and

ever since, to this Time, except Part of a Summer in Baltimore

County.

Ttie Same [Int. 34. ful. l3.J

That he knows the Lord Baltimore and Samuel Osle both

lived in Annapolis a Part ot the Time that Lord Baltimore was

In Maryland, and believes that they principally resided there

during all that time.

The last Matter is Confirmed by Benjamin Tasker [Lib. E. fol.

49. Int. 34. foL 72.]

The Same [Int. 35. fol. 14.

J

That he is acquainted with Governor Ogle's Hand-Writing,

and has received several Letters from him, particularly one

dated, as he believes, about 8th March 1732. Which Letter, or

a true Copy of it, he sent either to Mr. Loyd, or Mr. Vanbeb-

ber, to shew to some of their Friends in Newcastle County.

That such sending: the .said Letter, or a Copy thereof, was, as

he remembers, at the Instance of the said Governor Ogle, with

Intent to be shewn to Friends of the said Loyd or Vanbebber

in Newcastle County. That some time after he wrote an Ac-

count of what he had done, to Governor Ogle, but received no

Answer concerning- the same, nor had any other Conversation

with him, that he remembers relating thereto.

The Sam,e [Jnt. 3(). fol. lo.
|

That the Hand-writing, lor Attestation at the Bottom of the

(Jopy of the Letter now shewn to him, No. 2. is the Hand writing

of the Deponent. And the whole Endorsement upon the said

Letter was wrote by this Deponent. And the name Hugh Jones

is of this DepoiiHiiTs Hand-writing, and stands for his proper

name. That l)y the Word (Friends) in the Endorsement of the

said Letter, he meant the Goodwins and others Avho jived near

Apoquinomy in Newcastle County, on Lands which he sup-

posed had formerly been taken n\) under Maryland Rights,but

were then possest under other Rights.

The Some. [Int. 4N. f»l. 17.]

That he neither holds or claims any Lands which, he appre-

hends, will fail within the Province of Pensilvania or the three

lower ( ounties. if the Lines which were intended to l)e run by

the Articles should l)e establisht or if the Circle should be run

Mt tlie Distance of 12 Miles from the Town. And api)rehends

he shit 11 not lie a Gainer if the Bounds of Maryland should be

extended farther Northward than now supposed to be. or the

three lower Counties should be adjudged to Lord Baltimore.

What a dishonest Proceeding this, Avhile under a new A})-
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pointment for meeting to execute the Articles made by
my Lord Baltimore himself ! This is the Candor and Fair-
ness they used.

This shews whether my Lord, and his Governor and Com-
missioners did, or did not, endeavour to avoid the Arti-
cles, by any other means except that of failing personally
to appear at the Times appointed for Meeting^;. And this
confirms most strongly what all our Commissioners say
in Evidence on that Head by and by.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 90. foL 419.]
Says that all the Plaintiffs Commissioners upon 28th March

1733. signed a Notice in Writing to the Defendant's Commin-
.«ioners requiring them to meet the Plaintiffs Commissioners
at Nexvcastle the 16th of April then next, which notice was de-
livered to William Biddle. who. he believes, (from an Affidavit
of Biddies that he has seen) did serve the same or Copies
thereof, upon all the Defendant's Commissioners in Maryland,
and in a few Days after the said 16th Day of March. And says
that, immediately on Biddle's Return from Maryland he gave
to some of the Plaintiffs Commissioners a cross Notice from
the Defendant" s (Jommissioners requiring the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners to meet the Defendant's Commissioners at Joppa in
Maryland on 7th May.

Wi/ha/ii Biddit, [Lib. C. fol. 474. Int. 106. /o/. 47").
J

Ha.-, lookr on the Paper Writing markt B. 5. and says it con-
tains a true Copy of seven Oriirinal Papers which were delivered
by (Tovernor Gordon and the rest of the Plaintiffs Commission-
ers who have subscribed the same, to him on said 28th March,
to be served on the Defendant's Commissioners in Maryland.
That he afterAvards on 3d April following, served six of the
same, upon Ogle, Calvert, Howard, Jennings, Tasker and Ward
severally, but did not serve Loyd, he being dead or absent.
And he. on the 3d of the said April, at Annapolis in Marvland,
made Oath, before one of the Magistrates of the Provincial
Court there of .such several Services.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. fll. fol. 421.]
Says that a Quorum of the Plaintiffs Commissioners met at

Newcastle on 16th April according: to the Notice given to the
Defendant's Commissioners; but the Defendant's Commission-
ers, or any of them did not appear there.

Samuel Preston. [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. SH. fol. 41?.]
Believes Lord ^Baltimore was in Maryland on the .5th and loth

Days of February 1732.
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Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. fol. ;il2. Int. 80. fol. 417.

J

Knows the Town of Joppa in Marjiand, which he believes

is about fifty or sixty Miles from Newcastle Town; between
which Places there are several Fords which are difBcult to pass
after great Rains, besides the great River of Susquehannah.
That the said Town of Joppa is a small Village with but few
Houses in it, and can afford but very ordinary Entertainment
for Gentlemen or Strangers. That, at the former Meetings of

the Commissioners at Newtown, and Newcastle it was agreed,

by the said Commissioners, on both sides, that tliefirst thing
necessary to be done was to run the Circle about the Town of

Newcastle, and, in order thereto, that a Center for the said

Circle was to be fixed. And says that Joppa was not a con-

venient Place to fix the said Center, and, as be apprehends, it

could not be done there with Certainty.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 92. fol. 422. ]

That a Quorum of the Plaintiffs Commissioners met at the
Town of Joppa in Maryland, on 7th May 1733. That going
thither was very inconvenient ; because it was a long Journey
thither, the Roads very bad, their Entertainment at the said

Town very indifferent, and it was quite out of the Way of the
Business the Commissioners had to-do. That a Quorum of the
Defendants Commissioners met them at Joppa on 7th and 8th
May. That on the 2(1 or 3d Davs of the Commissioners Meet-
ings at Joppa, it was proposed, by one of the Defendant's Com-
missioners, seeing they could not agree upon running the Circle

at Newcastle aforesaid, to adjourn to some other Place. And,
after .several Proposals and Debates thereon, it was, on the 9th

of May, agreed to adjourn to Philadelj^hia, which is about
ninety Miles distant from .Toppji. Which was agreed to by the
Plaintiffs Commissioners, in regard to the Convenience of the
Defendant's Commissioners, who -were to wait on Lord Balti-

more in his way to Philadelphia. Believes that Aiijournment
was to 21st May, but it was agreed, if the Defendant's Com-
missioners, who were to wait on him to Burlington, could not
return from thence in convenient time to Philadelphia, then
the Defendant's Commissioners were to give the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners Notice to meet at Philadelphia, in some short

time afterwards, and no Advantage was to l)e taken of their

not meeting on the Day to which they adjourned. And believes

it was also proposed and agreed to, that the Maryland f'ommis-
sioners should not l)e .staid at Philadelphia, from returning to

Maryland, above one Day, and that their ne\t Meeting shoukl
be ill the County of NeAvcastie. on the 18th of June then next
foilowint'.
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.hif-iniah Linighonit . [Lib. f.fol. 7U). Int. \rl. fol. 720.

j

8;iys the Delen<lanT"s Coiiinii^siouer.s did meet tlie Plaintiffs

Coiniiiissiouers at Joppa. on 7th May; and it was very incon-

venient lor the l^laintiffs ( 'oniniis.sioners to meet them at that

Place, where he conceives nothing,' could be done to put the

Articles in Execution. That the Commissioners met at Joppa
again, on 8th May. That on the 2d Day of the Meeting? at

Joppa. several Disputes arose between them, concerniuf? the
Dimensions of the Circle, and the Defendant's Commissioners
insisted it should be a (Jircle whose Circumference was 12

Miles, and the Plaintiff's Commissioners insisted it ought to be

a Circle of 12 Miles Radius. That thereupon, one of the Defenii-

ant's Commissioners (Mr. Ogle, according to his best Memory)
proposed, seeing they could not agree upon the Extent of the
Circle, to adjourn immediately to Cape Hinlopen, to run the
Line from thence, which seemed to be generallv agreed to:

And then the Plaintiff's Coujmissioners proposed to go imme-
<Uately to the said Cajje, and said they had l)rought Artists

with them, who would run the said Line. [C)l)serve, we were
always ready to do any thing] To which Ogle leplied. that the
Word, immediately as used by him, was to be understood with
some (Vi';ilifi<'iition, ami that it meant only to go there, as soon
as they conveniently might. [Well I when was that to be?]

And added, that jjord Baltimore was in Chesopeak Bay, in his

Way to Burlington in New Jersey, Avhither they wei-e obliged to

wait on ills Lordship. Then some of the Defendant's (Jomniis-

sioneis pr(>[)osed to adjourn to Philadelphia, which is about
1(»0 -Miles distant from Joppa; which being agreed to by the
Plaintiffs r;ommissioners, on the !)th of May, they adjourned
accordingly to souie Day in that Month, as the Affirmant be-

lieves, but does not remember the particular Day.

Benjcuiiiii Tasker, tfie Defendaur s Witue.ss and Commissioner,
beirif) cross-examined. [Lib. E. fol. 49. Int. IC. fol. 66.]

Names the Commissioners who met on both sides at Joppa on
7, 8, and Dth May, and that they adjourned to Mr. IS'orris's

House at Philade{>hia. but at whose Instance, or what the Rea-
sons assigned for such Adjournment were, does not particularly
remember, but believes such Adjournment was made at the
Instance of the Maryland Commissioners.

Jeremiah Langhorne, [Lib. C. fol. 719. I7it. 93. fol. 781.]

He was present at the Meeting between Quorums of the re-

spective Commissioners at Joppa, which as well as he remem-
bers was on 7th May 17n3. That before any Debates between
them. Mr. Ogle observing the Affirmant there, askt who the
Affirmant was? And tsaid he did not know that anv Person,
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except the (Jomiiiissiouers. had any business there. Whereupon
Jennings, one of the Defendant's Commissioners said, perhaps

the Gentleman is a (Commissioner. To whieli .Mr. Hamilton,

one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, replied. >.o. he is not a

Commissioner, but he is a Grentleman that the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners have broug:ht with them to be a Witness, and pre-

vent any Misrepresexitations of their Proceeding.-. That then

the said Ogle, after some more Objecti<uis to any Stranger's

being present during their Del)ates, said he was contented,

provided they would permit some other Person, on behalf of

Maryland, to \)e present likewise. To which Mr. Hamilton re-

plied with all his lieart, as many as he i)leased. Whereupon
one Beale was called in by the Defendant's Commissioners.

And thereupon, the Debate, mentioned by this Affirmant in

Answer to the J»2d Interrogatory, concerning the Dimensions of

the Circle arose between the (Jommissioners ; Whereupon the

Plaintiffs Commissioners insisted that the Arguments on the

same should be reduced to Writing by the Commissioners on
each side, which was accordingly done by delivering written

Papers to each other. To all, or many of which, this Affirm-

ant was a Witness, by subscribing his Name tiiereto. That the

Reason given by the Plaintiffs Commissioners why the said

Arguments should be reduced into Writing, were to prevent any
Misrepresentations on either side, of what was said therein.

The SnJ7ie to the \Uth Int. ,f<>L lU.]

Says he was present also at the Meeting of the Commis-
sioners on the 8th of ]May.

The SfJDie to the [07/// Intt iroqatory, _f(>I. 785. J

Says that Quorums of the said ('ommissioners met at Joppa
on the !»th of May.

James Lofjau, [Lib. B. fnl. 7fJ. Int. do. foL 192.
J

Says that beside running the Circular Line, there were, in

his Judgment, live strait Lines, necessary to be run in order

to compleat the carrying into Execution the Agreement, and
that not more than two of those strait Lines would be affected

or altered, according as the said Circle should oe drawn at

twelve, or at less than two, Miles Distance from the Town of

Newcastle.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. fnl. 312. Int. 98. fol. 428.

J

Says the Defendant's Commissioners did not return from
Burlington l)y 21st May, but gave notice they could not con-

veniently meet that Day, but would meet at Philadelphia on
26th May. Accordingly muorhins of the Commissioners met at

Philadelphia on that Day. When, nothing material was done,
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but the Defendant's Commissioners then proposed to adjourn
to the ;ld of September. alled<j:ino: for Reasons, that they were
oblip:ed to attend on Lord Baltimore down to Virfjfinia, on his
Way to England, and particularly, that as Lord Baltimore had
taken the Government of Maryland upon him since his Arrival,
'was necessary for Mr. Ogle to go down to Virginia, to l)e

qualifieti, a-new. before the (rovernor of Virginia, in order to
re-assume the said Government upon Lord Baltimore's De-
parture. For which Reasons, ami on Consideration that the
Business of their ( 'onnnissions could not well be done in the
mean time, the Woods being full of Leaves, and the Season hot,
the Plaintiffs Commissioners consented to said Proposal, and
they adjourned accordingly, to meet at Newcastle Town on ad
September.

James Logan, [Lib. B. fol. 7(i. Int. 98. fol. 193.]

Is rather stronger in the last foregoing Account; for he as-
signs no other Reason for that very long Adjournment from
May to September, than only the Engagements the Maryland
Commissioners pretended to be under, on their side.

Samuel Preston., [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 'd^. fol. 431.]

That five of the Defendants Commissioners (amongst which
was John Ross by vertue of a new Commission) met six of the
Plaintiffs Commissioners at Newcastle Town, on 8d September
1733. and there continued several Days. During which Days,
upon several Debates, the Defendant's Commissioners did de-
clare that they could agree to run out no other Circle than one
whose Circumference was twelve Miles; and the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners insisted that the same ought to be a Circle of 12
Miles Radius from the said Town. Whereupon, the Plaintiffs
Commissioners did require the Defendant's Commissioners to
state their Proposals and Arguments in Writing, and they
would answer them in the same manner, which was accordingly
done, by delivering several Avritten Papers to each other. But
the Commissioners not agreeing, a Proposition was made, to
the best of the AflRrmant's Memory, by one of the Defendant's
Commissioners to adjourn, to a Time he has forgot; but it was
afterwards agreed by all the Commissioners to adjourn to the
14th of November, then next following, at Newcastle Town
aforesaid.

James Ijogati; \L?'b. B. fol. 76. Int. 99. fol. 197.
]

That Quorums of the Commissioners met at Newcastle on
3d, 4th, 5th and 6th September (Governor Ogle being sick, as
it was said) and during those Days several Adjournments were
made, and divers Papers past between the Commissioners on
each side. .\nd says, that on the 5th or 6th of September ii
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being provjosed by the Defendant "s Commissioners to adjourn

the next Meeting to l4th November, the same was, after some

Debates, at length, agreed to by the Plaintiffs Commissioners.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. fol. 313. Int. 100. fol. 434.]

That Ogle, Tasker. Jennings, Harris and Ross, Commissioners

for the Defendant, and Messieurs Norris, Logan. Hamilton, Steel

and the Affirmant, Plaintiffs Commissioners, met at Newcastle

Town, on 14. 15, IG, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, and 24th. November

1733. And during those davs the respective Commissioners for

the Plaintiffs and Defendant did not re ede from, but declared

they respectively adhered to their former several Opinions, con-

cerning the Dimensions of the Circle. And says there was some

verbal Proposals made by the Commissioners on each side, but

,the prinrii)al Part of their Debates were transacted by written

Papers, delivered to each other. That during the said several

Meetings, and as he believes either on 14,15. or l^th November,

some of the Defendant's Commissioners verbally declared, that

it was to no purpose for the (Commissioners to continue longer

together, and proposed, that the Commissioners should dis-

continue their Meetings, and depart without further Adjourn-

ment. To which the Plaintiffs Commissioners did not consent

or agree.

James Logan [Lib. B. /<>!. 76. Jut. 100. to/. 190.]

Fully and strongly confirms the foregoing, and says, that Mr.

Ogle repeatedly proposed upon 14, 15, and 16 November, to

break up. and discontinue the Meetings, and depart without

Adjournment, and that the Plaintiffs Commissioners in general,

did during those three Days, decline to agree to such Proposal.

TJ)e Same, [Int. 101. fot. 203.]

Says that at the Meeting of the said Commissioners on or

about 19th November, it was repeatedly alledged and declared

TO be the Opinion of the Defendant's Commissioners, that no

other Consequence could arise from the Difference of Judgment

be+ween them and the Plaintiffs Commissioners than that

either the Commissioners should continue at Newcastle till

25th December then next, without running the Circle, or depart

from Newcastle without further Adjournment.

The Same, [Int. 102. fol. 204.]

That at the said Commissioners meeting on or about 23d

November, it was proposed by Ogle or Jennings (but which he

does not now remember) on the Part of the Defendant's Com-

missioners, that as the Connuissioners had continued so long

together, in exchanging of Papers, and were still as far off' from

agreeing as ever, they should then depart. And thereupon, it

was agreed bv the Commissioners on both sides that some par-
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ting Minute should be prepared against the next Dav. and thatthe same should be drawn up by Jennings and the'Afflrmant.

tiamuel Prtston, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 102. fol 437
]Says to the like effect, but does not remember who of theCommisssioners made that Proposal.

The Same, [Int. lOS. fol. 438.]
Says that the Plaintiffs and Defendant's Commissioners didat Newcastle, on 24th November, 1733, sign a partin- Minutedat^ed that Day, and then departed without further Adjourn-

James Logan, [Lib. B. fol. 76. Int. 103. fol. 438.

1

Says the same.

iSamnel B,-eston, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 66. fol 340
]Says that he knows that several Persons were apoointed, andacted as Commissioners on the Plaintiffs Part, in order to carryinto Execution the Articles of 10th May 1732, viz. Patrick Gor

f.^"'
{^^^"tenant-Governor of Pensilvania, who died in August

ht ^T rT'
'''^'^'''''' l^etween 5 and Years ago, andtin. Affirmant, James Logan. Andrew Hamilton and JamesN eel who are still living, and Robert Charles, who deparTeabout a lear ago for Great Britain, where the Affirmant Sup-

poses he IS still living. That he hath lookt upon the Paper-Book or Writing marked Letter A) now produced and whichhath a Great Seal hanging to it, and knows the said Seal to behe (.reat Sea of Pensilvania. and hath lookt towards thelatter End of the said Paper-Book. in Page yO. where there i.a Date. viz. (Philadelphia. January 10th 1733-4) And saith thatthe .Names, P. Gordon, I. Norris, S. Preston, J. Ubgan A Ham>ltoi. J. Steel and R. Charles, there set, are th^r .sei-eral p d-"
I.er Hand-wntings, and were so wrote and subscribed bv themrespectively, ,n this Affirmant's Presence. And saith hehasals^looked upon the last Page of the said Book, and is Ive 1 loquainted with tlie several Hand- writings of the said Gonion"Norris. Logan, Hamilton, Steel and Charles, having frequent Ivseen them write, and saith their Names, there subscribll aretheir respective Hand-writings and were wrote and subscribedby theni severally, m this Affirmants Pre-s^u-e. And thaSamuel Preston there also set and subscribed. Lhe Affirmant<.wn Hand writing, ami was by him there subscribed, at thesame time with the rest of the said Subscribers. And s uth the.Name Thomas Gr*me there also subscribed.^s the proper Handwriting of Thomas Gr.iue. who on 20th j/ne 1734 w.r and tstill one of the principal Judges of Pensilvania. and thLn hadoW—

• \ OL. X V .

'
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and still has, Power to administer Oaths to, and take Affirma-

tions from Persons hi Pensilvania aforesaid ; And saith that

the several Names following, viz. J. White, S. Mickle^ J. Rich-

mond, and W. Spafford, there also appearing to be subscribed,

are their several Hand-writings, and were there wrote and sub-

scribed by them respectively, in this Affirmant's Presence.

And saith that on 20th June 1731^ the said Gordon, Hamilton,

and Charles, made Oath, and the said Norris, the Affirmant,

Logan, and Steel, being Quakers, did solemnly affirm to the

Truth of the Affidavit and Affirmation comprized and wrote

in the said last Page of the said Book, before the said Thomas

GrKeme, and in the Presence of the said White, Mickle, Rich-

mond and Spafford and saith the Occasion of the Affidavit and

Affirmation being so made and taken was from an Apprehen-

sion that there would be some Complaint made to the King

and Council, for a Failure in the Execution of the said Articles

of Agreement of 10th May 1732.

Ja7,i€s Logan, [Lib. B. fol. 70. Int. 66. fol 163.]

Proves the same in the self-same Words as Mr. Preston, it

being the Return or Report then made, on 10th January 1733,

and sworn and affirmed to on 20th June, 1734, containing most

minutely the like Account of the Commissioners Proceedings,

in order to have carried the Articles into Execution, as are

now given by them in Detail, upon a fresh Examination in the

Cause as to the Proceedings and Behaviour of the Commission-

ers at every one of the several Meetings from 6th October 1732,

to 24th November 1733.

*James Steel, [Lib. C. fol. 5.59. Int. 66. fol. 565.]

Also proves the same Report in the self-same Words as Mr.

Preston and Mr. Logan.

Andretv Hamilton, [Lib. C. fol. 775. Int. 117. fol. 874.]

Says that the said Report is a true Narrative of the most

material Proceedings of the said (Commissioners. And says

that the Minutes of the several Transactions of the Commis-

sioners which are related and set forth therein were carefully

taken by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, or some of them, at the

Time, or within a Day of the respective Times. on which the said

several Transactions hai)pened. And that the Copies of Papers

at large, set forth, ajid comprized in the said Report, are true

Copies of the several Original Papers which past between the

Commissioners on both sides, of which they purport to be

Copies, and then gives the like Account as the former, of the

making up, signing, swearing, and affirming to that Report,

and the Occasion thereof, as all the other living Commis-

sioners have before done.
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Tho7nas Grceme, [Lib. C. fo/. 6m. hit. 117. fol. 667.]
Proves that all the Commissioners signed their Affidavit, and

respectively swore and affirmed to the same, before him. on
20th June 17S4, and that he was in such Office, and had l^ower
to administer Oaths and Affirmations.

But if there be any Occasion, it is easier to turn to the fresh
Examinations in the Cause.

Samuel Preston., [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 62. fol. 452.]
That he was one of tlie Commissioners appointed by the

PlaintifTs to run and malce the Lines mentioned in the Agree-
uient, and as such, did attend all the Meetings had between
the Plaintiffs and Defendants Commissioners for the Execution
of the said Articles. And says, he never received, directly or
indirectly, from, or on behalf of the Plaintiffs, any Order 'Di-
rection or Instruction or Intimation to retard, evade, frustrate
avoid or impede the Execution of the said Agreement. And
that neither he, nor any other of the PlaintifTs Commissioneivs
to the Knowledge or Beiief of the Affirmant, did, at any time
or in any manner, endeavour to retard, avoid, or frustrate the
Execution of the said Agreement.

James Lo(jan, [Lib. B. fol. 76. Int. 62. Fol. 159.]
Was also one of the PlaintifTs Commissipners for the Purpose

aforesaid, and attended the Execution of the said Commission
three several Times [He means Sessions] at Newcastle and
once at Philadelphia [Note, he being infirm, did not go down
to Newtown, nor yet to Joi)pa. in Maryland] That neither the
Affirmant, or any of the PlaintifTs Commissioners, to his Know-
ledge or Belief, ever did. at any Time, or in anv manner, en-
deavour to retard, avoid, or frustrate the Execution of the said
Commission: nor did he receive directlv or indirectly at anv
Time. from, or on behalf of the PlaintifTs, anv Order, Direction
Instruction or Intimation to retard, delav, evade, avoid frus-
trate, or impede the Execution of the said Commission.

'

Andrew Hnmiltoii, [Lib. C. fol. 775. Int. 62. fol. 776.]
That he was appointed one of the PlaintifTs Commissioners

and attended all the Meetings of the Commissioners that were
held on that Business from time to time (except that on the 3d
of February 1732) That he never received, directlv ^r indirectly
any Order, Direction. Instruction or Intimation from, or on
behalf of the PlaintifTs. or any of them, to retard, evade, avoid
frustrate or impede tiie Execution of the said Commission'
But on the contrary, this Deponent and the rest of the PlaintifTs
Commissioners, were several times, and very frequently, while
the Execution of the said Commission was depending.' desired
and very much pressed, by the Plaintiff Thomas Penn and
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it WHS his constant Instructions to this Deponent and the rest

of the Plaintills (Commissioners, to use all the Dispatch and

Candor they possibly could, to carry the said Agreement into

Execution. Says he never did, in any manner, endeavour, or

do any Act or Thing that he conceived could or would frustrate,

avoid or hinder the Execution of the said Commissions; nor, to

the best of his Knowlege and belief, did any of the rest of the

Plaintififs (Commissioners endeavour or do any thing to frustrate,

avoid or hinder the Execution of the same Commissions.

*Jamen Stevl, [Lib. C. Fol. 559. Jut. 02. Fol. 561.]

That he was appointed one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners,

and did attend on all the Days that the Plaintiffs Mnd Defend-

ant's Commissioners met for that Puri)ose, (except the two last

Days of their meeting) That he never did receive, directly or

indirectly, from or on behalf of the Plaintiffs, any Order. Di-

rection, Instruction, or Intimation to retard, evade, avoid,

frustrate or impede the Execution of the said Commission; and
that, neither he, nor to his Knowledge or Belief any other of

the Plaintiffs, Commissioners, ever did, in any manner endeav-

our to avoid, retard or frustrate the Execution of the said

Commission, but on the contrary, did all that was in their

Powers to execute the same.

Note well.

We never iiad any more than our original seven Commission-

ers: two of which are proved to have been dead, and the third

come for Europe, at the Time we examined our Witnesses, and
we have examined every one of the other four, who concur pre-

cisely in this general Account at all Times whatsoever. On
the other Hand, the Defendant chopt and changed his Com-
missioners till he made his original seven to be ten in Ntimber

;

of those ten he has examined only three; against whom there

are manv Objections also : but as to this present Point, they are

most carefully askt, and as cautiously answer, that they did

not contrive along with the Defendant to nvoid the Agreement
at one particular Time when it was no way possible for them
to have done it, at that Time.

Samvel PreMon, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. (>]. Fol. 453.

J

Says that Samuel Ogle, Charles Calvert, P. Loj'd, M. Howard,
M. T. Wai-d. R. Bennett. Benj. Tasker, E. Jennings, James Har-

ris and John Ross [ten] were the Persons who, at several Times,

appeared and acted as Defendant's (Commissioners. And says

that none of the said several Persons, in the (~)i)inion and Belief

of the Affirmant, did proceed with Fairness, (Candour or Dis-

patch, in the Service mentioned in their riommissions. But, on

the contrary, did shew an Unwillingness and Reluctance to exe-
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cute the Articles of Agreement according to the plain Meaning
of the said Articles, as Wie Affirmant, and. he believes, the rest
of tlie Piaintiffs Commissioners understood them, by using
many Arts and Methods to prevent, frustrate, evade and delay
a fair Execution of the same.

*James ^teel, [Lib. C. Fol. 559. Int. 63. Fol. 563.]
He also names the same ten Persons who appeared and acted

as the Defendant's Commissioners, and says he verily believes
The said Commissioners, or any of them, did not conduct them-
selves with Fairness. Candour or Dispatch in carrying the said
Anicles into Execution; but. as it appeared to tlie Affirmant,
(lid ^hew an Unwillingness and Reluctance to execute the same
acL-ordintrto tlie plain Directions of the same Articles, and also
rhar they the Defendant's Commissioners did use several Arts
and Methods, to delay, prevent and evade the Execution of the
said Articles, and marking the Lines and Bounds therein men-
tioned, pursuant to the true Intent and Meaning of the same
Articles.

James Logau.. [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 63. Fol. 161.]
Names the same ten Perons who appeared and acted as the

Defendant's Commissioners at the Meetings where he was pres-
ent. Says that all the Commissioners on the Part of Maryland
appeared to him to have sub.iected their Conduet. in a very
great measure, if not entirely, to the Direction of the said
Governor Ogle. And it also appeared to this Affirmant, from
the first Time of the Meeting at Newcastle in October, from the
general Conduct of the said Governor Ogle, that he had fully
puri)osed and designed to evade the Execution of the said
Articles.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 109. Fol. 444.]
That the Commissioners of the Plaintiffs and Defendant, to

the best of his Memory, met 25 or 26 Days about the Execution
of the said Agreement of May 1732. The first of which Days was
6th October 1732, and the last 24 November 1733. Says he
verily Vielieves there was sufficient Time, during such their
Meetings, and before 25 December 1733, to have run and
marked out the Circle, and all the Lines directed by the said
Agreement to be run, if no DifTerence, or pretended Difference
in Judgment had arisen amongst the Commissioners; which
running and marking out the said Circle and Lines, theAffirm-
ant says, was not obstructed or hindred by the Non-Attendance
of rile Commissioners, on either Side; but, as it appeared to
the Affirmant from the general Actings and Behaviour of all
the Defendant's Commissioners, was wholly owing to an Un-
willingness in all the Defendant's Commissioners to run or mark
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oat the said Cirele and Lines. And furtlier says that he, from
time to time, always met, with full Intention and Design to

execute the said Agreement, and verily believes, from the gen-

eral Conduct, Actings^ and Behaviour of all the rest the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners that they from time to time, always met
with the same Design and Intention.

Jamts ]jogan, [Lib. B. Fol. 70. Jut. lOfl, Fol 212. ]

Says the like, that there was abundant Time to have run and
markt the Circle and all the Lines, if no Difference, or pretended

Differences in Judgment had arisen amongst the Commission-
ers. And says the running out the Circle and Lines was not

prevented, by Non-Attendance of the Commissioners on either

Side. But was occasioned, as he believes, by the long Adjourn-
ments prest and insisted on by the Defendant's Commission-
ers; owing (in his Opinion) to a formed Resolution on their

Parts to evade the Execution of the Agreement, by any means
but that of failing in their Meetings according to their Adjourn-

ments. He likewise says, that he always had a full Intention

to execute the Agreement. And it was apparent to him, and
he verily believes, from the Actings and general Behaviour of

the rest of the Pensilvania Commissioners, that they met and
acted from time to time, with full Intention to execute the said

Agreement. And it was apparent to him, and he verily believes

from the Actings and general Behaviour of the Maryland Com-
missioners during all the said Meetings he Avas at, (which were

on nineteen of the said Days,) that they did intend to delay

and avoid the Execution of the said Agreement. And the

Reasons for his Belief are that they early alledged they could

not find a Center, and then asserting and insisting that by a

Circle expressly directed to be run at the Distance of 12 English

Miles from Newcastle, was, intended a Circle of less than two
Miles Distance from Newcastle.

Andrew Hamilton, [Lib. C. Fol. 775. Int. 109. >oZ. 779.]

That the Commissioners of the Plaintiffs and Defendant, who
acted in the Execution of the Agreeiuent May 1732, under the

Commissions mentioned in his Answer to the 62d Interroga-

tory, met on that Business on 2(3 several Daj's. The first of

which was the sixth October 1732, at Newtown in Maryland,

and the last on the 24th November 1733, at Newcastle Town,
according to the l)est of this Deponent's Remembrance. And
saith that there was, in his Judgment and Belief, abundantly

more than sufficient Time, during such the said Meetings of the

said Commissioners, and before the 25th Day of December 1733,

to have run and marked out the Circle, and all the Lines di-

rected to be run and markt out, by the said Agreement, if no
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Difference or pretended Difference in Judgment, concerning

tiie same, had arisen amongst the said Commissioners. And
saith Jthat he hath been credibly informed, by Surveyors and

Persons, who are well acquainted with, have been much con-

versant in, such Business, and this Deponent believes it to be

true, that two Months, and a little more, at a proper Season

of the Year, would be sufficient for the running and marking

out the Circle and Lines aforesaid. And saith that running

out of the said Circle and Lines was not prevented by the Non-

Attendance of the said Commissioners, on either Side; and that

the said Commissioners, on either Side, or a Quorum of them,

did not absent themselves, or stay trom any of the said Meet-

ings, beyond the Time of Adjournment, above an Hour or two

at most. That the Reason assigned, by the Defendant's Com-
missioners for their not joining with the Plaintiffs Commis-
sioners in running out the said Circle and Lines was. their not

agreeing with the Plaintiffs Commissioners in their Opinion

or Construction of the Meaning of the said Articles of Agree-

ment of May 1732; but, it was apparent to the Deponent, that

the Unwillingness of the Defendant's Connnissioners to carry

the said Agreement into Execution, was the true Cause or Reason

^why the said (Mrcle and Lines were not run and markt out by

the 25th Day of December 1783. And saith that he is well sat-

isfied that all the Commissioners on the Part of the Plaintiff's,

always met and acted, from time to time, with full Intention to

execute the said Agreement ; and on the contrary, that it was

apparent to him, and he verily believes, from the Tenor of the

Actings, ana general Behaviour of the Commissioners who
acted from time to time on the Part of the Defendant in the

Execution of the said Commission and Articles of Agreement,

never intended to carry the said Agreement into Execution.

And that the Reasons for such this Deponent's Belief therein

are, as follows, viz. That Samuel Ogle Governor of Maryland,

and Patrick Gordon Governor of Pensilvania, having agreed

that the Commissioners on each Side should meet at Newtown
in Kent County in Maryland, on the 6th of October 1732, in

order to carry the said Articles of Agreement into Execution,

tlie said Samuel Ogle. Philemon Lord, Charles Calvert. Michael

Howard, Richard Bennett. Matthew Tilghman Ward Esqs;

Commissioners on the Part of the Defendant; and the said

Patrick Gordon, Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston, this Deponent,

James Steel and Robert Charles, Commissioners on the Part

of the Plaintiffs, met, accordingly, at Newtown aforesaid on
the said 6th of the said October, and agreed to meet airain the

next Day, being the 7th of the said October, at tlie same Place,

and met accordingly on the said 7th Day of October and the
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Articles of Agreement between the Plaintiffs and Defendant's

and the Commission to the before-named Commissioners on the

Part of the Plaintiffs, and also the Commission to the before-

named Commissioners on the Part of the Defendant, being pro-

duced and read, the said Mr. Ogle, on the Part of the Defend-

ant, objected to the V'alidity or Sufficiency of the said Com-

mission from the Plaintiffs to the said Patrick Gordon, Isaac

Norris. Samuel Preston, this Deponent, Robert Charles and

James Steel, and also to James Logan Esq; directed, for want

of proper Persons 'being joined in thegrantingof that Commis-

sion, and shewed an Indorsement, made upon the Defendant's

Parr of the said Articles, which Indorsement was signed, as

this Deponent remembers, with the Names Letitia Aubrey,

William Penn, and others, purporting tlieir Consent and Ap-

probation of the saiil Articles of Agreement, and that they

would do nothing to frustrate or make void the same, or to such

Effect; and therefore, urged that the Persons, signing the said

Indorsement, ought to have joined in granting the said Com-
mission to the said Commissioners on the Part of the Plain-

tiffs, and, for not having so done, the said Commission was not

sufficient to authorise the Plaintiffs Commissioners to carry the

said Articles into Execution; to which it was answered, by the

Plaintiffs Commissioners, that, tho' the Defendant might think

it proper, tor his own Security, or an\ <»tlier Reason, to take

such an Indorsement as aforesaid, from the said Letitia Aubrey

and William Penn, or any others, not being Parties to the

said Articles, it could not affect tlie said Connuission granted

by tlie Plaintiffs; and much being said, by the Defendant's

{;ommissioners, and those on the Part of the Plaintiffs, touch-

ing the said Objection, the said Mr. Ogle said at length, he

would wave the same, for the present; and then, the Commis-

sioners proceeded to consider what was first to be done towards

carrying the said Articles of Agreement into Execution, and

the Plaintiffs Commissioners desiring the said Articles them-

selves might be read, it was said, by the said Mr. Ogle, that

there was no need of having recourse to the Articles, for that

the Commissions on each Side, were the only Authorit>' by which

the Connnissioners could act, and they must pursue the Direc-

tions of the Commissions, as their Guide; but without further

Argument, it was agreed that the Circle, about the Town of

Newcastle, was the first Work enjoined to be done by the said

Commissions, and thereupon the Defendant's Commissioners

proposed to adjourn to the 3Uth of October; to which it was

said, by the said Plaintiffs Connnissioners, that this was the

most proper Season of the Year for running and marking out

Line,s in the Woods, and that they had brought their Artists
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and Surveyors, to run the Lines directed to V)e run. by the saiil

Articles; and therefore proposed, that the Commissioners might
proceed to run the same accordingly; but it being alledged, by

the Defendants' Commissioners, that the publiek Business of

their Province required their Attendance, and that one of their

Artists, on whom they chiefly reived, was sick, therefore, they

insisted they could not attend the Business of running the said

Lines before the said rJOth of October. Whereupon, the Plain-

tiffs Commissioiiers (tho' unwillingly) consented to adjourn

to the said 30th of October, to meet at Newcastle aforesaid.

Then it was moved by the Plaintiffs Commissiouer.s, that a

Minute should be taken of the Meeting of the Commissioner.s

and the Adjournment ; which was opposed l)y the said Mr.

Ogle, who said it would be troublesome to the Commissioners.

The Plaintiffs Commissioners then })ropo.'^ed the introducing of

one Clerk, or more, to take and keep the Minutes of the Com-
missioners Proceedings, but this was also opposed by the De-

fendant's Commissioners, as a Thing unnecessary, and would
occasion great Trouble and Delay in settling such Minutes.

Then, it was said by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that it would
not appear tliat ever the Commissioners had met, upon the

Business mentioned in the said Articles, or that they had ad

journed to any Day; That, therefore, they l)elieved it absolutely

necessary that Clerks should be introduced, as no Persons were

present but the ('ommissioners themselves; but this was abso-

lutely refused by the Defendant's Commissioners as unnecessary,

it was then insisted by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that a

Minute should be taken of the Commissioners Meetings and

Adjournments, and signed by a Commissioner on each Side.

This was long oppo.sed by the Defendant's Commissioners, but,

at last, it was agreed that such a Minute should be made, and

Michael Howard, one of the Defendant's Commissioners, and

Robert Charles, one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, were aj>-

pointed to draw up the .same, which they accordingly did.

And the Commissioners being met, in the Evening of the 7th of

October,at the House of Mr. James Harris, where the said Mr.

Ogle lodged, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners having, before-

hand, desired Mr. David french and 'Mr. James Hamilton, then

at Newtown aforesaid, to be present in the Room with the said

Commissioners, to be Witnesses to the exchanging of the said

Minute, the said Mr. Ogle, seeing the said two Persons in the

Room, asked them whether they were Commissioners? AVhere-

upon they left the Room, believing, as they said, that it was
not agreeable to the said Mr. Ogle, that they should be present.

Then two Minutes of the said Meeting and Adjournment, of the

same Tenor and Date being produced by the said Mr. Howard
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and Mr. Charles, it was desired by the Phiintiffs Coiniiiission-

ers, that the Comuiissioners on each Side might sign the same.

which was refused by the Defendant's Commissioners. Then it

was desired by the Plaintiffs Commissioners that the said Mr.

Howard and Mr. Charles might each of them sign and exchange

the said Minutes. To which the said Mr. Howard made An-

swer, with some Warmth, that he would not sign, for he did

not know but he might be called to England for it. 4nd

further saith, that a Quorum of the Commissioners, on each

Side, met at Newcastle on the said 30th of October, in pursu-

ance of their Adjournment, at the House of Robert Ciordon.

and the Articles of Agreement aforesaid being read, it was ol)-

served, by Samuel Ogle aforesaid, that the Charter for Pensil-

vania, and the Deeds of Feoffment for Newcastle being recited

in the said Articles, he desired the said Charter and Deeds of

Feoffment might Ije produced; To which it was answered by

the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that so much of the said Charter

and Deeds of Feoffment as was necessary for carrying the said

Articles into Execution, being recited in the said Articles,

there was no Need of the said Charter and Deeds themselves,

upon which it was asked by the said Samuel Ogle, and the

Deponent thinks by the said Michael Howard, whether any of

the Plaintiffs Commissioners would give it under their Hand,

for Law, that the Recital of one Deed, in another, was good

Evidence to prove the Deed recited : To which it was answered

by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, to the following Effect, That,

in the present Case, they would do so; for. althcV it was gen-

erally true, that the Recital of one Deed, in another, was not

a Proof of the recited Deed, yet. the present Articles of Agree-

ment, being the joint Act of the contracting Parties, and they

having taken upon them the Knowledge of the Charter and

Deeds so recited. That same Recital was good Evidence to the

said Commissioners, that there were such Charter and Deeds,

and that they were truly recited, and that the said Charter

and Deeds could not be got nigher than Philadelphia, which

would occasion great Delay, that ought to be avoided at that

late Season of the Year; but the Defendant's Commissioners

insisting on a Sight of the said Charter and Deeds, one of the

Plaintiffs Commissioners was dispatched to Philadelphia, who
returning the next Day, the said Charter and Deeds were, then

produced at a Meeting of the Commissioners, held at the same

Place, and the recited Parts of the said Charter and Deeds of

Feoffment being compared, with the Charter itself, and exem-

plified Copies of the said Deeds, they were found to agree.

Then Copies of the said Charter and Deeds of Feoffment were

denmnded bv the Defendant's Commissioners; to which it was
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objected by the Plaintiflfs Commissioners, that the Defendant'h

Comiuissioners tiiemselves, havinj? compared the Parts of the

Charter and Deeds of Feoffment, recited in the said Articles,

witli the said Charter and Deeds, and being found to agree,

there could Ije no Use of Copies of the said Charter and Deeds,

especially seeing they were very long, but to spend Time, and
delay the Business they had met about. And the said Defend-

ant's Commissioners were then put in mind of what the said

Samuel Ogle had said at NeAvtown in Maryland. That the

Commissioners had nothing to do with the Articles, the Com-
mission being their Authority and Direction : But this not

being satisfactory to the Defendant's Commissioners, it was at

last, agreed, that they should have Copies of the Descriptive

Parts of the said Charter and Deeds of Feoffment, which they

accordingly had, signed by some of the Commissioners for Pen-

silvania; It was then offered by the said Samuel Ogle, that he

observed there was no Direction in the said Commissions, for

finding a Center, in order to run the said Circle about the

Town of Newcastle, mentioned in their said Commissions.

Whereupon it was alledged by the Plaintiffs Counnissioners,

That the Commissioners, being impowered and directed by

their said Commissions to run the said Circle, They, therefore,

had Power to do all that was necessary for the running of the

same, and therefore, to fix the said Center. To this it was re-

plied, by the said Samuel Ogle, to the following Effect, That
he had consulted both Lawyers and Mathematicians, and they

were of Opinion that no Circle could be run, without a Center,

and that by their Commissions, they had no Power to fix one.

It was then said by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that in tlie

Map, in the Margin of the said Articles, the Town of Newcastle

was laid down, and a Central Point fixed, within the same
Town, from which the Circle, described in the said Map, ap-

peared to be drawn which according to the said Articles, ought
to be a Direction to the said Commissioners; but, it being

answered by the said Samel Ogle, That the Town of Newcastle,

being large, much depended upon fixing the said Center, fori!

it was placed at the extreme Part of the Town, it might injure

the Lord Baltimore, and if fixed in some other Part it might
injure the Plaintiffs, It was then'urged again, by the Plaintiffs

Commissioners, that the central Point laid down in the said

Map for the middle of the said Town, was the best Direction

the said Commissioners could have, and therefore the said

Plaintiffs Commissioners moved that the Surveyors, attending

might go and measure the said Town, which was objected to by

the Defendant's Commissioners; and then it was proposed by

the said Samuel Ogle, that the Commissioners should take a
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Walk about and view the said Town ; aud the Commissioners
on both Sides, accordingly then walked to several Parts of the

said Town with Surveyors attending them : That upon some of

the Plaintiffs Commissioners offering to shew the Defendant's

Connuissioners the Extent of the said Town, the said Samuel
Ogle neglected and disregarded the said Offer: That, upon a

Meeting of the Commissioners, on the next Day. the said Samuel
Ogle, again said, that he, having consulted Lawyers and Mathe-
maticians, who were of Opinion that they had no Power to

fix the said Center, and he having little Skill in those things

himself, he ought to have a Regard for their Opinions or to

that Effect ; and said, besides. That the said Town, he under-

stood, was an oblong, and not round, and the Bounds also

uncertain. Therefore he knew not how they could make such

a Circle round the same Town; upon this it was offered. I)y

the Plaintiffs C!ommissioners. to remove that objection, that

they should fix the Center at the Court house, in the said Town,
which was not one third of the breadth of the same Town from

the River Side, and therefore (as the Plaintiffs Commissioners
said) it would be much to the Advantage of the Lord Baltimore

:

To which the said Samuel Ogle answered. That they ought to

be careful of the interest of the Plaintiffs, equally with that

of the Lord Baltimore, and added, that some of the Plaintiffs

(Commissioners had said at a former Meeting, that the least

Variation from the Articles would make void what they should

do by Virtue of their C'ommissions : To this Allegation it was
objected, by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that no such Words,
as the least Variation from the Articles, had been used : but

only, that any Variation from the express Words of the

Articles, and the Direction ol the Commissions, might render

void and ineffectual what they should do in pursuance of the

same. But there being no express Directions, either in the said

Articles or Connuissions. for fixing the said Center, and the

Circle being directed to be run. therefore, the said Plaintiffs

Commissionei's conceived that sufficient Power was given to

the Connuissioners to fix the said Center; and as the said

Center. pronose«l. was for the Advantage of the Defendant,

there could be no Ai)prehensions of his complaining, and tlie

Commissioners on the Part of Pensilvania proposed that they

would procure an Assurance from one of their Proprietors of

his acquiescing in such Center, so to be fixed ; but upon this,

the said Mr. Ogle said, we may. therel)y. injure some other

People who have Freeholds liordering upon the Circle, w'her

ever it should fall : To this it was said by the Plaintiffs Com
missioners. That the Commissioners fixing a C^-nter could injure

such other Persons no more than if such Center was fixed bv the
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Plaintiffs and Defendant themselves, who nobody denied,

had the Riglit of doing so; upon which Mr. Ogle said, let us

wave the Center, for the present, and talk a little about the

Circle. To which, it was answered by the Plaintiffs Conimis-

ioners, that it would be to no Purpose to talk about the Circle,

till they had agreed UDon the ('enter, since it was admitted

that no Circle could be run without a Center; but Mr. Ogle

proceeded to ask the Plaintills Commissioners what they un-

derstood were the Dimensions of the (Jircle, then proposed to

be run? To which the PlaintifTs Connnissioners answered, that

they understood the Circle, uientioned in the .said Articles and

their (-ommission, to be a Circle of 12 Miles Distance from the

Town of Newcastle, Whereu])on Mr. Ogle said that tlie Circle

which the Commissioners were enjoined to run, was the Circle

mentioned in the Deeds of Feoffment of the Town of Newcastle,

which Circle, was, as he conceived, a Circle whose Circumfer-

ence was only 12 Miles, and much more was said by the Defend-

ant's Commissioners to the same Purpose; but the Plaintiffs

Commissioners insisting that the Articles of Agreement, being

plain, would admit of no Construction, different from the ex-

press Words, which Words were (a Circle at the Distance of 12

English Statute Miles from th Town of Newcastle. ) Upon this

Mr. Ogle asked the Plaintiffs Commissioners, how they con-

ceived a Circle of those Dimensions, could be run in the Woods?
And said that for his Part, he thought it impracticable. To
which the Plaintiffs Commissioners answered, that, if that was

the Opinion of the Defendant's Commissioners, then they the

Plaintiffs Commissioners understood them very well, that the

said Articles were not to be carried into Execution at all; and

much Time being spent in Debates upon this Subject, it was

at last proposed by Governor Ogle, That as the Commissioners

on each Side, differed so much in Opinion and the Lord Balti-

more being, soon expected in his Province of Maryland, that

they should adjourn, in order to have his Lordship's Directions

for the fixing of a Center; but this was opposed by the Com-
missioners on the Part of Pensilvania, who said that the Season

of the Year for running Lines in the Woods was far advanced,

that they had l)rought their Artists with them, expecting to

proceed upon the Work, as they had done at their first Meeting

at Newtown, and that it was well known to every body, that

after the 10th or 20th of December, the Weather was too severe,

for any Persons to go and continue running Lines in the Woods,

for any long Time as the Persons who were to do this Work
would be obliged to do; and therefore an Adjournment would

be very inconvenient; but the Commissioners of Maryland in-

sisted, that they knew no more likely Way to forward the Work
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then before them, than tirst to receive the Lord Baltimore's

Directions for the finding a Center, which they conceived they

had no Power to do themselves; upon this, the Plaintiffs Com-

missioners took some small Time to consider of the proposed

Adjournment, and in few Hours, the Commissioners of each

Side met again, and it was said by the Plaintiffs Commissioners

that they could not agree to any Adjournment, till the Defend-

ant's Commissioners had named the Day, and if it was a short

Adjournment, probably that the Plaintiffs Commissioners

would agree to it; and much being said upon this Subject, the

Commissioners of Maryland, at last mentioned the first of Feb-

ruary, which the Plaintiffs Commissioners desired time to con-

sider of; and then, they observed to the Defendant's Commis-

sioners, that as there had been no Minutes taken of the Pro-

ceedings that had passed amongst them, and that tho' the Busi-

ness which they were upon, was of a publick Nature, yet Clerks

had been refused to be introduced, and no Persons admitted to

hear, or be privy to, any of their Debates, they again insisted

upon having Clerks introduced, and Minutes taken of their

Proceedings, which they conceived absolutely necessary, that

it might appear they had met upon the Business which they

were impowered to transact by virtue of their Commissions;

but this was, again, absolutely refused ijy the Defendant's

Counuissioners, as unnecessary, saying that great Confusion

and Trouble would arise l)y the Clerks di.-Tering in their manner

of taking such Minutes, and Mr. Ogle likewise then said, that

they would own before any Body, they had met on this Busi-

ness; to which the Plaintiffs Commissioners replied, that there

would be no Misunderstanding, or Differences of that kind,

amongst the Clerks, as they would be present with, and under

the Directions of the Commissioners; but not being able to

obtain the Consent of the Defendant's Commissioners to have

Clerks, or any other Person present at their Meetings, they

took Time to consider of the Adjournment, till next Day; and,

in the mean time. havii:g observed amongst themselves, with

great Concern, the Arts and Methods used by the Defendant's

Commissioners to evade and delay the Execution of the said

Articles, and their affecting so much Secrecy, at their Meetings,

so as to admit no Persons to be present Vjesides the Commis-

sioners, it was resolved, amongst the Plaintiffs Commissioners,

that a Paper should be drawn up (from the Minutes kept by

the Plaintiffs Commissioners) of the several Transactions of the

Commissioners from their first Meeting, to be read at the next

Meeting of the Commissioners on both sides, and the same was

draAvn up, accordingly, and read to the Defendant's Commis-

sioners the next Day; and at the same Time it was desired that
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they would make their Objections, if tliey had any against the
Truth of it; To which Mr. Ogle said, that the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners might keep what Minutes they pleased, but if he
had had the drawing up of that Paper, he could have set the
Arguments of the said Defendant's Commissioners in a fairer

Light; and then, one of the Defendant's Commissioners pro-

duced a Paper, which was said to be some Minutes kept l>y them,
and read the same, purporting that the Commissioners on both
sides had met at Newcastle, in order to execute the Articles, or

run the Circle, but, DiflBcultys arising, they had agreed to ad-
journ; but the Plaintiffs Commissioners objected to this as

being very unsatisfactory, and far from containing what had
passed between the Commissioners, raid the Reasons of their

Adjournment; Upon which Mr. Ogle pulled out a Paper, and
after reading the same, said. Gentlemen, What do you think
of that? Which Paper was to the Effect following, viz. That
the Plaintiffs Commissioners, or some of them, had declared

it for Law, that the Recital of the Charter for Pensilvania and
the Deeds of Feoffment, in the Articles, tho' false, yet were
conclusive to the Parties? To which it was answered by the
Plaintiffs Commissioners, that no such Words had been used
l)y them, or any of them; for that they could not suppose that
the Parties to the said Articles, (who were so largely interested

and concerned in the Consequence) would make any false Reci-

tals therein, which must be so much to the Prejudice of one, or
the other, of them ; and then appealed to the others of the Mary-
land Commissioners, whether the Words used by the Plaintiffs

Commissioners were not to the following purport, viz. That the
Recitals of one Deed, in another, is not generally, any Evidence
of the Deeds recited, but that, in the present Case, as the Ar-
ticles of Agreement were the Act of both contracting Parties,

we must presume that there were such Deeds, and that they
were truly recited, and that the Commissioners are to be con
eluded by them; which the other Maryland Commissioners
seeming to allow, the said Mr. Ogle put up the said Paper into
his Pocket again, without saying any more; and then, in Con-
fidence of Lord Baltimore's Honour, and in hopes that he
would give Directions to his Commissioners to proceed in the
Execution of the said Articles, the Plaintiffs Commissioner^
agreed to the Adjournment to the 1st of February following, at

Newcastle Town aforesaid. That a Quorum of the Commis-
sioners met at Newcastle, on the 1st of February 1732, and some of

the Defendant's Commissioners being arrived in the said Town
the Day before, the Plaintiffs Commissioners having set out
early in the niorning.arrived late at Night ; that the said Samuel
Ogle acquainted the Plaintiffs Commissioners with the great
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care the Defendant's CommisBioners had taken to eonie early,

notwithstanding the great Distance, and the Rigour ut the

Saason; but you, (ientlemen, (speaking to the Plaintiff^ Com-

missioners) seem to be fatigued with coming 40 MUe^ only;

and therefore let us adjourn to To morrow Morning; to which

it was answered, by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that, unless

we meet now, Avith a better Disposition to do Business than

formerly, a small Part of an Afternoon will be no great Loss.

That when the Commissioners met the next Day, the said

Samuel Ogle acquainted the Plaintiff's Commissioners, that

they were now met to proceed upon Business, and the Thing that

was before them was the Circle, about the Town of Newcastle,

and that he would be glad to know what the Plaintiff's Coh)-

missioners thought of the Dimensions of that Circle, or Words

to that Effect? To which it was answered by the Plaintiffs

Commissioners, that the Defendant's Commissioners could not

forget that the Reason of their former long Adjournment was

that they the Maryland Commissioners according to their own

Request, might have an Opportunity, upon their Lord's Arrival,

to receive Directions for fixing a Center of the said Circle, and

carrying the said Articles into Execution. To which the said

Samuel Ogle replied. That Lord Baltimore had delegated his

Power to his Commissioners to carry the said Articles into Exe-

cution, and therefore, he would not interfere; and thereupon,

ensued long Debates, concerning the Dimensions of the Circle;

the Defendant's Commissioners insisting that the Circle, in-

tended to be run, was the Circle mentioned in the Deed of

Feoffment for the Town of Newcastle, whose Diameter was

something less than four Miles; and the Plaintiffs Commission-

ers insisted that the Circle to be run. was the Circle mentioned

in the Articles of Agreement and the Commissions, of the said

Commissioners, which was a Circle to be run at the Distance

of 12 English Statute Miles from the Town of Newcastle afore-

said. That' after many Debates upon that Subject, it was pro-

posed by the Defendant's Commissioners, that the Commission-

ers on both sides, should take the Opinion of Mathematicians,

concerning the Dimensions of the said Circle; to which it was

said, by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, that the Words of the

Articles and Commissions being express and plain, there could

be no Use for the Judgment of Mathematicians upon the Sub-

ject; and as the said Samuel Ogle had formerly objected against

any Variation, when the Subject of the Center was dei)ate(l.

even tho' there were no express Directions in, that Case, it would

be much more dangerous to depart from a plain and positive

Description and Direction in the present Case ; but the Defend-

ant's Commissioners insisting, still, upon taking the Opinions
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of Mathematicians, upon the Dimensions of the Circle, they
were desired, by the Plaintiffs Commissioners to reduce their
Question to writing, which they long refused to do; but at last

stated the Question, concerning the Dimensions of the Circle,

upon the Words of the Deed of Feoffment; and it being re-

quested that some of the Defendant's Commissioaers should
sign the said Question, they repeatedly refused so to do; upon
this, some of the Plaintiffs Commissioners considering that, as

no Clerks had been introduced, nor any Persons admitted to be
present at the said Debates and remembering that none of the
Commissioners at Newtown would sign the Minute of Adjourn-
ment they therefore,did believe that all this was done with in-

tent that, there should be no Evidence of what had passed among
the Commissioners concerning the Execution of the said Arti-

cles; and the Plaintiffs Commissioners considering the Impro-
prietyof their being made use of as Witnesses against their Fel-

low Commissioners for the Defendant, they, therefore, insisted

that, at the Time they gave this Answer, to the Question stated

by the Defendant's Commissioners, the Mathematicians should
be present, to support their own opinions, if needful, which was
long opposed by the Defendant's Commissioners, but the Plain-
tiffs Commissioners insisting on it, that no Answer should be
given to the said Question, unless they might have the Mathe-
maticians present, it was. at length agreed to, by the Defend-
ant's Commissioners and it being late at Night, the Commis-
sioners adjourned, some of them saying to ten, others eleven of

the Clock the next Day. That th? Commissioners of the Plain-
tiffs meeting afterwards, that Night, agreed to reduce to writ-

ing what they had to say in Answer to the said Question, a

rough Draft was prepared, by one of the Clock next Morning.
That the same Morning, being cold, and the Person employ'd
to draw the said Answer being indisposed, it required some
considerable Time for the Plaintiffs Commissioners to examine
and approve of it. which being done, with all the Expedition
they could, two Persons were employed to copy it, whilst the
Dei)onent dictated to thenr, and this with a Design to read and
deliver one Copy to the Defendant's Commissioners at the
Meeting of the Connnissioners in the Presence of the Mathema-
ticians, and the other to be kept and Witnessed by the Mathe-
maticians proposed to be present. That whilst the said Answer
was copying, three of the Plaintiffs Commissioners were sent,

to meet the Defendant's Commissioners in the Court-House,
the usual place of Meeting: but in transcribing the rouern Draft
of the same Answer, there was occasion for a Sight of the said

Articles of Agreement, and one John (Georges was sent. f«)r

40—Vol. XV.
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them, to James Steel, one of the said three Commissioners who
had the Custody of them : who left the Commissioners that had

met, and l)rought the said Articles to the /Commissioners that

were preparing the said Copies; and the Drafts of the said

Answer being near finished, the said James Steel staid until

they should be finished, that the other two Commissioners

might go, with him. on his Return; and just when the said

Copies were finished and examined, and the two Commission

ers and Mathematicians were ready to go to meet the Defend

ant's Commissioners, Isaac Norris and Samuel Preston came into

the Room to thii* Deponent, and said, that the said Samuel

Ogle had complain'd of his Waiting so long for a Quorum of

the Plaintiffs Commissioners beyond the Hour of Adjournment,

and had left the Place of Meeting; which occasioned great

Concern in all the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and some of their

Number were directed to wait on (rovernor Ogle, and the Other

Commissioners of the Defendant's and acquaint them, that the

Non-Attendance of the Plaintiffs said Commissioners at the

precise Hour, did not proceed from any want of respect to the

Defendant's Commissioners, or from any unwillingness to attend

at the Hour appointed, but meerly from an Accident, and to

request the said Defendant's Commissioners to resort to the

Court-House their usual Place of Meeting, and the Plaintiffs

Commissioners would gladly wait on them. That the Person,

who was directed to wait on the said Commissioners after De-

parture, returned and said that he had acquainted the said

Governor Ogle accordingly, and that he replied he must con-

sider of it. That this Deponent has heard and believes, that

all the Commissioners on both sides (except this Deponent who
was indisposed) dined together on that Day. That the Defend-

ant's Commissioners after Dinner repaired to the House in the

said Town where Grovernor Ogle Lodged. That the Plaintiffs

Commissioners meeting together, agreed to wait upon the De-

fendant's Commissioners at Mr. Ogle's Lodgings, to excuse

their Non Attendance in the Forenoon, at the Hour appointed,

and to request them to meet the Plaintiffs Commissioners at

the Conrt-House that Afternoon, and four of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners went accordingly, and the Deponent followed,

as soon as he could get into his Chaise; That, upon the De-

jKment's coming to the said Mr. Ogle's Lodgings, where the

said Mr. Ogle, Mr. Charles Calvert, and Mr. Edmund Jennings,

three of the Defendant's Commissioners, were in company

with Isaac Norris, Samuel Preston. James Steel, and Robert

Charles, four of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and the said

John Ofeorges, the said Mr. Edmund Jennings, upon the De-

ponant's coming in, left the Room, and the said Mr. Ogle said



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 62:

he was very sorry to see this Deponent so lame, and aske<l him
to sit down; that the Deponent expressed his Concern that his
Indisposition had given any Disappointment to tlie Meeting
of the (Commissioners that Morning; to which the said Mr Ogle
replied. That he had been very unwilling to give this Deponent
any uneasiness, and had offered to come to this Deponent's
Lodging, which the other of the Plaintiffs Commissioners had
declined. That then, the Deponent said, that the considerin<^
and framing an Answer to the Question put by the Defendant's
Commissioners the Night before, with this Deponent's Indis-
position, and the Lamene.ss of one of the Mathematicians had
prevented the Plaintiffs Commissioners Attendance at the
Time appointed, but that they had provided an Answer such
as It was, to their Question, which he might see. if he would
and thereupon, this Deponent received from the Hand of the
said John Georges, one fair Copy of the said Answer signed
by five of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, and delivered the same
to the said Mr. Ogle, who looking upon the Beginning and End
of it, offered to return it to the Deoonent, who said that that
was designed for him, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners had
another of the same. Whereupon, the said Mr. Ogle laid the
same down upon a Chair, by him. That then the Deponent
proceeded to acquaint the said Mr. Ogle, and Mr. Calvert (tlie
said Jennings having left the Room, as this Deponent verilv
believes, that there might not be a Quorum of the Defendanf's
Commissioners present with the Plaintiffs (Jommissioners) with
the Sentiments and Desires of the Pensilvania Commissioners
and that they believed themselves hardly used in having ai'i
Attempt made to break off the Meetings oi the Commissioners
because the Plaintiffs Commissioners had delaved meeting aii
Hour, or an Hour and an half, beyond the Time adjourned to
That the Plaintiffs Commissioners had waited as long fur the
Defendant's Commissioners, the Day before, who appeared tohave nothing to do, but to walk about in the Room, and that
without the least complaining.and therefore thev were in hopes
that that might excuse their Absence that Morning and hoped
that the Defendant's Commissioners would now meet them to
proceed upon the Business before them; to which tlie said Mr
Ogle replied, That, if they had got any Advantage to the Lord
Baltimore by the Failure of the Plaintiffs Commissioners -he
could not answer to give it up. That the Lord Baltimore
might do what he would, but he questioned, whether he the
said Samuel Ogle liad it in his Power to forego that Advanta-e
or Words to that Effect. Upon which, the Deponent said, that
he was well assured that the same was no such Failure in the
Pensilvania Commissioners, by which any Forfeiture could
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arise to the Lord Baltimore, and that in the Execution of

Commissioms wherein more Form and Strictness were required

than in this, the Failure of an Hour or two, if there was an

offer to meet within the Day, had not been Judfred such a Fault

as to determine the Commission; and that he this Deponent

was sure the Defendant's Commissioners would not rely on the

said Failure, and again jointly with the other of the Plaintiffs

Commissioners invited the said Governor Ogle and the said Mr.

Calvert to meet the Plaintiffs Commissioners with the rest of

the Defendant's Connnissioners, at the Court-House aforesaid,

when the Plaintiffs Commissioners would be ready to wait for

them. But Mr. Ogle said there is not a Quorum of our Com-

missioners here; that he was no Lawyer, and was not used to

speak upon such Points, and continued in his former Opinion,

that if his Lordship had gained any Advantage by the Plain-

tiffs Commissioners Default, he could not answer it to him to

give it up, or Words to that Effect; upon this Deponent said,

that, considering the former Conduct of the Defendant's Com-

missioners, it was no surprize to him to find them so ready to

break off the Execution of the Articles, upon any pretence,

how small soever, and thereupon left th.e Room with the other

Pensilvania (Jommissioners, who going together to their own
Lodgings, agreed that Notice should be given to the Maryland

Commissioners, to meet them at the usual Place at sixo'Clock

that Evening, which this Deponent had heard and verily believes

were served upon a t^uorum of the Defendant's Commissioners,

but tho' the Plaintiffs Commissioners did accordingly attend,

yet, none of the Defendants' Commissioners met them; and

thereupon the Plaintiffs (Commissioners caused other Notices

to be served, upon a Quorum of the Defendant's Commissioners

(as this Deponent has heard and believes) to meet the Plaintiffs

Connnissioners on the Monday Morning following, and the

Plaintiffs (Jonnuissioners accordingly attended, on the said

Monday Morning, but none of the said Defendant's Commis-

sionres met them, they being set out from Newcastle aforesaid

the Day before, on their Journey back to Maryland. And the

Deponent further saith that, soon after this, the said Governor

Gordon laid before the Pensilvania Commissioners, a Letter

which he had received from the Lord Baltimore, complaining

of the Conduct ot the Pensilvania Commissioners, and therein

(reserving to himself any Advantage he might have gained by

this Failure) gave them Notice to meet his Commissioners at

Joppa in Maryland, on the 7th of May then next following;

and thereupon the Pensilvania Commissioners upon perusing

tht^ said Letter, being of Opinion that the Lord Baltimore by

the said Articles or Agreement had no power to give such Notice,
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immediately dispatched a Messenger, virha Notice to his Com-misMoners. date<l 28th March 1733. to meet them at the Town of

o m of the Defendant's Commissioners, as this Deponent verilv
bel.eves And the Deponent saith that, upon the Return oVthe sa.,1 Messenger the Pensilvania (Commissioners receivedNotice rom the Maryland Commissioners, to meet them atJoppa aforesaid on the said 7th of May; that a Quorum of thePensilvania Comiuissioners attended at Newcastle, on the said
16th Day ot April, in pursuance of their Notice given to theDefendant s Conunissioners. but the Defendant's Commissionersdd not meet them. And the Deponent further saith that,afterwards, hve of the Plaintiffs Commissioners went, and mea Quorum of the Defendant's Commissioners at Joppa afore-
said, on the said 7th of May; that the Commissioners beingmet and Mr. Ogle taking Notice there was a Gentleman in theRoom besides the Commissioners, Mr. Jennings said, perhapshe IS a Commissioner; to which the Deponent made Answer othe following Eflfect. That the said Person was not a Commis-
sioner but a Gentleman of Worth, who had accompanied the
Flaintiflfs Commissioners down thither; That the Business thevwere met about was of a publick Nature, and that, as the Con-duct of the Plaintiflfs Commissioners at Newcastle, had beenmuch misrepresented, and they liad been refused Clerks oranv
Person to be present at their Meetings, thev insisted thlt thatGentleman should continue in the Room; to which Governor
Olge replied, that he had said formerlv, that Clerks were un-
necessary, and was of the same Opinion still, but had not
refused to admit other Persons to be present at their Meet-
ings: Upon which, he was put in mmd by the Pensilvania
Commissioners of his C^onduct at Newtown, where he declined
exchanging the Minutes of Adjournment, till David French an.lJames Hamilton, wlio were introduced as Witnesses had left
the Room, as herein before set forth and then the 'said Mr
Ogle said, if this Gentleman stays in the Room, we desirewe may have one too: to which it was answered bv the Penvi]
vania Commissioners, With all our hearts, twentv if vou please-Whereupon one John Beale. a Clerk of some CouVt in Marvlandwas called in by the Defendant's Commissioners. And* then
the said Mr. Ogle begining to speak about the Opinion of the
Mathematicians, concerning the Circle to be run about theTown of Newcastle, the Cmmissioners of Pensilvania recounted
the former Conduct of the Defendant's Commissioners andhow they had disregarded their last Notice to meet .-it New
eastle the said 16th of April, and the several Notices given them
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in Newcastle, in the Month of February to meet at the Court-

House in the said Town, and especially when Mr. Jennings,

being in Company with two of the Maryland Commissioners

and four of the Pensilvania Commissioners, left the Room Avith

intent that there might not be a Quorum of the Maryland Com-

missioners present, with the Pensilvania Commissioners; upon

which the said Mr. Jennings then interrupted the Pensil-

vania Commissioners, and said he own'd he had done so, and

that in the same Circumstance, he would do so again; and then

it was said by the Pensilvania Commissioners, that Misunder-

standing had formerly arisen about what passed at their several

Meetings, they therefore now insisted that the Defendant's

Commissioners should reduce into Writing any Questions,

l»roposals or Arguments they had to offer, and to sign them,

and that they the said Pensilvania Commissioners would do

the like, and thereupon several Papers were exchanged between

the Plaintiff's and Defendant's Commissioners, concerning the

Dimensions of the Circle directed to be run about the Town of

Newcastle pursuant to the said Articles of Agreement, and

after much Time spent this way, it was proposed by the Mary-

land Commissioners, that they should iunnediately adjourn to

Cape Hinlopen,to which the Pensilvania Commissioners agreed,

saying they would set out the next Morning, and desired that

a Minute might be made to that purpose; but then the said

Mr. Ogle said, that by immediately he did not mean to go .so

soon, but that they would b3 ready to meet the Plaintiffs Com-
missioners there in a Fortnight; To this the Plaintiff's Com-
missioners said, they could not but think themselves very

hardly used in being brought upwards of 100 Miles, into a Place

where they could not be provided with Necessaries for their

support, merely to be told that they must meet a Fortnight

after, at another Place, which was alwve 100 Miles further ; nor

did they think the said Usage better in the Defendant's Com-
missioners proposing an immediate Adjournment to Cape Hin-

lopen, and then declining to stand to it, which the Plaintiff's

Commissioners believed was proposed only in Expectation that

the Plaintiffs Commissioners would refuse to agree to it. And
the Deponent saith that he does likewise believe, that the De-

fendant's Commissioners so appointing the said Meeting at

.Joppa, was only in hopes that the Plaintiffs Commissioners

would not meet them there, and thereby the Defendant would
gain some Advantage: and after many Del)ates concerning the

further Adjournment, and the Defendant's Commissioners al-

ledging that they were ol>liged to wait upon the Ijord Balti-

more, who was on his Way to make a Visit to the CTOvernor of

New York, then at Hurlingtou in New .Jersey, and therefore
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thej- must adjourn, a Minute was drawn up, assigning: for Cause
of their Adjournment that the Defendant's Commissioners were
obliged to wait upon tiie Lord Baltimore; but it was objected

to by the Defendants Commissioners, as unnecessary to have
the Reason of their Adjournment assigned in the Minute. yet, it

was insisted upon by the Plaintiffs Commissioners, thatastliat
was assigned by the Defendant's Commissioneisas The true rea-

son of their desiring an Adjournmeiit.it ought to be inserted in

the Minute. And the only Reason the Plaintiffs Connuissioners
could find why the Defendant's Commissioners should oppose
it, was, lest it should appear they had sent for tlie Plaintiffs

Commissioners only to tell them that they met, to adjourn
from .Joppa, to attend their Lord; That under this Diflereuc-e,

the Commissioners on each side continued together till Eleven
of the Clock at Night, and the Plaintiffs Commissioners observ-

ing that the Defendant's Commissioners must wait upon their

Lord Proprietor, they, at length, agreed to leave the Reason
aforesaid out of the saidMinute, and then the Minute was pre-

pared for an Adjournment to Philadelphia, and was signed the

next Morning; That Quorums of the Commissioners, on each
side, did afterwards meet at Philadelphia aforesaid on the 2Gth

Day of May next following, when it was represented to the

Defendant's Commissioners, that the Lord Baltfmore being
about to depart very soon after for England, and some of the
Defendant's (Jonnnissioners intending to accompany his Lord-
ship to Virginia, from whence he was to take his Departure,
and that the said Mr, Ogle, on resuming the Government of

Maryland was obliged to renew his Security, which was to be
executed before the Governor of Virginia, which required the

said Mr. Ogle's personal Attendance, upon tho.se Considerations,

joined to that of the Unfitness of the Season for running Lines
in the Woods, an Adjournment to the ;^d of September following,

at Newcastle Town aforesaid, was agreed to and drawn up, and
signed by the Connuissioners on both sides; That Quorums of

the Plaintiffs and Defendant's Commissioners met at Newcastle
Town, on the said 3d Day of September, and continuetl together

three Days, during which Time several Papers were exchanged
between them, concerning the Dimensions of the said Circle, the
Plaintiffs Commissioners insisting that the said Circle should
l)e drawn at the Distance of 12 Miles from the Town of New-
castle, and the Defendant's Commissioners persisting in their

former declared Opinion, that the said ('ircle should only l)e a
Circle of 12 Miles Circniiiference : They therefore proposed to

the Plaintiffs Commissioners to adjourn for further Considera
tion, until the 14tli of Noveml>er then next, and a Minute thereof

was accordingly drawn up and signed ; ( )n which D«.y a Quorum
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of the Commissioners, on eaeli side, met at Newcastle Town
aforesaid, and continued together until the 24th Day of the
same Month, during which time several Papers were exchanged
between them, {)rincipally concerning the Dimensions of the
said Circle; and the Commissioners on each side persisting in

their former Opinions concerning the same, it was said by the
Defendant's Commissioners, that, under this Difierence of

Opinion or Judgment, they must either continue at Newcastle
aforesaid until the 25th of December then next, or must depart
from thence without further Adjournment, and a Minute was
accordingly drawn up, declaring the Sentiments of the Com-
missioners on eacli side, and the Reasons of their Departure
without further Adjournment; Therefore this Deponent saith,

that the groundless Objections, which were raised by the De-
fendant's Commissioners against the Validity of the Plaintiffs

Commission to their Commissioners, their affecting Privacy,

and refusing to admit Clerks, or to sign and exchange Minutes
of the Proceedings of the Commissioners, their long Adjourn-
ment, without any good Reasons for the same ; their endeavour-
ing to take the Advantage of a small Failure in the Plaintifls

Commissioners for Non-attendance; their disregarding the re-

peated Notices and Requests, made to them by the Plaintifls

Commissioners at Newcastle on the 8d of February, and the

Notices given to them to meet upon the 16th of April; together
with their setting up, and insisting upon, a Circle of Dimen-
sions, different from that which was expressly directed by the
said Articles of Agreement, and the several other Matters herein

before declared by this Deponent, are the apparent Causes and
the true Reasons, why the Deponent believes the Defendant's
Commissioners never intended to carry the said Articles of

Agreement into Execution.

21ST BRANCH. That the Circle, and the Distance of it, were
well known at the Time of the Agreement. That Lord Bal-

timore's own Map had many particular Marks and Lines
relating to that very Circle; That he had above 8 Years
before that Time the largest Draft of the Peninsula, that had
ever been seen, with several East and West Lines markt for

Division thereon; That the Plaintiffs had never been in

America, to gain any Knowledge on their Parts; and also

to prove an old Map of the Town of Newcastle.

Ferdinando John Paris, [IJh. A. fol. 195. Int. 18. fol. 2(is.
J

Says that the Circle, round Newcastle, and the Distance that
such Circle was to be from its Centre, were, at sundry of the
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Meetings, had in tliis-Deponent's Presence, between all(orsoine)
of the Plaintiffs and the Defendant, in order to the said Agree-
ment, spolien of and mentioned, many times; and were by every
one of them, who spoke of the same, constantly spoke of. and
treated as a Circle to be drawn at the Distance of 13 Miles froui

the Centre, and at no other Distance whatever; but that a
C^uestion did afterwartls arise, whether such 12 Miles should I.e

(Teotrraphical Miles. or English statute Miles ; and the Deponent
hath good reason to remember, that neither the Defendant, nor
the piaintiHs, did. at any one of the Meeetings between them in

order to the said Agreement, which the Deponent was present
at (and he believes he was present at all such Meetings) ever
mention that the said Circle should i)e at four Miles, or at two
Miles Distance from Newcastle, or anything of that sort, but,
on the contrary, The Defendant the Lord Baltimore, himself,
spoke of the said Circle at such Meetings, as at the Distance of

12 Miles from its Center; and more particularly, upon the Occa-
sion of his insisting that the Head or North Bounds of his
Province of Maryland, should go up .so far North, as to be
within 15 Miles South of the Latitude of Philadelphia, the
Deponent well remembers that the Plaintiffs (or such of them
as were then present) and the Defendant appeared to be all at
a loss. t() judge, upon their Maps (then produced on each side)

whereabout such fifteen Miles would fall upon the Map, there
not being any Scale of Miles either upon the said Lord Balti-
more's, or upon the Plaintiffs written Map : On which Occasion,
the Lord Baltimore, with a Pair of Compasses, measured one
of the said written Maps, and took his Scale or Measure (as for

12 Miles) from the Distance which was there laid down between
Newcastle arid the Circle, or Part of a Circle there drawn; and
from such Measure, set off a larger Distance, as for 15 Miles,
South of Philadelphia, at which Distance, he had insisted, his
Head or Northei-ii Boundary should be, and markt one of the
said written Maps accordingly; and which Uncertainty as to
the exact Place, where lo Miles Soutli of Philadelphia would
fall, or of the Name of any such Place, occasioned the Depon-
ent, on preparing The 7th Article, in the Draft of the said Arti-
cles of Agreement, to express the same to some such Effect as is

therein mentioned. And the Deponent is the rather certain,
that during the said several Meetings in order to the said
Treaty, which the Deponent was present at, the said Circle
was never once mentioned. l)y any Person, as a Circle at two
Miles Distance from NcAvcastle only, for that, along time after
the Sealing and Delivery of the said Articles of Agreement,
when the Dei)onent first heard that the said Articles of Agree-
ment had not been carried into Execution in America, but.
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that a Contest had arose there between the Commissioners on

each side, whether tlie Circle should be two Miles distant, or

12 Miles distant, from Newcastle, this Deponent was under a

real Surprise thereat, and had recourse to the Draft of the said

Articles, and to one engrost Part of the same, then in this.

Deponent's Custody, fearing that some Mistake of the Clerk, in

copying or engrossing, or by expressing the Distance in Figures

only, and not in Words at length, must have given Room
for making such a Question as that ; And this Deponent, find-

ing no Mistake either in the Draft or in that engrost Part

of the Articles which was in this Deponent's Custody, could

not (in a great length of time after he first heard of such con-

test between the Commissioners) conceive upon what Founda-

tion such a (Question could be raised.

Tlte same. [Int. 19. fol. 276.]

Says that the Western Part of the Circle, as it was drawn

out upon the Lord Baltimore's and upon the Plaintiflfs written

Maps, which were so produced as aforesaid, did extend West-

wards, very near to, or even to touch Elk River, and so the same

was graven and printed ofT, but whether a Circle to be drawn

only at 12 Statute Miles Distance from Newcastle, will reallt ex-

tend so far Westwards, doth not know ; And saith that, from all

this Deponent knows, or hath seen, he doth believe that the

Defendant had the fullest Information relating to the said

Circle, and the Dimensions thereof: for that the Deponent

hath, before, and since, the entring into the said Agreement

l)etwen the Parties to this Cause, seen many Drafts and Plans,

where the Circle about Newcastle was laid down, but as to the

Extent and Distance of such Circle from Newcastle, there were

either on the Back -side of the written Map so produced and

markt by the Lord Baltimore as aforesaid, or on some Paper,

which was then stitched or pinned, or some how afBxt to it,

such and so many particular Lines and Marks, and Notes and

Descriptions, relating to the said Circle, as the Deponent, never

before, or since, saw, in any other Map or Paper whatever,

either l>elonging to the Plaintiffs, or any other Person; from

whence, as well as from the Expressions in the Draft of the

said Articles of Agreement, and from the said Mr. Senex's

written Opinion upon the same, the Deponent apprehends and

believes, none of the Parties to this Cause, and much less the

Defendant, were at all ignorant of, or under any Uncertainty,

tlien about the Dimensions of the said Circle, but were well

informed of the same, that it was to beat twelve Miles Distance

from Newcastle. i)esides which, in the Draft of the said Articles

of Agreement there was recited the Charter from the Crown,
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of Pensilvania, and the two Feofifments from the Duke of York,
for Newcastle, and the South Tract, in the very descriptive
Words, as this Deponent believes (as to the Limits of the Ter-
ritory fjranted) of the said Charter and FeolTmeuts, or very
nearly so.

The Defendant at fol ;5G2. denies he ever meant or intended
that the Circle, should be a Circle, Avhose Semi-Diameter
should be 12 Miles, and insists, at fol. 360. that if the
Articles should be decreed to be carried into Execution,
yet that the Circle was thereby agreed, and ought to be a
Circle, whose Semi-Diameter is two Miles.

Now we'll first consider the Grants by themselves, before
we come to the Agreement, and what are theyV The
Charter of Pensilvania begins, clearly and without any
Possiblity of Doubt, by a Circle to be drawn Northerly anil
Westerly 12 Miles distant Northwards from Newcastle
Town; Again, The Duke of York's Feoffment of the
lowest of the two SouthTracts begins, as clearly and ex-
pressly, at the Distance of 12 Miles Southwards from New-
castle Town. And what does the Feoffment of Newcastle,
which was the middle Tract between those two Grants?
Why, it grants the Town of Newcastle, and all the Lands
within theCompass or Circle of 12 Miles about the Tow^n.
Can any Man in his Senses, seriously imagine that this con-
tains the least Matter of Doubt? He got two Persons to
sign a Paper,as their pretended Opinion, that tlie Circle in
the Feoffment of Newcastle (not the Circle mentioned in
the Agreement) should be only two Miles distant, but
though they signed it, and are examined as Witnesses to
swear that they signed it, they beg our Pardons, they
won't say a single Word that they even thought that to
be a true Ooinion as to the Extent of that Circle in the
Feoffment.

But the Defendant would chuse rather to debate upon the
Feoffment, which he imagines is less clear than the
others. Now we are not obliged to that, but if we were,
it would not at all help him. For that particular Feoff-
ment itself is exceedingly clear in our favour, as al-
ready observed ; besides which, that very Feoffment, in
two several Places calls it expressly 12 Miles of Land;
which absolutely destroys his Construction of the Circle,
becau.«e .a (Mrcle, whose (Jircumferene or Periphery is but
12 Miles, does not contain 12 Miles of Land. no not even if

that Circle was compleat; whereas ours is not Half of .m

Circle of Land, as Newcastle lies on the great River side.
and does not contain any thing near Half 12 Miles of Land.
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Anotlier thiiij? which shews the distance ot the Newcastle

Circle is, Sir John Werden's Request in behalf of the

Duke of York in 1680, at first, that Mr. Penn should be

bounded 20 or 30 Miles North of Newcastle, which at last

was brought t(» be but 12 Miles North, and so described

in the Patent of Pensilvania.

But when we come to the Agreement, surely we are beyond

all Imagination of Doubt, both that it was agreed, and

was intended to be. 12 Miles distant from Newcastle.

For 1. The Draft of the Agreement, 9 Months under Con-

sideration, says so expressly.

2. Mr. Senex's written Opinion on that Agreement says

so expressly. And that the Town of Newcastle was to be

taken as a Centre.

3. My Lord's own Proposals, under his own Hands, describes

it,"in two several Places, in the very first Article of his

Proposals, a Circle of 12 Miles Distance from Newcastle,

and in the third Article the Circle of 12 Miles from New-

castle.

4. His Articles, so deliberatelv settled, and afterwards exe-

cuted under his Hand and Seal, direct it to be drawn at

the Distance of 12 Miles from the Tow-n of Newcastle,

most expressly.

And I would beg of ray Lord, or his most ingenious Coun-

cil, to explain my Lord s own Proposal any otherwise.

Nor is this all.

5. Paris swears that my Lord, during the Treaty, not only

spoke of it as at 12' Miles Distance, but took off the

Measure, as for 12 Miles, from the Circle in the Map. in

order to measure off and satisfy his Curiosity where the

1.^ Miles South of Philadelphia would fall upon the Map.

G. The Affair of the Circle was most particularly under

Consideration during the Treaty, and was not a Matter

that past suh sileidio, for. with regard to the Miles at

which that Circle should l)e distant from Newcastle,

you'll please to observe there were only two Distances of

Miles mentioned in the whole Articles; the one was the 13

Miles Distance for this Circle, the other was the 15 Miles

South of Philadelphia; and it is in that Sheet of the

Draft where both these Distances are mentioned, that Mr.

Sharpe's general Remark of his own Hand-writing is

placed, that the Miles, throughout, should be exprest

English Statute Miles. So that the Circle was thereby

the more particularly under Contemplation, and the

Distance which it w.'^is to be .it from Newcistlp. whether

12 Ueographical Minutes, or 12 English Statute Miles.
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Yet, this Defendant is so extremely lianly as to say, he
never meant or intended 12 Miles distant, but that the
Circle agreed upon, is only two Miles distant.

The most favourable thine: that can be said, and that's

extremely bad, is, that Mr. Hamilton, who drew this

Answer for my Lord, had not sufficient Time or Instruct-
ions, and that my Lord swore to wliat be drew, and never
read it over; for otherwise, some of his Perjuries are so

gross(and so foolish toojthatmy Lord could not i)ossibly

have put in sucli an Answer, he many times flatly con-
tradictinjj his own self in Facts, besides the many other
Places in which he is contradicted by his own Witnesses.

James Logan, aged 66. [Lib. B. fd. 76. Int. ;5('). f,,l. 218.]

That subsequent to an Agrreement made between the Lord
Baltimore and Hannah Penn, in February 1723. to wit, in May
1724, there was a Meeting appointed and held between tiie said
Lord Baltimore as Proprietor of Maryland, and the Proprietors
of Pensilvania, at the George and Vulture Tavern in London,
at which were present on the Lord Baltimore's side, the said
Lord Baltimore, .John Hide of London Merchant, and his Son,
and on the part of the Proprietors of Pensilvania. two of the
Plaintiffs with 8pringett Penn. who claimeil a Right in the
same Province, and Joshua (iee and Henry (Toldney, two of the
aforesaid Trustees of the said Province, Simon Clement, and
the Affirmant; and upon opening the Conference, the Lord Bal-
timore produced, and kept lying on the Table before him, a

Draft on a Sheet of Paper, which api)eared to the Affirmant,
wlio eyed it very carefully, to be the fairest and largest Manu-
script Draft of Chesopeak Bay, and also Delaware, with the
Peninsula lying between them, an 1 the adjacent Parts, that
ever the Affirmant had seen; on which Draft there were drawn,
at least two East and West Lines, but to the best of the Affirm-
ant's Memory, not less than three, which seemed to the Affirm-
ant as intended to have been drawn with a purpose to express
the several Divisions that had been tliought of for a Partition
Line between the two Provinces aforesaid ; but by the said .John
Hide and his Son siting between the Affirmant and tlie said Lord
Baltimore, the Affirmant was not near enough to ob.«erve. so
precisely the Places by which the said Division-Lines passed,
as he would otherwise have done, but, in the Lord Baltimore's
Discourse, he seemed to the Affirmant to be well acquainted
with the Situation of the principal Parts then discoursed of,

which were the Provinces of Pensilvania and Maryland, and
particularly with the Situation of the three lower Counties,
which the Affirmant well remembers, because the said Lord
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Baltimore then proposed entirely to release all his Claim to the

said Counties, and argued that, as the said Counties were hy

his Letters Patent within the Description of the said Prov-

ince, and the Crown made some Claim to them, it could not

but strengthen the Title of the Proprietors of Pensilvania

to the same Counties, or Words to that effect; but having spent

several Hours together, the Company parted, for that time,

and the Affirmant having left Egland in the same Month, can't

say what was further done therein.

The same, [Int. GO. /o/. 157. J

Saith that he having come into Pensilvania in the same Ship
with the Father and Mother of the Plaintiffs in the iear 1691),

lived in their Family at the Time that John Penn was born,

which was in January in the same Year, at Philadelphia, in

this Province, and the Affirmant afterwards accompanied the

Father and Mother of the Complainants, with tlie said John
an Infant under two years old, on their Way toward England,

as far as the Capes of Delaware, and although the Affirmant

was intimately acquainted with the Affairs of the said Family,

he never heard, and firmly believes, that the said John Penn
never was in Pensilvania or any other Part of America from
that Time, until after the Month of May 1782; and that the

Plaintiffs Thomas and Richard Penn were born in England ;

and never heard, and verily believes that the sai<l Thomas Penn
never was in America, until after May in the Year 1732; and

that Richard Penn has never been in America to this Day.

Letitia Anhrey, fuftd 60. [Lib. A. ful. 134. /;//. 31. fnl. 138.]

That the Plaintiffs are her Half Brothers, and she has known
them from their respective Births, and saith the Plaintiff John
Penn was born at Philadelphia in the Province of Pensilvania

in America, which she can depose, because she remembers the

said Plaintiffs Birth there, where the Affirmant's said Father

and Family then resided; and in or about the Year 1701. her

said Father and his Family left Pensilvania aforesaid, and came
to England, and brought the Affirmant, and the said Plaintiff

.John, along with them, and the said Plaintiff was then about

a Year and half, »>r two Years of Age, and no more, and the

Affirmant is certain that, between the Time of the said Plain-

tiff's coming from Pensilvania as aforesaid, and the Month of

May 1732, he the said Plaintiff never was in Pensilvania, or in

any other Part of America; And saith the said Plaintiffs

Thomas and Richard Penn were born at Bristol in England,

after her said Father's Return from Pensilvania aforesaid

;

And the Affirmant is certain, that the said Plaintiffs Thomas
and Richard, or either of them, were not at any time in America,
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before the said Month of May 17;32,audthe Affirmant isenable<i
to depose as aforesaid, because of her Nearnes.s of Relation to
the said PhiintifTs, and the many Opportunities she liad of
seeing and hearing from them, and must needs have known, if

eitlier of them had gone to America, before the said Month of
May 1732, and it was in that Montli (as she remembers) that
the Agreement, or Writings between them and the Lord Bal-
timore, were executed, at Which this Affirmant was present,
a4ui remembers the PlaintifT Thomas went to Pensilvania soon
afterwards, and upon that Occasion, as she believes, and that
it was a considerable time after that, before the PlaintifT John
^^'ent there; but the PlaintifT Richard has not been there at all.

Thomas Perm, [Lib. A. fol. 5. Int. \<,\. fol. 9.
J
a .servant in the

familif, John Paye [Lib. A. fol. 174. Int. 31. fol. 177.

J

Both confirm the foregoing Account, that the PlaintifTs were
never in America till after the Agreement in Question was
executed.

Andrew Hamilton, axjed U, [Lib. C. Fol. 775 Int. 117. Fol. 874.

Further on at Fol. 879. J

Says that at a Meeting of the Commissioners on both sides,
on 31 October 1732 at Newcastle, a Dispute arising, between
the Commissioners, about fixing a Center for the Circle about
the Town of Newcastle, and the Maryland Commissioners then
proposing that the Commissioners should walk and view the
Town, they did so, with some of the principle Inhabitants,
amongst Avhom was one John Hoare, then the Surveyor of New-
castle C;ounty, and since deceased ; which said John Hoare then
produced and delivered to the Pensilvania Commissioners, in
order to assist and direct them in finding and fixing such
Center, the Map or Plan endorst NEWCASTLE, which Map
the said Hoare then told this Deponent, and the rest of the
said Commissioners, was an old Map or Plan of the Town of
Newcastle, which he had found amongst the Papers in, and
belonging to, the said Office of Surveyor of Newcastle County,
when he the said Hoare was first appointed and put into that
Office. And says he has good reason to believe that the said
Map or Plan was drawn or made by one Arnoldus de la Grange,
who as he has been Informed and believes, was an ancient
considerdlble Inhabitant of the Town of Newcastle, at and
before the Grant thereof to Mr. Penn, This Deponent liaving
very frequently had in his Custody, and seen, several antient
Deeds and Publick Writings, bearing Date before the said
Grant, and also the Attornment of the Tenants of Newcastle
to Mr. Penn on his first Arrival there; to which several Deeds,
Instruments, and Writings, was subscribed or wrote the Name
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Arnoluus de la Grange, which this Deponent was then fredibly

informed and believes, was the Hand Writing of tlie said

Arnoldus de la Grange; and thereby this Deponent became

aci'quainted with his Character and Manner of Hand Writing,

and verily believes all the Names (except a few) which are

comprised and set down in the said Map or Plan, are the proper

Hand Writing of the said Arnoldus de la Grange.

32D BRANCH. That the Defendant was not deceived in the

Plaintiffs Title, which he very well knew, long before the

Agreement.

Ferd. John Paris, [Lib. A. foL 195. Int. 21. fol. 284.]

That he cannot take upon him to say positively, how far

the Defendant the Lord Baltimore, at the Time of entring into

the said Agreement with the Plaintiffs, was acquainted with

the Plaintiffs Title, either to the Province of Pensilvania, or

to the 8 lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex; but

from the Authenti;'k Records, and other old original Papers,

which this Deponant hath seen of what piist in the Years 1680,

1683, 1684, 1685, 1708, 1709 1716, 1717, and 1725, relating to the

said Province and (Jounties, some of which matters the Defend-

ant himself was(to this Deponent's Knowledge)a Party to. the

Deponent doth most assuredly believe, that the Defendant was

acquainted with the Title under which the Plaintiffs claimed

the said Province and Counties at the Time of, and long before

the entring into the said Treaty; nor did the Deponent ever

hear, that Proprietary William Penn's Title to the said Prov-

ince of Pensilvania had been, by any Person, or in any Sort,

objected to, as imperfect, or any way insufficient; and, as the

Deponent always understood the said Agreement between the

Parties to this Cause, the Substance thereof appeared to the

Deponent to be, that, in Consideration of Lord Baltimore's

releasing to the Planintiffs his Claim to the 8 lower Counties,

the Plaintiffs should release to him, a Part of the Province oi

Pensilvania; In which Light Deponent conceived, that the

Plaintiff.s Title to the said Province of Pensilvania was the

Matter that was essential and material to the Defendant.

The Defendant in his own Answer, Fol. 206. Says he always

lookt u|)on the three lower C'ountiesto be his Right, and

to be appertaining to his Province, and he never ac-

knowledged or believed that the Plaintiffs had anv Right

or Title thereto whatsoever. How then could he be de-

ceived in the Plaintiffs Title to them, if he never believ'd

they had any?
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Besides, it's he conveys his Pretensions to the lower Coun-
ties to them, not they to him.

What they convey to hiju, is out of their Province of Pen-

silvania, which Province is exprest, in their Charter, to

commence from the Beginning of tlie 40th Degree.

Moreover neither Party covenants that he has any Title to

convey what either of iliem releases, but they were mu-
tually to release their Pretensions, whatever they were,

good, bad, or indifferent, to the other.

23D BRANCH. Of the East and West Bounds of the Peninsula
and where the Bay of Delaware ends, viz. at Bombays-
Hook, about 30 Miles below the Town of Newcastle.

aamuel Preston, aged 75, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. hit. 5. Fol 315.]

Says the said Peninsula is bounded, on the Eastward from
the Cape of Virginia to the Cape at the Mouth of Delaware
Bay called Cape Enlopen or Inlopen, by the Ocean. Prom
thence, V)v the said Bay of Delaware, which is generally believed

to extend as far as Bombay-Hook on the said Bay. And, from
thence by the River of Delaware.

James Logan., aged GG, [Lib. li. Fol. 7G. Int. 5. Fol. 84.]

That the said Peninsula is bounded, on the Eastward, as far

as the South Cape of Delaware, by the Atlantick Ocean; From
thence, more Northerly, by Delaware Bay and River. He cannot
|)recisely determine where the Bay of Delaware ends, and the

River begins. Has heard, from Navigators, that the Bay ends,

and the River begins, at Bombay Hook, ljecau.se, upon arriv-

ing there, they thought the Danger of their Voyage over, and
for that they had good Anchorage, and safe riding under an
Island there, but his own Opinion has, always, been that the

Bay reached to the Bite, between the Mouths of Apoquinimink
and Red Lion Creeks.

Thomas Noxon., aged ^0, [Lib. C. Fol. 488. Jut. 5. Fol. 491.]

The said Peninsula is bounded, to the Eastward, from the

most Southern Part thereof to the Mouth of Delaware Bay,
near Lewes Town, by the Ocean ; Prom the said Mouth of Dela-

ware Bay to Bomties Hook, now commonly called Bombay
Hook, by the Bay of Delaware; and, from the said Bomties
Hook, as far as e said Peninsula extends Northwards, by
Delaware River.

George Fitzwater, aged GG, [Lib. (\ fol. 4G9. Int. 110. fol. 473.]

That Bombav Hook has always, as this Deponent understood,
41— Vol. XV.
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heard and believes, been esteemed the Head of the said Bay of

Delaware. That Bombay Hook, or the Head of the said Bay,

is about 30 English Statute Miles to the Southward of the

Middle of the Town of Newcastle, as he computes and believes.

And says he became acquainted with the Middle of the said

Town by his having been frequently in that Town.

iSamuel Freston, aged 75, [Lib. B. foL 312. Int. 4. fol. 314.

1

Has been acquainted with the Peninsula which contains Part

of the 3 lower Counties, Part of Maryland, and Part of Vir-

ginia, 53 or 54 Years, by frequently travelling in divers Parts

of the said Peninsula; which Peninsula bounds, on Chesopeak

Bay, towards the West.

James Lor/an., aged 66, [Lib. B. fol. 76. Int. 4. foL 84.]

Also says that the said Peninsula bounds, to the Westward
upon Chespoeak Bay.

Bet\:janiin Eastburv, aged 44, [Lib. C. fol. 678. I7it. 4. fol. 685.

1

Has known Part of the Peninsula which contains Parts of

Virginia, Maryland, and the three Lower Counties about eight

Years. The Peninsula is bounded to the Westward by Cheso-

peak Bay.

Tliomas Noxoih, aged 40. [Lib. G. fol. 488. Int. 4. fol. 48'J.]

Is acquainted with the said Peninsula, and has known it

about 20 Years. Became acquainted therewith by travelling

in several Parts thereof by Land, by sailing in and out of Dela-

ware Bay, and by sailing in some Parts of Chesopeak Bay ; but,

more particularly, from making a Survey in 1737, by running

a Traverse from the Town of Newcastle, down, thro" Part of

Newcastle County, then thro' Kent County, and afterwards

thro 'Sussex County, to Fenicks's Island, which the Deponent

was then told had been formerly called Cape Heniopen, and

had been esteemed the Southern Bounds of Sussex County.

Says the said Peninsula is bounded, to the Westward, by Cheso-

peak Bay.

James Logan, aged (Sij, [Lib. B. fol. 76. Int. \\(\. Jol. 217.
J

That the Head of the Bay of Delaware in his judgment is

several Miles to the Southward of the Town of Newcastle; but

how many, he can't take upon him to ascertain.

Samuel Prestun, aged 75, [Lib. B. fol. 312. Int. 110. fol. 447.

J

Has known Delaware Bay about 50 Years, and hath heard

and believes that the Head of the said Bay is at Bombay Hook
on the same Bay. which he believes is about 25 or 30 English

Statute Miles to the Southward of the Middle of the Town of

Newcastle, but is not very well acquainted with the Distance.

That he knows the said Town a long Time, and has been very

frequently there.
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24TH BRANCH, Proof ot our general Map, and where the
true Isthmus is. being formed by the Tide Waters flowin-
very near to witliin 4 Miles of each other, in Apoquinomy
River and Bohemia River.

Be^iOamin Eastburn, agtd 44. >^,r,r.!/or General in PtnMvania
[Lib. a FoL G7». Int. \m. Fol. 685. jHas lookt on the Map markt PEN, (which is the Manuscript

Original General Map whereof you have a printed Copy at the
Beginning of this Book) Says it was drawn by himself, and he
believes it is a true Representation of the Parts therein de-
scribed. For Reasons of his Belief says he drew all the Parts
layd down in the same, between the Line markt a Parallel of
Latitude to the Southermost Part of Philadelphia City, and
another markt T E M. according to a careful and exact Mensura-
tion ot the Parts there represented, made by him. That he
drew all the other Parts of said Map. representing the LaiuLs
one Delaware River, Delaware Bay.and the Ocean, down to the
Place in the said Ma[) called Cape Hinlopen. partly, from his
own Observations, and i,artly. from Returns, and Accounts of
Surveys, made by Deputy Surveyors into the Office of the Sur-
veyor (ieneral of }>enslivania. That Susquehannah River to
the Northward of (^onestogo Creek, is laid down bv Returns
of Surveys now remaining in his Office. That he drew that
Part of th<^ said Map whicii is between the said Line T E M, and
the Line markt B AL.<.n the Kast Side of Susquehannah River
from actual Surveys made o\ a great Fart of the Lands repre-
sented to lie between those Lines Certificates of which Survey.v.
and Plats of the same, have been returned to. and are now" in
the said Office. That he drew the Parts of said Map, laid down
for, and about, the Head of Chesopeak Bay from the said Line
B A L down to the Place in the said Map called Sassafras River,
partly, from his own Observations, and partly from the Ob<>er'
vations of others, that were communicated to him. And that
he drew all the remaining Parts of the said Map, to the South-
ward of the said Place marked Sassafras River on the said Bay
of Chesopeak. from the best Drafts and Maps thereof that he
could procure. Has lookt on the Line markt A. and says that
the River, where the West end of the said Line terndnates,
marked M, is callecV Bohemia River, which flows out of Cheso-
peak Bay

;
and that the Water or Creek, where the East end

of the said Line terminates, marked N. is called Apoqueminink,
commonly called Apoquinomy, which flows out of Delaware'
Has heard, and believes the Tid--Water does flow, in Bohemia
River, as high as Letter ^l, and has also been informed, and
believes that the Tide-Water, formerly did flow as high up
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Apoquinomy Creek as Letter N, but is now obstructed by
erecting a Mill-Dam a-cross the Creek, about a Mile below the
Place N. To which Dam he has seen the said AVater flow. And
believes the said Places M and N, are about four Miles distant

from each other. And that he is well assured there is not any
Place in the said Peninsula or Tract of Land, where the Tide-

Waters, flowing out of Chesopeake Bay, or Susquehannah River,

do approach, or come so near to the Tide-Water, flowing out
of the Bay or River of Delaware, as they do at the said Places

markt M and N.

Thomas Noxon, aged 40, [Lih. C. fol. 488. Int. 123. fol. 519.]

Says the said Map PEN, was drawn by the said Benjamin
Eastburn, Surveyor General of Pensilvania; and from this De-
ponent's Acquaintance with, and Observations from time to time
of the several Parts of the Country and Places, laid down and
described in the said Map, And from the Deponent's having
compared the same with a larger Draft or Map, which this

Deponent formerly took and drew of the three lower Counties,

and Part of Maryland, by an Actual Survey, or Traverse, run by
this Deponent from Newcastle Town on Delaware, down thro'

that Side of Newcastle County, and thro' Kent and Sussex

Counties to Lewis Town, and to the South Cape of Delaware,
and from thence, by the Ocean to Fenwick's Island, and also by
and from this Deponent's having taken the Bearings and
Distances of several of the Waters and Rivers about the Head
of Chesopoake Bay, with, or from, some of the Creeks that

eiDpty themselves into Delaware River, and of the Bearings and
Distances of some Parts of the same River, he is induced to

believe that the Lands and Waters, on the Side of Delaware
B y and River, and the Ocean, are laid down and described, in

the said Map.as correctly and truly as the same could be done,

without making an Actual Survey of the Out-Lines of the

Lands adjoining upon Delaware Bay and River up to the
Town of Newcastle. As to the Line markt A, he speaks exactly

as Eastburn does, only postively of his own Knowledge, that

the Water flows out of Chesopeake Bay to the Head of Bohemia
River at the West End of that Line markt M; and that the

East End of t lie said Line markt N, is the Head of Apoquinomy
Creek, which empties itself into Delaware River. And says

positively that that last Water did flow to Letter N till he him-
self made the Mill-Dam. which has stopt its Flowing thither,

by about one Mile now. He says he has measured the Distance
between M and N. and so knows it to be about four Miles.

And believes no Waters, flowing out of Chesopeake Bay, ap-

proach so near, to any of the Waters flowing out of Delaware
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River or Bay. as tliose do, at tlie Head of Bohemia River aud
Apoquinoniy Creek.

Thoma.s Milts, aged 49, Surveyor in another Neighboring Pruo-
iuae of New Jersey, [Lib. C. Fol. 541. Int. 123. Fol. 542.]

Believes the said Map was drawn bv Benjamin Eascburn

;

and says that the Draft of the Head of Chesopeak Bav appears
to him to be drawn nearly agreeable to Avhat it represents. And
that Delaware River, from Naaman's Creek down to Apoquin-
oniy Creek, is drawn nearly agreeable to the Courses of the said
River. Which he believes, because he has had frequent Occa-
sions, for above sixteen Years past to survey Lands on the East
side of Delaware River, on the Shore side," from the Land op-
posite to the Mouth of Apoquinomy aforesaid, upward, to the
Place markt Naaman's Creek, and, in that Time, having taken
the Breadth of the said River by Mathematical Instruments,
in two Places, and from other Observations of the Bearings and
Distances of the several remarkable Points and Places on The
said River, this Deponent in 1733, framed a Draft thereof, from
7 or 8 Miles below Newcastle Town uf) to ten Miles beyond New-
castle Town

; and. has, also, taken a particular Observation from
the Town of Newcastle down to the Place on the said River
markt P. which is called the Bite; and has, upon Examining,
found the said Map to agree with all his said Experience and
Observations. Further says, he believes the said Draft of the
Head of Chesopeak Bay is truely drawn, liecause it is agreeable
to Observations made bv the Deponent the middle of last Month,
when, from the Place in the said Map called Turkey Point, he
ob.served the Bearings of Susquehanna. Elk. and North East
Rivers, and also the Course of Chesopeak Bay downward. He
e.xactly agrees with Eastburn and Noxon. that the Tide Water
flows out of Chesopeak Bay, up Bohemia River, to Letter M.
That the other Water up Apoquinomy does not now, by about
one Mile, flow to Letter N, because of the Mill-dam, bu'the has
observed how high the Tide rises at the Mill-dam, and the small
Ascent of the Branch from thence to Letter N. and says that,
before erecting the Mill-dam, the Tide Water did flow'as high
as Letter N. Says that by riding between M and N. he com-
putes the Di.stance to be about four Miles. Is not well ac-
quainted with the Peninsula to the Southward of the Parts he
has mentioned, but says postively there is not any Place to the
Northward of Line A. where the Tide Waters, flowing out of
Chesopeak Bay. and Delaware, do approach and come so near
as at the Places markt M. and N.

Jacob Heulings, Esq. , aged 58, Surveyor in West Jersey [Lib. (j.

Fol. 530. Int. 123. Fol. 531.]
Has looked on the said Map markt PEN, and savs it was
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made bj' Benjamin Eastburu. That he is acquainted with the

Water and Branches in the said Map laid down for the Head

of Chesopeak Bay, with the Lands lying on Delaware River,

between Newcastle Town and St George's Creek and with the

Lands lying between the said Head of Chesopeak Bay, and the

said Lands lying on Delaware as aforesaid. And verily believes

the said Map is as true and exact a Representation of those

Parts, as can well be made. The Reasons of his belief are, that

he has seen a Map which he was informed contained Drafts of

all the particular Surveys of the Land survey'd in Newcastle

Count\. That it appeared by the said Map that all the Land

in the said County lying on Delaware River, had been surveyed

and were there distinctly and particularly laid down, together

with the said River Dehiware and the several Creeks or Rivers

in the said County running into Delaware; and this Deuonent

with some other Persons skilled in Surveying, in order to try

the Truth of the same Map, did, with proper surveying In-

struments, try the Course of the said River Delaware, from

Newcastle downward below the Bite niarkt with the Letter P;

which Courses the Deponent has since compared with those

laid down in the said Map, and found they exactly agreed with

them. That, afterwards, the Dei)onent, and the Persons afore-

said, went over to the Head of Chesopeak Bay. and there took

the general Course and Bearings of the Lands, Rivers and

Waters there, (but collected the Distances from the Informations

of Persons residing thereabouts) with which Courses and Bear-

ings of the same Lands, Rivers and Waters, and the Informa-

tions aforesaid, the Map now produced well agrees. That the

Deponent afterwards, rode, divers Times, a-cross, from the

said Head of Chesopeak Bay to divers of the nearest Parts of

Delaware River aforesaid and the Branches thereof, and com-

puted the Distances as well as he could, and. therefore, thinks

the Distance from the said Head of Chesopeak Bay to the nearest

part of Delaware River, as laid down in the said Map, is nearly

agreeable to the true Distances of those Places from each other.

He has looked on the Line A. and gives exactly the same Ac-

count as all the rest, of the Tide Waters flowing respectively

to the several Ends of M and N of that Line, and believes the

Distance between them to be about four Miles. Is not acquainted

with the said Peninsula, to the Southward of the Parts he has

mentioned, but says (positively) there is not any other Place to

the Northward of Line A. where the Tide Water.s, flowing out

of Chesopeak Bay and Delaware, do approach and come so near

each other, as they do at the Places MarkM M and N.

A^OTE—That Place, therefore between -M and N. thus estab-

lished, where the Tide Waters on each side, flow the nearest
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to each other, at lour, or, as now, at live, Miles Distance, is

what we rely on, as the Isthmus and Conclusion of the whole
Peninsula. And the Matter mentioned by Mr. Logan in his

Answer to the next lnterrog:atories forjudging it to be (what
the others swear it is) the nearest, is an exceeding strong one :

for in War Time, when they were afraid of Coasting all round
the Peninsula, Merchants would most certainly chuse the

shortest ami nearest Land-Carriage for their Goods a-cross

the Peninsula, which he says, was precisely from the common
Landing at Apoquinomy Creek, to the common Landing at

Bohemia River, which Landing-Place" for Merchandise were
but about 7 or 8 Miles asunder.

35TH BRANCH, Proof where the before-mentioned Isthmus
formed by the flowing Water is, and also, where another
Isthmus formed by the navigableWater is.

James Logan, aged 66, [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 6. Fol. 86. ]

Takes the Isthmus of a Peninsula to be, where the Navigable
Waters, on each side, approach the nearest to each other. Says

the Navigable AVaters of Apoquiminink Creek, and of Bohemia
River, are nearer to each other than anv that run into the Bay
of Chesopeak. and the Bay or River of Delaware. The Reasons
he has to believe the said Creek and River do approach nearer

to each other than any other navigable Waters that run into

the said Bay or River Delaware, are, that in 1700. he went into

a Boat, up Apoquiminink Creek, to the common Landing on
the said Creek, and from thence by Land, to the common Land-
ing on Bohemia River aforesaid, which was then reputed to

be about 7 or 8 Miles, and at that Time, in the French War, was
used as a Passage and carrying Place, the nearest between the

said Bays of Chesopeak and Delaware, for the Conveyance of

Goods imported from Britain in Fleets under Convoy to Virginia

and Maryland, whicli were consigned to Philadelphiaand New-
castle on Delaware. That the Course of Delaware River from
Apoquinimink. as far to the Northward as the Town of New-
castle, (which he supposes may be near the same Latitude with
the utmost Extent of the Bay of Chesopeak) is not very much dif-

ferent from North, l)ut the Head of (Uiesopeak Bay is so bro-

ken, by the three Arms that make it, which come from Bohemia
River. Elk River, and North-East River, and the Necks of Land
are so broke, between these several Arms, that there cannot be

said to be any Parallelism on that side. That at the Head of

Chesopeak Bay the great River Susquehannah enters which
last-mentioned Kiver. and tiie River Delaware, from the said
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Head of Chesopeak Bay, so much diverge, that in the Latitude

of Philadelpia, (which at the utmost Extent is not above 24

Miles more Northerly than the Town of Newcastle) upon a direct

West Course, they are above GO English Miles distant from each

other. That the Waters of Delaware and Chesopeak Bays do

so diverge, below, or to the Southward of Apoquinimink and

Bohemia aforesaid, that at the Cape or Entrance of Delaware

Bay, the Breadth of the said Peninsula, upon a direct West
Course, is, in his Judgment, not much, if any thing, less than

the aforesaid Distance of 60 Miles.

T)tomas Noxon, aged 40, [Lib. C. FuL 488. Jut. G. Fol. 492].

Says that, if the Isthmus of the said Peninsula shall be judged

to be formed by the nearest approach of the flowing Waters

out of Chesopeak Bay into the Rivers or (Jreeks thereof, and

of the flowing Waters out of Delaware Bay and River into the

Creeks thereof—Then the Isthmus is formed by the Head of

Bohemia River, which runs into Chesopeak Bay, and the Head
of Apoquinomy Creek that runs into Delaware. The Waters

(if which Creek and Rivers did, about 12 or 18 Years ago, How
within about foiir Miles of each other, but now by reason of a

Mill erected on the said Creek, they don't flow nearer to each

other than about live Miles. But, if it shall be judged that the

Isthmus is form'd by the nearest approach of Chesopeak Bay,

and Delaware Bay or River to each othei—Then the Isthmus

of the said Peninsula is formed, by the Eastermost Part of the

Head of Chesopeak Bay aforesaid, near the Mouth of Susque
liannah and North- East Rivers, and that Part of Delaware

Kiver about four Miles below the Town of Newcastle, called

tlie Bite, because, there, as tlie Deponent from the best Obser-

vation he has made believes, the said Bay of ('hesopeak, and
the River of Delaware are nearer to each other, than any other

Parts of the Bay of Chesopeak and Delaware River, or the said

Hays of Chesopeak and Delaware, Which Bite and Head-Line
of Chesopeak Bay, the Deponent believes are near, or about,

twenty-two Miles distant from ea^ch other. And that, from the

said Bite, and the Head of Chesopeak Bay aforesaid, the Waters
of Delaware River and of Chesopeak Bay, do diverge from each

other, both upward, and downward.

Thomas Noxoii, aged 40, [Lib. C. Fol. 488. Int. 124. Fol. 525.]

He has look'd upon the produced Map mark'd V E N.and upon
the Line in the said produced Map mark'd B. Says that the

Water at the West End of that Line and Markt 0,is Part of

the Head of Chesopeak Bay, and that the Water at the East

Knd of the said Line at the Lettei- P. is called the Bite of Dela-

ware River below the Town of Newcastle. And savs tlie Dis-
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Tauce between the Waters at O. at the West End, and P at the
East End, is, as he believes, near, or about twenty-two Miles,
he being well acquainted with the said several Places and the
Lands lying between them, and lives in the said County of

Newcastle.

Jacob Heulings, aged 58, [Lib. C. Fol. 530. Int. 124. Fol. 539. ]

Says exactly the same as Mr. Noxon, and that he by riding
between the said Places O and P. did compute the Distance
between them was about twenty-two Miles; and he adds that,
at the said Places mark'd O and P, the Bay of Chesopeak and
the River of Delaware do approach nearer to each other, than
the said Bay of Chesopeak or the River Susquehannah due to

the said River Delaware, in any place to the Northward of the
said Places iimrk'd O and P.

Tfwmas Milts, aged i9, [Lib. C. Ful. 541. Int. 124. Fol. 550.]

Says the same as Mr. Heulings,

Benjamin. Eastbn.rn, ajgedAA, [Lib. C. Fol. 678. I7it. 124. Fol. 693.
J

Confirms all the same, and says the Distance between O and
P, as he computes and believes from personal Observations
wliich he himself has made there, and from credible Accounts
which lie has had from other Persons, is about 22 English
Statute Miles. And is well satisfied there is not any other
Place upon the said Peninsula or Neck of Land which lies

l)etween the Bay of Chesopeak and Susquehanna River on the
one side, and the Bay and River of Delaware on the other,

where Chesopeak Bay and Susquehanna River, approach or
come so near to the Bay or River of Delaware, as the Bay of

Chesoueak at the Letter O does to the River of Delaware at

the Letter P as described in the said Map.
Note—You are not to expect that the Defendant should

endeavour to clear up this, or any other Point, he affects only
to render doubtful and uncertain; and therefore, has not ex-

amined to any thing in certainty about this, or many other
matters; and as the uiain Waters themselves approach nearest

here between O and P. this maybe thought, on that account,
the true Isthmus: we think otherwise, because the flowing
Waters, as before observed, meet, (lower down) within 4 Miles
of each other, whereas these ^re 22 asunder; and we think the
narrowest Neck must make the Isthmus which is about 9 Miles
more South, than the Line which we are now upon; but, if

this be thought to be the Isthmus, it does not at all hurt or
effect our Case, or any one of our Arguments.
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26TH BRANCH, Proof of several Springs that arise in the

Peuinsula, and run, from the same common Head, botn
ways, into the Bays on each side of the Peninsuhi.

James Scotteti of Marifland, aged 8G, [IAh. B. Ful. 294. Int. 21.

Fol. 29.J.]

Is pretty well acquainted with some Parts of the Neck uf

Land [lie means tlie Peninsula] which lies between the Bay ot

(Jhesopeak and the Bay and River of Delaware. That the Lands,

on the West side of the said Neck, are called Maryland, and are

under the Grovernment of Lord Baltimore; and the Lands, lying

on the East side of the said Neck, are called the three Lower
Counties of Newcastle. Kent and Sussex, and are under the

(jovernment of the Proprietor^ of Pensilvania. Says that the
Risers Choptank—Chester—and Sassafras, take their Rise in

the said Neck, and, he believes, empty themselves into the Bay
of Chesopeak. And that the (Jreeks commonly called Jones's

and Duck (Jreek take their rise in the said Neck, and, as he has
been informed and believes, empty themselves into the Bay or

River of Delaware. Says there is a Pond in the said Neck,
called Island Pond, from whence a Stream runs into the Head
of Chester River aforesaid. And that tliere is another Pond
in the same Neck, about three Quarters of a Mile distant from
Island Pond afore.said from whence a Stream runs into Chester
River aforesaid, and also from whence another Stream runs into

Duck Creek aforesaid.

Ttiomas Powe.JI of Marjiland, aged 41, {IM. B. Fol. 298. Ivt. 21.

Fol. 299.]

Is pretty well acquainted with some Parts of the said Neck
of Land which lies between the Bay of (Jhesopeak, and the Bay
and River of Delawai-e. Says the Lands on the West side of the

said Neck are called Maryland, and are under Lord Baltimore's

(rovernment ; and the Lands Ij'ing on the East side of the said

Neck are called Newcastle, Kent, and Sussex, and are under
the (xovernment of the Proprietors of Pensilvania. Says the

Rivers of Choptank and Chester take their rise in the .said Neck,

and he believes, empty themselves into the Bay of Chesopeak
and that the Creeks commonly called .Jones's aiid little Duck
Creek also take their rise in the said Neck, and as he believes,

empty themselves into the Bay or River of Delaware. Says

there is a Pond in the same Neck, called Island Pond, from
whence a Stream runs into the Head of Chester River aforesaid,

and also, from whence, another Streaui runs into Jones's Creek

aforesaid And that there is another Pond in the same Neck,

about thrr-e quarters of a ]\[ile distant from Island Pond afore-

said, from whence a Stream runs into Chester River aforesaid.
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and also from whence, another Stream runs into Delaware.

And that there is a narrow Swamp, in the said Neck, from

whence, two Streams issue, one of which runs into (Jhoptank

River, and the other into Jones's Creek aforesaid.

James Logan, aged 6G, [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 21. Fol. 129. J

Is well acquainted with the said Neck of land lyinj? l)etween

Chasopeak Bay, and the Bay and River of Delaware, the Lands

on the West side of said Neck are Part of Maryland, and with the

Inhabitants thereof are under the Jurisdiction and (Tovernment

of Lord Baltimore; and the Lands on the East side of the said

Neck is the County of Newcastle, and further down the Bay of

Delaware, are the Counties of Kent and Sussex, and which

said three Counties are under the Government and Jurisdiction

of the Proprietors of Pensilvania. Says there are several Rivers

and Streams of Water which rise in the said Neck, and empty

themselves into the Bay of Chesopeak, viz, Bohemia, Sassafras,

Chester and Choptank with divers others. Says there are sev-

eral other Rivers or Creeks and Streams of Water, which also

rise in the said Neck, and empty themselves into the said Bay

and River of Delaware, viz. Red Lion Creek, St. Georgre's Creek.

Apoquiminink Creek (all within a very few Miles of each other)

Duck Creek. St. Jones' Creek, Murtherkill and divers others to

the Southward. But,as to the first Fountains or Springs of them

it's well known that not only Peninsulas but Continents, have

most frequently, a rising Ridge, from which the Springs of the

Waters, flowing contrary ways often rise verv near to each other,

tho' ttieir Mouths are, not unfrequently, above 1000 Miles dis-

tance from each other. Has heard and believes that some of

the Streams, issuing from the Springs in the said Neck, very

nearly interlock with each other; but the Navigable Water of

the nearest of them, (below what has been abovementioned of

Aj)oquiminink and Bohemia) to the best of his information, is

more than twenty Miles Distance.

Mark Manlnve. aged 61, [Lib. B. fol. 42. Int. 21. fol. 43.]

Knows a Part of the said Neck of Land, and gives the like

Account as the others, as to the West and East Sides of it, being

under Maryland and Pensilvania Government. Has seen the

Kiver Potomoke—Wicotomoco—Nauticoack—Choptank— Wye.
and — Miles, which take their Rise in the said Neck; and he

believes, by their descending towards Chesopeake Bay. that

Tliey empty themselves into it. Has likewise heard and believes,

that the Rivers Chester—Sassafras, and Bohemia also take their

Rise in the said Neck, and empty themselves into Chesopeak
Bay aforesaid. Has also heard, and believes, that the Rivers

Elk and North-East empty themselves into the said Bay of
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Chesopeak ; but does not know, nor has heard where they rise.

Says, that Muspillion and Murderkill, Dover and Little-Creek

—

also take their Rise in the said Neck, and empty themselves
into the Bay of Delaware. And that Lewes Creek, formerly
called the Whorekills—Broadkill—Prime-Hook—Slaughter-
Creek—Cedar-Creek—Duck-Creek—Blackbird-Creek— Apoqui-
nimink—St. George's—Christiana— and others empty them-
selves into the Bay and River of Delaware; but where they
respectivelv take their Rise, knows not. That one of the
Branches of Nauticoak River and one Branch of Muspillion
Creek aforesaid flow from a Pond of Water of about 4 or 5

Acres. And that there is another Branch of the said Muspillion
Creek, whose Rise he does not know, which extends itself much
further to the Westward than the said Pond; and believes it

takes its Rise from the same Swamp or Pond with another
Branch of the said River Nauticoak. And that one of the
Branches of Murderkill aforesaid, at its Rise, is divided from
the Rise of another Branch of the said River Nauticoak, only
by a small Ridge of about 'd or 4 Rods Breadth. And that the
main Branch of the said Murderkill, extends still much further
to the Westward. That one other Branch of Murderkill afore-

said, and a Branch of Choptank River aforesaid, take their Rise
from one and the same Marsh or Piece of low Ground, contain-
ing about 7 or 8 Acres. That one of the Branches of Dover
(Jreek, and of the said River (Choptank. take their Rise from
one and the same Piece of low Ground or Swamp, containing
about 40 or 50 Acres. And that several of the Rises of the Rivers
and Creeks aforesaid, that empty themselves into Delaware Bay
aforesaid, lie to the Westward of the Rises of the said Rivers
that empty themselves into the said Bay of Chesopeake : so

that they interlock in many Places.

Note—These 4 last Depositions are to counterprove an idle

thing, attempted b.\ one Witness for the Defendant, who
wants to carry the Isthmus (of a Peninsula) up, he himself
knows not where, intf) the main Continent, he having found
out a Place where two little Springs of Water rise, very near
together, within a <.^uarterof a Mile of each other, and Avhich

Waters he does not pretend are Tide Waters, or flowing Waters
from the Sea, Bays or Rivers. To answer any Pretence, there-

fore, of that kind, we have proved what? Why that down
l)elow, in the very l^eninsula itself, there are many such Places,
not only where tlie Spring Heads almost meet, but where
they quite meet, and more than meet, for that thev interlock ;

Nor is that all, for, we have gone much farther, and shewn
several and several Waters, rising in the very Peninsula itself,

and Iroui one and tlie same Swamp or Head, which run one
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way into Chesopeake. and tlit- other way into Delaware and
which, according; to this Notion, would make the Peninsula
(pardon the Absurdity of the Expression, for the sake of expo-
sing the Absurdity of the Point contended for) to consist of

several compleat Islands.

27TH BRANCH, Proof where Lord Baltimore's oldest Line,

which he claimed in 1635, lies.

Benjamiv Easiburu, acjed \A, [Lib. <\ t'ol. (iTS. hd. I2<J. fol. 704.
J

Has aprain lookt upon the Map markt PEN. and upon the

Red Line therein, markt 1635, and says that Line is drawn
agreeable to a Line drawn for the Northern Bounds of Maryland
in another Map produced to him, whereon these Words (Map
of Maryland 1(>35, copied })er Herman Moll) are endorsed, and
at the top of the Inside whereof is the Title Nova Terra; Maria
Tabula. And has heard and believes the last-mentioned Map
was publisht in the Year 1635, by Order of the then Lord Bal-

timore Proprietor of Maryland, and fixed in a Book publisht
by the same Proprietor, intitled, A Relation of Maryland,
together with a Map of the Country the Conditions of Planta-
tions and his Majesty's Charter to the Lord Baltimore, trans-

lated into English.

NoTK—The Copy of Lord Baltimore's Map of 1635, produced
to this Witne.ss in America, is an exact Copy made from that

in Sir Hans Sloane's Book, proved by Doctor Stack here.

And this Line proves two very material Things, viz.

1. That tho" Lord Baltimore, so early, claimed, above all

the Bay of Delaware, above all the Peninsula, above the

true Isthmus of that Peninsula, and even to tlie Head
of Chesopeake Bay, and quite to the Extremity of the

40th Degree compleat, yet. all that was South of the Line
which we have now granted to him by the present Arti-

cles by near 8 Miles. (An«l that Width of 8 Mile.s is 5

whole Degrees in Longitude.

)

2. It proves where he himself j)laced the Line of 40 compleat
in 1635, namely, precisely at the Head of Chesopeake Bay.

and 23 Miles South of every Part of Philadelphia. But
now, he says, modern Discoveries have carried the Line
of 40 compleat upas high as, or even above Philadelphia:

so contends that his Grant of Part of a Peninsula shall

also grow to that Extent up into the main Continent.
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28TH BRANCH. Proof where the Octorara Line run by Lord
Baltimore in 1683, lies; also where the Line for Temporary
Jurisdiction, lately run in 1739, by Order of the King in

Council, lies.

Bertjamiii Eastburit, aged 44, [Lib. ('. foL 678. Int. 125. fol. 696.]

Has lookt upon the Map now produced, markt PEN, and

upon the Line in the said Map markt B A L. says, the said Line

is called or known by the several Names of the Octorara Line,

Colonel Talbot's Line, and Lord Baltimore's Line, but most
commonly by the Names of the Octorara Line, and Lord Bal-

timore's Line. And says, that the Reason of the said Line

being called by the said several Names, was, as he has heard

and believes, the said Line was run and markt out by one

Colonel Talbot, from the Mouth of Octoraro Creek, as described

in the said Map : and that the same was so run and laid out by

the Order and Direction of Lord Baltimore; and who, as he

has heard, was present at the Running of the same Line or Part

thereof. And says he has heard and believes that the Course

of the said Line Avas run from the Mouth of the said Creek

East, according to the Compass. Says, there are several People

settled and dwelling upon the South Side of the said Line, and

near thereto, who hold their Lands by (irants from the Pro-

l)rietor of Maryland, and own that Government. And that as

he Ijelieves, there are not any Settlers to the Southward of

the said Line (and to the Westward of the 3 lower Counties)

who hold their Lands under the Proprietors of Pensilvania, or

own the Government of Pensilvania. And says, there are also

several People settled upon the North Side of the said Line,

and near thereto; and that the greatest Part of them hold their

Lands by Grants from and under the Pensilvania Proprietors,

and own that Government. And that there are also some
People (but the Number of them he knows not) who are settled

to the Northward of, and near to the said Line, who hold th«ir

Lands by (Grants from the Proprietor of Maryland, and own
That Government; and that the first of such Settlements under

Maryland Rights, was not above 30 Years ago. And says, he

has lookt upon the said Map, and upon the Line therein markt
T E M. And says, the said Line is called The Temporary Limits

between the said Provinces of Pensilvania and Maryland, and

was run. in pursuance of an Order of the King in Council, in

the Months of April and May, 1739. That the said Line, from

the East End thereof as far as the Kiver Susquehanna, was run,

Ijv this Affirmant, as a Surveyor on the Part of Pensilvania,

and William Rumsey, and John Ladd. as surveyors on the Part

of Maryland, under the Directions of certain Commissioners

appointed by the respective Governors of both the said Prov-
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inees. And says the Course of the said Line is true West. And
that the said Temporary Line, at the said River Susquehanna,
is between three and four Miles to tlie Northward of the West
End of the Line in the said Map luarkt B A L. or Octorara Line

aforesaid And further says, that the residue of the said Line,

which is on the West Side of Suquehanna River, was run by

this Affirmant and Samuel Lightfoot. according to the Direc-

tions of tlie said Order of the King and Council, The Place of

Beginning of sucli Residue of tlie said Temporary Line from

the West Side of Susquehanna River aforesaid, being first settled

and agreed upon by and between the said Commissioners on
both sides.

Note wklI;—The Order made by the King in Council for

running this Temporary Line for the Exercise of Jurdisdic-

tion, and to prevent Riots, was made in 1738, pending this

Suit. Lord Baltimore would not consent that the very Line of

the Articles should be run for -that Temporary Limit, lest it

should confirm the Articles: and yet it was to be something

near that Line, but not the very Line of the Articles; There-

fore it was ordered. That, on the East Side of Susquehanna
River, the Temporary Line should be (not just fifteen Miles,

but) fifteen Miles and a quarter South of Philadelphia, and,

on the West Side of Susquehannah River, (not just fifteen

Miles, but) fourteen Miles and three quarters South of Phila-

delphia.

This is exceedingly material, for hereby it appears that the

Temporary Line, when 15 Miles and a quarter, is yet near four

Miles (and the real Line of the Articles is full four Miles) North

of the Octorara Line; just so much, and for the whole Length
of the Longitude of Pensilvania, (which is no less than five

whole Degrees in Longitude) have we given, by the present

Articles, over and beyond the most excessive of all the Claims

from time to time made by Lord Baltimore, and his Ancestors,

purely as a Consideration, and a very large and ample one too,

to buy off his Nominal Claim to the three lower Counties.

Nay, we have givexi a great deal larger Space ; for please to re-

mark the Octorara Line of 1683, was run East according to the

Compass, and this Temporary Line is run true East and West,

allowing for the Variations ; so that when you come to run anv
Distance Westwards, then instead of four Miles they will be 14

or 24 Miles, or a great deal more even than that asunder: All

which Space fpr the whole five Degrees of Longitude, we have

granted to him, on our Part by the Articles, as the valuable

Consideration for purchasing the Release of his Claim to the

three lower Counties, and all this Land so given by us to him,

is at least 26 IMiles above every Part of the Bay of Delaware,
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and is not in the Peninsula, but up within the main Con-
tinent, at least seventeen Miles further North than our true

Isthmus. And at least nine Miles further North than the

upper Isthmus. To such a great Degree had his former Claimt^

and Encroachments extended ; and to so much greater a De-

gree, beyond all that, have we now given to purchase our Peace.

29TH BRANCH, containing Proof of many old Maps Foreign

and English, (made before the Year 1680; which lay down
both Cape CJornelius and Cape Hinlopen, and in the same
manner as the Map in question did, also, where our Cape
Hinlopen really lies; That the whole Country thereabouts

was formerly called Hinlopen, as well as that particular

Spot, that there is the Appearance of a Cape at our Cape
Hinlopen; That the South Bounds of the AVhorekiln Dis-

trict, or Sussex County, extended thither; That the Dutch
had a Boundary Tree in their time, there; That Mr. Penn
granted out Lands to that Place, Jas soon as ever he had

his Feoffiuent) particularly to the Duke of York, and several

others ;and still possesses very near to it; and that the first

Cursory Claim of Maryland a little North of that South

Boundary, began but in the Year 1696; also an Account for

what Reasons, something like the Name of that old Cape

has, lately, been transferred up to the Mouth of Delaware

Bay.

Thomas Gra-me, aged 51, [Lib. C. fol. 666. Int. 130. fol. 672.
]

Has lookt upon the Map, markt DDT, and says, that the

great Bay or River laid down therein, next to Chesopeak Bay,

is now called Delaware Bay. That he has lookt upon the

Place laid down there, for tiie Entrance into tiie said Bay of

Delaware. And says the Capes, that form the Entrance into

the same B.ay, are, in the said Map, called (Jape Cornelius and

Cape May: To the Southward of which, there is another Cape

laid down, in the said Map, which is there called C!ape Hinlopen.

Does not know when the said Map was printed or published:

but says, he was at Leyden in Holland, in 1712, and then-

bought the said Map, amongst a Bundle of other Maps, all

loose, at a publick Auction.

Benjamin Easthttrii.. a Purveyor, aped 44. \Ijib. <'. fol. 67^. Int.

130. fol. 705.]

Has lookt upon the said Map markt 1) U T, and says, the

great Bay or River laid down in the said Ma]), next to the Bay

of Chesopeak, is now called Delaware Bay. That there is a
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Cape laid down in the said Map, to the Southward of the En-
trance into the said Bay of Delaware, which is there called Cape
Hinlopeu. And the Westermost (Jape, which forms the Entrance
into the said Bay, is there called Cape Cornelius, and the
Eastermost Cape May. [What are the very Words of our Ar-
ticles? at Cape Hinlopen, which lies South of Cape Cornelius.]

Has seen Maps publisht in a Book generally called Ofjrilby's

America, in which the said Capes, to the best of his Memory,
are all called py the same Names, given to them in the said

Map markt D U T. Has never seen any Map or Maps of the
same Bay, which he believed were publisht before the year 1680,

wherein they were called by other or different Names. Does
not knoAv when the said Map markt D U T, was publisht, but
believes it was made a long time ago, and before the Year 1680.

•And the Reasons of such his Belief, are, that he has heard and
believes, the Dutch were formerly in Possession of the Province
of New York, and all the Lands between it and Delaware Bay
and River, and of the three Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent,
and Sussex on Delaware; which Possession they surrendered
some time in 1664, to the English. And it appears by the said

Map. that all those Counties and the several Parts of them,
represented in the said Map, are distinguished and called by
their former Dutch Names; and yet, the several Parts of Vir-
ginia and New-England, there, laid down, are, for the most
part, called and distinguished by English Names.

Ferd. John Paris, [Lib. A. Fol. 195. Int. 20. Fol. 280.
]

That he doth not know, nor hath he any reason what-
soever to believe, that in the Entering into, or concluding
the said Agreement ^vith the Lord Baltimore there was any
manner of Deceit or Imposition put upon the Lord Balti-

more, l)y describing two Capes on the Eastern side of the
Peninsula, one called Cape Cornelius, and the other called Cape
Hinlopen; nor in laying down Cape Hinlopen below, or more
Southward, than Cape Cornelius, and the Reasons why this

Deponent doth not believe that his Lordship was at all

imposed upon, or deceived therein, are, that the Lord Balti-

more's own written Map, so produced and iii.iik'd by him,
appeared to contain both the said Capes, with tiicir Names, in

the like manner, as the written Map so productnl by the Plain-
tiffs, or one of them did. And not only so, but this Deponent
hath seen printed Maps which appear to be (and this Deponent
supposes the same are; old foreign Maps; and hath also seen a

large printed Work of several Volumes in Folio, said to be
done by John Ogilby Esq; CosTuographer and (ieographick

4^-Vol. XV.
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Printer to the late King Charles the Second, and said to be

l)rinted(and which this Deponent supposes might be printed)

in the Year IGTl. before the Date of any of the said Crrants to

Proprietarv William Penn: in one of the Volumes of which

Work, now prociuced and shewn to this Deponent, and Letter'd

on the Back thereof (Mr. Ogilby's Atlas, Tom. 2.) a printed

Map is contained, between Fol. 108 and 169, wherein both the

said Capes are clearly and distinctly markVl, in some such like

maimer, tj this Deponent's Belief and Apprehension, as they

were in the Lord Baltimore's, and in the Plaintiffs respective

written Maps, so produced as aforesaid.

Jiinus Lo(,an, mml 66, [Lib. B. Fol. 76. Int. 11. Fol. 109. J

Saith as he has collected from his Reading, that, after the

Northern Continent of America had been discovered by Sebas-

tian Cabot sometime before the Year 1500 by Commission

froui King Henry the Seventh of England, the first Englishman,

that this Afhrmant finds to have taken Notice of the said Bay

and River now called Delaware, was the Lord Delaware, who in

his Voyage to Virginia as Governor of that Colony, in the Year

KilO. seems to have given it that Name, some time after which.

It is most certain, that the Dutch were the first that took Pos-

session of the Land upon the said River and Bay; and Corne-

lius May. a Dutch Skipper, in his Y'oyage to New Netherland

;il»))ears to have given his Christian Name to the Southern Cape,

and his Surname to the Northern Cape of the said Bay, which

Name the said Northern Cape retains to this Day; and from

the said Cornelius it appears, that some Place in the said Bay,

was called Newport May and saith, that he finds also, by the

Swedish Histories, that Gustavus Adolphus, King of Sweden,

who was killed at the Battle of Lutzen in Germany, in the

Year 1632, had in his Life-time, sent a Colony of Swedes into

the said Bay and River; but is well assured, from the said

Histories, that under the Reign of Christiana, Queen of Sweden,

between the Years 1640 and 1645, a large Colony of that Nation

were sent into the same Bay and River, who built several Forts,

and made considerable Settlements, very soon after their Arrival

there; particularly at Elsenburgh, on the East Side of the said

Bay ; and on the West of the said River, upon Christiana Creek

so called from the said Queen's Name; also at or near Upland

which Name that Place retained till the Proprietor William

Penn-s Arrival, who changed it into that of Chester; And

further saith, that after this, (as he finds by the said Histories)

in the Year 1655, the Dutch Government of New Netherland,

considering those Settlements of the Swedes as an Intrusion

and Invasion of their Right and former Possession, sent a mill-
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Tary Force sufficient to dislodge them; upon wiiich the Swedes
submitted, and from -that time acknowledged the Dutch (tov-
ernment. But in the \"ear 1GG4, (as he has collected from His-
tories) a Fleet was fitted out fronj England, to reassert the
ancient English Claim, as Prior to all the others Possessions:
which Fleet ttrst attacking the Fort at NewAmstell, now called
New York, took the same Irom the Dutch by Surrender: a.-

also very soon alter, the Bay and River of Delaware, which
having been, before that Time, called by the Dutch South-
River (ill contradiction to Hudson's River, which was calletl

by them the JS'orth River) the said River, from that Time of its

Capture, had its first jN'ame of Delaware restored to it. And
farther saith, that from the said Year 16G4. to the Year 1073, the
Country upon the said Bay and River, continued under the
English (Tovernment, and received divers Inhabitants from New
York and Long Island: but the Dutch having in the War de-
clared by England against the States General in 1672, retaken
the Colony of New York, and with it the said Bay and River
of Delaware, the same were re-surrendered by the Dutch, to the
English, by the Treaty of London in February, 1673; and, from
that Time, the said Country hath ever since continued under
the English Government, and particularly under the Govern-
ment of the Duke of York till March, 168^; at which time the
api»er and West side of the said River, beginning 12 Miles
Northward of Newcastle Town, was l)y the Patent from King
Charles the Second, granted to the said William Penn, with
large Powers of Government, under the Title of the Province
of Pensilvania, and the following Year, viz. in August 1682.

the said William Penn obtaining Grants, from the said Duke
of York of all the Lands on the West side of the said River and
Bay of Delaware, Southwards of 12 Miles Distance from New-
castle, to the Cape, he, in the said Year 1682, arrived himeelf
in the said Province, and transported thither, from England,
a vast Colony, in 32 Ships, at sundry times before he himself
left the Country in 1684; in which Expedition, during the said
William Penn's continuance in the Country, (which did not
amount to the full Term of 2 Years) he the said William Penn
(as this Witness is well assured from the intimate Acquaintance
he had afterwards with the said -William Penn's Affairs) ex-
pended not less than a Sum between 6 and 10,000/. sterling. And
further saith that the said Province of Pensilvania, and the three
Lower Counties are well known to be noAv very populous, and
in flourishing Condition, but can't possibly give an Account
of the Number of Taxables, or People in General, in the said 3

Lower Counties, having never in the Course of his Business had
occasion to be acquainted therewith.
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Tke same, [Int. 2i). Fn/. 149. ]

That he is acquainted with the Bay of Delaware, having gone

twice down tlie said Bay to Sea, and came twice up the same

from Sea ; but never had occasion to observe the Capes thereof.

That he has seen several Maps of that Part of America, pub

lished before the Year 1680, but having no previous Notice of

being interrogated thereto, this affirmant is not so well prepared

to answer as he otherwise might have been, but well remembers

to have seen Captain John Smith's Map mentioned in the

Affirmant's Answer to one of the preeeeding Interrogatories;

and also has seen a Map published by the Lord Baltimore

himself in the Year 1635, with a particular Account of his Prov-

ince of Maryland, which this Affirmant presumes will be pro-

duced upon the Hearing of this Cause, but does not remember,

in the said Map. any Notice was taken of the Capes of Dela-

ware aforesaid; that the Affirmant has also.seen a Dutch Map

of New Netherland. which apiJeared to him, to have been pub-

lished while the Country fvas in the Possession of the Dutch;

the Author of which, to the best of this Affirmant's Remem-

brance, was Jonckers; and also this Affirmant has seen a Map

published in Ogilby's America, which, to the best of his Re-

mendjrance. was printed in the Year 1671, in both which last

mentioned Mai^s, there are two Capes expressed or laid down

to the Southward of the said Bay of Delaware: the most North-

erly whereof was therein called Cape Cornelius, and the more

Southerly (now generally called the false Cai)e) was therein

called Cape Henlopen or Hinh>pen. And this Affirmant further

saith that the true Nhuic of tlie said last mentioned Cape ap-

pears to have been taken from the Word [Heenloopeen] accord-

ing to the true way of spelling it. which word, being Dutch,

is in the Dutch and English Dictionary pul)lish'd at Amster-

dam by William Sewell in the Year 1708. there interpreted (to

run away;) but the word (Inlopen) in this Interrogatory men-

tioned, he conceives ought to have been wrote (Inloopen) which

in the said Dictionary is interpreted [to run in, to flow, or

stream into.] And the Affirmant saith, that he hath been very

credibly informed that the most Southerly of the said Capes,

at some Distance from the Southward at Sea. makes the plain

Appearance of a Cape: but Navigators finding it otherwise,

upon a nearer Approach, gave it the aforesaid Name of Hin-

lopen or Heenloopeen, implying that it vani.<hesor disappears,

and in process of Time, the Term was changed into Inloopen,

and transferred to the more Northerly, and real Cape and En-

trance into the said Bay of Delaware; as more properly suit-

ing the same.
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Thomas Noxon, aged iO, [Lib. C. Fol 488. Int. 29. Fol. 507.]

Is pretty well acquainted with the Bay of Delaware, which
he has known about 20 Years, and has twice by Sea couie into

and gone out of the said Bay, and gone up and down the same.

That the true Southern Cape, which forms the ]iIouth of Dela-

ware Bay, is the Cape near Lewes Town but to the South-
"'vard of that Cape, and about 7 or 8 Miles to the Southward
of Inaijin River, upon Fenwick's Island, there is the Appear-
ance of Another Cape, well known to Sailors by the Name of the

false Cape, which the Deponent hath heard frequently called

Cape Henlopen by ancient People—which last-mentioned Cape
from the Seaward at a Distance, has the Appearance of a Cape,

but as it is approached nearer, that Appearance vanishe.';. Says

that, about nineteen Years ago, the Deponent coming from
Jamaica in a Vessel bound for New Y'ork, in some distres.

,

endeavoured to make some Land to the Westward ; that the

first Land they made was the said false Cape, which the Mariners

on Board, from its appearing like a Cape, apprehended it was
thA Southern Cape that forms the Entrance of the said Bay of

Delaware. That an ancient Sailor, then on Board, who said

he had been thirty Y'ears at Sea, and part of that time in the

Dutch Service, said it was the false Cape that the Dutch had
called Cape Hinlopen which, he said, signified in English,

Cape running away, or disappearing. That the Comiuander
of the Vessel, discrediting what the said Sailor had said, stood

in towards the same, till the main Land rise, and they came
into the Shoal Water; and then, they found that the said

Apearance, as a Cape aforesaid, had vanished. That there-

upon, they stood away to the Eastward, and afterwards, saw
the true Southern Cape of Delaware Bay. Further says, he has

seen a Map in Ogilby's Book of America, and three others,

(which he takes to be either Dutch Maps, or Extracts from
them, by the Names of the Places being wrote in the Dutch
Tongue) and which lie apprehends were made before 1680,

wherein the said fal.se Cape is laid down, by the Name of Cape
Hinlopen, and the said true Cape by the Name of Cape Corne-

liu.«. He understands the Dutch Tongue pretty well, and be-

lieves the said Interpretation of the Words (";ipe Hinlopen,

which are Dutch Words, was rightly given. l)y the said Sailor

as aforesaid. Does not understand the meaning of the Word
Capin lopen, taken together, but understands the Word lopeii,

Avhicli is also a Dutch Word, and signifies lunning or going,

in English. That the Distance between the true and false

Capes aforesaid he believes to be near or about 20 English

Miles.
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Thomas James, Pilot, aged 4<J, [Lib. B. Fol. 30. Int. 29. Fol. 33.]

That he has observed the Capes, that from (form) the Entrance

into the Bay of Delaware, which are now called Cape May and

Cape Hinlopen, and that, to the Southwaiil of the Entrance

into the said Bay, there is the Appearance of two Capes, tho'

in reality there is only one true Cape, and M'hich is the most

Northerly, and is now called Cape Hinlopen. That this De-

ponent hath seen some old Swedish and Dutch Drafts of the Bay

and River of Delaware, which to the best of this Deponent's

Remembrance, bore Date about the Y'ear 1672; and that in those

Drafts there was but one Cape laid down to the Southward of

the said Bay, which was called in the said Drafts Cape Corne-

liu?, and is the Cape at the Entrance of the said Bay, now
called Cape Hinlopen.

The same, [Int. 19. fol. 80.

J

Has been acquainted with the Bay and River of Delaware,

and with the Sea-Coast, to the Southward of the Entrance into

the Bay, for 40 Years past; having, for all that Time used the

Sea, and has been a Commander and Pilot of Vessels, for about

28 Years of the said Time. That upon the Sea Coast, to the

Southward of the Entrance into the said Bay, and about 18

Miles from the said Entrance, there is the Appearance of a

Cape, which off, at a Distance, at Sea, and upon the first mak-

ing of it, from the Southward or Eastward, appears bluff, and

like the upper Cape at the Entrance of the said Bay, now called

Cape Hinlopen; but as you sail to the Northward, and ap-

proach nearer the same, it decreases and disappears; for which

Reason it is sometimes called the false Cape. That the said

Place which has the Appearance of a Cape afo'-esaid, has been

formerly called Cape Hinlopen; and this Deponent has been

informed by his Wther, who was a Mariner, that the same was

also sometimes called Cape James, or Cape Hinlopen, and some-

times the False Cape. That the before-mentioned Cape, at

the Mouth or Entrance of Delaware Bay, is now, and has been

ever since this Deponent used the Sea, called by the Name of

Cai)e Hinlopen l)nt has heard his Father say, that, in the old

Drafts, it wiis called Cape Cornelius; but that he himself and

other old Coruiiianders called it Cape Hinlopen.

Geon/e Fitzumter, aged (iO, f/it- Defendant's Witness, but cross-

examined, [Lib. C. Fol. 469. hit. 19. Fol. 471.]

That he became, and has been acquainted with the Bay and

River of Delaware and the Sea-Coast to the Southward of the

Entrance into the said Hay. ever since the Year 1706 or 1707,

by making several Voyages from Pensilvani.i to the West-Indies

and passing to and fro, through the said Bay and River,
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and frequently falling in with llie said Sea-Coast, to the

Southward of the said Bay, and sailing along that Shore. And
baith that he this Alliriuant has frequently observed, at his

coming in from Sea, that, upon the said Sea-Coast, at about

6 or 7 Leagues from the Mouth or Entrance of the said Bay,

there is the Appearance of a Cape, which, upon the first de

scrying or making the same, off at Distance, from Sea, looks

bold, and like the upper Cape, which is to the Northward

thereof, at the Entrance, or Mouth of the said Bay ; but, upon
approaching or coming nearer to it, the same loses the Appear-

ance of a Cape, and is therefoi'e, called the false Cape; and as

this Affirmant has heird and believes, the same was, anciently.

caUed by the Dutch, Cape Inlope, but since his Acquaintance

therewith, has been generally called the false Cape.

Elizabeth Morris, aged 65, [Lib. B. Fol. 49. Int. 20. Fnl. 50. ]

That she has known the three Counties now called Newcastle,

Kent and Sussex on Delaware, and the Town noAv called Lewes,

for about 55 Years, which Town, formerly, before it was called

Lewes, was called the Whorekill, by the Dutch, and all others.

That the County of Sussex aforesaid, before it was called by

that Name, was generally called and known by the Name of

the Whorekill County. And that Lewis Town aforesaid was
formerly in the County called Whorekill, but now is in Sussex

County aforesaid. Saith that she has heard, from her Father,

and others, that the said County, now called Sussex, was
formerly, under the Government of New-York, and knows it

has since, been under the Government of the Proprietors of

Pensiivania, as one of the three Lower Counties, which were

called the Territories of Pensiivania, but never heard the said

County of Sussex was ever under the Government of the Pn*
prietors of Maryland. That the said County, now called Sus-

sex, since it has been under the Government of Proprietors of

Pensilvani.a, did extend Southerly beyond the Indian River:

which the Affirmant well remembers, because several Persons,

particularly the Burtons, Stockleys, and one Fennick, (who the

Affirmant heard owned Fennick's Island) lived to the Southward
of that River, under the Government of the Projjrietors of Pen-

siivania; and that divers Persons used to come, from Ijeyond

that River, and attend Sussex County-Court. And saith th;it

she has heard and believes, that there was a Tree, marked by

the Dutch, to the Southward of Indian River, as a Boundary
between the said County and tiie Province of Maryland, which
has been long since cut down, upon which a Plate of Brass

was fixed, with the Figure of a Ship upon it. but the particular

Place where the same Tree stood, knows not; That she never
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knew or heard, that any Force or Compulsion have been used,

by the Proprietors of Pensilvania, or any Persons pretending

Authority under them, to oblige the People of Lewes Town
aforesaid, or the Inhabitants living to the South side of Indian

River, or within the Bounds or reputed Bounds of the said

County of Sussex, to submit to the Government of the Proprie-

tor of Pensilvania, or to acknowledge him for their Proprietor

or Landlord, but saith that about 30 or 40 Y^ears ago. she heard,

and believes, that several persons, residing in the Southward

of Indian River aforesaid, under the Government of the Pro-

prietor of Pensilvania, were disturbed in their Possessions, by

Persons claiming Authority under the Proprietor of Maryland

in order to compel a Submission to his Government, and par-

ticularly heard from one Hill and his Wife, that his Cattle

were drove off their Land, for that Purpose; and that she has

heard from her Father, deceased, and many others, that there

was a Cape, as well as she remembers, to the Southward of In-

dian River (but knows not certainly where) which was esteemed

the Bound of Sussex County.

Samuel Preston, Esq. aged 75, [Lib. B. Fol. 312. Int. 20. Fol. 327.]

That he knows the Bay and River of Delaware, and the three

Lower Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, and that he

hath known Lewes-Town and Indian-River in this Interroga-

tory mentioned, about fifty Y'ears; And saith that Lewes-Town

aforesaid was called the Whorekill. before the coming of Wil-

liam Penn, Esq. ; into I^nsilvania, and while the said Town
was under the Government of New-York ; but after it came under

the Government of the said William Penn, the Name thereof was

changed to Lewes-Town ; and that the said County now called

Sussex, was always called by that Name, since the Affirmant knew

it; but, before, and whilst the same was under the Dutch, that

County (as this Affirmant heard and believes) was generally

called Whorekill County : And that the said County of Sussex,

when this Affirmant first knew it. was under the Government

of the said William Penn, and, as he believes, was never under

the Government of the Defendant, or any of his Ancestors.

And this Affirmant further saith, that the said County of Sussex

was then generally reputed and believed to extend to a small

Inlett called Assawaman. wjiich was then about ten Miles to

the Southward of Indian River, and 20 Miles and upwards from

and to the Southward of Lewes Town aforesaid. And saith

that he became acquainted with the Southern Bounds of the

said County, by his being an Inhabitant there for several Y'ears,

and being led by the Nature of his Business to a general

Knowledge of the said County, and the Inhabitants thereof.
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And also saith that it was generally reputed, when this
Affirmant first became acquainted with the said County, that
thd Dutch had claimed the same as far as the Inlett called
Assawaman, and near to, or at, a Place called Fenicks's Island;
and that, near Assawaman aforesaid, they had set up a Stand-
ard, either upon a Tree or a Post, with a Brass-Plate, or Brass-
Nails, as a Mark of their Claim. And saith, that he has heard
and believes, and it was then so generally reputed and under-
stood, that, soon after the said William Penn's becoming Pro-
prietor of Pensilvania, and the said three Lower Counties, a
Mannor was laid out, by or under the said William Penn's
Directions, near Assa-waman Inlett aforesaid, and was called
the Duke of York's Mannor; That there were some Christian
People settled to the Southward of Indian River aforesaid, and
within the reputed Bounds of Sussex County aforesaid, when
this Affirmant first knew the same, and who lived under the
Government of the said William Penn; and that he never knew
or heard, that any Force or Compulsion was ever used by any
of the Proprietors of Pensilvania to oblige thfi Inhabitants of
Lewes-Town, and those living to the Southward thereof, and
Indian River aforesaid, and within the reputed Bounds of
Sussex County aforesaid, to submit to that Government, or
to acknowledge them as their Proprietors or Landlords. And
saith, that he this Affirmant does not know of any other force
or Compulsion being used by the Defendant or any of his An-
cestors, Proprietors of Maryland, to oblige the Inhabitants of
Lewes-Town aforesaid, or those to the Southward thereof,
within the reputed Bounds of Sussex County aforesaid, to sub-
mit to the Government, save that he remembers to have heard
it currently reported many Years ago, that Colonel Witting-
ton then Sheriff of Sojuerset County in Maryland, had threat-
ened the People living under the Government of Pensilvania
to the Southward of, and near Indian River aforesaid. That, if

they did not pay him some Taxes which he claimed from them,
he would make Distress upon them for the same. And the
Affirmant further saith. that he has very frequently heard it

said Ijy Navigators, that upon the Sea-Coast, about 25 Miles to
the Southward of the Mouth of Delaware Bay, there is a Head-
Land, which oft' at a Distance from Sea, has the Appearance of
a Cape, and is called Cape Henlopen, but upon a near Approach,
the same loses the Appearance of a Cape: and that he this
Affirmant ha,'^ seen the said false Cape, laid down in several
Dutch Maps as a Cape, and therein called Cape Henlopen.

John Tt-aqnc.of Maryland, Planter, aged m, [Lib. B. ful. 22.")

Int. 20. fol. 22.5! 1

That he knows The i-Say and River of Delaware, and the ('oun-
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ties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, in this Interrogatory men-

tioned, and tliat he iias known the Town, now called Lewes

in the County of Sussex, for near 50 Years; and saith that the

same was formerly called Whorekills. and retained that Name,
till about 18 or 19 Years ago, when it was changed to that of

Lewes; and that he has also known Indian Ri%'er in the Inter-

rogatory mentioned, for near 50 Years. And saith that the

said County of Sussex was formerly called the Whorekill by the

English, Dutch, and other People in general ; and that the

same continued, to be called so for ujany Years after this De-

ponent first knew it, but how many Years cannot now say;

That then the Name of that was changed into that of Sussex

County. And further saith, that the County wherein the said

Town now called Lewes stood, wiien this Deponent first knew
the same, was called the Whorekill. and is now called Sussex

County, and was then under the Government of the said Wil-

liam Penn ; And that this Deponent never heard that the same

was under the Government of the Lord Baltimore, or the Gov-

ernment of New-Y'ork; And saith that the said County, an-

tiently called the Whorekill, and now Sussex County, when
this Deponent first knew the same, extended beyond, or to the

Southward of, Indian River aforesaid, and to a Place called

Phenix's Island, where this Deponent has been, and Avas there

told, that that was the Exent of the said County to the South-

ward. And this Deponent saith, that about three or four Years

after the Duke of Monmouth's Rebellion in England, but the

exact Number of Years ago this Deponent doth not now re-

member, he this Deponent was at the said Place, called Phenix's

Island, in Company with two Persons, who there shewed this

Deponent a Square Post of about seven Foot high, with a

pointed Head, which had three Brass-Nails driven into three

of the Sides of the said Post, the Heads of which Nails were

near the Size of an English Halfpenny; and which Post this

Deponent supposed had been fixed there by the Indians, till he

was told by the said two Persons, and afterwards by several

others, that they believed the same had been placed there by

the Dutch. And saith that he heard, some time after., that

there was also found, upon the said Island, near, but further

to the Southward of the said Post, a Tree. M'hereon was a Plate

of Brass, which, having been grown over with the Bark, was

discovered, upon cutting up and splitting the said Tree into

Fence-Rails, which Intormation. relating to the said Tree and

Plate of Brass, this Deponent had from the Son of one Thomas
Mumford, who told this Deponent he had it fro.ni his Father,

who had lived with Mr. Phenix. upi>n the said Island, and

also from many others; And that he this Deponent has likewise



BOUNDARY yilKSTlON. 667

heard that to tlie West or ^lorth-westward ot the said Island,

and within about a Half a Mile thereof, had been also tound

another Tree markt on two sides thereof, with three Notches;

That this Deponent does not know that there were any

(Christian People settled to the Southward (jf Indian River

aforesaid, and between it and Phenix's Island, when he first

knew the said Plaees, l)ut that sometime after, one Barton came

up from Virginia, antl settled on the South-side of the Mouth

of the said Indicin River. That this Deponent does not know,

or has ever heard, that any Force or Compulsion was ever used

by the Proprietors of Pensilvania. or any other Persons pre-

tending Authority under them, to oblige the People of Lewes-

Town, or the Inhabitants living on the South-side of Indian

River, to submit to that Grovernment. but saith that about 50

Years ago, this Deponent, with five others, were prest by the

Ilnder-Sheritf of Somerset County, to go and assist him to arrest

one Peter Waples for Debt, to the Southward of and near In-

dian River aforesaid, but the People there opposed them, and

rescued the said Prisoner from them ; alledging, that the said

Under-SherifT and his Assistants were out of their Precincts,

being within the Government of Mr. Penn the Proprietor of

Pensilvania. And further saith, that he being summoned up

to Annapolis, with two others, to be Evidences, to give In-

formation of the said Opposition, made by the said Peoi^le at

Indian River, he remembers the Lawyers there declared, that

if the said Under-Sheriff and his Assistants had had their Bones

broken, their Remedy would have been in their own Hands.

And saith that afterwards Ephraim Wilson, Sheriff' of Somerset

County, went up. with a Troop of Horse as this Deponent was

informed, and apprehended the said Waples, and carried him

bound to Somerset County Prison ; And saith that about 50

Years ago, the Land about Phenix's Island aforesaid, and from

that, all along to the South-side ot Indian River aforesaid, was

called Cape Inlope. And this Deponent further saith, that

about 50 Years ago, as he was conducting two Dutchmen,

who he supposed were Privateers, from Somerset County afore-

said, to Whorekill. now called Lewes-Town, this Dej^onent

remembers that, about four Miles to the Southward of Indian

River aforesaid, the said Dutchmen declared they then knew

where they were, for that they were at Cape Inlopen.

* William Waples, aged G3, [Lib. B. FoL 248. Int. 20. Fol. 349.]

That he has seen the Bay and River in the Interrogatory

mentioned, but is not well acquainted with them. That he is

well acquained with Hie County of Sussex on Delaware, and

has been in the Counties of Newcastle and Kent, but is not
\
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well acquainted with them. And saith, that he has known
the Indian River and Lewes-Town, in the Interrogatory men-
tioned, about 47 or 48 Years, which Town and the said County
of Sussex, when the Deponent first knew them, were by the
Inhabitants and others, both called Whorekill, and were under
the Government of William Penn Esq; and that the said Town
is now in Sussex County aforesaid ; And this Deponent further
saith, that when he first knew the said County of Sussex, his
Father settled under the said William Penn, on the South side
of the Indian River aforesaid, about three Miles up a Creek. that
emptied itself into the South-side of the said River, upon Land
which he purchased of President Clarke, and saith that he this
Deponent being young then, knew not how far the same County
extended to the Southward; but then heard that the said Wil-
liam Penn claimed as far as Fenicks's Inlett, near Fenicks's
Island; near which Inlett, at a Place called Inlopen, or
Hinlopen, he then heard there had been a Standard or Post
put up by, or for the said William Penn, or some other
Person who was in Possession before him, with some Brass
upon it. And further saith, that there were about ten Fami-
lies settled to the Southward of Indian River aforesaid, be-

tween that and tiie said Inlett; amongst whom was one
Stockely a Magistrate for the said County, then called Whore-
kill County; one David Jenkins a Constable for the same
County, under tiie CTOvernment of the said William Penn; That
he has never heard that the Proprietors of Pensilvania, or any
Persons pretending Authority under them, ever used any Force
or Compulsion to oblige the Inhabitants of Lewes-Town afore-
said, or the People residing to the Southward of Indian River
aforesaid, and above the said Inletts, to submit to the Govern-
ment of the same Proprietors, or to acknowledge them for their
Proprietors or Landlords. And further saith, that about 44 or
45 Years ago the Under-Sheriff of Somerset County in Maryland,
by virtue of a Writ from tlie County Court of that County,
arrested his Father where he was settled, as the Deponent has
above declared, and that his Father refused to acknowledge
the Jurisdiction of the said Court, alledging he lived in Sussex
or Whorekill County: And that thereupon the said Sheriff de-
parted, and in about a Fortnight after returned, with five Men,
and took his Father and tied him ; Whereupon four of the
Neighbours were sent for, and came there ; That a Person stand-
ing in the House, named Charles Tindal, said, what will you
tie a Man in his own House, and taking a Gun down from ;i

Rack, said, he would clear the House of them: and therpupon
his Father was untied: And saith that a Person who was re-

puted a Man of Substance there, offered to l)ecume Bail for his
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Father; To which the said SherilT replied, that if lie would go

down to St. Martins, he would accept of him for Bail.' To
which his Father an^swered, that except he would take Bail,

where he had arrested him, he would not jrive any, for if he

had not a Right to take Bail there, he had no Right to arrest

him there, and that, afterwards, the said Under-SherifT and
the five Men aforesaid, departed ; Which said Under-Sheriff, in

about a Fortnight's Time, returned with the High Sheriff of

Somerset County aforesaid, and about 20 Men with Arms with

him, and seized and bound this Deponent's Father, and the

said Charles Tindal, and carried them down to Somerset County
aforesaid. And saith that he heard from his Father, and be-

lieves, that he "was prosecuted in Somerset County aforesaid,

and at Annapolis in the Province of Maryland, for not obeying
the .said Sheriff, which cost him a great Sum of Money; and
that in some small time after the said Arrest, the Inhabitants,

residing on the South-side of Indian River aforesaid, submitted
to the Government of Maryland.

David Hazarfh <>f Marinland. Planter, aped 73, [Lib. B. fol. 239.

Int. 20. fol. 240.]

That he has known the Bay and River of Delaware, and the

Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, for upwards of 36 Years

past, and has known the Town called Lewes and Indian River

in this Interrogatory mentioned, 46 Years, which Town, when
he first knew it. was generally called The Whorekill, and the

said County of Sussex, when he first knew it, was also generally

called Whorekill, and was under the Orovernment of William
Penn. Esq; as he was informed: That he cannot say how far

the same County then extended to the Southward of Lewes-
Town aforesaid, but supposes it extended beyond Indian River
aforesaid ; because some of the Officers, to wit, a Justice of the

Peace, and a Constable for the same County, resided to the
Southward of the same River. And this Deponent further

saith, that it has been rumoured, as long as he can retiiember,

that there was a Tree, on Fenicks's Island, in which there

were Brass Nails drove, as it was said by some Dutch who
landed there and claimed it as their Land: and that he was
told by an antient Man, of good Credit, named Hugh Tingle,

Avho lived within a Mile or two of Fenicke's Island, aforesaid ;

That the said Nails were drove into the said Tree in the Form
of a Horse shoe, but does not remember that the said Tingle
said he ever saw the said Tree. And this Deponent further

saith, that, when he first kne%v the said County of Sussex, there

were about half a score Christian Families settled to the South-
ward of Indian River, near to the same River, and on the Sea-
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Coast between the same River and Fenicks's Island aforesaid:

which Families were under the Government of William Penn

:

but the South Bounds of the said County he never knew. That

he has never heard that the Proprietors of Pensilvania, or any

Persons pretending? Authority under them, ever used any Force

or Compulsion to oblijje the Inhabitants of Lewes-Town, or

the People residing' on the South-Side of Indian River, to sub-

mit to the Government of the same Proprietors, or to acknow-

ledge them for their Proprietors or Landlords; And saith, that

he has heard and believes, that one Waples removed from the

lower Part of Maryland, and settled on the South-side of In-

dian River, within the Government of tne Proprietor of Pen-

silvania, as the said Waples apprehended ; and that afterAvards,

the Sheriff of Somerset County in Maryland, with several Men,

came to the House of the said Waples, and took him by Force,

and carried him back into Somerset County aforesaid. And

further saith. that he has heard that Fenicks's Island has been

called the False Cape, and by some other Names that he does

not now remember.

John Prettymaii. a;/e(l 62, [Lib. B. Fol. 257. Int. 20. Fol. 258.]

That he has seen several Parts of the Bay and River of Dela

ware, but is not well acquainted with them, and knows the

Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, and has

known the Town now called Lewes, and the Indian River,

about 43 Years. And saith, that when he this Deponent first

knew Lewes-Town aforesaid, it was generally called Whorekill,

and the County of Sussex was then also generally called by the

same Name of the Whorekill, and Avas under the Government

of the Proprietor of Pensilvania. And that the said Town now

called Lewes was formerly in the Couuty called Whorekill,

and is now in Susssex County aforesaid, and this Deponent

further saith. that he does not know how far the said County

of Sussex extended Southward of the said Town now called

Lewes at the Time of his first Knowledge thereof, but believes

it extended about 12 Miles to the Southward of Indian River;

and the Reason he has for such Belief is, that his Father about

43 Years ago removed from Virginia, and came into the Inlett

near Fenicks's Island, and loaded his Goods upon the same

Island: and that he this Deponent resided, on the said Island

and in the Neighbourhood thereof, for a Month or six Weeks,

and heard the ancient People who lived there, say that they

lived under the Government of Mr. Penn, and that the Dutch

had formerly nailed a Brass or Copper Plate, on a Tree or Post

in the said island, which was then looked upon as the Bound

between Penn and Baltimore, and that the said FenicksV Island
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was then generally called Cape Hinlopen or lulopen. And
further saith, that there were divers Christian Families, who
lived, between the South Side of Indian River, and the South-
ern Boundary of the same Country; particularly one John
Stokely. who was a Magistrate for the same County, and was,
also an Assembly Man for the said County, and sat as a Kepre-
•sentative thereof, at the City of Philadelphia, and also another
Person who was a Constable for tlie same County : and saith
he never heard that the Proprietors of Pensilvania, or any
TVrson pretending Authority under them, ever used any Force
or Violence, to oblige the Inhabitants of the said Town called
Lewes, or the People residing on the South Side of Indian River
to submit to their Government, or to own them for their Pro-
prietors or Landlords; and that he has heard, there were Dis-
turbances made, on the South Side of the River, by Persons
who were supposed to act under the Authority of the Proprie-
tor of Maryland, but, as lie lived on the North Side of the
same River, he can give no particular Account of them.

*Woodma7i Stockley, aged 53, [Lib. B. Fol. 263. Int. 20. Fol. 264.]
That he knows the Bay and River Delaware, and the Coun-

ties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, and has known
the Town now called Lewes, and Indian River, in this Inter-
rogatory mentioned, upwards of 40 Years, and which Town
when he first knew it was by the Inhabitants and People in
general called Whorekill. And that the said County of Sussex,
since he knew it. was always called by that Name, and that
the said Town of Lewes is in the same County. And saith,
that the same County, Avhen he first knew it, "was under the
Ciovernment of William Penn Esq ; and extended abo-it 20 Miles
to the Southward of Lewes-Town aforesaid, but how far to the
Southward of Indian River the Deponent cannot tell. That
he lived, with his Father, above 40 Years ago, who settled on
the South Side of Indian River, under the Government of the
said William Penn; but knows of no Marks, that were then
the Southern Boundaries of the same County. And this De-
ponent further saitli, that there were then half a dozen Fami-
lies, to the Knowledge of the Deponent, who lived on the South
Side of Indian River aforesaid, and under the Government of
the said William Penn; which he well knows, because the
People, residing there, attended the Court, for that County,
at Lewes-Town aforesaid, some of them as Jurymen, and one
John Stokely, his Uncle, who lived there, was a Justice of the
Peace for the same County. And this Deponent saith he hath
never heard that the Proprietors of Pensilvania ever used any
Force or Compulsion,' to oblige the Inhabitants of the Town
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called Lewes aforesaid, or the People residing on the South Side

of Indian River aforesaid, to acknowledge theui for their Pro-

prietors or Landlords; but this Deponent hath heard tlmt one

of the Sheriffs in Maryland cauie up from thence, and by Force

turned a Man out of Possession of his Plantation, and delivered

the same to another Person; and the Deponent further saith,

that, when he was young. People used to call the Island, now
called Fenicks's Island, (which is upwards of 20 Miles to the

Southward of the Cape, at the Mouth of Delaware Bay, and to

the Southward of Indian River aforesaid.) Cape Henlopen, and

then called the Cape, on the South Side of the Mouth of the said

Bay. Cape Inlopen.

*John Anderson, [Lib. B. Fol. 269. Int. 20. Fol. 270.]

That he knows the Bay and River of Delaware, and the

Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, and has

known the Town now called Lewes, and the Indian River, in

this Interrogatory mentioned, upwards of 20 Years; and saith

that ever since he has known the said Town, it has been called

Lewes, and the suid County, since his Knowledge thereof, has

been always called Sussex, in which County the said Town
stands ; and which Town and County, since he has known them,

have been always under the Government of the Proprietors of

Pensilvania; and this Deponent further saith, about 6 or 7

Years ago, he the Deponent, conversing with one Charles Bright,

since deceased, (at the saia Bright's House, and on his own
Plantation, in Kent County on Delaware) who was then reputed

to be 108 Years old) concerning the said three lower Counties

falling under the Government of Maryland, the said Charles

Bright then told the Deponent that the Boundaries of Penn's

Laud was at C'ape Hinlopen, on Fenicks's Island, and that he

the said Charles Bright had lived on Rumney Marsh, near

Fenicks's Island aforesaid, some Years, and had frequently seen

the said Boundary, which was engraved with Brass, and that

he had often seen and knew the Line that run from the said

Boundary, which was West, and that the said Charles Bright

then desired this Deponent to take notice of what he had said.

Brickus Townseud, of Maryland, aped 33, [Lib. B. Fol. 246. Int.

20. Fol. 346.]

That he knows the Bay and River of Delaware, and has been

in the Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex, but is not well

acquainted with them ; That he has known the Indian River 10

or 12 Years, and first knew the Town called Lewes about two
Years ago, which is in the said County of Sussex. That the

said County, ever since he knew it, has been under the Govern
ment of vhe Pri^prietors of Pensilvania; That the Deponent lias
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heard his Father say, that old Hugh Tingle told him, there

was a Tree on Fenwicks's Island, which had eight Brass Nails

drove in it, and was supposed to be a Boundary of the Land to

take up the Country. That he knows a Place, on Fenwicks's
Island, To the Southward of Indian River, which he has com-
monly heard called Cape Hinlopen, and to the rest of this In-

terrogatory cannot depose.

James iSaiigster, aged 58, [Lib. E. Fol. 43. \Qth additioiml Int.

Fol. 42.]

That the first Christian People who, he has heard, settled

the said Counties of Newcastle, Kent and Sussex were Dutch;
That he never heard the said County of Sussex called by any
other Name. That as he was travelling up, from Virginia,

hither [to Maryland] with his Mother, she shewed him a marked
Tree, near an Indian Town, at the Head of a Creek called As-

sawaman. which empties itself into a small Bay or Sound, a
little to the Northward of a Place called Fenicks's Island, and
said, that was a Boundary between Maryland and Pensilvania.

That the said County of Sussex was, as he has heard, formerly

under the (rovernment of New York, and he never understood
any Part of it was under the Government of Maryland, (except

what lies between the South Side of Indian River, and the

North Side of Assawaman Creek aforesaid ;) That the Lands,

lying, between the said Creek and River, were settled and pos-

sessed by some Families under the Proprietors of Pensilvania,

until one Peter Waples, an inhabitant of Somerset County in

Maryland, about 45 or 4fi Years ago, fled from thence for Debt,

and settled himself on a Place called Piny Neck, near the

South Side of Indian River aforesaid, supposing he was, then,

out of the Limits of the said County of Somerset : That, after-

wards, the Sheriff of the same County came up, with a Num-
ber of Men, took him from thence by Force, and carried him
to the Prison of Somerset County aforesaid ; That afterwards,

one Whittington, who was Surveyor of the same County, as

he has heard, came up, surveyed many of the Lands, between
the said Creek and River, and dispossessed those that were
settled on them under the Proprietors of Pensilvania, particu-

larly one John Stokely who, at that Time was a Justice of the

Peace for Sussex County aforesid.

William Burton., of Maryland, Planter, aped 62, [Lib. E. Fol.

32. Int. 2. Fol. 32. and 10th additional Int. Fol. 33.]

Says that he has resided in the County of Sussex and in Mary-
land for 48 Years past, and that he has heard that the first

Christian People who settled the said Counties of Newcastle,
43—Vol. XV.
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Kent and Sussex, were Swedes and Dutch; and understood,

from some Writings which he has seen, that the said County
of Sussex was formerly called Dale : and Delaware Bay aforesaid

was called Wilk, by the Province of New York; That the said

Cou«ty of Sussex extended Southward to a Creek called Assa-

waman. about 9 Miles to the Southward of Indian River, and

about 25 Miles from Lewes-Town; That he has heard the said

County of Sussex, before he came hither, was under the Gov
ernnient of York : but, since, it has been under the Government
of Pensilvania; and to his Knowledge the same, or any Part

thereof, (except what lies' to the Southward of the Indian

River) never wasunder the Government of Maryland; which
Part to the Southward of that River, has been under that

Government about 45 Years; That about 45 Years ago he was
informed, that one Peter Waples, who lived in Somerset

County, fled for Debt from the Place of his Abode, to the

South Side of Indian River, and settled within five Miles

of the Place where the Deponent then lived, supposing he

was, then, out of the Limits of Somerset County ; That the

Sheriff of that County, with about half a dozen Men came
and took him, from thence, by Force, and carried him into

Somerset County; That soon after this, one Colonel Witting-

ton, being Sheriff of Somerset County aforesaid, came to one

John Petijolius, who lived on the South Bank of Indian River,

and demanded Taxes of him. which he refusing to pay, the said

Whittington distrained some of his Cattle for them, which
Things, and some others of the like Nature, so frightened the

People to the Southward of Indian River, (which were about
8 Families) that they were obliged to submit to the Govern-

ment of Maryland, and that most of the Lands which were

held by them, under Grants from the Proprietors of Pensilvania,

were, after, taken up under the Government of Maryland, and
particularly 000 Acres l)y the said Whittington; and has also

he-iird that Part of those said Lands had, before then, been

taken up under the said <TOvernment of Maryland ; whereupon
those People, and the Inhabitants of the said 3 lower Counties,

refused to pay any Quit Rents to the Proprietors of Pensil-

vania, as tliis Deponent has been informed. That one John
Stokely, who was Master of one of the 8 Familes aforesaid and
who had aeted as a Magistrate, in Sussex County afore.said,

after the Submission as aforesaid to the Government of Mary-
land, accepted of the Commission of a Magistrate under the said

Government, and acted thereby in the said County of Somerset.

William Burton, of Man/laufJ, af/ed 62, [Lib. E. Fol. 32. 11^/;

(vhmiovnl Int. Fnl. 38.1

Who has before deposed that he has resided iu SuBsex County
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and in Maryland for 48 Years past, says, That he neither knows
nor ever heard, that the Proprietors of Maryland, or any of

them, were ever in the Possession of the said Lands now called

Newcastle, Kent and Sussex on Delaware, or any Part of them,
(excepting in the Lands aforesaid to the Southward of Indian
River aforesaid, and a Fort about Christiana, in Newcastle
County aforesaid) nor does he know, has heard, or believes,

that they or any of them, or any Person under their Authority
ever exercised any Jurisdiction, or held any Courts, in the
said County of Sussex, nor has he ever seen any Record, or

publick Minument, or Writing, purporting any such Juris-

diction, or Courts, held by them, or their Authority, within
any of the said Counties.

Jamts Gangster, aged 58, {Lib. E. Fol. 42. Vdth additional Int.

Ful. 46.]

That he formerly following Whaleing, and thereby became ac-

quainted with the Sea Coast, from the Entrance of Delaware
Bay down to the Southward of Fenicks's Island, but has never
been very far in the Sea from it; That he observed in foggy
Weather, at Sea the said Island had the Appearance of a Cape,
which, as he appreliends. is occasioned l)y Assawaman Sound,
which joins to it, but as it is approached nearer, it alters its

Form, and does not appear to be a Cape, That he has heard
that Fenicks's Island aforesaid, at the first Settlement on Dela-
ware Bay, was called Cape Henlopen : and that it has been
called by one or other of those Names ever since; which Island

he apprehends, lies 30 Miles to the Southward of the Southern
Caj>e at the Mouth of Delaware Bay; which last mentioned
Cape he has heard one Alexander Molleston, an ancient Dutch
man, who lived near the same, and one Cornelius Wilbank,
about 48 Years ago. say. was called by the Name of ('ornelius,

and by others, about the .same Time, it was called (Jape Inlope;
That ever since, has l)een called sometimes by one of those
Names, and sometimes, by tlie other, but by the greater Number
it has been called Cape Inlope.

William Btirton, of 3iaryland, aged near 62, [Lib. E. Fol. 32.

\Uh additional Int. tol. 40.]

That he has never been at Sea. but has been in a high Wood
of about 100 Acres on Fenicks's Island, and on the Sea Coast,
which he has been informed by Sailors, has the Appearance of

a Cape from the Sea ; but as it is approached, that Appearance
vanishes, and there is no Cape at all ; That it is by some People
called the False Cape, and by others Fenicks's Island: he
never heard it called by any other Name until he saw the
printedPlan or Map, mentioned in the late Agreement, between
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the Proprietors of Pensilvania and Maryland, by which it

is called Cape Hinlopen; That he never heard the Place called

Cape Cornelius in that Map. called by that Name until the

Proprietor of Pensilvania arrived in that Province, about 40

Years ago. And has heard his Father say, that the same Pro-

prietor then called it by that Name, but before that Time.

as he ever understood, it was called Cape Henlopen.

DEPOSITIONS FOR THE DEFENDANT. WITH SOME OB-
SERVATIONS THEREON.

Aitdfiist, as to such of our Witnesses as he cross-examined in

order to disqualify themselves, as interested Ferso7is.

Samuel Preston,

Our Commissioner, the Defendant examined to a vast Number
of Interrogatories on his own part, as to the Matters in ques-

tion; so that he is an unquestionable good Witness on our

part.

James Logan, our Commissioner, the Defendant cross-examined

only as to his Interest, [Lib. H. fol. 99. Int. 1. fol. 100.]

But he answers, precisely in the Words of their Interrogatory,

That he is not immediately, or mediately, concerned in the

Event of this Suit; nor does he hold, possess or claim any

Land, in disjiute between the Plaintiffs and Defendant in this

Cause, either in the three Lower Counties called Newcastle,

Kent, and Sussex, or within the Province of Pensilvania or

Maryland.

The Defendant thought this Gentleman (who had once

heretofore, gone thro' so many Offices) must needs have

some Interest in the Lands in question, therefore he ex

amined one or two Witnesses as to Mr Logan, viz.

Samuel Preston, [Lib. H. Fol. 104. Int. 22. Fol. 116. J

That from 1701 to 17o2, James Logan, and some others whom
he does not remember, were Principal Managers .^nd Chief

Agents in Pensilvania and the three lower Counties, for Mr.

Penn and his Family; and had the Power of granting and set-

tling Lands in those Places; and that James Logan was the

Principal Actor in the said Affairs.

This is the very thing Mr. Logan himself declares, and it is

that which gave liim so large a Knowledge, to depose so

fully to the several Affairs he speaks to; but that does

not disqualify him from being an Evidence now, even if
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he had held all those Offices still; whereas, he swears he
laid them all down, when he came to be President of the
Council there; fro.n which last Office he was relieved, by
the present Governor.

John Taylor, th, DeftudanVs Witness, [Lib. H. Fol. <)5. Int. :i

additional Fol. 98.]

Stfji'T^rf ^f"^^""
'^'^' ^''^'^'' Hamilton and James

bteei, do hold Lands m Kent County, under the Plaintiffs-but «^ys he never heard that James Logan holds, or claims, orhas lately held or claimed, any Lands, either in the Part indispute in this Cause, or in any of the three Lower Counties,
bo that Mr. Logan, who knows avast deal, bv having gone
thro all those publick Stations, and who Swears that he
has now laid down all Officers, and has no sort of Interest
IS a clear unexceptionable Witness for Us.

Andrew Hamilton.
Another of our Commissioners, we have examined, onlv asone of the Commissioners for carrying the Articles into Ex;-cu-tion as to what past at the Execution of the Commission-and to no kind of thing whatever else. Yet him the Defendant

cross examined, as to his Interest only. viz. [Lib. H Fol PhInt 1. Pol. 129.] And he says that he holds Lands in New-
castle and Kent Counties, two of the three Lower Countieswhich Counties he understands to be in dispute in this Cause.'Ihat the Lands in Kent County, which he holds, were origin-
ally granted under the Duke of York, to souje of the Soldierswho served at the taking of New York and Delaware, in (Jon'-
sideration of such Service, as appears by the said original Grantsand have been since confirmed by Mr. Penn to their Descend'
ants. That the Lands which he holds in Newcastle Countvwere claimed by one Augustine Harman, under a Right froinone of the Ancestors of the Defendant, and bv one Green, undera Right from the Plaintiff's Father. Both which Rights were
vested in one Mathias Vanbeeber, who sold the same to this
Deponent. And this Deponent further saith. that he firmlv
believes that he shall neither be a Gainer, or Loser bv theEvent of this Cause.

•

We hope this does not disqualify Mr. Hamilton, who is
only a Witness as a Commissioner, and, as such, is a very
material one.

*Jame.'i Steel is our last examined Commissioner, and is- also ea-
amtned jy Us as to our receiving Quit Rents, and to many
other Points. The Defendant cross-examined him as to hi.
Interest, [Lib. H. Fol. 93. Int. 1. Fol. 94.]

And he says he does Jiot know that he is an^ wav interested
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in the Event of the Cause, unless his holding Lands in two of

the three Lower Counties shall be interpreted so. And further

he aflBrms and says, that he holds and possesses several Parcels

of Land, under the Plaintiffs, in Newcastle and Kent, by an-

cient Grants.

So much as to our four living Commissioners,

8eco7idly, As to some of our other Witnesses, whom the Defend-

ant has cross examined as to their Interest.

*John Anderson, Farmer, [Lib. H. Fol. 51. Int. 1. Fol. 52.]

Does not apprehend himself to be any way concern'd in the

Event of this Cause; Tho* he holds some Lands in Kent County

under the Plaintiffs, yet conceives that, if the said Counties

should fall to the Lord Baltimore, he should still keep his

Possession.

John Ball, Blacksmith, [Lib. H. Fol. 18. Int. 1. Fol. 18.]

Does not know that he is interested in the Event of this

Cause, but that he is in Possession of a Tract of Land in New-
castle County, the Right of which he has conveyed by Deed to

his Son; but that he has his said Son's Promise, that he shall

enjoy it during his Life: That his said Land is held under the

Plaintiffs. He further says, tliat he claims a Tract of Land, of

Land, under the Dafendant, which he believes, lies within the

Limit in dispute between the Parties.)

So that, we hope, this Witness is a go one for us. since

he is, at least, equally concerned, or more, under the De-

fendant, than under us.

*Joh7i Garretson, F'armer. [Lib. H. Fol. 17. Int. 1. Fol. 17.]

Is not, to his Knowledge, any way interested in the Event of

this Cause, tho' he holds, possesses and claims a Tract of Land
whereon he lives, undsr the Plaintiffs, situate in Newcastle

(bounty, within 3 or 4 Miles of Newcastle Town.

Jnvies Hendricks, Carpenter, [Lib. H. Fol. 125. Int. 1. Fol. 125.]

Believes he is no way interested or concerned in the Event of

this Cause. Neither claims or ])ossesses any Lands in dispute

between the two Proprietors, or in any of the three Lower
(Jounties. So the Defendant himself cross examined him to

The Merits.

Samuel ffollingsworth, Farmer, [Lib. H. Fol. 29. Int. 1. Fol. 30.]

Does not apprehend himself to be any way interested in the

Event of this Suit, nor holds, nor claims, any Lands that he

believes to be in dispute in the Cause. So the Defendant went
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on and cross examined him to a great number of Interroj,^atories
to the Merits.

Thomas James, Pilot, [Lib. H. Fol. 12. Int. 1. Fol. 12
]Is not any way concerned in the Event of the Cause, nor hohlsany Lands m dispute between the Parties. So the Defendant

went on and cross examined him to the Merits.

Mark Manlove, Farmer, [Lib. H. Fol 24. Int 1 Fol "-.
]Does not conceive that he shall be anv wav interested or con-

cerned in the Event of the Cause; but he I'.olds and possesses
Part of several Tracts of Land in Kent Countv. [He does not
say under whom.] The Reason why he conceives Inmself to be
disinterested in the Event of the Cause is. because he expects
to be quieted in his Possession, wlioever gains it.

Elizabeth 3Iorris, Widoir. [Lib. H. fol. 2G. lid \ fol "g
|

Is no way interested in the Event: neither holds nor claims
any Lands in dispute between the Parties to this Cause. Sothe Defendant cross examined her to the Merits.

Elizabeth Murphy, Widow, [Lib. H. Fol. 120. hit 1 Fol 1^7
JIs not any way concerned in the Event of the Cause,\',or

holds any Lands within the Limits in dispute between the
Parties. So tlie Defendant cross examined her to the Merits.

John Mnsgrate, Farmer. [Lib. H. fol. ?A. hit 1 f„l 35
]Does not think himself any way interested, or concern'd in

the Event of the Cau.^e. And holds or claims no Lamls, that
he apprehends lie withiu the Limits in dispute between the
Parties. So the Defendant cross-examined liim upon a great
JN umber of Interrogatories to tlie Merits.

TJiomas Noxoii, [Lib. H. fol. 92. hit. 1. fol. 92.1
Believes he is not any way concerned in tlie Event but savs

heispossest of some Lands in Newcastle Countv. that he claims
under Grants from the Government of New-York, dated about
the ^ear 1071. and holds or claims no Lands bv anv Grant or
Eight from the Proi)rif-tors of Pensilvania. or anv of their An-
cestors; And. therefore apprehends his Title cannot be affected
by the Event of this Cause.

William Peterson, of New Jerse,,, Farmer. \]Ab. H. fol 7 hit
I. fol. 8.]

Is neither directly or indirectly concerned in the Event of the
Cause, and neither holds or claims any Lands in dispute in the
said Cause. So the Defendant went on. and cross-examined
him to the Merits.

John Prettyman, Farmer, [Lib. H. Fol. 49. I,d.. 1 Fol 50 1

Does not apprehend himself to be any way interested* in the
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Event, but holds a Tract of Land ou the South Side of Indian

River, under the Defendant, and a Tract of Land on the North

Side of the said River in Sussex County, under the Plaintiffs.

So that this Farmer, we think, is an equal indifferent Witness.

Johii Kambu, of Nev) Jersey, Farmer, [Lib. H. fol. 19. JiU. I.

fol. 20. J

Is not any way interested in the Event of this Cause, nor

holds any Lands within the Limits in dispute between the

Parties. So the Defendant went on, and cross-examined him
TO many Points on the Merits.

Jnfni Hans Steelmau. Inaian Trader, [Lib. H. fol 127. Int. 1.

fol. 128.]

is no way interested or concerned in the Event of the Cause,

and does not hold or possess any Lands within the Limits in

dispute between the Parties, or in the three lower (>ounties.

*Wooman Stockley, Farmer, [Lib. B. fol. 50. Int. 1. fol. 51.]

Does not expect to be either Gainer or Loser by the Event of

the Cause, but holds some Lands, in Sussex County, under the

Plaintiffs.

'* William Till. Merchant, [Lib. H. fol. 124. Int. 1. fol. 124.]

Does not apprehend he is any way interested in the Event or

Issue of the Cause, but that he holds Lands in Sussex County

under the Plaintiffs.

* William Waples, Farmer, [Lib. H. fol. 49. Int. 1. fol. 49.]

Does not know whether he is interested, or not, in the Event

of the Cause, but holds Lands under the Plaintiffs in Sussex

County.

Joseph Woods, Carpenter, [Lib. H. Fol. 4. Int. 1. fol. 4.]

Is no way interested in the Event of this Suit; nor does he

possess or claim any Lands in dispute in the Cause. So that

the Defendant went on and cross-examined him to several Points

relating to the Merits.

So that,

^James Steel, *John Anderson, *John Oarretson, *Wooman
Stockley. * William Till, * William Waples

Have, as often as they are respectively named in the State of

our Depositions, an Asterisui or Mark* set before their Names,

as liable to the fore-mentioned Doubt only. And they are such

Witnesses, as that the Loss of any of them will not be fatal,

except as to Mr. Steel, who proves the receiving Quit-Rents by

us, and even as to that, and indeed as to every other Point, the

Defendant's own Witnesses have most abundantly supplied our

Proof, and contirmed it. in the strongest and fullest manner.
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NOTK—As the Deleiuiaiu would have our Afjreement to be
(at the best) a lueer voluntary Agreement, without any Con-
sideration whatever moving from us, and insists, that his
Charter comprizes every thing which we granted him by the
Articles, we shall be oblig<?d to debate the Extent of ths
Charter for Maryland : for altho' Pensilvania is granted in
express Terms from the Beginning of the 40th Degree, yet, if

the Maryland Charter, which was long prior, is to be ex-
pounded not by the Landmarks (which it expressly bears in
it) but by Degrees, and those too, sudi Degrees as are now
discovered and known, and that Loru Baltimore is intitled
also to the every Extent of the 4Uth Degree, compleat, as now-
known and found out. and that all this is quite clear, and
beyond Possibility of a Doubt, why then, indeed, we have
granted him no Territory at all, and the Agreement may be
said to be without any Consideration, save this. That it was
to end a continued expensive Contest, which had subsisted for
full fifty Years together, almost to the ruin of the Parties;
and which had hindred also the publick Good, as it stopt the
Settling so fine a Colony; And which Considerations alone,
might be good, to intitle us to Relief, and the Assistance of a
Court of Equity, to carry the Agreement into Execution.
But. on the other hand, if it shall come out. as clear as the

Sun, that we have, in this Agreement, granted to him an
exceeding large Tr,act and Territory. Part of our own Prov-
ince of Pensilvania, above all the Landmarks of his Charter,
above every Part of the Peninsula, above the Isthmus thereof!
above what was at the time of his Charter known to be the
40th Degree, and above every one of his own successive Claims
and Encroachments, from time to time; yea, many Miles
above the highest of all his most extravagant Demands, whv
then, there is every way, such a good, real, and valuable Con
sideration given, on our Parts, that this can, in no legal Pro-
priety, be called a voluntary Agreement, or an Agreement
without Consideration.

The Defendant cross-examined two of our Witnesses, to knoic if
Observations had not been taken at Philadelphia, and where
the 40th Degree fell f

John Musgiave, [Lib. H. fol. 34. Int. 8. fol. 37.]
Has heard that there have been Observations formerlv made

at Philadelphia, and at the Head of Elk River: but "knows
nothing of the Particulars thereof.
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Buijamiu. Eastburii, [Lib. H. f»l. IIT. liit. ^. fol. 118.]

Has been intoruied, that some Persons, several Years ago,

made Observations in Philadelphia, in order to discover its

Ijutitude. And this Affirmant has, likewise, made some Ob-

servations, for the same purpose. And, according to the best

Judgment he can form from his Observations, he believes, that

the Market-Street in Philadelphia, does not lie so far North as

the Latitude of 40 Degrees compleat, but near to the Norther-

most Part of the said Degree. But, as Astronomers differ,

among themselves, concerning the Places of the Heavenly Bodies

tlieir Declinations, and the Latitude of the Stars, and proper

Allowances for Refractions, it is almost impossible to deterniine

the exact Latitude of any Place, with the best Instruments;

And as the Instruments, chiefly made use of by the Affirmant,

on this occasion, were made by himself, and very imperfect, he

cannot take upon upon himself to speak certainly of the Lati-

tude of any Part of .the Street aforesaid: And says, that he

has heard, and believes, that the Surveyors, appointed by Com-
missioners, in pursuance of an Order of the King in Council,

about the Year 1733, to lay out the Northern Neck in Virgina,

did differ, about the Latitude of one Place in the said Neck,

fourteen, about another, fifteen, and a third, seventeen, Geo-

metrical Minutes [which is very near 20 Miles.
|
And that his

Information was from John Warner, one of tlie Persons em-

ployed to make the said Observation,

What pretty Work this would make, in explaining the

King's Grants by Degrees (esjiecially Avhen there are cer-

tain Landmarks in a Charter?) And what a hopeful Ac-

count has the Defendant given, by his own Examination

of this Witness, of the absolute Incertainty of Degrees,

even now?

4.

Next, My Lord examined some Persons, Dependants 7ipon ?iim,

to give their Construction and Opinion, as to the Extent of the

Charter for Mari/land.

Ctloinl Thomas Cotnill, of Maryland, aged 5(^, [Lib. C. foL 120.

Int. 3. add. fol. 122. J

Has seen the River Delaware at Newca.stle Town, and believe.«<

ifs there, about two Miles wide. And is, at the City of Phila-

delphia, he believes, about a Mile wide. That the Tide water

Hows and ebbs, both at Newcastle and Philadelphia and, as he

l)elieves. twenty Miles higher. Knows not whether tlie Water

at Philadelphia l)e salt, brackish, or fresli.

It mav be so, as this Maryland Witness of my Lords says;



BOU^s'DARY gUESTION. 68R

but, does itapproai'h to tlie other Water, to make an IsthmusV
No. We prove, that, troni our l.sthmus, the AVaters ^'reatly di-
verge, both upwards and downwards.

T/iomu^- Hi/usoti Wright, uf Maryland, Esq. a iSurvei/or, (iiki

the Deftndunt'.s Witnew unit/, ayed o2, [Lib. G. ful. ^31. ////.

7. fol. 2r)o.
]

That he hath some little Knowledge in the Art ot Surveying,
and that he hath studied the same lor about ;50 Vear.s last

past
:
and that the Reason of his studying the Art aforesaid, was

to qualify himself for the OflHee of Surveyor, antl aecordingly. in

September 1720, was appointed Deputy-Surveyor ot gueen
Anne's County in Maryland, which Oflfiee he held, until lie laid
down the same of Choice. And saith,that he hath looked upon
the Exhibit, markt No(l.) (which is afterwards .said to be a Copy
of the Bounds in my Lord Baltimore's Charter) .uid read and
considered the same; And that he is of opinion, all the Land,
lying on the North of a Line,drawn East from the Promontory
or Point called Watkins Point, unto the main Ocean, and with
the main Ocean and Delaware Bay* to the Extent of the 40th
Degree of Northerly Latitude, and from thence, by the Degree
aforesaid, to the Fountain of Potomack, mentioned in the Ex-
hibit aforesaid, and, from thence, by the West and South Side
thereof to Chesopeake Bay. and, from thence, by a strait i.ine,

to the Promontory or Point, called Watkins Point as aforesaid,
are included within the Limits of the Charter in the Exhibit
aforesaid, mentioned. Saith that, having resided in Maryland,
from his Infancy, and travelled thro' the greatest Part thereof,
is pretty well acquainted with most Parts of the Eastern Shore

;

and that he is of opinion, tlie three lower Counties aforesaid are
within the Boundaries or Buttals in the Exhibit aforesaid men-
tioned, because, the Expressions in the said Exhibit are clear
and plain, to any Capacity, excepting that of the 40tli Degree;
and that, would l>e iniproi)erly applied, to any other Place than
the Extent of the Degree; for that, until it comes to the Extent
of the 40th Degree, it would be only ;W Degrees, o!) Minutes,
and so many Seconds.

Note—Tliis Surveyor is a very bad Expounder of the Kings
Charters; and he i.s, either a great Quibbler upon Oath, or
else, a ujost wretched Mathematician; for. with his I^eave. :!!)

Deg. 59 Min. is under the 40th Degree; and so is P>f» Degrees ]

Minute; and every single Hair's Breadth, from SSi compleat to
40 compleat; altho" none of them are to the Extent of the 40tli

*He does not pretend to go up Delaware River ; for he can lind no
such Word in the Charter: and yet, goes to the Extent of the 40tli

Degree.
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I)e>rree coinpleat. 1 could wish he were here, to answer one

plain (Question, viz. Under what Degree is any Place, that lies

:'.() Minutes North from the Equator? Is it not under the first

Decree, altho" it is not to the Extremity of that first Degree

compleat':' This I would illustrate further, by asking him,

Under what Degree 90 Min., or 110 Min., North from the

Equator, is ? Would he say, they are under the first DegreeV

If so, he makes more than 60 Min. to a Degree; and it's evi-

dent, to common Sense, that they are under the second Degree,

for they are beyond the Extent of the first Degree, and, there-

fore, cannot be in. or under, that.

Williiun Rumsey. of Maryland, a Surveyor, the DefendanVs
Witness, aged 42, [Lib. G. fol. 129. Int. 7. fol. 130. ]

That in or about 171(1, he began to study Geometry, Trigo-

nometry, Plain and Mercator Sailing, and in 1724 he was made
Deputy-Surveyor of Cecil County aforesaid, and has acted in

that Station ever since, and saith he hath studied some other

Branches of the Mathematicks, as Spherical Trigonometry and
Dialling; but, as he had not a regular Education, he looks

upon himself to have, in relation to them, but a superficial

Knowledge and further saith, that the Exhibit, No (1.) he has

read and considered; and that he is of opinion, that all the

Land lying under the 40th Degree of North Latitude between

the Hay or River* Delaware, and the Meridian of the first

Fountain of Potomack River, is within the Limits of the Char-

ter: unless the 40Th Degree of North Latitude should intersect

the .'doresaid River of Potomack, before it reaches that Meri-

dian; And all tiie other Lanls, lying under the 40th Degree of

North Latitude are excluded thereout. Saith, that he is well

acquainted with divers Parts of Maryland, being born, and
having lived most of iiis Life-time, therein. Saith. that he
has been acquainted with the three lower Counties, about 17

Y'^ears, where his Business has frequently called him; Saith,

that he apprehends, that all the three lower Counties aforesaid,

are within the Limits of the Charter aforesaid. That the

Reason of such his Opinion is, Ijecause the said three lower
Counties are a Part of the Peninstila in the Charter mentioned,
lying to the Southward of the 40th Degree of North Latitude.

Note—This Man contradicts the Fact admitted in fol. 13.

of ray Lord's Answer; where my Lord expresly admits that

the three Lower ('oiinties lie in the Peninsula, and also,

above the Peninsula, within the Main Continent; for this

Witness savs thev are all a Part of the Peninsula. So that

* Where lias he got the Word River? There is nosuch in the Char-

ter.
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we are in a fine Case; First, my Lord admits a Fact, to draw
us into a Reliance and Dependance upon it, and then lie ex-

amines this, and many other Witnesses, to disprove his own
Answer.
And another partiular Error of this Witness is, that he is

looking to the 40th Degree as now known (108 Years after

the Time of my Lord's Charter) whereas, if he were to go
according to the Degree at all. it should be The Degree
as then known.

But the greatest Opinions have, unanimously. l)een, that

my Lord's Charter is to be expounded according to the

Landmarks, and not any imaginary Points in the Heavens,
the Uncertainty whereof the Defendant himself has given

such an Account of.

Hu(jh Jones, of Maryland, (Uerk, the DefendanV s Witness, aged
49, ylAb. G. fol. 4. Int. 7. foL 5.]

That he has been conversant in the Mathematicks, and es-

teems himself, in some measure, skilled in them ; That he learnt

Arithmetick at School, studied Geometry. Geography and As-
tronomy in the L'niversity of Oxford : where, having taken the
Degrees of B. A. and M. A. he was recommended, by the then
Principal of the College, Doctor Win, Bishop of St. Asaph, to

Doctor Robinson, then Bishop of London, who advised the De-
ponent to perfect himself, as well as Time would allow, in the

Mathematicks, for that his Lordship intended to send him over

to the CoUedge of William and Mary in Virginia, as Professor

of the Mathematicks. That, thereuj)(>n. the Deponent applied

himself to the Study of Algebra (which he had not applied

himself to before) under the Instruction of Mr. Hudson of

Christ-Church, and was admitted Professor of Mathematicks
in the Colledge of William and Mary aforesaid, in the Year
1717, and continued studying and teaching the Mathematicks
there till 1721, and has made it his occasional Study ever since.

Says he has lookt upon the Exhibit No 1, and has read and
considered the same; and, according to the best of his Under-
standing and Judgment, All the Lands, between the Tide Water
*1 of Delaware, and the Meridian of the first or Westermost *2

Fountain of T'otomack, lying under the 40th Degree of North-
erly Jjatitude from the Equinoctial, that is, at the Distance of

2400 Minutes from the Terrestrial Equator. *:H are within the

Limits and Bounds mentioned in the Exhibit aforesaid. That
he has been, often, in 10 of the 12 Counties of Maryland, and
knows several Places in each of them, and has known the same
about 20 Years: 14 of which he has resided in Maryland. That
he has known the County of Newcastle about 8 Years, but is
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unacquainted with Kent upon Delaware and Sussex. That,
for upwards of 8 Years last past, he has been Minister of a
Parish, contiguous to Newcastle County, and has had frequent

Occasions to go to Newcastle. Further declares, that, to the
best of liiH Judgment and Understanding, all and every Parcel

of the thrae Lower Counties are contained and included within

the Limits and Bounds specified in the Exhibit; and saith that

the Reasons for his Judgment concerning the Extent of the

Charter to the said Distance from tlie Equator, are (1st) Because,

to him. it seems located where New-England ends. *4, and
Smith, in his (ieneral History, published before, and Ogilby,

in his America, printed after the said Charter, both agree,

that no Part of New- England could come more to the South-

ward than 2400 Minutes North of the quator*5; 2dlv, The differ-

ent Cases of the Words Sinus and ^Estuarium; the first, used

in respect of Chesopeak, and the latter, in relation to Delaware

;

for, had the Northern Limits been intended to have stopped

short of the 40th Degree compleat, it might have been in a Part

of Delaware as much as Sinus as Chesopeak is; And the Reason
Avhy he conceives all the three Lower Counties to be within

the Limit aforesaid, is l)ecause, from Observations taken, and
Ijines run, by himself and others, and Knowledge of the Situa-

tion of the Places, he is fully convinced, that the most North-

erly Part of Newcastle County (the most Northerly, of the

three) (supposing Newca.stle County not to extend more North-
erly than 12 Miles North of Newcastle Town) is, at least, seven

Minutes to the Southward of the said 40th Degree *6.

Note—This is the very Person, who with his self-esteemed,

V)ut false Reasoning, has infected Lord Baltimoj-e, and made
him fiyoflf from his Agreement ; and, therefore, we may expect

to hear his Arguments enforced against us. But he has made
several great Blunders in his Opinion.

1. He takes all the Lands between the Tide-Water of Dela-

ware and the Fountain of Potomack ; but why the Tide-

Water? He afterwards tells us, that the Word Sinus is

used as to Che.'^o peak, and another different Word,^stuar-
ium, as to Delaware. He does not, indeed, give us his

Construction of Sinus, but that's wholly immaterial, as

no Part of Chesopeak Water was mentioned for the North-

ern Boundaries. And the only material thing is this tEs-

tuariuni of Delaware, Avhich, 1 am sure, the Crown did

not intend should be the Tide-AVater of Delaware, because

had he lookt a little further, he would have found that

the Crown itself has, in the very Body of the Charter,

called it iEstuarium de Delaware vocat Delaware Bay.

Now we have j^roved, by a Number of Witnesses, that the
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Head of Delaware Bay euds at Boiuheys-book. a great way
below Newcastle; whereas, they have got a single Wit-
ness, who believes the Tide-Water flows 20 Miles M.bove
the City of Philadelphia,) which is really above 60 Miles
more North than Bombeys-bodk, and which 60 Miles at
a Touch, this Witness gets, only by striking out of the
Charter the English Word Bny, and inserting in it a
Word, which he likes better, Tide-Water.

2. This AVitness makes another very kind Construction for
his Patron, of the King's Charter; for he says, all the
Lands from the Tide-Water of Delaware, to the Meridian
of the first or westermost Fountain of Potomack ; which
is saying, to the first, or to the furthest and last Foun-
tain. For the Charter begins with granting the most
Eastern Lands first, (the Part of the Peninsula) and then
proceeds and grants on to the Westward, to the Meridian
of the first Fountain. But this Witness is right, for his
Patron, he knows it will grant more, if it goes on and
grants quite to the westermost Fountain and therefore
he has again inserted Words into the Charter of the first

(or westermost) Fountain. 1 know my Lord's Western
Bounds do not affect us. but this abundantly serves to
shew the Willngness of the Witness, and his "inaccuracx
too, even when on his Oatii ; so that no regard ought to
be had to his Opinion, who, if he can't find, will yet
make and add Words, to favour his Intentions, and liis

Patron.

1. Having a very bad Argument to maintain, he affects to
use very obscure and improper Terms, in order to con-
fuse the Matter, even so as to talk very near to Nonsense.
He says all the Lands lying under the 40th degree, that
is, at the Distance of 2400 Ttlinutes, are within the Limits
and Bounds. If lie means that it is not the Degree, nor
under the Degree (as some of his fellow Witnesses contend)
until that Degree is compleat, (and it certainly is com-
pleat at the 2400 Minutes from the Equator) then, all
these Lands, lying under the 40th Detrree compleat, are
no Lands at all; for the imaginary Line of 40 is an in-
divisible Line, without any Space or Width in it. What
can he mean then, by the Lands lying under the 40tli De-
gree, and yet. at tlie Distance of 2400. .nt which Distance
they are not under, nor c.hu i)o.ssil)ly l)e under, the 40th
Degree? I know what he means, and will tell you. and
it's plain that he chose and affected to speak in these
(iark obscure Terms. i)ecause, if he puts his Argument
into a clear Form of Words, the Fact, upon which it
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depends, glares him in the Face, and destroys his Ar-
gument in one Moment. He unquestionably means this.

All the Lands South of 2400 Minutes North from the

Equator, or South of that 40th Degree which isconjpleat

at the Distance of 2400 Minutes North from the Equator,
are within my Lord's Charter. Had he used these

Words, they carry a very clear Proposition in them, and
necessarily imply another, more short and more clear,

that the whole Space of the 40th Degree was granted to

Lord Baltimore; which brings, it to a Fact that that

whole Degree was granted to Lord Baltimore; whereas 1

contend, that it was not, it could not, and it was not in.

tended to be granted to him, for it was, before, most pre-

cisely, granted to the Council of Plymouth for the ruling
of New England, and my Lord's own Patent declares in

express Terms, that his Province was to go to the Place
where New England ended.

4. As to his first Reason for his Opinion, because it seems,

to him, that Maryland was located where New England
ended, we contend, it not only seems so, but is exprest,

as clearly as Words can express, that it really was located

where New England ends, and that is what we rely on.

5. He has a second Reason; for he says, that Smith ami
Ogilby both agree, that no Part of New England could
come more Southward than 2400 Minutes North of the
Equator. I have lookt, pretty well, into Smith and
Ogilby both, and don't find that either of them agrees to

any such matter. But, if they did both agree it, I am
very sure of two things; 1st, That Smith, who originally

printed his Book in the Year 1612, (and Ogilby afterwards
copied from him) did not mean 2400 Minutes, as one Mr.
Jones should observe, or judge them to be, 128 Years after

he writ, viz. now in the Year 1740. And, 2dly, That the
King's Charter, under the (ireat Seal, disagrees both with
Smith and Ogilby; for that Charter to the Council of

Plymouth grants, in plain English Words, from 40 Deerrees

to 48 Degrees inclusively ; whereas any such Expression of

Smith and Ogilby would make it exclusively.

6. As to his Reason for saying, that all and every Parcel

of the Lower Counties are included in Lord Baltimore's
Charter, had he studied that Charter well. and. with it,

my Lord's own Answer, he might have found mucli better

Reasons to the contrary. For. 1st, The Lower Counties
were culta. 2. My Lord had (as to this Matten only a
Part of a Peninsula, and admits upon his own Oath, thnt

some of the Lower Counties lie out of that Peninsula,
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for that they are up within the Main Land and Continent,
3. My Lord \va« bounded on tlie East only by the Ocean,
not so much as by tlie Bay or River, (much less by the
Tide-Water) of Delaware. 4. He was to go from his South
Bounds, usque ad such Part ^stuarii de Delaware, vocat,
Delaware Bay, qu;e subjacet the 40th Degree. And. r,th!

Were he to go by the Degree (which he was not) and weiv
he to go to the 40th Degree compleat (which he was not
neither) yet. it must not be the Degree which tliis Witness
has found out now in 1740, but the Degree as known then
in 1632. And that, as my Lord himself fixt it. by his oavii
Book and Map, printed and publisht in 1035, three Year.s
after his Charter, and after he had actually made his Set.
tlement in the Country, and got acquainted with it, wa.-.
precisely, at the Head of Chesopeak Bay; whereas this
Witness's modern Observation, makes it, now, full 20
Miles and 3 Quarters more N'orth than it was esteemed
to be then.

These are my poor Thoughts and Observations, who never
learnt Algebra, or any other Part of the Mathematicks.

And I can't omit one Observation upon this Witness. He
swears he is Minister of a Parish contiguous to Newcastle
County; so that, should my Lord, by the Help of his
Opinion, extend his Province, this Witness will naturally
extend his Parish: no small Temptation to a Minister of
Maryl-ind, where, as J observe by the 10th Page of the
Maryland Law-Book (proved in tlie Cause) the Minister
is intitled to a very large ysarly Allowance, of no less
than 40 Pound of Tobacco per Poll, on the taxable Inhabit-
ants (which are almost every Person, Servants and Slaves)
within his whole District; .^o that the County of New-
castle, with about 11 or 12.000 IVrsons in it, would make
a fine Addition to Mr. Jone.s's contiguous Parish, as well
as to my Lord's Province.

But, for an absolute Answer to this Witness's Opinion, 1

would apply the solemn Order of Council, made upon
Lord Baltimore's own Petition, and after many Hearings
by Council, in tlic Year 1685, declaring that the three
Lower Counties were not granted to Lord Baltimore, and
ordering a Line to be run to divide them off. in very em-
phatical Terms, to the 40th Degree. Which Order was
also, several times afterwards confirmed.

And I would also apply the Opinions of Sir Clement Wear'g,
the present Lord Chief Justice Willes. and the present
Lord Chancellor Hard wick, all of which, 1 presume were
44—Vol. XV.
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far better Expositors of the Charter of the Crown, than

this Mr. Hu^h Jones is; and who unanimoubly a^ree that

the Landmarks, and not imaginary uncertain Points in

the Heavens, were to be his Boundaries.

There is another Observation, too material to be omitted.

My Lord has examined a Witness of his own only, one

.John Miller, (who will be mentioned by and by under

another Head) and he has told us, not where the 40th

Degree, according to modern Observations, is, (which

would have been exceedingly material for my Lord Balti-

more to have shewn, who insists that he has a Right to

go to the 40th Degree compleat) but he has told us the

Latitude of our Cape Cornelius, and that it is in 39 De-

grees and 5 Minutes. Now if we should believe this single

Witness of my Lord's, and should also agree that my
Lord is to go quite to the 40th Degree compleat, even as

now sworn to by that Witness, What would be the Con-

sequence of that? Why the Consequence is, that the Line

given my Lord by the Articles, is 66 English Miles above

that Cape Cornelius; and Cape Cornelius itself is T)

Minutes, which is 5 English Miles and ^^ths above the 39th

Degree ; so that we have granted to my Lord 71 English

Miles and ^^^ths above the 39th Degree compleat, conse-

quently two Miles and three Tenths of a Mile above this

Witness's new 40th Degree compleat?

What can my Lord say to this? He must either say that

his own Witness, who took and swore to that Observation

(and the only one that fixes the Latitudeof any one Place

whatever) knows nothing at all of the Latitude he has

sworn to, (and which indeed is very true. Degrees being

so uncertain) or else, he must admit that Ave have granted

to him. already, two Miles and three Tenths above even

his present Demand.
Such is the Case, the Defendant has made for himself.

5.

John Hart, nf Maryland, Ferryman, Defendant's Witness only,

[Lib. G. fol. 246. Int. 20. fol. 247. ]

He lives at a Ferry in Queen Anne's County, Part of the

Peninsula; and the Isle of Kent is separated from the Peninsula

by i\ Water, which, in the narrowest Part of it. where he

keeps a Ferry, he believes, is about 150 Yards wide. That the

said Island lies to the Westward of the Peninsula, and is Part

of t^neen Anne's County aforesaid.

Thomas Hynsov Wright, [Lib. U. fol. 251. Int. 20. fol. 266.]

Savs the same.
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Ergo— I suppose the Order of Council was not forfjred ; for

there is sucii an Island, and it lies very near the Peninsula,

and consecjuently, there must have been such an Order of

Council relating to it.

6.

The Defendant thought that we had not sufliciently proved

his small Lo^house Fort, so he cross-examined two of our

Witnesses about Forts, till he got out another very antieut

Swedish and Dutch Fort, in Newcastle County, one of

the Three Lower Counties, which, I suppose, he did not

chuse to hear of, viz.

William Peterson, of Ne7n Jer.se i/, aged 92, [Lib. H. fol. 7. Int.

4. fol. 10.]

Savs, that when he first came into America (which, in Answer
to the second Interrogatory, he says was in the Year 1058) there

was a Fort by the North side of Christiana Creek, about three

Miles from its Mouth, which was then possest i)y the Dutch,

but, the Deponent was informed, originally built by the Swedes,

to keep Possession from the Dutch.

John Ramho, of New Jer.sey, aged 7!), [Lib. H. fol. IS). Int. 4.

fol. 23.]

He remembers the Ruins of a Fort, which stood about 8 or 4

Miles up Christiana Creek, on the North-East side thereof, and

as he believes about 4 Miles North-East from the Town of JSew-

castle. He has been informed by his Father, and other ancient

Peopla, that the said Fort was built and maintained by the

Swedes.

I doubt this is not the Fort the Defendant wanted to en-

quire after; but he has got it, and bv it, has himself

proved, that the Swedes and Dutch had been settled there,

not Lord Baltimore.

7.

The following nineteen Depositions tend to prove two
Points; 1. That my Lord Baltimore did, about 1673, burn

and destroy a Place, then called the Whorekills,now called

Lewes-Town. 2. The Place where those Whorekills were

;

and that, for a two-fold Purpose, viz. in order to alTeet

our Cape ('ornelius, as well as to shew what he did to

assert his Right in the Three Lower Counties.

Boudoiu. Jiohiihs. nf 3Jan/laud, aged 34, [Lib. (i. fol. 282. Ivt. T.

nd.ditional fol. 286.]

Has heanl ot a l^lace called the Whoj-ekilis. wliicli is iioav

called i^ewi!--T<)wn. and he understands lies in Sussex <;ounty.
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about five Miles distant from Cape Hinlopen, markt in the

Plan before produced to him Cape Cornelius, and lies opposite

to Cape May. Knows the Places on the Sea-Coast called Indian

River, and Phenix\« Lsland. Believes the Whorekills is distant,

Northward, from Phenix's Island aforesaid, about twenty-two

Miles, and about twelve Miles, to the Northward of Indian

River.

Juhn Miller, of Maryland, aged 44, [Lib. G. ful. 271. Int. 7.

addit. fol. 277.]

Has been at a Place, formerly called the Whorekills, and now

called Lewis-Town, which lies in Sussex County, that is near

opi)osite to a Point of Land called Cape May in New Jersey.

Has heard that the Whorekills aforesaid were burnt, by one

of the Defendant's Officers and Men, but knows not on what

Occasion. Is acquainted with Phenix's Island and Indian River,

and that the Whorekills is about twelve or thirteen Miles

Distance, Northward, from Indian River, and about twenty

two or twenty three Miles Distance Northward, on a strait

Line, from Phenix's Island. That the Whorekills is situate

within Delaware Bay, upon a Creek, about five Miles Distance

from the Pitch of the Cape markt Cape Cornelius in the said

Exhibit.

Albert Cux, of Maryland, a<ied 47, [Lib. b'. fol. 00. Jnt. 7. ad-

ditional f>l. 91.]

Has heard of a Place called the Wliorekills. and has heard

his Father say that he was prest for a Soldier to \ko burn and

destroy all before them at the Whorekills; but whether it was

done or not, cannot tell.

Colonel Thomas Colmll, of Mnrijluu-d, (i(/ed 50, [Lib. U. fol. 120.

Int. 7. additional fol. 123.]

Has heard of such a Place as is called the Whorekills, which,

he understands, is the same Place now called Lewis-Town in

Sussex County; Has heard of such a Place as Indiau River,

but knows nothing of it.

Thomas Bynso^i Wright, <f Maryland, aged 52, [Lib. G. fol. 251.

///./. 7. additional fol. 267.]

Has heard of a Place or Town called the Whorekills, lying

in Sussex County, and has always understood that the Place

now called Lewis-Town, is the Place formerly called Whore-

kills.and lies opposite to a Point on the North side of Delaware

Bay called ('ape May. Has heard ancient People say that the

Whorekills was formerly settled by the Dutch, and refused

Obedience to one of the Defendant's Ancestors, ; who, there-

upon, sent Officers to subject them, and that, he understood,

thev burnt and desTrf)yed their Habitations.
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Gidecn Tillman, of Maryland, af^ed 57, [Lib. G. fol. 202. hit. 7.

additional fol. 203. ]

Has been to'd by his Father, that he lived with Colonel
Francis Jenkins, upon the Whorekill Creek, and that the Place
in Sussex County, where Lewis-Town is now built, is the Place
was formerly called the Whorekill Town; and hath a 1.so heard
his Father say that it was opposite to a Ca{)e, but does not
remember the Name. Has heard his Father say, that every House
at the Whorekill. and the House his Father lived in, were burnt
except a House called the Cave which belon^'ed to a Dutchman :

-And heard his Father say it was burnt by one (Japtaiu Howell,
to prevent the Dutch taking of it; for tliat the said Dutch had
taken New York, or some other Place; And that the People of
the Town, complaining of the Burden of maintaining the Sol-
diers, Captain Howell went from the Town, under a Pretence
of seeking Relief from the Lord Baltimore, came back the next
day, and ordered the Soldiers to separate, and go two together
to each House, and burn them; which they accordingly did,

after having taken the Arms out of the respective Houses; and
then, being afraid to stand it, the said Howell, ran away to
New-Y"ork. And further has heard his Father say, that he helpt
to carry the Chain for the said Jenkins, to survey several Tracts
of Land, under the Lord Baltimore, near the Whorekill Town,
and in particular to survey the Land on which the said Town
stood, before the burning the said Town as he believes. And
that the said Colonel Jenkins and his Father, sent their Wives
away, from the said Whorekill Town, to Somerset County in

Maryland, before the said Burning, for fear of the Dutch. And
that after the Burning aforesaid, the.sjud Colonel Jenkins and
his Father went themselves to Somerset County aforesaid.

George Veasei/, of Maryland, aged Gl, [Lib. G. fol. 82. Int. 7.

additional fol. 85.]

Has heard of a -Place called the Whorekills, lying in Sussex
County, but never saw it. Has heard, from some ancient Men,
that Lord Baltimore made a Demand of the said Place, and
that the People there refused to become Tenants to the Lord
Baltimore, whereupon the Lord Baltimore, sent a Party of

Men, who burnt a Part of the Town.

James Potter, aged 64, [Lib. G. fd. 150. hit. 7. additional fol.

152.]

Is well acquainted with the Place or Town formerly calle 1

the Whorekiln, which is now called Lewes-Town. That it lies

in Sussex County. That the Whorekills, now called Lewis-
Town, lies opposite to a Point or Cape of Land called Cape
Hinlopen or Henlopen. there >)eins a Creek that runs between
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the Town and Cape aforesaid. Has heard his Mother say, that

her Father removed out of Somerset County in Maryland, and

settled at a Place called Rehoboth, within seven Miles of the

Whorekills aforesaid; That, some time after, the then Lord

Baltimore sent a Captain, with 40 Men, to defend the People

there from the Heathen; That the People, being poor, could

not maintain the Men sent by Lord Baltimore, but that the

People sent his Lordship Thanks, for sending to protect them,

but desired the Men might be taken away, l)ecause he Inhai)!-

tants were poor, and could not maintain them. Whereupon the

Lord Baltimore, as this Deponent has likewise heard, said. Poor

Rogues! Can't they maintain 40 Men? And, afterwards, sent the

said 40 Men to burn the Houses, which was done. Whereupon
the People then sent this Deponent's Grandfather, and another

Person, to New York,to sollicit Relief for the Injuries they had

sustained. He has heard of Phenix Island, and is acquainted

with Indian River. Does not know how far Indian River is

to the Southward of the Whorekiln, but says that Indian River

divideth the County of Somerset and Maryland, from Sussex

C^ounty.

Robert Money, of Maryland, aged G5, [Lib. G. fol. 36. Int. ?. ad-

ditional fol. 38.]

Has heard his Father, Jeffry Peterson, and Guiseman Cock,

say, they were prest, to serve under one Captain Howell, as

Soldiers, to attack and demand Possession of a Place called

the Whorekills, for the Lord Baltimore, and that they went

and burnt a Barn and some Outhouses, and to the best of his

Remembrance, that the Inhabitants submitted to them. And
he understood that this Transaction was about fifty-seven Years

ago [1673].

William Price, of Maryland, aged 66, [Lib. O. fol. 59. Int. 7.

additional fol. 61.]

Has heard there is such a Place as is called the Whorekills, in

the County of Sussex, but never saw it. Has heard his Father say

that Soldiers were sent from Maryland, that did burn some

Wheat Fields, or Stacks of Corn, at or near the Whorekills.and

that there was not above six or eight Dutch or Swedes Families

there, at that time: but how long it is since the same hap-

pened, or was done, does not remember to have heard.

Walter Sfott, of Maryland, aged 69, [Lib. G. fol. 52. Int. 7. ad-

ditional fol. 54.
]

Has heard of a Place called the Whorekill. Has heard that

the Whorekills borders upon the Sea and Delaware. Heard one

John Atkey say, that he was one of the Soldiers that was sent
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to subdue the Whorekills. And also heard Him talk of burning
and subduing, but what he does not remember.

Margaret Simpson, aged 69, [Lib. G. fol. 194. Int. 7. additional
fol. 195.]

Has heard the Place now called Lewis-Town, was called the
WhorekiU-Town. as she apprehended bv wav of Ridicule and
that the proper Name she understood to be Lewis-Town ever
sin.^e she knew it, and lies over-against Cape Mav. Heard that
Lewis-Town was taken and burnt by some Persons but bvWhom, or on what Occasion, knows not. Knows a Place called
Indian River, and that, about 40 Vears ago, she lodged at theHouse of one Jenkins, who said he was a Tenant of one William
Clark ot Lewis-Town. And she knew one John Stokelv. who
ivedabouta Mile to the Southward of the Place where Jen-
kins lived, and below the Place where Indian River now empties
Itself into the Sea; which said Stokely was while he lived
there, to the best of her remembrance. a Justice of the Peace for
the County of Sussex aforesaid. And believer* the Mouth of
Indian River is about eighteen Miles distant from Lewis-Town
aforesaid, and lies to the Southward of the said Town.

Martha Johnson, uncertain of her own Aqe. tmt believes 72
[Lib. G. Fol. 210. Int. 7. additional fol. 211

JKnows a Plac*-. which was called the Whorekills. and is
called Lewis Town, and lies in Sussex County. And sheknows ot no Cape opposite to it, but the Cape'near Lewes-
Town. Says she saw the Whorekilns burnt, when she was a
(iirl, and her Father's House in particular; but bv whom orby whose Order, knows not. but has heard it was done bv one
Captain Howell. She has heard of Indian River and Ph^nix's
Island, but does not know where they lie.

John Webster, of Maryland, aged 72, [Lib. U. Fol. 125. Int. 7.

additional Fol. 126 ]Knows a Pla.e called the Whorekills, lying in the Countv of
Sussex. That it lies upon a little Creek. That over or oppo-
site to it, across the Creek, there lies a Cape, that was called(ape Hinlopen when he lived there, which was about 51 Tear<
ago. [about 1689] Knows r. Place called Indian River which
lies 10, 12 or 14 Miles to the Southward of the Whorekills and
IS not acquainted with the Sea Coast.

The last Witness we cross examined.

James Morgan, of Maryland, aged 80, [Lib. Q. Fol. 91. Int. 7
additional Fol. 93.

]Has heard of a Place called the Whorekills. and has been
told, by two Persons. tl.;.t they went along with Captain
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Howell, who had a Comuiission trom Lord Baltimore, to burn

and destroy the Whorekills. That, when they came there,

they gave the Inhabitants three Days time to remove their

Effects. That the Dutch Fami lies did take the greatest Part

of their Eflfectsaway; but the En^'li.sh Families that were then

there said. They would remove nothin-,', and if they would

burn they might; That thereupon, they fired the Town and

returned home.

Juhn Fleahariy, of Maryland, aged 102, [Lib. U. FoL 145. Int.

7. additional Fol. 148.]

Knows the Place formerly called the Whorekills, the Place

which is now called Lewes Town, opposite to Cape May, and

near (Jape Hinlopen, marked Cape Cornelius in Lord Balti-

more's Map. And says that the County of Sussex was formerly

called Whorekill County. Has heard the Lord Baltimore sent

an Officer, and some Men, to demand Possession of the Whore-

kills of the Dutch Inhabitants, which they refused to give;

upon which, he heard, some Houses were burnt. Knows the

Place called Indian River, and that the Whorekill Town, now

called l^ewes Town as aforesaid, is about 7 or 8 Miles to the

Northward of Indian River as he believes.

Isaac Freeland, [Lib. H. Fol. or). hit. 10. Fol. ('.7.] Ciear<je Ross.

[Lib. H. Fol. m. lilt. 10. Fol. 73. J

That the Town, now called Lewes, was formerly called the

Whorekills, and that they are one and the same Place.

John Teaqve, our Witness, [Lib. H. Fol. 43. Int. T). additional

FoL 45.]

Was also cross examined to this; and he says that Lewes

Town, and the Plat'e formerly called the Whorekills, is one

and the same Place.

To what End the Defendant examined these 19 last Wit-

nesses, I don't know; nor have we cross examined any

one of them (save John Wei)ster and (ieorge Ross, antl

our own Witness Teague) to any Matter whatever.

It is most certain, and we readily admit, that the Cape,

near Lewes Town, which in my Lord's Map was marked

Cape Cornelius, (and rightly so, according to all the an-

cient MaT)s) has been, for several Years past, called, by

some Persons, ('ape Inlopen or Hinlopen; The Name of

the old ('ape, whicth was a deeeitful Caj)e to Sailors, or

something like that Name, being. JaTterly, Transferred up.

from Phenix's Island, to the Pla?e where there is a real

anil actual Cape which is at the Mouth or Entrance of

Delaware Bay, and is nearly opposite to Cape May. But

this Fact, if it stood alont-, is of no sort of Service to



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 697

Lord Baltiiiioie ; But it is accompanied, by his own
Witnesses, witli siicli other Facts us prove the substance
of the thin<ir entirely with us.

Do these Witnesses prove that tlie Whorekills is the Phice

which was orfjinally called Hinlopen by the Dutch, and
so named in their Maps ''. For that's the precise Matter
put in Issue by my Lord's Answer as the Instance of

Deceit ujjon himV
Is there any Possibility of Doubt whether the old Cape Hin-
lopen w^as, or was not, at the Mouth of the Bay? Certainly

there can be none. Where does the very first Dutch Rec-

ord that we have, in the Year 162!» or 1G30, place it? Why
8 g:reat Miles (8 Leagues) South of the Bay of the South
River. Where does the Order of Council of 1685 place it?

Why down somewhere in the Sea; for the Peninsula, which
was then, (by the Parties Agreement as I may say) to be

divided, was such a Peninsula as was bounded by Dela-

ware River, Delaware Bay. and the Ocean; which last

Boundary had been absolutely wrong if the old Cape Hin-
lopen had lain at the Mouth of the Bay. Where do all the

ancient Dutch and Swedish Maps place Cape Hinlopen?
Why just as my Lord's own Map does and as the Articles

express it, South of Cape Cornelius.

Do these Witnesses fix this New Cape Inlopen or Hinlopen,
to be the South Bounds of Sussex County? No. If the Fai-t

had come out so, Then, indeed, my Lord'« Map might have
been wrong, and might have deceived him; but all his

own Witnesses, as well as ours, say, that this New Cape
Hinlopen, was not the South Bounds of Whorekill, or

Sussex Countv; but, that Sussex County went down to

Indian River, and below or South of Indian River, and
that a Magistrate of Sussex County lived in that South
Place; and that that Indian River, itself, now, at this

very time, divides Maryland and Pensilvania: which In-

dian River they make to be 12, 13, 14, or even 18 Miles

South of. or below the Whorekill Town, or thisnew Cape
Hinlopen. So that, had we taken our South Bounds of

these lower Counties (as iny Lord Baltimore insinuates

we ought to have done) up, .at this New Cape Inlopen or

Hinlopen, tho' he himself gave us, and we were really

intitled. down to the Old Cape Hinlopen, We should have
been deceived witli a witness, for we should have given

^p to him 18 Miles of what his own Witnesses prove is

in our actual Possession. And j)lease to note all our
Witnesses and Evidence prove our true South Bounds go

down lower yet. quite down to the Old Cape Hinloj)en.
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And altho" my Lord's Sheriff of Somerset County made

a sort of fresli Pursuit, for the first time, up above

Plienix Island, near to Indian River, only about the Year

1696, when one Peter Waples run away for Debt out of

Maryland, yet, he has not proved a single Settlement

made by him North of Fenix's Island, to this Hour.

I would here, in time, observe one thing, the Defendant

imagines that the Whorekills, and the Cape, are synoni-

mous Terms for one and the same Puncto or Point of

Land, whereas, the Whorekills was always a District or

Territory, and a very extensive one, under the Dutch, and

the Duke of York, and was made into a County (with its

particular Bounds, which pray mark, in the written Evi-

dence) by William Penn, as soon as ever he took Posses-

sion of the County in 1682. Who then, instantly, granted

out to Fenix's Island, which is the old Cape Henlopen,

to the Duke of York, to himself, and to numbers of other

Persons; and the Cape is a Point of Land only, not a

District or County.

Well, but my Lord made all this Proof, for another Purpose

also ; for he swears, Fol. 77, that he believes his Ancestors

exercised all Acts, of Proprietorship and Government in

the Lower Counties, and again, Fol. 188, that he and hi>

Ancestors have claimed, maintained and supported their

Right to the lower Counties, and have been at Expence

in building Fortifications therein, to defend the Inhabit-

ants from the Indians. So that this most cruel Action,

of burning the Whorekills, the Wheat Fields, the Stacks

of Corn, th'' Barns, the Out houses and the Dwelling-

houses of ail the poor Inhabitants, was a [Maryland] Act

of Proprietorship, and which, he, also, did, in a very good

Humour, and under Terms of great Pity and Compassion

to the poor People. What, are they poor, can't they

maintain 40 Men? Then, burn all that the poor People

have in the World! A dreadful A(;t of Propriety? And
what aggravates the Inhumanity of this savage Action

is, that these Men were sent, colourably. to defend the

Inhabitants from the Dutch, (at a remarkable time, about

1G73, when the Dutch threatened, and actually did re-

enter) and to defend them from the Heathen ; but, in

reality, to burn all they had in the World. This is his way
of Asserting his Right, and defending his Tenants:

And what do his own Witnesses prove, besides and beyond

all this? Why, that the Town was settled before. But.

then, he burns out the People, and falls to surveying

the very Town, which our Witnesses, and his too. prove
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to have been then an ancient settled Town by the Dutch.

There is one otlier lustance, or two, ot my Lord, and hie

Ancestors, asserting their Riglit to the lower Counties,

which his Witnesses don't mention. His Grandfather
invented, and he revived, a sham Order of Council about
Clayborne and the Isle of Kent; and he himself is deny-

ing, and swearinjiT away, his own solemn Agreement

;

which are Acts highly worthy to be ranked along with

the foregoing Instance; being, eacli of them, an Act of so

high and flagitious a Nature, as none, but himself, would
give an Opportunity to have told of them. Hut please to

observe, besides all the Depositions which prove that my
Lord Baltimore never possessed the Whorekills, but that

the Dutch, the Duke of York, and Mr. Penn did, our

written Evidence not only corrects the Time of this Trans-

action, that it was about June or September, 1()72 ; but it

shews that Lord Baltimore could not possess the Whore-
kills; for, on 12th of Auugst 1672, there is Governor Love-

lace's Letter to iho Governor of Maryland. demanding Re-

paration for some former Insult. And on 14th Apiil. IGTd,

the Governor of New York sends the Magistrates of New-
castle down, to hold a Court at the Whorekills, to en-

quire into the late irregular Proceedings there, and to

settle the Government and Officers there, under the Duke's
Authority, as formerly. And that was imuiediately suc-

ceeded by the Re-entry of the Dutch. After which, and
after the English being again repossessed, viz. on 6tli

November, 1G74, there is Governor Andros's Commission
to Captain Cant well and Mr. Tom to repossess and settle

the People in their just Rights at the Whorekills; and
5 Days after that, viz on 11th November, 1674, there

is Governor Andros's further Commission, to them two,

to administer the Oaths to the Magistrates at the Whore-
kills. And on 9th .January, 1674. there is his Letter to

Captain Cantwell, thanking him for having settled the

Magistrates at the Whorekills.

So that, the burning the Whorekills by Lord Baltimore
was an Act of Power and Force, but not attended with
any Possession.

8.

Note—Before we go any further in the Defendant's Proofs,

it may be necessary to obsere, that the following eight of the
Defendant's Witnes.ses, here named, were never at all examined
by us, to any Point whatever; but, in the Defendant's own
Examination of them, they have proved themselves to be in-
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terested in the Dispute; so that we object to them as being

disqualiiied. Their Names, and the Places where they prove

their own Interest, are here under marked. So that, as often

as their Depositions are mentioned, we put the Mark* before

their Names.

* William Barnes, Lib. Q. Fol. 181. Int. G. Fol. 182.

*ZebulonHolli7igsworth, Lib. G. Fol. G4. Int. 2. additional Fol. 66.

*Ann Holy, Lib. G. Fol. 103. Int. 8. additional Fol. 106.

*Daniel Needham, Lib. G. Fol. 155. Int. 6 Fol. 156.

*Benjamin Peirce, Lib. G. Fol. 94. Int. 21. Fol. 95.

*Nicholas Ryley, Lib. G. Fol. 41. Int. 11. additional Fol. 42.

*Adam Short, Lib. H. Fol. 60. Int. 8. Fol. 61.

"Richard Thomson, Lib. G. Fol. 109. Int. 21. Fol. 110.

9.

Joseph Rose, the Defendant's Witness, [Lib. H. Fol. 40. Int. 2.

Fol. 40.]

Says that a Paper Writing, No 1. (endorsed a Copy of the

Exemplifications of Letters Patent from King: Charles the Sec-

ond to the Duke of York, taken from thepublick Registry kept

in the Secretary's Office in New Jersey). Also the Paper Writ-

ing. No 2. (endorsed Copy of Part of a Deed from the Duke
of York, to the Lord Berkeley and Sir George Carteret, taken

from the said Registry) are both of his Hand Writing, and are

true Copies, taken from the said Registry, kept in the Secre-

tary's Office at New Jersey, he having examined them, the &c.

at the End of No 2. excepted ; The Reason of that being there

is, because he was ordered by the Defendant's Council to cojjy

no more of the said Deed. That this Deponent acts for one

Mr. Home, who is Deputy Secretary of New Jersey, and this

Deponent thas the Care and Keeping of the Books, Papers and
Records kept in the said Secretary's Office.

I don't know whether No. 1 is the first Grant in 1663. or

the second Grant in 1674, which was made of New York,

to the Duke of York; but we have proved both of them
from the Chappel of the Rolls here.

As to No. 2. which is plainly the Duke's Grant of New-
Jersey, T know there was such a Grant, but don't know
the Contents, and as tlie Defendant's Council have gar-

bled it. and ordered the taking a Copy of a Part only of

it. we desire that Part may not be read.

Colonel Hobrrf Kind. '>f Maryland, ayed 51, [Lib. G. fol. 319.

Int. 16. f>1. 320.
]

Has lookt upon a Paper Writing markt No. 7. and endorsed
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(Extracts out of the Registry Books kept by James Weedon,
and Francis Jenkins, Surveyors of Lanci on tlie Sea-sitie and
Delaware Bay) and that they are true Copys, taken from a
Book of Certificates, which belonged to Colonel Francis Jenkins
deceased, who, In his Life-time, was Surveyor of Somerset
County from 1671 to about 1680, as this Deponent has heard;
[Note, This Deponent was not born until 1681)] and that the
Entrys, of which the said Papers purport to be Coi)ies, which
are signed by the Name of Jenkins, lie believes to be nuide in

the Books, by the said Jenkins, whose Hand-writing the De-
ponent was well acquainted with, having lived with him sev-

eral Years. And that the rest of the Entrys. of which the said

Papers purport to be Copys, he has heard, were made by one
James Weedon, who was a Surveyor, as he has also heard, but
was not acquainted with Weedon, or his Hand-writing. And
he believes the said Entries, so made by the said Jenkins, av.-.s

made as Surveyor of the County aforesaid, [that is Somer.set

County in Maryland] and that, by the Descriptions of the
Lands in the said Entries mentioned, he supposes, some of the
said Lands to lye about the Whorekills, and the rest to lye

between Delaware Bay and Indian River, and that the said

Jenkins was the first Person this Deponent saw possest of the
said Book, who continued possest of the .same till his Death ;

and that after his Death, it remain'd some time, in Possession
of .lenkins's Widow, from whom this Deponent received the
said Book, and he has compared and examined the said Paper
Writing, by the Original Papers whereof they purport to be
Copies with three Persons, within the Space of four or five

Months last past.

This is a most strange Deposition. He has heard that Jen-
kins and Weedon w^ere Surveyors, but does not say that
he believes it; and these Entrys or Papers have been in a
private Person's Hands, and he supposes they relate to

Lauds in such and such Places.

We beg that not a Paper of these may be read, these were
made where the Order of Council of 1638 was.

Grifflth Beddoe, nf Maryland, [Lib. G. fol. 18. Int. 11. Jol. 23.]

Has lookt on the Exhibit No. 4. purporting to be Extracts

or Copies of several Grants or Patents of Lands, recorded in the
Land Record Books of Maryland, and tliey are true and exact
Copies of what they purport to be Copys of, out of the Land
Record Books of Maryland, and he examin'd them, with the
said Record Books, a few Days before he was examined: says

the said Record Books are kept in the Land Office in the State
house of Maryland, and that the Entrys of the said Patents, in

the said Record Books, appear to be fair and regular, and to
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be done, at the times they ought to have been enter'd and

recorded according to Usage and Practice of Maryland.

This is a very suspicious piece of Evidence: the Witness

does not venture to say that he believes they were fairly

entered at any such times; only that they appear to be

fair, and to be done at such times as by the Usage and
Practice there they ought to be done.

And we remember that they make Returns of Surveys there,

without seeing the Land, and so they may make Entries, ac-

cording to their Usage, without seeing the Grants.

Griffith Beddoe, of Man/land, aged 39, [Lib. G. fol. 18. Int. 10.

fol. 19.]

Is acquainted with tlie usual Method of taking up. and pat

enting Lands in Maryland, which he became acquainted with

by being a Clerk in the Land-Office ever since the iear 1727.

And the Method has been as follows : The Persons applying

for Land, pays the Proprietor's Agent the usual Fine for the

Number of Acres he desires, who gives a Receipt, directed to

the Chief Clerk in the Land OfTice, who makes out a Warrant
for such a Number of Acres, directed to his Lordship's Sur-

veyor; who, as he shall be directed by the Person who obtains

the Warrant, surveys the Quantity of vacant uncultivated Land,

in any Part of the Province where it is desired, and returns a

Certificate to the Land Office; from whence it is transmitted

to the Examiner-General, for Examination; and when the Cer-

tificate has past the Examiner's Office a Patent is in the Land-

Oflice, made out, carried to the Chancellor to be signed, thence,

to the Keeper of the Seal, to be sealed. And, after that, the

Patent and Certificate recorded in the Land-Office. That the

Place, where cultivated, vacant Lands are desired to be taken

up, have, always, been particularly described, in special War-
rants, since he has been a Clerk in the said Ofice. That the

Persons obtaining common Warrants have been at liberty to

take up vacant uncultivated Laud, in any Part of the Province,

within 6 Months after the Date. And that all Warrants, be

-they special or common, if they are not executed in 6 Months
from their Date, are of no force, unless renewed before the 6

Months expire. That all Warrants, that issue outof the Land-
Oflfice, are assignable, from one Person to another; That all

Patents for Lands Avere granted under the Great Seal of the

Province. And the Estate granted, a Fee Simple.

A great deal of Ceremony, to no manner of Purpose; for

they have confest that these Returns of Surveys are often

made without so much as a View of the Spot certified to

l)p surveyed.
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Besides this Witness does not pretend that this was, here-
tofore, the usual Method of niakinf? Grants in Maryland.

And my Lord in His own Answer, fol. 291. says, that this
Method of vacating Warrants, if not made use of, has
been in Use for 15 Years before his Answer, that is from
1722.

John Ross, of Maryland, aged 44, [Lib. G. fol 303. Int. !). fol.

305.]

Is acquainted, and conversant in, the Council Books, of Mary-
land, having been appointed Chief Clerk of the Council there
in 1728, and continued so ever since. Says the Paper-Writings
uiarkt No 3. (endorst Extracts of Copies from the Council-Books
of the Province of Maryland) are true Copies from the said
Council Books, and were copied by himself and another within
five Months past, compared and examined the same, by the
Originals of which they purport to be Copies, and that the
Council Books[he does not say the said] are kept at the Coun-
cil Office, at Annapolis. And that the Articles in the Council
Books, of which the Exhibit aforesaid purports to be Copies,
appear to be fairly made, and, as he believes, were done at
the time the several Matters by the said Dates of such Entries,
are supposed to have been transacted.

We don't know what these relate to, but suppose they re-
late chiefly to Colonel Talbot's Loghouse or Fort set up in
1683. But don't care to admit these, for fear of some foul
Play in them. Nor are the Books of the Minutes of Lord
Baltimore's Council, Records; nor ventured to be called
so; wherefore hope they shall not be read.

James Boyden, of Philadelphia, Merchant, the Defendant's Wit-
ness, aged 30. [Lib. H. fol. 100. Int. 2. additional fol. 101.

J

Has lookt upon the Paper-Writings markt No. 5. and says
that the Extracts and Copies therein contained, he believes to
be true Copies of what they purport to be Copies, having been
examined by this Deponent, and the Deputy Secretary of New-
York, this Deponent reading the Original Records, while the
Deputy Secretary lookt over the said Extracts and Copies, and
corrected them according to the said Originals.

Note—We have too much Reason to fear every thing which
comes from the Defendant and as to Extracts, they can't be
read; nor are these Copies. I think, duly proved, the Witness
read the Orginals only to the other Person.

William Qhiselin, of Maryland, aged 36, {Lib. G. Fol. 249. hd.
19. add. Fol. 249.]

That the Parchment-Writing markt No. 9. purporting to
be Letters Testimonial of several (Jopys, or Extracts, from tin
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Records in the Secretary's OfiBce in New York, and he examined

and compared the same in the Fort at New Yorli, with the

Deputy Secretary there, by the original Record Books, of which

the same purport to be Copys or Extracts, and the same are

true Copys. or Extracts from the original Record-Books.

I believe this Parchment Writing is really a Paper Writ-

ing; but no Copys from New York will hurt us. What
his Extracts are, I don't know ; and if they are Extracts,

or Abstracts they are not Evidence.

10.

The Defendant wanted to know, who were the first Dis-

coverers, who were the first Settlers, and what were the

first Names, of the three Lower Counties ; in order whereto

lie examined two of his own Witnesses, viz.

Charles Hillyard, of Kent County, aged G3, [Lib. G. Fol. 158.

Int. 3 and 4. Fol 160.

J

Does not know who were the Persons, that first discovered

the three Lower Counties; and the first Name he heard the

said Counties called by, was the Territories of Pensilvania; and

hath since been called the Counties of Newcastle, Kent and

Sussex upon Delaware. And that they have been generally, so

called, by all the Lihabitants of the three Lower Counties, and

some of the People of Maryland, with whom he has occasionally

conversed upon that Subject. That he understands the Lower
Counties to be distinct, both from the Provinces uf Pensilvania

and Maryland.

The same, [Int. 4. fol. 162. ]

Has heard the first Christian Inhabitants and Settlers of the

three Lov,er Counties, were Swedes; and that they were, after-

wards, settled by the Dutch; and that some Parts of Newcastle

County and Sussex County, were first settled ; the Settle-

ment made in Sussex County was, then, called the Whore-
kills. That the Swedes and Dutch, where they settled, made
Plantations, as he has been informed by one William Clerk,

Receiver of Rent:-, and Surveyor for William Penn Esq; and

several other Persons.

Johyi Hollidaii, ^tf Kent Countij, a</ed ii^, {Lib. G. fol. 170. liit.

3. fol. 172.]

He never heard them called by any other Name than New-

castle, Kentaufl Sussex, or the three Lower Counties. He does

not understand that they are within either of the Provinces of

Pensilvania or Maryland, but under a separate Government,

and distinf't from each. But has heard that the said Counties
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have been claimed by the Proprietors of Pensilvania: and also
by the Proprietor of Maryland; and that the same Person who
exercised the Acts of Government in Pensilvania, has, ever
since this Affirmant's arrival exercised the Acts or Powers of
Grovernment in the said three Counties.

11.

The Defendant's own Witnesses not coming out to his lik-
ing:, he next cross-examined the nine following of our
Witnessess to prove that the new Cape Hinlopen lies op-
posite to Cape May.

Thomas James, of Philadelphia, Pilot, aged 4i), [Lib. H. fol. 12.

Int. 2. fol. i;j.]

Was born in Pensilvania, and has resided in, and near, it ever
since. He knows the Places called Cape May. Cape Henlopen,
and the UhorekiUs, which last is gen^rallv now called Lewes.
Has known the same above 28 Years. That Cape May, and the
Cape now called Hinlopen. lye opposite to each other, and make
the Mouth of Delaware Bay.

Elizabeth Morris, Widow, aged 6o, [Lib. H. fol. 26. Int. 2. fol. 27.]
Lived from her infancy till she was above 20, in Sussex County

and the residue of her time in Philadelphia. Has seen Cape
May. and the Cape opposite to it, aj: the Whorekills which
bore the Name of the Whorekill Cape, and Caue Hinlopen, as
she believes— Has known the aforesaid Places 55 Years. That
they have been reputed to he the Capes of Delaware.

Samuel Holhngsworth, Farmer, aged 67, [Lib. H. f<d. 29. Int
2. fol. 30.]

Came into America in 1682, lived in Newcastle Countv from
thence to 1701, and has resided ever since in Chester Countv in
Pensilvania.

John Musgrare, Farmer, aged 73, [Lib. H. fol. 34. Int. 2. fol 35 ]Has lived ever since 1682 in Pensilvania and one of the three
Lower Counties.

Samuel Preston, Esq., aged 7o, [Lib. H. Fol. 104. Int. 2 fol 105 ]Has lived in Maryland, the three Lower Counties and in Pen-
silvania, from his birth to this time. Has known Cape May
Cape Hinlopen and the Whorekills above 50 Years. That Cape
May and Cape Inlopen from |it sliould be form] the Mouth of
Delaware Bay. and have, always, since he knew them, been
reputed to do so; and are opposite to each other. That the
said Cape Inlopen is near to the Town now called Lewes, but
formerly the Whorekills,

45— Vol. XV.
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John Rambo, of New Jersey, Farmer, aged 79, [Lib. H. fol. 19.

Int. 2. fol. 20.]

Was born in the Place now called Pensilvania, near where the

City of Philadelphia now stands; where he resided for above

the first 20 Years of his Life, and since resided in the Jerseys.

Knows Cape May and Cape Hinlopen, which lyes opposite to

Cape May, and a Place called the Whorekills. That he was

there a Whaling about 50 Years aero, and has never been there,

at any other time. That they have been reputed to be the

Capes of Delaware. That they have, as he has heard, been so

reputed, ever since the first Discovery of those Parts—and that

the Mouth or Entrance of Delaware Bay Ives between the said

Capes.

Joseph Wood, Carpenter, aged 81, [Lib. H. fol. 4. Int. 2. fol. 4.]

Has lived in America about 62 Years—soon after his arrival

there he settled under the Government of Sir Edmund Andros,

who was then Governor of New York under the Duke of York,

on the West side of Delaware, near the Falls, and has generally

resided on the same Place ever since he settled it.

John Teague, of Maryland, Plaiiier, aged 85, [Lib. H. fol. 43.

Int. 2. fol. 44.]

Was born in Virginia, and has lived from his Infancy in

Somerset County in Maryland. Does not know Cape May, but

has known the WhorekiWs, and the Land from Phenix's Island

to the Whorekills Town, for above 50 Years. And that the

said Land has been called by the Name of Inlope, for the said

Time.
Thank him for this, very kindly.

William Peterson, if Neut Jersey, Farmer, aged 92, [Lib. H. fol.

7. Int. 2. fol. 8.]

Came into America about 82 Years ago [1658] and lived, for

20 Years next following, in Christiana Creek, and then removed

into the Jerseys, and there has resided ever since. That, at the

time he settled at Christiana, the Dutch were possess'd of that

Part of the Country and were, afterwards, dispossest by the

English under Captain Carr. That, some time after that, the

Dutch again took, and possest it, till an Exchange, as he has

heard, was made between the English and Dutch, of Surinam

for that and other Places. That he knows Cape May and the

Whorekills, but does not know of any Cape called Henlopen.

That he has known Cape May and the Whorekills about 70

Y'ears, and that They have been deemed and taken to make the

Entrance or Mouth of Delaware Bay.

Exceedingly materhtl in this Old Witness, he never heard

of Cape Hinlopen up at the Whorekills, tho' he knew it
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70 Years This shews that it .^s a new Name given to thatUpper Cape.
And this is what the Defendant has go*, upon his Cross
i^i-aminiug our nine old Witnesses to this Point.

12.

The Defendant next examined three other Witnesses, of hisown, to prove what Settlements were made, and underwhat Government, near and about Philadelphia, before
the lear 1G80.

Qeye Fitzwater, aged GG, [Lib. H. fol. 85. Int. 13. fol 87 1Has heard and believes that several Swedish Settlements weremade near the Place where Philadelphia stands, before theW IbhO and to the Northward of it about ten Miles, and tothe .southward of it. as far as, or near to, Chester. Savs hebelieves such Settlers had Grants from the Governor of'xNewiork; but can't say who appointed such Governor.
Benjamin Banck.son, aged 71, [Lib. H. fol. 83. Int. 12. fol 84 1Says that before the Year 1680,and he believes before he wasborn (Which must be before 1669) several People were settled,near to the Place now called Philadelphia, both to the North-ward and Southward. Farther says, he has heard from his
Mother, and believes, that she was born at the Place called
Kingcess.

Richard Bufflngton, aged 85, [Lib. H. fol. 88. Int 12 fol 90 1Says that, before the Year 1680, there were some Settlementsmade upon Delaware, from the Falls thereof, downwards tothe Whorek.ll Town, by English. Swedes, Dutch and Finland-
ers. ihat this Deponent was, about Sixtv Years ago. (16801 atthe said Whorekill Town, that is now called Lewes; whichthen seemed to be an old Town, and to have been a great while
settled That the People, who were so settled upon Delaware
took their Grant from a Governor of New York, under the Duke
of lork. And that Courts were held, at the Town of Uplandnow called Chester, under the Government of the Duke of York'and his Governor at New York.

One would think the Defendant was labouring toj.roveour
Case for us. And

This shews the Reason why we took, from the Duke of York
his Release even as to the Province of Pensilvania it self-
hebavinga great Number of Tenants settled there, under
his Government of New York.

But the Defendant, not being yet satisfied, he went on and
cross examined four of our ancient Witnesses, to the same
Points, and burns his Fingers again.
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William Peterson, of New Jersey, aged 92, [Lib. H. fol. 7. Int.

9. fol. 11.]

Says that, when he came into America (which in Answer to

the second Interrogatory, he says was in 1658) there were some

Swedes settled, on the Place where Philadelphia is built, both

above and below it: and that there was a Fort, about 5 Miles

below, on an Island in the Mouth of Skuylkill River, orginally

built by the Swedes, but then in the Possession of the Dutch,

who were likewise possest of all the Country thereabouts.

So here is another Swedish and Dutch Fort at Skuylkill.

Joseph Wood, aged 81, {Lib. H. fol. 4. Int. 9. fol. 6.]

Says that, when he first came into America, ;which in Answer

to the second Interrogatory, he says was in the Year 1678) there

were but three Inhabitants, near about the Place where Phila-

delphia now stands; and that one of them was a Finlander.

who was settled about a Mile above the Place where Philadel-

phia now is; and the other two, Swedes, named William and

Swan Swanson, who were settled about a Mile below where the

said Town now is. That he does not know under what Gov-

ernment the said Persons settled oii^rinally ; but heard, that

they were at the time of the Deponent's Arrival, under the

Government of New York.

John Rambo, of New Jersey, aged 79, [Lib. H. fol. 19. Int. 9.

fol. 23.]

Says that there were several Settlements, made, before the

Year 1680, near about the Place where Philadelphia now is,

both to the Northward and Southward of the same, by Swedes,

Dutch and English, under the Authority of the Swedes and

Dutch, respectively, and afterwards under that of the English.

John Musgraoe, aged 73, [Lib. H. fol. 34. Int. 9. fol. 38. ]

Has heard that, before the Year 1680, there were many Settle-

ments made, by the Swedes and Dutch, under the Government

of the Dutch, above, below, or near, the Place where now Pbila

delphia stands.

13.

The Defendant went on, and examined another of our Wit-

nesses, to prove how the Whorekills had been settled, and

under whom.

John Teague, of Maryland, onr Witness, cross-examined, aged

85, [Lib. H. fol. 43. Int. 6. add. fol. 46.]

Has known the Whorekills Town, upwards of 50 Years; does

not know how many Families there were, in the said Town,

when he was first acquainted with it, but believes there were
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about 5 or G Families. That he is unacquainted what Numbei-
of People were settled in the Country about it. And that the

People, in and about the said Town, as he has heard, were, at

his first Knowledge of them, under the Government of William

Penn Esq

;

So the Defendant had enough of this, and examined no more
Witnesses thereto.

14.

The Defendant wanted to prove a Susquehanna Fort, situ-

ated a great way North, up in the Country, about the

River Susquehanna; and in order thereto, examined the

7 following Witnesses, of his own, viz.

Pmil Paulson, of Maryland, aged 53, {Lib. 0. fol. 124. J)d. (i.

add. fo. 124.]

Has heard, from several ancient People, there was a Fort,

upon the Ri^^er Susquehanna, at a place called Conejocula, upon
the West side of the said River, and that he supposes it was
built by the Indians.

Thomas Hitchcock, of Maryland, aged 58, [Lib. G. fol. 77. Int.

6. add. fol. 78.]

Has heard his Father and several other ancient Persons say,

that there was a Fort, on the River Susquehannah. but where,

or by whom maintained, he knows not.

*Ann Holy, of Maryland, aged 60, [Lib. U. fol. 103. Int. <>. add.

fol. 105.]

Has heard of a Fort, at Susquehannah, many Years ago ; but

by whom built, or where situated, she has never heard, till

about a Week since from her Husband; who told her that it

was a great way up Susquehanna River, and above Conestoga;

and that she, many Years ago, heard one Captain Hill lost his

Hand at the said Fort.

George Veasey, of Maryland aged 61, [Lib. G. fol. 82. Int. 6.

add. fol. 54.]

Heard one Major Kelton say that he was one of the Soldiers

that attackt an Indian Fort in the Night, and that there were

several Men killed in besieging the said Fort ; but where the

said Fort was situated, or the time when this happened, knows
not; but believes it was some Years before he was born. [That

must be some Years before 1679 then.]

William Price. <,f Maryland, aged 66, [Lib. G. fol. 59. Int. 6.

add. fol. 60.]

Has heard a general Rumour that there was a Fort on Sus-
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quebanna, built against the Indians, but where situateri, or

by whom built, does not remember to iiave heard.

Patiiak Maugher, uf Maryland, aged (Jl, [Lib. G. foi. 117. Int.

6. add. fol. 11«.]

Says that, when he was a Servant, in (Governor Nicholson'.^

Time, he heard there was a Fort, that stood upon Susquehanna,

built by the Mingo. or Susquehanna Indian.s. That he has lieard

it was attacilied and taken by one (Jolonel Ninian Bell, and the

Indians there were slaughtered. That he was told, l)y one Wil-

liam Cannon, now living, that the said Indian Fort stood upon
a Part ot the Plantation whereon he the said William Cannon
now lives at Conejoculu. That he was also told by one Philip

Roper, that the said Roper was wounded, at the taking of the

said Fort, by an Indian Arrow, in his Leg. and the Deponent
has seen the Wound aforesaid. And that the Deponent was told

that 150 Christians were killed at the taking of the said Fort.

And the Deponent has also heard that the said Colonel Beale

went to attack and take the said Fort by the command of the

Honourable Francis Nicholson, then Governor of Maryland.

(This must be since 1694. so that the Witnesses widely disagree.]

Note— It appears, by the Maryland Book of Laws, proved

in the Cause, at Fol. '6. that Francis Nicholson was Grovernour

in September, 1694; and it appears at Fol. 7. of the same Book,

that he was the King and Queen's Governour; so that, where-

ever this Fort was, if it was attackt, it was so attackt by

Governour Nicholson, as the Crown's Governour of Maryland,

not the Proprietor's Governour; Maryland Government being

taken into the hands of the Crown before 1694, and continued

.so till 1716, as appears manifestly from the enacting Style of

every one of their Laws during that Space of Time.

John Fleaharty, of Maryland, aged 102.

Has heard that the Lord Baltimore did begin, or intend, to

build a Fort at Conestogo, or Susquehanna.

We did not offer to examine any one of the last seven Wit-

nesses. Indeed they prove nothing. Every Word is Hear-

say. And if there was a Fort up, at Conejocula, yet they

should shew that that was the Susquehanna Fort, and
that it was ever known or heard of in 1680, in order to

apply this to any thing for their purpose. Whereas our

Evidence destroys any thing like that.

But the Defendant went on, and cross-examined one of our

Witnesses, viz.

Samuel Preston, aged 75, one of our Witneast-t, crosm-examined.

[Lib. H. fol. 104. Int. 2. add. fol. 104.
]

Remembers when he was a Boy to have heard, that the Sus-
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quehanna Indians, near the River Susquelianna, as he believes,

built u Fort, which was attackt,aud taken, by some People from
Maryland, under the Command of one Colonel Bell ; but how far

the said Fort ,va6 from the Mouth of the said River.knows not.

Says, that, when be first beard of the said Fort, he was so younjj

that he has but a faint Remembrance of a Rumour about it. But
further says, that, above 20 Years ago, he rode over the River

Susquehannah, above Conestogo Town, with Samuel Caryjenter

and Joseph Wood, and, about a Mile from the said River, on

the West Side thereof, saw a Field, with an Apple-Tree in it.

and was told (by Joseph Wood, he believes) that, according to

the Description of one Garland, an Indian Trader, he the said

Wood believed, that was the Place where the Susquehannah
Indians forted themselves in, when they were pursued by Col-

onel Bell from Marvland ; but says, he believes the said Wood
knew nothing more of the Place than by Hearsay, [Note, Joseph

Wood is examined in the Cause himselt, by both Sides] Has
heard, and believes, that the Susquehannah Indiana aforesaid,

had killed some People, upon Patapsco in Maryland, [Note,

That's down very low in Maryland] and, to secure themselves,

built the Fort as aforesaid; and that the before-mentioned

Colonel Bell, with some Men from Maryland, pursued them,

besieged their said Fort, and obstructed their receiving any
Provision into it, by which means the Indians were obliged to

leave it, and by Force rusht thro' the said Bell's Men.

The Same, [Int. 21. add. fol. 115.]

Has never heard of any other Fort on the West Side of

Susquehanna; and says, the Place, shewn to him by Joseph

Wood, is a little farther North than the Place in the printed

Plan called Conestogo.

If the Defendant can possibly make any Use of this Depo-
sition, and would imagine this to have been a Susque-

hannah Fort, and to have been a Fort really situated at

Conestogo, upon this hearsay Story at 3d or 4th Hand yet,

such Fort appears, by the latter Part of the Deposition,

not to have been any abiding settled Fort, such as Avas

mentioned in the Orders of Council in 1680, but a sudden
extempore Fort, run up. just when the Indians had (down
in the very Body of Maryland) murdered the Persons, to

defend themselves against Colonel Bell, and those who
were then pursuing them for that Murder.

Y'ou will please to remember, that, tho' the Orders of

Council about 1680, talk of the Susquehanna Fort, yet,

Mr. Penn's Charter for Pensilvania, contains no such

Limitation or Restriction to that Fort.



712 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

And indeed, it you cast your Eye upon my Lord Baltimore's

Plan, or upon the general Plan, you'll see what a Sort of

a Peninsula would be formed, if he was to go up above

Conestogo.

And most certainly, the Susquehanna Indians, who were a

great Tribe, might have different Forts, and at dififerent

times; so that no particular Fort can be applied to that

Order, if the Place of this Fort had been proved or fixed.

And, if we believe my Lord Baltimore's own Book and Ac-

count of hi8 Province, publisht in 1635, after he had ac-

tually made his Settllement, (for he gives an Account
therein of his Landing, of his Settlement, and of the whole
Country) He tells us, in so many plain Words, at Fol. 7.

That the Susquehannocks, a warlike People, that inhabit

between Chesopeak Bay and Delaware Bay. had drove the

Indians of Yocomaco higher ui) into the Country. And
that Scituation of the Susquehannocks does not at all

agree Avith Conestogo. which lies up a great way North
of every Part of Maryland.

So that the Susquehannocks had no Fort, up so many Miles

in the Country, nor, had any Christian ever been up so

high as Conestogo, in long after 1680, as our "Witnesses

have proved.

15.

Charles Brockden. the DefendanVs oivn Witness, [Lib. H. fol.

102. Int. 17. fol. 102.]

Has lookt on the Paper Writing, No 3. (endorst William

Penn to William Stanaley, Release for .500 Acres in Pensilvania)

That the Name, C. Brockden, is of his Hand-writing, and he

is Deputy Master of the Rolls for Pensilvania, and Recorder of

Deeds for the City and County of Phildelphia, and has the

Keeping of the Records of Deeds in the said City and County;

and says, the Exhibit is a true Copy ot what it purports to be

a Copy of, taken from the Records in liis Custody as Recorder.

So that this last Proof will clear all Objections, when we
cross-examined this same Witness to prove several other Records

in his 01Bc3 for us.

Benjamin Eastburii, our Witness cross-examined, [Lib. H. fol.

117. Int. 24. add. fol. 122.]

Has lookt upon the same Exhibit, which he calls a Release

for 5000 Acres. And has heard, that, about, or. before, the first

Settlement of the Province of Pensilvania under Mr. Penn, he

luade Deeds or fTrants, for very large Quantities of Land, in

the said Province, to several Persons; but the particular Quan-
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tities, does not remember. Further says, he believes that the

said Deeds, or Grants, and the Considerations and Terms were

much tlie same, as those in the said Exhibit, except what re-

lates to the Iiidians; and as to that, he can't chartre his Memory.
Furtlier says, that he has seen a Copy of the Concessions, or

Constitution, referred to in the said Exhibit; And that it

contained particular Terms, about Lots in and near Philadel-

phia, and the Settlement of the said Lands; also, other things,

which he can't particularly remembej.

Charlea Brockden, the DefendanV s Witness, {Lib. H. fol. 102.

Int. 1. add. fol. 103.]

Has iookt upon the Paper Writing, markt No 4. (endorst a

Copy of the Frame of Government of the Province of Peusilva-

nia, and Territories thereunto annext, or, William Penn's

Charter to the People of the said Province and Territories there-

unto annext,) And has examined and compared the same,

with the Record, from whence it's described, and that it is a

true Copy thereof.

We don't know what the above Release to Stand ley is, or

what Use is designed to be made of it; I suppose, to shew
that Mr.'Penn sold out some few Lands, upon very cheap

Considerations, as soon as he had his Grant of Fensilvania,

in order to tempt Persons to go over and begin his first

Settlement ; for that he most certainly did.

16.

Benjamin Eastburn, our Witness, cross-examined, [Lib. H. fol.

117. Int. 19. add. fol. 121.]

Does not certainly know, but has heard, and believes, that

the Town of Newcastle lies very near 20 Miles South of Phila-

delphia.

John Taylor, the Defendant's own Witness, [Lib. H. fol. 95. Int.

15. fol. 95.]

Says, he, by Direction of the Plaintiff Thomas Penn, did

measure how far the Town of Newcastle lies South, of the City

of Philadelphia, and found it to be about 18 English Statute

Miles.

Note—He does not say when he measured this; and the De-
fendant, in his Interrogatory, Lib. H. fol. 157. studiously,

and on purpose, avoids to ask as to the Time when? If he

would now fancy that this was before the Agreement, Num-
bers of our Witnesses prove, that Mr. Thomas Penn was never

in America, till after the Agreement executed.

And the Defendant's Surveyor Hynson Wright, swears he
surveyed all the lower Counties, to see where the Tanerent

Line would fall.
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17.

John Taylor, tfie Defendant's own Witness, [Lib. H. fol. 95. Int.

I'i. fol. 96. ]

Has never heard that any other Line, 12 Miles distant from

Newcastle, has been run. by Order of the Plaintiff's Ancestors,

or themselves, than one, to mark part of a Circle ot 12 Milts

Radius from the Town of Newcastle, and separate the County

of Newcastle from Chester County in Pensilvania. And further

says. That several Parcels of Land, lying South of the Parallel

of the most Northern Part of the said Circle, are held under

the Plaintiffs, as within the Province of Pensilvania, by Grants

made about and since the Year 1683. Some of which Lands,

the Affirmant says, he believes extends South of the Parallel

aforesaid about 6 or 8 Miles, and are extended Westwards, from

the County of Newcastle, to the River Susquehannah. Further

says, he cannot judge what Quantity there may be settled as

aforesaid, or the Number of Persons they are held by ; but knows
that several Townships, and a great Number of Inhabitants,

are so settled as aforesaid.

Hamuel Preston, our Witness, but cross-examined, [Lib. H. fol.

104. Int. 12. add. fol. 114.1

That all the Grants made by the Plaintiffs, in the 3 lower

Counties, are to the Southward of a Line, drawn West from

Delaware, 12 Miles North of Newcastle Town.

18.

The Defendant examined the following Witness, in order to

prove an Isthmus somewhere.

William Rumsey, of Maryland, the DefendanVs Witness, aged

42, [Lib. O. fol. 129. Int. 1. add. fol. 137.]

Is well acquainted with Christiana Creek and some of the

Branches thereof. And also is acquainted with Elk River, and

most of the Branches thereof. Has seen the Mouths of both

Christiana Creek and Elk River. That Christiana Creek runs

into, and flows out of, Delaware Bay or River; and Elk River

runs into, and flows out of, Chesopeak Bay. That Christiana

Creek runs through Part of Newcastle Count}-. And the

Branches of Elk River runup thro' Cecil County, into Chester

County, in the Government of Pensilvania. That the small

Branches, a little below the Springs, of the said River and Creek,

do approach, within a Quarter of a Mile of one another, but

believes they do not interlock. Is acquainted with, and assisted,

as a Surveyor, in running that Part of the East and West Line,
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lately run by his Majesty's Order in Council, between Delaware
and Susquehanna

; and he believes that the Mouth of Christiana
Creek lies about three Miles to the Northward of the said East
and West Line.

Note—This Man stands single, and alone by himself. They
have not been pleased to prove any Map on" their Part; not
even of this Line which, this Man says, he assisted to run.
Nor is he so kind as to tell us whereabouts these same small
branches are, which at the Spring Heads, approach so near:
All lie says, is, that the Mouth, of one of those Rivers, is, as
he believes, about 3 Miles North of the East and.West Line
wliich he assisted to run. He is mistaken in that Fact, as
appe-ars by our Map. But, if that was true, what consequence
does it carry? The Mouth of a River, especially in America,
(where their Creeks are larger than anv Rivers we are here
acquainted with) may be 3 Miles North of a Place, and the
Head, at the first Spring may be 30, or many more Miles South
of it. He certainly intends that the Branches or First Springs
are still more North, but then he should have said it, which
he does not. And if so, they are a great way up within the
main Continent

; And, for Proof thereof, this very Deposition,
and my Lord's own Answer, will serve us, as well also as our
Map. For he tells us, that Christiana Creek runs thro' Part
of Newcastle County, and my Lord confesses in Folio 18. of
his Answer, that the three lower Counties (of which all the
Witnesses agree that Newcastle is the most Northern) are seitu-
ate on the Eastern side of the Peninsula, and also, above the
Peninsula Avithin the main Land or Continent. So that this
Person would have the Isthmus of the Peninsula, (which they
mean to use this Evidence for) lay a vast Number of Miles up
within the main Continent; whereas we, have proved, by
many Witnesses, not only the true Isthmus, at the Head of
the Peninsula, formed by the Tide-Waters approaching so near
to each other as to flow within 4 Miles, from Apoquinomy to
Bohemia; We have proved, by many more Witnesses, another
Isthmus, a little more North than our first, being 22 Miles
asunder, and formed by the very Head of the great~lBay of
Chesopeak and great River of Delaware themselves; we have
proved, by many Witnesses, that, within the Peninsula itself
there are many Rivers that interlock. And we have, addi-
tionally proved that, within the Peninsula itself, there are
several Rivers which rise from one and the same Head, and
run, both ways, quite across the Peninsula, from Chesopeak
Bay to Delaware Bay or River. And we rely on it that the
Heads of such small Branches.as this W^itness' speaks of, where
the Run of Water is but like a Straw, perchance a great deal
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less, could not be in Contemplation, nor can possibly, in the

Nature of the Thing, from the Isthmus to this Peninsula,

which, in all the other Parts of it, is surrounded by the vast

Atlantick Ocean, and l>y the ^'reat Bays of Chesopeak and

Delaware; but the plain natural Shape of the Land, and the

Approach of the flowing Tide-waters, on each Side, or, at

must, the Approach of the Bay of Chesopeak, and River o*

Delaware, to each other, is what formb the Isthmus.

19.

The Defendant wanted to know further, whether the Mouth

of Christiana Creek or River lay to the South, or to the

North, of the Line lately run by Order of the King in

Council; and, in order thereto, cross-examined 4 of our

Witnesses.

Samuel Hollingsivorth, [Lib. H. fol. 29. Int. 1. fol. 33.] John

Musvrave, [Lib. H. jol. 34. Int. 7. fol. 37.]

Knew nothing at all of the Line.

Samuel Pre.'iton, [Lib. H. fol. 1U4. Int. 7. fol. 108.

1

Was acquainted with the Mouth of Christiana Creek, but was

unacquainted with the Line.

Benjamin Eastbrinu [Lib. H. fol. 117. Int. 1. fol. 117.]

Is acquainted with Christiana River, in Newcastle County,

and also with the Line, lately run by Order of the King in

Council, between the Proprietors of Maryland and Pensilvania;

but the said Line being begun, to the W^estward of Newcastle

County, can't say whether that Line is to the Northward, or

Southward, of the Mouth of the said Christiana River.

20.

The Defendant examined Three of his own Witnesses, to

prove where some Places called Kingsess, Mill Creek,

Charges Creek, or Westerhock lay; who wonderfully dis-

agree therein.

Mordecai Howell, [Lib. H. fol. 54. Int. 7. fol. 57.]

Knows a Place called Kingsess, and it lies about a Mile and

half or two Miles to the Southward of Philadelphia.

George Fitzwater, [Lib. H. fol. 85. Int. 7. fol. 86.]

Has heard that a Piece of Land, lying about six Miles below

Philadelphia, and on or near Skuylkill River, is cklled King-

sess.
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Benjamin Banckson. [Lib. H. fol. 83. Int. 7. fol. 84.]

Knows the Places formerly called Kiiigsess, Mill Creek,

Charges Creek, or Westerhock. That Kinp;sess is about seven

or eifjht Miles below Philadelphia, and on a Creek fallinj? into

Skuyikill River. That Mill Creek and Westerhock are about

the same Distance from Philadelphia, and about a Mile from

each other.

So tliat the Kingsess is either 1 Mile and I, or 8 Miles,

below Philadelphia.

And Millcreek and Westerhock are about 7 or 8 Miles from

Philadelphia, some way or other.

21.

William Price, of Maryland, aged G6, thi DefendanVs own Wit-

ness only, [Lib. G. Jol. 59. last Interrogatory fol. 63.]

That he being at Marcus Hook on Delaware, about forty Years

ago, [that must be 1700,] several People, who then lived at

Marcus Hook, informed this Deponent, that there was a bounded

Tree there, called my Lord s bounded Tree; and that Marcus

Hook aforesaid, as Deponent has heard and believes, is about

16 Miles up the River Delaware, above Newcastle Town.

The above are the very Words of the Witness ; what Lord

he, or his Informers, meant, whether they meant Lord

Delaware, who went up, and gave his Name to, that River

Delaware, or any other I^ord, Does not appear from this

hearsay Evidence. And it's observable, that the Defendant

has examined 71 Witnesses of his own, from the Age of 103

downwards, and cross-examined 27 of ours; and we have

examined 70 Witnesses of our own, and cross-examined 10

of his; and yet, not a Syllable of any such bounded Tree,

is mentioned, by any one but this single Man ; and that

too, in answer to the last general Interrosratory, whether

he knew any thing more for the Benefit of the Defendant?

22.

The Defendant examined two Witnesses of his own, to

prove that his Ancestor in 1682. went up Delaware to

Chester, in order to make an Observation, and how^ he

was received there by the People; and that, in going back,

at Marcus Hook, &c. he forewarned a few Inhabitants

from yiaying any more Quit Rent to Mr. Penn.

James Widdoua.v, aged 76, DefendanVs own. Witiiess only, [IJb.

H. fol. 77. Int. 10. fol. 77.]

Has lived in Chester Coui:tv ever since 1681. That in 1682, the
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Lord Baltimore came, out of Maryland, to the Head of Apoqui-

momy, and from thence, up Delaware, as high as a Place then

called Upland, and now called Chester, accompanied by several

Gentlemen, who came in two Boats. He has heard from Persons

then present. and believes, that the Lord Baltimore then declared

that be intended to go higher up the River, and had got instru-

ments with him, in order to see how far his Dominion reached,

but, that he was stopt by the People who lived thereabouts, who
were Swedes, Dutch and English, who brought out Guns and

Staves against him. Does not know who the People were, that

accompanied the Lord Baltimore; but has heard and believes

that one of them was a Captain of a Man of War. That he

landed at the House of one Robert Wade, on the Southwest

Side of Chester Creek, and to the best of Deponent's Remem-
brance, continued there, for about two or three Days, with

Governour Markham, then Governour of Pensilvania That
he had been credibly informed from Persons, who said they had

been present at the same Time, that the Lord Baltimore caused

an Instrument to be set up to know how far his Government
extended? And that it was then agreed, by the Artist there

present, that it reached to the Place where Philadelphia now
stands, which Land, at that time, was possest by Swedes under

the Government of York, and not then bought of them by Wil-

liam Penn Esq;

The same, to the \Uh Interrogatory, fol. 81.

That when Lord Baltimore left Chestei- Creek aforesaid, on

his Return, he called at the House of James Brown, at Marcus
Hook, a small Town, now calletl Chichester, about 4 Miles

below Chester Creek, where the Deponent then lived : and de-

sired this Deponent to tell the said Brown (who was then from

home) that he lived upon the said Lord Baltimore's Land,

and that if he paid any more Quit- Rents to Mr. Penn he would

be to pay them over again; for it was his Land, and he would
have his Right. And the Deponent was informed, that he went

to every House, on the Waterside, and in like manner forewarned

the Inhabitants not to pay any more Quit-Rents to Mr. Penn.

The same, to the last Interrogatory, fol. 83.]

Has heard and believes that Lord Baltimore, about the same
time, caused a Fort to be built, upon or near to Christine Creek,

but this Deponent has never seen the same, nor can give any
particular Account thereof.

If this single Hearsay Witness ;to every thing but James
Brown) amounts to any Proof, why then the Defendant
was. v^ery early, going by the Degrees, and bv the Degrees

as then known 50 Years after his Charter; and to th
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Extent of that uiociern discovered Degree; and confessedly
(by the present Answer) a great deal above everv Part of
the Peninsula and truely here was an early, and a very
high Claim; but, most unfortunately for him, three Years
after this, viz. in 1G85, upon his own Petition, the King
in Council adjudged, that the three lower Counties were
not included in his Charter, and were not granted to him,
and consequently, this, that he verbally claimed of James
Brown, was not his Land, nor his Right.

Richard Bufflngton, the DefeiidanVs Witness only, aged 85,
[Lib. H. fol. 88. I7it 10. fol. 88.]

Has lived above 63 Years on the West Side of Delaware, in
the Place now called Chester County. Near GO Years ago he
heard, from creditable Persons, that the then Lord Baltimore.
was at a Place called Marcus Hook, about 4 Miles below, and
to the Southward of the Place now called Chester Town. He
believes the said Lord Baltimore came from Maryland, and as
this Deponent was informed, from the said creditable Persons
forwarned the Inhabitants from paying Quit-Rents to William
Penn Esq; and saith [said] that the Land they lived on was
or would be, his.

'

In this old hearsay Story, there is at least some Mistake in
Time: for if (iovernour Markham, the Governour of Pen-
silvania, was along with Lord Baltimore, he was Kinsman
to, and Governour under Mr. Penn, and then Pensilvania
was not under the Government of New York. Nay, if
there is any Truth in this Story, it must have been after
Mr. Penn had the Lower Counties also; for that (as he
says, he heard) my Lord forbid some Tenants on the
Water-side paying any more Quit-Rents to Mr. Penn.

23.

Morderai Howell, aged 78, [Lib. H. fol. 54. Int. 5. fol. 54.]
Is the Defendant's own Witness only, and savs. that abou-t

1682, he came up the B-ay of Delaware, in Company with the
Ship in which the Plaintiffs Father was. That he landed, some
time before Mr. Penn, at Newcastle Town, and was there when
he landed at tliesaid Town; but knows not how long he stayed
there.

. That some time afterwards, Mr. Penn went to one San-
derhn-s. at a Place then called Upland, but now Chester which
IS reputed to be about twenty Miles above the Town of New
castle. That hecan'ttell how long he stayed there, nor knows
for what end or purpose he went there, but has heard it talktamong the People, that it was with Intent to have built a City
there, but that he and, Sanderlin could not ao-ree.
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It is undoubtedly true, that Mr. Penn, when he landed,

found so many ancient Settlers, under Swedish and Dutch

Titles, and so many more, under more modern Grants

from the Duke of York, that he was at a loss to find a

Space, in any proper Scituatiun. fit for so larp:e a City as

he then intended, and afterwards founded, free from some

private Rights and Possessions; and at length having

pitched upon a proper Scite for it, between two navigable

Rivers, he was forced to buy it from the private Proprie-

tors, in order to form his regular City Philadelphia, which

is an oblong Square, of two Miles, by one Mile.

*Zeb. HoUingsworth, of Maryland, aped 43, [Lib. Q. fol. 64. Int.

10. add. fol. 70.]

Has several times heard both his Father and Mother declare

that the Plaintiffs Father had an Observation taken, in order to

fix a Place to build Philadelphia on, by an Artist or Mathe-

matician, at the House of Robert Wade; at the Mouth of Chester

Creek, on Delaware. That the said Artist then told Mr. Penn

that he was, there, within the Baltimore Grant. That some

warm Words past between Mr. Penn and the Artist, which the

Deponent has heard was, because Mr. Penn believed the said

Artist was mistaken in his Observation. That this Deponent's

Father sometimes followed the Business of a Blacksmith, some-

times building Houses, and at other times surveying Lands in

both Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania.

This Witness has before sworn he has a Dispute under a

Maryland Right, with a Pensilvanian under a Pensilvania

Right. And besides, this is but a Hearsay from his Father

and Mother, neither of which does he pretend is dead, and

we have never cross-examined this Man.

Andrew Barry, of Maryland, aged 40, {Lib. Q. fol. 72. Int. 10.

addit. fol. 73.]

That he was desired, as a Magistrate of Cecil County in Mary-

land, to take the Affirmation of one Lydia HoUingsworth. now
deceased. He accordingly did administer an Affirmation, where-

on slie declared to this Deponent, that, between 50 and GO Years

before that Time, she was at the House of one Robert Wade,

at the Mouth of Chester River, on Delaware River; That she

was there when the Plaintiffs Father was there with an Artist,

taking an Observation. That the said Artist then told the said

Penn, that he was within the Lord Baltimore's Grant. And the

said Lydia further declared, that the said House, where the

said Wade then dwelt, was reputed to be in Maryland. And
that, upon the said Artist telling the said Penn as aforesaid,

thev then went, as she supposed, further up the River Delaware,
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and fixt the Town at the Place where the City of Philadelphia
is now built. Tlie said Penn, as she supposed, if the Artist had
not informed hiiu as aforesaid, intended to have built a Town
on, or near to, the said Chester River.

Surely this Man did not administer an Aflfirmation, and
take the Woman's Declaration viva voce. He omits spt-ci-

fying how she declared, but it must be presumed to be in

Writinj,'; and if .^^o, the thing itself ought to anpear.and
not his Account of it only. 1 suppose there is something
in the Aflfirmation itself, that would hurt them, so it is

concealed.

And it's certain the Artist, as he is called, must have been
mistaken, to say that Chester Creek was witliin Maryland,
for Chester Creek is above tht- Northermost Part of the
Lower Counties, consequently, as Part of these Lower
Counties is up in the Main Continent, what is above them
must be further up in the Main Continent, and could be
no Part of a Peninsula.

But his Mistake was, that he was measuring the Degree in

1682 (not as known in 1632) and was going to the Extent
of that Degree too.

24.

*Anne Holy, of Maryland, the Defendant's oton. Witness, aged
60, [Lib. O. fol. 103. Int. 8. addit. fol. lOG.]

When she was a Girl. Lord Baltimore lodged at her Father's
House. And she heard that, about that time, an East and West
Line was run. by the said Lord Baltimore and others, from the
Mouth of Octorara, to Naaman's Creek; and that there was a
Line of markt Trees lately to be seen, as she has heard. And
further declares, that the Pensilvanians have encroacht upon
her Husband, and takan Lands from him, that were patented
to her Husband under Maryland Rights, and that the last Line,
run by Order of the King in Council between the two Provinces,
run through her Husband's Plantation.

This Woman swears herself interested, and tho' the Defend-
ant began to examine her, to prove this old Line run in

1683, yet, upon second Thoughts, he dropt making any
further PrOof thereof, on his Part, save what fell occa-
sionally from his Witnesses.

But he made us ample Amends, for he was resolved he would
prove the little Loghousc which he says was built in 1683.

46—Vol. XV



722 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

25.

And to that purpose has examined the 14 following of his

own Witnesses, and cross-examined two of ours, viz.

Hugh Terry, of Maryland, DeftndanVs oicu Witness- only, born-

in 1691), [Lib. U. fol. 39. Int. 5. addit. fol. 40.

J

Has heard his Father Thomas Terry say that there was a Fort

at Christiana, that was a Charge to the People ol' Maryland

:

that it was built by one Talbot, andthatone Murray was Cap-

tain of the Fort, and that Provisions were prest, to support

the People in the Fort, from every Man's House, in the Neigh-

bourhood of the Place where Bohemia Ferry in Cecil County is

now kept, except his said Father's.

Note Well.—Allowing this Account to be very true, the

Fort carried no Subjection beyond its own mere Contents of

fourteen Feet by ten Feet, for they went down into Maryland,

to press Provision for it. into Cecil County, and did not pre-

tend to raise or press Provisions for the Fort from the Pen-

si Ivania Tenants in Newcastle County; although several such

were then settled between the Fort and Maryland.

*Zeb. Hollingsioorth, of Maryland, Defendant's oivn Witness

only, born in 1^97, [i/&. G. fol. 64. Last Interrog. fol. 72.]

Adds, that lie has heard there was a Fort kept at Christiana

Bridge, in Colonel Talbot's Time, that one Kearsey supplied

the said Fort with Provisions, upon Colonel Talbot's Account,

but when Talbot left the Province for killing of one Rouseby^

there being nobody to pay Kearsey for finding Provisions, the

said Fort broke up. But this is an interested Witness, as he

himself swears.

*Anne Holy, of Maryland, Defendant's own Witness only, born

in 1680, [Lib. G. fol. 103. Int. 5. addit. fol. 104. ]

Has heard there was a Fort kept at Christiana Creek, near

where Christiana Bridge now is; but on what Side, by whom
built, or at whose Expence, knows not; but believes it was main-

tained by the Government of Maryland, because the People, in

the Fort, used to have Provisions from her Father's House in

Maryland. That the said Fort was kept up some time, but how
long can't tell; but it whs, until the Killing of one Rouseby by

Colonel Talbot. That the said Fort lay near West from New-

cast'e ToAvn, and distant about five Miles thence, as she believes.

Aaron Latham, of 3Iaryland, the Defendant' s own Witness only.

born in 1680, [Lib. G. f,l. 76. Int. 5. addit. fol. 70.]

Knew a Fort that was built near the Place where Christiana

Bridge is, and that it was called Talboi's Fort and it stood on

fhe West side of Christiana Creek and heard it was built by one
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Colonel Talbot, and was told by the Men in the said Fort, that

they were maintained at the Expenee of the said Colonel Talbot.

That it was about 50 Years ago [1G90] that he saw the said Fort,

and that he remembers it was kept up about two or three Years.

That Newcastle Town lay E. S. E. from the said Fort. That
the said Fort was about 5 Miles distant from Newcastle Town,

Thomas Price, of Maryland, the DefendanV s oicn Witness only,

born in 1(J76, [Lib. C. fol. 86. Int. 5. addit. fol. 8<J.]

That, about oO Years ago [1690] he saw a little Log- Fort, at

the foot of Christiana Bridge and some Men in it. That the
said Fort was kept by Colonel Talbot, as heObelieves, to keep
the People of Newcastle off. That the said Fort was on the
Westward side of Christiana Bridge, and kept up five or six

Years, and lay. as he believes, about W. N. West from New-
castle Town, and distant from Newcastle about six or seven

Miles.

Robert Money, of Maryland, the Defendant's own Witness only,

born in 1675, [Lib. G. fol. 36. Int. 5. addit. fol. 37.]

When he was a Boy, he has heard several People speak of a

Fort at Christiana that was maintained at the Expence of Lord
Baltimore, but for what time can't exactly charge his Memory,
but believes it to be about four Years. And that it was kept
up about 57 Years ago [1683—So this Witness corrects the Time
of tlie others, who were mistaken] Snys his Information was
from several Persons who he understood to be Soldiers in said

Fort, the Name after which was Murrey.

tiimon Johnson, of Maryland, the Defendant'sowji Witness only,

born in 1674, [Lib. G. fol. 115. Fnt. 5. addit. fol. 115.]

Heard there was a Fort on the West side of Christiana Creek,

i.n Colonel Talbot's Time. And that Colonel Talbot used to

buy Corn and Beef in Maryland, and sent it to the said Fort,

this Deponent having seen some of the Provisions brought.
He has heard the said Fort was built by Colonel Talbot. That,
after Colonel Talbot left the Province, the Fort broke up, for

want of some Person to supply the Men there with Provisions.

That the Place where he has been informed the said Fort stood,

lay Westward from Newcastle, distant about five Miles.

William Price, of Maryland, the Defendant' s own Witness only,

born in 1674, [lAb. G. fol. 59. Int. 5. addit. fol. 59.]

Has been at a Place near Christiana Bridge, where, he was
informed that a Fort stood. That his Father informed him-he
helpt to build it. That it stood on the Nortliwest Side^f the
said Creek. His Father informed him that Colonel Talbot
went, with the People, to build said Fort. The Place where
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the said Fort stood w.is between 5 and G Miles distant, to tiie

Northwestward ot the Town of Newcastle, and that the said

Fort was kept up. lor some Years, as he was also informed by

his Father, at the Expence of the Province of Maryland.

Samuel HoUingsworth, our Witness, but cross-examined, born in

1678, [Lib. H. fol. 29. Int. 4. fol. 32. J

Has formerly heard that there was a .small Fort, called the

Maryland Fort, about five Miles Westerly from Newcastle, on

the Northwest side of Christiana Creek, and near a Bridge over

the said Creek, by Order of the Lord Baltimore, and that the

said Fort was kept and maintained, .some Years, at the Expence

of Lord Baltimore, or the People of Maryland.

John Ryland, of Maryland, the defendant's own Witness only,

born in 1672. [Lib. G. Sol 46. Int. 5. addit. fol. 47.]

He has heard, above 50 Years ago [that must be before 1690]

a Fort was kept, upwards, commanded by one Captain Murray,

and that Colonel Talbot was concerned in the said Fort. In

what place it stood, knows not. Has been informed they prest

Provisions for the said Fort in the Neighborhood of Bohemia

Ferry, How long it was maintained, or at whose Expence, can-

not tell.

Walter Scott of Maryland the Defendant's oum Witness only,

born i7i 1671, [Lib. G. fol. 52. Int. 5. addit. fol. 52.]

That above 150 Years ago [before 1690] he lived v:\th one

Casparus Herman. That being sent on an Errand, to Bread

and Cheese Island on Christiana Creek, going over Christiana

Bridge, he saw a small strong Loghouse, which was called the

Fort. That there was several }^)rt-holes in the said House.

That it stood a little way off the said Bridge. That one Murray

was said to command it. And this Deponent saw some Soldiers

that belonged to the said Fort. That he knew one Thomas

Mansfield, a Press-Master for Cecil County, to press Provisions

in Cecil County aforesaid, for the Men in the said Fort. That

the said Fort was kept up until Colonel Talbot absconded

from his usual Abode for killing one Rousby. But what Length

of Time it was kept up. can't remember. That the said Fort

stood about 6 Miles W. N. West distant from Newcastle Town.

Otho Othoson, of Maryland, the DefendanV s onm Witness only,

born in 1668, [Lib. G. fol. 28. Int. 5. addit. fol. 29.]

Has known a Fort, between the Head of Christiana Creek

and White-Clay Creek, in the County of Newcastle. And was

once at the said Fort. And it stood on the North side of

Christiana aforesaid. AVho built it. lie knows not. or at whose

Expence, or how long it was maintained, but it was called Col-
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onel Talbot's Fort. And that the said Fort was between 4 and
5 Miles distant Northward, or Northwest, from Newcastle
Town, as he believes.

Eliz. Mercer, of Maryland, the DefendanV s own Witness only,

born in 1607, [Lib. Q. fol. 100. Int. 5. addit. fol. 100.]

She knew a little Loghouse, near Christiana Creek, which
was called the Maryland Fort—Believes it was on West-side

of Christiana Creek, ; That it was built by Colonel Talbot's

Men, above 50 Years ago. It was< kept up, some Y'ears, by the

said Colonel Talbot, but can't say how long. Does not know
how the Fort lay from Newcastle. That her Father's House
was computed to be twelve Miles distant from Newcastle. That
the Fort lay two Miles nearer Newcastle than her Father's

House. That when the People went over the Bridge from her

Father's House, they reckoned tliemselves in Newcastle County

;

That the other Side, over the Bridge, next her Father's House,
they reckoned in Pensilvania; That, about the Year 1G70. she

came into the Country, and Courts were then held at Newcastle

Town, in the King's Name.

Jo?in Musgrave, our Witness, but cross-examined, born in 1667,

[Lib. H. fol. 34. Int. 4. fol. 36.]

That he knew a small Log- Fort, that was built,after the run-

ning Colonel Talbot's Line, about four or five Miles to the

North-Westerly of Newcastle, and on the North-West side of

Christiana Creek, by the Direction of Lord Baltimore, or Col-

onel Talbot, as the Affirmant has heard, and was maintained,

for some short time, by People from i\Iaryland.

Mordecai Howell, the Defendant's oivn Witness only, horn in

1662, [Lib. H. fol. 54. Int 6. fol. 56.]

Says that some time in the Year 1683 he was going after a

Runaway Servant, and was then shewed a Fort, made with
Sapling Poles, as he believes, about 14 Feet square, and told,

that it was built and maintained by Order of Lord Baltimore.

That he saw some men, and some Fire-Arms, in the same, but
knows not the Number.

James Morgan, of Maryland, the Defendant' s own Witness only,

horn in 1660, [Lib. G. fol. 91. Int. 5. addit. fol. 92.]

Has heard there was a Fort kept at Christiana, commanded
V)y one Philip Murray, and that he inquired of some Irishmen
who kept the said Fort, what they kept the said Fort for? He
was told by them, it was to keep Possession for luy Lord.

That he has been told that 7,000 Pound of Tobacco was levied in

Cecil County, for maintaining the People of the same Fort, but

how long it was maintained, knows not, but that it was dropt

on Colonel Talbot's killing one RousVjv.
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How some Persons, for Opposition sake, persue Matters to

their own hurt ! And what do all these last Sixteen Wit-

nesses amount to, at the very utmost?

Why, there was a Fort, that was built by Colonel Talbot,

or Lord Baltimore, or somebody.

It was mantained, for some short time, either by Colonel

Talbot himself, or by Lord Baltimore, or by the People of

Maryland ; and then it Avas dropt, when Colonel Talbot

killed Rousby. For there was nobody then to pay the

Expence of it.

And it was situated jnst by Christiana Bridp:e, which, by

the way, is jnst Avhere the Swedish and Dutch Fort was.

And now, what Pity it is, that we, by our great Knowledge,

should have imposed on my Lord, in the present Agree-

ment, and that he has not. by this present Agreement,

quite up to this Fort of his? Or ratlier, what Pity is it,

that he was not precisely limited to this Fort?

In which last Case, we should have saved a Tract of Land,

4 Miles broad, "by five whole Degrees in Length, which we
have now granted to him, North of, and above that iden-

tical Spot of his own former Claiins or Encroachments.

Which very Tract contains our antient Town of Notting-

ham, the richest and most fertile Spot in our whole Prov-

ince, but Avhich we have now given up, to buy our Peace

(as we vainly imagined) after having suffered much more

from these ruinous expensive Contest^, than Strangers

can easily believe or be made sensible of.

Yet he insists, very calmly, that in this Grant there is no

Consideration moving from us, we take all the Benefit,

and he takes all the Loss, that is, if he is to be believed.

26.

The next thing my Lord Baltimore attempted to prove was,

that he had exercised the Government, and he had re-

ceived the Quit-Rents, in the lower Counties. To which

Purpose he examined the three following Witnesses of his

own, viz.

Colonel John Ward, of Maryland, the DefendanVs own Witnesn

only, aged (ji, [Lib. O. fol. 'M. Int. 5. fol. 32.]

Has never heard that Lord Baltimore, or any of his Ances-

tors, exercised any Power or Authority of Government in the

3 lower Counties; and has heard that the Plaintiffs and their

Ancestors, have exercised the Powers of Government in the said

Counties. Knows not nor has heard, that the Inhabitants of
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the said 3 lower Counties liave ever paid any Quit-Rent to the

Lord Baltimore, or his Ancestors: and has heard several of the

Inhabitants of the said three lower Counties say that they had

never paid any Quit-Rent to the Plaintitls or their Ancestors.

He has never heard of any other or more Forts, that was erected

and kept in the 3 lower Counties, or on the Borders thereof,

but one, which he has heard was kept on tlie North-side of

Christiana Creek, or thereabouts, which he believes is in the

County of Newcastle, by the Ancestors of the Lord Baltimore,

about Colonel Talbot's Time, and that one Drake prest Men

to assist those that were in the said Fort, upon a Rumor the

Fort would be attackt by the Pensilvanians. And has heard

Edward Larrimore. Christopher Mouns, John Wheeler, and sev-

eral others of the then antient Settlers, declare they had seen

the said Fort.

Charles Hilliard, Esq., the Defendant' s own Witness only, aged

6:5, [Lib. G. fol. 158. Int. 5. fol. 163.]

Neither knows, nor has heard, of any Acts of Government

done, or exercised, by Lord Baltimore, or his Ancestors, in the

three Lower Counties, but that all Acts of Government, for

many Years last past, have been exercised by the Proprietors

of Pensilvania in the said three Lower Counties. Never knew

of any Quit-Rents paid to, or demanded by. Lord Baltimore,

or his Ancestors in the said three Lower Counties, but he him-

self, and divers others, have paid Quit-Rents to the Proprietors

of Pensilvania for Land in the three Lower Counties aforesaid.

He knew a Fort, in Newcastle Town, held under the Govern-

ment of the Plaintiffs Ancestors, but knows not of any other

Fort in, or bordering on, the said three Lower Counties. That

the said Fort at Newcastle Town aforesaid, was maintained and

kept u[) at the Expenee of the Inhabitants and the Proprie-

tors of Pensilvania, as he has heard from several of the Mem-
bers of the Assembly of the said three Lower Counties at New-
castle, but how long the said Fort was maintained, he knows
not.

John HolUday, the Defendant's own Witness only, aged 39, [Lib.

Q. fol 170. Int. 5. fol. 173.]

Has never known, or heard of, any Acts or Powers of Gov-

ernment exercised in the three Lower Countys, but by and

under the Person who was Governor of the said three Counties,

and at the same time Governor of Pensilvania. Knows not of

any Quit- Rents being paid to the Proprietor of Maryland, but

has frequently heard that several of his Neighbors have paid

Quit-Rents to the Proprietors of Pensilvania. for Lands held

in the upper Part of Kent County aforesaid. Has heard that
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the Lord Baltimore had a Fort at Christiana, in Newcastle

County, and a small Number of Men, and that the said Fort
was kept up, for some lime, by Lord Baltimore.

Note.—The three last are tlie Defendant's own Witnesses,

whom we have not examined to any one single Word. And they

did not please him: So he varyed the Interrofjatory, by an ad-

ditional one, dropping the Government and the Quit-Rents

and confining it to the Fort only, an account whereof you have

had befoi-e.

You'll please to observe that the Defendant has sworn that

his Ancestors all along exercised all Acts of Proprietor-

ship and Government in the three Lower Countys.

Whereas he is, thus flatly, contradicted by his own fore-

going Witnesses which he examiiied in Chief on that Head,

by many more of his own Witnesses who speak of that

Matter Occasionally, by the whole String of our Evidence

also, (and by his Witness Mr. Sharpe. the Clerk of the

Council, and by all the Records of the Council OflBce, from
the Year 1702, to this Time.)

But this is a Trifle (with him.)

27.

He had also sworn four other F.acts, in his Answer, 1. That the

Province of Pensilvania is contiguous to New Jersey. 2. That
it is not contiguous to the Lower Countys. 3. Tiiat Pensilva-

nia is on our side, and the Lower Counties on the other side,

of the Bay of Delaware. 4. That Pensilvania lay on the West
side, and the three Lower Countys on the East side of the said

Bay and River of Delaware; and he has examined divers Wit-
nesses to prove these Facts; but they being most notoriously

false and untrue, not only the following Witnesses, examined
by himself in chief thereto, but all the Witnesses that are ex-

amined in the Cause, falsify his Answer, in the most direct

manner that is possible.

Charles Hilliard, the Defendant's own Witness only, aged 63

[Lib. G. ful. 158. Int. 2. fol 159.]

Says that the three Lowei- Counlies ai-c bounded to the North
by the Province of Pensilvania, on the East on Delaware and
the Ocean, and Southward and AVestward by the Province of

Maryland. That the Jerseys lie on the East side of Delaware,
and the Province of Pensilvania, and the three Lower Counties
on the West side of Delaware.

John Holliduy, the DefeitdanV s own Witnes.s only, mjed 39, yiAh.

a. Jul. 170. Int. 2. fol. 170. I

Is acquainted with the Countys of Newcastle and Kent, which
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are bounded on the North by Pensilvania, on the East by

Delaware, West by Maryland, South by Sussex County, with

which he is but little acquainted, havinj^ been there but once.

That the Jerseys lye on the East side of the Bay and River

Delaware. And the Province of Pensilvania, and the Counties

aforesaid are divided from New Jersey, by Delaware.

Thomas Hyiisou WrigJit, of Maryland, the Defendant' s own
Witness only, aged m, [Lib. Q. fol. 251. Int. 2. fol. 251.]

Has known the three lower Counties upwards of twenty Years,

has resided near to them, and been frequently in them. And
has understood, by the Inhabitants of those Countys, that

they were bounded on the South by Indian River, and on the

East partly by the Ocean and Delaware Bay, and on the North

some small Distance to the Northward of Newcastle, and on

the West, as far as the running Water of the Branches that

drain into Delaware. That New Jersey is not contiguous to

Maryland and Pensilvania, or either of the three Lower Coun-

ties, but is divided from the same by the Bay and River of Dela-

ware. Knows the Bay and River of Delaware, and understands

from the Inhabitants of the said three Lower Counties, that

they are bounded, on the East, by the Ocean, from Indian River

to the Mouth of Delaware Bay; and from thence, to the North-

ward of Newcastle, by Delaware Bay or River, still on the East.

That he always understood that the Provinc3 of Maryland lies

on the West side of the Ocean and the said Bay or River Dela-

ware; and that the Province of Pensilvania lies to the North-

ward of Maryland, and on the West side of the said River Dela-

ware; and the said Province of East and West Jerseys lie on

the East side of the said Bay or River of Delaware.

Note —This Witness fortifies our Cape, and corroborates our

Evidence about the South Bounds of Sussex, for he has known it

but from the Year 1720, or thereabouts, and where does he place

our South Bounds? why at Indian River, greatly below my
Lord's new Cape Hinlopen, almost as low as our true old Cape

Hinlopen; and our Witnesses agree, tho' our Bounds were to

the old Cape Hinlopen, which is Fenicks Island, on the Branch

of Assawaman, yet, about 1090, upon one Peter Waples running

away from Maryland to Indian River for Debt, the Sheriff of

Maryland, then pursued him thither, and that, since that Time,

(which was long before this Witness's Knowledge) my Lord by

force, made the few People submit, up as high as to Indian River.

This Observation, kept in mind, will be of great Use, in

manv other Places.
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28.

As the Defendant has so stronj^ly sworn to all Acts of Own-

ership and Proprietorship, (as well as of Government) having

been exercised by himself and his Ancestors, within the three

Lower Counties, so he struggled hard to prove a very few In-

stances of Settlements of Lands under Maryland Rights, every

one of which turns out against him.

For Method sake we will begin first with the County of New-

castle.

And first of these, as to a particular Tract sayed to have been

surveyed for one Henry Ward.

*Benjamin Pierce, of Maryland, the DefendanVs Witness only,

aged 28, [Lib. G. fol. M. Int. 21. fol. 95.]

Has dwelt above 20 Years in Cecil County, Says that he, who

married with the Daughter and Heir at Law to one Henry

Ward, amongst his Papers, found a Deposition, dated in March

1724, made by the said Henry Ward, the purport of which De-

position was, that one Ev«n James had taken a Lease, of the

said Ward, of certain Lands bordering upon Newcastle County,

claimed by the said Ward under Maryland Rights; that, on

complaint of some Welsh People, to a Magistrate of Newcastle

County, the said James was taken up, on a Warrant issued by

said Magistrate, and was obliged, before the said Magistrate,

to deny that he had taken any Lease from the said Ward, other-

wise he had been sent to Newcastle Prison; and the said Evan

James afterwards, claimed the said Land under a Right from

the Proprietors of Pensilvania. And that, by another Deposi-

tion, made by the said Ward, found also among the said Ward's

Papers, itapi)ears to this Deponent, that one Alex. Lewis, also,

had taken a Lease of Land, from the said Ward, that a like

Complaint was made l)y the Welsh People, and the said Lewis

was obliged, in some manner, to deny his taking any such Lease,

and, since, claimed the said Land under a right from the Pen-

silvania Proprietors. And well knows that one Evan Jenkins,

about 5 Years since, has, under a Pensilvania Right, entered

and seated on some of the said Tract, now claimed by this De-

ponent in Right of his said Wife.

*Idem to the Uth add. Int. fol. 98.

Knows of no other Lands layd out, or possest, under Mary-

land Rights, in the Lower Counties, the Quit-Rents on those

beforementioned, due to the Year 1712, being paid to the Re-

ceiver of Lord Baltimore, as by Receipts under old Mr. Heath's

Hand, a Receiver for the said Lord, appears.

This Witness swears himself interested, speaks entirely out
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of Depositions which are not produced, and would not

be Evidence if they were, beixig Ward's own Depositions

to prove his own Rijxht, and from Receipts which are not

produced.

^Richard I'liompson, of Maryland, the Defendant' s own Witness

only, aged 55, [Lib. G. Fol. 109. Int. 21. Fol. 110.]

Has dwelt 20 Years in Cecil County. Knows of no Incroach-

ments luade by the Marylanders on the inhabitants of Pensil-

vania, or their Land. borJerius: on, or in the Lower Counties.

But says that, since 1728, and above G Years aj^o, David Lewis,

and several other Persons, have, under Colour of Pensilvania

Rights, taken Possession of about 400 Acres, (Part of two Tracts

containing 2500) granted above 60 Years ago, as he has reason

to believe, having seen the Grant under Maryland Rights, to one
Henry Ward. And that the said Lewis and others hold the

said Lands, as in Newcastle County. That the Deponent, at

the request of Henry Ward, Son of the said Henry, went to as-

sist him, in making a Re-survey of the said Land, but was, by

the Pensilvanians prevented. iSays that the People of New-
castle County, above 16 Years ago, attempted to take some of

the Lands, whereon the Deponent now lives, from him, by

running Lines thro" his Plantation, but he, by Thi'eats, has

held his Possession. Says there formerly was a main Road,

through Part of the said Land of Henry Ward, cleared and
kept up, by the People of Cecil County; but that the inhabi-

tants of Newcastle County, now, prevent their keeping it up.

and clear it themselve.^.

Tills last Witness swears he has disputed Lands. And we
are to have a geat deal more about this Henry Ward, but

hitherto, one believes the Land had been granted to Ward,
and another talks as if he had claimed it; but no pretence

that Ward, or any in his Right, liad ever settled upon it.

or made any Improvement, and we have |)roved how
Maryland Grrants are made.

Laurence Gailslnott, of Maryland, the DefeudanV s own Witntss

only, aged 00, {Lib. G. fol. 49. Int. 21. fol. 49.]

Has dwelt 20 Years in the Borders of Cecil County. Knows
that two Settlements have been made, within 10 or 12 Years

past, by Pensilvanians, on Land for 40 Years supposed to be

within the Limits of Maryland, one about a Mile to the South-

ward, and another about a Mile to the Northward, of tlie Place

Avhere the Depf)nent lives. The last of which was fornjerly sur-

veyed, and pntented. tor Henry Ward, under a Mjiryhind Right.

That this i)ep()nent and one Richard Thompson, above 20 Years

ago, carryed the Chain in surveying the said Land for the said



732 PENNSYLVANIA AND MARYLAND

Henry Ward, [Why the last Witness, Thompson, says it was

granted to Ward 60 Years ago,and he saw the Patent; what was

it granted 40 Years before it was surveyed?] Knows vi no en-

croachments, by The Mary hinders on the Pensi Iranians. That

one Thomas Noxon, a Surveyor under the Pensilvania Govern-

ment, surveyed the said Land, to tlie Southward of where the

Deponent lives, for one John Toland who settled the same; and

he or his Family now lives at tlie same, under the Government

of Pensilvania.

Three Witnesses have now spoke to Henry Ward's Land,

and no one of them pretends that an Inch of it was ever

settled under Maryland.

Thomas Price, of Maryland, the DefendanVs otvn Witness only,

agedGA, [Lib. G. fol. 86. I7it. 21. fol. 86.]

Has dwelt for above 20 Years in Cecil County. That one

Edwards about 15 Years ago, and several other Welsh People,

since, have, seated under the Pensilvania Proprietors, part of

a Tract of Land, taken up under Maryland Rights, for one

Ward, under the Lord Baltimore, and reputed to lie in Cecil

County in Maryland, and then held by one Vander Skeyden,

Mother and Guardian of Henry Ward, a Minor. That the De-

ponent at her Request, forbid two of the said People to seat on

the said Land, and, by the Son of one of them, who persisted

in doing it, he was told, that his Father, who could not speak

English, would carry the Deponent to the Goal of NeAvcastle

County, if he gave him any Hindrance in seating the said Lands,

Does not know whether the said Lands are in, or adjoining to,

either of the 3 Lower Counties, but the People seating the said

Land under the Pensilvania Proprietors are under the Govern-

ment of the said 3 Lower Counties.

Obed. Obedience, of Maryland, the DefendanVs oum Witness

only, aged 70, [Lib. G. fol. 55. Int. 21. fol. 5G.]

Has dwelt for 20 Years at Back Creek, in Cecil County.

Knows that one Edwards, and other Welsh People, since 1723,

under pretence of a Right from the Pensilvania Proprietors,

have entered and possest themselves of some Lands, which were

thentofore surveyed for one Ward, Father of Henry Ward, under

a Maryland Right. And the said Land w^as called Long Acre.

And that one Mr. Vander Skeydon, Guardian of the said Henry

Ward, informed this Deponent that lie paid the Duties for the

said Land, to the Proprietor of Maryland, during the Minority

of the said Ward, and that the said Edward's Children, and

others, now\live on the said Land. That the said Persons, who

settled the said Land as aforesaid, told this Deponent that one

Evans, a Magistrate of New^castle County, gave them a Warrant
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for the said Land; l)ut never heard the said Land was surveyed

under a Pensilvania Rifj:lit; and believes tliere are near twenty

Settlements on the said Land. Knows of no Incroachnients

made bv any of the Marylanders on the Inhabitants or Lands of

Pensilvania.

Instances of this sort being extremely scarce, the Defendant

has bestowed five AVitnesseson this single Tract of Henry

Ward's, no one of which pretends that Ward hat! ever

settled a single Foot of this Land, nor does any one of

them venture to say it was in Newcastle County. Some

say it was in Cecil County, some that it was reputed to

be in Maryland, or within the Limits of Maryland, an-

other that it was bordering upon Newcastle County. If it

had been in Newcastle County, we had a Right to it, if

it was not in Newcastle County, why then, no Survey of

it, nor even Settlement if such had been actually made
under Maryland, was any Assertion of the Maryland Claim.

We come to two Instances relating to Edward Divier, at

the Iron Hills and David Parry.

William Price, of 3Iari/lait.d, the DefendanVs oirn Witues.s only,

agedm, [Lib. G. fol. 59. Int. 11. add. fol. 62.]

Has heard there were about 56 Years ago, [1684] taken up and

surveyed, several Tracts of Land, near the Iron Hills, in New-

castle County under Maryland Rights, one'of which Tracts was

for one Edward Divier, but does not remember to have heard

that any of the Lands were ever settled under Maryland; except

by the said Edward Divier's planting some Peach Trees on the

said Iron Hills.

This is hearsay, and still no Settlement made by Maryland.

*Adam Short, the T)efendanV.s own Witnes.'i only, aped 78, [Lib.

H. Fol. 60. Int 8. Fol. 61.]

Says that, in or about the Year 1682, Daniel Tewis had 1000

Acres of land, called the Iron Hills, taken up, for him, under

the Defendant's Ancestors, And that, about the Year 1684

or 1685, Philip Lines, one Gossager, and one LaAvellins, had

1000 Acres of Land, each, taken up, for them, under the De-

fendant's Ancestors. All which Lands, about 39 Y'ears ago [1701]

were, by Warrant under William Penn. then granted to some

Welch People, as Part of the Welch Tract, and have been ever

since held, under the Plaintiffs Ancestors, and themselves, as

Part of Newcastle County. Further says, that none of the said

Lands were ever seated, by any Persons, under Right from Mary-

land, before the Welch took Possession of them. Further says

that, about a Year after the said Welch Tract was surveyed, one

David Perry took up a Tract of Land, under the Government
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of Maryland, which the ijaid Perry seated, improved, and held
till about 20 Years ago, at which Time the Deponent purchased
and seated it, for some small Time, and, till some Welch People
by force, dispossest him of it, who have held it ever since.

Further says, that the Surveyor, who laid out the Welch Tract,
declared, at the taking: up the said Land, that it was not, with-
in the Welch Tract.

The Witness chuses not to tell us, where these Lands lay,

but wherever they lay, he owns they were never seated by
any one Marylander. And he swears himself interested
in the Question.

*Richard Thompson, of Maryland, the DefendanVs own Wit-
ness only, aged 55, [Lib. G. fol. 109. Int. 11. add. fol. 113.]

Has heard that a Tract of Land, in the County of Newcastle,
was formerly taken up, and actually possest, by one David
Parry, under a Maryland Right; and another Tract of Land,
in the same County, taken up, and reputed to belong to one
Lewellin, under a Maryland Righr, are now claimed, and pos-
sest, by People under pretence of Rights from the l^ensilvania
Proprietors. [Has not he shewn a just Reason for it, that both
those Tracts were in Newcastle County?] And further says, that
the said Persons with Pensilvania Rights entred into the said
Parry's Land, within a Year after his Death, -and before the
Persons, who had a Claim to it under Maryland Rights, at-
tempted it. Says he heard the aforesaid Henry Ward frequently
say, that he paid the Quit-Rents for the Lands mentioned in
his former Answer to 21 Int. to the Lord Proprietor of Mary-
land.

This Man appeared before to be interested, but if not, yet,
now we hear, that Parry's Land lay in Newcastle County.
But hitherto, there is not an Inch of Land, pretended to
have been settled under Maryland. And it is owned, that
tho' there was a Maryland pocket Survey by Maryland,
yet no Possession under it, but that the Pensilvanians
possessed the Lands.

We come now to the pretended Instance of Settlements
made by the Marylanders in two Manors called Talbot
Manor, and NeAv Munster Manor, still as to Newcastle
County, which come out to be nothing at all to the Pur-
pose.

William Rnmsey. of Maryland, the DefendanVs Witness, [Lib.
G. Fol. 129. Int. 2. additional Fol. 139.]

Is well acquainted with both the Tracts of Land called Tal-
bot Manor and New Munster. mentioned in some Exhibits
marked No 4. Letters Y and Z, (except the Northern Part of
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Talbot Manor) That both of the said Tracts lie in Cecil County
in Maryhmd, but the North Part of Talbot Manor, and the

North East Part of New Munster, is now possessed by l^ersons

untler the Government of Pensilvania. He believes there are

upwards of 50 Plantatitnis made and settled, on Talbot Manor,

by Persons under the Government of Pensilvania, and as many
Plantations made and settled by Persons under Maryland. And
that there are two or three Settlements made, partly, on the said

Tract of Land called New Munster by Persons under the Gov-
ernment of Pensilvania, and about 6 or 8 Settlements made by

Persons under ^Maryland rights. That he believes there is about
8000 Acres of Talbot Manor, and 1500 Acres of Ncav Munster,

that lie to the North of the East and West Line run as afore-

said.

We suppose that the Exhibits, which this Witness refers to,

are ^opies of the Maryland Grants of those Manors, and what
does he prove? that my Lord's People have settled in the lower

Counties? Nothing in the World like it, my Lord has granted

out two Manors in Cecil County, and his Tenants possess them ;

Let them do so. That is not in the three loAver Counties; If it

proves any thing, it is rather that we have made Settlements

upon him, than he upon Us. But even that is not the Case;

for the next Witnesses unfold the Mystery, and tell Ua how
notably these twb Manors are settled, by either of us; and with
all tell us the Reason why both Sides have settled upon the

Lands described to make those Manors; Part of them lay in

Cecil County, those my Lord's Tenants enjoy; Part of them lay

in Newcastle County and those the Pensilvania Tenants enjoy.

And even this Witness liimself supposes it. for he tells us that

a great Part of these Manors lie North of the Temporary Line

run by Order of the King in Council lately.

James Alexander, of Maryland, the DefendanV s own Witness

only, aged 51, [Lib. G. Fol. 80. Int. 11. additional Fol. 81.]

Knows that three hundred Acres, being Part of the Manor
of New iSIunster, extends into the County of Newcastle, which
said Manor was surveyed under a Maryland Right, in or about

the Year 1684. [This is a good (Maryland) Witness, he swears

postively to a Survey being made five Years before he was born]

That the aforesaid 300 Acres were first settled, by one David
Meredith, about twenty Y'ears ago, under the Proprietor of

Pensilvania.

Of this Witness's ow-n shewing, we had a clear Right to do

so, and no Pretence that any Settlement was made by
Maryland.
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*Zebulon HolUngsworth, of Jlcayland, the DefendanV s own Wit-

ness only, [Lib. G. FoL G4. Int. 2. additional Fol. 66. ]

Is not acquainted with the North Bounds of Talbot Manor,
but knows the Rivers, mentioned in the Exhibit, No 4. Letters

Y. and Z, and has lieard and believes, that many of the People,

settled in Nottingham Township, under Pensilvania Rights,

are settled within the Bounds or Limits of Talbot Manor.

And the Reason of his Belief is, because, some of the People so

settled have themselves told this Deponent that they lived in

Talbot Manor aforesaid. And says the North Part of what is

reputed Talbot Manor is now in the Possession of the Inhabi-

tants of Chester County, under the Government of Pensilva-

nia, and the South Part of the said Manor, lying towards Sus-

quehannah, and North East Rivers, is now in the Possession of

Inhabitants of Maryland. Says he is acquainted with several

of thp Bounds of New Munster Manor, the greatest Part whereof
is now in the Possession of the Inhabitants of Maryland. That
one Philip- David, Inhabitant of Pensilvania, claims a Part of

said New Mumster Manor, under Pensilvania Rights, That he
himself has a Right to 300 Acres, under a Maryland Right, but
that the same is withheld froTU him, by the said David. [So

I suppose he swears to support his own Right.] That he paid

Quit-Rents, for the said 300 Acres, while it was payable in To-
bacco. [When was that?] to one Edward Mitchell, who was
Receiver of the Quit Rents due for Lands thereabouts to the

Proprietor of Maryland, altho" the Deponent never was in Pos-

session of the said Land—That the Part claimed as aforesaid,

is reputed to lie in Newcastle County. That the other Part of

the said Manor is reputed to lie in Cecil (Jounty. That he
knows that the said Manors have both been settled 25 Years,

[i e. 1715.] and he believes longer. That he believes the great-

est Part of what is reputed Talbot Manor lies to the Southward
of the West and East Line run pursuant to the Order of his Ma-
jesty in Council. That he believes the greatest Part, if not all,

of New Munster Manor lies to the Southward of the West and
East Line aforesaid.

The Defendant must be very adroit indeed to make this

an Instance of his settling Lands within the three lower
Counties.

We have but one more Instance, on my Lord's Part, tho'

several Depositions, relating to any Settlement ever made
by him in Newcastle County, viz. by one Ryley.

Otho Othoson, of Maryland, the DefendanV s Witne.'is only, aged
72. [Lib. 6. Fol. 28. Int. 11. additional Fol. 30.]

Has heard of several Tracts of Land, in the Countv of Npw-
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ca8tie, which have l)een taken up and surveyed under Marvland
Rifjhts: and he has been upon one Tract of tlie said J^and,

called The Latiy's Delij^ht. and another Tract ot Land called

Timber Reach; and also of another Tra(a taken up under a

Maryland Rifrht, by one Ryley, who this Deponent knows set-

tled his Son upon it under the (iovernuient of Maryland, near
6U Years a^o, [1(580] who lived thereon two or three Years.

And what did Ryley do then? Here this Witness drops us,

but the followinjr Witnesses inform us.

^Nicholas lit/ley, of Maryland, the DefendaiiV s Witness only,

(if/ed -yH, [Lib. G. Fol. 41. Int. 11. additional Fol. 42.]

Has heard his Father John Ryley say, that he the said John
purchased, from one Richard Leak 500 Acres, that laj upon
Apoquinomy Branches, in Newcastle County. And that lie the
said John settled his Son William Ryley upon it, under Mary-
land Rights. That the said William went away, from the
Country, and left it, about 40 Years ago. That the Deponent,
now claims the Land, by the Deaths of his Father and two
Brothers. And that his Mother, and he this Deponent, paid
Colonel Hynson, above 26 Years ago, when he was Sheriff of

Kent County in Maryland, some Quit Rent for the said Land.
And further that, in the Year 1726, he paid Mr. George Wilson,
of Kent County aforesaid, 623 Pound of Tobacco, for Quit Rents
of the said Land, for the Use of Edward Mitchell, who the De-
ponent heard had bought the Quit Rents, and threatened to

distrain for them. This Witness swears himself interested, and
what does he prove, if he were a good Witness ? Why, that the
Land was in Newcastle County, and the Maryland Tenant run
away, and left it, 40 Years ago. But, as this Ryley's Tract was
said to be once settled, the Defendant makes a great Bustle
about it, and goes on and pursues his Evidence to this.

Coloutl John Ward, of Maryland, the Defendant's Witness only,
aged(il, [Lib. Q. Fol. 31. Int. 11. additional Fol. 35.]

Has heard a Tract of Land, in the County of Newcastle, was
possessed, upwards of 30 Years ago, by one Ryley, which was
taken up and surveyed under a Maryland Right, and that the
said Ryley settled his Son, under the same Right, upon the
said Tract.

Hugh Terry, of Maryland, the Defendanf s oirn Witness only,

aged 41, [Lib.G. Fol. 39. Int. 11. additional Fol. 41.]

That one William Broxall. settled Thomas Cornwall about
53 Years ago, upon a Piece of Land, near Ryley's Run, in New-
castle County, and told the Deponent that he paid my Lord

47—Vol. XV.
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his Rent, but what Lord did not parric-ularly mention as afore-

•eaid.

Hearsay as to the Paj-ment of any Rent. Nor is it said

under wliat, or whose Right he settled-'

Geo. Veasey of Maryland, the Defendant s Witness, aged 61,

[Lib. G. Fol. 82. Int. 21. Fol 83.]

Has lived, for above 20 Years past, in Cecil Coinuy. and has

heard of Bustles and Troubles, on Account of Encroachments
made, by Inhabitants of both Provinces, but can give no par-

ticular or distinct Account of them.

And thus ends the whole Account of all my Lord's Settle-

ments (as they are called) with respect to Newcastle

County, and all the pretended Instances of our Encroach-
ments upon him: which amount to this, that Ryley set-

tled a Tract, for two Years, until he ran away and left it,

40 Years ago; and that another Man. one Divier, about
60 Y'ears ago, planted some Peach Trees on Iron Hills.

We now go down to Kent and Sussex Counties, on the same
Points ; where we are to be very short.

*William Baj-nes, the DefendanV s Witness only, aged 45, who
tvas born in 1695, [Lib. O. Fol. 181. Int 11. additional Fol.

186.
]

Has heard and believ?s that, about the Year 1674 or 1675, sev-

eral Tracts of Land were taken up, in the three lower Counties,

by Persons under Lord Baltimore, and. in particular,a Tract of

Land called Mulberry Point, in Kent County aforesaid ; and also

a Neck of Land, called, as he believes, Slater Neck, in Sussex

County. And also another Tract of Land, on Little Creek, in

Kent County aforesaid. And he has also heard of some other

Tracts of Land, in the three lower Counties, that were taken

up, and possessed, under Maryland Rights, but cannot particu-

larly name them. Knows not of any Quit Rents being paid

for any Lands in the three lower Counties to Lord Baltimore,

or his Ancestors, but has heard that Quit Rents have been paid

for Lands in the three lower Coimties to the Proprietor of

Maryland, but believes the Person that told him, knew nothing
of it, but by Hearsay. Says what knowledge he has, of the

matters aforesaid was, he being at the House of R. Bennett, in

Maryland, one Stevens shewed him a List, of near 20,000 Acres

of Land, taken up under the Pioprietors of Maryland, in the

Counties of Kent and Sussex, amongst which, the Tracts before

mentioned were named ; and told him that the said Bennett

had farmed the Arrearages of the Quit Rents of the said Lands,

from the then Lord Baltimore, which was the Occasion of the

making out of the said List, -md that he the said Bennett wa?
to collect and receive them ^•ut the People refused to pay.
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Hearsay from a Mai-ylaiuler, wiio may be now alive, and
this Hearsay Witness is au interested one too, and if it

were evidence, tlio' the Lands were taken up, as tliey call

it, it is not pretended by this Witness, that one foot of

them was e%'er settled, under Maryland Rights, in those

Counties of Kent and Sussex.

Samuel Preston, of Philadelphia, our Witness, aged To, but

cross examined, [Lib. H. Fol. 104. Int. 7. additional Fol. 112.]

Knew one John Rhodes, who was a Justice of Peace in

Su.ssex County, about 5^ Years ago, [1G87] but never knew any
of the other Persons. The said Rhodes held Lands upon Reho-
boath, in the said County of Sussex, the Affirmant believes,

under the Plaintiffs Ancestors. Further says he has heard, of

one Captain Henry Smith, that the said Smith, in the Time of

the Dutch, and before Proprietor Penn had any Claim to the said

three Counties, took up a Piece of Land under the Defendant's
Ancestors, in a Neck called Prime Hook Neck, in Sussex County,
[This Hearsay is contradicted by the written Evidence, for it

was taken up under Governor Andros] but that, afterwards the
same Lands were taken up, under Mr. Penn, by the said Suiith

or his Son, and under the said William Penn and his Family,
and have been ever since held by the said Siuith's Descendants.

29.

The Defendant wanted next to know, where, and in what
Province, four or five particular Gentlemen lived, and who
they held their Lands under, which, I suppose was in-

tended to affect the South Bounds of Sussex County, Or,

at least to shew that Settlements had been made in the
lower Counties under Maryland.

John Teague, of Maryland, aged 85, our Witness, hut cross-ex-

amined, [Lib. H. Fol. 4'd. Int. 7. additional Fol. 47.1

That he knew Colonel Francis Jenkins, Captain Henry Smith,
John Rhodes and Miles Grey, upwards of 40 Years ago, but does
not remember to have seen William Prentice. That Colonel
Jenkins, Henry Smith, and Miles Grey lived in Somerset County
in Maryland, and he believes held their Lands under the De-
fendant's Ancestors. But that John Rhodes lived in Sussex
County, and has heard him, the said Rhodes, say, held his

Lands under William Penn Esq ;

Note, It appears in our written Evidence, That John Rhodes
was appointed by Governor Andros to be an Ensign of the
Company of Foot at the Whorekills on 2(5 October, 1676, and
upon the 10th of November, 1677. was appointed one of the

Justices of the Whorekill Court by Sir Edmund Andros, and
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upon 8 October, 1C78, was agnin ajjpointed by Sir Edmund
Andros one of tlie said Justices of Wliorekill County, and

upon 1st and 17th June, KilSO.one of the Justices for the Wliore-

kill Court, by Sir Edmund Andros, and, as such took the oath

in Person before Governor Andros, and had a Dedimus to

swear, and did swear, the other Justices; and that when Mr

Penn came, soon afterwards, he was immediately appointed,

by Mr. Penn one of the Justices for Whorekill District upon

the 17th November, 1682, and apjain, one of the Justices, for

that District, by its new name of Sussex County, upon 25th

December, 1082. So that they'll scarce attempt to make John

Roads a Maryland Tenant.

As to Henry Smith, he never took up his mentioned Lands

under the Defendant's Ancestors at all. On the contrary,

we have, in our written Evidence, the Grant made to him

by Governor Andros, (between 1074 and 1677) of the

3000 Acres called Prime Hook, near Slaughters Creek by

Prime Creek; besides which, we have G^avernor Andros's

Commission to the said Henry Smith to be one of the

Justices of the Whorekill Court, dated 10 November, 1677.

And we also liave the Order of 30th November, 1678. made

by the Governor and Council at New York, fining him for

slandering the rest of Magistrates there; and binding him

to his good Behaviour. So that he was originally the

Duke of York's Tenant and Servant at the Whorekills;

whether he afterwards went down into Somerset County

in Maryland, being angry at having been fined, we know
not.

As to William Prentice, we have also the Grant which was

made to him by Governor Andros (between 1674 and 1677)

for 400 Acres in the Woods 5 Miles S. W. from the Whore,

kill Town; so that he also was the Duke of York's Ten-

ant.

My Lord says in his Answer, fol. 188, 189, he, and his An-

cestors, have been at very great Expence, from time to

time, in improving and cultivating the three lower Coun-

ties, and the foregoing are the Proofs, by which he would

support that gross Falsity.

And here end all the Proofs relating to any Settlement,

ever made by him, or his Tenants, within any of the three

lower Counties.

30.

It will be proper, therefore, in the next Place, to see, from

his own Witnesses, what Number of Inhabitants, they

themselves allow to be in the three lower Counties.
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My Lord, in his Answer, believes, there may be 40,000; but)
as usual) they have examined Witnesses to falsify his
Answer, and to make the JN'umber less than he admits.

* William Barnes, [Lib. O. fol. 181. Int. 17. add. fol. 180.
J

Has lived in Kent County above 20 Years, and believes there
are in the three lower Counties about 1500 or 1600 Housekeepers
and Inhabitants, that pay Taxes, a tenth Part whereof he be-
lieves are Quakers.

John Holliday, [Lib. (i. fol. 170. Int. 17. add. fol. 178.J
Has resided 20 Years in Kent County, and believes there is

upwards of 1500 Housekeepers and Inhabitants, in Newcastle
and Kent, that pay Taxes, and believes that about 300 of the
1500 are Quakers.

Cornelius Wiltbank, [Lib. G. fol. 207. Int. 17. add. fol. 207.

J

Has lived in Sussex County ever since he was born. Believes
there are about 4 or 500 Houskeepers and Inhabitants in Sussex
County, that pay Taxes, and about 800 in Kent County, and in
Newcastle County about 1200. Three hundred of which, or
thereabouts, he believes, are Quakers.

George Ross, [Lib. U. fol. 67. Int. 3 & 4. fol. 69.]

8ays, there are four Clergymen of the Church of England, set-

tled in the three lower Counties, namely Mr. Pugh. Mr. Usher,
Mr Becket, and the Deponent; who are all Missionaries from
the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts.
He is not acquainted with the Number of Inhabitants in any
of the three lower Counties, besides what are within his own
District, which is but narrow, and in the Hundred of Newcastle;
wherein, by computing four in a Family, he reckons there are
about 800, including Men, Women and Children, whereof about
240 are of the Church of England, about 70 Quakers, and the
rest Dissenters of different Denominations.

John Pngh, [Lib. H. fol. 67. Int. 3 cC 4. fol. 68.]

Says, there are four Clergymen of the Church of England,
settled in the three lower Counties, and that they are settled
there by Authority from the Bishop of London, as Diocesan.
He has been so ill a great while, he has not been able to take
any Account of the Number of Inhabitants in his own Parish.

Arthur Usher, [Lib. H. Jot. 74. Int. 3 & 4. fol. 75.]

He says, there are but 4 Clergymen of the Church of England
settled in the three lower Counties: and as he has heard and
believes, they are settled as Missionaries from the said Society.
He does not know the Number of Inhabitants in the three lower
Counties, or either of them. But has heard and believes there
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are in Kent County about 840 Taxable Inhabitants, of which
about 382 profess themselves to be of the Church of England,

and 109 of them profess tliemselves Quakers; and the rest Chris-

tians, of different Denominations. Says, the Parish under his

Care, is tlie said County uf Kent, and he is annually obliged

to make a Report of tlie Number of People in tlie said Parish,

and their diiTerent Persuasions, to the said Society, and that,

for that purpose, he had made the best Enquiry he could.

Divniel Rodney, aged 45, [Lib. 6. fol. 190. lid. 17. add.fol. 191. J

Has lived in Kent County from his Infancy, and says, that

having been, for some time, Clerk of that County, and having
an opportunity of inspecting the Levy-List, believes there are

about 800 housekeepers and Inhabitants that pay Taxes in Kent
County. Of which he believes there are about 50, who are re-

puted to be Quakers.

William Becket. [Lib. H. fol. 57. Int. 3. fol 57. ]

He says there are four Church of England Clergymen, settled

in the three Counties, by Order of the said Society. That this

Y'ear, in order to make a Report to the Bishop of London, of

the Number of Persons within this Deponent's Parish, Avliich

is the County of Sussex, He went ro the Clerk of the County,
with one of his Church-Wardens, and consulted the Levy-List

of the said County; and, computing the Number at five in a
Family, they esteemed the whole to amount to about 1800 Peo-
ple. He believes that 5 in a Family were as many as there

were, upon an Average. That, agreeable to tlie above Calcu-

lation, he believes there may be about 1100 uf the said People,

of the Church of England, and the rest of them Dissenters,

but can't tell how many are Quakers; but that upon an En-
quiry, about three Y^ears ago, he found that there were about
17 Families of them, in the said County.

A most impertinent Inquiry, to gratify my Lord's Curiosity,

but no way in Issue, what Religion or Persuasion any of

the People are of.

31.

The T)efendant examined eight more Witnesses, on his

Part, about the Payment of Quit-Rents in the lower
Counties, viz. The two first, as to the ("ounty of New-
castle; The two next, as to the County of Kent; and the
four last, as to all the three Counties in general.

George Ross, of Newcastle County, the DefendanVs Witness aged
59. [Lib. H. fol. 69. Int. 9. fol. 71.]

Has lived in Newcastle County about 30 Years. Has heard,
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from many of the IiihabitJints in the said County, that they

had refused to pay Quit-Rents for the Lands they hehi therein,

and declared that they would do so, unless they had De:^ds to

indemnify them from all JVrsons whatsoever; and {)artieuhirly

from one Joshua Story, who, havin<;- Taken a Warrant to take

up Lands from th3 Plaintiffs, afterwartls declared, that he would

never pay any Quit-Rents for the same, unless he could have a

Patent, with a Clause of Indemnification against all other

Persons. Says, that the said Persons, who so refused to pay

their Quit-Rents, alledgred for the Reason of their Refusal, that

the Title to the said Lands was disputed between the Proprie-

tors of Pensilvania and Maryland.

*Adam Short, nf Newcastle County, the Defendant's Witness

only, (Kjed 78, [Lib. H. Jul. 00. Int. \). ful. 74. J

He now lives, and for 49 Years past has lived, in Newcastle

County. That formerly the Inhabitants of the said County
generally paid their Quit-Rents to the Plaintiffs Ancestors,

but, about thirty Years ago, many of them refused to do it, and

the Deponent believes have not, since, paid any, to any Person

whatsoever, because the People were told of the different Claims

of the Crown, the Lord Baltimore and the Penns, and were at

a loss to know their Landlord. Does not know that any Suit,

or Distress, has ever been made, for any Rents, due to any Pro-

prietor of the three Counties: but has heard that, above thirty

Years ago, the Land of one Burrows at Apoquinimy, in New-
castle County, was seized, by a Collector of Rents for William

Penn Esq ; and sold for Discharge of the same.

Isaac Freeland, of Kent County, the Defendant's Witness only,

aged 54, [LHj. If. fol. 65. Int. 9. fol. 66.]

Has lived in Kent County above 48 Y'ears. That the Inhabi-

tants of that County have, generally, refused to pay Quit-Rents

for the Lands they hold, becau.se they did not know whether

the Lord Baltimore, or the Plaintiffs, were their Landlords.

He never heard of any Distress being made, or Suit brought, for

the Recovery of any Quit-Rents for the Land, in the said County.

John Holiday, of Kent County, the DefendanVs Witness only,

aged 45, [Lib. G. fol. 170. Int. 6. fol. 170.]

Has frequently heard, that several Persons, formerly, have

paid Quit-Rents for Lands in the County of Kent, to the Pro-

prietors of Pensilvania, but he has not known, or heard of, anj*

Quit-Rent being demanded, or paid since the Lord Baltimore

set up a Claim to the three Counties.

James Potter, of Kent County, the Defendant's Witness only,

aged Qi, [Lib. G. fol. 150. Int. 6. fol. 150.]

Says, that many Y'ears ago, in the Life of the Plaintiffs Father,
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Mr. Logan came to Dover, to tleuiand C^uit-Rents from the In-
habitants in tlie tliree lower Counties in question, for the Use
of tiie Plaintifls Father; and that, afterwards, one Clarke, an
Agerjt, as he suj)posed. to tlie Proprietor of Pensilvania, came,
demanded, and received of several, in the said County of Kent,
some Quit- Rents. But, there being a Dispute between the Pro-
prietors of Maryland and Pensilvania, concerning the Right to

the said three lower Counties, the (xenerality of the People in

the said Counties refused to pay any Quit-Rents, by Reason, as

he understood and heard, they thought a Receipt for the Quit-
Rent from one Proprietor would not discharge them against the
other.

*Daniel Needham, of Kent County, tJie Defendant's Witness onli/,

agedbl, [Lib. G. fnl. 15.5. ////. (i. /o/. 150.]

Believes some of the Inhabitants of the three lower Counties
have paid Quit-Rents for Lands in the lower Counties to the
Pensilvania Proprietors, and some have refused to pay; the
Reason of which Refusal, as heOheard, was because the Right
to the said Counties was contested. Some said it belonged to

the King, some said to the Proprietor of Pensilvania, some to
the Proprietor of Maryland. The Quit- Rent for the Land where-
on this Affirmant now lives, in Kent County, was paid to the
Proprietor of Pensilvania till the Year 17U5. it being in the
whole about 20 Years, but knows of no Quit-Rents that have
been lately paid in the said three lower Counties.

Charles HilHard, of Kent County, the DefendanVs Witness only,

aged 63, [TAb. G. fol. 158. Int. 6. fol. 165.]

Believes the Inhabitants in the three lower ("ounties have
not, for some Y^ears last past, paiu any Quit-Rents for Lands
to the Proprietors of Pensilvania; and the Reason why they
don't pay any Quit-Rents is, because of a Dispute between the
Proprietors of Pensilvania and Maryland, as he apprehends.

* William Barnes, of Kent Counti, the BefendanV s Witness only,

aged i5, [Lib. G. fol. 181. I7it. 3. fol. 182.]

Has heard that Quit-Rents, for Lands in the lower Counties,

have been paid to the Proprietor of Pensilvania; but has not
heard that any Quit-Rents have been paid or demanded since

he lived in this County, which is above 20 Years; he has seen,

and had in his Custody, a Receipt, for Quit-Rents, that was
paid for the Use of the Proprietor of Pensilvania, for Land
and Marsh, which he is now in Possession of in Kent County.

Note—The last 8 are all of them the Defendant's own Wit-
nesses, and we did not examine any one of them at all, ex-

cept Mr. Ross.



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 745

Note—The Articles of Agreement recite (as one of the in-

ducements thereto) that, notwithstandiag several Treaties

and Endeavours for settling the Disputes and Differences,

divers Dilliculties had risen, ami many Persons had seated

themselves, upon great Parcels of the Lands in dispute, with-
out Authority from either of the i^roprietors, and without
paying the usual Fines or Quit-Rents, or conforming them-
selves to the (government and Establishment settled in any
of the said Provinces or Counties ; but, for the putting a final

and friendly End and Accommodation to the said Disputes
and Difference, It is agreed, &c.

32.

In the next Place, my Lord examined the Clerk of the Coun-
cil here, to prove, that we had always appointed theCxov-

ernour for the lower Counties, but that, upon the Crown's
approving of such Crovernours, we signed a Declaration
that it should not prejudice the Right claimed by the
Crown.

. William Sfiarpe, Esq., Clerk of the Couiici/, [Lib. F. fol. I.

Int. i.ful. 3.]

Is acquainted with the Method which hath been taken in

appointing a (Tovernour, or Deputy, or Lieutenant (Tovernour

for the three lower (Jounties, and hath been acquainted there-

with, for about 30 Years last past, by means of having, during
the said Time, belonged to the Privy Council Office, and is now
one of the Clerks of the Privy Council. And saith that, to

the best of this Deponent's Knowledge, Remembrance, and
Belief, such Deputy or Lieutenant-Governour, hath, from time
to time, during his Knowledge as aforesaid, been nominated
by the Proprietor or Proprietors of the Province of Pensilvania

at the same time when such Proprietor or Proprietors hath or

have nominated to the Crown a Person to be Deputy or Lieu-

tenant Governour of the said Province of Pensilvania. And
saith that one and the same Person hath always, during this

Deponent's said Knowledge, been so nominated as aforesaid

Deputy or Lieutenant Governour for the said 3 lower Counties,

and Deputy or Lieutenant Governour for the said Province of

Pensilvania; and that such Nomination of Deputy or Lieuten-

ant Governour, hath been, always, laid before the Crown, in

Council, by way of Petition or Representation, by the said

Proprietor or Proprietors, thereby humbly praying the Appro-
bation of his or her Majesty for such person to be Deputy Lieu-

tenant Governour. as aforesaid. And further saith that it hath
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been usual for such Governour to be first approved of by the

Crown, before he can take upon, or has any Jurisdiction over,

the said three lower Counties; and that, in his Judgment and

Belief.it is necessary for such Governour to be first approved of

l)y the Crown, before he can take upon, or has any Jurisdiction

over, the said three lower Counties; and the Reason of his Judg-

ment and Belief is, for that such Proprietor or Proi^rietors, in

his or their said Petition or Representation, doth. or do set forth,

that such Person is nominated Deputy Lieutenant (lovernour,

to his or her Majesty, in pursuance of an Act of Parliament in

that behalf or to that Effect ; And saith that, in the Order, of the

Crown in Council, signifying the Royal Approbation of the Per-

son nominated, to be Deputy or Lieutenant Governour of the

said Province of Pensilvania, and the said 3 lower Counties,

aforesaid, it hath always been signified, that the Crown ap-

proves of such Person to be Deputy or Lieutenant Governour of

the said Province of Pensilvania, without any Limitation of

Time, and to be Deputy or Lieutenant Governour of the said 3

lower Counties, during the Pleasure of the Crown, or to that Ef-

fect. And further,saith, that to the best of his Knowledge and

Belief, it hath not been insisted upon, on Behalf of the Crown,

or of any other Person or Persons, that the Governour should

sign or subscribe a Declaration in Writing,signifying that such

Appointment of a Governour, or Deputy, or Lieutenant Govern-

our of the said 3 lower Counties should not in any manner be

construed to establish any Right in the Proprietors of the said

Province of Pensilvania to the said 3 lower Counties, or to any

other Purport or Effect; Nor had the Governours or Deputy,or

Lieutenant Governours of the said 3 lower Counties, at any time,

to the best of his Knowledge and Belief, upon their being ap-

pointed to such Government, signed or subscribed any Declara-

tion, to that Purport or Effect; But, saith that, to his Know-
ledge, it hath been insisted upon, by, or on the Behalf of the

Crown, upon the Approbation of the Crown of such Deputy, or

Lieutenant Governour, as aforesaid, that such Proprietor or

Proprietors as aforesaid, should make a Declaration, in Writ-

ing, that the Approbation of the Crown, of such Deputy or

Lieutenant Governour, of the said 3 lower Counties, should

not be construed in any manner to aiminish or set aside, the

Right, claimed by the Crown, to the said 3 lower Counties, or

to that Purport or Effect; And that, also, to the best of his

Knowledge and Belief, unless such Declaration, in Writing, be

made, by the Proprietor or Proprietors as aforesaid, such De-

puty or Lieutenant Governour would not have been admitted

to such Government; it having been, to his Knowledge, an

usual Condition, in the Order of the Crown, approving of such
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Governours. that the said Proprietor or Proprietors should
make such Dechiration as aforesaid, unless suih Decdaratiou
had been made by such Proprietor or Proprietors before the ap-
proving- of such (iovernours, which hath been done sometimes.

NoTK-The fore^'oin- Deposition is precisely true, and is
indeed the Sum and Substance of a Number of Orders of Coun-
cil. made upon our Appointments of (Toyeruours, from time
to tijne, since the Year 1702; at which time, wlien we applied
for the Crown's Approbation, pursuant to the then new Act
of Parliament the said Declaration was first required of us,
and has, ever since that time been, on such occasions, renewed'
But Mr. Penn, in Person, and his Deputies, before that time'
and from the Year 1082, exercised the Government of the 3
lower Counties, for near 20 Years toprether. and had the Gov-
ernment of the same restored to him hv the Crown also with-
out any one such Declaration, till that new Act of Parlia-
ment was made, requirin- Proprietors of all Plantations
abroad, to have the Crown's Approbation of the Governours
which they appointed: and that gave the first Opportunity
of requiring that Declaration from us.

33.

The Defendant next enquired hosv many Ports and Harbours
there Avere, in going up Delaware Bay?

Thomas Hynson Wright, of Maryland, aged 52, the DefendanVs
oum. Witness only, [Lib. G.fol. 251. Int. 18. add. fol. 258.]

Is but little acquainted with the Bay. or River of Delaware,
and therefore can't take upon him to describe how many Ports
or Harbours there are therein; having never been in'any of
them, but St. George's Creek on the West, and Salem Creek on
the East.

John Price, a Pilot, aged 42, the DefendanVs own Witness only,
[Lib. G.fol. 199. Int. 18. add it. fol. 200. J

Is acquainted, and has been for 30 Years past, with the Bay
and River of Delaware, by sailing up and down the same Says
there is, on the East side of the said Bav, Harbours fit for
Trade and Shipping, viz. Morris's River and Cohansic Creek
And on the East side of Delaware River, Salem Creek, Timber
Creek, and Ankokus Creek—And that there is on the West
side of the said Bay, Prime-book Bay, and. on the West side
of the said River, St. George's Creek, Christiana Creek, Derby
Creek, and Skuylkill River.

These, I suppose, are to shew that there is no absolute
Necessity that the Proprietors of Pensilvania should have
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the lower Counties also, for the sake of Harbours in them ;

for that, truly, in coming up the Bay to Pensilvania,

there are other Harbours, also, on the other side of the

Bay, in New Jersey.

But he don't shew us where those Places are situated; and

if he did, Does the Wind always favour to stand at West,

to carry Ships in Times of Danger, into those Eastern

Harbours? And if it did. must not Pensilvania Ships pay

Port-Charges, if they go into another distinct Province?

But this Witness, is a Pilot, and a very knowing one, and

has proved a material Fact for us, which the Defendant

is not aware of. You observe, he carefully distinguishes

(on both Sides) which of the Harbours are in the Bay,

and which are in the River of Delaware; and he says St.

George's Creek is in the River; That proves then that

the Bay is ended, at least, there; and that is, (upon a

direct North Course) above 8 Miles South of Newcastle.

Whereas, by the Articles, we convey to my Lord about 5

Miles above Newcastle, North of it.

Consequently, at least, those 13 Miles above the furthest

Part of the Land-mark mentioned in his own Charter.

34.

We had, abundantly, proved that, when Goods came, not

out of Pensilvania, but meerly out of the lower Coun-

ties, Duties were demanded for them in Maryland, under

Laws, past there which affected only Pensilvania, and

its Territories thereunto belonging,and had consequently

shewn that, in Maryland, and even by the Legislature

of it, the lower Counties were considered as the Terri-

tories belonging to Pensilvania, (notwithstanding my
Lord's absolute Denial of that Fact.; He, not contented,

goes on to examine Witnesses, in order, if possible, to have

contradicted that Fact ; but it comes out, as usual.

John Scott, aged 34, oui- Witness, but cross-examined by the De-

fendant, [Lib. H. fol. 73. Int. 10. fol. 74.]

He himself has paid Duty for Rum imported, by Land, from

Apoquinomy, to the Head of Bohemia River; but does not

know where the Head of Chesopeak Bay is. That the Rum
was never landed at Philadelphia, but brought directly from

Antigua to Apoquinomy.

John Carnan, of Maryland, Merchant, our Witness, but cro.s.s-

examined by the Defendant, [Lib. H. fol. 52. Int. 10. fol. 53.]

Has known Duty paid for Rum and Negros imported, by
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Land, to the Head of Bohemia, and to Susquehanna River;
but does not know the Head of Cliesopeak Bay, or that any
Rum or Negros have been thereto imported by Laud.

35.

The next Step my Lord took, -was to fish for some Counties,
called Durham and Wor(!ester Counties, scituate some-
where or other; but nobody knows any thing of any such
Counties.

John Teague, of Maryland, aged 85, our Witness, but cross-ex-

amined, [Lib. H. fol. 43. Int. 9. addit. fol. 48. ]

That he has heard of a County called Worcester County, but
knows nothing about it.

36.

Well, there was another Fact my Lord wanted to prove,
that, lately, one Cressap, had held a Fort, some where or
other, under Lord Baltimore's (iovernment, and to that
end he cross-examined our two following Witnesses.

Samuel Hollingsworth, aged G7, [ Lib. H. fol. 29. Int. 2. addit
fol. 33.]

Our Witne^s cross-examined, has heard of a Fort, on the
West-side of Susquehanuah, lately kept by one Cressap, under
the Grovernment of Maryland; and has heard, upwards of 40
Years ago, that, there formerly was an Indian Town and Fort,
on the East-side of Susquehannah, near the Mouth of Octorara.

Joh7i Musgrave, another of our Witnesses, aged 73, cross-ex-

amined, [Lib. H. ful. 34. Int. 2. addit. fol. 39.
]

Has heard of no other Fort, on the West-side of Susquehan-
nah, than one. that was lately kept there, under the Govern-
ment of Maryland, by one Captain Cressap.

J^OTE—No Place mentioned, by either of these Hearsay
Witnesses, for Cressap's late Fort; and the River Susque-
hannah runs down, North and South, Part of it in and
through both Provinces.

37.

Now we come to the Defendant's Proof, in relation to the
Agreement, and the Treaty in order thereto.

John Sharpe, [Lib. F. fol. 14. Int. 5. fol. 15.]

That this Deponent doth know of, and was privy to. a Treatv
that was entered into, and carried on, by and between the Plain-
tiffs and Defendant for settling and determining the Bounds
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between the Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania, this De-
ponent beinj? concerned for the said Defendant, as his Solicitor,

in relation tnereto; but saith that he doth not know, nor can

he say, otherwise than as herein after is mentioned, when, or

by whom, such Treaty was first proposed or set on foot ; or upon
whose Application, Solicitation, Instance or Requet-t; this De-

ponent not being privy to the first Commencement of the said

Treaty, and not being made acquainted therewith, or consulted

therein, until after some Progress had been made therein ; and
that, when this Deponent came to be employed and concerned

in the said Treaty, this Deponent apprehended and under»to(>d,

that the said Treaty was first proposed, and set on foot, by the

said Plaintiffs, and that the same originally proceeded from
their Application, Solicitation, Instance and Request; And
this Deponent believes the same to be true, for that, after this

Deponent was concerned and employed therein, the said Plain-

tiflfs Solicitor Mr. Paris, on their behalf, was much more press-

ing for the eflfecting and compleating the SHid Treaty, than

the said Defendant the Lord Baltimore; but, in what manner,

or with what View, or Design, such Treaty was so proposed,

and set on foot, otherwise, than to fix and ascertain the Bound-
aries between the two Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania,

this Deponent, being uf his own Knowledge a Stranger thereto,

cannot set forth. And further saith, that this Deponent was
present at two several Meetings, (and not more than two, to

the best of his now Remembrance and Belief) which were had
between the Defendant and the Plaintiffs, or some of them, ujjon

the Subject-manner of the said Treaty, but the Times when,

or Places where, this Deponent cannot set forth, other than to

the best of this Deponent's now Remembrance and Belief they

were had in July or August, 1731, at the Bedford-Head Tavern

near Covent-Garden in the County of Middlesex. And saith

that the Defendant, Mr. Ogle, the Plaintiffs John and Thomas
Penn, Thomas Beake Esq ; since deceased, the Plaintiffs Sollici-

tor, Mr. Paris, and this Deponent, were present at one, if not

at both, of the said Meetings, but whether any other Persons,

and if any, who else, were present there.-it, this Deponent can-

not recollect. And saith that the principal Discourse, which
passed at such Meetings, was, in relation to bringing the said

Treaty to a Conciusion, and agreeing upon the Heads thereof,

and giving Instructions for carrying the same into Execution,

by directing proper Deeds or Instruments to be prepared for

that Purpose; And that, to the best of this Deponent's now
Remembrance, and as he verily believes, there were two little

Plans or Maps produced, upon that Occasion, at one of the.'said

Meetings, the one of them by the Defendant, and the other of
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them by one of the Plaintiffs, either the said John or Thomas
Peun, but whieh particularly can't recollect; and which said
two Plans or Mans, to the best of his present Remembrance
and Belief, corresponded and ajjcreed with each ocher. And saith
that the Defendant the Lord Baltimore, upon the said Plan
or Map so produced by him, and the said Plaintiff John or
Thomas Penn, upon the said Plan or Map produced by one of
them, did, to the best of this Deponent's now Remembrance
and Belief, with a Pencil, draw Lines, which were so done, in
order thereby to denote, as this Deponent understood and be-
lieves, in what manner the Boundary-Lines in Controversy
between them ought to be run : but this Deponent, not putting
down in Writing what passed at such Meetings, cannot set
forth the Substance, Purport, or Effect of tlie several Proposals,
Objections and Observations which were made use of, upon the
Matters then under Consideration ; nor by whom by Name the
same were respectively so made: save that, in general, this De-
ponent very well remembers that the said Plaintiffs John and
Thomas Penn seemed, as this Deponent apprehends, and is of
Opinion, to have been much better prepared for such Meetings
than the said Defendant, who seemed to have no other Informa-
tion of the Matters, then under Consideration, than what arose
from the said Plans or Maps, and tlie Information lie received
from the said John and Thomas Penn. and upon wliose Rep-
resentation of the Matters, then under Consideration, the De-
fendant, to the best of this Deponent's now Remembrance and
Belief, seemed principally to rely; his Lordship being then, as
this Deponent verily believes, of his own Knowledge, an entire
Stranger to, and wholly unacquainted with, the Situation of
the said Country; And which said Plan or Map (so produced
by the said Defendant, and upon Avhich, and the Information
given him by the said Plaintiffs John and Thomas Penn, his
Lordship seemed, in the Opinion and Judgment of this Depon-
ent, entirely to rely) was, as this Deponent hath been since in-
formed by the said Defendant and others, and therefore doth
believe, drawn in Pensilvania, and sent from thence to Mary-
land, to tlie said Defendant the Lord Baltimore's Agents there,
and by them transmitted to his said Lordship in England : And
this Deponent hath been since informed by his Lordship and
others, and therefore doth believe, that the said Plan or Map,
BO produced by the said Defendant, was very incorrect or erron-
eous. And this Deponent saith that, to tlie best of his Re-
membrance and Belief, either the said John or Thomas Penn
declared, at such Meeting at which the said Plan or Maps were
so produced, that the Plan he so produced, had been sent him
from Pensilvania, by the Deputy Governor there, in order to
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treat with the said Defendant the Lord Baltimore in Relation

to the settling? the said Boundary-Lines. And this Deponent

saith that there was no other Map or Plan, to the best of his

Reurenibranee and Belief, made use of, on such Treaty, than

the aforementioned" two Plans or Maps. And the Reason no

other Map or Plan was then used, was, as this Deponent verily

believes, from a firm Persuasion and Opinion, in the said De-

fendant the Lord Baltimore, that the same were just Plans, and

that he mifrlit safely rely thereon. And this Deponent further

said, that he is very sure, that nothing passed at the said Meet-

ings, on either side, that was, in the least, over- bearing, but

all seemed to be transacted in a very friendly manner, and that

there were Concessions mutually made, on each side, to the best

of this'Deponenfs now Remembrance and Belief; And this De-

ponent further saith that, to the best of his now Remembrance

and Belief it was agreed, at the said Meeting where the said

Plans or Maps were so produced as aforesaid, that the said Plan

or Map, so produced by the Defendant the Lord Baltimore,

should be the Plan or Map on which the Agreement then came

to, should be founded; and that the same should be affixed, or

annexed, to the Agreement, as a Means the better to explain

the same; And this Deponent very well remembers that Mr.

Senex, since dead, was pitched upon as a proper Person to be

employed in engraving the said Plan or Map, and who was,

as this Deponent believes, named by the said Defendant the

Lord Baltimore, as one he had heard of, but not as one he was

at all personally acquainted with ; And this Deponent saith

that, to the best of this Deponent's now Remembrance and

Belief, the said Plaintiffs John and Thomas Penn immediately

agreed to the said Mr. Senex being employed therein; And this

Deponent doth not remember that any other Person, by Name,

was proposed for that Purpose; And this Deponent further

saith that the said Mr. Senex did, accordingly, as this Depo-

nent apprehends and believes, engrave the said Plan or Map

on the Parchment -Writing, on which the said Agreement was

afterwards engrost; And that the Plan or Map. marked on the

Backside thereof with the Letter (F) appearing to be printed

OTStamptupon the Parchment-Writing, marktwith the Letter

(G) and pumorting to be Articles of Agreement between the

said Defendant the Lord Baltimore and the Plaintiffs, now

produced, does, as this Deponent apprehends and verily believes,

exactly agree with the said Plan or Map so produced by the

said Defendant the Lord Baltimore, and made use of at such

Meeting as aforesaid : and that th^re is no Variation or Differ-

ence therein to the best of this Deponent's Knowledge and Be-

lief, from that so produced as aforesaid by the said Defendant
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the Lord Hultiiiiore ; and tliis Deixjuent ^«aitlJ that at such
Meeting's as aforesaid, or one of them, the said J)efendant the
Lord Baltimore did, to the best of this Deponent's now Re-
membrance and Belief, produce a Paper- Writing,', puri)ortinj;
to contain Notes of Matters he the said Lord Baltimore pro
posed should be provided for, and inserted, in the A{,'reement
which was then intended to be entred into; and which said
Paper- Writing? was all of the proper Hand-writing of the said
Defendant tiie Lord Baltimore, as this Deponent verily believes.
And this Deponent saith that such Paper-Writing? did not pur-
port to be compleat Notes of every thing, or to contain the
Substance of all the several Matters proposed as Part of the

^said intended Agreement but only, to purport or contain short
" Notes or Heads concerning the Matters then under Considera-
tion, and were made, as this Deponent apprehends and believes,
only as Memorandums for the said Defendant the Lord Balti-
more against the said Meetings, to remind himself thereof, and
to prevent his forgetting the same; And this Deponent saith
that it was not proposed, desired or insisted upon, by the said
Defendant the Lord Baltimore, or on his behalf, at such Meet-
ings, or either of them, that the said Agreement should be drawn
on the Foot of those Notes only, but that all that was insisted
upon by the said Defendant, the Lord Baltimore, or on his be-
half, was, that the several Matters contained in the said Notes,
should be provided for, and inserted in the said Agreement,
and which the said Plaintiffs John and Thomas Penn agreed
to; And further this Deponent saith, that the said Paper-
Writing or Notes were read over, at, such Meetings or one of
them, to the Company then present, by the said Defendant the
Lord Baltimore; And that, to the best of this Deponent's
present Remembrance and Belief, either the said Plaintiff
John or Thomas Penn, or the said Mr. Paris, for or on the be
half of the Plaintiffs (but which of them in particular, this
.Deponent cannot recollect) did ask or desire the said Defend-
ant the Lord Baltimore, to deliver to him the said Paper
Writing or Notes, in order to insert them into the said Agree-
ment; To which the said Defendant the Lord Baltimore an-
swered, to the best of the Deponent's now Remembrance, and
Belief, that he had no Copy of such Paper or Notes, but that
he would deliver the same to this Deponent his Sollicitor, in
order to this Deponent's giving: them a Copy thereof; and his
Lordship did then, at such Meeting, deliver the same to this
Deponent, with Directions to make and send, the Plaintiffs, or
the said Mr. Paris, a Copy thereof, in order to insert the same
in the .said Agreement; And the said Defendant the Lord

48-Vol. XV.
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Biiltiiiiore, did, very readily, and without any the least Diffi-

culty, agree and consent thereto; And this Deponent further

saith that, in some few Days afterwards (but the particular

Day when, this Deponent cannot now recollect) he this i)e

ponent did give, or send to, the said Mr. Paris, and for, or on

the behalf of the said Plaintifls. a Copy of the said Paper-

Writing, or Notes, and which, as this Deponent verily believes,

was a true and exact Copy thereof; And this Deponent saith

that the Purport or Substance of the said Paper-Writing or

Notes, so produced as aforesaid by the Defendant, is as fol-

loweth (that is to say)"l. There shall be a Circle of 12 M-Dist
•• drawn fom Newcastle. 3. The Proprietors of Pensilvania

"shall beintitled to 15 Miles South of Philadelphia, by a West

"Line drawn from the Point of the South and North to the

"Extent of their West Limits, comprized in the Charter of

"Pensilvania. 3. There shall be a Line South drawn from East

"and West Line aforesaid, which shall intercut the Periphery

"of the Circle of twelve Miles from Newcastle*, until it inter-

"cut the Parrallel of an East and West Line drawn to the Pro-

"montory or Cape called Cape Hinlopen at Rect-Angles. 4. The

"Lord Baltimore to quit all Pretensions to the three Lower

"Counties, known to be at present comprized within the Limits

"aforesaid (that is to say) within the twelve Mile Circle of

"Newcastle, and the North and South Line drawn as aforesaid

"on the West, and the Bay of Delaware on the East. 5. The

"Proprietors of Pensilvania to quit all Pretensions to any Land

"to the Southward of the Line of 15 Miles from Philadelphia,

"and to the West of the North and South Line heretofore

"descrit)ed, and for the Considerations aforesaid, convey to

"the Lord Baltimore all Right and Title they may have there-

"unto belonging. 6. For the quieting the present Possessors

"of the Land in Dispute, and the better informing the respec-

"tive Proprietors of the Provinces aforesaid. It is agreed by the

"Parties contracting, that it shall and may be lawful for each

"Proprietor to have Copies, at their respective Costs and

"Charges, of the Grants, Patents, Leases, &c. by which any of

"the present Claimants hold their Lands; and moreover it is

"mutually agreed that fresh Patents, Leases, Grants, &c.

"shall be made out, to all the Possessors of Lands, Houses, &c.

"within the present disputed. and by this determined Boundary,

"without any Fines or Arrearages of Rent, whatsoever, pro-

" vided they bec.ouie Tenants to the respective Provinces, subject

"to the Rents and Reserves common to the Land-holders of the

"respective Provinces, subject nevertheless to usual Fees to the

"proper OflBcers of the said Provinces, for the taking out of any

"Patents for the Lands and Tenements they at present are
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'•possest of. And to the Truth thereof this J)eponent can the
better depose, having the said Original Paper- Writing or Notes
in thi.s Deponent's Custody or Possession, the same liaving
been lately lound. and this, with what will best and further
appear m and by the said Paper-Writing or Notes, and the said
produced Plan or Map, whereto this Deponent refers, is all he
<-an materially depose to this Interrogatory, to his present Re-
membrance.

Mr. Shar{>e expressly swears that he was not privy to the
Commenceuient of the Treaty, and that he does not know
at whose Request it began. (That last is a Fact which
shall be cleared up by and by.) And it's observable that
they would not examine Serjeant Wynne, who swears he,
as my Lord's Council, was present, at my Lord's Request'
at several Meetings in order to try to agree. Mr. Sharpe
goes on. That he was only present at two Meetings, and
those in July or August, 1731, after some Progress had
been made in the said Treaty; That, at the said meeting,
which he was pesent at, the principal Discourse which
past was, in relation to the bringing the Treaty to a Con-
clusion.and agreeing upon the Heads thereof, and giving"
Instructions for carrying it into Execution, by directing
proper Deeds or Instruments to be prepared.

He says, that he apprehended and understood that the
Treaty began at the Plaintiffs Request, but that he does
not know it; of which hereafter.

He says, that at those Meetings which he was at, the Plain-
tiflfs seemed to be better prepared for such Meetings than
my Lonl was. Whose Fault was that, if it really was so?

That my Lord, at those Meetings, seemed to have no other
Information of the Matters, then under Consideration (and
he has told us what they were) than what arose from his,
and our Maps, and the Information he received froia
us. On which my Lord seemed principally to rely: Be it
so. If he received his Map, from his own Agent, as, after 9
Months Consideration of the Draught he owned under his
Hand and Seal, and still swears he did; and had had it
many Years by him, as he, even now, swears positively he
had had it; and if, over and above all thi.s. his Map
was exceedingly just and true, precisely in the very Part
where he pretends 'twas grossly false ; what other Informa-
tion could he have had? Or, if further Information was
still to have been had what hindred his getting it? Two
Persons, Paris and Abraham Taylor, believe he sent the
Substance of the Draft over to America, during the nine
Months that the Draft itself was under his Consideration

;
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And the reason of their Belief thereof arises from what h<j

himself declared at two several Times, viz. on 29th March^

1732, when he gave o\er that material new Clause about

the intersecting of navigable Waters, and again on 10th

May, 1733, when he executed the Articles; And they are

strongly corroborated in this their Belief by the Defend-

ant's Witness, who says, now, that those Articles if ex-

ecuted, would cut off navigable Waters. Was my Lord
ignorant of that? No. His new Clause delivered on 29th

March, 1732, provides expressly for that very Case, and
for nothing in the World but that: So that my Lord,

long before the Draft was settled, either knew the Situa-

tion of his Province, or had been informed from Maryland
of it. And. that Clause, as he then declared, his People
insisted on, and therefore, he must have it; so that there

is all the Proof, that we could give of his Actions, that

he did (additional to all his other Information) send the

Agreement, or Substance of it, over to his own Agents in

Maryland, for further Information still, during the nine

Months he had the Draft of it before him. And as to

what seemed to Mr. Sharpe at those Meetings, it was an
untrue Seeming or Appearance, for, besides all this, my
Lord himself, and another Witness of ours, prove he

really had other Information, long before; for they have
examined a Witness, Mr. Preston, to prove that Mr. Logan
had been, heretofore (in the Absence of the late Mr. Penn
from Pensilvania, and afterwards, in the Infancy of the

now Plaintiffs) the great Manager and Agent for 30 Y^ears

together from 1701 to 1732, in all the Pensilvania AfTairs.

He was so, and what does he swear? Why, that in the

Year 1724, my Lord Baltimore had, before him, the fairest

and largest Manuscript Draft of the Peninsula that he
had ever seen, and that it had many difTerent Lines drawn
upon it East and West ; And what does my Lord himself

now swear, in his own Answer, about this Map? Why.
that he took it, as the first that came to hand. The
first! why then, from the 3d of June, 1731, to the 10th of

May, 1732, he had Time enough to have lookt for the sec-

ond, or some of his others.

So that, whatever seemed, my Lord really had other In-

formation ; nor does Mr Sharpe pretend that he had not,

for, hitherto, he only says that, at those two particular

Meetings in July or Auugst 1731, my Lord seemed princi-

pally to rely; but what had he before, or after, down to

lOthMay 1732?

And besides, what signified it what he relied on, just then.
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when they were orderintr Deeds? The Agreement, and the

Phices where tlie Lines were to be run, had been before

agreed, and they then met to direct the proper Deeds and

Instruments. Not to settle what should be the Bounds.

And my Lord had then brought a Sheet, all of his own
Hand-writing,of particular Directions,from what Places,

how far, and in what nianner, every one of the lines

should be run.

What Colour of Reason or Foundation, does Mr. Sharpe

assign for his Belief that my Lord was then, as to his

own Knowledge, an entire Stranger to, and wholly unac-

quainted with, the Situation of his Province, whereof he

has been Proprietor ever since the Year ITlo? None in the

World. The Reason of the Thing is against him, a Prov-

ince, out of wliich an immense Revenue, of near 8000Z.

Sterling per Annum is screwed, was worth his informing

himself about; especially as it had for 50 Years before

been in perpetual Contest, and as there had been two

Applications about it, to which this present Lord Balti-

more himself was a Party, viz. in 1717, and again in 1725,

by the Earl of Sutherland ; and this Lord himself had

made one temporary Agreement, with Hannah Penn,

before, about it, in 1723. And, whoever it was first set

on foot the Treaty, yet, n)y Lord agreed to meet, and did

meet, about a perpetual Agreement; And yet. contrary

to the Reason of the Thing, Mr. Sharpe believes :
But he

believes contrary to the Evidence of the Thing also; for

Mr. Logan swears, and my Lord, plainly enough, also

swears, that my Lord, had other Maps long before; In

which Case (let who will believe it) yet my Lord could

not be an entire Stranger, or wholly unacquainted with

tlie Sitution of his own Province.

A Person may repeat a Gingleof Words till he loses himself,

which is the Case here ; Mr. Sharpe, at first, said my Lord seemed

principally to rely on the two Maps and the Plaintiffs Informa-

tion. And, upon a second Repetition of the Words, he makes

them a little stronger, that my Lord seemed entirely to rely on

them. But which could not be true, (that he did so entirely

rely) however it might seem to Mr. Sharpe, as before observed.

Mr. Sharpe, very civilly and respectfully to his Client, says,

he believes that Map was drawn in Pensilvania, sent from thence

to my Lord's Agents in Maryland, and by them sent to my
Lord ;' (so that he, himself, believes my Lord's Agents were the

Persons that sent that Map to my Lord, which is something)

and he adds further, his Belief, that the said Map was very in-

correct and faulty; and he gives his Reason now, for alT this
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Belief; for. my Lord lia.s told liiiii j-o. 1 fancy, when he has
read the Proofs, and seen how grossly ray Lord's Answer upon
Oath is falsifyed, in a prreat Number of Particulars, he will
not be so civil as to believe what my Lord says, another Time.

Mr. Sharpe says (according? to liis Remembrance and Beliefi
there were Concessions mutually made on each Side; why .so

my Lord says in his Answer; but, tho' we most precisely in-

terrofirate him by our Bill, and particularly demand that lie

should instance what one Thing we insisted on, that he af;ree.]

to? Or whatonesingrle Thing which he insisted on, we did not
agree to? We are so unfortunate, that neither from my Lord, nor
his Solicitor, can we obtain the least Answer what those Con-
cessions were? And Mr. Sharpe must forget, (he seems to have
forgot, eren whilst penning his Deposition) that the Meetings
he was at were to give Orders for preparing the Deeds, so that
the Bounds and Limits had been all agreed to and settled, before
ever he was called into the Matter; and that was not the Time
for making Concessions to each other, upon the Merits of the
Agreement, when Mr. Sharpe came in to the Affair; and, if he
does not mean Concessions in that Sense, he at best but trifles.

As to the rest of Mr. Sharpe's Deposition it confirms that of
Paris, and particularly as to my Lord's own drawing of the
Lines upon his own Map, his giving a Paper of Notes, &c.
There's one Observation more to be added ; Mr. Sharpe says

that Paris seemed more pressing to forward the Agreement than
my Lord, and so says Paris also; and there were two Reasons
for it. 1. My Lord himself, as it is plain, wanted Time, to hear
from America. And 2. Paris, by Experience, would advise every
one, who has any thing to do, in Concurrence Avith Mr. Sharpe,
to do it all bv themselves, if thev desire it should be done
speedily.

The Paper of my Lord's Notes, of his own Hand Writing, now
(happily for us) brought to light again, does most grossly fal-
sify my Lord's Answer. We had most particularlv in our Bill
charged that Paper, and, speaking of the extravagant Pretension
of his Commissioners, that the Circle was only to be two Miles
from Newcastle, we had charged that it appeared, by his own
written Notes or Proposals, in two several Places of the same,
that he himself, not only agreed, but proposed, under his own
Hand, that the Pircle should be twelve Miles distant from New-
castle, and, a second Time, 12 Miles from Newcastle. He has
the unusual Daring, notwithstanding so -precise a Charge, to
deny, upon his oath. Fol. ,102. that he ever meant or intended
that the Circle should be such an one as that the Semi-Diame-
ter should be twelve Miles. I never saw so gross a P y; I
must now call it by that flat Term.
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And if Mankind are at Liberty to swear away thus their own
Afr^'eineuts, and their own Hand Writinj?.s. tliere is no sucli

Thing as dealing with tliHin.

John Sharpe, [Lib. F. Fol. 14. Int. (3. Fol. 4.").]

Saitli that lie hath looked upon the said Parchment Writ-

ing, now also produced, marked with tlie Letter (G, and pur-

porting to be Articles of Agreement, between the said Defendant

and the Plaintiffs, and that this Deponent was concerned for

the Defendant, as his Sollicitor, in prei)aring and settling of

the Draft of the said produced Parchment Writing or Articles

of Agreement marked (G) ; butsaith that he this Deponent was

no otherwise concerned in forming and making the said Plan,

or Map, printed or stamped on the same, than by once going

to the said Mr. Senex. the Person who was agreed upon Ijy all

the Parties to engrave the same, to let him know that the said

Lord Baltimore desired that he would prepare the same, as

well on his the said Lord Baltimore's Behalf, as on Behalf of

the Plaintiffs: and that, to the best of this Deponent's now

Remembrance and Belief, this Deponent attended the said Mr.

Senex, but once, in relation to the engraving- the said Plan or

Map; and that he the said Mr. Senex was, principally, attended

thereon by the said Mr. Paris, the Plaintiffs Sollicitor, on Be-

half of tlie said Plaintiffs, as this Deponent believes

So that he was with Mr. Senex twice, at least; once, to de-

sire him to prepare the Map. And, at least once, in re-

lation to the engraving it.

He does not mention a Word about Mr. Senex's opinion, one

way or other; tho' my Lord, in his own Answer, admits

Mr. Senex did give his Opinion in Wrtiting upon the

Draft of the Articles.

Mr. Sharpe likewise omits to mention his own laying the

Draft before Serjeant Wynne.

The same, {Int. 7. Fol. 48.]

That the first Draft of the said produced Articles marked

with the Letter (G) was prepared on Behalf of the Plaintiffs,

by the said Mr. Paris, their Sollicitor, as this Deponent verily

believes: the same having been delivered to this Deponent by

the said Mr. Paris, as prepared by him; and this Deponent

saith that there -were several Alterations made, in the said

Draft, after the same was so prepared by the said Mr. Paris as

aforesaid, some of them by the Plaintiffs or their Agents, and

others by the Defendant or his Agents; [in the plural Is um-

ber] but this Dei)onent saith that the Clause, in the said pro-

duced Articles, relating to the making the said Agreement

void, if, for want of a suflRcient Quorum of the Commissioners

not attending from time to time, the Lines, thereby directed,
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were not run, within the Time thereby limited, and, for the

Parties, whose Commissioners made such Default, forfeiting

5000/, was one of the said Alterations, and was, to the best of

this Deponent's now Remembrance and Belief, proposed by
the said Mr. Paris, on the PlaintilTs Behalf, and agreed to by

the Defendant, as what appeared to be for the mutual Benefit

and Advantage of both Parties; and saith that, to the best of

this Deponent's now Remembrance and Belief, there was not

any Objection made, on either Side, to the said Alteration or

any material Objection to any other of the Alterations, that

were proposed by either Side, to be made to the said Draft; all

the Alterations which were so made, being considered, by each

Side, to the best of this Deponent's now Remembrance and
Belief, reasonable and necessary.

Here ends Mr. Sharpe's whole Account of the Treaty, and
the Articles of Agreement.

But he is succeeded by a Grentleman who really knows less,

but s])eaks more, by a great deal, than Mr. Sharpe.

Samuel Ogle, [Lib. Q. Fol. 218. \st original Int. Fol. 218.]

That he has been well acquainted with the Defendant in this

Cause upwards of 20 Years, and saith that he hath seen the Plain-

tiffs in this Cause once, but is not well acquainted with them.

He is sworn to speak the whole Truth, so 1 suppose he saw
the Plaintiffs but once, and we shall see how much he
knows their Hearts, at first Sight of their Faces.

The same, [Int. 13. Fol. 219.]

That the Defendant, the Lord Baltimore, about the Year 1730,

frequently mentioned to this Deponent, that his Governor of

Maryland had many Complaints to him, of Encroachments being

made on the Province of Maryland, by the People of Pensilvania,

countenaxiced by the Governor of Pensilvania, that the Defend-

ant was resolved to take some legal Course with the Proprietors

of Pensilvania to put a stop to the said Encroachments, since

they would not do any thing by fair means; (*1.) and, sometime
after, this Deponent went to Ireland, and staid there some time,

and after his Return from Ireland, and in the Year 1731. en-

quired of the Defendant concerning his Suit, relating to the said

Affair? Whereupon, the Defendant, then, informed him, that

the Proprietors of Pensilvania had applied to settle the Dis-

putes aforesaid amicably, by a Treaty; and that, in the Year

1731, this Deponent casually meeting the Defendant, he ac-

quainted this Deponent that he was, that Evening, to meet the

Proprietors of Pensilvania, at the Bedford Head Tavern, near

Covent Garden in London ; and the said Defendant then de-

sired this Deponent to be with him. at the said Meeting; and
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saith that he was present, at the said Meeting, and that the
Plaintiffs and the Detendant were also all then present; and
that,at the said Meeting, it appeared to this Deponent, that the
Defendant was very ignorant of the Subject Matter in Dispute;
and that the Plaintiffs took great Pains to persuade the defend-
ant that they were equally ignorant and that, on the defend-
ant's shewing his Ignorance, in relation to a Map or Plan of
Maryland and Pensiivania which lay on the Table, one of the
Plaintiffs said, my Lord, we are all ignorant alike, (*2. ) And
what we do is a good deal in the dark, but it may be as well tor
one Party as the other, and what we are doing is for the sake of
Peace, (*3) or Words to that Effect; And this deponent further
remembers that, at the aforesaid Meeting, the Plaintiffs insin-
uated to the defendant, that they, the Plaintiffs, were sensible,
what they were doing, would be contrary t<. the Opinion of
their, the Plaintiffs. Friends in Pensiivania, and Particularly
to Mr. Logan, and that, tht^y were told, some of the richest and
best peopled Lands in Pensiivania would, by the Treaty they
were then upon, fall to the Defendant; (*4.) All which he,
the more particularly remembers because, it made a great im-
pression upon him at the time, and caused him then to think
that the Plaintiffs were great Masters of the Art of Di'-simuia-
tion (*5.) And, when he came to America, and found how dis-
advantageous a Bargain the defendant had afterwards made, and
the great Rejoicings in Pensiivania, (*6) upon the Account of
the Agreement entered into between the Plaintiffs and the De-
fendant, this Deponent often reflected on what passed at the
Meeting aforesaid, and recollected the several passages of the
Dissimulation of the Proprietors of Pensilvana, in the Transac-
tion aforesaid. And what made this Deponent further reflect
upon what passed at the Meeting aforesaid was, upon reading
the Copy of the Bill exhibited in this Cause, he found it

therein insinuated, as if the Defendant was assisted by this
Deponent his Governor in the making of the Articles in the
Bill aforesaid, which really is untrue; for that this Deponent
neither did, nor could, give any Assistance to the Defendant
in the Affair, because he then was really unacquainted with
the Nature of the Dispute, and was not present at any other
Meeting, than that before mentioned, as he can recollect: and
further saith, that he cannot recollect any other Substance of
the Proposals, Objections or Observations, which were made
use of at the Meetiug aforesaid, than what he has before de-
posed and declared.

The same to the last Qen. hit. Fol. 244.]

That he knows (*7) the Defendant, at the time lie entered
into the Agreement mentioned in this Cause, was wholly un-
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acquainted, and ignorant, of tlie Boundaries ot the Provinces

of Maryland and Pensilvania, and every thing (*8) relating

thereto, and was very ill informed thereof (*9) from Maryland.
1. This Person, whatever he is for a Governor, is yet a very

bad Witness for my Lord ; for he knows abundantly too much
for any mortal Creature to be capable of knowing. But the Heat
of his Zeal hath transported him beyond his Discretion, and he
has, unwittingly, added to our Proof, that the Treaty was
began at ttie Request of my Lord. We charge by our Bill that

it was so. My Lord utterly denys it, and says we sollicited him
to it. Nay, he is profuse in the Use of his Words, we frequently,

repeatedly, and earnestly made Applications to him; but howi*

Where? When? By what means? Did we applj- by any Friend

to him, who was the Person employed? Did we write any Letter

to him, where is the Letter? my Lord begs to be excused from
telling any one Particular, or proving any one Particular, of

our frequent, repeated, and earnest Applications to him. (Just

in the same manner as about the Concessions; which he tells

us also, in general Terms, that he made to us.) He says we
desired the Treaty. But Paris proves that my Lord began it,

and he gives the Particulars of it, and withall a very strong

Circumstance for his remembering it, as he considered that

that Agreement with my Lord, might contribute to another
Agreement, he had been long laboring to bring about, for his

then Client William Penn, the Heir at Law. But this is, yet,

only one Witness against my Lord's Answer. But now, how
strongly does Mr. Ogle confirm it? He swears, my Lord told

him, that we would not do any thing by fair means, and there-

fore, my Lord was resolved that he would take a legal Course,

and so, I suppose he did, for, afterwards, Ogle enquired of him,
what was become of his suit? Now, my Lord could not say we
would do nothing by fair means, unless he had tried fair means.

And that is the very Account, which Paris gives; That my
Lord first desired the Treaty; That, at tha two first Meetings,

the PlaintilTs thought his demands too high, and would not

agree to them ; That the Treaty broke off thereupon, and my
Lord immediately, on 1 July 1731, presented a Petition to the

King. So here are, now, two Witnesses that my Lord began the

Treaty. Nor will the Matters rest here, (Paris being a little

more cautious of what he swears to, than the Defendant seems

to be) my Lord in his Answer can't remember the particular

Days he met, but admits several Meetings were had between
the nth June, 1731, and 10th May, 1732. Let us next see the Pe-

tition which my Lord presented to the King, on the first of

July, (when, as Paris says, the Treaty was broke off) and that

Petition,- being a written Paper, will not lie for either Side.
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Why his Petition sets out the Cliiuter of Maryhmd to his An-
cestor, and the Charter of Pensiivania to Mr. Venn; That sev-
eral Disputes had arisen, about the Northern Bounds of Mary-
land, and that frequent Application had been made to the
Crown, to ascertain the same, in the Years 1085, 1708, and in
1720, and diver.s Letters and Orders had been sent from the
Crown, for that purpose, but they had hitherto, had no Effect;
That, by Reasons of those Disputes, very great Numbers of his
own Tenants refused to pay any Rents, or submit themselves
to his Government, which occasioned frequent Disputes; and
now, upon this Case, which he made, what was his Prayer?
Why, that the King would order the Pensiivania Proprietors,
to join with him, in settling the baid Boundaries; and. if they
refused to comply therewith, or that the same should not be
settled within a Twelve month from that time, that then, the
King would hear the Matter in dispute, and make such Deter-
minatioji as to him should seem meet.

I think it is impossible to give a stronger Proof than this,
that it was my Lord that wanted and desired the Agreement,
for those very strong Reasons which he gives in his Petition,
and could not then get us into his Terms, and therefore peti-
tioned the King, to order us to agree, in order to terrify the
Plaintiffs, by the Expenceof a new Application in Council, into
an Agreement, he so much wanted ; and, of which his new peti-
tion (as Paris says) he immediately sent Mr. Penns a Letter,
that he had made such an Application, which answered his De-
sign and brought round the Meetings again.
But, even this is not all our Proof; for what says Serjeant

Wynne, my Lord's standing Council foi- his Maryland Affairs?
Whv he says this; That he was requested, by the Defendant,
to meet the Plaintiffs, or their Agents, to try if they could come
to any amicable Agreement, touching the Boundaries in Dis-
pute, That he was, accordingly, present at several Meetings,
and the Parties did, at length, come to some Agreement; He
says that this was requested of him, by the said Defendant, as
near as he remembers, about May, 1731 or 1732. And it must be
May, 1731, for my Lord himself owns the Draft of the Agreement
was prepared, and deHvered over, 9 Months before May, 1732,
namely, in August, 1731.

So that, here is a pretty good Outset. Three Witnesses, of
which my Lord's own Council (whom he did not dare to ex-
amine) and iiis Governor, are two, and my Lord Baltimore's
own written Petition to the King, to falsify the first. Fact in
his Answer, which relates to the Agreement, and to prove that
the Treaty really was begun at his own Request.
And, if this is so, there are a Number of trifling Incidents
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tliat fall along with this Fact; for if he would desire, and at

last oblige us, (by a new Application in Council the Expence

whereof we had declared a Dread of) to coiue into an Agree-

ment, shall he now say, he had not lookt into all his Maps, or he

did not know his Right?

2. Mr. Ogle makes the Plaintiffs to have said, that they were

as ignorant as my Lord. They have proved that they must be

so; for it is in Evidence that they were never iu America before

the Agreement, and they oould only have Maps from their

Agents, as (now it's proved) my Lord had from his.

3. He also makes the Plaintiffs to have said, that what they

were agreeing to, was for the sake of Peace. And if you please

to recollect what a very large District we have granted to my
Lord, beyond the most extravagant of any his former Preten-

sions, it must plainly appear that it was for the Love of Peace,

or through Inability for War (and indeed both those were their

Reasons) that they should make an Agreement, so very disad-

vantageous to themselves.

4. He makes the Plaintiffs to have said, that they had been

told, that some of the richest and best peopled Lands in

Pensilvania would, by that Agreement, fall to my Lord.

They certainly were told so, and did say they were told t-o

;

And has any Mortal contradicted them ; I am sure I see not

a syllable to the contrary. And heartily wish my Lord would

have mentioned that Fact in his Answer, and so have put it in

Issue; In which Case, we should have, most abundantly, proved

that our Town of Nottingham (the most valuable Spot in our

whole Province, (which Mr. Logan mentions to have been so

cautious in granting out) is, by this Agreement, through the

Misinformation of our Surveyor who laid out that Tract, really

fallen on my Lord's Side of the Line, into his Manors of New
Munster and Talbot, as we now find to our Sorrow, upon run-

ning the Line for temporary Jurisdiction which was ordered by

the King in Council, pending this Suit.

5. Mr. Ogle, it seems, then, at first sight, thought the Plain-

tiffs great Masters of the Art of Dissimulation. But why so?

He swears he could not help my Lord in the making of the

Articles (which, by tlie way, he was never charged with; that

being a wilful Mistake of his) for that he himself then was

really unacquainted with the Nature of the Dispute (those are

his Words) ; How then could he tell how mucli, or how little,

the Plaintiffs knew; whether they said true, or dissembled;

whether they did know a great deal, or were, as they pretended

to be, really ignorant, of Matters, relating to a Dispute, which

this Man swears he himself, did not so much as understand the

>s'ature of?
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6. He does not expressly say, that there were Rejoicings in

Pensilvaniaat the Agreement (nor no Mortal ever heard ot any
sach thinj?) but, when he found the j^reat Rejoicinp:s in y-*cii-

silvania, "why then he rellected so and so.

7. We come now to remark on three Parts.not believed or ap-
prehended by this Governor Ogle but sworn to, absolutely and
positively, in the strongest manner that Words can express: He
knows the Defendant (and when too? why at the Time of enter-

ing into the Agreement, which was almost a Tear after the
Treaty) was wholly unacquainted and ignorant of the Bound-
aries of the Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania, and of every
thing relating thereto, and was very ill informed thereof from
Maryland. If this were true, he makes his Princij)al an Idiot

and a Natural ; but this rash Governor, out of his Ovei--Zeal for

his Principal, and to curry Favour with him to continue in his

Government of 1500Z. per Annum, has sworn positively what no
Human Creature can know, or can possibly swear, with an
honest Conscience. And it happens, unfortunately for Gov-
ernor Ogle, that he has sworn, what he had not so much as a
Chance' to have it happen to be true, but what is absolutely
false, and proved so luost notoriously. For, to take one or two
strong Instances only, (and the first of which came manifestly

from Maryland too) my Lord owns he delivered over his new
Clause, about the Line which runup the Peninsula South and
North's intersecting of Navigable Waters; did he, by Chance,
or Accident, draw that new Clause, of his own Hand, or was
it thro' some Acquaintance and Knowledge, of the Boundaries,
which was one thing relating to the Bonndarv? But here is

a stronger Instance, and an earlier Instance than that, that he
most certainly did know some thing relating to his Boundaries;
for here are his own written Proposals and Descriptions under
his own Hand, containing a whole Sheet of Written Directions,

where, and from whence, and to what Parts, and how, all and
every one of the Bound Lines should run. which are absolutel}'

impossible to have been drawn up by a Person wholly xinac-

quainted and ignorant of every thing relating to the Bound-
aries, which, yet, this most rash Witness swears positively that

my Lord was; so that one must be very precise with this Wit-
ness, and his Master too, who can thus swear away what is

under their own Hand Writings.

* William Baruts, the Defendant' s Witness only, [Lib. G. foJ.

181. Int. U. fol. 183.]

That he is acquainted with several of the Places named in

the printed Plan, but knows nothing of the Situation of Cape
Henlopen; saith he hath reason to believe the Plaintiffs were
privy to some Mistake in the Map or Plan, on which the Art'-
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cles in Question in this Cause were founded, before the E«ecu-

tionof the said Articles; and the Reason of such his Belief was,

that he being, with some of his Neighbours, ;viz. John Holiday

and James Morris) in Company with Messrs. John and Thomas
Penn, two of the Plaintiffs, at Philadelphia, some time after

the arrival of the said John Penn, a Conversation arose, con-

cerning the Articles of Agreement aforesaid, in which Con

versation this Deponent acquainted the said Plaintiffs, that he

had heard, in Maryland, that the Lord Baltimore was imposed

upon, by some Mistakes or Errors in the said Plan; whereupon

the said John Penn replied, he did not know, but it might be

an unjust Plan, but if it was, it was a Plan of his the Lord Balti-

more's own clausing; that they, the Planitiffs, offered him a

Plan, which they believed to be just, and which he hail under

his Consideration, some time, but the Lord Baltimore refused

to take the Plan the Plaintiffs offered him, and took one, which

he supposed, was procured l)y the Lord Baltimore's Friends.

This Witness has proved his holding Lands under the Plain-

tiffs in the Lower Counties; and proves nothing, from

this, which fell, many Years after, in private Conversation,

from Mr. Penn, but that Mr. Penn said he did not know
but my Lord's Plan might be unjust. Nor he certainly,

did not, but was really as ignorant, as he pretended, and

could not possibly know any thing of the matter, having

never been in America, to gain any Knowledge, unless

hia Birth, and staying there to a Year and half old, could

have given it.

But even this poor Account is very much varied and softened

by the next Witness my Lord examined, who was present

at the same Discourse with Mr. Penn, and relates it in a

fairer manner.

John HoUiday, the DeferidanVs Witnesses only, [Lib. G -^oL

170. 9th add. Int. fol. 176.]

That he hath heard John Penn one of the Plaintiff?, say,

that, after the Draft of the Original Agreement made between

the Parties in this Cause was drawn, the Defendant, the Lord

Baltimore, had the said Draft a long time, for his Perusal; and

he this Affirmant was present, when one William Barnes men-

tioned to the said John and Thomas Penn, that, it was sug-

gested, there was some Mistake, in the Plan or Map to the said

Articles; to which the said John Penn then said, if there was

a Mistake, it was taken from a Plan or Map done by the Lord

Baltimore's own People of Maryland ; and does not remember

to have heard the said John Penn say any thing more of the

Truth, or Falsity, of the said Map or Plan.
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38.

Now we come to tlie Defendant's Proofs of Avhat passed

during tlie Time tlie Commissioners met in order to have
executed the Articles.

Samuel Ocjle, the DefendanVs Governor, [Lib. G. fol. 218. Int.

15. fol. 281.]

That he was one of the Commissioners appointed on the behalf

of the Defenilant, to settle the Boundaries l)etween the Province
ot Maryland, and Province of Pensilvania, pursuant to the

Ajjrreement in question, and that the Persons appointed (Com-

missioners with this Deponent, on the Defendant's behail, on
that occasion, were Charles Calvert, Philemon Lloyd, Bejamin
Tasker, Matthew Tilghman \Vard, Richard Bennet,and Michael
Howard, fc^aith that he is no way interested in the Event of this

Cause, nor shall be any ways prejudiced, or benefited, by the

Determination thereof; that this Deponent, or any other of the

Commissioners aforesaid, to his Belief or Knowied<j:e, (before

the Doubt arose amongst the Commissioners concerning the

Centre and Dimensions of the Circle to be run) never did ad-

vise, persuade, intreat, desire, or l)y any lueans endeavour, to

prevail upon the Defendant to fly from, or endeavour to avoid,

the Agreement in Question in this Cause; nor make any Pro-

posals, Declaration or Promise,by word of Mouth, or in writing,

or otherwise to the Defendant, in order to influence o'- induce
him, to evade the said Agreement; and that this Deponent ))e-

lieves he often mentioned to the said Defendant the Disadvant-

ages arising to him, by the said Agreement; but, whether, before

the Doubts arose about the Centre and Circle, he is not certain.

That he never had, nor does not know of any Conference that

the other Conniiissioners ever had, with the Defendant, (before

such Difference in Opinion arose amongst them and the other
Commissioners) in order to contrive or consider how to evade the
said Agreement, or for any such like purpose. That he did not
propose, or receive, any Advantage, to himself, or knows of any
Advantage, that any of the other Commissioners proposed, or

received, to themselves, by the Agreement not being carried

into execution. Saith that he had a Warrant for about 5000

Acres of Land, within the said Province of Maryland, during ^he

time of the Commission for carrying the said Agreement into

Execution was in force, which had not been taken up; but
knows not that any other of the Commissioners had Warrants
to take up any Land. And this Deponent apprehends that the
(tarrying the said Agreement into Execution would have been
an Advantage to this Deponent, in laying out of the Land in

the Warrant mentioned ; because, by that means, the J^and,
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iipoii tl>e Line, would luivi' become more valuable, and the

Warrant might have Ijeen disposed of to greftter Advantage;
wliereas, because tlie Lines were not run, no bodv cared to

meddle with tlie Lands in dispute, but they were chiefly inlutli-

ited by loose idle Persons, who paid neither Rent or Taxes, to

either Government, and that the Disagreement of the Commis-
sioners about the Sense of the Articles in question, was the Oc-

casion of their not being carried into Execution, as this Depon-
ent apprehends.

Betijamiii Taskei, the DefejtdanV s Witness, [Lib. 0. foL 290.

Int. 15. fol. 29S.]

Saith he was one of the Commissioners appointed on the be-

half of the Defendant for settling the Boundaries between the

Provinces of Maryland and Fensilvania, pursuant to an Agree-

ment between the Plaintiffs and Defendant, and that his Ex-

cellency Samuel Ogle Esq; Charles Calvert, Philemon Lloyd,

Michael Howard, Richard Bennet and Matthew Tilghman Ward
Esqrs; were joint Commissioners with this Deponent on that

Occasion ; and that he is no manner interested in the Event of

this Cause; that neither he, or anj' other of the said joint Com-
missioners with him, or any other Person, to his Knowledge,
at any Time (before the Doubt arose among the said Commis-
sioners at their Meetings, concerning the Center and Dimen-
sions of the Circle to be run, in pursuance of the Agreement
aforesaid) did advise or perswade, or by any other means, endeav-
our to prevail upon the Defendant, to endeavour to avoid the

Agreement, in question, in this Cause, or make any Proposal,

Declaration, by Word of Mouth or in Writing, to the Defend-

ant, in order to influence or induce him to evade the same, or

represent any Advantage, or Disadvantage, that would arise

therefrom to the Defendant : that he neither proposed or to

himself, and does not know that any other of the Joint-Commis-
sioners appointed with this Deponent aforesaid did propose or

receive, any Advantage, to themselves, by the Agreement's not
being carried into Execution. That he had no Warrant for

taking up Lands within the Province of Maryland aforesaid

during the Time the Commission aforesaid was in Force, but
hath heard, that the present (rovernor of Maryland, and Charles
Calvert aforesaid, each had Warrants for about 5000 Acres of

Land; which he has likewise heard were located, during the

Commission aforesaid, very far to the Southward of the Dis
puted Bounds, upon Lands of verj' little Value. That he
knows of no other Cause, that obstructed the carrying the
Agreement aforesaid into Execution, but the Disagreement ot

the Commissioners upon the Construction of the Circle afore-

said.
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John Ross, the DefendanV s WU,,,ss only, [Lib. a. fol. 803 Jut
I-'), fol. 308. ]

That he WHS «„e of the Commissioners apointed hv the Gov-

oM'h u I ;''"'' r ''" '^^^^^'^'^^ '''' Deiendanr. in the Koo nof (.11 u-les Calvert Lsq., deeeased, for executin^^ tl^e Articles inquest.on .n this Clause, and that his Excel len^ey Samuel O^leMatthew I il,.hnK.n NVard, Benjamin Tasker, Michael Howard!Edmund Jennm^^s and James Harris Esqrs ; were Joint Connnis«.onerson that Occasion, with this Deponent, and saith that

he
^'.^";"^'^'^^'-^«t^'-e«ted in the Event of this Cause, and that

Person ^TT' "'"'' ^^^' "^^ ^^"^ '^^ ^"«^^' ^^at any other

to avoi.1 n ""i"''"'
""" f^^'-^^^^^« the Defendant to endeavourto avo.d the Execution of the Agreement aforesaid, nor doeshe know of any Meetin,^ had, by any of the Commissionerswxth the Defendant, for that purpose; and that he neither pro^posed, or received, any Advantage to himself, nor does he kiTwthat any other of the Joint Commissioners with this Depon^n"

Artfcir V'l
'"""'' ""^' ^^^-^^-^^ to themselves, by thesis

tha feh H
"^^

w"'"'"^
°"' ^«^"^'«-"-^J into Execution; saiththat he had no Warrant to take up Lands in the Province afore-

Zf\ ""T^"'"
^'''' '''' Commission aforesaid was in Fore!but ins Excellency the Governor aforesaid had. to the best ofhis Remembrance, during that Time, a Warrant to take u,about 5000 Acres of Land. ,n the Province aforesa d and thathe same was, as this Deponent has heard, located in Ann

that the carrying the said Agreement into Execution, wouldhave been no Disadvantage to the Effect of the said Warrantand that he believes the Difference in Judgment among theCommissioners on the behalf of the Plaintiffs and the Defend!ant, about running the Circle round Newcastle prevented thecarrying the Articles in Question into Execution
The Defendant had. in all, ten Commissioners, of which hechose to examine only two of those seven who were origin-
ally appointed, and Ross for a third, who was only ap-pointed at the latter End of the Affair, and met on 3dSeptember, 1733. for the first Time

All of them swear, on my Lord 'sown Examination of themagain that the reason, why the Articles were not carriedinto Execution, was. the Difference in Opinion betweenthe Commissioners.
80 that the Pretence of waiting an Hour, on 3d Februarv

ii6^, lor our Commissioners, is out of the Case

'''4<!!iv„f' XV*"
'"^ ''''a-'-t'e'l. (renerally, that mv Lord and
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his Conmiissioners did t-ontrive to avoid executing the

Articles.

And surely, Hugh Jones's own Account, ot my Lord himself

ordering him to post up, on the Borders, and to send to

his Friends, in the Lower Counties, the printed Advertise-

ment of 21 March 1782, pending my Lord's own renewed

Appointment of the loth of February for the Commission-

ers to meet at Joppa on the 7th of May then following,

amounts to Demonstration.

Well, but Mr. Ogle affects to answer the Charges in the Bill

;

wherefore, only himself and Tasker, two of the seven orig-

inal Commissioners, are to be examined; with the Addi-

tion of Mr. Ross, who came in, as aforesaid, quite at

the End of the Affair.

But what a Contrast there is, between those two old Com-

missioners who were in the Secret, and Mr. Ross, who

came in late, and was not in the Secret?

Mr. Ross denies generallv, and honestly, that he knows of

any such Contrivance at all.

But what say Ogle and Tasker? Why they most absolutely,

deny, at first, any such Contrivance used before the Dif-

ference arose between the Commissioners about the Center

and the Dimensions of the Circle. Why that happened

in October, 1732. So that here is a Negative pregnant.

But it does not rest here, for, in the same Breath, Mr. Ogle

owns, he did often mention, to the Defendant, the Dis-

advantages arising to him from the Agreement, but

whether he did so, before those Doubts arose about the

Center and Cir3le, he is not certain.

Again, he denies, in the self same manner, any Conference

with the Defendant, in order to consider how to evade

the Agreement, at any Time before the said Doubts arose.

Why it was impossible he should have any before; for

, the Doubts arose in October, and my Lord swears he did

not arrive there till 14 November. But is this an answer-

ing of the general Charge in our Bill?

Well, we had again charged that my Lord's Commissioners,

whom he appointed to execute the Articles, were pos-

sessed of Warrants,at large, for great Quantities of Laud.

My Lord denies that he knows, believes or ever heard, of

any such a Matter.

Yet, wth this short Examinations, it comes out, affirma-

tively, that Ogle and Calvert, two of his Commissioners,

had, each of them. Warrants for 5000 Acres, or more, dur-

ing the Commission. And I suppose that's the Reason

thev examined no more of their Commissioners.
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I observe Mr. Of,'le (wlio must best kin)\v) does not pretend
that his Warrant is located ; but the two others are made
to say, that they have heard (not that they believe it)

that Air. (Jgle's Warrant is located.
Mr. Ogle appreiiends (which is not a legal Word tor a Wit-
ness upon Oath) it woukl have been an Advantage to
him. to have had the Articles executed; for then the
Lands, just upon the Line, might have been more valua-
ble; but nobody else can apprehend bo, even if such Lands
had been vacant, which they are not; for their own Wit-
nesses tell us they are surveyed already, into large Manors,
New Munster, and Talbot Manors, which extend part of
tliem above the Line. And surely, the larger Field a Man
has to chuse out of, the better Land he may help himself
to, especially, in the case of this Governor, who. so
gravely contended, that wherever a Maryland Warrant is

located, the Place ipso facto becomes a Part of Maryland.
Mr, Ross, in endeavouring to add to, takes oflf from, the little
force there was before ; for he says that he has heard that
executing the Agreement would have been no disadvan-
tage to the Effect of the Warrant; why, no to be sure;
the Effect of the Warrant was, to grant him 5000 Acres
at large. And that Effect is equally answered, by laying
them out in one Place, or in another. So that, it is plain,
these People are quibbling, and disguising the Truth, in-
stead of speaking out fairly and openly.

39.

Nufjb Jones, of Maryland, Clerk, the DefendanVs Witness, iLib.
G. fol. 4. Int. 8. fol. 13. J

Says the Paper Exhibit No 2. is a Copy of a Question and
Answer, [about the Circle] and that his Name and Mr. Rum-
sey's, subscribed to the Original of the same, were of their Hand-
writings; and says that he and Rumsey were appointed, on
Friday 2d February, 1732, to attend the Governor of Maryland
and the other Maryland Commissioners; and the said Governor
of Maryland, the same Dav, acquainted the Deponent there had
been Disputes between the Commissioners, on each side, con-
cerning the Terms mentioned in that Question, and that they
had agreed to take the Opinion of Surveyors on each part. And,
then, he proposed the said Question, to be answered by the De-
ponent and Rumsey, which they did, in the manner mentioned
in the Exhibit. The Original of which Exhibit was. the next
Morning, delivered to the Governor of Maryland. And the
next Day, being Sunday, the Deponent was obliged, and ac-
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cordingly left the Commissioners on Saturday, to attend his

Cure in Maryland.

William Rumsey, of Maryiaml, the DefendanVs Witness, [Lib.

a. fol. 13i). Int. S. fol. 134.]

Also proves that this is a Copy of the Question put to, and

the Answer signed and given by Mr. Jones and hifuself, and

delivered to the Governor of Maryland on 3d February. And

says he also, on that Day, returned tioineward, but does not

remember anv particular Business required it. Says he was

acquainted with Robert Charles, and has seen him write, and

believes bis Name subscribed to the original Paper was his

Hand.

Note. ^ ^
How very natural it would have been, for either of these

two Gentlemen, to have said one Word that he believed,

or he judged, or thought, that was a Right Opinion on

the Question; bnt they do not say a Syllable of that sort,

and indeed, it was a most shameful Answer they gave.

Benjamin Tasker, of Maryland, the DefendanVs Witness, [Lib.

G. fol. 290. Int. 8. fol. 291.]

Proves the said Exhibit is a true Copy, and that he has ex-

amined and compared it with the Original, and he believes the

Name of Robert Charles, subscribed to the Original of it, was

of Charles's Hand writing, who was one of our Commissioners.

John Ross, of Marylarid, the Defendant's Witness only, [Lib. G.

fol. 303. Int. 8. fol. 304.]

Proves also that the said Exhibit is a true Copy, which he

has examined and compared with the Original.

So that here is—great Caution to prove only a Copy of this

curious Paper, which the Governor of Maryland keeps the

Original of, and does not produce, and which the two

Persons who framed that Original, are ashamed to say

that they themselves thought to be a true or right Answer

to the Question proposed to them about the Dimensions

of the Circle; altho' they swear to their Opinion about

the Extent of my Lord Baltimore's Charter.

40.

My Lord cross-examined two of our Witnesses to prove the

Extent of Newcastle Town.

Elizabeth Morris, [Lib. H. fol. 2G. Int. 6. fol. 28.]

She has been at Newcastle Town, but has taken so little Notice

of it, that she can give no Account of its Extent, either as to

Length or Breadth.



BOUNDARY QUESTION. 773

Thomas James, a Filnt, aged 49, [Lib. II. fol. 12. Int. fi. fol. If..]

Is acquainted with the Town of Newcastle, situated in one

of the three Lower Counties, but knows not in whicli, being

unacquainted with the Divisions thereof. He believes the said

Town, in its Buildings, is aloout half a Mile in Length, and

half a Mile in Breadth, but whether the Limits of the Town
extended beyond the Buildings of it, or not, does not know.

41.

Samuel Ogle, the Defendant' s Gozernor. [Lib. (i. fol 218. Int.

17. fol. 237.]

That the first Time the Defendant had any Account, of the

Proceedings of the Commissioners, for settling the Boundaries

of the Provinces of Maryland and Pensilvania. pursuant to the

Agreement in Question in this Cause, was,after the Defendant's

arrival in Maryland; apprehends that the Defendant was not

privy to, or apprized of, what the said Commissioners did, or

intended to do, before their first meeting together to execute

their Commissions.

Why it was impossible he should; the Commissioners met

(5, 7. 30, 31 October, and 1, and 2 November; all that while

ujy Lord was on his Passage; for he swears he arrived in

New England in September, and in Maryland on the 14tb

of the same November.

The same, [Int. V.\. fol. 239.]

That to the best of this Deponent's Remembrance, when the

Defendant was first informed of the Difference in Opinion

between the Commissioners, touching the Circle to be drawn

pursuant to the Articles of Agreement in Question in this Cause,

the Defendant declared, he had left the Aflair to be settled

by his Commissioners, as this Deponent believes, that the De-

claration aforesaid, was agreeable to the Intention of the De-

fendant.

Tfie same, [hit. \S. fol. 238.]

That he believes that a Letter was wrote, by the Defendant,

during his stay in Maryland, to the Governor of Pensilvania;

and that the Purport of the said Letter was to propose a Meet-

ing of the Commissioners, of the two Provinces at Joppa. after

the Dispute had arose about the Commissioners of Pensilvania

not meeting at Newcastle according to Adjournment: believes

the said Letter was received by the said Governor, because the

Commissioners of both Provinces met. according to the Pro-

posals in the said Letter at Joppa.

Yes; and pending this Appointment <>f my Lords, my Lord
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himself sends Parson Hugh Jones, his Mathematician, to

post printed Advertisements on thn Borders of the three

Lower Counties, to draw off' our Tenants.

A Worthy Action of the Defendant.

And a Worthy Action to be executed by that Tool of his,

the Parson, to remove his Neighbours Landmarks, and
draw off his Tenants.

42.

Samuel Hailingsnmrt?i, [Lib. H. fol. 29. Int. 1. add. fol. 33.]

Our Witness, cross-examined, says he has once been at a

Ferry over Susquehanna River.

John Musgraoe, our Witness also, hut aro.ss-examined , [Lib. H.

fol. 34. Int. 1. add. fol. 38.]

Knows something of Susquehannah River. Is not acquainted

with the mouth of it, but believes it falls into Chesopeak Bay.

He knows four Ferries upon the said River, some of which he

believes lie to the Northwards, and some to the Southwards, of

the Citv of Philadelphia: But is unacquainted with the lower

Parts of said River. That the said River is, (where he is ac-

quainted with it) generally about one Mile wide. Has heard

that the said River is, sometimes, fordable, both to the South-

ward and Northward of Philadelphia.

So that, as long as there are Ferries at this River, that our

Commissioners were not obliged to swim over it, there

could not possiblj' be any other Inconvenience in going

down to Joppa, in order to fix a Center in the middle of

Newcastle Town. For this notable Examination is to be

used to that purpose.

43.

Samuel Ogle, [Lib. O. fol. 218. Int. 16. fol. 237.] Benjamin
Tasker. [Lib. O. fol. 290. hit. 16. fol. 297.] John Ross,

[Lib. O. fol. 303. Int. 16. fol. 311.]

All say that the Exhibit markt No. 7. contains a full and true

Account of the Proceedings of the Commissioners for carrying

the Agreement in (Question into Execution, at their several

Meetings had for that purpose. Only Mr. Ross speaks to it but

from 3d September, 1733, that being the first Meeting he wa.s

present at.

A very concise way of giving their Account; whereas we
have proved, by Examination in Detail, what passed at

every Meeting, upon the 26 several Days; on many where-

of, the Commissioners met twice in a Day, Morning and
Afternoon; and this is, in Efl'ect, drawing up an Afltidavit
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(or less) privately, and then swearing', betore tlie Com-

missioners in the Cause, that that Paper, ready drawn up,

is true; but which, surely, is not the Way of beinj? exam-

ined in Chancery.

JSamue! Ogle, [Lib. a. Jul. 218. hit. 20. fol. 240.]

That he was one of the Defendant's Commissioners for exe-

cuting? the Articles, and the Exhibit markt No. 8, and endorsed

Copies of several Papers exchanged and delivered by and be-

tween the Commissioners, which he has i-arefully compared and

examined with the originals of which they purport to be Copies,

and they are true Copies of the Originals, and believes that

the Originals, of wliich the Papers aforesaid are Copies, were

exchanged and delivered by and between the Commissioners on

behalf of the Plaintiffs and Defendant ; and believes all the Per-

sons wlio subscribed their Names to the original Papers were

Commissioners on behalf of the Plaintiffs and Defendant; and

believes he has seen the Persons whose names are subscribed to

the Originals write their Names; and that their Nanjes sub-

scribed to the said Original Papers are of their proper Hands.

And believes that the original Paper of which the Part of this

Exhibit mark'd No. 1, is a true Copy, is the Hand-writing of

Robert Charles, one of the Plaintiffs Commissioners, having

often seen him write, and received several Letters of his writing.

Benjamin Tasker, [Lib. G. fol. 290. Int. 20. add. fol. 2!)8. ]

To the like Effect.

John Ross, [Lib. G. fol. 303. Int. 20. add. fol. 312. ]

To the like effect, only he speaks to those only which were

dated upon, or after the 3d of September, 1733.

To be sure, where the Defendant's Commissioners delivered

Papers to our Comuiissi oners, they could only prove Copies

of those Papers, so delivered from themselves; but, as I

understand these Depositions, they have not done that;

for, they have kept in Maryland the original Papers which

their Commissioners received from our Commissioners,

and they have also kept the original Copies of the Papers

which their Commissioners delivered to ours, and have

sent us only examined Copies (>f both, over here, as Ex-

hibits.

44.

The Defendant's Proof of his Application for ;i C+rant in

August. 1734.

John Hharpe, [Lib. F. Fol. 14. Int. 14. Fol. 52.]

Knows, and was privy to. the Application, made by the De-
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feiulant, to his Majesty, lor a Confirmatory Grant of the 3 Lower
Counties, after the Execution of the Agreement ; and the said

Application was made by Petition, by the said Defendant, to

his Majesty in Council, which Petition was presented, in the

bef,'inning of the Month of Auj,'ust 1734, to his best Remembrani-e

and Belief as to the Time; and saith that the Defendant, and

this Deponent apprehended and believed, that two of the said

Plaintiffs, as well as Mr. I'aris their Agent and SoUicitor. were

then in England; but saith that the said Defendant, and this

Deponent, were, soon after, informed that the Plaintiff John

Penn had, some short Time before, left England ; but such his

Departure was in a private manner, and not publickly known;

but that one of the said Plaintiffs, and the said Mr. Paris, Agent

or SoUicitor for all the Plaintiffs, Avere then, as this Deponent

believes. in England; and saith that the Defendant did, (as the

Deponent verily believes (apprize Mr. Paris, of his the Lord Bal-

timore's Intention of making the said Application, before he

made the same; and saith that the said Petition being, by order

of Council, dated on or about 8th August, 1734, referred to the

Consideration of the Lords Commissioners for Trade and Plan-

tations, to consider the same, and to report their Opinion

thereon, the said Petition and Order were, on or about the 28th

of the same August, to the best of his Remembrance and Belief,

as to the Time, laid before the said Lords Commissioners; and,

the very next Day. (as this Deponent verily believes) Notice was

given, pursuant to their Lordships Directions, to the said Mr.

Paris, of the said Petition being referred to them. And saith

that(as he believesjthe said Mr.Paris had due Notice of all the

Proceedings, which were afterwards had, on the said Peti-

tion, and appeared and attended their Lordships in oppos-

ing the said Petition, both by himself,and Council, for and on

behalf of the said Plaintiffs; and that one of the Plaintiffs, in

Person, also, attended their Lordships thereon; and Mr, Paris

presented a very long Petition to his Majesty in Council, on

the behalf of the Plaintiffs, praying, amongst other things,

that the said Petition of the said Lord Baltimore, might be

dismissed.

Note—It is my Lord Baltimore's Misfortune to have his

Answer falsified by every one of his Witnesses: for he swears

(for once) the Truth, at fol. 892. That Paris delayed to lay

the Plaintiff's Title before the Lords of Trade, from time to

time, and at last declined it, or appearing in Support of their

pretended Right, and only stood V)y to take notice of what

past, and what was offered by the Defendant and his Council,

And rn the like Effect is said by the Lords of Trade's Report

also.
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45.

TliP Defendant s Proof of Exhibits in England.

Hugh Hamtraley, Mr. Sharpe'.s Clerk, [Lib. F. fol. 57. Int. 12.

(lUfl last fol. 59.]

Says that the produced Petitions, No 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. fi. 7. 8. 9.

are true Copies of the original Petitions, remaining in the

Council-Office, by him examined with the original Petitions

there remaining. And that the Pa[)er8 annext to the said Pe-

titions. No 1. and No ;'>, are true Copies of the Papers annext

to such original Petitions, having carefully examined them.

And that the Paper-Writings, No. 10. 11. 12. 1:3. 14. 15. 16. 17.

are true Copies of original Orders, recorded in the Register-

Books of the Council-Office, by him carefully examined. And
that the Paper No. 18, is a true Copy of the original Report

of the Lords of Trade, remaining in the Council-Office, with

which he examined the same. And that the Paper No 19, is a

true Copy of the original Order, whereof it purports to be

a Copy, having carefully examined it with such original Order

at the Plantation-Office, as the same remains amongst the

old Records there; And that the Papers No 20 and No 21,

are true Copies of the original Papers, whereof they purport

to be Copies, having examined the sai»e with the oriirinal

Papers at the Plantation Office, as the same remain lodged or

deposited there. And that the Paper-Writing, No 22, is a true

Copy of the original Bill signed by Sir R. Sawyer, having com-

pared the same therewith, as it remains deposited at the Signet

Office. Whitehall. And that the Words following (Expedited

the 16th Day of April, 168'., per Morit-e) wrote at the foot of such

Copy, is a true Copy of an Endorsement on such Original.

And that the Paper-Writing. No 2:3. is a true Copy of an Entry,

made and entred in a Book or Register belonging to the Privy

Seal Office at Whitehall. And knows of nothing else that will

make for the Defendant's Advantage, except that he has made

careful and diligent Search and Enquiry at the Rolls-Chapple,

and of Mr. Henry Rooke the Clerk of the said Chappie, who
has the Custody and Care of the Rolls and Records there kept,

in order to find out and discover whether any Grant or Letters

Patent ever past the r+reat Seal, in pursuance of the said Bill

or Draft of a Grant No 22. but has not been able to find any

such Grant amongst the Rolls and Records of the said Chappie,

or any Enrollment thereof, and has been informed by Mr. Rooke,

and believes to be true, that Mr. Rooke lias made dili<rent

Search, but has not been able to find the same, or any Entry

or Memorandum thereof, in any of the Books or Registers be-

longing to the said i;happle. and that he therefore believes no
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sufh Grant ever did actually pass the (ireat Seal, for that, if

the same had past the Great Seal, it ou^ht to have been regu-

larly enrolled in the said Chappie of the Rolls.

Note—As to his No 19, the Plantation-Office is not the

Place, but the Council-Office is, for original Orders of Council.

I suppose that is the Copy of the Order about Clayborneand
the Isle of Kent ; If so, aui surprised that Mr. Sharpe, who
knows the State of that Order full as well as I do, would let

his Clerk call that unauthentick Paper at the Board of Trade
the Original Order.

46.

We come now to the Gist of the Cause. The Defendant, fol.

268, 260, says he believes the Plaintiffs, knowingly and
designedly, took Advantage of his Ignorance and Want
of Knowledge of the several Places juentioned in the Map
or Plan, and of the proper Situation and Distances thereof,

for that, in the said Map, which was so made use of as a
Guide in making the Agreement, there is a Place described
and said to be Cape Hinlopen, in which Place there is no
such Cape; And that the Place, described by the said Map
to be Cape Cornelius, is the true Cape Hinlopen, origin-

ally so called by the Dutch, and so described in their
Maps; Which was a great Im|:>osition on the Defendant,
and misled him, in regard the East and West Line, that
was agreed to be drawn across the Peninsula, was to begin,

on the East Part of the Place in the said Map called Cape
Hinlopen; but, ought to have been from that Place only
which in the said Map is called Cape Cornelius.

This being the Deceipt put upon him, by his own Map I

beg you would turn to his Map, and then take his own
following Evidence, which do afford (T think) the very
strongest and clearest Evidence against him that the
Plaintiffs themselves could possibly wish or desire.

Margaret Smipson, aged 69, the DefendanVs own Witness only,

[Lib. G. fol. 194. Int. 12. addit. fol. 198.]

Says, that she, about 46 Years ago, when she lived in Maryland,
heard of a Place called Cape Henlopen or Inlopen, at or near
Phenix's Island: And hath, since her residing at Lewis-Town,
heard of a Place called Cape Cornelius about 8 or 4 Miles from
Lewis-Town aforesaid, and of a Place called Cape May, oppo-
site to said Cape Cornelius; and that, near Phenix-Island,
there was, as she heard, a Brass or Copper Plate, or Brass or
Copper Nails,on a Tree; and that for forty Years pa8t,she has
often heard the People of Maryland aforesaid, and of Sussex
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County aioresuid, dispute, aiul oiler to lay Wafers, some that

Cape Henlopen was near Phenix's Island aforesaid, and others,

that the Cape near Lewis-Town was ealled Cape Henlopen.

J^^OTE—To obviate that very Difficulty or Doubt, on account

of the Names beinj,' transferred, the Articles express it, by a

double Description, Cape Henlopen South of Cape Cornelius.

John Fleaharty, of Maryland, Planter, the DtfendanV s own

WitneiiS only, aged 102, [Lib. G. fol. 145. Int. 14. fol. 145. ]

He is acquainted with some of the Places named in the printed

Plan; And that he never heard of any Place or Cape called

Cape Cornelius, till within these G Months. But that the Place,

markt in the said Map for Cape Cornelius, is the Place where

the Whorekill Town, settled by the Dutch, was built, opposite

to Cape May. and is the Place this Deponent heard the English

call Cape Inlopen, [Hitherto he seems not much for us, but lie

amply repays us] And that, to the Southward of Indian River

and St. Martin's Creek, which St. Martin's Creek is in Somer-

set County in Maryland, there is also a Place called Cape Hen-

lopen. That he is not certain of the Distance between the

Places markt Cape Cornelius and Cape Hinlopen, but supposes,

upon a direct Line, it is about 12 Miles. This Deponent does

not know how it came to be called Cape Hinlopen. but has

heard that the Dutch settled the Whorekills, before :Maryland

or Virginia was settled by the English.

This very antient Witne.ss sets out finely for the Defendant

indeed: He says the English call the upi)er Cape Inlopen

but that there is a Place, where? South of Indian River

and St. Martin called Cai)e Henlopen. and that the Dutch

settled first, before the English.

Charles Hilliard, aged 63, the Defe.ndanV !> own Witness only,

\Lib. G. fol. 158. Int. 14. fol 166.]

Knows several Places mentioned in the Plan which lie between

the City of Philadelphia and Lewes Town, which is near the

Capes of Delaware, and that he has been at Lewes-Town, and

has seen a Point of Land which is called the Cape, which lies,

on the other side of a Creek, but, being not skilled in Geo-

graphy, can't say whether the Places laid down in the said

Exhibit are rightly delineated, or not.

The same, to the \^th additional Interrooatory fol. 168.

Has heard of a Plare called Cape Hinlopen. which lies to the

Southward of Indian River, ne<ar an Island, the Name of which

he does not remember; The said Cape was first so called by the

Dutch; And that he has heard of the said Cape Henlopen from

his Father, who was a Sea-faring Man. and lived at St. Martin's

Creek or River, near Indian River aforesaid. This is better still.
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Martha Johnson, the DefendanV s own Witness only, uncertain

of her ouni Age, but believes 72, [Lib. G. fol. 210. Int. 12.

add. fol. 212.]

Lives near live Miles from J^ewes Town, the way that is usually

rode. She has heard, that a Place, very near to where she

lives, was, by the Dutch, called Cape Inlope. And further

says, that she thinks she has heard that a Place, at Phenix's

Island, was called Cape Henloi)en but that the whole appears

to her like a Dream.
These are the Defendant's Witnesses, and his own Exam-

inations.

John Miller, of Somerset County in Maryland, Planter, aged

44, the Defendant's oivn Witness only, [Lib. G. fol. 271. Int.

14. fol. 272.]

Has looktupon the Plan. Is acqxiainted with Delaware Bay,

and all the Sea-Coast, from Delaware Bay to the Capes of Vir-

ginia having been several Voyages into the said Bay of Delaware

and along the Sea-Coast. He has taken an Observation at the

Place markt Cape Cornelius, and found it to be in 39 Degrees and

5 Minutes North Latitude. That in all the Sea-Charts and

Waggoners which he has seen, the said Cape was called by the

name joi Cape Henlopen. except some few People in Sussex

County, who called it by the name of Cape Cornelius. Says,

that, at the Place, markt in the said Exhibit Cape Hinlopen,

there is no appearance of a Cape, either near or at a distance,

the Sea-shore there is near strait, and very low. That the

Place, called Cape Henlopen in the said Exhibit, he apprehends,

is intended for the Place called by the Inhabitants there Phe-

nix's Island: tho' he thinks, it ought to have been laid down
more to the Southward than it is, near the Midway between the

Place markt Cape Cornelius, and the Southern Bounds of Mary-

land. Says, he believes it is from Phenix's Island to Cape Hin-

lopen, markt Cape Cornelius in the Exhibit, along the Sea-

shore, about 23 or 24 Miles. Says, that the Word Henlopen is

a Dutch Word, which Language he does not understand. Says,

there are several Rivers and Creeks, along the Sea Coast,

and in Delaware Bay. which are not laid down in the said

Plan [whose Fault was th.at? It is not our Plan] particularly

Seny Puxen, Indian River, and the Whorekill Creek. That,

near to the Place markt Cape Cornelius, in the saitl Plan,

there should have been a Bend, and that, afterwards, it should

have been laid down straiter than it is in the said Plan. That
he has never read the Articles of Agreement between the Parties

but if the Southern Bounds of the three lower Counties were
to be run, from Phenix's Island, to the Middle of the Peninsula.
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described in tlie said Exhibit, it would extend upon the Posses-

sions of the Defendant, ui)wards of eight Miles to the Southward,

and a considerable Space to the Westwards.

Supposing this was so, yet if the South Bounds went up

tso high as to the upper Cape, as my Lord contends, then

tliis Witness allows it would extend 16 Miles upon the

Possession of the Plaintiffs, and others say 18 Miles; and

we shall clearly account for those 8 Miles this Witness

talks of.

Tiie same, to the I5ih add. Inter, fol. 279.

Has been acquainted with the Sea-Coast, Delaware Bay, and

the Country thereabouts, described in th? Plan, near 30 Years.

Believes that, upon the Tract contained between the Place

called Cape Cornelius, and Cape Henlopen. in the said Plan

(if Cape Henlopen in the said Plan is intended to beat Phenix's

Island) extending the Lines, from both Places West to the

Middle of the Peninsula, does contain about 500 Families.

[Note, He says this of the whole 23 or 24 Miles.] That the In-

habitants, to the Southward of Indian River aforesaid, have

lived under the Government of Maryland ; And the Inhabitants

to the Northward of Indian River aforesaid, have lived under

the Government of Pensilvania. Hath seen several Patents for

Lands, from the Lord Baltimore, to the Northward of Phenix's

Island, dated in 1677, and the rest bearing Date before the Year

1684. And has also seen two Patents from the Proprietors ot

Pensilvania. dated 1684, for Land upon Indian River, and on

the South Side thereof. That ever since he can remember, [born

in 1696] the Inhabitants, on the South Side of Indian River have

always paid their Quit-Rents to Lord Baltimore, and his An-

cestors, except during the time there was an Equivalent given

by the Country to the Defendant for the same. And that he

has never heard of any Quit- Rents being paid for the said Land,

or any of the said three lower Counties, by the Inhabitants to

the Plaintiffs, or their Ancestors.

This is a planter, who tias made several Voyages into Dela-

ware Bay ; He says, he lives in Somerset County, which

is just below Sussex County: and Indian River, indeed,

is not easily crost, without a Voyage. But he swears

there is no appearance of a Cape at Phenix's Island,

either near, or at a Distance, the Sea Shore is very \o\\.

Now let us see how their own next Witness contradicts

him, as to that last Point, and fortifies all our Witnesses,

Boudoin Robins, of Marpland, Planter, the Defendant's own

Witness, only aged hut 34. [Lib. G.fol. 282. Int. 14. fol. 282.]

Has lookt upon the Plan, and is acquainted with the Sea-
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Coast from the Capes of Delaware to the Mouth of (;iiesopeak

Bay, and from thence, with the said Bay of Chesopeak, as high

;ls Annapolis. Says, that Cape Hinlopen should have been

placed in the Plan where the Place markt Cape Cornelius is,

;i* he apprehends; for that he has been a Coaster, eight or ten

Y'ears, and has ever understood that Place to have been Cape

Henlopen, and has always heard it called so. by those who
spoke of it to him. And that the Shore, from thence (except-

ing a little Bend near the said Cape, about five or six Miles to

The Southward of it) is generally strait, and beareth South and

by West. Says, he observes that Seny Puxen and Indian Rivers

are not laid down in the said Plan, and also Choptank River

that runs into Chesopeak Bay. That he can't tell by what

Name the Place, markt Cape Hinlopen in the Plan, is called

by the Inhabitants, because he does not know its Distance from

the Mouth of Delaware Bay. That, in sailing along the said

Sea-Coast, towards Delaware Bay, the Land at Phenix's Island,

is somewhat higher than the rest of the Land about : But that no

cape appears, till you come to Cape Hinlopeu lying on the South

side of Delaware Bay, and markt in the Plan Cape Cornelius.

[Note, There being no real and true Cape or Head-Land, is the

very Reason for transferring the old Name to the Place where

there is unquestionably a Cape. And this Witness tells you he

is a Coaster, and a young one too, of 8 or 10 Years.] He goes

on. and says, he has heard it was called Cape Hinlopen by

the Dutch, and that the Meaning thereof is inlap. That he

thinks the Cape, upon the East Side of the Mouth of Cheso-

peak, is not truly laid down ; and several Islands, Creeks, and

Inlets, are omitted in the said Plan, that lie in and run into

Chesopeak Bay.

The same, to the 15th add. Int. fol. 388.

That, as there is neither Scale or River mentioned betwetn

the said Places markt Cape Hinlopen and Cape Cornelius in

the Plan, he cannot, thereby, find out whereabouts the Place,

therein called Cape Hinlopen, is intended to be fixt ; nor can

say how many Families there are inhabiting betwixt that Place

and the Place there markt Cape Cornelius; but always under-

stood that the People as far North as Indian River, held their

Lands under the Proprietary of Maryland,

Colonel Thomas Colml, of Maryland, aged 50, the DefendanVs

own Witness only, [Lib. G. fol. 120. Int. U. fol. 121.]

Says he is not well acquainted with the Bay of Delaware de-

scribed in the produced Map. but has been once up and down
the said Bay. That he is no otherwise acquainted with Cape

Hinlopen, than as is described in the Sea-Charts, or West-India
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Waff-oners. Tlmt he has never heard c.l any (Jaj.e called Cor-

neutrtai within these six or seven Years. He knows not

^ro" whence Cape Hinlopen took its Nan.e. That, whe.. tbe>^

sailed in, bv the Cape Hinlopen described in the bea-Charts

or Waggoners aforesaid, they apprehended the Cape lay verj

"^^^r;: :!c;;^;ng to tl. purpose; the Defendant n.ight ha^

had 10.000 Witnesses, who had only seen the new modern

Maps, that .night have said just the same as Colonel Col-

And theTe'witesses tell us. to whom the Inhabitants South

of Indian River pay their Quit-Rents, but how many are

the Inhabitants? Have they proved seven, hve, or three,

such Inhabitants? I see not the least Proof made by the

Defendant, of anv one Inhabitant or Settlement, there,

madebv Maryland; and indeed, it's a low sandy un-

healthy and unpleasant Place, and will be the last that

is settled, whoever it belongs to.
, . ^ ^ .. ^

But what is all this, and more of the same kind, to the

purpose? Mv Lord says, that our Cape Cornelius was the

Place originally called by the Dutch, and so described in

their Maps, Cape Hinlopen, why then ..'^

^t' Wh^'v
Has my Lord proved any one Map

-^^l^'^-^\\^\.^^J
has he not? Because thev most absolutely falsify his Pre-

tence and lay down both Capes exactly according to his

own Map.

Thomas Hynson Wright, of Maryland, Esq.
'!l\^/''';'^'ff

own Witness only, and a Surveyor, aged o2, [Lib. G. foL

251. Int. 114. fol. 259.]

That he hath lookt upon the Plan, and is acquainted with

most of the Land between the main Ocean Delaware Bay, and

Chesopeak Bay, as far Northward as Newcastle; and that, after

the Agreement ma.le between the Plaintiffs and the Defendant,

he thi^ Deponent was employed, by the Defendant s Commis-

sioners to go down and take a Reveiw of the Cape of Delaware,

Ind th; Sea-Side. And that, when he came to Lewes Town, he

"qu red of several of the principal Inhabitants there for Cape

Henlopen, particularly of William TilKRives Holt.and one Col-

leak and was shewed, by them, a Point for Cape Hinlopen. at the

South Side of the Mouth of Delaware, which seems to be repre-

sented in the said Plan by the Cape marked Cape Cornelius
;
and

That the said Cape bore,near East, about 4 or ^^^^l- I^-^-'

(as he was informed) from Lewis Town aforesaid ; and that, he,

afterwards, went, from Lewis Town aforesaid, to ^^e said Cape

and coursed the Sea-side, along with a Compass, to the Mouth
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of Indian River, vvhicli the Inhuljitauts tiiere acquiiinted this

Deponent they foniputed to be about 12 or 14 Miles from the
said Cape, and tliat tlie Course thereof was very near 8outh;
and that, afterwards, lie, this Deponent, went to a Pia(re, called

Phenix's Island, which the Commissioners aforesaid informed
him that the Plaintiffs Commissioners deemed to be Cape Hin-
lopen, as described in the Exhibit aforesaid. [Why did he not
ask there for Cape Hinlopen?] From wliieh last mentioned
Place, he run the Course of the Sea Shore, and measured the Dis-

tance of the Moutli of Indian River aforesaitl ; and that Indian
River bore about North 9 or 10 Decrees East, and distant about
8 or 9 Miles from Phenix's Island : Saith tliat, as he went along
the Sea Shore aforesaid, he inquired for the oldest Inhabitants

there, and by them was informed, that they never knew or

heard of any Place called Cape Hinlopen, but that Cape near

Lewis Town aforesaid, until the Agreement aforesaid ; That
the Course of the Sea-shore aforesaid appears to this Deponent
to be untruly laid down in the said Exhibit; and that he does

not know by what Name the Place marked Cape Hinlopen
in the said Exhibit, is called by the Inhabitants there; Hath
understood formerly, that the Word Hinlope was Dutch, and
that it signified leaping in, and therefore applied to the En-
trance of Delaware Bay. Saith, that the said Plan contained

in the said Exhibit is incorrectly made. That there are divers

Rivers, viz. Nauticoake, Choptank, Chester, and Sassafras,

not laid down in the said Map; and that he believes, that, if

the said Rivers had been laid down in the said Map, The Tan-
gent Line therein marked, would have intersected the Heads
thereof, and would have cut off navigable Waters from Nauti-

coak and Choptank. if not from the oth3r Rivers. [This is

provided for, by my Lord's new Clause, if it does.] And the

Reason of such his Belief is, because he traversed the Courses

of the Roads, from Lewis Town to Phenixes Island, and from

thence, into yueen Anne's County in Maryland, and from thence

to Newcastle aforesaid, in order to plat the same, and discover

where the Tangent Line would run. Saith, that if the Articles

of Agreement aforesaid, were carried into Execution, and the

Place called Phenixes Island should be deemed Cape Hinlopen

that the Defendant would lose near 300,000 Acres of Land, which
he never understood were claimed as Part of the three lower

Counties aforesaid.

This Witness does not tell us one single Word, whether
there is, or is not, the Appearance of a Cape at Phenix's

Island, which would have been very material and natural

for him; and, as he was employed, as a Surveyor, in the

Service of the Defendant, bv the Defendant's own Com-
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missioners, puri'ly to eiiquin' tor tlu- (':ii)e, and to v'-w

the Cape, he cerTaiuly must have known or learned. sonic-

thing about it, one Avay or the other: but he is not asked

one SyUable about it.

This man. sent down purposely. on this Errand. en(iuireil at

Lewes Town, in the Neiijhbourhood ot the >"e\v <Jape Hin-

iopen, of several of the princ-ipal Inhal)itants, (and In-

names three only and no more) for ('ai>e Hinlopeu. and

tliey shewM him what- is called in the Plan Cape Corm-

lius, near Lewis Town, and so will 1000 other Persons,

now at this Time. do.
' He tells what Course the Sea Coast bears, and the l)istan<r

of several Places,

A-nd he in(]uired of tlie oldest Inhabitants, au<l was in-

formed l)y tiiem, (but does not name any one sinirle Per-

son of them) that they never heard of any Cape llinlopen,

but that near Lewes Town.

What Pity it is. this Gentleman. in hisSearchand Enquiry,

had not found out any one of the many Maryland Wit-

nesses, and Sussex County Witnesses both, which the JJe-

fendant and the Plaintiffs found out. and have examined

all of whom knew, and could have told him very well,

of anotiier CaiH' Hinlopeu. at Phenixs Island, and which

thev have all sworn to in this ( lause.

You'll please to <)i)serve how cautious this Man is. he iocs

not pretend that my Lord is possessed of. or has .-i siu^de

Tenant upon the ;'.00.000 Acres which he speaks of.

Govt^rn.i,)- SamiHl OyU, <>f Manjland, a(/ed -iO. {Lib. U\ /<>/. 21S.

Int. 14. fol. 22G.]

That he is acquainted with the upper Part of Chesopeak Bay.

and the Rivers tlierein, and the Country about it, described in

the Exhibit or Plan; and tliat he lookt upon the said Map or

Plan to be very imperfect and false: There bein}? some Rivers

wantinji, and others wron;.r designed and descril)ed. That, fi-om

the best Information he has been able to get. he is persuaden

Cai)e Henloi)en is wrong laid down in the said Exhibit: and

that, where Cai)e Hinlopen is laid down, in the said Exhibit,

there is not the least Appearance of a Cape. And that he i\])-

prehends, from the best Information he lias been abl(> to get,

Cape Henlopen should be laid down, where Cape Cornelius is

laid down, in the said Exhil)it: and that, for about oO Miles to

the Southward of the Place which this Deponent apprehends to

be the true Cape Hinlopen. marked in the P^xhibit (Jape Corne-

lius, there is a flat Slioiir.and no Api)e;irancc of any other Cape.

Saith, that he really believes the Exhibit aforesaid was con-

.)0— Vol. X^.
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trived.on purpose to deceive the J)efendant,an(l that the Plain-

tiffs were privy to the Falsities and Misreiiresentations (before

the Execution of the Articles aforesaid) therein made; and that

it was artfully conveyed into the Defendant's Hands, by the

Plaintiffs or some of their Friends. The Reasons why the De-

ponent believes the said Map was not sent from Maryland to the

Defendant, are, that he hath heard the late Governor and Mi-.

Philemon Lloyd, Secretary of Maryland, who had the principal

Mana<?ement of the Defendant's Affairs concernintr the Bound-

aries of that Province, often declare that they had no hand in

the making, or sending it, nor could he ever learn that tht\v,

or any other Gentleman in Maryland, ever heard of Cape Hen-

lopens being where it is laid down in the Exhibit, l)efore the

Map, of which the Exhibit is a Copy, came into Maryland

with the Articles of Agreement; and that the Deponent can't

conceive how any Gentleman in Maryland, could ever think of

placing Cape Hinlopen any where but at the Whorekills, since

in the Deed of Feoffment from the Duke of York to Mr. Penn.

it is called Cape Henlopen. alias the Whorekills: and the De-

ponent hath never heard of any Dispute made about the Scitua-

tion of the Whorekills.

This (Tentleman who, upon Oath, does not believe only,

but absolutely knows, the Heart of Man. (even at first

Sight) and how much they know, and how little they

know, happens to be wonderfully out in what he is per-

suaden of, and in what he apprehends, (for those are the

governing Words of the former Part of his Deposition

as to its .being a flat Shoar, and there not being the least

Appearance of a Cape. For his Perswasions and Appre-

hensions have the Misfortune to be flatly contradicted by

many of his own Fellow Witnesses, (but not Governors)

and by many of ours likewise, all of which swear the di-

rect contrary.

2dly. As to his real Belief, 1st, That the Plan was contrived

to deceive the Defendant; 2dly, That the Plaintiffs were

privy to the Falsities in it before the excution of the Ar-

ticles; and, 3. That it was artfully conveyed into the

Defendant's Hands, by the Plaintiffs, or their Friends,

any one of these 3 Things proved, had been exceedingly

material, but no Step to prove any one of them, nor, any

one Reason given, why he believes any one of those Things.

My Lord himself, and his Sollicitor, both admit that the

plan was sent to my Lord by his own Agents, whoever

they had it from; but this Man goes higher, and believes

that the Plaintiffs, or their Friends, conveyed it artfully

into the Defendant's Hands; so that he out-does, and
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contratlicTs. his Master, and all. without the least Reason

^iven why he believes tliis.

Well, but he swears he has some Reasons to believe another

distinct Matter; namely, that the Map was not Dent from

Maryland; and we will examine those Reasons, and see

whether they are Reasons to believe that other Matter

from. Why first, he has asked two singrle Persons, the

late Governor and tlie {Secretary, and they two told him
they had no Hand in ujakinf? or sendinpc it. But has he

examined them as Witnesses? No. Does he say either of

them is dead? No. Suppose they told him what was
false! Or, suppose they told him true. Has he asked my
Lord's Surveyors General, whose Business it was to make
Maps and Plans? No. Can't my Lord lell who it was that

he had that Plan of his own Province, from? Does my
Lord, or any one else, so much as pretend to name, or say,

who the Person was, that delivered the Plan to him? No.

Has he examined to prove that that Map was ever seen or

heard of, in Pensilvania? No. Had not they an Inter-

rogatory framed, on purpose to examine into that Matter?

Yes. they had, their 5th cross Int. H. Fol. 17(J. but they

could find nobody proper to be examined upon it.

But 2dly, This Witness has another Reason to believe the

Map could not be sent from Maryland ; for he could never

learn that the late Governor, and the Secretary, or any
other Gentleman in Maryland ever heard of Cape Hinlo-

pen's being: where it is laid down in the Map. V/hat

Pity it is a Man, of so great Knowledge, should be so un-

willing to learn, what so many of his own, and of our
Witnesses (many of Maryland) could have told him, and
have sworn, that not only the particular Place was called

Cape Henlopen by the Dutch, but that the whole Country
thereabouts was called, after its Name, Hinlopen?

He can't conceive that any Gentleman in Maryland could

ever think of placing Cape Hinlopen any where but at

the Whorekills; since, in the Duke's Feoffment, it is called

Cape Hinlopen alias the Whorekills; and he never heard

of any Dispute about the Scituation of the Whorekills;
but are not we. at this Instant, and himself in this very

Argument, considering the Extent of that large District,

called first Whorekills, and afterwards Sussex County?
And, however it may be expressed in the Duke's Feoff-

ment, yet, surely, to Persons, who have seen the Dutch
Maps of 166.3, and the English Map in 1671, both which
laid down Cape Henlopen and Cape Cornelius, and laid

down Cape Hinlopen at the Place really called by the
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Dutch Cape Hinlopeu, Jiiul wlio know (as tlif Witnesses

«io) that tliat Place was called Cai)e Henlopen by tht,

Dutch, it would be no sort of Impropriety tor a Mary-
lander to think that Cape Hinlopen lay, at a Place where
he knew it did lay; and any Inaccuracy, if there was any,

in the Duke's Feoll'uient in 1682 (and which is helped by
the present Articles) would not determine a Man to inake
a Map of a Country knowingh' wrong, because that the

Duke of York had. once, inaccurately expressed a Part

of that Country, in some Deed of his. dated in 1682.

But, if he will have the Duke of York to explain where
Cape Henlopen lay, that was so called by the Dutch,
they may find it, in very clear explicit Terms. In the

Patent Avhich the Duke was obtaining, the Beginning of

the very next Tear l^iS:^; wdiich describes it exactly accord-

ing to our Evidence; and that Patent the Defendant him-
self has proved a Copy of. from the Signet OflKce, in this

Cause.

The Defendant has cross examined eight of our Witnesses,

upon some printed Plan or Map marked A, which 1 sup-

pose was a Copy of his own Plan annexed to the Articles.

John Teague, Lib. H. fol. 4:!. Int. :«. fol. 45. Elizabtth Morris,

Lib. H. fol. 26. Int. \). fol. 28. John Jlu.sgrave, Lib. H. fol.

U. Int. 8. fol. 36. William Petersou, Lib. H. Fol. 7. Int.

3. fol. 10.]

Who all say they have looked upon that Exhibit, and don't

understand it.

Samtiel Holhngsioorth. aged 07, {Lib. H. fol. 29. Int. 3. fol. 31. J

Says he is unacquainted with the lower Part of Delaware.
;ind tho' he has heard of Cape Hinlopen. Cape Cornelius, and
the Whorekills, can give no particular Account of them. He
does not remember to have heaTd t>f Phenix's Island, [Note, he
lives in Chester County in the upper Part of Pensilvania] That
he knows Christiana Creek, and takes that Creek in the Map,
next above Newcastle, to be designed for it.

.lohn Rambo, of New Jersey, Farmer, aged 79, [Lib. H. fol. lO.

Int. 3. fol. 21.]

He has looked upon the Plan, and he has never heard of any
Cape called Cape Cornelius ; but that the Place, therein so

marked in the Place which he has always undedrstood to have

been called Cape Hinlopen since he lias been acquainted with

those Parts. That he is acquainted with the Whorekill Creek,

which runs into the Land, a little within the Cape marked in

the Exhibit Cornelius; but knows nothing of Phenix's Island.
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That he knows (Jliristiauji Creek, which lies, as he believes.
8 or 4 Miles above Newcastle.

Note—This Witness, a Country Fanner, has just told us.

in the next preceeding Interrogatory, that he was born and
lived his first 20 Years up at Philadelphia, and the Residue ot
his Time in another distinct and more remote Province, New
Jersey, ajid was never but one Winter a Whaleing at the
l^laces enquired after, and that 50 Years ago ; and now, they
are enquiring into his Knowledge, and his Understanding,
tiiese Places.

^amiit/ I'lfrstuH, aytdl'i, [Lib. 11. foJ. 104. Int. ?,. fol. lOG. ]

Has looked upon the said Plan, and is acquainted with tlie

Places marked tlierein (Jape Cornelius; and has heard ot the
Place therein marked Cape Hinlopeu. Says that the Place
therein marked Cape Cornelius has generally, since his know-
ledge of it been called Inlopen, and is distant from the Place
in the said Plan called Cape Henlopen about 25 Miles as he
believes; Further says he has seen some Maps wherein the Place
called Cornelius in the said Plan, was called by thesauje Name
Cornelius. He knows the Place formerly called the Whorekill
Town, and Christiana Creek, and hath heard of Phenix's Is
land. That the Whorekill Town lies near to the Place in the
Plan marked Cape Cornelius Christiana Creek about 5 Miles
above the Town of Newcastle. And believes that Phenix l.s-

land is about the Place marked Cape Hinlopeu. Says that a
Creek runs up by the Whorekill Town.

Thomas James, Pilut, aged 4!», [lAh. H. fol. 12. Int. IJ. foJ. i;{.j

He has looked upon the Plan, and is acquainted, by sailing
into Delaware Ba>

, with the Place therein marked Cai)e Cor-
nelius, which is now called Cape H inlopen. That there is

another Place, that has the Appearance of a Cape, to the South-
ward of the said Cape, which has been sometimes called Cape
James, [please to mark it well, for our written Evidence pi-oves
tiiat Mr.. Penn, so named it in 1()82] sometimes Cai)e Hinlopeu,
aad sometimes the false Cape: bur whether this last be cor-
rectly laid down, or not, in the Exhibit, he cannot say, tiK-re
being neither Cour.se nor Distance expressed therein. That he
is not acquainted with the Place called Phenix's Island. l)ut
has .seen the same from the Sea. That he is acquainted with the
Place formerly called the Whorekills. That it is scituate upon
a Creek, formerly called by the Dutch, the Whorekill Creek,
about four or five Miles within the Cape marked in the Ex-
hibit Cape Cornelius That he is likewi.se acquainted Avitl.
Christine Creek, which is a Creek scituate about 5 Miles above
Newcastle in the Exhibit mentioned.
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The Deleinkuit, surely, wasalraid we should not sufficiently

falsify his xVnswer, and prove our true Cape Hinlopeu,

and so he takes Care to sup])ly us with more and further

Proof of it.

And thus ends all the Proofs: wherein it appears most uuii-.

vellous that the Defendant, who builds his whole Pre-

tence of Imposition in that his own Map did not lay down
Cape Hinlopen where the Dutch Maps did, has never at-

tempted to produce one sint?le Map, to support that As-

sertion.

Another material Omission on the Defendant's Part is, that

he has not proved that ori^'inal Map which he Produced

and marked with his own Hand: and why? It is not

that that is wanting, for Paris swears that Mr. Sharpe

had it afraiii from Mr. Senex, and Mr. Sharpe now' swears

that the printed Map is an exact Copy of it. But it is

for this Reason, they know (and so Paris swears) that

that original Map had juany Marks, and Lines, and Notes

about it, relating to the Circle, and therefore the Defend-

ant conceals that original Map of liis, because it would

convict him.
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